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IN THE SUPREME  COURT  OF FLORIDA
  
 

THE FLORIDA BAR,  

Complainant,  

v.  

JOHN H. FARO,  

Respondent.  

Supreme Court Case  
No.   

The Florida Bar File  
No.  2019-70,032(11J)  

___________________________/  

FORMAL COMPLAINT FOR  RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE  

The Florida Bar, Complainant, files this Complaint against John H. Faro, 

Respondent, pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-7.2(l), and alleges: 

1. Respondent is, and at all times mentioned in the Complaint was, a 

member of The Florida Bar, admitted on January 21, 1986, and is subject to the 

jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida. 

2. In addition to membership in The Florida Bar, Respondent was 

admitted to practice before the United States Patent and Trademark Office 

(“USPTO”) on March 3, 1971, and is subject to the jurisdiction of the USPTO’s 

Office of Enrollment and Discipline (“OED”). His USPTO registration number is 

25,859. 

3. This is a reciprocal discipline action, based upon a Final Order, dated 

February 9, 2018, denying Respondent’s motion for reconsideration and imposing 

an eight-month suspension from the practice of law before the USPTO, with 
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R

E
C

E
IV

E
D

, 0
8/

03
/2

01
8 

02
:3

8:
25

 P
M

, C
le

rk
, S

up
re

m
e 

C
ou

rt

APPX 4 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



 
 

  

  

 

      

    

 

   

   

 

   

  

   

    

 

   

  

  

 

  

   

reinstatement conditioned on the successful passage of the MPRE. A copy of the 


Final Order denying Respondent’s motion for reconsideration, as well as the Final 

Order affirming the Administrative Law Judge’s disciplinary recommendation, 

dated August 2, 2017, is attached hereto as Composite Exhibit A. 

4. The suspension was based on the following conduct: 

A. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office 

Action (“First Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 2 through 22 of a patent 

application which had been filed by EPRT Technologies, Inc. (“EPRT”) on 

September 7, 2000. 

B. Subsequent to the rejection, and at EPRT’s request, Respondent 

emailed EPRT co-inventor and executive David Estes on November 19, 2002 

to discuss the application as drafted by prior counsel. Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-

mailed Respondent on November 22, 2002, authorizing him to begin work on 

the application. 

C. Respondent submitted to the USPTO a Power of Attorney and 

Revocation of Prior Powers on December 12, 2002, signed by Katherine 

Blake, EPRT co-founder and president. 

D. On January 30, 2003, the USPTO issued a non-final Office 

Action in response to a Request for Continued Examination, filed by 

Respondent on January 16, 2003. Respondent filed a response to that Office 
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Action on March 14, 2003, which was rejected in another non-final Office 


Action, issued on June 4, 2003. 

E. On November 12, 2003, Respondent filed an amendment to the 

application; however, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, the 

USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment to Respondent on 

January 8, 2004. 

F. After receiving calls from the USPTO patent examiner assigned 

to the application, Respondent filed a response on February 9, 2004, but it 

was deemed non-compliant. 

G. On August 12, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of 

Abandonment (“First Abandonment”) for the patent application, citing 

Respondent’s failure to file a compliant response to the January 2004 notice. 

The First Abandonment stated that the patent examiner had left voice 

messages for Respondent on July 9, July 19, and July 20, 2004, the last call 

informing Respondent that the application would be deemed abandoned if he 

did not contact the examiner by July 23, 2004. Respondent did not return any 

messages and the application was deemed abandoned. 

H. Respondent filed a Petition to Revive the patent application on 

October 28, 2004. It stated that the application was unintentionally 
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abandoned because Respondent had not received the January 2004 Notice. 


The Petition was granted on January 18, 2005. 

I. On April 19, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Second Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the 

application. 

J. On June 20, 2005, Respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an 

e-mail with the subject “Re: Statis [sic] of Patents.” The e-mail stated that 

“the US examiner has issued an office action (non-final rejection) and I shall 

set up an interview with her shortly” (emphasis in original). 

K. Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal (“First Appeal”) on June 

30, 2005. On July 27, 2005, he informed Ms. Blake and Keith Wendell, CEO 

of EPRT, of the appeal. 

L. On November 14, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Third Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 23-25 and objecting to claims 3 

and 4. 

M. The first substantive page of the USPTO Office Action defines 

the “Period for Reply” and informed Respondent that, in all capital letters, “a 

shortened statutory period for reply is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) 

days, whichever is longer, from the mailing date of this communication.” The 
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same section also stated that the application would become abandoned if a 


reply was not received within the reply period. 

N. On November 29, 2005, Respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. 

Estes an e-mail with the subject “Allowed subject matter,” and related the 

contents (albeit, inaccurately) of the Third Final Rejection. Respondent’s e-

mail did not mention that EPRT had three months to file a reply. There is no 

indication that anyone at EPRT received a copy of the Third Final Rejection. 

O. Respondent appealed the Third Final Rejection (“Second 

Appeal”) to the Board of Patent Appeal and Interferences (“Board”) on 

February 2, 2006. The USPTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal 

on August 31, 2006. 

P. One June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal 

(“Board Decision”), affirming the Third Final Rejection’s conclusions as to 

claims 3, 4, and 22-25. The first page of the Board Decision included a 

footnote announcing the two-month period to file an appeal or initiate a civil 

case; the final page stated, “no period for taking any subsequent action in 

connection with this appeal may be extended.” The Board Decision was sent 

to Respondent’s record bar address. 

Q. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

regarding the patent application because all claims had been rejected, the 
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application had not been amended, and because no appeal was filed within
 

the two-month window. The Notice of Abandonment was sent to 

Respondent’s record bar address and stated that a message had been left on 

his answering machine on August 6, 2009. 

R. Respondent claims he did not receive the Notice of 

Abandonment. 

S. Beginning in 2010, Ms. Blake contacted Respondent several 

times to determine the status of the application. Respondent eventually e-

mailed Ms. Blake, stating that he had “attempted to determine the status of 

the patent [applications] and have yet to hear back from my inquiries.” 

T. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Respondent by phone to 

discuss the application; however, he abruptly ended the call and did not 

answer when she immediately called him back. 

U. Throughout 2011, Ms. Blake sent seven increasingly urgent e-

mails to Respondent attempting to learn about the status of the patent 

application. Each e-mail indicated that she had also tried to reach him by 

phone. Respondent never responded. 

V. Eventually, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to pursue 

possible legal action against Respondent. On October 21, 2011, attorney 

Roger Farahmand sent Respondent a letter requesting the status of the patent 
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application. On October 28, 2011, Respondent responded  by faxing a copy of 


the Board Decision  denying  the appeal. Respondent did  not  include a copy of 

the Notice of Abandonment. EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 Board  

Decision  or abandonment at any time prior to October 28, 2011.  

W.  Based on the foregoing, Respondent was found to have 

committed multiple violations  of the USPTO Code of Professional  

Responsibility, including 37 C.F.R §  10.23(a)  and (b); 37 C.F.R § 10.77(c);  

37 C.F.R § 10.84(a)(1) and (2); and 37 C.F.R 10.112(c)(4).  

5.  By  operation  of R.  Regulating  Fla.  Bar  3-4.6,  the Final Orders  of the 

USPTO, dated February  9, 2018 and August  2, 2017,  shall  be considered  as 

conclusive  proof  of such  misconduct  in  this  disciplinary  proceeding.  

WHEREFORE,  The Florida Bar  prays  Respondent  will  be appropriately 

disciplined  in  accordance with  the provisions  of the Rules  Regulating  The Florida  

Bar as amended.  

THOMAS ALLEN KROEGER, Bar Counsel 
The Florida Bar 
Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue 
Rivergate Plaza, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 19303 
tkroeger@floridabar.org 
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ADRIA E. QUINTELA 
Staff Counsel 
The Florida Bar 
Lakeshore Plaza II, Suite 130 
1300 Concord Terrace 
Sunrise, Florida 33323 
(954) 835-0233 
Florida Bar No. 897000 
aquintel@floridabar.org 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE  

I certify that this document has been efiled with The Honorable John A. 
Tomasino, Clerk of the Supreme Court of Florida, with a copy provided via email to 
to John H. Faro, Respondent, at Johnf75712@aol.com and Johnf75712@gmail.com 
using the Efiling Portal and that a copy has been furnished by United States Mail 
via certified mail No. 7017 0190 0000 0892 4286, return receipt requested to John 
H. Faro, Respondent, whose record bar address is 1395 Brickell Avenue, Ste. 800, 
Miami, FL 33131-3302 and via email to Thomas Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel, 
tkroeger@floridabar.org, on this 3rd day of August, 2018. 

ADRIA E. QUINTELA 
Staff Counsel 
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NOTICE OF  TRIAL COUNSEL  AND DESIGNATION  OF  PRIMARY 

EMAIL ADDRESS  

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the trial counsel in this matter is Thomas 
Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel, whose address, telephone number and primary email 
address are The Florida Bar, Miami Branch Office, 444 Brickell Avenue, Rivergate 
Plaza, Suite M-100, Miami, Florida 33131-2404, (305) 377-4445, 
tkroeger@floridabar.org. Respondent need not address pleadings, correspondence, 
etc. in this matter to anyone other than trial counsel and to Staff Counsel, The 
Florida Bar, Lakeshore Plaza II, Suite 130, 1300 Concord Terrace, Sunrise, Florida 
33323, aquintel@floridabar.org. 
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MANDATORY ANSWER NOTICE
 

RULE 3-7.6(h)(2), RULES OF DISCIPLINE, EFFECTIVE MAY 20, 2004, 
PROVIDES THAT A RESPONDENT SHALL ANSWER A COMPLAINT. 
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TFB Composite Exhibit A

BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE 
FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE 

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 

In the Matter of ) 
) 

John H. Faro, ) Proceeding No. D2015-27 
) 

Appellant. ) 
~~~~~~~~~~-) 

Final Order 

The OED Director filed a disciplinary Complaint alleging that John H. Faro 

("Appellant") violated the US PTO Code of Professional Responsibility during his representation 

of his client, EPRT. After a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an Initial 

Decision and Order on September 15, 2016, concluding that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 

I0.23(a) and (b) via I0.23(c)(8) when he failed to timely inform Ms. Blake, or anyone at EPRT, 

of a Third Rejection Letter in 2005, a June 2009 Board Decision, and an August 2009 Notice of 

Abandonment. (A.18-20). The ALJ also concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§ 

10.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application from May 2006 until October 

2011. (A.14-18; A.20-21). Finally, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) 

by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 2010 and 

2011 and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file when 

requested. (A.14-18; A.23-24). The ALJ ordered that Appellant serve an eight (8) month 

suspension, with reinstatement conditioned upon successful passed of the MPRE. (A.33). 

Appellant appealed the ALJ' s Initial Decision to the Director of the United States Patent 

and Trademark Office ("USPTO"). After briefing by the parties, on August 2, 2017, the USPTO 

Director issued a Final Order denying the appeal and upholding the ALJ' s Initial Decision. 

TFB Composite Exhibit A
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On August 17, 2017, Appellant filed a Request for Reconsideration of Director's Final 

Order. The OED Director responded on September 15, 2017, and Appellant replied. For the 

reasons set forth below, Appellant's Request for Reconsideration is denied. 

I. LEGAL STANDARD 

Following a final decision of the USPTO Director, either party may make a single request 

for reconsideration or modification of the decision by the USPTO Director if such request is filed 

within twenty days from the date of entry of the decision. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.56(c). No request 

for reconsideration or modification shall be granted unless the request is based on newly 

discovered evidence, or an error oflaw or fact, and the requestor must demonstrate that any 

newly discovered evidence could not have been discovered any earlier by due diligence. See Id. 

The standard ofreview governing requests under § 11.56( c) has not been defined beyond 

what appears in the regulations. However, although the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are not 

applicable in administrative proceedings, 1 the courts have at times looked to them for useful 

guidance in judging actions taken by the US PTO .2 Because the standard of review used by 

federal courts for motions to alter or amend a judgment under Rules 59(e) and 60 of the Federal 

Rules of Civil Procedure are most similar to requests for reconsideration filed pursuant to § 

1 l.56(c), that standard is applied here to Appellant's request. 

Federal courts have clarified that the standard of review for Rules 59( c) and 60 are 

narrow and limited to only circumstances involving new evidence, or to correct errors of law or 

fact. See Hutchinson v. Staton, 994 F.2d 1076, 1081 (4th Cir. 1993). Any new evidence 

submitted must not have been available before the issuance of the final decision. See Boryan v. 

1 See Bender v. Dudas, No. 04-1301, 2006 WL 89831, at *23 (D.D.C. Jan. 13, 2006), ajf'd, 490 F.3d 1361 (Fed. Cir. 
2007). 

2 See Gerritsen v. Shirai, 979 F.2d 1524, 1532, (Fed. Cir. 1992). 

2 
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United States, 884 F.2d 767, 771 (4th Cir. 1989) ("Evidence that is available to a party prior to 

entry ofjudgment, therefore, is not a basis for granting a motion for reconsideration as a matter 

oflaw.") (citing FrederickS. Wyle P.C. v. Texaco, Inc., 764 F.2d 604, 609 (9th Cir. 1985)). 

It is long-settled that requests for reconsideration3 are not a vehicle to state a party's 

disagreement with a final judgment. See Hutchinson, 994 F .2d at 1082 ("mere disagreement does 

not support a Rule 59(e) motion"); Arthur v. King, 500 F.3d 1335, 1343 (11th Cir. 2007), cert. 

denied, 552 U.S. 1040 (2007) (stating that a Rule 59(e) motion cannot be used to relitigate old 

matters, raise argument or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of 

judgment). A request for reconsideration should not be used to rehash "arguments previously 

presented" or to submit evidence that should have been previously submitted. Wadley v. Park at 

Landmark, LP, No. 1:06CV777, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (E.D. Va. 2007) (citing Hutchinson, 

994 F.2d at 1081-82); Above the Belt, Inc. v. Mel Bohannan Roofing, Inc., , 99 F.R.D. 99, 101 

(E.D. Va. 1983) (holding improper a motion for reconsideration "to ask the Court to rethink what 

the Court had already thought through-rightly or wrongly"); Durkin v. Taylor, 444 F. Supp. 

879, 889 (E.D. Va. 1977) (stating that Rule 59(e) is not intended to give "an unhappy litigant one 

additional chance to sway the judge"). Reconsideration "would be appropriate where, for 

example, the Court has patently misunderstood a party, or has made a decision outside the 

adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties, or has made an error not of reasoning but 

of apprehension." Above the Belt, Inc., 99 F.R.D. at 101; United States v. Ali, No. 13-3398, 2014 

WL 5790996, at *3 (D. Md. Nov. 5, 2014). 

While requests for reconsideration are permitted they are seldom granted. These types of 

motions are extraordinary remedies reserved only for extraordinary circumstances. See Dowell v. 

3 Such requests refer to both motions to alter or amend a judgment (Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e)), or motions for relief from 
a judgment or order (Fed. R. Civ. P. 60). 
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Auto. Ins. Co., 993 F .2d 46, 48 (4th Cir. 1993) (limiting relief under 

Rule 60(b )(6) to "extraordinary circumstances"); Projects Mgmt. Co. v. DynCorp Int'!, LLC, 17 

F. Supp. 3d 539, 541 (E.D. Va. 2014), ajf'd, 584 F. App'x 121 (4th Cir. 2014) (reconsideration 

of a judgment after its entry is an "extraordinary remedy which should be used sparingly") 

(quoting Pac. Ins. Co. v. Am. Nat'! Fire Ins. Co., 148 F.3d 396, 403 (4th Cir. 1998)); see also 

Netscape Commc'ns Corp. v. ValueClick, Inc., 704 F. Supp. 2d 544, 546 (E.D. Va. 2010)). Thus, 

the standard of review for a Request for Reconsideration under § 11.56( c) is very high and such 

requests should be granted sparingly and only in extraordinary circumstances. For the reasons 

discussed below, Appellant has not made any arguments or submitted any evidence that satisfies 

the standard of review. 

11. DECISION 

A. Appellant Has Not Identified Any Errors in Law or Fact That Would Warrant 
Reversal of the Final Order. 

Appellant raises a nillnber of challenges in his Request. These include challenges to the 

USPTO's subject-matter jurisdiction, allegations of a biased investigation, charges that the 

finding of neglect was improper, and complaints that the appeal filing requirements unfairly 

constrained him during his appeal. However, those arguments fall far short of the requirements 

for granting reconsideration under § 11.56( c ). These arguments are discussed more fully below. 

1. 	 Appellant's Challenge to OED Subject-Matter Jurisdiction to Bring a 
Disciplinary Complaint Is Without Merit. 

Appellant first challenges "the subject-matter jurisdiction of the OED Director to initiate 

a disciplinary proceeding against the Appellant". (Appeal at 1-3). He argues that the OED 

Director failed to comply with 3 7 C.F .R. § 11.22( d) (preliminary screening) and failed to afford 

him with due process before initiating discipline. (Id.) Specifically, he argues that the OED 
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Director failed to provide evidence of the September 2015 resolution of his state legal 

malpractice to the Committee on Discipline. (Appeal at 4-6). As a result, as Appellant views it, 

the OED Director prematurely concluded his investigation, under 37 C.F.R. § l l.22(d), and 

submitted an incomplete and biased report and recommendation to the Committee on Discipline. 

(Id.). Appellant claims the Committee's decision was thus unfairly influenced to find probable 

cause. (Id.). 

Before discussing the merits of these arguments, it is noted that OED unequivocally 

possessed and properly exercised disciplinary jurisdiction in this case. Appellant has been a 

patent attorney registered with the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). As such, he is 

unquestionably subject to the disciplinary authority of the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). To the 

extent that Appellant's appeal attempts to claim otherwise, such argument finds no support in 

law or the Agency's regulations. Further, Appellant unsuccessfully argued against subject-matter 

jurisdiction on appeal, rendering this argument nothing more than an attempt to reargue his 

appeal under the guise o.f reconsideration. This is an insufficient basis ,to grant reconsideration 

under§ 1 l.56(c). See Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (citing Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at 1081

82). 

As an additional basis for denying reconsideration, Appellant's claim that the Committee was 

unfairly influenced by an incomplete or prematurely concluded investigation by the OED 

Director is also without merit. First, Appellant already vigorously argued this point during the 

appeal process and the Director's Final Order concluded that there were no deficiencies 

associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary matter to the Committee on 

Discipline. (Final Order, at 18-19). As stated in that Final Order, the regulations concerning the 

Committee on Discipline, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23, include no requirements for what the 
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OED Director submits to the Committee and, even if it did, the malpractice case involving 

Appellant was dismissed after the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015 and thus after the 

Committee had found probable cause to issue a Complaint. (Id.) Appellant offers no new 

authorities that would dictate a different outcome or require the OED Director to engage in a 

different course. Consequently, this argument is nothing more than an attempt to reargue his 

unsuccessful appeal. Thus, reconsideration on this basis is not warranted. 

2. 	 Appellant Is Incorrect That the ALJ Improperly Admitted Ms. Chaiken's 
Testimony About the State Settlement Agreement. 

Appellant next challenges the ALJ' s decision to admit the testimony of Meredith 

Chaiken, counsel for EPRT in the state malpractice cases against Appellant. (Appeal at 7-8). 

Appellant claims that "the ALJ permitted OED counsel to elicit parole evidence of a confidential 

Federal Court ordered mediation, over Appellant's objection, and in violation of [Florida law], in 

the OED effort prove to (sic) the existence an enforceable Settlement Agreement." (Appeal at 8). 

He disputes the ALJ' s reliance on that testimony as an aggravating circumstance in determining 

the appropriate disciplinary sanction. (Appeal at 9). As part ofhis argument, he claims that the 

testimony was inappropriately admitted because the agreement was "never consurumated." 

(Appeal at 8). 

The ALJ allowed Ms. Chaiken's testimony, as well as the settlement agreement itself, 

and concluded that the evidence supported a finding that Appellant attempted to silence Ms. 

Blake and other EPRT employees and that this finding was an aggravating factor in support of 

the discipline ordered. (A.30-32). "While negotiating the settlement agreement in the Florida 

malpractice lawsuit, [Appellant] inserted into the settlement agreement a section prohibiting any 

EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary 

investigations against him." (A.30; A.5491). The ALJ concluded that "[t]he only purpose of this 
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prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations against him", which the ALI 

concluded constituted "bad faith obstruction of the PTO disciplinary investigation" and an 

aggravating factor in determining the disciplinary sanction. (A.30). 

During the hearing, Appellant only made two (2) objections to Ms. Chaiken's testimony 

I 
about the offending settlement provision. The first objection concerned Ms. Chaiken's testimony 

as to who requested the inclusion of the clause regarding EPRT cooperation with the disciplinary 

investigations, and that objection was sustained. (A.7647-48). Appellant also objected when Ms. 

Chaiken testified about her concerns with that provision, but that objection was overruled. 

(A.7652-53). Appellant made no further objections during Ms. Chaiken's testimony concerning 

the settlement agreement or its terms. (A.7643-67). Further, the document containing the draft 

settlement agreement was introduced as evidence without any objection by Appellant. (A.5489, 

A.8002-05). 

The ALJ concluded that there was sufficient evidence, which included the admissible 

portions Ms. Chaiken's testimony and the settlement agreement, to conclude that Appellant 

sought and advocated for the settlement agreement term prohibiting any EPRT personnel from 

testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary investigations against him. 

(A.30). Further, the evidence supported that it was only when Ms. Chaiken expressed concerns 

about that provision that modification was ultimately included that permitted testimony upon 

subpoena. (A.30; A.7653-54). This modification was accomplished after Ms. Chaiken, because 

ofher concerns over the proposed settlement term, consulted with the Florida Bar and engaged in 

legal research to determine whether such a clause was permissible under the law. (A.7654). 

Consequently, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's attempt to hinder or deter pending 

disciplinary matters was "bad faith obstruction" of the USPTO disciplinary investigation. (A.30). 

7 

APPX 20 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



There is no basis to overturn these findings or tb second-guess the ALJ's decision to 

admit Ms. Chaiken's testimony. First, Appellant only raised two, discreet objections to Ms. 

Chaiken's testimony, of which one was over-ruled. (A.7647-48; A.765-53). The bulk of Ms. 

Chaiken's testimony was heard without objection. Appellant also did not object to introduction 

of the settlement agreement itself. (A.8002-05). As the OED Director notes in his brief, when a 

party fails to object to the admission of evidence at the time it is introduced, such objections are 

waived. See MicroStrategy Inc. v. Bus. Objects, S.A., 331 F. Supp. 2d. 396, 420 (E.D. Va. 2004). 

Consequently, Appellant's objections to admission ofMs. Chaiken's testimony are waived. 

Further, even without the small portion of Ms. Chaiken' s testimony for which an 

objection was sustained, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the conclusion that 

Appellant advocated for the provision that aimed to interfere with the USPTO disciplinary 

investigation. This includes Ms. Chaiken' s testimony, which the ALJ allowed, about her 

concerns with the provision, her consultation with the Florida Bar, and the revised language, as 

stated above. (A.5491; A.7651-54). Finding no error oflaw or fact with the ALJ's decision to 

allow Ms. Chaiken's testimony, reconsideration on this basis is denied. 

3. 	 There Is No Support for Appellant's Argument That the ALJ's Finding of 
Neglect Was Legally nor Factually Unsupported. 

Appellant further claims that the Final Order was incorrect in finding that Appellant 

neglected the '519 Application. (Appeal at 13-16). In support of this argument, Appellant claims 

that the finding was based on a "hindsight test relative to the sufficiency ofAppellant's 

'monitoring practice,"' which included criticisms for relying on an executive suite where he had 

no physical presence as a correspondence address and failing to associate his Customer Number 

with the '519 application. (Id.). He argues, as he did during the disciplinary hearing, that no 

USPTO rule or authority requires such actions. (Id.). Further, he identified several "context 
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factors" that he believes "in practice" determine the frequency and attorney attention to be 

accorded a given client matter, and he asserts that the ALJ failed to consider these context 

factors. (Appeal at 15). Finally, he restates arguments made during the disciplinary hearing 

including that there was adversity created by EPRT when opposing counsel threatened a 

malpractice suit, thathe never actually received the documents related to the '519 Application, 

and he generally disputes that his practices rose to the level ofneglect. (Reply at 5-6). As 

discussed below, these arguments do not provide a basis for granting Appellant's request for 

reconsideration. 

As already stated, the standard for granting reconsideration is a high one. Reconsideration 

is not proper where the arguments are nothing more than a statement of a party's disagreement 

with a final judgment or amount to only relitigation of old matters. See Hutchinson, 994 F .2d at 

1082; Arthur, 500 F.3d at 1343; Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2; Above the Belt, Inc., 99 

F.R.D. at 101; Durkin, 444 F. Supp. at 889. Appellant's arguments do not satisfy this standard. 

Rather, his arguments are an attempt to relitigate the issues and objections made during the 

disciplinary hearing and on appeal. In fact, every single one ofhis arguments was addressed by 

the USPTO Director in the Final Order, including his "deliberate abandonment" theory (Final 

Order at 26-27, 31); his arguments that negligence did not result from his use of an "executive 

suite" (Id. at 29); his claims that he never received documents so he could not have neglected 

them (Id. at 27, 30); his arguments about the adequacy of his case monitoring system, including 

his lack of tickler system (Id. at 27, 35-36); his dispute over whether he called examiner back (Id. 

at 35); his failure to use a customer number (Id. at 24, 27, 29, 35); and his argument that EPRT 

suffered no economic harm (Id. at 36-37).4 

4 His arguments that the ALJ's reliance on prior disciplinary history was inappropriate (Reply at 8) 
also fails for this reason. 
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Lastly, Appellant's reliance on "context factors" to negate the neglect finding does not 

support a grant of reconsideration here. Appellant cites no authority to support his implication 

that the Director or the ALJ was required to consider these factors. 

In sum, Appellant cites no error of law or fact that warrants reconsideration here. On the 

issue ofneglect, both the ALJ's decision and the USPTO Director's Final Order specifically 

addressed all of the arguments raised in his request. Appellant cannot re litigate those matters 

under a veil of reconsideration. 

4. 	 Appellant's Argument that His Failure to Comply with the Appellate Filing 
Requirements Was Improper Is Without Merit. 

Lastly, Appellant claims that he was "unfairly constrained" by the filing requirements set 

forth in 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.55(b)-(d). (Reply at 8-9). However, this claim was not made in his 

original Request for Reconsideration but, rather, responds to the OED Director's arguments that 

he failed to challenge this basis for the Director's Final Order in his Reply brief. Thus, not 

having affirmatively raised this claim, it is waived. See Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian Ins. Co., 

739 F.3d 678, 680 (11th Cir. 2014 (when an appellant fails to challenge properly on of the 

grounds on which a decision is based, any challenge is deemed abandoned.) 

Additionally, however, Appellant offers no support for his claim that the filing 

requirements unfairly constrained his ability to pursue his appeal. The filing requirements 

applied equally to Appellant and the OED Director and, as discussed in the November 2016 

Order of the US PTO Director denying Appellant's request for a waiver of the page limit 

requirements for appeal briefs, there is nothing unique or exceptional about a party finding it 

cumbersome or difficult to comply with known filing requirements. See Order dated November 

2, 2016 (citing Fetrow-Fix v. Harrah Entm't, Inc., No. 2:10-cv-0560, 2011WL2313650, at *3 
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(D. Nev. June 9, 2011)). Thus, the parties were expected to comply with the filing requirements 

set forth in the USPTO regulations. 

Despite having been provided multiple opportunities to file a compliant brief, Appellant 

failed to do so and that failure was an independent basis for rejecting his appeal. (Final Order at 

15-17). Appellant's arguments on reconsideration are nothing more than an attempt to excuse 

those failures and rehash his attempts to circumvent the filing rules. That is an insufficient basis 

to grant reconsideration. 

B. Appellant Has Not Offered Any "New Evidence." 

1. Petition to Revive. 

Appellant also raises several arguments wherein he alleges the existence ofnew evidence 

as support for granting Reconsideration here. First, he claims that information about EPRT's 

successful Petition to Revive the '519 Application that had gone abandoned due to his own 

neglect was omitted from the disciplinary record. (Appeal at 10-12). He claims that this evidence 

mitigates the sanction imposed on him by the ALJ. (Id.). With this argument, Appellant alleges 

that the OED Director had a duty to discover and disclose the "new" evidence to Appellant as 

"exculpatory" evidence. (Appeal at 12). 

Appellant's claim here has no merit. First, as stated above, any evidence submitted now 

to be properly considered "new" the evidence must not have been available before the issuance 

of the Final Order. See Boryan, 884 F.2d at 771. The Petition to Revive was filed on December 

7, 2015 (Request, Ex. 5) and was granted on May 2, 2016 (Request, Ex. 6), before the 

disciplinary hearing held on May 10-11, 2016 (A.7493; A.7869) and before Appellant's January 

2017 appeal brief was submitted. He could have used this information at the hearing or in his 

appeal briefs in this disciplinary matter but he did not. Rather, he raised it only in a separate 
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Motion filed on January 13, 2017 wherein he sought to reopen the record and admit evidence of 

the Petition to Revive. He argued this issue extensively but unsuccessfully. Further, he was 

informed at that time that he should have raised these arguments earlier in the disciplinary 

process. As a result, these documents and Appellant's arguments have been raised and 

considered. Consequently, the Petition to Revive is not new evidence under § 11.56( c ). 5 

Finally, it is noted as a matter of law that Appellant offers no legal support for his 

argument that the OED Director possessed some obligation to disclose either information about 

the Petition to Revive or any purported exculpatory evidence. He has cited no authority that the 

Model Rules referenced in his briefing materials have any binding authority here - they do not. 

Further, as he recognizes at page 2 ofhis Reply, in Polidi v. Lee, No. 15-cv-1030, slip op. at 4-5 

(E.D. Va. Nov. 24, 2015), the Eastern District of Virginia has specifically disavowed such a 

duty. 

2. Malpractice Court Documents. 

Next, Appellant argues that court documents associated with the state malpractice 

proceedings constitute newly discovered evidence and mitigate the economic harms suffered by 

his former client, EPRT. (Appeal at 16-17). These "new" documents appear to include the order 

of dismissal, evidence that the state court judge struck EPRT's damages expert report, and 

Appellant's own testimony in the disciplinary hearing that the EPRT product that was the subject 

of the '519 Application had "evolved." (Appeal at 17-18). 

5 It is also noted that the USPTO Director, in a January 27, 2017 Order, addressed the substantive effect ofEPRT's 
successful Petition to Revive on the disciplinary matter. (See Order, dated Jan. 27, 2017, p. 3). The Director, in that 
Order, concluded that EPRT's ability to obtain a patent was not new evidence and does not in and of itselfnegate 
or nullify the ALJ's disciplinary findings and conclusions. (Id.) "Rather, the proffered new evidence concerns a 
different period oftime when the client was represented by someone else, who managed to then successfully 
revived (sic) and prosecute the client's abandoned application." (Id) 
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Appellant is again incorrect that these documents are new evidence for purposes of 3 7 

C.F.R. § ll .56(c). The hearing in this disciplinary matter was held on May 10-11, 2016. 

(A.7493; A.7869). The documents cited by Appellant were court document in the state 

malpractice matter and were served upon him, as a party to the matter, in July, 2015 (A.6766-69) 

and September, 2015 (A.6530), or were known to him before the May, 2016 hearing. Thus, as he 

cannot show and has not shown that this evidence "could not have been discovered any earlier by 

due diligence", he is unable to make the requisite showing necessary for granting reconsideration 

here. 

C. CONCLUSION 

Having considered Appellant's Request for Reconsideration of Director's Final Order Dated 

August 2, 2017 from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALJ, the OED Director's 

Response and Appellant's Reply brief, it is ORDERED Appellant's Request is DENIED. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

APPEAL RIGHTS 

Appellant is notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S. 

District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days 

after the date of the order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5. 

d-/g /aot i 
Date Sarah T. Harris 

General Counsel 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 
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on delegated authority by 

Andrei Iancu 
Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual 
Property and Director of the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office 

cc: 
JohnH. Faro 
Appellant 

Robin Crabb 
Associate Solicitor 
Counsel for the Director of Office of Emollment and Discipline 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the 
parties below, in the manner indicated: 

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL: 

JohnH. Faro 

1395 Brickell Avenue 


Suite 800 

Miami, FL 33131 


Johnf75712@aol.com 

Johnf75712@gmail.com 


Appellant 

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL: 
Robin Crabb 


Associate Solicitors 

Mail Stop 8 


Office of the Solicitor 

P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22313-1450 
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov 

SO-OEDcases@uspto.gov 
OED Director 
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE 

FOR INTELLECTUAL.PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE 


UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 


In the Matter of ) 
) 

John H. Faro, ) Proceeding No. D2015-27 

) 
Appellant. ) 

__________) 

Final Order 

Pmsuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.55, John H. Faro ("Appellant") has appealed the September 15, 

2016 Initial Decision and Order ("Initial Decision") of Administrative Law Judge ("AL.T") J. 

Jeremiah Mahoney in this matter to the Director of the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office ("US PTO" or "Agency"). In that Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that Appellant 

violated multiple disciplinary rules of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility including 

37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b), 10.23(c)(8), l0.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), and 10.112(c)(4). 

(A.25-26). After considering these violations and the relevant factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § 

l 1.54(b), including Appellant's significant prior disciplinary history, the ALJ ordered 

Appellant's suspension from practice before the USPTO for a period of 8-months and until 

Appellant has passed the MPRE and been reinstated by the OED Director. (A.26-33). 

In this appeal, briefs have been submitted by Appellant and the Director of the USPTO 

Office of Enrollment and Discipline ("OED Director"). 

For the reasons set forth below, the USPTO Director affirms the ALJ's initial decision. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Appellant has been a patent attorney registered with the U SPTO since March 3, 

1971. (A.43; A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). 
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2. Appellant was admitted to the Florida State Bar on January 21, 1986. (Id.). He is currently 

an active member of that Bar. His Florida Bar number is 527,459. (Id.). 

3. Appellant was disciplined by the Florida Bar in 1995 and 2011. (A.7390-98). The former 

discipline was a 10-day suspension; the latter was a public reprimand. (Id.). In 2013, he received 

reciprocal discipline by the USPTO in connection with the 2011 Florida discipline. (A.1272-83; 

A.7671; A.7675, A.7678-81). 

4. Appellant has operated a private legal practice since 1986. (A.5907; A.7681). 

U.S. Patent Application No. 09/656,519 ("the '519 Application") 

5. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office Action ("First Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 2 through 22 of the '519 Application, which had been filed by EPRT 

Technologies, Inc. ("EPRT") on September 7, 2000. (A.2924-30; A.595-621). 

6. At EPRT's request, and after the '519 application had been rejected, Appellant e-mailed 

EPRT co-inventor and executive Mr. David Estes1 on November 19, 2002, to provide 

"constructive criticism" of the '519 Application as drafted by prior counsel. (A.6557-58). Thee-

mail proposed a path forward for '519 Application and included Appellant's estimate of"20 to 

25 hours of professional time" to perform the necessary services on the '519 application. (Id.). 

7. Ms. Katherine Blake2 replied to Appellant's November 19 e-mail on November 20, 2002, 

thanking him for his time and careful review of documents, indicating she would "be in touch 

with" Mr. Estes on how to proceed. (A.6559). Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed Appellant on 

November 22, 2002, authorizing Appellant to begin work on the '519 Application. (A.6560). 

1 Mr. Estes was the former chief electrical engineer for EPRT. (A. 7528). He remains a contract employee with 

EPRT and manages repairs and diagnostics for equipment. (Id.) 

2 Ms. Blake is a co-founder and the president ofEPRT. (A.7524-25). 
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8. Appellant submitted a Power of Attorney and Revocation of Prior Powers on December 

12, 2002. (A.2902). That Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT. (Id.). 

Ms. Blake was the primary contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct 

Appellant to take action on the '519 Application. (A.7532). 

9. Appellant did not associate his USPTO Customer Number with the '519 Application. 

(A.6021). 

10. On January 30, 2003, USPTO issued a non-final Office Action that was responsive to a 

Request for Continued Examination ("RCE"), filed on January 16, 2003. (A.2897-99; A.2872

82). Appellant filed a response to that Office Action on March 14, 2003, which was rejected in 

another non-final Office Action, issued on June 4, 2003. (A.2848-69; A.2834-46). Both Office 

Actions rejected Claims 2-4 and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2835; A.2873). 

11. On November 12, 2003, Appellant filed an amendment to the '519 Application, which 

included an affidavit from Dr. Steven Kaye, whom Appellant identified as EPRT's clinical 

consultant. (A.2803-32). However, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, on 

January 8, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice ofNon-Responsive Amendment ("January 2004 

Notice") to Appellant. (A.2786-89). 

12. The USPTO patent examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Frances Oropeza, left 

a voice message with Appellant on February 6, 2004, informing him that a compliant response to 

the January 2004 Notice was due no later than February 9, 2004. (A.2768). Ms. Oropeza then 

called Appellant on February 9, 2004, because she had not received a response to the January 

2004 Notice. (Id.) After discussing the situation with Ms. Oropeza, Appellant informed her that 

he could not file a response until the next day and then he hung up the phone. (Id.). Appellant did 
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in fact file a response on February 9, 2004. (A.2768; A.2769-77; A.7708). However, the 

response was deemed non-compliant. (A.2767-68). 

13. On August 12, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment ("First Abandonment") 

for the '519 Application, citing Appellant's failure to file a compliant response to the January 

2004 Notice. (A.2763-65). The First Abandonment stated that Ms. Oropeza had called and left 

voice messages with Appellant on July 9, July 19, and July 20, 2004. (Id.) The third call 

informed Appellant that the '519 Application would be deemed abandoned if Appellant did not 

contact Ms. Oropeza by July 23, 2004. (Id.) Appellant did not return any of the messages. (Id.) 

Thus, the '519 Application was deemed abandoned. (A.2763-65). 

14. Appellant filed a Petition to Revive the '519 Application on October 28, 2004. (A.2760

62). The Petition stated that the Application was unintentionally abandoned because Appellant 

had not received the Jannary 2004 Notice. (Id.) The Petition was granted on January 18, 2005. 

(A.2748). 

15. On April 19, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Second Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2736-46). 

16. On June 20, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the subject 

"Re: Statis [sic] of Patents". The e-mail stated that "the US examiner has issued an office action 

(non-final rejection) and I shall set up an interview with her shortly" (emphasis in original). 

(A.6956). 

17. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal ("First Appeal") on June 30, 2005. (A.2726-27; 

A.2690-719). Appellant informed Ms. Blake and Mr. Keith Wendell3 that he had appealed the 

rejection of the '519 Application on July 27, 2005. (A.6957). 

3 Mr. Wendell was the CEO ofEPRT and an inventor on the '519 Application. (A.3074; A.5561-62). 

4 


APPX 32 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



18. On November 14, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Third Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 23-35 and objecting to Claims 3 and 4.4 (A.2678-88; A.6565). Under 

"Allowable Subject Matter," the Third Final Rejection stated that "Claims 3 and 4 are objected to 

as being dependent upon a rejected base claim, but would be allowable if rewritten in 

independent form including all of the limitations of the base claim and any intervening claims." 

(A.2688; A.6574). The first substantive page of a USPTO Office Action defines the "Period for 

Reply" and informed Appellant that, in all capital letters, "a shortened statutory period for reply 

is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer, from the mailing date of this 

communication." (A.2679; A.6565). The same section also stated that the application would 

become abandoned if a reply was not received within the reply period. (Id.). 

19. On November 29, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the 

subject "Allowed subject matter." (A.6958). The e-mail stated that the Third Final Rejection had 

allowed Claims 3 and 4, and that Appellant had "included Claim 23 to which each of these 

allowed claims make reference." (Id.). The e-mail also stated that the appeal was going forward 

because EPRT was "entitled to broader coverage- specifically coverage as to the configuration 

of the wrap itself." (Id.). The November 29, 2005 e-mail did not say that Claims 3 and 4 would 

only be allowable ifrewritten, nor did it say that Claims 23-35 had been rejected. (Id.; A.7537). 

The e-mail did not mention that EPRT had three months to file a reply. (A.6055; A.6958; 

A.7711). 

20. There is no indication that anyone at EPRT received a copy of the Third Final Rejection. 

Appellant never re-wrote claims 3 and 4. (A. 7711; A. 7809). 

4 The November 14, 2005 Office Action was noted as responsive to Respondent's August 25, 2005 Appeal Brief and 
accompanying Declaration. (A.2679; A.2690-719). 

5 


APPX 33 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



21. On January 14, 2006, Appellant e-mailed Ms. Blake and infonned her that USPTO had 

withdrawn two of the system/method claims but "persisted in rejection of electrode claim." 

(A.6961). 

22. Appellant appealed the Third Final Rejection ("Second Appeal") to the Board of Patent 

Appeals and Interferences ("Board") on February 2, 2006. (A.2643-44). 

23. On May 31, 2006, Appellant sent an e-mail to Ms. Blake, Mr. Estes, and Dr. Cleve Laird, 

EPRT's FDA compliance coordinator. (A.4552; A.6962). The e-mail stated that "only Claim 25, 

directed to the structure of the electrode wrap, remains rejected as unpatentable over the prior 

art." (A. 4552; A.6962). He was also "cautiously optimistic" and expressed his view that EPRT 

had a "better than even chance of prevailing" on Claim 25. (Id.). 

24. The US PTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal on August 31, 2006. (A.2575

602). Ms. Oropeza stated that Claims 3 and 4 were rejected because they had not been rewritten 

in independent form, as USPTO had suggested in the Third Final Rejection. (Id.). She also 

reiterated that Claim 25 had been rejected. (Id.). 

25. Between 2006 and 2009, Appellant and various EPRT personnel, including Ms. Blake 


and Mr. Estes, exchanged several e-mails discussing various patent and trademark matters, 


including the '519 Application. (A.6961-76). 

26. In January 2008, Appellant moved from his office on 44 West Flagler Street ("44 W. 

Flagler") to an office at 28 West Flagler Street ("28 W. Flagler"). (A.3382; A.7698). He properly 

informed USPTO of his new address. (A.2480; A.7699). However, Appellant had no physical 

presence at the 28 W. Flagler office. (A.3382; A.6062; A.7698). Rather, that office served 

primarily as a mailing address, and provided conference room access when needed. (A.3382; 
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A.7698). Any documents addressed to Appellant at 28 W. Flagler were set aside for him by an 

on-site receptionist, who would inform him when mail was received. (A.7699). 

27. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal ("Board Decision"), in which it 

affirmed the Third Final Rejection's conclusions as to Claims 3, 4, and 23- 25. (A.2458-77). The 

Board Decision was mailed to Appellant at the 28 W. Flagler address on June 1, 2009. (A.2477; 

A.7716). The first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). The Board Decision's final page stated 

"no time period for taking any subsequent action in connection with this appeal may be 

extended." (A.2476). 

28. Appellant did not file any further appeal within the two-month window. (A.3104; 


A.7717). He also did not inform EPRT of Board Decision within the two-month window. (Id.). 


Appellant claims he never received the decision. (A.6079-80). 

29. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment regarding the '519 

Application because all claims had been rejected, the application had not been amended and 

because no appeal was filed within the two-month window. (A.2456-57; A.3350). The Notice of 

Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's 28 W. Flagler address on August 17, 2009. (A.2456; 

A.3349; A.7725). The Notice of Abandonment stated that a message had been left on 

Appellant's answering machine on August 6, 2009 and there is no credible fact establishing that 

Appellant returned the call. (A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). 

30. Appellant claims he did not receive the Notice of Abandonment. (A.6080; A.7729). As a 

result, he did not attempt to revive the '519 Application and did not inform EPRT that it had 

been abandoned. 
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31. In 2010 and 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant several times to determine the status of 

the '519 Application. (A.4661-62; A.6594; A.6981- 95; A.7543-53). 

32. In July 30, 2010, in response to several attempts to contact him, Appellant e-mailed Ms. 

Blake and stated that he had "attempted to determine the status of the patent [applications] and 

have yet to hear back from my inquiries." (A.3786; A.3847; A.6982). 

33. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant by phone to discuss the '519 Application. 

(A.6840-41 ). However, Appellant unilaterally ended the call and did not answer the phone when 

Ms. Blake immediately attempted to call him back. (Id.) 

34. In 2011, Ms. Blake sent Appellant seven "increasingly urgent e-mails" about the '519 

Application. (A.8). The e-mails were sent on April 1, April 4, April 6, April 22, July 15, July 20, 

and October 5. (A.8; A.6265-67; A.6991; A.6993-95). The subject line of the e-mails were, in 

order: "phone calls," "Trying to reach you," "Need to reach you," "Have you received my 

messages," "US Patent status?" "Status of US patents?" and "check has not been cleared." (Id.). 

Each e-mail stated that Ms. Blake had made repeated attempts to reach Appellant by phone or to 

otherwise get in contact with him. (Id.). The October 5, 2011 e-mail asked Appellant if he had 

moved. (A.8; A.6263). Three of the e-mails noted that Ms. Blake needed to speak with Appellant 

"asap." (A.8; A.6263; A.6991; A.6995). 

35. In Ms. Blake's April 22 e-mail, she stated that she "did not ever receive correspondence 

stating the patent had been denied as final. It was still under review per our last discussion." 

(A.8; A.6991). 

36. Appellant never replied to Ms. Blake's e-mails, text messages, or phone calls. (A.8; 

A.7547-50; A.7958). 
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3 7. After continued attempts to reach Appellant, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to 

pursue possible legal action against Appellant. (A.4664; A.7551-52). 

38. On October 21, 2011, attorney Roger Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.4664; A.7162, A.3151 ). In response, Appellant faxed a copy of 

the Board Decision to Mr. Farahmand on October 28, 2011. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). He 

did not include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment. EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 

Board Decision or abandonment at any time prior to October 28, 2011. (A.4666-67; A.7553). 

39. Appellant had never been instructed by Ms. Blake to abandon, or to take no further action 

regarding, the '519 Application. (A.7553-54). The first time Ms. Blake learned about the 

abandonment was after receiving Appellant's fax in response to Mr. Farahmand's letter. 

(A.7553). 

40. On October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete copy 

of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7553). However, Appellant did not send the file to Mr. 

Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A. 7631-33). 

41. Appellant did not file a notice of withdrawal as attorney of record in the '519 Application 

and did not revoke the Power of Attorney filed in 2003. (A.5980; A.7735). However, 

notwithstanding that, Appellant viewed his power of attorney with EPRT as nullified by 

operation of law as a result of the "adverse relationship" he believed existed at the time Mr. 

Farahmand was retained. (A.5973-74; A.5977-78; A.5990; A.7736; A.7738; A.7745). Finally, on 

February 14, 2013, EPRT revoked Appellant's Power of Attorney in favor of Mr. Robert Babayi, 

a newly retained patent attorney. (A.1948; A.2454). The Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. 

Blake. (A.2454). 

9 


APPX 37 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



42. Between November 22, 2002 and February 13, 2013, EPRT paid Appellant a sum of 

between $35,000 and $45,000 to prosecute the '519 Application. (A.9; A.7567). 

Appellant's Docketing System 

43. Prior to 2011, Appellant used a "manual docketing system" that consisted of a tickler file, 

a desk calendar, and a day book. (A.9; A.5935-36; A.7687; A.7690). Appellant placed any 

document with an outstanding due date in the tickler file, and noted the date and the necessary 

action in the calendar and day book. (A.9; A.5935; A.7688). Appellant's then-wife was primarily 

in charge of maintaining the tickler file. (A.5938; A.7689). 

44. Appellant assessed the status of the cases in his docket twice a year; during the winter 

holiday season and before going on summer vacation. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692). Additionally, if 

Appellant was going to meet with a client, he would check their file beforehand to ensure all 

deadlines were up to date. (A.9; A.7692). He followed the same procedure if a client contacted 

him requesting an update, even if a meeting was not upcoming. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692-93). 

EPRT's Malpractice Lawsuit Against Appellant 

45. On December 5, 2012, EPRT and Thrisoint PTY, Ltd., ("Thrisoint"), EPRT's assignee of 

the '519 Application, sued Appellant in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas for 

legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and breach of contract. (A. l O; A.2453; 

A.3506; A.7188-89). The Texas case was ultimately dismissed on jurisdictional grounds. (A. l O; 

A.7627). 

46. Subsequently, on October 25, 2013, EPRT and Thrisoint filed a substantially identical 

lawsuit against Appellant in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (A. l O; 

A.3630; A.7178-79). Though EPRT was dismissed from the Florida case due to lack of standing, 

the case was permitted to continue with Thrisoint as the sole plaintiff. (A. l 0). 
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47. On September l, 2015, the case was settled and dismissed with prejudice. (A.10; A.1368

69; A.13 79-83). The court retained jurisdiction for 60 days to enforce the terms of the settlement 

agreement. (A.10; A.1379-83). In the settlement agreement, Appellant agreed to pay EPRT 

$7,040 and to submit a letter stating that he had intentionally abandoned the '519 Application. 

(A.5490-93, A. 7644-4 7). An admission of intentional abandonment by Appellant would allow 

EPRT to revive the Application. (A.10; A.7560). 

48. The settlement agreement also prohibited any EPRT representative, including Ms. Blake, 

from voluntarily participating in the then-pending disciplinary proceedings against 

Appellant by the Florida Bar and the USPTO. (A.10; A.5490-93, A.7644-47). The agreement did 

note that participation could be compelled via subpoena. (A.10) 

49. As of the time the hearing was conducted, Appellant had not complied with the terms of 

the agreement, and the agreement was the subject of ongoing state court proceedings. (A.7659

60). To date, EPRT has spent approximately $170,000 litigating Appellant's handling of the '519 

Application. (A.10; A.7567-68). 

II. OED DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING 

The OED Director filed a Complaint and Notice of Proceedings under 35 US.C. § 32 

("Complaint") with the ALJ on May 11, 2015, alleging that Appellant committed multiple 

violations of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility during his representation ofEPRT. 

(A.42-54). Specifically, the OED Director alleged various acts and omissions committed by 

Appellant during his prosecution of the '519 Application including, but not limited to, failing to 

notify his client of the receipt of office correspondence, failing to adequately monitor the status 

of the matter, neglecting the file, and failing to return client property following the termination of 

the representation. (Id.). Based on those alleged violations, the OED Director requested that 
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Appellant be suspended from practice before the US PTO in patent, trademark, and other non

patent matters. (A.52). 

A hearing in this matter was held May 10-11, 2016, in Miami, Florida. Testimony was taken 

from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake (A.7522-622), attorney Meredith Chaiken 

(A.7622-A.68), and Appellant (A.7668-8002). The parties filed their respective Post-Hearing 

Briefs and an Initial Decision and Order was issued by the ALJ. 

Ill. INITIAL DECISION BY ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

On September 15, 2016, the ALJ issued the Initial Decision in this matter. (A. l-A.34). In that 

Initial Decision, the ALJ determined that the OED Director clearly and convincingly established 

that Appellant violated 6 ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. (A.25-26). Specifically, the ALJ 

concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) by failing to 

timely inform Ms. Blake or anyone at EPRT of the Third Rejection Letter in 2005, the June 2009 

Board Decision, and the August 2009 Notice of Abandonment. (A.25). The ALJ rejected 

Appellant's excuse of not having received the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment on 

the basis that his non-receipt of the documents was an error of his own making and does not 

absolve him of his responsibilities to his client. (Id.). 

Next, the ALJ concluded that, with regard to Count 1 of the disciplinary complaint, 

Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application 

from May 2006 until October 2011. (A.25). The ALJ cited Appellant's failure to properly 

monitor the progress of the Second Appeal, and so he was unaware of the Board Decision or the 

Notice of Abandonment until it was too late to prevent the abandonment; his failure to contact 

the examiner in 2009 despite knowing she had attempted to communicate with him by phone 

prior to the abandonment; his failure to take steps to confirm the status of the '519 Application in 
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20 I 0 and 2011 despite Ms. Blake's frequent requests for update; his failure to properly monitor 

the appeal rendered it impossible for him to accomplish the task for which he had been hired; 

and his deliberate abandonment of his EPRT representation after his exchange with Mr. 

Farahmand. (Id.). 

With regard to Count 2 of the complaint, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 

10.77(c) by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 

2010 and 2011; and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.l 12(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file 

when requested. (A.23-26). EPRT was entitled to receive the file because no retaining lien 

existed at the time the request was made. (A.26). The ALJ noted that Appellant's failure to 

maintain possession of the file was an error of his own making and does not absolve him ofhis 

responsibility to return the file. (Id.). 

After making these findings, and considering the factors under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b), including 

his prior disciplinary history, the ALJ concluded that an eight (8) month suspension, with 

reinstatement conditioned upon successful passage of the MPRE, was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.26-33). 

IV. DECISION 

Appellant has been a registered patent attorney since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). His 

USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). As such, he is subject to the disciplinary authority of 

the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). For the conduct involved in this disciplinary case, Appellant 

was subject to the ethical requirements set forth in the USPTO Code of Professional 

5Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq.

5 Effective May 3, 2013, the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101through11.901, apply to 
persons who practice before tbe Office. Prior to May 3, 2013, the USPTO Code ofProfessional Responsibility 
applied to persons practicing before the Office. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20-10.112. Here, since Appellant's alleged 
misconduct occurred prior to May 3, 2013, the Code of Professional Responsibility applies. 
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USPTO regulations permit a party to appeal an ALJ's initial decision to the USPTO Director 

within thirty (30) days of issuance of the initial decision. See 37 C.F.R. § ll.55(a). See also 35 

U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). On appeal, the USPTO Director has authority to conduct a de nova review 

of the factual record and may affirm, reverse, or modify the initial decision, or remand the matter 

to the hearing officer for such further proceedings as the USPTO Director may deem appropriate. 

See 37 C.F.R. §§ l l.55(f), l l.56(a). 

Herc, Appellant appeals from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALI entering 

judgment in favor of the Agency and suspending Appellant from the practice of patent, 

trademark, and other non-patent matters before the Office for eight (8) months. In his appeal, 

Appellant challenges several of the ALJ's Findings of Fact. (Appeal at 1-5). He also makes a 

variety of initial challenges to the ALJ's Decision, including disputing OED's subject-matter 

jurisdiction to initiate and prosecute the disciplinary action, raising a statute oflimitations 

defense, and challenging the ALJ's rulings on various motions such as the exclusion of"swom, 

non-opinion deposition testimony." (Appeal, at 5-6, 7, 19, 23). Finally, he challenges the 

substantive findings of misconduct based on neglect, failing to inform EPRT about USPTO 

correspondence, failing to seek EPRT's lawful objectives, and failing to return EPRT's client 

file. (Appeal at 22-27). Lastly, Appellant challenges the sanction on the basis of lack of intent, 

his argument that EPRT suffered no harm as a direct result of his representation, and due to 

remoteness of prior discipline. (Appeal at 7-8, 27-30). 

The Director, having considered Appellant's appeal brief, the OED Director's response brief, 

Appellant's reply brief, as well as the record of the proceedings before the ALI, finds that there 
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is ample factual and legal support for the ALJ's Initial Decision. Consequently, the Initial 

Decision of the AL.Tis AFFIRMED. 

A. Initial Appeal Issues 

1. 	 Appellant's Appeal Amended Brief and Reply Fail to Comply with the 
USPTO Filing Rules. 

The regulations at 37 C.F.R. §11.55 set forth the mandatory filing requirements for appeal 

filings submitted to the Director. These requirements include directing all appeal briefs to 

comply with the substantive requirements found in FRAP Rules 28(a)(2), (3), and (5) through 

(10) and 32(a)(4) through (6). See 37 C.F.R. §l l.55(c) and (d). These rules require that appeal 

briefs, among other things, contain "appellant's contentions and the reasons for them, with 

citations to the authorities and parts ofthe record on which the appellant relies," and for each 

issue, "a concise statement of the applicable standard of review." FRAP 28(a)(8)(A)-(B). 

Appellant's Appeal Brief filed on January 3, 2017 was his second attempt to file an appeal brief 

that complied with the USPTO's requirements under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55. 

Appellant filed his initial brief in support of the appeal on November 7, 2016. Thereafter, on 

November 14, 2016, the OED Director filed an "OED Director's Emergency Motion For The 

USPTO Director To Refuse The Entry OfAppellant's Non-Conforming Brief." ("Motion to 

Strike). In the Motion To Strike, the OED Director argued that Appellant's brief"failed to 

comply with the formal and substantive requirements for pleadings submitted to the USPTO 

Director" and went on to allege several substantive failings in Appellant's appeal brief. (Motion 

to Strike at 3-5). These failings included having no statement oflaw, no statement of the case, 

no summary of the argument, no statement of facts, and circumvention of the page limit via the 

"incorporation" of facts into the brief without further specification. (Id. at 6). Although 

Appellant opposed the Motion to Strike, the OED Director's Motion was granted on December 
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2, 2016. In granting the Motion To Strike, the USPTO Director found that the Appellant's 

appeal brief did not comply with the Agency's substantive filing requirements, which require 

separate sections containing a concise statement of the disputed facts and points of law, a 

statement of the issues presented for review, a concise statement of the case, and a summary of 

the argument. See Order, dated Dec. 2, 2016. All of these items were deemed missing from the 

appeal brief. (Id.). Further, Appellant's incorporation of facts into the argument section, rather 

than specifically identifying them in the appeal brief, as deemed "unreasonably burdensome" 

and "hindering a considered review of Appellant's appeal." (Id.). Appellant was permitted to 

resubmit an appeal briefthat conformed to USPTO's filing requirements. (Id.). 

Appellant then filed a timely "Revised Substitute" appeal brief ("Amended Appeal Brief'') on 

January 3, 2017. Despite being on notice of the filing requirements, however, Appellant's 

Amended Appeal Brief contains the same substantive flaws that were present in his initial appeal 

filing. The Amended Appeal Brief consists of various arguments, some masked as facts or 

statements of the case, all of which contain very little substantive discussion or legal analysis. 

Some of the arguments consist of only a few sentences or a short paragraphs as support for the 

point being argued. Lastly, there are few proper citations to the record, with some sections 

having no citations to the record at all, as well as no discussion of applicable authorities. 

The b~lk of Appellant's arguments are fairly characterized as conclusory statements of his 

belief and general denials. These flaws are significant, substantive, and make any meaningful 

review ofhis appeal difficult. These flaws are especially problematic given his prior notice of the 

filing requirements, the fact that these types of flaws were identified as bases on which to strike 

his prior filing, and the fact that he was advised of the need to comply with the filing 

requirements in this Amended Appeal Brief. See Order, dated December 2, 2016. Thus, it is 
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concluded that Appellant's failure to file an Amended Appeal Brief that complies with the 

USPTO's substantive filing requirements provides an independent basis for rejecting all of 

Appellant's arguments and, thus, his appeal. 6 

2. The USPTO Has Disciplinary Jurisdiction Over the Appellant. 

Appellant first argues that the OED lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to both initiate and 

prosecute a disciplinary proceeding against Appellant. (Amended Appeal Brief, at 5-6; Reply, at 

3, 6-7). This position is without merit and contrary to law, USPTO's regulations, and long

standing USPTO precedent.7 

Congress vested the USPTO with plenary, statutory authority to promulgate regulations 

"govern[ing] the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons representing 

applicants or other parties before the Office." 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). See Kroll v. Finnerty, 242 

F.3d 1359, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (stating that the USPTO has the "exclusive authority to 

establish qualifications for admitting persons to practice before it, and to suspend or exclude 

them from practicing before it."); Haley v. Lee, No. 1:15-cv-102, 2015 WL 5277880 at *8 

(E.D.Va., Sept. 8, 2015) (noting that "Congress gave the USPTO wide latitude to govern the 

conduct of the members of its bar.") The Director of the USPTO may suspend or exclude a 

person from practice before the USPTO if the person is "shown to be incompetent or 

disreputable, or guilty of gross misconduct," or if the person violates regulations established by 

the Office. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Accordingly, the USPTO Director has authority to regulate practice 

before the Office in both patent and trademark matters, including the unauthorized practice of 

6 Appellant's Reply Brief also suffers from the same flaws noted in this Order. 

7 Although the OED Director argues that Appellant's jurisdictional arguments were not timely made, that 

question is not addressed here due to the fact that the substantive challenge is without any support 


whatsoever. 

17 


APPX 45 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



law before the Office. (Id.). See also Haley, 2015 WL 5277880 at* 9 ("Congress also explicitly 

gives the USPTO the power to promulgate regulations related to the conduct of its members.") 

Pursuant to its authority to regulate the conduct of practitioners, the US PTO enacted its 

former Code of Professional Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20 et seq., and the current Rules of 

Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 through 11.901, both of which include a number of 

mandatory "Disciplinary Rules" setting forth the minimum level of conduct below which no 

registered patent practitioner can fall without being subjected to disciplinary action. If a 

registered patent practitioner fails to comply with his or her professional obligations, the USPTO 

has the authority to suspend or exclude the practitioner from further practice before the Office. 

See 35 U.S.C. § 32; 37 C.F.R. § 11.19. Appellant has been registered as a patent attorney before 

the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43, A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. 

(Jd.). Consequently, he is bound Appellant to comply with USPTO's disciplinary rules and is 

subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the office. 37 C.F.R. § 1l.19(a). 

As the OED possessed jurisdiction over Appellant, the proceedings before the Committee on 

Discipline were also proper. Appellant attempts to attack the proceeding at that stage, arguing 

that the OED Director improperly submitted his disciplinary matter to the Committee on 

Discipline when he did not consider the settlement of the underlying EPRT malpractice matter. 

(Amended Appeal Brief at 17). However, he cites no authority whatsoever in support of this 

argument. That is for good reason as the regulations concerning the Committee on Discipline, 37 

C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23 include no requirements for what the OED Director submits to the 

Committee. Further, as the OED Director points out, the malpractice agreement involving 
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8 
Appellant was dismissed after the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015. (Appellee Brief at 13

14). 

As the USPTO unequivocally possesses disciplinary jurisdiction over the Appellant, and 

there were no deficiencies associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary 

matter to the Committee on Discipline, Appellant's arguments here are without merit and 

provide no basis for nullifying or overturning the ALJ' s Initial Decision. 

3. The Disciplinary Complaint Was Timely. 

Appellant's next preliminary argument is that the allegations of misconduct in the 

disciplinary complaint are time barred. (Amended Appeal Briefat 6, 19). He argues that "[a]s of 

November 29, 2005, EPRT was 'reasonably informed', in simple and readily comprehensible 

layman's terms, as to the status of the claims under examination and how the Examiner had 

proposed to amend them." (Id. at 19). In response, the OED Director claims that all of the 

misconduct alleged in the complaint occurred within the new statute of limitations period 

established on September 16, 2011, except for one instance of misconduct that was governed by 

a prior 5-year statute of limitations period, and were timely filed. But, even for that one instance 

governed by the prior limitation period, the OED Director argues that the continuing violations 

theory renders the complaint on that issue timely. These arguments, and the AL.T's findings, are 

discussed further below. 

Prior to September 16, 2011, the statute of limitations for attorney discipline matters was 

governed by 28 U.S.C. § 2462, which provided a 5-year statute oflimitations that ran from the 

date when the claim first accrued. However, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America 

Invents Act ("AJA") replaced 28 U.S.C. § 2462 with an amended version of 35 U.S.C. § 32. The 

8 Submission to the Connnittee is a prerequisite to filing the complaint. The malpractice dismissal occurred afier 

the matter had been submitted to the Committee. 
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new statute of limitations period applies to any case that had not already lapsed by the time the 

AIA was enacted. Section 32, as amended, provided for a new two-stage limitation period, as 

follows: 

A proceeding under this section shall be commenced not later than 
the earlier of either the date that is 10 years after the date on which 
the misconduct forming the basis for the proceeding occurred, or 1 
year after the date on which the misconduct forming the basis for 
the proceeding is made known to an officer or employee of the 

Office. 

The only misconduct the Appellant claims is time barred9 concerns the allegation that he 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) due, in part, to his alleged failure to notify EPRT about the 

Third Final Rejection that he received in November, 2005. (Amended Appeal Brief at 19). In his 

Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that the "continuing violations" theory applied as the nature 

of the rule violation was not a "point in time" violation. (A.13). Rather, "[t]he duty to inform 

one's client of potentially adverse information remains active until the practitioner informs the 

client of the correspondence or ceases representation of that client." (Id.) The ALJ then 

concluded that, despite his continuing duty to keep his client informed of that correspondence, 

Appellant did not inform EPRT of the Third Final Rejection until January 14, 2006, at which 

point the statutory clock began to run under the statute of limitations. (Id.) Appellant does not 

challenge the ALJ' s application of the continuing violations theory10 and this order finds that the 

ALJ was correct in applying that doctrine here. 

9 The ALJ correctly noted that the new statute oflimitation period applies to any case under 35 U.S.C. § 32 that had 

not already lapsed by the time of the AI A's enactment. (A. 12). Thus, any misconduct that occurred prior to 

September 16, 2006 -- five years before the AJA took effect -falls under 28 U.S.C. § 2462 and is thus no longer 

actionable. (Id.). Jt is uncontested that all ofthe misconduct alleged in the disciplinary complaint, save one, 


occurred between 2007 and 2011. 

10 Appellant merely notes that the continuing violations doctrine was applied. (Amended Appeal Brief at 6). Instead 

of futile challenge to that doctrine, Appellant doubles down on his view that "[i]t is ofno consequence as to bow, 

and which statute oflimitations applies to the facts of this case." (Id. at 19). In his mistaken view, be "reasonably 

informed" EPRT of the Third Rejection and that is the end of the matter. (Id). 
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With regard to whether and how sufficiently the Appellant informed EPRT of the Third Final 

Rejection, however, the statute of limitations did not begin to run on January 14, 2006, as the 

ALJ found. Rather, the violation continued to exist up to the point where Appellant unilaterally 

severed his representation with EPRT in October, 2016. Supra. p. 9. At that point, having 

severed his relationship, his obligations arguably ended and the statute oflimitations began to 

run on October 28, 2016. Prior to that point, and indeed as the ALJ's decision notes, Appellant 

had only "partially revealed" the substance of the Third Rejection. (A.14). Appellant continued 

to fail, in significant ways, to fulfill his duty under§ 10.23(c)(8) after January 14, 2006. (A.13). 

These failings are discussed in detail by the ALI in the Initial Decision: 

"[Appellant] failed to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to EPRT 
and did not fully or accurately explain the document and its ramifications. 
As a result, EPRT was left with the erroneous impression that the '519 
Application rested on firmer ground than it actually did. EPRT was never 
aware that Claims 3 and 4 needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never 
had the opportunity to instruct Respondent to do so. Respondent therefore 
prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 
course of action. Section 10.23( c )(8) does not require a practitioner to 
simply 'notify' a client about important correspondence, it requires him or 
her to 'inform' the client about that correspondence." 

(A.19; footnote omitted.) 

Appellant's continued failure to properly inform his client about the Third Final Rejection 

remained up until October 28, 2011, when Appellant claims his representation ofEPRT ended. 

Supra p. 9. At that point, the AJA had been enacted and the new, 2-stage statute oflimitations 

applied to Appellant's misconduct. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Under that standard, the applicable 

limitations period is 10-years from October, 2016 or 1-year from when the OED Director was 

informed of the alleged misconduct, which in this case was on May 12, 2014 when Ms. Blake 

filed a grievance against Appellant with OED, (A.3102-06), whichever is earlier. Here, the 
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Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015, (A.42-54), in clear compliance with the new, 2-stage 

statute oflimitations under § 32 and thus was timely filed. 

4. The ALJ's Findings of Fact Are Supported by the Record. 

Appellant challenges several of the specific findings of fact ("FOF") in the ALJ's Initial 

Decision and Order. These are discussed further below. 

a. Findings of Fact 1-3, 9. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 1-3 and 9, 

which Appellant does not challenge as incorrect, are not warranted. 

b. Findings of Fact 13 and 21. 

FOF 13 accurately characterizes the November 19, 2002, e-mail to EPRT. Appellant does not 

challenge that characterization but seeks to provide additional information, which is not 

necessary or relevant. Thus, FOF 13 is adopted as stated in the ALJ's Initial Decision. 

Though Appellant refers to FOF 21 in his brief, he proposes no changes to this FOF in the 

substantive discussion of his Amended Appeal Brief. As such, FOF 21 is adopted as stated in the 

ALJ's Initial Order and Decision. 

c. Finding of Fact 15. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 15 are not 

warranted. 
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d. Findings of Fact 41, 45, 4 7 and 52. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F .R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 41, 45, 47, 

and 52 are not warranted. 

e. Finding of Fact 53. 

FOF 53 is supported by the administrative record. Appellant's Power of Attorney was signed 

by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT Technologies, Inc. (A.2902). Ms. Blake was the primary 

contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct Appellant to take action on the 

'519 Application. (A.7532). Appellant's attempts to cast doubt on the nature of his interaction 

with, or the authority of, Ms. Blake regarding his representation ofEPRT is without any support. 

Consequently, changes to this FOF are not warranted. 

f. Finding of Fact 56. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 56 are not 


warranted. 


g. Findings of Fact 59-65. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ specifically considered 

Appellant's testimony that he didn't receive the June 1, 2009 Board decision or a call from 

examiner Oropeza and rejected Appellant's position. His reasons for the proposed changes are 

nothing more than unsupported, conclusory statements. Consequently, the proposed changes to 

the AL.T's FOFs 59-65 are not warranted. 
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h. Findings of Fact 66-68. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. And, further, he doesn't dispute the FOF as 

written. Thus, the proposed change to FOFs 68-69 are not warranted. 

i. Finding of Fact 69. 

The ALJ plainly rejected Appellant's arguments that he adequately monitored his docket 

including, but not limited to, the fact that he did not associate his Customer Number with the 

'519 Application, preventing him from using USPTO's Patent Application Information Retrieval 

("PAIR") system to check the status of the Application online. And, Appellant does not dispute 

that he did not use PAIR. Thus, no change to this FOF is warranted. 

j. Findings of Fact 70-76. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ's findings are amply 


supported by the record. See Supra, Facts 33-36. No changes to these FOFs are warranted. 


k. 	 Finding of Fact 79. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed change to this FOF. No change to this FOF is warranted. 

B. 	 Appellant's Actions Constitute Misconduct in Violation of the USPTO's 

Disciplinary Rules. 


Turning to the substance of the discipline, the ALJ concluded that the Appellant engaged in 

misconduct in connection with his handling of the '519 Application and his representation of 

EPRT and that misconduct violated six ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. Each of these findings, as 

discussed further below, are amply supported by the record. 
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1. Appellant Neglected the '519 Application. 

First, the ALJ provided a thoughtful and supported analysis for his findings that Appellant 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c), which prohibits a practitioner from neglecting a legal matter 

entrusted to the practitioner. The ALJ noted that "neglect" is defined as "the omission of proper 

attention to a person or thing, whether inadvertent, negligent, or willful." (A.14) (quoting Black's 

Law Dictionary 1061 (8th ed. 2004). Neglect occurs when a practitioner ignores or otherwise 

disregards his obligations to his client. (Id.) Neglect does not occur instantaneously and generally 

requires a pattern or course of conduct clearly illustrating the practitioner's disinterest in 

performing his duties. (Id.) (citing In re Levin, 395 N.E.2d 1374, 1375 (Ill. 1979) (inaction, 

delay, and lack of effort expended on behalf of a client constitutes neglect). A time element is 

therefore a central aspect of the violation and, as a result, a single forgetful moment or honest 

mistake normally will not violate 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c). (A.14). The ALJ correctly concluded that 

OED Director has provided clear and convincing evidence that Appellant failed to monitor the 

progress of the '519 Application in 2009, ignored the patent examiner's phone call in 2009, 

ignored his client Ms. Blake's e-mails and phone calls in 2010 and 2011, and failed to safeguard 

his lines of communication with USPTO at any time. (A.18). While any one of the alleged 

missteps here, on their own, perhaps would not constitute neglect, Appellant's actions and 

omissions over the course of months and years here rises to the level of neglect ofEPRT and the 

'519 Application. (Id.). 

Appellant's neglect began when the examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Oropeza, 

left a voice message for Appellant on August 6, 2009, before the application was abandoned. 

(A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). There is no fact in the record or identified by Appellant 

that shows Appellant ever attempted to find out the reason for Ms. Oropeza's call. This is so 

25 


APPX 53 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



despite the fact that the call "should have alerted him that there was movement on the 

application." (A.15). However, despite the call and many attempted communications by Ms. 

Blake, the record reflects that Appellant did nothing in support of the '519 Application for 2 

years. Had Appellant been monitoring his docket in accordance with the procedures he testified 

to during the hearing, he would have found out about the abandonment. However, it was only 

once Appellant was contacted by Mr. Farahrnand that Appellant took any steps to verify the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). 

In addition, Appellant ignored Ms. Blake's attempts to contact him for over a year. (A.16; 

A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6991; A.6981-95; A.7543). He has no 

explanation as to why he didn't return her numerous calls and e-mails. Appellant's attempts to 

make an after-the-fact explanation that he was not authorized to speak with Ms. Blake, however 

this argument is without merit. Ms. Blake is a corporate representative, she signed the power of 

attorney, and, importantly, Appellant had been communicating with her throughout the 

processing of the '519 Application. (A.15-17; A.2902; A.6559; A.7524-25; A.7532). 

The bulk of Appellant's appeal of the ALJ's findings and conclusions is fairly characterized 

as mere disagreement. His Amended Appeal Brief includes few citations to the record and puts 

forth no discussion of applicable authority or analysis of the ALJ's conclusions. (Appeal at 22

23). The few specific defenses raised in the Amended Appeal Brief are all without merit. First, 

he claims a "deliberate abandonment theory." (Appeal, at 11). Specifically, he argues that Mr. 

Estes told him not to incur additional costs for the '519 Application and he claims that EPRT 

made status inquiries directly to the Board. (Id.). However, this is contrary to the evidence of 

record, which shows that EPRT repeatedly looked to Appellant for updates about the '519 

Application and that it was Appellant's information on file with the USPTO. (A.2902-05). His 
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claim that he was told not to incur additional costs with regard to the '519 Application finds 

absolutely no support in the record. 

Appellant's claim that he did not receive the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment, 

even if true, does not negate his misconduct. Those documents were mailed to his address of 

record. Any issues of receipt, including non-receipt of correspondence, were the result of his 

own choice to utilize an executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his 

customer number, and not monitor his docket. (A.17-18; A.2456; A.2472; A.3349; A.6021; 

A.7716; A.7725). 

In sum, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated § I0.77( c) 

is well-supported and will not be disturbed. 

2. Appellant Failed to Inform EPRT of USPTO Correspondence 

A practitioner is required to inform a client when the practitioner receives correspondence 

from USPTO if the correspondence could have a significant impact on a pending matter and a 

reasonable practitioner would believe the client should be notified. 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8). The 

ALJ found that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated this provision in three instances: 

when he failed to notify EPRT of the Third Final Rejection, when he failed to informed EPRT of 

the Board Decision, and when he failed to inform EPRT of the Notice of Abandonment. (A.20). 

Each of these instances is discussed further below. 

a. Third Final Rejection. 

After a review of the record and the arguments proffered by the parties, it is concluded that 

Appellant failed to sufficiently inform EPRT about the Third Final Rejection. Although he did 

inform them that he had received the Third Final Rejection, he did not attach a copy of that 

document. (A.7711; A.7809). Further, in his communication to EPRT about the Third Final 
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Rejection, Appellant also did not explicitly inform EPRT that claims 23-25 were rejected. 

(A.6955; A.7537). He also erroneously informed EPRT that Claims 3 and 4 had been "allowed" 

when in fact they had been objected to but "would be allowable if rewritten in independent 

form." (A.6574; A.6958). Having declined to inform EPRT that these claims could be rewritten, 

Appellant also did not mention that he did not intend to rewrite them. (Id.). Appellant's e-mail to 

EPRT also never described the USPTO decision as a "final action" and did not mention the 

three-month deadline to file a response. (A.6055; A.6958; A.7711). To the contrary, the e-mail 

implied that no additional steps were necessary because the appeal "is still going forward." 

(A.6958) 

The ALJ noted that the narrow wording of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) prohibits a practitioner 

from failing to inform a client of important correspondence. (A.19). Further, §10.23( c )(8) does 

not require a practitioner to simply "notify" a client about important correspondence, it requires 

him or her to "inform" the client about that correspondence. (A.19). While the November 29, 

2009, e-mail did notify EPRT personnel of the existence of the Third Final Rejection shortly 

after its issuance, Appellant failed in that e-mail to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to 

EPRT and fully explain the action to EPRT. It was not enough for Appellant to simply convey 

that the Third Final Rejection was received. EPRT was never made aware that Claims 3 and 4 

needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never had the opportunity to instruct Appellant to do 

so. Appellant therefore prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 

course of action. 

Appellant does not dispute what was conveyed in his e-mail. However, he maintains that the 

information he conveyed to EPRT "reasonably informed" them as to status of claims under final 

rejection and how Examiner proposed to amend them. (Appeal at 25). Further, he attempts to 
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shift the blame to the client by stating that EPRT never asked questions. (Appeal at 26). These 

arguments are unpersuasive and do not find any support in the facts of the record or in any legal 

authority. His arguments here, once again, are fairly characterized as mere disagreement with the 

ALJ's findings. As stated, Appellant had a duty to informed EPRT about all aspects of the Third 

Final Rejection and not just selectively provide them with only portions of that correspondence. 

Having failed to do so, he engaged in misconduct that violated § 10.23( c )(8). 

b. The Board Decision. 

It is uncontroverted that Appellant did not provide the June 1, 2009 Board Decision until 2 

years after it had been issued. The ALJ correctly noted that this decision was a particularly vital 

communication due to the deadline to appeal not being extendable, thus denying EPRT of that 

opportunity. (A.19-20; A.2467) 

Appellant relies on two arguments to negate his misconduct with regard to communicating 

the Board Decision to EPRT. First, he claims that he did not receive the Board Decision at his 

address of record, which was an executive suite. (Appeal, at 12). As the ALJ properly noted, this 

is an insufficient defense. The Board Decision was mailed to his address of record. (A.2477; 

A.7716). Any issues associated with ability to receive mail at the address he provided to the 

USPTO were his own and were as a result ofhis decisions, including the decision to utilize an 

executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his customer number, and to 

not more closely monitor his docket. (A.17-18). 

Appellant also claims the Board Decision was "not reversible" and "no amount of monitoring 

can alter that fact." (Appeal at 24). It is unclear what Appellant means by this statement, though 

it is presumed that he is arguing EPRT was not harmed in receiving the Board Decision, but no 

citations are provided to support this argument. However, Appellant's argument is belied by the 
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fact that the first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). Thus, EPRT was harmed by their lost 

opportunity to file an appeal of the Board Decision. 

To conclude, the ALJ's conclusions that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) by failing to inform EPRT of the Board Decision is supported by the record 

and warranted. 

c. Notice of Abandonment. 

As with the Board Decision, there is no dispute that the Notice of Abandomnent was never 

provided to Appellant. Rather, Appellant again relies on the claim that he never received the 

document. (Appeal at 12; A.6080; A.7729). However, for the reasons stated above, this position 

is rejected. The Notice of Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's address ofrecord. (A.2456: 

A.3349; A. 7725). 

3. Appellant Failed to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives. 

Pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(l) and (2), practitioners are prohibited from failing to seek 

the lawful objectives of a client and from failing to carry out a contract of employment entered 

into with a client for professional services. These provisions do not require a practitioner's 

conduct to be intentional. Rather, §10.84(a) emphasizes the consequences of the conduct, not the 

intent behind it. (A.21). Neglectful conduct that derails a client's objectives is thus sanctionable 

under §10.84(a). (Id.) Under this standard, the ALI concluded Appellant negligently failed to 

monitor the '519 Application and failed to ensure he received communications from USPTO, 

making it impossible for him to meet EPRT's legal objectives. (Id.). There is no basis argued by 

Appellant, or supported by the record, to disturb these conclusions. 
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Appellant's initial e-mail exchange with EPRT makes clear that Appellant was hired to 

attempt to salvage the '519 Application, if possible. (A.6557-60). The OED Director agrees 

Appellant took actions to secure a patent for EPRT up until the Third Final Rejection in 2005._At 

that point, and as stated in the Third Final Rejection, Claims 3 and 4 were potentially allowable 

ifrewritten in independent form. (A.2688; A.6574). But, Appellant did not rewrite the claims. 

However, this was a unilateral decision on his part and he failed to inform or discuss the Third 

Final Rejection and the consequences of not rewriting claims 3 and 4 with EPRT. (A.6958). 

Instead, he filed the second appeal, with the consequence being that these claims were not 

allowed. As the ALJ noted, even after this failure, Appellant could have taken steps to 

accomplish EPRT's objectives. He could have Petitioned to Revive the application as he had 

done previously. But, due to his decisions as to how he monitored his docket and received 

notices from the Office, he never received the Board Decision or Notice of Abandonment. 

(A.21). 

Appellant's constructive discharge theory is rejected. (Appeal, at 21-22). He cites no 

evidence of any threat that would have necessitated or required his withdrawal, he did not 

communicate his withdrawal to EPRT, and he did not carry out the withdrawal duties required 

under 37 C.F.R. § 10.40. (A.7735). 

In snm, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant negligently failed to monitor the '519 

Application and failed to ensure that he received correspondence from USPTO, with the result 

being that it was impossible for Appellant to meet EPRT's lawful objectives, is fully supported. 

(A.21-22). 
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4. Appellant Engaged in Gross or Disreputable Conduct. 

According to 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c), any violation of its subsections automatically violates 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b). As already discussed, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's failure to 

inform his client of important correspondence violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8). As a result, as a 

matter oflaw, Appellant has also violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a). 

5. Appellant Failed to Return EPRT's Client File. 

The provisions of 37 C.F .R. § 10.112( c )( 4) state that a practitioner must promptly deliver to a 

client, upon request, any client property in the practitioner's possession that the client is entitled 

to receive. And, there is "no dispute that a client's file is the property of the client and should be 

returned to that client upon request." (A.23) (citing Restatement (Third) ofthe Law Governing 

Lawyers 'il 43 (2000), para. 43). 

Here, on October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete 

copy of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7552-3). However, Appellant did not send the file 

to Mr. Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A.7631-33). 

Appellant contends that the EPRT file was not in his possession on October 31, 2011, 

because it remained in in the possession of his ex-wife at the marital home and that he had been 

denied access to that home. (Appeal at 27). But, this argument provides no help to Appellant, 

whose duty to maintain his client's property exists regardless of his personal situation. 

Several other facts in the record also undermine Appellant's position here. Throughout the 

hearing, as reflected in the administrative record, Appellant cited no evidence that he reasonably 

sought to obtain the file from the marital home when he had the chance to do so. EPRT's new 
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counsel requested the file in October, 201 l and he had access to the marital home up to 

November 2011. (A.7748-49). Further, as the ALJ noted, Appellant could have subpoenaed the 

file from his wife, but did not, instead letting that obligation fall to EPRT's new counsel. (A.24). 

Lastly, it is noted that the ALJ specifically questioned Appellant's credibility with regard to this 

issue. (A.23). The ALI noted that, at the hearing, Appellant first stated the file had been 

destroyed but in fact opposing counsel in the malpractice case against Appellant was able to find 

it. (Id.). The ALJ's observations here are persuasive and provide further support for finding that 

Appellant violated § 10.112( c )( 4). 

C. The ALJ's Sanction Was Appropriate. 

The ALJ's Initial Decision concluded that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 6 

ofUSPTO's Disciplinary Rules, and that an 8-month suspension was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.33). An ALJ initial decision that imposes exclusion or suspension must explain the reason for 

imposing such a sanction after consideration of the following four factors: 

(1) Whether the practitioner has violated a duty owed to a client, to the 

public, to the legal system, or to the profession; 

(2) Whether the practitioner acted intentionally, knowingly, or 

negligently; 

(3) The amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner's 

misconduct; and 

(4) The existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors. 

37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b)(l)-(4). 

The Director of the US PTO reviews an appeal from an ALJ Initial Decision on the record 

before the ALJ. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(£); see also Marinangeli v. Lehman, 32 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 
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(D.D.C. 1998). After such review, and as discussed below, the ALJ's initial decision to suspend 

Appellant from practicing before the USPTO for 8 months included a careful and proper analysis 

of the four factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b). The ALJ's sanction of suspension is 

warranted and thus upheld. Here, the ALJ properly considered and applied .the four factors 

relevant to an exclusion or suspension under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b). This analysis is discussed 

further, below. 

1. 	 Whether the Practitioner Has Violated a Duty Owed to a Client, to the Public, to the 
Legal System, or to the Profession. 

The ALJ concluded that Appellant repeatedly failed in his responsibilities to his client and 

this final order upholds that finding. (A.27). Though Appellant was hired to attempt to salvage 

the '519 Application in December 2002, his last communication with USPTO regarding the 

application occurred in 2006. (A.2643). The ALJ rejected Appellant's argument that he no longer 

had a duty to EPRT after December 2006, when EPRT assigned the rights to the '519 

Application to Thrisoint, noting that Appellant never withdrew from his representation of EPRT 

and several e-mails in 2008 that demonstrated Appellant's continued to actively represent its 

interests after EPRT's acquisition by Thrisoint. (A.27). Consequently, Appellant remained 

obligated to fulfill his duties to EPRT but failed to do so by refusing to return phone calls and e

mails from Ms. Blake and disregarding important phone calls from the USPTO examiner. (A.27; 

A.3786; A.3847; A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6981-95; A.7543-53; A.7958). 

Because Appellant neglected the '519 Application for almost two years, he failed to keep EPRT 

apprised of the '519 Application's progress, leading to the Application's abandonment. (A.27). 

Lastly, Appellant refused to return EPRT's client file despite an explicit request to do so. (Id.). 

Although improper behavior by any member of the legal community undermines public faith in 

the sanctity of the legal system, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant's primary failure was in 
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his duty to his client, not the population at large. (Id.). Finding that Appellant repeatedly failed in 

his responsibilities to EPRT, the ALJ determined this finding supported a moderate sanction. 

(Id.). The ALJ's findings here were appropriate and supported by the record. 

2. Whether the Practitioner Acted Intentionally, Knowingly, or Negligently. 

As to the second factor, ALJ found that Appellant acted both negligently and intentionally, 

and those findings warranted a moderate sanction. (A.27-28). First, it was properly found that 

Appellant acted negligently when, after his move to the 28 W. Flagler address, he maintained 

·office procedures with a risk to receiving timely client information. (A.27-28). Appellant 

entrusted a receptionist at the W. Flagler address to sort his mail without his input. (A.27; 

A.7699). By doing so, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant put the burden on the receptionist 

to recognize critical correspondence and notify him in a timely manner. (A.27). Thus, the ALJ 

properly concluded that, had Appellant changed his correspondence address to his home office or 

associated his Customer ID number with the '519 Application, he would have timely received 

the Board Decision and the Notice of Abandonment and could have informed EPRT of those 

documents and plauned a strategy for addressing those actions. (A.27-28). 

The ALJ also noted that Appellant's docket management system was insufficient. (A.27). 

Appellant's own testimony was cited here, stating that he maintained a manual system and relied 

on his (now former) wife to keep him informed of upcoming deadlines. (A.27; A.5935-36; 

A.5938; A.7687-90). He had no "tickler" system in place to remind him to check on pending 

cases and had no way to monitor them, other than contacting US PTO directly. (A.27). The ALJ 

was correct in noting that Appellant's claim that he properly monitored the '519 application was 

belied by the fact that he never contacted Ms. Oropeza in 2009 and never received any updates 
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about the Application in 2010. (A.27-28). These actions were all properly identified as negligent 

bytheALJ. 

In addition to negligent behavior, the AL.T noted that Appellant's refusal to communicate 

with Ms. Blake was intentional. (A.28). In support of this, the ALJ relied on the fact that 

Appellant failed to respond to at least nine e-mails and an untold number of telephone calls from 

her in 2010 and 2011, save for a single, abbreviated, non-substantive call in 2010. (Id.). This 

finds support in the administrative record. See supra. p. 8. In addition, the ALJ identified as 

intentional Appellant's failure to return the EPRT client file upon request, despite knowing 

precisely where the file was located and !mowing he had an obligation to return it. (A.28). The 

ALJ acknowledged Appellant's sensitive personal situation that motivated his decision, but 

properly noted that reason was insufficient to shield him from his responsibility to his clients. 

(Id.). Any risk of maintaining private files in a home office during a period of personal, marital 

discord was properly found to be his own making. 

Because this factor was properly discussed and is amply supported by the record, there is no 

basis on which to disturb the ALJ' s findings. 

3. 	 The Amount of the Actual or Potential Injury Caused by the Practitioner's 

Misconduct. 

ln discussing this factor, the ALJ addressed head on Appellant's argument that the 

abandomnent of the '519 Application caused EPRT no economic harm because the invention 

could never have obtained patent protection. (A.28). The ALJ noted that it would be "an exercise 

in futility to speculate whether the invention was actually patentable, or what kind of profit it 

could have generated if it had been patented." (A.28). However, EPRT was still harmed. EPRT 

paid Appellant between $35,000 and $45,000 to guide the '519 Application through the patent 

process and received nothing for that. (A.28; A.7567). Consequently, the ALJ properly 
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concluded that EPRT experienced substantial monetary harm because of its dealings with 

Appellant. (A.28). 

The AL.T also recognized that Appellant represented EPRT's interests competently, at least 

for a time. (A.28). But, with no way to determine what percentage ofEPRT's payments were in 

vain, the AL.T noted that "it is simply impossible to arrive at a non-arbitrary dollar figure 

representing EPRT's loss." (Id.). Despite this, the AL.T found it undisputed that EPRT's attempts 

to obtain a patent for the '519 Application left it economically weaker and Appellant's 

misconduct exacerbated EPRT's harm. (Id.). This is a reasonable conclusion based on the record. 

Finally, EPRT has expended more than $170,000 in litigation costs against Appellant, with at 

least one lawsuit still ongoing. (A.28; A.7567-68). 


Based on these factors, the ALJ found this factor merited an increased sanction against 


Appellant. (A.28). This analysis is soundly rooted in the record and is reasonable. 

4. The Existence of Any Aggravating or Mitigating Factors. 

Finally, the ALJ identified and considered both aggravating and mitigating factors in the 

case, relying on guidance by the ABA Standards when determining whether aggravating or 

mitigating factors exist. (A.28). See also In re Lane, D2013-07, at 19 (USPTO Mar. 11, 2017; 

Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions§ 9.2 (Am. Bar Ass'n 2015). 

The ALJ identified six aggravating factors and two mitigating factors. The most serious of 

the aggravating factors was Appellant's disciplinary history, which included being twice 

disciplined by the state of Florida and once disciplined by the USPTO. (A.29; A.1272-83; 

A.7390-98). Importantly, the AL.T noted that both Florida cases bore some similarities to 

Appellant's current disciplinary case. First, in 1995, Appellant agreed to a consent judgment in 

Florida, resulting in a 10-day suspension for misconduct that involved a client's attempts to 
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resolve apparent duplicate charges for legal fees, and repayment of unexpended payments. (A. 

29). There, Appellant refused to provide the requested information and did not return the 

unearned fees until after the client filed a disciplinary grievance. (Id.). The ALI went on to 

explain that the Florida Bar Rule that Appellant was found to have violated concerns responding 

to a client's reasonable requests for infonnation, explaining matters to the extent reasonably 

necessary to allow the client to make an informed decision about the course of action; and 

prompt delivery to a client any funds that he/she is entitled to and render a full accounting of 

charges. (Id.). The Florida rules served substantially the same function as USPTO's Disciplinary 

Rules§§ 10.23(c)(8) and 10.l 12(c)(4). (Id.). As a result, the ALJ concluded that Appellant was 

aware, in 1995, that ignoring client requests for information was sanctionablc misconduct. (Id.). 

Subsequently, in 2011, Appellant again accepted a consent judgment in Florida, resulting in a 

public reprimand. (A.29; A.7390-98). That case revolved around Appellant's failure to inform a 

client that he would no longer pursue the client's interests and his failure to tell the client that the 

client's trademark applications had been abandoned. (A.29; A.7390-98). The OED Director 

sought to impose reciprocal discipline against Appellant in connection with the 2011 state 

discipline, which Appellant strenuously, though unsuccessfully, opposed despite the fact that the 

Florida reprimand was consented to by Appellant. (A.29-30). The OED Director thus imposed a 

public reprimand on November 18, 2013. (A.30; A.1272-1283). Thus, this case is Appellant's 

fourth disciplinary proceeding. The ALI noted that the prior actions have "not inspired him to 

better appreciate his duties toward his clients" as demonstrated by the fact that, here, he has 

refused to respond to his client, refused to return client property, and allowed a client matter to 

go abandoned, just as he did in 1995 and 2011. (A.30). Thus, Appellant's disciplinary history 

warrants a severe sanction. 
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A second aggravating factor was identified as Appellant's attempt to silence Ms. Blake and 

other EPRT employees via a clause in the Florida malpractice settlement agreement prohibiting 

any EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary 

investigations against him. (A.5490-93; A.7644-47). Both investigations were prompted by 

grievances filed by Ms. Blake on behalf ofEPRT. (A.30). While the final settlement agreement 

included language noting that EPRT personnel could participate if subpoenaed, the ALJ noted 

that the only purpose of this prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations 

against him. (A.30). The ALJ concluded that this constitutes bad faith obstruction of the USPTO 

disciplinary investigation. (Id.); see also Kentucky Bar Ass 'n v. Unnamed Attorney, 414 S.W.3d 

412, 418 (Ky. 2013) (court applying similar rule found violation where a settlement agreement 

required grievant to either withdraw disciplinary complaint or refuse to voluntarily cooperate 

with investigation). 

A third aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's "obstinate refusal to recognize his 

wrongdoing or the harm he has caused his client." (A.30). Appellant never offered EPRT a 

refund and has never apologized to Ms. Blake for deliberately ignoring her urgent pleas for 

information. (A.30). Instead, it was noted that Appellant has attempted to deflect blame the 

receptionist in his W. Flagler office for misplacing his mail, his ex-wife for maintaining 

possession ofEPRT's file, Mr. Farahmand for allegedly threatening a malpractice lawsuit, and 

incredibly he even blamed Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes for not asking probing questions about his 

handling of their patent application, and for not hiring an experienced patent attorney as his 

replacement. (A.30-31). However, the ALJ was unmoved by these deflections, noting that "none 

of these events would have occurred if not for Appellant's own misconduct." (A.31). The ALJ 

noted that this attitude demanded a harsher penalty. (Id.). 
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A fourth aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's legal experience. Though experience is 

often considered as a mitigating factor, the issue of legal experience did not mitigate Appellant's 

conduct here. (A.31 ). Appellant's extensive experience as a practicing attorney for almost half a 

century made it such that the ALJ could not dismiss his actions as by someone who did not know 

any better. (Id.). Nor was the ALJ willing to rely on Appellant's personal situation or excuse his 

behavior as fleeting lapse ofjudgment since, his conduct during the Florida malpractice suit and 

during the instant disciplinary proceeding have only resulted in more disciplinary complaints. 

(Id.). Among the examples given is that he deliberately attempted to frustrate the OED Director's 

investigation in this proceeding by negotiating the silence of EPRT personnel, in violation of 3 7 

C.F.R. § l l .304(f). (A.31-32). Moreover, the ALJ noted his "abusive" behavior throughout these 

proceedings, with specific examples such as labeling Ms. Chaiken as a serial perjurer in 

pleadings and other ad hominem attacks. (A.32). This behavior was noted by the ALI as "a 

strong indication that his commitment to ethical conduct has grown weaker over the years." 

(A.32). 

Finally, the ALJ took note of the fact that Appellant is uninterested and noncompliant in 

making restitution to EPRT, despite signing a settlement agreement in which he promised to pay 

EPRT $7,000. (A.32). "This suggests the settlement agreement was made in bad faith and was 

merely an attempt to escape the Florida malpractice proceeding" and has forced EPRT to spend 

even more resources to file another lawsuit and enforce the terms of the settlement (Id.). In the 

ALJ's view, this factor supports a moderate sanction. (Id.). 

In mitigation, the ALI recognized the negative effect of Appellant's personal situation, which 

could have impacted his decision making. (A.32). However, the ALJ properly noted that the 

personal circumstances don't explain Appellant's earlier neglect in 2009 or his refusal to 
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communicate with Ms. Blake in 2010 and 2011. (Id.). Additionally, the ALJ rejected Appellant's 

reference to his marital discord as it related to his inability to reclaim possession of EPRT's 

client file since no evidence was presented any that his marital problems negatively affected his 

mental state during that time period. (Id.). Finally, the lack of dishonest motive was found to be 

mitigating here. (Id.). The ALJ noted that his conduct was not the result of greed or any other 

nefarious consideration. (Id.). 

It is noted here that neither the ALJ's order, nor the Amended Appeal Brief, discuss the 

consistency of the 8-month suspension here with other comparable disciplinary cases. However, 

the OED Director provided evidence that an 8-month sanction is consistent with other 

disciplinary matters previously decided before the US PTO Director. (Appellee Brief at 26-27). 

For example, it was noted that a 6-month suspension was imposed for a practitioner who, inter 

alia, failed to monitor the status of a patent application, failed to respond to a client's inquiries, 

and keep the client reasonably informed, and failed to comply with a client's request to return 

her file. (Id. at 26 (citing In re Stretch, No. D2013-03 (USPTO July 29, 2013)). ln another 

matter, a practitioner was suspended for 36-months, stayed after 6-months, for neglecting client 

matters, not notifying clients about Office correspondence, allowing applications to go 

abandoned and then misrepresenting the status of those applications to the client. (Id. at 26-27) 

(citing In re Edelson, No. D201 l-13 (USPTO Dec. 15, 2011 ). Finally, a practitioner was 

suspended by consent for 24 months with the right to seek reinstatement after 12 months and 

placed on a 24-month probation for neglecting two patent applications even though the 

practitioner represented that his firm had significant staffing problems during the time of the 

events at issue and that a new office manager made several clerical and administrative errors that 

contributed to the neglect of the patent applications. (Id. at 27) (citing In re Matlock, No. D201 l 
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52 (USPTO Feb. 7, 2012). These comparables, which are not discussed or refuted by Appellant, 

demonstrate that Appellant's 8-month suspension is within the range of discipline for other 

similar disciplinary matters. 

In sum, after reviewing the ALJ's sanction determination, it is concluded that the 

determination was reached after proper consideration of all the required factors, was reasonable, 

and is supported by the record. 

ORDER 

Having considered Appellant's appeal under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55 from the September 15, 2016 

Initial Decision of the ALJ suspending Appellant from the practice of all patent, trademark, and 

other non-patent matters before the Office for eight months, it is ORDERED that the Initial 

Decision of the ALJ is AFFIRMED. 

It is further: 

ORDERED that the OED Director give notice pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § l l.59 of the 

public discipline and the reasons for the discipline to disciplinary enforcement agencies in 

the state(s) where Appellant is admitted to practice, to courts where Appellant is known to be 

admitted, and to the public; 

ORDERED that the USPTO dissociate Appellant's name from any Customer Numbers 

and the public key infrastructure ("PKI") certificate associated with those Customer 

Numbers; 

ORDERED that Appellant shall not apply for a USPTO Customer Number, shall not 

obtain a USPTO Customer Number, nor shall he have his name added to a USPTO 

Customer Number, unless and until he is reinstated to practice before the USPTO; and 
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ORDERED that Appellant shall comply with the provisions of37 C.F.R. § 11.58 

governing the duties of disciplined practitioner. 

RECONSIDERATION AND APPEAL RIGHTS 

Any request for reconsideration of this decision must be filed within twenty (20) days from 

the date of entry of this decision pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.56( c ). Any request for 

reconsideration mailed to the USPTO must be addressed to: 

Sarah T. Harris 

General Counsel 


United States Patent and Trademark Office 

600 Dulany St. 

P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

A copy of the request must also be served on the attorney for the Director ofEmollment and 

Discipline: 
Robin Crabb 


Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 

600 Dulany St. 

P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

Any request hand-delivered to the USPTO must be hand-delivered to the Office of the 

General. Counsel, in which case the service copy for the attorney for the Director shall be hand-

delivered to the Office of Emollment and Discipline. 

If a request for reconsideration is not filed, and Appellant desires further review, Appellant is 

notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S. District Court for the 
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Eastern District of Virginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days after the date of the 

order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 


~ I~ /?01'1 
Date Sarah 

z~~
T. Harris 

General Counsel 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 

on delegated authority by 
Joseph Mata! 
Performing the Functions and Duties of 
the Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual 
Property and Director of the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office 

cc: 
JohnH. Faro 
Appellant 

Robin Crabb 
Associate Solicitor 
Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the 
parties below, in the manner indicated: 

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL: 

John H. Faro 

1395 Brickell Avenue 


Suite 800 

Miami, FL 33131 


Johnf75712@aol.com 

Johnf75712@gmail.com 


Appellant 

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL: 
Robin Crabb 

Tracy Kepler 


Associate Solicitors 

Mail Stop 8 


Office of the Solicitor 

P.O. Box 1450 


Alexandria, VA 22313-1450 
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov 

OED Director 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR    Supreme Court Case No. 
       SC18-1279 

Complainant,  
     

v.       The Florida Bar File: 
       2019-70,032(11J) 
JOHN H. FARO,  
 

Respondent, 
________________________/ 
 

 
RESPONDENT’S MOTION UNDER RULE 1.140, (FRCP) TO DISMISS  
THE FLORIDA BAR COMPLAINT FOR RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE 

AND, ALTERNATIVELY, FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS 
 

The Respondent, JOHN H. FARO, (hereinafter “FARO”), files this Motion to 

Dismiss, and states as follows:  

1. The Florida Bar Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline seeks to impose 

reciprocal discipline upon FARO, under TFB Rule 3-4.6, based upon the United 

States Patent & Trademark Office (also “Patent Office” or “OED”), Final Orders of 

August 2, 2017 and February 9, 2018.  The Florida Bar Formal Complaint for 

Reciprocal Discipline at 7 Paragraph at 4W. 

2. The Rules of the Florida Bar, specifically Rule 3–4.6, which authorizes 

imposing reciprocal discipline, is reproduced below, in pertinent part,  

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other 
authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, 
that a lawyer licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of 
misconduct justifying disciplinary action will be considered as 
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conclusive proof of the misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under 
this rule. 
 
3. In regard to The Florida Bar Rule 3–4.6, the Supreme Court declined 

to impose reciprocal discipline against a Florida attorney, based upon discipline 

imposed by the SEC, under ), because a federal administrative agency (e.g. SEC). 

is not “a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state 

or federal”.   The Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (Fla 1992).    

4. The primary function of the United States Patent & Trademark Office 

is to process and examine patent applications in order to determine their compliance 

with the statutory criteria for an issued patent (e.g. 35 USC 102, novelty & and 35 

USC 103, non-obvious subject matter). 

5. Only a “registered patent practitioner”, can represent inventors and 

practice before the United States Patent & Trademark Office, Registered patent 

practitioners, can include individuals who are not attorneys. 

6. The Patent Office registration process requires that an individual (a) 

have the requisite education, training and experience in the physical sciences and 

engineering, (e.g. technical competence),  and (b) familiarity with the administrative 

APPX 75 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
         SC18-1279 

     
         The Florida Bar File: 
         2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

3 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

Rule of Practice, to engage in the filing and solicitation of allowance of such 

application. 

7. As is evident from these General Requirements FARO’s professional 

credentials, and his status as an attorney, was irrelevant to eligibility to take the 

Patent Office registration examination, and/or FARO’s registration to become an 

authorized/licensed registered patent practitioner,    

8. FARO was recognized on March 3, 1971, by the United States Patent 

& Trademark Office, as a registered patent practitioner (Reg. No. 25,859)1, as his 

having the requisite technical competence in the material sciences (biology and 

chemistry), and familiarly with its Rule of Practice, to prepare, file and prosecute 

patent applications before the United States Patent & Trademark Office. 

9. The United States Patent & Trademark Office has the authority to 

discipline registered patent practitioners who practice before it.   The United States 

Patent & Trademark Office authority to discipline a registered patent practitioner is 

 
1    A registered patent practitioner need not be an attorney, and, thus the registration examination 
was not intended to determine an individual fitness to practice as an attorney.  Accordingly, 
“registered” patent practitioners can includes any individual, regardless of his status in another 
profession, who takes and passes the registration examination of the Patent Office.  
 
APPX 76 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
         SC18-1279 

     
         The Florida Bar File: 
         2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

4 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

governed by its own regulations (Rules of Practice, 37 CFR 11.01 & 37 CFR 

11.19(a).).   Notwithstanding, that the United States Patent & Trademark Office. 

,,, authority certainly is similar to that of a court or agency authorized 
to discipline lawyers, the primary purpose for its exercise is not to 
ensure the qualification, supervision or regulation of lawyers.  The 
Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (Fla 1992).   (Attached hereto as 
Exhibit “A”) 
            
  
10. The Final Orders of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, of United 

States Patent & Trademark Office, are based upon the agency imposition of 

discipline, for FARO’s perceived failure, to comply with the agency’s Rules of 

Practice2, [37 CFR (Parts I & II)], in his solicitation of the allowance of a former 

client’s patent application, TFB Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline at 7,  

Paragraph  at 4W. 

11. The Final Orders of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, of United 

States Patent & Trademark Office are not entitled to reciprocal enforcement under 

The Florida Bar Rule 3–4.6, because United States Patent & Trademark Office is 

 
2    The ALJ basis for discipline was primarily based Respondents’ “delayed awareness” of the 
status of the patent application, consequently in its unintentional abandonment 
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not “a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or 

federal”, c.f.. The Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (Fla 1992)3.  

12. The Florida Bar Rule 3–4.6, as are all unambiguous statutes and 

regulations in Florida, which implicate the imposition of professional discipline, are 

to be interpreted as written, because the 

 “…revocation or suspension of a license to practice are deemed penal 
in nature and must be strictly construed, with any ambiguity interpreted 
in favor of the licensee. Turbeville v. Department of Financial Services, 
248 So.3d 194, 196-197 (1st DCA 2018) 
 
13. The Florida Supreme Court has held in its Tepps decision that only 

discipline imposed by courts in state and federal jurisdiction, are to be accorded 

reciprocal enforcement in Florida. under The Florida Bar Rule 3–4.6. 

14. Neither of the United States Patent & Trademark Office Final Orders 

of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, which imposed discipline against FARO, 

were issued by a court in a state and/or federal jurisdiction.    

15. Neither of the United States Patent & Trademark Office Final Orders 

of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, are to be accorded reciprocal enforcement 

 
3    The Florida Supreme Court decision in Tepps has been cited and relied upon in other 
jurisdictions, for its analysis and differentiation of discipline imposed by state or federal 
jurisdiction from discipline imposed by an administrative agency.  
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of discipline against FARO, as a Florida attorney, under The Florida Bar Rule 3–

4.6.    

16. Moreover, insofar as the alleged acts and omissions asserted by the 

Patent Office in the Final Orders of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, of United 

States Patent & Trademark Office, are alleged to have occurred  prior to (more than 

nine years ago), AND The Florida Bar dismissed its prosecution of FARO, based 

upon these same the acts and omissions. (The Florida Bar Voluntary Dismissal 

Without Prejudice, dated February 8, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit “B”).   The 

Florida Bar’s statute of limitations for re-opening investigations, and the imposition 

of original discipline, based upon prior investigations of these same allegations of 

professional misconduct, has expired, The Florida Bar Rule 3-7.16(a)(2).  

17. For all of the reasons set forth hereinabove in Paragraphs 6 to 13, 

inclusive, the Florida Bar Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline must be 

dismissed, with prejudice, as a matter of law 

WHEREFORE Respondent here requests that his Motion to Dismiss and, 

alternatively, for Judgment On The Pleadings, be granted and that The Florida Bar  

  

APPX 79 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
         SC18-1279 

     
         The Florida Bar File: 
         2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

7 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

Complaint For Reciprocal Discipline be dismissed with prejudice. 

Respectfully, 
 

 PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 

 Miami, Florida  33130 
 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
 rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
 
 By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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VERIFICATION 

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 

herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527459 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Respondent’s Motion Under Rule 

1.140 (FRCP) To Dismiss The Florida Bar Complaint For Reciprocal Discipline 

And, Alternatively, For Judgment On The Pleadings has been provided to The 

Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org;  to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 20th day of September, 2020. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_______ 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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The Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (1992)
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 96,831, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S322

 © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 1

601 So.2d 1174 (Mem)
Supreme Court of Florida.

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant,
v.

Jerome L. TEPPS, Respondent.

No. 76468.
|

May 28, 1992.

Synopsis
Attorney disciplinary proceeding was brought. Referee
recommended disbarment, and attorney appealed. The
Supreme Court held that Securities and Exchange
Commission is not court or other authorized disciplinary
agency of another jurisdiction within meaning of disciplinary
rule.

Reversed and remanded.

West Headnotes (1)

[1] Attorneys and Legal Services Particular
cases
46H Attorneys and Legal Services
46HXIV Enforcement of Professional Standards; 
 Discipline
46HXIV(D) Evidence
46Hk1008 Weight and Sufficiency of Evidence
46Hk1011 Particular cases

(Formerly 45k53(2) Attorney and Client)
Securities and Exchange Commission is not
court or other authorized disciplinary agency
of another jurisdiction within meaning of
rule allowing final adjudication in foreign
jurisdiction to be considered as conclusive proof
of misconduct in state disciplinary proceeding.
West's F.S.A. Bar Rule 3–4.6.

3 Cases that cite this headnote

Attorneys and Law Firms

*1174  John F. Harkness, Jr., Executive Director and John
T. Berry, Staff Counsel, Tallahassee, and Linda J. Amidon,
Bar Counsel and Kevin P. Tynan, Co–Bar Counsel, Fort
Lauderdale, for complainant.

Lewis A. Fishman of Lewis A. Fishman, P.A., Plantation, for
respondent.

Opinion

PER CURIAM.

Jerome L. Tepps, a member of The Florida Bar, seeks
review of a referee's report finding him guilty of numerous
disciplinary violations and recommending that he be
disbarred. We have jurisdiction. Art. V, § 15, Fla. Const.

We are presented, for the first time, with the question of
whether an order of suspension issued by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) constitutes a final adjudication
of discipline by a foreign jurisdiction under rule 3–4.6 of the
Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. We hold that it does not.

The string of events culminating in the referee's
recommendation to this Court that Tepps be disbarred began
on January 12, 1988. On that date, the SEC filed a civil
injunction action in federal district court against Tepps
and his employee, Michael Goldstein, alleging violations
of various sections of the Securities Act of 1933 and the
Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Tepps consented to the
entry of a Final Judgment and Order of Permanent Injunction
enjoining him from violating or aiding and abetting any
violation of the securities laws. On October 25, 1989, the SEC
suspended Tepps from practicing before the Commission for
a period of five years. Because Tepps consented to the entry of
the permanent injunction in the civil action, it was presumed
that he had been enjoined by reason of the misconduct alleged
in the SEC's complaint. Rule 2(e)(3)(iv) of the SEC's Rules
of Practice, 17 C.F.R. § 201.2(e)(3)(iv) (1991).

On August 13, 1990, The Florida Bar filed a two-
count complaint against Tepps alleging that the presumed
misconduct resulting in the suspension order constituted
violations of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar 3–4.3
(misconduct and minor misconduct), 4–4.1 (truthfulness in
statements to others), 4–8.4(a) (a lawyer shall not violate
a disciplinary rule), and 4–8.4(c) (a lawyer shall not

APPX 83 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279

http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46H/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46Hk1011/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46Hk1011/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46H/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46HXIV/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46HXIV(D)/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46Hk1008/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Browse/Home/KeyNumber/46Hk1011/View.html?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1005200&cite=FLSTBARR3-4.6&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/RelatedInformation/DocHeadnoteLink?docGuid=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&headnoteId=199209760300120200221154938&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=CitingReferences&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0251411301&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0140150701&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0140150701&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0143772901&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=h&pubNum=176284&cite=0285060001&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=RQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000245&cite=FLCNART5S15&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1005200&cite=FLSTBARR3-4.6&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1005200&cite=FLSTBARR3-4.6&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
http://www.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1005200&cite=FLSTBARR3-4.3&originatingDoc=I713fa0570c8111d98220e6fa99ecd085&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&vr=3.0&rs=cblt1.0&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)


The Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (1992)
Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 96,831, 17 Fla. L. Weekly S322

 © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 2

engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or
misrepresentation).

After the referee was appointed, the Bar filed a motion to
limit the proceedings to the issue of discipline. In its motion,
the Bar took the position that, pursuant to rule 3–4.6 of the
Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, the opinion and order of
the SEC suspending Tepps served as “conclusive proof” of
the misconduct charged in the Bar's complaint. Rule 3–4.6
provides:

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a
court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another
jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to
practice in that jurisdiction is *1175  guilty of misconduct
justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as
conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary
proceeding under this rule.

Relying on this provision, the referee granted the motion to
limit the proceedings.

After the hearing on discipline, the referee adopted the final
judgment of permanent injunction and the SEC's final opinion
and order suspending Tepps. The referee found that: 1) from
at least January 1986 to 1988, Tepps participated in an
ongoing securities fraud through the preparation of fraudulent
SEC registration-form statements, which contained untrue
statements of material facts, and omitted material facts;
and 2) from at least January 1986 to April 1988, Tepps
filed registration-form statements and amendments without
authorized signatures, and in some instances, without the
authority of the purported signatories, in an ongoing securities
fraud. Based on these findings, the referee found Tepps guilty
of the misconduct charged and recommended that he be
disbarred. Tepps challenges the referee's report, maintaining
that he is entitled to a full evidentiary hearing on the issue of
guilt. We agree.

The SEC is not “a court or other authorized disciplinary
agency of another jurisdiction” within the meaning of rule 3–
4.6. It is a federal administrative agency empowered by the
United States Congress to regulate all aspects of securities
transactions. As part of its regulatory function, the SEC may

deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege of
appearing or practicing before it in any way to any person
who is found by the Commission ... (i) not to possess
the requisite qualifications to represent others, or (ii) to
be lacking in character or integrity or to have engaged
in unethical or improper professional conduct, or (iii) to
have willfully violated, or willfully aided and abetted the
violation of any provision of the Federal securities laws
(15 U.S.C. 77a to 80b–20), or the rules and regulations
thereunder.

Rule 2(e)(1) of the SEC's Rules of Practice, 17 C.F.R. §
201.2(e)(1) (1991). While this authority certainly is similar
to that of a court or agency authorized to discipline lawyers,
the primary purpose for its exercise is not to ensure the
qualification, supervision or regulation of lawyers.

Accordingly, because the SEC is not an authorized
disciplinary agency under rule 3–4.6, we reject the findings
and recommendations of the referee and remand for a full
evidentiary hearing.

It is so ordered.

SHAW, C.J., and OVERTON, McDONALD, BARKETT,
GRIMES, KOGAN and HARDING, JJ., concur.

All Citations

601 So.2d 1174 (Mem), Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 96,831, 17 Fla.
L. Weekly S322

End of Document © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC16-1408 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2014-70,913(11J)  

___________________________/ 

VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

COMES NOW, The Florida Bar, by and through its undersigned counsel, 

and hereby files this Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice with respect to Count 

One of the formal Complaint, which alleged violations of Rule 4-1.1 (Competence) 

and 4-1.3 (Diligence) of The Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.   

With respect to these alleged Rule violations, each party shall bear its own 

attorneys’ fees and costs. 

Respectfully submitted, 

 
Thomas Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel 
The Florida Bar - Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue 
Rivergate Plaza, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 19303 
tkroeger@flabar.org 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the original Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice has been 
furnished by E-Mail only to the Honorable Jeri Beth Cohen, Referee, to the judicial 
assistant’s email at xcotarelo@jud11.flcourts.org; with a copy by E-Mail only to 
John H. Faro, at johnf75712@aol.com; and to Adria E. Quintela, Staff Counsel, 
The Florida Bar at aquintel@flabar.org, on this 8th day of February, 2017. 

 
Thomas Allen Kroeger, Bar Counsel 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J) 

___________________________/ 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT’S 
MOTION TO DISMISS AND ALTERNATIVELY, FOR JUDGMENT ON 

THE PLEADINGS 

 The Florida Bar, by and through undersigned counsel, files this Response in 

Opposition to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and Alternatively, For Judgment on 

the Pleadings, and in support sets forth the facts and argument below: 

 1. To begin, respondent was suspended for eight months by U.S. Patent 

and Trademark Office (USP&TO) Final Orders dated August 2, 2017 and February 

9, 2018.  Those Final Orders affirmed the earlier findings of an administrative law 

judge who found that respondent had engaged in misconduct consisting of multiple 

disciplinary rule violations of the USP&TO Code of Professional Responsibility.  

Both Final Orders chronicle respondent’s misconduct in specific detail.  Following 

entry of the February 2018 Final Order, respondent sought review in the Federal 

District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia where once again, the earlier 

APPX 88 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



decisions were affirmed in a ruling detailing the misconduct.  Thereafter, 

respondent sought review in the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit 

which also affirmed.  In fact, it was due to these appeals that a stay of the instant 

proceedings was obtained. 

 2. The Florida Bar maintains that it has authority to seek reciprocal 

discipline pursuant to R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 and that the discipline imposed 

by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USP&TO), later affirmed by two federal 

courts, falls squarely within the confines of the rule.    

 3. Respondent argues that reciprocal discipline should not be invoked in 

the instant case, contending that only discipline imposed by state and federal courts 

can be afforded reciprocity under the rule.  The flaws in respondent’s argument are 

set forth below.   

 4. To begin and perhaps most importantly, The Florida Bar v. Colitz, 

Supreme Court Case No. SC04-1709 (Fla. 2005), is a Florida Supreme Court case 

in which reciprocal discipline was imposed as a result of a USP&TO discipline 

order which also resulted in reciprocal discipline in Ohio; both of which formed 

the basis for the Bar’s Complaint.  Consequently, precedent exists for the 

imposition of reciprocal discipline stemming from USP&TO sanctions.    
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 5. Respondent relies on The Florida Bar v. Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (Fla. 

1992), in which the Florida Supreme Court held that the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC) is not a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of 

another jurisdiction within the meaning of Rule 3-4.6, as support for his motion to 

dismiss.  However, the court’s conclusion in Tepps was based on the reasoning that 

the SEC was a federal administrative agency empowered by Congress to regulate 

all aspects of securities transactions.  As part of its regulatory function, it could 

deny, temporarily or permanently, the privilege to appear before it to anyone found 

by the SEC to have been deemed unfit.  While recognizing that this authority was 

similar to a court or disciplinary agency, the court distinguished it by concluding 

that the primary purpose for its exercise was not to ensure the qualification, 

supervision, or regulation of lawyers.  A careful reading of the Tepps case readily 

distinguishes it from the instant matter. 

 6. Mr. Tepps was the subject of civil injunction proceedings brought by 

the SEC in federal court alleging assorted violations of the Securities Acts of 1933 

and 1934.  He consented to the entry of a final judgment and permanent injunction.  

After that, the SEC suspended him from practicing before the for a period of five 

years.  It was presumed that he had been suspended by reason of the misconduct 

alleged in the SEC complaint.  The referee in the bar proceedings, applying Rule 3-

APPX 90 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



4.6, adopted the final judgment of permanent injunction and final opinion and 

order suspending Mr. Tepps concluding that it was conclusive proof of the 

misconduct.   

 7. There are three major distinguishing factors between Tepps and the 

instant case.   

a. First, there is no indication whatsoever that Mr. Tepps was provided a 

hearing at which evidence was produced prior to entry of his suspension.  

Rather it appears his suspension was totally predicated on his consent to 

the civil injunction.  In the instant case, respondent had a hearing before 

an administrative law judge.  Dissatisfied with the outcome, he sought 

review and rehearing.  Thereafter, he sought appellate review at both the 

federal district and appellate court levels.  Factual findings resulted at 

every level except for the federal appellate court which affirmed the 

lower court.  Respondent was not deprived of the opportunity to defend 

himself.  Consequently, unlike Tepps whose discipline was predicated 

upon presumption, respondent’s USP&TO discipline was predicated on 

evidence.  

b. Second, the USP&TO rule pursuant to which respondent was disciplined, 

37 C.F.R. 11.22, specifically provides for Disciplinary Investigations by 
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the USP&TO.  An accused is informed of the investigation.   Evidence 

can be requested by the Director.  The discipline procedure is spelled out 

and identified.   

c. Third, the appellate review sought by respondent and the affirmance by 

the federal courts clearly adds significantly to the nature of the 

underlying disciplinary proceedings.  No such judicial involvement or 

review was present in Tepps.  In the instant case, there is a final 

adjudication by a federal court.   

 8. In addition to the Colitz case in Florida, there are decisions from other 

jurisdictions in which discipline imposed by the USP&TO was found to properly 

form the basis for reciprocal discipline.  They include the following: 

a. In re Schwedler, 375 Wis. 2d 426 (Wis. 2017), where the Wisconsin 

Supreme Court held that the USP&TO, a federal agency with its own 

attorney licensing and disciplinary proceedings, is appropriately 

considered “another jurisdiction” for purposes of reciprocal discipline. 

b. In Kentucky Bar Ass'n v. Stewart, 533 S.W.3d 683 (Ky. 2017), the 

Kentucky Supreme Court imposed reciprocal discipline on an attorney 

who was suspended for five years by the Supreme Court of 
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Minnesota, which in turn had imposed its suspension on a reciprocal 

discipline action arising out of an Order from the USP&TO.   

c. In People v. Bode, 119 P.3d 1098 (Colo. O.P.D.J. 2005), the Colorado 

Supreme Court held that for reciprocal attorney discipline purposes, a 

federal agency such as the USP&TO can be considered a 

“jurisdiction.”  

d. In In re Colitz, 811 N.Y.S.2d 824 (App. Div. 4th Dep’t 2005), the 

New York Appellate Division of the Supreme Court held that the 

imposition of reciprocal discipline on an attorney disciplined in other 

jurisdictions for underlying conduct that included aiding others in 

unauthorized practice of law before the USP&TO would not be 

unjust.  (This happens to be the same respondent who received 

reciprocal discipline from the Florida Supreme Court.) 

 9. It is noteworthy that several of the above jurisdictions appear to have 

attorney discipline rules which infer, if not mandate, that the same discipline be 

imposed as that of the reciprocal jurisdiction. Such is not the case in Florida.   

Clearly, the intention behind any manifestation of reciprocal discipline is to 

prevent an attorney found guilty of misconduct in one jurisdiction from engaging 

in practice in another without sanction or ramification. 
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 WHEREFORE, for the reasons set forth above, The Florida Bar respectfully 

requests the entry of an order denying respondent’s Motion to Dismiss. 

 
     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
asankel@floridabar.org 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing The Florida Bar’s Response in Opposition to 
Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss and Alternatively For Judgment on the Pleadings 
has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his judicial 
assistant’s email at Hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and alternate 
email 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and to Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for 
Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and mvalledor@podhurst.com 
and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at psavitz@floridabar.org, 
on this 21 day of October, 2020. 

          
  
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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375 Wis.2d 426
Supreme Court of Wisconsin.

In the Matter of DISCIPLINARY
PROCEEDINGS AGAINST Carl J.
SCHWEDLER, Attorney at Law:

Office of Lawyer Regulation, Complainant,
v.

Carl J. Schwedler, Respondent.

No. 2016AP1770-D
|

Opinion Filed: June 1, 2017

Synopsis
Background: The Office of Lawyer Regulation (OLR) filed
a complaint and motion seeking suspension of attorney's
license to practice law in Wisconsin for a period of six
months, as discipline reciprocal to attorney's “exclusion”
from practice before the United States Patent and Trademark
Office (USPTO).

Holdings: The Supreme Court held that:

[1] attorney violated rules of professional conduct by failing
to notify OLR of his exclusion from practice before the
USPTO, and

[2] six-month suspension was warranted as discipline
reciprocal to that imposed by USPTO.

Suspension ordered.

Ann Walsh Bradley, J., concurred and filed opinion in which
Abrahamson, J., joined.

West Headnotes (3)

[1] Attorneys and Legal Services Effect of
Foreign Enforcement; Reciprocal Discipline

The United States Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO), a federal agency with its own attorney

licensing and disciplinary proceedings, is
appropriately considered “another jurisdiction”
for purposes of reciprocal discipline rule. Wis.
Sup. Ct. R. 22.22(1).

[2] Attorneys and Legal Services Effect of
Foreign Enforcement; Reciprocal Discipline

Attorney's failure to notify the Office of Lawyer
Regulation (OLR) of his exclusion from the
practice of law before the United States Patent
and Trademark Office (USPTO) violated rule
of professional conduct requiring a lawyer
to provide timely notice to the OLR of the
imposition of public discipline by another
jurisdiction. Wis. Sup. Ct. R. 22.22(1).

[3] Attorneys and Legal Services Suspension

Six-month suspension was warranted as
reciprocal discipline for attorney who was
subjected to exclusion from practice before
the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO) based on his serious misconduct
involving neglect, misrepresentation, and failure
to refund fees; reinstatement would be
conditional upon making payment to the client in
the amount of $1,500, consistent with the terms
of the USPTO disciplinary order. Wis. Sup. Ct.
R. SCR 22.22(3).

**410  ATTORNEY disciplinary proceeding. Attorney's
license suspended.

PER CURIAM.

*427  ¶1 On September 12, 2016, the Office of Lawyer
Regulation (OLR) filed a complaint and motion pursuant
to Supreme Court Rule (SCR) 22.22, requesting this court
suspend Attorney Carl J. Schwedler's license to practice
law in Wisconsin for a period of six months, as discipline
reciprocal to that imposed by the United States Patent
and Trademark Office (USPTO). The OLR asked that we
order restitution as described herein and impose costs on
Attorney Schwedler. Upon review, we agree that it is
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appropriate to suspend Attorney Schwedler's law license
for a period of six months. Consistent with the terms of
the *428  decision rendered by the USPTO, if Attorney
Schwedler seeks reinstatement of his license to practice law
in Wisconsin, reinstatement may require Attorney Schwedler
to demonstrate that he has made restitution to the client. We
decline to impose costs on Attorney Schwedler.

¶2 Attorney Schwedler was admitted to practice law in
Wisconsin in 1990. He was registered as a patent attorney by
the USPTO on April 19, 1993. He was admitted to practice
law in California in 2006 and resides in California.

¶3 On October 31, 2009, Attorney Schwedler's Wisconsin
law license was suspended for failure to pay State Bar
of Wisconsin dues. On June 8, 2011, his Wisconsin
law license was further suspended for failure to comply
with continuing legal education requirements. Attorney
Schwedler's Wisconsin law license remains administratively
suspended. In 2015, the State Bar of California transferred
Attorney Schwedler to “inactive enrollment” for his failure to
timely file a response to then pending disciplinary charges.
He was subsequently disbarred. On March 18, 2015, Attorney
Schwedler was administratively suspended from practice
before the USPTO. He was later excluded from practice

before the USPTO.1

¶4 On September 12, 2016, the OLR filed a complaint against
Attorney Schwedler alleging that, by virtue of the public
sanction imposed by the USPTO on March 21, 2016, Attorney
Schwedler is subject to reciprocal discipline in Wisconsin

pursuant to SCR 22.22.2 On November 30, 2016,3 **411
this court directed *430  Attorney Schwedler to inform
the court in writing within 20 days of any claim by him,
predicated upon the grounds set forth in SCR 22.22(3), that
the imposition of discipline reciprocal to that imposed by the
USPTO would be unwarranted, and of the factual basis for
any such claim. Attorney Schwedler did not file a response.
On March 23, 2017 this court issued an order directing the
OLR to respond to a series of questions regarding this matter.
The OLR filed a response on April 6, 2017.

[1] ¶5 We first observe that the USPTO, a federal agency
with its own licensing and disciplinary proceedings, is
appropriately considered “another jurisdiction” for purposes
of our reciprocal discipline rule, SCR 22.22(1). See In Re
Discipline of Peirce, 122 Nev. 77, 78, 128 P.3d 443, 443
(2006), reinstatement granted sub nom. In re Reinstatement
of Peirce, No. 62091, 2014 WL 4804214 (Nev. Sept. 24,

2014); People v. Hartman, 744 P.2d 482 (Colo. 1987); People
v. Bode, 119 P.3d 1098, 1100 (Colo. O.P.D.J. 2005); In
Disciplinary Counsel v. Lapine, 2010-Ohio-6151, ¶¶12-14,
128 Ohio St.3d 87, 89-90, 942 N.E.2d 328, 330-31.

¶6 Accordingly, we consider the following facts, which are
taken from the OLR's complaint and from the certified
documents attached to the OLR's complaint relating to the
underlying disciplinary proceeding.

*431  [2] ¶7 On October 6, 2015, the United States Office
of Enrollment and Discipline (OED) for the USPTO filed a
disciplinary complaint against Attorney Schwedler. Attorney
**412  Schwedler failed to respond and the OED eventually

sought a default judgment. On March 21, 2016, the USPTO
issued an order finding Attorney Schwedler in default, such
that he was deemed to have admitted the allegations in
the OED's complaint. The USPTO then sanctioned Attorney
Schwedler for numerous violations of the USPTO Rules
of Professional Conduct. Essentially, Attorney Schwedler
undertook to represent a client, G.Y., in a patent application,
accepted a $1,500 retainer, and then abandoned the client and
the patent application, failing to take any action on the client's
behalf. The Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) concluded that
Attorney Schwedler violated USPTO Rules of Professional
Conduct, as follows:

1. C.F.R § 11.103 proscribes failing to act with
reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a
client. Respondent agreed to take over the representation
of a Client on a [patent] application and told the Client that
he would file a response to the June 10, 2013, Final Office
Action before September 10, 2013. Respondent failed
to file that response allowing the [patent] application to
become abandoned. After the [patent] application became
abandoned, Respondent made no efforts to revive it. These
lapses constitute violations of 37 C.F.R. § 11.103.

2. 37 C.F.R. § 11.104(a)(3) proscribes failing to keep the
client reasonably informed about the status of a matter.
Respondent agreed to submit the appropriate filings to
the USPTO by September 10, 2013, but failed to do
so. This resulted in the [patent] application becoming
abandoned. Respondent did not inform the Client of this
development or that Respondent had not *432  filed the
response. It was only after the Client was notified by
Respondent's former firm of the status that Respondent
resumed communications with the Client. Such conduct
constitutes a violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.104(a)(3).
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3. 37 C.F.R. § 11.104(a)(4) proscribes failing to promptly
comply with reasonable requests for information. As
noted [above], Respondent did not resume communications
with the Client until after the Client's son began to ask
about the status of the [patent] application. The Client's
inquiries into the status of the [patent] application were
reasonable, especially in light of the fact that the Client
was notified that the application had become abandoned.
However Respondent's responses, though prompt, were
not compliant with the Client's requests for information,
because Respondent purposely gave the Client's son
incorrect information by indicating that ‘everything is
normal here’ when in fact the [patent] application had
become abandoned.

4. 37 C.F.R § 11.115(d) proscribes failing to promptly
deliver to a client any funds or property that the client is
entitled to receive. After the Client informed Respondent
that responsibility for the prosecution of the [patent]
application had been transferred to another registered
practitioner, the Client requested that the prototype for
the invention be returned to the Client. Respondent,
however, did not return the prototype to Respondent [sic]
as requested. Accordingly, Respondent violated 37 C.F.R.
§ 11.115(d).

5. 37 C.F.R § 11.116(d) proscribes failing to surrender
papers and property to which the client is entitled and
to refund any advance payment of fee or expense that
has not been earned or incurred upon termination of the
practitioner-client relationship. The Client agreed to pay
Respondent $1,500 in advance for patent legal services
to be rendered. Respondent sent a retention letter noting
**413  the $1,500 fee to the Client, who promptly
*433  paid the fee. Respondent also sent the Client

a September 18th invoice for $1,500, and described in
the September 18th invoice the services rendered for
the [patent] application as follows: ‘Response to Office
Action from USPTO and filing continued prosecution
application.’ However Respondent never earned this fee,
because he never performed the services agreed to, and
described by, the September 18th invoice. After the
Client informed Respondent that his responsibility for the
prosecution of the [patent] application had been transferred
to another registered practitioner, Respondent did not
return the $1,500 fee that the Client prepaid. Accordingly,
Respondent violated 37 C.F.R § 11.116(d).

6. 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c) proscribes conduct involving
dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. Respondent
agreed to represent the Client and file a response to the
June 10, 2013, Final Office Action. He did not do so.
Yet, Respondent sent the Client an invoice suggesting that
he had filed the response and was continuing with the
prosecution of the application. Then after the Client's son
contacted Respondent regarding the status of the [patent]
application, Respondent sent an e-mail to the son stating,
‘I have everything in order for filing the response’ when
in fact, the [patent] application had become abandoned.
Such statements were misleading and constitute conduct
involving dishonesty and misrepresentation in violation of
37 C.F.R. § 11.804(c).

7. 37 C.F.R. § 11.801(b) proscribes knowingly failing
to respond to lawful demands for information from a
disciplinary authority. The OED sent Respondent an
RFI that was never answered despite two subsequent
communications prompting Respondent that his response
to the RFI was due. The OED has provided documentation
indicating that Respondent received all three pieces of
correspondence. By failing to respond to the RFI and
subsequent demands for a response, Respondent violated
37 C.F.R. § 11.801(b).

*434  8. 37 C.F.R. § 11.804(d) proscribes conduct that
is prejudicial to the administration of justice. Respondent
failed to respond to the RFI. Respondent's conduct
undermines the public's confidence in the profession's
ability to regulate itself and is, therefore, prejudicial to
the administration of justice in violation of 37 C.F.R. §
11.801(d).

¶8 The USPTO decision deemed Attorney Schwedler's
actions “knowing and intentional” and stated that they caused
“actual injury” to the client and warranted “a severe sanction.”
Attorney Schwedler was excluded from practice before the
USPTO in patent, trademark, and other non-patent cases or
matters. See In the Matter of Carl J. Schwedler, Proc. No.
D2015-38 (USPTO Dir. Mar. 21, 2016). As noted, “exclusion
from practice” is effectively disbarment from practice before
the USPTO. The order states that if Attorney Schwedler were
to seek reinstatement, it may be conditioned, inter alia, upon
restitution to the client.

¶9 The OLR's complaint against Attorney Schwedler alleges
the following counts of misconduct:
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Count One: By virtue of the OED public sanction, Attorney
Schwedler is subject to reciprocal discipline in Wisconsin
pursuant to SCR 22.22.

Count Two: By failing to notify the OLR of his OED public
sanction for professional misconduct within 20 days of
the effective date of its imposition, Attorney Schwedler
violated SCR 22.22(1).

**414  ¶10 We conclude that the facts of record demonstrate
that Attorney Schwedler violated SCR 22.22(1) by failing
to notify the OLR of his suspension within 20 days of the
effective date of its imposition.

*435  [3] ¶11 Under SCR 22.22(3), in reciprocal discipline
matters, this court shall impose the identical discipline unless
one or more of the exceptions enumerated in the rule is shown.
Attorney Schwedler has not made any claim or showing that
any of the exceptions to the imposition of reciprocal discipline
set forth in SCR 22.22(3) apply to this case. The OLR
acknowledges that “identical” discipline cannot be imposed
here because SCR 21.16(1m) does not include “exclusion”
from practice before a court as a form of discipline available
in Wisconsin.

¶12 The OLR also asserts that a six-month license suspension
is a proper level of discipline to impose for Attorney
Schwedler's misconduct. The OLR seeks a six-month
suspension, rather than license revocation, because it believes
that Attorney Schwedler's misconduct justifies a substantially
different discipline in Wisconsin, as authorized by SCR
22.22(3)(c). Attorney Schwedler's misconduct involved
neglect, misrepresentation, and failure to refund fees. The
OLR asserts that in Wisconsin, such misconduct warrants
a six-month suspension. See In re Disciplinary Proceedings
Against Hooker, 2012 WI 100, 343 Wis.2d 397, 816 N.W.2d
310 (imposing six-month suspension in reciprocal discipline
case for practicing without a license, and for neglect and lack
of competence in a bankruptcy proceeding); In re Disciplinary
Proceedings Against Coplien, 2010 WI 109, 329 Wis.2d
311, 788 N.W.2d 376 (imposing six-month suspension in
reciprocal matter for failing to act with reasonable diligence
and promptness in representing a client, failing to keep a
client reasonably informed about the status of a matter, failing
to make reasonable efforts to expedite litigation consistent
with the interests of the client, failing to respond to a lawful
demand for information *436  from a disciplinary authority,
conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice, and
conduct that tends to defeat the administration of justice or

to bring the courts or the legal profession into disrepute); In
re Disciplinary Proceedings Against Ring, 168 Wis.2d 817,
484 N.W.2d 336 (1992) (imposing six month suspension in
reciprocal discipline case for failure to file an appellate brief
and failure to keep the client informed, and lack of candor
rising to dishonesty, deceit or misrepresentation).

¶13 The OLR emphasizes that a six-month suspension
requires a formal reinstatement proceeding before the
suspended attorney can be reinstated to the practice of law.

¶14 We agree that identical discipline is not an option
in this case so a different sanction must be imposed. It
is apparent from the language in the USPTO's decision
that Attorney Schwedler's misconduct was serious. The
sanction imposed by the USPTO requires a reinstatement
proceeding. Attorney Schwedler has not responded in this
matter and has not challenged the OLR's recommended
sanction. Accordingly, we accept the OLR's assertion that a
six-month license suspension is appropriate and we suspend
Attorney Schwedler's Wisconsin law license for six months
as discipline reciprocal to that imposed by the USPTO.

¶15 The OLR initially asked this court to order Attorney
Schwedler to pay restitution in the amount of $1,500 to
G.Y. In its April 6, 2017 filing, the OLR revised its
recommendation and asks the Court to condition Attorney
Schwedler's reinstatement upon making payment to the client
in the amount of $1,500, consistent with the terms of
the USPTO disciplinary *437  order. **415  We agree
and direct that Attorney Schwedler's reinstatement may be
conditioned upon payment of restitution to G.Y.

¶16 Finally, we decline to impose the costs of this proceeding
on Attorney Schwedler. See In re Disciplinary Proceedings
Against Hooker, 2012 WI 100, ¶26, 343 Wis.2d 397, 816
N.W.2d 310 (noting that in reciprocal discipline cases where
a referee is not appointed, costs are generally not imposed
as there are no referee expenses and the proceedings are less

involved).4

¶17 IT IS ORDERED that the license of Carl J. Schwedler
to practice law in Wisconsin is suspended for a period of six
months, effective the date of this order.

¶18 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that, to the extent he has
not already done so, Carl J. Schwedler shall comply with
the provisions of SCR 22.26 concerning the duties of a
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person whose license to practice law in Wisconsin has been
suspended.

¶19 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that compliance with all
conditions of this order, compliance with all conditions of the
disciplinary order imposed on him by the United States Patent
and Trade Office, In the Matter of Carl J. Schwedler, Proc. No.
D2015-38 (USPTO Dir. Mar. 21, 2016), and a showing that
Carl J. Schwedler has paid restitution to G.Y. may be required
for reinstatement. See SCR 22.29(4)(c).

¶20 IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the administrative
suspension of Carl J. Schwedler's license to practice law
in Wisconsin, due to his failure to pay mandatory bar dues
and failure to comply with continuing *438  legal education
requirements, will remain in effect until each reason for the
administrative suspension has been rectified, pursuant to SCR
22.28(1).

ANN WALSH BRADLEY, J. (concurring).
¶21 I agree with the court's mandate but I write separately
to state my disagreement with the court's statement in ¶14 of
the opinion which states, “We agree that identical discipline
is not an option in this case so a different sanction must be

imposed.” The United States Patent and Trademark Office
(USPTO) excluded Attorney Carl J. Schwedler from practice.
The Office of Lawyer Regulation (OLR) has advised this
court that “exclusion from practice” before the USPTO
effectively means disbarment for five years. Majority op., fn
1.

¶22 We could indeed impose identical discipline. We could
revoke Attorney Schwedler's license to practice law in
Wisconsin under SCR 21.16(1m)(a). See In re Disciplinary
Proceedings Against Peiss, 2017 WI 49, ¶24, 375 Wis.2d
82, 895 N.W.2d 9, (Abrahamson, J. concurring, stating that
“disbarment in Illinois appears to be identical to license
revocation in Wisconsin.”) Rather, in this case we exercise our
discretion and opt to impose a lesser sanction in the form of
a six-month suspension of Attorney Schwedler's law license.
For the reasons set forth, I write separately.

¶23 I am authorized to state that Justice SHIRLEY S.
ABRAHAMSON joins this concurrence.

All Citations

375 Wis.2d 426, 895 N.W.2d 409, 2017 WI 54

Footnotes
1 The OLR advises the court that “exclusion from practice” before the USPTO effectively means disbarment. An attorney

“excluded from practice” before the USPTO may petition for reinstatement no earlier than five years after being “excluded
from practice.” 37 C.F.R. § 11.60.

2 The relevant portions of SCR 22.22 provide:
(1) An attorney on whom public discipline for misconduct or a license suspension for medical incapacity has been
imposed by another jurisdiction shall promptly notify the director of the matter. Failure to furnish the notice within 20
days of the effective date of the order or judgment of the other jurisdiction constitutes misconduct.
(2) Upon the receipt of a certified copy of a judgment or order of another jurisdiction imposing discipline for misconduct
or a license suspension for medical incapacity of an attorney admitted to the practice of law or engaged in the practice
of law in this state, the director may file a complaint in the supreme court containing all of the following:
(a) A certified copy of the judgment or order from the other jurisdiction.
(b) A motion requesting an order directing the attorney to inform the Supreme Court in writing within 20 days of any
claim of the attorney predicated on the grounds set forth in sub. (3) that the imposition of the identical discipline or
license suspension by the Supreme Court would be unwarranted and the factual basis for the claim.
(3) The supreme court shall impose the identical discipline or license suspension unless one or more of the following
is present:
(a) The procedure in the other jurisdiction was so lacking in notice or opportunity to be heard as to constitute a
deprivation of due process.
(b) There was such an infirmity of proof establishing the misconduct or medical incapacity that the Supreme Court
could not accept as final the conclusion in respect to the misconduct or medical incapacity.
(c) The misconduct justifies substantially different discipline in this state.
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(4) Except as provided in sub. (3), a final adjudication in another jurisdiction that an attorney has engaged in misconduct
or has a medical incapacity shall be conclusive evidence of the attorney's misconduct or medical incapacity for purposes
of a proceeding under this rule.

3 Some delay ensued as the OLR sought to accomplish proof of service. The OLR served Attorney Schwedler pursuant
to SCR 22.13(1), sending, by certified mail, an authenticated copy of the complaint and motion and the order to answer
to the most recent address Attorney Schwedler had furnished to the State Bar of Wisconsin. These documents were not
returned to the OLR. The OLR also sent authenticated copies of the documents to an address on file with the State Bar
of California and the USPTO, again without response.

4 The OLR inadvertently requested appointment of a referee, but later rescinded that request.

End of Document © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S.
Government Works.
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533 S.W.3d 683
Supreme Court of Kentucky.

KENTUCKY BAR ASSOCIATION, Movant
v.

Alan Richard STEWART, Respondent

2017-SC-000556-KB
|

ENTERED: December 14, 2017.

Synopsis
Background: After attorney was suspended from the practice
of law in Minnesota with no right to petition for reinstatement
for five years, Bar Association filed petition asking Supreme
Court to order attorney to show cause why reciprocal
discipline should not be imposed. The Supreme Court issued
a show cause order, and attorney failed to respond.

[Holding:] The Supreme Court held that attorney's
misconduct in neglecting a client's patent application, failing
to communicate with client, and misappropriating $8,000 in
unearned fees, which resulted in his Minnesota suspension,
warranted the imposition of reciprocal discipline.

Five-year suspension ordered.

West Headnotes (2)

[1] Attorneys and Legal Services Effect of
Foreign Enforcement; Reciprocal Discipline

When the Supreme Court is presented with an
attorney facing disciplinary action in another
jurisdiction, Supreme Court must only decide
whether identical reciprocal discipline or a lesser
sanction is warranted in the Commonwealth. Ky.
Sup.Ct.Rules, Rule 3.435(4).

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[2] Attorneys and Legal Services Suspension

Attorney's misconduct in neglecting a client's
patent application, failing to communicate

with client, and misappropriating $8,000 in
unearned fees, which resulted in attorney's
indefinite suspension from the practice of law
in Minnesota, with no right to petition for
reinstatement for five years, warranted the
imposition of reciprocal discipline consisting
of a five-year suspension from the practice of
law, where attorney failed to respond to Bar
Association's disciplinary petition, and failed to
provide any evidence of a lack of jurisdiction
or fraud in the Minnesota proceedings or of
misconduct warranting different discipline. Ky.
Sup.Ct.Rules, Rule 3.435(4).

*684  OPINION AND ORDER

Alan Richard Stewart was admitted to practice law in the
Commonwealth of Kentucky on May 21, 1993. His bar roster
address is 46 Brentwood Lane, Appleton, WI 54915, and
his KBA Member Number is 84734. On July 26, 2017,
the Supreme Court of Minnesota indefinitely suspended
Stewart from the practice of law, with no right to petition for
reinstatement for a minimum of five years. On October 12,
2017, the Kentucky Bar Association (KBA) filed a petition
asking this Court to order Stewart to show cause why we
should not impose reciprocal discipline and, in the event we
found cause lacking, to impose that discipline pursuant to
Supreme Court Rule (SCR) 3.435. On October 17, 2017, we
issued a show cause order that Stewart should, within twenty
days of the date of the order, show cause as to why he should
not be suspended from the practice of law for five years, as
consistent with the order of the Supreme Court of Minnesota.
Stewart has failed to file any response. This matter is now
ready for decision by the Court.

I. BACKGROUND.

A. Procedural History and Charges.
In February of 2015, Stewart was suspended from the state
bars of Wisconsin, Minnesota, and Kentucky on charges
unrelated to this petition. On December 16, 2015, the U.S.
Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) entered a default
judgment against Stewart, excluding him from practice,
based on facts which we will discuss. USPTO notified theAPPX 101 (By Respondent) 
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Director of the Office of Lawyers Professional Responsibility
(Director) in Minnesota of the judgment. The Director then
petitioned the Supreme Court of Minnesota for reciprocal
discipline. Stewart did not respond to the notice or petition
and the Supreme Court of Minnesota deemed the allegations
as admitted. Although the Director requested that Stewart
be disbarred, the Supreme Court of Minnesota ordered that
Stewart be indefinitely suspended from the practice of law
with no right to petition for reinstatement for five years.

The facts, as determined by the Supreme Court of Minnesota
and USPTO, are as follows:

Stewart neglected the patent application of his client,
F.W.; failed to communicate with her; and misappropriated
$8,000 in unearned fees. Stewart told F.W. that he
would file her patent application within 2 or 3 weeks
of receiving her paperwork. F.W. provided Stewart her
notes and drawings and then checked on the status of
her application 3 weeks later. Stewart told F.W. that
he had not yet worked on her application, attributing
the delay to family medical issues and injuries he had
suffered from a bicycle accident. He never completed
the patent application and stopped responding to F.W.’s
communications. Nonetheless, Stewart cashed F.W.’s two
advance-fee checks totaling $8,000 and failed to return
these unearned fees even after F.W. terminated the
representation and demanded a refund. Stewart cashed
F.W.’s second check on the same day that F.W. terminated
the representation.

...

Stewart has been ineligible to handle USPTO matters since
February 2015, *685  when he was no longer an active
member of any state bar. But between March 2015 and June
2015, Stewart filed multiple trademark matters on behalf of
clients as ‘attorney of record’ and as a purported member
of the Wisconsin bar.

...

Between November 2014 and July 2015, the USPTO sent
Stewart multiple requests for information via certified
mail. Stewart personally signed for several of them, but
never responded. Further, Stewart failed to respond to the
USPTO’s formal complaint, notice of hearing and order,
and default-judgment notice, all of which were signed for
at Stewart’s address.

[Based on these findings, o]n December 16, 2015, the
USPTO entered a default judgment excluding Stewart from
practice, concluding that Stewart intentionally violated
multiple federal regulations governing practice before the
USPTO; caused harm to F.W.; and failed to acknowledge,
defend, or rectify his misconduct.

II. ANALYSIS.

[1] When the Court is presented with an attorney facing
disciplinary action in another jurisdiction, this Court must
only decide whether identical reciprocal discipline or a
lesser sanction is warranted here in the Commonwealth.
This Court shall “impose the identical discipline unless
Respondent proves by substantial evidence: (a) a lack
of jurisdiction or fraud in the out-of-state disciplinary
proceeding, or (b) that misconduct established warrants
substantially different discipline in this state.” SCR 3.435(4).
Without such “substantial evidence,” “a final adjudication
in another jurisdiction that an attorney has been guilty of
misconduct shall establish conclusively the misconduct for
purposes of a disciplinary proceeding in this State.” SCR
3.435(4)(c) (emphasis added).

[2] In the case before us, Stewart has failed to provide any
response or evidence contradicting the jurisdiction in the
corollary proceedings or any misconduct mitigating what our
Court should impose upon him. As such, we shall follow the
rules of this Court and impose identical discipline.

ACCORDINGLY, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

1. Respondent, Alan Richard Stewart, is subject to reciprocal
discipline for the misconduct found by the Minnesota
Supreme Court. Respondent’s misconduct is established
conclusively for purposes of disciplinary proceedings in
this State.

2. Respondent is suspended from the practice of law in
Kentucky for a period of five years. The period of
suspension shall commence on the date of entry of this
Opinion and Order.

3. Respondent must apply for reinstatement by order of this
Court after his period of suspension, according to the terms
and requirements of SCR 3.510.
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4. In accordance with SCR 3.450, Respondent is directed to
pay all costs associated with these disciplinary proceedings
against him, if there are any, for which execution may issue
from this Court upon finality of this Opinion and Order.

5. Should Respondent currently have any clients, pursuant
to SCR 3.390, he shall, within ten days from the entry of
this Opinion and Order, notify all clients in writing of his
inability to represent them, and notify all courts in which
he has matters pending of his suspension from the practice
of law, and furnish copies of said letters of notice to the
Office of Bar Counsel. To the extent possible, Stewart

shall immediately *686  cancel and cease any advertising
activities in which he is engaged.

/s/ John D. Minton, Jr.

CHIEF JUSTICE

All sitting.

All concur.

All Citations

533 S.W.3d 683

End of Document © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S.
Government Works.
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119 P.3d 1098
Office of Presiding Disciplinary Judge

of the Supreme Court of Colorado.

The PEOPLE of the State
of Colorado, Complainant

v.
George A. BODE, Respondent.

No. 05PDJ013.
|

July 21, 2005.

Synopsis
Background: People filed complaint against attorney,
requesting that attorney be suspended from practice of law in
Colorado based upon attorney's seven-year suspension from
practice before the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(PTO).

[Holding:] The Office of the Presiding Disciplinary Judge of
the Supreme Court held that reciprocal three-year suspension
from practice of law in Colorado was warranted.

Suspension ordered.

West Headnotes (3)

[1] Attorneys and Legal Services Effect of
failure to answer

Attorneys and Legal Services Default and
judgment or order thereon

Upon entry of default in lawyer disciplinary
proceedings, all facts in the complaint are
deemed admitted, and all rule violations in the
complaint are deemed established.

1 Cases that cite this headnote

[2] Attorneys and Legal Services Effect of
Foreign Enforcement;  Reciprocal Discipline

Patents Misconduct;  discipline

For reciprocal attorney discipline purposes, a
federal agency such as the United States Patent
and Trademark Office (PTO) can be considered a
“jurisdiction.” Rules Civ.Proc., Rule 251.21(a).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

[3] Attorneys and Legal Services Suspension

Reciprocal three-year suspension from practice
of law in Colorado was warranted for attorney
suspended for seven years from practice before
the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(PTO) for professional misconduct in backdating
certificates of mailing for matters pending before
the PTO, failing to communicate with clients,
and neglecting legal matters; Colorado had an
interest in preventing the conduct that gave rise
to attorney's suspension by the PTO, adjudication
by the PTO was based on essentially the same
standards establishing misconduct for discipline
in Colorado, and attorney did not contest
validity of PTO decisions. Rules Civ.Proc., Rules
251.6(b), 251.21(a, d).

4 Cases that cite this headnote

Attorney Regulation. The Presiding Disciplinary Judge
suspended Respondent George A. Bode (Attorney
Registration No. 20224) from the practice of law for a period
of three-years, effective August 21, 2005. The Court also
ordered Respondent to pay the costs incurred in conjunction
with these proceedings. The facts admitted through the entry
of default show that the United States Patent & Trademark
Office suspended Respondent for a period of seven years
(with four years stayed) on July 28, 2004. The People
requested that this Court impose a reciprocal three-year
suspension. The Court afforded Respondent an opportunity
to state his position on sanctions and request a hearing if
he desired on or before June 21, 2005. Respondent failed
to file any response or request a hearing. Accordingly, the
Court found reciprocal discipline in the form of a three-year
suspension appropriate in this case.

*1098  This matter is before the Presiding Disciplinary Judge
(“PDJ” or “the Court”) on the issue of sanctions. In this case,
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APRIL M. SEEKAMP represented the People. Respondent
GEORGE A. BODE did not participate.

*1099  REPORT, DECISION, AND IMPOSITION OF
SANCTION PURSUANT TO C.R.C.P. 251.15(b)

I. ISSUE

SANCTION IMPOSED: THREE–YEAR SUSPENSION
Under the rules for imposing reciprocal discipline, this Court
must impose the same discipline as the foreign jurisdiction
unless deemed inappropriate under the circumstances. This
action is based upon Respondent's seven-year suspension
from practice before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
(with four years stayed). Respondent failed to appear and
failed to challenge the validity of the PTO's suspension order.
Should the Court therefore impose a three-year suspension,
the Colorado equivalent to the PTO's sanction?

The PDJ finds that reciprocal discipline is appropriate.

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND BACKGROUND

On January 27, 2005, the People filed the present Complaint,
requesting that the Court suspend Respondent from the
practice of law in Colorado based upon a Final Decision of
the Director of the United States Patent and Trademark Office
(“PTO”), issued on July 28, 2004 on behalf of the Under
Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual Property. The Final
Order affirmed the findings, conclusions, and imposition of
discipline contained in an Initial Decision rendered by an
Administrative Law Judge on August 21, 2003. The People
sent the Complaint, with the Initial and Final Decisions
attached, to Respondent via regular and certified mail.
Respondent did not file an answer.

[1]  On May 9, 2005, the People filed a Motion for Default.
On June 6, 2005, the PDJ granted this motion pursuant to
C.R.C.P. 251.15(b) and C.R.C.P. 121 § 1–14. Upon entry of
default, all facts in the Complaint are deemed admitted, and
all rule violations in the Complaint are deemed established.
See People v. Richards, 748 P.2d 341 (Colo.1987).

In the Motion for Default, the People requested that
the Court impose a three-year suspension without a
hearing on sanctions. However, the PDJ determined that
Respondent must be given an opportunity to challenge the

reciprocal discipline through the presentation of evidence and
argument. ABA Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions
2.9, Commentary (1991 & Supp.1992) (“ABA Standards ”).
Therefore, the PDJ ordered Respondent to state his position
on sanctions and request a hearing, if desired, on or before
June 21, 2005. Respondent did not file any response or request
a hearing. Accordingly, the Court will impose discipline in
this matter without a hearing and upon the existing record.
The People argue that a three-year suspension is appropriate
reciprocal discipline in this case.

III. FACTS AND RULE VIOLATIONS

For sanction purposes, the PDJ considered the following:
the facts and rule violations established by the entry of

default,1 the August 21, 2003 Initial Decision by the PTO

in proceeding number D02–14,2 the July 28, 2004 Final

Decision by the PTO in proceeding number D02–14,3 and the

People's argument for reciprocal discipline under 251.21.4

Respondent has taken and subscribed the Oath of Admission
in Colorado, was admitted to the bar of this Court on February
4, 1991, and is registered upon the official records of this
Court, registration no. 20224. He is therefore subject to the
jurisdiction of this Court in these disciplinary proceedings.
C.R.C.P. 251.1(b).

The admitted Complaint is attached to this Report as Exhibit
1, and the PTO Decisions are attached to this Report as
Exhibit 2. These documents contain all factual findings and
rule violations, and are incorporated as if set forth fully herein.
In brief summary, the PTO found by clear and convincing
evidence that Respondent engaged in professional *1100
misconduct. Respondent backdated certificates of mailing

for matters pending before the PTO,5 which constitutes
misrepresentation and knowing misuse of certificates of
mailing, and adversely reflects upon his fitness to practice
law. Respondent failed to communicate with clients, which
resulted in the abandonment of eight patent and trademark
applications. Respondent also neglected legal matters, failed
to carry out professional contracts of employment, and failed
to respond to the PTO's disciplinary authority.

The Initial Decision declared that all of Respondent's
violations were “serious” and some of them reflect an
“on-going pattern and practice.” The Initial Decision also
discussed a “thread of dishonesty,” as well as Respondent'sAPPX 105 (By Respondent) 
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apparent lack of remorse. In mitigation, the Initial Decision
stated that Respondent is a bright, capable, and experience
practitioner without previous discipline. The Final Decision
upheld these findings on appeal. Thus, the PTO suspended
Respondent from practice before that Office for a period
of seven years. The final four years of the suspension is
stayed, and Respondent will be placed on probation during
that period.

IV. SANCTIONS

The Colorado Rules of Civil Procedure and the ABA
Standards are the guiding authorities for imposing reciprocal
discipline for lawyer misconduct. Reciprocal discipline is
the imposition of a sanction for conduct that already gave
rise to discipline in another jurisdiction. C.R.C.P. 251.21(a)
provides:

Except as otherwise provided by these Rules, a
final adjudication in another jurisdiction of misconduct
constituting grounds for discipline of an attorney shall,
for purposes of proceedings pursuant to these Rules,
conclusively establish such misconduct.

[2]  [3]  The purpose of this rule is to enhance public
confidence in the profession by preventing lawyers admitted
to practice in more than one jurisdiction from avoiding
the effect of discipline by simply practicing in another
jurisdiction. ABA Standard 2.9, Commentary. For reciprocal
discipline purposes, a federal agency such as the PTO can be
considered a “jurisdiction.” See People v. Hartman, 744 P.2d
482 (Colo.1987) (reciprocal discipline for sanctions imposed
by tax court). In this case, reciprocal discipline is appropriate
because Colorado has an interest in preventing the conduct
that gave rise to Respondent's suspension by the PTO. Also,
the conduct was measured by essentially the same standards.
Thus, adjudication by the PTO conclusively establishes the
misconduct for discipline in Colorado.

Under C.R.C.P. 251.21(d), the same discipline should be
imposed in Colorado as in the foreign jurisdiction. However,
respondent attorneys have the opportunity to challenge the
validity of discipline imposed elsewhere on any of the
following bases: 1) the procedure in the other jurisdiction
did not comport with due process requirements; 2) the
proof upon which the other jurisdiction relied is so infirm
that the Court cannot accept the determination as final and
remain consistent with its duty; 3) the imposition of the

same discipline would result in “grave injustice”; or 4) the
misconduct proved warrants a “substantially different” form
of discipline. C.R.C.P. 251.21(d)(1)-(4).

Respondent failed to make any appearance in this action.
Respondent did not contest the validity of the PTO Decisions.
Respondent did not make any claim that the PTO denied
him due process or relied upon infirm evidence. Respondent
did not show the Court that a suspension in Colorado would
result in “grave injustice.” Respondent did not present any
evidence or argument that the misconduct, established by the
PTO Decisions, warrants a different form of discipline.

The People seek a three-year suspension. This sanction is
proper under the circumstances. First, Colorado law does
not provide for a seven-year suspension. C.R.C.P. 251.6(b)
(“Suspension ... shall be for a definite period of time not
to exceed three years.”). Second, the PTO stayed the final
four years of the suspension, and will place Respondent on
probation during that period. *1101  Therefore, the Court
concludes that a three-year suspension complies with the
“same discipline” requirement of C.R.C.P. 251.29(d).

V. CONCLUSION

The discipline ordered by the PTO is reciprocally appropriate
in this case. The PTO provided Respondent with due process
by affording him the opportunity to respond to the disciplinary
charges against him. After that case was fully adjudicated,
the PTO found by clear and convincing evidence that
Respondent committed multiple ethical violations under the
PTO disciplinary rules. As a result, the PTO suspended
Respondent from practice before that Office. Respondent was
also afforded ample opportunity to respond to the Complaint
filed with this Court, based upon his conduct before the PTO.
Respondent declined to do so, and thus there is no basis upon
which to conclude that reciprocal discipline in Colorado is
inappropriate under C.R.C.P. 251.21(d). Accordingly, the PDJ
finds that the imposition of a three-year suspension, a similar
sanction to that imposed by the PTO, is proper under 251.21.

Accordingly, the Court concludes that Respondent should be
suspended from the practice of law in the State of Colorado
for a period of three years.

VI. ORDER
APPX 106 (By Respondent) 
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It is therefore ORDERED:

1. GEORGE A. BODE, attorney registration 20224, is
SUSPENDED from the practice of law for a period of
three years, effective thirty-one (31) days from the date
of this Order.

2. GEORGE A. BODE is ORDERED to pay the costs of
these proceedings. The People shall submit a Statement
of Costs within fifteen (15) days of the date of this Order.
Respondent shall have ten (10) days within which to file
a response.

EXHIBIT 1

Case Number: 05PDJ013
April M. Seekamp, # 34194, Assistant Regulation Counsel,
John S. Gleason, # 15011, Regulation Counsel, Attorneys
for Complainant, 600 17th Street, Suite 200–South, Denver,
Colorado 80202.

COMPLAINT

THIS COMPLAINT is filed pursuant to the authority of
C.R.C.P. 251.21, and it is alleged as follows:

Jurisdiction

1. The respondent has taken and subscribed the oath of
admission, was admitted to the bar of this court on February 4,
1991, and is registered upon the official records of this court,
registration number 20224. He is subject to the jurisdiction of
this court in these disciplinary proceedings. The respondent's
registered business address is 2314 Broadway, New Orleans,
LA, 70125.

General Allegations

2. The Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual
Property and Director of the United States Patents and
Trademark Office adopted Administrative Law Judge Susan
Biro's findings and recommendation that the respondent
be suspended from practice before the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office for seven years, with the final four years of
the suspension stayed. A certified copy of the Administrative
Law Judge's Initial Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A. A

certified copy of the Final Decision signed by James Toupin,
General Counsel for the United States Patent and Trademark
Office, on behalf of the Under Secretary of Commerce for
Intellectual Property and Director of the United States Patent
and Trademark Office, is attached hereto as Exhibit B.

3. The respondent did not notify the Office of Attorney
Regulation Counsel (“OARC”) that he had been suspended
from practice by the authorities of another jurisdiction, as
required by Rule 251.21(b). OARC independently learned of
the respondent's suspension from the Office of Enrollment
and Discipline (“OED”) of the United States Patent and
Trademark Office.

4. The ALJ based her recommendation upon evidence taken
at a hearing in which the respondent participated, which
evidence formed the basis for the ALJ's finding. The Under
Secretary reviewed the ALJ's findings and recommendation,
and approved the ALJ's recommendation in its entirety.

*1102  5. As is evident from the decision of the Patent and
Trademark Office (“PTO”), the procedure followed by the
PTO disciplinary authorities comported with the requirements
of due process.

6. Pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.149, the standard of proof in the
PTO proceedings was “clear and convincing.”

7. This Court's suspension of respondent can appropriately be

based upon the proceedings held in the PTO's proceedings.6

CLAIM I

[Reciprocal Discipline—C.R.C.P. 251.21(d) ]

8. Paragraphs 2 through 7 are incorporated herein.

9. C.R.C.P. 251.21(d) provides: “Upon receiving notice
that an attorney subject to these Rules has been publicly
disciplined in another jurisdiction, the Regulation Counsel
shall obtain the disciplinary order and prepare and file
a complaint against the attorney as provided in C.R.C.P.
251.14.”

10. The respondent's violations of his ethical duties include:
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a. Backdating three certificates of mailing in connection
with matters pending before the PTO, resulting in violations
of United States Patent and Trademark Office (“USPTO”)
Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(4)(a practitioner shall not

engage in conduct involving misrepresentation)7; USPTO
Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(6) (a practitioner shall not engage
in any other conduct that adversely reflects upon the

practitioner's fitness to practice before the Office)8; and
USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)(9)(knowingly misusing

certificates of mailing).9

b. Failing to communicate with clients, resulting in eight
patent and trademark applications being abandoned, in
violation of USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)(8)(failing to
inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify
the Office of an inability to notify a client or former client
of correspondence received from the Office or the client's
or former client's opponent in an inter partes proceeding
before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a
significant effect on a matter pending before the Office, (ii)
is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or former
client and (iii) is correspondence of which a reasonable
practitioner would believe under the circumstances the client

or former client should be notified).10

*1103  c. Neglecting legal matters, in violation of USPTO
Disciplinary Rule 10.77(c)(A practitioner shall not neglect a

legal matter entrusted to the practitioner).11

d. Failing to carry out contracts of employment, in violation
of USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.84(a)(2)(A practitioner shall
not intentionally fail to carry out a contract of employment
entered into with a client for professional services, but a
practitioner may withdraw as permitted under § 10.40, §

10.63, and § 10.66.).12

e. Failing to respond to the OED's requests for information,
in violation of USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(5)(A
practitioner shall not engage in conduct that is prejudicial to

the administration of justice)13; USPTO Disciplinary Rule
10.23(b)(6) (a practitioner shall not engage in conduct that
adversely reflects upon the practitioner's fitness to practice

before the Office)14; and USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)
(16) (willfully refusing to reveal or report knowledge or
evidence to the Director contrary to § 10.24 or paragraph (b)

of § 10.131).15

11. This conduct warrants suspension in Colorado pursuant to
C.R.C.P. 251.21.

WHEREFORE, complainant requests that this Court
impose similar discipline to that imposed by the PTO,
which would equate to a three year suspension in
Colorado, as Colorado does not recognize a seven year
suspension, and assess costs of this proceeding.

EXHIBIT 2
Exhibit 2 consists of the attachments to the complaint
marked as:

Exhibit A, U.S. Department of Commerce, United States
Patent and Trademark Office Initial Decision regarding
George A. Bode, dated 1–4–05.

Exhibit B, U.S. Department of Commerce, United States
Patent and Trademark Office Final Decision regarding
George A. Bode, dated 1–4–05.

All Citations

119 P.3d 1098

Footnotes
1 Contained in the Complaint, which is attached to this Report as Exhibit 1.

2 Attached to the Complaint as the People's Exhibit A; attached to this Report as Exhibit 2.

3 Attached to the Complaint as the People's Exhibit B; attached to this Report as Exhibit 2.

4 Contained in the Motion for Default.

5 In actions before the PTO, the certificate of mailing date is deemed the filing date and can have substantial legal
implications.

6 Although the People did not find a reciprocal discipline case in Colorado involving the Patent and Trademark Office, there
is case law in Colorado to support the conclusion that discipline by a government agency satisfies the foreign jurisdiction
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requirement of the reciprocal discipline rule. See People v. Hartman, 744 P.2d 482 (Colo.1987)(relying on proceedings
in tax court for purposes of imposing reciprocal discipline). In that case, the court held:

The determination of the “foreign jurisdiction,” here the United States Tax Court, that respondent engaged in conduct
justifying his suspension is well established by the record in this case. Respondent did not stumble over a technical
provision of the Internal Revenue Code or a special rule of the tax court. To the contrary, he engaged in conduct which
Colorado, as well as other jurisdictions, has an interest in preventing. Respondent's conduct was measured by the
same standards in the foreign jurisdiction as would be used to gauge his conduct if performed in a Colorado forum.
As such, we find that C.R.C.P. 241.17 is applicable for the purpose of conclusively establishing misconduct previously
adjudicated by a “foreign jurisdiction,” the tax court.
Moreover, if respondent's argument were accepted, this court would be saying, in effect, that it would be all right for
an attorney, an officer of the court, to file frivolous pleadings in some fora, but not in others. The Code of Professional
Responsibility as well as prior rulings of this court, however, have consistently held attorneys to the highest level of
professional conduct—whether the attorney is practicing in federal court, state court, or before government agencies.

Id. at 486.

7 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(4) corresponds to Colo. RPC 8.4(c)(prohibiting an attorney from engaging in conduct
involving dishonesty, deceit, misrepresentation or fraud).

8 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(6) corresponds to Colo. RPC 8.4(h)(prohibiting an attorney from engaging in conduct
that adversely reflects on a lawyer's fitness to practice law).

9 There is no rule in Colorado that directly corresponds to Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)(9), although this type of conduct may
be considered dishonest, in violation of Colo. RPC 8.4(c).

10 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)(8) generally corresponds to the duty to communicate set forth in Colo. RPC 1.4
(communication).

11 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.77(c) corresponds to Colo. RPC 1.3 (neglect).

12 There is no rule in Colorado that directly corresponds to Disciplinary Rule 10.84(a)(2).

13 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(5) corresponds to Colo. RPC 8.4(d)(prohibiting an attorney from engaging in conduct
prejudicial to the administration of justice).

14 USPTO Disciplinary Rule 10.23(b)(6) corresponds to Colo. RPC 8.4(h)(prohibiting an attorney from engaging in conduct
that adversely reflects on a lawyer's fitness to practice law).

15 There is no rule in Colorado that directly corresponds to Disciplinary Rule 10.23(c)(16).

End of Document © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S.
Government Works.
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25 A.D.3d 212
Supreme Court, Appellate Division,

Fourth Department, New York.

Matter of Michael John COLITZ,
Jr., An Attorney, Respondent.
Grievance Committee of the

Seventh Judicial District, Petitioner.

Nov. 10, 2005.

Synopsis
Background: Grievance committee brought disciplinary
proceedings against attorney.

Holding: The Supreme Court, Appellate Division, held that
imposition of reciprocal discipline, in form of suspension,
was warranted for attorney disciplined in other jurisdictions.

Order of suspension entered.

West Headnotes (1)

[1] Attorneys and Legal Services Suspension

Constitutional Law Conduct and
discipline

Imposition of reciprocal discipline upon
attorney disciplined in other jurisdictions for
underlying conduct that included aiding others
in unauthorized practice of law before United
States Patent and Trademark Office (PTO),
would not be unjust, where attorney was not
deprived of due process in other states that
disciplined him and did not contend that proof
before PTO had been insufficient, and thus
attorney would be suspended until date certain
or until such time as he was reinstated by PTO,
whichever was later. U.S.C.A. Const.Amend. 14;
N.Y.Ct.Rules, § 1022.22.

**824  PRESENT: GREEN, J.P., SCUDDER, GORSKI,
PINE, AND HAYES, JJ.

Opinion

PER CURIAM.

*213  Respondent was admitted to the practice of law by
this Court on April 5, 1967. By order entered January 20,
2005, respondent was suspended by the Supreme Court
of Florida for a period of three years, effective June 6,
2003, for violating regulations of the United States Patent
and Trademark Office (USPTO). That office had suspended
respondent on December 2, 2002, for a period of five years,
with two years of the period to be stayed, for misconduct that
included aiding non-practitioners in the unauthorized practice
of law. Thereafter, the Supreme Court of Ohio, pursuant to
the reciprocal discipline provisions of its rules, imposed upon
respondent a period of suspension to run concurrently with
that imposed by the USPTO.

This Court, upon receipt of certified copies of the orders
entered in Florida and Ohio, directed respondent, by order
entered September 15, 2005, to show cause why reciprocal
discipline should not be imposed pursuant to 22 NYCRR
1022.22. Respondent filed papers in response to the order,
contending that the imposition of reciprocal discipline in the
circumstances of this case would be unjust.

Pursuant to 22 NYCRR 1022.22, an attorney disciplined in
another jurisdiction may be disciplined by this Court for
the underlying misconduct unless we find that **825  the
procedure in the foreign jurisdiction deprived the attorney of
due process of law, that there was insufficient proof that the
attorney committed the misconduct or that the imposition of
discipline would be unjust. Respondent does not contend that
he was deprived of due process in the proceedings in Florida
or Ohio, nor does he contend that there was insufficient proof
before the USPTO that he committed the misconduct. We
disagree with respondent that the imposition of a period of
suspension by this Court would be unjust. Accordingly, after
consideration of all of the factors in this matter, we conclude
that respondent should be immediately suspended, without
leave to apply for reinstatement until June 6, 2006, or, until
such time as he has been reinstated by the USPTO, whichever
is later.

Order of suspension entered.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
(Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR, Case No. SC04-1709
TFB No. 2003-11,136(6C)

Complainant,

v.

MICHAEL JOHN COLITZ, JR.,

Respondent.

CONDITIONAL GUILTY PLEA FOR
CONSENT JUDGMENT

COMES NOW, Michael John Colitz, Jr., Respondent, pursuant to Rule 3-

7.9, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, and states his present intention to tender a

conditional plea to the below-listed violations as charged in the Complaint filed by

THE FLORIDA BAR in this cause, provided and conditioned upon the below-

stated discipline being finally approved by the Supreme Court of Florida. The

following is the stipulated factual basis:

1. Respondent is, and at all times mentioned herein was, a member of The

Florida Bar, subject to the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of Florida.

2. Respondent is aware that Rule 3-7.6(q), Rules Regulating The Florida

Bar, provides for the taxing of costs incurred by THE FLORIDA BAR in a

disciplinary proceeding. Respondent agrees that he will not attempt to discharge

APPX 112 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



the obligation for the payment of the Bar's costs in any future proceedings,

including but not limited to, a Petition for Bankruptcy.

3. Respondent is not certified in any area of practice.

4. Respondent knowingly and voluntarily executes and files this plea.

5. Allegations underlying this Conditional Guilty Plea for Consent Judgment

are based on those contained in the Supreme Court of Ohio case Disciplinary

Counsel v. Michael John Colitz, Jr., Case No. 03-644, and in the matter ofHarry I.

Moatz v. Michael J. Colitz, Jr., Proceeding No. 99-04, before the Under Secretary

of Commerce for Intellectual Property and Director of the United States Patents and

Trademark Office, as set forth more particularly in the Bar's Complaint. Under

Rule 3-4.6, Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, a final adjudication in a disciplinary

proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another

jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction

is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action, shall be considered conclusive

proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under the jurisdiction of the

Supreme Court of Florida.

DISCIPLINARY RULES: Rule 4-1.1, Rule 4-1.3, Rule 4-1.8(f), Rule 4-

1.16(d); Rule 4-5.4(a); Rule 4-5.4(c) and Rule 4-5.5(b).

DISCIPLINE: Three (3) year suspension, nunc pro tunc to the suspension

imposed by the Supreme Court of Ohio by order dated June 6, 2003, without leave
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to petition for reinstatement until June 6, 2006, or the date of reinstatement to the

practice of law by the U.S. Department of Commerce, U.S. Patent and Trademark

Office, whichever is later.

COSTS:
Administrative costs pursuant to

Rule 3-7.6(q)(1)(I)..............................................................-·....·. ..... $1,250.00
Court Reporter Expenses:

Clark Reporting Service 10/22/04 Stat. Conf........................................... 75.00
Clark Reporting Service 12/16/04 Motion Hearing............................75.00

Assistant Staff Counsel Expenses:
Status Conference 10/22/04........................................................................6.75
Mediation 11/30/04 .................................................................................. 15.20
Motion Hearing 12/16/04........................................................18.48
TOTAL........................................................... .................·...··.···...... $1,440.43

The Respondent acknowledges that there may be additional costs incurred if further

proceedings are held. Respondent would be responsible for any future costs.

Dated: u
Michael J Coli z, Jr., Respondent
Michael J. Colitz, Jr., P.A.
P.O. Box 511
Largo, FL 33779-0511
(727) 586-2570
Florida Bar 0. 749631

Dated: c. /7 p oo(. /)O
William L hompson
Assistant taff Counsel
5521 W. Spruce St., Suite C-49
Tampa, Florida 33607-1442
(813) 875-9821
Florida Bar No. 51349

Approved By: Andrew B. Sasso, Esq., Designated Reviewer
John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE

I ED STATE PA N AND T D A OFFICE

HARRY I. MOATZ
' )

)
Director, Office of

Enrollment and Discipline,

v.
) Proceeding No. 99-04

MICHAEL J. COLITZ, JR.,

Respondent.

)

Michael J. Colitz, Jr. ("Respondent"), appeals the Initial Decision ("ID") of Hon.

Stephen J. McGuire ("ALJ"), recommending that Respondent be suspended from practice

before the United States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO") for a period of five

years, with the final two years to be stayed. The Director of the Office ofEnrollment

- and Discipline ("OED Director") has filed
a cross appeal. It is hereby concluded, based

on careful review of the record that th
, e record supports by clear and convincing evidence

the finding in the ID that Respondent violated the following rules: [1] USPTO

Disciplinary Rule ("DR") 10.47(a) and/or (c)2 by aiding non-practitioner invention

development companies in the unauthorized practice of law before theUSPTO and/or by

Moatz Colitz, No. 99-04 (Admin. Law Judge June 27, 2001)(ID).

spo s b i y, 3 Rry Rules are part of the USPTO Code ofProfessional
Rules). Thus, DR 10.47(a) § 10.20(b) (listing Disciplinary
Professional Responsibilit dears at 37 C.F.R. § 10.47(a). The USPTO Code of
Professional Responsibility. Therefore s dhart from the ABA Model Code of
mterpreting similarly derived rule f ' . iCS opinions and court decisions

authority in this matter. s o professional conduct are sources ofpersuasive
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aiding the non-lawyer invention develo
pment companies in the unauthorized practice of

law; [2] DR 10.48 and/or 10.49 by sharing legal fees with a non-practitioner and/or

forming a partnership with a non- ractit
p loner to practice patent law before the USPTO;

[3] DR 10.77(b) and/or (c) by handling a legal matter without preparation adequate under

the circumstances and/or b
y neglecting a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner; and [4]

DR 10.40(a) by withdrawing from employment without taking reasonable steps to avoid

foreseeable prejudice to the rights of his client(s). It is further concluded that the OED

Director proved by clear and convincing evidence that Respondent violated DR 10.68 by
permitting American Inventors Corporation ("AIC"), which recommended and/or paid

Respondent to render legal services to others, to direct and/or regulate Respondent's

professional judgment in rendering such le al
g services, and reverse the ID in this respect.

Finally, it is concluded that the OED D
irector has not established a violation ofDR

10.23(b)(6) by engaging in other conduct that adversely reflects on Respondent's fitness

to practice before the USPTO and the ID is reversed in this respect as well. Except to the

extent inconsistent with this decision, the factual find
ings, legal conclusions and

recommended sanction set forth in the ID are hereby adopted3.

At the heart of this case are Respondent's arrangements with a number of

companies, inter alia, AIC, Invention Sub
mission Corporation ("ISC"), and National Idea

Network, also known as Concept Network ("CN"),4 during the period from 1993 to 1995.

di s e y the , b a se heir i ssa has no hand 8 of the complaint,

4 These companies will be referred to collectivel
or "companies." y as invention development companies"

APPX 116 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

2



• •

While the exact relationships between the various parties are at issue, in general the

invention development companies solicited inventors with ideas they wished to

commercialize, arranged with Respondent (and in some cases other attorneys) to prepare

and submit patent applications, and assisted (or at least agreed to assist) in marketing the

inventions. The events at issue here came to light after one of the companies, AIC, came

under investigation for fraud and ceased operations.

In general, the companies acted in the following manner:5 AIC would send

mventors materials including a "Record and Disclosure of Invention" form

("Disclosure") to be filled out and returned to AIC. Upon receipt of the Disclosure, AIC

would invite the inventor to execute an "Agreement" and make payment to AIC. The

"Agreement" states that AIC will cause a patentability opinion and marketing/feasibility .

report to be prepared. If the inventor elected to proceed, AIC would send the

"Disclosure" to a patent attorney.in order for the attorney to conduct a patent search and

write a patentability opinion, which opinion the attorney would return to AIC. The

patentability opinion would state that either a design or a utility patent might be available

for the inventor's idea. AIC would send the patentability opinion, together with a

"Feasibility Report" prepared by AIC, to the inventor. The inventor would then be asked

to sign a "37 CFR 1.41(c) Authorization" and a "Representation Agr.eement" and make a

further payment. AIC would forward the "Disclosure" and patentability opinion to

Respondent. Respondent would write th
e application and return it to AIC, which would

then forward the application to the inventor for signature. Included with the application

would be a "Declaration and Power ofAttorney" appointing Respondent and a document
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entitled "Instructions from Your Patent Attorney for Executing the Enclosed ... Patent

Application." The inventor would then sign the application and power of attorney and

return the documents to AIC. Finally, AIC would forward the application to Respondent,

along with his fee, and Respondent would file the application with the USPTO. ID 11-

13.6

Professional Judgment

To begin with the issue raised in the OED Director's Cross Appeal, Count 6 of the

complaint alleges that Respondent violated DR 10.68 by permitting AIC, which

recommended and/or paid Respondent to render legal services to others, to direct and/or

regulate Respondent's professional judgment in rendering such legal services.

The OED Director's position is that Respondent, by accepting direction from AIC

rather than directly from the inventors, violated DR 10.68.7 The ID held instead that

Respondent was entitled to rely on the patentability opinion because it had been prepared

by another practitioner, and that Respondent could legitimately accept instructions from

the companies, who were acting as the inventors' agents.

In holding that Respondent was entitled to rely on instructions from the

companies, the ID relied on 37 C.F.R. § 1.41(c), which states:

Any person authorized by th
Office on behalf of th cant may file an application for patent to the
application (§ 1.63) s, but an oath or declaration for the

can only be made in accordance with § 1.64.

This synopsis is based fi d
"general mode ofo erati aW to E, but the ID found that the

P on o AIC essentially paralleled that of ISC and CN." ID I 1, n.

6 Citations to the ID will be referred to as "ID "
before the ALJ as "Tr. and to the Transcript of hearing

invento s nd notn e es do not dispute, that Respondent's clients were the
conclusion is contra y ntion development companies. As discussed infra, this
investigation. e position Respondent took during the OED Director's
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The ID also relied upon two USPTO Official Gazette ("OG") Notices, which clarify

USPTO policy regarding circumstances in which
a patent attorney is operating through

an intermediary. The first OG notice states, in relevant part:

This notice is intended to clarify th
to follow when the ractit e appropriate course of action for a practitioner
foreign agent. In such arr nge ent h g oug . . . a corporate liaison or

advice of the corporate liaison or the client/
the action to be taken so lon t/1 patent applicant s foreign agent as to
applicant has consented afte ull sc s to be re res n ed th

agent. It is assumed by the (PTO) that the client/ atentagreement with the I P applicant has an
represented by the l. , arrived at after full disclosure, to be
however, may maintai a co of th Registered practitioners, ifthey wish,
client/patent applicant and the liaison o agen .this regard between the

ID 24-25 guoting 1086 OG 457 (Dec I0 1987

supplements the first notice and states, in releva ap sis added). The second OG notice

h s t clie t of he U S s relating to the application of an inventor
through intermediaries, such as c on o e passed to the U.S. practitioner
an arrangement, the practitioner m n agents ... . In such
compensationfi-om, the corporate I aison or th CCeP/
taken in a proceeding before the Off ce so lo ore gn agent as to the action to be
the client has consented to h ng as the practitioner is aware that

agent. An agreement between tizinst tion nveyed through the liaison or

agency relationship between the I iaison or agent establishes an
practitioner can rebi he ent such that the U.S

for the purpose of co m n cat the Pesentative ofthe client
the U.S. practitioner. The PTO wil s nstmetions about the proceeding to
with the liaison or a ent to b assume thauhe client has an arrangement

g e represented by the liaison or agent.

ID 25 guoting 1091OG 26 (May 25 I988
, )(emphasis added). The ID also held that the

relationship in this case is explicitly regulated by 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(17).8

8 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(I7) defines disreputable or gross misconduct conduct to include:

Representing before the Office in a patent case

registered practitioner b . . . an inventor referred to the
practitioner knows, or hasan n ention developer when (1) the registered
is pending or has b e, eat a formal complaint
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The ID erred in holding that the two OG notices authorized Respondent to accept

direction from the companies because the ID failed to recognize that they applied only to

foreign agents and corporate liaisons. The first OG notice, 1086 O.G. 457, CX 38,

speaks exclusively to corporate liaisons and foreign agents. It simply does not admit the

possibility that practitioners may properly take instruction from anyone other than a client

or the client's foreign agent or corporate liaison. Thus, if the USPTO has established that

such an arrangement with any other entity is permissible, it must have done so through

the second OG notice, I091 OG 26, CX 37. This notice contains a single sentence that

could be read to refer to agents other than corporate liaisons or foreign agents:

In practice, it is common for instructions relating to the application of an
Inventor or trademark owner, who is the client of the U.S. practitioner to
be passed to the U.S. practitioner through intermediaries such as
corporate liaisons or foreign agents.

This sentence is descriptive only, and the portion of the notice providing

affirmative guidance refers exclusively to corporate liaisons and foreign agents. In fact,

the guidance portion contains no fewer than 11 references to corporate liaisons or foreign

developer . . . and (ii) the registered practitioner fails to fully advise the inventor
e existence of the pending complaint or unfavorable resolution thereof.

Section 10.23(c)(I7) further defines "invention devel r" "
as follows: ope and invention development,"

ne , dep nde t c nt a tor he e f who s not a re stered pra i one and

r ult of such advert s meit S W cu o e s s aperfection, marketin brok . . . . nvention development" means evaluation,
customer b g, or proniotion of an invention on behalf of a

patent appl cat o , or any ot r act d b
consideration toward the end of One y an invention developer for

buyer, or patent for an invention. 8 p ocum a Heense,
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agents (sometimes through the shortened form "liaison or agent"). Not one of these

references contains any modifier that could be read to encompass any intennediary other

than a corporate liaison or foreign agent. It would admittedly be somewhat troubling to

Interpret the notice as describing without comment a "common practice" that is

prohibited by the disciplinary rules. Respondent's argument, however, depends on

interpreting this notice as substantially extending the scope of the first notice through two

words in a descriptive sentence, even though the portion of the second notice containing

explicit guidance is no broader than the first noticeZ

When the "such as" sentence is read in context of the preceding paragraph,

however, it becomes apparent that it was npt intended to significantly extend the

coverage of the notice. The paragraph preceding the "such as" sentence states:

In some instances, practitioners deal with a corporate liaison or foreign
agent. Such arrangements do not automatically change the person whom

e practitioner represents, e.g., the mventor or trademark owner. The fact
t at a U.S. practitioner receives instructions from the inventor or

trademark owner through a foreign attorney or agent does not change the
ct that the client is still the inventor or trademark owner rather then the

foreign attorney or agent. S_ee S_trofirenstvi v. Toyoda, 2 USPQ 2nd 1222
(Comm r Pat. 1986), which at 1223 cited yetter Manufacturine Co. v

Hiniker Co., 213 USPQ 119, 120 (D. Minn. 1981) for the principleÃat
en attorney served as local counsel for law firm representing Hinker

o., t e attorney represented Hiniker and not the law firm" and also cited

ouImm v. Becker 105 USPQ 511 (Ohio Ct. App. 1954) for the principle
foreign patent agents or attorneys were not clients of U.S. patent

attorney. The PTO expects practitioners to know the identities of their
clients and take reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to the
rights of their clients.

y e suc as u d affordss whether reliance on the possible impression introduced
claim that knew about or rel the , since Respondent here does not
the OED investigation was tha h , Respondent's position during

clients. The ALJ credited Res den nipanies and not the mdividual inventors were his
believed all alon that th Pon s subsequent hearing testimony that he had

g e mventors were his clients. See ID 32-33 and n. 40
Respondent, however, did not testify that he had relied

so r I ed hi r on e ld be entirely inexpl ca le.

Case NO. SC18-1279
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Strojirenstvi involved the Czechoslovakian Patent and Trademark Agency known as

UTRIN, which under Czech law was required to process all U.S. applications by Czech

mventors. The decision held that "[w]hile comparisons ofentities from different

countries with different legal systems is often difficult, petitioner's evidence only

supports the conclusion that UTRIN is the Czechoslovakian inventor's attorney" and that

the inventor and not UTRIN was therefore the U.S. practitioner's client. Strojirenstvi, 2

USPQ 2nd at 1223.

The sentence at issue here immediately follows this paragraph. If the phrase

"[inventor), who is the client of the U.S. practitioner" in that sentence were read to

establish that the inventor is the client, the preceding paragraph would be entirely

superfluous, since the inventor would always be the client. Instead, the phrase simply

places the descriptive sentence in the context of the preceding paragraph, which

addresses when the inventor is the client where a corporate liaison or foreign agent is

involved and surnmarizes the pre-existing case law rather than establishing a new further-

reaching policy. In context, it is clear that the phrase "such as" was intended to refer to

situations such as that discussed in the Strojirenstvi decision, where a relationship based

on foreign law must be analogized to U.S. practice. The introduction of this phrase was

evidently not intended to expand the term "corporate liaison or agent" as broadly as

Respondent suggests.

The ID relied upon two regulatory provisions in interpreting these notices, 37

C.F.R. §§ 1.41(c) and 10.23(c)(17). The ID's reliance on these provisions was

misplaced. 37 C.F.R. § 1.41(c) provides in pertinent part that "[a]ny person authorized

by the applicant may file an application on behalf of the inventor or inventors . . . ." This

APPX 122 (By Respondent)
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regulation addresses who may file a patent application, not who may act as an

intermediary between a client and his or her attorney. In this case, Respondent filed

applications on behalf of his inventor clients. Title 37 C.F.R. § 1.41(c) is irrelevant to the

invention development companies' role at issue here.

Similarly, 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(17) does not address the insertion of an invention

developer into the attorney-client relationship. This regulation prohibits a practitioner

from representing an inventor referred by an invention developer where the invention

developer is the subject of a formal complaint under certain circumstances. The

regulation does imply that a practitioner may represent a client referred by an invention

developer if such a complaint does not exist. The regulation, however, says nothing

about any role for the invention developer after the referral has occurred. If anything, the

rule contemplates that USPTO expects that in invention development company's role in

the process is limited to referring a potential client to an attorney and does not include

acting as an intermediary. As the ID observed, the existence of the regulation establishes

that the USPTO knew of invention developers at the time it issued the OG notices. This

does not establish, however, that the OG notices were intended to cover invention

developers. Rather, the omission of invention developers from the OG notices supports

the inference that invention developers were not intended to be inclu.ded as permissible

intermediaries.

Finally, there is no evidence in the record that the invention development

companies were appointed as agents of the inventors for the purpose of communicating

the inventor's instructions about the p . The ID relied on

two agreements typically signed by clients of the invention development firms to support

APPX 123 (By Respondent)
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the finding that an agency agreement existed. The first document, entitled "Authorization

Under 37 C.F.R. I41(c) to file U.S. Patent Application for Invention," authorized the

invention development company ". . . to file or to cause to be filed on [the client's] behalf

a patent application in the United States [for the client's invention or any related

invention]." The second document, entitled "Representation Agreement" stated in part

that:

COMPANY will engage a Patent Attorney/Agent to prepare and file a
ut lity and/or design patent application(s) including all necessary
supporting and filing documentation. . . and handle the subsequent
processing of the application(s) . . . through and including a final
determination ofpatentability by the (USPTO
and is h b ) . . . Company agrees to act

ere y appointed, as CLIENT'S agent for the purpose of locating
contacting, negotiating . . . with manufacturers, distributors, and other
busmess-related entities on CLIENT'S behalf for purposes ofselling

licensing and otherwise commercializing CLIENT'S IDEA/PRODUCT
from th a e of th s agree et for a period of twenty-four (24) months

LD 28-29.

While the Authorization Form authorizes the invention development company to

file or cause to be filed a patent application on the inventor's behalf, it is not specific as

to the retention of an attorney or the relationship between the attorney and the inventor.

The Representation Agreement specifically contemplates that the company will engage

an attorney, but is not clear that the attorney will be retained on the inventor's behalf. It

does expressly appoint the company as the inventor's agent, but only for the purpose of

marketing the invention, not prosecuting the patent application.

These agreements fall short of the agency agreement contemplated by tlie OG

notices. I09I OG 26 explains that: "An agreement between the client and the liaison or

agent establishes an agency relationship between the liaison or agent and the client such

APPX 124 (By Respondent)
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that the U.S. practitioner can rely upon the liaison or agent as the representative of the

client for the purpose of communicating the client's instructions about the proceeding to

the U.S. practitioner." Further, "[a] principal has the right to control the conduct of the

agent with respect to matters entrusted to him." Restatement (Second) ofAgency § 14.

Nothing in either agreement here, however, indicated that the inventors were

Respondent's clients, that the invention development companies would represent the

mventors with Respondent, or that an agency relationship existed with respect to

prosecution of the application such that the inventor had the right to control Respondent's

conduct. Therefore, even if the OG notices could reach the invention development

companies, there was no agency relationship here that would permit Respondent to treat

instructions from the companies as coming from the inventors.

Finally, 1086 OG 457 requires full disclosure before a foreign agent or corporate

liaison acts as an intermediary between attomey and client.¹° The OED Director argues

that this requirement is the same as the "full disclosure" requirement of DR 10.68 itself,

and that the client must therefore be informed in detail of the foreseeable risks and

pitfalls of communicating with the attorney through an intermediary. S_ee Acheson v.

_White, 487 A.2d 197, 199 (Conn. 1985). Further, the OED Director contends, the

disclosure must made by the attorney directly to the client. On the other hand, the ID

concludes that the Representation Agreement itself constitutes "consent after full

disclosure to be represented by the agent," ID, 29. The agreement says nothing about

is requirement does not appear in 1091 OG 26, but neither party disputes its
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risks or potential conflicts of interest, so it appears that the ID read the notice to require

disclosure only of the fact of agency."

The Director's position is not entirely supported by the record. The OG notices,

where they apply, plainly permit an attorney to represent a client without direct contact.

Thus, the "full disclosure" need not involve such contact. On the other hand, "consent

after full disclosure" must mean more than disclosure of the fact of consent. Beyond

observing that disclosure must involve facts, such as potential conflicts of interest and the

amount of the agent's compensation, that might bear on the wisdom ofappointing the

agent, it is not necessary to determine how much more is required. To rely on

instructions from the companies, Respondent would have had to have been aware that the

client has consented to a covered agency relationship after full disclosure. Evidence of

Respondent's awareness is uniquely in Respondent's control, and there is no testimony or

evidence in the record that any disclosure occurred, much less that Respondent was aware

of it.

DR 10.68(b) prohibits a practitioner from "permit[ing] a person who

recommends, employees, or pays the practitioner to render legal services for another, to

direct or regulate the practitioner's professional judgment in rendering such legal

services. This rule prohibits practitioners from, among other things, accepting direction

from an intermediary instead ofdirectly from a client. S_ee Office ofDisciplinary

Counsel v. Carretta, 647 N.E. 2d 471 (Supreme Court of Ohio, 1995). See also 1091 OG

26 ("absent an agency relationship between liaison or agent and client a practitioner

would be bound by 37 C.F.R. 10.68(b). . . ."). Respondent accepted referrals from the

f course, as discussed above, the Representation Agreement does not "disclose" even
APbX 126 (By Respondent)
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companies, and was paid his legal fees by them. I_D at 6-7. Respondent prepared patent

applications prior to any direct contact with his clients, based on instructions received

from the companies. ID at 11. Accordingly, Respondent violated DR 10.68.

Count I - Aiding_t-he Unauthorized Practice of Law

Count 1 alleges, among other things, that Respondent violated Disciplinary Rule

("DR") 10.47(a) and/or 10.47(c)'2 by aiding a non-practitioner, AIC and/or ISC, in the

unauthorized practice of law ("UPL") and/or in the practice of law before the PTO.

Complaint p. 4. Because the adequacy of evidentiary support for the ID's factual

findings concerning this count are at issue, they are set forth as an appendix to this

opimon, annotated to identify the testifying witness where they cite to the hearing

transcript or a declaration.

The ID concluded that "the companies engaged in UPL by submitting and

explaining documents to the inventors which required legal knowledge for

comprehension and completion, maintaining control over the creation of the drawings

which formed the design patent claims, and explaining to the inventors the important

difference between 'design' and 'utility' patents. Respondent aided in such UPL by

lending his name and his license to the overall scheme of operation in order to enable its

existence, by accepting referrals from the companies, and by allowing the companies to

perform, with his acquiescence, his legal responsibilities to explain legal documents,

oversee the creation ofdrawings, and ensure that the inventors made informed decisions

to pursue either 'design' or 'utility' patents." ID, 35-36.

'2 DR 10.47(a) provides: "A practitioner shall not aid a non-practitioner in the
unauthonzed practice of law before the Office." DR 10.47(c) provides: "A practitioner

a non-lawyer m the unauthorized practice of law."
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Respondent argues that the ID's conclusion on this count is based on the ID's

allegedly erroneous Factual Finding 39, as set forth in the appendix to this decision,

concerning the companies' "mode of operation" because such fmding is based solely on

the testimony ofMr. Lougher, ID 3, and the written declaration of Pat King, which he

asserts are not admissible evidence. Respondent's Reply Brief I-2. Respondent contends

that the evidence of his written and telephone contact with his inventor-clients contradicts

the ID's fmding that Respondent had little or no direct contact with his inventor-clients,

Respondent's Initial Brief at 5; that the evidence does not support the ID's finding that

the "37 C.F.R. §l.41(c) Authorization," "Representation Agreement," and/or "Feasibility

Report", or presentation thereof by the companies, constitutes the UPL, ID at 6-9; that the

ID erred in fmding that the preparation ofpatent drawings constitutes the UPL; and that

the ID erred in finding that the companies exclusively oversaw the creation of patent

drawings, ID at 10-12; and/or that the companies explained the difference.between a

utility and design patent. ID at 12-14. Last, Respondent argues that none of the

decisions cited in the ID are analogous to this case, especially since none of the decisions

concern an agency relationship similar to the one found in the ID. Respondent's Initial

Brief 15.

The OED Director argues that Respondent aided in the UPL by allowing the

companies to have all the contact with the inventors; to gather all of the initial invention

information; to explain to the inventors the patenting process, the scope of their

invention, and whether the inventor should seek a design or utility patent; and to create

patent application drawings without any input from Respondent. OED Director's Reply

Brief 4-8. In order to establish that Respondent aided in the unauthorized practice of law,
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the OED Director was required to prove by clear and convincing evidence first, that the

companies engaged in the unauthorized practice of law, and, second, that Respondent

aided them in doing so. These two elements are addressed below.

Unauthorized Practice of Law

In its finding that Respondent assisted in the unauthorized practice of law, the ID

was informed by the following summary of the applicable case law concerning the UPL,

which is hereby adopted.

[W]hile there is no precise definition of the "practice of law," it includes any
action which requires "the exercise of legal judgment." The determination tums
upon whether such advice or action requires legal knowledge, training, skill, or
ability beyond that of a layperson. In determining whether a particular act fits in
this definition, the court's "primary goal is the protection of the public."

ID 41-42 (footnote omitted).

In one respect, the ID is in error in holding that the companies engaged in the

UPL by explaining the section 1.41(c) agreement and the representation agreement to

inventors. Whatever the other significance of these agreements, they purported to do

nothing more than establish legal relationships between the inventors and the companies.

The companies entered these agreements as parties, not as representatives of the

inventors. If the companies did not act in good faith (as their subsequent legal difficulties

suggest they may not have), their explanations of the agreements might have amounted to

over-reaching or misrepresentation. Contrary to the ID's conclusions, however,

discussions of a proposed agreement by potential parties thereto are contract negotiations,

not the UPL. To the extent that the Representation Agreement itself or discussions

surrounding it constituted legal advice on extrinsic matters, the result is different, as

discussed below.
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AIC's preparation, presentation, and explanation of the "Feasibility Report" is

another matter. The feasibility report reproduces and discusses, inter alia, 35 U.S.C. §§

101, 102 and 103, and incorporates a patentability opinion, authored by an attorney. The

ID, relying on OED Director's expert Robert Bell and In re Cowgill, 307 N.E.2d 919, 181

U.S.P.Q. 103 (Ohio App. 1973),'3 found that the text of the Feasibility Report alone

constituted the UPL. ID 49-50.

The only Feasibility Report in evidence is the one presented to Beverly Stevens in

January, 1995. The ID treats this report as typical of that prepared by AIC during the

Period at issue in the complaint. As discussed below, the testimony ofMr. Lougher

establishes that AIC used a similar report before its association with Respondent, and

other clients of Respondent testified to receiving similar Feasibility Reports. In view of

this evidence and the fact that neither party has objected to the ID's treatment of the

Stevens Feasibility.Report as typical, this decision will also treat it so.

Respondent argues generally that the preparation and issuance of Feasibility

Report itself does not constitute the practice of law because it does not offer legal advice

and does not apply legal principles to a determined set of facts. The Feasibility Report

itself (as distinguished from the attorney-signed patentability opinion it incorporates)

'3 In Cowgill a non-lawyer not licensed to practice before the USPTO was permanently

enjoined from providing the following services, which were found to constitute the UPL:

In holding himself out as being legally qualified to render opinions
counsel and advice concerning the legal effect and requirements of law

concerning the preparation, filing and prosecuting of patent applications
determining the patentability of inventions; counseling or advising customers on

matters of law . . . advising on . . . the legal requirements necessary in protecting
inventions from others . . . .

307 N.E.2d at 920.
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contains a lengthy discussion of the substantive and procedural requirements for

obtaining a patent requirements, advice on protecting the client's invention, and

statements concerning the patentability of that invention. Given this, Respondent cannot

be seriously contending that the Feasibility Report does not contain legal advice. Rather,

' be read as asserting, as Respondent argued before the ALJ, that

<fr Report does not constitute the practice of law because it merely

-aleric discussion ofpatent law (as might be found in a legal text) and does

not apply the law to a specific set of facts.

If Complainant were required to prove that the companies actually exercised

significant judgment in preparing the Feasibility Report, Respondent's argument might .

have some weight. Mr. Lougher testified that AIC prepared feasibility reports in

approximately one hour by entering the name of the inventor and title of the invention

into a generic computerized template." Tr. p. 155. The prohibition on the unauthorized

practice of law, however, is intended to protect the public, and unauthorized legal advice

is no less dangerous for having been thoughtlessly prepared.

The relevant question with respect to the report is whether it was held out as

providing legal advice specific to the inventor's individual situation or simply as a

discussion of patent law in general. The Feasibility Report addressed in the ID is entitled

"Feasibility Report for 'Left or Right Computer Keyboard' Invented by: Beverly G.

Stevens." CX 8, p 09. Each subsequent page (except the incorporated patentability

opinion) includes a footer reading "Beverly G. Stevens: 'Left or Right Computer

Keyboard.'" CX 8, p 010 - 069.

APPX 131 (By Respondent)
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Sixteen pages of the Report discuss intellectual property law, including patent

law. Like the other portions of the report, this section is frequently written in the second

Person and contains specific references to the inventor and her invention. It states for

example that "[al patent provides specific legal rights for your product or idea; it prevents

the production, sale, and use of "Left or Right Computer Keyboard" by any unauthorized

Person or company." CX 8, p.19. The report also unmistakably gives advice to the

mventor. It explains that:

The best way to avoid the public use bar is not to commercially exploit
your invention. If you must disclose one model for use, indicate to all
parties that the use is experimental and keep "test" reports. If you sell one

r testing, periodically inspect it, and have people sign a secrecy
agreement.

CX 8, p 26

The Stevens Feasibility Report includes a letter from Hugh E. Smith to AIC

setting forth the results of a preliminary patentability search on Ms. Stevens' invention.

The letter concludes that "we are of the opinion that utility patent protection for the

combination of the present invention might be available." CX 8, p.37. The page of the

Feasibility Report introducing the opinion, however, states: "[a]fter careful

consideration, the patent attorney/agent has determined that, in his opinion, your idea is

patentable." CX 8, p.35. Thus, rather than simply conveying the legal opinion, the

Feasibility Report interprets, if not misconstrues, it.

Doubtless, a sophisticated reader would identify the legal analysis in the

Feasibility Report for the generic boilerplate that it is. However, the entire report

y the co pla n How v r he of feas b itconsistent w h h y report in evidence appears entirely

APPX 132 ( y pboBhEffRfred m the manner Mr. Lougher described.
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obviously lacks significant underlying analysis, but is nonetheless tailored to come across

as advice specific to the particular inventor. For example, the Report explains that:

In designing the package for the "Left or Right Computer Keyboard "
many factors need to be taken into account. These may include but are not
limited to the following:

1) Size
2) Shape
3) Copy
4) Color
5) Materials
6) Brand marks
7) Convenience to the consumer
8) Ease of use
9) Production concerns & processes
10) Budget and time constraints
I1) Dependability and durability
12}Overall appearance
13) UPC coding

CX 8, p.64-65. Plainly, the report as a whole is not the result of extensive specific

research and analysis, yet equally plainly it is structured so as to attempt to convey the

impression that such work has been done on the inventor's behalf. Nothing in the report

would indicate to a reader that while the business advice and analysis is meant to be taken

at face value, the legal advice and analysis is not.

It is quite possible that patent information more specific than that contained in the

Feasibility Report is readily available for purchase in bookstores. The inventors here,

however, did not choose their Reports from a shelf of books. Rather, they provided AIC

specific information regarding their individual inventions, and received personalized

Feasibility Reports containing (or at least purporting to contain) legal advice and analysis

concerning the specific invention. Preparation of these reports constituted the

unauthorized practice of law.
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The ID also correctly concluded that AIC engaged in the unauthorized practice of

law by explaining the Feasibility Report and the patentability opinion contained therein.

In determining whether it was reasonable to infer that a non-attorney had been called

upon to explain various legal documents, the court held in In re Discipio 645 N.E.2d 906

(Ill. 1994):

Circumstantial evidence is legal evidence and neither the commissioners

nor this court are required to be naive or impractical in appraising an

attorney s conduct . . . , [W]e need not remain blind or insensitive to the
reasonable and clear-cut intendments arising from respondent's own
admissions and business records.

645 N.E.2d at 910 (citation omitted). Here, extensive independent evidence supports

the conclusion that the companies scheduled and held face-to-face meetings to deliver the

feasibility reports. See Tr. 227, 231-32 (Rose); Tr. 373 (Harrison); Tr. 466 (Stevens); Tr.

524 (Ryan); Tr. 607 (Millei-)(inventor testimony concerning initial face-to-face meetings

with company representatives). Given the importance of the information in the report on

the patent process and the patentability of the particular inventions, it would be naïve to

suppose that a discussion of the report could exclude presentation of the legal advice.

Supporting that conclusion, as the ALJ found, is the testimony ofMr. Lougher

that company salesmen routinely used the feasibility reports as their sales presentations in

face-to-face meetings with the inventors. Respondent contends that the ID improperly

relied on Mr. Lougher's testimony as to the factual finding of "general scheme" or "mode

ofoperation" of the companies, contending that his testimony, based on involvement in

the operations before Respondent came on the scene, should have been excluded. The

applicable regulations provide that, while "[t]he rules ofevidence prevailing in courts of
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law and equity are not controlling in hearings in disciplinary proceedings," the ALJ shall

exclude "evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or repetitious." 37 C.F.R. § 10.150(a).

Even under the Federal Rules of Evidence, however, evidence of the routine practice of

an organization is admissible to prove that the conduct of the organization on a particular

mstance was in conformance with the routine practice. Fed. R. Evid. 406.

There is no question that the significance of Mr. Lougher's testimony must be

carefully evaluated in view of the fact that he left AIC in March 1992, and Respondent

did not begin accepting referrals from AIC until November 1993. However, the

documentary evidence in the record and the testimony of Respondent and the inventors

independently support most of the ID's findings. On those points, Mr. Lougher's

testimony is relevant as tending to support the credibility of testimony of others and the

conclusion that the practices were long-standing.

Only one fimding in the ID relevant to the unauthorized practice of law relies

primarily on Mr. Lougher's testimony - that is, that representatives of the companies .

explained the feasibility reports to inventors at face-to-face meetings. As discussed

above, and further below, however, independent evidence in the record not cited on this

point in the ID demonstrates that companies presented the reports in face-to-face

meetings. Although Respondent demonstrates that some aspects ofAIC's standard

practices changed after Mr. Lougher's departure, the record is clear that in most respects

AIC's practices did not change. No specific evidence suggests that this aspect of its

practice changed - certainly nothing that is credible in the face of specific evidence that

the practice continued.
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Respondent also objects to the ID's reliance on the declaration of Pat King, who

was employed by AIC during the relevant time period. CX 32. Ms. King's declaration

consists primarily of a description of AIC's mode of operation. This description

facilitates an understanding of the documentary evidence iri the record, but nearly every

salient point is independently established by the documents themselves. The declaration

does, however, provide the only direct evidence that Ms. King and the rest of the AIC

staff were directed not to divulge contact information for the attorneys assigned to the

inventors' cases. CX 32 at paragraph 4.

Respondent's primary objection to the declaration appears to be based on its form.

Respondent describes it as "unsworn" and points out that it is not witnessed or notarized.

Respondent's Reply Brief at 2-3 and note 1. -The declaration is executed under penalty of

perjury, and is admissible under 28 U.S.C. § 1746. CX 32.

Respondent-correctly points out the Ms. King was not made available for cross

examination. Her out-of-court statement would indeed be hearsay under the Federal of

Evidence. The rules of evidence prevailing in courts of law, however, are not applicable

to proceedings before the ALJ. 37 C.F.R. § 10.150. Respondent has not developed his

argument by, for example, alleging issues of competence or bias that he could have

pursued on cross examination. As discussed below, there is independent evidence that

Respondent did not regularly have contact with his clients until after he had prepared

their patent applications. Further, there is evidence that Respondent himself discouraged

his clients from contacting him. Respondent's instructions to Beverly Stevens include

the following language:

All reasonable and necessary legal fees for preparing and prosecuting your
patent application until an issued patent is obtained are being paid by
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American Inventors Corporation. However, the fee [sic] do not include
Personal consultation, whether in writing or by telephone, between an
mventor and his or her attorney. Accordingly, our usual procedure is to
bill customary and expected charges directly to you for any personal
consultation with our offices.

CX 8, 88-89. His instructions for Concept Network clients are similar, and also state that

"our usual procedure is to request that inventors make an appointment with our offices

via The Concept Network." CX 39 at 7 (emphasis in original). Thus, Respondent both

implied that personal consultation with respect to a patent application is not "reasonable

and necessary" and discouraged such contact by imposing additional fees upon it.

The ALJ did not err in admitting the King declaration. The lack of opportunity

for cross examination does somewhat reduce the persuasiveness of the testimony.

However, in view of the extensive corroborating evidence and the lack any specific

challenge to the credibility of the testimony, the ALJ's reliance on the declaration was

appropriate.

Further, there is affirmative evidence in the record -- not relied upon in the ID --

that AIC did in fact explain the Feasibility Report and patentability opinion, at least in

presentations to inventors as ofJanuary 1995. The Representation Agreement between

Ms. Stevens and AIC contains the following paragraph:

CLIENT acknowledges the receipt of a preliminary search report which
was prepared by a registered patent attorney and which recommended the
filing ofeither a utility patent application or a design patent application, or
both, depending upon the patent attorney's professional judgment as to
which type(s) ofpatent protection should be pursued. CLIENT further
acknowledges and understands that a utility patent and a design patent
each provide a different type of protection for an invention, and

specifically that a utility patent protects the function of an invention i.e.
how it works, and a design patent protects the ornamental appearance of
an invention, i.e. how it looks. With a complete understanding of the
differences between utility patents and design patents, CLIENT wishes to
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follow the advice of the patent attorney and proceed with the
recommended type ofpatent application.

CX 8, p. 072. This agreement, executed January 19, 1995, appears on a form marked

"REV 1/95." CX 8, p. 073. The quoted language does not appear on earlier-executed

AIC Representation Agreements in the record.

Merely presenting the agreement form with the above language constitutes an

explanation of the patentability opinion (and in fact a misrepresentation of it, because the

opinion addresses whether patent protection may be available but makes no

recommendation as to whether is should be sought). The form also explains the

difference between utility and design patents much more explicitly than the Feasibility

Report does. Finally, the Representation Agreement asserts that the client has a

"complete understanding" of the differences between the two types of patents. While the

one-sentence explanation on the Representation Agreement form itself, unlike the passing

references in the Feasibility Report and the patentability opinion, is reasonably cogent, it

is hardly sufficient to impart a complete understanding of the somewhat complex legal

and conceptual differences between the two types ofpatents. Compare, e.g, 35 U.S.C. §

154(a)(2) to 35 U.S.C. § 173. Such an understanding could not have come from the two

other documents presented, since they impart even less information. The reference to a

"complete understanding," therefore, must contemplate an explanation by AIC

representatives, because there is no other source from which AIC's clients could

reasonably be expected to gain such an understanding.

Thus, the Stevens Representation Agreement constitutes direct evidence that AIC

was engaging in the unauthorized practice ofby providing written legal advice and clear

indirect evidence that it provided oral legal advice explaining the Feasibility Report and
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patentability opinion in 1995, which was the last year of Respondent's association with

that firm. That evidence, taken together with the other extensive evidence of oral

presentations reaching back to 1992 and the reasonable inferences drawn in the ID, is

sufficient to establish that AIC engaged in the practice throughout the relevant period.

The record also supports the ID's finding that the companies engaged in the

unauthorized practice of law when they oversaw the preparation of patent drawings.

Patent drawings are not normally produced as part of the inventive process itself; rather,

they are drafted in connection with the preparation of a patent application, are submitted

to the patent office as part of that application, and form a part of the patent if one is

ultimately granted. Drawings illustrate the features ofan invention for which protection

is sought, and their competent preparation requires an understanding of which features of

the invention are patentably distinct from the prior art. As the ID points out at length,

this is particularly true for a design patent, in which the scope of patent protection is

exclusively defined by the drawings.

The parties engage in a debate on whether a drawing is properly regarded as part

of the patent specification and claims. The point is academic for present purposes. It is

true that 35 U.S.C. § I I l (a)(2) separately enumerates the specification and drawing.

However it treats both, when present, as integral parts of the application. By statute, a

drawing may be a required part of the application, and its contents, as part of the patent

disclosure, can affect the patentee's rights. 35 U.S.C. § I 13. Thus, preparation of patent

drawings is as much the practice of law as is preparation ofpatent specifications and

claims.
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Respondent argues that drafting patent drawings does not constitute the practice

of law because patent attorneys routinely delegate such drafting. It is undoubtedly true

that a draftsman who prepares a patent drawing on behalf and under the direction of a

licensed patent attorney or agent does not engage in the unauthorized practice of law.

This is not what occuned here, however. Rather, the companies an·anged for the

preparation of the drawings directly on behalf of the inventors. The drawings were

prepared before the inventors were ever refen·ed to Respondent. ID 54. Although the

drawings were ultimately incorporated into a patent application prepared and filed by

Respondent, Respondent's subsequent involvement cannot negate that the companies,

without the involvement of a practitioner, an·anged for and oversaw the drafting of

docurnents intended to be a legally significant part of the patent disclosure to the USPTO.

Respondent's defense is based on the theory that the companies merely acted as

conduits to transmit the client's instructions.to Respondent. When the companies

arranged for preparation of the drawings, however, they were acting on behalf of the

mventors, not on behalf ofMr. Colitz or any other patent practitioner. Thus, the

companies provided the inventors with the service of preparing patent drawings and, in

preparing these legal instruments, engaged in the unauthorized practice of law.

Respondent also argues that his conduct was proper because he required the

mventors to verify the drawings before he filed them. Respondent's conduct in this

regard may bear on the competence with which he fulfilled his duties to his clients, and

Perhaps to the issue of whether he aided the companies in their practice of law, but not to

whether the companies engaged in such practice.
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The ID's conclusion regarding the unauthorized practice of law is based on

analysis of various specific acts directly undertaken by employees of the companies

themselves. As set forth above, this decision adopts the ID's conclusions on this basis,

except with respect to the companies' explanation of the representation agreement.

While it was not argued by the parties and therefore does not form a basis for this

decision, there is an alternative theory that would support a conclusion that the companies

engaged in the unauthorized practice of law. The record establishes that the companies

offered to obtain patents on behalf of clients, and that they arranged with attorneys to

obtain patentability opinions and to draft and file patent applications, and with a

draftsman to draft patent drawings. It is also clear that, at a minimum, preparing

patentability opinions and drafting and filing patent applications constitutes the practice

of law.

In Florida Bar v. Davide, 702 So. 2d. 184 (Supreme Court of Florida 1997), an

unregistered individual was charged with engaging in the unauthorized practice of law in

part because he had completed a complaint for dissolution of marriage. The court held

that "[t]his would be the unauthorized practice of law even if an attorney had drafted the

complaint as [the individual] would have been the conduit for obtaining and relaying the

information, without the client ever having spoken with the attorney." Likewise,

[A] collection agency practices law by interposing itself as an
intermediary between a licensed attorney and a client. In effect, the
collection agency becomes the client of the attorney when it is not. This
creates the absence of the attorney-client relationship that diverts the
interest of the attorney from the entity whose real interests are at stake in
the proceedings, thereby giving rise to a possible conflict of interest.
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Med Controls, Inc. v. Hopkins,et._al. (Court of Appeals ofOhio, Eighth District,

Cuyahoga County), 573 N.E.2d 154, 155. An important factor in this decision was that:

"in effect, [the creditor], the real party in interest, had no control over its attorney since

[the collection agency] was responsible for hiring and paying the attorney." Id.

Further, where a suspended attorney had agreed to represent clients and then

arranged with licensed practitioners to appear in court, a court held that:

The core element of practicing law is the giving of legal advice to a client
and placing oneself in the very sensitive relationship wherein the

confidence of the client, and the management if his affairs, is left totally in
the hands of the attorney. This undertaking to minister to the legal
problems of another creates an attorney-client relationship without regard
to whether the services are actually performed by the one so undertaking
the responsibihty or are delegated or subcontracted to another.

In the matter of Perrello, 386 N.E.2d 174, 17-9 (Supreme Court of Indiana 1979). The

record would support a conclusion that, by contracting with inventors to obtain patents on

their behalf, the companies engaged in the unauthorized practice of law regardless of

whether they advised clients and prepared and filed patent applications themselves or

arranged for licensed attorneys or agents to do so.

Aiding in the Unauthorized Practice of Law

As discussed above, the evidence shows that the companies' actions constituted

the UPL with regard to all allegations except the companies' negotiation of the

representation agreements. Likewise, the ID correctly found that Respondent aided in the

UPL by "lending his name and his license to the companies' overall scheme in order to

facilitate their operation, by accepting referrals from the companies, and by allowing the

companies to perform, with his acquiescence, his legal responsibilities to explain legal
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documents and ensure that the inventors made informed decisions to pursue either

'design' or 'utility' patents." ID 72.

In the course ofRespondent's on-going arrangement with AIC, he prosecuted

approximately 900 patent applications and 1,500 amendments between November 1993

and August 25, 1995. Further, in 1995 Respondent prosecuted 135 patent applications

for ISC inventor-clients." The ID properly relied on the testimony of Mr. Bell, the OED

Director's expert, who testified that Respondent's "lending his name to the company

basically . . . by providing them with a patent attorney who will be willing to perform

these services, he's enabling them to continue this operation." ID 78, quoting Tr. 1860.

Respondent's arrangement with the companies permitted them to provide patent-related

services to inventors, and these services, as discussed above, included the unauthorized

practice of law.

There is no evidence in the record that Respondent had access to the Feasibility

Reports or Representation Agreements or that he was privy to the conversations between

company representatives and inventors. Respondent was, however, provided with patent

drawings prepared at the direction of the companies, patentability opinions addressed to

the companies, and invention disclosures prepared by the inventors upon forms prepared

and provided by the companies. Respondent therefore had direct knowledge of the

companies' practice of overseeing preparation of patent drawings prior to his

involvement. He also knew that the companies were gathering the information upon

" See ID I 1; see also ID 55, n.24, comparing the above-described number of patent
applications prosecuted by Respondent with the number ofpatent applications prosecuted
y Respondent s expert, Mr. Fagan during his 33 year career and the OED Director's

expert, Dr. Rines during his 53 year career. Both estimated that they may have
prosecuted approximately a thousand patent applications throughout their respective
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which he relied in preparing patent applications. Even if the companies could have

gathered such information for Respondent without engaging in the unauthorized practice

of law (and it is far from clear they could have), Respondent was certainly on notice that

the companies were communicating with the inventors regarding what would become the

subject of his representation. Under these circumstances, Respondent's failure to

investigate the Companies' exact role in the process cannot insulate him from a charge of

aiding the unauthorized practice of law, even with respect to those elements of the

companies' conduct of which he did not have direct knowledge.

Although Respondent asserts that the evidence of his daily written and telephone

contact with his inventor-clients is overwhelming, the only evidence he points to in the

record is his testimony at hearing that he had personal contact with inventors "[o]n the

phone, all the tirne . . . Ten, twenty calls a day. Ten, fifteen." S_ee Respondent's Initial

Brief at 5 citing Tr. at 1424 (Respondent's·testimony). Respondent's own testimony

contradicts this non-specific assertion regarding his contact with inventor-clients, as he

testified that he could not recall any discussions with his inventor-clients before he filed

their respective applications, ID 11,l 6 (Findings of Fact 38, 52), Tr. 1559; that the

inventor-clients rnade the decision as to which type ofpatent to pursue without his input,

ID 66-67, quoting Tr. 1356, 1291, 1452, and that with regard to his inventor-client Ms.

Rose, he never discussed the patentability opinion. Id. at 72, n. 188 quoting Tr. 1632-33.

Furthennore, contrary to Respondent's assertion, it was proper for the ID to rely

upon decisions involving living trust marketing, estate planning, and bankruptcy

refinancing for guidance. Contrary to Respondent's argument, the referral arrangement

in _Comm. On Professional Ethics & Conduct v. Baker, 492 N.W.2d 695 (IA 1992) is
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analogous and pertinent to this case. See ID 72-76 (extensive analysis and comparison of

this case with Baker). The Baker court found that the attorney aided in the UPL by, inter

alia, allowing a trust marketing company to exercise professional judgment that should

have been exercised by the attorney, as well as facilitating the UPL by accepting a large

number of referrals on a regular basis. Id. See also id. at 77-78 (for a discussion of an

attorney aiding in UPL, see In re Komar, 532 N.E.2d 801, 810 (Ill. 1988), a bankruptcy

refinancing case). Furthennore, even the existence of an agency relationship between the

companies and Respondent's inventor-clients would not safeguard Respondent from

aiding in the UPL if his acquiescence facilitates the companies' UPL. S_ee ID 76, n. 198,

citing Oregon Ethics Opinion 523 (1989). See also, Oregon Ethics Opinion 1991-115,

1991 WL 279242 (1991) (pursuant to a disciplinary rule essentially identical to DR

10.47(c) state bar concluded that attorney may not accept representation of foreign

corporation's customers involving an agency contract signed by such customers allowing

corporation to obtain local counsel to review estate planning documents to determine

whether they complied with Oregon law and to assist in executing documents).

Respondent points out that 37 C.F.R. § 10.47(a) prohibits a practitioner from

aiding an non-practitioner in the practice of law before the office. He argues that

because, under 37 C.F.R. § 10.1(s), a "proceeding before the office" means a proceeding

pending before the office, any practice of law by the companies prior to the submission of

a patent application is not prohibited by this section.

The complaint charged Respondent with violation DR 10.47(a) and/or 10.47(c).

DR 10.47(c) prohibits aiding a non-lawyer in the unauthorized practice of law. The

compames are not lawyers, and Respondent aided them in the unauthorized practice of
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law. This is sufficient to sustain Count 1 of the complaint. Exactly what constitutes

practice of law "before the office" under DR 10.47(a) and whether such practice is

limited to "proceedings before the office" as defined by 37 C.F.R. § 10.1 need not be

decided here.

Count 2 - Fee Splitting_/ Improper Partnership

Count 2 alleges that Respondent violated DR 10.48 and/or DR 10.49 by sharing

legal fees and forming a partnership with a non-practitioner (AIC and/or ISC) to practice

patent law before the USPTO. Complaint, page 6. In addition to Finding ofFact 39, set

forth above in the appendix, the following findings of the ID are pertinent to Count 2.

Respondent knew, or was otherwise aware, that inventors paid AIC for its patent-

related services. ID at 5. Respondent agreed to be paid by ISC for legal services

provided. Id According to the general protocol under.Respondent's arrangement with

AIC, all communication with AIC-referred inventors was to be had through AIC, with

little or no direct communication between Respondent and the inventors. I-11. at 6.

Between November 1993, and August 25, 1995, Respondent accepted approximately 900

client referrals from AIC and prosecuted those patent applications, including

approximately 1,500 amendments, at the request ofAIC. Id. As compensation for

prosecuting these referrals, AIC paid Respondent $350 per patent application and $150

Per amendment. Id. at 6-7. In 1995, Respondent accepted approximately 135 client

referrals from ISC and prosecuted those patent applications at the request of ISC. Id. at

7. ISC paid Respondent $200 per week for preparing patentability opinions. Id.
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AIC, ISC and/or CN set the fee Respondent was paid for patentability opinions

and/or other legal services for preparing and prosecuting patent applications for inventors

who contracted with AIC, ISC and/or CN for such services. Id. Respondent was paid by

AIC, receiving a portion of the fees paid to AIC by the inventors. IL Respondent knew,

or was otherwise aware, that AIC and/or ISC maintained and controlled the legal fees

Paid by the inventor(s) until AIC and/or ISC paid such funds to Respondent for legal

services performed. Id at 7-8. Respondent did not know where AIC and/or ISC

maintained or deposited the inventors' funds. Id. at 8.

Upon completion of Respondent's legal work on behalf of the inventors, for

example, by providing patentability opinions and drafting patent applications, AIC, ISC

and/or CN paid Respondent a portion of the fees that the inventors had paid to the

companies before Respondent's having performed the legal work. I.i All money paid to

Respondent by AIC, ISC and/or CN was paid after Respondent had performed the legal

work for which such money was compensation. IA Respondent did not communicate .

directly with his inventor-clients, including, inter alia, the Smiths, Ryan, and/or Rose,

prior to preparing their patent applications. Id. at I 1. Respondent participated in a

process where inventors paid AIC for legal services and AIC selected the attorney who

would handle a given case. Id. at 14. AIC selected and assigned an attorney, i.e.,

Respondent, for Respondent's inventor-clients, including, inter alia, Ms. Stevens and Mr.

Ryan, rather than such inventors making the selection themselves. It Naomi Rose, was

promised by AIC that AIC ". . .will engage a Patent Attorney/Agent to prepare and file a

design patent application(s) including all necessary supporting and filing

documentation..." li at I5. AIC represented to inventors, including Naomi Rose, that
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certain patent-related work would be performed, and Respondent, according to general

protocol under his arrangement with AIC, provided legal services to AIC-referred

inventors, including Naomi Rose, prior to independently consulting with such inventors.

I_ct at I6.

Fee-Splitting

With regard to the fee-splitting allegation, the ID holds that Respondent violated

DR 10.48 which provides, in relevant part, that a "practitioner . . x shall not share legal

fees with a non-practitioner," by sharing legal fees with the companies because "the fee

arrangement between Respondent and the companies was permanent and ongoing,

involving over 1,000 inventor clients. . . [and] implicated every rationale underlying the

prohibition on sharing legal fees with non-lawyers." Ich at 79. The ID identifies these

rationales as: prevention of competitive solicitation of clients for lawyers by non-lawyer

intermediaries, split allegiance and inflated cost. Id. at 85, citing Emmons, Williams,

Mires & Leech v. State Bar of California, 86 Cal. Rptr. 367 (Ct. App. 1970)(case relied

upon by Respondent in his "Memorandum in Support ofhis Proposed Findings of Fact

and Conclusions of Law" at 73).

Respondent argues that "there is no evidence that AIC kept any portion of any

legal fee" from the monies paid by the inventors to AIC and that Respondent was entitled

to accept his legal fees from his inventor-clients' agents. Respondent's Initial Brief I6-

I7. Respondent also challenges the expert testimony of Mr. Bell and argues that there is

no evidence that the legal services were inflated in this case. Id. at I7. Respondent

further argues that the fee arrangement did not have an impact on Respondent's

allegiance to his inventor clients as is evidenced by the assistance he provided inventors
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after AIC went out of business. Id. at 18-19. Finally, Respondent argues that the trust

marketing cases relied upon by the ID are inapplicable because none of the decisions

deals with a situation involving an agency relationship similar to this case. Id. at 19-20.

The OED Director maintains that Respondent knew he was paid a portion of the

fees paid by his inventor-clients to the companiesl6 W h& kwf WW a m

lawyer and lawyer from splitting a single fee earned from "a package deal." OED

Director's Reply Brief at 8-9. The OED Director maintains.that contrary to Respondent's

assertion, the record shows that Respondent's inventor-clients "were charged a large fee

for a bundle of services with no disclosure to the inventor of how much was being paid

for legal services." I_ch at 9 citing Tr. 1786-67, 1805, 1891 (testimony of OED Director's

expert, Mr. Bell).

The ID's finding that the Director established by clear and convincing evidence

that Respondent violated DR 10.48 is supported by the record. The record does not show

that Respondent believed AIC was acting as an escrow agent holding his legal fees

separate from the rest of the fees paid by his inventor-clients. See ID at 83-84. In

responses to the OED Director's inquiries, Respondent stated that he did not know

"where AIC kept or deposited the legal fee portion of the service fee." CX 7, p.62.

It was proper for the ID to rely upon the cited ethics opinions for guidance in

evaluating the evidence in this case. In Emmons the court held that the payment of one

" In response to an OED Requirement for Information, Respondent stated:

I was not originally aware of any service fee paid by inventors such as Smith to
AIC. I assumed that monies were paid by inventors such as Smith to AIC and
that a portion of such money would be paid to me for compensation for legal
services and costs. I would only look to AIC for my legal services.

tqr r ing CX 7, p.70 ans. 2c.
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third of an attorney fee award to a bar association for referring a client to attorney did not

violate California State Bar Professional Rules of Conduct. In so holding the Court noted

the "social value" and "quasi-public objectives" of bar association referral programs and

held that they did not offend the underlying rationale that prohibits fee splitting. 86 Cal.

Rptr. at 370. In this case, it is difficult to discern any similar "social value" and/or

"quasi-public objectives" of the referral service at issue.

The large number of referrals accepted by Respondent during a two-year period.

supports the ID's finding that the arrangement "facilitat[ed] the lay intermediary's

tendency to select the most generous, not the most competent attorney." Id. at 372.

Respondent testified that his fees for the clients referred by the companies were "a lot

less" than his regular fee structure. Tr. I 184. See also RX 1 l g (Letter to inventor

Stevens in which Respondent states that legal fees for typical utility patent application

filed through his office are approximately $1,250.00 to $2,000.00). The OED Director's

expert, Mr. Bell testified that the fee structure in tliis case "bundled" attorney services

with non-attorney services such that inventor-clients did not know how much they were

paying for attorney services, and "'[iff they knew they were paying an absurdly low

amount, it might alert them that maybe the work is not of top quality.'" ID 84 quoting Tr.

1786. See also CX 6, pp. 8-10; CX 8, pp. 70-74 (examples ofRepresentation

Agreements which set forth service fee amount but do not give legal fee amount); CX 6,

pp. 15-17, CX 12, Pt. 2, p. 164 (Ryan); RX 17d (Rose); RX 3; RX 1 Ic, CX 8, pp. 78-89

(Stevens); CX 12, Pt. 3, p. 228 (Harrison); CX 25, pp. 31-32 (Miller); CX 4, pp. 3-4, 26-

27 (Guy); CX 7, p. 13 (Smith) (examples of "Instructions" from Respondent stating that

legal fees are being paid by companies but not giving legal fee amount). Indeed,
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confusion as to the bundling of services is demonstrated by the testimony of inventor

Miller that he paid the invention development company $5000.00 "[fjor a patent

application to be submitted for services of finding manufacturers in the related field of

my invention." Tr. 626.

With regard to the issue of whether Respondent's allegiance to his inventor-

clients was diverted to the companies from whom he obtained his legal fees, as found in

the ID, Respondent's "split allegiance" to his inventor-clients was demonstrated by his

original responses to the OED Director's interrogatories. In these responses, Respondent

identifies AIC, rather than the inventors, as his client. Also supporting this conclusion is

Respondent's handling of the Smiths' application, which he did not file with the Office

but instead returned to AIC after he did not receive his legal fees from AIC. ID 86, n.

235.

Partnership

DR 10.29 provides that a "practitioner shall not form a partnership with a

nonpractitioner if any of the activities of the partnership consist of the practice ofpatent .

. . law before the Office." The ID correctly found that:

Respondent was engaged in a permanent and on-going business
relationship with AIC in which AIC assigned inventors to Respondent in order for
Respondent to prepare patent applications according to the policies and
procedures of AIC. . . . . Respondent and AIC "shared clients" in that the
mventors did not independently select their invention marketers and their patent
attorney, but rather AIC selected Respondent for each of the inventors.
Respondent and AIC engaged in "fee-splitting," whereby the client would write

one check to AIC, from which AIC would then separate Respondent's legal fee
Further, Respondent's arrangements with AIC enabled AIC to hold itself out as
offering legal services.

Id. at 91-92, 97.
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Respondent argues that he did not share legal fees with AIC and that he had

"ongoing, consistent, and routine direct contact with his inventor clients." Respondent's

Reply Briefat 21. Respondent further argues that the fee arrangement in Arizona State

Bar Ethics Panel Opinion 93-01 is non-binding and inapplicable, and that the holding in

In re Komar, 532 N.E.2d 801 (Ill. 1988) is inapplicable because there is no evidence that

AIC contracted with inventors to provide legal services.

The OED Director argues that in this case the companies did much more than act

as a conduit for documents, and likewise, Respondent did more than accept referrals from

these companies. Specifically, the OED Director maintains that a "patent lawyer that

Permits a non-lawyer to solicit clients, negotiate the engagement contract, split fees, set

the rate of the lawyers' fees, facilitate client communications, and perform patent

prosecution functions before the USPTO is engaging in a partnership in violation of [DR)

10.49." OED Director's Reply Brief at 11..

For the reasons set forth previously, Respondent's assertions that he did not share

legal fees with AIC and that he had "ongoing, consistent, and routine direct contact with

his inventor clients" are rejected. Although 37 C.F.R. Part 10 does not define the term

"partnership," it was proper for the ALJ to look for guidance to interpretations of ABA

Model Rule 5.4(b), which is essentially identical to DR 10.49, and of sirnilar rules from

other jurisdictions. The various opinions relied upon by the ID addressed analogous and

pertinent situations where improper partnerships were found. ID at 96-97. For instance,

in Komar, an attorney accepted referrals and compensation from a corporation. The

corporation, inter alia, contracted with customers to retain counsel on their behalf so that

counsel could determine the legal status of foreclosure actions and negotiate on their
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behalf prior to a foreclosure sale. The Komar court found that this arrangement

constituted a partnership in violation of Illinois disciplinary rule essentially identical to

DR 10.49. Komar, 532 N.E. 2d at 810, cited at ID 95-96. As set forth at the outset of

this section, the ID correctly found that Respondent had an on-going and continuous

relationship with AIC starting in November 1993 and until August 1995. AIC solicited

inventors for Respondent; AIC negotiated engagement contracts, specifically the

"Representation Agreements" with inventors, that included legal representation clauses;

inventors were not given a choice of legal counsel; all fees were paid directly to AIC; the

amount of legal fees paid to Respondent were not disclosed to inventors; and Respondent

was not aware of how AIC determined its fees or determined or handled the portion

attributable to his services. Also relevant to the partnership issue is the fact that inventors

were confused about whether the attorneys worked for invention development

cornpanies. Tr. 381, 387, 403, 453. See also, CX 6, p. 14 and CX 12, Part 3, p. 23; CX

7, pp. 42-43; CX 8, pp. 78-79 (letters sent to inventors stating that companies will

immediately begin preparation of their patent applications).

Respondent argues, correctly, that his arrangement with the companies did not

result in the formation of a business entity that could be described as a partnership. The

ID addressed this argument and properly concluded that "partnership'.' under D.R. 10.49

was a broader concept than partnership under business law. This conclusion is adopted.

Potentially more troublesome is the overlap between "fee splitting" and

"partnership" as interpreted in the ID. The cases relied upon by the ID fmd either fee

splitting or partnership under similar sets of facts, but none of the cases addresses both

concepts or explains how they differ. Had Respondent been charged with both

APPX 153 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

39



independently there might, under the facts here, be a serious question of whether the fee

splitting charge was subsumed by the partnership charge. In this case, however,

partnership and fee splitting were both charged under Count 2 of the complaint, and the

ID's findings on both issues are adopted as alternative grounds to sustain that count.

There is no indication that the ID's recommended penalty was enhanced due to the

finding that Respondent both split fees and entered an improper partnership.

Count 7 - Nealect / Inadequate Preparation

The ID correctly found that Respondent violated DR 10.77(b) and/or 10.77(c) by

handling legal matters without adequate preparation and by neglecting legal matters.

Complaint p. 9. Specifically, the ALJ found that Respondent violated DR 10.77(c) by

neglecting legal matters in connection with his invento.r-clients Bruce Moles, Thomas

Draper, and Naomi Rose. DR 10.77(c) provides that "[al practitioner shall not . ..

[iijeglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner." As was held in In re Klein, 6

U.S.P.Q.2d 1528, 1583 (1988), a showing ofwillfulness is not necessary in order to

prove neglect.

The ID also holds that Respondent violated DR 10.77(b) by preparing

applications for all the inventors specified in the Complaint without adequately

explaining the difference between "design" and "utility" patent protection and without

ensuring that the inventors understood the oath required pursuant to 37 C.F.R. §§ 1.41(c),

1.63. ID 107. DR 10.77(b) provides that a "practitioner shall not . . . [h]andle a legal

matter without preparation adequate in the circumstances."

In addition to the factual findings set forth above, the ID includes the following

findings pertinent to Count 7. Legal documents authored by Respondent were forwarded
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by ISC, AIC and/or CN to inventors for review and signature. ID 9. In approximately

June 1995, Respondent provided AIC with a patent application and a Declaration

containing a power of attorney for forwarding to Naomi Rose for review and signature.

at 10. Respondent did not communicate directly with his inventor-clients, including

the Sniiths, Ryan, Miller, and Rose, prior to preparing their patent applications. & at 11.

AIC, and not Respondent, explained to Respondent's inventor-clients the difference

between "design" and "utility" patents. IdL at 13. AIC, and not Respondent, oversaw,

managed and controlled the creation of the drawings to be included in the design patent

applications of inventors, including that of inventor Naomi Rose. I_d. Prior to the filing

ofMs. Rose's design patent application, Ms. Rose notified AIC that the application

drawings did not disclose an essential part of the invention, to wit: a tape recorder. AIC

did not pass this information on to Respondent. & at I6. At no time before filing Ms.

Rose's design patent application did Respondent speak with Ms. Rose or explain the

difference between "design" and "utility" patent protection, and Respondent took no part

in the creation of the drawings which were provided by AIC. Respondent prepared and

filed a design patent application on behalf ofMs. Rose, which application did not include

a tape recorder, which Ms. Rose considered to be the essential feature of the invention.

In the patent application for Bruce Moles, Respondent failed to timely file a

necessary amendment. IA at 17.

. Nealect

Respondent argues that, while he "'candidly admitted' his errors in the Moles

application," ifMr. Moles had responded to or followed Respondent's instructions his

application could have been revived. Respondent's Initial Brief 23-24. With regard to

APPX 155 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

41



the Draper application, Respondent essentially argues that the abandonment of Mr.

Draper's first application resulted from clerical errors and confusion on the part of

Respondent, which was exacerbated by USPTO errors, and was an isolated incident that

does not arnount to neglect. IL at 24. As for the Rose application, Respondent argues

that the ID errs in holding that he committed neglect by preparing Ms. Rose's application

without ever speaking to her, arguing that the evidence shows that Respondent "did

communicate directly with Ms. Rose regarding her design patent application on at least

two (2) separate occasions prior to his filing of same." Id. at 26. Such communication

consisted of two (2) written communications from Respondent. One communication was

an unsigned letter from Respondent to Ms. Rose essentially informing her that the

preparation of her design patent application had been completed and forwarded to AIC,

that AIC would then in turn be forwarding the application to her with detailed

instructions on how to review and approve the application, and requesting that she

confirm the accuracy of the drawings. Id. citing RX17c. The second communication

consisted of "INSTRUCTIONS FROM YOUR PATENT ATTORNEY FOR

EXECUTING THE ENCLOSED DESIGN PATENT APPLICATION" and a signed

confirmation from Ms. Rose acknowledging that she had read and understood the

instructions. Id. at 26-27, citing RX 17e & f. In addition, Respondent argues the ID's

ruling on agency as well as expert testimony supports his contention that it was proper to

rely upon the instructions of Ms. Rose's agent to file a design patent without speaking

directly with Ms. Rose. Id. at 28.

Addressing the Moles application, the OED Director argues that Respondent

admitted that this application was abandoned due to his own negligence in failing to
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communicate with Mr. Moles and that such neglect is evidenced by Mr. Moles'

unsuccessful attempts to contact Respondent to learn the status of his application. OED

Director's Reply Brief 16. The OED Director also argues that Respondent finally

responded to Mr. Mole's inquiries only after Mr. Moles had filed a complaint with the

Florida State Bar. Id. Moreover, the fact that Respondent offered to provide Mr. Moles

a "continuation-in-part application" at no cost in order to revive the application does not

negate Respondent's neglect. M at 16-17. With regard to the Draper application, the

OED Director argues that even assuming the truthfulness of Respondent's version of the

facts, his actions still constituted neglect given that abandonment of the application was

imminent. Id. at 21.

The OED Director's reply brief argues allegations ofneglect with regard to

Respondent's inventor-clients Ryan, Miller, Stevens and Smith. Id. at 17-18. .The ID did

not address allegations of neglect with regard to these inventors pursuant to 10.77(c).

The OED Director did not appeal the ID's conclusions with respect to Count 8, and the

reply brief neither argues that the ID erred in failing to address these allegations nor

expressly asserts them as alternative grounds to support the ID's finding with respect to

this count. These allegations of neglect therefore will not be addressed here.

Respondent admits that the Moles application was unintentionally abandoned, ID

108, quoting RX 12d, p.2; RX 12e, p.1, and that his conduct did not comport with the

standard of care expected of a patent attorney. CX 9, 62-68, ans. 4e. The Draper

application was abandoned after a series of errors concerning dates of filing and the

signing ofdocument filed with the Office, see ID I7-21 (Finding ofFact 57-71, outlining

Draper application errors). Respondent admits that his conduct did not comport with
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standard ofcare expected of a patent attorney. Tr. 1749 (Respondent's testimony). Thus,

the record supports the ID's finding of neglect with regard to the Moles and Draper

applications based on Respondent's own admissions that he breached the standard of care

in the handling of such applications.

With regard to the Rose application, the record supports the ID's finding that

Respondent prepared a design patent application without consulting with his inventor-

client, in spite of the fact that the patentability opinion and "Disclosure" form "clearly

indicated that [Rose] sought 'utility' [patent] protection." ID 113. Respondent's two (2)

written communications did not constitute sufficient communication with Ms. Rose. Ms.

Rose testified that she did not understand the written communications forwarded to her

by AIC from the Respondent. Tr. 252-54, 267, 276, 280, 281-82, 286. The OED

Director's expert Dr. Rines testified, "[n]ot to explain to Ms. Rose what the claim [in the

patent application] really covers and why th[e] drawings depart from the disclosure that

[Ms. Rose] gave the attorney would be negligence in the least, . . . not in accordance of

the standard ofpractice required by the Patent Office." Id. at 784. Moreover, the OED

Director's expert Mr. Bell testified that a "design patent is wholly inappropriate" for the

Rose invention, ID I12 quoting Tr. 1797, "if you look back at her drawing . . . . It's clear

that the actual ornamental appearance is not the key of her invention." M quoting Tr.

1798. Similarly, Mr. Rines testified that he would "[n]ever" recommend a design patent

for Ms. Rose's invention and described the Rose design patent application as "[u]seless."

Tr. 867. Ms. Rose testified that until she met with her new attorney, she thought her

application was for a utility patent. Tr. 267.

" See also CX4, p.6 (Inventor Guy letter to attorney filing class action suit stating that
AWW y 6thpdiffilftfih between a utility and design patent).
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Inadequate Preparation¹8

Respondent argues that the evidence established that he "did undertake to ensure

that Ms. Rose, and all his inventor-clients, understood the difference between design and

utility patents," Respondent's Initial Brief 29, and that such evidence consisted of his

"constant communication with his inventor clients," id., and the expert testimony ofMr.

Fagan concerning the adequacy of Respondent's Instructions to his inventor clients. Id.

The OED Director, relying on expert testimon-y, contends that due to

Respondent's failure to communicate directly with his inventor-clients, he neglected his

duty to explain the oath and "claims of the patent application before the inventor signs

the declaration and verify that the inventor understands what they are signing" OED

Director's Reply Brief at 18-19.

The ID correctly concluded that Respondent's inventor-clients were not provided

with an adequate explanation of the different types of patents, and that as a result

Respondent's inventor-clients did not understand the nature of the patents for which they

were applying. ID 116-117. Specifically, Respondent's inventor-clients Mr. Miller and

Ms. Rose testified that they did not understand the difference between a design and utility

patent in spite of having reviewed the patentability opinion, Feasibility Report, and

Instructions for their patent attorney. S_ee Tr. 253-53, 263, 1364; 612; see also ID 116

quoting CX 2, p. 40 and 43. Respondent appears to argue that Ms. Rose should have

known the difference between a design and utility patent because she owns a prior patent.

Respondent's Initial Brief at 29, n. 14. Respondent, however, did not rely on any prior

'" The ID treats Respondent's preparation of a design patent application without further
consulting Ms. Rose as neglect and his failure to explain to her the difference between
design and utility patents as handling a legal matter with inadequate preparation. While

APPX 159 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

45



experience of Mr. Rose in deciding what information to give since he was not aware of

Ms. Rose's prior patent when he prepared her application. Tr. 1627 (Respondent's

testimony). Her holding of a patent is not a rebuttal of her testimony that she did not

understand the difference between a utility and a design patent. The "Instructions" which

Respondent contends he prepared and provided to his inventor-clients, give "extremely

bare definitions" of either "design" or "utility" patents depending on which type of patent

was being applied for. The "Instructions" did not compare and contrast the two types of

patents, and were not provided to the inventor-clients until after the applications were

completed and ready for signing, well after inventor had decided which type of patent to

pursue. ID 67, n. 171. Respondent's reliance upon the expert testimony of Mr. Fagan

that the "Instructions" found in RX3 and RX11c were !'comprehensive. . . .well-drafted"

appears to be somewhat misplaced, Tr. 977, as RXl 1c gives no explanation whatsoever

of a utility patent.

As for whether Respondent handled legal matters without ensuring that inventors

understood the oath pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 1.41(c), that subsection states "Any person

authorized by the applicant may [file] an application for patent to the Office on behalf of

the inventor or inventors, but an oath or declaration for applications (§ 1.63) can only be

made in accordance with § 1.64." Section § 1.63(b)(2) states, in relevant part, that "the

person making the oath or declaration has reviewed and understands the contents of the

application, including the claims." The ID found that Respondent failed to ensure that

inventors understood their claims as required by 37 C.F.R. § 1.63(b)(1) based on his

earlier finding that Respondent's "Instructions" document did not adequately explain the

this distinction appears somewhat nebulous, neither party has challenged the ID in this
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"claims" of the application", i.e., the difference between a utility and design patent. ID

119.

Respondent engaged in neglect and/or inadequate preparation when he prepared

the Rose application and forwarded it for signature when he should have known that it

did not reflect Ms. Rose's understanding of her invention. This failing is compounded by

the fact that Respondent sought Ms. Rose's oath that she understood the patent claims

when he should have recognized that she would not approve the application if she in fact

understood it. The ID's conclusions with respect to the oath are affirmed to this extent.

To the extent, however, that the ID can be read to say that Respondent failed to

adequately explain the oath itself, it is in error. The oath itself is not particularly

complex, nor is it fundamentally different from language in myriad other documents

citizens must execute in the course of everyday life. Respondent was not required to

independently explain.that the oath meant what it said and that Ms. Rose shotild not sign

it if it were not true.

In making this minor departure from the ID, this decision in no way accepts

Respondent's argument that Ms. Rose's execution of the oath excuses Respondent's

failure to explain the import of filing a design patent application. Ms. Rose relied upon

Respondent to ascertain and undertake the steps necessary to obtain legal protection for

her invention. Ms. Rose's act of signing a legally inadequate document cannot excuse

Respondent's actions in drafting the document and presenting it to her for signature.
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Count 9 - Improper Withdrawal

Count 9 alleged that Respondent violated DR 10.40(a) " by failing to take

reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to his client(s) prior to withdrawal from

employment or representation. Complaint p. 10. In addition to the factual findings set

forth above, the ID made the following findings pertinent to Count 9.

Inventors were at times assigned by AIC to one attorney and then reassigned to

another attorney where the.inventors were without the opportunity to withdraw and/or

choose their own representation. ID 14. In the cases of Respondent's inventor-clients

Beverly Stevens and Bruce and Debbie Smith, the inventors signed declarations and

powers of attorney appointing Respondent as their attorney and Respondent cornpleted

their patent applications. However, due to a fee dispute with AIC, Respondent removed

the signed declaration and returned his clients' completed and signed applications to AIC

without having filed them, and without informing his clients. As discussed below,

Respondent returned the documents with a letter that recommending that AIC assign a

new attorney. AIC then inserted new powers of attorney (unsigned by the inventors)

appointing Hugh Smith and filed the applications with the USPTO. The USPTO

thereafter sent all communications to Hugh Smith as the attorney of record in both cases.

Following AIC's demise, Respondent took steps to attempt the prosecution of these

" DR 10.40(a) provides, in relevant part:

A practitioner shall not withdraw from employment in a proceeding before
the Office without permission from the Office (see § § 1.36 and 2.19 of this
subchapter). In any event, a practitioner shall not withdraw from employment
until the practitioner has taken reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to
the rights of the client, including giving due notice to his or her client, allowing
time for employment of another practitioner, delivering to the client all papers and
property to which the client is entitled, and complying with applicable laws and
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applications. However, both applications were ultimately abandoned. IL at 14-15.

Subsequent to Respondent's withdrawal from representation of inventors Bruce and

Debbie Smith on or about April 10, 1995, Respondent became aware, by October 13,

1995, at the latest, that AIC has re-assigned the Smiths' patent application to attorney

Hugh E. Smith without seeking the permission of inventors Bruce and Debbie Smith. Id.

at 15.

Respondent argues that he did not violate DR 10.40(a) based upon his failure to

seek USPTO's permission before withdrawing as such permission is required only after

an application has been filed with the Office, and he returned the Stevens and Smith

applications before they had been filed. Respondent's Initial Brief at 31-31. In addition,

Respondent argues that the ID's finding was erroneous that any prejudice suffered by

Stevens and Smith was a foreseeable consequence of Respondent's improper withdrawal,

as Respondent could not have foreseen "AIC's unauthorized and fraudulent action" of

filing the applications after inserting new powers of attorney (unsigned by the inventors)

appointing Hugh Smith and the USPTO's recognition of the Hugh Smith power of

attorney. IA at 32. Last, Respondent argues that the ID was erroneous in holding that he

violated DR 10.40(a) by failing to allow time for his clients to seek other counsel and

return necessary file materials upon his withdrawal, as itespondent returned his inventor-

clients' files to their agent prior to the filing of the applications. Id. at 33. Because the

applications were returned before they had been filed with the Office no deadlines had

begun to accrue and this provided his inventor-clients' ample time to seek new counsel.

Thus, Respondent argues, the fact that he admitted that he should have notified Ms.
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Stevens and the Smiths that he had returned their files to AIC does not constitute a

violation of DR 10.40(a).

The OED Director contends that the evidence of record clearly and convincingly

shows that Respondent violated DR 10.40(a) based upon his withdrawal from the Stevens

and Smith applications without first requesting permission from the USPTO or informing

his inventor-clients. OED Director's Reply Brief 21.20 The OED Director also contends

that Respondent did not take steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to his clients. Id. at 23.

The record supports the ID's finding that Respondent violated DR 10.40(a). Even

if Respondent's contention is true that he would only be required to seek USPTO's

permission to withdraw after an application has been filed, DR 10.40(a) states that "[i]n

any event, a practitioner shall not withdraw from employment until the practitioner has

taken reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to the rights of the client, including

giving due notice to his or her client." Respondent testified that the attorney-client

relationship was established when he began preparation ofan application, Tr. 1450,

1508-09. He was aware that after he prepared these applications they were then

forwarded to his inventor-clients with a "Declaration and Power of Attorney" appointing

him as attorney of record, together with his "Instructions" for executing the respective

applications. Respondent returned the two applications to AIC with a letter stating "[i]n

the interest of the inventors, it is recommended that you engage a new patent attorney

promptly and proceed with the filings." CX 12, part I 1, p. 1358. Respondent admits that

he should have directly communicated his withdrawal to his clients in order to comport

²°The OED Director cites to Kansas v. Mayes, 185 U.S.P.Q. 624, 625 (1975), in which

the Kansas Supreme Court upheld the disbarment of an attorney for, inter alia, violating
disciplinary rules pertaining to ne lect of legal matters based on the attorney's refusal to

AIPfBXd1t64h@yeRtefrgial')derg letter because his fees were not paid.
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with the standard of care required of a patent practitioner, ID 133-34 quoting Tr. 1733-

34, and clear and convincing evidence demonstrates that he violated DR 10.40(a) by

failing to take reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to his client.

As the ID noted, Respondent's efforts to assist Ms. Stevens and the Smiths cannot

cure his earlier improper withdrawal, which occurred after AIC had gone out of business

following scrutiny by the television program "20/20" and after he had come under

investigation by the USPTO OED. ID 133.

Further, even under Respondent's asserted interpretation of the OG notices

regarding agency, any relationship between the inventors and AIC could not bring his

withdrawal into conformance with DR 10.40(a). His April 10, 1995, letter returning the

Stevens and Smith applications to AIC discusses a fee dispute dating at least to the "first

of the year." It also requests that AIC make advance payment for 92 application

antendments for AIC clients that would come due through June 16, 1995, asserting that

"if such funds are not timely received, I will have no recourse but to request such ..

payment from the inventors despite that fact that they may consider that they may have

paid for such services through you." CX 12, part 11, p. 1357. It should have been crystal

clear to Respondent at the time he retumed the Stevens and Smith applications that AIC

was not honoring any fiduciary duty it may have had to the inventors. Under such

circumstances, and regardless of any right Respondent argues he might otherwise have

had to rely on AIC as agent of the inventors, he could comply with DR 10.40(a) only

through direct communications with his clients.
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Count 10 - Adverse Reflection on Fitness to Practice

Count 10 alleges that Respondent violated DR 10.23(b)(6)23 by engaging in

conduct that adversely reflects on the Respondent's fitness to practice before the PTO.

Complaint p. 11.

The ID found that Respondent's conduct in aiding the unauthorized practice of

law before the PTO, sharing legal fees with a non-practitioner, forming a partnership with

a non-practitioner where activities of the partnership constitute the practice of law before

the PTO, neglecting legal matters entrusted to Respondent, handling legal matters

without adequate preparation, and withdrawing from employment without obtaining

permission from the PTO or taking reasonable steps to avoid foreseeable prejudice to his

clients, adversely reflects upon Respondent's fitness to practice before the PTO in

violation of DR 10.23(b)(6). ID 135. The ID also found sua sponte that Respondent

violated his duty of candor to the USPTO pursuant to DR 10.23(c)(2)(ii)22 based upon

Respondents untruthful and misleading answers to interrogatory questions posed by the

PTO. ID 136-137.23

21 DR 10.23(b)(6) states that "[a] practitioner shall not . . . [e]ngage in any other conduct
that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness to practice before the Office."

22DR 10.23(c)(2)(ii) provides:

Conduct which constitutes a violation of paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section
includes, but is not limited to . . . Knowingly giving false or misleading
mformation or knowingly participating in a material way in giving false or
misleading information, to . . . The Office or any employee of the Office.

23 In a number of answers to interrogatory questions, Respondent stated that he believed
the companies to be his clients. S_ee ID 32, n. 40. Subsequently, at the hearing the
Respondent testified as follows:

Okay, I honestly believed, I believe today and I believed from day one that the
APPX iG0n(ByvRespelosileek) I worked with his best interest first. He had an agent
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Respondent argues that the ID's finding that Respondent violated DR 10.23(b)(6)

is unsupported because it is premised upon allegedly unsupported and erroneous findings

concerning Counts 1, 2, 7, and 9. Respondent's Initial Brief 34. Respondent also argues

that the ID's sua sponte finding that Respondent violated DR 10.23(c)(2)(ii) should be

reversed pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.134(a) and (b), as Respondent was never given any

notice of this allegation.

The OED Director argues that the ID's findings of misconduct with regard to

Counts 1, 2, 7, and 9 adversely reflect on Respondent's fitness to practice before the

USPTO in violation of DR 10.23(b)(6). OED Director's Reply 24. Furthermore, the

OED Director argues that the ID's finding that Respondent violated DR 10.23(c)(2)(ii) is

supported by Respondent's untruthful answers to USPTO interrogatory questions. Id.

37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(1) provides that a practitioner shall not "[v]iolate a

Disciplinary Rule." Such a violation has been made out on this record, but it is not a

subject of this count. Section 10.23(b)(6) prohibits practitioners from "[e]ngaging in any

other conduct that reflects on the practitioner's fitness to practice before the office." It is

undoubtedly true that the violations of Disciplinary Rules found in the ID under at least

counts 1, 2 and 7 of the complaint (as well as the violation under count 6 as found in this

decision) adversely reflect on Respondent's fitness to practice. However, to be "other"

conduct within the scope Section 10.23(b)(6), conduct must not be prohibited by Section

10.23(b)(1)-(5). Conduct in violation of the Disciplinary Rules is prohibited by Section

through which we transmitted papers. Why I answered these questions these
ways at that time under advice of the attorney that I did, they're ill advised . . . I
was uncomfortable doing it then and I'm very uncomfortable now.
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10.23(b)(1) and therefore does not fall within the ambit of Section 10.23(b)(6). The ID

erred in holding otherwise.

While Respondent's apparent lack of candor to OED is a serious matter, it was

not a proper basis to find a violation under count 10 of the Complaint.

37 C.F.R. § 10.145 provides:

In case of a variance between the evidence and the allegations in a
complaint, answer, or reply, if any, the administrative law judge may order or
authorize amendment of the complaint, answer, or reply to conform to the
evidence. Any party who would otherwise be prejudiced by the amendment will
be given reasonable opportunity to meet the allegations in the complaint, answer
or reply, as amended, and the administrative law judge shall make findings on any
issue presented by the complaint, answer, or reply as amended.

Because Respondent has not been given reasonable opportunity to meet the new

allegation that he violated DR 10.23(c)(2)(ii), the Respondent correctly argues that the ID

erred in finding sua sponte such violation.

- Accordingly, the ID's conclusion with respect to count 10 of the Complairit is

reversed.

Penalty Factors

In his suspension order, the ID considered the following factors: the public

interest, the serious of Respondent's offenses, the need for deterrence, the integrity of the

legal profession, and any mitigating factors. ID 137-146. After weighing the factors, the

ID recommended that Respondent be suspended from practice before the USPTO for five

(5) years with the last two (2) years of the suspension stayed with Respondent to be

placed on probation, subject to the following conditions:

If within the period of probation Respondent should fail to comply with
any disciplinary rule applicable to patent attorneys and/or agents practicing before

the [USPTO], his probation may be revoked and the remaining period of
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suspension imposed after due notice and opportunity for a hearing. The sanctions
imposed for each count are to run concurrently.

ID 146.

The legal conclusions in this decision vary somewhat from those in the ID. This

decision reverses the ID's dismissal of count 6 of the Complaint and its sustainment of

count 10. Further, this decision relies on somewhat different legal reasoning than the ID

with respect to other counts, most notably count 2. The basic facts concerning

Respondent's conduct are, however, as found in the ID.

Respondent prosecuted over 1000 patent applications through arrangements with

invention promotion companies, arrangements that permitted the companies to exercise

legal judgment that should have been reserved to Respondent and, at a minimum,

provided a strong incentive for Respondent to transfer his loyalties from his clients to the

companies. These arrangements existed only because Respondent ignored applicable

disciplinary rules that would have prohibited them.

The sad fact is that Respondent's arrangements with the companies resulted in the

inventors' receiving woefully inadequate legal services. One example of this is the case

ofNaomi Rose, who sought a patent on a doll that could play educational cassette tapes,

and ended up with a design patent protecting the ornamental appearance of a doll and

containing no reference whatsoever to cassette tapes or any other means for generating

sound. While Naomi Rose's invention is perhaps the most glaring example of record, the

record is replete with examples of ill-served inventors, and there is no indication that

there was anything unique about Ms. Rose's case. Respondent's arrangements with

invention development companies put at risk the investment and legal protection of

hundreds of inventors.
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In view of the harm to inventors proven by the OED Director, and the large

number of cases in which Respondent's misconduct created at least the potential for

similar harm, Respondent's violations were extremely serious. As the ID notes, courts

have imposed more serious penalties for any one of the violations found here, and such

severe penalties would be warranted under any of the counts sustained on appeal. The ID

is not clear as to why, given the multiplicity of infractions found here, the mitigating

factors cited in the ID sho.uld lead to such a significant reduction of the sanction. In

particular, it is an open question what weight should be accorded a prior record of

extended legal service without finding of ethics violation when a practitioner adopts a

mode of operations that relies on systematic ethics violations to permit him to operate a

mass production business. However, the OED Director has not appealed the lesser

penalty recommended in the ID, and, subject to the clarification set forth below, that

penalty is hereby affirmed.

After oral argument on this appeal, Respondent moved to supplement the record

with evidence that he suffered a ruptured aneuyrsm on February 23, 2002, and remained

unconscious for 23 days thereafter. He also sought to introduce communications of

sympathy he received during his illness. The motion to supplement the record also

contained representations of counsel that Respondent had an unblemished record and that

he had ceased all affiliation with invention promotion companies.

The OED Director countered with evidence that patent applications had been filed

in Respondent's name while he was allegedly unconscious, that one of the inventors

whose complaint is the subject of this proceeding also filed a complaint with a state bar,

which was ultimately dismissed, and that three complaints have been filed against
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invention promotion companies in which Respondent is identified as having done legal

work.

In accordance with 37 C.F.R. § 10.158(b), appeals are to be decided on the record

before the ALJ. Section 10.158(c) provides that the Director may order a reopening of

disciplinary proceedings "in accordance with the principles which govern the granting of

new trials." Proceedings may be reopened based on newly discovered evidence only if

the evidence "could not have been discovered by due diligence."24 Neither party has

requested the proceedings here be reopened.

The penalty factors at 37 U.S.C. § 10.154(b)(1)-(4) concern the violation itself,

the public interest and the legal profession, not the circumstances of the individual

respondent. Section 10.154(b)(5), concerning extenuating circumstances, focuses on

circumstances existing at the time of the violation, not at the time an appeal is decided.

Respondent's misfortune has little relevance to the specified factors. .Further, it does not

logically obviate the need for the penalty selected by the ID, which already reflects .

substantial mitigation. Respondent may retum to practice at the end of his suspension

physically and morally rehabilitated, and enjoy years of further productive practice. If

Respondent's health should prevent him from return to practice at the end of his

suspension, this would be unfortunate, but would not negate the publ-ic interest in

ensuring that he not practice during the term of his suspension. Further, such a result,

given the seriousness of Respondent's misconduct and the degree of resulting harm to

inventors, would not amount to a disproportionate penalty. The situation here therefore

differs from that in Jaskiewicz v. Mossinghoff, 822 F.2d 1053 (Fed. Cir. 1987), on which

respondent relies, where the court held that a two-year suspension was unwarranted for a
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62-year-old practitioner whose isolated misconduct had not resulted in any actual harm to

a client. While, in an appropriate case, new evidence bearing on penalty might support a

remand to the ALJ, it is not appropriate to enter such an order here on the basis of the

evidence Respondent has proffered.

A brief discussion of the OED Director's proffered evidence is warranted. Even

if the OED Director had proffered evidence that Respondent had actually signed patent

applications during the time he asserts he was unconscious, the evidence would be

relevant only to rebut the evidence of Respondent's illness, and this evidence itself has

not been properly entered in the record. In fact, as the OED Director himself points out,

the signatures on the disputed patent applications do not appear to be Respondent's.

Forging signatures on patent applications, if-this is what occurred, is indeed a serious

matter. If a disciplinary violation by a practitioner appears to be involved, the OED

Director is free to investigate and seek sanctions. Any violations by Respondent or

anyone else would not, however, be relevant to this proceeding.25 Likewise, any lack of

candor by attorneys who appear before the Director in OED appeals is not to be tolerated,

but the evidence proffered would not by itself establish that Respondent's attorney made

a misstatement, much less a deliberate one.

The OED Director requests a clarification of the ID's sanction. According to the

OED Director, the ID did not properly set forth the terms of the probation or

reinstatement. The initial decision is not in fact clear as to the procedures under which

Respondent's probation can be revoked. The matter is hereby clarified as follows: If the

24 This standard clearly is not applicable here.
25 This should not be read to suggest that Mr. Colitz would be culpable for conduct that
occurred while he was unconscious, but the OED Director, if he wishes, might explore
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OED Director believes that the Respondent has violated a disciplinary rule during the

terrn of Respondent's probation, the OED Director may pursue discipline through the

normal process set forth in 37 C.F.R. Part 10. If Respondent is found to have violated a

disciplinary rule during the term of his probation and a decision to that effect becomes

final under 37 C.F.R. § 10.155 or 10.156, the Respondent will be required to serve a two-

year suspension in addition to whatever penalty may be imposed for the violation (if the

imposed penalty is a suspension, two years shall be added to its term). Although not

expressly addressed in the initial decision, 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.158 - 10.160 will by their

terms apply to Respondent's reinstatement.

ORDER

Upon consideration of the entire record, and pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.130(a), it is

ORDERED that Respondent's Motion to Strike is denied; and further

ORDERED that one month from the date this·order is entered, Michael J. Colitz,

Jr. of Largo, Florida, whose PTO Registration Number is 22,822, shall be suspended

from practice before the PTO for five years under the conditions set forth in 37 C.F.R. §

10.158, but 2 years shall be stayed; and further

ORDERED that this Final Decision in this proceeding be published.

RECONSIDERATION AND APPEAL RIGHTS

Any request for reconsideration of this decision must be filed within twenty (20)

days from the date of entry of this decision. 37 C.F.R. § 10.156(c). Any request for

reconsideration mailed to the PTO must be addressed to:

James A. Toupin
General Counsel

whether Mr. Colitz fulfilled any duty he may have had once he regained his faculties and
AMaXn@31% Reapngden)gnatures.
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Offie of the General Counsel
Crystal Park 2, Suite 905
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Washington, D.C. 20231

A copy of the request must also be served on the attorney for the Director of Enrollment

and Discipline:

Kristin Yohannan
Associate Solicitor
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Post Office Box 16116
Arlington, Virginia 22215

Any request hand-delivered to the USPTO must be hand-delivered to the Office of the

General Counsel, in which case the service copy for the attorney for the Director shall be

hand-delivered to the Office ofEnrollment and Discipline.

If a request for reconsideration is not filed, and Respondent desires further review,

Respondent is notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S.

District Court for the District ofColumbia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 and LCvR 83.7 of the

U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia within thirty (30) days of the date of

entry of this decision.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

JAMES A. TOUPIN26
General Counsel
United States Patent and Trademark Office

26 On January 31, 2002, the Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual Property and
Director of the United States Patent and Trademark Office delegated to the General
Counsel the authority under 37 C.F.R. § 10.156 to decide appeals from the initial

& r iggd ges, and to issue decisions in proceedings under 35
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cc:

Director
Office of Enrollment and Discipline
P.O. Box 2327
Arlington, VA 22202-2327

Michael J.Colitz, Jr.
217 Harbor View Lane
Largo, Florida 33770

David Ross Rosenfeld, Es .
118 South Royal Street, 2" Floor
Alexandria, VA 22314-3392

Kristin L. Yohannan, Esq.
Associate Solicitor
United States Patent and Trademark Office
Office of the Solicitor
P.O. Box I6116
Arlington, VA 22215
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APPENDIX
ID FINDINGS RELATED TO UNAUTHORIZED PRACTICE

The mode of operation followed by AIC was as follows: An inventor
would respond to an advertisement placed by AIC inviting inventors to
submit an idea for a free assessment. (CX 32 --King Declaration, ¶ 6(1)·
Tr., p. I52-Lougher). AIC would then send to the inventors materials
including a "Record and Disclosure of Invention" form ("Disclosure") to
be filled out and returned to AIC. [CX 2, pp. 1-3; CX 32 -- King

Declaration, ¶ 6(2)]. Upon receipt of the Disclosure, AIC would respond
with a letter telling the inventor, for example, "the initial assessment is
very encouraging and we feel it has potential," (CX 2, p. 4) and inviting
the mventor to respond by signing and returning the enclosed form entitled
" greement" along with, for example, $289 [CX 2, pp. 4-5; CX 32 --
King Declaration, ¶ 6(3)]. The "Agreement" states that AIC will cause a
patentability opinion and marketing/feasibility report to be prepared. (CX
2, p. 5; CX 6, p. 1). Upon receipt from the inventor of the $289 (for
example) and signed "Agreement," AIC would send the "Disclosure" to a
patent attorney in order for the attorney to conduct a patent search and
write a patentability opinion, which opinion the attorney would return to
AIC. [CX 2, pp. 20 21;_CX 12, Part 6, pp. 498-499; CX 32 -- King
Declaration, ¶ 6(4)]. The patentability opinion would state that either
design or utility patent might be available for the inventor's idea. (CX 2
pp. 20-21; CX I 1, pp. 7-10). AIC would then send the patentability
opinion, together with a "Feasibility Report" prepared by AIC, to the
inventor and schedule an in-person meeting with the inventor. [Tr., pp.
159-160, I64 -- Lougher; CX 32 -- King Declaration, ¶ 6(4)]. At the
meeting, an AIC representative would explain the Feasibility Report and
patentability opinion to the inventor. [Tr., pp. 159-160, 164 -- Lougher·
CX 32 -- King Declaration, ¶ 6(4)]. If the inventor chose to engage AÎC
to market the invention and cause a patent to be obtained, the inventor
would sign a "37 CFR 1.41(c) Authorization" and a "Representation
Agreement" to that effect and pay AIC, for example, $4,990. (CX 2, pp.
27-32; CX 8, p. 73; CX 6, p. 11; CX 6, p. 8). AIC would then forward the
"Disclosure" and patentability opinion to another patent attorney in order
for the attorney to prepare a patent application. [Answer, ¶37; CX 32 --
King Declaration, ¶¶ 6(6)-7]. The attorney would write the application
and return it to AIC, who would then forward the application to the
inventor for signature. [CX 6, pp. 16-17; RX 17d; CX 32 -- King
Declaration, ¶ 6(8)]. Included with the application would be a
"Declaration and Power ofAttorney" appointing the attomey who wrote
the application (CX 6, pp. 28-29) and a document entitled "Instructions
from Your Patent Attorney for Executing the Enclosed . . . Patent

Application." [CX 6, pp. 16-17; RX 17d; RX 3 ("design" instructions)·
RX I Ic ("utility" instructions")]. The inventor would then sign the
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application and power of attorney and return the documents to AIC. [CX
32 -- King Declaration, ¶ 6(9)]. Finally, AIC would forward the
application to the attorney who wrote it, along with the attorney's fee, and
that attorney would file the application with the PTO. (Tr., p. 172-
Lougher; Tr., pp. 1449-1450-Colitz; CX 7, p. 62-63, ans. 2c-2i).

ID, Finding of Fact 39.

Respondent knew, or was otherwise aware, that AIC and ISC were in the
business of providing individuals with assistance in marketing their
inventions. (Answer, ¶¶ 32 and 53). Respondent knew, or was otherwise
aware, that inventors paid AIC for its patent-related services. Id. (Tr., p.
1567-Colitz). Respondent knew, or was otherwise aware, that his
inventor-clients, including, inter alia, Kim Koza, William Carlisle, Bruce
and Debbie Smith, Timothy Harrrison, Patrick Ryan, Jane Guy, and
Beverly Stevens, paid AIC and/or ISC in advance for patent and legal
services which were subsequently rendered by Respondent. Id. (CX 7. p.
62; CX 12, Part 11, p. 1357). During 1994 and 1995, AIC and/or CN
assigned inventors to Respondent in order for Respondent to prepare
patent applications and provide legal advice to the inventors. Id. (CX 7,
p. 31; CX 7, p. 67; Tr., pp. 470-473-Stevens; Answer ¶ 35; Tr., pp. 1455-
56-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1289-90-Colitz; Tr., 1157-Colitz). ISC assigned to
Respondent inventors who were seeking patent related services. Id.
(Answer, ¶ 56). Respondent agreed to be paid by ISC for legal services
provided. Id. (CX 11, p. 21). AIC gathered patent-related information
from one or more inventors including Naomi Rose, Patrick H. Ryan,
Timothy E. Harrison, William Carlisle, Beverly Stevens, and Bruce and
Debbie Smith, and furnished the information to Respondent for preparing
legal documents, including patent applications, for one or more such
inventors. Id. at 6. (Answer ¶ 37; Tr., pp. I289-90-Colitz; Tr., p. 1157-
Colitz). Respondent relied upon and otherwise permitted AIC, ISC and
CN to gather information from each of the following inventors to be used
in preparing patent applications: Naomi Rose (AIC), Timothy E. Harrison
(AIC), Beverly Stevens (AIC), Patrick H. Ryan (AIC), Vincent Miller
(CN), Jane R. Guy (AIC), Bruce and Debbie Smith (AIC), William
Carlisle (AIC), Thomas Draper (CN), and Kim Koza (ISC). Id. (Answer,
¶ 63; Tr., pp. 1156-1157-Colitz; Tr., p. 1195-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1289-1290-
Colitz; Tr., p. 1408-Colitz). According to general protocol under
Respondent's arrangement with AIC, all communication with AIC-
referred inventors was to be had through AIC, with little or no direct
communication between Respondent and the inventors. Id. (Tr., pp.
1195-1197-Colitz; CX 7, p. 67). Between November, 1993 and August
25, 1995, Respondent accepted approximately 900 client referrals from
AIC and prosecuted those patent applications, including approximately
1,500 amendments, at the request ofAIC. (CX 7, p. 70, ans.'s 9g, 9h, and
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10b; Tr., p. 68-Moatz; Tr., p. 1158-Colitz; Tr. Pp. 1555-1556-Colitz; CX
13a). Respondent did not communicate directly with his inventor-clients,
including, inter alia, the Smiths, Ryan, and/or Rose, prior to preparing
their patent applications. Id. at 11 (Tr., pp. 245-246-Rose; Tr., p 262-
Rose; Tr., pp. 1362-1363-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1289-90-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1408-
1409-Colitz; Tr. p. 1157-Colitz; CX 7, p. 67; Tr., pp. 1632-1633-Colitz;
Tr., p. 1559-Colitz). AIC, and not Respondent, oversaw, managed and
controlled the creation of the drawings to be included in the design patent
applications of inventors, including, inter alia, inventor Naomi Rose. Id.
at 13 (Tr., p. 610-Miller; Tr., p. 1157-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1183-1184-Colitz;
Tr., p. 1289-90-Colitz; Tr., p. 1408-Colitz; Tr., p. 1568-Colitz; Tr., pp.
1569-1570-Colitz; Tr., p. 1581-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1582-1583-Colitz). AIC
represented to inventors, including Naomi Rose, that certain patent-related
work would be performed, and Respondent, according to general protocol
under his arrangement with AIC, provided legal services to AIC-referred
inventors, including Naomi Rose, prior to independently consulting with
such inventors. Id. at 16. (Tr., pp. 1289-90-Colitz; Tr., pp. 1408-1409-
Colitz; Tr., p. 1157-Colitz; CX 7, p. 67; Tr., pp. 1632-1633-Colitz; Tr., p.
1559-Colitz).

ID 36-39.
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
(Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant, Case No. SC04-1709
TFB No. 2003-11,136(6C)

v.

MICHAEL JOHN COLITZ, JR.,

Respondent.

REPORT OF REFEREE

I. Summary of Proceedings: Pursuant to the undersigned being duly
appointed as referee to conduct disciplinary proceedings herein according to the
Rules Regulating The Florida Bar, a Conditional Guilty Plea for Consent Judgment
was signed on December 17, 2004. Any pleadings, notices, motions, orders,
transcripts, and exhibits are forwarded to The Supreme Court of Florida with this
report and constitute the record in this case.

The following attorneys appeared as counsel for the parties:

For The Florida Bar: William Lance Thompson
Debra Joyce Davis

For The Respondent: Michael John Colitz, Jr.

II. Findings of Fact as to Each Item of Misconduct With Which the
Respondent Is Charged: After considering all the pleadings and evidence before
me, I adopt as my findings those facts set forth in the Consent Judgment which is
incorporated herein by reference.

III. Recommendations as to Whether or Not the Respondent should Be
Found Guilty: As to the Complaint, and based on the Consent Judgment, I
recommend that the respondent be found guilty of violating the following Rules
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Regulating The Florida Bar: Rule 4-1.1; Rule 4-1.3; Rule 4-1.8(f); Rule 4-1.16(d);
Rule 4-5.4(a) ; Rule 4-5.4(c); and Rule 4-5.5(b).

IV. Recommendation as to Disciplinary Measures to Be Applied:
Three (3) year suspension, nunc pro tunc to the suspension imposed by the Supreme
Court of Ohio by order dated June 6, 2003, without leave to petition for
reinstatement until June 6, 2006, or the date of reinstatement to the practice of law
by the U.S. Department of Commerce, U.S. Patent and Trademark Office,
whichever is later.

V. Personal History and Past Disciplinary Record: After the finding of
guilty and prior to recommending discipline to be recommended pursuant to Rule 3-
7.6(m)(1), I considered the following personal history and prior disciplinary record
of the respondent, to wit:

Year of Birth: 1940
Date Admitted to Bar: May 13, 1988
Prior Disciplinary convictions and Disciplinary

Measures Imposed Therein: None in Florida
The referee notes that the Respondent is not certified in any area of practice.
Aggravating Factors: None
Mitigating Factors: None

IV. Statement of Costs and Manner in Which Costs Should Be Taxed: I
find the following costs were reasonably incurred by The Florida Bar:

Administrative costs pursuant to
Rule 3-7.6(q)(1)(I).............................................................................$1,250.00

Court Reporter Expenses:
Clark Reporting Service 10/22/04 Stat. Conf...........................................75.00
Clark Reporting Service 12/16/04 Motion Hearing ................................. 75.00

Assistant Staff Counsel Expenses:
Status Conference 10/22/04........................................................................ 6.75
Mediation 11/30/04 .................................................................................. 15.20
Debra Davis attend Motion Hearing 12/16/04 ........................................... 9.24
William Thompson attend Motion Hearing 12/16/04 ................................ 9.24
TOTAL............................................................................................. $1,440.43
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It is apparent that other costs have or may be incurred. It is recommended that all
such costs and expenses, together with the foregoing itemized costs, be charged to
the respondent and that interest at the statutory rate shall accrue and be payable
beginning 30 days after the judgment in this case becomes final unless a waiver is
granted by the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar. O

Dated this day of , 2004.

Hon. Paul L. Huey, Referee Os

Copies:

Debra Joyce Davis, Assistant Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar, 5521 W.
Spruce St., Suite C-49, Tampa, Florida 33607

Michael John Colitz, Jr., 640 Douglas Avenue, Dunedin, Florida 34698-7001

John Anthony Boggs, Staff Counsel, The Florida Bar, 651 E. Jefferson
Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300
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Supreme Court of Florida
THURSDAY, JANUARY 20, 2005

CASE NO.: SC04-1709

Lower Tribunal No.: 2003-11,136(6C)

THE FLORIDA BAR vs. MICHAEL JOHN COLITZ, JR.

Complainant Respondent

The uncontested report of the referee is approved and respondent is suspended

from the practice of law for three (3) years, effective, nunc pro tune, June 6, 2003,

without leave to petition for reinstatement until June 6, 2006, or the date of

reinstatement to the practice of law by the U.S. Department of Commerce, U.S.

Patent and Trademark Office, whichever is later.

Judgment is entered for The Florida Bar, 651 East Jefferson Street,

Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300, for recovery of costs from Michael John Colitz, Jr.,

in the amount of $1,440.43, for which sum let execution issue.

Not final until time expires to file motion for rehearing, and if filed, determined.

The filing of a motion for rehearing shall not alter the effective date of this suspension.

A True Copy
Test:

Tbonlas D Hall
Clerk, Supreme Court

dy
Served:

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS
REBECCA ANN GRAHAM
ANDREW B. SASSO
WILLIAM LANCE THOMPSON
MICHAEL JOHN COLITZ, JR.
HON. PAUL L. HUEY, JUDGE
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

_____________________________/ 

ORDER DENYING RESPONDENT’S MOTION TO DISMISS THE 
FLORIDA BAR’S COMPLAINT FOR RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE AND 

ALTERNATIVELY, FOR JUDGMENT ON THE PLEADINGS 

THIS CAUSE having come before the Referee on Respondent’s Motion to 

Dismiss The Florida Bar’s Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline and Alternatively, 

for Judgment on the Pleadings, on Thursday, November 12, 2020 at 11:00 am, the 

parties having appeared by Zoom video conferencing, and the Court being fully 

advised in the premises,  it is therefore, ORDERED and ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. Respondent’s above referenced motion is hereby DENIED. 

2. Motions for Summary Judgment, if any, shall be filed by both parties 

on or before December 4, 2020. 

3. Responses by both parties to each other’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment shall be filed on or before December 11, 2020. 
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4. Hearing will be held on The Florida Bar’s and Respondent’s Motion 

for Summary Judgment on Friday, December 18, 2020 at 9:30 am via Zoom video 

conference. 

 Zoom invites will be provided by Referee. 

DONE and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida, this 

____ day of November, 2020. 

___________________________________ 
Honorable Jason Emilios Dimitris, Referee 

Copies provided to: 
Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
John H. Faro, Respondent, johnf75712@gmail.com  
John Derek Womack, Bar Counsel, jwomack@floridabar.org 
Arlene Kalish Sankel, Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, asankel@floridabar.org  
Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, psavitz@floridabar.org 
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  IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR,    Supreme Court Case No: 
       SC18-1279 

COMPLAINANT, 
 

v.       The Florida Bar File: 
       2019-70,032 (11J) 
JOHN H. FARO, 

 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 

RESPONDENT’S ANSWER & AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES TO 
FLORIDA BAR COMPLAINT FOR RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE 

 
The Respondent, JOHN H. FARO (hereinafter “FARO”), responds to The 

Florida Bar (hereinafter “TFB”), Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, in numbered 

paragraphs corresponding to TFB Complaint. 

I. ANSWER 

Paragraphs 1-5, Deny, as an inaccurate recitation of basis for discipline, 

specifically, all of the recited Patent Office Rules violations are based upon conduct 

occurring more than 10 years ago. 

II. AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 
General Allegations 

1. At all times material hereto, Respondent was an attorney admitted to 

practice, and in good standing, before the state and federal courts in Florida1.  

 
1   Respondent was first admitted to practice in Massachusetts in 1969; and, is currently in good 
standing in the Massachusetts and in the Federal Courts in the First Circuit. 
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Accordingly, Respondent's conduct and his practice in Florida, at the time of his 

representation of EPRT Technologies (“EPRT”), was governed by the Florida Bar 

Rules. 

2. The Patent Office Rules of Professional Conduct are subordinate to 

State & Federal Bar regulation of an attorney in Florida, with respect to the practice 

of law in Florida, Sperry v. State of Fla. ex rel. Florida Bar, 373 U.S. 379 (1963). 

3. At all times material hereto, Respondent was a registered patent 

practitioner, having been registered to practice before the United States Patent & 

Trademark Office in 1971 – Respondent having demonstrated the requisite scientific 

education training and experiences in the material sciences and engineering, to 

communicate and correspond with the Patent Office on technology related matters. 

The Patent Office has the statutory authority to enact regulations, pursuant to its 

plenary authority under 35 USC 2, to regulate the practice of “registered patent 

practitioner”, by adoptions of regulations pursuant to Administrative Procedures 

Act, 5 USC 553. The United States District Courts have “original” and “exclusive” 

jurisdiction arising under the Federal Patent Laws (including 35 USC 2), under 28 

USC 1338(a). The Patent Office, an administrative agency in the Department of 

Commerce (in the executive branch of government) is without authority to license 
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or discipline attorneys, other than in respect to practice before the Patent Office. The 

imposition of discipline by the Patent Office is not a judicial act which is to be 

accorded reciprocity; and, the Florida Supreme Court has never accorded the Patent 

Office recognition as a “jurisdiction”. 

4. At no time was the enrollment/qualification of Respondent as a 

“registered patent practitioner”, based upon his status as an attorney, or contingent 

upon his status as an attorney. Moreover, the Patent Office enrollment/qualification 

of “registered patent practitioner”, is inclusive of non-attorneys. At the time of the 

occurrence of the alleged acts and/or omissions, which are asserted to form the basis 

of the discipline (November 2005), Respondent had approximately 36 years of 

experience as a “registered patent practitioner”. 

5. In and about September 2002, the Respondent was solicited by EPRT, 

to review a certain EPRT pending patent application, because of EPRT’s 

dissatisfaction with its then current patent counsel, and in contemplation of its 

replacement of its then current patent counsel by Respondent. At the time of EPRT’s 

solicitation of Respondent in September 2002, EPRT was aware of Respondent’s 

prior background and experience, as the former corporate/divisional patent counsel 

for the Baxter Laboratories diagnostic products and instruments division in Miami. 
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6. In about October 2002, Respondent communicated with David Estes2, 

the Director of Engineering for EPRT, (co-inventor the EPRT pending patent 

application), who requested Respondent to review the EPRT pending patent 

application file, which Respondent agreed to do, without cost of expense to EPRT3. 

7. Thereafter, the administrative assistant to the EPRT management, 

Katherine Blake (“Blake”), provided to Respondent (a) a copy of the EPRT pending 

Patent Office file and (b) correspondence between the current patent counsel and the 

inventors of the ‘519 Patent Application, including specifically the David Estes 

review and comments of the Patent Office Final Rejection of the EPRT ‘519 Patent 

Application, copy of Estes Comments re: Patent Office Final Rejection, annexed 

hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

8. On November 19, 2002, Respondent completed his review, and 

forwarded his Review and Recommendation to EPRT, wherein he concluded that 

the EPRT legal objectives, (securing patent protection for the “key component” of 

 
2    David Estes was a co-inventor of the EPRT pending patent application, and accordingly 
Respondent’s primary source of information and counsel re the technical and commercial 
prospects of the EPRT inventions 
 
3   The EPRT Director of Regulatory (FDA) Affairs, Cleve Laird, PhD, had, and continues to have 
a  personal relationship with Respondent, and as an accommodation to Dr. Laird, Respondent 
agreed to undertake his review of the EPRT pending patent application, without attorney fees or 
costs to EPRT. 
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the EPRT product) was unattainable in the ‘519 Patent Application, Respondent 

Review & Recommendation annexed hereto as Exhibit “B”. 

9. Notwithstanding that the EPRT legal objectives, as communicated to 

Respondent by EPRT (David Estes) were likely unattainable, EPRT engaged 

Respondent, as its replacement patent counsel, to refile the ‘519 Patent Application 

in order to enable EPRT to assert that it had a PENDING patent application, and 

publicize such fact on its website, and in its solicitation of investors in its company.    

10. Thereafter, Respondent provided EPRT with an estimate of the fees and 

cost for refiling the application (continuing prosecution), and the steps required to 

affect such continuing prosecution.  These steps included amending the then pending 

rejected patent claims, and engaging an expert, Stephen Kaye, MD to provide an 

affidavit to refute the final rejections. Each of the steps required to continue the 

prosecution of the ‘519 Patent Application were performed by Respondent, to no 

avail.     

11. As of about April 19, 2005, The Patent Office persisted in the Final 

Rejection of the ‘519 Patent Application rejected of the ‘519 Patent Application, 

April 19, 2005 Final Rejection annexed hereto as Exhibit “C”. In lieu of response 
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thereto, Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal in July 1, 2005. Respondent timely 

briefed the appeal. 

12. On November 14, 2005, in lieu of filing an Answer Brief, the Patent 

Examiner Supervisor sought to resume examination of the EPRT Patent Application, 

and filed yet another (Third) Final Rejection, wherein he suggested some changes to 

the pending patent claims to obviate some of the rejections of the April 19, 2005 

Final Rejection, November 14, 2005, Final Rejection annexed hereto as Exhibit “D”. 

13. On November 29. 2005, Respondent advised EPRT, via email, of his 

receipt of the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection; explained the content thereof “in 

layman’s terms”, and recommend pursuit of the July 1, 2005 appeal, “because (in 

Respondent’s exercise of professional judgment, pursuant to 37 CFR 10.84(b)(1) & 

(2)) we are entitled to broader coverage”. November 29, 2005 email annexed hereto 

as Exhibit “E”.  At the end of Respondent’s November 29, 2005 email, he explicitly 

concluded with the phrase “Any questions, pls advise”.  

14. When EPRT did not question Respondent’s analysis and 

recommendation, Respondent thereupon filed a new Notice of Appeal, and prepared 

yet another appeal brief.  EPRT was provided with a copy of the EPRT Appeal Brief 

in December 2006. 
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15. On June 1, 2009, the Board of Patent Appeals & Interferences authored 

a Decision, which affirmed the November 14, 2005, Final Rejection. The Decision 

by the Board of Patent Appeals & Interferences was res judicata, as to November 

14, 2005, Final Rejection, specifically, that patent protection for the “key 

component” of the EPRT products was unattainable, as Respondent had predicted in 

his November 19, 2002, Review & Recommendation.      

16. As of June 2009, Respondent had not received the Decision by the 

Board of Patent Appeals & Interferences. Respondent therefore did not advise EPRT 

of such Decision and obviously was unable to respond or take any action, to the 

extent available, in response thereto. 

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

THE HEARING OFFICER LACKED JURISDITION BECAUSE 
HE WAS NOT APPOINTED BY THE USPTO DIRECTOR 
PURSUANT TO 35 USC 32 OR 5 USC 5504, IN VIOLATION OF 
37 CFR 11.39(a), THE ACCARDI DOCTRINE, AND DUE 
PROCESS 

 
17.  Respondent herein incorporates the Background Facts, as above stated 

in Paragraphs (1) to (16) inclusive, as if restated herein and further alleges: 

18. The PTO Rules of disciplinary procedure, including 37 C.F.R. § 11.39, 

were made effective in September 2008. 
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19.  37 CFR 11.39(a) identifies the requirements for the appointment of a 

hearing officer to conduct a USPTO disciplinary proceeding.  37 CFR 11.39(a) 

states, in mandatory language, that only hearing officers who have been specifically 

appointed, by a specific individual, in a specific way, pursuant to a specific law, have 

the power (jurisdiction) to conduct disciplinary proceedings, as follows:  

Appointment.  A hearing officer, appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 
U.S.C. 3105 or 35 U.S.C. 32, shall conduct disciplinary proceedings as 
provided by this Part.  
 
20.  A properly appointed hearing officer has the powers and 

responsibilities expressly enumerated in Title 37, Section 11.39(c), which include, 

inter alia, the power to:  

(1) Administer oaths and affirmations;  

(2) Make rulings upon motions and other requests;  

(3) Rule upon offers of proof, receive relevant evidence, and 

examine witnesses;  

(4) Authorize the taking of a deposition in lieu of personal 

appearance;  

(5) Determine the time and location of any hearing and regulate the 

course and conduct of the hearing;  
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(6) Hold settlement conferences;  

(7) Receive arguments on facts and law; and 

(8) Make initial decisions under 37 CFR 11.54.  

21.  An improperly appointed hearing officer has none of these powers.  

22.  The hearing officer in the USPTO disciplinary proceeding from which 

this action arises, ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney, was not “appointed by the USPTO 

Director” “under” either “5 U.S.C. 3105” or “35 U.S.C. 32.”  

23.  Upon information and belief, ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney is employed as 

an ALJ by the Department of Housing and Urban Development. He was appointed 

as an ALJ by the Secretary of HUD. ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney was not appointed as 

an ALJ (or “hearing officer”) by the USPTO Director. Accordingly, ALJ Jeremiah 

Mahoney’s involvement in the USPTO disciplinary proceeding was in violation of 

federal law, which requires hearing offices to be appointed by the USPTO Director.  

24.   37 CFR § 11.39 is specifically designed to protect the Respondent’s 

right not to be deprived of his license to practice law before the USPTO without due 

process of law, a constitutional right guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution. See U.S. Constitution, Fifth Amendment (“No person … 

shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law”).   
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25.   The United States Supreme Court has long recognized that due process  

applies to attorney disbarment proceedings because they are quasi criminal in nature. 

See In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. 544, 552 (1968) (reversing order disbarring attorney for 

violation of due process based on “absence of fair notice as to the reach of the 

grievance procedure”).  

26.   One of the cornerstones of administrative agency law is predictability 

in agency decision-making. See Vitarelli v. Seaton, 359 U.S. 535, 546 (1959) 

(administrative agency “must be rigorously held to the standards by which it 

professes its action to be judged.”) (citing SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 87-

88 (1943)); Teleprompter Cable Sys., Inc. v. FCC, 543 F.2d 1379, 1387 (D.C. Cir. 

1976) (“an agency must adhere to its own rules and regulations. Ad hoc departures 

from those rules [] cannot be sanctioned.”).  

27. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) is a mandatory regulation that provides Mr. 

Faro with the right to a hearing officer “appointed” by a specific individual—the 

USPTO Director. The USPTO is bound by its regulations. See United States ex rel. 

Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 268 (1954) (reversing agency decision for 

failure to follow own regulations). 
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28.  5 U.S.C. §3105 states “Each agency shall appoint as many 

administrative law judges as are necessary for proceedings required to be conducted 

in accordance with sections 556 and 557 of this title.” That provision is not relevant 

here because Chief ALJ Mahoney was appointed by the HUD Administrator, not the 

USPTO Director. 

29. 35 U.S.C. §32 states the “Director [of the USPTO] shall have the 

discretion to designate any attorney who is an officer or employee of the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office to conduct the hearing required by this section.” 

That provision is inapplicable here because the Chief ALJ Mahoney is not “an officer 

or employee of” the USPTO. 

30. Federal agencies that fail to follow their promulgated regulations, and 

agency actions based on violations of those regulations, are invalid without needing 

to show prejudice.  Leslie v. Attorney General of the United States, 611 F.3d 171, 

173, 175-177 (3rd Cir. 2010) (holding that petitioner not required to show prejudice 

because an Immigration Judge violated agency regulations) (citing United States ex 

rel. Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260 (1954) (without requiring a showing of 

prejudice, the Court vacated a removal order because Board of Immigration Appeals 

summarily removed petitioner without exercising its discretion based on a list of 
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“unsavory characters” circulated by the Attorney General); see also Services v. 

Dulles, 354 U.S. 363 (1957) (Foreign Service Officer’s national security discharge 

invalidated without showing of prejudice); Vitarelli v. Seaton, 359 U.S. 535 (1959) 

(petitioner reinstated without requiring a showing of prejudice because the 

Department of the Interior failed to follow its employee-discharge procedures for 

terminating an employee on loyalty grounds even though the Secretary could have 

dismissed the employee summarily on non-loyalty grounds); Yellin v. United States, 

374 U.S. 109 (1963) (without discussing prejudice, and none apparent on the record, 

held that a witness could raise a House Committee’s failure to comply with its own 

rule as an affirmative defense to a charge of criminal contempt). 

31. The USPTO’s violation of its own rules, in violation of the Accardi 

Doctrine, also violated Mr. Faro’s right to Due Process under the Fifth Amendment. 

See Wilkinson v. Legal Services Corp., 27 F.Supp.2d 32, 48 (D.D.C. 1998) (“The 

requirement that agencies are bound by their own rules reflects the broader principle, 

found in the Due Process Clause, that government officials are bound by the rule of 

law. The constitutional rule-of-law provision reflects a founding principle of this 

Republic, one that is implicated every time the Government is sued for violating the 

law.”)   
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32.   Furthermore, agency actions involving violations of regulations 

intended primarily to confer important procedural benefits upon individuals are 

invalid without the need for showing prejudice. Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 235 

(1974) (“[w]here the rights of individuals are affected, it is incumbent upon agencies 

to follow their own procedures. This is so even where the internal procedures are 

possibly more rigorous than otherwise would be required.”) 

33.   Even if prejudice is required to be demonstrated, Respondent has been 

prejudiced because he is entitled to have his case heard by a hearing officer who was 

appointed in accordance with the plain and unambiguous mandate of 37 C.F.R. § 

11.39(a).  No exception applies to the mandatory appointment requirement in 

Section 11.39(a).  

34.  Because ALJ Mahoney was not appointed as required by 37 C.F.R. § 

11.39(a), he lacked the power (jurisdiction) to conduct Respondent’s underlying 

disciplinary proceeding.  Consequently, the hearing officer’s Initial Decision, as 

well as all of his rulings, orders, and decisions leading up to his Initial Decision, are 

ultra vires and legal nullities.    

35.  Title 37, Section 11.39(a) mandates a specific process to be held before 

an individual who was appointed “by the USPTO Director.” The entire process and 
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procedure mandated by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) was ignored and disregarded. See Ft. 

Stewart Sch. v. Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 495 U.S. 641, 654 (1990) (“It is a 

familiar rule of administrative law that an agency must abide by its own 

regulations.”) (citations omitted); Reuters, Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 (D.C. 

Cir. 1986) (“Simply stated, rules are rules, and fidelity to the rules which have been 

properly promulgated, consistent with applicable statutory requirements, is required 

of those to whom Congress has entrusted the regulatory missions of modern life.”).  

36.  The defective appointment of a judicial officer goes to the very power 

of a tribunal. See Bendiburg v. Dempsey, 692 F. Supp. 1354, 1358 (N.D. Ga. 1988) 

(citing cases in which “the judicial acts taken by . . . improperly appointed judges . . 

. were ruled nullities for want of jurisdiction”). This is a logical extension of those 

cases that uniformly hold that the decisions and rulings of tribunals lacking power 

are nullities. See, e.g., Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 101-03 

(1998) (“For a court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitutionality of a 

state or federal law when it has no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a 

court to act ultra vires.”).  

37.  Because the ALJ lacked jurisdiction, the underlying USPTO 

disciplinary proceeding is void. Gojack v. United States, 384 U.S. 702, 707 n.6 
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(1966) (“It is a rule of law very well settled, that if there is no jurisdiction over the 

subject-matter, the proceeding is void.”); Stutsman Cnty. v. Wallace, 142 U.S. 293, 

305 (1892) (“[w]hen a court or other officer acts without jurisdiction of the subject 

matter, all is void and such acts are regarded in law as nullities[.]”).  

38.  The Supreme Court’s decision in Accardi is not limited to civil 

proceedings. Yellin v. United States, 374 U.S. 109 (1963). In Yellin, the Court held 

that the House Committee on Un–American Activities had violated its procedural 

rules in its treatment of a witness's request to appear in executive session rather than 

in a public hearing. Yellin recognized a defense to prosecution for contempt of 

Congress based on a congressional violation of self-imposed rules. Id. at 123–24 

(“[i]t is not too exacting to require that the Committee be [as] meticulous in obeying 

its own rules” as it was in “prepar[ing] the groundwork for prosecution in Yellin’s 

case . . . .”); cf. Christoffel v. United States, 338 U.S. 84, 89–90 (1949) (overturning 

perjury conviction for failure of proof as to one element—a competent tribunal—

due to absence of evidence that a quorum of congressional committee members was 

present, as required by committee rules, at time of testimony). Strict compliance with 

regulatory requirements is required. See Vitarelli, 359 U.S. at 540, 546-47 

(“scrupulous observance of departmental procedural safeguards is clearly of 
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particular importance”). The OED Director’s interference with regulations that seek 

to safeguard a patent practitioner’s rights implicates the Accardi doctrine and its 

requirement that agencies abide by their own procedures. See Morton v. Ruiz, 415 

U.S. 199, 235 (1974) (holding that “[w]here the rights of individuals are affected, it 

is incumbent upon agencies to follow their own procedures. This is so even where 

the internal procedures are possibly more rigorous than otherwise would be 

required.”).  

39. When a tribunal is not competent, dismissal of an action before that 

tribunal is required. See Christoffel v. United States, 338 U.S. 84, 89–90 (1949). In 

Christoffel, for example, an individual appeared before a standing committee of the 

House of Representatives. Id. at 85. As a result of that testimony, he was indicted 

for perjury, and after trial by jury, he was convicted by the district court and his 

conviction was affirmed by the D.C. Circuit. See id. The Supreme Court reversed 

the conviction. The Court explained that the committee before which the petitioner 

had testified was not a “competent tribunal” because a quorum of the committee was 

not present at the time of the allegedly perjurious testimony. Id. at 86. In language 

that is particularly appropriate to the instant proceeding, the Supreme Court 

concluded: “A tribunal that is not competent is no tribunal, and it is unthinkable that 
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such a body can be the instrument of criminal conviction.” Id. at 90. As noted above, 

an attorney disciplinary proceeding is quasi-criminal.  

40.  The ALJ was not competent because he was not “appointed” “by the 

USPTO Director” “under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32” as required by federal 

law.  It is likewise unthinkable that such a body can be the instrument of an action 

against Mr. Faro.  See 338 U.S. at 90.   

41. Any actions or orders issued in a proceeding lacking subject matter 

jurisdiction are void and a legal nullity. See, e.g., Temp. Empl.. Servs. v. Trinity 

Marine Group, Inc., 261 F.3d 456, 463-466 (5th Cir. 2001) (vacating ALJ decision 

based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction); Tiger Natural Gas, Inc. v. United 

States, 61 Fed. Cl. 287, 290 n.4 (2004) (“[A]n appeal to an agency board of contract 

appeals is considered an ‘absolute nullity’ when such board lacks jurisdiction over 

the matter.”)    

42.  Because the Initial Decision was entered by an improperly appointed 

hearing officer, the Initial Decision is a legal nullity and void.  The USPTO 

Director’s putative “affirmance” of the void “Initial Decision” does not cure the 

underlying deficiencies.   
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43.  For the foregoing reasons, reciprocal discipline predicated on the 

invalid decision of the USPTO is unwarranted.  

Relief Requested: For all of the reasons set forth hereinabove in this FIRST 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, the Florida Bar Formal Complaint for Reciprocal 

Discipline should be dismissed, with prejudice, as a matter of law. 

 
SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR LACKS SUBJECT MATTER 
JURISDICTION TO PURSUE RECIPROCAL DISCIPLINE 
AGAINST RESPONDENT BASED UPON THE FINAL ORDERS 
OF THE PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 

 
44. The Florida Bar lacks subject matter jurisdiction to prosecute the 

Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline against Respondent, based upon the 

Patent Office Final Orders annexed thereto as Composite Exhibit “A”, because the 

discipline imposed by such Final Orders, was not 

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized 
disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal… The Florida Bar 
v, Tepps, 601 So.2d 1174 (Fla 1992). 
 

Notwithstanding that an administrative agency, such as the Patent Office, has  

,,, authority (that) certainly is similar to that of a court or agency authorized 
to discipline lawyers, the primary purpose for its exercise is not to ensure the 
qualification, supervision or regulation of lawyers. Id @ 1175.  
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45. Insofar as neither of the United States Patent & Trademark Office Final 

Orders of August 12, 2017 & February 2, 2018, (which imposed discipline against 

FARO), were issued by a court in a state and/or federal jurisdiction, such Orders 

cannot be accorded reciprocal enforcement of discipline against FARO, as a Florida 

attorney, under TFB Rule 3–4.6.    

46. Insofar as TFB Rule 3–4.6 is clear and unambiguous, and clearly 

implicates the imposition of professional discipline, it is not subject to an expansive 

interpretation by the Court as inclusive of discipline by an administrative agency, 

but rather must be strictly construed Turbeville v. Department of Financial Services, 

248 So.3d 194, 196-197 (1st DCA 2018). 

Statutes providing for revocation or suspension of a license to practice are 
deemed penal in nature and must be strictly construed, with any ambiguity 
interpreted in favor of the licensee.  
 
Accordingly, The Florida Supreme Court decision in Tepps, and the judicial 

constraint upon an expansive interpretation of disciplinary regulations, (which 

implicate revocation or suspension of a license), compels the dismissal of TFB 

Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline.    

Insofar as the alleged acts and omissions asserted by the Patent Office in the 

Final Orders of August 12, 2017 & February 2, 2018, of United States Patent & 
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Trademark Office, are not alleged to have occurred any more recently than 2011 

(more than nine years ago), TFB statute of limitation bars the commencement of a 

disciplinary proceeding at this late date. The Florida Bar statute of limitations for re-

opening the prior TFB investigation, and the imposition of original discipline, based 

upon TFB prior investigation of these same allegations of professional misconduct, 

has also long since expired, TFB Rule 3-7.16(a)(2).  

Relief Requested: For all of the reasons set forth hereinabove in this SECOND 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, the Florida Bar Formal Complaint for Reciprocal 

Discipline should be dismissed, with prejudice, as a matter of law. 

 
THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

 
RESPONDENT WAS DENIED AN OPPORTUNITY TO BE 
HEARD AND PRESENT EVIDENCE AT HIS DISCIPLINARY 
HEARING TO JUSTIFY OR EXONERATE THE ALLEGED 
ACTIONS OF RESPONDENT OR MITIGATE THE 
SERIOUSNESS OF ANY VIOLATIONS 

 
47. Respondent herein incorporates the Background Facts, as above stated 

in Paragraphs (1) to (16) inclusive, as if restated herein and further alleges. 

48. On October 23, 2013, Respondent’s former client, EPRT 

Technologies, Inc (“EPRT”) sued him for legal malpractice in the Federal District 

Court for the Southern District of Florida, Thrisoint Pty , Ltd. & EPRT 
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Technologies, Inc. v. John H. Faro Et Al, Case No. 13-CV-23893- 

HUCK/SULLIVAN (DC SD Fla)4. 

49. On May 12, 2014, EPRT filed a grievance with the Office of 

Enrollment & Discipline of the United States Patent & Trademark Office 

(hereinafter “OED”), based upon the Respondent’s representation of EPRT before 

the United States Patent & Trademark Office, EPRT OED Grievance annexed hereto 

as Exhibit “F”.  The allegations of professional misconduct were based upon the 

same nucleus of operative facts as the Third Amended Complaint, in the malpractice 

litigation. 

50. At all times material hereto, the OED administrative process for review 

of the EPRT grievance was governed by the OED’s own regulation 37 CFR 11.225, 

reproduced below:   

§ 11.22 Disciplinary investigations. 
 

 
4    The Third Amended Complaint, (ECF56 @ paragraph (57)), specifically asserted that the 
Respondent’s was guilty of professional misconduct, based upon his having violated TFB Rules 
4-1.3 (lack of diligence), TFB 4-1.4 (lack of communication) and TFB 4-8.4 (conduct prejudicial 
to the administration of justice). 
 
5   The Patent Office regulations, including OED regulation 37 CFR 11.22, was adopted pursuant 
to Administrative Procedures Act, 5 USC 553; and “the all relevant questions of law, interpret 
constitutional and statutory provisions, and determine the meaning or applicability of the terms of 
an agency action, are reviewable under 5 USC 706. 
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(a) The OED Director is authorized to investigate possible grounds for 
discipline. An investigation may be initiated when the OED Director 
receives a grievance, information or evidence from any source suggesting 
possible grounds for discipline. Neither unwillingness nor neglect by a 
grievant to prosecute a charge, nor settlement, compromise, or restitution 
with the grievant, shall in itself justify abatement of an investigation.  
 
(b) Any person possessing information or evidence concerning possible 
grounds for discipline of a practitioner may report the information or 
evidence to the OED Director. The OED Director may request that the 
report be presented in the form of an affidavit or declaration.  
 
(c) [Reserved]  
 
(d) Preliminary screening of information or evidence. The OED Director 
shall examine all information or evidence concerning possible grounds for 
discipline of a practitioner.  
 
(e) Notification of investigation. The OED Director shall notify the 
practitioner in writing of the initiation of an investigation into whether a 
practitioner has engaged in conduct constituting possible grounds for 
discipline.  
 
(f) Request for information and evidence by OED Director.  

 
(1) In the course of the investigation, the OED Director may request 

information and evidence regarding possible grounds for discipline 
of a practitioner from:  
 

(i) The grievant,  
(ii) The practitioner, or  
(iii) Any person who may reasonably be expected to provide 
information and evidence needed in connection with the 
grievance or investigation.  
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(2) The OED Director may request information and evidence regarding 
possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner from a non-grieving 
client either after obtaining the consent of the practitioner or upon a 
finding by a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, 
appointed in accordance with § 11.23(d), that good cause exists to 
believe that the possible ground for discipline alleged has occurred with 
respect to non-grieving clients. Neither a request for, nor disclosure of, 
such information shall constitute a violation of any USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct.  

 
(g) When the OED Director makes a request under paragraph (f)(2) of this 
section to a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, such Contact 
Member shall not, with respect to the practitioner connected to the OED 
Director's request, participate in the Committee on Discipline panel that 
renders a probable cause determination under paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section concerning such practitioner, and that forwards the probable cause 
finding and recommendation to the OED Director under paragraph (b)(2) 
of this section.  
 
(h) Disposition of investigation. Upon the conclusion of an investigation, 
the OED Director may:  

 
(1) Close the investigation without issuing a warning, or taking 
disciplinary action;  
(2) Issue a warning to the practitioner;  
(3) Institute formal charges upon the approval of the Committee on 
Discipline; or  
(4) Enter into a settlement agreement with the practitioner and submit 
the same for approval of the USPTO Director.  

 
(i) Closing investigation. The OED Director shall terminate an 
investigation and decline to refer a matter to the Committee on Discipline 
if the OED Director determines that:  

 
(1) The information or evidence is unfounded;  
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(2) The information or evidence relates to matters not within the 
jurisdiction of the Office;  
(3) As a matter of law, the conduct about which information or evidence 
has been obtained does not constitute grounds for discipline, even if the 
conduct may involve a legal dispute; or  
(4) The available evidence is insufficient to conclude that there is 
probable cause to believe that grounds exist for discipline.  
 

51. 37 CFR 11.22, defines a sequence of distinct steps, performed in a 

logical order, which the OED Director is required to follow, to investigate a 

grievance, and if warranted, provide his investigation to a Committee on Discipline 

for a determination of probable cause. The OED Director’s function under 37 CFR 

11.22, in this preliminary phase of this process, is limited to that of an “investigator”. 

The specific subparagraphs of 37 CFR 11.22, which are pertain to his investigation 

are as follows: 

a. Pursuant to 37 CFR 11.22(c), the OED Director formally notifies the 

Respondent of the investigation of the EPRT grievance, 

b. Pursuant to 37 CFR 11.22(f)(1), the OED Director makes a formal 

Request for Information and Evidence from Respondent relative to the 

EPRT grievance, and 

c. Pursuant to 37 CFR 11.22(g), upon conclusion of the OED Director 

review of all information and evidence, the OED Director refers the 
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results of his investigation to an independent Committee on Discipline 

for review and determination of probable cause. 

 
52. The OED has interpreted the scope of the investigation, under 37 CFR 

11.22(d), as inclusive of “information and evidence”, 

…information which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of the 
registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may 
have occurred” OED Request for Information OED Request for Information 
(“RFI”) to FARO, OED RFI annexed hereto as Exhibit “G”. 

  
53. On July 11, 2014, the OED served FARO with a Request for 

Information (“RFI”), pursuant to 37 CFR 11.22(f), reproduced in pertinent part, 

below: 

You should understand that the OED must develop all information which 
may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of the registered practitioner or 
mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have occurred” OED 
Request for Information OED Request for Information (“RFI”) to FARO, OED 
RFI annexed hereto as Exhibit “G”. 
 

54. On September 11, 2014, FARO responded to July 14. 2014, OED RFI 

as follows: 

The same issues raised by EPRT with OED complaint against me 
are the subject of litigation now pending in the Federal District for 
the Southern District of Florida, Thrisoint Pty , Ltd. & EPRT 
Technologies, Inc. v. John H. Faro Et Al, Case No. 13-CV-23893- 
HUCK/SULLIVAN (DC SD Fla). 
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1. Enclosed is the most recent EPRT Amended Complaint 
(malpractice) and my Motion to Dismiss. I  would request that the 
OED review of this matter be abated and permit the judicial review 
to be concluded first, insofar as the same issues and same parties (in 
the EPRT Complaint to the OED) are now before the Federal 
Court. 

 
2. It is clear from the prosecution history, that the EPRT 

patent application, which is the subject of the EPRT complaint, 
was thoroughly prosecuted and finally determined to lack 
patentable subject matter. It is also apparent that the continued 
pursuit of this EPRT application in the Patent Office was not 
permitted without first obtaining the approval of the 
Commissioner of Patents, 37 CFR 1.192, Respondent’s Response 
to RFI dated September 14, 2014 annexed hereto as Exhibit “H”. 

 
55. Thus, on September 11, 2014, the OED was aware of the overlapping 

issues in malpractice litigation and in the EPRT OED grievance. 

56. As is evident from the review of the text of 37 CFR 11.22, there is 

nothing in this provision, or any other provision of the OED Rules, that excuses the 

OED Director from compliance with his mandatory duties under 37 CFR 11/22(d), 

or defines or limits the duration of the OED investigation.    

57. Quite the contrary, the OED Director has the option to toll an 

investigation at any time, and resume it at a later date where, (as was appropriate in 

Respondent’s disciplinary proceeding), when additional evidence relative the OED 

Grievant (EPRT) complaint was forthcoming, as was likely in this case, from the 
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OED Grievant (EPRT) prior filed malpractice case as it proceeded to trial. In fact, 

of the 40 Exhibits on the OED Exhibit List, 24 of the 40 Exhibits consisted of 

pleadings from the malpractice case. OED Exhibit List attached hereto as Exhibit I. 

OED Trial Exhibit 26 (Blake deposition in malpractice litigation) and OED Trial 

Exhibit 28 (Respondent’s deposition in malpractice litigation), were both, without 

objection, introduced in evidence upon conclusion, of the Trial of OED Complaint 

against Respondent. 

Illegal Probable Cause Determination 

58. Notwithstanding the obvious overlap between the prior filed EPRT 

malpractice litigation and the ERRT grievance filed with OED, the OED Director chose to 

ignore the Respondent’s September 11, 20146 request to abate its investigation, and illegally 

(prematurely) concluded his investigation in May 2015, in violation of 37 CFR 11.22(h).    

59. The OED Director solicitation of a probable cause determination, and 

thereafter the prosecution of Respondent for violations of the OED Rules of 

 
6   There was nothing in 37 CFR 11.22, requiring the OED Director “concluding” the investigation 
within one (1) year.   More specifically, where the OED Director investigation of Respondent 
could not have concluded in one (1) year, the OED Director could have tolled the investigation, 
under 37 CFR 11.34(e), to permit him to comply with his mandatory duties under 37 CFR 11.22(d), 
and thereby  review “all information and evidence” relevant to the grievance (regardless of the 
source) 
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Professional Conduct, prior to review of all information and evidence, was also in 

violation of the OED Director mandatory duties under 37 CFR 11.22(d), violate 5 

USC 706(2)(A) and Respondent’s rights under the 4th & 5th Amendments to the U.S. 

Constitution. 

60. Accordingly, the prosecution of Respondent, without a valid probable 

cause finding, renders the Final Orders contrary to law and consequently the Final 

Order sought to be enforced in this proceeding, are in violation under 5 USC 

706(2)(A). 

Denial of Opportunity To Be Heard On Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses 

61. Notwithstanding the obvious overlap between the prior filed EPRT 

malpractice litigation and the ERRT grievance filed with OED, the OED Director opposed 

the Respondent’s pleading of affirmative defenses, based upon factual evidentiary 

determinations in the prior filed EPRT malpractice litigation against Respondent.   

62. On July 20, 2015, the Federal District Court, in the parallel malpractice 

proceeding, held a hearing on the Respondent’s Motion in Limine (which sought to 

strike the EPRT damage Expert Report), Daubert Hearing Transcript annexed hereto 

as Exhibit “J” . The District Court conducted the examination of the EPRT expert, 

which included reference to pertinent portions of the EPRT corporate representative 
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(Blake) deposition.  The pertinent portions of the District Court’s findings and 

observation (as reflected in the hearing transcript of the Daubert hearing on July 20, 2015, 

Exhibit “K”), are as follows: 

(a) EPRT lacked standing to bring a malpractice claim against FARO because it 

was not a client of FARO at the time of the alleged malpractice; Exhibit “K”, 

Daubert Hearing Tx @ page 9, line 1-5. 

(b) There was no evidence of any losses or adverse commercial impact upon 

EPRT from EPRT’s failure to obtain an issued a patent for its medical device, 

based upon ‘519 Patent Application, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Hearing Tx @ page 

13, line 8-14. 

(c) The EPRT product (medical device) covered by the ‘519 Patent Application 

was obsolete, replaced by new product and covered by a new patent 

application (filed by FARO on behalf of David Estes), Exhibit “K”, Daubert 

Hearing Tx @ page 11, line 6-11. 

(d) The EPRT abandoned the foreign equivalents of the ‘519 Patent Application 

“throughout the world”, suggests the “technology” covered by such patent was 

of dubious value, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Hearing Tx @ page 11, line 21 to page 

12, line 4. 
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(e) There was no competitor use or interest in the EPRT “technology”, Exhibit 

“K”, Daubert Hearing Tx @ page 13, lines14-25. 

(f) The EPRT Director of Research, David Estes (inventor of ‘512 Patent 

Application), re-directed FARO’s attention, to other EPRT matters, 

Respondent Opening Statement, OED Trial Tx page 23. Line 4 to page 24. 

The factual basis this statement appears at OED May 10, 2005, Tx @ pages 

40 -53 and May 11, 2005 Tx @ 15 to 25. 

Clearly, the ALJ perception that EPRT’s economic interests, were adversely effected 

by the Respondent’s failure to pursue an appeal of the Board of Patent Appeals Decision, 

lacks any factual support, and is diametrically opposite to the economic realities catalogued, 

by the District Court in the above Daubert hearing transcript.  More specifically, the District 

Court found that EPRT claim of damages from the Respondent’s failure to appeal its US 

Application ( absence of patent protection), flies in the face of EPRT’s own conduct, 

specifically (a) EPRT express abandonment of the international equivalents of the ‘519 

Patent Application, (b) there was no economic impact of the absence of patent protection on 

the ability of EPRT’s ability to sell its original medical device, (c) the ‘519 Patent Application 

did not protect the new EPRT 2008 product improvements, and (d) a new FDA registration 

was required for the EPRT 2008 product improvements.  Insofar as there were no EPRT 
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sales in the USA, and there was consequently no EPRT business that could have been 

adversely impacted by any act or omission during Respondent’s representation of EPRT in 

the Patent Office.  Accordingly, the damage expert report was lacking in factual basis and 

legal support for its conclusion.  The ALJ speculation that the absence of patent protection 

impacted EPRT business was thus unsupported and contrary to law. 

63. More specifically, from and after the filing of a formal OED Complaint 

in May 2015, Respondent filed, as was his right, an Answer and Affirmative 

Defenses. Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative Defenses (First Amended), dated 

September 7, 2015 (Exhibit “M”). The OED Director moved to strike these defenses 

on the ground that they were an improper effort to assert “defensive issue 

preclusion”, to the OED Complaint. The ALJ agreed with OED, striking the 

defenses. Respondent subsequently recast his Affirmative Defenses on December 

14, 2015, to avoid the OED technical objections, was also to no avail. Respondent’s 

Motion For Leave To File Affirmative Defenses (dated December 14, 2015) and 

Proposed First Amended Affirmative Defenses (Composite Exhibit “N”). 

64. Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses, above referenced, were based, and 

asserted, in part, upon the findings from the District Court, which “justify” (excuse) 

and/or “exonerate”, Respondent’s from neglect or wrongdoing in his exercise of 
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professional judgement and/or refusal to pursue a frivolous appeal (a recognized 

defense, 37 CFR 10.84(b)(1) & (2). The OED Director was successful in his repeated 

objection to the Respondent’s efforts, thereby effectively denying the Respondent 

opportunity to effectively defend himself.  

65. Accordingly, the procedural irregularities, specifically, the OED 

Director, and ALJ, application of heightened pleading requirements under the OED 

Rules, to unjustifiably and unreasonably reject the Respondent’s effort to raise 

Affirmative Defenses on two occasions, had an adverse effect upon the 

Respondent’s substantive rights, and therefore denied him due process under the 5th 

Amendment to the U.S. Constitution. 

66. The Final Orders were thus obtained contrary to law and consequently 

the Final Order sought to be enforced in this proceeding, are in violation under 5 

USC 706(2)(A). 

The Sanctions Imposed Upon Respondent Are Contrary To Law 

67. Notwithstanding the obvious inconsistencies in the AJJ’s Initial Opinion 

(Initial Opinion @ 28) and the judicial determinations by the Federal District Court, the ALJ 

proceeded to ignore (a) the District Court’s evidentiary rulings, and speculate as to the harm 

caused by the lack of patent protection, and (b) the Respondent’s Review And 
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Recommendation, which advised EPRT in November 2002, that patent protection for its 

medical device was unattainable. 

68. The absence of any prejudice or harm to EPRT business is further manifest, 

as the District Court, found, by the EPRT abandonment of the international equivalents to its 

US application, and its abandonment of its original product configuration, for which it sought 

patent protection. 

69. The ALJ contention that Respondent is culpable for the EPRT failed 

investment in a worthless patent portfolio, or otherwise acted improperly by vigorous 

defense of the EPRT malpractice claims asserted is irrational. Respondent was successor 

EPRT patent counsel, had no role in the initial evaluation of the potential patentability of the 

EPRT product, did not encourage filing of a patent application, and did not draft the EPRT 

patent application, which the Patent Office finally rejected in June of 2002 – all of which 

preceded the EPRT engagement of Respondent in January 2003. The ALJ’s irrational 

analysis of his sanctioning of Respondent is reflected in his Initial Opinion @ 28, (TFB 

Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, Composite Exhibit A): 

Unfortunately, the Court has no way to determine what percentage of EPRT's 
payments were in vain. Respondent did represent EPRT's interests 
competently, at least for a time. Without a clear guide, it is simply impossible 
to arrive at a non-arbitrary dollar figure representing EPRT's loss. 
Nonetheless, there is no plausible dispute that the client's attempts to secure a 
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patent for the '519 Application left it economically weaker.  Nor is there any 
dispute that Respondent's neglect and misconduct exacerbated EPRT's 
suffering.  Additionally, EPRT has expended more than $170,000 in 
(malpractice) litigation costs against Respondent, with at least one lawsuit still 
ongoing. This merits an increased sanction against Respondent. 
 
70. The above excerpt from the ALJ Initial Opinion incorrectly assumes 

that every patent filing is allowed, which is false; and, such excerpt is otherwise 

inconsistent with the record in this case. In simple terms, there was no nexus 

between the absence of EPRT patent protection for its medical device, and any 

act and/or omission by Appellant, Respondent having advised EPRT in 

November 2002, that patent protection for its medical device was unattainable. 

71. Accordingly, the justification for any sanction, and certainly not an 

eight (8) month suspension, lacks factual, legal and/or equitable basis, to the 

extent it is reliant upon the absence of patent protection to protect the EPRT 

medical device.     

Relief Requested: For all of the reasons set forth hereinabove in this THIRD 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, the Florida Bar Formal Complaint for Reciprocal 

Discipline should be dismissed, with prejudice, as a matter of law. 
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FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
 

ALL OF THE RESPONDENT PERCEIVED VIOLATIONS OF 
THE OED RULES, ARE BASED IN WHOLE OR IN PART, 
UPON THE ALJ’S CHARACTERIZATION OF THE 
REPONDENT’S TRADITIONAL MONITORING OF THE 
PATENT OFFICE FILES AS TANTAMOUNT TO NEGLECT, 
BECAUSE IT CAN POTENTIALLY RESULT IN A “DELAYED 
AWARENESS” OF PATENT OFFICE CORRESPONDENCE 
NOTWITHSTANDING, TRADITIONAL MONITORING OF 
THE PATENT OFFICE FILES CANNOT GIVE RISE TO A 
VIOLATION OF THE OED RULES, 37 CFR 11.901(b), AND/OR 
5 USC 706(2)(A). 

 
72. At all times material hereto, the application and enforcement of the 

OED Rules of Discipline, are barred against Respondent, in whole or in part, because 

“… (the) conduct (“delayed awareness”) would not have been subject to disciplinary 

action before such effective date (of the adoption of the ABA Rules of Professional 

Conduct), 37 CFR 11,901, produced below in pertinent part:  

§ 11.901 Savings clause. 
 
(a) A disciplinary proceeding based on conduct engaged in prior to the 
effective date of these regulations may be instituted subsequent to such 
effective date, if such conduct would continue to justify disciplinary 
sanctions under the provisions of this part.  
 
(b) No practitioner shall be subject to a disciplinary proceeding under this 
part based on conduct engaged in before the effective date hereof if such 
conduct would not have been subject to disciplinary action before such 
effective date.  
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73. At all times material hereto, the application and enforcement of the 

OED Rules of Discipline, are barred against Respondent, in whole or in part, because 

the interpretation thereof, cannot be as inclusive of “… conduct7 (“delayed 

awareness”) would not have been subject to disciplinary action”, unless after of the 

regulation was adopted, the interpretation thereof reflects the “agency’s authoritative 

or official position” and “in some way implicate its substantive expertise” Kisor v. 

Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 (2019). The phrase “delayed awareness” does not 

appear in any OED regulation or precedent in the record of the disciplinary 

proceeding other than in the ALJ Initial Opinion. Moreover, the phrase “delayed 

awareness” as applied by the ALJ is unique to the disciplinary proceeding involving 

Respondent. 

74. In 2003, at the time of Respondent’s initial appearance before the Patent 

Office, in the representation of the EPRT ‘519 Patent Application, Respondent filed 

a Power of Attorney, which conformed in form and content, to the Patent Office 

regulations. This Power of Attorney was properly endorsed by an EPRT 

 
7   The Respondent’s compliance with Patent Office in January 2003, with respect to the content 
of a Power of Attorney, which did not require the option to include the Respondent’s Customer 
Number, to permit electronic access to Patent Office files, cannot be interpreted or retroactively 
implicate “delayed awareness” of Patent Office correspondence, and asserted a basis of discipline. 
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representative, identified the ‘519 Patent Application by Serial No. & Filing Date, 

included Respondent’s Correspondence Address and Respondent’s Registration 

Number, as an authorized/license patent practitioner. 

75. Sometime thereafter, the Patent Office required (circa 20048) that a 

Customer Number be included in the Power of Attorney, to facilitate electronic 

processing and control over patent applications. There was no requirement to 

supplement a prior filed Power of Attorney with a Customer Number.    

76. The addition of a Customer Number to any Patent Office filing does 

not enable either (a) electronic/digital communication from the Patent Office to the 

registered patent practitioner, or (b) the electronic service of patent application 

related documents by the Patent Office. 

77.  On or about the November 14, 2005, the Patent Office, in lieu of 

response to the Notice of Appeal of the Second Final Rejection, (April 19, 2005), 

filed a new (Third) Final Rejection, the Third Final Rejection being which is annexed 

hereto Exhibit “D”). In this the November 14, 2005 Correspondence (Third Final 

 
8   The Patent Office did not require the addition of “customer number” to a Power of Attorney 
until 2004, (Federal Register Volume 69, Issue 102 (May 26, 2004). 
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Rejection), the Patent Office persisted in its rejection of the medical device invention 

(“key to effectiveness of the invention”), Estes Email annexed hereto as Exhibit A”. 

78. On or about November 29, 2005, the Respondent notified EPRT of the 

receipt of Third Final Rejection, briefly summarized the content thereof in “layman’s 

terms”; advised EPRT to persist in the appeal filed earlier in July 2004 (Exhibit “E”). 

The Appeal was fully briefed, and a copy of the Appeal Brief provided to EPRT in 

December 2006. 

79. On August 1, 2009, The Patent Office Board of Appeals & Patent 

Interferences, affirmed the Third Final Rejection of the ‘519 Patent Application 

patent claims on appeal. The Decision by the Board was res judicata9.  The Decision 

by the Board was forwarded, via mail, to the Respondent’s correspondence address 

on file with the Patent Office. 

80. Respondent never received the mail containing the Decision, and 

consequently was unable to apprise EPRT of its receipt thereof or take any action 

(to the extent available) to continue the prosecution of the ‘519 Patent Application. 

 
9    The Patent Office regulations changed with the adoption of the Patent Act in 2012 permitting 
refiling of the application without first obtaining an Order from the Patent Office (Group Director) 
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81. The Respondent’s receipt vel non of the Decision, and his inaction 

thereafter was directly implicated in, and the principal basis of the OED prosecution 

of its Complaint against Respondent. The ALJ Initial Opinion (annexed to the Bar 

Complaint), explicitly rejected the OED challenge to Respondent’s 

justification/excuse for his lack of communication to EPRT of the Board Decision. 

Quite the contrary, the ALJ explicitly found that:  

Respondent ( F A R O )  worked competently to achieve EPRT's goals from 
2002 until 2006, when he filed the Second Appeal.   After doing so, he 
resigned himself to waiting for a PTO response. According to the OED 
Director's theory, Respondent received that response in 2009.  Rather than 
file an appeal, as he had done twice already, Respondent chose to ignore 
the Board Decision.  He then proceeded to stonewall and avoid Ms. Blake 
for more than a year.  Missing from the OED Director's theory is any hint 
of Respondent's purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude.  As of 
2009, his relationship with EPRT and its personnel remained congenial.  
In fact, he was handling a number of other patent and trademark matters 
for the company at the time.  The OED Director has provided no reason 
why Respondent would act in the manner alleged in the Complaint. The 
Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not receive the copies of 
the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009.   Having failed 
to receive the documents when they were initially sent, Respondent did not 
become aware of the actual status of the '519 Application until October 
2011, when he asked his associate to personally check the physical file. 
His e-mail to Ms. Blake on July 30, 2010, was therefore not deceptive or 
dishonest.  Accordingly, the Court finds that the OED Director failed to 
prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that Respondent violated 37 
C.F.R. §10.23(b)(4). Initial Decision @ page 22. (emphasis added) 
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82. Accordingly, the, Respondent’s traditional methods for docketing, and 

monitoring the status of the EPRT ‘512 Patent Application, could not form the basis, 

in whole or in part, of any violation of an OED Rule, implicating a lack of diligence 

or neglect or inaction. 

83. The “thread” that the ALJ used to intellectually stitch the patchwork 

analysis of the facts and “inferences upon inferences” (impermissible inference 

stacking), is reliance upon “delayed awareness” theme/rationale, which phrase 

defies definition or objective parameters, thereby introducing ambiguity into the 

interpretation of the Patent Office regulations and artificially creating an agency 

justification (Auer deference) for the ALJ’s impermissible ad hoc interpretation of 

the OED regulation,  Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 (2019).     

84. This ALJ artificial redefinition of the OED regulation, by first 

inoculation thereof with his “delayed awareness” rational, does not reflect any Patent 

Office “authoritative” or “official position”, of any Patent Office regulation; and, 

none has ever been documented in the 8,500 page record of the disciplinary 

proceeding involving Respondent. This “delayed awareness” rational” is rather 

nothing more than an ad hoc statement, without reflecting the agency’s views.   

Typically, this ALJ practice is a ruse, adopted as merely a “convenient litigating 
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position” or “post hoc rationalizatio[n] advanced” to “defend past agency action 

against attack”, Id @ 2418.    

85.  Critical review and analysis of the ALJ interpretation of the OED 

regulation, as applied to Respondent’s representation of EPRT, refute the conclusion 

of sanctionable conduct because there can be no violation of  

(a) 37 CFR 10.23(a) & (b) by Respondent’s inaction (engaged in disreputable 

conduct) where there was a valid excuse for his lack of diligence or neglect 

or inaction. 

(b) 37 CFR 10.77(c) (neglect of a legal matter) based a lack of diligence, 

where such finding is inconsistent with the ALJ explicit finding that 

Respondent “worked competently to achieve EPRT goal from 2002 until 

2006” (ALJ Initial Opinion @ 22) Moreover, in 2007, EPRT developed 

an alternative technology and abandoned all of the international 

applications equivalent to its US 519 Patent Application, Exhibit “K, 

Daubert Hearing Tx page 11, line 12, to page 12, line 4. This EPRT 

intentional abandonment of its international equivalents to the US 519 

Patent Application, supported Respondent’s uncontroverted trial 

testimony that EPRT had previously instructed him to refrain from 
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incurring any additional fees or costs in the solicitation of allowance of 

the EPRT ‘519 Patent Application. 

(c) violation of 37 CFR 10.77(c) (neglect of a legal matter) based upon a lack 

of diligence, where such finding is inconsistent with the explicit finding 

of the Respondent’s diligent handling of multiple EPRT matters, OED 

May 10, 2016, Trial Tx, page 23, line 4 to page 24, line 15. 

(d) violation of 37 CFR 10.112(c)(4) (failure to return property the client is 

entitled to received), where such finding is inconsistent with the 

Respondent’s good faith, reasonable belief that his ex-wife had discarded 

the files, upon the couples separation in 2011, and, thus, not upon any lack 

of diligence or neglect or inaction. Alternatively, in the absence of a “turn 

over” Order from a Court, it was Respondent’s understanding that, in 

Florida, the attorney (not the client) owns the file. Accordingly, the client 

files are “attorney property”, and outside of the scope of 37 CFR 

10.112(c)(4). Nonetheless, the Respondent retrieved the Decision of the 

Board of Appeals in 2011, by having an Associate inspect the Patent 

Office files, retrieve a copy of the Board Decision from the Patent Office 

in Alexandria Virginia, and immediately forwarded it to EPRT. There was 
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never any Court Order requiring Respondent to turn over any other files, 

and EPRT subsequently obtained its Patent Office file from Respondent’s 

ex-wife, upon the Federal District Court issuance of a Deposition 

Subpoena, duces tecum. Accordingly, there were no violation of 37 CFR 

10.112(c)(4). 

 
86. The ALJ importation of additional conduct into an agency regulation as 

a basis for discipline, based upon his own personal preferences of the OED 

regulations, to ensnare patent practitioners, is contrary to law because such 

regulation must be fairly interpreted as written; and, unless a regulation is “genuinely 

ambiguous”, the AJL interpretation therefor was a departure from its fair meaning, 

as not agency authorized. The recently decided U.S. Supreme Court analysis of 

judicial deference to an agency, rather than a court, interpretation of an agencies 

ambiguous regulations, has placed constraint upon Auer10 deference to an agency’s 

own further regulations, Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 (2019).    

In this case:  

 
10   Auer deference is only applicable to an agency’s “ambiguous” regulations requires a Court 
defer to an agency interpretation that implicate an agency’s expertise. Rules of professional 
conduct applicable to attorneys “fall more naturally into a judge’s bailiwick”. 
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(a) each of 37 CFR 10.77 and Rule 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1) & (2)) is 

unambiguous, with respect to Rule 10.84(a)), requiring intentional 

misconduct. The alleged intentional misconduct, in the above quoted 

passage of the ALJ Initial Opinion, was the alleged failure “…to ensure 

that he received correspondence from PTO”.  The ALJ Initial Opinion 

suggests the address’s personal presence at the Correspondence 

Address is required to “ensure” receipt of Patent Office correspondence 

– no authority is cited form this interpretation of “Correspondence 

Address”. The completeness of the Respondent’s Power of Attorney 

has never been questioned, nor has the Respondent’s time Change of 

Address notice to the Patent Office. Rule 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1) & (2)), is 

clear and unambiguous that intentional misconduct is required, not 

negligence, to violate 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1) & (2)); 

(b) the ALJ interpretation of 37 CFR 10.77 and Rule 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1) 

& (2)) does not reflect an interpretation actually made by the agency.  

Accusingly, it is not the agency’s “authoritative” or “official 

position,” rather than an ad hoc statement not reflecting the agency’s 

views. 
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(c) the ALJ interpretation of 37 CFR 10.77 and Rule 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1) 

& (2)) does not implicate any Patent Office substantive expertise.” 

(d) the ALJ reading of the OED rules does not reflect “fair and considered 

judgment” to receive Auer deference.  Clearly, the ALJ reading of 37 

CFR 10.84(a)(1) & (2), requirement of “intentional” conduct, to 

include “neglect” (under 37 CFR 10.77) was merely a “convenient 

litigating position” based upon “post hoc rationalizatio[n] advanced” to 

“defend past agency action against attack.” 

 
87. As is apparent from the foregoing analysis, because the Final Orders 

are based upon an ALJ interpretation and application of 37 CFR 10.77 and 37 CFR 

10.84(a)(1) & (2), they do not reflect the Patent Office  “authoritative” or “official 

position,” rather than any more ad hoc statement and not reflecting the agency’s 

views, but rather merely a “convenient litigating position” or “post hoc 

rationalizatio[n] advanced” to “defend past agency action against attack.”    

88. Insofar as the Final Orders violate 5 USC 706(2)(A), as not having been 

based on the original interpretation, and the application of 37 CFR 10.77 and 37 CFR 

10.84(a)(1) & (2), to Respondent, it was an arbitrary, capricious abuse of discretion.   
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Relief Requested: For all of the reasons set forth hereinabove in this FOURTH 

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE, including specifically, the recent U.S. Supreme Court 

decision in Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 (2019), all but eliminating 

the judicial deference (Auer deference) to an agency interpretation of its own 

regulations), the Florida Bar Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline should 

be dismissed, with prejudice, as a matter of law. 

Respectfully, 
 

 PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 

 Miami, Florida 33131 
 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
 rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
 
 By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 

 
VERIFICATION 

 
I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 

herein are truthful and accurate. 
Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative 

Defenses to Florida Bar Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline has been provided to 

The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org;  to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 23rd day of November, 2020. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: Al Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.
Subject: Response/commentation on U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

The Office Action Summary rejected the electrode wraps. I would like to delineate the
similarities and differences in the wraps that the examiner referred to in Rogozinski (US
5395398), and the wraps utilized in the EPRT device. This is very important to us, as to
my knowledge there are no other wraps that operate in the manner of the EPRT device
and there are no other wraps constructed in the same manner. The construction of the

raps is key to the effectiveness ofour device. It may be appropriate that our description
e expanded so that the uniqueness of the EPRT wraps is apparent.

ill now examine and contrast the two wraps:

The examiner views the description of the Rogozinski "pad (100) with two layers (105 &
106/107) as a wrap cover the integument and/or wound opening (c 4, II 48-62),

The exact description as given in Rogozinski is, "The support layer 105 is laminated to
contact surface layers 106 and 107 (c 4, II 53-54).

The EPRT wrap consists of a "first layer water absorbent bandage...." and a second layer
rnoderate conductive synthetic rubber impregnated cloth...."

I would like to describe the important differences in these two constructions:

The Rogozinski wrap conductive material is placed against the skin, so that there is a
single conductive contact layer, 106 & 107, against the skin underneath the dorsal
support layer 105.

Note that the support layer plays no part in the electrical operation of the wrap. It
functions only as mechanica or the two concentrically arranged contact surface
layers, 106 & 107. It is a support backing for the material, an electro-conductive
hydrogel polymer that lacks integral mechanical support.

The EPRT wrap has a moderately conductive material as the outer layer. The description
of "moderately conductive" is important. This characteristic produces a spreading effect
so that the electrical current is more evenly distributed across the whole of the wrap and
correspondingly across the whole of the skin surface of the body under the wrap. This
characteristic is enhanced by and continued through similar characteristics of the second
water absorbent layer.
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The water absorbent second layer is not 100% totally saturated, as the material utilized
for its construction introduces mechanical physical barriers in the electrical path from the
outer surface ofthe second layer against the conductive material, to the inner surface
against the skin. The electrical path through this layer is not a straight line through its
thickness, but is the path through the numerous, interconnected, adjacent pockets ofwater
in the voids ofthe water absorbent layer, physical structure. These numerous,

ßttedlysmall paths, introduce a significant amount ofresistance into the electrical
path, and so continue the spreading effect for the electrical current as previously
referenced.

The construction of the wraps introduces another factor- that oftotally encompassing a
perimeter path upon the body, i.e. aro1md a finger, arm, leg, head, torso, etc. The very
connotation of"wraps" is totally different from that of the pads as utilized by Rogozinski.

(Insert references about electrical resistance and/ or potentials from injuries, etc.)
These references will document that injuries and/or malfunctions typically have higher
electrical resistance and surrounding tiisue will be the preferred path of flow by nature of
its lower resistance.

Electrically conductive pads which cover a relatively small surface area, and do not
cr e a circuitous covering around the body, are not as effective as those which create a
ircuitous route, because of the fact that a parallel path, generally underneath or opposite

the pad, that limits the effectiveness of the application of the electrical current, always
exists in that typeofpad.

The body has many electrical potentials between its cells, organs, and larger component
parts i.e. such as the wrist and shoulder. If only a small surface pad is applied to the
wrist and shoulder, there are always other electrical paths that do not receive a significant
portion of the electrical current flow, so that the net potential of the electrical paths
between the wrist and shoulder are not greatly enhanced by the application ofelectrical
current through these small surface pads.

Contrast this, with the application ofwraps totally encompassing a circuitous path around
the wrist and shoulder. The overall electrical potential between the wrist and shoulder is
forced to respond to the application of the electrical current because there is literally no
path left uncovered, and the resistance ofthe body to the flow of electrical current is
overcome by the application.

Al, we also know that the utilization ofwater, or water based materials, in the wrap
seems to be required to cause the regeneration we see. I do not know the whybehind
this. Iwill confer withKeith on this issue and see ifwe can come up with something
more.
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Supplement 1 to Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: A1Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.
Subject. Response/commentationon U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

Re: Page 2 Detailed Action Claim Rejection - 35 USC 8 112

Claims 3, 4, 5/3, 5/4, 7/3, 7/4, 8/3, 8/4 are rejected for failing to particularlypoint out and
distinctlyclaim the subject matter which the applicant claims as the invention.

As the application ofmicrocurrents has been found to have precedent, the distinct claim
to be made here in claim 2, is the frequency of .00065 Hz to .00085 Hz. I do not believe
the use of the term "duty cycle" is accurate for a tenn which is actually frequency. I have
not found precedent for the lower ranges of currents we are claiming in the picoAmp and
femtoAmp ranges.

From whatis.com definition: duty cycle: 1. In an idealpulse train, i.e.., one having
rectangularpulses, the ratio.ofthepulse duration to thepulseperiod.
(188) Note: For example, the duty cycle is 0.25for apulse train in which thepulse
duration is 1 s and the pulseperiod is 4

s. 2. The ratio of(a) the sum ofallpulse durations during a spect)¶edperiod of
continuous operation to (b) the total specified
period ofoperation. 3. In a continuously variableslope delta (CVSD) modulation
converter, the mean proportion ofbinary "1"
digits at the converter output in which each "1" indicates a run ofa specfled number of
consecutive bits ofthe samepolarity in
the digital output signal, (188) 4. In aperiodicphenomenon, the ratio ofthe duration of
thephenomenon in a given period to the
period. Note: In a piece ofelectrical equipment, e.g. , an electric motor, the periodfor
which it may be operated without
deleterious effects, e.g. , from overheating.

Claim 4 is the utilization ofall the items ofthe invention as a whole, and I believe you
commented on the advisability or inadvisability of this. Please discuss this with me
when we communicate again.

Claim 3 and 4 "the point ofapplication" and "the body" lack antecedent basis.
Al, I will defer to you for understanding ofwhat the examiner is wanting here.

Claim 6: "second layer wrap is unclear".
Should we introduce the wrap with a more general description as to how they are applied
to the body to justify the use of the term wraps.
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Would it be prudent to note that it is likely that manufacturing technology will advance to
the point to possibly allow the construction of the wraps to be of a single homogeneous
material havingboth conductive and water absorbent properties suitable for application to
the body or having the conductive material embedded in the thickness ofthe water
absorbent layer?

I was unable to procure the book to extract references on the body electrical potentials on
this Wednesday evening. I have several potential sources I will pursue in the moming.
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Subj: Review & Recommendation
Date: 11/19/2002
:To: siteronics@qlobal411.net
File: C:\Documents and Settlngs\Administrator\My Documents\CIlents\LnN\Patents\Bristow

. (1SA01137 11137,doc (261632 bytes) DL Time (TCP (P): < 1 rninute

Dear Keith:

The following is provided as a constructive criticism of the application file forwarded to me for review.

1. In its current procedural posture, the final rejection is likely to be sustained because of the absence of
any allowable claim, and the inability to modify an existing claim to overcome the final rejection;

2. The application description (@ page 15) "inherently" discloses features of the invention which
appear to reside at the point of novelty, namely the advantages gained as a result of the multiple
functional layers of the electrode wrap;

3. The application construct is unusual from my perspective because of the absence of a detailed
description of the prior art in the bgdv of the poplication and the creation thereby of a focus for the
Examiner to permit the presentation of arguments over the prior art. The absence of this description
rnakes it more difficult to craft the claims to focus (Objects of the Invention) upon the point of novelty
(distinction) and thereby overcome a rejection. As you can appreciate, it Is difficult to have your
arguments accepted when you are forced to rely upon undisclosed features and advantages as a basis
for overcoming the references relied upon by the Examiner In his rejection. On a related matter, did the
attorney representing you file a prior art statement or any other paper that would include this type of
discussion of the prior art?

4. The application description appears to have been slavishly copied from a technical report without
analysis or anticipation of the obstacles to be encountered In the Patent Office. Accordingly, it lacks the
flexibility to reword the claims and possible present a more effective delineation of the scope of the
invention, consistent with the prior art. Moreover, in Its present structure, there is an absence of a fall
back (sub genus) position to protect the likely commercial embodiments of the invention.

5. The application does not adequately describe the functionai relationships of the various components
of the wrap and the processing conditions to define and support a method for achieving the
objectives. More specifically, there is no basis for claim language delineating the method in functional
lerms, e.g. "applying a therapeutically effective amount of a healing current to wound, etc." This type of
functional description generally precedes the detail description which is merely illustrative of one or more
of the preferred embodiments of the invention.

6. Recommendation:

A. In order to preserve the filing date, I would re-file the instant application without any chances,
assuming that the "Revisions" detailing the factual data could be supplied by way of third party affidavit
when examination is resumed. I would also include at or shortly after the time of refiling a "Preliminary
Amendment", which would present a new set of claims, including claims reciting the properties inherent in
the structure of the wrap. The Examiner is not required to accept these claims for examination purposes
because of the absence of explicit support in the specificatlan. A third party affidavit would be required at
this juncture to attest to fact that the disclosed materials used in the wrap and described in the patent
specification do Inherently possess the properties and features explicitly recited in these new claims.

B. As a back-up, refile a new application with a new specification, detailing the inherent advantages
of the two functional layers of the wrap. This new application would one or comparative examples
illustrating the features which distinguish your invention over the prior art.

The enclosed patent application which I drafted some time ago. It has since been published. It provides
a classic example of a "method" patent which is free from from the types of shortcomings described
above.
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I estimate that pursuing both of the recommendations described above would require from about 20 to 25
hours of professional time (which would include performance of my own novelty search).

If I can be of further assistance please advise - JH Faro
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EXHIBIT "C"
(Patent Office 2"d Final Rejection,

datedApril 19, 2005)

APPX 242 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



\i Iil:
@

Pleasr find belorv and/or aftached an oflice communication conceming this appricarit:n or proceeding.

O*rcr

erpuc,rnox r.ul*]j[jffiffi cp4r.gff

cr;656,5t9 a arrorNsv oocxer udTEffiffiiffiI6
07?2?.00$3.Cpu$01

0{1t91?005

JOTIN G FARO, ESO.
FARo & essocr*Te S

11 tvEsT FLACLER STR-EET
sutTE il00
MIAMI, FL ]]I]O-I8OS

DATE MAtt_fD; 04/t9/?005

RES EXH NO 46
O2O15-27 RESPONDENT

BATES NO, 564

P(0.90C (Rtv. l0/01)

r--%-I ARr uNrr I------.-% j
J75t

APPX 243 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



rne MeilNG AA
l,rlnod for Repty

+fiiililfBilfl'J'",Xl ffifl43^i3lfi5fi:'rs sEr ro EXP RE r MoNrH(s) FR.M
:;:?tlitft1f*",I3',,T*'I't'1t't 'no"ln;;;;;'oirr cro 1 r36(a) rn no even, ho," ,l rnr poili rrl;;r;#T-?'-f :iling da(e 6t rhis commueicabon. "-weve'' mav a reprv bs r;me,y rkd

ill'^ry.ry;y;ti;,ffi:#,{ii,iifflfi}lill,i.,f*'"r';ru;,1H'ili,:,'#H1[,",tx],!Tgffi?l:;,,::'.s'|de*d Ln,ev

ll,',ry,[*"*"er'fffii"3:x,1?STi"JJ#"#*,x*f;f;[Thkgx,"*:nffi?,Ho",[::#ix;i'iiiiaf;'r-*un'*'"
Status

pp{icant{iJ

WENDTLL €I AL

Art Unit

Part of Paper No,lMail Date t0050a I I
D2015-27 RESPONDENT

BATES NO. 565

4)E

5)x
6)m
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1)m

2a)B
3)[

Disposition of Clairns

Claim(s) 3.4 and Z3-?S is/are pending in the application,
4a) of the above claim(s) "- is/are withdrawn from consideralion.
Clainr{s) ----* is/are allowed.
Clairn(s) 3a and Z3;ff is/are rejected.
Claim(s) _ is/are objected lo.
claim(s) 

- 

are subject to resrrrction and/or election requirement.

Apprlication papers

Responsive to comrnunication(s) filed on t i/4/04 &meqdmsnl).
This action is F|NAL. zol[ rni, *ti*lrilffir.
since this application is in condilion for allowsnce except for formal matters, prosecution as ro rhe merits isclosedinaccordancewiththepracticeunder6x 

partaeuayte, tg3SC.O. lt,4IiOG.213.

S)I Tne specification is objected to by the Examiner,
10)n fhe drawing(s) fited on islare; a)f accepted or b)f, objected to by rhe Examiner^Applicant may not request thal any objection lo the drawing(s) bo held in abeyance. $ep 37 crR 1,s5{ai.Replacement drawins sheet(s) including the corr€crion is rsquired if rha drawins{;;,r;;;;-;;o. $ee 37 cFR i.1?i{di1 1 )n The o'th or declaration is objected to ay ,r,* Examiner. Nole lhe attached office Actian or torm pro- 

1 52
Prioirity under 35 U.S.C. $ 1ig

l,ln Acknowredgment is made of a craim for forergn priority under 3s u.s.c. $ i 1,(a)-{d} or (ii.a1! nrt b)[f Some . c)[ None of:
1.8 certiried copies of the priority documenrs have been received.2'I certiried copies of the priority documents have b€en received in Apprication No.3'D copies of lhc certified copies of the priority documents rruu" o**n'li.-,* ,, ;,**nar $tageapptication from lhe lnternationat Bureau {pCT Rute 17.2(a)).' see the attached detailed office action for a list of the certified copies not received.

Altrchment(s)

]l I l*,1* of References Cited (pTo-892)

:l H ::],::lDraftsperson,s 
par*nr Drawins Review (pro^e4s)

r) I r rntorma$on Olsdosure Statenrent(s) (pT0-1449 or pTOiSAiOel
f,aper No{s}iMail Oate _.

+1 f tnterv;ew Summary (pTO-413)

- _ Paper No(s)/Mail Date. .....* .

5) u Notice ol lnlomrat patent Apot;cation 1pTO.152r
o; f, ornr., _

PTOL.3!:6 (nev. r-Oai
Offlco Actiqn Summary

Office Action $umrnary
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Art Unit:3762

DETAILED ACTIO}{

petirion Granrcd

I' The Applicant's petition to revive this apprication, fired rcrw04,rvas granred on
Ill 8i05.

Ctain Rejections - JJ USC$ l0l
2' claim 25 stands rejected under 35 u.s.c. l0l because the claimed invention is directerr
to non-stetu{ory subject matter. specifically, in lines 4-6, "said first layer. . . rvhen placed,.. in a
contiguous relationship rvith the skin" amounts to inferenrial recitation of the body" which
renders this craim non-statul.ry. A phrasc such as --said first rayer... when acrapted to be
placed"' in a configuous relationship witlr the skin" is suggested ro address &e understood inlent
of the Appiicant and avojd the 35 u.s'c. l0l rejection. Appropriate correction is requireri.

Ctsim Rejections - JJ USC$ r/2
i clainls 3-4 and ?l -25 stand rejected unrier Ji u.s.c. I i 2, first paragraph, as failing to
comply rvith the written description requiremenr. The claim(s) contains subject matter thar rvas

not described in the specification in such a way as ro reasonabry convey to one skilleri in the

relevant art that the inventor(s), at the time the application was filed, had possession olthe
claimed invention' The loltowing claim elemenls can not be found in the specificarion.

It appears nelv t'l"t[t[sr was llnproperly entered by anrendment cluring prosecution of lhis case.

In claims 2l-25, the Examiner is unable to find suppon in rhe specifi{otion Ibr.ua

damaged tissue mass". The specificatiolr djscloses,,erectrotherapy.,. to proffiore heari:rs,.

Page ?
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(page l, line B), "treating wounds, ulcerarions, spinal cord injuries, amyotrophic iaterar
sclerosis' ' '" (page 2' line 34), "layer of the etectrode wap are appried to seiecred poni.ns of thc
body" (page 3, rine I6), and "eff'ectuare the hearing ortissue,,(page r5, line 36).

In claims 23-25,the Exarnineris unable to finci suppofl in the specification for
"elastomeric material" comprising "essenrially unilorm dispersion of conductive particle rvithin
said elastomeric material"' The specification discloses a croth irnpregnated with siricon rubber
and carbon particles (page 4, line 22; page 15, line l3).

In claims 23'25' the Examiner is unable to find support in rhe specificatiun firr rhe wrap
to "conform lo a portion of an indrvidual's body so as ro provide an essentjsJ unjlonn pfitrern o,
therapeut ic energy distriburion,,.

ln craims 23-24,the Exan:iner is unabre ro find support in the specificatiorr rbr
"a moisture absorbent material". The specification discloses a material to atsorb warer
(pagc 3, line l3).

in claim 24' the Examiner is unable to find support in rhe specification for ,,*n 
e lectrirally

conductive fluicj". The specificatio. discloses ,,soaking,, 
the llrst layer with ,.tap water,,ro

*'provide 
good conductivity', (page 15, Iine 5),

In claim 25' the Examiner is unable to finrJ suppon in rhe specification for,.a body
conforrnable struclurs"' lhe specificalion discloses a wrap thar forms a ,,cylindrical 

surfhcs
around the selcctetj portions of the body,, (page 15, line l9).

in olairn 25' the Examiner is unable tr: find supporl rn the specificalion for r first layer
comprising an "essentially fluid perrneable, flexible, body conformable rnateri*l capable of
absorption and retention of a conductive flLrid, said for layer being essentially inert and
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hypoallergenic". ]'he specrficarion disc.Io.ses .,soaking,, 
the firsr rayer with o,rap 

warer,, ro
"provide good conductivity,, (page t5, line 5).

In claim ?5' the Examiner is unable to find support in the specificarion lor the iirst layrr
o'in contiguous relationship with skin that is proximate to said damageir tissue mass,,. Th*
specification discroses a wrap "appried to ser*cted portions of the body,, (page 3, rine r6i.

In claim 25' the Examiner is unable to find suppofi in the specification for a second layer
comprising "a flexible, elastomeric, body conformable nralerial having an essenriapy unifornr
dispersion of conductive particles within said elastomeric material," The specificarion discloses a

cloth impregnared rvith siricon rubber and carbon particres (page 4, rinr z?; page r5, rine r)).
Appropriate conection is required.

4' claims 3-4 and 23-24stantlrejected under 3i u.s.c. 112, second paragraph, as being
indefinite for failing to particularly point out ancl distinctly claim the subject mrrter which
applicant regards as the invention.

claim 2j is uncrear, In Iinc 32 ir'appears,,an individuaIs,,shourd be --saicJ

individual's--.

claim 24 is vague because it is unclear if "a source of elecrrical current,, in line 7 and ,.a

source,fdirectclcctricalcurrenf"inlinesg-l0refertothesameelement. 
Theclirecf electrical

current is refenecr to numerous times in the remain<ter of the craim.

claim 24 is unclear' In line ll, it appears "a source of direcr electric current,. shoulci be

--said source ofdirecr etectrical current__.

Page 4
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ciaim 24 is uncrear. rn Iines r? and 12, it appears..of therapeutic."shourd be --r:f said
therapeutic-".

claim 24 is unclear' In line 18, it appears "fronr a source" shourd be --fronr said source--
Appropriate correction is required,

€tr,im fr*j*ctions _J.i {lSCgl0-?
5' claim 25 stands rejected under 35 u.s.c. 103(a) as being unpatentable over clumac
(US 4422461) in vierv of Bauers (uS S03S797).

crumac substanriary discroses the instant invention (figure 2; cor. 2 @ r_aa;
col' 3 @ 24 - col' 4 @30)' The electrode is rnade of a body conformabre mareriaj thar fbrms il
uniform paftem of therapeutic energy distriburion (cor. r @ 12-22; car.2 @i9_55 and 6s-ss),
The conductive mediunr (20), read as the first layer, absorbs and retains conductive fluid
(figure2;cot.2@16-tB; cot.3@68*col.4@g;cot,4@26_30). Theconductivefilnr(t?)
and metalization (14)' read as the second layer, is conducrive and contains a unrrornr drspersron

of conducrive par{icles (figure 2; cot. Z @: S-t l; col 3 @24-52)
clumac rliscroses rhe craimed ,nu."r,on excepr ror the first rayer being inerr i

hypoallergenic' the second layer being elastic, and the electrode rvrap being placerl proximate a
damagcd tissue mass / contiguous with the skin that is proximate the damaged tissue mass.

As to being inert / hypoallergenic, Batters teaches electrode skin inrerface using r:onroxjc
materials' read as incn artr'l hip,-rallelgeriic nraterrals, {br the purpose of e*abling easy relno'al oi.
the electrode' It rvould hat'e been obvious to one having ordinary skill in the art at the tinre of
the invention to have used nontoxic / inerr / hSpoailergenic skin inrerface nrarerials in rhe

Page 5
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0lurnac system in order to minimize rhe discornfon associated with erectrode removar and r,
clinrinare rhe need ro crean the skin afier erectrode removar (cor. r @ 62-66).

As to being elastic' Eatters teaches electrode positioning using non-woven polyesier
fabnc irnpregnated with conducting gel for the purpo$e of enabling elastic ero*garron of the
elecirode' Itrvouldhave beenobYioustoonehavingordinaryskill 

in(he arrattherime ofthe
tnvention to have used the non-woven polye$ter fabric impregnated with conducting ger in the
modified cluntac system in order to moderately stretch the erccrrode when applied {o the *ody
so the electrode can conform closely to the contour of the body enabling surface to surface

contacl betrveen the elecrrode and the damaged tissue mass / the skin proxinr,te the danraged

tissue mass (col. I @ 6-t5; cot. 3 @ 35,50; col. I @ 3-13).

As to electrode placement, Batter$ teaches injury treattnent usin6 an electrode rvrap ( tr0)
proximate a damaged tissue mass I contiguous rvith the skin thaf is proximate the damaged rissue

mass for the purpose of directly applying electrical simularion to treat the area associate<i rvirh

damaged tissue' It would have been obvious to ofie having ordinary skill in thcr arl a{ rhe rinre ol
the invention to have used an electrode wrap proximate a damaged tissue mass / contigu*us with
the skin that is proximate a da:naged tissue mass in the modified Glumac sy'tem in orrJer to

reduce the pain and sweiling associated rvith body injuries (ccr. I @ 6-14, r 7-r? and 40-61),

6' claims23and24stantlrejectedunderS5u.s.c, 
I03(a)asbeingunparenrableover

clumac (us 4422461 ) in view of Barters {us 503g7g?) and funher in 
'iew of Flrn:ing

(us 5891182)' As discussetl in paragraph 5 of thls action, mocrified Glumac iliscloses the

clainted invention except for:
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- providing aiternating or dire c1 currenl (claims 2,23,24),

- a me'ns for / reversing the poiarity of the current icraims 23,24)

- a means for / inactivating the rlectrode {claims 23,24),

- a means for / delivering an electrolherapy prolocol {claims 23,24),

' a means for / monitoring derivery of the current (craim 24), and

' curr€rr appriciJ rvrrh a dury cycre of 0.00065 I{z - 0.000g5 Hz (c}arms 2).

As to ACIDC current, Fleming teaches signat generation using AC or DC currenr f*r the

purpose of providing an electrical output signal that is particurarry suited to the application where

a continuous signal is used to inactivate microorganisms and a pulsed / alternating signal is used

io promote tissue generation. it would have been obvious to one having ordinary skill in the art

at the tirne of thr invention to have used AC or DC curent in the modified olumac sysiem i*
orcter to apply the outpur signal to advantage to alleviare a condition or kill a pafiicuiar

organisms (col' 2 @ 44-50; cor, 3 @ I r-r6 and 29-34;cor. 9 @ 6-r 3; cor. 24 (g 4-6\

As to reverse polarity, Fleming teaches signal generation using a coilverter to penodically

rever$e the polarity of the current for the purpose of generating an altemating currenr lt woupj

have been obvious to one having ordinary skill in the art at the time of the invention to have used

a converter in the modified Glumac syslem in order to provide a pulscdlalternating signal that

promotes tissue gencration (cor. 3 @ r r-16 and 29-34;cor. 24 @ 4-6)

As to inactivating electrodes, Fleming teaches sign;il generation using perio6ic electro6e

inactivation for the purpose of providing a signal that is pulsed. Ir would have been ob'ious to

one having ordinary skill in tlte art at the time of the invention to have used periodic electror1e
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inaclivation in lhe modified clumac sysrem in order to provide a pursed signar {ha( promores
tissue generarion (cot. 3 @ I I - I6 and 25_34; col. 24 @ 4-6)

As to derivering the e tectrorherapy protocor, Freming teaches appticarion spccific
electrical stimulation using a memory control means ( r4), a rnicro controiler means ( r6), and a
keyboard me an ( l8) for the purpose of instructing thc system on ourpur signar generation. rt
would ira'e been obvious to one having ordinaryskiil in the art at the tirne of rhe invention to
have used a memory control mcans, a micro conrrolter means, and a keyboard mcans rn the
modifietJ clumac sys{6m in drder to stimulate the individual rvith a single precise lrequency
signai or a sequencs of specific precise frequeney output signals, the sigrals being pafiicularly
adapted for use in alleviating specific conditions or inactivating specific microorganisms
(col. 6 @ la-36; cot. 9 @ 6-t3).

As to monitoring the curent, Fleming teaches stimulation regulatir:n using a displ*y
me*ns (20) and aufomatic frequency selector (21) for the purpose of visuaily monitoring rhe
outpul signals arrd the progression of the treatment, and for the purpose of sca,ning thr
individual and automatically selecting the output signals based on the individual,s condirion,
respectively' It would have beerT obvious to one having ordinary skill in the art at the time of r'e
invenlion lo have used a crispray means (20) and automatic frequency serecror (? r) in rhe

modifled clumac system in order to track the progress of the treatmenr and in order to oprimize
the treatment protocol by basing the selection of (reatmsn( on scanned data ro ensure a

ther*peuticaily effcctive amount of curyenf is derivered to the individuar (cor. 6 G) 3g_61),

As ro the current &equency, Fleming teaches signal gcneration using an altenrating
current with a duty cycle of 0 00065 to 0.00085 Hz flor the purpose of provicting a ra*ge of
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curent frequency thai are used in specific applications It woulcJ have been ob,ious ro oile
having ordinary skill in the afi at the lime of the invention to have used an artemating currenr

with a duty cycle of 0'00065 to 0'00085 Hz in rhe modified Glumac sys{em in orrJer ro appiy an

output signal to the subiect rvith the precise fiequency known to be of advanlage in alleviaring a

condition or ki[ing a parricurar organisms (cor. 2 @ 4a-50; cor. 3 @ r l-tti anr! ?g-34;
col.4@ 4|-49;cot.5 @61 *cot. 6@t;cot.9 @6-13;.cot. 24(g4-6).

1' claims 3 and 4 stand rejecied under 35 u.s.c. 103(a) as being unpalenrable over Glumac
rus 4422461) in vierv of Batters (us 5038797) and turther in view of Flenring {us 5g91 Ig?)
and further in view of Jhabvala (us 430886si. As discussed in paragraphs 5 and 6 of this

action' modified Glumac discloses the claimed in'ention except for the currenr having a d*nsity
less than 5 microamperes pcr square inch.

Jhabvala teaches signal generation using a curent densiry ol 10 nanr:meters per $quare

inch for the purpose af stimularing nerve cells. It rvould have beer: obvious ro one h*ving

ordinary skill in the art al the tirne of the invention to have used a currenr densiry of l0

nanomettrs in the modified olumac sysrem in order to induce regeneration ol damagcd nerves

andavoidnervedesrnrctioncausedbyoverheating(cor, 
r@36-43an<1 59-6g; cor.2@45-46).

Claim Objectiotrs

8. In claim 23, Iine 3?, it appears ,oC,* 
should be --E.-_

Page I
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e. rhe rext orthose sections 
"r;t::;;.::"", inctuded in rhis acrion can rre hund

in a prior Office action,

Conc{asion

'rHIs ACTI0N Is lllADE FIIYAL. The Applicanr is reminded of the exre nsion of tin:*
policy as ser forrh in 37 CFR 1.136(a),

A shortened statutory period for reply ro this final action is set to expire .rH&rE

M0NTHS from the mailing datc of this action. In the event a first reply is filed within TWo
Mo)'irHS of the nrailing date of this final action and the advisory acrion is not nrailed unrjr aftcr
(he end of the TI'IREE-M0NTH shortened statutory periocl, rhen the shortened stsrurory periorj
will expire on the date the a<Ivisory action is mailed, and any extension fee pursuant to 37

crR I ' 136(a) will be calculated from the mailing dare of the advisory a6ion. In no e venr,

horvever' will the statutory period for reply exprrc larer than slx MONTHS from rhe maiiing
date ol{his final action.

Any inquiry concenring this communication or earlier communicarionr l?om the

Examiner should be directed to Fran oropeza, telephone number is (571 ) 272-4953. If atrempts

to reach the Examiner by telephone ars unsuccessful, lhe Examiner,s supervisor, argela D.

sykes can be reached on (5?1) 272-4953,The fax phone number for rhe organizarion where rhis
application orproceeding is assig,ed is (703) 306-4520 for regularcommunicarion and for Aller
FinaJ communications.

Frances P. Oropeza
Patent exumine, 

-' 
.*{O

Arr unit 3762 
il',*lrl

O-p frJ,t
ANSELA D. $YKE$

$UPTRUSORY PATEHT EXAMIHIff

TECHNOLOSY SENTER }7OO
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rARO& eSsochres
{4 WEST FLAGLER STREET
sulTE I t00
MIAM!, FL 33130-t80s

EXAMINER

OROPP;ZA TRAXCES ?

AnTuNrr I r^'Elxwazn
tlu

DATEMAILED: ttlt(l2ms

Pleasc find bclow and/or attached an officc communication conccming this application or proceeding.
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WENOELL ETAL

ol thls
Poriod for Reply

.ppearc on ahe covar silroiaiiiffie eddresc -
A SHORTENED STATUTORY pERtoD FOR REpLy ts sET TO EXfltE i MoNTH(S) OR rHtRTy (30) DAys,vvl'llcHEVER ls LoNG_ER, FRoM THE MAIL|NG DATE oF THts co{\,tMUNrcATtoN.' trWb1ffi'fr3',ffiil?f,,'##,*,fmmlfm '--oiio] 

il 
^" 

li-i,i*,",. *y 
" 

,cpry b. *r.ry ,i,ed

' ttNoP'dodtoti|Dlvbrpecrlodr@-l.ttti-riiir,iiiitiitr".yporlodwiilrpcy.nrtwiucrptrostx(etitoNTHS(romrlrsm.l'rgd.rcorrhbcorm.,ntcarhn,
' Frilur lo rrplv ui{hh thr.r* or rrtrndrd.p.;ilrJ;-ii'pi-*rr, 5rrurui.. o,r[irti'i#di[ r"t 

"*". ABAr.tOoNEo (33 US.C. I r30.H$lffiil*,IjXiffi !gly#?.ffii:'"t, ,'; m.ri''o dr; Jrhk a,ililr""u*, .,,.n nii'.ry rnxl"iiv,;l*o inr '

Status

1)8 Responsive to communicatlon(s) filed on &r24/a5 aooeat Brieft & v30/05 Decta).
2e)E ThF ection is FINAL. zu)D fnir raion i. rrn;*a,
3)D sinca this applicatlon ls ln condition for atlowance except for format matlers, prosecution es to the merits isclosed in accordancs with the practice under Ex puto euayle,lg3s c.D. 11, 453 o.G. zl3.

Disiposition of Claims

4)8 Ctaim(s) 3.4 and ?3-35tgare pending tn the apptication.
4a) of rhe above crarm(s) 

- 

is/are withdrawn from considererion.
5)D ctaim(s) iVare ailowed,
0)B Ctaim(s) Z3-3S tgare rejected.
7)B Clalm(s) 3 and 4 is/are objected to.
s)fl chim(s) are subjed to restricrion and/or erection requrrement.

Application Papers

9)B fhe specification ts objeded to by the Examiner.
10)D rhe drawing(s) filed on lvare: a)fJ eccspted or b)[ obJeded to by the Examiner.

Applicant may not request that any objection to the drawhg(s) be hetd in abeyance. sce 37 cFR 1.g5(a).
Replacement drawing e heet(s) lncluding lhe conection ir roqulred if thc drawing(s) is objacted to. s8e 37 cFR ,1.121(dl.

11)D rtre oatb or dsctaration is objectecl to by the Examiner. Noto the sttsched office Adion or form pro-l52,
Prlority under 3E U.S.C. g tf 9

1,2)fJ Acknowtedgment ls made of a claim for foreign prlodty undsr 3s u.s.c. g 1rg(e)-(d) or (0,a)EAr b)CISome . c)D Non6 of:
1.fJ certined copies of the priorily documents have been recerved,
2'fJ Certifiect copies of the prlority documents have been recelved ln Apptication No. _.3'E coptes of lhe certified copies of lhe priorily documenls have been recaived in this National stsge

application from the lntemationelBureeu (pCT Rule 11.2(a)).
'see the attached detalled offlce actlon for I list of lhe certified copries not recoived.

Attrchmanl{sl

t)[ norcrornrfmncmotcd(pTo{92) 
e1 ! kuervlrwsununary(plo-413}

2l fJ Xorlco ol Dr.ntp..sont pltcnt Or.udqg Rcvlcw (pTo-946) pipcr No(ryMrit Date.
s; I mrormauon Drclorurc sralrmr^t(r) (pro.r4.o r, riori,irrr $ D ;;;.';1"ffi,:r"ji;;icrrion (pro-,s2)PrprrNo(rll,lrlo.tr_. .iEJ"."_-."r,r 'r'r'r^r
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Applicatiorn/Control Number: 09/656,51 9
Art Unit 3766

DETAILED ACTION

Appeal Brtef

I . The Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief filed 8t24lOS have been fully

considered. The rejections of record have been reviewed. Some of the Applicant,s

argumGnts are convincing and others are nol Where the Applicant's comments and

arguments are not convincing, discussion is found below in association with thc

rejections of rccord"

Declaralion

2. The Applicant's comment in the declaration filed 6130t05 have been fully

considered. The declaration filed under 37 CFR I.132 filed 6130/05 is sufficient to

overcome the rejection of claims 3,4,23 and24 based upon Fleming (US S89l l g2) used

in the 35 U.S.C. 103 rejection. Where the Applioant's comments and arguments are not

convincing, discussion is found below in association with the rejections of record.

Claim Rejections- J5 USC { ttz

3. claims 3-4 and 23-25 stand rejected under 35 u,s.c. I12, first paragraph, as

failing to comply with the written description requirement. The claim(s) contains subject

matter that was not described in the specifrcation in such a way as to reasonably convey

to one skilled in the relevant art that the inventor(s), at the time the application was filed,

had possession of the claimed invention. The following claim elements can not be found

in thc specifioation. It appears new matter was improperly entered by amendment during

prosecution of this case.
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D2015.27 RESPONDENT'S DOCS
BATES NO. 29

APPX 257 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Applieatior/Control Number: 09/656,Sl 9
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In claims 23'25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for
"elastomeric rnaterial" comprising "essentiatly uniform dispersion of conductive particle
within said etastomeric material", the "essentiatty uniform dispersion,, not found in the

specification.

In claims 23'25,the Ekaminer is unable to find support in the specification for the

wrap to "conforn to a portion of an individua|s body so as to provide an essentiat

uniform pattern of therapeutic energy distribution", the "essentially uniform pattern of
therapeutic energy distribution" not found in the specification and is not deemed be

taught by figure t.

In claim 25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the speci6cation for a first

layer comprising an "essentiatly fluid permeable, flexibte, body conformable material

capable of absorption and retention of a conductive fluid, said for layer being essentially

inert and hypoallergenic", the "cssentially inert and hypoa[ergenic,, not found in the

specification.

In claim 25, the Exarniner is unabre to find support in the specification for a

second layer comprising "a flexiblq elastomcric, body conformable material having an

essentially uniform dispersion of conductive partictes within said elastomeric material,,,

the "essentially uniform dispersion" not found in the specification.

Appropriate correction is required.
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Application/Control Number: 09/656,Sl g
Art Unit 3766

Claim Rejections- jS IlgC g I0J

4. claim 25 s.tands rejected under 35 u.s.c. t 03(a) as being unpatenrabre over

Glumac (LIS 442246t) in viav of Batters (US 5038797).

Glumac substantialy disctoses the instant invenrion (figure 2; cot. z @ r-4a;

col' 3 @ 24'cnl 4 @ 30). The electrode is made of a body conformabte material that

forms a uniform patrern of therapeutic energy distribution (cor. r @ 12-22;

col' 2 @ 39-55 and 65'68). The conductive rnedium (20), read as the first layer, absorbs

and retains conductive fluid (figure 2; c,,r. z @ 16-18; cor.3 @6g - cor. a @ g;

col' 4 @ 26'30)' The conductive flrlm (12) and metalization (14), read as the second

layer, is conductive and contains a uniform dispersion of conductive particles (figure 2;

col.2 @ 5-t l; col. 3 @24-52).

Glumac discloses the ctaimed invention except for the first layer being inert /
hypoallergenic, the second layer being elastio, and the electrode wrap being placed

proximate a damaged tissue mass / contiguous with the skin that is proximate the

damaged tissue mass.

As to being inen / hypoallergenic, Batrers teaches electrode skin interface using

nontoxic materials, read as inert and hypoallergeric materials, for the purpose of enabling

easy removalof the electrode, It would have becn obvious to one having ordinary skill in

the art at the time of the invention to have used nontoxic / inert / hypoallergenic skin

interface materials in the Gtumac system in order to minimize the discomfon associated

with electrode removat and to eliminate the need to stean the skin after electrode rernoval

(col. I @ 62-66),
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As to being elastic, Batters teaches eleflrode positioning using non.woven

polyester fabric impregnated with conducting gel for the purpose of enabting elastic

elongation of the electrode. It would have been obvious to one having ordinary skill in

the art at the time of the invention !o have used the non-woven poryester fabric

impregnated with conducting gcl in the modified Glumac system in order to moderately

strctch the elcctrode when applied to the body so thc elcctrode can conform closely to the

sontour ofthe body enabling surface to surface contact between the electrode and the

damaged tissue mass / the skin proximate the damaged tissue mass (cor. r @ 6-15; cor. 3

@ 35-s0; cot. 5 @ 3-13).

As to electrode placement, Batters teaches injury treatment using an electrode

wrap (10) proximate a damaged tissue mass /contiguous with the skin that is proximate

the damaged tissue mass for the purpose of directly applying electrical simulation to rreat

the area associated with damaged tissue. It would have been obvious to one having

ordinary skill in the art at the time of the invention to havo used an electrode urap

proximate a damaged tissue mass / contiguous with the skin that is proximate a damaged

tissue mass in the modified Gtumac system in order to reduce the pain and swelling

associated with body injuries (col, I @ 6-t4,17-27 and40-6t).

The Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief fited 8t24/os and the declaration

filed 6/30 05 have been fuily considered, but they are not convincing.

As to the srguments in the Appeal Brief and the declaration regarding similarity

of the inventions, white thc elcctrodc wrap of Glumac may not be basically the same as
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the instant invention, the combination of Glumac and Batterr does teach u eleotrode

wrap as claimed in claim 25, the rejection detailed in the rejection of record above.

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief invotving the ilaim phrase

"consisting essential of', and this phrase limiring the ftnctional components of ctaim 25

to "essentially" two functional layers, if an Applicant contends that additional materials

in the prior art are excluded.by the recitation of "consisting essentially of,, the Applicant

has the burden of showing that the introduction of additional components would

materially change the characteristics of thc Applicant's invention (in re Janakirama-Rao

' 317 F.2d 95r, 954, r37 uspe 893, 895-96 (ccpA 1963). The Applicant has not shown

the addition of an adhesive and foam layer would materially change rhe characteristics of
the Applicant's invenrion, henbe the rejection of record stands,

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief involving the electrode being

used in pairs, Glumao teaches the electrodes can be used in pairs (col. 4 @ 34), or

individually - "any numbe/' being read as one (col. 4 @ 4S).

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeat Brief involving .,a fluid

impermeable material", the Examiner is unable to find this citation in the Glumac

reference and hence is unable to make any comment.

As to the Applicant's argumsnts in the Appeal Brief involving ,,Glumac 
does not

disclose the same layers in the same orde/', the Examiner disagrees. Based on Glumac -
figrre 2, when the liner (22) is removed prior to use (cot. 4 @ lg), the first tayerl

conductive medium/ fluid tayer (20) is against the skin and the second tayerl dispersion

ofconductive particlcs (12,14) is against the first layer.
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In response to the Applicantrs arguments in the Appeal Brief that the referen'ces

fail to show certain features ofapplicant's invention; it is noted that the features upon

which appticant reries (i.e. "the erectrodes wrapped around an appendage or torso ,,) 
are

not recited in the rejected claim(s). Although the claims are interpreted in light of the

specification, limitations from the specification are not read into the claims. See ln re

Von Geuns,988 F,2d I IBt, 26 Uspe2d 1057 (Fed. Cir. 1993).

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief involving the January 3, 2003

admission by the Examiner that the Gtumac electrode is a "relatively rigid electrode

having 5 laycrs", the Examiner knows of no srch statement and disagrees with the

Applicant's ststement that the Glumac reference can not be relied upon as the primary

reference.

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeat Brief involving the Batters

reference not teaching the first fluid permeable layer, in the rejection of record, the firsr

fluid permeable layer is taught by Glumac. The Batters reference is included in the

rejection of record to teach the use of inert/hypoallergenic material in the first layer,

elasticity of the second layer, and placement of the electrode proximate a damaged tissue

mass. Batters is deemed to bc anatogous art in the field of treatment of the body by

electrical stimulation using an electrode.

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief invotving the flexiblilty of

the electrodq in the abstract of the Glumac patenr, the electrode is noted to be flexible

response to the Applicant's arguments in the declaration that the references fail

to show ccrtain features of applicant's invention, it is noted that the features upon which

applicant reliei (i.e' "the electrode configuration used in such a way to sunound the body
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part in which the treatment site is tocated", "a vgssol for a continuous layer ofwatc/,,

'\rrater mechanically coupled by the elecuode wrap directly to the generator,,, ,.an

integral fluid blanket" and "holding water by means of mechanical and hydrodynamic

mechanisms") are not recited in the rejected claim(s). Atthough the claims are

interpreted in light of the specification, limitations from the specification are not read into

the claims. see /r re van Geuns,988 F.2d I Igt, 26 uspe2d lo57 (Fed. cir. I993).

ln response to the Applicant's arguments in the declaration against the references

individually, one cannot show nonobviousnes by attacking references individually where

the rejections are based on combinations of references. See /z re Keller, 642 F.Zd 413,

208 usPQ 871 (ccPA l98l); In re Merck &co.,8oo F.2d 1091, 23l uspe 375 (Fed.

Cir. 1986).

Speci/ication

5. The specification is objected to as failing to provide proper antecedent basis for

the claimed subject mauer. See 37 cFR r.75(d)(r) and MpEp g 608.0l(o). correcrion

of the following is required:

In claims 23'25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for "a

damaged tissue mass".

In claims 23'24, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for

"a moisture absorbcnt material".

In claim 24, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for "an

electrical ly conductive fl uid".
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In claim 25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for,,a

body conformable structure". The specification discloses a wrap that forms a 
,.cylindrical

surface around the selected portions ofthe body''(page 15, line l9).

ln claim 25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for the first

layer "in contiguous relationship with skin thrt is proximate to said damaged tissue

mass".

Appropriate correction is required"

Claim Objections

6. Claims 3-4 and 23.24 areobjected to because:

- In claim 24 it is unclear if "a source of etectrical current" in line 7 and,.asource

of direct electrical current" in lines 9-10 refer to the same elemcnt. The direct electrical

current is referred to numerous times in the rcmainder of the claim.

' In claim 24,line I I, it appears "a source ofdirect electric current" should be

--said sodrce ofdirect electrical current--.

- In claim 23, line 37, it appears..C,,'should be -E.--.

Statutory Basis

7. The text of those sections of Title 35, U.S, Code not included in this action can

be found in a prior Office action.
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A I lowab I c S abj ect Matt er

8. Claims 3 and 4 are objected to as being dependent upon a rejected base ctaim, but

would be allowable if rewritten in independent form inctuding all of the limitations of the

base claim and any intervening claims,

Conclusiott

Any inquiry concerning this communication or earlier communications from the

examiner should be directed to Fran Oropeza whose telephone number is (571) Z7Z-4g53,

If attempts to reach the examiner by tetephone are unsuccessful, the e"\aminer,s supervisor,

Robert E. Pezzuto can be reached on iszty z7z-6gg6.The fax phone numbers for the

organization where this application or proceeding is assigned is (5Tl) 2?3-8300 for regular

communication and for After Final communications.

Supervisory Patent Examiner
Art Unit 3766
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Subfect Allowed subject rnatter
Frorn: JohnF7S71 2@Lol.com
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CC: alteronlcs@global+t 1 .nit

Dear Katherine:
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(as in claims s a-+1, $," iirniiutions 
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cl"- I'ii ,"=pn.trrnry reprace the rimitarjon in crarm

#?.1i1-ilfn;xl"?flxtli##;ffift w6 ar€ sdiued ro broadsr co/sraBe . spccificafiy covorase
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. l,ncomlrg rn.:euoge.Checked hy il/,j Frcc tsdirlou.

v:a"ug.L+Ill ,,I.JB5 r, Viruu Dal:.alas{:r 2ll8.2.Ji}A. R+lrrsp l'rai*r 3/.14./2;ii6
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3- The methrd of (.iraim ?3, whc:rcio srup (B) cr:mprises appryrng a cuffenr
with a qur'€nt dansity of }ess than 5 micrcrsrnpcrds pur uquarc inch r:rf said elecrode nrap,
m theindividual in need rheroof

4. 'fhe rrrcthod ul'Ctrrirn 13, wherein Step (B) compriscs applying o currenr
of I fcmtoanrpers to 2{) micmarnpcrcs, with a rlut,v cyule o1".00005 IIz to .000g5 I.l; nnd
ot & curr€Irt density of lcs* than 5 mrcruumpsr$s p$r $qurr6 inch of soid elecnode lvrap.

27' ln en clcutrolhurapy msftod whoruin an elootrode is placcd pmrimatc to o

damaged tissur" mtss, or: un lhc surlhce of 0rc skin. thot io conrigrous wirh soid damuged
tirque m&is. a misnlcurrcru tryrplicd through said elecrode to ssid damrge.d rjssuc nrrqr.
in acc<rrdiltss w'ith r delirrc<l lr,utrncnt rugirnc. antl tbc method repeated, as needod. ro
pil)lnotE healing ol'saicl darnngr"rrl titsuu muss, wherein tho improyenrent comprises:

A. Praviding

( ) 
:,:;:;,;T::[[ i:ffi,:'il;';ffi_ TffiH
absorb$nt mstudal for plarement pmximatr to u damagod tissue

lltass. & c&:ond luyur ul'rdastomcrir: rnaterial" in elec{ricul conlac[

il: ';':r;;; :*,ffi ;: ,;i'ffi:T,::ffi t:
particlw within said clwtr:rncric material, and means, sssociarod

tyilh liEid c,,uuund luycr" lhr conneeting saicl clscrrorJc trr r sakl

sourcc ol' dirrrl clcctric currunt ;

(ii'} ,ncflus frrr oonntuling * said suurcc ol'tlinct gurrent cunnc$tEd to

iairl oltxtrurlu rlr?rp;

(iii) mc&ns ltu nctivaring said ulcctrudc wrap rviilr slccriual cncrB!,

ttrrur wid soffr$c ol'tlircct ulc.r:lric ourrenl,;

(in) urcaus tlrr pcriodir:ally rcvirsfurg purarity ul' sujd di*cr Elci:rric

cuncnt; and
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tl') fl104ns for inactir:aring mirJ *tsc'jd* u.rap, tlrcrcb-v tamtnaring
flow ntl rli*ct dcotric cu*cnr to said electmtre urrp. ffonr said
srluree of dirr:ct ,i:lct:lriu uu[tnl:

B" Snrurating sard tjrsl kye.r ul, said elecrode
conductive fluid;

wrap rvith an electrically

L:' Plocing sairl etcctnxk': wrap up{Jn an individual for hs1tment of a damaged
tis{tls m&!s sn as to cncscnliall,v r:onrplctcly utrcirclo.said damlged tissus ntars wirh ,raid
clactrodc qrapl arrd

D' Applying tn ahcrrrslirtg rlirucr uuffunt with r duty qlrl€ of ,00065 [Iz to
'00085 IIa to *aid electrnrle wrnp, ir *cuonlantrs with ra tberapeudc prorocol, so os u,
effec't xcentiully uniforru dispffsal ol'clucrrical cn€rxy rvithin said sccond loycr of said
elecuodc wrqp, and, theruby. ovtr uaid ti*t layrr uf said ole.ctrods rrap pmximaue to said
darnnged tissue mass,

wiih the proviso thot cncfu oisfli(l lirut unrl uar:h uf said sccund laycr of said nrap
ffe essentially cocxtcltsivc with irn$ unolher, md othenvisc conform to a ponion of an
individunl's hndy so as to prrrvidc tn csrcntial rrni{Lrrm putt$m of rhcrapeutic encrgy.
distrlhution: ond

C. Repeorirrg Stup (D) ur loast unc adtlitiousl tirus,
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r RECEIVED

t4AY 1 2 l|fi
OFFICE-UI TryROLLMENT

r AND DlsctPLtNE{.\rqrc _
I Technotogies \urlc 71 I . Ihr),rlr.d Oak! aA 91 162 ,l(A

LPIt I Itchnolor,-ic's. lnc.
ll l9 L fir'rrrsand ()al's Rlr.C
Srritc 2l I

I'lrotrs;rrrcl ()als, CIA 9ll(12

MarlStop ()[r])
L; S. [)arcrrr irnd I radcmark (,rtt'i.:c
l'O R<rx 1450
Alexandrizr. Vrrgrnia 22-l I l- I 450
vln t'ACSlMt t,8 57 t-27J-0074

ivla-r I "i. l0l .l

Re : John fl. F'aro
Registrntir-rn No: 25859

Dcar Sir/Madam

latn the l)iructor ol l'hrisornt Ptv L-td and rts wholly rrwned [-J.S. subsrdian..
LPR f I cchnologies. l.ni: I was rcJcrrcd to Mr. I :rr'o as an c\perienccd patcnr pr.lctitroncr
u ho could hclp us advance our then-pcnilrng patent application (09/565.5 1 9 entitled
"N,tcthod and Apparalus lbr l'erlbrmrng M icrocurLcnr lrlcctrorhrrap-v) (the " '5 la
Application'), rrrthin lhc i'SP IO vvhr:rr wc lrrr,:C him to hclp u-s ol-rtain u palcnr ln
L)cccnrber 1002

'thc Filing of the'5l9 Application,rDd lts luternational ()orrntcrpurts

In Aprrl ,](lO(). thc r!1\'en1()r:i (i-,nt: rrJ u horn rs in\' no\\ dr:i:sascrl busrrrcss panncr')
workcd wtlh tirc attornu),s ut 1hc llowrc-! 5rrnon la* lirm lo rlratt thc patcnt appltcali()n.
*lriclr u'as filcd hv llrat firnr on Sr:plerntrcr'7 l(lO0 S()rnolimr thcrcaflcr. thc rnvcntors
assigncd their ri,.1N15 to [-..I'R I

Ilelwccn lvlay 1).4. 20() l. the (- rrllcrrs f rrnr in ,\u;n';rlra tlltcl palent applicirtrons
with lP Australja and the ltrtcllcctual Properll ()lJlt;c of Nc* Zt:iilanrl on buhalf r>[]:l'l{-l
Each oltjrcse applicalions is h.rsccl upcrrr and nuarl) r{lcnlrcirl to tlre '519 Applrcation
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LrBOr 5 ar a

( )n SePrcmbe r h. 2o{) l. rhc J lorr r eS t-rrnr ti lcrl ;r P(-. 1 rc(Jucst wrIh Wll,() clainting
prrorit;, lothc'5l9Appiicatron(rhc"l,Ci4pplrtalr()n J. l'irr.jlgApplrcaiioDurrdlhe
PC'T Applicatlon are rclentical

'l'he lnte.national Success of thc (',unrcrJrarrs t, rhc '5 l9 Appticati.n

()rt Nlarch 14, 2()til. thc l)C I Applicatir-rrr *'as published rrrrdcr Inrcrnational
Puhlicattott Ntrrnbcr *',, 92tf0()1i5. Ihc rJcscrrptrorr ('f tile utvr:nt.ion crrnlarncd in tlre
P( 1 Applical)|rn rs irJcnltcaj tei th.Lr t,l thc \ l9 r\;.rpJiu;rtrirrr

()n Septcmbcr(). l{)(.}2. thc Irircl}':(.iual [)r,rperry ()tlicc of New ,/.caland gr;utcd
NcrrZcalart<jPatcrtLNLl Sll5OThnscdcntircJrrro()ntirc'5lgApplr(ation (trri)ctnber
24.201)2. lP Auslraira glt\nl(d to I IIR I ALr:itrelr;rn Sranrl;rrrj Patt'nt SerialNo 750177
(ltrc "'117 Palant") hased entrrciy ulrrrr lltc'.i l!) AfrpJrcnlitrn

()tr February 6.20()1. \\/lP() puhlished an ISR lirr t.hc PC'I Applicatrrrn. 'l'be ISR
dicJ not rnclu,Js a singlu reiercrrce trr rrtr rloaLrnrcnt. palcnl i;r publrcalion. hclievcd to
prohibrt a finding r>1'patcntlrhilnv o{ thc clairns r-rt'tjre PC"l Application. 'I'har rs. therc
werc no '.X" re terencc-s included ln th. ISR. and lhr)re wcrc no "Y.' rcfcrcncr-s inclLtdcd irr
thc I SR

()n Marclt .l l- 2001. rn consi(leratirrt oi tttc lSR. tlic larr' firrl of \'enner Shipley
l-1.(' submittcrd a l:uropcln [)atcnt Appirc al,on rn thc i-.uropc,,ln ]'atenr ()fficc clainring
pnoril-v tir lhc l'(.'I Applicatron and lo thc -5 l9 Applicutron (lhe "l:.uropean I,alent
Application") 'l'hc sonrenls r)f tlre F-Lrropean Patcnt Applrcation arc nearly idcntical to
ihe '5l9 Applicarion

()n [)ecentbr. r 2tl, ]1.0()6. rhc V..nnrr [trnt notrilr-d thc l;rrropcan [ialcrrt (-)l'fice that
F-l)R'l had assrgned rn rrFhtr tn 1))c l:Lrr,rfrt:arr l):rti:r'rl Applrcation t,r'TJrrrsL;rnt
l l 9 On ()ctobcr l6 .1007 tirc l uropriirr l'alcnt ot-licr Fratltcd to lhlisoinr [:rrropcarr
Patenl No. El'13155-rO b;rstd upon llru't )ti Applrcalron

,Mr. f nrrr's Proseculion and ,tbandolrurtll rrI lhe '519 Application

()n Decerlrbcr 12.20(12, l-aro ruplaucd tirr' ).lowrc_v tirm as counsc'l ol recLrrd
hclblc tlre U:iP'l() irr r-,rnncctrttn u rtlr t[ru 5 19 A;>plicatinrr t]etrvccn Janrrary' l.2-()01
antl Novcnlhcr .](t. l(,t(ts. ljaro Illr:d s'rvcri)l arTre rr(Jrrc,lrs irr tlrc '5 i9 Applir:ation with the
trSPl() antl N1r l:aro prrrrsuctl an lJrpcal rrr thc ''r l9 Appli;rtron bq'lbre tlre Board ol'
I)alerrt .\ppcal s anri I rrlr:rilrcne (,s.

()n Novcrnbcr 19. f005. Mr lrarl scrlr. nrr un e-rnari to intirrnr lhal t\\'() clairns of
thc '5I9 .\pplication wcre r)l()*cd clurmr .l und .1
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()n l)ccenthr'r l{"r.2(l()(r, N1r. i irro \ct)t.r) ntc atr c-rrrarl statir)El tltat lre }rail lrled ll
appcal witlr thc L-r\Pl (-) rrI llru '5 lQ Applr.'rrti(r,) h;t lhat 6rri- e lairn 1lrnl "covcrs rhe
conrmcrcial ernbr)dintunl' rsrn-dit)ccl allowcd rrtrr ''I)ccernher 2006 l.-ntarl'.) Anachcd ro
Ihc I)eccmher 2006 F-nrail wrs a c()p! L;t 1he appeal bric.f /llcd b1, Faro rn connec.tic.rn
*ith the appeal (the ',\ppcal [Jrrel')

()n Junc l. 2009. tlro FJoard ol'['etr'r)l .{ppcals :rrld lnlerlerrinces rendcred a
Jccisiort otr appcn) ilr Ihf : ],1 Applrratron and \(rl i1 non-r'^tf nrlihlc ll,o-mt.rnth cJr:atjline
Itrr [;irrr ln ac1 tn order t() irv(,t(J ahii]td()r)rttg. lhs \ l9 {pplicarrrrn. I was lcr,cr advrscd ,rf
lirrs bv Mr. I aru Bclncrtn lunc l. 2t)L)(i itnri ,\ul:Ltsl 17. 2()09 t() n)y kn()wlctjgc. lvlr. l.aro
ciid nothing

()n ,ArrgrrsL I r, 20U9. thr. ( \)']1 ( I r:,r,rcrj a Notre r. r:l Abandonnr!nt ol thc '5lr)
AppJrcution. Mr l-arLr Jiri nr,r a(irrsc rn,; ,rl llrr: until ()\cr tu() )cors litler

.[o 
tny kttortledqa al lt(,r Itine .ll(ur r|r'r]t\ irrlf tlrc \olicc ,rf Abandonlncnt thrt>irgh

:\ovcmber20tl.,lidfvlr F:rrnncnlir)nttrr.{.'\[,[{)lrrrc:vrr.t:theahandlntd 5lg
Application, e\'en th()ugh thc Ncrtte c trl ,\hanrlunnrunt ltavc nr)ticc lhat pclilr6ns 1o;gyiy,g
shLruld bc pr()rnpll,! lll0d

l\tr. Faro's (hrrrnrurrications and [,:rck 'l'hcrcol'rvith [iI)R'l

[)cspitc rny rcFcatcd aficn)pls IhrouShout 2OO7-2001] tc.r ohtarn a rcsponse liorn
M:.. Far<-r rcgarding thc sta.tu.s of llre '5 l(i Apnlrcatiun. h!. rlid nol cornmrrnira!c nitlr rnr:
rcgarding thc '5li,l ApJrlir:alir>rr rrntrl ( )rlolrer ,l00fi

ln Octobcr 2()0[t. Mr Faro trrld n)(! lhat the 5l9 ,4.pplicatron was under appcal.
that lrc anticipated lhaL tl)c appeal ut,rrld be docketsd betorc a three-.iudge panel helore
thc cnd ol 200li. gr.td that he cntlciputcd ,rrrl arL,unrr:r1Is six rnonrhs thereaiicr. I hroLrghour
2(109. N4r [raro rcpcatcdll a.rsurcrl m(] lhst thc \19.\pp.ltcctron \\as undcranpeal

On Augrrst l7 .20()(/. thc Ll(,1'It ) rssrrccl lltr: N()lr(:c.ul Al)andr)nmcn1 ()1 lhc'519
Applicaiion whir:h uas nrarlcd lc l\vlr l'aro on tirl( riatr: ''l hc Notrec of Abandonmcnl
prc:lrdcd thal thc'519 ,\pp)rL.atr()n rva\ irhanilt,rrcrl (irrr: t0 lrvlr l(as(JIrs.

'Ihc flrst rcasirrr slitlr:iJ ui)\ h('u3ilsc 'ltllrc rlrcrsr,,rr Lry thr: tt<lard ol [)atcn1 A;rpr:als
and Intcrlcrcncc rcnr.lt-'Tr:rl r)r) 0l Jrrr)c lt)()! and brcar:sc the perrr'ld for sccl,ing crtrrrt
rcvicw ol'tlte dri:isrt,n lras uxptrcd an(l the ac are nu :rltoucd cJiur)ts "

I ht' sc'.cond stalc(i rcason rris buciJLrsc "la i call wa5 placed tri thc Applicant's
aBCnt. ,\4r .lohn Irarc,. on l)ll. lj()/U(, tr: r'lrrrk ()n lr)r: \li.r1!,s ,rf titrs case. A rncssirgc \!aS lcli
on Mr J';uo's ansucrirr;3 rrtachrrrr: \r, rcsparrl\c h;rs hccn recuivcd l'hc two-monltt
rc\ponsc pcriod t()r lilinp, arr al)pcal (rr ionrircrrcinu a crVrl acti(rn ltas passcd l hrs case is
dcemcrl ahantloncd "

l)cs;rire Mr l'aro's frnowledgc tlrat tlre 519 Applicatiorr alrcrrly harj hccri
abandoned ncarll'rinc vcar cnrlter.,lrt irrlr '10 20 l(1. I ir'crircd an E-mail
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lront Mr l'arr) stalttrB that hr llall rttcrnplcd ro ilclerrrrinc thc sliltus 'f fhc palcnl
applrcatron and had r'cl to hu.rr lrack frrrn rlrr- t,\l) I O ahorn lrir rncluirjes

Itrorn Julr l0ll) !r,rl,l Mar'. lt li)ll. Vlr iato uirrl n()l c()mmunrcJtc s'llll nlc ()r
anyi)'')e at l:PR I- ls tr' tht: rtatrrs rrf t[rt' Sl() ,\pplt(:i]lrr,rr In \,1arch 20 ll. I ancmpled a

lelsphone c()I't\cr\alr()11 rr rlh \{r ['arn rL:gardin.{ liru stotus ol llrc'519 Applrcation. DLrring
this call. l-lr,r'hur,pr uf lrn mt'

Atlcr Mr liaro lrung lrp un rnu. lscnl lrrnr \cv(ral lrxl n)essul:cs rtnd rcqucsted tnu
cLlrrcnl status ol tlre "i l(., Applicalrr)lt I xls() rillIt:r1ed nrore ihan a half -dozt:n tclcphonc
c.1lls 1() Mr I'arti. n\)nr,'()l r"ltrclr rrili dn!\\e rcil I le ll rrtanv \,1)icc mAll mcssatlcs l'()r MI
l:ilfcl ,rn hrs ansrvertnl{ ,-Itiliililr'rc anrl I dl\!) \r:nt ILlri) ntore lhan Lcn t-matl mr:ssagcs ()vcI
lhc ncxt scvcn m()nths

]n Nrrveltrl;er lO l l. orrlr trlicf f,tl!'rne\ R'scr [-arahmantl ( 'I:arahnriind") scnt ]vIr
l-aro a lel1er tegucsl,rl! arr Update r)l th(. \lf,trrf (il litr' 't i') ,\nPlre ation ;rnd :: full copy. of
the "lile history" lor the s l9 Appltualrt,r.r. ri id I rjisc,rver thc e,riislr:nce ol'the Noricc o1'

Abaltd0ttnrcnl - ()!er l\\() \icjlT\ ilttcr lhc tlSt']l-():cnl Mr lrarrr IhL: Nrrlicc 0l'
A bandonrne nt

iv1r. Faro still rcfuscd 1o scn.J to I'arahnronrj. l]PR J. ()r 'l hrisoinr a cLrpv 1vf thc fi;t
hrst()rv o, 1hc '51() ApFtlrcalr(rrr thal w,as in Mr I rrrrr's posscssrorr Mr. l-aro hilled an<l

collecled liom l'.1'R I approxrnrarel\' $.1 8.{)(}0.()tl ln lecs 1'or leqal scrvices provrdcd in
connscliorr rvitlr lrrs ulLlnlat. ah;rndorlnteni n.l thr -5lt) Applrcalion.

Atier thc lore igr pirlcnli qe ri Ilranled. rvr soltJ rivrr $ 1,000.00(] r.rf deviccs in
Asia in 0 tlrrce monlh F,crr()(i ()rir'trrlcnl prrrllirlir, w.t) lr) irnprJrtaDl elreckirst iterrr wrltr
our prospcclive Jnve!;lrlr\ lhrv alwrr s rrrqrrirrd airout ilrt: status ui thc '519 Apgrlrcaliorr.
We lost slgnirlcellt itr,,'cslnrt rrl :)pp()rllrnillc\ ir()n.r insltlrtlional rnvestor: <Jue tn rto small
part to rhe lrrghly vrsrtrlc lack rrl prultres,, on r;ur L. s prtent 0rrsing fronl Mr l'aro's lack
of cc.rmmunicali()n\ \\'ili) us;rnLl ltts iallrrr(: l{) lril(qirJttjl\ ptosucule thc irJ:plicatiorr.

t rtccrrlll, cr.rnrlucluJ I (lrrrrylc sc,rT0h i,n Nlr l:aro arrti was stunncd !\ llcn I

tlrscovcrcd lhat hc $as drscrplincd tri lhc j lorrda l,ar tn JLtl_v 201 I fbr tailrng to
conlmr.rnicaLe 1o l.r e licnt l]tiir ri\ 1"r51;-; t ) irpJ)lrr,ntri)rr rr;r: ;thlndt'nr:d I alsr, ssc liorn m-v
(iooglc scarch that Mr Falr u'as tliscrJrlrl{'(l .)lrst sr\ !rr()nth\ agc> h} the t,SP f () lirr tlre
sarnc behavior - abandonrtrg t ISI> I ( ) applrcatr,;ns ll()w'cver. ac'c0rrlrrrg tl) lhc documcnl
thlt I lirund e6 Qolrglc ls5Lrod h\ lhc I-rSl I (l hr a!rLrally. oh.jectecl to thc rirsciplrnc
imposed by the Flori.la tlar rn 2(tlI Yct. rt scr'nrs tYom rcvrcwrng his prrblic rcprinrarrd
from thc [:lorida I]rr frrr thiir miriconduci :hat hs rL'tn()rsc had hccn consrdcrcd a\ a
'mitigatinlr factor" i lou is il rernorse u,lrcn F:rrrr ll)rn dispurcs thit. same mrsconducl

be tbrc rhc tiSP IO?

llad I l.norr rr rrl Mr. Irurr-.'s FLrllr:rrr tri tondrrcl in lhanc.loninB rsprcsunliltton oi'his
clrcnls and his repcatr',1 thilurc trr r'onrmLrr)(r:ltL'. I u'crrrlci r)r)l ha\,c hrrcd hrrn lirclrcvc
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lhat sllould Mr f sr,rcorltrnue io l)c l)rrnrrlcd t{r i.lal lrs a iauycr. scrious iniur) will occLtr
l() otht:r POt('nlral clit;rrrr

S incercly.

',rlt:.1
11,Wl l.,rt.y,t t^." (l t ,i i,- i,.-.**

Katlrcrirrc .A BlaLc. lvlan.r;rrr. f hr isutrtt I)t\ I tll
President & CIi(). 1:Pll-['l'cchnc,lLrg.ics. Jnc
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Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB Document 37-4 Filed 07/23/18 Page 2 of 6 PagelD# 11806

UNnTo STAHS PATFNT AND TRADDIARK OFFICF

ome so_s.w m asm or

JUL 1 1 20¼

Mr. .Iohn 10 Faro CERTIFIED MAll7o!üQ¶½GGl/(d4!b
Faro & Associates RETL PeN RECElPT REQUESTED
P t_t Hox 490014
Key Biscavne. Florida 33149

PERSUNAl AND CONFlD1 NTIAl.

Re: File No. G2389
REQUES I l-OR INFORMA flON AND EVIDENCE UN1JER 37 C.E.R. § I ' "( A

Dear Mr. Fare:

Please he advised that the Office of Emolhncut and Discipline ("OED") received information
rega:ding you from Ms. Katherine lilake on behalfof EPR1 lechnologies. hae.. and or Thrisoint
Pty Ltd. The issuance of this letter means that the information has passed OED's initial

screening process. As discessed fi rther below. the Ol-D Dircetor requests your comments on the
information before determining whether any t hdation of the Unhed States Patent and Trademark

Office MISPT0" or "Office'') Code of Profeniond Responsibility may kne occurred.

You should understand that OED must develop all information regarding the information
received, including that information which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of a
registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have occurred.
Your statement of position may result in a Jeeision to Jismiss the :natter. You inay wish to
retain or consuh with counsel before submitting a statement ofyour position. Your response to
this letter should be received by OED within thirty (30) days of the date of this letter. or by
August 11, 2014, whichever is later.

The alleged facts presently under consideration are as follows:

1. OED received infennation from Ms. Katherine Blake on behalf of EPRT Technologies.
Inc.. and or Thrisoint Pty Ltd. W. Blake is purponed to be the President and CEO of
EPRT Technologies. ine.. and the Manager and Director of 1hrisoint Pty Ltd. EPRT
Technologies. Ir.c. is purported to be the whol y owned subsidiary of Ibrisoin· Pty I td

Since the alleged conduct occurred prmr to Niay 3. 2013. the t '5PTO Code of Professional
Responsibility is applicabic in th½ investig:nion Ncc 37 C.E R. M 10.20-10.112. Effective
May 3. 2013. the applicable Rules ef Conduct are the 15Pf0 Rules f Profession:d Conduct.

Scc 37 C.F.R. ES 1 I 101-1 i.90 t.
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Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB Document 37-4 Filed 07/23/18 Page 3 of 6 PagelD# 11807

Mr. John H. Faro Page 2
Faro & Associates
OED File No.: G2389

2. Ms. Blake stated that you were retained in December 2002 to continue the prosecution
of U.S. Patent Application Serial No. 09/656,519 entitled "Method and Apparatus for
Performing Microcurrent Electrotherapy" ("the '519 application") on behalf of EPRT
Technologies, Inc.. and/or Thrisoint Pty Ltd (hereinafter individually or collectively
referred to as "EPRT").

3. Please explain in detail regarding the '519 application:

a. any services that you were retained to render on behalf of EPRT;

b. any services that you rendered on behalf of EPRT; and

c. any services that you were retained to render on behalf of EPRT but did not
render.

4. Please provide OED with any agreements between you and EPRT regarding the
services that you were retained to render regarding the '519 application and any fees for
services rendered regarding the '519 application.

5. Please provide OED with copies of any invoices that you sent to EPRT for services
rendered by you regarding the '519 application and copies of any payments that you
received from EPRT for services that you rendered regarding the '519 application.

6. Ms. Blake stated that between 2003 and 2005, you filed several amendments and an
appeal in the '519 application. Please explain in detail the services that you rendered
and/or the actions that you took in filing these amendments and appeal in the '519
application and the reasons therefor. Please provide OED yvith any documents
supporting your position.

7. Ms. Blake stated that in December 2006, you sent an email to her stating that you had
filed an appeal with the USPTO in the '519 application but that one claim that "covers
the commercial embodiment" remained allowed. Please explain in detail the steps that
you took to determine that an appeal should be filed in the '519 application.

8. Ms. Blake further stated that in 2007 through late 2008. she attempted to contact you
without receiving any response. Please explain whether Ms. Blake attempted to contact
you during this time and whether you responded to any such inquiries. Please provide
OED with any docurnents supporting your position.

9. Ms. Blake stated that in October 2008, you told her that the '519 application was under
appeal before the USPTO's Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences ("Board").

10. Ms. Blake stated that on June 1, 2009, the Board rendered a Decision on Appeal
("Decision") in the '519 application affirming the examiner's rejections of the claims
therein, and setting a non-extendable two-month deadline to act in order to avoid
abandoning the '519 application.
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Mr. John H. Faro Page 3
Faro & Associates
OED File No.: G2389

11. Ms. Blake stated that you did not advise EPRT of the Board's Decision, did not file an
appeal to the Board's Decision, and did not take any action to prevent abandonment of
the '519 application after the Board's Decision. Please explain in detail what actions
that you took with regard to the Board's Decision including, but not limited to, with
regards to advising EPRT of the Decision and any actions that you took with regard to
continuing prosecution of the '519 application after the Board's Decision. Please
provide OED with any supporting documentation.

12. If you did not advise EPRT of the Board's Decision or take any action with regard to
continuing prosecution of the '519 application after the Board's Decision, please
explain in detail why no action occurred. Please provide OED with any documents
supporting your position.

13. Ms. Blake stated that a Notice of Abandonment issued in the '519 application on
August 17, 2009, but that you did not advise EPRT of the Notice of Abandonment until
over 2 years thereafter. Please explain in detail whether you advised EPRT of this
Notice of Abandonment. If you did not advise EPRT of the Notice ofAbandonment,
please explain why you did not do so. Please provide OED with any documents
supporting your position.

14. Ms. Blake stated that in July 2010, she received an email from you stating that you
attempted to determine the status of the '519 application but you had not yet heard back
from the USPTO about your inquiries. Please explain in detail whether you sent an
email of this nature at this time to Ms. Blake. If you did, please explain your alleged
statement to Ms. Blake when the Board had already issued its Decision on June 1, 2009
and the Notice of Abandonment issuedonAugust 17, 2009 in the '519 application.
Please provide OED with any documents supporting your position.

15. Ms. Blake stated that between July 2010 and October 20 1 1, you did not communicate
with her or anyone at EPRT regarding the '519 application and did not reply to any
communications from EPRT. Please explain in detail whether you communicated with
EPRT during this time. If you did not, please explain why you did not reply to
communications from EPRT regarding the '519 application. Please provide OED with
any documents supporting your position.

16. Please provide OED with any correspondence between you and EPRT regarding the
'519 application.

17. Please provide OED with any instructions that you received from EPRT regarding the
'519 application.

18. Ms. Blake further stated that after learning of the Notice of Abandonment in the '519
application in November 2011, Mr. Roger Farahmand sent a letter to you requesting a
status update and a copy of the file history for the '519 application. Ms. Blake also
stated that you did not respond to Mr. Farahmand's request or provide a copy of the file
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history for the '519 application. Please explain in detail whether you received this
request, any actions that you took in response, and the reasons for such action or lack
thereof. Please provide OED with any documents supporting your position.

19. The file history for the '519 application shows that a Notice of Abandonment was
mailed to you in the '519 application on August 12, 2004. Please explain the
circumstances surrounding why this Notice of Abandonment was issued and the steps
that you took with regard to filing a Petition Under 37 CFR 1.137(B) dated October 27,
2004, to revive the '519 application.

20, Please address any additional information in Ms. Blake's grievance.

21. Please provide OED with any additional information regarding the '519 application and
this matter.

22. Please provide OED with all documents relating to the matters set forth herein.

The following Disciplinary Rules are currently under consideration in this investigation:
37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a)(proscribing engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct),
10.23(b)(4)(proscribing conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation),
10.23(b)(5)(proscribing conduct that is prejudicial to the administration ofjustice),
10.23(b)(6)(proscribing engaging in conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness
to practice before the Office), 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(2)(i)(proscribing knowingly giving
false or misleading information or knowingly participating in a material way in giving false or
misleading information to a client in connection with any immediate, prospective or pending
business before the Office, 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8)(proscribing failing to inform a client
of correspondence received from the Office), 10.36(a) and (b)(proscribing charging excessive
fees), 10.77(c)(proscribing neglecting a legal matter), 10.84(a)(proscribing failing to seek the
lawful objective of a client and failing to carry out a contract of employment entered into with a
client for professional services), 10.85(a)(5)(proscribing knowingly making a false statement of
law or fact), and 10.112(c)(4)(proscribing failing to deliver to the client property in the
possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive).

The OED Director will make no determination for disposition of this matter until you have been
afforded an opportunity to fully state your position with respect thereto within thirty (30) days of
the date of this letter. This is your opportunity pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 558(c), if appropriate, to
demonstrate that you are or have come into compliance with the USPTO Code of Professional
Responsibility/USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct. Please note that the USPTO Rules of
Professional Conduct impose an obligation to cooperate with OED in an investigation of any
matter before it, and proscribe knowingly failing to respond to a request from OED. 37 C.F.R.
§ 1 1.801(b). In addition, if you do not respond to this Request for Information or any OED
request, the Committee on Discipline may draw an adverse inference in making a determination
under 37 C.F.R. § 11.23. See Baxter v. Palmigiano, 425 U.S. 308 (1976). Should you need
more time to submit your position, you may request a reasonable extension of time. Please note
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that an extension of time for responding to this letter, if granted, shall not exceed sixty (60) days
from the date of this letter.

Accordingly, we invite your response to the alleged facts presently under consideration. In your
response, please also state your account of the events in a chronological and specific manner and
include copies of any particularly pertinent documents referred to in your response. Your
response should address.the information in each of the numbered paragraphs in this letter. You
may also address the information in view of the referenced Disciplinary Rules. Also, please
provide any other comments or evidence you believe would be helpful in considering this matter.

We will attempt to verify the statements in your response just as we do with the information
provided to us. For this reason, and because a registered practitioner could be subject to
discipline for making a materially false statement or deliberately failing to disclose a material
fact in connection with a disciplinary matter (see 37 C.F.R. §§ 1 1.804(c) and 1 J.804(d)), you
should accurately set forth your factual statements.

lf you have any questions, you or your counsel should not hesitate to contact OED at
(571) 272-4097. Thank you for your anticipated cooperation and assistance in this important
matter. Please address your response to Mail Stop OED, U.S. Patent and Trademark Office,
P.O. Box 1450, Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450. Please refer to OED file number G2389 in the
heading ofyour response.

Sincerely,

Jennifer A. Harchick
Staff Attorney
Office of Enrollment and Disciplinc

Encl.
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Law Offices Of
SH 20%

FARO & ASSOCIATES ' W twouvre
1395 Brickell Avenue - Suite 800 % :)mry r

Miami. Florida 33129
Email: JohnF75712@aol.com

Telephone: (305) 76|-6921
Facsimile: (305) 726-0029
Evenings (305) 76 I-6921

September 11, 2014
Via Facsimile 571-273-0074

Jennifer A. Harchick. Esq.
OED - Staff At1orney
MS: OED
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria. VA 22313-1450

Dear Ms. Harchick:

Re: OED File No. G2389
Request for Information
Complaint by EPT Technologies vs. John H. Faro

The same issues raised by EPRT with OED complaint against me are the subject of
litigation now pending in the Federal District for the Southern District of Florida, Thrisoint Pty,
Ltd & Eprt Technologies. Inc. v. John H. Faro Et Al, Case No. 13-CV-23893- HUCK/SULLIVAN
(DC SD Fla) .

1. Enclosed is the most recent EPRT Amended Complaint (malpractice) and my
Motion to Dismiss. I would request that the OED review of this matter be abated and permit the
judicial review to be concluded first, insofar as the same issues and same parties (in the EPRT
Complaint to the OED) are now before the Federal Court.

2. It is clear from the prosecution history, that the EPRT patent application. which is
the subject of the EPRT complaint, was thoroughly prosecuted and the finally determined to lack
patentable subject matter. It is also further apparent that the continued pursuit of this EPRT
application in the Patent Office was not permitted without first obtaining the approval of the
Commissioner of Patents. 37 CFR 1.1982 There was no basis for either reopening examination

This is second lawsuit filed against me by EPRT, the first one having been dismissed , Eprt Technologies,
Inc. v. John II. Faro Et Al, Case No. 12-CV-05047-LINDSAY (DC Dallas Div. Texas)

2 §L198 Reopening after afinal decision of the Board ofPatent Appeals and Interferences.
When a decision by the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences on appeal has become final for judicial
review, prosecutian of the proceeding before the primary examiner will not be reopened or reconsidered

by the primary examiner except under the provisions of §l.1 14 or §41.50 of this title without the written

APPX 285 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

GOV #10 Page 1 of 38



before the Patert Office. or an appeal to the District Court. See enclosed Motion to Dismiss --

Exhibit "1"

3. Around January 1, 2008, I closed my office at 44 W. Flagler Street, Miami, Fl, in
favor of an "executive suite" relationship at 28 W. Flagler Street, Miami, Fl. I did not have any
physical presence or office staff at this suite address, and simply used its facilities as a mailing
address, and for conference room access. A Change of Correspondence Address (28 W. Flagler
Street, Miami, F1 ), was filed with the USPTO on February 1 1, 2008. I never received either the
Board of Appeals decision, or the Notice of Abandonment. at 28 W. Flagler Street, Miami, FI
address, See C/mnge of Correspondence Address, dated February 11, 2008, - Exhibit "2"

4. I made an inquiries on September 30, 2008, of the Board of Appeals, to ascertain

the status of the appeal of the patent application for the "Microcurrent Electrotherapy" technology.
See Faro & Associates Statement dated October 1, 2008 (note address on Statement) -Exhibit
"3" I do not recall what if anything I was told, other than the appeal was still pending.

5. This October 1, 2008 Statement also indicates that EPRT was seriously delinquent
in account with my office. more than $2,000 being more than 120 past due.

6. My recollection of events during the period from about 2008 to 2010, is that EPRT
abandoned pursuit of a number of matters. More specifically, EPRT and/or THRISOINT
requested estimates for trademark and patent applications and/or for the continuation of pursuit of
existing work or work in process, and declined to pursue any of the matter for which an estimate
was provided. See enclosed pro forma invoices to Thrisoint PTY, Ltd (EPRT holding
company) dated November 2008 and December 2009,-Composite Exhibit "4"

7. EPRT went out of business, at least in the United States, sometime during the period
(2009 - 2010) in which its pending application was before the Board of Appeals.

8. I believe EPRT eventually paid off its delinquent bill, in installments, over a period
of several months/year sometime in late 2009 or early 2010. EPRT was aware of my
unwillingness to undertake any further representation without first receiving a retainer for the
requested work. I do not believe I undertook any additional work for EPRT after the delinquent
account was brought current.

In summary - It is evident from my statement of October 1, 2008, (Exhibit "3") that I
endeavored to ascertain the status of the appeal when requested by EPRT and my efforts were
unsuccessful. 1 do not recall when I first learr.ed that the appeal of the final rejection had been
affirmed.

authority of the Director, and then only for the consideration of matters not already adjudicated,
sufficient cause being shown. (emphasis added)

APPX 286 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

GOV #10 Page 2 of 38



Whatever phone call may have been made to me by the Examiner in September 2009, was
likely returned. The Examiner comments in the Notice of Abandonment do not indicate the
content of her message, if any.

If you require additional information or clarification of the enclosed, please advise.

Sincerely,

Jol
Enclosures as per text
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(Scheduling Order in Malpractice Litigation Filing 

Of Dispositive Motions and July 13, 2015. 
Trial Date set for January 15, 2015) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 13-CV-23893-HUCK

EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, lNC.,

Plaintiff,

ESQ. JOHN H. FARO, individually,
TECHNOLOGY BUSW ESS LAW

GROUP, LLC, a Florida corporation

formerly known as Faro & Associates, LLC

Defendantts).

ORDER RE-SETTING TRIAL AND CALENDAR CALL

Counsel for the Plaintiff and the Defendants are advised that the trial in the above styled

cause is re-set for the two-week period beginning M onday, July 13, 2015 at 9:00 a.m .

Calendar Call will be W ednesday, July 8, 2014 at 8:30 a.m . before the Honorable Paul C.

Huck, W ilkie D. Ferguson, Jr. United States Courthouse, 400 North M iami Avenue, 13th Floor,

Courtroom 2, M iam i, Florida. The tim etable for pretrial procedures rem ains the same as

described in the Court's Trial Order (D.E. 551, and should be based on the new trial date.

DONE AND ORDERED in Cham bers, M iami, Florida, on January 14, 201 5.

., ;?' ' ' '
. e 

, .. . J;* , . . ' ..F
- C: ,-..-.'-' L-

Paul C. uck -....

United States District Judge

Copies furnished to:

A1l counsel of record.

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 105   Entered on FLSD Docket 01/15/2015   Page 1 of 1
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EXHIBIT “J” 
(OED Trial Witness & Exhibit List (40 Exhibits) 

Exh Nos. GOV 16 to GOV 40 
from Fed DC Malpractice Litigation) 

 
 

  

APPX 290 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



IN TIlE UNITED PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE
BEFORE TIIE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

In the Matter of:

JOl IN II. FARO Proceedine No. D2015-27

Respondent

RESPONDENT'S SUPPLEMENTAL EXIIIBIT I IST

Respomlent x Supplement to Exhibit I.ist. The Respondent initially identified the Exhibits

he intended to rely on September 27. 2015 (381 pages). including all of the OED Exhibits (3798

pages).

All of the Exhibits listed on the Respondent's Supplemental Exhibit I ist. with very limited

exception. are from the discovery in the parallel Federal District Court malpractice litigation. (in

excess of 9000 pages). the OED Exhibits. specifically. the -519 patent application file history

(entire file history listed as an OED Exhibit). and a compilation (by year) of the emails initial

identified by both the OED and the Respondent. Lastly, a number of the new exhibits (emails)

were not discovered by Respondent until March 2016, in preparation for the March 18. 2016.

testimonial deposition of the OED witness. Roger Farahmand . These emails were on a stick

drive, produced by the OED Grievant in the parallel malpractice litigation. and are relevant to the

defense of the OED allegations. most notably the emails (communications) between the

Respondent and the OED Grievant in July 2005 (RES Exh Bates No. 30. Bates No. 420) advising

Roger Farahmand was the OED (irievant's counsel in the malpractice litigation in the Federal
Court; and. his deposition and discovery of his documents was onnosed because of the attorney

client privileged. Notwithstanding, a "stick drive was produced. which did include a number of
his non-privilege documents. and was recently reviewed in anticipation ofthis deposition ofMarch
18. 2016.
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the OED Grievant the necessity to appeal to overcome the examiners linal rejections: and May 3 l.

2006 (RES Exh 31, Bates No 425). containing a detailed review of the issues on appeal.

These exhibits are now organized in a more retrievable form (chronologically). and.

multiple emails are now accessible in a consolidated exhibit, to present a more complete and

coherent picture of the communications between the Respondent and the OED Grievant.
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Accordingly, the following List of Exhibits is herein submitted. including the annexures to

the Exhibits identified by the OED

EXHIBIT No. BATES NOS DESCRIPTION

March 27, 2002
1-8 Ollice Action dated

Res Exh No. .hine 19, 2002 email frominver tor,
9-12 Estes. to Patent Attornev Al Halluin

2

Res Exh No. September 20, 2002 Office Action
l 3-19 (Final Rejection)

3

Res Exh No. Nov. 19, 2002
20-21 Email from Respondent to Inventors

4
Res Exh No. Nov 20, 2002.

22 email from Blake to Respondent
5

Res Exh No- Nov 22, 2002
23 email from Inventor. Estes to

6 Respondent
Res Exh No January 10, 2003

24-28 Request for Continuing Examination
7

SOL RCE

File Ilistory

Grievant

File Ilistory

Grievant

Grievant

Grievant

File llistory

Res Exh No. ¯Nov-ember 14, 2005
27-37 Office Action File Ilistorv

8 _ ___ (Final Rejection)
Res Exh No. Nov 29, 2005

38-40 Email from Respondent to Blake & Grievant
9 Estes

Res Exh No. Conductive Silver Electrode
41-55 (Filed Aug 28, 2008) Grievant

10 Grievant Improved Product
Res Exh No. June 1, 2009

55-56 Docketing Notice File 1listory
II Board of Patent Appeals

Res Exh No. October 5, 2011
57 Blake 1 etter to Respondent Grievant

12 __ 1fave you moved"
Res Exh No. December 10, 2012

56-65 EPRT malpractice complaint against Respondent
13 Respondent
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EXHIBIT No. BATES NOS DESCRIPTION SOURCE

Res Exh No. June 30, 2015

66-75 Grievant Memo re EPRT Standing to Grievant
14 ___ Sue Respondent

Res Exh No. July 1, 2015
76-88 Respondent Opposition to EPRT Respondent

15 Standine to Sue
Res Exh No. July 8, 2015

89-94
16

Res Exh No.
95-104

17 135-143
(duplicate)

Res Exh No.

105- 132
18

ResExh No.

Grievant Reply to Respondent Grievant
Opposition to EPRT Standing

July 11, 2015

Respondent Sureply to Grievant Reply Respondent
re Standing

July 20, 2015

Daubert llearing Transcript Respondent
(pages 7-8 no EPRT Standing)

August 21, 2015
145-21 I Notice of Filing Transcript - Ilearing on Respondent

19 Summary Judgment
Res Exh No. June 23, 2015

213-228 Respondent Revised Respondent
20 Motion for Summary Judgment

Res Exh No. July 22, 2015
229-232 Order - Daubert Hearing Respondent

21 "No Redressable 1larm
Res Exh No. August 17, 2015

233-236 Order-Summary Judgment Respondent
22 Grievant - No Standing

No Malpractice Prior to December 23.
2005 -

Res Exh No. August 23, 2015

237-246 Respondent Request Rehearing & Respondent
23 . Reconsideration re Summary Judument

Res Exh No. August 25, 2Ï)15
247 Order -- Defer Ruling on Respondent Respondent

24 Request Rehearing
Res Exh No. August 31, 2015

248-26I Memo Method Claim Enforceability . Respondent
25 (Divided Infringement

Res Exh No January 22 2Ï)Ï5

262-330 Blake Deposition Transcript Respondent
26
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XIHBIT NO. BATES NOS DESCRIPTION SOURCE

Res Exh No January 16, 2015
330-362 Maybeck Deposition Transcript

Res Exh No January 14, 2015
363-391 Gray Deposition Transcript

Res Exh No August 31, 2006
392-418 Examiner's Answer Brief

29 ()Vithdraw Allowance Claims 3 &4)
Res Exh No Compilation 2005 Emails

419-423 (Bates No. 420 - July 2005
30 Appeal of '519 Application Is Likely)

Res Exh No Compilation 2006 Emails
424-427 (Bates No. 425 - May 31, 2006

31 Transmittal letter Appeal Brief
Res Exh No November 21, 2007

Respondent

Respondent

File History
(Gov. #1)

Respondent

Respondent

428 Blake Email to Faro Respondent
32 "Thank vou..unwavering support"

Res Exh No March 17, 2008

429 Faro to Blake Respondent
33 11ole of David Estes re '519 pattent 1

Res Exh No Compilation 2008 Emails
431-439 Multiple Patent Activities Respondent

34 New Electrode Wrap Patent \ppin
Res Exh No April 8, 2009

440 Blake letter to Faro Respondent
35 "Thank vou patience & eredit"

Res Exh No Compilation 2009 Emails
441-443 "New patent & FDA registration for Respondent

36 silver electrode wrap"
Res Exh No Compilation 2010 Emails

444-449 I Multiple patent & trademark matters Respondent
37

Res F,xh No Compilation 2011 Emails
450-457 Abandoned '519 foreign equivalent Respondent

38 patent applications (Bates No. 450)
Res Exh No 4Ï8 October 5, 2011

Blake email to Faro Respondent
39 "Ilave vou moved?"

Res Exh No Compilation 2008-2010 Respondents
Faro & Associates Statements

40 ______ 2008-2010
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Respectfully,

/s/ John H. Faro, Esq.

Correspondence Address:
Reg. No. 25.859

John H. Faro
23751 Merano Court
Unit 201
Bonita Springs, FL 34134

Phone 305, 761-6921
Facsimile 305. 726-0029
Emails: Johnf7_5712 aol com

Johnf75712 email.com
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I IIEREBY CERTIFY that this document. entitled

Respondent s Supplemental Exhibit List

was filed and served, as per the attached Distribution List. on this 5* day of March 2016.

Respectfully.

/s/ John I1, Faro
John 1I Faro. Esq.
Reg. No. 25.859

DISTRIBUTION LIST:

1. Clerk, Office of IIearings & Appeals: aljM hud.gov

2. Edmar Amaya. Esq.: edmar:amayaâedamlaw.com

3. Associate Solicitor: PTO-Ill)Deases // uspto.gov

4. Terry I . Kepler. Esq.: tracy.kepler usptg.gov

5. Robin J. Crabb, Esq. robin.crabb uspto.gov
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EXHIBIT “K” 
(Transcript, Daubert Hearing, 

Re: Respondent Motion inLimine 
EPRT Damage Expert & Report 

Dated July 20, 2015) 
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In the Matter of:

In re: John H. Faro

May 10, 2016
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13 (40 - 43 )
In re: John Faro

5/10/2016

Page 42
1 Q And who was the primary contact person 1 A Yes.

2 for the Respondent at your company at the time he

3 was retained?

4 A I was.

5 Q Did that ever change over the course of

6 Respondent's representation?

7 A No, I have always been the contact

l 8 person.

9 Q Who had the authority to retain or

in tenninate the Respondent's services?

11 A Mr. Wendell and myself.

2 Q Is that the December 12th, 2002 Power of

3 Attorney revoking Power and appointing the
4 Respondent?

5 A Yes.

6 Q Is that your signature at the bottom of
7 the page?

a A Yes, it is.

9 Q And the address listed on that document

10 is 44 West Flagler Street, Suite 1100, Miami,

11 Florida 33130-1808?
, 12 Q And who had the authority to allow or to

13 direct the Respondent to take action on the '519

14 Application?

15 A Originally it was Mr. Wendell.

16 Q You say originally, did that change after

17 a period of time?

la A Yes, it changed once I became familiar

19 with the process and it was reviewed -- Mr.

20 Wendell would review any correspondence that came

21 through that was patent related direct to me and I

22 would communicate to -- with Mr. Faro.

12 A Correct.

13 Q Between the period of time January ist,

14 2003 and November 30th of 2005, what services did
15 the Respondent provide to your company?

16 A What were the dates again?

17 Q January of 2003.

18 A Yes.

19 Q Through November of 2005.

20 A They provided patent services to assist

21 in getting the '519 Application th-rough --
22 approved with the U.S.

Page 41
1 Q When did this change take place

2 A Probably around 2000 -- well there was a

3 lapse of period of time when we didn't have any

4 communication from Mr. Faro. Probably around 2005

5 to 2006

6 Q I would like to have you turn to binder

7 that is in front of you. And we are going to look

8 at the first exhibit which is Government Exhibit

9 Number I. And if you would look at page 469.

10 A 469 or 6497

11 Q 469 -- Bates page 469 there at the

12 bottom.

13 A Oh. I have got the wrong file, sorry

14 No, I don't. 1 have got 649 -- ob, l'm sorry l'm

5 reading it wrong. You said 469?

V 16 Q Correct. Government's Exhibit Number 1

17 is a copy of the patent application in this

18 matter.

19 A Yes.

2 C Q Are you at page 469?

Page 43

1 Q Did you receive status updates from the

2 Respondent during this period of time?

3 A Not status updates or Office Actions that
4 Came from the PTO which I used to get. I would
5 get email correspondence.

6 Q Let's talk about some of those email
7 correspondents that you received. And I would
8 like to direct your attention to Government
9 Exhibit Number 6.

10 Government Exhibit -- do you recognize
11 Government Exhibit Number 6?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And what is it?

14 A It is the -- my grievance to Mr. Faro
15 that I sent to the U.S. Patent Office.

16 Q And if you would turn to Bates pages 44
17 through 46.

18 A. Yes. Bates page 44 is a November 29th,
19 2005 email, correct?

20 A Correct.
21 A I am.

21 Q To you?

22 Q And do you recogmze page 469? 22 A Yes.
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In re: John Faro 5/10/2
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Page 44 Page 46

1 Q From Mr. -- from the Respondent, correct? 1 A Correct.
2 A Yes.

3 Q And who is -- what is the cc address on
4 that email?

5 A Alteronics that is Mr. David Estes, our
° engmeer.

7 Q The email mentions an attachment. Are

8 Bates pages 45 and 46 the attachments that came
9 with that email?

10 A Yes, I believe so.

11 Q In the email, in the tirst paragraph it

12 states that the Examiner or more accurately her

13 new supervisor has issued an Office Ation after

14 the appeal was taken and refiled. In which he has

15 allowed method claims 3 and 4. copies attached.

16 Do you see that?

17 A I do.

18 Q And it also mentions that status on the

19 appeal. Th.at it is still going forward, correct?

20 A Correct.

21 Q Because you are entitled to broader

22 coverage. specifically coverage as to the

Page 45

1 configuration of the wrap itself.

2 Q Who is diabetes(chix?

3 A That's Dr. Cleve Laird, he was our

4 regulatory quality control consultant at the time.

5 Q And the attachment entitled Appellates

6 Corrected Supplemental Brief on Appeal to the

7 Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences, that

8 was what was sent with this email?

9 A Yes.

10 Q In the fifth paragraph of the email, page

11 48 it states in summary, claims three, four,

12 twenty-three and twenty-four should be allowed in

13 some form. Eg: Upon revision to claim language. I

14 am cautiously optimistic with respect to claim

15 twenty-five which offers the broadest possible

16 protection. My reason for guarded optimism is

17 based upon the fact that the Examiner has a new

18 supervisor and I believe he will temper her zeal

19 for adherence to her rejections. You saw that and

20 you read that --

21 A Yes.

22 Q -- when you received this information?

Page 47
1 A Yes.

2 A Correct. 2 Q And what did that mean to you at the

Q And the only two documents to that were 3 time?

4 the two that were included in this exhibit? 4 A Well, that it was patentable.

A Yes. 5 Q Take a look at Bates page 79, another

Q At or about the time that this email was 6 communication. Do you recognize Bates page --

sent to you, did the Respondent explain that you 7 Bates page 79?
8 could have accepted this examiner's offer? a A Yes.

9 A N0. 9 Q And it's a September 7th, 2006 email from

10 Q At the time this ernail was sent to you, 10 the Respondent to you?

11 did he explain any other options that were 11 A Yes.

12 available to you at this tirne? 12 Q With cc to Mr. Estes and Mr. Laird,
13 A NO. 13 Correct?

14 Q Take a look at Bates -- in the same 14 A Correct.

15 exhibit, Bates pages 48 through 78. 15 Q This email is giving you the status of

16 A Yes. 16 the appeal?

17 Q And it's an ernail dated May 31st, 2006? 17 A Yes.

A Yes. 18 Q And in paragraph one, the Respondent told

19 Q To you with its attachment? 19 you the status in the US in unchanged. The US

20 A Yes. 20 APPLN Application is on appeal. The Examiner and

21 Q Your name is on it and alteronics is Mr. 21 her fonner supervisor filed an "Answer" to our

22 Estes? 22 brief - simply a rehash of prior rejection - no
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Page 48 Page 50

1 response is anticipated. 1 communication or conversation with the Respondent

2 Did you have any concerns at that point? 2 regarding the appeal and the '519 Application?

3 A Yes, I believe so. I think -- I believed 3 A I think very little. When I -- because I
4 that Mr. Faro and I spoke about it on the phone. 4 had an office in Los Angeles, I'm back and forth

Q And what did you discuss? 5 quite often. I would just call Mr. Faro directly.
A The concern that this was tak.ing so long. 6 If I -- if any communication that we had, he was

7 Were we ever going to get it and I kept getting 7 doing some other trademarking for us as well, I
a reassurance that yes, it's just the process that 8 would always ask what is the status and I would

9 you go through with the -- with the patent office. 9 always hear it was on appeal -- still on appeal.
10 Q Another email on Bates page 80 and 81. 10 Q Let's take a look at another email which

11 Do you recognize this document? 11 is at Bates page 82. Bates Page 82 is an October

2 A Yes. 12 10th, 2000 email.
13 Q It's an email dated December 10th, 2006? 13 A Yes.

14 A Correct. 14 Q To you and also cc to you at a different
15 Q It is cc to you and also to 15 address?

16 NagelLaw@aol.com? 16 A Yes.

17 A Yes.

18 Q What is that?

19 A Nagel Law, Mr. Joe Nagel is the attomey

20 who setup the off shore company in Belize for
21 Thrisoint. And he also handled the -- the

22 transfers of the patents or the -- how do you say

Page 49

1 -- he signed over the patents to the new company

2 from EPRT to Thrisoint.

Q Did Mr. Nagel ever file an appearance or

4 was there ever a Power of Attorney filed for Mr.

5 Nagel in the '519 Application?

6 A No, this was simply notifying Mr. Faro

7 that this had been done. And in the conversation

8 I was told by Mr. Nagel is that he explained the

9 transfer from EPRT to Thrisoint and the reason for

10 doing it. And that this was an update from Mr.

11 Faro leuing him know where -- the status of where

12 we stood with our -- receiving our application.

13 Q In an email he notifies you that he

14 attached the appeal brief.

15 A Yes.

16 Q And that it had been filed

17 A Yes.

18 Q And that there had been one allowed

19 claim.

20 A Yes.

21 Q Between this email in December of 2006

22 and October of 2008, did you have any

17 Q And in this email, the Respondent is

18 telling you in the second paragraph the case shall

19 be docketed/assigned to a specific three judge

20 appellate panel before the end of the year and it

21 is anticipated that we will have an oral hearing

22 within 6 months thereafter.

Page 51

1 After this email and up until July of

2 2010, what further if any contacts did you have

3 with the Respondent regarding the status of this

4 appeal?

s A Very little. I would communicate and I

6 always got the same response, it's under appeal --

7 it's under appeal.

8 Q Let's take a look at these communications

9 starting at Bates page 86.

10 Actually, l'm sorry, 85. Do you

11 recognize Bates page 85?

12 A Yes.

13 Q And what is it?

14 A It's an email to Mr. Faro from myself

15 We were in communication with him on some possible

16 other patent applications for Aquaculture.

17 Q And it's dated July 16th of 2010?

18 A Correct.

19 Q In this email did you also ask what the

20 status was or if there were any further

21 developments on the EPRT patent?

22 A Yes, I would normally ask that in every
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In re : John Faro
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Page 52

1 Page 54communication 1 had with Mr. Faro 1
set us up immediately with his partner in Las

Q Did you receive any response to this 2 V W
egas. e met with him, they were very interestedemail.

4 A No
3 in investing and taking up the technology for

s -- e offshore company Medical Tourism.
Q I would like you to tum your attention ut one of the critena s they needed to see

to Bates page 87
6 confirmation of the '519 Application, the status

A Uh-huh
7 of the US patent. That was very important to

Q Do vou recognize Bates page 879 a th S
em. o I was with our securities attorney at

9 A Yes
9 the time traveling back from Vegas and I said let

10 Q It's an email from the Respondent to you 10 me just try to get John on the phone. Which I
11 dated July 30th of 2010 11

could norrnally reach him by phone.
A Correct. 12

So I called and I just told him the
1 Q And in this email in paragraph six, he 13 situation, we had just come from a very big

3 4 informs you that he has attempted to determine the 14 meeting and that it was imperative that he gave me

1 status of the patent appins -- applications, and 15 an update, where are we at with it so I can pass

16 have yet to hear back from my inquiries, correct? 16 that on. And he mumbled something and then hung
17 A Correct

7 up on me. And I called back and no answer.
18 Q After this email dated July 30th of 2010 18 (

) After this phone call, did you attempt to
19 and up until March of 20] 1, what contact if any 19 reach out to the Respondent to determine the

20 did you have with the Respondent about the '519 20 status?
21 Application?

22 A Very little because I got the same

Page 53

1 response it was under appeal. So we just -- we

2 trusted that we would be informed when there was a

3 change with it. So communication with regarding

4 to trademark and some other correspondence and
5 some other things that Mr. Faro was possibly

6 handling for us but I continued to get the same

7 response that it was under appeal.

Q Was there any sense of urgency into

knowing what the status on the appeal was?

10 A There became an urgency in 2010. As we

1 had -- we were traveling overseas to raise

12 additional capital for the company. And one of

13 the criteria that our investors were look.ing for

21 A Yes, it was critical that I.knew the

22 1 status. So I probably placed at least ten phone

Page 55

1 calls. The same number of emails that I enrolled
2 Mr. Laird who is an associate of Mr. Faro to see

3 if he was okay. You know, maybe something
4 happened to him.

5 Q Let's take a look at some of those emails
6 starting at Bates page 86 or 88, sorry. Still the

7 same exhibit 6.
A Yes.

Q Bates page 88 is an email from you to the
10 Respondent dated April Ist of 201 1, correct?

11 A Correct.

12 Q You sent that email?

13 A I did.
14 was what was status of the patent. So I was -- I 14 Q Did you receive any response to that

15 needed to know what to tell them and I could never 1s email?

16 get a straight answer. 16 A No.

17 Q After March, 201 1 what action if any did 17 Q Bates page 89. Do you recognize that

18 you take to get ahold or to contact the 18 document?

19 Respondent? 19 A I do.

20 A I believe -- March, 2011 -- I believe I 20 Q And what do you recognize it to be?
21 had just come from a conference overseas and we 21 A It's another correspondence to Mr. Faro

22 had an investor -- a very interested investor who 22grying to get him to respond to my emails and to
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In re: John Faro 5/11/2016

Page 15 Page 17

1 -- and 426. 1 has a new supervisor, and I believe he will temper

2 MS. K.EPLER: So we should be looking at 2 her zeal for adherence to her rejection.
3 Respondent's Exhibit Number 31, .Bates page 3 If after having reviewed the enclosure
4 426') 4 you have any questions, please advise.

MR. AMAYA: Yes. On an unrelated matter, whatever happened

MS. K.EPLER: Got it. Thank you. 6 to the improvement applications that were

7 MR. AM.AYA: Okay. 7 contemplated a short time ago? Have you searched

8 MR. FARO: 425 or 426? a these concepts and what results?

9 MR. AMAYA: It was mismarked. 9 Let me know if I can be of assistance.
10 MR. FARO: Excuse me, it is 425 in this 10 My signature.

11 book. 11 Q And let's go to Bates Number -- the next

12 BY MR. AMAYA: 12 page on tab 19, Bates Number 426.
13 Q Yeah, 425 and its tab 18. 13 A Yes, sir.

14 A That Exhibit - Bates Number 425 is an 14 Q What is that document?
1s email from myself to Katherine Blake copied to 15 A It's an email from myself to Katherine

16 David Estes and Cleve Laird. And it's dated May 16 Blake, Cleve Laird is diabetes(alix.netcom.com and
17 31, 2006. Subject is Appeal to USPTO. 17 alteronics@global is David Estes. It's from me

Dear Katherine, the enclosed was filed 18 dated September 6th -- September 7th, 2006.
19 today in the USPTO. The so-called "corrections" 19 Dear Katherine: The status of the US is
20 in the brief I believe that were required were

21 necessitated in part by the Examiner's withdrawal

22 of her rejection of the system (Claim 24) and

Page 16

1 method (Claim 23). Based on the prior art 3 and 4

2 are dependent on 23, so they are no longer subject

3 LO rejection OVer the prior art.

4 These claims remain rejected on formal

5 grounds and that's the method claims, Claims3 and

6 4 and 23 and 24. Lack of exact correspondence of

7 Claim language With the text of the specification

8 - which 1 perceive to be both very tenuous and a

9 very weak rejection.

10 Only Claim 25, directed to the structure

11 of the electrode wrap, remains rejected as

12 unpatentable over the prior art. I also believe

13 this rejection to be tenuous and that we have a

14 better than even chance of prevailing based in

15 large measure upon the Declaration by Kaye.

16 In summary, Claims 3,4,23, and 24 should

17 be allowed in some form upon revision to the claim

18 language in parenthesis. I am cautiously

19 optimistic with respect to Claim 25, that is the

20 electrode wrap claim. Which covers the broadest

21 possible protection. My reason for guarded

22 optimism is based upon the fact that the Examiner

20 unchanged. The US application is on appeal. The

21 Examiner and her former supervisor filed an

22 "Answer" to our briefs. Simply a rehash of prior

Page 18

1 rejections, no response is anticipated.

2 With respect to the second matter re

3 "right to use" study, the US Government cannot
4 infringe patents in the sense that it is not

5 subject to an injunction. It can be sued and
6 forced to pay a royalty.

7 The next paragraph, a "right to use"
8 study requires as a threshold matter that you

9 first identify the correct precise configuration

10 of the product to be used and the therapeutic

11 protocol. Accordingly, please provide me with
12 this information at your earliest convenience.
13 Excuse me.

14 A "right to use" study typically requires

15 an infringement search. That is a search and

16 review of the patent claims of potentially

17 dominant patents. This requires a very precise

18 description of product and protocol requested in

19 paragraph 3 above. I can perform the search or
20 farm it out. This search typically involves a
21 minimum of 10 to 15 hours of attorney time.
22 The next paragraph, after the search is
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Page I9 T ----~------

Page 21
1 performed, an analysis of the patents of potential 1 Katherine Blake's handwriting. And it refers to I

2 concern shall require further scrutiny
believe pages 3 and 6 of the enclosed appeal

3 specihcally a review of both the description 3 brief. Which it describes in detail the

4 (speci[jcation) of the issued patent and, in

5 certain instances, a review of the patent office

6 file history (correspondence).

7 Next paragraph, the cost of this review,

8 contemplated in paragraph 5, cannot he accurately

9 estimated until after the search has been

10 performed and patents of potential concern

11 identified. Talk to you later, my signature.

12 Q Okay. Now let's go to the next tab 20,

13 Bates Number 427.

4 rejections and our position. These are the patent

5 office Examiner's response.

6 Q Now you talk about one allowed claim --
7 now tell us, by not rewriting that one allowed

& claim, how did -- how were you fulñlling the

9 objectives of the client?

10 A Well, in order -- in order to obtain an

11 allowance of that claim, the method claim, I would
12 have to cancel all rejected claims in order to put

13 the application in condition for allowance. So I

14 A Yes. sir. 14 would have to forego pursuit of the claims for the
15 O What is that

15 key component of the invention, specihcally Claim
16 A This is an email from myself to -- 16 25.

17 MS. KEPLER. This is still Respondent's 17 You cannot selectively obtain a patent in

18 Exhibit Number 31, correct9 18 a pending application on one claim and then

19 MR AMAYA: Yes. correct. 19 continue to prosecute the appeal on the remaining
20 MR. FARO: This is Bates .Number 427. 20 -- on the remaining rejected claims. We would

21 Subject -- it's an email from myself to an 21 have to forego at that point in time the pursuit

22 attorney named NageL NagelLaw and Katherine Blake 22 of patent coverage for the key component of the

Page 20 Page 22
1 is copied in. It's dated December 10th, 2006. 1 invention, specifically Clairn 25.

2 The subject is Disclosure of patent 2 Q Please remind the Court what the key

3 information/forwarded. 3 component was.

4 Enclosed is a copy of the patent

s application prepared by my successor. I believe

6 this is the "5I9 Application as originally filed.

7 I do not have the drawings in the patent file so I

8 could not fonvard. If you need them, please
9 advise.

10 Paragraph -- also enclosed is the appeal
11 brief in the USPTO. There has been one allowed

12 claim which I believe to cover the commercial

13 embodiment, however, may not provide sufficient

4 A The key component of the invention --

5 there was a system which included a generator

6 which created a current in a certain frequency and

7 under a certain duty cycle. And then there was a

8 wire connecting that generator to an electrode

9 wrap. The electrode wrap was in an embodied

10 conformable device which transmitted the pulses

11 frorn the generator through the electrode to the

12 skin of the patient which presumably was

13 therapeutic. And it relieved or it emulated the

14 SCOpe to preVCnt Copy-cal infringement,

15 The brief explains the issue before the

16 patent Office. I believe that the Examiner will
17 berCVersed on all of the formal grounds and I am

18 optimistic with respect to the reversal of the

19 substantive rejections. Please advise if you

20 require additional clarification.

14 pain in that area.

15 The electrode was unique in this respect

16 -- in this case because it was body conformable

17 electrode similar to an Ace bandage and it did not

18 require the use ofany of these conductive gels,

19 it simply -- the conducted median was tap water.

20 Q Okay. Now we seen in the past three or

21 There are hand notations -- hand-written 21, four exhibits, that you communicated through email

22 notes on this exhibit. I believe they are 22 once you got an Office Action, etcetera. And is

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www. casamo. com

APPX 335 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



14 (23 - 2 6)
In re : John Faro___ 5/11/2016

Page0 --¯-

1 that the way you communicated with all of your 1
espect to non-English speaking clients.

2 clients9
In this case, there was a different

3 A Yes
degree of patent fluency in discussing this matter

4 Q And I'm going to ask you for your lay 4 With David Estes and Katherine Blake. And that's

opinion, not your expert opinion. In comparison 5 why I think virtually every one of these emails

6 to other attorneys similarly situated as yours, 6 where there is some sort of explanation --

7 patent attorney, how does that compare? 7 technical explanation or patent explanation, I
8 A The communication -- 8 included David Estes and in this case here, Cleve

9 MS. KEPLER: Objection. 9 Laird as well as Katherine Blake. It was my

10 THE COURT: Overruled. 10 understanding that Katherine Blake, from her

111 MR. FARO: The communication is tailored 11 testimony simply forwarded the correspondence

to the client My client base in South 12 relative to the patent to Keith Wendell. So I am

13 Florida includes many, many clients whose 13 not -- that is my understanding from her

14 first language is not English. My clients' 14 testimony. So she didn't -- she never had any

15 dominant languages or primary languages in the 15 questions for me and I never heard back from Keith

16 home can be Portuguese, Spanish, Hebrew, l16 Wendell as to any concerns or questions regarding
17 Chinese, Russian -- I said Hebrew already -- 17 my correspondence. And my primary contact as I

18 in any rate, that's six languages on the list. 18 said before was with David Estes. And we

19 So in terms of my reading of the clients' 19

20 ability to understand, that is something that 20

21 I try to ascertain at the onset. So for every 21

22 client, there is a different -- sometimes a 22

Page 24

1 different approach. And repetitive 1

2 communication is often helpful. And if I feel 2

that the client is not adequately absorbing 3
4 the information, I will insist that they brino 4

5 someone to the meeting who has a better
6 facility with English. And that is typically 6
7 the way I do it. 7

And then so after I am satisfied that a

they understand whatever I want or need and 9
10 the communication is acknowledged to be 10

11 understood, then we proceed to the next 11

12 portion of the engagement. But typically, and 12
13 in this case -- if this was a non-English 13

communicated frequently with respect to the

subject matter and particularly any improvements

to the subject matter of this application.

BY MR. AMAYA:

Page 26

Q Okay. Thank you. Now let's see -- look

at Respondent's Exhibit Number 32, tab 21.
A Yes, sir. This is an email from

Katherine Blake -- I'm sorry, that's the

recirculation. This is a -- I think multiple

emails. I believe there are multiple messages on

this email. If you look at the last portion of

the email. it's K.atherine. And I think I wrote

the US application is finally before the Board of

Appeals and a hearing date sh.ould be set in the

immediate future. If you celebrate Thanksgiving
in Australia, have a happy holiday and my

signature.
14 speaking client, I would never send out that 14 And then she writes back Dear All, we

15 Office Action. I would basically have to 15 would like to acknowledge and thank each of you
16 bring them into the office and go through it 16 for your involvement and unwavering support in

17 almost line by line to ensure that there is a 17 nurturing EPRT Technologies vision. This is a

18 comprehension. That's the way I practice. In 18 time of.Harvest and the future oftechnology is

19 this case, there was English speaking clients. 19 plentiful. Blessing to you and your families.

²O There were different levels of technical 20 With deep appreciation and gratitude,
21 competence. So that to some extent reflected 21 Keith, Katherine and David.
22 this fluency that I was talking about with 22 Q Now let's look at Respondent's Exhibit
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IN THE UNITED PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE  
BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE  

 
 
In the Matter of 

 
JOHN H. FARO Proceeding No. D2015-27 

 
 
 

Respondent 
_____________________________/ 
 

RESPONDENT’S FIRST AMENDED  
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES  

(Proposed) 
 

Respondent John H. Faro, by and though its undersigned counsel, hereby files it First  

Amended Affirmative Defenses as follows:  

 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 
The OED Director is precluded from sanctioning the Respondent based on the following 

Affirmative Defenses:  

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

RES-JUDICATA/COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL - In October 2013, EPRT 

Technologies, sued Respondent for malpractice in the Federal District Court in the SD of Florida 

(Miami Div.), Thrisoint PTY Ltd. & EPRT Technologies v. John H Faro & Technology Business 

Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13- CV-23893-HUCK - SO, Fla.  On September 1, 2015, the Florida 

malpractice claims by EPRT Technologies against the Respondent were dismissed, with 

prejudice, September 1, 2015, Stipulation of Dismissal entered on September 2, 2015. Id. Docket 

Entry No. 237.  Therefore, the issues presented by the OED have been finally adjudicated in 

malpractice litigation between EPRT Technologies in the Federal District Court, Stipulation of 

Dismissal (under Rule 41(a)) with prejudice.  Accordingly, the OED is precluded from re-

litigation of the allegation of professional misconduct under one or more of the federal 
APPX 338 (By Respondent) 
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IN THE UNITED PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE
BEFORE THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

In the Matter of :

JOHN H. FARO : Proceeding No. D2015-27

Respondent :

ANSWER & AFFIRMNATIVE DEFENSES
(First Amended)

General Denial - The OED Complaint is manifestly deficient in its specificity of the

allegations against the Respondent, JOHN H. FARO, (FARO), in that it references documents

without annexure thereof; and, omits reference to portions thereof, which contradict and/or qualify

the statements relied upon by the OED in support of the allegations of the Complaint against

FARO. The most glaring example of this practice is Paragraph 16, which superficially describes

the status of a certain finally rejected patent claims then before the Patent Examiner, without

reference or appreciation of the impact of the balance of the Final Rejection (Claims 24 & 25)

upon the quoted comments - thereby conveying a misleading and inaccurate picture of the status

of such claims.

The instant OED Complaint parallels, and mimics, in substantial measure a malpractice

Complaint filed by the Grievant against the Respondent, Thrisoint & EPRT Technologies v. John

H. Faro & Technology Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13-CV-23893 -HUCK ("Malpractice

Litigation"). The respective parties to this Malpractice Litigation had filed dispositive motions

(summary judgment) in respect to the very issues asserted as the basis for misconduct herein. On

August 10, 2015, the Court conducted a hearing on such motions; and, on August 17, 2015, the

Court entered a formal Order, in which it Denied the Grievant' Motion for Summary Judgment
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and Granted, in part, and Denied in part, the Respondents Motion of Summary, annexed hereto as

Exhibit "16" This Complaint was dismissed with prejudice, upon joint stipulation of the

parities, on September 1, 2015.

In Denying the Grievant' Motion for Summary Judgment, the Federal District Court, the

Federal District Court held

(a) There are factual issue relating to the allege negligence as to the Respondent's decision

to forego certain amendments to the "method" claims because of the Respondent's

contention that such claims would have been worthless, in the form proposed by the

Examiner;

(b) There are factual issue as to whether the Respondent's did in fact receive the Board of

Appeals decision and Notice of Abandonment, relating to the '519 patent application,

(the Respondent's proffer of objective evidence in rebuttal of the so-called "mail box"

rule, (FRE 301, Fed R Evidence); and

(c) There are factual issue of whether the Respondent's docketing practice falls below the

standard of care.

The District Court Granted the Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment, in part, and

denied their Motion, in part, including

(a) Holding that EPRT Technologies did not have an attorney-client relationship with the

Respondent's at the time of the alleged malpractice, and no standing to sue the

Defendants;

(b) Holding that assignee of the '519 patent application (a holding company) could not

have suffered any damages resulting from the loss of any sales as a consequence of the

alleged negligent abandonment; and, could not have suffered any loss of licensing

APPX 340 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

2



revenues because there was no license under the '519 patent application with EPRT or

any other company.

ANSWER

FARO herein responds to the OED Complaint & Notice of Hearing (35 USC 32) in

numbered paragraphs, corresponding to the numbered paragraphs of the Complaint:

Background Allegations

1. Admit

2. Admit

3. Admit, FARO was admitted to the Massachusetts Bar on November 28, 1969, his

Massachusetts Board of Overseers number is 159,260 and that he is a member in good

standing in that State.

4. Admit, FARO was admitted to the Florida Bar on January 21, 1986, his Florida Bar

number 527,459, and, that he is a member in good standing in that State.

5. Deny.

COUNT I
(Neglect - As to Prosecution ofthe '519 Patent Application)

6. Admit that in late October or early November 2002, FARO was solicited by David

Estes, an officer and/or director of EPRT Technologies, Inc., (EPRT) to review the

prosecution history of a US patent application, SN 09/656,519 (hereinafter '519 patent

application), which had been prepared by another patent attorney, Albert Halluin, a

registered patent attorney with the law firm of Howrey-Simon.

7. Admit that after FARO
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a. was provided certain materials for his review, including, various email

correspondencebetweentheInventor,David Estes, and Albert Halluin, wherein

Estes emphasized to Halluin the importance of the "electrode wrap", and that

such "The construction of the wraps is the key to the effectiveness of our

(EPRT) device." Estes Email to Halluin, dated June 19, 2002, annexed hereto

as Exhibit "1"

b. FARO's performance of his due diligence, including the preparation of this

"Review & Recommendation" (R&R), (R&R annexed hereto as Exhibit "2"),

dated November 19, 2002, and

c. the members of the of officers and directors if EPRT, (David Estes, Keith

Wendell, & Katherine Blake), also the "Control Group", approved and adopted

his Recommendations (Control Group approval of R&R annexed hereto as

Exhibit "3"),

only then did FARO and EPRT agree to his representation, was FARO retained,

(Engagement of FARO by Blake annexed hereto asExhibit "4"), and a Power of Attorney

prepared and filed appointing him the attorney of record in the '519 patent application.

8. Admit that the Respondent's contact information and mailing address, (the same

information associated with a customer number), was contained in the Power of

Attorney filed in the '519 patent application

9. Admit

10. Admit

11. Admit

12. Deny
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13. Admit

14. Admit

15. Admit

16. Admit that additional prosecution occurred from and after January 18, 2005, including

the Patent Examiner's issuance ofa Third Final Rejection of the '519 patent application

on November 14, 2005 (after a Notice ofAppeal had been filed), wherein the Patent

Examiner (more accurately her Supervisor), indicated

a. the contingent allowance of Claims 3 & 4, upon further amendment thereof, to

include "all of the limitations of the base claim (Claim 23) and any intervening

claims, by substitution of the language of Claims 3 & 4 for subparagraph (B) of

Claim 23",

b. persisted in her Final Rejections to wording of subparagraphs A, C & D of

Claim 23, and

c. persisted in her Final Rejection of the claims for the device (Claim 25 -

electrode wrap), the claimed invention of principle commercial interest, Final

Rejection ofNovember 14. 2005, annexed hereto as Exhibit "5"

17. Admit

18. Admit

19. Deny, not only did FARO inform the Inventor David Estes, and the EPRT president

Katherine Blake via email dated November 25, 2005, but also attached Claims 3, 4 &

23 to such email, for their review and subsequent telephonic discussion, FARO email

to KBlake@EPRTTechnologies.com (Katherine Blake) and alteronics@global411.net

(David Estes), annexed hereto as Exhibit "6"
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20. Admit that FARO did not rewrite Claims 3 & 4 to include the limitations of Claim 23,

subparagraphs A, B & D, because such rewritten claims would be worthless, since the

Examiner did not also withdraw the Final Rejection to the wording of subparagraphs

A, B & D of Claim 23, which remained under Final Rejection as lacking in support in

the specification, Exhibit "5", Claim Rejections - 35 USC 112 @ pages 2-3.

(Appeal of the '519 Patent Application)

21. Admit

22. Deny, See also Prior Response to Paragraph (16) which is herein incorporated by

reference.

23. Deny, See also Prior Response to Paragraph (16) which is herein incorporated by

reference.

24. Admit that on December 10, 2006, FARO sent an email to NagelLaw@aol.com (an

attorney for an investor group, aka Thrisoint PTY Ltd - a Belize shell company), with

a copy to KBlake@EPRTTechnologies.com stating that "there has been one allowed

claim, (which I believe covers the commercial embodiment), however. may not provide

sufficient scope to prevent copy-cat infringement.", December 10, 2006 email from

FARO to NagelLaw@aol.com with a copy to KBlake@EPRTTechnologies.com,

annexed hereto as Exhibit "7"

25. Deny, on October 10, 2008, FARO advised Katherine Blake by email that he had

confirmed the appeal of the '519 had been "docketed/assigned to a specific three judge

appellate panel", FARO email to KBlake@EPRTTechnologies.com, annexed hereto as

Exhibit "8"

26. Admit
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27. Admit

28. Admit

29. Admit

30. Admit, and subsequently received a Docketing Notice advising FARO to communicate

with the Program & Resource Administrator of the Board of Patent Appeals by

telephone or facsimile regarding the subject appeal, Board of Patent Appeals &

Interferences, Docketing Notice, dated November 12, 2008, annexed hereto as Exhibit

"9"

31. Admit

32. Admit that the Board of Appeals decision indicates it was mailed to FARO's executive

suite address at 28 West Flagler Street, Miami, FL

33. Deny that the June 1, 2009, Board of Patent Appeals decision was ever received by

FARO.

34. Deny that FARO had any information to convey to Blake, as to the June 1, 2009, Board

of Patent Appeals decision in June 2009.

35. Deny that FARO had any information which would have caused him to file an appeal

of the June 1, 2009, Board of Patent Appeals decision, and when FARO became aware

of suchdecision, he immediately communicated the abandonment to EPRT, through it

litigation counsel, who threatened FARO with a malpractice lawsuit, and, thereafter,

FARO was professionally constrained from any further representation of EPRT,

Florida Bar Rule 4-1.7; 37 CFR 11.116.

36. Admit
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37. Admit that a Notice ofAbandonment was entered on August 9, 2009, and indicates it

was mailed to FARO's executive suite address at 28 West Flagler Street, Miami, FL

38. Deny

39. Admit that the Notice ofAbandonment makes reference to (a) telephone calls from the

Examiner to FARO; (b) indicates FARO never returned any of the Examiner's phone

calls; and (c) does not indicate the content of the telephone message from the Examiner

to FARO.

40. Admit

41. Deny, See Prior Paragraphs (33) & (34) which are herein incorporated by reference

42. Admit

43. Deny,

a. As to subparagraph (a), FARO explicitly advised EPRT as to the November 19,

2005, Final Rejection (Exhibit "6"), (including the contingent allowance of

certain claims), employed reasonable measures to monitor the status of the '519

patent application by periodic telephone calls to the Clerk at the Board ofPatent

Appeals, (as per the instruction in the Docketing Notice of Board of Patent

Appeals, Exhibit "9"), and, never received the June 1, 2009, Board of Patent

Appeals decision. Accordingly, FARO, through no fault of his own, did not

become aware of the Board of Patent Appeals decision until after the '519

patent application became abandoned, and, thus, was unable to inform EPRT as

to its existence of such Board decision and/or counsel EPRT what

options/actions (if any) before the '519 patent application became abandoned.

When FARO did subsequently learned of such abandonment of the '519 patent
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application and advised EPRT, through its litigation counsel, he was threatened

FARO with a malpractice law suit and, thereafter, EPRT took no action to

revive the '519 patent application. Accordingly, FARO did not neglect any

duty or obligation to EPRT under 37 CFR 10.77(c); and, was professionally

constrained for further representation of EPRT from and after he learned on the

abandonment of the '519 patent application, Florida Rules 4-1.7; Patent Office

Rules of Professional Responsibility, 37 CFR 11.116.

b. As to subparagraph (b), FARO was in periodic contact with EPRT during 2007

to 2008, on a number of matters unrelated to the '519 patent application

(September 2007, January 2008 & February 2008, Statements to

EPRT/Thrisoint annexed hereto as Composite Exhibit "10"), ), employed

reasonable measures to monitor the status of the '519 patent application by

periodic telephone calls to the Clerk at the Board of Patent Appeals, (as per the

instruction in the Docketing Notice ofBoard ofPatent Appeals, Exhibit "9"),

and, never received the June 1, 2009, Board of Patent Appeals decision.

Accordingly, FARO did not neglect any duty or obligation to EPRT under 37

CFR 10.77(c). FARO, in the exercise of his professional judgment was

justified in his refusal to amend the claims on appeal, as suggested by the Patent

Examiner, because the Examiner did not also withdraw the

objections/rejections to the wording of subparagraphs A, B & D of Claim 23,

which remained under f·mal rejection, as lacking in support in the specification,

Exhibit "5", Claim Rejections - 35 USC 112 @ pages 2-3.. Accordingly, the

Examiner's proposed amendment, by combining Claims 23, 3 & 4, would not
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have resulted in an allowable claim, Exhibit "5", Claim Rejections - 35 USC

112 @ pages 2-3. When FARO did subsequently learn of such abandonment

of the '519 patent application and advised EPRT, through its litigation counsel

of the prior abandonment of the '519 patent application, he threatened FARO

with a malpractice law suit. EPRT, in consultation with her counsel, thereafter

took no action to revive the '519 patent application. Accordingly, FARO did

not neglect any duty or obligation to EPRT under 37 CFR 10.77(c); and, was

professionally constrained for further representation ofEPRT from and after he

learned on the abandonment of the '519 patent application, Florida Rules 4-1.7;

Patent Office Rules of Professional Responsibility, 37 CFR 11.116.

c. As to subparagraph (c), FARO employed reasonable measures to monitor the

status of the '519 patent application by periodic telephone calls to the Clerk at

the Board of Patent Appeals, (as per the instruction in the Docketing Notice of

Board ofPatent Appeals, Exhibit "9"), and, never received the June 1, 2009,

Board of Patent Appeals decision. Accordingly, FARO, through fault of his

own, did not become aware of the Board of Patent Appeals decision until after

the '519 patent application became abandoned, and, thus, was unable to inform

EPRT as to its existence of such Board decision and/or counsel EPRT what

options/actions (if any) before the '519 patent application became abandoned.

When FARO did subsequently learn of such abandonment of the '519 patent

application and advised EPRT, through its litigation counsel, he was threatened

FARO with a malpractice law suit and, thereafter, professionally constrained to

further represent EPRT. EPRT took no action to revive the '519 patent
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application. Accordingly, FARO did not neglect any duty or obligation to

EPRT under 37 CFR 10.77(c); and, was professionally constrained for further

representation of EPRT from and after he learned on the abandonment of the

'519 patent application, Florida Rules 4-1.7; Patent Office Rules ofProfessional

Responsibility, 37 CFR 11.116.

d. As to subparagraph (d), the "lawful objectives" of EPRT are set forth in the

FARO due diligence Review & Recommendations (Exhibit "2"), which were

unanimously adopted by the inventors, Keith Wendell and David Estes (officers

and directors of EPRT), (Exhibit "3"), and the president of EPRT, Katherine

Blake in November 2002 (Exhibit "4"), and reaffirmed on or about November

29, 2005, (Exhibit "6"), when EPRT agreed with FARO as to the necessity of

the continued pursuit of the appeal of the finally rejected '519 patent

application. Moreover, FARO was in periodic contact with EPRT during 2007

to 2008, on a number of matters unrelated to the '519 patent application

(September 2007, January 2008 & February 2008, Statements to

EPRT/Thrisoint annexed hereto as Composite Exhibit "10"), employed

reasonable measures to monitor the status of the '519 patent application by

(Exhibit "4"), and, never received the June 1, 2009, Board of Patent Appeals

decision. When FARO did subsequently learn of such abandonment of the

'519 patent application and advised EPRT, through its litigation counsel, he

threatened FARO with a malpractice law suit and thereafter EPRT took no

action to revive the '519 patent application. Accordingly, FARO did not

neglect any duty or obligation to EPRT under 37 CFR 10.77(c); and, was
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professionally constrained for further representation ofEPRT from and after he

learned on the abandonment ofthe '519 patent application, Florida Rules 4-1.7;

Patent Office Rules of Professional Responsibility, 37 CFR 11.116. Thus,

FARO's professional disqualification from further represent EPRT, thereafter,

cannot as a matter of law, be deemed an intentional violation ofa failure to seek

the lawful objectives of EPRT under 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1)

e. As to subparagraph fe), there is no basis for misconduct under 37 CFR

10.23(a)), for the reasons set forth in subparagraphs (a) to (d) above.

f. As to subparagraphs (f), there is no basis for misconduct under 37 CFR

10.23(b)(6), for the reasons set forth in subparagraphs (a) to (d) above.

COUNT II
(Neglect, Misrepresentation &

Failure to Return Client File in the '519 Patent Application)

44. FARO incorporates his prior responses to Paragraphs 1-42, above as if restated herein.

45. Admit

46. Admit

47. Deny

48. Deny, from July 30, 2010 to March 2011, FARO was in periodic contact with EPRT

on numerous unrelated matters, including matters that were pending and required

additional work, and new matters (clearance and registration of trademarks), which had

been proposed and not pursued, Technology Business Law Group LLC (FARO invoice

to Blake dated November 1, 2010, annexed hereto as Exhibit "11".

49. Deny

50. Deny
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51. Admit that on October 2011, FARO was contacted by EPRT's litigation counsel from

Texas, who indicated was representing EPRT

52. Admit

53. Deny, the EPRT engagement of Texas litigation, Roger Farahmand, to contact FARO,

in lieu of a patent attorney, suggested to FARO both knowledge of the abandonment of

the '519 patent application prior to October 2011, and a pre-disposition to sue FARO

for abandonment of the '519 patent application, which Farahmand did, in fact, threaten

to do. Farahmand subsequently sued FARO in Texas for professional malpractice and

such was subsequently dismissed on motion by FARO, EPRT complaint against FARO

annexed hereto as Exhibit "12"

54. Admit

55. Deny, FARO did not have access to his original EPRT patent files and, thus, was unable

to provide EPRT a copy thereof when requested in October 2011.

56. Deny, FARO herein incorporating his response to Paragraph 49, as if restated herein

AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT - The allegations of the instant Complaint parallel the

allegations in the malpractice complaint filed by the Grievant against FARO in the Federal District

Court for the Southern District of Florida, Thrisoint & EPRT Technologies v. John H. Faro &

Technology Business Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13-CV-23893 - HUCK. The Court Order

entered on August 17, 2015, on the Grievant and Respondent' motion for summary judgment is

annexed hereto as Exhibit "17".
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FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count I of the Complaint fails to state a claim of

misconduct (neglect) against FARO, under 37 CFR 10.77, 37 CFR 10.23(a) and/or 37 CFR

10.23(c)(b), based upon the allegation set forth in Paragraphs (18) and (19) of the Complaint,

because at all times materials hereto, the Grievant was fully apprised of the Office Action of

November 14, 2005, were provided copies of the Claims, which were potentially allowable, and

advised of the final rejections which had not been withdrawn, pertaining to the independent claims

(Claims 25 & 26), (Exhibit "6"). Specifically, FARO explicitly advised EPRT that the claim of

primary commercial significance (Claim 25 to the "electrode wrap"), remained finally rejected,

and that FARO intended the pursuit of the appeal to seek allowance thereof (Claim 25 - for the

"electrode wrap") - consistent with agreed upon strategy (R&R) adopted by FARO & EPRT in

November 2002 - Exhibit "2". EPRT (both Katherine Blake and David Estes - an inventor and

officer of EPRT) concurred in the pursuit of the appeal. Accordingly, the Grievant is estopped to

complain to the OED that it was not fully informed , and OED precluded from faulting FARO, for

following the EPRT strategy, and his exercise ofhis professional judgment (reasonably exercised),

which the knowledge and assent of the Grievant, (Exhibit "6")

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count I of the Complaint fails to state a claim of

misconduct (neglect) against FARO, under 37 CFR 10.77, 37 CFR 10.23(a) and/or 37 CFR

10.23(c)(b), based upon the allegation set forth in Paragraphs (18) and (19) of the Complaint,

because even if the Grievant, as a result of the Respondent's November 29, 2005, email, did not

fully comprehend the reasons and legal implications of the Respondent's decision to forego the

adoption of the Examiner's suggestions, as to the amendment of the Method Claims (3, 4 & 23),

Respondent's actions did not result in any loss or prejudice to the Grievant, because such Method

Claims (3, 4 & 23), if amended and issued in the form suggested amendments would be worthless
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and unenforceable, insofar as the format used in the defining of the invention, specifically, Method

Claim 23, cannot be infringed by a single entity. Under the law (circa 2008), such Method Claims,

even if allowed and issued in a patent to EPRT, would be unenforceable, because there can no

longer be direct infringement of such Method Claims where all steps of the method cannot be

performed by a single entity (Claims 23 requiring multiple party performance of all steps of the

Method),Muniauction,Inc.v.ThomsonCorp., 532 F. 3d 1318 (Fed Cir. 2008 Under the current

law (circa 2014), without direct infringement, there can be no indirect infringement (inducement

or contributory infringement). Accordingly, such Method Claims cannot be enforced against the

manufacturer or distributor of the Grievant's unpatented medical device for inducing

infringement, in the absence of direct infringement, Limelight Networks Inc. v. Akamai

TechnologiesInc., (Slip Opinion, United States Supreme Court, - Decided June 2, 2014). See also

Commentary on current state of enforcement of method claims on Divided Infringement and

implication of enforcement of method claims, http://www.foleyhoag.com/publications/alerts-and-

updates/2014/june/divided-infringement-steps-into-the-limelight.

Accordingly, there can be no neglect for the failure of the Respondent to attain patent

protection, in the form suggested by the Patent Examiner in the Office Action (Third Final

Rejection) dated November 14, 2005.

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count I fails to state a claim of misconduct against

FARO, under 37 CFR 10.84, for intentionally failing to seek the lawful objectives of EPRT, based

upon the allegations set forth in Paragraphs (18), (19), (20), (22) & (23) of the Complaint, because

in Respondent's professional judgment, (reasonably exercised), the amendments proposed by the

Examiner, in her Office Action dated November 19, 2005, where ineffective to overcome/remove

the Final Rejection ofClaim 23 (wording of subparagraphs A, B & D), under 35 USC 112 (Exhibit
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"9" @ page 2, Claim Rejection - 35 USC 112), based upon a lack of support for the wording in

the specification, including the "new matter" rejection, for the language of subparagraphs A, B &

D of Claim 23. Accordingly, absent the Examiner's withdrawal of the Final Rejection, under 35

USC 112, to the wording of language of subparagraphs A, B & D of Claim 23, the Examiner's

proposed amendments to Claim 23 would not yield an allowable claim. Moreover, the Federal

Circuit and United States Supreme Court have ruled the Method Claim (in the form present in

2002-2003, as finally rejected on November 154, 2005, if allowed in the form suggested by the

Examiner were unenforceable,

Accordingly, FARO, (notwithstanding FARO's belief that Claims 3 & 4 were potentially

allowable "in some form"), continued the pursuit of the appeal of the Final Rejection, with the

knowledge and acquiescence of EPRT (Exhibit "6"), was in furtherance of the lawful objectives

of EPRT (Exhibits "2", "3' & "4"), to secure allowance of all of the finally rejected claims on

appeal.

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count II fails to state a claim of misconduct

against FARO, under 37 CFR 10.112 (c)(4), for FARO failing to deliver to EPRT property in his

possession which the client is entitled to receiver, based upon the allegations set forth in Paragraphs

(54) & (55) of the Complaint, because (a) FARO was not in possession of his original patent file

for the '519 patent application (it being in possession of FARO's ex-wife who refused to release

it to him from and after their separation in October/November 2011), Rodriguez Affidavit dated

April 29, 2015, annexed hereto as Exhibit "13"; and, (b) even if he had possession, EPFT was not

to entitled to FARO his original patent file for the '519 patent application because FARO had

retaining lien on such file in the amount of in excess of $4,475, EPRT (Frank Tepley) email to
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FARO, dated December 12, 2008, annexed hereto as Exhibit "14", . Accordingly, FARO EPRT

estopped to complain that FARO withheld any of its property which it was entitled to receive.

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count I of the Complaint fails to state a claim of

misconduct (neglect) against FARO, under 37 CFR 10.77, 37 CFR 10.23(a), 37 CFR 10.23(c)(b)

and/or 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1), based upon the allegations set forth in Paragraphs (33) to (41) of the

Complaint, because FARO employed reasonable docketing and monitoring practice relative to the

'519 patent application, specifically, (a) at all times material hereto, FARO maintained a manual

docketing system, include desk calendar and tickler file to alert him to outstanding matters

requiring his response; (b) as to pending matters, for which no response was yet due, (e,g pending

patent applications), FARO "cleared his calendar" to confirm an Office Action was not

forthcoming and response thereto due during the period when his absence from the office was

anticipated, (at least no less frequently than every six (6) months); (c) adhered to the method of

communication recommended (telephonic communication), in the Docketing Notice of the Board

ofPatent Appeals, to determine the status of the appeal of the '519 patent application, (no less than

every six (6) months); and (d) immediately notified EPRT counsel when he first learned of the

June 1, 2009, of the Board of Patent Appeals & Interferences decision. FARO's docketing and

monitoring ofmatters entrusted to him was both reasonable, conformed to practice and procedures

of the corporate patent departments of his former employers; and, FARO's unintentional

abandonment of the '519 patent application, did not result in any prejudice or damages to EP_RT,

because it could have been readily reinstated, and would have been reinstated, by the filing of

Petition to Withdraw a Holding of Abandonment, 37 CFR 1.181, MPEP711,03(c),(a no fee

Petition) by FARO, had the EPRT counsel not threatened FARO with a malpractice lawsuit and
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thereby forced FARO to refrain from any further involvement with EPRT and the '519 patent

application.

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - The Grievant and Respondent did not have any

attorney-client relationship from and after October 28, 2011, as a result of the Grievant, through

her counsel, creating an irreconcilable conflict between the Grievant and the Respondent, when

Grievant's counsel threatened to sue Respondent for malpractice. Accordingly, the Grievant,

EPRT, cannot be heard to complain that any acts and omission by Respondent occurring after from

and after October 28, 2011, including Respondent's withdrawal/professional constraint from

further involvement in the '519 patent application, breached any duty or obligation of Respondent

to the Grievant, EPRT, Florida Bar Rule 4-1.7; 37 CFR 11.116 - Which both professionally

constrain the Respondent from further representation of his client when a conflict first occurs

between himself and his client.

SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE The Grievant, EPRT, and Respondent did not

have any attorney-client relationship, in respect to the '519 patent application, from and after

December 23, 2006, as a result of the Grievant, EPRT, absolute assignment of the '519 patent

application to an unaffiliated holding company. Accordingly, the Grievant, EPRT, cannot be

heard to complain that any acts and omission by Respondent occurring after from and after

December 23, 2006, including the abandonment of the '519 patent application and/or

Respondent's withdrawal/professional constraint from further involvement in the '519 patent

application, breached any duty or obligation of Respondent to the Grievant, EPRT. Accordingly,

Respondent did not breach any professional obligation to the Grievant, EPRT,
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EIGHTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Count I of the Complaint fails to state a claim of

misconduct (neglect) against FARO, under 37 CFR 10.77, 37 CFR 10.23(a), 37 CFR 10.23(c)(b)

and/or 37 CFR 10.84(a)(1), because

(a) At all times material hereto EPRT was by counsel other than FARO relative to the

protection of its interests in the '519 patent application, including (without limitation)

its corporate counsel in California (whom it acknowledged to have consulted when

FARO was unavailable) and its litigation counsel form Texas, whom it relied upon to

determine the status of the '519 patent application (when FARO was unavailable).

(b) the EPRT actions (and the actions of its attorneys), or more accurately the EPRT

inaction (and the inactions of its corporate and litigation attorneys - neither of whom

were patent attorneys), in its failure to diligently seek revival of the '519 patent

application from and after learning of its abandonment, because EPRT "did not

consider the patent (to be obtained from the '515 patent application) to be of sufficient

value to justify the financial expense of obtaining the patent", (b) and, alternatively,

elected to pursue a "deliberately chosen course of action", (sue FARO for malpractice

first), in lieu of revival of the '519 patent application, thereby forfeiting any right of

revival ofthe '519 patent application, (MPEP 711.03(c)(C)(1) - Rev 6, September 2007,

annexed hereto as Exhibit "15"; MPEP 711.03(c)(D) - Rev 6, September 2007, ,

annexed hereto as Exhibit "16"),.

Accordingly, whatever perceived subjective deficiencies have been alleged to exist in the

FARO alleged failure to secure allowance of the Method claim (3, 4 & 23), the alleged

inadequacies in the FARO docketing practices, did not cause nor contribute to any loss or damages
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asserted to have occurred from the FARO's unintentional abandonment of the '519 patent

application.

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Respondent did not withhold the '519 patent

application file from the Grievant because file was not in his possession custody or control. More

specifically, Respondent's ex-wife had excluded the Respondent from his "home" office upon

their separation in about August 2011; and, thereafter prevent him access thereto, including access

to his client files - which Respondent believed had been discarded by her. On or about May 2015,

the Grievant obtained a copy of the Respondent's original client file from Respondent's ex-wife

pursuant to a Subpoena, Exhibit "13". Accordingly, Respondent cannot be said to have violated

any duty or obligation to provide a copy of the '519 patent application, when such file was first

demand by the Grievant litigation counsel in October 2011.

Respectfully,

ohn . Faro, Esq.
eg. No ,859

Correspondence Address:

John H. Faro
23751 Merano Court
Unit 201
Bonita Springs, FL 34134

Phone 305, 761-6921
Facsimile 305, 726-0029
Emails: Johnf75712@aol.com

Johnf75712@gmail.com
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Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: Al Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.
Subject: Response/commentation on U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

The Office Action Summary rejected the electrode wraps. I would like to delineate the
similarities and differences in the wraps that the examiner referred to in Rogozinski (US
5395398), and the wraps utilized in the EPRT device. This is very important to us, as to
my knowledge there are no other wraps that operate in the manner of the EPRT device
and there are no other wraps constructed in the same manner. The construction of the

raps is key to the effectiveness of our device. It may be appropriate that our description
e expanded so that the uniqueness of the EPRT wraps is apparent.

ill now examine and contrast the two wraps:

The examiner views the description of the Rogozinski "pad (100) with two layers (105 &
106/107) as a wrap cover the integument and/or wound opening (c 4, II 48-62).

The exact description as given in Rogozinski is, "The support layer 105 is laminated to
contact surface layers 106 and 107 (c 4, II 53-54).

The EPRT wrap consists of a "first layer water absorbent bandage...." and a second layer
moderate conductive synthetic rubber impregnated cloth....".

I would like to describe the important differences in these two constructions:

The Rogozinski wrap conductive material is placed against the skin, so that there is a
single conductive contact layer, 106 & 107, against the skin underneath the dorsal
support layer 105.

Note that the support layer plays no part in the electrical operation of the wrap. It
functions only as mechanical for the two concentrically arranged contact surface
layers, 106 & 107. It is a support backing for the material, an electro-conductive
hydrogel polymer that lacks integral mechanical support.

The EPRT wrap has a moderately conductive material as the outer layer. The description
of "moderately conductive" is important. This characteristic produces a spreading effect
so that the electrical current is more evenly distributed across the whole of the wrap and
correspondingly across the whole of the skin surface of the body under the wrap. This
characteristic is enhanced by and continued through similar characteristics of the second
water absorbent layer.
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The water absorbent second layer is not 100% totally saturated, as the material utilized
for its construction introduces mechanical physical barriers in the electrical path from the
outer surface of the second layer against the conductive material, to the inner surface
against the skin. The electrical path through this layer is not a straight line through its
thickness, but is the path through the numerous, interconnected, adjacent pockets ofwater
in the voids of the water absorbent layer, physical structure. These numerous,

ittedly small paths, introduce a significant amount of resistance into the electrical
path, and so continue the spreading effect for the electrical current as previously
referenced.

The construction of the wraps introduces another factor- that of totally encompassing a
perimeter path upon the body, i.e. around a finger, arm, leg, head, torso, etc. The very
connotation of "wraps" is totally different from that of the pads as utilized by Rogozinski.

(Insert references about electrical resistance and/ or potentials from injuries, etc.)
These references will document that injuries and/or malfunctions typically have higher
electrical resistance and surrounding tiisue will be the preferred path of flow by nature of
its lower resistance.

Electrically conductive pads which cover a relatively small surface area, and do not
cr ate a circuitous covering around the body, are not as effective as those which create a
1rcuitous route, because of the fact that a parallel path, generally underneath or opposite

the pad, that limits the effectiveness of the application of the electrical current, always
exists in that type of pad.

The body has many electrical potentials between its cells, organs, and larger component
parts 1.e. such as the wrist and shoulder. If only a small surface pad is applied to the
wrist and shoulder, there are always other electrical paths that do not receive a significant
portion of the electrical current flow, so that the net potential of the electrical paths
between the wrist and shoulder are not greatly enhanced by the application of electrical
current through these small surface pads.

Contrast this, with the application ofwraps totally encompassing a circuitous path around
the wrist and shoulder. The overall electrical potential between the wrist and shoulder is
forced to respond to the application of the electrical current because there is literally no
path left uncovered, and the resistance of the body to the flow of electrical current is
overcome by the application.

Al, we also know that the utilization ofwater, or water based materials, in the wrap
seems to be required to cause the regeneration we see. I do not know the why behind
this. I will confer with Keith on this issue and see if we can come up with something
more.
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Supplement 1 to Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: Al Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.
Subject: Response/commentation on U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

Re: Page 2 Detailed Action Claim Rejection - 35 USC S 112

Claims 3, 4, 5/3, 5/4, 7/3, 7/4, 8/3, 8/4 are rejected for failing to particularly point out and
distinctly claim the subject matter which the applicant claims as the invention.

As the application of microcurrents has been found to have precedent, the distinct claim
to be made here in claim 2, is the frequency of .00065 Hz to .00085 Hz. I do not believe
the use of the term "duty cycle" is accurate for a term which is actually frequency. I have
not found precedent for the lower ranges of currents we are claiming in the picoAmp and
femtoAmp ranges.

From whatis.com definition: duty cycle: 1. In an idealpulse train, i.e. , one having
rectangular pulses, the ratio ofthe pulse duration to the pulse period.
(188) Note: For example, the duty cycle is 0.25for a pulse train in which the pulse
duration is 1 s and the pulseperiod is 4

s. 2. The ratio of (a) the sum ofallpulse durations during a specifiedperiod of
continuous operation to (b) the total specified

period ofoperation. 3. In a continuously variable slope delta (CVSD) modulation
converter, the mean proportion ofbinary "1"

digits at the converter output in which each "1" indicates a run ofa specified number of
consecutive bits ofthe same polarity in

the digital output signal. (188) 4. In a periodic phenomenon, the ratio ofthe duration of
the phenomenon in a given period to the

Period. Note: In a piece ofelectrical equipment, e.g. , an electric motor, the periodfor
which it may be operated without
deleterious effects, e.g. , from overheating.

Claim 4 is the utilization of all the items of the invention as a whole, and I believe you
commented on the advisability or inadvisability of this. Please discuss this with me
when we communicate again.

Claim 3 and 4 "the point of application" and "the body" lack antecedent basis.
Al, I will defer to you for understanding ofwhat the examiner is wanting here.

Claim 6: "second layer wrap is unclear".
Should we introduce the wrap with a more general description as to how they are applied
to the body to justify the use of the term wraps.
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Would it be prudent to note that it is likely that manufacturing technology will advance to
the point to possibly allow the construction of the wraps to be of a single homogeneous
material having both conductive and water absorbent properties suitable for application to
the body or having the conductive material embedded in the thickness of the water
absorbent layer?

I was unable to procure the book to extract references on the body electrical potentials on
this Wednesday evening. I have several potential sources I will pursue in the morning.
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Supplement 1 to Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: Al Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.

Subject: Response/commentation on U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

Re: Page 2 Detailed Action Claim Rejection - 35 USC S 112

Claims 3, 4, 5/3, 5/4, 7/3, 7/4, 8/3, 8/4 are rejected for failing to particularly point out and
distinctly claim the subject matter which the applicant claims as the invention.

As the application ofmicrocurrents has been found to have precedent, the distinct claim
to be made here in claim 2, is the frequency of.00065 Hz to .00085 Hz. I do not believe
the use of the term "duty cycle" is accurate for a term which is actually frequency. I have
not found precedent for the lower ranges of currents we are claiming in the picoAmp and
femtoAmp ranges.

From whatis.com definition: duty cycle: 1. In an ideal pulse train, i.e. , one having

rectangular pulses, the ratio ofthe pulse duration to the pulse period.
(188) Note: For example, the duty cycle is 0.25for a pulse train in which the pulse
duration is 1 s and the pulse period is 4

s. 2. The ratio of (a) the sum ofallpulse durations during a specViedperiod of
continuous operation to (b) the total speciped
Period ofoperation. 3. In a continuously variable slope delta (CVSD) modulation
converter, the mean proportion ofbinary "1"

digits at the converter output in which each "1" indicates a run ofa speciped number of
consecutive bits ofthe samepolarity in
the digital output signal. (188) 4. In a periodic phenomenon, the ratio ofthe duration of
the phenomenon in a given period to the

period. Note: In a piece ofelectrical equipment, e.g. , an electric motor, the periodfor
which it may be operated without
deleterious effects, e.g. , from overheating.

Claim 4 is the utilization of all the items of the invention as a whole, and I believe you
commented on the advisability or inadvisability of this. Please discuss this with me
when we communicate again.

Claim 3 and 4 "the point of application" and "the body" lack antecedent basis.
Al, I will defer to you for understanding of what the examiner is wanting here.

Claim 6: "second layer wrap is unclear".

Should we introduce the wrap with a more general description as to how they are applied
to the body to justify the use of the term wraps.

APPX 364 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Would it be prudent to note that it is likely that manufacturing technology will advance to
the point to possibly allow the construction of the wraps to be of a single homogeneous

material having both conductive and water absorbent properties suitable for application to
the body or having the conductive material embedded in the thickness of the water
absorbent layer?

I was unable to procure the book to extract references on the body electrical potentials on
this Wednesday evening. I have several potential sources I will pursue in the morning.
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Supplement 2 to Rev. A June 19, 2002
To: Al Halluin-Howrey
From: David Estes-EPRT Technologies, Inc.

Subject: Response/commentation on U.S. Patent Application-Office Action Summary

Re: Page 2 Detailed Action Claim Rejection - 35 USC S 112

Claims 3, 4, 5/3, 5/4, 7/3, 7/4, 8/3, 8/4 are rejected for failing to particularly point out and
distinctly claim the subject matter which the applicant claims as the invention.

As the application of microcurrents has been found to have precedent, the distinct claim
to be made here in claim 2, is the frequency of .00065 Hz to .00085 Hz. I do not believe

the use of the term "duty cycle" is accurate for a term which is actually frequency.

I have notfoundprecedentfor the lower ranges ofcurrents we are claiming in the
PicoAmp andfemtoAmp ranges.

Pg 142, The Body Electric by Robert O. Becker calculates one of the levels of current
needed to begm a particular process of regeneration as being between a picoAmp and a
nanoAmp. The actual level found effective was 500 picoAmps. The level of current

claimed in Becker's work extends to the picoAmp level., therefore a claim of this
particular current level may not be appropriate as a stand alone item, however, the claim

of a bipolar signal at the frequency of .00065 Hz to .00085 Hz. and this current level ma
be valid.

The shape of the wraps around the perimeter of the body enables some current to be
forced through the area of injury and potentialization and overcomes the limitations of

conventional electrode design.

The illustrations on Pg, 210 and Pg. 138 of The Body Electric by Robert O. Becker, show

2 distinct phenomena that help illustrate why the design of our wr are more effective
1. The higher electric field at'tEe poTn't of eTb'ilitfof

our wraps to force current through the whole cross section of a body part
including an injured area is particularly more effective than small area electrodes

2. The particular complex field potentialization around the fracture in the
illustration, shows how the application of small area point electrodes are not as
reliable in introducing electron flow at the point of injury because of the

numerous fields involved. It is only by totally encompassing those fields with
penmeter wraps, can a flow of electrons be assured throughout the injured area. It
is possible that by careful measuring of the electrical potentials around an injury a
calculation could be made that would assure electron flow into a given area, but
even then, as the potential around the injury began to change from the treatment
the calculations would then be askew and the desired flow of electrons could not
be assured.
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The bipolar aspect of the changing polarity, every eleven minutes and 23 seconds, allows
the body to utilize the available favorable polarity as it is introduced into an area of the
body by treatment with little possibility of an area of the body missing the introduction of

additional electron flow by nature of an existing higher potential or internal resistance at
or near the point of injury or inflammation. Thus a favorable electrical condition is
crated within the body for healing and regeneration at some point within the whole

polarity cycle, without the necessity for knowing the exact potentials of the body at the
injury or area of treatment. (Based on the previous remarks of the examiner, I believe
the terms injury, area oftreatment, and inflammation, will have to be introduced and
spelled out precisely.)
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Page 1 of 2

Subj: Review & Recommendation
Date: 11/19/2002
To: ajteronics(d)qIobal411.net

F e: C:\Documents and Settings\Administrator\My Documents\Clients\LnN\Patents\Bristow
. ..... SA\F.11137\11137.doc (261632 bytes) DL Time (TCP/IP): < 1 minute

Dear Keith:

The following is provided as a constructive criticism of the application file forwarded to me for review.

1. In its current procedural posture, the final rejection is likely to be sustained because of the absence of
any allowable claim, and the inability to modify an existing claim to overcome the final rejection;

2. The application description (@ page 15) "inherently" discloses features of the invention which
appear to reside at the point of novelty, namely the advantages gained as a result of the multiple
functional layers of the electrode wrap;

3. The application construct is unusual from my perspective because of the absence of a detailed

description of the prior art in the body of the application and the creation thereby of a focus for the
Examiner to permit the presentation of arguments over the prior art. The absence of this description
makes it more difficult to craft the claims to focus (Objects of the Invention) upon the point of novelty
(distinction) and thereby overcome a rejection. As you can appreciate, it is difficult to have your
arguments accepted when you are forced to rely upon undisclosed features and advantages as a basis
for overcoming the references relied upon by the Examiner in his rejection. On a related matter, did the
attorney representing you file a prior art statement or any other paper that would include this type of
discussion of the prior art?

4. The application description appears to have been slavishly copied from a technical report without
analysis or anticipation of the obstacles to be encountered in the Patent Office. Accordingly, it lacks the
flexibility to reword the claims and possible present a more effective delineation of the scope of the
invention, consistent with the prior art. Moreover, in its present structure, there is an absence of a fall
back (sub genus) position to protect the likely commercial embodiments of the invention.

5. The application does not adequately describe the functional relationships of the various components
of the wrap and the processing conditions to define and support a method for achieving the
objectives. More specifically, there is no basis for claim language delineating the method in functional
terms, e.g. ' applying a therapeutically effective amount of a healing current to wound, etc." This type of
functional descnption generally precedes the detail description which is merely illustrative of one or more
of the preferred embodiments of the invention.

6. Recommendation:

A. In order to preserve the filing date, I would re-file the instant application without any changes
assuming that the "Revisions" detailing the factual data could be supplied by way of third party affidavit
when examination is resumed. I would also include at or shortly after the time of refiling a "Preliminary
Amendment , which would present a new set of claims, including claims reciting the properties inherent in
the structure of the wrap. The Examiner is not required to accept these claims for examination purposes
because of the absence of explicit support in the specification. A third party affidavit would be required at
this juncture to attest to fact that the disclosed materials used in the wrap and described in the patent
specification do inherently possess the properties and features explicitly recited in these new claims.

B. As a back-up, refile a new application with a new specification, detailing the inherent advantages
of the two functional layers of the wrap. This new application would one or comparative examples
illustrating the features which distinguish your invention over the prior art.

The enclosed patent application which I drafted some time ago. It has since been published. It provides
a classic example of a "method" patent which is free from from the types of shortcomings describedabove.
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I estimate that pursuing both of the recommendations described above would require from about 20 to 25
hours of professional time (which would include performance of my own novelty search).

If I can be of further assistance please advise - JH Faro
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Page 1 of 1

Subj: EPRT Patents
Date: 11/20/2002 5:25:57 PM Eastern Standard T me
From: EPRT2001
To: JohnF75712

Dear John,
David forwarded your evaluation to Keith and I. It looks very thorough with some very insightful
recommendations. I must say I was not pleased to see the deficiencies revealed in the original
submission. We have had a bit of history with Howrey & Simon in the past and I don't feel they did their
due diligence here.
Keith is in Australia now and will be in touch with David to decide how to proceed on this. I will contact
you in a few days to begin registration of some trademark names and products.
Thank you again for you time and careful review of our documents.
Katherine
Our phone number is (310)459-0099
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Date: 11/22/2002 4:46:19 AM Eastern Standard Time
From: alteronics@qlobal411.net
To: johnf75712@aol.com

John:

This will serve to authorize you to begin work on the two patent applications as described by you.
Thank you,
David
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D98656,519 WENDEt1 ET AL
Office Action Summary .

. rances P. Orope2a 3166
- The htAILING DA of this communication appears on the coversheet with me ence midress

Period tor Reply

A SHORTENED STATUTORY PERIOD FOR REPLY IS SET TO EXPIRE 3 MONTH(S) OR THIRTY (30) DAYS
WHICHE\/ER IS LONGER, FROM THE iMAILING DATE OF THIS COlWIMUNICATION.
- Extensions of nme may be wa$able endes the gnominimma el 37 CFR u36(a). in no event, however.Wey a stplybe Med

ener $íX ) htONTlis inun 9 e ta510de dmie atMs consnunieween.
- I NOperiod for replyis spetited thsee. thesasxiss*We smudory WW anger had W apire S h
- Fanse to epily enthin ne set or extended period for reply wil by thWh m

Arnt Spty receved by the ONice inter Gen 8wee awant nDerem metag dated Gus e W go educe any
eamed patent tarth adjustinent- See 37cFR 1104h).

Status

1 Responsive to communication(s) filed on 6/2406 (Appeal Briet) 5 QGM g¼ge).

2a) This action is FINAL 2b)O This action is non-final
3) Since eis application is in condition for allowance except for fonnel matters prosecution as to the merits is

closed in accordance with the practice under Ex parte Quayle. 193$ CA 113 453 OA 213.

Disposition of Claims

4) Clhifñ($) 1120d 23-35 is/are petiding in the application.

4a) Ohtte above claim(s) . is/are withdrawn from consideration.
$) Claim(s) is/are allowed

6) Claim(s) 23-35 istere rejected.

7 Claim(s) 3 and 4 is/are otgected to.

8) Claim(s) are sdbject to restriction and/or election requirement.

Application Papers

9) The specification is objected to by %e Examiner.

10)O The drawing(s) filed on is/are: a)O accepted or b)O objected to by the Examiner.

Applicant may not requesit that soy objectiam to the drawing(s) be hekiin abeyance. See 37 CFR t85(a)

Replacerrient drawing sheet(s) Actuding the correction is reqeired if me 4taWing(s) is objected to. See 37 CFR 1.121{d).

11)O The oath or declaration is objected to by the Examitter. Note the attached Office Action or torm PTO-152.

Priority under 35 UAC. § 119

12)O Acknowledgment is made of a claim for foreign priosity under 3$ R$A § 119(aWd) or (f)

a)¤ All b)O Sorne * c)¤ None of:

1.Q Certified copies of the priority documents have been received.

2 CeltiBed copies of the priodty documents have been receiv46 in Applicanon No.

3 Copies of the centified copies oishe priority documents have been received in this National Stage
application from the latemational Bureau (PCT Rule 112(s)).

See the ettached detailed Onice action for a list of the ceitified copies not received-

Attachmem(s)

N O Nonce of References Cueul (PTO-892) 4) laterview Sutnmary (PTO-4t3)
2) ¤ Notice Of Draftspemon's Patent DrWWihD Review(P10-948) Paper No(s)44ail Date

3) Ü enformenon Disclosure Statement($3 (PTO-1449er PTOfS8308) 5) Natise of informal Patent Application (PrO452)
Paper No(sylñail Date ____ sy oghg

r1"3#Ø"Tos°77 (By Respondent) o,,,ems.,,,,,,,,, p.,
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Application/Control Number 09/656,519 P 2
Art Unit 3766

DETAlllD ACTION

Appeal Brief

1. The Applicant'sconwnents in the Appeal Brief fded 8/24/05 have been fatty

considered. The rejections of record have been reviewed Some of the Applicant's

arguments are convincing and others are not Where the Applicant's comments and

argumems are not convincing, discussion is found below in association with the

rejections of record.

Declaration

2. The Applicant's cosament in the declaration filed 4/30/05 have been fully

considered. The declaration filed under 37 CFR 1 132 thd 6/30/05 is sufficient to

overcome the rejection of c%aims 3 4 23 and 24 based upon Fierning (US 5891 182) used

in the 35 U 3 C 103 rejection. Where the Applicant's comments and arguments are not

convincing, discussion is found below in association with the rejections of record.

Onim Rejecdons - 35 USC§n2

3. Claims 3-4 and 23-25 stand rejected under 35 U S C I I2, first paragraph, as

fai 1 g to comply with the written description requirement. The claim(s) contains subject

matter that was not described in the specifmation in such a way as to reasonably convey

to one sititled in the relevant art that the inventor(s), at the time the application was filed,

had possession ofthe claimed invention. The following claim elements can not be found

in the specification. It appean new matter was improperly entered by amendment during

prosecution of this case.
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Application/Control Narnber: 09/656,519 Page 3
Art Unit 3766

In claims 23-25, the Exanuner is unable to find support in the specification for

"einstomeric material" comprising "essentially uniform dispersion ofconductive particle

within said clastomeric material", the "essentially unifortn dispersion" not found in the

specification.

In claims 23-25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for the

wrap to "confortn to a portion ofan individual's body so as to provide an essential

uniform pattern oftherapeutic energy distribution", the "essentially uniform pattern of

therapeutic energy distribution" not found in the specification and is mot deemed be

taught by figure 1

la claim 25, the Examiner is unable to fed support in the specification for a first

layer comprising an "essentially fluid permeable, flexible, body conformable material

capabk ofabsorption and retention of a conductive fluid, said for layer being essentially

inert and hypoallergenic", dae "essentially inert and hypoalletgenic" not found in the

speciñcation

In claim 25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for a

second layer comprising "a flexible, elastomeric, body conformable material having an

essentially uniform dispersion ofconductive particles within said elastomeric material",

the "essentially uniform dispersion" not found in the specification.

Appropriate correction is required,
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Appik:ation/Control Number: 09/666,519 Page 4

Art Unit: 3766

Claim Rejections - 35 USC§ 103

4 Claim 25 4tands rejected under 35 U S C 103(a) as being unpatentable over

Glumac (US 4422461) in view of Batters (US 5038797).

Glumac substantially discloses the instant invention (figure 2; col. 2 @ 1-44;

col 3 @ 24 = col. 4 @ 30) The electrode is made of a body conformable material that

forms a uniform pattern of therapeutic energy distribution (col 1 @ 12-22;

col, 2 @ 39-55 and 6548). The conductive medium (20). read as the first layer, absorbs

and retains conductive Guid (figure 2; col. 2 @ 16-18; cot 3 @ 68 - col. 4 @ 8;

col. 4 @ 26-30) The conductive fdm (12) and metalization (14), read as the second

layer, is conductive and comains a uniform dispersion ofconductive particles (figure 2;

col. 2 @ 5-H; col. 3 @ 24-52)

Glumac discloses the claimed invention except for me first layer being inen /

hypostlergenic, the second layer being elastic, and the electrode wrap being placed

proximate a damaged tissue mass / contiguous with the skin that is proximate the

damaged tissue mass.

As to being inert / hypoallergenic, Batters teaches electrode skin sterface usmg

nontoxic materiah, read as inert and hypoallergenic materials, for the purposeofenabling

easy removal of the electrode. it would have been obvious to one having ordinary skill in

the art at the time ofthe invention to have used noatoxic / inert / hypoaBergenic skin

interface naterials in the Ghamac system in order to minimize the discomfort associated

with electrode removal and to eliminate the need to clean the skin after electrode removal

(col I @ 62-66).

APPX 380 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Application/Control Number 09/656,519 Page 5
Art Unit: 3766

As to being elastic, Batters teaches electrode posit¼oning using non-woven

polyester fabric impregnated with conducting gel for the purpose ofenabling elastic

elongation of the electrode. it would have been obvious to one having ordinary skill in

the art at the time of the invention to have used the non-woven polyester fabric

impregnated with conducting gel in the modified Glumac system in order to moderately

stretch the electrode when applied to the body so the electrode can conform closely to the

comour ofthe body enabling surface to surface contact between the electrode and the

damaged tissue mass / the skin proximate the damaged tissue mass (col. I @ 6-15; cot. 3

@ 35-50; col. 5 @ 3-13)

As to electrode placernent, Batters teaches injury treatment usirrg an electrode

wrap (10) proximate a damaged tissue mass / contiguous with the skin that is proximate

the damaged tissue mass for the purpose ofdirectly applying electrical simulation to treat

the area associated with damaged tissue. It would have been obvious to one having

ordinary skill in the art at the time of the invention to have used an electrode wrap

proximate a damaged tissue mass / contiguous with the skirt that is proximate a damaged

tissue mass in the modified Glumac system in order to redece the pain and swelling

associated with body injuries (col. 1 @ 6-14, 17-27 and 40-61).

The Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief filed 8/24/05 and the declaration

filed 6/30 05 have been fully considered, but they are not convincing.

As to the arguments in the Appeal Briefand the declaration regarding similarity

of the inventions, while the electrode wrap ofGlumac may not be basically the same as
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the instant invention, the combination of Glumac and Batters does teach an electrode

wrap as claimed in claina 25, the rejection detailed in the rejection of record aboves

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Briefinvolving the claim phrase

"consisting essential of' and this phrase limiting the functional components ofclaim 25

to "essentially" two functional layers, if an Applicant contends that additional materials

in the prior art are excluded by the recitation of"consisting essentially of", the Applicant

has the barden ofshowing that the introduction of additional components would

materially change the characteristics of the Applicant's invention (in re Janakirama-Rao

3 I7 F.2d 951, 954. 137 USPQ 893, 895-96 (CCPA 1963) The Applicant has not shown

the addition ofan adhesive and foam layer would materially change the characteristics of

the Applicant's invention, hence the rejection ef record stands.

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief involving the electrode being

used in pairs, Glomec teaches the electrodes can be used in pairs (col 4 @ 34), or

individually = "nay number" being read as one (col 4 @ 45)

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief involving "a fluid

imperineable material", the Exammer is unable to fed this citation in the Glumac

reference and hence is unable to make any comment.

As to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Briefinvolving "Glumac does not

disclose the same layers in the same order", the Examiner disagreet Based on Glumac -

fgre 2. when the liner (22) is removed prior to use (col. 4 @ 18), the first layect

conductive medium/ ûuid layer (20) is against the skia and the second layer/ dispersion

ofconductive particles (12, 14) is against the list layer.
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In response to the Applicant's arguments in the Appeal Brief that the references

fail to show certain features ofapplicant's invention, it is noted that the features upon

which applicant relies (i-e "the electrodes wrapped around an appendage or torso ") are

act recited in the rejected claira(s). Although the claims are interpreted in light of the

specification, limitations from the speciGcation are not read into the claims, See in re

Van Gens, 988 F 2d i 181, 26 USPQ2d 1057 (Fed. Cir. 1993).

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief involving the January 3, 2003

admission by the Examiner that the Glumac electrode is a "relatively rigid electrode

having 5 layers", the Examiner knows ofnosuch staternent and disagrees with the

Applicant's statement that the Glumac reference can not be relied upon as the primary

reference.

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief involving the Batters

reference mot teaching the Erst Auid permeable layer, in the rejection ofrecord, the first

fluid perraeable layer is taught by Glamac. The Batters reference is included in the

rejection oftecord to teach the use ofinert/hypoallergenic material in the nest layer,

elasticity of the second layer, and placement ofthe electrode proximate a damaged tissue

mass. Batters is deemed to be analogous art in the feeld of treament of the body by

electrical stimulation using an electrode.

As to the Applicant's comments in the Appeal Brief involving the flexiblilty of

the electrode, in the abstract of the Glumac patent, the electrode is noted to be flexible

in response to the Applicant's argumems in the declaration that the references fail

to show certain features ofapplicant's invention, it is acted that the features upon which

applicant relies (i.e. "the electrode configuration used in such a way to sunuund the body

APPX 383 (By Respondent)
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part in which the treatment site is located", "a vessel for a contianous layer ofwater"

"water niechanically coupled by the electrode wrap direcdy to the generator", "an

integral ûuid Nanket" and "holding water by means ofmechamcal and hydrodynamic

mechanisms") Are not tecited in the rejected daim(s). Although the daims are

interpreted in light of the specification, limitations from the specification are not read into

the claims. See Inre mmGerms, 988 R2d 1 181, 26 USPQ2d 1057 (Fed. Cir. I993).

In response to the Applicant% arguments in the dedaration against the references

individually, one cannot show nonobviousness by attacking references individually where

the rejections are based on convbinations of references See in re KeHer, 642 F.2d 413,

208 USPQ 87 I (CCPA 198 1); in re Merck & Ca, 800 E2d 1991, 23 1 USPQ 375 (Fed-

Cir. 1986)_

Specipeation

5 The specification is objected to as faikag to provide proper antecedent basis for

the claimed subject matter. See 37 CFR 1 75(d)(1) and MPEP § 60&.01(o). Correction

ofthe following is required:

In claims 23-25, the ££aminer is unable to fmd support in the specification for "a

damaged tissue mass".

in claims 23-24, the Examiner is unable to fmd support in the specification for

"a moisture absorbem materian

In claim 24, the Examiner is unable to find support in the speci6cation for "an

electrically conductive hid"
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In claim 25, the Examiner is unable to find support in the specification for "a

body conformable structure" The specifeation discloses a wrap that forms a "cylindrical

surface around the selected portions ofthe body" (page 15, line 19)

in claim 25, the Examiner is unable to And support in the specincation for the first

layer "in contiguous relationship with skin that is proximate to said damaged tissue

mass"

Appropriate correction is required

Claim ûhjections

6. Claims 3-4 and 23-24 am objected to because

- la claim 24 it is unclear if "a source ofelectrical current" in tine 7 and "a source

of direct electrical carrent" in lines 9-10 refer to the same element. The direct electrical

current is referred to numerous times in the rmainder of the claint

in claim 24, line I1, it appears "a source ofdirect electric current" should be

-said source ofdirect electrical current-.

In claim 23, line 3 7, it appears "C " should be -E

Statutory Basis

7. The text of those sections ofTitle 35, U.S. Code not included in this action can

be found in a prior Office action.
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Allowable Subject Moner

8. Claims 3 and 4 are objected to as being dependent upon a rejected base claim, but

would be allowable if rewritten in independent form including all of the linutations ofthe

base claim and any intervening claims,

Coac/usion

Any inquiry concerning this communication or eattlier cominunications from the

examiner should be directed to Fran Oropeza whose telephone number is (571) 272-4953

Ifattempts to reach the examiner by telephone are unsuccessful, the examiner's supervisor,

Robert E Pezzuto can be reached on (571) 272-699& The fax phone numbers for the

organization where this application or proceeding is assigned is (571) 273-8300 for regular

communication and for After Final communications

Frances P Oropeza goge
Patent Examiner Sups Pedah

Art Umt 3766 Art Unit 3766

APPX 386 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



EXHIBIT "6"

APPX 387 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279 26



Alk•wuf wbjeci maner
CONFIDENTIAL

Subject: Allowed subject rnatter
From: JohnF75712@aol com
Date: Tue, 29 Nov 2005 16:29:12 EST
To: KBlake@EPRTtechnollogies com
CC: alteronics@global411 net

Dear Kathenne:

the exarniner, or more accurately, her new supervisor has issued an office action (after the appeal was
laken and brief filed) in which he has allowed Method Clairns 3 & 4 (copies attached) - t have also
ncluded Claim 23 to which each of these alilowed claims make reference. The dependent Claims 3 & 4
are to be read as including all of the limitation of Claim 23 - where a limitation in Claim 23 is further
defined (as in Claims 3 & 4), the limitations of Claim 3 & 4 respectively replace the limitation in Claim
23

The appeal is still going forward, because we are entitled to broader coverage specifically coverage
as to the configuration of the wrap itself

any questions. pis advise - John

No vPur Fmmd i n di c inc omian massago ,

Content-Type: apphcation/octet-streamAllowed Claims 3 & 4.doc
Content-Encoding: base64

Content-Type: text/plain
AVG certification_,txt

Content-Encoding: 7bit
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3. The method of Claim 21 wherein Step (B) comprises applying a current

with a current density of less than 5 microamperes per square inch of said electrode wrap.

to the individual in need thereof.

4 The method af Claim 23, wherein Step LB) comprises applying a current

of 1 femtoampere to 20 microamperes. with a duty eycle of 00065 IIz to .00085 Hz and

at a current density of less than 5 micromnperes per square inch of said electrode wrap

23 In an electrotherapy method wherein an electrode is placed proximate to a

damaged tissue mass, or on the surface of the skin. that is contiguous with said damaged

tissue mass. a microcurrent applied through said electrode to said damaged tissue mass.

in accordance with a dermed treatmem regime, and the method repeated, as needed, to

promote heahng of saad damaged tissue mass, wherein the improvement comprises:

A. Providim:

(i) a body etmformable- electrode wrap of composite construction

consisting essengially of a tirst layer comprising a moisture

absorbent material for placement proximate to a damaged tissue

mass. a second layer of elastomerie material, in electrical contact

with said lirst layer and a source of electrical currem. said second

layer comprismg an essentially uniform dispersion of conductive

particles within said elastomeric material and means, associated

with said second layer, tor connecting said electrode to a said

source of dircel elcetrie currern;

(b) means lin connecting a said source of direct current connected to

said electrode wrap;

(hi) means lbt activating said electrMe wrap with elcetrical energy

tium said source of direct electrie current;

(iV) means lor periUdically rcVersing polarity of said direct electric

currern; mul
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tv) means for naenvating said electrode wrap. thereby tenmnanng

flow of direct electric current to said electrode wmp. from said

sourecol dircet electric current:

B. Saturating said Grst layer ni said electrode wrap with an electrically

conductive fluid:

C. Placmg smd clectrode wrap upon an individual for treatment of a damaged

tissue mass so as to essenually completely encircle said damaged tissue mass with said

electrode wrap; and

D. Applying an alternating direct current with a duty cycle of .0M65 IIz to

,00085 Hz, to said eleetmde wrap, in aewrdance with a therapeutic protocol, so as to

efket essennally uniform dispersal of elcetrical energy within said second layer of said

electrode wrap, and, thereby. over smd first layer of said electrode wrap proximate to said

damaged tissue mass,

with the prov so that each of said first and each of said second layer of said wrap

are essentially coextensive with one armther. and otherwise conform to a portion of an

individuaPs body so as to provide an essemial unilbrm pattem of therapeutic energy

distribution; and

C- Repeating Step (D) at least cme additional lime,
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in ¤teans for arracavsing smad éketnule wraA therey mananag

lkw w dates chwme corrent to said clectmle wiap. imm sakt

mme of dance doctric current

B, $stewating cid Gawt layer of amid clectmde wrap wish an dz-amily

edêe thod:

C I'heing sans tithk wrap upon an adivadeal for treatmem ofa damnagal

tistice mass so :6 m tw:resally avupksely uneistle said etwamped taraue nass wùh sast

elecÌrOCle WTI4W. afW1

D. Applyarg an altervenùg sterces muwat with a duty cyde of lWMa$ 112 u,

110085 111 to sad decstmie winA m accordarwr wàh a therapemuc pmth so s w.

etlect essentially anïfenm IIïstmail of danewal energy whhan soul second layer w said

clc‡ntde wrap. and. thereiry- nws 4ted ñrst htycr wsgid ehxtrade wTap pronate to sad
damaged hasne man

widh The psuvamp that cich atanad liess und cach ol' sard setend layer M sasd wrap

are sentedly cinnessure with ww unagier, and otherwise e(ailorm w• a panen w an
individualN lady so as to pe-wid:; an owntial unilbrnt pnittem of thesapenic energy

distribeavre and

C. Repeating Sig> flM at imas aw alditical úsne.
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Re re ofPatem innew#órwrdexf

CONFIDENTIAL

Subject: Re: Disclosure of patent information/forwarded
From: JohnF75712@aol com
Date: Sun, 10 Dec 2006 09:04:33 EST
To: Nagellaw@aol com
CC: KBlake@EPRTtechnologies.com

Enclosed is copy of the appin prepared by my successor - l do not have the drawings in a pdf file so Icould not forward - if you need them pls advise

also enclosed is the appeal brief filed in the US PTO - there has been one allowed claim (with 1 believe
mercial ernbodiment, however, may not provide sufficient scope to prevent copy cat

the f explains the issue before the patent office - I believe that the Examiner will be reversed an all
the forrnal rejechons and I also optimistk: with respect to reversal of the substantiive rejections - pisadvise f you require add1 information - JH Faro

No vins found in this irwrring Teenage
Checked by AVG Pree Ediejon

Veraitna: 7 . 1.409 / Virue Datanae: 268.15 . 1 RdcaGC Ate: 12 2 200

Content-Type: appheation/octet-stream
Content-Encoding: base64

Application9-6-00.doc Content-Type: application/octet-stream
Content-Encoding: base64

Content-Type: text/plain
_AVG certification_.txt

Content-Encoding: 7bit
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IN THE I VITED STATES PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE

in re application:

Keith R M'endeR, et, & Group Art Unit:3737
Senal No

09/6565/9
xaminer: Oropeza, F.

Finng Date
September 7, 2000

For:

Method & Apparatus For Perfòrming
Microcurrent Electrotherapy

Date: October 18, 2fK16

APPELLANTS* SECOND CORRECTED SUPPLEMENTAL BRIEF ON

APPEAL

TO THE BOARD OF PATENT APPEALS AND INTERFERENCES

John H. Faro, Esq.
Reg No, 25,859
Faro & Associates
44 West Flagler Street, Suite I100
Miami. Fkrrida 33130-1808

Phone 305, 424-1 112
Facsimile 305, 424-1114
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Case NO. SC18-1279 e003894



EXHIBIT "8"

APPX 395 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279 28



simusorus appea p

CONFIDENTIAL

Subject: Status of US appeal in Patent Office
From: JohnF75712@aol com
Date: Frl, 10 Oct 2008 10:48:14 EDT
To: KBlake@mail,eprttechnologies.com
CC: KBlake@EPRTtechnologies.com

Katherine - I finally got through to responsible person

the case shall be docketed/assigned to a specific three judge appellate panel before the end of the year
and it is anhcipated that we will have an oral hearing within 6 months thereafter

If there is any goorf news in this delay s that the US patent term shall be extended during this
inordinate delay in the Patent Office - thus the issued patent will not expire until after the product has
been launch in the US and a market firmly established - generally the last years of the term of a patent
are regar ed as the most important to the patent owner since that is the period in which it has the roost

I am waiting on written proposal frorn Cleve for Argentum so that we can approach Argentum with some
concrete terms and objectives - he promised to get it to me shortly

If you have any questions pis advise

New MapQuest Local shows what's happening at your destination Dining Movies.. Fvents, News & more Ry
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UNITEDSTATESPATENT ANDTRADEMARKOFFICE
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
United States Patent and Trademark OHice
Address: COMMISSIONER FOR PATENTS

P.O. Box l450
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450
www.uspto gov

APPI.ICATION NO. FILING DATE FIRST NAMED INVENTOR ATTORNFX DOCKET NO. CONFIRMATION NO.

09/656,519 09/07/2000 Keith F. Wendell 07722.0003.CPUS01 8991

7590 11/12/2008

John H. Faro, Esq. EXAMINER

Faro & Associates, LLC OROPEZA, FRANCES P

Suite 1000
28 W. Flagler Street ART UNIT PAPER NUMBER

Miami, FL 33130 3766

MAIL DATE DELIVERY MODE

11/12/2008 PAPER

Please find below and/or attached an Office communication concerning this application or proceeding.

The time period for reply, if any, is set in the attached communication.

APPX 398 (By Respondent)
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United States Patent and Trademark Office
Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual Property and
Director of the United States Patent and Tradernark Office

P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450

www.uspto.gov

JOHN H. FARO, ESQ.
FARO & ASSOCIA'IES, LLC
SUITE 1000 Appeal No: 2009-1396
28 W. FLAGLER STREET Application: 09/656,519
MIAMI, FL 33130 Appellant: Keith F. Wendell et al.

Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences
Docketing Notice

Application 09/656,519 was received from the Technology Center at the Board on July 14,
2008 and has been assigned Appeal No: 2009-1396.

A review of the file indicates that the following documents have been filed by appellant:

Appeal Brief filed on: October 19, 2006
Reply Brief filed on: NONE
Request for Hearing filed on: NONE

In all future communications regarding this appeal, please include both the application number
and the appeal number.

The mailing address for the Board is:

BOARDOF PATENTAPPEALSANDINTERFERENCES
UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

P.O. BOX 1450
ALEXANDRIA, VIRGINIA 22313-1450

The facsimile number of the Board is 571-273-0052. Because of the heightened security in the
Washington D.C. area, facsimile communications are recommended. Telephone inquiries can be
made by calling 571-272-9797 and should be directed to a Program and Resource
Administrator.

By order of the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences

APPX 399 (By Respondent)
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Faro & Associates, LLC 28 W. Flagler Street Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33130

Invoice submitted to: (305) 424-1112

Ms. Katherine Blake, President
EPRT Technologies, Inc.
PO Box 278
Pacific Palisades CA 90272

September 01, 2007

Invoice #10628

Professional Services

Hrs/Rate Amount

Microcurrent Electrotherapy

8/6/2007 JHF PatentApplnintl 3.00 900.00
Review correspondence from UK associate; contact UK associate for 300.00/hr
clarification and make suggested changes as appropriate
Microcurrent Electrotherapy

JHF PatentAppinUSA 1.50 450.00
ContactPTO to check upon status of appeal; reaffirm request for oral 300.00/hr
hearing; advise client of status
Microcurrent Electrotherapy

SUBTOTAL: 4.50 1,350.00]

For professional services rendered 4.50 $1,350.00

Balance due $1,350.00

Payment Of Time & Charges Is Due Upon Receipt Unless Alternative Payment Arrangments Have Been Made In
Advance Of Expenditure Of Professional Time or Advance/Disbursement Of Funds On Behalf Of Client
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Faro & Associates, LLC 28 W. Flagler Street Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33130

Invoice submitted to: (305) 424-1112

Ms. Katherine Blake, President
EPRT Technologies, Inc.
PO Box 278
Pacific Palisades CA 90272

January 01, 2008

Invoice #10643

Professional Services

Hrs/Rate Amount

Diabetes Treatment

12/17/2007 JHF PatentApplnUSA 3,500.00
Review client draft; conduct novelty search in US Patent Office for
relevant prior art; revise draft to conform to United States and
International disclosure requirements;

Flat fee for rewriting patent application - $3,000;
Novelty search,Google search , etc. - $500
Diabetes Treatment

SUBTOTAL: [ 3,500.00]

Hypertension Treatment

12/17/2007 JHF PatentAppinUSA 3,500.00
Review client draft; conduct novelty search in US Patent Office for
relevant prior art; revise draft to conform to United States and
International disclosure requirements;

Flat fee for rewriting patent application - $3,000;
Novelty search,Googlesearch , etc. - $500
Hypertension Treatment

SUBTOTAL: [ 3,500.00]

For professional services rendered 0.00 $7,000.00

Previous balance $1,350.00

Balance due $8,350.00

APPX 402 (By Respondent)
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Ms. Katherine Blake, President Page 2

Payment Of Time & Charges Is Due Upon Receipt Unless Alternative Payment Arrangments Have Been Made In
Advance Of Expenditure Of Professional Time or Advance/Disbursement Of Funds On Behalf Of Client

Current 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 120 Days 150 Days 180
7,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,350.00 0.00
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Faro & Associates, LLC 28 W. Flagler Street Suite 1000 Miami, FL 33130

Invoice submitted to:
(305) 424-1112

Ms. Katherine Blake, President
EPRT Technologies, Inc.
PO Box 278
Pacific Palisades CA 90272

February 01, 2008

Invoice #10649

Additional Charges :

Qty/Price Amount

Diabetes Treatment

1/28/2008 - JHF $Filing Fee 1 515.00
Filing fee for US application 515.00
Diabetes Treatment

SUBTOTAL: [ 515.00]

Hypertension Treatment

1/28/2008 - JHF $Filing Fee 1 515.00
Filing fee for US application 515.00
Hypertension Treatment

SUBTOTAL: [ 515.00]

Total costs $1,030.00

Previous balance $8,350.00

1/31/2008 Payment - thank you ($1,350.00)

Total payments and adjustments ($1,350.00)

Balance due $8,030.00

Payment Of Time & Charges Is Due Upon Receipt Unless Alternative Payment Arrangments Have Been Made In
Advance Of Expenditure Of Professional Time or Advance/Disbursement Of Funds On Behalf Of Client
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Current 30 Days 60 Days 90 Days 120 Days 150 Days 180
1,030.00 7,000.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

APPX 405 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



EXHIBIT "11"

APPX 406 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



_Technology Business Law Group, LLC 1581 Brickell Avenue Suite 2004 Miami, FL 33129

Invoice submitted to: (305) 761-6921

Ms. Katherine Blake, President
EPRT Technologies, Inc.
1925 Angus Avenue
Unit D
Simi Valley CA 93063

November 01, 2010

In Reference To:Katherine Blake

Invoice #10828

Professional Services

Hrs/Rate Amount

BodiCharger TM

10/22/2010 JHF Federal Appin for Registration of TM 750.00
Prep TM application for BodiChargerTM
BodiCharger TM

SUBTOTAL: [ 750.00)

BodiHarmony TM

10/22/2010 JHF PatentAppinUSA 750 00
Prep TM application for BodiHarmoney TM
BodiHarmony TM

SUBTOTAL [ 750.00]

Diabetes Treatment

10/22/2010 JHF PatentAppinUSA 5.00 1,500.00
Review office action and references, revise claims and draft response 300.00/hr
rejection over prior art (estimated 4-5 hours)
Diabetes Treatment

SUBTOTAL: [ 5.00 1,500.00]

For professional services rendered 5.00 $3,000.00

APPX 407 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



EXHIBIT "12"

APPX 408 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Case 3:12-cv-05047-L Document 1 Filed 12/10/12 Page 1 of 8 PagelD 1

Roger A, Farahmand
Texas Bar No. 00793009
J.T. Langford
Texas Bar No. 11911700
13747 Montfort Drive, Suite 105
Dallas, Texas 75240
Telephone: 972-720-1000
Telecopier: 972-720-0600

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION

EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC., )
)

Plaintiff, ) CIVIL ACTION NO.
V.

)
JOHN H. FARO, ESQ. and )
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW ) COMPLAINT
GROUP, LLC, formerly )
FARO & ASSOCIATES, LLC, )

)

Defendants. ) PLAINTIFF DEMANDS A TRIAL BY JURY

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. This is a case of legal malpractice and deliberate concealment. Attorney John H. Faro

lured EPRT Technologies, Inc. to retain his law firm's services, with promises of zealous patent

prosecution at a reasonable cost. After eight years and legal fees of nearly 10 times the quoted

amount, Faro accomplished nothing and covered up adverse Patent Office decisions by stalling

and evasive, false and/or deliberately misleading answers.

JURISDICTION

2. The jurisdiction of this Court is invoked pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332. The matter in

controversy exceeds the sum of $75,000, exclusive of interest and costs, and is between citizens

of different States.
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PARTIES

3. At all times hereinafter mentioned, Plaintiff EPRT Technologies, Inc. (hereinalter

"Plaintiff" or "EPRT") was and still is a corporation incorporated under the laws of the State of

California and headquartered in Simi Valley, Califomia.

4. Defendant, John H. Faro, Esq. (hereinafter "Faro") is an individual who is a resident and

an attorney licensed and practicing law in multiple State and Federal District Courts, as well as

before the U.S. Patent & Trademark office. He may be served with a copy of this Complaint and

a Civil Summons at his principal office address, 1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800, Miami,

Florida 33131.

5. Defendant Technology Business Law Group, LLC is, upon information and belief, a

limited liability company organized under the laws of the State of Florida, upon the dissolution

of Faro & Associates, LLC. This Defendant may be served with a copy of this Complaint and a

Civil Summons by serving its Managing Member, John H. Faro, Esq., 1385 Brickell Avenue,

Suite 800, Miami, Florida 33131.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

6. In mid-November 2002, Defendant John H. Faro, Esq. evaluated EPRT's patent

application, Serial Number 09/656519, pending before the U.S. Patent & Trademark Office

("PTO"), and advised ERPT of his legal strategy intended to revive the application and obtain

the patent sought by Plaintiff ("Patent"). Defendant lured EPRT to retain him and his law firm,

Faro & Associates, LLC, now Technology Business Law Group, LLC, (collectively, the

"Defendants") with a fee estimate of 20-25 hours of professional time, or $4,000 to $5,000, to

obtain the Patent.

7. Based on Faro's representations, on or about November 27, 2002, EPRT retained the

Defendants and paid to Defendants a retainer of $2,000, or 50% of the estimated fees.

8. On or about December 12, 2002, Plaintiff, by and through its President, Katherine A.

Blake, executed the Power of Attorney and Revocation of Prior Powers, which Defendants filed

with the PTO.
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9. For nearly eight years, the Defendants informed EPRT of various communications and

filings with the PTO, relating to the Patent. During this time, EPRT paid the Defendants over

$45,000 for their legal services - or 10 times Faro's original fee projection.

10. As of July 30, 2010, Faro informed EPRT that he was still attempting to verify the status

of the Patent application with the PTO. Subsequent to that communication, Faro became

increasingly evasive and unresponsive to EPRT's requests for information about the status of the

Patent.

I l. In March 201 1, EPRT again requested specific information about the status of the Patent

application, in response to an inquiry from a potential EPRT investor. Faced with lack of

response from the Defendants, EPRT retained the undersigned counsel to obtain a copy of the

Patent file from the Defendants. Among the documents finally released by the Defendants on

October 28, 201 1 was a copy of the PTO's decision of June 1, 2009, rejecting EPRT"s appeal of

the Patent appeal and setting forth a two-month deadline for further appeal or commencing a

civil action ("PTO Decision").

12. During the months following the receipt of the PTO Decision, the Defendants continued

to bill EPRT and receive payments for legal services rendered relating to the Patent application.

Neither Faro nor anybody acting on behalf of the Defendants ever advised EPRT of the PTO

Decision and its consequences, and never made any further attempts to pursue the Patent on

behalfof EPRT.

13. Despite diligent efforts, EPRT did not discover the PTO Decision until October 28, 201 1,

when the Defendants forwarded a copy to the undersigned counsel. Prior to that time, in reliance

on the Defendants' misrepresentations and intentional omissions, EPRT understood that

everything that needed to be done to pursue the Patent application had been and was continuing

to be done by Faro.

14. As a result of EPRT's reliance on the Defendants' actions, misrepresentations and

omissions, EPRT did not file an appeal or commence civil action as specified in the PTO

Decision, causing a substantial delay in the process of having the Patent being issued and causing

COMPLAINT Page 3

APPX 411 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Case 3:12-cv-05047-L Document 1 Filed 12/10/12 Page 4 of 8 PagelD 4

EPRT to suffer substantial damages due to its inability to take advantage of the Patent during this

period of time.

15. Plaintiff suffered additional damages caused by the Defendants as a result of paying for

the Defendants' services that he never rendered and/or services that he did not render properly,

requiring work to be re-done.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION - LEGAL MALPRACTICE

16. Plaintiff refers to the allegations contained in Paragraphs I though 15 above, and by

reference thereto, incorporates them as though fully set forth herein.

17. In or about November 2002, EPRT retained the Defendants to prosecute EPRT's Patent

application, Serial Number 09/656519, before the PTO. By entering into the attomey-client

relationship with EPRT, the Defendants became the attorneys, representatives, and fiduciaries of

EPRT, imposing a duty to use such skill, prudence, and diligence as members of the profession

commonly possess and exercise.

18. During the course of their representation of EPRT, the Defendants breached their

professional duty of care to EPRT by (1) failing to properly draft patent application documents

that covered material aspects of the invention; (2) failing to notify EPRT of the PTO Decision

and its consequences; (3) failing to respond to the PTO Decision in a proper and timely manner;

(4) failing to notify EPRT of the Defendants' failure to respond to the PTO Decision in a timely

and proper manner; (5) failing to keep EPRT fully informed of the Defendants' failures to duly

respond to official actions of the PTO and the status of EPRT's Patent application.

19. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' failures to comply with their duty of

care, EPRT sustained substantial damages in an amount not yet fully ascertained, but which will

be proven at the time of trial.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION - BREACH OF FIDUCIARY DUTY

20. Plaintiff refers to the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 though 19 above, and by

reference thereto, incorporates them as though fully set forth herein.

21. At all times relevant herein, the Defendants were acting in a fiduciary capacity and owed

a fiduciary duty to EPRT. The Defendants were fiduciaries by virtue of the parties' attorney-

client relationship.
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22. In their capacity as fiduciaries, the Defendants had a duty to act with the utmost care,

skill and diligence in the representation of EPRT. The Defendants further had an obligation to

act in a manner which was not inconsistent with EPRT's best interests.

23. Defendants knew or should have known that EPRT would rely on Faro's representations

that Defendants would exercise reasonable care and due diligence in their capacity as attorneys

acting on behalf of EPRT and that EPRT would reasonably expect that Defendants would

conduct themselves in a manner that would place EPRT's best interest above Defendants' own

interests.

24. Defendants breached their fiduciary duty owed to EPRT, including but not limited to (1)

failing to properly draft patent application documents that covered material aspects of the

invention; (2) failing to notify EPRT of the PTO Decision and its consequences; (3) failing to

respond to the PTO Decision in a proper and timely manner; (4) failing to notify EPRT of the

Defendants' failure to respond to the PTO Decision in a timely and proper manner; and (5)

failing to keep EPRT fully informed of Defendants' failures to duly respond to official actions

of the PTO and the status of EPRT's Patent application.

25. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' actions and inactions, EPRT has

sustained substantial compensable losses, all to EPRT's detriment and damages in an amount not

yet fully ascertained, but which will be proven at trial.

26. Further, as a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' wrongful conduct, EPRT has

suffered, and will continue to suffer, damages in a total amount to be proven at the time of trial.

27, In doing the aforementioned wrongful conduct, the Defendants acted with wanton

disregard of EPRT's rights; therefore, as a result of Defendants' conduct, EPRT is entitled to

punitive damages in a sum to be proven at the time of trial.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION - FRAUD

28. Plaintiff refers to the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 though 27 above, and by

reference thereto, incorporate them as though fully set forth herein.

29. At the time EPRT retained the Defendants, EPRT was assured that the Defendants were

highly experienced and competent to represent EPRT with respect to EPRT"s pending Patent

application. Further, at that time, Faro represented that if EPRT were to retain the Defendants,
COMPLAINT
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(1) the Defendants would perform all legal services necessary to protect EPRT's rights

pertaining to its Patent application; (2) the Defendants would keep EPRT fully informed of the

status of its Patent application; and (3) the Defendants' legal fees would be limited to $4,000 to

$5,000. All of the above statements were made by Faro in his individual capacity and as a

representative acting on behalfof and binding upon the Defendants.

30. Upon information and belief, such representations were false and the Defendants knew

them to be false. Defendants were not highly experienced and competent to represent EPRT

with respect to prosecuting the Patent application; the Defendants did not intend to perform all

legal services necessary to protect EPRT's rights pertaining to the Patent application; the

Defendants did not intend to keep EPRT fully informed of the status of its Patent application;

and the Defendants never intended to abide by Faro's original fee estimate.

31. Between December 2002 and July 2011, the Defendants periodically advised EPRT, both

orally and in writing, that everything that needed to be done to keep pursue EPRT's Patent

application pending with the PTO had been done and was continuing to be done on EPRT's

behalf and concealed the fact that he was not doing everything that needed to be done. Upon

information and belief, such representations were false each time they were made and the

Defendants knew them to be false.

32. The Defendants concealed the PTO Decision from EPRT upon its receipt in June 2009,

and concealed their failure to respond to the PTO Decision -- yet the Defendants continued to bill

for and collect legal fees from EPRT for nearly two years after their receipt of and failure to

respond to the PTO Decision. As of July 30, 2010, Faro informed EPRT that he was still

attempting to verify the status of the Patent application with the PTO, which deliberately misled

EPRT into believing that its Patent application was still pending and viable. Upon information

and belief, Faro's representations to EPRT were made while the Defendants were aware of the

PTO Decision and their failure to respond to same. The Defendants had a duty as EPRT's

attorneys to disclose this fact to EPRT but failed to do so and deliberately misled EPRT that its

Patent application was still pending.

33. Upon information and belief, the Defendants knew that their above-stated representations

were false at the time they were made and/or intentionally failed to disclose the true facts with
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intent to deceive EPRT so that they could continue to bill EPRT and collect for their legal

services.

34. Upon information and belief, the Defendants intentionally misrepresented the true facts

and/or failed to disclose the above-stated facts to deceive EPRT and induce their client into

having a false sense of security, while continuing to generate legal fees without any regard or

consideration of EPRT's need to obtain competent and sound legal representation and objective

legal advice.

35. EPRT reasonably relied to its detriment upon said misrepresentations, omissions and

concealments made by the Defendants as its attorneys, by continuing to pay the Defendants'

legal bills, and by continuing to retain the Defendants' services rather than hiring substitute

counsel, causing further prejudice and delay in the process of EPRT's Patent application.

36. Despite diligent efforts, EPRT did not discover the Defendants' fraudulent conduct until

October 28, 2011, when the Defendants forwarded a copy of the PTO Decision to the

undersigned counsel.

37. The Defendants' conduct as alleged above in making the aforesaid misrepresentations

and omissions of fact was intentional and in complete disregard of EPRT' s rights. Said conduct

was malicious and intended to injure, annoy, and vex EPRT, all at the financial expense and

detriment ofEPRT.

38. As a proximate result of the Defendants' conduct as alleged herein, EPRT has suffered

general damages according to proof at the time of trial.

FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION - DREACH.OF CONTRACT

39. Plaintiff refers to the allegations contained in Paragraphs I though 38 above, and by

reference thereto, incorporates them as though fully set forth herein.

40. On or before December 12, 2002, EPRT and the Defendants entered into a retainer

agreement pursuant to which the Defendants would pursue EPRT's Patent application with the

PTO.
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4 I. EPRT has performed all conditions, covenants, and promises required on its part to be

performed in accordance with the terms and conditions of the retainer agreement.

42. From at least June 1, 2009 through the present, the Defendants breached the retainer

agreement by failing to properly perform their duties as EPRT's attorneys and by concealing

their breaches from EPRT, and concealed such breaches from EPRT until the present day.

43. As a direct and proximate result of the Defendants' breaches, EPRT has been damaged in

an amount according to proof at the time of trial.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, PlaintifT EPRT Technologies, Inc. requests that John H. Faro, Esq. and

Technology Business Law Group, LLC appear herein, and that, upon final trial, Plaintiff have a

judgment against the Defendants, jointly and severally, for money damages in an amount within

the jurisdictional limits of this Court, and for such other and further relief as this Court may

determine to be just and necessary.

Dated: 2012.

FARAHMAND LAW FIRM

By: I(oger A. Farahmand
Counsel for Plaintiff,
EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

MIAMI DIVISION

Case No. 1:13-cv-23893-Huck/O'Sullivan

THRISOINT PTY. LTD.,
a Belize International Business
Company; and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES,
INC., a Califomia corporation,

Plaintiff,
v.

JOHN H. FARO,
an Individual; and Technology
Business Group, LLC, a Florida
limited liability company d/b/a
Faro & Associates,

Defendants.

AFFIDAVIT OF HUGO RODRIGUEZ

STATE OF FLORIDA )
) SS

COUNTY OF MIAMI-DADE )

BE IT KNOWN that on this 29d' day of April, 2015, before me, HUGO

RODRIGUEZ, ESQ. appeared, and being by me first duly sworn, deposes and says:

1. I have been a licensed attorney since 1980, admitted to practice in Florida, the

United States Court of Appeals for the 5th Circuit, the 11th Circuit and the Supreme Court of the

United States.

2. The facts contained in this affidavit are ofmy own knowledge.

3. I was retained to represent non-party Maruchi Rodriguez after she was

subpoenaed for a deposition in the above styled case.

4. The deposition was scheduled for March 12, 2015.

5. On March 10, 2015, I emailed Meredith Chaiken, counsel for Plaintiffs, to inform

her of my representation of Ms. Rodriguez and to request a postponement of the deposition.

6. Ms. Chaiken agreed to postpone the deposition.

1
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7. Ms. Chaiken has not made direct comact with my client, Ms. Rodriguez. since

February of 2015. prior to my representation of Ms. Rodriguez, This contact was to obtain a

deposition date from Ms. Rodriguez,

8. Pursuant to the subpoena dues tecum issued to my client, my investigator

obtained the file from Ms. Rodriguez. We then made arrangements for the file to be copied at

Judicial Copy in Downtown Miami, Florida. The copy was then made available to Ms. Chaiken

for pick-up of the EPRT file ("File") from the copy service company,

9. Ms. Chaiken did not steal the File nor is she in possession of the original File, M3

firm is in possession of the original file.

FíJRTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT.

HUGO I 0DRIGUEL BSQ

The foregoing instrument was ackno (edged, sworn to and subscribed before me

by Hugo Rodriguez, Esq. who is personally krinvn to me and did take an oath.

WITNESS my hand and oflicial seal in the County and State last aforesaid this
29th day of April 2015.

NOTART PUBLIC

Sign

Print

My Commission Expires:
My Commission No. is:
INOTARIAL SEAL]

WG E SUARE
MY COWISSION s €E ‰ia
E XPtRE $: Odow 11, 2D10
Breed % Beptkery se,ca
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re: Dec Statements for Thrisont - SmarterMail http://webmail.siteserver.net/Main/frmPreview.aspx?folder=drafts&...

Date Fri 12/12/2008 12:20 PM

From "Frank Tepley" <ftepley@eprttechnologies.corn>
To JohnF75712@aol.com

Subject re: Dec Statements for Thrisont

View HTML I Text | Header | Raw Content

This message has not been sent

John:
Just to confirm. the total amount owed to Faro & Associates is $4,475, from both companies as follows:

Thrisoint $5,475
EPRT (1,000)
Total 4,475

Frank Tepley

.... __ __ _______
From: JohnF75712@aol.com
Sent: Friday, December 12, 2008 6:36 AM
To: ftepley@eprttechnologies.com
Subject: Dec Statements for Thrisont

enclosed is the most recent statements for Thrisont

the EPRT balance will be zeroed out on the next months statement - John

Make your fe easier with a your friends email, and favor te sites in one place. Try it now.
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CONFIDENTIAL

EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
1925 ANGUS AVENUE. UNIT D

5IMI VALLEY, CA 93063
G10) 459-0099 FAX G10) 459-0195

BankofAmerica. 5 7 8
Pussedes CA-- 16-66-1220

5/4/2010

8

AY TOFE Faro & Associates **720.00

Seven Hundred Twenty and 00/100*************************~•••*****************•+*******++•* ++++*****+••++. ......... 3
-...- DOLLARS

Faro & Associates
1581 Brickell Ave
Suite 2004 //
Miami, FL 33129

10720

' O0 5 78 7n' i: L 2 2000 G E L *: 0 9 3 8 5=0 t, O O 2n

EPRT TECHNOLOGlES, INC.
5 7 8 7

Faro & Associates 5/4/2010
Date Type Reference Original Amt. Balance Due Discount Payment
11/1/2008 Bill 10720 5,475.00 720.00 720 00

Check Amount 720.00

BoA Checking 10720 720.00

PRT TECHNOLOGlES, INC. 5 7 8 7

Faro & Associates 5/4/2010
Date Type Reference Original Amt. Balance Due Discount Payment
11/1/2008 Bill 10720 5,475 00 720.00 720.00

9 Check Amount 720,00

BoA Checkin. 10720 720.00
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EXAMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 711.03(c)

running against the application. Applicants may use

form PTO/SB/64a to file a petition for revival under
37 CFR 1.137(b).

B. Petition Fee Requirement

35 U.S.C. 41(a)(7) provides that a petition for the
revival of an unintentionally abandoned application or
for the unintentionally delayed payment of the issue
fee must be accompanied by the petition fee set forth
in 37 CFR 1.17(m), unless the petition is filed under
35 U.S.C. 133 or 151 (on the basis of unavoidable
delay), in which case the fee is set forth in 37 CFR
1.17(1). Thus, unless the circumstances warrant the
withdrawal of the holding of abandonment (i.e., it is
determined that the application is not properly held
abandoned), the payment of a petition fee to obtain
the revival of an abandoned application is a statutory
prerequisite to revival of the abandoned application,
and cannot be waived.

In addition, the phrase "[o]n filing" in 35 U.S.C.
41(a)(7) means that the petition fee is required for the
filing (and not merely the grant) of a petition under 37

CFR 1.137. See H.R. Rep. No. 542, 97th Cong., 2d
Sess. 6 (1982), reprinted in 1982 U.S.C.C.A.N. 770
("[t]he fees set forth in this section are due on filing
the petition"). Therefore, the Office: (A) will not
refund the petition fee required by 37 CFR 1.17(1) or
1.17(m), regardless of whether the petition under
37 CFR 1.137 is dismissed or denied; and (B) will not
reach the merits of any petition under 37 CFR 1.137
lacking the requisite petition fee.

The phrase "unless the petition is filed under
[35 U.S.C.] 133 or 151" signifies that petitions to
revive filed on the basis of "unavoidable" delay

(under 35 U.S.C. 133 or 151) are a subset of petitions
to revive filed on the basis of unintentional delay.
That is, "unavoidable" delay and "unintentional"
delay are not alternatives; "unavoidable" delay is the
epitome of "unintentional" delay. Any petition to

revive an abandoned application or lapsed patent must
meet the minimal "unintentional" delay threshold, and
an applicant need only pay the fee specified in
37 CFR 1.17(1) (rather than the fee specified in
37 CFR 1.17(m)) if the petition is also accompanied
by an adequate showing that the entire delay in filing
the required reply, from the due date for the reply until
the filing of a grantable petition pursuant to 37 CFR
1.137(a), was unavoidable.

C. Unintentional and Unavoidable Delay

Petitions under 37 CFR 1.137(b) are less burden-
some (statement(s) rather than a showing accompa-
nied by documentary evidence) to file and are
evaluated under the less stringent "unintentional
delay" standard. Applicants determining whether to
file a petition to revive an application under 37 CFR
1.137(b) or 1.137(a) should take the following into
account:

While the Office reserves the authority to require
further information concerning the cause of abandon-
ment and delay in filing a petition to revive, the Office
relies upon the applicant's duty of candor and good
faith and accepts the statement that "the entire delay
in filing the required reply from the due date for the
reply until the filing of a grantable petition pursuant to
37 CFR 1.137(b) was unintentional" without requir-
ing further information in the vast majority of peti-
tions under 37 CFR 1.137(b). This is because the
applicant is obligated under 37 CFR 10.18 to inquire
into the underlying facts and circumstances when a
practitioner provides this statement to the Office. In
addition, providing an inappropriate statement in a
petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b) to revive an aban-
doned application may have an adverse effect when
attempting to enforce any patent resulting from the
application. See Lumenyte Int'l Corp. v. Cable Lite
Corp., Nos. 96-1011, 96-1077, 1996 U.S. App.
LEXIS 16400, 1996 WL 383927 (Fed. Cir. July 9,
1996)(unpublished)(patents held unenforceable due to
a finding of inequitable conduct in submitting an
inappropriate statement that the abandonment was
unintentional).

Even if the Office requires further information in a
petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b), such petition is still
significantly less burdensome to prepare and prose-
cute than a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a). The
Office is almost always satisfied as to whether "the
entire delay...was unintentional" on the basis of state-
ment(s) by the applicant or representative explaining
the cause of the delay (accompanied at most by copies
of correspondence relevant to the period of delay). A
showing of unavoidable delay will (in addition to the
above) require: (1) evidence concerning the proce-
dures in place that should have avoided the error
resulting in the delay; (2) evidence concerning the
training and experience of the persons responsible for
the error; and (3) copies of any applicable docketing
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711.03(c) MANUAL OF PATENT EXAMINING PROCEDURE

records to show that the error was in fact the cause of
the delay. See MPEP § 711.03(c), subsection II.C.2.
In addition, a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) must
establish that the delay was unavoidable, and not just
that it was unintentional. Thus, many petitions origi-
nally Oled under 37 CFR 1.137(a) end up being
granted under 37 CFR 1.137(b) when the applicant
realizes that sufficient evidence concerning the delay
is too difficult to obtain or the cause of delay simply
does not amount to "unavoidable delay" within the
meaning of37 CFR 1.137(a).

Since the requirements of 37 CFR 1.137(a) are
more exacting than the corresponding requirements of
37 CFR 1.137(b), a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) is
significantly less likely to be grantable as filed than is

a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b). The Office usually
must render a number of interlocutory decisions dis-
missing a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) and request-
ing additional evidence until either the applicant
provides a satisfactory showing of unavoidable delay

(in which case the petition can be granted) or the
Office concludes that the applicant cannot provide a
satisfactory showing of unavoidable delay (in which
case the petition must be denied). Thus, the period
between when an applicant first files a petition to
revive and the Office renders a decision granting (or
denying) that petition will, more often than not, be
much longer if the petition is under 37 CFR 1.137(a)
than it would have been if the petition were under
37 CFR 1.137(b).

1. Unintentional Delay

The legislative history of Public Law 97-247, § 3,
96 Stat. 317 (1982), reveals that the purpose of
35 U.S.C. 41(a)(7) is to permit the Office to have
more discretion than in 35 U.S.C. 133 or 151 to revive

abandoned applications in appropriate circumstances,
but places a limit on this discretion stating that
"[u]nder this section a petition accompanied by [the

requisite fee] would not be granted where the aban-
donment or the failure to pay the fee for issuing the
patent was intentional as opposed to being uninten-
tional or unavoidable." H.R. Rep. No. 542, 97th

Cong., 2d Sess. 6-7 (1982), reprinted in 1982
U.S.C.C.A.N. 770-71. A delay resulting from a delib-
erately chosen course of action on the part of the
applicant is not an "unintentional" delay within the
meaning of 37 CFR 1.137(b).

Where the applicant deliberately permits an appli-
cation to become abandoned (e.g., due to a conclusion
that the claims are unpatentable, that a rejection in an
Office action cannot be overcome, or that the inven-
tion lacks sufficient commercial value to justify con-
tinued prosecution), the abandonment of such
application is considered to be a deliberately chosen
course of action, and the resulting delay cannot be
considered as "unintentional" within the meaning of
37 CFR 1.137(b). See In re Application of G,
11 USPQ2d 1378, 1380 (Comm'r Pat. 1989). An
intentional course of action is not rendered uninten-
tional when, upon reconsideration, the applicant
changes his or her mind as to the course of action that
should have been taken. See In re Maldague,
10 USPQ2d 1477, 1478 (Comm'r Pat. 1988).

A delay resulting from a deliberately chosen course
of action on the part of the applicant does not become
an "unintentional" delay within the meaning of
37 CFR 1.137(b) because:

(A) the applicant does not consider the claims to
be patentable over the references relied upon in an
outstanding Office action;

(B) the applicant does not consider the allowed or
patentable claims to be of sufficient breadth or scope
to justify the financial expense of obtaining a patent;

(C) the applicant does not consider any patent to
be of sufficient value to justify the financial expense
of obtaining the patent;

(D) the applicant does not consider any patent to
be of sufficient value to maintain an interest in obtain-
ing the patent; or

(E) the applicant remains interested in eventually
obtaining a patent, but simply seeks to defer patent
fees and patent prosecution expenses.

Likewise, a change in circumstances that occurred
subsequent to the abandonment of an application does
not render "unintentional" the delay resulting from a
previous deliberate decision to permit an application

to be abandoned. These matters simply confuse the
question of whether there was a deliberate decision
not to continue the prosecution of an application with

why there was a deliberate decision not to continue
the prosecution of an application.

In order to expedite treatment, applicants filing a
petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b) to revive an aban-
doned application are advised to include the statement
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"the entire delay in filing the required reply from the ment of the facts concerning the delay Applicants

due date for the reply until the filing of a grantable may use the forms provided by the Office (PTO/SB/
petition pursuant to 37 CFR 1.137(b) was uninten- 64, FFO/SB/64a, or PTO/SB/64PCT).
tional," even if applicant chooses to include a state-
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EXAMINATION OF APPLICATIONS 711.03(c)

D. Delay Until the Filing ofa Grantable Petition

There are three periods to be considered during the
evaluation of a petition under 37 CFR 1.137:

(A) the delay in reply that originally resulted in
the abandonment;

(B) the delay in filing an initial petition pursuant
to 37 CFR 1.137 to revive the application; and

(C) the delay in filing a grantable petition pursu-
ant to 37 CFR 1.137 to revive the application.

As discussed above, the abandonment of an appli-
cation is considered to be a deliberately chosen course
of action, and the resulting delay cannot be considered
as "unintentional" within the meaning of 37 CFR
1.137(b), where the applicant deliberately permits the
application to become abandoned. See Application of

G, 11 USPQ2d at 1380. Likewise, where the applicant
deliberately chooses not to seek or persist in seeking

e revival of an abandoned application, or where the
applicant deliberately chooses to delay seeking the
revival of an abandoned application, the resulting
delay in seeking revival of the abandoned application
annot be considered as "unintentional" within the

/ meanmg of 37 CFR 1.137(b). An intentional delay
resulting from a deliberate course of action cTaosen by
the applicant is not affected by:

(A) the correctness of the applicant's (or appli-
cant's representative's) decision to abandon the appli-
cation or not to seek or persist in seeking revival of
the application;

(B) the correctness or propriety of a rejection, or
other objection, requirement, or decision by the
Office; or

(C) the discovery of new information or evidence,
or other change in circumstances subsequent to the
abandonment or decision not to seek or persist in
seeking revival.

Obviously, delaying the revival of an abandoned
application, by a deliberately chosen course of action,

until the industry or a competitor shows an interest in
the invention is the antithesis of an "unavoidable" or
"unintentional" delay. An intentional abandonment of
an application, or an intentional delay in seeking the

revival of an abandoned application, precludes a find-
ing of unavoidable or unintentional delay pursuant to
37 CFR 1.137. See Maldague, 10 USPQ2d at 1478.

The Office does not generally question whether
there has been an intentional or otherwise impermissi-
ble delay in filing an initial petition pursuant to
37 CFR 1.137(a) or (b), when such petition is filed:
(A) within 3 months of the date the applicant is first
notified that the application is abandoned; and (2)
within 1 year of the date of abandonment of the appli-
cation. Thus, an applicant seeking revival of an aban-
doned application is advised to file a petition pursuant

to 37 CFR I.137 within 3 months of the first notifica-
tion that the application is abandoned to avoid the
question of intentional delay being raised by the
Office (or by third parties seeking to challenge any
patent issuing from the application).

Where a petition pursuant to 37 CFR 1.137(a) or
(b) is not filed within 3 months of the date the appli-
cant is first notified that the application is abandoned,
the Office may consider there to be a question as to

whether the delay was unavoidable or unintentional.
In such instances,

(A) the Office will require a showing as to how
the delay between the date the applicant was first noti-
fied that the application was abandoned and the date a
37 CFR 1.137(a) petition was filed was "unavoid-
able"; or

(B) the Office may require further information as
to the cause of the delay between the date the appli-
cant was first notified that the application was aban-

doned and the date a 37 CFR 1.137(b) petition was
filed, and how such delay was "unintentional."

To avoid delay in the consideration of the merits of
a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) or (b) in instances in
which such petition was not filed within 3 months of
the date the applicant was first notified that the appli-
cation was abandoned, applicants should include a
showing as to how the delay between the date the
applicant was first notified by the Office that the

application was abandoned and the filing of a petition
under 37 CFR 1.137 was (A) "unavoidable" in a peti-
tion under 37 CFR 1.137(a); or (B) "unintentional" in
a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b).

Where a petition pursuant to 37 CFR 1.137(a) is not
filed within I year of the date of abandonment of the
application (note that abandonment takes place by
operation of law, rather than by the mailing of a
Notice of Abandonment) the Office will require:
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(A) further information as to when the applicant
(or applicant's representative) first became aware of
the abandonment of the application; and

(B) a showing as to how the delay in discovering
the abandoned status of the application occurred
despite the exercise of due care or diligence on the

part of the applicant (or applicant's representative)
(see Pratt, 1887 Dec. Comm'r Pat. at 32-33).

Where a petition pursuant to 37 CFR 1.137(b) is
not filed within 1 year of the date of abandonment of
the application (note that abandonment takes place by
operation of law, rather than by the mailing of a
Notice of Abandonment), the Office may require:

(A) further information as to when the applicant

(or the applicant's representative) first became aware
of the abandonment of the application; and

(B) a showing as to how the delay in discovering
the abandoned status of the application occurred
despite the exercise of due care or diligence on the
part of the applicant (or applicant's representative).

To avoid delay in the consideration of the merits of
a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(b) in instances in
which such petition was not filed within 1 year of the

date of abandonment of the application, applicants
should include:

(A) the date that the applicant first became aware
of the abandonment of the application; and

(B) a showing as to how the delay in discovering
the abandoned status of the application occurred
despite the exercise of due care or diligence on the
part of the applicant.

In either instance, applicant's failure to carry the
burden of proof to establish that the "entire" delay
was "unavoidable" or "unintentional" may lead to the
denial of a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) or 37 CFR
1.137(b), regardless of the circumstances that origi-
nally resulted in the abandonment of the application.

E. Party Whose Delay Is Relevant

The question under 37 CFR 1.137 is whether the
delay on the part of the party having the right or
authority to reply to avoid abandonment (or not reply)
was unavoidable or unintentional. When the applicant
assigns the entire right, title, and interest in an inven-
tion to a third party (and thus does not retain any legal
or equitable interest in the invention), the applicant's

delay is irrelevant in evaluating whether the delay was

unavoidable or even unintentional. See Kim v. Quigg,
718 F. Supp. 1280, 1284, 12 USPQ2d 1604, 1607-08

(E.D. Va. 1989). When an applicant assigns the appli-
cation to a third party (e.g., the inventor/applicant's
employer), and the third party decides not to file a

reply to avoid abandonment, the applicant's actions,
inactions or intentions are irrelevant under 37 CFR
1.137, unless the third party has reassigned the appli-
cation to the applicant prior to the due date for the
reply. Id

Likewise, where the applicant permits a third party
(whether a partial assignee, licensee, or other party) to
control the prosecution of an application, the third

party's decision whether or not to file a reply to avoid
abandonment is binding on the applicant. See Win-
kler, 221 F. Supp. at 552, 138 USPQ at 667. Where an
applicant enters an agreement with a third party for
the third party to take control of the prosecution of an
application, the applicant will be considered to have
given the third party the right and authority to prose-
cute the application to avoid abandonment (or not
prosecute), unless, by the express terms of the con-

tract between applicant and the third party, the third
party is conducting the prosecution of the application
for the applicant solely in a fiduciary capacity. See

Futures Technology Ltd. v. Quigg, 684 F. Supp. 430,
431, 7 USPQ2d 1588, 1589 (E.D. Va. 1988). Other-
wise, the applicant will be considered to have given
the third party unbridled discretion to prosecute (or
not prosecute) the application to avoid abandonment,

and will be bound by the actions or inactions of such
third party.

E Burden of Proof To Establish Unavoidable or
Unintentional Delay

37 CFR 1.137(a)(3) requires a showing to the satis-
faction of the Director of the USPTO that the entire
delay in filing the required reply from the due date for
the reply until the filing of a grantable petition pursu-

ant to 37 CFR 1.137(a) was unavoidable. Therefore,
the Office will require the applicant in every petition
under 37 CFR 1.137(a) to carry the burden of proof to
establish that the delay from the due date for the reply

until the filing of a grantable petition was unavoid-
able. See Haines, 673 F. Supp. at 316-17, 5 USPQ2d
at 1131-32.
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Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH Document 225 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/17/2015 Page 1 of 4

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 13-CV-23893-HUCK

THRISOINT PTY., LTD.,
And EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Plaintiffs,

v.

ESQ. JOHN H. FARO, individually,
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW
GROUP, LLC, a Florida corporation
formerly known as Faro & Associates, LLC

Defendant(s).

ORDER

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendants John H. Faro's and Technology

Business Law Group, LLC's ("TBLG") Motion for Summary Judgment [D.E. 151, 187, 192] and

Plaintiffs Thrisoint Pty. Ltd.'s ("Thrisoint") and EPRT Technologies, Inc.'s ("EPRT") Motion

for Summary Judgment [D.E. 157, 185]. For the reasons set forth below and stated on the record

at the hearing held on August 10, 2015, Plaintiffs' Motion is DENIED and Defendants' Motion

is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment

Plaintiffs Thrisoint and EPRT filed suit against Faro and TBLG for legal malpractice and

breach of fiduciary duty. Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint alleges that Faro, in the course

and scope of his employment with TBLG, negligently abandoned a patent application entitled

"Method and Apparatus for Performing Microcurrent Electrotherapy ("the '519 Application").

APPX 431 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH Document 225 Entered on FLSD Docket 08/17/2015 Page 2 of 4

In order to succeed on its claim for legal malpractice, Plaintiffs must prove that, but for

Defendants' malpractice, it would have obtained patent protection for its '519 Application.

Plaintiffs argue that the record shows Claims 3, 4, and 23 were all allowable and

therefore, but for Defendants' negligence, Thrisoint would have obtained protection for at least

those claims. However, Defendants offered testimony that without the device claim

encompassed in Claim 25 there would be no enforceable patent. As a result, and for the reasons

stated on the record at the hearing, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether

Thrisoint could have obtained a viable patent but for Defendants' alleged malpractice.

Accordingly, with regard to its malpractice claim, Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment is

DENIED.

Plaintiffs' Breach of Fiduciary Duty claim is premised on Defendants' failure to disclose

its purported lack of experience in filing appeals and its lack of a proper docketing system, and

Defendants' failure to communicate with Plaintiffs after Defendants received the notice of

abandonment. Plaintiffs rely on their expert Gregory Mayback in an attempt to demonstrate the

proper standard of care for prosecuting the '519 Application.

Defendants offered sufficient evidence of their experience in order to raise an issue of

fact as to Plaintiffs' claim regarding Defendants' purported inexperience. Further, although

Mayback explains that he is a proponent of the Foundation IP, or FIP docketing system, there is

a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a failure to utilize this system falls below the

standard of care. Finally, Defendants dispute that they received the notice of abandonment.

Although Plaintiffs cite the mailbox rule, Defendants offered evidence to rebut the presumption

of receipt. Accordingly, for the reasons stated on the record at the hearing, there is an issue of
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fact as to whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duty. Therefore as to its breach of

fiduciary duty claim, Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED.

IL Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment

Defendants argue that EPRT does not have standing to bring suit against Defendants.

According to Plaintiffs' Third Amendment Complaint [D.E. 15], Thrisoint "licensed the patent to

EPRT." (Third Am. Compl., ¶ 12). Plaintiffs did not waver from this position until a hearing on

July 20, 2015, at which Plaintiffs' counsel conceded that EPRT did not have a license. At the

August 10, 2015 hearing, Plaintiffs again acknowledged that EPRT did not have a license.

Moreover, EPRT relied upon Plaintiffs' expert, Richard Gray, to prove its lost profits damages.

This Court previously granted Defendants' motion in limine precluding Mr. Gray's testimony

[D.E. 214]. Accordingly, because EPRT does not have a licensing agreement and is unable to

prove its damages, the Court hereby GRANTS Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment as to

EPRT.

TBLG argues that it is not a proper Defendant because any alleged malpractice occurred

prior to its formation. For the reasons stated on the record at the hearing, there is an issue of fact

as to the timeframe of the alleged malpractice. Therefore Defendants' Motion for Summary

Judgment on behalfof TBLG is DENIED.

Defendants also argue this Court should grant its motion based on the theories of

judgmental immunity and estoppel. However, for the reasons stated on the record at the hearing,

the Court finds these arguments unavailing and therefore, Defendants' Motion for Summary

Judgment is DENIED.
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Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiffs' Motion for

Summary Judgment is DENIED and Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment is GRANTED

IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

DONE AND ORDERED, in Chambers in Miami, Florida, August 14, 2015.

Paul C. Huck

Copies furnished to:
United States District Judge

All counsel of record.
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IN THE UNITED PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE  
BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE  

 
 
In the Matter of 

 
JOHN H. FARO Proceeding No. D2015-27 

 
 
 

Respondent 
_____________________________/ 
 

RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR LEAVE TO AMEND AFFIRMATIVE 
DEFENSES AND MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 
Respondent John H. Faro, by and though its undersigned counsel, hereby files it 

Motion for Leave to Amend its Affirmative Defenses, as Follows:  

BACKGROUND 
 

On September 7, 2015, Respondent filed pro-se an Amended Answer to the OED 

Director's Complaint.  The Amended Answer included nine affirmative defenses and 12 

exhibits.  On September 18, 2015, Counsel for the OED Director filed a Motion to Deem 

Facts Admitted or Strike Certain Paragraphs of Respondent's Amended Answer to the 

Complaint ("Motion to Strike Amended Answer") contending that the Amended Answer 

did not adequately comply with 37 C.F.R. § 11.36(c).  The Motion to Strike Amended 

Answer also sought to strike the exhibits, which the Court denied.  On October 9, 2015, 

the OED Director filed a Motion to Strike Respondent's Affirmative Defenses ("Motion 

to Strike Affirmative Defenses").  On October 13, 2015, Respondent filed pro-se a 

Response to the OED Director's Motion to Strike Amended Answer ("Response").  

Finally on October 21, 2015, the Court granted OED Director's Motion to Strike 

Affirmative Defenses and denied OED Director’s Motion to Strike Amended Answer.  

Before the Court is the proposed amendment to Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses and 
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the arguments why he should be allowed to amend. 

ARGUMENT 
Justice Requires Allowing New Counsel with Fresh Eyes to Amend 
Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses Since Respondent’s Bar Licenses and 
Livelihood are in Jeopardy. 

 
Rule 15(a) 1 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure states that: “a party may 

amend its pleading only with the opposing party's written consent or the court's leave. 

The court should freely give leave when justice so requires.” Fed. R. Civ.P. 15(a) (2) see 

also Farris v. United States, 333 F.3d 1211, 1215 (11th Cir. 2003) (per curiam ).  

Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(a) provides the district court with extensive discretion to decide whether 

to grant leave to amend after the time for amendment as a matter of course has passed. 

Charles A. Wright, Arthur R. Miller & Mary Kay Kane, Federal Practice & Procedure 

Civil 2d § 1486, at 604 (1990).  In Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182, (1962), the 

Supreme Court propounded the following standard, which is to be employed by the 

district courts: 

If the underlying facts or circumstances relied upon by a plaintiff may be a 
proper subject of relief, he ought to be afforded an opportunity to test his claim on 
the merits. In the absence of any apparent or declared reason—such as undue 
delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, repeated failure to 
cure deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, undue prejudice to the 
opposing party by virtue of allowance of the amendment, futility of amendment, 
etc.—the leave sought should, as the rules require, be “freely given.” Id. 

 
Unless a motion to amend a pleading is made in bad faith or for undue delay, 

constitutes dilatory conduct or will prejudice a non-movant, leave to amend should be 

given freely. See, Hargett v. Valley Fed. Sav. Bank, 60 F.3d 754, 761 (11th Cir. 1995).   

	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	   	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  	  
1 Rule 15(a) provides as follows: 
A party may amend the party's pleading once as a matter of course at any time before a responsive pleading is served or, if 

the pleading is one to which no responsive pleading is permitted and the action has not been placed upon the trial calendar, the party 
may so amend it at any time within 20 days after it is served. Otherwise a party may amend the party's pleading only by leave of court 
or by written consent of the adverse party; and leave shall be freely given when justice so requires. A party shall plead in response to 
an amended pleading within the time remaining for response to the original pleading or within 10 days after service of the amended 
pleading, whichever period may be longer, unless the court otherwise orders. Fed.R.Civ.P. 15(a). 
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Counsel for respondent warrants that the amendments do not constitute dilatory 

conduct, bad faith or made for undue delay as Counsel just became part of the case 

(notice of appearance filed on November 5, 2015), and had to read over 250 docket 

entries, research the pertinent law to the issues before the court, and plan a defense 

strategy with Respondent.  Respondent has been battling the same issues with EPRT 

Technologies since 2012, in two malpractice cases and at the time of filing the 

Affirmative Defenses in this case was overwhelmed and overworked.  Counsel’s fresh 

eyes formulates a new approach that will serve serves Respondent case as he was stripped 

away from his meritorious defenses by not complying with 37 C.F.R. § 11.36(c).  

Counsel has now corrected the flaws and respectfully and humbly requests to give 

Respondent a chance to present its defenses in his case, as justice so requires protecting 

his bar licenses and livelihood.   

The Court’s Striking of Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses is “an extreme 
measure” and a “drastic remedy” that warrants Respondent’s Redress.  
 
Motions to strike are not favored and are infrequently granted, because they are 

an “extreme measure” and propose a drastic remedy.  Stanbury Law Firm, P.A. v. 

Internal Revenue Service, 221 F.3d 1059, 1063 (8th Cir. 2000).  Striking an allegation 

from a pleading is a severe measure that most courts will rarely grant, and therefore in 

this case, this Court should allow proper redress.  See Thompson v. Kindred Nursing 

Ctrs. E., LLC, 211 F.Supp.2d 1345, 1348 (M.D. Fla. 2002) (“A motion to strike is 

a drastic remedy ... which is disfavored by the courts.” (citations and internal quotation 

marks omitted)).  See also BJC Health Sys. v. Columbia Cas. Co., 478 F.3d 908, 917 

(8th Cir.2007); Kaiser Aluminum & Chem. Sales, Inc. v. Avondale Shipyards, Inc., 677 

F.2d 1045, 1057 (5th Cir.1982) (stating that “motions to strike a defense are generally 
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disfavored”);  Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure 3d § 1380 (2004) 

(stating that “motions under Rule 12(f) are viewed with disfavor by the federal courts 

and are infrequently granted”). 

With the Proposed Amendment, his newly retained Counsel has complied with 

37 C.F.R. § 11.36(c) and believes the striking his Affirmative Defenses was an extreme 

and drastic measure that would preclude him of a proper defense.  Furthermore, after 

reviewing Respondent’s case, Counsel found new grounds for dismissal not previously 

presented to the Court.  Since the consequences of a reprimand are so severe, the Court 

should allowed to amend his Affirmative Defenses in order to properly present the 

arguments at trial.   

THEREFORE, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court to allow him 

to Amend his Affirmative Defenses. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Undersigned counsel certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was 

served by email on December 14, 2015 to Tracy Kepler Esq., at Tracy.kepler@uspto.gov.    

    Respectfully submitted on December 14, 2015 by,  

 
 

EDAM LAW PLLC 
 Attorneys at Law 
 
Latitude One Building 
175 SW 7th Street, Suite 2410, 
Miami FL 33130 
Office + 1 (305) 643-0740 
Fax No. +1 (786) 219-0581 

______________________________________ 
 

EDMAR M. AMAYA, ESQUIRE 
For Respondent 
 
  Edmar M. Amaya LL.M. 
  Florida Bar No.  063816 
  edmar.amaya@edamlaw.com 
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IN THE UNITED PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE  
BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE  

 
 
In the Matter of 

 
JOHN H. FARO Proceeding No. D2015-27 

 
 
 

Respondent 
_____________________________/ 
 

RESPONDENT’S FIRST AMENDED  
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES  

(Proposed) 
 

Respondent John H. Faro, by and though its undersigned counsel, hereby files it First  

Amended Affirmative Defenses as follows:  

 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 
The OED Director is precluded from sanctioning the Respondent based on the following 

Affirmative Defenses:  

FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

RES-JUDICATA/COLLATERAL ESTOPPEL - In October 2013, EPRT 

Technologies, sued Respondent for malpractice in the Federal District Court in the SD of Florida 

(Miami Div.), Thrisoint PTY Ltd. & EPRT Technologies v. John H Faro & Technology Business 

Law Group, LLC, Case No. 13- CV-23893-HUCK - SO, Fla.  On September 1, 2015, the Florida 

malpractice claims by EPRT Technologies against the Respondent were dismissed, with 

prejudice, September 1, 2015, Stipulation of Dismissal entered on September 2, 2015. Id. Docket 

Entry No. 237.  Therefore, the issues presented by the OED have been finally adjudicated in 

malpractice litigation between EPRT Technologies in the Federal District Court, Stipulation of 

Dismissal (under Rule 41(a)) with prejudice.  Accordingly, the OED is precluded from re-

litigation of the allegation of professional misconduct under one or more of the federal 
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exceptions to non-party issue preclusion articulated by the US Supreme Court in Taylor v. 

Sturgell, 553 U.S. 880, (2008). 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

5 YEAR STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS BAR - The OED Complaint is based in part 

upon alleged acts and omission occurring as early as November 2005, specifically, the alleged 

failure of the Respondent to seek the client’s lawful objectives (37 CFR 10.84(a)(l) and (2)), by 

failing to  communicate  the  allowable subject matter (November 14, 2005, Final Rejection), 

and/or  by the Respondent’ failure to amend the Method claims of the '519 patent application, by 

adopting  the suggestions  of the Patent Examiner.  The alleged misconduct occurring in 2005 is 

barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations.  More specifically, 28 USC 2462, precludes the 

OED from pursuing discipline based upon alleged acts and/or omission occurring more five (5) 

before the acts and/or omission giving rise to the alleged misconduct occurred, Sheinbein  v. 

Dudas, 465 F.3d 493, 496 (Fed. Cir.  2006). 

THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

IMPROPER DETERMINATION OF PROBABLE CAUSE - The OED 

determination of probable cause, (a condition precedent to the filing and pursuit the Complaint 

& Notice of Proceedings Under 35 USC §32 (before and Administrative Law Judge)), was made 

by the OED Director in violation of 37 CFR 11.22(d), because such probable cause 

determination did not include an examination of “…all information or evidence concerning 

possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner”.  The OED filing and pursuit the Complaint & 

Notice of Proceedings Under 35 USC §32 (before and Administrative Law Judge) against the 

Petitioner, was made by the OED Director, without either regard, or consideration, of the 

potentially preclusive effect of September 1, 2015, Stipulation of Dismissal, with prejudice, of 

the malpractice complaint against the Petitioner, in violation of 37 CFR 11.32, because OED 
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Director did not conduct an investigation in compliance with 37 CFR 11.22(d).  Therefore, the 

May 15, 2015, OED determination of probable cause, and the filing and pursuit a Complaint & 

Notice of Proceedings Under 35 USC §32 (before and Administrative Law Judge), violated the 

OED procedures and practice relative to the pursuit of a disciplinary proceeding against the 

Petitioner, the OED also violated Petitioner’s constitutional right to due process, under the US 

Constitution (5th Amendment). 

FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - Even if the Grievant, as a result of the Respondent’s November 29, 

2005, email, did not fully comprehend the reasons and legal implications of the Respondent's 

decision to forego the adoption of the Examiner's suggestions, as to the amendment of the 

Method Claims (3, 4 & 23), Respondent's actions did not result in any loss or prejudice to the 

Grievant, because such Method Claims (3, 4 & 23), if amended and issued in the form suggested 

amendments would be worthless and unenforceable, insofar as the format used in the defining of 

the invention, specifically, Method Claim 23, cannot be infringed by a single entity.  Under the 

law (circa 2008), such Method Claims, even if allowed and issued in a patent to EPRT, 

would be unenforceable, because there can no longer be direct infringement of such Method 

Claims where all steps of the method cannot be performed by a single entity (Claims 23 

requiring multiple party performance of all steps of the Method), Muniauction, Inc. v. 

Thomson Corp., 532 F. 3d 1318 (Fed Cir. 2008).  Accordingly, there can be no neglect for the 

failure of the Respondent to attain patent protection, suggested by the Patent Examiner in the 

Office Action (Third Final Rejection) dated in the form November 14, 2005. 

FIFTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - In Respondent's professional judgment, (reasonably exercised), the 

amendments proposed by the Examiner, in her Office Action dated November 19, 2005, where 
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ineffective to overcome/remove the Final Rejection of Claim 23 (wording of subparagraphs A, B 

& D), under 35 USC 112 (Claim Rejection- 35 USC 112), based upon a lack of support for the 

wording in the specification, including the "new matter" rejection, for the language of 

subparagraphs A, B & D of Claim 23.  Accordingly, absent the Examiner’s withdrawal of the 

Final Rejection, under 35 USC 112, to the wording of language of subparagraphs A, B & D of 

Claim 23, the Examiner's proposed amendments to Claim 23 would not yield an allowable 

claim.    Moreover, the Federal Circuit and United States Supreme Court have ruled the Method 

Claim (in the form present in 2002-2003, as finally rejected on November 154, 2005, if allowed 

in the form suggested by the Examiner were unenforceable.  Accordingly, FARO, 

(notwithstanding FARO's belief that Claims 3 & 4 were potentially allowable "in some form"), 

continued the pursuit of the appeal of the Final Rejection, with the knowledge and acquiescence 

of EPRT was in furtherance of the lawful objectives of EPRT, to secure allowance of all of the 

finally rejected claims on appeal. 

SIXTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - Because (a) FARO was not in possession of his original patent file 

for the '519 patent application (it being in possession of FARO's  ex-wife who refused to 

release it to him from and after their separation in October/November 2011), Rodriguez 

Affidavit dated April 29, 2015, and, (b) even if he had possession, EPFT was not to entitled to 

FARO his original patent file for the '519  patent application  because FARO had retaining 

lien on such file in the amount of in excess of $4,475, EPRT (Frank Tepley) email to 

FARO, dated December 12, 2008. Accordingly, FARO EPRT estopped to complain that 

FARO withheld any of its property which it was entitled to receive. 

 
SEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 
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MITIGATION - FARO's docketing and monitoring of matters entrusted to him was both 

reasonable, conformed to practice and procedures of the corporate patent departments of his  

former employers; and,  FARO's unintentional abandonment of the '519 patent application, did 

not result in any prejudice or damages to EPRT, because it could have been readily reinstated, 

and would have been reinstated, by the filing of Petition to Withdraw a Holding of 

Abandonment, 37 CFR  1.181,  MPEP711,03(c), (a no fee Petition) by FARO, had the EPRT 

counsel not threatened FARO with a malpractice lawsuit and thereby forced FARO to refrain 

from any further involvement with EPRT and the '519 patent application. 

 
EIGHT AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - The Grievant and Respondent did not have any attorney-client 

relationship from and after October 28, 2011, as a result of the Grievant, through her counsel, 

creating an irreconcilable conflict between the Grievant and the Respondent, when Grievant's 

counsel threatened to sue Respondent for malpractice. Accordingly, the Grievant, EPRT, cannot 

be heard to complain that any acts and omission by Respondent occurring after from and after 

October 28, 2011, including Respondent's withdrawal/professional constraint from further 

involvement in the '519 patent application, breached any duty or obligation of Respondent to the 

Grievant, EPRT, Florida Bar Rule 4-1.7; 37 CFR 11.116.  Which both professionally constrain 

the Respondent from further representation of his client when a conflict first occurs between 

himself and his client. 

NINTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - The Grievant, EPRT, and Respondent did not have any attorney-

client relationship, in respect to the '519 patent application, from and after December 23, 

2006, as a result of the Grievant, EPRT, absolute assignment of the '519 patent application to 

APPX 445 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



	  
	  

Page 6 of 7 
	  

an unaffiliated holding company.   Accordingly, the Grievant, EPRT, cannot be heard to 

complain that any acts and omission by Respondent occurring after from and after December 

23, 2006, including the abandonment of the ‘519 patent application and/or Respondent's 

withdrawal/professional constraint from further involvement in the '519  patent application, 

breached any duty or obligation of Respondent to the Grievant, EPRT.  Accordingly, Respondent 

did not breach any professional obligation to the Grievant, EPRT. 

TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

MITIGATION - At all times material hereto EPRT was by counsel other than FARO 

relative to the protection of its interests in the '519 patent application, including (without 

limitation) its corporate counsel in California (whom it acknowledged to have consulted when 

FARO was unavailable) and its litigation counsel form Texas, whom it relied upon to determine 

the status of the '519 patent application (when FARO was unavailable).  The EPRT actions (and 

the actions of its attorneys), or more accurately the EPRT inaction (and the inactions of its 

corporate and litigation attorneys -neither of whom were patent attorneys), in its failure to 

diligently seek revival of the '519  patent application from and after learning of its abandonment, 

because EPRT "did not consider the patent (to be obtained from the '515 patent application) to 

be of sufficient value to justify the financial expense of obtaining the patent", (b) and, 

alternatively, elected to pursue a "deliberately chosen course of action", (sue FARO for 

malpractice first), in lieu of revival of the '519 patent application, thereby forfeiting any right of 

revival of the '519 patent application, (MPEP 711.03(c)(C)(1)- Rev 6, September 2007. MPEP 

711.03(c)(D)- Rev 6, September  2007.  Accordingly, whatever perceived subjective deficiencies 

have been alleged to exist in the FARO alleged failure to secure allowance of the Method claim 

(3, 4 &  23), the alleged inadequacies in the FARO docketing practices, did not cause nor 

contribute to any loss or damages asserted  to  have  occurred  from  the  FARO's  unintentional  
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abandonment  of  the  '519  patent application. 

ELEVENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE 

Respondent, reserve the right to add affirmative defenses, as they become known during 

the course of discovery. 

THEREFORE, Respondent respectfully prays this Honorable Court, that OED Director, 

take nothing by this action, and such further relief as this Honorable Court may deem just and 

proper. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

Undersigned counsel certifies that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was served by 

email on December 14, 2015 to Tracy Kepler Esq., at Tracy.kepler@uspto.gov.    

  

    Respectfully submitted on December 14, 2015 by,  

 
 
 
 

EDAM LAW PLLC 
 Attorneys at Law 
 
Latitude One Building 
175 SW 7th Street, Suite 2410, 
Miami FL 33130 
Office + 1 (305) 643-0740 
Fax No. +1 (786) 219-0581 

______________________________________ 
 

EDMAR M. AMAYA, ESQUIRE 
For Respondent 
 
  Edmar M. Amaya LL.M. 
  Florida Bar No.  063816 
  edmar.amaya@edamlaw.com 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

V. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Complainant, The Florida Bar, moves for Partial Summary Judgment1 

pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.510 and states as follows:   

1. Summary judgment is designed to test the sufficiency of the evidence 

and to determine if there is sufficient evidence at issue to justify a trial or formal 

hearing on the issues raised in the pleadings.  Summary judgment is appropriate 

where, as a matter of law, it is apparent from the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, 

or other evidence that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving 

party is entitled to relief as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. Greene, 926 So.2d 

1195 (Fla. 2006) 

1 This Motion is styled as partial because it relates only to the issue of guilt regarding the rule violations and does not 
address the proper sanction to be imposed.  
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2. “[A] referee…has the authority to enter summary judgment on the 

same basis as in a civil case---when, as a matter of law, it is apparent from the 

pleadings and other evidence that there are no genuine issues of material fact and 

the moving party is entitled to relief as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. 

Rosenberg, 169 So.3d 1155 (Fla. 2015).   See also, The Florida Bar v. Rapoport, 

845 So.2d 874 (Fla. 2003). 

3.  Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides, in 

pertinent part, as follows: 

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other 
authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that a 
lawyer licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct 
justifying disciplinary action will be considered as conclusive proof of the 
misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.  
  

4.  In the instant case, there are no genuine issues of material fact in 

question and The Florida Bar is entitled to an order of summary judgment as a 

matter of law. As such, this matter should proceed to final hearing on the issue of 

discipline only.   

THE UNDISPUTED FACTS 

5.  The undisputed facts in this matter are as follows:     

A. This is a reciprocal discipline action based on disciplinary action taken 

against respondent by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO).  
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 B. Respondent became a patent attorney registered to practice before the 

USPTO on March 3, 1971.  On August 2, 2017, respondent was the subject of a 

Final Order issued by the USPTO suspending him for a period of eight (8) months 

and thereafter until passage of the MPRE and reinstatement by the Office of 

Enrollment and Discipline Director.  This Final Order issued following 

respondent’s appeal of the earlier Initial Decision issued by Administrative Law 

Judge J. Jeremiah Mahoney who concluded that, on the basis of clear and 

convincing evidence2, respondent had violated numerous rules of the USPTO Code 

of Professional Responsibility.3  The August 2, 2017 Final Order affirmed the 

earlier September 15, 2016 decision by the Administrative Law Judge.  The factual 

findings set forth in the following paragraphs form the basis for respondent’s 

suspension and are contained in the August 2, 2017 Final Order.4  (See August 2, 

2017 Final Order attached as Ex. “A”.)   

 

 

2 Clear and convincing is the same evidentiary standard to be applied in Florida Bar disciplinary proceedings.  See 
The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970). 

3  The hearing before the Administrative Law Judge was conducted on May 10-11, 2016 in Miami and included 
testimony from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake, attorney Meredith Chaiken (EPRT’s counsel in the 
related malpractice case) and respondent, John Faro. 

4  In the interest of brevity, the factual findings have been consolidated to some extent from the August 2, 2017 
Order.     
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The USPTO Final Order Dated August 2, 2017 

C. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“First Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 2 through 22 of a patent application which 

had been filed by EPRT Technologies, Inc. (“EPRT”) on September 7, 2000.   

 D. Subsequent to the rejection, and at EPRT’s request, respondent 

emailed EPRT co-inventor and executive David Estes on November 19, 2002 to 

discuss the application as drafted by prior counsel.  Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed 

respondent on November 22, 2002, authorizing him to begin work on the 

application.   

E. Respondent submitted to the USPTO a Power of Attorney and 

Revocation of Prior Powers on December 12, 2002, signed by Katherine Blake, 

EPRT co-founder and president.  

F. On January 30, 2003, the USPTO issued a non-final Office Action in 

response to a Request for Continued Examination filed by respondent on January 

16, 2003.  Respondent filed a response to that Office Action on March 14, 2003, 

which was rejected in another non-final Office Action issued on June 4, 2003.                   

 G. On November 12, 2003, respondent filed an amendment to the 

application; however, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, the 
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USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment to Respondent on January 

8, 2004.   

H. After receiving calls from the USPTO patent examiner assigned to the 

application, Respondent filed a response on February 9, 2004, but it was deemed 

non-compliant. 

I. On August 12, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

(“First Abandonment”) for the patent application, citing Respondent’s failure to 

file a compliant response to the January 2004 notice. The First Abandonment 

stated that the patent examiner had left voice messages for Respondent on July 9, 

July 19, and July 20, 2004, the last call informing Respondent that the application 

would be deemed abandoned if he did not contact the examiner by July 23, 2004. 

Respondent did not return any messages and the application was deemed 

abandoned. 

J. Respondent filed a Petition to Revive the patent application on 

October 28, 2004. It stated that the application was unintentionally abandoned 

because respondent had not received the January 2004 Notice.  The Petition was 

granted on January 18, 2005. 

K. On April 19, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action (“Second  

Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the application. 
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L. On June 20, 2005, respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail  

with the subject “Re: Statis [sic] of Patents.”  The email stated that “the US 

examiner has issued an office action (non-final rejection) and I shall set up an 

interview with her shortly” (emphasis in original). 

M. Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal (“First Appeal”) on June 30, 

2005. On July 27, 2005, he informed Ms. Blake and Keith Wendell, CEO of 

EPRT, of the appeal.   

N. On November 14, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Third Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 23-25 and objecting to claims 3 and 4.  

O. The first substantive page of the USPTO Office Action defines the 

“Period for Reply” and informed respondent that, in all capital letters, “a shortened 

statutory period for reply is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) days, whichever 

is longer, from the mailing date of this communication.”  The same section also 

stated that the application would become abandoned if a reply was not received 

within the reply period. 

P. On November 29, 2005, respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an 

e-mail with the subject “Allowed subject matter,” and related the contents (albeit, 

inaccurately) of the Third Final Rejection.  Respondent’s e-mail did not mention 
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EPRT had three months to file a reply.  There is no indication that anyone at EPRT 

received a copy of the Third Final Review.  

Q. Respondent appealed the Third Final Rejection (“Second Appeal”) to 

the Board of Patent Appeal and Interferences (Board) on February 2, 2006.  The 

USPTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal on August 31, 2006. 

R. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal (“Board 

Decision”), affirming the Third Final Rejection’s conclusions as to claims 3,4, and 

22-25.  The first page of the Board Decision included a foot note announcing the 

two-month period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case; the final page stated, “no 

period for taking any subsequent action in connection with this appeal may be 

extended.”  The Board Decision was sent to respondent’s record bar address. 

S. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

regarding the patent application because all claims had been rejected, the 

application had not been amended, and because no appeal was filed within the two-

month window.  The Notice of Abandonment was sent to respondent’s record bar 

address and stated that a message had been left on his answering machine on 

August 6, 2009. 

T. Respondent claims he did not receive the Notice of Abandonment. 

APPX 454 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



U. Beginning in 2010, Ms. Blake contacted respondent several times to 

determine the status of the application.  Respondent eventually e-mailed Ms. 

Blake, stating that he had “attempted to determine the status of the patent 

[applications] and have yet to hear back from my inquiries.” 

V. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted respondent by phone to discuss 

the application; however, he abruptly ended the call and did not answer when she 

immediately called him back. 

W. Throughout 2011, Ms. Blake sent seven increasingly urgent e-mails to  

respondent attempting to learn about the status of the patent application.  Each e-

mail indicated that she had also tried to reach him by phone.  Respondent never 

responded. 

X. Eventually, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to pursue possible 

legal action against respondent.  On October 21, 2011, attorney Roger Farahmand 

sent respondent a letter requesting the status of the patent application.  On October 

28, 2011, respondent responded by faxing a copy of the Board Decision denying 

the appeal.  Respondent did not include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment.  

EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 Board Decision or abandonment at any 

time prior to October 28, 2011. 
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Y. On October 31, 2011, attorney Farahmand wrote respondent 

requesting a complete copy of the client’s file, but respondent did not provide the 

file to Mr. Farahmand nor to anyone at EPRT.   Finally, EPRT obtained the file by 

subpoena to respondent’s ex-wife.   

Z. Based on the findings set forth above, respondent was found to have 

committed multiple violations of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, 

including 37 C.F.R 10.23(a)5 and (b)6 via 10.23(c)(8)7; 37 C.F.R 10.77(c)8; 37 

C.F.R 10.84(a)(1) and (2)9; and 37 C.F.R 10.112(c)(4)10.  (See p. 12-13 of Ex. 

“A”.)  In sum and substance, these specific rules prohibit a USPTO practitioner 

from engaging in an array of conduct including, but not limited to lack of 

5  37 C.F.R. 10.23(a):  A practitioner shall not engage in disreputable or gross misconduct. 

6  37 C.F.R. 10.23(b):  A practitioner shall not (1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule.  (2) Circumvent a Disciplinary Rule 
through actions of another.  (3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude.  (4)  Engage in conduct 
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.  (5)  Engage in conduct prejudicial to the administration of 
justice.  (6)  Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s fitness to practice before the 
Office).   

7  37 C.F.R. 1023(c)(8):   Conduct which constitutes a violation . . . includes, but is not limited to: . . . Failing to 
inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify the Office of an inability to notify a client or former client 
of correspondence received from the Office or the client or former client’s opponent in an inter partes proceeding 
before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the Office, 
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or former client and (iii) is correspondence of which a 
reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances the client or former client should be notified. 

8  37 C.F.R. 10.77(c):  A practitioner shall not: (c) Neglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner.  

9  37 C.F.R. 10.84(a):  A practitioner shall not intentionally: (1) Fail to seek the lawful objectives of a client through 
reasonably available means permitted by law and the Disciplinary Rules…. (2) Fail to carry out a contract of 
employment entered into with a client for professional services…. (3) Prejudice or damage a client during the course 
of a professional relationship…. 

10  37 C.F.R. 10.112(c)(4):  A practitioner shall:….Promptly pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client the 
funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive.   
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communication, lack of diligence, and conduct prejudicial or damaging to the 

client.  (see pp. 4-5 of Ex. “C”.)  

The USPTO Final Order Dated February 9, 2018 

AA. Respondent sought reconsideration as to the August 2, 2017 Final 

Order, resulting in entry of a USPTO Final Order dated February 9, 2018.  (See 

February 9, 2018 Final Order attached as Exhibit “B”.) This “second” Final 

Order affirmed in its totality the earlier decision of August 2, 2017. 

The Federal Court’s Review of Respondent’s USPTO Sanctions Orders 

BB. Following entry of the USPTO Final Orders detailed above, 

respondent sought review through the federal courts.   

CC. To begin, review was sought in the Federal District Court for the 

Eastern District of Virginia whereupon the earlier decisions of USPTO were 

affirmed.  (See December 28, 2018 Order attached as Exhibit “C”.)  In rendering its 

decision to affirm, the Court set forth as its reasons the specific findings entered 

earlier (and summarized above) by the USPTO. The Court specifically noted that 

respondent was provided a hearing before the administrative law judge in Miami, 

and that he appeared and presented both testimony and other evidence.  (See p. 4, 

Ex. “C”.)  The Court also addressed the authority under which the USPTO could 

regulate the conduct of attorneys and other persons appearing before it, as well as 
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their authority to suspend or exclude from practice before them any attorney or 

person.  (See pp. 5 and 7-8, Ex. “C”.)  The Court further concluded that ample 

substantial evidence existed in support of the USPTO suspension order.  (See pp. 8-

12, Ex. “C”.)  Finally, concluding that the decision of the USPTO to suspend 

respondent’s license to practice before them was neither arbitrary, capricious, nor 

an abuse of discretion, the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia 

affirmed the earlier Final Order of Suspension of the USPTO.  (See p. 14, Exhibit 

“C”.) 

DD. Following entry of the Federal District Court’s Order, respondent 

sought review in the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.  By 

Judgment dated February 11, 2020, the Federal Appellate Court per curiam 

affirmed the lower court’s decision.  (A copy of the Judgment dated February 11, 

2020 is attached as Exhibit “D”.) 

EE. Thereafter, on April 10, 2020, the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Federal Circuit issued its Mandate.  (A copy of the April 10, 2020 Mandate is 

attached as Exhibit “E”.)  Respondent sought no further review. 
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MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 The Florida Bar seeks entry of an Order granting its Motion for Summary 

Judgment as to the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar:  Rule 4-1.3 

(Diligence), Rule 4-1.4 (Communication), Rule 4-1.2(a) (Objective and Scope of 

Representation – Lawyer to Abide by Client’s Decision); and Rule 4-1.16(d) 

(Declining or Terminating Representation - Protection of Client’s Interest).   

R. Reg. Fla. Bar 3-4.6(a) provides that:  

           A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court 
           or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, 
           state or federal, that a lawyer licensed to practice in that  

             jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary  
           action will be considered as conclusive proof of the misconduct 

            in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.”  
          (emphasis added)).  
 
In denying respondent’s previously filed Motion to Dismiss, this Referee has 

already determined that the Final Orders entered by the USPTO, subsequently 

affirmed by the U.S. Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia and 

later by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, are final adjudications 

by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency.  As such, the detailed findings 

contained in the Final Orders are within the confines of Rule 3-4.6 and are to be 

considered conclusive proof of the misconduct in the instant disciplinary 

proceedings.  Having established the absence of disputed facts, The Florida Bar is 
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entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. Greene, 926 So.2d 

1195 (Fla. 2006).   

The undisputed facts in this case chronicle a litany of misdeeds by 

respondent in connection with his representation of EPRT before the Patent Office.  

For the most part, that misconduct is centered around multiple instances of lack of 

diligence and communication, ultimately resulting in a failure to pursue the 

objectives of the representation, and compounded by a failure to provide the 

client’s file upon termination of the relationship.  The C.F.R. rules which 

respondent violated are detailed in footnotes on p. 9 of this Motion and they 

comport with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar on which the Bar now seeks 

summary judgment. 

To begin, the USPTO Final Order of August 2, 2017 finds that respondent 

repeatedly failed to monitor the progress of EPRT’s patent application.  

Specifically, the neglect was determined not to have been an isolated instance 

which might have been excusable, but rather, it continued over months and years.  

(See p. 25, Ex. “A”.)  Respondent did nothing in support of the client’s patent 

application for two years.  (See p. 26, Ex. “A”.)  Respondent’s efforts to distance 

himself from the neglect by claiming to have not received critical mailings from 

the USPTO were specifically determined not to negate his neglect.  Instead, the 
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findings note that mailings were sent to his address of record, that he chose not to 

associate the patent application with his customer number, and he did not monitor 

the docket.  (See p. 27, Ex. “A”.)  These findings resulted in respondent’s guilt as 

to C.F.R. 10.77(c) which prohibits neglect of a legal matter entrusted to a 

practitioner.  (See p. 27, Ex. “A”.)  This rule is directly analogous to R. Regulating 

Fla. Bar 4-1.3 (A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 

representing a client.)  The facts and resulting rule violation are conclusive proof 

that respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. 

Similarly, respondent’s violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.4 

(Communication) is conclusively proven by the facts contained in the Final Order.  

Rule 4-1.4(a), in relevant part, requires a lawyer to: (1) promptly inform the client 

of any decision or circumstance which requires the client’s informed consent; (2) 

reasonably consult with the client about the means by which the client’s objectives 

are to be achieved; (3) keep the client reasonably informed; and (4) promptly 

comply with reasonable requests for information.  Rule 4-1.4(b) requires a lawyer 

to explain a matter to the client as is reasonably necessary to enable the client to 

make informed decisions regarding the representation.  The USPTO Final Orders 

found respondent violated 37 C.F.R. 10.23(c)(8) which makes it a violation to fail 

to inform a client of correspondence received from the USPTO when such 
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information could have a significant impact on a pending matter, was received by 

the practitioner, and would reasonably be believed to be something the client 

should be informed of.  Clearly, Rule 4-1.4 and 37 C.F.R.10.23(c)(8) are 

analogous.   

The factual predicate for the foregoing rule violations can be found in the 

USPTO Final Order findings documenting respondent’s failure to sufficiently 

communicate with his client in an ethical manner. Respondent repeatedly failed to 

respond to the client’s efforts at communication regarding the status of the 

representation.  Phone calls and emails from both the client and USPTO went 

unanswered. (See p. 34, Ex. “A”.)  Although notifying the client of his receipt of 

the Third Final Rejection, respondent failed to provide the client a copy of the 

rejection, did not inform them which specific claims were rejected, and 

erroneously informed them that some claims had been “allowed” when they were 

not. He never described the USPTO decision as a “final action” and didn’t inform 

them of the deadline to file a response.  To the contrary, his email to the client was 

found to have implied that no additional steps were necessary because the appeal 

“is still going forward.”  As indicated in the Final Order, it was not sufficient to 

just notify the client, respondent had to inform the client.  (See pp. 27-28, Ex. “A”.)  
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These findings, which are conclusive, clearly evidence a violation of R. Regulating 

Fla. Bar 4-1.4. 

With respect to both diligence and communication rule violations, the Final 

Order also found that it was uncontroverted that respondent didn’t provide his 

client the June 1, 2009 Board Decision until two years after it had been issued, 

noting that this was a particularly vital communication due to the deadline to 

appeal not being subject to extension.  Consequently, EPRT was denied that 

opportunity and suffered harm in the form of lost opportunity.  Similarly, EPRT 

was never provided the Notice of Abandonment.  (See pp. 29-30, Ex. “A”.)    

The Final Order continues on to explain that violation of any subsection of 

37 C.F.R. 10.23 automatically violates 37 C.F.R.1023 (a) and (b) which prohibits 

disreputable and gross misconduct, along with any other conduct which adversely 

reflects on the practitioner’s fitness to practice before the Office.   

In finding respondent guilty of violating 37 C.F.R. 10.84(a)(1) and (2), it 

was determined that respondent also failed to seek the client’s lawful objectives 

and to carry out the contract for professional services for which he was retained.   

The violation was predicated upon the same factual findings set out in the 

preceding paragraphs; that is, respondent’s failure to monitor the client’s patent 

application which he was retained to attempt to salvage.  As found in the Final 
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Order, there were multiple points at which respondent could have rectified the 

consequences of his actions and endeavored to accomplish the client’s objectives, 

but he did not do so. (See pp. 30-31, Ex. “A”.)  Ultimately, it was determined that 

it was respondent’s own negligence which made it impossible for him to satisfy the 

client’s goals for the representation.  (See p. 31, Ex. “A”.)  These same findings 

necessarily support a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.2(a) which requires a 

lawyer to abide by the client’s decisions regarding the representation’s objectives.  

Of course, if a client is not informed, they are ill equipped to make decisions 

regarding their legal matter. 

Finally, respondent was found guilty of violating 37 C.F.R. 10.112(c)(4) 

which requires a practitioner to promptly deliver to the client, upon request, any 

client property which the client is entitled to receive.  The client file was 

determined to be such property and yet respondent failed to provide the file to 

either new counsel or the client despite their demand for same.  (See p. 32, Ex. 

“A”.)  Ultimately, the client was able to obtain the file when his new counsel 

subpoenaed respondent’s ex-wife who had the file despite respondent’s initial 

position that the file had been destroyed.11 Based on these conclusive facts, 

respondent is also guilty of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.16(d) which, upon 

11  The Final Report reflects that the Administrative Law Judge specifically questioned respondent’s credibility with 
regard to this issue.  (See p. 33, Ex. “A”.) 
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termination, requires a lawyer to reasonably protect the client’s interests by 

surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled.   

In his Answer to The Florida Bar’s Complaint, Respondent denies the 

complaint’s allegations “as an inaccurate recitation of basis for discipline” 

contending that the conduct occurred more than ten years ago.  Respondent 

neglects to address the compelling fact that the instant Complaint is predicated 

upon reciprocal discipline which was entered by the USPTO in 2017, affirmed by 

the USPTO in 2018, affirmed again in 2018 by the Federal District Court, and 

again in 2020 by the Federal Appellate Court.  The matter is clearly timely.  

Moreover, in order to refute the instant Motion, respondent would have to 

demonstrate material facts in dispute, a burden he cannot satisfy in light of R. 

Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 which directs that the USPTO findings are conclusive 

proof of his misconduct and guilt.   

The undisputed facts established by the USPTO Final Reports and later 

affirmed by the Federal Courts, establish that there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and summary judgment is appropriate as a matter of law.  By operation of 

Rule 3-4.6(a), it is conclusively proven that Respondent is guilty of the misconduct 

described in the Bar’s Complaint and the Bar is entitled to judgment on the 

identified Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. 
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WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Honorable 

Referee enter judgment for the Florida Bar and find Respondent guilty of each of 

the charged rule violations, and set the matter over for a Final Hearing on 

Discipline Only, in order to determine the appropriate sanction to recommend in 

this matter. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing The Florida Bar’s Partial Motion for Summary 
Judgment has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his 
service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his judicial assistant’s email at 
hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for 
Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and mvalledor@podhurst.com 
and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at johnf75712@aol.com, and via email 
to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 4th 
day of December, 2020. 

           
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE 
FOR INTELLECTUAL.PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE 

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 

In the Matter of 

John H. Faro, 

Appellant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

__________ ) 

Proceeding No. D2015-27 

Final Order 

Pmsuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.55, John H. Faro ("Appellant") has appealed the September 15, 

2016 Initial Decision and Order ("Initial Decision") of Administrative Law Judge ("AL.T") J. 

Jeremiah Mahoney in this matter to the Director of the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office ("US PTO" or "Agency"). In that Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that Appellant 

violated multiple disciplinary rules of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility including 

37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b), 10.23(c)(8), l0.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), and 10.112(c)(4). 

(A.25-26). After considering these violations and the relevant factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § 

l 1.54(b), including Appellant's significant prior disciplinary history, the ALJ ordered 

Appellant's suspension from practice before the USPTO for a period of 8-months and until 

Appellant has passed the MPRE and been reinstated by the OED Director. (A.26-33). 

In this appeal, briefs have been submitted by Appellant and the Director of the USPTO 

Office of Enrollment and Discipline ("OED Director"). 

For the reasons set forth below, the USPTO Director affirms the ALJ's initial decision. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Appellant has been a patent attorney registered with the U SPTO since March 3, 

1971. (A.43; A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). 

Exhibit A
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2. Appellant was admitted to the Florida State Bar on January 21, 1986. (Id.). He is currently 

an active member of that Bar. His Florida Bar number is 527,459. (Id.). 

3. Appellant was disciplined by the Florida Bar in 1995 and 2011. (A.7390-98). The former 

discipline was a 10-day suspension; the latter was a public reprimand. (Id.). In 2013, he received 

reciprocal discipline by the USPTO in connection with the 2011 Florida discipline. (A.1272-83; 

A.7671; A.7675, A.7678-81). 

4. Appellant has operated a private legal practice since 1986. (A.5907; A.7681). 

U.S. Patent Application No. 09/656,519 ("the '519 Application") 

5. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office Action ("First Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 2 through 22 of the '519 Application, which had been filed by EPRT 

Technologies, Inc. ("EPRT") on September 7, 2000. (A.2924-30; A.595-621). 

6. At EPRT's request, and after the '519 application had been rejected, Appellant e-mailed 

EPRT co-inventor and executive Mr. David Estes1 on November 19, 2002, to provide 

"constructive criticism" of the '519 Application as drafted by prior counsel. (A.6557-58). Thee-

mail proposed a path forward for '519 Application and included Appellant's estimate of"20 to 

25 hours of professional time" to perform the necessary services on the '519 application. (Id.). 

7. Ms. Katherine Blake2 replied to Appellant's November 19 e-mail on November 20, 2002, 

thanking him for his time and careful review of documents, indicating she would "be in touch 

with" Mr. Estes on how to proceed. (A.6559). Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed Appellant on 

November 22, 2002, authorizing Appellant to begin work on the '519 Application. (A.6560). 

1 Mr. Estes was the former chief electrical engineer for EPRT. (A. 7528). He remains a contract employee with 
EPRT and manages repairs and diagnostics for equipment. (Id.) 
2 Ms. Blake is a co-founder and the president ofEPRT. (A.7524-25). 

2 
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8. Appellant submitted a Power of Attorney and Revocation of Prior Powers on December 

12, 2002. (A.2902). That Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT. (Id.). 

Ms. Blake was the primary contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct 

Appellant to take action on the '519 Application. (A.7532). 

9. Appellant did not associate his USPTO Customer Number with the '519 Application. 

(A.6021). 

10. On January 30, 2003, USPTO issued a non-final Office Action that was responsive to a 

Request for Continued Examination ("RCE"), filed on January 16, 2003. (A.2897-99; A.2872-

82). Appellant filed a response to that Office Action on March 14, 2003, which was rejected in 

another non-final Office Action, issued on June 4, 2003. (A.2848-69; A.2834-46). Both Office 

Actions rejected Claims 2-4 and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2835; A.2873). 

11. On November 12, 2003, Appellant filed an amendment to the '519 Application, which 

included an affidavit from Dr. Steven Kaye, whom Appellant identified as EPRT's clinical 

consultant. (A.2803-32). However, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, on 

January 8, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment ("January 2004 

Notice") to Appellant. (A.2786-89). 

12. The USPTO patent examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Frances Oropeza, left 

a voice message with Appellant on February 6, 2004, informing him that a compliant response to 

the January 2004 Notice was due no later than February 9, 2004. (A.2768). Ms. Oropeza then 

called Appellant on February 9, 2004, because she had not received a response to the January 

2004 Notice. (Id.) After discussing the situation with Ms. Oropeza, Appellant informed her that 

he could not file a response until the next day and then he hung up the phone. (Id.). Appellant did 
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in fact file a response on February 9, 2004. (A.2768; A.2769-77; A.7708). However, the 

response was deemed non-compliant. (A.2767-68). 

13. On August 12, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment ("First Abandonment") 

for the '519 Application, citing Appellant's failure to file a compliant response to the January 

2004 Notice. (A.2763-65). The First Abandonment stated that Ms. Oropeza had called and left 

voice messages with Appellant on July 9, July 19, and July 20, 2004. (Id.) The third call 

informed Appellant that the '519 Application would be deemed abandoned if Appellant did not 

contact Ms. Oropeza by July 23, 2004. (Id.) Appellant did not return any of the messages. (Id.) 

Thus, the '519 Application was deemed abandoned. (A.2763-65). 

14. Appellant filed a Petition to Revive the '519 Application on October 28, 2004. (A.2760-

62). The Petition stated that the Application was unintentionally abandoned because Appellant 

had not received the Jannary 2004 Notice. (Id.) The Petition was granted on January 18, 2005. 

(A.2748). 

15. On April 19, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Second Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2736-46). 

16. On June 20, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the subject 

"Re: Statis [sic] of Patents". The e-mail stated that "the US examiner has issued an office action 

(non-final rejection) and I shall set up an interview with her shortly" (emphasis in original). 

(A.6956). 

17. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal ("First Appeal") on June 30, 2005. (A.2726-27; 

A.2690-719). Appellant informed Ms. Blake and Mr. Keith Wendell3 that he had appealed the 

rejection of the '519 Application on July 27, 2005. (A.6957). 

3 Mr. Wendell was the CEO ofEPRT and an inventor on the '519 Application. (A.3074; A.5561-62). 

4 

APPX 470 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



18. On November 14, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Third Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 23-35 and objecting to Claims 3 and 4.4 (A.2678-88; A.6565). Under 

"Allowable Subject Matter," the Third Final Rejection stated that "Claims 3 and 4 are objected to 

as being dependent upon a rejected base claim, but would be allowable if rewritten in 

independent form including all of the limitations of the base claim and any intervening claims." 

(A.2688; A.6574). The first substantive page of a USPTO Office Action defines the "Period for 

Reply" and informed Appellant that, in all capital letters, "a shortened statutory period for reply 

is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer, from the mailing date of this 

communication." (A.2679; A.6565). The same section also stated that the application would 

become abandoned if a reply was not received within the reply period. (Id.). 

19. On November 29, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the 

subject "Allowed subject matter." (A.6958). The e-mail stated that the Third Final Rejection had 

allowed Claims 3 and 4, and that Appellant had "included Claim 23 to which each of these 

allowed claims make reference." (Id.). The e-mail also stated that the appeal was going forward 

because EPRT was "entitled to broader coverage- specifically coverage as to the configuration 

of the wrap itself." (Id.). The November 29, 2005 e-mail did not say that Claims 3 and 4 would 

only be allowable ifrewritten, nor did it say that Claims 23-35 had been rejected. (Id.; A.7537). 

The e-mail did not mention that EPRT had three months to file a reply. (A.6055; A.6958; 

A.7711). 

20. There is no indication that anyone at EPRT received a copy of the Third Final Rejection. 

Appellant never re-wrote claims 3 and 4. (A. 7711; A. 7809). 

4 The November 14, 2005 Office Action was noted as responsive to Respondent's August 25, 2005 Appeal Brief and 
accompanying Declaration. (A.2679; A.2690-719). 
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21. On January 14, 2006, Appellant e-mailed Ms. Blake and infonned her that USPTO had 

withdrawn two of the system/method claims but "persisted in rejection of electrode claim." 

(A.6961). 

22. Appellant appealed the Third Final Rejection ("Second Appeal") to the Board of Patent 

Appeals and Interferences ("Board") on February 2, 2006. (A.2643-44). 

23. On May 31, 2006, Appellant sent an e-mail to Ms. Blake, Mr. Estes, and Dr. Cleve Laird, 

EPRT's FDA compliance coordinator. (A.4552; A.6962). The e-mail stated that "only Claim 25, 

directed to the structure of the electrode wrap, remains rejected as unpatentable over the prior 

art." (A. 4552; A.6962). He was also "cautiously optimistic" and expressed his view that EPRT 

had a "better than even chance of prevailing" on Claim 25. (Id.). 

24. The US PTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal on August 31, 2006. (A.2575-

602). Ms. Oropeza stated that Claims 3 and 4 were rejected because they had not been rewritten 

in independent form, as USPTO had suggested in the Third Final Rejection. (Id.). She also 

reiterated that Claim 25 had been rejected. (Id.). 

25. Between 2006 and 2009, Appellant and various EPRT personnel, including Ms. Blake 

and Mr. Estes, exchanged several e-mails discussing various patent and trademark matters, 

including the '519 Application. (A.6961-76). 

26. In January 2008, Appellant moved from his office on 44 West Flagler Street ("44 W. 

Flagler") to an office at 28 West Flagler Street ("28 W. Flagler"). (A.3382; A.7698). He properly 

informed USPTO of his new address. (A.2480; A.7699). However, Appellant had no physical 

presence at the 28 W. Flagler office. (A.3382; A.6062; A.7698). Rather, that office served 

primarily as a mailing address, and provided conference room access when needed. (A.3382; 
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A.7698). Any documents addressed to Appellant at 28 W. Flagler were set aside for him by an 

on-site receptionist, who would inform him when mail was received. (A.7699). 

27. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal ("Board Decision"), in which it 

affirmed the Third Final Rejection's conclusions as to Claims 3, 4, and 23- 25. (A.2458-77). The 

Board Decision was mailed to Appellant at the 28 W. Flagler address on June 1, 2009. (A.2477; 

A.7716). The first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). The Board Decision's final page stated 

"no time period for taking any subsequent action in connection with this appeal may be 

extended." (A.2476). 

28. Appellant did not file any further appeal within the two-month window. (A.3104; 

A.7717). He also did not inform EPRT of Board Decision within the two-month window. (Id.). 

Appellant claims he never received the decision. (A.6079-80). 

29. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment regarding the '519 

Application because all claims had been rejected, the application had not been amended and 

because no appeal was filed within the two-month window. (A.2456-57; A.3350). The Notice of 

Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's 28 W. Flagler address on August 17, 2009. (A.2456; 

A.3349; A.7725). The Notice of Abandonment stated that a message had been left on 

Appellant's answering machine on August 6, 2009 and there is no credible fact establishing that 

Appellant returned the call. (A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). 

30. Appellant claims he did not receive the Notice of Abandonment. (A.6080; A.7729). As a 

result, he did not attempt to revive the '519 Application and did not inform EPRT that it had 

been abandoned. 
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31. In 2010 and 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant several times to determine the status of 

the '519 Application. (A.4661-62; A.6594; A.6981- 95; A.7543-53). 

32. In July 30, 2010, in response to several attempts to contact him, Appellant e-mailed Ms. 

Blake and stated that he had "attempted to determine the status of the patent [applications] and 

have yet to hear back from my inquiries." (A.3786; A.3847; A.6982). 

33. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant by phone to discuss the '519 Application. 

(A.6840-41 ). However, Appellant unilaterally ended the call and did not answer the phone when 

Ms. Blake immediately attempted to call him back. (Id.) 

34. In 2011, Ms. Blake sent Appellant seven "increasingly urgent e-mails" about the '519 

Application. (A.8). The e-mails were sent on April 1, April 4, April 6, April 22, July 15, July 20, 

and October 5. (A.8; A.6265-67; A.6991; A.6993-95). The subject line of the e-mails were, in 

order: "phone calls," "Trying to reach you," "Need to reach you," "Have you received my 

messages," "US Patent status?" "Status of US patents?" and "check has not been cleared." (Id.). 

Each e-mail stated that Ms. Blake had made repeated attempts to reach Appellant by phone or to 

otherwise get in contact with him. (Id.). The October 5, 2011 e-mail asked Appellant if he had 

moved. (A.8; A.6263). Three of the e-mails noted that Ms. Blake needed to speak with Appellant 

"asap." (A.8; A.6263; A.6991; A.6995). 

35. In Ms. Blake's April 22 e-mail, she stated that she "did not ever receive correspondence 

stating the patent had been denied as final. It was still under review per our last discussion." 

(A.8; A.6991). 

36. Appellant never replied to Ms. Blake's e-mails, text messages, or phone calls. (A.8; 

A.7547-50; A.7958). 
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3 7. After continued attempts to reach Appellant, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to 

pursue possible legal action against Appellant. (A.4664; A. 7551-52). 

38. On October 21, 2011, attorney Roger Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.4664; A.7162, A.3151). In response, Appellant faxed a copy of 

the Board Decision to Mr. Farahmand on October 28, 2011. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). He 

did not include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment. EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 

Board Decision or abandonment at any time prior to October 28, 2011. (A.4666-67; A.7553). 

39. Appellant had never been instructed by Ms. Blake to abandon, or to take no further action 

regarding, the '519 Application. (A.7553-54). The first time Ms. Blake learned about the 

abandonment was after receiving Appellant's fax in response to Mr. Farahmand's letter. 

(A.7553). 

40. On October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete copy 

of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7553). However, Appellant did not send the file to Mr. 

Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A.7631-33). 

41. Appellant did not file a notice of withdrawal as attorney of record in the '519 Application 

and did not revoke the Power of Attorney filed in 2003. (A.5980; A.7735). However, 

notwithstanding that, Appellant viewed his power of attorney with EPRT as nullified by 

operation of law as a result of the "adverse relationship" he believed existed at the time Mr. 

Farahmand was retained. (A.5973-74; A.5977-78; A.5990; A.7736; A.7738; A.7745). Finally, on 

February 14, 2013, EPRT revoked Appellant's Power of Attorney in favor of Mr. Robert Babayi, 

a newly retained patent attorney. (A.1948; A.2454). The Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. 

Blake. (A.2454). 
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42. Between November 22, 2002 and February 13, 2013, EPRT paid Appellant a sum of 

between $35,000 and $45,000 to prosecute the '519 Application. (A.9; A.7567). 

Appellant's Docketing System 

43. Prior to 2011, Appellant used a "manual docketing system" that consisted of a tickler file, 

a desk calendar, and a day book. (A.9; A.5935-36; A.7687; A.7690). Appellant placed any 

document with an outstanding due date in the tickler file, and noted the date and the necessary 

action in the calendar and day book. (A.9; A.5935; A.7688). Appellant's then-wife was primarily 

in charge of maintaining the tickler file. (A.5938; A.7689). 

44. Appellant assessed the status of the cases in his docket twice a year; during the winter 

holiday season and before going on summer vacation. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692). Additionally, if 

Appellant was going to meet with a client, he would check their file beforehand to ensure all 

deadlines were up to date. (A.9; A.7692). He followed the same procedure if a client contacted 

him requesting an update, even if a meeting was not upcoming. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692-93). 

EPRT's Malpractice Lawsuit Against Appellant 

45. On December 5, 2012, EPRT and Thrisoint PTY, Ltd., ("Thrisoint"), EPRT's assignee of 

the '519 Application, sued Appellant in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas for 

legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and breach of contract. (A. l O; A.2453; 

A.3506; A.7188-89). The Texas case was ultimately dismissed on jurisdictional grounds. (A. l O; 

A.7627). 

46. Subsequently, on October 25, 2013, EPRT and Thrisoint filed a substantially identical 

lawsuit against Appellant in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (A. l O; 

A.3630; A.7178-79). Though EPRT was dismissed from the Florida case due to lack of standing, 

the case was permitted to continue with Thrisoint as the sole plaintiff. (A. l 0). 
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47. On September l, 2015, the case was settled and dismissed with prejudice. (A.10; A.1368-

69; A.13 79-83). The court retained jurisdiction for 60 days to enforce the terms of the settlement 

agreement. (A.10; A.1379-83). In the settlement agreement, Appellant agreed to pay EPRT 

$7,040 and to submit a letter stating that he had intentionally abandoned the '519 Application. 

(A.5490-93, A. 7644-4 7). An admission of intentional abandonment by Appellant would allow 

EPRT to revive the Application. (A.10; A.7560). 

48. The settlement agreement also prohibited any EPRT representative, including Ms. Blake, 

from voluntarily participating in the then-pending disciplinary proceedings against 

Appellant by the Florida Bar and the USPTO. (A.10; A.5490-93, A.7644-47). The agreement did 

note that participation could be compelled via subpoena. (A.10) 

49. As of the time the hearing was conducted, Appellant had not complied with the terms of 

the agreement, and the agreement was the subject of ongoing state court proceedings. (A.7659-

60). To date, EPRT has spent approximately $170,000 litigating Appellant's handling of the '519 

Application. (A.10; A.7567-68). 

II. OED DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING 

The OED Director filed a Complaint and Notice of Proceedings under 35 US.C. § 32 

("Complaint") with the ALJ on May 11, 2015, alleging that Appellant committed multiple 

violations of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility during his representation ofEPRT. 

(A.42-54). Specifically, the OED Director alleged various acts and omissions committed by 

Appellant during his prosecution of the '519 Application including, but not limited to, failing to 

notify his client of the receipt of office correspondence, failing to adequately monitor the status 

of the matter, neglecting the file, and failing to return client property following the termination of 

the representation. (Id.). Based on those alleged violations, the OED Director requested that 
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Appellant be suspended from practice before the US PTO in patent, trademark, and other non

patent matters. (A.52). 

A hearing in this matter was held May 10-11, 2016, in Miami, Florida. Testimony was taken 

from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake (A.7522-622), attorney Meredith Chaiken 

(A.7622-A.68), and Appellant (A.7668-8002). The parties filed their respective Post-Hearing 

Briefs and an Initial Decision and Order was issued by the ALJ. 

Ill. INITIAL DECISION BY ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

On September 15, 2016, the ALJ issued the Initial Decision in this matter. (A. l-A.34). In that 

Initial Decision, the ALJ determined that the OED Director clearly and convincingly established 

that Appellant violated 6 ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. (A.25-26). Specifically, the ALJ 

concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) by failing to 

timely inform Ms. Blake or anyone at EPRT of the Third Rejection Letter in 2005, the June 2009 

Board Decision, and the August 2009 Notice of Abandonment. (A.25). The ALJ rejected 

Appellant's excuse of not having received the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment on 

the basis that his non-receipt of the documents was an error of his own making and does not 

absolve him of his responsibilities to his client. (Id.). 

Next, the ALJ concluded that, with regard to Count 1 of the disciplinary complaint, 

Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application 

from May 2006 until October 2011. (A.25). The ALJ cited Appellant's failure to properly 

monitor the progress of the Second Appeal, and so he was unaware of the Board Decision or the 

Notice of Abandonment until it was too late to prevent the abandonment; his failure to contact 

the examiner in 2009 despite knowing she had attempted to communicate with him by phone 

prior to the abandonment; his failure to take steps to confirm the status of the '519 Application in 
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20 I 0 and 2011 despite Ms. Blake's frequent requests for update; his failure to properly monitor 

the appeal rendered it impossible for him to accomplish the task for which he had been hired; 

and his deliberate abandonment of his EPRT representation after his exchange with Mr. 

Farahmand. (Id.). 

With regard to Count 2 of the complaint, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 

10.77(c) by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 

2010 and 2011; and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.l 12(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file 

when requested. (A.23-26). EPRT was entitled to receive the file because no retaining lien 

existed at the time the request was made. (A.26). The ALJ noted that Appellant's failure to 

maintain possession of the file was an error of his own making and does not absolve him of his 

responsibility to return the file. (Id.). 

After making these findings, and considering the factors under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b), including 

his prior disciplinary history, the ALJ concluded that an eight (8) month suspension, with 

reinstatement conditioned upon successful passage of the MPRE, was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.26-33). 

IV. DECISION 

Appellant has been a registered patent attorney since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). His 

USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). As such, he is subject to the disciplinary authority of 

the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). For the conduct involved in this disciplinary case, Appellant 

was subject to the ethical requirements set forth in the USPTO Code of Professional 

Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq.5 

5 Effective May 3, 2013, the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101through11.901, apply to 
persons who practice before tbe Office. Prior to May 3, 2013, the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility 
applied to persons practicing before the Office. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20-10.112. Here, since Appellant's alleged 
misconduct occurred prior to May 3, 2013, the Code of Professional Responsibility applies. 

13 

APPX 479 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



USPTO regulations permit a party to appeal an ALJ's initial decision to the USPTO Director 

within thirty (30) days of issuance of the initial decision. See 37 C.F.R. § ll.55(a). See also 35 

U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). On appeal, the USPTO Director has authority to conduct a de nova review 

of the factual record and may affirm, reverse, or modify the initial decision, or remand the matter 

to the hearing officer for such further proceedings as the USPTO Director may deem appropriate. 

See 37 C.F.R. §§ l l.55(f), l l.56(a). 

Herc, Appellant appeals from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALI entering 

judgment in favor of the Agency and suspending Appellant from the practice of patent, 

trademark, and other non-patent matters before the Office for eight (8) months. In his appeal, 

Appellant challenges several of the ALJ's Findings of Fact. (Appeal at 1-5). He also makes a 

variety of initial challenges to the ALJ's Decision, including disputing OED's subject-matter 

jurisdiction to initiate and prosecute the disciplinary action, raising a statute oflimitations 

defense, and challenging the ALJ's rulings on various motions such as the exclusion of"swom, 

non-opinion deposition testimony." (Appeal, at 5-6, 7, 19, 23). Finally, he challenges the 

substantive findings of misconduct based on neglect, failing to inform EPRT about USPTO 

correspondence, failing to seek EPRT's lawful objectives, and failing to return EPRT's client 

file. (Appeal at 22-27). Lastly, Appellant challenges the sanction on the basis of lack of intent, 

his argument that EPRT suffered no harm as a direct result of his representation, and due to 

remoteness of prior discipline. (Appeal at 7-8, 27-30). 

The Director, having considered Appellant's appeal brief, the OED Director's response brief, 

Appellant's reply brief, as well as the record of the proceedings before the ALI, finds that there 
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is ample factual and legal support for the ALJ's Initial Decision. Consequently, the Initial 

Decision of the AL.Tis AFFIRMED. 

A. Initial Appeal Issues 

1. Appellant's Appeal Amended Brief and Reply Fail to Comply with the 
USPTO Filing Rules. 

The regulations at 37 C.F.R. § 11.55 set forth the mandatory filing requirements for appeal 

filings submitted to the Director. These requirements include directing all appeal briefs to 

comply with the substantive requirements found in FRAP Rules 28(a)(2), (3), and (5) through 

(10) and 32(a)(4) through (6). See 37 C.F.R. §l l.55(c) and (d). These rules require that appeal 

briefs, among other things, contain "appellant's contentions and the reasons for them, with 

citations to the authorities and parts ofthe record on which the appellant relies," and for each 

issue, "a concise statement of the applicable standard of review." FRAP 28(a)(8)(A)-(B). 

Appellant's Appeal Brief filed on January 3, 2017 was his second attempt to file an appeal brief 

that complied with the USPTO's requirements under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55. 

Appellant filed his initial brief in support of the appeal on November 7, 2016. Thereafter, on 

November 14, 2016, the OED Director filed an "OED Director's Emergency Motion For The 

USPTO Director To Refuse The Entry Of Appellant's Non-Conforming Brief." ("Motion to 

Strike). In the Motion To Strike, the OED Director argued that Appellant's brief"failed to 

comply with the formal and substantive requirements for pleadings submitted to the USPTO 

Director" and went on to allege several substantive failings in Appellant's appeal brief. (Motion 

to Strike at 3-5). These failings included having no statement oflaw, no statement of the case, 

no summary of the argument, no statement of facts, and circumvention of the page limit via the 

"incorporation" of facts into the brief without further specification. (Id. at 6). Although 

Appellant opposed the Motion to Strike, the OED Director's Motion was granted on December 
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2, 2016. In granting the Motion To Strike, the USPTO Director found that the Appellant's 

appeal brief did not comply with the Agency's substantive filing requirements, which require 

separate sections containing a concise statement of the disputed facts and points of law, a 

statement of the issues presented for review, a concise statement of the case, and a summary of 

the argument. See Order, dated Dec. 2, 2016. All of these items were deemed missing from the 

appeal brief. (Id.). Further, Appellant's incorporation of facts into the argument section, rather 

than specifically identifying them in the appeal brief, as deemed "unreasonably burdensome" 

and "hindering a considered review of Appellant's appeal." (Id.). Appellant was permitted to 

resubmit an appeal briefthat conformed to USPTO's filing requirements. (Id.). 

Appellant then filed a timely "Revised Substitute" appeal brief ("Amended Appeal Brief'') on 

January 3, 2017. Despite being on notice of the filing requirements, however, Appellant's 

Amended Appeal Brief contains the same substantive flaws that were present in his initial appeal 

filing. The Amended Appeal Brief consists of various arguments, some masked as facts or 

statements of the case, all of which contain very little substantive discussion or legal analysis. 

Some of the arguments consist of only a few sentences or a short paragraphs as support for the 

point being argued. Lastly, there are few proper citations to the record, with some sections 

having no citations to the record at all, as well as no discussion of applicable authorities. 

The b~lk of Appellant's arguments are fairly characterized as conclusory statements of his 

belief and general denials. These flaws are significant, substantive, and make any meaningful 

review of his appeal difficult. These flaws are especially problematic given his prior notice of the 

filing requirements, the fact that these types of flaws were identified as bases on which to strike 

his prior filing, and the fact that he was advised of the need to comply with the filing 

requirements in this Amended Appeal Brief. See Order, dated December 2, 2016. Thus, it is 
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concluded that Appellant's failure to file an Amended Appeal Brief that complies with the 

USPTO's substantive filing requirements provides an independent basis for rejecting all of 

Appellant's arguments and, thus, his appeal. 6 

2. The USPTO Has Disciplinary Jurisdiction Over the Appellant. 

Appellant first argues that the OED lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to both initiate and 

prosecute a disciplinary proceeding against Appellant. (Amended Appeal Brief, at 5-6; Reply, at 

3, 6-7). This position is without merit and contrary to law, USPTO's regulations, and long-

standing USPTO precedent.7 

Congress vested the USPTO with plenary, statutory authority to promulgate regulations 

"govern[ing] the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons representing 

applicants or other parties before the Office." 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). See Kroll v. Finnerty, 242 

F.3d 1359, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (stating that the USPTO has the "exclusive authority to 

establish qualifications for admitting persons to practice before it, and to suspend or exclude 

them from practicing before it."); Haley v. Lee, No. 1: 15-cv-102, 2015 WL 5277880 at *8 

(E.D.Va., Sept. 8, 2015) (noting that "Congress gave the USPTO wide latitude to govern the 

conduct of the members of its bar.") The Director of the USPTO may suspend or exclude a 

person from practice before the USPTO if the person is "shown to be incompetent or 

disreputable, or guilty of gross misconduct," or if the person violates regulations established by 

the Office. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Accordingly, the USPTO Director has authority to regulate practice 

before the Office in both patent and trademark matters, including the unauthorized practice of 

6 Appellant's Reply Brief also suffers from the same flaws noted in this Order. 
7 Although the OED Director argues that Appellant's jurisdictional arguments were not timely made, that 
question is not addressed here due to the fact that the substantive challenge is without any support 

whatsoever. 
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law before the Office. (Id.). See also Haley, 2015 WL 5277880 at* 9 ("Congress also explicitly 

gives the USPTO the power to promulgate regulations related to the conduct of its members.") 

Pursuant to its authority to regulate the conduct of practitioners, the US PTO enacted its 

former Code of Professional Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20 et seq., and the current Rules of 

Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 through 11.901, both of which include a number of 

mandatory "Disciplinary Rules" setting forth the minimum level of conduct below which no 

registered patent practitioner can fall without being subjected to disciplinary action. If a 

registered patent practitioner fails to comply with his or her professional obligations, the USPTO 

has the authority to suspend or exclude the practitioner from further practice before the Office. 

See 35 U.S.C. § 32; 37 C.F.R. § 11.19. Appellant has been registered as a patent attorney before 

the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43, A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. 

(Jd.). Consequently, he is bound Appellant to comply with USPTO's disciplinary rules and is 

subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). 

As the OED possessed jurisdiction over Appellant, the proceedings before the Committee on 

Discipline were also proper. Appellant attempts to attack the proceeding at that stage, arguing 

that the OED Director improperly submitted his disciplinary matter to the Committee on 

Discipline when he did not consider the settlement of the underlying EPRT malpractice matter. 

(Amended Appeal Brief at 17). However, he cites no authority whatsoever in support of this 

argument. That is for good reason as the regulations concerning the Committee on Discipline, 37 

C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23 include no requirements for what the OED Director submits to the 

Committee. Further, as the OED Director points out, the malpractice agreement involving 
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Appellant was dismissed after the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015.
8 

(Appellee Brief at 13-

14). 

As the USPTO unequivocally possesses disciplinary jurisdiction over the Appellant, and 

there were no deficiencies associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary 

matter to the Committee on Discipline, Appellant's arguments here are without merit and 

provide no basis for nullifying or overturning the ALJ' s Initial Decision. 

3. The Disciplinary Complaint Was Timely. 

Appellant's next preliminary argument is that the allegations of misconduct in the 

disciplinary complaint are time barred. (Amended Appeal Briefat 6, 19). He argues that "[a]s of 

November 29, 2005, EPRT was 'reasonably informed', in simple and readily comprehensible 

layman's terms, as to the status of the claims under examination and how the Examiner had 

proposed to amend them." (Id. at 19). In response, the OED Director claims that all of the 

misconduct alleged in the complaint occurred within the new statute of limitations period 

established on September 16, 2011, except for one instance of misconduct that was governed by 

a prior 5-year statute of limitations period, and were timely filed. But, even for that one instance 

governed by the prior limitation period, the OED Director argues that the continuing violations 

theory renders the complaint on that issue timely. These arguments, and the AL.T's findings, are 

discussed further below. 

Prior to September 16, 2011, the statute of limitations for attorney discipline matters was 

governed by 28 U.S.C. § 2462, which provided a 5-year statute oflimitations that ran from the 

date when the claim first accrued. However, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America 

Invents Act ("AJA") replaced 28 U.S.C. § 2462 with an amended version of 35 U.S.C. § 32. The 

8 Submission to the Connnittee is a prerequisite to filing the complaint. The malpractice dismissal occurred afier 

the matter had been submitted to the Committee. 
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new statute of limitations period applies to any case that had not already lapsed by the time the 

AIA was enacted. Section 32, as amended, provided for a new two-stage limitation period, as 

follows: 

A proceeding under this section shall be commenced not later than 
the earlier of either the date that is 10 years after the date on which 
the misconduct forming the basis for the proceeding occurred, or 1 
year after the date on which the misconduct forming the basis for 
the proceeding is made known to an officer or employee of the 

Office. 

The only misconduct the Appellant claims is time barred9 concerns the allegation that he 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) due, in part, to his alleged failure to notify EPRT about the 

Third Final Rejection that he received in November, 2005. (Amended Appeal Brief at 19). In his 

Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that the "continuing violations" theory applied as the nature 

of the rule violation was not a "point in time" violation. (A.13). Rather, "[t]he duty to inform 

one's client of potentially adverse information remains active until the practitioner informs the 

client of the correspondence or ceases representation of that client." (Id.) The ALJ then 

concluded that, despite his continuing duty to keep his client informed of that correspondence, 

Appellant did not inform EPRT of the Third Final Rejection until January 14, 2006, at which 

point the statutory clock began to run under the statute of limitations. (Id.) Appellant does not 

challenge the ALJ' s application of the continuing violations theory10 and this order finds that the 

ALJ was correct in applying that doctrine here. 

9 The ALJ correctly noted that the new statute oflimitation period applies to any case under 35 U.S.C. § 32 that had 
not already lapsed by the time of the AI A's enactment. (A. 12). Thus, any misconduct that occurred prior to 
September 16, 2006 -- five years before the AJA took effect -falls under 28 U.S.C. § 2462 and is thus no longer 
actionable. (Id.). Jt is uncontested that all of the misconduct alleged in the disciplinary complaint, save one, 

occurred between 2007 and 2011. 
10 Appellant merely notes that the continuing violations doctrine was applied. (Amended Appeal Brief at 6). Instead 
of futile challenge to that doctrine, Appellant doubles down on his view that "[i]t is of no consequence as to bow, 
and which statute oflimitations applies to the facts of this case." (Id. at 19). In his mistaken view, be "reasonably 
informed" EPRT of the Third Rejection and that is the end of the matter. (Id). 
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With regard to whether and how sufficiently the Appellant informed EPRT of the Third Final 

Rejection, however, the statute of limitations did not begin to run on January 14, 2006, as the 

ALJ found. Rather, the violation continued to exist up to the point where Appellant unilaterally 

severed his representation with EPRT in October, 2016. Supra. p. 9. At that point, having 

severed his relationship, his obligations arguably ended and the statute oflimitations began to 

run on October 28, 2016. Prior to that point, and indeed as the ALJ's decision notes, Appellant 

had only "partially revealed" the substance of the Third Rejection. (A.14). Appellant continued 

to fail, in significant ways, to fulfill his duty under§ 10.23(c)(8) after January 14, 2006. (A.13). 

These failings are discussed in detail by the ALI in the Initial Decision: 

"[Appellant] failed to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to EPRT 
and did not fully or accurately explain the document and its ramifications. 
As a result, EPRT was left with the erroneous impression that the '519 
Application rested on firmer ground than it actually did. EPRT was never 
aware that Claims 3 and 4 needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never 
had the opportunity to instruct Respondent to do so. Respondent therefore 
prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 
course of action. Section 10.23( c )(8) does not require a practitioner to 
simply 'notify' a client about important correspondence, it requires him or 
her to 'inform' the client about that correspondence." 

(A.19; footnote omitted.) 

Appellant's continued failure to properly inform his client about the Third Final Rejection 

remained up until October 28, 2011, when Appellant claims his representation ofEPRT ended. 

Supra p. 9. At that point, the AJA had been enacted and the new, 2-stage statute oflimitations 

applied to Appellant's misconduct. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Under that standard, the applicable 

limitations period is 10-years from October, 2016 or 1-year from when the OED Director was 

informed of the alleged misconduct, which in this case was on May 12, 2014 when Ms. Blake 

filed a grievance against Appellant with OED, (A.3102-06), whichever is earlier. Here, the 
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Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015, (A.42-54), in clear compliance with the new, 2-stage 

statute oflimitations under § 32 and thus was timely filed. 

4. The ALJ's Findings of Fact Are Supported by the Record. 

Appellant challenges several of the specific findings of fact ("FOF") in the ALJ's Initial 

Decision and Order. These are discussed further below. 

a. Findings of Fact 1-3, 9. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 1-3 and 9, 

which Appellant does not challenge as incorrect, are not warranted. 

b. Findings of Fact 13 and 21. 

FOF 13 accurately characterizes the November 19, 2002, e-mail to EPRT. Appellant does not 

challenge that characterization but seeks to provide additional information, which is not 

necessary or relevant. Thus, FOF 13 is adopted as stated in the ALJ's Initial Decision. 

Though Appellant refers to FOF 21 in his brief, he proposes no changes to this FOF in the 

substantive discussion of his Amended Appeal Brief. As such, FOF 21 is adopted as stated in the 

ALJ's Initial Order and Decision. 

c. Finding of Fact 15. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 15 are not 

warranted. 
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d. Findings of Fact 41, 45, 4 7 and 52. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F .R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 41, 45, 47, 

and 52 are not warranted. 

e. Finding of Fact 53. 

FOF 53 is supported by the administrative record. Appellant's Power of Attorney was signed 

by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT Technologies, Inc. (A.2902). Ms. Blake was the primary 

contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct Appellant to take action on the 

'519 Application. (A.7532). Appellant's attempts to cast doubt on the nature of his interaction 

with, or the authority of, Ms. Blake regarding his representation ofEPRT is without any support. 

Consequently, changes to this FOF are not warranted. 

f. Finding of Fact 56. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 56 are not 

warranted. 

g. Findings of Fact 59-65. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ specifically considered 

Appellant's testimony that he didn't receive the June 1, 2009 Board decision or a call from 

examiner Oropeza and rejected Appellant's position. His reasons for the proposed changes are 

nothing more than unsupported, conclusory statements. Consequently, the proposed changes to 

the AL.T's FOFs 59-65 are not warranted. 
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h. Findings of Fact 66-68. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. And, further, he doesn't dispute the FOF as 

written. Thus, the proposed change to FOFs 68-69 are not warranted. 

i. Finding of Fact 69. 

The ALJ plainly rejected Appellant's arguments that he adequately monitored his docket 

including, but not limited to, the fact that he did not associate his Customer Number with the 

'519 Application, preventing him from using USPTO's Patent Application Information Retrieval 

("PAIR") system to check the status of the Application online. And, Appellant does not dispute 

that he did not use PAIR. Thus, no change to this FOF is warranted. 

j. Findings of Fact 70-76. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ's findings are amply 

supported by the record. See Supra, Facts 33-36. No changes to these FOFs are warranted. 

k. Finding of Fact 79. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed change to this FOF. No change to this FOF is warranted. 

B. Appellant's Actions Constitute Misconduct in Violation of the USPTO's 
Disciplinary Rules. 

Turning to the substance of the discipline, the ALJ concluded that the Appellant engaged in 

misconduct in connection with his handling of the '519 Application and his representation of 

EPRT and that misconduct violated six ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. Each of these findings, as 

discussed further below, are amply supported by the record. 
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1. Appellant Neglected the '519 Application. 

First, the ALJ provided a thoughtful and supported analysis for his findings that Appellant 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c), which prohibits a practitioner from neglecting a legal matter 

entrusted to the practitioner. The ALJ noted that "neglect" is defined as "the omission of proper 

attention to a person or thing, whether inadvertent, negligent, or willful." (A.14) (quoting Black's 

Law Dictionary 1061 (8th ed. 2004). Neglect occurs when a practitioner ignores or otherwise 

disregards his obligations to his client. (Id.) Neglect does not occur instantaneously and generally 

requires a pattern or course of conduct clearly illustrating the practitioner's disinterest in 

performing his duties. (Id.) (citing In re Levin, 395 N.E.2d 1374, 1375 (Ill. 1979) (inaction, 

delay, and lack of effort expended on behalf of a client constitutes neglect). A time element is 

therefore a central aspect of the violation and, as a result, a single forgetful moment or honest 

mistake normally will not violate 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c). (A.14). The ALJ correctly concluded that 

OED Director has provided clear and convincing evidence that Appellant failed to monitor the 

progress of the '519 Application in 2009, ignored the patent examiner's phone call in 2009, 

ignored his client Ms. Blake's e-mails and phone calls in 2010 and 2011, and failed to safeguard 

his lines of communication with USPTO at any time. (A.18). While any one of the alleged 

missteps here, on their own, perhaps would not constitute neglect, Appellant's actions and 

omissions over the course of months and years here rises to the level of neglect ofEPRT and the 

'519 Application. (Id.). 

Appellant's neglect began when the examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Oropeza, 

left a voice message for Appellant on August 6, 2009, before the application was abandoned. 

(A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). There is no fact in the record or identified by Appellant 

that shows Appellant ever attempted to find out the reason for Ms. Oropeza's call. This is so 
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despite the fact that the call "should have alerted him that there was movement on the 

application." (A.15). However, despite the call and many attempted communications by Ms. 

Blake, the record reflects that Appellant did nothing in support of the '519 Application for 2 

years. Had Appellant been monitoring his docket in accordance with the procedures he testified 

to during the hearing, he would have found out about the abandonment. However, it was only 

once Appellant was contacted by Mr. Farahrnand that Appellant took any steps to verify the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). 

In addition, Appellant ignored Ms. Blake's attempts to contact him for over a year. (A.16; 

A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6991; A.6981-95; A.7543). He has no 

explanation as to why he didn't return her numerous calls and e-mails. Appellant's attempts to 

make an after-the-fact explanation that he was not authorized to speak with Ms. Blake, however 

this argument is without merit. Ms. Blake is a corporate representative, she signed the power of 

attorney, and, importantly, Appellant had been communicating with her throughout the 

processing of the '519 Application. (A.15-17; A.2902; A.6559; A.7524-25; A.7532). 

The bulk of Appellant's appeal of the ALJ's findings and conclusions is fairly characterized 

as mere disagreement. His Amended Appeal Brief includes few citations to the record and puts 

forth no discussion of applicable authority or analysis of the ALJ's conclusions. (Appeal at 22-

23). The few specific defenses raised in the Amended Appeal Brief are all without merit. First, 

he claims a "deliberate abandonment theory." (Appeal, at 11 ). Specifically, he argues that Mr. 

Estes told him not to incur additional costs for the '519 Application and he claims that EPRT 

made status inquiries directly to the Board. (Id.). However, this is contrary to the evidence of 

record, which shows that EPRT repeatedly looked to Appellant for updates about the '519 

Application and that it was Appellant's information on file with the USPTO. (A.2902-05). His 
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claim that he was told not to incur additional costs with regard to the '519 Application finds 

absolutely no support in the record. 

Appellant's claim that he did not receive the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment, 

even if true, does not negate his misconduct. Those documents were mailed to his address of 

record. Any issues of receipt, including non-receipt of correspondence, were the result of his 

own choice to utilize an executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his 

customer number, and not monitor his docket. (A.17-18; A.2456; A.2472; A.3349; A.6021; 

A.7716; A.7725). 

In sum, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated § I 0. 77( c) 

is well-supported and will not be disturbed. 

2. Appellant Failed to Inform EPRT of USPTO Correspondence 

A practitioner is required to inform a client when the practitioner receives correspondence 

from USPTO if the correspondence could have a significant impact on a pending matter and a 

reasonable practitioner would believe the client should be notified. 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8). The 

ALJ found that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated this provision in three instances: 

when he failed to notify EPRT of the Third Final Rejection, when he failed to informed EPRT of 

the Board Decision, and when he failed to inform EPRT of the Notice of Abandonment. (A.20). 

Each of these instances is discussed further below. 

a. Third Final Rejection. 

After a review of the record and the arguments proffered by the parties, it is concluded that 

Appellant failed to sufficiently inform EPRT about the Third Final Rejection. Although he did 

inform them that he had received the Third Final Rejection, he did not attach a copy of that 

document. (A.7711; A.7809). Further, in his communication to EPRT about the Third Final 
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Rejection, Appellant also did not explicitly inform EPRT that claims 23-25 were rejected. 

(A.6955; A.7537). He also erroneously informed EPRT that Claims 3 and 4 had been "allowed" 

when in fact they had been objected to but "would be allowable if rewritten in independent 

form." (A.6574; A.6958). Having declined to inform EPRT that these claims could be rewritten, 

Appellant also did not mention that he did not intend to rewrite them. (Id.). Appellant's e-mail to 

EPRT also never described the USPTO decision as a "final action" and did not mention the 

three-month deadline to file a response. (A.6055; A.6958; A.7711). To the contrary, the e-mail 

implied that no additional steps were necessary because the appeal "is still going forward." 

(A.6958) 

The ALJ noted that the narrow wording of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) prohibits a practitioner 

from failing to inform a client of important correspondence. (A.19). Further, § 10.23( c )(8) does 

not require a practitioner to simply "notify" a client about important correspondence, it requires 

him or her to "inform" the client about that correspondence. (A.19). While the November 29, 

2009, e-mail did notify EPRT personnel of the existence of the Third Final Rejection shortly 

after its issuance, Appellant failed in that e-mail to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to 

EPRT and fully explain the action to EPRT. It was not enough for Appellant to simply convey 

that the Third Final Rejection was received. EPRT was never made aware that Claims 3 and 4 

needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never had the opportunity to instruct Appellant to do 

so. Appellant therefore prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 

course of action. 

Appellant does not dispute what was conveyed in his e-mail. However, he maintains that the 

information he conveyed to EPRT "reasonably informed" them as to status of claims under final 

rejection and how Examiner proposed to amend them. (Appeal at 25). Further, he attempts to 
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shift the blame to the client by stating that EPRT never asked questions. (Appeal at 26). These 

arguments are unpersuasive and do not find any support in the facts of the record or in any legal 

authority. His arguments here, once again, are fairly characterized as mere disagreement with the 

ALJ's findings. As stated, Appellant had a duty to informed EPRT about all aspects of the Third 

Final Rejection and not just selectively provide them with only portions of that correspondence. 

Having failed to do so, he engaged in misconduct that violated § 10.23( c )(8). 

b. The Board Decision. 

It is uncontroverted that Appellant did not provide the June 1, 2009 Board Decision until 2 

years after it had been issued. The ALJ correctly noted that this decision was a particularly vital 

communication due to the deadline to appeal not being extendable, thus denying EPRT of that 

opportunity. (A.19-20; A.2467) 

Appellant relies on two arguments to negate his misconduct with regard to communicating 

the Board Decision to EPRT. First, he claims that he did not receive the Board Decision at his 

address of record, which was an executive suite. (Appeal, at 12). As the ALJ properly noted, this 

is an insufficient defense. The Board Decision was mailed to his address of record. (A.2477; 

A.7716). Any issues associated with ability to receive mail at the address he provided to the 

USPTO were his own and were as a result of his decisions, including the decision to utilize an 

executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his customer number, and to 

not more closely monitor his docket. (A.17-18). 

Appellant also claims the Board Decision was "not reversible" and "no amount of monitoring 

can alter that fact." (Appeal at 24). It is unclear what Appellant means by this statement, though 

it is presumed that he is arguing EPRT was not harmed in receiving the Board Decision, but no 

citations are provided to support this argument. However, Appellant's argument is belied by the 
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fact that the first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). Thus, EPRT was harmed by their lost 

opportunity to file an appeal of the Board Decision. 

To conclude, the ALJ's conclusions that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) by failing to inform EPRT of the Board Decision is supported by the record 

and warranted. 

c. Notice of Abandonment. 

As with the Board Decision, there is no dispute that the Notice of Abandomnent was never 

provided to Appellant. Rather, Appellant again relies on the claim that he never received the 

document. (Appeal at 12; A.6080; A.7729). However, for the reasons stated above, this position 

is rejected. The Notice of Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's address ofrecord. (A.2456: 

A.3349; A. 7725). 

3. Appellant Failed to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives. 

Pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(l) and (2), practitioners are prohibited from failing to seek 

the lawful objectives of a client and from failing to carry out a contract of employment entered 

into with a client for professional services. These provisions do not require a practitioner's 

conduct to be intentional. Rather, §10.84(a) emphasizes the consequences of the conduct, not the 

intent behind it. (A.21). Neglectful conduct that derails a client's objectives is thus sanctionable 

under §10.84(a). (Id.) Under this standard, the ALI concluded Appellant negligently failed to 

monitor the '519 Application and failed to ensure he received communications from USPTO, 

making it impossible for him to meet EPRT's legal objectives. (Id.). There is no basis argued by 

Appellant, or supported by the record, to disturb these conclusions. 
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Appellant's initial e-mail exchange with EPRT makes clear that Appellant was hired to 

attempt to salvage the '519 Application, if possible. (A.6557-60). The OED Director agrees 

Appellant took actions to secure a patent for EPRT up until the Third Final Rejection in 2005._At 

that point, and as stated in the Third Final Rejection, Claims 3 and 4 were potentially allowable 

ifrewritten in independent form. (A.2688; A.6574). But, Appellant did not rewrite the claims. 

However, this was a unilateral decision on his part and he failed to inform or discuss the Third 

Final Rejection and the consequences of not rewriting claims 3 and 4 with EPRT. (A.6958). 

Instead, he filed the second appeal, with the consequence being that these claims were not 

allowed. As the ALJ noted, even after this failure, Appellant could have taken steps to 

accomplish EPRT's objectives. He could have Petitioned to Revive the application as he had 

done previously. But, due to his decisions as to how he monitored his docket and received 

notices from the Office, he never received the Board Decision or Notice of Abandonment. 

(A.21). 

Appellant's constructive discharge theory is rejected. (Appeal, at 21-22). He cites no 

evidence of any threat that would have necessitated or required his withdrawal, he did not 

communicate his withdrawal to EPRT, and he did not carry out the withdrawal duties required 

under 37 C.F.R. § 10.40. (A.7735). 

In snm, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant negligently failed to monitor the '519 

Application and failed to ensure that he received correspondence from USPTO, with the result 

being that it was impossible for Appellant to meet EPRT's lawful objectives, is fully supported. 

(A.21-22). 
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4. Appellant Engaged in Gross or Disreputable Conduct. 

According to 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c), any violation of its subsections automatically violates 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b). As already discussed, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's failure to 

inform his client of important correspondence violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8). As a result, as a 

matter oflaw, Appellant has also violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a). 

5. Appellant Failed to Return EPRT's Client File. 

The provisions of 37 C.F .R. § 10.112( c )( 4) state that a practitioner must promptly deliver to a 

client, upon request, any client property in the practitioner's possession that the client is entitled 

to receive. And, there is "no dispute that a client's file is the property of the client and should be 

returned to that client upon request." (A.23) (citing Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing 

Lawyers 'il 43 (2000), para. 43). 

Here, on October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete 

copy of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7552-3). However, Appellant did not send the file 

to Mr. Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A.7631-33). 

Appellant contends that the EPRT file was not in his possession on October 31, 2011, 

because it remained in in the possession of his ex-wife at the marital home and that he had been 

denied access to that home. (Appeal at 27). But, this argument provides no help to Appellant, 

whose duty to maintain his client's property exists regardless of his personal situation. 

Several other facts in the record also undermine Appellant's position here. Throughout the 

hearing, as reflected in the administrative record, Appellant cited no evidence that he reasonably 

sought to obtain the file from the marital home when he had the chance to do so. EPRT's new 
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counsel requested the file in October, 201 l and he had access to the marital home up to 

November 2011. (A.7748-49). Further, as the ALJ noted, Appellant could have subpoenaed the 

file from his wife, but did not, instead letting that obligation fall to EPRT's new counsel. (A.24). 

Lastly, it is noted that the ALJ specifically questioned Appellant's credibility with regard to this 

issue. (A.23). The ALI noted that, at the hearing, Appellant first stated the file had been 

destroyed but in fact opposing counsel in the malpractice case against Appellant was able to find 

it. (Id.). The ALJ's observations here are persuasive and provide further support for finding that 

Appellant violated § 10.112( c )( 4). 

C. The ALJ's Sanction Was Appropriate. 

The ALJ's Initial Decision concluded that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 6 

ofUSPTO's Disciplinary Rules, and that an 8-month suspension was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.33). An ALJ initial decision that imposes exclusion or suspension must explain the reason for 

imposing such a sanction after consideration of the following four factors: 

(1) Whether the practitioner has violated a duty owed to a client, to the 

public, to the legal system, or to the profession; 

(2) Whether the practitioner acted intentionally, knowingly, or 

negligently; 

(3) The amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner's 

misconduct; and 

(4) The existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors. 

37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b)(l)-(4). 

The Director of the US PTO reviews an appeal from an ALJ Initial Decision on the record 

before the ALJ. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(£); see also Marinangeli v. Lehman, 32 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 
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(D.D.C. 1998). After such review, and as discussed below, the ALJ's initial decision to suspend 

Appellant from practicing before the USPTO for 8 months included a careful and proper analysis 

of the four factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b). The ALJ's sanction of suspension is 

warranted and thus upheld. Here, the ALJ properly considered and applied .the four factors 

relevant to an exclusion or suspension under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b). This analysis is discussed 

further, below. 

1. Whether the Practitioner Has Violated a Duty Owed to a Client, to the Public, to the 
Legal System, or to the Profession. 

The ALJ concluded that Appellant repeatedly failed in his responsibilities to his client and 

this final order upholds that finding. (A.27). Though Appellant was hired to attempt to salvage 

the '519 Application in December 2002, his last communication with USPTO regarding the 

application occurred in 2006. (A.2643). The ALJ rejected Appellant's argument that he no longer 

had a duty to EPRT after December 2006, when EPRT assigned the rights to the '519 

Application to Thrisoint, noting that Appellant never withdrew from his representation of EPRT 

and several e-mails in 2008 that demonstrated Appellant's continued to actively represent its 

interests after EPRT's acquisition by Thrisoint. (A.27). Consequently, Appellant remained 

obligated to fulfill his duties to EPRT but failed to do so by refusing to return phone calls and e-

mails from Ms. Blake and disregarding important phone calls from the USPTO examiner. (A.27; 

A.3786; A.3847; A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6981-95; A.7543-53; A.7958). 

Because Appellant neglected the '519 Application for almost two years, he failed to keep EPRT 

apprised of the '519 Application's progress, leading to the Application's abandonment. (A.27). 

Lastly, Appellant refused to return EPRT's client file despite an explicit request to do so. (Id.). 

Although improper behavior by any member of the legal community undermines public faith in 

the sanctity of the legal system, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant's primary failure was in 
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his duty to his client, not the population at large. (Id.). Finding that Appellant repeatedly failed in 

his responsibilities to EPRT, the ALJ determined this finding supported a moderate sanction. 

(Id.). The ALJ's findings here were appropriate and supported by the record. 

2. Whether the Practitioner Acted Intentionally, Knowingly, or Negligently. 

As to the second factor, ALJ found that Appellant acted both negligently and intentionally, 

and those findings warranted a moderate sanction. (A.27-28). First, it was properly found that 

Appellant acted negligently when, after his move to the 28 W. Flagler address, he maintained 

·office procedures with a risk to receiving timely client information. (A.27-28). Appellant 

entrusted a receptionist at the W. Flagler address to sort his mail without his input. (A.27; 

A.7699). By doing so, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant put the burden on the receptionist 

to recognize critical correspondence and notify him in a timely manner. (A.27). Thus, the ALJ 

properly concluded that, had Appellant changed his correspondence address to his home office or 

associated his Customer ID number with the '519 Application, he would have timely received 

the Board Decision and the Notice of Abandonment and could have informed EPRT of those 

documents and plauned a strategy for addressing those actions. (A.27-28). 

The ALJ also noted that Appellant's docket management system was insufficient. (A.27). 

Appellant's own testimony was cited here, stating that he maintained a manual system and relied 

on his (now former) wife to keep him informed of upcoming deadlines. (A.27; A.5935-36; 

A.5938; A.7687-90). He had no "tickler" system in place to remind him to check on pending 

cases and had no way to monitor them, other than contacting US PTO directly. (A.27). The ALJ 

was correct in noting that Appellant's claim that he properly monitored the '519 application was 

belied by the fact that he never contacted Ms. Oropeza in 2009 and never received any updates 
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about the Application in 2010. (A.27-28). These actions were all properly identified as negligent 

bytheALJ. 

In addition to negligent behavior, the AL.T noted that Appellant's refusal to communicate 

with Ms. Blake was intentional. (A.28). In support of this, the ALJ relied on the fact that 

Appellant failed to respond to at least nine e-mails and an untold number of telephone calls from 

her in 2010 and 2011, save for a single, abbreviated, non-substantive call in 2010. (Id.). This 

finds support in the administrative record. See supra. p. 8. In addition, the ALJ identified as 

intentional Appellant's failure to return the EPRT client file upon request, despite knowing 

precisely where the file was located and !mowing he had an obligation to return it. (A.28). The 

ALJ acknowledged Appellant's sensitive personal situation that motivated his decision, but 

properly noted that reason was insufficient to shield him from his responsibility to his clients. 

(Id.). Any risk of maintaining private files in a home office during a period of personal, marital 

discord was properly found to be his own making. 

Because this factor was properly discussed and is amply supported by the record, there is no 

basis on which to disturb the ALJ' s findings. 

3. The Amount of the Actual or Potential Injury Caused by the Practitioner's 

Misconduct. 

ln discussing this factor, the ALJ addressed head on Appellant's argument that the 

abandomnent of the '519 Application caused EPRT no economic harm because the invention 

could never have obtained patent protection. (A.28). The ALJ noted that it would be "an exercise 

in futility to speculate whether the invention was actually patentable, or what kind of profit it 

could have generated if it had been patented." (A.28). However, EPRT was still harmed. EPRT 

paid Appellant between $35,000 and $45,000 to guide the '519 Application through the patent 

process and received nothing for that. (A.28; A.7567). Consequently, the ALJ properly 
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concluded that EPRT experienced substantial monetary harm because of its dealings with 

Appellant. (A.28). 

The AL.T also recognized that Appellant represented EPRT's interests competently, at least 

for a time. (A.28). But, with no way to determine what percentage ofEPRT's payments were in 

vain, the AL.T noted that "it is simply impossible to arrive at a non-arbitrary dollar figure 

representing EPRT's loss." (Id.). Despite this, the AL.T found it undisputed that EPRT's attempts 

to obtain a patent for the '519 Application left it economically weaker and Appellant's 

misconduct exacerbated EPRT's harm. (Id.). This is a reasonable conclusion based on the record. 

Finally, EPRT has expended more than $170,000 in litigation costs against Appellant, with at 

least one lawsuit still ongoing. (A.28; A.7567-68). 

Based on these factors, the ALJ found this factor merited an increased sanction against 

Appellant. (A.28). This analysis is soundly rooted in the record and is reasonable. 

4. The Existence of Any Aggravating or Mitigating Factors. 

Finally, the ALJ identified and considered both aggravating and mitigating factors in the 

case, relying on guidance by the ABA Standards when determining whether aggravating or 

mitigating factors exist. (A.28). See also In re Lane, D2013-07, at 19 (USPTO Mar. 11, 2017; 

Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions§ 9.2 (Am. Bar Ass'n 2015). 

The ALJ identified six aggravating factors and two mitigating factors. The most serious of 

the aggravating factors was Appellant's disciplinary history, which included being twice 

disciplined by the state of Florida and once disciplined by the USPTO. (A.29; A.1272-83; 

A.7390-98). Importantly, the AL.T noted that both Florida cases bore some similarities to 

Appellant's current disciplinary case. First, in 1995, Appellant agreed to a consent judgment in 

Florida, resulting in a 10-day suspension for misconduct that involved a client's attempts to 
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resolve apparent duplicate charges for legal fees, and repayment of unexpended payments. (A. 

29). There, Appellant refused to provide the requested information and did not return the 

unearned fees until after the client filed a disciplinary grievance. (Id.). The ALI went on to 

explain that the Florida Bar Rule that Appellant was found to have violated concerns responding 

to a client's reasonable requests for infonnation, explaining matters to the extent reasonably 

necessary to allow the client to make an informed decision about the course of action; and 

prompt delivery to a client any funds that he/she is entitled to and render a full accounting of 

charges. (Id.). The Florida rules served substantially the same function as USPTO's Disciplinary 

Rules§§ 10.23(c)(8) and 10.l 12(c)(4). (Id.). As a result, the ALJ concluded that Appellant was 

aware, in 1995, that ignoring client requests for information was sanctionablc misconduct. (Id.). 

Subsequently, in 2011, Appellant again accepted a consent judgment in Florida, resulting in a 

public reprimand. (A.29; A.7390-98). That case revolved around Appellant's failure to inform a 

client that he would no longer pursue the client's interests and his failure to tell the client that the 

client's trademark applications had been abandoned. (A.29; A.7390-98). The OED Director 

sought to impose reciprocal discipline against Appellant in connection with the 2011 state 

discipline, which Appellant strenuously, though unsuccessfully, opposed despite the fact that the 

Florida reprimand was consented to by Appellant. (A.29-30). The OED Director thus imposed a 

public reprimand on November 18, 2013. (A.30; A.1272-1283). Thus, this case is Appellant's 

fourth disciplinary proceeding. The ALI noted that the prior actions have "not inspired him to 

better appreciate his duties toward his clients" as demonstrated by the fact that, here, he has 

refused to respond to his client, refused to return client property, and allowed a client matter to 

go abandoned, just as he did in 1995 and 2011. (A.30). Thus, Appellant's disciplinary history 

warrants a severe sanction. 
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A second aggravating factor was identified as Appellant's attempt to silence Ms. Blake and 

other EPRT employees via a clause in the Florida malpractice settlement agreement prohibiting 

any EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary 

investigations against him. (A.5490-93; A.7644-47). Both investigations were prompted by 

grievances filed by Ms. Blake on behalf ofEPRT. (A.30). While the final settlement agreement 

included language noting that EPRT personnel could participate if subpoenaed, the ALJ noted 

that the only purpose of this prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations 

against him. (A.30). The ALJ concluded that this constitutes bad faith obstruction of the USPTO 

disciplinary investigation. (Id.); see also Kentucky Bar Ass 'n v. Unnamed Attorney, 414 S.W.3d 

412, 418 (Ky. 2013) (court applying similar rule found violation where a settlement agreement 

required grievant to either withdraw disciplinary complaint or refuse to voluntarily cooperate 

with investigation). 

A third aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's "obstinate refusal to recognize his 

wrongdoing or the harm he has caused his client." (A.30). Appellant never offered EPRT a 

refund and has never apologized to Ms. Blake for deliberately ignoring her urgent pleas for 

information. (A.30). Instead, it was noted that Appellant has attempted to deflect blame the 

receptionist in his W. Flagler office for misplacing his mail, his ex-wife for maintaining 

possession ofEPRT's file, Mr. Farahmand for allegedly threatening a malpractice lawsuit, and 

incredibly he even blamed Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes for not asking probing questions about his 

handling of their patent application, and for not hiring an experienced patent attorney as his 

replacement. (A.30-31). However, the ALJ was unmoved by these deflections, noting that "none 

of these events would have occurred if not for Appellant's own misconduct." (A.31). The ALJ 

noted that this attitude demanded a harsher penalty. (Id.). 
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A fourth aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's legal experience. Though experience is 

often considered as a mitigating factor, the issue of legal experience did not mitigate Appellant's 

conduct here. (A.31 ). Appellant's extensive experience as a practicing attorney for almost half a 

century made it such that the ALJ could not dismiss his actions as by someone who did not know 

any better. (Id.). Nor was the ALJ willing to rely on Appellant's personal situation or excuse his 

behavior as fleeting lapse of judgment since, his conduct during the Florida malpractice suit and 

during the instant disciplinary proceeding have only resulted in more disciplinary complaints. 

(Id.). Among the examples given is that he deliberately attempted to frustrate the OED Director's 

investigation in this proceeding by negotiating the silence of EPRT personnel, in violation of 3 7 

C.F.R. § l l .304(f). (A.31-32). Moreover, the ALJ noted his "abusive" behavior throughout these 

proceedings, with specific examples such as labeling Ms. Chaiken as a serial perjurer in 

pleadings and other ad hominem attacks. (A.32). This behavior was noted by the ALI as "a 

strong indication that his commitment to ethical conduct has grown weaker over the years." 

(A.32). 

Finally, the ALJ took note of the fact that Appellant is uninterested and noncompliant in 

making restitution to EPRT, despite signing a settlement agreement in which he promised to pay 

EPRT $7,000. (A.32). "This suggests the settlement agreement was made in bad faith and was 

merely an attempt to escape the Florida malpractice proceeding" and has forced EPRT to spend 

even more resources to file another lawsuit and enforce the terms of the settlement (Id.). In the 

ALJ's view, this factor supports a moderate sanction. (Id.). 

In mitigation, the ALI recognized the negative effect of Appellant's personal situation, which 

could have impacted his decision making. (A.32). However, the ALJ properly noted that the 

personal circumstances don't explain Appellant's earlier neglect in 2009 or his refusal to 

40 

APPX 506 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



communicate with Ms. Blake in 2010 and 2011. (Id.). Additionally, the ALJ rejected Appellant's 

reference to his marital discord as it related to his inability to reclaim possession of EPR T's 

client file since no evidence was presented any that his marital problems negatively affected his 

mental state during that time period. (Id.). Finally, the lack of dishonest motive was found to be 

mitigating here. (Id.). The ALJ noted that his conduct was not the result of greed or any other 

nefarious consideration. (Id.). 

It is noted here that neither the ALJ's order, nor the Amended Appeal Brief, discuss the 

consistency of the 8-month suspension here with other comparable disciplinary cases. However, 

the OED Director provided evidence that an 8-month sanction is consistent with other 

disciplinary matters previously decided before the US PTO Director. (Appellee Brief at 26-27). 

For example, it was noted that a 6-month suspension was imposed for a practitioner who, inter 

alia, failed to monitor the status of a patent application, failed to respond to a client's inquiries, 

and keep the client reasonably informed, and failed to comply with a client's request to return 

her file. (Id. at 26 (citing In re Stretch, No. D2013-03 (USPTO July 29, 2013)). ln another 

matter, a practitioner was suspended for 36-months, stayed after 6-months, for neglecting client 

matters, not notifying clients about Office correspondence, allowing applications to go 

abandoned and then misrepresenting the status of those applications to the client. (Id. at 26-27) 

(citing In re Edelson, No. D201 l-13 (USPTO Dec. 15, 2011 ). Finally, a practitioner was 

suspended by consent for 24 months with the right to seek reinstatement after 12 months and 

placed on a 24-month probation for neglecting two patent applications even though the 

practitioner represented that his firm had significant staffing problems during the time of the 

events at issue and that a new office manager made several clerical and administrative errors that 

contributed to the neglect of the patent applications. (Id. at 27) (citing In re Matlock, No. D201 l-
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52 (USPTO Feb. 7, 2012). These comparables, which are not discussed or refuted by Appellant, 

demonstrate that Appellant's 8-month suspension is within the range of discipline for other 

similar disciplinary matters. 

In sum, after reviewing the ALJ's sanction determination, it is concluded that the 

determination was reached after proper consideration of all the required factors, was reasonable, 

and is supported by the record. 

ORDER 

Having considered Appellant's appeal under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55 from the September 15, 2016 

Initial Decision of the ALJ suspending Appellant from the practice of all patent, trademark, and 

other non-patent matters before the Office for eight months, it is ORDERED that the Initial 

Decision of the ALJ is AFFIRMED. 

It is further: 

ORDERED that the OED Director give notice pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § l l.59 of the 

public discipline and the reasons for the discipline to disciplinary enforcement agencies in 

the state(s) where Appellant is admitted to practice, to courts where Appellant is known to be 

admitted, and to the public; 

ORDERED that the USPTO dissociate Appellant's name from any Customer Numbers 

and the public key infrastructure ("PKI") certificate associated with those Customer 

Numbers; 

ORDERED that Appellant shall not apply for a USPTO Customer Number, shall not 

obtain a USPTO Customer Number, nor shall he have his name added to a USPTO 

Customer Number, unless and until he is reinstated to practice before the USPTO; and 
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ORDERED that Appellant shall comply with the provisions of37 C.F.R. § 11.58 

governing the duties of disciplined practitioner. 

RECONSIDERATION AND APPEAL RIGHTS 

Any request for reconsideration of this decision must be filed within twenty (20) days from 

the date of entry of this decision pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.56( c ). Any request for 

reconsideration mailed to the USPTO must be addressed to: 

Sarah T. Harris 
General Counsel 

United States Patent and Trademark Office 
600 Dulany St. 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

A copy of the request must also be served on the attorney for the Director ofEmollment and 

Discipline: 
Robin Crabb 

Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
600 Dulany St. 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

Any request hand-delivered to the USPTO must be hand-delivered to the Office of the 

General. Counsel, in which case the service copy for the attorney for the Director shall be hand-

delivered to the Office of Emollment and Discipline. 

If a request for reconsideration is not filed, and Appellant desires further review, Appellant is 

notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S. District Court for the 
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Eastern District of Virginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days after the date of the 

order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5. 

~ I~ /?01'1 
Date 

cc: 
JohnH. Faro 
Appellant 

Robin Crabb 
Associate Solicitor 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

z~~ 
Sarah T. Harris 
General Counsel 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 

on delegated authority by 
Joseph Mata! 
Performing the Functions and Duties of 
the Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual 
Property and Director of the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office 

Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the 
parties below, in the manner indicated: 

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL: 

John H. Faro 
1395 Brickell Avenue 

Suite 800 
Miami, FL 33131 

Johnf75712@aol.com 
Johnf75712@gmail.com 

Appellant 

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL: 
Robin Crabb 
Tracy Kepler 

Associate Solicitors 
Mail Stop 8 

Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22313-1450 
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov 

OED Director 
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE
FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

In the Matter of )
)

John H. Faro, ) Proceeding No. D2015-27
)

Appellant. )

Final Order

The OED Director filed a disciplinary Complaint alleging that John H. Faro

("Appellant") violated the USPTO Code ofProfessional Responsibility during his representation

ofhis client, EPRT. After a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an Initial

Decision and Order on September 15, 2016, concluding that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §

10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) when he failed to timely inform Ms. Blake, or anyone at EPRT,

ofa Third Rejection Letter in 2005, a June 2009 Board Decision, and an August 2009 Notice of

Abandonment. (A.18-20). The ALJ also concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§

10.77(c), 10.84(a)(1) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application from May 2006 until October

2011. (A.14-18; A.20-21). Finally, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c)

by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 2010 and

2011 and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file when

requested. (A.14-18; A.23-24). The ALI ordered that Appellant serve an eight (8) month

suspension, with reinstatement conditioned upon successful passed of the MPRE. (A.33).

Appellant appealed the ALJ's Initial Decision to the Director of the United States Patent

and Trademark Office ("USPTO"), After briefing by the parties, on August 2, 2017, the USPTO

Director issued a Final Order denying the appeal and upholding the ALJ's Initial Decision.
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On August 17, 2017, Appellant filed a Request for Reconsideration ofDirector's Final

Order. The OED Director responded on September 15, 2017, and Appellant replied. For the

reasons set forth below, Appellant's Request for Reconsideration is denied.

L LEGAL STANDARD

Following a final decision of the USPTO Director, either party may make a single request

for reconsideration or inodification of the decision by the USPTO Director if such request is filed

within twenty days from the date of entry of the decision. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.56(c). No request

for reconsideration or modification shall be granted unless the request is based on newly

discovered evidence, or an error of law or fact, and the requestor must demonstrate that any

newly discovered evidence could not have been discovered any earlier by due diligence. See Id.

The standard of review governing requests under § 11.56(c) has not been defined beyond

what appears in the regulations. However, although the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are not

applicable in administrative proceedings,1 the courts have at times looked to them for useful

guidance in judging actions taken by the USPTO.2 Because the standard of review used by

federal courts for motions to alter or amend a judgment under Rules 59(e) and 60 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure are most similar to requests for reconsideration filed pursuant to §

11.56(c), that standard is"applied here to Appellant's request.

Federal courts have clarified that the standard of review for Rules 59(c) and 60 are

narrow and limited to only circumstances involving new evidence, or to correct errors of law or

fact. See Hutchinson v. Staton, 994 F.2d 1076, 1081 (4th Cir. 1993). Any new evidence

submitted must not have been available before the issuance of the final decision. See Boryan v.

1 See Bender v. Dudas, No. 04-1301, 2006 WL 89831, at *23 (D.D.C. Jan. 13, 2006), aff'd, 490 F.3d 1361 (Fed. Cir.
2007).

2 i e 2 (Fed. Cir. 1992).
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United States, 884 F.2d 767, 771 (4th Cir. 1989) ("Evidence that is available to a party prior to

entry ofjudgment, therefore, is not a basis for granting a motion for reconsideration as a matter

of law.") (citing Frederick S. Wyle P.C. v. Texaco, Inc., 764 F.2d 604, 609 (9th Cir. 1985)).

It is long-settled that requests for reconsideration3 are not a vehicle to state a party's

disagreement with a final judgment. See Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at 1082 ("mere disagreement does

not support a Rule 59(e) motion"); Arthur v. King, 500 F.3d 1335, 1343 (11th Cir. 2007), cert.

denied, 552 U.S. 1040 (2007) (stating that a Rule 59(e) motion cannot be used to relitigate old

matters, raise argument or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of

judgment). A request for reconsideration should not be used to rehash "arguments previously

presented" or to submit evidence that should have been previously submitted. Wadley v. Park at

Landmark, LP, No. 1:06CV777, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (E.D. Va. 2007) (citing Hutchinson,

994 F.2d at 1081-82); Above the Belt, Inc. v. Mel Bohannan Roofing, Inc., , 99 F.R.D. 99, 101

(E.D. Va. 1983) (holding improper a motion for reconsideration "to ask the Court to rethink what

the Court had already thought through-rightly or wrongly"); Durkin v. Taylor, 444 F. Supp.

879, 889 (E.D. Va. 1977) (stating that Rule 59(e) is not intended to give "an unhappy litigant one

additional chance to sway the judge"). Reconsideration "would be appropriate where, for

example, the Court has patently misunderstood a party, or has made a decision outside the

adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties, or has made an error not of reasoning but

of apprehension."Above the Belt, Inc., 99 F.R.D. at 101; United States v. Ali, No. 13-3398, 2014

WL 5790996, at *3 (D. Md. Nov. 5, 2014).

While requests for reconsideration are permitted they are seldom granted. These types of

motions are extraordinary remedies reserved only for extraordinary circumstances. See Dowell v.

3 Such requests refer to both motions to alter or amend a judgment (Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e)), or motions for relief from

'AFiPN¹B"Iff‡B†eRMØbM@nt)
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Auto. Ins. Co., 993 F.2d 46, 48 (4th Cir. 1993) (limiting relief under

Rule 60(b)(6) to "extraordinary circumstances"); Projects Mgmt. Co. v. DynCorp Int'l, LLC, 17

F. Supp. 3d 539, 541 (E.D. Va. 2014), aff'd, 584 F. App'x 121 (4th Cir. 2014) (reconsideration

ofa judgment after its entry is an "extraordinary remedy which should be used sparingly")

(quoting Pac. Ins. Co. v. Am. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co., 148 F.3d 396, 403 (4th Cir. 1998)); see also

Netscape Commc'ns Corp. v. ValueClick, Inc., 704 F. Supp. 2d 544, 546 (E.D. Va. 2010)). Thus,

the standard of review for a Request for Reconsideration under § 11.56(c) is very high and such

requests should be granted sparingly and only in extraordinary circumstances. For the reasons

discussed below, Appellant has not made any arguments or submitted any evidence that satisfies

the standard of review.

II. DECISION

A. Appellant Has Not Identified Any Errors in Law or Fact That Would Warrant
Reversal of the Final Order.

Appellant raises a number of challenges in his Request. These include challenges to the

USPTO's subject-matter jurisdiction, allegations of a biased investigation, charges that the

finding of neglect was improper, and complaints that the appeal filing requirements unfairly

constrained him during his appeal. However, those arguments fall far short of the requirements

for granting reconsideration under § 11.56(c). These arguments are discussed more fully below.

1. Appellant's Challenge to OED Subject-Matter Jurisdiction to Bring a
Disciplinary Complaint Is Without Merit.

Appellant first challenges "the subject-matter jurisdiction of the OED Director to initiate

a disciplinary proceeding against the Appellant". (Appeal at 1-3). He argues that the OED

Director failed to comply with 3'f C.F.R. § 11.22(d) (preliminary screening) and failed to afford

him with due process before initiating discipline. (Id.) Specifically, he argues that the OED

APPX 515 (By Respondent)
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Director failed to provide evidence of the September 2015 resolution of his state legal

malpractice to the Committee on Discipline. (Appeal at 4-6). As a result, as Appellant views it,

the OED Director prematurely concluded his investigation, under 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(d), and

submitted an incomplete and biased report and recommendation to the Committee on Discipline.

(Id.). Appellant claims the Committee's decision was thus unfairly influenced to find probable

cause. (Id.).

Before discussing the merits of these arguments, it is noted that OED unequivocally

possessed and properly exercised disciplinary jurisdiction in this case. Appellant has been a

patent attorney registered with the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). As such, he is

unquestionably subject to the disciplinary authority of the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 11.19(a). To the

extent that Appellant's appeal attempts to claim otherwise, such argument finds no support in

law or the Agency's regulations. Further, Appellant unsuccessfully argued against subject-matter

jurisdiction on appeal, rendering this argument nothing more than an attempt to reargue his

appeal under the guise of reconsideration. This is an insufficient basis,to grant reconsideration
t

under § 11.56(c). See Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (citing Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at 1081-

82).

As an additional basis for denying reconsideration, Appellant's claim that the Committee was

unfairly influenced by an incomplete or prematurely concluded investigation by the OED

Director is also without merit. First, Appellant already vigorously argued this point during the

appeal process and the Director's Final Order concluded that there were no deficiencies

associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary matter to the Committee on

Discipline. (Final Order, at 18-19). As stated in that Final Order, the regulations concerning the

Conimittee on Discipline, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23, include no requirements for what the

APPX 516 (By Respondent)
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OED Director submits to the Committee and, even if it did, the malpractice case involving

Appellant was dismissedafter the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015 and thus after the

Committee had found probable cause to issue a Complaint. (Id.) Appellant offers no new

authorities that would dictate a different outcome or require the OED Director to engage in a

different course. Consequently, this argument is nothing more than an attempt to reargue his

unsuccessful appeal. Thus, reconsideration on this basis is not warranted.

2. Appellant Is Incorrect That the ALJ Improperly Admitted Ms. Chaiken's

Testimony About the State Settlement Agreement.

Appellant next challenges the ALJ's decision to admit the testimony of Meredith

Chaiken, counsel for EPRT in the state malpractice cases against Appellant. (Appeal at 7-8).

Appellant claims that "the ALJ permitted OED counsel to elicit parole evidence of a confidential

Federal Court ordered mediation, over Appellant's objection, and in violation of [Florida law], in

the OED effort prove to (sic) the existence an enforceable Settlement Agreement." (Appeal at 8).

He disputes the ALJ's reliance on that testimony as an aggravating circumstance in detennining

the appropriate disciplinary sanction. (Appeal at 9). As part of his argument, he claims that the

testimony was inappropriately admitted because the agreement was "never consummated."

(Appeal at 8).

The ALJ allowed Ms. Chaiken's testimony, as well as the settlement agreement itself,

and concluded that the evidence supported a finding that Appellant attempted to silence Ms.

Blake and other EPRT employees and that this finding was an aggravating factor in support of

the discipline ordered. (A.30-32). "While negotiating the settlement agreement in the Florida

malpractice lawsuit, [Appellant] inserted into the settlement agreement a section prohibiting any

EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary

investigations against him." (A.30; A.5491). The ALJ concluded that "[t]he only purpose of this
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prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations against him", which the ALJ

concluded constituted "bad faith obstruction of the PTO disciplinary investigation" and an

aggravating factor in determining the disciplinary sanction. (A.30).

During the hearing, Appellant only made two (2) objections to Ms. Chaiken's testimony

about the offending settlement provision. The first objection concerned Ms. Chaiken's testimony

as to who requested the inclusion of the clause regarding EPRT cooperation with the disciplinary

investigations, and that objection was sustained. (A.7647-48). Appellant also objected when Ms.

Chaiken testified about her concerns with that provision, but that objection was overruled.

(A.7652-53). Appellant made no further objections during Ms. Chaiken's testimony concerning

the settlement agreement or its terms. (A.7643-67). Further, the document containing the draft

settlement agreement was introduced as evidence without any objection by Appellant. (A.5489,

A.8002-05).

The ALJ concluded that there was sufficient evidence, which included the admissible

portions Ms. Chaiken's testimony and the settlement agreement, to conclude that Appellant

sought and advocated for the settlement agreement term prohibiting any EPRT personnel from

testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary investigations against him.

(A.30). Further, the evidence supported that it was only when Ms. Chaiken expressed concems

about that provision that modification was ultimately included that permitted testimony upon

subpoena. (A.30; A.7653-54). This modification was accomplished after Ms. Chaiken, because

ofher concerns over the proposed settlement term, consulted with the Florida Bar and engaged in

legal research to determine whether such a clause was permissible under the law. (A.7654).

Consequently, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's attempt to hinder or deter pending

disciplinary matters was "bad faith obstruction" of the USPTO disciplinary investigation. (A.30).

APPX 518 (By Respondent)
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There is no basis to overturn these findings or to second-guess the ALJ's decision to

admit Ms. Chaiken's testimony. First, Appellant only raised two, discreet objections to Ms.

Chaiken's testimony, of which one was over-ruled. (A.7647-48; A.765-53). The bulk ofMs.

Chaiken's testimony was heard without objection. Appellant also did not object to introduction

of the settlement agreement itself. (A.8002-05). As the OED Director notes in his brief, when a

party fails to object to the admission of evidence at the time it is introduced, such objections are

waived. See MicroStrategy Inc. v. Bus. Objects, S.A., 331 F. Supp. 2d. 396, 420 (E.D. Va. 2004).

Consequently, Appellant's objections to admission ofMs. Chaiken's testimony are waived.

Further, even without the small portion of Ms. Chaiken's testimony for which an

objection was sustained, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the conclusion that

Appellant advocated for the provision that aimed to interfere with the USPTO disciplinary

investigation. This includes Ms. Chaiken's testimony, which the ALJ allowed, about her

concerns with the provision, her consultation with the Florida Bar, and the revised language, as

stated above. (A.5491; A.7651-54). Finding no error of law or fact with the ALJ's decision to

allow Ms. Chaiken's testimony, reconsideration on this basis is denied.

3. There Is No Support for Appellant's Argument That the ALJ's Finding of
Neglect Was Legally nor Factually Unsupported.

Appellant further claims that the Final Order was incorrect in finding that Appellant

neglected the '519 Application. (Appeal at 13-16). In support of this argument, Appellant claims

that the finding was based on a "hindsight test relative to the sufficiency ofAppellant's

'monitoring practice,'" which included criticisms for relying on an executive suite where he had

no physical presence as a correspondence address and failing to associate his Customer Number

with the '519 application. (Id.). He argues, as he did during the disciplinary hearing, that no

USPTO rule or authority requires such actions. (Id.). Further, he identified several "context
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factors" that he believes "in practice" determine the frequency and attorney attention to be

accorded a given client matter, and he asserts that the ALJ failed to consider these context

factors. (Appeal at 15). Finally, he restates arguments made during the disciplinary hearing

including that there was adversity created by EPRT when opposing counsel threatened a

malpractice suit, that he never actually received the documents related to the '519 Application,

and he generally disputes that his practices rose to the level of neglect. (Reply at 5-6). As

discussed below, these arguments do not provide a basis for granting Appellant's request for

reconsideration.

As already stated, the standard for granting reconsideration is a high one. Reconsideration

is not proper where the arguments are nothing more than a statement of a party's disagreement

with a final judgment or amount to only relitigation of old matters. See Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at

1082; Arthur, 500 F.3d at 1343; Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2; Above the Belt, Inc., 99

F.R.D. at 101; Durkin, 444 F. Supp. at 889. Appellant's arguments do not satisfy this standard.

Rather, his arguments are an attempt to relitigate the issues and objections made during the

disciplinary hearing and on appeal. In fact, every single one of his arguments was addressed by

the USPTO Director in the Final Order, including his "deliberate abandonment" theory (Final

Order at 26-27, 31); his arguments that negligence did not result from his use of an "executive

suite" (Id. at 29); his claims that he never received documents so he could not have neglected

them (Id. at 27, 30); his arguments about the adequacy ofhis case monitoring system,. including

his lack of ticider system (Id. at 27, 35-36); his dispute over whether he called examiner back (Id.

at 35); his failure to use a customer number (Id. at 24, 27, 29, 35); and his argument that EPRT

suffered no economic harm (Id. at 36-37).4

4 His arguments that the ALPs reliance on prior disciplinary history was inappropriate (Reply at 8)
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Lastly, Appellant's reliance on "context factors" to negate the neglect finding does not

support a grant of reconsideration here. Appellant cites no authority to support his implication

that the Director or the ALJ was required to consider these factors.

In sum, Appellant cites no error of law or fact that warrants reconsideration here. On the

issue ofneglect, both the ALJ's decision and the USPTO Director's Final Order specifically

addressed all of the arguments raised in his request. Appellant cannot relitigate those matters

under a veil of reconsideration.

4. Appellant's Argument that His Failure to Comply with the Appellate Filing
Requirements Was Improper Is Without Merit.

Lastly, Appellant claims that he was "unfairly constrained" by the filing requirements set

forth in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(b)-(d). (Reply at 8-9). However, this claim was not malle in his

origina1Request for Reconsideration but, rather, responds to the OED Director's arguments that

he failed to challenge this basis for the Director's Final Order in his Reply brief. Thus, not

having affinnatively raised this claim, it is waived. See Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian Ins. Co.,

739 F.3d 678, 680 (11th Cir. 2014 (when an appellant fails to challenge properly on of the

grounds on which a decision is based, any challenge is deemed abandoned.)

Additionally, however, Appellant offers no support for his claim that the filing

requirements unfairly constrained his ability to pursue his appeal. The filing requirements

applied equally to Appellant and the OED Director and, as discussed in the November 2016

Order ofthe USPTO Director denying Appellant's request for a waiver ofthe page limit

requirements for appeal briefs, there is nothing unique or exceptional about a party finding it

cumbersome or difficult to comply with known filing requirements. See Order dated November

2, 2016 (citing Fetrow-Fix v. Harrah Entm't, Inc., No. 2:10-cv-0560, 2011 WL 2313650, at *3
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(D. Nev. June 9, 2011)). Thus, the parties were expected to comply with the filing requirements

set forth in the USPTO regulations.

Despite having been provided multiple opportunities to file a compliant brief, Appellant

failed to do so and that failure was an independent basis for rejecting his appeal. (Final Order at

15-17). Appellant's arguments on reconsideration are nothing more than an attempt to excuse

those failures and rehash his attempts to circumvent the filing rules. That is an insufficient basis

to grant reconsideration.

B. Appellant Has Not Offered Any "New Evidence."

1. Petition to Revive.

Appellant also raises several arguments wherein he alleges the existence of new evidence

as support for granting Reconsideration here. First, he claims that information about EPRT's

successful Petition to Revive the '519 Application that had gone abandoned due to his own

neglect was omitted from the disciplinary record. (Appeal at 10-12). He claims that this evidence

mitigates the sanction imposed on him by the ALJ. (Id.). With this argument, Appellant alleges

that the OED Director had a duty to discover and disclose the "new" evidence to Appellant as

"exculpatory" evidence. (Appeal at 12).

Appellant's claim here has no merit. First, as stated above, any evidence submitted now

to be properly considered "new" the evidence must not have been available before the issuance

of the Final Order. See Boryan, 884 F.2d at 771. The Petition to Revive was filed on December

7, 2015 (Request, Ex. 5) and was granted on May 2, 2016 (Request, Ex. 6), before the

disciplinary hearing held on May 10-11, 2016 (A.7493; A.7869) and before Appellant's January

2017 appeal brief was submitted. He could have used this information at the hearing or in his

appeal briefs in this disciplinary matter but he did not. Rather, he raised it only in a separate
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Motion filed on Jänuary 13, 2017 wherein he sought to reopen the record and admit evidence of

the Petition to Revive. He argued this issue extensively but unsuccessfully. Further, he was

informed at that time that he should have raised these arguments earlier in the disciplinary

process..As a result, these documents and Appellant's arguments have been raised and

considered. Consequently, the Petition to Revive is not new evidence under § 11.56(c).5

Finally, it is noted as a matter of law that Appellant offers no legal support for his

argument that the OED Director possessed some obligation to disclose either infonnation about

the Petition to Revive or any purported exculpatory evidence. He has cited no authority that the

Model Rules referenced in his briefing materials have any binding authority here - they do not.

Further, as he recognizes at page 2 ofhis Reply, in Polidi v. Lee, No. 15-cv-1030, slip op. at 4-5

(E.D. Va. Nov. 24, 2015), the Eastern District ofVirginia has specifically disavowed such a

duty.

2. Malpractice Court Documents.

Next, Appellant argues that court documents associated with the state malpractice

proceedings constitute newly discovered evidence and mitigate the economic hanns suffered by

his former client, EPRT. (Appeal at 16-17). These "new" documents appear to include the order

of dismissal, evidence that the state court judge struck EPRT's damages expert report, and

Appellant's own testimony in the disciplinary hearing that the EPRT product that was the subject

of the '519 Application had "evolved." (Appeal at 17-18).

5 It is also noted that the USPTO Director, in a January 27, 2017 Order, addressed the substantive effect ofEPRT's
successful Petition to Revive on the disciplinary matter. (See Order, dated Jan. 27, 2017, p. 3). The Director, in that
Order, concluded that EPRT's ability to obtain a patent was not new evidence and does not in and of itselfnegate
or nullify the ALPs disciplinary findings and conclusions. (Id.) "Rather, the proffered new evidence concerns a
different period oftime when the client was represented by someone else, who managed to then successfully
rgpiRia doned application." (Id.)
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Appellant is again incorrect that these documents are new evidence for purposes of 37

C.F.R. § 11.56(c). The hearing in this disciplinary matter was held on May 10-11, 2016.

(A.7493; A.7869). The documents cited by Appellant were court document in the state

malpractice matter and were served upon him, as a party to the matter, in July, 2015 (A.6766-69)

and September, 2015 (A.6530), or were known to him before the May, 2016 hearing. Thus, as he

cannot show and has not shown that this evidence "could not have been discovered any earlier by

due diligence", he is unable to make the requisite showing necessary for granting reconsideration

here.

C. CONCLUSION

Having considered Appellant's Request for Reconsideration of Director's Final Order Dated

August 2, 2017 from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALJ., the OED Director's

Response and Appellant's Reply brief, it is ORDERED Appellant's Request is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

APPEAL RIGHTS

Appellant is notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S.

District Court for the Eastern District ofVirginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days

after the date of the order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5.

Date Sarah T. Harris
General Counsel
United States Patent and Trademark Office
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on delegated authority by

Andrei Iancu
Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual
Property and Director of the Unitéd States Patent
and Trademark Office

cc:
John H. Faro
Appellant

Robin Crabb
Associate Solicitor
Counsel for the Director of Office ofEnrollment and Discipline
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the
parties below, in the manner indicated:

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL:

John H. Faro
1395 Brickell Avenue

Suite 800
Miami, FL 33131

Johnf75712@aol.com
Johnf75712@,gmail.com

Appellant

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL:
Robin Crabb

Associate Solicitors
Mail Stop 8

Office of the Solicitor
P.O. Box 1450

Alexandria, VA 22313-1450
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov

SO-OEDeases@uspto.gov
OED Director

Date United St es Pate t and TrademarEÓffic
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Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB Document 45 Filed 12/28/18 Page 2 of 15 PagelD# 11935

On January 8, 2004, the PTO issued a notice to a non-responsive amendment regarding

the Application. Id at 4. EPRT's response to the notice was due by February 6, 2004. Id On

February 6, 2004, the assigned Patent Examiner contacted Petitioner because she had not

received a response and gave Petitioner until February 9 to file a response. Id at 5. On February

9, 2004, the Patent Examiner again called Petitioner because she had not received a response. Id

Petitioner told the Examiner that he would not be able to file a response until the next day and

hung up the phone, but he later filed a response that same day. Id However, the response was

found non-compliant. Id. As a result, and after the Patent Examiner attempted to contact

Petitioner on multiple occasions, the PTO issued on August 12, 2004 a Notice of Abandonment

of the Application for failure to validly respond to the notice. See id In October 2004,

Petitioner filed a petition to revive the Application, and the PTO granted the petition in January

2005. Id

On April 19, 2005, the PTO issued a final office action rejecting Claims 3, 4, 23, 24, and

25 of the 519 Application. Id Petitioner subsequently appealed the rejection in June 2005. Id

On appeal, the PTO affirmed its rejection of Claims 23-25 but changed its rejection of Claims 3

and 4 to an "objection" to those claims. Id The rejection stated that Claims 3 and 4 "would be

allowable if rewritten in independent form." Id at 6.

After receiving this decision, Petitioner sent his clients an email stating that Claims 3 and

4 had been "allowed." [Doc. 27-1 at 357]. The email did not indicate that the rejection of

Claims 23-25 was affirmed. Seeid. Petitioner never rewrote Claims 3 and 4, but he did appeal

the prior decision. [Doc. 13-3 at 6]. On June 1, 2009, the Board of Patent Appeals and

Interferences affirmed the PTO's prior decision in Petitioner's first appeal. Id at 7. To appeal

this decision, EPRT had the option of filing within two months of its issuance either an appeal in
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the Federal Circuit or a civil case in federal district court. Id Petitioner did not inform EPRT of

the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences' decision, rewrite the claims, or file any further

appeals.3 Id. Accordingly, the PTO issued a second Notice ofAbandonment on August 14,

2009 and again closed the Application. [Doc. 22-3 at 76]. The Notice ofAbandonment stated

that the 519 Application was being marked abandoned because the two-month window in which

to appeal the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences' Decision had passed with no action, the

claims had not been rewritten, and the Patent Examiner had left a voicemail on Petitioner's

answering machine on August 6, 2009 to try to check on the status of the Application, to which

Petitioner did not respond. Id.

In 2010 and thereafter, Katherine Blake, EPRT's president and co-founder, attempted to

reach Petitioner on multiple occasions to learn if there were any updates to the status of the 519

Application but was unsuccessful. See [Does. 24-1 at 170, 171; 26-3 at 354; 27-2 at 18-22; 28-2

at 58-69]. In a July 30, 2010 email, Petitioner reported to Ms. Blake that he had "attempted to

determine the status of the patent and have yet to hear back from my inquiries." [Doc. 22-3 at

78]. After that email, EPRT was unable to reach Petitioner despite multiple attempts by

telephone call, text message, and email. See [Does. 26-3 at 25-27; 27-2 at 28-32]. Ms. Blake

testified that on one occasion, she and EPRT's general counsel called Petitioner to discuss the

519 Application but Petitioner hung up and did not answer their subsequent call placed

immediately thereafter. [Doc. 27-1 at 239-40]. After these attempts to reach Petitioner, EPRT

asked an attorney, Roger Farahmand, to send a letter on his firm's letterhead requesting an

update on the status of the 519 Application, which Mr. Farahmand did on October 21, 2011.

[Does. 28-2 at 66-67, 24-1 at 173]. On October 28, in response to the new counsel's request for

a status update on the Application, Petitioner faxed a copy of the Board of Patent Appeals and

3 Petitioner stated that he never received the decision in the mail. [Doc. 13-3 at 7].
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Interferences' 2009 decision affirming Petitioner's appeal of the PTO's 2005 decision. [Doc. 24-

1 at 175-76]. At this point, EPRT directed Mr. Farahmand to obtain the 519 Application file

from Petitioner, [Doc. 26-3 at 33], but Petitioner did not provide the file. EPRT did not obtain

the file until after Petitioner's wife provided it pursuant to a subpoena issued in EPRT's

malpractice action against Petitioner, which was filed in October 2013 in the United States

District Court for the Southern District of Florida. [Does. 28-2 at 146-48; 31 at 10].4

In May 2015, after receiving a complaint by Ms. Blake as to Petitioner's handling of the

519 Application and investigating the matter, the PTO's Committee on Discipline concluded that

it had probable cause to file a formal disciplinary complaint against Petitioner and did so. Id. at

10-11. The complaint stated that Petitioner did not satisfy his ethical duties to notify and keep

his client apprised of correspondence and the Application's status, to maintain proper files, and

to return timely his client's property after he was removed from representing EPRT in the

Application. See [Doc. 13-3 at 42-54].

In May 2016, a hearing was held on this complaint before an administrative law judge

("ALJ") in Miami, Florida. Petitioner appeared and presented testimony and other evidence.

See [Does. 28-2 at 7-492, 28-3 at 1-41]. After considering the evidence presented at the hearing

and additional briefing by the parties, the ALJ on September 15, 2016 issued a decision

concluding that Petitioner violated six provisions of the PTO's disciplinary code.5 [Doc. 13-3 at

4 In August 2015, the parties settled the malpractice action. [Doc. 17-2 at 62]. As part of the settlement, EPRT
agreed not to participate voluntarily in PTO disciplinary proceedings concerning Petitioner; however, the settlement
allowed EPRT to participate if subpoenaed by "any court of competent jurisdiction." Id. at 63.
5 Specifically, those provisions were:
(1) 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) ("A practitioner shall not engage in disreputable or gross misconduct.");
(2) 37 C.F.R. § 10.23 (b) ("A practitioner shall not: (1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule. (2) Circumvent a Disciplinary
Rule through actions ofanother. (3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude. (4) Engage in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. (5) Engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the
administration ofjustice. (6) Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness to
practice before the Office.");
APPX 530 (By Respondent)
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1-33]. The ALJ suspended Petitioner from practicing before the PTO for at least eight months,

with his reinstatement conditioned upon his passing the Multistate Professional Responsibility

Examination. Id. at 33.

In November 2016, Petitioner appealed his suspension to the Director of the PTO. [Doc.

29-1 at 25]. The Director affirmed the ALJ's decision on August 2, 2017, [Doc. 30-1 at 166],

and subsequently denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration on February 9, 2018, [Doc. 30-2

at 147-48]. Petitioner filed this action on March 13, 2018. [Doc. l].

II. Standard of Review

Pursuant to its statutory authority granted in 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D), the PTO has enacted

regulations governing the "conduct ofagents, attorneys, or other persons representing applicants

or other parties before" it. See 37 C.F.R. § 11; see also 35 U.S.C. § 32 ("The [PTO] Director

may, after notice and opportunity for a hearing, suspend or exclude, either generally or in any

particular case, from further practice before the Patent and Trademark Office, any person, agent,

or attorney shown to be incompetent or disreputable, or guilty of gross misconduct, or who does

not comply with the regulations established under section 2(b)(2)(D)...."). These regulations

also provide the investigative and adjudicative procedure for determining whether a person or

practitioner has violated the promulgated disciplinary rules and, if so, the appropriate sanction.

See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.2; I1.19-60.

(3) 37 C.F.R. § (c)(8) ("Conduct which constitutes a violation . . . includes, but is not limited to: . . . Failing to
inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify the Office ofan inability to notify a client or former client
of correspondence received from the Office or the client's or former client's opponent in an inter partes proceeding
before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the Office,
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalfofa client or former client and (iii) is correspondence ofwhich a
reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances the client or former client should be notified.");
(4) 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) ("A practitioner shall not: . . (c) Neglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner.");
(5) 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a) ("A practitioner shall not intentionally: (1) Fail to seek the lawful objectives of a client
through reasonably available means permitted by law and the Disciplinary Rules . . . . (2) Fail to carry out a contract
ofemployment entered into with a client for professional services . . . . (3) Prejudice or damage a client during the
course of a professional relationship . . . ."); and
(6) 37 C.F.R. § 10.1 12(c)(4) ("A practitioner shall: . . . . Promptly pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive.").
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The Eastern District ofVirginia is the sole forum for reviewing orders suspending or

excluding individuals from practice before the PTO. 35 U.S.C. § 32. The Court will overturn a

decision by the PTO only if a plaintiff establishes that the decision was "arbitrary, capricious, an

abuse ofdiscretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." Shia v. USPTO, 2017 WL

5639912, at *3 (E.D. Va. Feb. 27, 2017); see also President & Fellows ofHarvard Coll. v. Lee,

589 Fed. Appx. 982, 984 (Fed. Cir. 2014) (citing Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal. v. Aracoma Coal Co.,

556 F.3d 177, 192 (4th Cir. 2009)). A decision is arbitrary and capricious if predicated on a clear

error ofjudgment or a mistake. President & Fellows ofHarvard Coll. v. Lee, 589 Fed. Apppx. at

986 (citing PGBA, LLC v. United States, 389 F.3d 1219, 1231 (Fed. Cir. 2004)).

In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, courts must view the facts in the light most

favorable to the party opposing the motion. Porter v. U.S. Alumoweld Co., 125 F.3d 243, 245

(4th Cir. 1997). Summary judgment is appropriate where "there is no genuine dispute as to any

material fact the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Fed. R. Civ. P.

56(a); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). A "genuine" dispute as to a material

fact is present "if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could . . . return a verdict for the

non-moving party." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). When a motion

for summary judgment is made and supported by affidavits, an adverse party may not rest upon

the mere allegations or denials of the adverse party's pleading, but the adverse party's response

must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

Unsubstantiated, conclusory claims without evidentiary support are insufficient to satisfy a non-

moving party's burden on summary judgment. Carter v. Ball, 33 F.3d 450, 461-62 (4th Cir.

1994); Goldberg v. B. Green & Co., 836 F.2d 845, 848 (4th Cir. 1988).

APPX 532 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB Document 45 Filed 12/28/18 Page 7 of 15 PagelD# 11940

HI. Discussion

A. The OED Director's Jurisdiction to Investigate Petitioner

Petitioner first argues that the OED "lacked subject matter jurisdiction" to commence and

conduct its disciplinary proceeding while the malpractice action against him in federal district

court was still pending, because "had the OED waited until the conclusion of the malpractice

action, it would have uncovered information not otherwise available that reflected favorably

upon Plaintiff." In support of this argument, Petitioner cites 37 CFR §§ 11.22(d) and

11.22(h)(3), which state, in relevant part, "The OED Director shall examine all information or

evidence concerning possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner" and set forth the steps to

be taken upon completion of an investigation. See id. § 11.22(d), (h)(3).

The OED Director was clearly within his jurisdictional grant when he investigated

Petitioner's conduct. "Congress gave the USPTO wide latitude to govern the conduct of the

members of its bar." Haley v. Under Sec'y ofCommercefor Intellectual Prop., 129 F. Supp. 3d

377, 386 (E.D. Va. 2015); see also Lacavera v. Dudas, 441 F.3d 1380, 1383 (Fed. Cir. 2006)

("Under 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2), the PTO has broad authority to govern the conduct of proceedings

before it and to govern the recognition and conduct of attorneys."). 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D) states

that the PTO "may govern the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons

representing applicants or other parties before the Office, and may require them .. . to show that

they are of good moral character and reputation and are possessed of the necessary

qualifications." Pursuant to that discretionary authority, the PTO has conferred without

qualification authority on the OED Director "to investigate possible grounds for discipline" and

to initiate an investigation "when the OED Director receives a grievance, information or
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evidence from any source suggesting possible grounds for discipline." 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(a)

(emphasis added).

Pursuant to the above statutes and regulations, the OED Director acted within the scope

of his investigatory authority. He initiated an investigation into Petitioner's conduct upon receipt

of EPRT's grievance, gathered extensive evidence over a ten-month period, and, based upon his

review of all of the evidence gathered, filed a formal misconduct complaint against Petitioner in

accordance with 37 C.F.R. § 1 1.22(h)(3). 6 Accordingly, the Court finds and concludes that the

OED had jurisdiction to investigate and bring a formal misconduct charge against Petitioner,

notwithstanding the pendency of the Florida malpractice action against Petitioner in another

forum.

B. Evidence Supporting the Final Order of Suspension

Petitioner also argues that the ALJ's finding that he violated six provisions of the PTO's

practitioner-conduct rules was not supported by substantial evidence. The Court has reviewed

the administrative record and concludes that the suspension order was supported by ample

evidence of Petitioner's misconduct.

1. 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) (Disregarding a Client Matter)

Substantial evidence supports the OED Director's finding that Petitioner violated 37

C.F.R. § 10.77(c), which prohibits a practitioner from "neglect[ing] a legal matter entrusted to

6 petitioner COntends that 37 CFR §§ 1 1.22(d) and 1 1.22(h)(3) impose jurisdictional restrictions on the Director's
otherwise broad authority to investigate potential practitioner misconduct. However, §§ 1 1.22(d) and 1 1.22(h)(3)
are not jurisdictional regulations; they set forth the steps the OED Director must take in investigating possible
grounds for disciplining a practitioner. Contrary to Petitioner's position, unsupported by any authority, the Director
was not obligated to stay an investigation pending the outcome of a federal malpractice action against Petitioner
because of the possibility that additional evidence concerning the practitioner's conduct might be uncovered in the
malpractice action, particularly since the Director's decision to proceed with an investigation does not prejudice an
accused practitioner's right or ability to gather additional evidence with which to defend himself at a later stage of
the disciplinary process. Moreover, the discovery provisions applicable to formal disciplinary proceedings do not
limit the record to the evidence reviewed by the OED Director in determining whether to initiate formal disciplinary
proceedings. To the contrary, a practitioner charged with violating the rules of conduct is entitled to conduct
additional discovery in defending the allegations against him as part ofhis formal disciplinary proceedings. See 37
C.F.R. § I 1.52.
APPX 534 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279 8



Case 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-TCB Document 45 Filed 12/28/18 Page 9 of 15 PagelD# 11942

the practitioner." The 519 Application's procedural history reflects Petitioner's repeated failure

to give the Application proper attention. For example, the Petitioner failed to respond adequately

to the Patent Examiner in August 2009 aAer she len him a voicemail before marking the 519

Application abandoned and failed to make any further inquiries as to the Application's status

until October 11, and then, only after receiving a letter from counsel hired by EPRT to assist in

eliciting a response from Petitioner as to the Application's status. See [Doc. 13-3 at 5-9, 15].

The record also demonstrates that he failed for more than a year to respond to Ms. Blake's emails

and phone calls, in which she sought an update on the Applications' status. [Doc. 13-3 at 16].

Petitioner also chose not to use the PTO's PAIR docketing system to electronically track the

status of the 519 Application, which is not required but highly encouraged by the PTO, to allow

for efficient access to pending applications. [Doc. 13-3 at 15]. As the ALJ correctly observed,

taken in isolation, these individual "missteps" perhaps would not justify a finding that Petitioner

neglected the 519 Application, but when the record is viewed in its entirety, Petitioner's failings

are clear and substantial. [Doc. 13-3 at 18]. Accordingly, the Court finds and concludes that

substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding as to 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c).

2. 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) (Failure to Inform Client of the Receipt ofSignificant
Correspondencefrom the PTO)

Similarly, the administrative record contains ample evidence that supports the ALJ's

finding that Petitioner failed "to properly inform EPRT of the Third Final Rejection, the Board

Decision, and the Notice of Abandonment" in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8). For example,

with regard to the third rejection of the 519 Application, Ms. Blake testified that she never

received from Petitioner copies of any correspondence from the PTO, only "email

correspondence" from Petitioner himself. [Doc. 28-2 at 50]. This email correspondence did not

accurately communicate the Application's status to EPRT, but rather, as the ALJ observed, stated
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that the PTO "allowed" Claims 3 and 4 of the Application when in fact the PTO objected to them

and counseled that they would be allowed only if "rewritten in independent form." [Does. 27-1

at 357, 28-2 at 226]. The email also stated that the "appeal [was] still going forward," when in

fact the rejection constituted a final action. [Does. 27-1 at 357; 20-1 at 180 ("This action is

FINAL." (emphasis in original))]. Similarly, Petitioner did not provide EPRT a copy of the

Notice of Abandonment he received in 2009 until 2011, when he received a letter by counsel

hired by EPRT to ascertain the 519 Application's status. [Doc. 28-2 at 68]. Petitioner failed to

rebut this evidence with any evidence that he forwarded any of the relevant correspondence to

EPRT or otherwise accurately informed EPRT of the significant correspondence he received

from the PTO, particularly with regard to the third rejection of the 519 Application. Accordingly,

substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding that Petitioner failed to forward significant

PTO correspondence regarding the 519 Application to Petitioner.

3. 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a) (Failure to Seek Client's Lawful Objectives and Carry Out an
Employment Contract)

As with the ALJ's finding that Petitioner disregarded the 519 Application in violation of

37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c), substantial evidence supports the ALJ's finding that Petitioner also failed

to reasonably seek EPRT's objective of obtaining approval of the 519 Application in violation of

37 C.F.R. § 10.847(c). For example, Petitioner's failure to rewrite Claims 3 and 4 of the 519

Application in accordance with the Patent Examiner's Guidance led to their ultimate rejection,

which effectively frustrated EPRT's lawful objective of obtaining a patent. As the ALJ noted,

The consequences of [Petitioner]'s decisions were substantial. Claims 3 and 4
were ultimately deemed rejected because [Petitioner] did not rewrite them as
suggested. The Board Decision therefore affirmed the Third Final Rejection
because there were no allowable claims.

Had [Petitioner] been timely aware of the Board Decision on June 1, 2009, he
could have filed an appeal. Had he been timely aware of the Notice of
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Abandonment, he could have attempted to revive the Application. Either course
of action would have served EPRT's objectives. The Court cannot speculate
whether he would have taken either action, because he abandoned EPRT as a
client within days of discovering the existence of the Board Decision.

[Doc. 13-3 at 21].

The record does not contain any evidence from which it could be reasonably inferred that

Petitioner did not fail to honestly and promptly apprise EPRT of the Application's status, rewrite

Claims 3 and 4 per the Patent Examiner's guidance, appeal the third rejection of the 519

Application, or otherwise take steps to accomplish EPRT's lawful objectives.

4. 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) (Failure to Return Client Property)

37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) requires an attorney practicing before the PTO to "[p]romptly

pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client the funds, securities, or other properties in the

possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive." Petitioner argues that he

was unable to return EPRT's client file after having been asked to do so on multiple occasions

because he was unable to access his home office in which the file was located due to marital

issues. [Doc. 1 at 69]. However, as the ALJ observed, Petitioner confirmed that "he did not

convey the marital home to his ex-wife until November 16, 2011," such that he had legal

authority to access the property until that time. [Doc. 13-3 at 23]. Moreover, EPRT's counsel in

the malpractice action "issued a subpoena duces tecum to successfully obtain the file" from

Petitioner's wife, and Petitioner "could have followed a similar approach." Id. at 24.

Accordingly, the Court finds that substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding that Petitioner

failed to return EPRT's property in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4).
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5. 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) (Engaging in Disreputable or Gross Misconduct and
Violating a Disciplinary Rule)

37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) states, in relevant part, that a practitioner automatically violates

37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b)'s general misconduct provisions upon failing to inform a client of

correspondence received from the PTO that "could have a significant effect on a matter pending

before the [PTO)" and "which a reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances

the client or former client should be notified." Because substantial evidence supported the

ALJ's finding that Petitioner violated § 10.23(c)(8), see supra Part III.B.2, so too was the ALJ's

finding that he violated §§ 10.23(a) and (b) supported by substantial evidence.

C. The OED Director's Conduct During Petitioner's Disciplinary Proceeding

Petitioner argues that his formal disciplinary proceeding denied him a fair and impartial

hearing because the OED Director concealed material information relevant to Petitioner's

alleged misconduct and the discipline to be imposed on Petitioner. [Doc. 1 at 38]. Specifically,

Petitioner argues that the Director certified that Hearing Exhibit 1 contained the PTO's complete

file wrapper on the 519 Application when, in fact, it did not contain the Petition to Revive the

519 Application filed on December 7, 2015 and the May 2, 2016 Revival Decision that allowed

EPRT to restore the 519 Application after EPRT retained new counsel to handle the matter. Id.

at 85, 88. However, as Petitioner acknowledges, both of these files were added after the OED

Director's certification on April 8, 2015. Id. at 85. They also evidence developments with

respect to the 519 Application that occurred after the conduct giving rise to Petitioner's

disciplinary charges; and although perhaps relevant to EPRT's claim that it was injured by

Petitioner's misconduct, the Petition to Revive and the Revival Decision were not "exculpatory"

as to Petitioner's violations of the PTO's conduct code, as Petitioner argues. Petitioner was

therefore not deprived ofa fair hearing because of any omitted evidence.
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D. The PTO Director's Denial of Petitioner's Motion to Waive the 40-Page Limit as to
Petitioner's Brief

Petitioner further argues that the PTO Director's denial of his motion to file an opposition

brief longer than the 40-page maximum specified in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(c) was "arbitrary" and

"forced [Petitioner] to resort to a less than complete and detailed response to the issues raised in

the Initial Opinion & Order, including specifically effectively challenging the ALJ's incomplete

recitation and misinterpretation of facts." [Doc. 1 at 47-50]. However, Petitioner does not

explain how this discretionary decision, which was grounded in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(c)'s

requirements, was arbitrary or specifically how he was prejudiced by the decision. Indeed, while

the PTO Director stated that Petitioner's repeated failure to abide by these format requirements

justified affirming the ALJ's decision on that ground alone, the PTO Director nevertheless

proceeded to consider the merits of Petitioner's challenge in full-including the arguments raised

in Petitioner's brief beyond the 40-page limit. Accordingly, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the

PTO Director's decision to formally deny his request.

E. The ALJ's Consideration of Meredith Chaiken's Testimony

During the course of ERRT's malpractice action against Petitioner in the Southern

District of Florida, the parties engaged in mediation negotiations but never reached a final

settlement. [Doc. 1 at 44]. During Petitioner's disciplinary proceedings at the PTO, the ALJ

allowed Meredith Chaiken, EPRT's corporate counsel, to testify concerning the substance of

those mediation negotiations and in determining an appropriate sanction for Petitioner's violation

ofhis ethical duties, referenced that testimony when he found that Petitioner "inserted into the

[proposed] settlement agreement a section prohibiting any EPRT personnel from testifying or

participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary investigations against him" for the sole

purpose of "hinder[ing] or derail[ing] the disciplinary investigations against him." Petitioner
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argues that allowing Ms. Chaiken's testimony violated the "Local Rules of the Federal District

Court, and the law of the State of Florida, for the protection of the 'confidentiality' of a Federal

Court ordered mediation" and thus denied him a fair and impartial hearing." [Doc. 1 at 43].

The rules of the federal district court and the State of Florida did not apply to Petitioner's

disciplinary proceedings before the PTO. In fact, the rules of evidence governing PTO

disciplinary proceedings explicitly allow evidence that would be precluded in court proceedings,

so long as it is relevant, material, and non-duplicative. 37 C.F.R. § 11.50 ("The rules of evidence

prevailing in courts of law and equity are not controlling in hearings in disciplinary proceedings.

However, the hearing officer shall exclude evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly

repetitious."). The allowed testimony was not precluded by the applicable evidentiary rules and

within the discretion of the ALJ to consider. The Petitioner's conduct during mediation in the

malpractice action related to his overall course of conduct; and it was not an abuse ofdiscretion

for the ALJ to consider that conduct in connection with an appropriate sanction.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court fmds and concludes that the Petitioner has failed to

establish that the PTO's Final Order of Suspension dated February 9, 2018 suspending his

license to practice before the PTO for a minimum ofeight months was arbitrary, capricious, an

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.

Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that Petitioner John Faro's Verified Petition Under L.R. 83.5 for Review of

Director Final Order of Suspension Dated February 9, 2018 [Doc. 1] be, and the same hereby is,

DENIED, and the PTO's decision is AFFIRMED.
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The Clerk is directed to forward copies of this Order to all counsel of record and to pro se

Petitioner at the address provided. 7

Anthony J. Tref q! i
United States 3 s Judge

1)ecember 28. 2018
Alexandria, Virginia
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THOMAS W. KRAUSE, Office of the Solicitor, United States
Patent and Trademark Office, Alexandria, VA.

THIS CAUSE having been heard and considered, it is

ORDERED and ADJUDGED:

PER CURIAM (NEWMAN, BRYSON, and REYNA, Circuit
Judges).

AFFIRMED. See Fed. Cir. R. 36.

ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT

February 11, 2020 /s/ Peter R. Marksteiner
Date Peter R. Marksteiner

Clerk of Court
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__________________________ 

JOHN H. FARO,  
Petitioner-Appellant 

  
v. 

  
ANDREI IANCU, UNDER SECRETARY OF 

COMMERCE FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
AND DIRECTOR OF THE UNITED STATES 

PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE,  
Respondent-Appellee 

__________________________ 

2019-1476 
__________________________ 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Virginia in No. 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-
TCB, United States District Judge Anthony J. Trenga. 

__________________________ 

MANDATE 
__________________________ 

In accordance with the judgment of this Court, entered 
February 11, 2020, and pursuant to Rule 41 of the Federal 
Rules of Appellate Procedure, the formal mandate is 
hereby issued. 

    FOR THE COURT 
     

April 10, 2020   /s/ Peter R. Marksteiner 

    Peter R. Marksteiner  
Clerk of Court 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S MOTION TO STRIKE RESPONDENT’S 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES 

 The Florida Bar, pursuant to Rule 1.110(d) and Rule 1.140(b) of the Florida 

Rules of Civil Procedure and through its undersigned attorney, hereby moves to 

strike each of Respondent's affirmative defenses, and as grounds therefore states 

the following:  

1. A proper affirmative defense does not deny the facts of the opposing 

party's claim.  It raises some new matter which could defeat the opposing party's 

otherwise apparently valid claim.  See Tropical Exterminators v. Murray, 171 

So.2d 432 (Fla. 2d DCA 1965).  It should be a matter avoiding the otherwise valid 

claim.   

2. Based upon the foregoing and additional reasons set forth below, The 

Florida Bar moves to strike Respondent’s affirmative defenses. 
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3.  The Florida Bar’s objections to Respondent’s affirmative defenses are 

listed in the same order as that of Respondent’s affirmative defenses and identify 

each affirmative defense by the heading designated by Respondent.   

A. GENERAL ALLEGATIONS:  R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 

mandates that respondent is conclusively guilty of the factual findings set forth in 

the Final Orders of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) upon which its 

final adjudication of discipline is premised.  This Referee is bound by those 

findings.  To the extent that respondent’s recitation of General Allegations disputes 

or attempts to negates those findings, his assertions are of no consequence and 

should be ignored.  While he can put on evidence of mitigation, he cannot dispute 

the findings of the USPTO, all of which were based on the same standard of 

evidence which applies in bar disciplinary proceedings:  clear and convincing.   

B. FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE:  Respondent’s assertion 

that the USPTO hearing officer lacked jurisdiction to hear the USPTO disciplinary 

proceedings against him must fail for two reasons.  First, this issue was already 

litigated before the USPTO and respondent lost.  Not only did he lose at that level, 

but he lost again when he sought review before the Federal District Court, that 

decision also having been affirmed on appeal to the Federal Appellate Court.  

Application of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 mandates that the USPTO findings of 

guilt are conclusive proof of respondent’s misconduct.  Thus, he cannot now 
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attempt to re-litigate a failed jurisdictional argument.   

C.  SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE:  The Florida Bar has 

jurisdiction to pursue reciprocal discipline against respondent based on the Final 

Orders of the USPTO, subsequently affirmed by the Federal District and Appellate 

Courts.  Respondent’s efforts at dismissal of the Bar’s Complaint resulted in this 

Referee’s Order denying him such relief based on this same argument.  R. 

Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 provides the authority for this cause to proceed.   

D.   THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE:  Contrary to 

respondent’s representation to this Referee, he was present at his disciplinary 

hearing before the USPTO and did provide both testimony and evidence to the 

administrative law judge hearing the proceedings.  The Final Order of the USPTO 

makes specific reference to this fact, as it does to the fact that a two-day hearing 

was held in Miami at which respondent appeared, testified, and provided evidence.  

(See USPTO Final Order dated August 2, 2017, Ex. A to The Florida Bar’s 

Complaint.)  Respondent’s efforts to conflate the malpractice case against him with 

the USPTO disciplinary proceedings against him is irrelevant and immaterial to the 

instant Bar proceedings.  Simply put, respondent was not denied due process and 

any argument to the contrary is either a misrepresentation or an effort to relitigate 

the final order adjudicating the misconduct of which he is conclusively guilty.      

E.  FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE:  Respondent’s fourth 
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affirmative defense is nothing more than another re-argument of the purported 

failings of the administrative law judge who heard respondent’s disciplinary 

proceedings and pronounced him guilty, a guilt which was affirmed twice by the 

USPTO and then later by the Federal District and Federal Appellate Courts.  By 

operation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6, respondent is conclusively guilty of the 

misconduct which he committed. 

4. Respondent concludes all of his affirmative defenses with a request 

for dismissal of the Bar’s complaint; however, there is no legal basis for dismissal.  

There is, however, a legal basis, R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6, for the striking of 

each of his four affirmative defenses, all of which are predicated upon his 

continued efforts to avoid the binding nature of the USPTO findings of fact and 

conclusions of guilt as to his misconduct.     

 WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests the entry of an order 

granting The Florida Bar’s Motion to Strike Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar – Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing The Florida Bar’s Motion to Strike Respondent’s 
Affirmative Defenses has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, 
Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his judicial 
assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. Josefsberg, 
Attorney for Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and 
mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at 
johnf75712@aol.com, and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at 
psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 7th day of December, 2020. 

           
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR 

COMPLAINANT    Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

v 
 
JOHN H. FARO     The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 
 

RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
UNDER RULE 1.510 FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE  
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Florida Bar (hereinafter “TFB”) has filed a Formal Complaint for 

Reciprocal Discipline, and, in support thereof, annexed the Final Order1 of the 

Director of United States Patent & Trademark Office entered on August 2, 2017; 

and the Final Order of the Director of United States Patent & Trademark Office 

entered on February 9, 2018.   Each of the Final Orders are predicated upon an Initial 

Opinion by an Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter “ALJ”) that is void. 

The Respondent has filed an Answer and asserted Affirmative Defenses to the 

Formal Complaint For Reciprocal Discipline, wherein he contends that the Patent 

Office suspension was void, or alternatively, unwarranted because of an infirmity in 

 
1   The Director of the United State Patent & Trademark Office, (also “USPTO”), delegated his 
authority to review disciplinary matters to the General Counsel of USPTO. 
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proof, and, thus, should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt/misconduct in 

Florida.   As set forth below in detail, the Patent Office Final Orders, annexed to 

TFB Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, are predicated upon the putative 

finding of misconduct in the Initial Opinion entered by ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney, who 

presided over the trial of the Patent’s Office of Enrollment & Discipline (hereinafter 

“OED”) Complaint against Respondent.  ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney (an Administrative 

Law Judge employed by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD)), was not appointed by the Director of the U.S. Patent & 

Trademark Office, and his presiding over the trial of the OED Complaint against 

Respondent was in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a); and the Accardi Doctrine2, 

which requires administrative strict compliance with its regulation. 

Under Rule 11.02(6) we accept the foreign judgment only as proof of guilt. 
Nevertheless, right and justice require that when the accused attorney shows 
that the proceeding in the foreign state was so deficient or lacking in notice or 
opportunity to be heard, that there was such a paucity of proof, or that there 
was some other grave reason which would make it unjust to accept the foreign 
judgment as conclusive proof of guilt of the misconduct involved Florida can 
elect not to be bound thereby. We should note here that the burden of showing 
why a foreign judgment should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt in a 
Florida disciplinary proceeding is on the accused attorney….  This going 
behind the judgment of the sister state does not constitute a collateral attack 
on that judgment, for it cannot affect its result in the sister state. It is only a 

 
2   United States ex rel. Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 268 (1954) (reversing an agency 
decision for failure to follow own regulations). 
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determination of the effect which we will give that judgment in this state. 
Florida Bar v. Wilkes, 179 So.2d 193, 198 (1965) 
 

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A. The trial of the OED Complaint against Respondent JOHN FARO 
(hereinafter “FARO”), was contrary to the law because it was presided 
over by ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney (an administrative law judge, 
employed and appointed by the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD), and therefore in violation of the 
”appointment” clause  (37 CFR 11.39(a).  McCabe Affidavit @ 
Paragraphs 122 to 149 
 

B. The probable cause finding of misconduct was based upon an 
incomplete OED Director investigation, and therefor obtained contrary 
to the law, 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3); 5 USC 706(2)(A); Accrediting Council 
for Independent Colleges and Schools, 303 F.Supp.3d 77 (2018). 

 
C. The ALJ denial of Respondent’s request to “abate” the OED 

investigation, and allow for the development of information and 
evidence from a prior filed malpractice lawsuit by OED grievant 
against the Respondent, based upon the same nucleus of operative facts 
as the OED Complaint against Respondent, excluded information that 
would have mitigated the consequence of a violation of the OED 
regulations, and therefore violated 37 CFR 11.54(b)(3), McCabe 
Affidavit @ Paragraphs 75 to 83. 
 

D. The ALJ ad hoc interpretation and application of the unambiguous 
OED regulations against Respondent do not reflect the Patent Office 
“authoritative” or “official position” relative to the interpretation of was 
contrary to law, Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019); 204 L.Ed.2d 
841. 

 
E.  The trial of the OED Complaint was contrary to law as having been 

based upon the incomplete administrative record, 5 USC 706(2)(A); 
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Accrediting Council for Independent Colleges and Schools, 303 
F.Supp.3d 77 (2018). 

 
F. The ALJ findings of misconduct based upon an illegal interpretation 

and application of the OED regulation, and an improper conflation of 
facts (“stacking of inferences”), are deficient proof of misconduct 
because of an Infirmity in Proof.  McCabe Affidavit @ Paragraphs 150 
– 159  
 

As is evident from the above, Respondent has retained Michael McCabe, Esq., 

to testify in this matter.  Michael McCabe, Esq. is a recognized expert in intellectual 

property matters, including the counseling and representation of attorneys charged 

with violation of the U.S. Patent Office Code of Professional Responsibility.   

Attorney McCabe has provided an affidavit, (referenced herein and filed concurrent 

with this Motion.  Attorney McCabe has opined as to impotence of the ALJ tribunal 

(lack of jurisdiction) to preside over the trial of the OED Complaint against 

Respondent, the improprieties of the OED Director investigation, the failure to allow 

for consideration of material information relative to proof of a violation and/or 

mitigation of a putative violation and the disproportionate sanction, in the absence 

of any nexus between a violation of the OED rules and any harm or prejudice to 

Respondent’s former client. 
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III. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS  

1. FARO’s background is as stated in his attached Verified Statement. 

2. In about September 2002, FARO was contacted by David Estes, the 

Director of Engineering for EPRT Technologies, Inc., (EPRT) located in Simi 

Valley, CA. Faro Declaration @ 20. 

3. Mr. Estes was obviously aware of FARO’S background, and requested 

that he review one of his patent applications that had been finally rejected by the 

United States Patent & Trademark Office. FARO was to later learn that this Patent 

Application was assigned to EPRT, his employer. Faro Declaration @ 21. 

4. FARO offered to review the patent application (hereinafter ‘519 Patent 

Application), at no cost to either Mr. Estes or to EPRT.   Estes thereafter requested 

that EPRT management provide FARO with a copy of the Patent Office files and the 

correspondence between Estes and his then current patent attorneys, Howry Simon 

Arnold White LLP (Washington, DC). Faro Declaration @ 22. 

5. FARO’s reviewed the requested materials provided by EPRT 

management and discussions with Estes relative to the invention sought to be 

protected. Faro Declaration @ 23. 
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6. On November 19, 2002, FARO emailed EPRT management (including 

Estes) a written Review & Recommendation, wherein FARO pointed out 

deficiencies in description of the key components of the ‘519 Patent Application, 

and that Patent Office final rejection would likely be sustained. Respondent Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exh “B”; Faro Declaration @ 24. 

7. Notwithstanding that patent protection for the EPRT product was likely 

unattainable because of the previously noted deficiencies in the ‘519 Patent 

Application, FARO was hired by Estes to assume responsibility for handling the 

continued prosecution ‘519 Patent Application, and to keep it pending for as long as 

possible. Faro Declaration @ 25. 

8. FARO thereafter prepared and filed a Power of Attorney for execution 

by EPRT management, revoking the prior Power of Attorney to Howry Simon 

Arnold White LLP, and appointing FARO as its registered patent attorney.   The 

Power of Attorney was filed and accepted by Patent Office in January 2003. Public 

Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1, Bates No 450; 

Faro Declaration @ 26. 

9. Thereafter, FARO proceeded to pursue the allowance of the ‘519 Patent 

Application to the fullest extent permitted by the Rules of Practice, with the primary 

APPX 555 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

7 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

objective being to maintain the application pending. OED Trial Exh OED Bates No 

433 to 447, Faro Declaration @ 27. 

10. Thereafter, FARO assumed the solicitation of allowance of the ‘519 

Patent Application, and the Patent Office persisted in its final rejection. Public 

Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1 Bates No 420 - 

432; Faro Declaration @ 28. 

11. In April 2005, the ‘519 Patent Application the Patent Examiner once 

again finally rejected all of the claimed invention (2nd Final Rejection), including the 

claimed medical device invention, asserting essentially the same basis as its prior 

final rejection of July 2002. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED 

Trial Exh OED 1 Bates Nos 284-495; Faro Declaration @ 29. 

12.  Insofar as the Patent Examiner was “dug in”, FARO filed a Notice of 

Appeal in July 2005 (OED Trial Exh OED Bates 274); and thereafter conducted a 

telephone interview (OED Trial Exh OED Bates 238) with the Patent Examiner in 

an attempt to reverse her rejection, to no avail. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent 

Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1 Bates Nos 274-275; Faro Declaration @ 30. 
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13. After the interview with the Patent Examiner, FARO proceeded 

submitted an Appeal Brief. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED 

Trial Exh OED 1, Bates Nos 193; Faro Declaration @ 31.     

14. In lieu of filing its Answer Brief to the prior appeal filed in July 2005, 

the Supervisor of Patent Examiner issued yet another final rejection (3rd Final 

Rejection) on November 14, 2005, wherein she suggested amendments to patent 

claims direct to the use of the EPRT product, while persisting in the final rejection 

to patent claims directed to the EPRT medical device, Public Record of EPRT ‘519 

Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 32. 

15. On November 19, 2005, FARO emailed the EPRT management, 

including David Estes, apprising them of FARO’S receipt of the 3rd Final Rejection, 

including providing a copy of the pending method and medical device claims. FARO 

further summarized the 3rd Final Rejection in layman’s terms. Faro Declaration @ 

33. 

16. In this 3rd Final Rejection, the Examiner (a) indicated that she regarded 

the method claims (directed to use of the EPRT product) as a potential allowable 

claim, if further amended, as per her suggestion (which suggestions were 
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unacceptable).  Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh 

OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 34. 

17. The 3rd Final Rejection persisted in the Final Rejection of the claimed 

medical device invention, which was the “key to the effectiveness of our (EPRT 

medical) device”. Faro Declaration @ 35. 

18. It was FARO’s understanding of the Patent Law, (35 USC 287(c)), that 

protection of the medical device is essential to ensuring exclusivity to the inventor 

of his inventions, intended for use by medical professional and clinics in the 

treatment of its patients. Faro Declaration @ 36. 

19. The Patent Statute, 35 USC 287(c), pertaining to patents for medical 

(pharmaceutical, diagnostic equipment) provides, in pertinent part, an exemption of 

clinics and medical professionals, from infringement of patents for the use of 

medical devices in the treatment of its patients: 

35 USC 287(c) 
 

(1)  With respect to a medical practitioner’s performance of a 
medical activity that constitutes an infringement 
under section 271(a) or (b), the provisions of sections 281, 
283, 284, and 285 shall not apply against the medical 
practitioner or against a related health care entity with respect 
to such medical activity. 
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(2)  For the purposes of this subsection: 
 

(A) the term “medical activity” means the performance of 
a medical or surgical procedure on a body, but shall not 
include (i) the use of a patented machine, manufacture, or 
composition of matter in violation of such patent, (ii) the 
practice of a patented use of a composition of matter in 
violation of such patent, or (iii) the practice of a process in 
violation of a biotechnology patent. 
 
(B) the term “medical practitioner” means any natural 
person who is licensed by a State to provide the medical 
activity described in subsection (c)(1) or who is acting 
under the direction of such person in the performance of 
the medical activity. 
 
(C) the term “related health care entity” shall mean an 
entity with which a medical practitioner has a professional 
affiliation under which the medical practitioner performs 
the medical activity, including but not limited to a nursing 
home, hospital, university, medical school, health 
maintenance organization, group medical practice, or a 
medical clinic. 
 
(D) the term “professional affiliation” shall mean staff 
privileges, medical staff membership, employment or 
contractual relationship, partnership or ownership interest, 
academic appointment, or other affiliation under which 
a medical practitioner provides the medical activity on 
behalf of, or in association with, the health care entity. 
 
(E) the term “body” shall mean a human body, organ or 
cadaver, or a nonhuman animal used in medical research 
or instruction directly relating to the treatment of humans. 
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(F) the term “patented use of a composition of matter” 
does not include a claim for a method of performing a 
medical or surgical procedure on a body that recites the 
use of a composition of matter where the use of that 
composition of matter does not directly contribute to 
achievement of the objective of the claimed method. 
 
(G) the term “State” shall mean any State or territory of 
the United States, the District of Columbia, and the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. 
 
Faro Declaration @37. 

 
20. In FARO’s November 19, 2005, email to EPRT, FARI advised EPRT 

management that, in his opinion, “we” (EPRT) were entitled to broader coverage, 

and that FARO intended to pursue yet another appeal, unless they had any questions 

as to what was recommended.  Insofar as no further communication from EPRT 

management was forthcoming, a Notice of Appeal for the 3rd Final Rejection was 

timely filed ( Bates   This second Appeal was subsequently fully briefed, and EPRT 

provided with a copy of the Appeal Brief in December 2006. Respondents Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exh “E”; Faro Declaration @ 38.  

21. In December 2006, EPRT made an absolute assignment (assigned all 

right title and interest) in the ‘519 Patent Application, to a holding company, 
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Thrisoint Pty (Belize shell company). Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent 

Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 39. 

22. FARO had no formal relationship with the holding company, Thrisoint 

Pty, and when EPRT sued FARO for malpractice in Federal Court in Miami, in 

October 2013, Judge Huck dismissed the EPRT claims for lack of standing.  In 

subsequent hearings involving Judge Huck’s review of certain of the dispositive 

motions, Judge Huck noted that FARO did not have an attorney client relationship 

with holding company, Thrisoint Pty. Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exh “K”, 

Daubert Hearing Tx at page 3, lines 5-13; Faro Declaration @ 40. 

23. The Patent Office Board of Patent Appeals & Interference docketed the 

appeal, and sent a Docket Notice to FARO in 2008, indicating an estimated decision 

date sometime thereafter.  The Docket Notice advised the appellant as how to check 

on the status of the appeal, (which was limited, at that time to telephonic and 

facsimile communication, because of the Ricin scare). Public Record of EPRT ‘519 

Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 41. 

24. During the period from about 2005 up to and including about 2008, 

FARO was handling a number of intellectual property matters for EPRT. This 

included the filing of a new patent application for a new improved medical device, 
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(“Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap”), which was to replace the medical device 

covered by the ‘519 Patent Application. Faro Declaration @ 42. 

25. FARO was advised that EPRT was required, because of the unique 

construction of its new improved medical device, to submit and obtain a new FDA 

application (510K Registration) for its new improved product. Faro Declaration @ 

43. 

26. At the time of FARO’S filing of the new patent application for EPRT’s  

improved medical device in 2008, Estes instructed FARO to refrain from incurring 

any additional fees or costs in pursuit of allowance of the original ‘519 Patent 

Application. Faro Declaration @ 44. 

27. In 2008, shortly after FARO’S filing of the Estes’ patent application for 

the Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, EPRT ceased operations in the USA. Faro 

Declaration @ 45.  

28. In 2011, FARO received a phone call from EPRT (Katherine Blake) 

inquiring about the ‘519 Patent Application because she needed to confirm about its 

status for a solicitation of an investment in EPRT.   FARO advised her that he had 

nothing new to report. Faro Declaration @ 48. 
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29. At about the same time, Katherine Blake inquired, also in 2011, why 

FARO had not deposited a check sent by her to his office for past due EPRT fees 

and expenses. Faro Declaration @ 49.     

30. FARO became concerned that the mail addressed to him at his address 

(28 W. Flagler Street) was not being delivered or was being mishandled by his office 

personnel. Faro Declaration @ 51.    

31. Accordingly, after Katherine Blake’s inquiry regarding the EPRT 

check which had not been received by his office, FARO requested his associate in 

Alexandria, Virginia, to personally inspect the ‘519 Patent Application files in the 

Patent Office, and to confirm the status of the appeal of ‘519 Patent Application. 

Faro Declaration @ 52.   

32. FARO’S concern was with the continued EPRT listing of a “patent 

pending” notice on the EPRT website which identified FARO as its patent counsel, 

notwithstanding EPRT had discontinued the product associated with ‘519 Patent 

Application.   This website claim of a “patent pending” for its new improved medical 

device was a violation of the patent mismarking statute, 35 USC 292.  Faro 

Declaration @ 47. 
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33. FARO first learned of the Decision of the Patent Office Board of 

Appeals in October 2011 from his Alexandria associate, and immediately forwarded 

a copy of the Decision, as soon as received from his associate, to EPRT. Faro 

Declaration @ 53. 

34. In October of 2011, EPRT continued to indicate that it had a “pending 

patent application” for the EPRT products.  In spite of the fact that the EPRT 

improved products were no longer encompassed by the ‘519 Patent Application and 

the EPRT new (Estes) patent application, filed in 2008, for the improved EPRT 

product (Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap) had been allowed to lapse. Faro 

Declaration @ 46. 

35. Shortly after FARO forwarded the Decision to the EPRT immigration 

attorney, said attorney he requested that FARO participate in a conference call with 

Katherine Blake to discuss the Decision (Estes, the inventor and Director of 

Engineering of EPRT, had left EPRT).   FARO declined to conference with Blake 

without EPRT technical personnel being involved, and the conference was never 

scheduled. Faro Declaration @54. 
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36. FARO was subsequently threatened with a legal malpractice lawsuit by 

the EPRT immigration attorney and refrained from any further contact with EPRT 

thereafter. Faro Declaration @ 54. 

37. EPRT continued to use the “patent pending” notice after (a) the Estes 

patent application the new improved medical device (Conductive Silver Electrode 

Wrap) had lapsed, because of EPRT failure to continue its prospection, and (b) it 

received the Decision indicating its ‘519 Patent Application, which had sustained 

the 3rd Final rejection the Board of Patent Appeals & Interference, and no longer 

pending, in violation of the patent mismarking statute, 35 USC 292. Faro Declaration 

@ 46, 47. 

38. On October 23, 2013, the immigration attorney for EPRT filed a 

malpractice lawsuit against FARO in the Federal District Court for the Southern 

District of Florida, Thrisoint Pty , Ltd. & EPRT Technologies, Inc. v. John H. Faro 

Et Al, Case No. 13-CV-23893- HUCK/SULLIVAN (DC SD Fla). Faro 

Declaration @ 57. 

39. The issues in the OED malpractice lawsuit and the OED Complaint 

against Respondent overlap. TFB file ____, Referee Cohen Order granting TFB 

Motion for Summary Judgment @ ____. 
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40. The OED malpractice lawsuit determined that EPRT had not suffered 

any damages from the failure to attain patent protection. Respondent’s Answer & 

Affirmative Defenses, Exh. “K”; Daubert Tx @ page 13, lines 8-14. 

41. The OED malpractice lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice by the 

parties on September 1, 2015. Faro Declaration @ 70. 

42. The ALJ explicitly found (ALJ Initial Decision @ page 22) that 

Respondent competently represented EPRT and is, therefore, inconsistent with his 

finding of neglect. 

Respondent ( F A RO )  worked competently to achieve EPRT's 
goals from 2002 until 2006, when he filed the Second Appeal.   After 
doing so, he resigned himself to waiting for a PTO response. According 
to the OED Director's theory, Respondent received that response in 2009.  
Rather than file an appeal, as he had done twice already, Respondent chose 
to ignore the Board Decision.  He then proceeded to stonewall and avoid 
Ms. Blake for more than a year.  Missing from the OED Director's theory 
is any hint of Respondent's purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude.  
As of 2009, his relationship with EPRT and its personnel remained 
congenial.  In fact, he was handling a number of other patent and trademark 
matters for the company at the time.  The OED Director has provided no 
reason why Respondent would act in the manner alleged in the Complaint. 
The Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not receive the 
copies of the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009.   
Having failed to receive the documents when they were initially sent, 
Respondent did not become aware of the actual status of the '519 
Application until October 2011, when he asked his associate to personally 
check the physical file. His e-mail to Ms. Blake on July 30, 2010, was 
therefore not deceptive or dishonest.  Accordingly, the Court finds that the 
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OED Director failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that 
Respondent violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4). (emphasis added) 

 
Final Order (August 2017), annexed to TFB Formal Complaint for 
Reciprocal Discipline. 
 

 
IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

43. The instant lawsuit involves a Florida Bar Complaint, under TFB Rule 

3-4.6, for the imposition of reciprocal discipline, based upon the two (2) Final Orders 

of United States Patent & Trademark Office.     

44. The Respondent has filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses to TFE 

Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, wherein Respondent has asserted that 

the TFB imposition of reciprocal discipline of the Patent Office Final Orders, (which 

are based upon the Initial Opinion by the ALJ), are not entitled to be accepted as 

conclusive proof of misconduct in Florida. 

45. As the Florida Supreme Court has made clear, “a motion for summary 

judgment is calculated to save valuable trial time and thus to assist in securing 

speedy and inexpensive justice.” Cook v. Navy Point, Inc., 88 So. 2d 532, 534 (Fla. 

1956); see also Anderson v. Maddox, 65 So. 2d 299, 300 (Fla. 1953) (“[P]lain 

purpose of [the summary judgment] rule is to obviate the expense and delay of 
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summoning a jury in a case to try facts that are not in conflict”). This Motion is filed 

pursuant to Rule 1.510, which permits this Court to grant Summary Judgment when 

material facts are not in dispute and as party is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law. Scripps Research Inst., Inc. v. Scripps Research Inst., 916 So. 2d 988, 989 (Fla. 

4th DCA 2005), Castellano v. Raynor, 725 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); 

See Graham v. First Marion Bank, 237 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970).    

46. Summary judgment is applicable when all parties agree concerning the 

material and critical issues of fact. See Keller v. Penovich, 262 So. 2d 243, 244 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1972). The “function of summary judgment procedure is to determine if 

there is sufficient evidence to justify trial upon issues made by pleadings, to expedite 

litigation and to obviate expense.” Page v. Staley, 226 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1969); 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (Fla. 1986) (a genuine issue of 

material fact exists only when “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could 

return a verdict for the nonmoving party”). If the record shows there is no genuine 

issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as 

a matter of law, then the motion for summary judgment must be granted.  See 

Connell v. Sledge, 306 So. 2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). 
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47. The facts must be so crystallized that nothing remains but questions of 

law. See City of Orlando v. Ashlock, 342 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); Central 

Inv., Inc. v. Old Southern Golf Utility Corp., 197 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). 

A material fact for purposes of final summary judgment is a fact that is essential to 

resolution of the legal questions raised in a case. See Cont’l Concrete, Inc. v. Lakes 

at La Paz III Ltd. P’ship, 758 So. 2d 1214, 1217 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Issues of 

nonmaterial facts are irrelevant in considering a motion for final summary judgment. 

Id. Also, “issues of fact do not arise merely because party disagrees with facts 

established by competent evidence submitted by moving party in summary judgment 

proceeding, nor merely because non-movant would like opportunity of having jury 

pass upon such facts and make independent determination as to correctness thereof.”  

F&R Builders v. Lowell Dunn Co., 364 So. 2d 826, 828 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). An 

opposing party cannot merely assert an issue of material fact exists without coming 

forward with challenging evidence. See Turner Produce Co. v. Lake Shore Growers 

Co-Op. Ass’n, 217 So. 2d 856, 861 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).  Final summary judgment 

may not be precluded by the existence of a dispute as to matters not material to 

disposition of case. See Armstrong v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 366 So. 2d 88, 

90 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).  
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48. In addition, a party opposing a motion for summary judgment will not be 

permitted to alter the position of their prior affidavits, admissions, and responses to 

discovery, depositions, or other testimony in order to defeat a summary judgment 

motion. Maryland Cas. Co. v. Murphy, 342 So. 2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) 

(citing Home Loan Co. Inc. v. Sloan Co., 240 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970)).  

Accordingly, it is well established law that a party may not change its testimony in 

order to create an issue of fact on his opponent’s motion for summary judgment.  

Willage v. Law Offices of Wallace and Breslow, PA, 415 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 1982) (Party cannot alter its position in order to evade the consequences of 

their prior admissions, affidavits, depositions or testimony); Ellison v. Andersen, 74 

So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1954); Inman v. Club on Sailboat Key, Inc., 342 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1977). Moreover, any factual assertions made at oral argument on motions 

for summary judgment, which are unsupported by the record, are inadmissible as 

such testimony is merely argument of counsel, not the taking of evidence. Seal Prod. 

v. Mansfield, 705 So. 2d 973, 975 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).  

49. The Respondent’s Motion is based upon legal issues which are 

supported by legal precedent, and an expert Affidavit by Michael McCabe who has 

provided his professional insights and experience in the analysis of the Respondent’s 
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putative violation of the OED regulations. As Mr. McCabe states unequivocally in 

his Affidavit, there was no nexus between the ALJ findings of misconduct and any 

harm or prejudice to the OED grievant, EPRT. Michael McCabe Affidavit @ 186-

192. 

 
V. SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE GRANTED ON 

RESPONDENT’S MOTION BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT IMPOSING 
DISCIPLINE BY THE PATENT OFFICE IS NOT ENTILTED TO  

CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF MISCONDUCT IN FLORIDA AS HAVING 
BEEN BASED ON A TRIAL BEFORE A TRIBUNAL LACKING THE 

POWER (JURISDICTION) TO ADJUDICATE THE OED COMPLAINT 
AGAINST RESPONDENT.  

 
(RESPONDENT’S FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE) 

 
A. This Action Must Be Dismissed Because The Hearing Officer Was Not 

Appointed By The USPTO Director, In Violation Of 37 C.F.R. § 
11.39(a) And The Accardi Doctrine 

 

50. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) states, in relevant part, that a hearing officer 

in a USPTO disciplinary proceeding “shall” be “appointed by the USPTO Director 
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under 5 U.S.C. §31053 or 35 U.S.C. §32.4”  In the case sub judice, it is undisputed 

that the hearing officer was not “appointed” “by the USPTO Director” under either 

5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.  Rather, Chief ALJ Mahoney was appointed by 

the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development.  Accordingly, this proceeding is 

defective because the hearing officer was not appointed in the manner required by 

federal law.  See 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a).   

51. The failure to appoint a hearing officer in the manner required by 

federal law violates the USPTO’s duty to be “rigorously held to the standards by 

which it professes its actions to be judged.”  See Vitarelli v. Seaton, 359 U.S. 535, 

546 (1959) (citing SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 87-88 (1943)); Teleprompter 

Cable Sys., Inc. v. FCC, 543 F.2d 1379, 1387 (D.C. Cir. 1976) (“an agency must 

adhere to its own rules and regulations. Ad hoc departures from those rules [] cannot 

be sanctioned.”).  Title 37, Section 11.39(a) is a mandatory regulation that provides 

 
3 5 U.S.C. § 3105 states “Each agency shall appoint as many administrative law judges as are 
necessary for proceedings required to be conducted in accordance with sections 556 and 557 of 
this title.”  That provision is not relevant here because Chief ALJ Mahoney was appointed by the 
Secretary of HUD, not the Director of the USPTO.   
 
4 35 U.S.C. § 32 states the “Director [of the USPTO] shall have the discretion to designate any 
attorney who is an officer or employee of the United States Patent and Trademark Office to 
conduct the hearing required by this section.”  That provision is inapplicable here because Chief 
ALJ Mahoney is not “an officer or employee of” the USPTO.  
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Respondent with the right to a hearing officer “appointed” by a specific individual - 

the USPTO Director. The USPTO is bound by its regulations and its failure to abide 

by those regulations warrants dismissal.  See United States ex rel. Accardi v. 

Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 268 (1954) (reversing agency decision for failure to 

follow own regulations).  

52. Moreover, it matters not whether the regulations provide Respondent 

with more protections than he may otherwise be entitled to under the Constitution or 

other relevant laws.  See generally Doe v. United States Dep’t of Justice, 753 F.2d 

1092, 1098 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (“Courts, of course, have long required agencies to 

abide by internal, procedural regulations…even where those regulations provide 

more protection than the Constitution or relevant civil service laws.”) (citing 

Vitarelli, 395 U.S. at 540, Service v. Dulles, 354 U.S. 363 (1957)).  Having failed to 

abide by Title 37, Section 11.39(a), the putative filing of the complaint with a hearing 

officer who was not “appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 

35 U.S.C. § 32” violates the agency’s mandatory regulation, which explicitly limits 

the power to hear USPTO disciplinary cases only to those ALJs who were duly 

“appointed by the USPTO Director.”  Since the hearing officer in this proceeding 

was not “appointed by the USPTO Director,” dismissal is warranted. 
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B. This Action Must Be Dismissed Because The Hearing Officer Lacks 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction  
 

53. Subject-matter jurisdiction refers to a tribunal’s “power to hear a case.”  

Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 514 (2006).  Subject matter jurisdiction 

presents an issue separate from whether the allegations in the complaint create any 

entitlement to relief.  See Bell v. Hood, 327 U.S. 678, 682 (1946).  A challenge to 

subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, either by the tribunal or the 

parties, and is never waived.  See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Thaler, 132 S. Ct. 641, 648 

(2012) (“Subject-matter jurisdiction can never be waived or forfeited. The objections 

may be raised at any point in the litigation, and a valid objection may lead a court 

midway through briefing to dismiss a complaint in its entirety.”); Henderson v. 

Shineski, 131 S. Ct. 1197, 1202 (2012) (explaining courts “have an independent 

obligation to ensure that they do not exceed the scope of their jurisdiction, and 

therefore they must raise and decide jurisdictional questions” even if not raised by 

the parties).  Whether subject matter jurisdiction exists is determined as of the date 

of the filing of the complaint.  See Smith v. Sperling, 354 U.S. 91, 93 n.1 (1957). 

54. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) mandates a specific process to be held before 

an individual who was appointed “by the USPTO Director.”  In the present 
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proceeding, the entire process mandated by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) was ignored and 

disregarded by the OED Director, who chose to file his complaint with a Tribunal 

that was not appointed as required by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a).  See Ft. Stewart Sch. v. 

Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 495 U.S. 641, 654 (1990) (“It is a familiar rule of 

administrative law that an agency must abide by its own regulations.”) (citations 

omitted); Reuters, Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“Simply 

stated, rules are rules, and fidelity to the rules which have been properly 

promulgated, consistent with applicable statutory requirements, is required of those 

to whom Congress has entrusted the regulatory missions of modern life.”).5  

55. The defective appointment of a judicial officer goes to the very power 

of a tribunal.  See Bendiburg v. Dempsey, 692 F. Supp. 1354, 1358 (N.D. Ga. 1988) 

(citing cases in which “the judicial acts taken by… improperly appointed judges… . 

were ruled nullities for want of jurisdiction”). This is a logical extension of those 

cases that uniformly hold that the decisions and rulings of tribunals lacking power 

are nullities.  See, e.g., Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 101-03 

(1998) (“For a court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitutionality of a 

 
5 Plaintiff—or in this case, the Petitioner OED Director—bears the burden of proving the existence 
of subject matter jurisdiction.  See, e.g., Evans v. B.F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 642, 647 (4th Cir. 
1999).  
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state or federal law when it has no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a 

court to act ultra vires.”).  Because this tribunal lacks jurisdiction, said proceeding 

is void.  Gojack v. United States, 384 U.S. 702, 707 n.6 (1966) (“It is a rule of law 

very well settled, that if there is no jurisdiction over the subject-matter, the 

proceeding is void.”); Stutsman Cnty. v. Wallace, 142 U.S. 293, 305 (1892) (“[w]hen 

a court or other officer acts without jurisdiction of the subject matter, all is void and 

such acts are regarded in law as nullities[.]”). Any actions or orders issued in a 

proceeding lacking subject matter jurisdiction are void and a legal nullity.  See, e.g., 

Temp. Empl.. Servs. v. Trinity Marine Group, Inc., 261 F.3d 456, 463-466 (5th Cir. 

2001) (vacating ALJ decision based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction); Tiger 

Natural Gas, Inc. v. United States, 61 Fed. Cl. 287, 290 n.4 (2004) (“[A]n appeal to 

an agency board of contract appeals is considered an ‘absolute nullity’ when such 

board lacks jurisdiction over the matter.”).  

56. Finally, a jurisdictional defect cannot be retroactively “cured.”  To the 

contrary, “It has long been the case that ‘the jurisdiction of the court depends upon 

the state of things at the time of the action brought.”  Grupo Dataflux v. Atlas Global 

Group. L.P., 511 U.S. 567, 570-71 (2004) (citation omitted).  Consequently, where, 

as here, the tribunal lacked jurisdiction at the time the complaint was filed, the only 
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recourse is dismissal.  See, e.g., Jaffree v. Wallace, 837 F.2d 1461, 1466 (11th Cir. 

1988); Stafford v. Mobil Oil Corp., 942 F.2d 803, 806 (5th Cir. 1991).  

C. The PTO-HUD “Interagency Agreement” Is Not An “Appointment” Of 
A Hearing Officer “Under 5 U.S.C. §3105 Or 35 U.S.C. §32” By “The 
USPTO Director” 

 
57. Respondent anticipates that the OED Director will argue in opposition 

that an “Interagency Agreement” entered into between the USPTO and HUD 

constitutes an “appointment” of the judges of the Department of Housing and Urban 

Development.  See Exhibit 1.6  Such an argument is incorrect as a matter of fact and 

as a matter of law.   

58. First: the “interagency agreement” entered into between HUD and the 

USPTO is not an “appointment.”  An “appointment” in the context of a judge (or 

“hearing officer”) is “an executive act, whereby a person is named as the incumbent 

of an office and invested therewith, by one or more individuals who have the sole 

power and right to select and constitute the officer.” See The Law Dictionary 

Featuring Black’s Law Dictionary Free Online Legal Dictionary, available at 

 
6 The USPTO failed to include the most recent version of the USPTO-HUD Interagency 
Agreement in its prehearing exhibits.   Exhibit 1 is the Interagency Agreement that counsel for Mr. 
DOE was able to obtain.  It is believed that the current version of the applicable Interagency 
Agreement is substantively the same as in Exhibit 1.   
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https://thelawdictionary.org/appointment (internal case citations omitted). The term 

“appointment” is distinguished from, among other terms, “election.”  See id.    

59. The interagency agreement fails to name a person as the incumbent of 

an office, nor does it “invest” any named individual with the powers of that office—

the “office” in this context being an ALJ of the USPTO.  The interagency agreement 

is simply a government procurement mechanism whereby HUD agrees to loan 

hearing officers and others (i.e. law clerks, staff attorneys, administrative staff, and 

court reporting services) to the USPTO.  See Exhibit 1 at 1.  Nothing in the USPTO-

HUD interagency agreement states that any individual employed by HUD has 

thereby been “appointed” by the head of the USPTO.   

60. Second: the interagency agreement is not an appointment “by the 

USPTO Director.”  The document itself is not signed by the USPTO Director nor 

does it indicate that Chief ALJ Mahoney has been “appointed” by the USPTO 

Director.  Rather, it is signed by the OED Director and USPTO’s Chief Financial 

Officer.  Exhibit 1 at 5.  

61. Third:  the interagency agreement is not made “under 5 U.S.C. § 3105” 

or “under 35 U.S.C. § 32.”  The interagency agreement states that it is authorized 
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pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5).7   Since the interagency agreement was not made 

“under” either of the applicable statutes, the interagency agreement fails to “appoint” 

any of HUD’s ALJs “under” 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32. 

D. The Interagency Agreement Fails To Confer Subject Matter Jurisdiction 
Upon A Hearing Officer Who Was Not Appointed By The USPTO 
Director Under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 Or 35 U.S.C. § 32 
 

62. Respondent anticipates that the OED Director also will argue that the 

USPTO has “subject matter jurisdiction” pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.19(a). But Title 

37, Section 11.19(s), merely identifies those individuals who are subject to the 

USPTO’s disciplinary jurisdiction. See id. (identifying universe of individuals 

subject to disciplinary jurisdiction of the USPTO).  The OED Director confuses the 

concept of personal jurisdiction, which is a tribunal’s power over an individual, with 

subject matter jurisdiction, which is a tribunal’s “power to hear a case.”  Arbaugh v. 

Y & H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 514 (2006).   

 
7 Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5), the USPTO “may use, with their consent, services, equipment, 
personnel, and facilities of other departments, agencies, and instrumentalities of the Federal 
Government, on a reimbursable basis, and cooperate with such other departments, agencies, and 
instrumentalities in the establishment and use of services, equipment, and facilities of the Office.”  
As discussed below, the agency’s general borrowing authority does not override the specific 
regulatory mandate regarding the qualifications of a specific individual (hearing officer) for a 
specific type of matter (USPTO disciplinary proceeding).  In order to give effect to both the general 
statutory borrowing authority and the specific regulation, the specific rule of law controls over the 
general.   
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63. Here, the sole basis for the asserted power of the USPTO to exercise 

jurisdiction over this case is the interagency agreement.  However, as explained 

above, the interagency agreement: (i) is not an “appointment”; (ii) was not entered 

into by the USPTO Director; and (iii) was not entered into under either 5 U.S.C. § 

3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.   Accordingly, the “interagency agreement” violates the 

plain mandate of the USPTO’s specific regulation, which specifies that only hearing 

officers who are “appointed by” the USPTO Director pursuant to specified federal 

law. The OED Director’s interference with regulations that seek to safeguard a 

practitioner’s rights disregards the Accardi doctrine and its requirement that agencies 

abide by their own procedures. See Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 235 (1974) 

(holding that “[w]here the rights of individuals are affected, it is incumbent upon 

agencies to follow their own procedures. This is so even where the internal 

procedures are possibly more rigorous than otherwise would be required.”)  

64. When it is established that the tribunal is not competent, dismissal is 

required. See Christoffel v. United States, 338 U.S. 84, 89–90 (1949). Because the 

hearing officer was not appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 

35 U.S.C. § 32, the filing of the complaint with this tribunal was improper.  Because 
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this tribunal was not appointed by the USPTO Director, the filing and continuing 

litigation of this proceeding violates the Accardi Doctrine.  

E. The General Agency Borrowing Authority Fails To Negate The 
Specific Appointment Requirements Mandated By 37 C.F.R. § 
11.39(a), Which Specifically Applies Solely To The Appointment Of 
ALJs For USPTO Disciplinary Proceedings 

 
65. It is anticipated that the OED may argue that the Court was properly 

appointed based on the general authority of the USPTO to “use…personnel…of 

other departments…of the Federal Government, on a reimbursable basis..”  See 35 

U.S.C. § 2(b)(5).  The problem with this argument, however, is that it would render 

37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) nugatory.  Courts are required to construe laws to give effect 

to all of the statutory or regulatory terms. Allowing the USPTO’s general statutory 

borrowing authority to dictate the outcome over the narrow and specific requirement 

set forth in Section 11.39(a) renders the regulatory language mere surplusage.  Sharp 

v. United States, 580 F.3d 1234, 1238 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (courts “must ‘give effect, if 

possible, to every clause and word of a statute’ [or regulation] and should avoid 

rendering any of the statutory [or regulatory] text meaningless or as mere 

surplusage”) (quoting Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001)) (internal 
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parenthetical added); see also Montclair v. Ramsdell, 107 U.S. 147, 152 (1883) 

(same).  

66. Furthermore, any effort to rely on a general agency borrowing authority 

over the specific regulation fails under the well-known canon of construction that 

the “specific governs the general.”  Karczewski v. DCH Mission Valley LLC, 862 

F.3d 1006, 1016 (9th Cir. 2017) (“When confronted with an irreconcilable conflict 

in two legal provisions, we may apply the interpretive principle that the specific 

governs over the general. In essence, the general rule applies unless a more specific 

rule provides otherwise.”)  The general agency borrowing authority does not apply 

to any specific type of person for any specific type of proceeding.  In contrast, the 

regulation imposes a specific competency requirement (i.e. appointment by the 

USPTO Director), for a specific person (i.e. a hearing officer), for a specific purpose 

(i.e. for conducting a disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Title 37, subpart 11).  

Contrary to the general agency borrowing authority, the USPTO has mandated an 

additional requirement for any and every ALJ to be authorized and empowered to 

conduct a disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Part 11 of Title 37.   

67. Legislative history supports the conclusion that the USPTO intended 

for this result.  In 1985, the USPTO promulgated 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a) (the 
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predecessor to current 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a)) concerning the appointment of ALJs in 

disciplinary proceedings.  See 50 Fed. Reg. 5158, 5183 (Feb. 6, 1985).  In its original 

form, 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a) stated:  

Appointment.  An administrative law judge, appointed under 5 U.S.C. 
3105, shall conduct disciplinary proceedings as provided by this part. 
 
See id.  

68. As originally promulgated, it did not matter who appointed an 

administrative law judge to conduct a USPTO disciplinary proceeding.  All that was 

required was that the ALJ was appointed by somebody under 5 U.S.C. §3105. See 

id.  Under the old regulation, any ALJ appointed under 5 U.S.C. §3105 - including 

one appointed by someone other than the USPTO Director, such as an ALJ detailed 

from another agency - was authorized to conduct such proceedings.   

69. In 2008, the USPTO amended its regulations governing who was 

competent to serve as a hearing officer in a USPTO disciplinary proceeding.  See 73 

Fed. Reg. 47650 (Aug. 14, 2008). As amended, 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) provided (and 

provides to this day) a new ALJ competency requirement:  

Appointment.  A hearing officer, appointed by the USPTO Director 
under 5 U.S.C. 3105 or 35 U.S.C. 32, shall conduct disciplinary 
proceedings as provided by this Part.  See id. (underline added to show 
new language added to regulation).  
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70. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) was promulgated after the enactment of the 

general borrowing statute.  Thus, the USPTO was well aware of the existing 

statutory scheme when it promulgated Section 11.39(a).  Rather than carve out an 

exception for borrowed ALJs, the USPTO decided to provide respondents in USPTO 

disciplinary proceedings with the right to a hearing before an ALJ who was 

appointed “by the USPTO Director” under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.  

Consequently, any attempt now to rely upon 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5) as overriding the 

regulatory mandate in Title 37, Section 11.39(a), is inconsistent with the regulatory 

history of the USPTO’s rules and leads to the manifestly erroneous result that a 

general law controls over a specific law on the same subject matter.  RadLAX 

Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) (“when “a 

general permission or prohibition is contradicted by a specific prohibition or 

permission” . . . “the specific provision is construed as the exception.”).  The 

“specific overrides the general” canon of construction ensures that a “narrow, 

precise, and specific” regulation is not overridden by another provision “covering a 

more generalized spectrum” of issues.  See Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 550 
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(1974) (holding that Indian preference statute “is a specific provision applying to a 

very specific situation” and controls over a law of “general application”).  

71. Finally, it is anticipated that the OED Director may argue that the 

district court’s decision in Bolton v. Pritzker, Case No. C15-1607 MJP, 2016 WL 

4555467 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 2016), is somehow relevant to this proceeding, 

however, it is not. In Bolton, an ALJ of the EPA was detailed to proceed over a 

NOAA administrative proceeding pursuant to an interagency agreement under the 

ALJ loan program.  The district court held that the appointment of ALJ Biro did not 

violate the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution.  Notably, Bolton was not 

decided pursuant to the USPTO disciplinary rules.  In Bolton, the proceeding arose 

under the Alaska-Based fishery regulations codified at 50 C.F.R. Part 679.  Contrary 

to Title 37, Section 11.39(a), the Alaska-Based fishery regulations imposed no 

requirement as to who appointed the hearing officer. See id., passim.  Moreover, the 

instant motion is not based on the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution.  

Consequently, Bolton is irrelevant. 
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VI. THE PROBABLE CAUSE DETERMINATION OBTAINED FROM A 
COMMITTEE ON DISCIPLINE WAS ILLEGALLY OBTAINED BY THE 

OED DIRECTOR, BECAUSE IT WAS BASED UPON AN 
“INCOMPLETE” INVESTIGATION OF THE ALLEGATIONS OF 

MISCONDUCT, AT A TIME WHEN THE OED DIRECTOR KNEW 
THAT ADDITIONAL MATERIAL INFORMATION EXISTED, OR WAS 

FORTHCOMING, THAT WAS LIKELY EXCULPATORY OF 
RESPONDENT OF ANY WRONGDOING. 

 
A. The OED Investigation Protocol 

72. The clear and unambiguous regulations (e.g. 37 CFR 11.22, et seq.) sets forth 

a sequence of steps for conducting a grievance investigation against an attorney:    

§ 11.22 Disciplinary investigations. 
 

 (a) The OED Director is authorized to investigate possible grounds for 
discipline. An investigation may be initiated when the OED Director 
receives a grievance, information or evidence from any source suggesting 
possible grounds for discipline. Neither unwillingness nor neglect by a 
grievant to prosecute a charge, nor settlement, compromise, or restitution 
with the grievant, shall in itself justify abatement of an investigation. 

 
 

(b) Any person possessing information or evidence concerning possible 
grounds for discipline of a practitioner may report the information or 
evidence to the OED Director. The OED Director may request that the 
report be presented in the form of an affidavit or declaration. 

 
 

(c) 
[Reserved] 

 
 

(d) Preliminary screening of information or evidence. The OED Director 
shall examine all information or evidence concerning possible grounds for 
discipline of a practitioner. 
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(e) Notification of investigation.  The OED Director shall notify the 
practitioner in writing of the initiation of an investigation into whether a 
practitioner has engaged in conduct constituting possible grounds for 
discipline. 

 
 

(f) Request for information and evidence by OED Director. 
 
 

(1) In the course of the investigation, the OED Director may request 
information and evidence regarding possible grounds for discipline 
of a practitioner from: 

 
 

(i) The grievant, 
(ii) The practitioner, or 
(iii) Any person who may reasonably be expected to provide 
information and evidence needed in connection with the 
grievance or investigation. 

 
 

(2) The OED Director may request information and evidence regarding 
possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner from a non-grieving 
client either after obtaining the consent of the practitioner or upon a 
finding by a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, 
appointed in accordance with § 11.23(d), that good cause exists to 
believe that the possible ground for discipline alleged has occurred with 
respect to non-grieving clients. Neither a request for, nor disclosure of, 
such information shall constitute a violation of any USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct. 

 
 

(g) When the OED Director makes a request under paragraph (f)(2) of this 
section to a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, such Contact 
Member shall not, with respect to the practitioner connected to the OED 
Director's request, participate in the Committee on Discipline panel that 
renders a probable cause determination under paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section concerning such practitioner, and that forwards the probable cause 
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finding and recommendation to the OED Director under paragraph (b)(2) 
of this section. 

 
 

(h) Disposition of investigation. Upon the conclusion of an investigation, 
the OED Director may: 

 
(1)  Close the investigation without issuing a warning, or taking 
disciplinary action; 
(2) Issue a warning to the practitioner; 
(3) Institute formal charges upon the approval of the Committee on 
Discipline; or 
(4) Enter into a settlement agreement with the practitioner and submit 
the same for approval of the USPTO Director. 

 
 

(i) Closing investigation.   The   OED   Director   shall   terminate   an 
investigation and decline to refer a matter to the Committee on Discipline 
if the OED Director determines that: 

 
 

(1) The information or evidence is unfounded; 
(2) The information or evidence relates to matters not within the 
jurisdiction of the Office; 
(3) As a matter of law, the conduct about which information or evidence 
has been obtained does not constitute grounds for discipline, even if the 
conduct may involve a legal dispute; or 
(4) The available evidence is insufficient to conclude that there is 
probable cause to believe that grounds exist for discipline. (Emphasis 
added)  

 

73. The scope and content of the OED Director investigation is laid out in 37 CFR 

11.22(d).   The OED Director is explicitly charged with collection of all information related 
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to the grievance. McCabe Affidavit @ paragraphs 71 to 73.    The OED has interpreted the 

scope and content of 37 CFR 11.22(d) as requiring to its investigation to include… 

all information that which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of the 
registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may 
have occurred” OED Request for Information OED Request for Information 
(“RFI”) to FARO.  McCabe Affidavit @ paragraph 72.      
 
74. Only after the “conclusion” of the investigation, may the OED Director 

proceed to refer his investigation and recommendation (if any) to a Committee on 

Discipline, 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3). McCabe Affidavit @ 92.   The OED Director’s strict 

compliance with the legal requirements of 37 CFR 11.22(d) and  37 CFR 11.22(h)(3), are 

conditions precedent, to OED Director empaneling a neutral Committee on Discipline, for a 

review of his investigation, and for the Committee on Discipline determination of probable 

cause (in any), 37 CFR 11.32.   The OED Director has failed to conclude his investigation 

prior to complying with such condition precedents, and, thereby ignored his mandatory 

obligations under the OED Rules.  Accordingly, the OED Director neglected to comport his 

investigation with the mandatory requirements of 37 CFT 11.22.   

B. OED Director Awareness of Information of Evidence Relevant To An OED 
Investigation 
 

75. On July 11, 2014, the OED Director served FARO, under 37 CFR 11.22(f), 

with an OED Request for Information (“RFI”), Respondent Ans., Exh. ”G”, Bates Nos. 47-
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52, OED Request for Information (“RFI”) to FARO.  On September 11, 2014, FARO, 

responded to the OED Request for Information (RFI), Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates 

Nos. 53-56, FARO Response to OED RFI.   The FARO July 11, 2014, Response explicitly 

apprised the OED Director of (a) the prior filed, parallel pending malpractice litigation 

between the OED Grievous and FARO Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56; and, 

(b) the overlapping issues in the malpractice litigation and the OED grievance, Respondent 

Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56.   On September 11, 2014, FARO also explicitly requested 

the OED Director abate the OED Director investigation, until the issues common to the 

grievance and to such prior filed parallel pending malpractice litigation between the OED 

grievant and FARO, were resolved, Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56.   Both 

the OED grievance and the malpractice litigation (Third Amended Complaint, @ 

paragraph 57. explicitly implicated the same professional misconduct8  The OED Director  

  

 
8   Third Amended Complaint @ paragraph 57.  The materiality of the prior filed malpractice 
litigation, to the OED Director is undisputed, (the overlap of the issues in each is undisputed.  
Moreover, the overlap of the issues in each of these proceeding as is also reflected in the OED 
Director Exhibits List, wherein 24 of the 40 OED Exhibits are pleading from the malpractice 
litigation. Respondent Ans. Exh, “J”, Bates Nos. 59-66, OED Witness List & Exhibit List (40 
Exhibits, 24 of 40 Exhibits from the malpractice litigation.  
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chose to ignore the FARO September 11, 20149 request to abate his investigation, and 

illegally concluded his investigation in May 2015, notwithstanding, (a) his mandatory 

obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d) to collect “all information an and evidence” related to 

the EPRT grievance; (b) identical issues were involved in the prior filed malpractice 

litigation were set for trial in July 2015, (Re-Set for September 30, 2015); and (c) the OED 

Director had the option to offer an agreement to FARO to toll the one (1) year period, as 

permitted under 37 CFR 11.34(e)   Accordingly, the OED Director abused his discretion in 

not tolling the investigation, wrongfully informing from his investigation, and ultimately at 

trial.  McCabe Affidavit @ 71 to 84. 

76. Accordingly, the information and evidence, known to the OED Director, 

which was material a determination to probable cause was withheld by the OED Director 

from the Committee on Discipline, thereby illegally causing/exposing Respondent to 

defense of an unwarranted as disciplinary proceeding. 

  

 
9   There was nothing in 37 CFR 11.22, requiring the OED Director concluding the investigation 
within one (1) year.   Moreover, the OED Director investigation of FARO could have been tolled 
by the OED Director, under 37 CFR 11.34(e), to permit him to comply with his mandatory duties 
under 37 CFR 11.22(d).    
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C. The OED Director’s Failure To Comply With His Mandatory Obligations Has 
Not Been Waived And Cannot Be Excused 
 

77.  Where, as in this case, the OED Director knows or has reason to believe that 

material information and evidence, relevant to his investigation is likely forthcoming, he is 

required to obtain and review it, before concluding his investigation.   The duration of an 

investigation of a grievance is neither defined, nor constrained by 37 CFR 11.22.   The OED 

Director had the option of “concluding” the investigation of a grievance against Respondent, 

prior taking any action of the grievance, under 37 CFR 11.22(h), and, simply re-file it a late 

date10, (if warranted), where additional information and evidence was forthcoming, and not 

yet available. McCabe Affidavit @ 76-78.   The OED Director did neither.   In lieu thereof, 

the OED Director ignored his mandatory obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d), and 

prematurely “concluded” his investigation, while the prior filed malpractice litigation was 

scheduled to go to trial (July 2015), and necessarily excluded “all information and evidence” 

relevant to the grievance against FARO, that was, in fact, favorable to FARO11.    

 
10    A 10 year statute of limitations was potentially applicable to some of the allege acts and/or omissions 
occurring from and after about 2005-2006. 
 
11 The OED Director the investigation could have been abated, without prejudice, and new 
complaint filed within the ten (10) year statute of limitations, 37 CFR 11.34(f).   Thus, the OED 
Director investigation, could have been refiled, and included the rulings and findings by Federal 
District Court made on each of the FARO Motion in Limine on July 20, 2015. 
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78. The OED Director thereafter, in willful blindness to the legal infirmities in 

his investigation, under 37 CFR 11.22(d), obtained a probable cause determination from a 

Committee on Discipline; and, thereafter illegally initiated the prosecution of the disciplinary 

proceeding against FARO,  in violation of Respondent’s 5th amendment rights, Goodwin v. 

Meats, 885 F.2d 157, (4th Cir.  1989); followed Lewis v. Doorman, 820 F.Supp. 1001, 

1004, (DC WD Va 1992).  Accordingly, the OED Director determination of probable 

cause was illegally obtained. McCabe Affidavit @ 92. 

D. Information & Evidence Available To OED Director, Prior To Trial In May 2016, 
Was Withheld By The OED Director From The ALJ 
 

79. The record of the prior filed malpractice litigation was known and available to 

the OED Director no later than September 1, 2015, Respondent Ans., Exhihit “I”. Bates Nos. 

57-58.   Respondent asserts that record in this malpractice litigation between the OED 

Grievant and FARO, was material to a determination of both wrongdoing, and to the 

sanction (if any) to be imposed by the ALJ, McCabe Affidavit @ 83.  More specifically, 

FARO asserts that such “information (in the Daubert Hearing transcript, Respondent’s 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, @ 36,) “,,,may justify or exonerate the alleged 

actions of the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations”, 

and, the exclusion thereof was illegal by the OED Director. McCabe Affidavit @ 83, 
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104 and 109 to 121.  The illegal exclusion of the finding by the Federal District Court,  

relative to the absence of any harm to EPRT, substantially and improperly influenced 

the Committee deliberations relative to the allegations of “neglect”, and the 

invited the ALJ  improper speculation as to the “harm” caused to EPRT by 

Respondent. This information and evidence, reflected in the Daubert hearing transcript on 

July 20, 2015, is as follows: 

A. EPRT lacked standing to bring a malpractice claim against FARO because 

it was not a client of FARO at the time of the alleged malpractice, Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 9, line 1-5. 

B. There was no evidence of any losses or adverse commercial impact upon 

EPRT from its failure to have an issued a patent based upon ‘519 Patent 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 13, 

line 8-14. 

C. The product covered by the ‘519 Patent Application was obsolete and 

replaced by new product, covered by a new patent application, Answer & 

Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 11, line 6-11. 

D. The EPRT abandoned the foreign equivalents of the ‘519 Patent 

Application “throughout the world”, suggests the “technology” covered by 

APPX 594 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

46 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

such patent was of dubious value, Answer & Affirmative Defenses, 

Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 11, line 21, to page 12, line 4. 

E. There was no competitor use or interest in the EPRT “technology”, 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 13, 

lines 14-25 

F. The Grievant re-directing of FARO attention, to other EPRT matters, OED 

Trial Exh. GOV 28, @ Bates Nos 309, line 10, to Bates Nos 311; FARO 

Deposition (malpractice litigation) @ page 228, line 10, to page 230, line 

12. 

80. Accordingly, had the OED Director investigation been more inclusive of 

information and evidence, (tending to excuse, exonerate or justify FARO’s acts and/or 

omissions), ALJ findings relative to EPRT’s lack of interest in the ‘519 Patent Application, 

from and after 2008, would not have been inconsistent with the Federal District Court 

findings.   Nor would the OED Director withholding of such evidence misled the ALJ at to 

as to EPRT’s “Legal Objectives”, and/or encouraged the ALJ’s speculation as to the 

economic harm to EPRT’s from the failure to attain patent rights from the ‘519 Patent 

Application.   The OED Director knew, as did the District Court, from the Blake deposition 

in the malpractice case (OED Trial Exh No. 26), that the (a) OED Grievant (EPRT) 
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abandoned its original product design, (b) OED Grievant (EPRT) replaced it with a “new 

product”, based upon a new technology (based upon a Silver Conductive Electrode); (c) that 

‘519 Patent Application did not cover the new technology for the “new product”, (d) the new 

technology for the “new product”, required of file for a new FDA registration of the new 

product  and, (e) the new technology for the “new product”, required that FARO file a new 

patent application for the new improvement invention. 

81. Consequently, the ALJ Initial Opinion (the predicate for each of Director Final 

Orders), was based upon an Infirmity in Proof, and, there are not entitled to conclusive proof 

of professional misconduct in Florida by Respondent. 

VII.  SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE GRANTED ON 
RESPONDENT’S MOTION BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT IMPOSING 

DISCIPLINE BY THE PATENT OFFICE IS NOT ENTITLED TO 
CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF MISCONDUCT IN FLORIDA AS HAVING 
BEEN BASED UPON AN AD HOC INTERPRETATION OF THE OED 

REGULATION, AND DOES OTHERWISE COMPORT WITH ANY 
“AUTHORITATIVE” OR “OFFICIAL POSITION OF THE UNITED 

STATES PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE 

A. United States Patent & Trademark Office (USPTO) Code of Responsibility 
Are Based Upon ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility 
 

82. Generally when a state or administrative agency adopts/borrows laws 

and regulations from anther state or administrative agency, and model rules (e.g. 

UCC, Federal Trade Commission Act, Federal Anti-Trust Laws & Regulation, ABA 
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Model Rules), it is because a state or administrative agency desires to benefit from 

the past experiences of others in its interpretation and application, and from legal 

precedent which has developed or refined the past interpretation and application of 

the laws and regulations.  

83. The USPTO Code of Responsibility is based ABA Model Code of 

Professional Responsibility, which was “adopted to promote uniformity” in the 

handling of disciplinary matters before the Patent Office. McCabe Affidavit @ 33 

& 37. 

84. Accordingly, Respondent has a right to expect that compliance with 

ethics and disciplinary rules with the State Bars where he is admitted (in Florida and 

in Massachusetts), are similar, (if not identical) to each of Florida and in 

Massachusetts.   Clearly, the USPTO can draw upon any jurisdiction in which the 

ADA Model Rules have provide the framework for local professional; and, glean 

guidance from the application thereof from various jurisdictions.   

B. The USPTO Was Established By Congress And Is Governed By Federal 
Law, Both Federal Statutes (Enabling Legislation, Specifically, 35 USC 
2(b)(2), Establish Regulations, Not Inconsistent With Law) & The 
Administrative Procedures Act (5 USC 553, Rule Making)  
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85. The operation of the Patent Office, and the governance thereof, is a 

creature of federal law.  Congress authorized the USPTO to “establish regulations, 

not inconsistent with law, which . . . may govern the recognition and conduct of 

agents, attorneys, or other persons representing applicants or other parties before the 

Office . . . .”  35 U.S.C. §2(b)(2)(D). (McCabe Affidavit @ 32.)  In 1985, the USPTO 

promulgated regulations which were intended to be modeled after the (then current) 

ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility, which had been published several 

years earlier.  See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.120 through 10.112 (“Patent and Trademark 

Office Code of Professional Responsibility”).  (McCabe Affidavit @ 33.)  In 2008, 

the USPTO adopted Final Rules relating to the disciplinary procedures to be 

followed in OED ethics investigations and disciplinary proceedings before the 

USPTO, which were codified at 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.1 – 11.60. (McCabe Affidavit @ 

34.) Accordingly, there are well defined parameters that both define and limit the 

metes and bounds of the USPTO authority to adopt rules and regulation, and, the 

metes and bounds of procedures for such rule making.  These rule making 

procedures are for the most part mandatory, with very limited exception (none of 

which apply here), that permit the agency departure from the explicit wording of its 
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unambiguous regulations; and, to prevent ad hoc interpretation of the unambiguous 

regulations, which departs from the  wording of such regulations. 

C. The Supreme Court Has Recently Reaffirmed The Judiciary’s 
Responsibility To Prevent An Agency Circumvention Of The Rule 
Making Process, By Interpretation Of An Of Unambiguous Regulation To 
Encompass Activities Or Subject Matter, Not Otherwise Embraced By Its 
Explicit Terms. 
 

86. As set forth hereinafter, the Respondent has challenged ALJ 

interpretation of the regulation implicated in this case (Respondent’s Answer, & 

Affirmative Defenses, @ Paragraphs 60-63).  Clearly, the ALJ has been adept at 

intellectual gymnastics, by engaging in the impermissible “stacking of inferences”12, 

and in his speculation as the worth or value of EPRT attaining patent rights, for 

EPRT’s commercial success or failure.   His interpretation of the OED regulations 

has been equally intellectually dishonest.  A critical analysis of the ALJ 

interpretation of the OED unambiguous Rules of Professional Conduct has imported 

 
12   The ALJ has engaged in the impermissible stacking of inferences, in the construct 
of a narrative that is not exclusive of other reasonable alternatives, National Union 
Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Taco Integrated Security LLC, 2015 WL 3905018 *23 
(SD Fla 2015).   The ALJ’s deliberative process is this case was not supported by 
substantial evidence, but rather based upon a substantial speculation.    
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elements into the regulations, and otherwise disregard explicit conditions thereof, to 

hold Respondent in violation hereof.   

 
ERRONEOUS LEGAL DECISIONS PER MICHAEL McCABE 

(NUMBERED AS IN MICHAEL McCABE’S AFFIDAVIT) 
 

   The following analysis by Respondent’s Expert, Michael McCabe, 

exemplifies the ALJ’s liberties with the facts and his disregard of the law. McCabe 

Affidavit @161 to 194. 

161. On September 15, 2016, ALJ Mahoney issued an Initial Decision.  

162.The Initial Decision included several clear errors of law. 

First Error: 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

163.The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

because he did not provide his clients with copies of the Board’s 2009 

decision and abandonment.  This finding was plain error in light of the 

legal standard, which provides in relevant part:  

Conduct which constitutes a violation of [37 CFR 10.23(a) 
and (b)] of this section includes, but is not limited to . . . .  

 
(8) Failing to inform a client or former client or failing to 
timely notify the Office of an inability to notify a client or 
former client of correspondence received from the Office or 

APPX 600 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

52 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

the client’s or former client’s opponent in an inter parties 
proceeding before the Office when the correspondence 
 
(i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending 

before the Office,  
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or 

former client and 
(iii) is correspondence of which a reasonable practitioner 

would believe under the circumstances the client or 
former client should be notified.  

 
164. 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) expressly requires that correspondence from 

the USPTO “is received by the practitioner.”  The rule does not 

proscribe “should have received” conduct, but rather is predicated 

on the practitioner’s actual receipt of correspondence and 

thereafter failing to inform the client about that correspondence.  

165. The record before the ALJ was undisputed that Mr. Faro did not 

receive either the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of 

Abandonment.  

166. In fact, ALJ Mahoney specifically found that Mr. Faro did not 

receive either the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of 

Abandonment.  Initial Decision at 19.  ALJ Mahoney found that 

APPX 601 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

53 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

the cause of the non-receipt was “Mr. Faro’s own negligence that 

prevented him from receiving” the 2009 communications.  Id.   

167. However, the issue under 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) requires a finding, 

by clear and convincing evidence, that Mr. Faro actually received 

correspondence and failed to inform his client about that 

correspondence.   

168. Such a finding cannot stand because the ALJ also found that Mr. 

Faro did not receive the correspondence.  That he should have 

received it—which is what the ALJ found—is not the test for a 

violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8).  Actual receipt is necessary.   

169. In addition, the ALJ found that Mr. Faro did not inform his clients 

about a Third Final Rejection, however, this finding also fails in 

light of the plain legal standard in Rule 10.23(c)(8).   

170. The ALJ found that Mr. Faro did in fact inform his clients about 

the Third Final Rejection.  Initial Decision at 18-19.  Mr. Faro 

“informed” his client “about” the Third Final Rejection.  There is 

nothing in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) that required Mr. Faro to provide a 

copy of the Third Final Rejection to his lay clients.  All the rule 
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requires is to provide notice.  Mr. Faro plainly provided notice to 

his clients and informed them that certain patent claims were 

allowable if rewritten—as addressed in the Initial Decision at 18-

19.   

171. Without citation to any legal authority whatsoever, ALJ Mahoney 

found that Mr. Faro’s notice to his client was not good enough; 

specifically, Mahoney found that Mr. Faro needed to do more.  But 

nothing in the rule defines what, exactly, must be communicated—

and how much communication is sufficient communication.  

172. The reason for this is that Section 10.23(c)(8) simply requires 

informing the client of Mr. Faro’s receipt of information from the 

USPTO.  The rule literally proscribes “failing to inform a client … 

of correspondence received from the Office.”   

173. Nothing in the USPTO Rules defines or sets any limit for the 

quantum of information, leaving that to the exercise of the 

practitioner’s independent professional judgment in deciding how 

to explain complicated subject matter to lay clients.   

APPX 603 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

55 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

174. The ALJ’s decision makes a post hoc unreasonable interpretation 

of the plain language of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8).  The ALJ read into 

the plain language of the rules a requirement that does not exist—

a requirement that the quantum of disclosure had to meet a new 

“informed decision” requirement.  See Initial Decision at 19, which 

states that the disclosure needed was so that EPRT could make “an 

informed decision about a preferred course of action.”   

175. If the USPTO wanted to include an informed consent (or 

“informed decision”) requirement in its rule, then it could have 

easily done so—just as it does in many of its other Rules of 

Professional Conduct.  See, e.g., 37 CFR 11.104(a)(1) (duty to 

“promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance with 

respect to which the client’s informed consent”); 37 CFR 11.104(b) 

(“A practitioner shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably 

necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions 

regarding the representation”).  

176. The ALJ decision simply adopts the language of a different ethics 

rule—one found in the new USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct 
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(37 CFR 11.104(b))—and attempts to read that new language from 

a different rule in a different body of ethics rules into the 37 CFR 

10.23(c)(8).  If the ALJ’s interpretation were true, then the 

quantum of information set forth in 37 CFR 11.104(b) (“to the 

extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed 

decisions”) would be nugatory: According to Mahoney, the word 

“inform” about “receipt” in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) means the same as 

“explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the 

client to make informed decisions.”   

177. However, the ALJ reads language into the rule that does not exist 

in the rule.  The court’s job is to interpret the rule as written, not to 

twist and bend the rules to try to meet the facts, or to change the 

rules to apply a new interpretation that is unsupported by the plain 

language of the rule itself.   

178. Because the ALJ plainly erred in his interpretation of the 

unambiguous language in Section 10.23(c)(8), that error of 

interpretation led to the erroneous conclusion that Mr. Faro 

violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 
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Second Error: 37 CFR 10.23(a) Violation Based on 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

179. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(a) based 

on his purported violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

180. Since Mr. Faro did not violate 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8), and since that was 

the sole basis upon which the ALJ found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 

10.23(a), the ALJ erred in concluding that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 

10.23(a).  

 
Third Error:  37 CFR 10.84(a) - No Evidence of Intent 

181. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.84(a), 

which provides, “A practitioner shall not intentionally . . . (1) fail to seek 

the lawful objectives of a client . . . .” 

182. The Initial Decision read “intentional” out of 37 CFR 10.84(a) and states 

as follows: “Unlike the American Bar Association’s now-defunct Code 

of Professional Responsibility, the PTO’s Disciplinary Rules do not 

require a practitioner’s conduct to be intentional.”  Initial Decision at 21.  

183. The Initial Decision is plainly incorrect.  Section 10.84(a), just like its 

counterpart in the ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility DR 
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7-101(A)(1) includes the preface that the practitioner “shall not 

intentionally . . .”   

184. After concluding, erroneously, that Rule 10.84(a) does not require proof 

of intent, the Initial Decision found that “Neglectful conduct that derails 

a client’s objectives is thus sanctionable under Section 10.84(a).”  Initial 

Decision at 21.  

185.The plain error in the Initial Decision interpretation of Section 10.84(a), 

in which the ALJ read the rule as a negligence-based rule when it requires 

proof of specific intent—was plainly wrong.   

 
Fourth Error: Overstated or Unproven “Economic Harm” 

186. As part of its analysis of Sanctions, the Initial District considered “the 

amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner’s 

misconduct.”  37 CFR 11.54(b)(3).  

187.The court ignored the fact that, in Mr. Faro’s professional judgment, the 

patent application claims that the client wanted were not directed to 

patentable subject matter.  The claims that the patent examiner had 

allowed were very narrow “dependent claims” and did not encompass the 
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broader subject matter that was the client’s desired scope of patent 

protection.  Accordingly, there was no nexus between the ethical breaches 

and any proven damages claim.  

188. All elements of a claim in an OED disciplinary proceeding, including 

harm to the grievant, must be proven by evidence which is “clear” and 

“convincing.”  37 CFR 11.49.  Such proof requires “evidence which 

produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to 

the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, 

direct and weighty and convincing as to enable [the fact finder] to come 

to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts in 

issue.”  See In re Kelber, PTO Proc. No. D2006-13 at 5 (Init. Dec. Sept. 

23, 2008)13 (quoting Cruzan v. Missouri Dep’t of Health, 497 U.S. 261, 

285 n.11 (1990)).    

189. The Initial Decision found an “impossible to quantify” amount of 

“economic harm.”  The court stated that attempting to value the patent 

was an “exercise in futility.”  So, instead of finding any actual economic 

 
13 Disciplinary decisions of the USPTO are “published” on the Freedom of Information Act 
“Reading Room” on the USPTO’s website.  The Kelber decision is available at 
https://foiadocuments.uspto.gov/oed/0531_dis_2008-09-23.pdf.  

APPX 608 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

60 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

harm, the Initial Decision relied on the fees paid to Mr. Faro.  However, 

there was no nexus shown between those costs and any purported harm.  

The $35,000 - $45,000 in fee payments were for prosecution expenses 

that Mr. Faro had undeniably provided, and that the client had undeniable 

received.  Mr. Faro made no guarantee of success, and the fact that the 

client was not able to achieve its ultimate legal objective—because the 

true scope of its invention, the relevant scope, was not patentable—is not 

a measure of any harm caused by Mr. Faro.   

190. Without any evidence cited, the Initial Decision stated that EPRT was 

“left economically weaker” by its attempts to get a patent.  However, that 

is simply resting that EPRT paid fees during patent prosecution.   

191. The court also compounded its “economic harm” error by relying upon 

the fact that Mr. Faro and EPRT were then concurrently involved in a 

civil action.  However, the Initial Decision failed to address the merits of 

that dispute or the end result, in which the action ultimately terminated.  

The fact that the parties were engaged in litigation which was then still 

ongoing should not have been charged as the type of economic harm.  The 

case was a contested litigation, and ultimately it resolved in dismissal 
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with prejudice after the district court determined an absence or de 

minimis damages.   

192. In light of the foregoing, in my opinion, EPRT did not meet its high 

burden of proving economic harm caused by Mr. Faro.   

Fifth Error: The Punishment was Unduly Punitive 

193. The proven misconduct—even accepting the legal correctness of the 

Initial Decision—did not warrant as severe of a sanction as an eight-

month license suspension.  

194. An 8-month license suspension does not mean automatic reinstatement.  

There is no automatic reinstatement at the USPTO.  Mr. Faro must apply 

for reinstatement, a process which could add significant delay that 

effectively is an extension of his license suspension. 

WHEREFORE, for all, or even any one, of the above reasons summary  

  

APPX 610 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

62 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

judgment should be granted in favor of the Respondent. 

Respectfully, 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 

 
 

VERIFICATION 
 

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 
herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459. 

 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment  

has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email 

at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 
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hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 8th day of December, 2020. 

        
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THfr SUPRhMtT COtiRT' OF FLORIDA

I-I]E FI,ORIDA BAR
COMPI-AINANI" Supreme Court Case. No

sc] 8- t 279
\,

JOHN []. FARO

Respondent

The Florida Bar File:
2At9-10,032( I l.r)

S1-A I-E OF FLORIDA )

:SS
COIJNTY OIr MIAMI-DA[)tr )

RESPONDENT''S \'F-RIF IED STATENIT]NT IN ST]PPORT OF
N,IOI-ION FOR SLIN,IN,{ARY JTI Dc]\I ENT

I" .loilN I I ITARO. (also Respondent). clo herebv state under penalty of

perjLrrv. that:

l. I arn the Respondent in the abor,,e-captiorred rnatter.

2. I r'ias llrst aclrlitted to practice in the Statc o1'Massachusetts i1 1969

and attt pl'eselltlr atl attot'ltcr in good standing belbre tlte Massachuselts Baranclthe

fi'ederal Courts u,ithin tlre l'1 CircLut.

3. Iwas adrnittecl to practice before the United States Patent Ofllce in

191 I

1. Ivvas adrnitted to practice in the State of Delaware in 1970 and. the last

trtle I checke'd. u'as listed as fg-Llt--C statrrs bv tlrc I)clarvare Supreme CourtAPPX 613 (By Respondent) 
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5' Whilc irr l)clauare (1969 to 1970.), Iivas a staff attor.nev in the patent

Departrnertt o1' EI clLrPont de Netnours in Wihnrngtorr, [)elav'are (hereinafter

"Dtrpont"), and assigned to a gr"orrp in the lau' divrsion to provide patent service to

the D,po.t I,dustrials & Bioclrer,ical iDi'isru,

6' My dtrties at Dupont incluiled prepanng patent application for

in\'entrotls originating in the Pltannaceutical and Agricultural Chernical Division.

7 ' I ll'as aclrlritted to practice. as regislercd patent practitroner. before the

Ullite'd States Pate-ttt & 'l'radernalk 0{lrce in 1970 I was sLrspended lior, practice

bv the United States Patent & J'radernark ofl'ice in 2018 fbr eight (g) rnonths As a

corrclition lbr rcinstatelllcrtt- I harc since tal<en ancl passccl the NpltL.. (ethics erarr).

and have not yet petrtioned fbr reinstaternent.

8 Frorn 1970 to l9j2,lwas a staff attorney with Owens lllinois (1970_

72)- to p[or"ide piitetlt set"r'iccs to the di'r'ision for chernrc.alielectrochetnical glass and

ceramic rnaterial.

9. In lr972, I relocated to Rc,chester, New York. and rvas ernployecl as

stal'f attortter in tltc Xeror Corportition Patent l)epsrtrtrerrt (1972 l97B). a,d

assigned to prov'icle patent servicc to the rnatelial scierrces rescarch sectro,.

l0 While at Xerox Corporatrion, I becarne involved in the litigatron

bett'leett Xeror and IUM. specificalll'. the def.ense of Xerox in a patent infr.ilgernent
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lari'sttit b1' IBM, wltereilt I was ort point I.br the attack ancl rnvaliclatron of the IBM

patert asserled rn the paterrt i,fi'i,gerne,t larvsuit against Xerox.

ll' As a resttlt of'my involvement in Xeror litigation with IBM, Ibecarne

adept at the prosectttion of patent applications wherein the proof of ..inherency,, of

clisclosure u'as t'eclttirccl to obtain patent protection fitr ii patent applicatio, lacki,g

erplicit descriptron ol'critical fbatures o1'an rnirenlion.

12' In 1978, Irettrrned to Ohio when Ir.vas recruitecl by BF Goo6rich as

senior piitettt ittlol'l)eY auci assrstanl licetrsing counsc-l fbr tts cherlical clivisio, in

Independence. Ohio.

13. I u'as adrnitted to practice in the State of Ohio in lg7l. I arn not

cttrrerltll'Iicensed to practice rrt Ohio be'cause of rnv failure in l98l to cornplete the

tintlttal regrstratiott attd CI-E reqrrirements ot'the Ohio Bar I have 1ot souglt to

restore lny Bar Iicense f}orn Ohio after I relocatecl to t Ioricla in I98I

l4 In 1981. I rclocatcd to Miarni. [:'loncla. to assurne responsibilrty as

Divisronal Patent Clotrrts;el for the Diallrostic Products & Instrulnelt Divisiop of

Baxter Laboratot'ies 1/ k rr Atnerican tlospital Supply Corporatiop) atrd fbr the

Diagnostic Instrrrrnents I)ivision located in Costa Mesa, Calrfbrnia

I 5. When []axte r l-abor-atorics accluired Arnerican Hospital Suppl-v

Corporatlott in l9li5 and thereafier underlool< the consoliclation of patent attorper

sLrpport lor thc colttpiill\ itr [)eer'f icld. IL. I clc.cted to rernain in lrlorida
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l6' I r'vas adrnitted to the lrlorida Bar in January l9g6 and entered private

practice at that tirne

17 I attl cttt't'errtlv a tretnltet'in gt-rod starrcling i1 both the State & Federal

(-otrrts in F ltlr irla

l8' SLrbseqtrellt to etttering prirate practrce i1 1986, I have corti.ued to

provide patent corttlsel service to Barter Laboratories and nurnerorrs adclitio,al

pul-rlic conrpanies, rnclucling:

a. Coulter/Beckman (/ t<, Coulter Diagnostics), i1 Miarni, I.L

b Clordis Diagnostics. Miarnr. Fl_

c. Ira.r C'orporation. Mianri. I;t.

d Arne.rcan Srrrgical I,stnrrne,ts. Irt. Lauclerdiile. trt_

e. ]-CPI. Inc.. Ft. I_aLrder.dale, Iit_

1. Ptllaroidi'Bar,'cr' (rnedical prodtrcts -joint r,enture) Cambriclge, FL

g. C.R Bard, Inc., Bellinghant, WA

h Meridiari Diagnostics, Cinc,innati. OL{

l9 I iias also ettgitgecl to pror icle lratcnt scr.r'iccs to thc IJniversity of

Florida (Gainesville, [rl ). to start-up corn pi]nics (c.g Svrnbios Co,p, Miarni. F L), and

indir,rdual inr,'entors.
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E.TBf ENGAGE ENT RESPONDENT IN JANTJAR}' 2OO3
SAI,\'AGE

20' In Septettiber 2002. Iuas conlacted b1,Dar,'icl Estes. tlre Director ol

Engineering fbr EPRI-'1'echnologies, Inc (EPRT) locatecl in Sipi valley, CA.

21 Mr Estes was obviottslv aware of rnv background ancl requested that I

t'et'ietv one of his paterlt applicatrons that had been finally rejected by the U,ited

Stzrtes Patetlt & 'fradernark Ofllce. I later learrreti that this patent Application w,as

assigned to EPR'f, his ernplol,er.

22 loflbrecl to rnicti thc patcnt applicarion (lereilalier'519 pate,t

Appllcation) at rro cost to either hirn on to EI']RJ' Estes thcreafter-reqLrestecl tlrat

EPRT lnanagement provicle tle rvith a copy' of the Patent Office files and the

correspolldence betr,veett hirn and his then patent attonrel's, Howry Sirnon A,iold

White L[-P (Washingron. DC)

23. Irevieu,ed 1he rcqrrested

had discusslolts rritlr I:stcs relatir.e

r-naterials provided by EPRT tnanagetnent ancl

to the irtrcntion soLrght to be protected. the

\\'as sollght. and 3"1 partv proclucts o1, [:pRl'

rranagelnent (including

pornted oLrr deficiencies

's final reiection would

product fbr whicli patetrt protectiorr

competitors.

24. On Norernber 19. 2002. I ernailecl EPRT

L.S1'trS) a u,ritten Rer,,ieu,, & Recornrnenclation. lvherein I

rn the '519 Patent Application and that the patent office

I il<el-r, tre sustairrcrl.
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2-5 Notlvithstarlding that patent protcction fbr the EpRT product ri,as likel),

ttrtattainable becattse ol tlre prevrously noted deflciencies irr the '519 pate,t

Aprplication, I was hired by ESTES to assurne respor.lsibility fbr handling the

ctltttilltred prosectrtion '519 Patent Application ancl to keep it pelding fbr as long as

possible.

26. I thereafter prepared ancl liled a power of Attonrev lor erecution by

trPRl' nranagenrent. r'eroking tlrc priol Pou,er o{'Attornel, to l lsu,y.1,

Ll'hita l.l,l'., and appoirrting rne as its registered patent attorney.

Attorney'was filed and accepted by patent office in January 2003.

27. Thereafter'. I proceeded to pursue the allowance of the '519 patent

Applicatlon. to the lirllcst e\tent perrniil,:cl b),the RLrles of practice, rvith the prirnary

ob;ectrve beirrg to rnaintaitr the appltcatton pending.

28 'l hereaftcr. I itsstntrcd thc :;olrcitation ol'allowance of'the '519 patent

Applicatioll, and the Patent Oflice persisted in its final re.jectron thereof-.

29 In April 2005, tlie Patent E,'rarniner once again finally re.jected all of the

clarrned inr,entions (2,,,1 Final Re.jectron), inclrrcling the clairrecl rnedical device

(electrode u'raP) ittr,'erttit-rlt. asserting esserrtiallv the sarne basis as its plor final

rc.jection of .lulr. 2002

Srmon ,4rnoltl

The Power of
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Because the Patent [:rarniner was "dug in", I filed a Notice of Appeal

lelephone
of' tl,e l"u Irinal Ile'jcction in .lrrlr 200-5. ancl thereaficr- crrcirrcted a

intervrew u'ith her in arr attenrpt tcr reverse her re.jection. to no ar,,ail

3l . Upon cottclusion of the iutervierv with the Examitrer. t subrnitted a,

Appeal Bric-f

32. ln lieu ol'filrng att Answer Briel, ou November 14, 2005, the Supervisor

of Patertt Exatniner issued yet anothel flnal rejection 13',r Ftnal Rejection), with

sttllgested alnetldtncllts lo patent clairns direct to the use o1'the EPR'I'product. while

persistirlg irl the linal r-e-jectiott to patent clarrns clirectecj to the rnedical device

lelectrode u rap)

33 On Noveritber 19" 200,5, I etnailecJ the F:pRTlltanasetrent. including

Dav'id Estes. apprising tltetn of.rny receipl ol the 3'd Final llejection. inclucli,g

provrding a copv of tlre pending rnethod and rnedrcal clevice (electrode wrap) clairns.

I firrther sumrnanzed the 3'J Final Re.jection in lavrnan's terms.

31. IIr this 3"t l:ittal lteiection. the l:rarrriner'(a) inclicatecl that she regardecl

the tttethod clairns (drrected to use o1'the EPRI-product) a poteltial allowable clairn,

lf firrther atncnded. as pcr her suggestion (u'hich sugge stiorls \\cre unacceptable).

35 'flte l'd liinal Relection persisted in the I''inal Relection ol'the clairnecl

rnedical device (electrode w'ap) inv'ention, which w'as the "key to the eftectiveness

o1'our device". Respotrclent's Ansr,r,er, Erh A". Bates No. 4.

30
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It is ur-\, urderstancling ot'the l)atert l_a*,, (i5 usc 287(c)), that

obtaining protection of the EPI{l'"'elec:h'ode wrap" (rledical clevice) is essential to

instrring exclusivity to the inventor of his inventions, intended for use bv rnedrcal

prof-essional and clinics irr the treatrnent of its patients.

37 'l-he Patent Stattrte. 3-s USC 287(c), pertaining to patcnts fbr medical

(pltartnacerutical- diagnostic equiprlent) pror,'iiles" in pertinept part, an exernption of

clinics and meclical prtlf-cssionals. fiorn infi'ingernent of patelts fbr the use ol

rnedical der,,ices in the treatrnent ol'its patienls:

3s USC 287(c)

(l) with respect to a medical practitioncr's perfbnnance of a
rnedical activitv that constitutes all ir"rfringernent
rrrrder section 271(a) or (b). the provisions of sections 2gl.
283, 281, and 285 shall not apply against the rnedical
practitioner or against a related lrealth care entity with respect
1o strclt ntcclical actir.rt'n.

(2) Iror the pLrrposes clthis subsection:

(,{) the tenn "rnedrcal activity," rneans the perforrnance of
a rnedical or :;urgical procedure on a body, but shall not
include (i)thc Lrse cl{'a patented rnachine, rnanufacture, or
composition of rnatter rn violatron of such patent, (ii)the
practice of a patetrted use ol'a cotnposition of rnatter in
vrolation of such patent, or (iii) the practice of a process in
violation of a biotechnology patent.

(tl) the tenn "lneclical practitioner' lnealts anv natural
person i,i'ho is licenserl bv a State to pror,'ide the medical
actir it1 desclibed in subsection (cX I ) or u,ho is actrrrg
lunder the direclion ol'such person in the pelfbrrnance clf
lltc nterlical actir rli

36
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(c) the te.n "relateci healtlr care entity', shall rnean an
cntily'with which a nreclical practition., i,u, a profbssional
aftlliation rLnder which trre medrcal practitioner perfbrrns
the rnecJical actrr,.rtr,, incruding but not lirnited to a nursing
Itotre. hospital. univer.sitl,- medical school. health
rnaiute.arce orgarizatior. g.oup ,n.Jicur fru.ii.., o,. ,
rnedical clinic

(D) the telrn "prof'essional al1lliation" shall rnean stafl.
privileges,,redical sta{r rrernbership, ernproyrnent or
contractual reIatior-rship, partnership or o\\ nerslrip interest.
acadernic appointrnent, or otlrer affiliation ,,,,d., which
a rnedical practitioner provides the rnedical activrtl, o,
behalf o1, or i, associatio, with, the health care entitv.

(E) the term "body'" shalt mean a hurnan body, organ or
cadar,'er, or a nonhLrlnan anirnar used in rnedical research
or instruction directly relatrng to the treatrnent of'hurnans.

(F) tlrc terui "patcntcd rrsL. 01'a conrpositio, of rnatter"
tlocs not incltrdc a clainr lirr a rncthiltl trf'pertbnlrnrg ir
rnedical or sLrrgical procedure on a body that recites tl-re
ruse ot' a cornpositrorr of matter where the use ot' that
composition of matter does not drrectly contribute to
achievernent of the objective of the clairned rnethod.

(G) the terr, "State" shall ,rea, arrv State or territor-1, of
the LJnrted States, the District ot corurnbia. and the
Cornmonwealth o1' Puerto Rico.

In nr\ Novernber 19. 2(105. err-rail to EPRT, t advised EPRT

lllanageutent that, llt lll\ opirrion. "\\,c 1l:plt l') r,lerc cntitled to br.oacler coverauc.

and that I rntentletl to pLrrstre ,vet another.appeal, unless ther, hacl any.cluestions as to

r'vhat \\'as recolnlnelided. Insofar as uo furlher coutrnunicatiou fiorn EpRT

lllaniigelT'lcltt $as tilrthcilrning. artotltet' Notice o1'Appeal 11,as filed. l'he seco,d

q

38.
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Appeal r,l,'as srrbsecilrerrrlr firll-r, br.iel'ecl, ancl I:plil pror.iclecl rvith a

Appeal Brielin December 2006

39. L l)ecerrber 2006. EpR]' rnacre a, absorrrte

right trtle and i,terest) in thc' '-519 patert Applicatron,

l'hnsoint Ptv (Belize shell compatry).

cop)" of the

assrgntltent (assigned all

to a holding cornpanv.

40' I ltacl tlo fbrtnal profbssional relationship with the holding cornpany.

'l hrisoint Pt1,

4l. 'fhe Patent Ollice lloard ol''Patent Appeals & Interteleloe docketed t5e

appeal. atld setlt a Docl<et Notice to Responclent itr 2008, indicatilg an estirnated

decision clate sonletinle thereafier'. 'l'he Docl<.et Notice aclvised the appellant as t.

how to check on the statits of the appeal, rvhrch rvas lrrnrted at tliat tirne to telepho,ic

ancl fhcsinrile cornrnunication, because of the Ricin poison scare.

42 Dtrring the penocl frorrr about 2005 up to and inclLrcling abclut 2008, I

w'as harldlilrg a tltttnlrer ol' intellectual propertv lnatters 1or trPR'l'. ilclldi,g the

f iling of tteu' patent application for a ne\\/ irlpror,,ecl rledrcal clevice, "Conductir,,e

Silrcl f ,lectt'ocle W't'ap", in 2008^ u'hich was to replace the rnedical der,,ice (electrode

u'rap) covered b1, the '519 Patent Applicarion

EPRT N,{ISREPRESENTATIONS AS TO ITS "PE,NDINC"
PA'TTN'T PROTECTION

li)
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43 I r'vas adv'isecl that El']ltl' \\,'as reclLrirecl, because ot' the uniq,e

constructiott of its tteu' itnproved rnedical cler,,ice, to sLrbrnit and obtain a ,e\\, FDA

application (510K Registratio,) fbr its ner.v irnproved product.

44' At the tirne of mv filing of the new patent application for EpRT,s

ittlproved rnedical c1evice (clectrocle urap) irr 2008. I:stes instructecl rlre to refiai,

fi'orrt irlctrrring anl"addittonal fbes or costs. in pLrlstrit of allowalce of'tlre .519 pate,t

Applicatiorr

45. In 200ti- shorlll'alier Ifilecl the F.sles^parent application for the

CondLrctive Silvel Electrocle Wrap, EPRTceased operations i, the USA

46. In October 2011, EPRT continuecl to falsely represent on its website

tlrat it hacl a'"perldillg patcnt applicarion" {br thc [:.PR.'I'pro<1ucts. 1ot*,ithstanditrg

tlrat the hl)tt'I had discotttinuecl thc devekrprnent of its onglnal prociLrct. The EpR1

irnprtlved prodrrct developed in 2008 \\,'as no louger eltcotnpassecl b-v the '5 l9 pate,t

Application. artcl thc L:PItl'(lrstes) patent applicalion. Iilccl rn 2008. fbrthe ir,pro'ccl

EPRI'product (condLrctive Silver Electrode wrap) had lapsed.

41 . I was coticerned that the EPRT false representations on the EPRT

r'iellsite. lvlricli continued to publish a false "pAtent pending" lotrce fbr the EPRT

prodtrcts and uliicll idcrrtillccl ".lohn I{. }:'arc- [rsc1." as its patent cor-1rsel. woLrld

irrprlicate rne in a vrolatiorr of the patent rnisrnarking statute, 35 USC ).n.

Accordinglr'. Ircll'ained fi'onr corrcsporrdetrcc t9 Ir:PI{'f, relatir,c to t1e"5l9 patelt

ll
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Application, tltat cottld be cottstrued as enciorsing or lacilitating a violation of'the

lall .

coNCE=tf ,nEcARprlqllArL pELTVERY AT N,ry EXECUTTVE
STIITE AND \I\ DISC]OV'ERY d

"18 In 201 l. I received a phortc call li'orn Irl,[t'f (Katherinc ulake ) inqLrir.ilg

as to tlle status of the'519 Patent Application because she needed to co,flr, t5e

stattts thereof in a solicitation of an investrnent in EPRT I advrsed her that I had

nolhing new t0 repor-t.

49. At abotrt the sattte tirne rn 201 l, I(atherine Blake inquired u,hy I had

rlot deposlted a checl< sent bv her tr.l rnv ofTlcc. for past due EpRT fbes and expenses.

50 Iuas corltacted Iater in l0ll bv an irnrnigration ?ilorne1,fl-om T'eras.

representing irPR'I'. r,vho requested a cop)'of'the EPI{"| '512 Patent Applicatio, flle

At about the tirne of EPRT attonrey's request, the EPRT '5 l2 Patelt Applicatio, flle

\\as tlllavailablc to tne. artd Ibelier,'ed it ri'as cirscarcled by'nry estralged er-wife

during our separation and contentious dir,,orce.

5l ln 201l. Ibecante concernecl that the tJ.S. marl frorn tlie patent Office,

adch'essecl ttl ttlc itt ttt-r crcctttirc:uitc address (18 W' [:'lagler Street) was ltot bei,g

delrvered. or \\as being rnislrandleil b)' ths ofllce personnel

52 I therealier requested rn), associate in Alexanclria, Virginia, to

persorlalll"inspect the'519 l)atent Applrcation flles in the Patent Ofllce. a,d to

confirrn the status of the appeal of '5 l9 patent Applrcation.

l2
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53 I llr.st learned of the Decisiorr of'

afJlrrrins the 3,d Final Relection in October 201

irnrnedratelr lir.ri,arclecl a cop' itl'the Decisio,

T'eras.

the Patent Oliicc Boar.ci ol'Appeals

I frorn rny Alexandria associate, and

to F l'll l"s inlrrigr.atiorr atlor-ney irr

54' I was once agaitt contacted by an EPRT irnrnigration attorney in Teras,

rvllo u'anted to set trp a cottltrence call betu,een Katherine Blake ancl rne to disc,ss

the Decisroll l:stcs. the iltrettlot'artcJ Directol of Engrneering of'F.pRT. haci lefi

EPR'f ' I declrned ttl corlfbrence u'itltoLrt [:PR'l'technical personnel bei,g i,volved,

and the cotll'et'cttcc \\as llc\el' sclteclLrlecl. At the conclusion of this call. EpRT's

irnrnigrattotr attonrel, acc-used rne o1- rlalpr-actice.

.TIIE 
EPRT SPECIOT]S MALPRACT'ICE LAWSUIT WAS

NIO'IIVATED BY REPLACEN,IENT PATENT COT]]\ EL TO

55 On Febrtrarv l'1. 2013, EPtl^T. erecutecl a Power of Attornev to the

Washilrgttln. [X-' lau' flrrn Venable. t-t-P to represent it i1 the Patent Off]ce. OED

Trial l-rrh, (iOV I 'ri I 'l'he Pouer o1'Attonrev to Ven;rble relokecl rnv power of

Atttlrttetr. Verrable" l.l,[) encourageci trPRl- to sue tne fbr rnalpractice a1d. if ancl

whetr it recovered ftrnds fl'orrr l.ne, to use the recovery to retaitr Verrable to reinstate

the '519 Patent Application

56 Venable required a $25,000 retainer to represent EPRT ERPT fatled

to pav Venable lbr the liling of certain assignrnents (erecuted in Decernber 2006)

I-l

FtrND ITS r\TT'ORNE\"S FEES
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fiorri E:PR'l- to 'i'hilsoint Ptv ERPI- also failed ro retain verrable to reinstate the -519

Patent Application

57 . on october 23, 201 3, EPRT Technologies, Inc (..EpRT,,) sued rne fbr

legal rnalpraclice irr llre liedcral I)istrict C'ourt fbr the Siluthern District of Floricia.

'/'hrt.sornr l'r.t.',l.td. c{ lit'R'.1 'r'c,c,hnologtas, 
l/?t,. t,.,Joltn I[. l,.rrro tir .41. Case No.

l3-CV-23893- HTJCI(/SULLIVAN (DC SD Fla)r

'58 Afier the L.PR'l' rnalpractice cornplarrrt was twicc. clisrnissed. I i.ras

cotttacted b1' Steverl Creenberg. [:sq., rvho advisetl that he now represelted EpRT

rn tnalpractice clairns against me.

59 After Attortrer Greenbcrg lilecl a fhird Arrencled Cornplai,t. he also

caLisecl EPRI'to lile a grier,'ancc rvith the Floncla Ilar anci the Patent Oflice (OED)

basecl upolt thc allegation of rny rnrscotrduct contained in the l.hir.d Arnended

(iorrplarnt. I{espttrtdcnt Answ'er'i1' 22. -l-hircl 
ArnencJecl Cotnplaipt.

60. EPR-l''s'l'hird Arnended Cornplaint. llled by Creenberg, farecl no better

than the EPRT prior complaints

6l C)n Jtrne 4^2() L5. Iflled mv Motion in [,irnine for exclusion of the EpRT

darlage. erpert reporl.

r ['he 'fhrrd .\nrencleci ('ontltlaint (L:('F 5tr ,.1i. pnru*,.0n
srriltr o1- profbssiorral nrisconcluct lrasecl Lrpon thc allc.gation
ot' dilrse nce)- T I:t) 4- I .1 (lack ol' contrrrrrnication ) anrl ['l
adnrin i stration ol' justice)

(57)) speciticallv asserted that I rvas
that I r iolated 'l'liB I{ules .1- I -.1 (lack
:[] +-8 -{ (conrlirct prejudicial to the

IIl+
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62 ' otr Jrrlv 20, 20 I 5, the District CoLu't conclucted the l)cruhert

exarnittation of'the EPR'l' erpert, ll'ltich rnclucied ref'erence to pertinent portio,s of

the IrPIU' corPol'ate t'cprcsctttzrlrr,'e (lllzrkc) cleposirron -l'he 
pertirlent porlrors o1't6e

District Corrr-t's findilrgs alld observatron (as reflectecl in tlie hearipgtranscript of t5e

l)truhcrthearing on July 20")015), are as ibllows:

(a) EPRI-lacked standirrg to bring a rnalpractice clairn against FARO because

it was not the o\\'ller of the '519 Patent Applicatron the tirne of'the alleged

rnalpractic e . l)truhcrt l{eanng l-r rO page 9. lines l _5

'l'here 
\\'tls llo cv'iclencc ol'ant' losscs or aclverse cornrncrcial inrpact Lrpo,

I-IPRI-fiilrn L:Pll1"s laihu'e to ot'rtain an issued a paterrt firr its ltedicalcJe'ice.

based trpon tlre '519 Patent Applicatiot"r l)cnthert Lleanng Tr @ page 13,

lines 8- 14.

"l'he EPRT'product (rnedical device) covered by the '519 patent Application

r,vas obsolete and replaced by nerv prodLrct. The new product was covered

llt it rtctl patcnt application (lilecl bv I.ARO on behall'ol Davrfl [istes),

I )tntltcrt I{c:anng 'l-r lrz', page I I . lines 6- I I

'l'he [rl']R-l'abardtxed the fix'eign ecluivalents of the -519 Patent Application

(b)

(c)

(d)

"tluoughilut the r,iorld". suggests the "tecllrologl," col,ered by such patent

ivas of dtrbious value. l)mrbe rtHearing'fr

lrne 4.

rtlt

li

page I I , line 21, to page 12,
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(f)

'l'lrc|c \\its llt) cotttpctittlr'usc ol'inte|cst in tlte I:pR'1."techrrologl:'. I)uttbarl

flearing 1'1 rlit pagc I-1, lincs l4-25

The [:PRT Director of Research, David Estes (inventor or..5r2 patert

Application)" I'c-clirce:ted FARO's alterrtiorr to otlrer tlpRT matters.

Responclent IJncontested 'l'estirnor.r\,. oED 'Ii-ial Er, No 2g @ 309 -31 l.
'l'lrrl:rrrtr 

v liurr, lrtru l)aptxiriur kit )2r1.line 6 to 2i0" line l2

(ri' [Jporl cottclttsion of the l)rrrrht'r't hearing. the District Cot,1 strtrcl< the

LPRJ'dalllage report. basecl Llpon the EI)l{'l'clainr of Iost sales. 'l'lrr.rsrittt 
t, ltrrr.

ECI- 2 1,1

6-tr. At this l)trtrbcrt heal'ntg- the District Court interpreted the I'5ircl

Attletldtncnl Clornplairlt clartn fbr breaclr of frclLrciarv duty as implicating a claim for

disgorgerrtettt o1-attorltc\,'s f-ees paid bv the Co-Plairrtitl, Thrisoint ptr,,. t1 tle arnou,t

o1' approrr nratc lr -\7.()00

6-5. Orl Augtrsl 10. 20 I 5. lltc Ir'cdcral District Clourl. hearcl argtrrnent of each

of the parties Motions lbr SLnnntar\/ .Jgdgrnent. 'l'hrrsgrrtt t, liuft.t, ti;ft() Motions

"liicF P l 5l. 187" 1()2 . l:'l,l?7'Motions. I]CF l 57. 185

6(r Ort Atrgust 17 . 2015, the Federal Distnct Court entered an Order

('l'h risoittt y l,crt'o, ECIr 225 ).

(c)

l(r
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a. Den-1'i11g the EPR-l' Motion. basecl upon its breacrr

rvas denied because of the EpRT failure to establish

srrppoll its clairn. ancl

of flduciary clairn

undisputed facts to

b Grantcd rnl Mottorr irr part becatrse [rPRl- sul'ferecl no clantages fiom

any act or ornissiott o1'rnine; and Denied as to Teclurology Busiless

Law' (irotrp (1'tlL-(l) bccarrse o1- thctual isstrcs relative to date of

fb,natio, of ]'echr.logl' B,si,ess Larv Group ('l'Bt,c).

67 . On August 23.201 5, I filed a ReqLrest fbr Rehearing ( 'l'hris,oint t, l.'aro,

ECI" 230), u'ltereirl I asserted that I rvas entitlec'l to Surlnrary Judgrrelt as to EpRT's

Co-Plairltr.lt J'hrisoirtt l't)', clue to the I)istrict Court lackipg subject rnatter

3trrisdictioll over its clartn fbr disgorgernent o1'attornev's f'ees because the arnount of

attorllev"s lees clairrred 1l'orn tne at the tirne ol'filirrg its clairtr lteyer erc.eecled

$4-5.000. and its rnarirrunl potentiallr pror.'able clainl \\,AS $7.041.

68. Tlre party-plaintifli could not satisfy the required jurisdrctional amount.

69 I infbrrrrally noticed Plaintitl-s' counsel of rny intent to pursue Rule ll
sattctiotls agarrtst both the Plaintill.s ancl their cotrnsel [:PRJ"s counsel thereafter

prepared the Joint Stipulation ot'Drsrnissal. which was ftled r.l,ith the Courl otr

September I. 2015

t7
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TERIAL
ST,'tT.T, E \I T,] N'T''t'E R\IS

70 On Septerrber l, 2015, the t)trD grierranl

drsrnissecl with pre.judice b1, .loint Stipulatron o1.Disrnrssal

41 . Fed.R.civ Proc The .loi,t Stip,latio, was e,tered on

2015 ('l'hrr,soirtt t, l,'oro, ECF 237)

rnalpractice lar,vstrit u,as

of the parlres under RLrle

the docket in Septernber

ll' 'fhe Rtrle 4l -loint StipLrlation did not reserve.jurisdictiol rn the Dist.ct

Cottr-t to ernfbrce any setlletnettt because the tentative settlernent tregotiatton broke

doutt when the parties coLrld ttol agree to thc u,'ording of certeril rnaterial ternis. aud

EPRl'failed to tilnely'sigrt olf of the tetttatir,'e setllernenl tenns ancl retLrrn the cirafi

agreelrlelrt containing the tentative settlernent ter.rns.

72. EPRJ"s sttbsequent eflbr"ts to cornpel entbrcernent of the tentative

settlernent tenrs ('l'hri.soirtr v liuro, ECF 232) were denred by the District Court

('l'lrri.sorrtt t, litlt'o, ECfr 2.17).

73 Becattse o['an l!]pdlsg rn the rregottation o1'the material settlernent

terrr-rs.

(a) thc parlies lailcd to cottclrrcle the cotrflciential settlernent

negotiation ol'the ntalpractice litigation.

EPRI' failed to tirnell' endorse/sign off ou tentative settlernent

tenns: and

(b)

l8
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(e t I refused to tendcr an\ ritonies to []pR"f

l'he District C'otrrt lefirsed to cornpel enfbrcernent of this alleged74

settlernent betrveen the parties because:

(a) Itr the .lornt Stipulation

4l- tlrcre \\as ntl reservatiolr

Court to enfbrce a settlernent

l"ttro.l:CIr 2,17 ,Zl I .

(b) 'l'here \t,as n0 separate

C'ourt to etrlbrce a settlernent

lturut, ECF 247 ilD I .

of Dismissal with Prejudice under Rule

of jurisdiction authorizing the Distnct

of the rrralpractice litigati ott. 'l'hrr"st)tnt 
t,

agreerncltt by, the parties authorrzing the

in the frederal District Court. 'l'hri:orttt 
t,

(c) 'l.he Court \\'as not arvare of the prior flled joint StipLrlation of

Dismissal. uttder RLrle 211, on September 1,2015, when it.:ttct.\;pontc

enterecl its orrn Olcler un Scpterlbet. 2. 201 5

Accordirlglr. the District Court lackecl-lulisdiction to conrpel enlblcement ot'

the tentati'v'e settlentent. ('l'hrisoint t, l,orr), EC[. 232)

15. l'he At-.1 u'as tnisled by the OED u'herr rt solicited testirronl,, over nrv

oblcctions. relative to the alleged confidetrtial settlernent discussions during

rnediatiorr

l9
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76 T'he oED altci attorllev chail<en concealecl the District court orcier of
Noverrbr:r l6-2015 ('t'hri,toitlt t' l;oro, ECF 232), which deniecl the EpRT Motion

to Cotnpt:l entbrcerllent of the alleged tentative settlernent agreegent.

F LIRTHFrR At.'t;tAN.f SAytrTH NALJG I{.f

.IOH

-fht: lbregoirlg ittstrutnettt r^'n./",sonallv o.l.,rn*ilclged belbre rne o, tSis('--r.-*-. _ -u/

E 
-da',, 

of December,2020,by.roHN H. FARO, who is personaily k,ow, to rne

or who has producecl

as identification ancl u,ho did take an oatlr ,# Notrry PublE Stata o{ Fbrrda
Heydi lvlelissa Paz
My Commr3son GG 055747
EIn,$e.02103t2O21

A1- I,AI{GI]

Mv cornutissir-ln expires :

l0
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR, Supreme Court Case No.
SCl8-1279

COMPLAINANT,

v. The Florida Bar File:
2019-70,032 (11J)

JOHN H. FARO,

RESPONDENT

AFFIDAVIT OF MICllAEL EDWARD McCABE, JR.

l. I am over 18 years of age and am competent to testify on the matters set forth in this
Affidavit.

Background and Qualifications

2. I have been licensed to practice law since 1992.

3. I am admitted and in good standing in the State Bars of Maryland (1992); the District

of Columbia (1993); and the Commonwealth of Virginia (2009). I am also a member

in good standing before all federal courts in Maryland, D.C. and Virginia, as well as

various federal appellate courts (First, Fourth, D.C. and Federal Circuit Courts of

Appeal) and the United States Supreme Court. Attached as Exhibit A is my current
CV.

4. Since 1993, I have been registered to practice in patent matters before the lJ.S. Patent
and Trademark Office (USPTO) as a federally registered patent attorney.

5. From 1995 through 2010, my legal practice focused exclusively on representing private

clients in intellectual property law matters. Primarily, I focused on IP litigation, with

a specific focus on patent litigation, with occasional litigation matters involving

trademark and copyright infringement claims. As part of my practice, I regularly

provided opinions to clients concerning the validity, infringement and enforceability of

IP rights. In addition, I drafted, applied for, and helped clients obtain, patents and
registered trademarks before the USPTO.

6. In 1999, I became a partner in Oblon Spivak McClelland Maier & Neustadt, P.C.
("Oblon"), which specializes exclusively in intellectual property law. At the time,
Oblon was one of the largest IP "boutique" law firms in the United States.
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7. Oblon was at all times during my tenure at the firm the leading law firm in terms of

volume for filing and acquiring U.S. patent rights.

8. When I joined Oblon in 1999, the Firm employed approximately 100 patent attorneys

and patent agents. When I left Oblon in 201 1, the Firm had grown to about 140 attorney

professionals.

9. In 2000, I was asked by Oblon management to start a new committee whose function
was to assist the firm, attorneys and management in ensuring, among other things, that

its practitioners and employees were conducting themselves appropriately in

accordance with the applicable rules of professional conduct, as well as to instill best
practices and help avoid the risk of elaims of malpractice or possible ethical violations.

10. In approximately 2002, 1 became the Chairman of Oblon's ethics committee. From
about 2002 until 2010, the ethics committee role largely was a committee of one--

myself-who would intake and review requests for legal advice concerning firm

practitioner ethics obligations in consultation with the firm's management, typically

Marvin Spivak, who was the firm's original managing partner, and subsequently Greg

Maier, who succeeded Mr. Spivak as the firm's managing partner.

1 1. During my tenure with Oblon, I was regularly tasked with tackling often difficult or

thorny issues of legal ethics concerning the practice of IP law. My overriding task was

to ensure that the firm and its members were conducting themselves in accordance with

governing ethical standards in the USPTO Code of Professional Conduct.

12. My obligations to the firm required me to develop an expertise in professional
responsibility law as an adjunct to my IP practice. I read everything related to ethics;

1 became a member of professional responsibility groups focusing on legal ethics in the

practice of law; and [ began attending bar meetings specifically focused on legal ethics
and malpractice.

I3. During this educational process, I learned that there was very little in the way of

practical published guidance on the USPTO's rules of ethics, the functions of the OED,
and the manner in which OED regulates patent and trademark practitioners.

14. As part of my role as Oblon's in-house ethics counsel, I advised the law firm's

management on resolution of issues regarding compliance with the Firm's obligations

pursuant to the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, which was the governing

body of USPTO-promulgated ethics rules in place until 2013.

15. During my tenure at Oblon, a number of the firm's attorneys were investigated by the

USPTO's Office of Enrollment and Discipline (OED). I represented and/or advised

those individuals in connection with their OED ethics investigations. And I regularly
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conducted in-house continuing legal education programs on ethics for the Firm's
practitioners.

16. While employed at Oblon, I did on rare occasion represent a non-Oblon employed
attorney in intellectual property-related ethics investigations pending before one of the
state bars in which I was admitted (either D.C., Maryland or Virginia). However, the

Oblon firm was not interested in developing a practice dedicated to the representation

of the ethics needs of IP practitioners working for other law firms or organizations.

17. In 201 1, I left Oblon and founded the Attorney Ethics and Disciplinary Defense
practice group at Funk & Bolton, P.A., a law tirm based in Maryland. My vision was

to build on the foundation of my ethics practice at Oblon but to extend my services to

meet the needs of the entire IP legal community.

18. In 2014, 1 created a law blog, IPethics & INsights (www.ipethicslaw.com), to draw

attention to ethics and disciplinary matters of interest to the intellectual property

community. IPethics & INsights continues to be relied upon as a valuable resource,

and articles [ have published have been cited by the OED Director or used as evidence

in disciplinary proceedings befbre the USPTO.

19. In 2017, I left Funk & Bolton to start a sole practitioner law firm, McCabe Law LLC.

My focus at McCabe Law was specifically directed to the representation of intellectual

property attorneys in aiding their compliance with the USPTO ethics rules and the

representation of patent and trademark attorneys and other professionals in all types of

proceedings before the Office of Enrollment and Discipline.

20. I have handled every type of proceeding before the OED. This includes representing

applicants for admission to the Patent Bar who have been denied admission based on

character and fitness concerns; representing practitioners in OED ethics investigations;

representing clients in settling disputes with the OED: aiding clients who seek to
change their practice to conform with USPTO ethics guidance; and represent

practitioners in USPTO disciplinary trials, hearings, appeals and reinstatements.

21. In August 2020, I formed McCabe & Ali, LLP, with offices in California and Maryland.
www.mecabeali,com. At McCabe & Ali, 1 continue to represent patent and trademark

practitioners as well as law tirms, private companies (including in-house corporate

counsel, general counsel and IP counsel), government attorneys, and others engaged in

the practice of patent or trademark law before the USPTO. My practice continues to

include teaching patent and trademark practitioners and law firms about the rules of

ethics as they apply to IP practice before the USPTO.

22. In the last ten years, I have represented hundreds of attorneys before the OED of the

USPTO. My clients range from law students and sole practitioners to senior partners
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in BigLaw firms as well as specialty finns of all sizes focused on IP law.

23. I speak regularly at professional conferences on issues concerning ethics in the practice

of intellectual property law. I have spoken on legal ethics in the practice of IP law at
scores of conferences and webinars, including on behalf of national organizations such

as the American Bar Association (ABA), American Intellectual Property Law

Association (AIPLA), Association of Professional Responsibility Lawyers (APRL),
Defense Research institute (DRI) and Intellectual Property Owners Association (IPO).

In addition, 1 have lectured on ethics at state and local bar meetings around the country,

and for private clients.

24. Since 2015, I have served in leadership positions with the Ethics and Professional
Responsibility Committee (EPRC) of the ABA-Intellectual Property Law Section.

From 2018 through present, 1 have served as the Chairman of the EPRC, and prior to

that I served for two years as Co-Vice-Chair of the EPRC. The ABA-IP Law Section
is one of the two leading bar organizations for IP practitioners in the United States (the

other being the AIPLA).

25. As Chair of the ABA-lP Law Section EPRC, I consult with other members ofthe ABA

leadership regarding programming needs and organizational initiatives. For example,
in the past year, I have spearheaded the ABA's IP Section's drafting of its official

comments to USPTO proposed regulations when such proposed rules potentially
impact the ethical rules and/or ethical duties of USPTO practitioners.

26. 1 have previously taught patent law classes as an adjunct professor at the George Mason

University School of Law. From 2014 through 2019, 1 have served as a guest lecturer

on patent law in an IP survey course at Johns Hopkins University.

27. [ am an Emeritus member of the Giles S. Rich American Inns of Court, which is the

oldest and largest Inn of Court in the United States dedicated to the practice of
intellectual property law.

28. In 2019, 1 was appointed by the Supreme Court of Virginia to serve a three-year term

as a member of its faculty for the Virginia State Bar Harry Carrico Professionalism

Course. The VSB Professionalism Course is mandatory for new members of the

Virginia Bar. We teach ethics and best practices in general, and we also teach a

breakout session (which I lead) regarding ethical issues in the practice of intellectual

property law. This is my second three-year term serving the Virginia State Bar in this
capacity.
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General Practice Before the OED

29. I am quite familiar with the practices and procedures governing the conduct of ethics

investigations by the USPTO. I have spent thousands of hours representing and
defending respondents in ethics investigations conducted by the USPTO, as well as in

disciplinary proceedings tiled subsequent to such mvestigations.

30. Upon information and belief, I am one of only a handful of attorneys in the country
who is both an experienced IP law practitioner (and registered patent attorney) who

focuses his practice on ethics matters and disciplinary proceedings before the USPTO.

31. In connection with my work in this matter, 1 reviewed the tiles from the OED ethics

investigation of Mr. Faro as well as the subsequent disciplinary proceeding at the

USPTO, the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia, and the U.S. Court

of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

The USPTO Ethics Rules and Procedures

32. Congress authorized the USPTO to "establish regulations, not inconsistent with law,

which . . . may govern the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons

representing applicants or other parties before the Office . . . ." 35 U.S.C. §2(b)(2)(D).

33. in 1985, the USPTO promulgated regulations which were intended to be modeled after

the (then current) ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility, which had been

published several years earlier. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.120 through 10.l 12 ("Patent and

Trademark Office Code of Professional Responsibility").

34. In 2008, the USPTO adopted Final Rules relating to the disciplinary procedures to be

followed in OED ethics investigations and disciplinary proceedings before the USPTO,
which were codified at 37 C.F.R. §§ 1 1.1 -- l 1.60.

35. In September 201 1, Congress enacted the America Invents Act (AIA). In relevant part,

35 U.S.C. § 32 of the AIA states that "The Director [of the USPTO" may, after notice

and opportunity for a hearing, suspend or exclude, cither generally or in any particular

case, from further practice before the Patent and Trademark Office, any . . . attorney .

. . who does not comply with the regulations established under section 2(b)(2)(D)."

The Act mandates that "A [disciplinary] proceeding under this section shall be

commenced not later than the earlier of either the date that is 10 years after the date on

which the misconduct forming the basis tor the proceeding occurred, or 1 year after the

date on which the misconduct forming the basis for the proceeding is made known to

an officer or employee of the Otlice as prescribed in the regulations established under
section 2(b)(2)(D)."
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36. In 2013, the USPTO formally abandoned its old ethics rules that were based on the

USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility. Instead, effective May 3, 2013,
practitioners' conduct was governed by the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct

promulgated at 37 C.F.R. §l 1.101-901. See 78 Fed. Reg. 20180 (Apr. 3, 2013).

37. In making this change to its ethics rules, the USPTO acknowledged that although the

former USPTO Code was based on the ABA Model Code, as of 2013, "the vast

majority of State bars in the United States have adopted substantive disciplinary rules

based on the newer ABA Model Rules." The USPTO explained its rationale for

adopting ethics rules based on the ABA Model Rules was to promote uniformity: "The

changes from the existing USPTO Code are intended to bring standards of ethical

practice before the Office into closer conformity with the professional responsibility

rules adopted by nearly all States and the District of Columbia."

38. Because ofthis rule change, for practitioner conduct that occurred prior to May 3, 2013,

the applicable USPTO ethics rules are those that were codified in the USPTO Code of

Professional Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq.

39. For practitioner conduct that occurred on or after May 3, 2013, the applicable USPTO

ethics rules are those codified in the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R.
§ I 1.101 e/ seq.

40. For practitioner conduct that overlapped these two time periods, then the "old" (USPTO

Code) ethics rules apply for that conduct occurring prior to May 3, 2013, and the "new"

(USPTO Rules) ethics rules apply for that conduct occurring on or after May 3, 2013.

41. In the present matter, OED accused Mr. Faro of misconduct that allegedly occurred in

the 2005-201 1 time period. Although his hearing occurred after the 2013 rules change,

and since Mr. Faro's conduct at issue predated the "new" (ABA Model Rules) version

of the USPTO ethics rules, the OED complaint accused Mr. Faro of violating certain

provisions of the "old" (ABA Model Code) version of the USPTO ethics rules.

42. Meanwhile. since the OED Director's investigation started in 2014 investigation and

the disciplinary complaint was filed in 2015, the USPTO disciplinary rules of procedure

governing the conduct of both the investigation and the disciplinary proceedings arc

those rules that were promulgated in 2008 and are codified at 37 C.F.R. §l 1.1-1 1.60.

PTO Structure and OED Generally

43. The USPTO was established by Congress as an executive agency of the United States,
within the Department of Commerce. 35 U.S.C. 1.
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44. Notwithstanding its relationship to the Department of Commerce, the USPTO "shall

retain responsibility for decisions regarding the management and administration of its

operations," which includes personnel decisions, administrative functions, and other

management functions "in accordance with this title [35 U.S.C.] and applicable

provisions of law." A/.

45. The powers and duties of the USPTO "shall be vested in an Under Secretary of

Commerce for Intellectual Property and Director of the United States Patent and

Trademark Office," commonly referred to as the PTO Director. 35 U.S.C. 3(a)(1).

46. There are generally two branches of the USPTO-one that focuses on patents

(including applications for patents), and the other that focuses on trademarks (including
applications for trademarks).

47. The USPTO has a special application and registration process for qualifying individuals

who wish to provide members of the public with patent-related legal services. Those

individuals, once qualified, are referred to as cither a registered patent attorney (or

simply "patent attorney") or a registered patent agent (or simply "patent agent").

48. The USPTO has no special application or registration process for qualifying individuals

who wish to provide members of the public with trademark-related legal services.
Generally speaking, in order to qualify to represent another member of the public

before the USPTO in a trademark proceeding (e.g. to assist a client with applying to

register a trademark) or any other non-patent proceeding, the USPTO rules require only
that the representative is a member in good standing of the bar of the highest court of a

State, District of Columbia, or U.S. territory. 5 USC 500, 37 C.F.R. §1 1.14.

49. Within the USPTO, there is an Offiec of Enrollment and Discipline (OED). The

USPTO Director "shall appoint a Director of the Office o f Enrollment and Discipline"
(OED Director). 37 CFR §1 1.2(a).

50. Among its responsibilities, the OED determines whether individuals are qualified to

represent clients in "patent matters" before the USPTO. A "patent matter" may consist

of, for example, drafting and filing a patent application as well as engaging in back-
and-forth communications with the USPTO regarding the application (colloquially, this

"back-and-forth" process is referred to in patent lawyer jargon as "patent prosecution").

51. It has long been recognized that patent matters are unique in that they require not only

competency in patent law and procedures, but they also require some level of

competency in a recognized field of technology (typically at least an undergraduate

degree in engineering or science from an accredited institution). This is because patents

themselves are highly technical documents that are written for persons having

"ordinary skill" in the field of technology that is the subject of the patent application.
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35 U.S.C. 1 12. Thus, patent documents are read not from the perspective of a

hypothetical ordinary layperson but firom the perspective of a hypothetical person of

ordinary skill in the "art" or science field of the invention described in the patent
application.

52. Only registered patent attorneys and registered patent agents are permitted to represent
others in patent matters before the USPTO.

OED Investigations - Personal Duties of OED Director

53. One of the duties of the OED Director is to conduct investigations "of matters involving

possible grounds for discipline of practitioners coming to the attention of the OED

Director." 37 CFR 1 1.2(b)(2). Those duties are explained more fully in 37 CFR 1 1.22.

54. Title 37. Section 1 1.22 sets forth throughout the various duties of "the OED Director"

and others in the course of an investigation.

55. The term "OED Director" in 37 CFR 1 1.22 (as well as other provisions in this subpart)

means "the Director of the Office of Enrollment and Discipline." See 37 C FR 1 1.I.

56. Pursuant to 37 CFR 1 1.22(a), the "OED Director" may "investigate possible grounds
for discipline."

57. An investigation is initiated when the "OED Director" receives "a grievance,

information or evidence from any source suggesting possible grounds for discipline."

37 CFR 1 1.22(a). The term "grievance" means "a written submission from any source

received by the OED Director that presents possible grounds f or discipline of a
specified practitioner." 37 CFR 1 1.1.

58. The OED Director is required to ("shall") conduct a preliminary screening of

information it receives from a possible grievance source. 37 CFR I l.22(d).

59. When the "OED Director" receives a "grievance, information or evidence" regarding

a possible ethics violation, the "OED Director" "shall examine all intbrmation or

evidence concerning possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner." 37 CFR
1 1.22(d).

60. Only the "OED Director" "is authorized to investigate possible grounds for discipline "
37 CFR 1 1.22(a).
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61. In addition, the PTO Rules dictate that "the OED Director""shall notify the practitioner

in writing of the initiation of an investigation into whether a practitioner has engaged

in conduct constituting possible grounds for discipline." 37 CFR 1 1.22(c).

62. The PTO Rules further command that in the course of an investigation, "the OED
Director may request information and evidence regarding possible grounds for

discipline of a practitioner" from the grievant, the practitioner, or another person who

may reasonably be expected to provide information or evidence. 37 C FR 1 1.22(t)(1).

63. In addition, only the "OED Director" may "request information and evidence regarding

possible grounds f or discipline of a practitioner from a non-grieving client" either by

obtaining consent from the practitioner or approval of a Contact Member of the PTO

Committee on Discipline. 37 CFR 1 1.22(1)(2).

The Investigation of Mr. Faro in Violation of 37 CFR 11.22

64. From around 201 1 through present, William ("Will") Covey has been the Director of

the Office of Enrollment and Discipline of the USPTO.

65. On July 1 1, 2014, a letter was addressed to Mr. Faro ti·om the U.S. Patent and

Trademark Offiec, Offiec of Enrollment and Discipline, which notified him of the

commencement of an investigation into whether he engaged in conduct constituting

possible grounds for discipline. Bates No. 48.

66. The July 1 1, 2014 letter stated it was "Re: File No. G2389 REQUEST FOR
INFORMATION AND EVIDENCE UNDER 37 CFR 1 1.22(f)" ("First RFI"). Bates
No. 48.

67. The July 1 1, 2014 letter stated that "OED received information regarding you from Ms.

Katherine Blake" and that "The issuance of this letter means that the information has
passed OED's initial screening process." /d.

68. The First RF1 bears the hand signature of "Jennifer A. Harchick," a staff attorney who
works for OED. Bates No. 52.

69. Contrary to 37 CFR 1 1.22(d), OED Director Covey did not conduct the preliminary

screening of the "information" received from Ms. Blake. Rather, according to the First

RFI, the "initial screening process" was conducted by "the Office of Enrollment and

Discipline" and not "the OED Director" himself, as required by the PTO's regulations.
See Bates No. 48, para. 1.

70. OED Director Covey did not notify Mr. Faro of the commencement of the OED
investigation, contrary to 37 CFR I 1.22(e).
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71. OED Director Covey did not request information from Mr. Faro. Rather the First RF1

(and subsequent RFls) were from Ms. Harchick, who conducted the investigation of

Mr. Faro. This was contrary to 37 CFR 1 1.22(a) and (f), which authorizes only the

OED Director to conduct USPTO request information and conduct investigations.

72. The First RFI stated in relevant part:

You should understand that OED must develop all infonnation regarding

the information received, including that information which may justify or
exonerate the alleged actions of a registered practitioner or mitigate the

seriousness of any violations that may have occurred.

73. The First RFI also stated that:

The OED Director will make no determination for disposition of this matter

until you have been afforded the opportunity to fully state your position

with respect thereto within thirty (30) days of the date of this letter.

Bates No. 51.

74. The First RFI also stated that "Should you need more time to submit your
position, you may request a reasonable extension of time." Bates No. 52.

75. On September I 1, 2014, Mr. Faro responded to the First RFl. Bates No. 54. Mr. Faro

advised staff attorney Harchick that "The same issues raised by EPRT with OED

complaint against me are the subject of litigation now pending in the Federal District

Court for the Southern District of Florida . . ." Bates No. 54. Mr. Faro specifically

requested that the OED review of the matter be abated pending the resolution of the
related malpractice action. /d.

76. In my experience litigating with OED, extensions of time are quite common. It is a

customary and routine practice for the OED Director and practitioner to enter into a

"tolling agreement" which tolls any applicable statute of limitations or other equitable

defense relating to delay (such as laches). The OED Director enters into agreements

that delay the disposition of an investigation, pursuant to 37 C.F.R. I l.34(c) (stating

one-year time limit for filing complaint "shall be tolled if the involved practitioner and

OED Director agree in writing to such tolling.")

77. Tolling agreements are typically granted whenever a practitioner presents a reasonable

basis for their request. For example, 1 have received in the past on behalf of my clients

in OED matters tolling agreements to stay a pending OED investigation pending the
outcome of related civil litigation.
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78. Although the decision to enter into a "tolling agreement" with a practitioner is

discretionary, it could arguably be an abuse of OED Director discretion to blanket

refuse to enter into a tolling agreement where the subject matter of the grievance is

substantially related to an ongoing court proceeding and no reasonable grounds exist

for denying a request to abate a PTO disciplinary mvestigation or proceeding.

79. No extension of time was granted by the OED Director, and the OED Director did not

agree to delay the OED investigation pending resolution of the related malpractice

litigation.

80. [n the First RFI, Ms. Harchick represented to Mr. Faro that OED had an affirmative

duty to "develop all information regarding the information received, including that

information which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of a registered

practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have occurred."

81. An extension of time, if granted, likely would not have adversely impacted the OED

disciplinary proceeding because any tolling agreement would have had the legal effect

of staying any applicable statute of limitations or other delay-based defense, such as

laches. Therefore, the OED Director would not have been prejudiced.

82. If the OED Director had granted an extension of time, then he would have likely had
the opportunity to review the additional infonnation from the parallel malpractice

proceeding, including evidence developed from subsequent orders in that ease that

called into serious question whether any harm was suffered by the patentee as a result

ofany alleged breach ofthe duties alleged in the malpractiec action, which substantially

overlapped with the ethical duties at issue in the OED matter.

83. Evidence of the absence of harm from the parallel malpractice litigation would have

been admissible in the OEDdisciplinary case for at least the issue ofwhether Mr. Faro's

alleged unethical conduct caused, or did not cause, harm. 37 CFR 1 1.54(b)(3) (evidence

of harm or absence of harm as relevant to disciplinary sanctions).

84. As Mr. Faro advised OED staff attorney Harchick, a delay of the OED investigation

was warranted based on the substantial similarity of issues raised in the OED grievance
and the Florida malpractice litigation.

85. No extension was granted.

86. In February 2015, Ms. Harchick issued a Second RFI.

87. The Second RFI, like the First RFI, was not submitted by OED Director Covey.
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88. If the OED Director had granted the extension of time at any time during the

investigation of Mr. Faro, then the OED Director would have received substantial

relevant evidence from the parallel malpractice litigation, including relating to the

absence of harm to the patent owner allegedly as a result of the unintentional

abandonment of U.S. Application No. 09/665,519 (the "'519 Application").

89. Evidence of the absence of harm would either "justify or exonerate the alleged actions
of a registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may have

occurred."

90. According to the First R FI, information to "justify or exonerate the alleged actions" of

Mr. Faro, or that would "mitigate the seriousness" of any purported violations by Mr.

Faro, was information that the OED "must develop" as part of its investigation.

91. Mr. Faro specifically advised the OED, via Ms. 1larchick, of the likely relevancy of the

parallel malpractice proceeding, however, the OED failed to delay its closure of the
investigation or his submission of the alleged results of his investigation to the

Committee on Discipline, discussed below.

92. Because the OED Director failed to extend the OED investigation pending resolution

of the related malpractice litigation, potentially exculpatory or mitigation information

was withheld by the OED Director from the only body at the USPTO which has the

power to make a probable cause determination-the "Committee on Discipline."

Committec on Discipline

93. The OED Director can do one of four things at the conclusion of an OED investigation:

a. Terminate the investigation with no action;

b. Terminate the investigation with a non-disciplinary "warning" letter;

c. Enter into a settlement agreement with the practitioner, for approval by the
USPTO Director; or

d. Institute formal charges upon a finding of probable cause by the "Committee
on Discipline."

94. The "Committee on Discipline" is a kind of "grand jury" for OED disciplinary
proceedings.

95. The Committee on Discipline:

a. consists of certain unidentified USPTO employees;
b. members are not within the supervisory chain of the USPTO Director or OED

Director;

c. meets in panels at the request of the OED Director;

d. reviews evidence presented by the OED Director;
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e. determines whether there is probable cause to file disciplinary charges against

a practitioner based on information provided by the OED Director; and

f. prepares and forwards its own probable cause findings and recommendations
to the OED Director.

96. In practice, little is known about how the "Committee on Discipline" operates, what
evidence it considers, and how it reaches its determinations on probable cause.

97. The secrecy of the Committee on Discipline is purposeful. The USPTO rules prohibit
any inquiry into the workings of the Committee on Discipline that lead to its probable
cause determination. See 37 CFR I 1.23(c) (prohibiting discovery of, or testimony
from, any member of the Committee on Discipline).

98. Since no discovery is permitted from the Committee on Discipline, it is impossible to
know: (a) what information the OED Director provided to the Committee; (b) whether
that information was fair, accurate and complete; (c) whether that information included
exculpatory evidence or was simply a one-sided recital of the prosecutor's theory of
the case.

99. Since no discovery is permitted tiom the Committee on Discipline, there is no effective
way to determine whether the Committee did its job, whether it followed the USPTO
rules, or what information it was provided -and what information was withheld from
It.

100. PTO disciplinary proceedings are quasi-criminal in nature, and fundamental
notions of fairness and due process require that the USPTO not be permitted to insulate
itscIf from scrutiny over whether it complied with its own rules, including 37 CFR

1 1.23.

101. The USPTO's disciplinary rules insulate and protect the OED Director li·om
disclosing information that is necessary to challenge the probable cause determinations
by the Committee on Discipline, in violation of Mr. Faro's right to conliont the
evidence brought against him.

102. Based on the USPTO's institutional rules of secrecy, including the prohibition on
discovery or testimony from any Committee on Discipline member. Mr. Faro was
placed in the impossible position of not knowing what information the OED Director
provided to the Committee, whether the OED Director submitted exculpatory evidence
to the Committee on Discipline, whether the Committee considered that information,
or any other aspect of its probable cause determination.

103. By insulating all manner of Committee on Discipline work fiom the discovery
process, Mr. Faro was denied any fair opportunity or process by which to challenge its
probable cause determination.
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104. The PTO rules, by design and practice, preclude a practitioner such as Mr. Faro
from ever leaming whether the USPTO complied with its own rules, including 37 CFR
11.23, concerning the validity of the composition of the Committee on Discipline;
whether the Committee met in a panel; whether the panel reviewed evidence (and
whether that evidence included exculpatory evidence or not); and whether the
Committee on Discipline was empaneled as required by the USPTO's rules.

No Reasonable Review Process by USPTO Director

105. In 2004, the United States Court of Appeals for the Fourth Circuit issued

Goldstein v. Moatz, 364 F.3d 235 (4d' Cir. 2004).

106. In Goldstein, the Fourth Circuit criticized the USPTO for failing to implement

sufficient remedies for an individual to challenge an inappropriate disciplinary
investigation.

107. The court found that the USPTO titiled to provide the respondent in that case (also

a patent attorney) with any procedural vehicle for challenging the propriety of the
OED's conduct during the investigation.

108. In 2008, the USPTO amended its rules to provide a purported remedy for an
improper disciplinary investigation.

109. 37 CFR 1 1.3(e) now provides a two-part process for seeking review of an
improper OED investigation.

110. First, the practitioner dissatisfied with any action or notice of any employee of the

OED during or at the end of an investigation must tirst lile a "petition" with the OED
Director. 37 CFR 1 1.3(c)

1 1 1. In my experience with filing petitions with the OED Director, they are never

granted. My partner, a former OED staff attorney, has had the same experience-we

are unaware of any instance in which the OED Director has ever exercised his

"supervisory" authority to take action in an investigation. Thus, tiling a petition.

which is necessary, is also a complete waste of time from a practical standpoint.

112. Moreover, there is no deadline for the OED Director to respond to the Petition.

Thus, a practitioner can wait for months for the OED Director to decide. Meanwhile,

the practitioner must still fully cooperate in the OED investigation--and the failure to

cooperate is itself an ethics violation. 37 CFR 1 1.801(b) (prohibiting failure to
cooperate).

1 13. Then, after receiving the OED Director denial of the Petition, the practitioner

must then file another Petition-this one to the USPTO Director. 37 CFR 1 1.3(c).
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The petition to the USPTO Dircetor must include full briefing, including the

opportunity for responses and oral argument.

1 14. The filing of either a petition to the OED Director or a second petition to the

USPTO Director does not abate or delay any OED investigation.

115. The problem with the "remedy" in 37 CFR 1 1.3(c) is that it provides no true
review of an improperly conducted investigation because it takes months and months

to go through the petitions process. By the time the petition process is completed, the

OED investigation-which has continued unabated throughout--simply continues to

move along.

I16. I am unaware of a single USPTO Director decision granting a Petition under 37

CFR 1 1.3(c).

1 17. In Goldstein, the Fourth Circuit wrote that "Under the OED's current system.

nothing but good conscience would prevent an OED investigator &am requiring
responses to an unlimited and burdensome array of questions by noon tomorrow and

bringing charges against an attorney who fails to comply "

1 18. The OED's current system does nothing to alleviate the concerns raised by the

Fourth Circuit in Goldstein regarding the absence of any meaningful access to review

of an improper OED investigation.

I 19. The two-step "Petitions" process is ineffective as a practical matter because the

process for having the Petitions reviewed and ruled on takes far too long; meanwhile,

the investigation still continues (thus, what was the point in filing the Petitions?), and

the practitioner has no choice but to respond or flice discipline for titilure to cooperate.

120. And by the time the second Petition is ruled on, the OED Dircetor likely has already

ended the investigation either by voluntarily terminating the investigation or by filing

a disciplinary complaint against a practitioner.

121. To make matters worse, OED practitioners have no opportunity to seek relief from

a district court before exhausting their "Petitions remedies." Practitioners who have

filed suit to enjoin an improper OED investigation have uniformly been met with

dismissals for absence of subject matter jurisdiction based upon the requirement that

litigants must pursue and exhaust administrative remedies before seeking relief from

an Article III tribunal. See Swyers v. USPTO. 2016 WL 6897788 (E.D. Va. Nov. 21,
2016) (dismissing action challenging RFl process for lack of jurisdiction)
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Improper Appointment of the ALJ

122. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) states in relevant part that a hearing officer in a USPTO

disciplinary proceeding "shall" be "appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C.

§ 3105' or 35 U.S.C. § 32.2"

123. On May 1 1, 2015, the OED Director, through counsel, filed a Disciplinary
Complaint against Mr. Faro. The disciplinary complaint was apparently filed after a

secret meeting of the Committee on Discipline.

124. The OED Director filed the disciplinary complaint withALJ J. Jeremiah Mahoney.

125. ALJ Mahoney is an administrative law judge employed by the United States

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).

I26. ALJ Mahoney was appointed as an ALJ by the Secretary of HUD pursuant to 5
tJ.S.C. 3105.

127. ALJ Mahoney was not appointed as an ALJ by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C.
3105.

128. ALJ Mahoney was not appointed as an ALJ by the USPTO Director under 35

U.S.C. 32 and he was not an officer or cmployee of the USPTO.

129. Since ALJ Mahoney was not appointed by the USPTO Director under cither 5 USC

3105 or 35 USC 32, then the assignment of the underlying OED Disciplinary

Complaint to ALJ Mahoney violated 37 CFR 1 1.39(a), which mandates the specific
requirements for the appointment of an administrative law judge for a USPTO
disciplinary proceeding.

130. Since ALJ Mahoney was improperly appointed, he lacked the power (jurisdiction)

to take evidence, entertain motions, conduct an evidentiary hearing, or issue an initial
decision.

131. On September I5, 2016, ALJ Mahoney issued an "Initial Decision and Order."

5 U.S.C. § 3105 states "Each agency shall appoint as many administrative law judges as are
necessary for proceedings required to be conducted in accordance with sections 556 and 557 of
this title."

2 35 U.S.C. § 32 states the "Director [of the USPTO] shall have the discretion to designate any
attorney who is an officer or employeeofthe United States Patent and Trademark Office to conduct
the hearing required by this section."
APPX 648 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



132. In a footnote at the bottom ofthe first page of the "Initial Decision," ALJ Mahoney

wrote that "Pursuant to an Interagency Agreement in effect beginning March 26, 2013,

Administrative Law Judges of the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban

Development are authorized to hear cases brought by the U.S. Patent and Trademark

Office." See Initial Decision at I n.1. This was the only acknowledgement in the
record which reflected why this matter was assigned to a hearing officer from HUD.

133. A copy of the USPTO-IlUD Interagency Agreement is attached as Exhibit B.

134. I received a copy of the attached Interagency Agreement by a FOlA request to the

USPTO.

135. The attached Interagency Agreement indicates that it is being entered into between

the USPTO and HUD pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 2(b)(5), which is a general statutory

provision that allows the USPTO to "borrow" services, equipment, personnel and

facilities from other federal government departments, on a reimbursable basis.3

136. The Interagency Agreement was not an "appointment" of any HUD judges "under"

either 5 USC 3105 or 35 USC 32, as required by 37 CFR 1 1.39(a).

137. The Interagency Agreement was not entered by the USPTO Director, as required

by 37 CFR 1 1.39(a). Rather the document was signed by the OED Director and the

USPTO's Chief Financial Officer.

138. 35 U.S.C. 2(b)(5) is a general rule. In contrast, 37 CFR 1 1.39(a) is a specific rule.
Under the general axiom of statutory construction, when a general rule and specific
rule conflict, then the specific rule controls to avoid rendering it superfluous.
Karczewski v. DCII Mission Valley Ll,C, 862 F.3d 1006, 1016 (9 ' Cir. 2017) ("When
confronted with an irreconcilable conflict in two legal provisions, we may apply the
interpretive principle that the specific governs over the general. In essence, the general
rule applies unless a more specific rule provides otherwise.")

139. The general agency borrowing authority does not apply to any specific type of
person for any specific type of proceeding. In contrast, the regulation imposes a
specific competency requirement (i.e. appointment by the USPTO Director), for a
specific person (i.e. a hearing officer), for a specific purpose (i.e. for conducting a
disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Title 37, subpart 11). Contrary to the general
agency borrowing authority, the USPTO has mandated an additional requirement for

335 U.S.C. §2(b)(5) states that "The [USPTO]... may use, with their consent. services, equipment,
personnel, and facilities of other departments, agencies, and instrumentalities of the Federal
Government, on a reimbursable basis, and cooperate with such other departments, agencies, and
instrumentalities in the establishment and use of services, equipment, and facilities of the Office;
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any and every ALJ to be authorized and empowered to conduct a disciplinary
proceeding pursuant to Part 1 1 of Title 37.

140. In the present proceeding, the entire process mandated by 37 C.F.R. § 1 I.39(a) was
ignored and disregarded by the OED Director, who chose to file his complaint with a
Tribunal that was not appointed as required by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a). See Ft. Stewart
Sch. v. Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 495 U.S. 641, 654 (1990) ("It is a familiar rule of
administrative law that an agency must abide by its own regulations.") (citations
omitted); Reuters, Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 (D.C. Cir. 1986) ("Simply stated,
rules are rules, and fidelity to the rules which have been properly promulgated,
consistent with applicable statutory requirements, is required of those to whom
Congress has entrusted the regulatory missions of modern life.").4

141. The defective appointment of a judicial officer goes to the very power of a tribunal.
See Bendiburg v. Dempsey, 692 F. Supp. 1354, 1358 (N.D. Ga. 1988) (citing cases in
which "the judicial acts taken by . . . improperly appointed judges . . . were ruled
nullities for want of jurisdiction"). This is a logical extension of those cases that
uniformly hold that the decisions and rulings of tribunals lacking power are nullities.
See, e.g., Steel Co. v. Citizens Jor a Retter Env't, 523 U.S. 83, 101-03 (1998) ("For a
court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitutionality of a state or federal law
when it has no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a court to act ultra vires.").

142. Proceedings before improper tribunals are void. Gojack v. United States, 384 U.S.
702, 707 n.6 (1966) ("It is a rule of law very well settled, that if there is no jurisdiction
over the subject-matter, the proceeding is void."); Stutsman Cnty. v. Wallace, 142 U.S.
293, 305 (1892) ("[w]hen a court or other officer acts without jurisdiction of the subject
matter, all is void and such acts are regarded in law as nullities[.]"). Any actions or
orders issued in a proceeding lacking subject matter jurisdiction are void and a legal
nullity. See. e.g., Temp. Empt.. Servs. v. Trinity Marine Group, inc., 261 F.3d 456,
463-466 (5th Cir. 2001) (vacating ALI decision based on lack of subject matter
jurisdiction); Tiger Natural Gas, Inc. v. United States, 61 Fed. Cl. 287, 290 n.4 (2004)
("[A]n appeal to an agency board of contract appeals is considered an 'absolute nullity'
when such board lacks jurisdiction over the matter.").

143. The legislative history of37 CFR 11.39 supports the conclusion that ALI Mahoney
was not validly appointed as required by federal law.

144. In 1985, the USPTO promulgated 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a) (the predecessor to current
37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a)), concerning the appointment of ALJs in disciplinary proceedings.
See 50 Fed. Reg. 5158, 5 I83 (Feb. 6, 1985). In its original form, 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a)
stated:

4 Plaintiff-or in this case, the Petitioner OED Director--bears the burden of proving the existence
of subject matter jurisdiction. See. e.g., Evans v. B.F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 642, 647 (4* Cir.
1999).
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Appointntent. An administrative law judge, appointed under 5 U.S.C. 3105,
shall conduct disciplinary proceedings as provided by this part.

145. As originally promulgated, it mattered not who appointed an administrative law
judge to conduct a USPTO disciplinary proceeding. All that was required was that the
ALJ was appointed by somebody under 5 U.S.C. § 3105. See id. Under the old
regulation, any ALJ appointed under 5 U.S.C. § 3105-including one appointed by
someone other than the USPTO Director, such as an ALJ detailed from another
agency-was authorized to conduct such proceedings.

146. In 2008, the USPTO amended its regulations governing who was competent to
serve as a hearing officer in a USPTO disciplinary proceeding. See 73 Fed. Reg. 47650
(Aug. 14, 2008).

147. As amended, 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) provided (and provides to this day) a new ALJ
competency requirement:

Appointment. A hearing officer, appointed by the USPTO Director under 5
U.S.C. 3105 or 35 U.S.C. 32, shall conduct disciplinary proceedings as
provided by this Part.

See id. (underline added to show new language added to regulation).

148. Title 37, Section I 1.39(a) was promulgated after the enactment of the general
borrowing statute. Thus, the USPTO was well aware of the existing statutory scheme
when it promulgated Section I1.39(a). Rather than carve out an exception for borrowed
ALJs, the USPTO decided to provide respondents in USPTO disciplinary proceedings
with the right to a hearing before an ALJ who was appointed "by the USPTO Director"
under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.

149. Consequently, any attempt to rely upon 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5) as overriding the
regulatory mandate in Title 37, Section 1 1.39(a), is inconsistent with the regulatory
history ofthe USPTO's rules and leads to the manifestly crroncous result that a general
law controls over a specific law on the same subject matter. RadLAX Gateway Ilotel,
LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) ("when "a general permission or
prohibition is contradicted by a specific prohibition or permission" . . . "the specific
provision is construed as the exception."). The "specific overrides the general" canon
of construction ensures that a "narrow, precise, and specific" regulation is not
overridden by another provision "covering a more generalized spectrum"of issues. See
Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 550 (1974) (holding that Indian preference statute
"is a specific provision applying to a very specific situation" and controls over a law of
"general application").

APPX 651 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



PTO Disciplinary Procedures

150. Respondents in USPTO disciplinary proceedings have no right to take discovery.

151. Discovery in USPTO disciplinary proceedings are only permitted by motion,
under whatever terms or conditions that the ALJ deems are just. 37 CFR 1 1.52.

152. Respondents in USPTO disciplinary proecedings are not permitted to take
discovery depositions. They are only allowed to conduct de hene esse depositions of
trial witnesses-this is deposition in lieu of live hearing appearance. 37 CFR 11.51.
Thus, a respondent will not know the testimony of an adverse witness until the
adverse witness testifies at the hearing.

153. The USPTO disciplinary rules do not follow the Federal Rules of Evidence. In
filet, they follow no rules of evidence. 37 CFR 1 1.50 ("The rules of evidence
prevailing in courts of law and equity are not controlling in hearings in disciplinary
proecedings.").

l 54. The only guidance on evidence in USPTO discipline matters is as follows:

"However, the hearing officer [ALJ J shall exclude evidence that is irrelevant,
immaterial, or unduly repetitious." ld.

155. This very loose standard pennits, for example, the admission of hearsay (or
double, triple, etc. hearsay), information that has not been authenticated, information
not based on personal knowledge, opinions from lay witnesses, etc. There is no rule
prohibiting such "evidence" so long as it is not "irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly
repetitious."

156. Because the PTO Rules fail to adopt any meaningful rules of evidence, documents
or testimony that would never be admitted in a federal or state court proceeding often
is admitted in USPTO disciplinary cases.

157. Moreover, the absence of meaningful evidentiary standards is even more
problematic considering that USPTO disciplinary eases are quasi criminal in nature.
See In re Ryghlo, 390 U.S. 544 (1968).

158. The USPTO disciplinary rules impose no requirement on the OED Director to
provide exculpatory information to a Respondent. Thus, the OED Director may have
possession of exculpatory information, or information that may result in lesser
discipline, and yet nothing compels their production to a respondent.

159. The USPTO disciplinary procedures also do not follow, and are not governed by,
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.
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160. By contrast, the ABA Model Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement
sets forth a consistent governing standard with respect to the receipt of
evidence as follows:

Proceedings Governed by Rules of Civil Procedure and Evidence. Except
as otherwise provided in these rules, the . . . [state rules of civil procedure]
and the [state rules of evidence in civil nonjury matters] apply in discipline
and disability cases. Model Enforcement Rule 18.2.

Erroneous Legal Decisions

161. On September 15, 2016, ALJ Mahoney issued an Initial Decision.

162. The Initial Decision included several clear crrors of law.

First Error: 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8)

163. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) because he

did not provide his clients with copies of the Board's 2009 decision and abandonment.

This finding was plain crror in light of the legal standard, which provides in relevant

part:

Conduct which constitutes a violation of [37 CFR 10.23(a) and (b)] of

this section includes, but is not limited to . . .

(8) Failing to inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify

the Office of an inability to notify a client or former client of

correspondence received from the Office or the elient's or former

client's opponent in an inter partes proceeding before the Office when

the correspondence

(i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the

Office,
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or former

client and

(iii) is correspondence of which a reasonable practitioner would
believe under the circumstances the client or former client

should be notified.

164. 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) expressly requires that correspondence from the

USPTO "is received by the practitioner." The rule does not proscribe "should

have received" conduct, but rather is predicated on the practitioner's actual
receipt of correspondence and thereafter failing to inform the client about that

correspondence.
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165. The record before the ALJ was undisputed that Mr. Faro did not receive

either the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of Abandonment.

166. In fact, ALJ Mahoney specifically found that Mr. Faro did not receive either

the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of Abandonment. Initial Decision

at 19. ALJ Mahoney found that the cause of the non-receipt was "Mr. Faro's

own negligence that prevented him from receiving" the 2009 communications.
ld.

167. However, the issue under 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) requires a finding, by clear

and convincing evidence, that Mr. Faro actually received correspondence and
failed to inform his client about that correspondence.

168. Such a finding cannot stand because the ALJ also fbund that Mr. Faro did

not receive the correspondence. That he should have received it-which is what

the ALJ found-is not the test for a violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8). Actual
receipt is necessary.

I69. In addition, the ALJ 1bund that Mr. Faro did not inform his elients about a

Third Final Rejection, however, this finding also fails in light of the plain legal

standard in Rule 10.23(c)(8).

170. The ALJ fbund that Mr. Faro did in fact inform his clients about the Third

Final Rejection. Initial Decision at 18-19. Mr. Faro "informed" his elient

"about" the Third Final Rejection. There is nothing in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) that
required Mr. Faro to provide a copy of the Third Final Rejection to his lay

clients. All the rule requires is to provide notice. Mr. Faro plainly provided

notice to his clients and informed them that certain patent claims were allowable

if rewritten-as addressed in the Initial Decision at 18-19.

171. Without citation to any legal authority whatsoever, ALJ Mahoney found

that Mr. Faro's notice to his client was not good enough; specifically, Mahoney

found that Mr. Faro needed to do more. But nothing in the rule defines what,

exactly. must be communicated--and how much communication is sufficient
communication.

172. The reason for this is that Section 10.23(c)(8) simply requires informing the

client of Mr. Faro's receipt of information from the USPTO. The rule literally

proscribes "failing to inform a client . . . of correspondence received fiom the
Office."
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173. Nothing in the USPTO Rules defines or sets any limit for the quantum of

information, leaving that to the exercise of the practitioner's independent
professional judgment in deciding how to explain complicated subject matter

to lay elients.

174. The ALJ's decision makes a post hoc unreasonable interpretation of the

plain language of37 CFR 10.23(c)(8). The ALJ read into the plain language of
the rules a requirement that does not exist-a requirement that the quantum of

disclosure had to meet a new "informed decision" requirement. See initial

Decision at 19, which states that the disclosure needed was so that EPRT could

make "an informed decision about a preferred course of action."

175. If the USPTO wanted to include an informed consent (or "informed

decision") requirement in its rule, then it could have easily done so-just as it

does in many of its other Rules of Professional Conduct. Sce, e.g., 37 CFR

1 1.104(a)(I) (duty to "promptly inform the elient of any decision or
circumstance with respect to which the client's informed consent"), 37 CFR

1 1.104(b) ("A practitioner shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably

necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions regarding the

representation").

176. Indeed, the Al J decision simply adopts the language of a different ethics

rule-one found in the new USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct (37 CFR

1 1.104(b)) --and attempts to read that new language from a different rule in a

different body of ethics rules into the 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8). If the ALJ's

interpretation were true, then the quantum of information set forth in 37 CFR

11.104(b) ("to the extent reasonably neecssary to permit the elient to make

informed decisions") would be nugatory: According to Mahoney, the word

"inform" about "receipt" in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) means the same as "explain a

matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the elient to make informed
decisions."

177. However, the ALJ reads language into the rule that does not exist in the rule.

The court's job is to mterpret the rule as written, not to twist and bend the rules

to try to meet the facts, or to change the rules to apply a new interpretation that

is unsupported by the plain language of the rule itself.

178. Because the ALJ plainly erred in his interpretation of the unambiguous

language in Section 10.23(c)(8), that crror of interpretation led to the erroneous

conclusion that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8)
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Second Error: 37 CFR 10.23(a) Violation Based on 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8)

179. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(a) based on his
purported violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8).

180. Since Mr. Faro did not violate 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8), and since that was the sole

basis upon which the AI J found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(a), the ALJ

erred in concluding that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(a).

Third Error: 37 CFR 10.84(a) - No Evidence of Intent

181. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.84(a), which

provides, "A practitioner shall not intentionally . . . (1) fail to seek the lawful
objectives of a client . . . ."

182. The Initial Decision read "intentional" out of 37 CFR 10.84(a) and states as

follows: "Unlike the American Bar Association's now-defunct Code of Professional

Responsibility, the PTO's Disciplinary Rules do not require a practitioner's conduct
to be intentional." Initial Decision at 21.

183. The Initial Decision is plainly incorrect. Section 10.84(a), just like its counterpart
in the ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility DR 7-101(A)(1) includes the

preface that the practitioner "shall not intentionally . . ."

184. After concluding, crroneously, that Rule 10.84(a) does not require proof of intent,
the Initial Decision found that "Neglectful conduct that derails a client's objectives is

thus sanctionable under Section 10.84(a)." Initial Decision at 21.

185. The plain crror in the Initial Decision interpretation of Section 10.84(a), in which

the ALJ read the rule as a negligence-based rule when it recluires proof of specific
intent-was plainly wrong.

Fourth Error: Overstated or Unproven "Economic Harm"

186. As part of its analysis of Sanctions, the Initial District considered "the amount of
the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner's misconduct." 37 CFR

I 1.54(b)(3).

187. The court ignored the fact that, in Mr. Faro's professional judgment, the patent

application claims that the client wanted were not directed to patentable subject

matter. The claims that the patent examiner had allowed were very narrow

"dependent claims" and did not encompass the broader subject matter that was the
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client's desired scope of patent protection. Accordingly, there was no nexus between

the ethical breaches and any proven damages claim.

188. All elements of a elaim in an OED disciplinary proceeding, including harm to the
grievant, must be proven by evidence which is "clear" and "convincing." 37 CFR
1 1.49. Such proof requires "evidence which produces in the mind of the trier of fact a
firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established,

evidence so clear, direct and weighty and convincing as to enable [the fact finder] to

come to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts in

issue." See In re Kelber, PTO Proc. No. D2006-13 at 5 (Init. Dec. Sept. 23, 2008)

(quoting Cruzan v. Missouri Dep 't of f lealth, 497 U.S. 261, 285 n.I I (1990)).

189. The Initial Decision found an "impossible to quantify" amount of "economic

harm." The court stated that attempting to value the patent was an "exercise in

futility." So, instead of finding any actual economic harm, the Initial Decision relied

on the fees paid to Mr. Faro. However, there was no nexus shown between those

costs and any purported harm. The $35,000 - $45,000 in fee payments were for

prosecution expenses that Mr. Faro had undeniably provided, and that the client had

undeniable received. Mr. Faro made no guarantee of success, and the titet that the

client was not able to achieve its ultimate legal objective-because the true scope of

its invention, the relevant scope, was not patentable-is not a measure of any harm

caused by Mr. Faro.

190. Without any evidence cited, the Initial Decision stated that EPRT was "left

economically weaker" by its attempts to get a patent. However, that is simply

restating the fact that EPRT paid fees during patent prosecution.

191. The court also compounded its "economic harm" crror by relying upon the fact

that Mr. Faro and EPRT were then concurrently involved in a civil action. Ilowever,

the Initial Decision failed to address the merits of that dispute or the end result, in

which the action ultimately terminated. The tilet that the parties were engaged in
litigation should not have been charged as a type of "economic harm." The case was

a contested litigation, and ultimately it resolved in dismissal with prejudice after the

district court determined an absence or de minimis damages.

192. In light of the foregoing, m my opinion, EPRT did not meet its high burden of

proving economic harm caused by Mr. Faro. Yet the finding of economic harm

certainly contributed to the punishment imposed.

5 Disciplinary decisions of the USPTO are "published" on the Freedom of Information Act
"Reading Room" on the USPTO's website. The Kelber decision is available at
https://foiadocuments.uspto.gov/oed/0531 dis 2008-09-23.pdf.
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Fifth Error: The Punishment was Unduly Punitive

193. Based on the foregoing, it is my opinion that the proven misconduct-even
accepting the legal correctness of the Initial Decision-did not warrant as severe of a
sanction as an eight-month license suspension.

194. In reality, an 8-month license suspension does not mean automatic reinstatement.
There is no automatic reinstatement at the USPTO. Mr. Faro must apply for
reinstatement, a process which could add significant delay that effectively is an
extension of his license suspension.

195. In my experience with representing practitioners at OED, this particular agency is
particularly harsh and imposes some unusually lengthy suspension periods for which
other tribunals would customarily impose either a short suspension or a reprimand or
admonition.

196. 1 further consider the fact that while Mr. Faro may very well be a young 78, a
substantial license suspension very well could significantly hinder, if not altogether
terminate altogether, his legal career.

197. The purpose of lawyer discipline is not to pumsh the lawyer but to deter others
and protect the public. In my opinion the USPTO punished Mr. Faro much too
harshly and this should have been either a reprimand with probated suspension.

The Federal Ci rcuit's Judgment Provides
No Explanation for Why Mr. Faro Was Disciplined

198. The Initial Decision fiom the AlJ was only a recommendation.

199. Mr. Faro timely appealed the Initial Decision to the USPTO Director.

200. Because of his appeal, by operation of law, the Initial Decision was not a final
decision of the USPTO. 37 CFR 1 1.55(i).

201. On August 2, 2017, the USPTO Director issued a Final Order pursuant to 37 CFR
1 1.55.

202. On August 17, 2017, Mr. Faro filed a Request for Reconsideration, which stayed
the Final Order. 37 CFR 1 1.56(c).

203. The USPTO Director denied the Request for Reconsideration.

204. After exhausting his administrative remedies, on March I 8, 2018, Mr. Faro filed a
petition for review of the agency's decision with the U.S. District Court for the
Eastern District of Virginia.
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205. On December 28, 2018, the Eastern District of Virginia issued an Order affirming
the PTO decision and denying his petition.

206. Mr. Faro appealed to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.

207. Shortly after oral argument, on February 11, 2020, the Federal Circuit issued a
one-word Per Curium judgment: "Affirmed. See Fed. Cir. R. 36."

208. The Federal Circuit judgment fails to provide any explanation whatsoever
regarding the grounds for its affirmance. For example, it is unclear whether the court
is in fact affinning on the grounds set forth in the District Court's decision, or on
some other bases.

209. The Federal Circuit's one-word summary affirmance provides little basis for
another tribunal to ascertain what was actually decided, and by what body.

210. Moreover, in the context of reciprocal discipline, another tribunal, including the
Supreme Court of Florida, should look to the Federal Circuit's decision as the last
word on Mr. Faro's discipline. However, the one-word summary affirmance provides
no guidance for this or any other Tribunal in determining what the Federal Circuit
actually decided regarding Mr. Faro's discipline.

FURTHER AFFIANT SAYETH NAUGHT

Michael E. McCabe, Jr.

The foregoing instrument was sworn to and subscribed befor me by MICHAEL E.

McCABE, JR. by means of physical presence or [ ] online notarization, who is personally known

to me or who has produced (\d£ ( Q>fl$o as

identification on 3 day of , 2020.

R UBLIC - STATE OF y f/ AT LARGE

My commission expires:

CReg TRAM-ANH CREIGHTON
NOTARY PUBLIC

, Montgomery County
e nowo State of Maryland
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Michael E. McCabe, Jr.
McCabe Ali LLP

9233 Fall River Lane, Potomac, MD 20854
mike@mecabeali.com; (301) 798-1 I 10

Blog: www.1PethicsLaw.com
Website: www.mecabeali.com

LEGAL EXPERIENCE:

Experienced expert in field of Intellectual Property Law including representation of patent and
trademark attorneys, law firms, corporate counsel, and federal government employees involving
legal ethics matters. Decades of Intellectual Property and commercial litigation experience for
multi-national corporate clients in patent and trademark related cases before federal courts in
many jurisdictions. Nationally-recognized speaker on legal ethics and regulatory compliance,
particularly relating to Intellectual Property law. Credited as a leading attorney in matters
involving application of rules of ethics in the practice of patent and trademark law.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, ETHlCS & LITIGATION:

McCabe Ali LLP, Intellectual Property (IP) Ethics Law, Potomac, MD 2020 to Present
McCabe Law LLC, Intellectual Property (IP) lithics Law, Potomac, MD 2017-2020

• Founded practiec as registered Patent Attorney to better serve IP clients with proactive risk
management counsel by ensuring that business and legal affairs are compliant with
applicable federal and state Rules of Professional Conduct

• Utilize knowledge as prior Officer and Director of multinational IP Law Firm to assist
clients, including in-house corporate counsel and law lirms, in formulating best practices
within their organizations regarding risk management, avoidance of conflicts of interest,
proper identification of clients, and management oversight responsibilities

• Expert in representing clients involved in USPTO Ethics Investigations and commended for
detailed knowledge in unique and complex niche of ethics within IP law, including
transactional and litigation matters

• Defend lawyers and patent agents charged with ethics violations in disciplinary enfbreement
actions brought by the federal government and courts, including matters involving
allegations of breach of fiduciary duty, lack of competency, UPL, conflicts of interest,
duties to clients, inequitable conduct, Rule I I violations, sanctions, litigation misconduct,
patent and trademark prosecution misconduct, lawyer mobility issues, personal misconduct
and criminal convictions

• Recognized as dynamic speaker, authoritative commentator, and published author on ethical
issues in practice of intellectual property law

Funk & Bolton, PA, General Practice Law Firm 201 I-2017
Partner & Attorney Ethics Practice Group Founder

Affidavit Exhibit A
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• Created and initiated practice group in general practice law linn focused on representation
of patent and trademark lawyers in ethics counseling, government investigations, and formal
disciplinary proceedings against IP practitioners

• Hired by U.S. Department of Justice as Special Ethics Counsel to represent a federal
government patent attorney accused by the USPTO of unethical conduct

• Publicly commended by prominent legal commentators for launching lirst-ever niche-
focused law blog concentrating on intellectual property and legal ethics, which addresses
new developments, interpretations, resources, and best practices in informative and user-
friendly lormat

• Published chapter by American Bar Association in multiple editions of reference book
regarding confidentiality and the attorney-client privilege in the practice of IP law

• Represented institutional clients in patent and other commercial claims before federal courts
and administrative ageneics

Oblon, Spivak, LLP, Intellectual Property Law, Alexandria, VA 1999-2011
Partner, Director & Risk Management Chair

• Represented domestic and foreign clients in patent litigation involving diverse areas of
technology. drafted opinions relating to patent validity and infringement, and prepared and
prosecuted patent applications before the USPTO

• Promoted by senior management to Chief Legal Compliance Officer to manage tirm's
functions in legal ethics, professional responsibility, risk management. and malpractice

avoidance to ensure PTO and state ethics compliance

• Served as Arbitrator in binding proceeding to resolve ownership dispute of IP rights
between competing clients through review of legal briefs, documentary evidence and
witness testimony to reach appropriate decision

• Elected to Shareholder and Board of Directors due to trusting reputation lor liaison and
discretion with strong analytical and communication skills to serve interests of attorneys and
firm

• Recognized as Intellectual Property expert through IP published works and speaking
engagements in legal and academia communities (see below list)

McDermott, Will & Emery, Partner. IP Litigation, Washington, DC 1995-1999
(Merged with Lowe, Price, LeBlane & Becker)

Shapiro & Olander, Associate, General Practiec, Baltimore, MD 1992-1995
• Represented corporate and individual clients in litigating patent, trademark, and copyright

disputes before federal district courts and the International Trade Commission
• Initiated IP Department (at Shapiro) to represent inventors and companies in patent and

trademark clearances, opinions, applications, IP licensing rights, and employer contract
protocols for ownership of intellectual property
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GOVERNMENT PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

NASA / Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD 1985-1989
Engineer
• Conducted microgravity testing of new types of heat transfer systems for integration in the

NASA Space Station, analyzed performance data, and delivered recommendations to senior
management

• Served as Goddard representative in collaboration with U.S. Air Force to develop high-
power spacecraft thermal management systems, and authored and presented technical paper
on project results at international engineering conference

HONORS/AWARDS:

• Included multiple times in Washington DC Best Lawyer's List for patent and intellectual
property law, and Super Lawyers for professional liability, 2018-2020

• Elected as Baltimore "Patent Lawyer of the Year" in 2015 by Best Lan yers
• Awarded "Best Legal Blog of 2016" for niche and specialty area
• Chair, ABA-IP Law Section Ethics and Professional Resp. Committee, 2018-Present
• Co-Chair, ABA-IP Law Section Ethics and Prof. Resp. Committee - 2016-2018
• Liaison, ABA Pro Bono Committee, ABA-IP Law Section 2019-Present
• Liaison, SOC Committee on Ethics and Professionalism, ABA-IP Law Section 20l8-19
• Member, ABA Working Group on Resolution 10A - 2019
• Named as one of World's Leading IP Strategists by Intellectual Asset Management, 2018
• Rated "AV Preeminent Peer Review" for highest level of professional excellence, 2018-20

EDUCATION / LICENSING:

University of Baltimore School of Law, Baltimore, MD, Juris Doctor, 1992
Magna cum laude

• Law Review and National Moot Court Competition (Team Captain)
• American Jurisprudence book award for highest grade in Civil Procedure, Torts, Criminal

Law and Constitutional Law

University of Maryland, College Park, MD.
Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering 1985

Professional Licenses:
• Maryland (1992), District of Columbia (1993) and Virginia (2009)
• U.S. District Courts Maryland, District of Columbia, E.D. and W D. Virginia
• U.S. Court of Appeals - First, Fourth, D.C. and Federal Circuits
• U.S. Supreme Court
• USPTO Registered Patent Attorney (No. 37,182, since 1993)
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TEACHING / LECTURING EXPERIENCE:

Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD 2014-2019
• Guest Lecturer - Patent Law

Antonin Scalia Law School - George Mason University, Arlington, VA 2008-2011
• Guest Lecturer Advanced Patent Law
• Adjunct Profi'ssor - Design Patent Law

Virginia State Har Professionalism Course, Arlington, VA 201 1-2014;
• Faculty - Annual all-day ethics course for new Virginia Bar members. 2019-2022

General ethics issues and specialty lectures for new IP lawyers

SPEECHES / PRESENTATIONS:

• Navigating Conunon Pitfalls in IP Practice, webinar presented for Oregon State Bar IP
Section (Nov. 6, 2020) (speaker)

• Ethics Issues Relating to Working Remotely, webinar presented for the American
Intellectual Property Law Association (Nov. 5, 2020) (panelist)

• Patent Prosecution Malpractice: Minimizing the Risk of Claims, webinar presented for
Strafford CLE (July 14, 2020) (speaker)

• Reducing Stress and Avoiding Mistakes in the Post-COVID-19 Era, webinar presented for
the ABA-Intellectual Property Law Section Spring CLE (June 18, 2020) (moderator)

• The USPTO's Focus on Declarations, webinar presented for the 2020 ABA-Intellectual
Property 1 aw Section Annual Meeting (June 1, 2020) (moderator)

• Ethics for IP Lawyers, presented at State Bar for Arizona Sixth Annual CLE in the
Garden, Phoenix, AZ (Feb. 25, 2020) (speaker)

• Harry L Carrico Virginia State Bar Profi ssionalism Course, presented on General Ethics
and Intellectual Property Ethics, McLean, VA (Jan. 8, 2020) (speaker)

• Recent Developments in Patent and Trademark Ethics, presented at 2019 Intellectual
Property Law and E-Commerce Seminar, Iowa State Bar Association, Des Moines, IA
(Dec. 17, 2019) (speaker)

• Avoiding Conflicts of Interest and Other Ethical Dilenunas on the IP Bridge, presented at
Sixth Annual Meeting of the Center for the Protection of Intellectual Property, Antonin
Scalia Law School, George Mason University, Arlington, VA (Oct. 4, 2019) (speaker)

APPX 663 (By Respondent) 4
Case NO. SC18-1279



• Inadvertent Disclosure and Waiver of Privilege: Legal and Ethical Dilenunas for the IP
Practitioner, presented at the American Bar Association IP Law Section Fall Meeting,
San Antonio, TX (Oct. 3, 2019) (speaker)

• 20 / 9 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, Avoiding Common Conflicts of Interest in
IP Law Practice, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual Property / Lawyers
Professional Liability Webinar Series (June 26, 2019 and Sept. 27, 2019) (speaker)

• Navigating Conflicts and Other Ethical Dilenunas in IP Law Practice, in-house CLE
presented to McDonnell Boehnen Hulbert & Berghoff LLP, Chicago, 1L (June 21, 2019)
(speaker)

• Ethics Issues for IP Counsel Working Through Foreign Associates and Intermediaries, in-
house CLE presented to Loeb & Loeb LLP, Chicago, IL (June 20, 2019) (speaker)

• Navigating Conflicts of Interest in Patent and Trademark Law, webinar presented to the
Virginia State Bar Intellectual Property Law Section (May 9, 2019) (speaker)

• Trademark Representation Risks: Best Practices for Reducing Malpractice and Ethics
Complaints, webinar sponsored by Strafford CLE (May 8, 2019) (speaker)

• /ntellectual Property Malpractice 'lhe Parade of llorribles, presented via phone to the
Tennessee Intellectual Property Law Association 2019 Spring Symposium, Nashville,
TN (May 3, 2019) (speaker)

• Ethics for the IP Practitioner, presented at the Washington State Bar Association 24*
Annual Intellectual Property Institute, Seattle, WA (Apr. 17, 2019) (speaker)

• The Rocks and IIard Places for IP Practitioners, presented at 2019 ABA-IP Law Annual
Meeting and 34* Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 12,
2019) (moderator)

• Disqualification: Lessons fi·om Recent Cases, webinar sponsored by IPO Chat Channel
(Apr. 10, 2019) (speaker)

• Introduction to Patent Law. guest lecture at Johns Hopkins University - Carey Business
School, Baltimore, MD (Apr. 3, 2019) (speaker)

• 20/9 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, Avoiding Common Conflicts of Interest in
IP Law Practice, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual Property / Lawyers
Professional Liability Webinar Series (Mar. 27, 2019) (speaker)

• Patent Prosecution Malpractice: Minimizing the Risk of Claims, webinar sponsored by
Strafford CLE Webinars (Feb. 21, 2019) (speaker)
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• Attorney Wellness and Competency, moderator of panel discussion, presented to the Giles S.
Rich American Inns of Court and the George Washington University School of Law,
Washington, D.C. (Feb. 19, 2019) (moderator)

• Getting Physical: The Ethics ofAttorney-Client Sexual Relations, presented at 2019 AIPLA
Mid-Winter Institute, Tampa, FL (Feb. 2, 2019) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Dec. l 2, 2018) (speaker)

• The Ethics of Legal Process Outsourcing |¼>r the IP Attorney, presented to Cincinnati
lutellectual Property Law Association, Cincinnati, OH (Dec. 1 1, 2018) (speaker)

• No Candy fi>r You: Tricky Ethics Issues |¼>r IP La½yers, presented at UT Law 23"1 Annual
Advanced Patent Law Institute, Austin, TX (Nov. 1, 2018) (speaker)

• Conflicts of Interest in Intellectual Property Law, presented at Intellectual Property
Owners Association Annual Meeting, Chicago, lL (Sept. 25, 2018) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Manageinent Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Sept. 6, 2018) (speaker)

• 7he 7 Ilahits of Highly Ethical IP Lauyers, presented at 13"' Annual Door County
(Wisconsin) Intellectual Property Academy, Sturgeon Bay, WI (July 19, 2018) (speaker)

• Exploring Ethical Requircinents When Working Through the Patent and Trademark Practice,
presented at ACI's 4d' Annual Post Grant PTO Proceedings, Washington, D.C. (July 18,
2018) (speaker)

• Evaluating Ethical Concerns f¼>r the Biosimilars Industry, presented at ACI's 90' Annual
Summit on Biosimilars, New York, NY (June 26, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethical Issues fè>r IP Lanyers, in-house ethics seminar presented for Hauptman Ham, LLP,
Alexandria, VA (May 30, 2018) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (May 21, 2018) (speaker)

• Social Media Policies fi>r Law Firms, presented at the ABA Section of Taxation 2018
Annual Meeting, Washington, D.C. (May 12, 2018) (speaker)
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• Multijurisdictional Practice and the Modern IP Attorney, presented at the ABA-1P Law
Section 33d Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 19,
2018) (speaker)

• Ethical Considerationsfor Teleworking and Multijurisdictional Practice for the IP Lanyer,
presented at Oregon Patent Law Association (OPLA) - Salishan Patent Law Conference,
Gleneden Beach, OR (Apr. 14, 2018) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Managernent Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Mar. 26, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethics lkfore the PIAB, presented at 2018 PTAB Bar Association Annual Conference,
Washington, DC (Mar. 23, 2018) (speaker)

• Risky Business -- Ethical Issues & Professional Considerations for Young Lanyers, webinar
sponsored by ABA-Young Lawyers Action Group (YLAG) and ABA-IP Section Ethics
and Professional Responsibility Committee (Mar. 9, 20l8) (speaker)

• Brave New World: Technology Advances Create Ethical Risks for IP Attorneys, presented at
13th Annual Advanced Patent Law Institute - The University of Texas School of Law,
Alexandria, VA (Mar. 1, 2018) (speaker)

• IP and I'echnology: Ethical Risks, presented at 2018 Utah IP Summit- Intellectual
Property Section of the Utah State Bar, Salt Lake City, UT (Feb. 23, 2018) (speaker)

• Conflicts of interest in IP Law: Ethical Problems & Their Solutions, in-house ethics seminar
presented for Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman, McLean VA (Feb. 6, 2018) (speaker)

• What Every IP Lawyer Should Know About Conflicts of Interest, in-house ethies seminar
presented for Birch Stewart Kolasch Birch, Fairfax, VA (Jan. 31, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethics Issues in PTAB Proceedings, a 90-minute ethics webinar sponsored by the American
Intellectual Property Law Association (Dec. 13, 2017) (speaker)

• Keeping the Lights on and the OED off Your Back: Ethical Conduct in the Practice of IP
Law, a two-hour ethics presented at 2017 lowa State Bar Association cCommerce &
Intellectual Property Seminar, Des Moines, IA (Dec. 1, 2017) (speaker)

• Outsourcing Patent Work: Avoiding Pitfalls, a webinar sponsored by Intellectual Property
Owners Association (IPO) (Nov. 16, 2017) (speaker)

• Tales from the OED Crypt: Scary (and True) Stories About Ethics & Discipline at the PTO
and Ethics Issues in Dealing with Foreign Associates and Foreign Clients, two speeches

presented at IPRP 2017 Fall Seminar, Washington, D.C. (Nov. 1, 2017) (speaker)
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• Advanced Intellectual Property Ethics fè>r the IP Practitioner, broadcast live by Lawline,
New York, NY (Oct. 26, 2017) (speaker)

• Ethics in the Practice ofPatent and 7 rademark Law, presented at 2017 American Bar
Association IP Law Section IP West Program, Long Beach, CA (Oct. 12, 2017) (speaker)

• An Intellectual Property Ethics Roundtable Discussion, presented to Boston Patent Law
Association Ethics Committee, Boston, MA (Oct. 2, 2017) (speaker)

• Conflicts of Interest for the IP Practitioner, presented at 27th All Ohio Annual Institute on
Intellectual Property, Cincinnati, OH (Sept. 13, 2017) and Cleveland, OH (Sept. 14, 2017)
(speaker)

• Patent Counsel Ethical Engagement and Disengagement Letters, sponsored by Strafford
Webinars (July 27, 2017) (speaker)

• 1he Ethics of Working Remotelv: Preventing Problems Ikfï>re They flappen, a 90-minute
webinar sponsored by the American Intellectual Property Law Association (June 21,
2017) (speaker)

• When Good Lawyers Go Bad: Conunon Ethics Mistakes hv IP Practitioners, a webinar
sponsored by the Association of Intellectual Property Firms (June 20, 2017) (speaker)

• Identifying and Resolving Ethical Conflicts of Interest in Patent Prosecution, a webinar
sponsored by the American Bar Association Landslide Webinar Series (Apr. 18, 2017)
(speaker)

• /P Ethics Panel Discussion, presented at the ABA Section of Intellectual Property Law,
32nd Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 6, 2017)
(speaker)

• Advice of Counsel Defense in Patent 1,itigation: Protecting Attorney-Client Privilege,
sponsored by Strafford Webinars (Mar. 16, 2017) (speaker)

• Surviving the Perfect Protostorm: An Anthology of Recent IP Malpracticc Decisions,
presented at Washington State Bar Association 22nd Annual IP Institute, Seattle, WA
(Mar. 10, 2017) (speaker)

• Bringing IIome the Bacon: It's All About the Clients, presented at Maryland State Bar
Association's Law Office Management Assistance program, Baltimore, MD (Mar. 4, 2017)
(speaker)

• Mind Your Manners! Or. Ethics and Inequitable Conduct Before the PlÄB, presented at the
PTAB Bar Association Inaugural Conference, Washington, DC (Mar. 3, 2017) (speaker)
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• Recent Developments in IP Malpractice Litigation, presented at the 2017 Utah IP Summit
CLE Symposium, Salt Lake City, UT (Feb. 24, 2017) (speaker)

• So You Want to Live in Timbuktu? Ethical Considerations f¼>r the IP Practitioner Working in
a Virtual Law Office, presented at the 2017 American Intellectual Property Law
Association - Mid-Winter Institute, Ft. Lauderdale, FL (Feb. 4, 2017) (speaker)

• The Dangers ofDabbling: IP Ethics Issues at the USPTO, presented at the 2016 Iowa State
Bar Annual Intellectual Property Law Seminar, Des Moines, IA (Dec. 2, 2016) (speaker)

• Ain't Mishehavin: Avoiding Ethical Problems at the USPTO, live broadcast presented by
Lawline, New York, NY (Oct. 28, 2016) (speaker)

• Legal Ethics fi>r the Paraprofessional What You Don't Know Can Hurt You, presented at
The National Association for Legal Professionals 2016 Education Conference and
National Forum, Nashville, TN (Oct. 7, 2016) (speaker)

• Why Me? Ethical Issues in IP Law and Avoiding USPTO Discipline, presented at The
Carolina Patent, Trademark & Copyright Law Association Fall Meeting, Kiawah Island.
SC (Sept. 23, 2016) (speaker)

• /P Ethics Panel, presented at the American Conference Institute Paragraph IV Master
Disputes Symposium, Chicago, IL (Sept. 20, 2016) (speaker)

• Hack This: Cyber Security Practices and Ethical Duties fi>r IP Law Firms and Risky
Business: Ethical Challenges Facing IP Law Firm Management, two speeches presented at
the Association of Legal Administrators 2016 Intellectual Property Conference for
Legal Professionals. Washington, DC (Sept. 15, 2016) (speaker)

• Ilot Ethics 1'opics fi>r the Patent Practitioner, ethics webinar sponsored by Iowa State Bar
Association (September 13, 2016) (speaker)

• Recent Developments at the USPTO Office of Enrolhnent and Discipline, presented at the
Attorneys' Liability Assurance Society Patent Consultation Group Roundtable,
Chicago, [L (August 4, 2016) (speaker)

• Legal Ethics and Professional Responsibility: Avoiding Conflicts of Interest. Maintaining
Confidentiality, and other Special Concerns fï>r the Hiosimilars S'pace, presented at the ACI
Biosimilars Summit, New York, NY (June 15, 2016) (speaker)

• The Ethics of Outsourcing Legal Services and Functions, presented at the Practicing Law
Institute 10th Annual Patent Law Institute, San Francisco, CA (May 5, 2016) and New
York, NY (Apr. 14, 2016) (speaker)
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• Conflicts and Ethical Issues in IP Practice, a two-hour ethics program presented at the
Arizona Bar IP Section Meeting, Second Annual CLE in the Gardens, Phoenix, AZ
(Apr. 8, 2016) (speaker)

• Roger Boisjoly and the Ethical Lessons Learnedfrom the Space Shuttle Challenger
Disaster, keynote speech presented at the 2016 University of Maryland Order of the
Engineer induction ceremony, College Park, MD (Mar. 29, 2016) (keynote speaker)

• Deja Vu All Over Again Recurring Ethics Issues in IP Law, a two-hour ethics CLE
presented at the Washington State Bar Association Spring 2016 IP Institute, Seattle, WA
(Mar. 11, 2016) (speaker)

• The Duty of Candor to the Tribunal, a panel discussion moderated by Michael E. McCabe,
Jr. at the George Washington University School of Law for the Giles S. Rich American
Inns of Court, Washington, DC (Feb. 23, 2016) (moderator)

• Conflicts of Interest in Patent Prosecution after Maling v. Finnegan, a webinar sponsored by
the Intellectual Property Owners Association (Feb. 10, 2016) (speaker)

• Gotcha! I 'ee-Shifïing in IP Litigation Can Trigger OED Ethics Investigation and USPTO
Discipline, presented at the American Intellectual Property Law Association Mid-Winter
Institute, La Quinta, CA (Jan. 30, 2016) (speaker)

• Issues in IP Ethics, presented at a meeting of the Ilouston Intellectual Property Lawyer's
Association, Houston, TX (Nov. 17, 2015) (speaker)

• IP Ethics and Risk Management, presented at IPRP Fall 2015 Seminar, New York, NY
(Nov. 9, 2015) (speaker)

• IP Ethics Recent Developments, an in-house firm-wide ethics seminar presented to
McCarter & English, LLP, Boston, MA (Oct. 16, 2015) (speaker)

• Breaicing Good Essentials for the Ethical IP Attorney, presented at the American Bar
Association IP Law Section Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL (July 31, 2015) (speaker)

• Sul ject Matter Conflicts in IP Practice, presented at the Association of Professional
Responsibility Lawyers Annual Meeting, Chicago, ll (July 31, 2015) (speaker)

• Ethics in IP, presented at a meeting of the New Jersey Intellectual Property Law
Association (NJIPLA), lselin, NJ (Dec. 10, 2014) (speaker)

• Ethical Issues in Patent and Trademark Practice: A Practitioner s Guide to the USPTO's
New Ethics Rules and Responding to OED Disciplinary Investigations, presented live and by
video at Virginia CLE, Charlottesville, VA (Apr. 4, 2013) (speaker
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• Recent Developments in Intellectual Property Prosecution and Litigation Ethics, webinar
sponsored by the Virginia State Bar Intellectual Property Section (May 10, 201 1)
(speaker)

• Recent Trends in Inducing Infi·ingement and Divided Infringement, webinar sponsored by
Managing Intellectual Property (Dec. 2010) (speaker)

• 77te Growing Popularity ofthe International Trade Conunission as a Preferred Formnjor
Enf¼>rcing U.S. Patent Rights, presented at Domestic Impact of Intellectual Property in a
Global Economy Symposium sponsored by University of Baltimore School of Law (Mar.
26, 2010) (speaker)

• Attorney-Client Privilege in Patent Proceedings - Strategies for Preserving Confidential
Conununications, webinar sponsored by Insurance Law and Litigation Reporter of
Strafford Publications (June 2008) (speaker)

• Navigating the Risks ofinequitable Conduct, keynote speech presented at CNA's Fourth
Forum on Addressing the Risks of Intellectual Property Practice (May 2007) (keynote
speaker)

• Understanding the Discovery Process in U.S. Patent Litigation, presented at EuroLegal
Conference, London, England (Oct. 1, 2002) (speaker)

PUBLICATIONS REGARDING INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY / ETHICS:

• Are Your Firm's Foreign Associate Practice's Ethical?, Vol. 29, Issue 1, Michigan IPLS
Proceedings, a quarterly journal published by the Intellectual Property Law Section of the
Michigan State Bar (Feb. 2018)

• Maryland Conflict of Interest Law, Vol. 27, Issue 2, DRI Happenings - The Newsletter of
the Life, Health and Disability Committcc (June 7, 2016)

• Representing Cliems with Diminished Capacity, published in Wealth Management.com
(Oct. 19, 2015)

• The Rat Rule in IP Litigation A 11treat to Report Another's Unethical Conduct f¼>r Strategic
Advantage is Unethical and May he Illegal, Vol. 21, No. 5, IP Litigator (Sept./Oct. 2015)

• USPTO No Safe flaven fï>r Suspended or Disbarred Attorneys, Vol. 21, No. 4, IP Litigator
(July/Aug. 2015)

• Ethics are Not Just for Lawyers - I'he Legal Duties ofLaw Firm Paraprofessionals,
published in @Law, the NALS Magazine for Legal Professionals (Summer 2015)
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• USPTO is on the Lookout lor Ethical Misconduct, published in Law360 (May 26, 2015)

• IP Counsel Who Blindly Follow Client "Instructions'' Risk Losing Law License, published in
Vol. 21, No. 3, IP Litigator (May/June 2015)

• USP1'O's New Ethics Rocket Docket for Attorney Discipline, published in Law360 (Oct. 30,
2013)

• Attorney-Client Privilege and Work-Product Inununity in Patent Litigation, chapter 17 in
The Attorney-Client Privilege in Civil Litigation - Protecting and Defending
Confidentiality (5th ed.. 2012; 4d' ed. 2008) (American Bar Association)

• Recent Developments in Patent Law and their hnpact on the Pharmaceutical and
Biotechnology Industries, Vol. 19, No. 2 University of Baltimore Intellectual Property
Law Journal (Spring 20l 1) and speech (March 2011)

• Richardson v. Stanley Works. Inc., Maryland State Bar Association, Intellectual Property
Section (June 2010 Annual Meeting)

• Egyptian Goddess Puts Teeth Back in US Industrial Design Rights, Intellectual Property
Watch (Nov. 12, 2008)

• A Renewed Interest by the Supreme Court in the Field of Patent Law: eBay v. MercExchange
and KSR v. Teleflex, Vol. 44, No. 1 Computer Law Reporter (Sept. 2006) and Vol. 7
Internet Law & Business (Sept. 2006)

• Look Again! Capitalizing on IP Assets, Trademark World: The Price of IP (May 2006)
(published in Europe)

• May a Practitioner Both Act as a Counsel in an Interference and Test@ as to Ilis or IIer
Diligence In Preparing an Application?, Vol. 13, No. 3 Intellectual Property Today (Mar.
2006)

• Back in the Box - Retiring the Adverse Inference Rule, Issue 168 Patent World (Dec.
2004/Jan. 2005) (published in Europe)

• Impact of the CAFC's Knorr-Bremsc Decision and Answers to Japanese Companies' Most
hnportant Questions About Opinions ofCounsel in U.S. Patent Litigation, Vol. 54, No. 13
Intellectual Property Management (Dec. 2004) (translated into Japanese/published in
Japan)

• Understanding Discoverv in U.S. Patent Litigation, Patent World, a three-part series No.
147 (Nov. 2002), No. 148 (Dec. 2002/Jan. 2003); No. 149 (Feb. 2003/Mar. 2003)

• Attorney-Client Privilege and Work Product Inununity in Patent Litigation, book chapter
published in Anthony B. Askew and Elizabeth C. Jacobs 2001 Intellectual Property Law

APPX 671 (By Respondent) 12
Case NO. SC18-1279



Update (Aspen Law & Business) (Jun. 2001)

• Ethical aml Local Rule Restrictions on Investigations ofPotential Jurors and Post-Trial
Contact with Jurors, ABA-lP Law Section (Dec. 1995)

OUOTED AS LEGAL AUTHORITY IN MEDIA:

• Full Fed. Cire. Asked to Rethink Voiding IP in Ethunot MDL, Law360 (Apr. 15, 2020)

• Fed. Cir. Inequitable Conduct Case Alartns IP Ethics Attys, Law360 (Mar. 1 1, 2020)

• $32M Dentons Verdict Could Put Vereins in the Crosshairs, Law360 (Feb. 25, 2020)

• Patent Lawyer Fights Identity 'Ibeft Over Fraudulent USPTO Filings fi·om China, Corporate
Counsel (Mar. 4, 2019)

• f low Law Firms Can Avoid Conflicts Involving Corporate /((filiates, Law360 (Mar. 1, 2019)

• Lanyers Warn Employees About Social Media Use, Bloomberg I aw (Sept. I 1, 2018)

• Drafting and Implementing Social Media Policies fi>r Law Firms, Bloomberg Law (May 30.
201 8)

• Calif¼>rnia Adopts Modified AllA Model Rules, Bloomberg Law (May I 1, 2018)

• Lanyers Ilave an Ethical Duty to Safeguard Confidential Inf¼>nnation in the Cloud, ABA
Journal (April 2018)

• Legal Combat When Companies Sue Their Outside Counsel. It Can fle One |3rouhaha,
Corporate Counsel (Mar. 2018)

• USPT() Dying Out Diversion for Struggling Practitioners, Bloomberg BNA (Nov. 15,
2017)

• Patent Office Unveils Program fè>r Attorneys with Addiction Issues, Reuters Legal (Nov. 5,
2017)

• Did McKool Smith Violate Prosecution flar in Iligh-Profile Patent Case?, The Recorder
(Sept. 15, 2017)

• Ex L'Oreal Atty Faces Tough Road in Wrongfid Firing Case, IP 1 aw360 and Legal F,thics
360 (July 31, 2017)

• Greenberg Traurig Agrees to Withdraw fi·om Case in Which it was Faced with Conflict of
Interest, The American Lawyer Daily Business Review (May 24, 2017)
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• USPTO Suspends Former Niro Junior IP Attorneyfl>r 18 Months, The American Lawyer
(Mar. 6, 2017)

• Dispute Between USPTO and Controversial Trademark Filer Ends, World Trademark
Review (Feb. 21, 2017)

• IP Atty-Client Privilege Faces Challenges After flalo, Law360 (Jan. 20, 2017)

• A New Front in the IP Wars, The American Lawyer (Dec. 2016)

• Is It Disrespectfid to Send an Associate to Court? Maybe Not, Law.Com (Sept. 27, 2016)

• Order Disqualifi>ing Dentons is Vacated, Leaving Verein Conflicts Issue Unresolved, Vol.
21, No. 8 ABA/BNA Lawyers' Manual on Professional Conduct (Apr. 20, 2016)

• Texas Ruling Sets fligh Bar for Patent Malpractice Claints, Law360 (Mar. 30, 2016)

• 5 Tips to Avoid IP Malpractice Suits, Law360 (Nov. 20, 2015)

PRIOR TESTIMONY

Trial testimony in Attorney Grievance Conun'n of Maryland v. Samuel Sperling et al., Mise.
Docket AG Nos. 40 & 76, before Judge 11. Patrick Stringer, Circuit Court of Baltimore County,
Maryland (Aug. 22, 2017), appointed by Maryland Court of Appeals, decision of the Maryland
Court of Appeals published at 459 Md. 194, 185 A.3d 76 (May 21, 2018) (confirming elient's
reliance on advice of Michael McCabe as admissible evidence of mitigation)

Deposition testimony in Attorney Grievance Cunun'n ofMaryland v. Samuel Sperling. et al.
Mise. Docket AG Nos. 40 & 76, Circuit Court of Baltimore County, Maryland (April 10, 2017)
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Interagency Agreement
Between

The Department of Housing and Urban Development
And

The United States Patent and Trademark Office
For

Performance of Reimbursable Work

USPTO IAA No. 13129060-6000-000

L General Information

Subject to the terms of this Interagency Agreement (Agreement), the Department of Housing and
Urban Developrnent (HUD) agrees to encurnber on a reimbursable basis administrative law
Judges (ALJs), law clerks, staff attorneys, administrative staff, and court reporting services fbr

the performance of work for the time period specified below to the United States Patent and
frademark Office (USPTO) subject to renewal upon mutual agreement of HUD and USPTO.

II. P_urpose

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions by which HUD agrees to provide ALJs

support staff, and court reporters to conduct formal proceedings and to hear and decide cases sent
to it for adjudication by USPTO,

HL R_eferences and Authorities

The authority for USPTO and HUD to enter into this Agreement is pursuant to
35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5). It provides that USPTO may use, with their consent services, equipment
personnel, and facilities of other departments, agencies,and instrumentalities of the Federal
Government on a reimbursable basis, and cooperate with such other departments, agencies, and
instrumentalities in the establishment and use of services, equipment and facilities of USPTO.

IV. Defmitions

Adjudication

"Adjudication" means a trial-type proceeding conducted under the Federal Administrative

Procedures Act (5 U.S.C. § 551, et seq.), and other statutes, including those that offer an
opportunity for an oral, fact-finding hearing before an Administrative Law Judge.

Affidavit Exhibit B
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USPTO IAA No. 13129060-0000-000

V. Responsibjlities of USPTO and HUD

USPTO wilI identify cases for HUD's Office of Administrative Law Judges to the attention of
the Chief Judge at the following address:

J. Jeremiah Mahoney
Chief Administrative Law Judge (Acting)
U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development
409 3d Street, S.W., Suite 201
Washington, DC 20024
(202) 254-0000
Jeremiah.Mahoney@hud.gov

The liUD Chief Judge assigns cases to a HUD ALJ whose responsibilities and authorities are
provided in 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.19, 11.20, 11.24(d)(2)(i) and (ii), I I.25(b)(3) and (b)(5), 1 1.27(c)

1.28, and I L32 through 1 LS4. Subject to these rules and with its powers, the assigned ALJ
will be responsible for the control and conduct of each assigned case and maintaining the officialadmmistrative record and docket.

The assigned ALJ arranges for and conducts hearings and schedules post hearing briefs. The
hearmg will be conducted m accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 556 and a decision rendered within six
months after the complaint is filed unless there are unusual circumstances which preclude
1ssuance of an [mtial decision within six months of the filing of the complaint.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges agrees to adhere to applicable USPTO
procedures when conducting adjudications as provided in 37 C,F.R. §§ [ I .32 through 11.54.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges informs all parties that HUD will be presiding in
the assigned cases and provides all pertinent information to the parties,

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges closes the record and writes the initial decision
then returns the certified record to the USPTO at the foIlowing address:

Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Mail Stop 8
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges distributes the ALJ's decision in accordance with
the applicable procedural regulations in 37 C.F.R. § I I 54 and bills USPTO for the balance of
services.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges will provide for court reporting services at all
earings unless otherwise arranged by mutual agreement by HUD and USPTO.

2
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USPTO IAA No. 13t29060-0000-000

VI. Furnishing Infonnation to USPTO

HUD agrees to furnish USPTO with all appropriate billing information; including case number
and citation and number of hours worked by the AIJ and support personnel, and cost. HUD will
furnish itemized bill to USPTO for reimbursement on a regular basis.

Vll. Maximum Costs

HUD billing to USPTO is not to exceed $80,000, unless modified by amendment to this
Agreement. It is anticipated that if future years are added, this cost ceiling will also be raised.

VIll. Costs

USPTO will reimburse HUD upon receipt of invoice for 100 percent of the costs incurred during
this pened as a result of the performance of this adjudicatory work. This includes personnel
compensation at current salary (to include actual cost-of-living adjustments) for the period of
time specified m this Agreement; all normal personnel benefits paid by HUD for these
employees; all overtime authorized by USPTO; supplies specifically purchased for work
completed for the USPTO cases; and an overhead cost for administrative services attributable to
the reimbursable work performed as determined by HUD, not to exceed 13% of the salaries and
benefits costs. Any travel to hearings required in the performance of the reimbursable work will
be reimbursed to HUD for actual costs incurred through the issuance of HUD travel
authorizations. Funds will be obligated for these costs as the reimbursable work is performed in
accordance with the provisions of this Agreement. HUD will bill USPTO through the
Department of Treasury's On-line Payment and Collection (OPAC) system. USPTO uses the

followmg financial tracking information: the Treasury Account Symbol (TAS) is 13Xl006, the
Agency Locator Code (ALC) is 13-01-0001, the DUNS/BPN is 070921085, and the Taxpayer
Identification Number (TIN) is 53-0197085. HUD uses the following financial tracking
information: the TAS is 8630335, the ALC is 86011101, the DUNS/BPN is 042080940, and the
IIN is 52-0852695. Support billing documentation should be sent the fbllowing address and
retcrence the USP TO Obligating Document and funding data provided:

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Office of Finance Mail Stop 17
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

USPTO Obligating Document No. NIN 129A l300106
USPTO Funding Data: 2013/A/129100/LLALAC/L00024/2534

IX. Effective Agreement Period

This Agreement shall become effective when signed by both parties, shall remain in effect
through March 31, 2014, and is subject to annual renewal by bilateral Amendment.

3
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USPTO IAA No. 13129060-0000-000

X. Arnrn_dment/Annual Authonäng ageements

An amendment will be prepared annually providing the effective time period, funding

mstructions, and hnutations. Any substantive work or procedural changes in the nature of the
atory work, I.e, case assignments, required by USPTO from HUD under this Agreement

wi be provided to the HUD Chief Administrative Law Judge and not require any writtenamendment to this Agreernent.

XL Termination and Administration pf_the_Agreement

This ement may he terminated by cither party by providing a 60-day written notice to the

7 -40 7 d n t alf o II y J0 c o e ph ) 0Ó 77 uh ne (571)
pertaining to billing and collections should be addressed to Bernice L Littlejohn telephon
(571) 272-5485 on behalf of USPTO, or to

Karen Lake Bemice L Littlejohn (COTR)
Administrative Officer U.S. Patent and Trademark

. Office of the Secretary Office
U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban 3 Office of the General Counsel

Development Program Analyst
451 7' Street, S.W., Room 10220 571-272-5485 Office
Washington, DC 20410 571-273-5485 Fax

(202) 402-434 1 bernice.littlejohn@uspto.gov
Karen.Lake@hud.gov

Sherrill Hawkins
Administrative Officer/GTR
Office of Public Affairs
U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban
Developrnent
451 7th

Washington, DC 20410
(202) 402-6629
Sherrill.Hawkins@hud.gov

XH. Other Provisions

Nothing herein is intended to conflict with current Office of Management and Budget, Office of
ersonnel Nianagement, Umted States Department of Commerce, USPTO, or HUD directives. If

erms o this Agreement are inconsistent with existing directives of either of the a
entering into this Agreement, then those portions of this Agreement which are determ ned t be
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USPTO IAA No. 13129060-0000-000

inconsistent wil[ be invalid; but the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement not
a cted by inconsistency will remain in full force and effect. At the first opport unity for review
o s Agreement,such changes as are deemed necessary wil[ be accomplished by cither an

amendment to this Agreement, or be entering into a new agreernent, whichever is deemed
expedient to the interest of both parties.

Should disputes arise as to the interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement, or amendment

and/or revisions thereto, that cannot be resolved at the operational level of each agency, they will
e resolved in accordance with the requirements of the Treasury Financial Manual (TFM)

Volume I, Part 2, Chapter 4700, Appendix 10, available at
http://www.fms,treas.gov/tfm/index.html.

Complete Agreement

This writing constitutes the final and complete expression of the Agreement of the parties and
becomes effective when signed by both of the approving officials of the respective agencies to
this Agreement

APPROVED:

Signed for the Denartment n r nousing and Urban Development by:

b)fG)

ate Si Date

J . Jererrnah Mahoney / effrey M. Non
Chief Administrative Law Judge (Acting) Contracting Officer

Signed for the United States Patent and Trademark Office by:
(b)(6)

b)(6)

Date st ---

William R. Covey Anthony P. Scardino
Deputy General Counsel for the Chief Financial Officer
Office of Enrollment and Discipline
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Interagency Agreement
Between

The Department of Housing and Urban Development
And

The United States Patent and Trademark Office
For

Performance of Reimbursable Work

USPTO IAA No. 14t29042-0000.000

1. General Information

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Department of Housing and Urban Development
(HUD) agrees to encumber on a reimbursable basis administrative law judges (ALJs), law clerks,
staff attorneys, administrative staff, and court reporting services for the performance of work for
the time period specified below to the United States Patent and Trademark Of6ce (USPTO)
subject to renewal upon mutual agreement of HUD and USPTO.

IL Purpose

This Agreement sets forth the terms and conditions by which HUD agrees to provide ALJs,
support staff, and court reporters to conduct formal proceedings and to hear and decide cases sent
to it for adjudication by USPTO.

III. References and Authorities

The authority for USPTO and HUD to enter into this Agreement is pursuant to
35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5). It provides that USPTO may use, with their consent services, equipment,
personnel, and facilities of other departments, agencies, and instrumentalities of the Federal
Government on a reimbursable basis, and cooperate with such other departments, agencies, and
instrumentalities in the establishment and use of services, equipment and facilities of USPTO.

IV. Deñnitions

Adjudication

"Adjudication" means a trial-type proceeding conducted under the Federal Administrative
Procedures Act (5 U.S.C. § 551, et seq.), and other statutes, including those that offer an
opportunity for an oral, fact-finding hearing before an Administrative Law Judge.
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V. Responsibilities of USPTO and HUD

USPTO will identify cases for HUD's Office of Administrative Law Judges to the attention of
the Chief Judge at the following address:

J. Jeremiah Mahoney
Chief Administrative Law Judge (Acting)
U.S. Dept. of Housing and Urban Development
409 3'd Street, S.W., Suite 201
Washington, DC 20024
(202) 254-0000
Jeremiah.Mahoney@bud.gov

The HUD Chief Judge assigns cases to a HUD ALJ whose responsibilities and authorities are
provided in 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.19, 11.20, 11.24(d)(2)(i) and (ii), 11.25(b)(3) and (b)(5), 1 1.27(c),
11.28, and 11.32 through 11.54. Subject to these rules and with its powers, the assigned ALJ
will be responsible for the control and conduct of each assigned case and maintaining the official
administrative record and docket.

The assigned ALJ arranges for and conducts hearings and schedules post hearing briefs. The
hearing will be conducted in accordance with 5 U.S.C. § 556 and a decision rendered within six
months after the complaint is filed unless there are unusual circumstances which preclude
issuance of an initial decision within six months of the filing of the complaint.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges agrees to adhere to applicable USPTO
procedures when conducting adjudications as provided in 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.32 through 1 1.54.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges informs all parties that HUD will be presiding in
the assigned cases and provides all pertinent information to the parties.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges closes the record and writes the initial decision,
then returns the certified record to USPTO at the following address:

Office of the Solicitor
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Mail Stop 8
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges distributes the ALJ's decision in accordance with
the applicable procedural regulations in 37 C.F.R. § 11.54 and bills USPTO for the balance of
services.

The HUD Office of Administrative Law Judges will provide for coun reporting services at all
hearings unless otherwise arranged by mutual agreement by HUD and USPTO.
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VI. Furnishing Infomiation to USPTO

HUD agrees to furnish USPTO with all appropriate billing information; including case number
and citation and number of hours worked by the ALJ and support personnel, and cost. HUD will
furnish itemized bill to USPTO for reimbursement on a regular basis, but no less than quarterly.

VII. Maximum Costs

HUD billing to USPTO is not to exceed $80,000 unless modified by amendment to this
Agreement. It is anticipated that if future years are added, this cost ceiling will also be raised.

VIII. Costs

USPTO will reimburse HUD upon receipt of invoice for 100 percent of the costs incurred during
this period as a result of the performance of this adjudicatory work. This includes personnel
compensation at current salary (to include actual cost-of-living adjustments) for the period of
time specified in this Agreement; court reporter services; meeting room space as needed; all
normal personnel benefits paid by HUD for these employees; all overtime authorized by
USPTO; supplies specifically purchased for work completed for USPTO cases; and an overhead
cost for administrative services attributabic to the reimbursable work performed as determined
by HUD, not to exceed 13% of the salaries and benefits costs. Any travel to local hearings
required in the performance of the reimbursable work will be reimbursed to HUD for actual costs
incurred through the issuance of HUD travel authorizations. Funds will be obligated for these
costs as the reimbursable work is performed in accordance with the provisions of this
Memorandum. HUD will bill USPTO through the Department of Treasury's On-line Payment
and Collectipn (OPAC) system. USPTO uses the following financial tracking information: the
agency locator code (ALC) is 13-01-0001, the DUNS number is 070921085, and the Taxpayer
Identification Number (TIN) is 53-0197085. HUD uses the following financial tracking
information: the ALC is 68-01-0727, the DUNS number is 029128894, and the TIN is 52-
0852695. Support billing documentation should be sent the following address:

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
Office of Finance Mail Stop 17
P O. Box 1450
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450

USPTO Obligating Document No. NIN 129Al400070
USPTO Funding Data: 2014/A/129100/LLALAC/L00024/2534

IX. Effective Agreement Period

This Agreement will be in force with the date of execution of the Agreement by both parties
through March 31, 2015 and subject by annual renewal by bilateral amendment.
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X. Amendment/Annual Authorizine Aureements

An amendment wdl be prepared annually providing the effective time period, tunding
instructions, and limitations. Any substantive work or procedural changes in the nature of the

adjudicatory work, i.e., case assignrnents, required by USPTO from HUD under this Agreement
will be provided to the HUD Chief Administrative Law Judge and not require any winten
amendment to this Agreement

XI. Termination and Administration of the Aureement

This Agreement may be terminated by either party by providing a 60-day wt juen notice to the
other party.

This Agreement will be administered on behalf of USPTO William R. Covey. telephone {571)
272-4097 and on behalf of HUD by..ldIrex-M-Nen-tekp!;um. (202) 73--1742. AH questions
pertaining to bdling and collections should be addressed (a Bernice 1.. Littlejohn. telephone
(571i 272-5485 on behalf of USPTO. or to:

Karen Lake
Administrative OfAcer
Office of the Secretary

U.S. Dept. of Housing and Uiban
Development

451 7* Street. S.W., Room 10220
Washington, DC 20410
(202) 402-4341
Karen.Lake@hud.gov

Bernice L. Littlejohn (COTR)
U.S. Patent and Trademark
Office

Office of the General Counsel

Program Analyst

571-272-5485 Ofnce
571-273-5485 Fax
bernice.littlejohn(G uspto.gov

Sherrill Hawkins
Administrative Officer/G I R
Office of Public Affairs
U.S. Dept. of 1lousing and Urban
Development

451 7"' Street. S W Room 10142
Washineton. DC 20410
(202) 402-6629

Sherrill.Hawkins@hud.gov
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XII. Other Provisions

Nothmg herein is intended to connict with current Office of Management and Budget. Of0ee of
Personnel Management, United States Department of Commerce. USPTO, or HUD directives. If
the terms of this Agreement are inconsistent with existing directives of cither of the agencies
entering into this Agreement, then those portions of this Agreement which are determined to be
inconsistent wiH be invalid; but the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement not
affected by inconsistency will remain m full force and effect. At the lirst opportunity for review
of this Agreement, such changes as are deemed necessary will be accomplished by either an
amendment to this Agreement. or be entering into a new Agreement. whichever is deemed
expedient to 1he interest of both parties.

Should disputes arise as to the interpretation of the provisions of this Agreement, or amendment
and/nr revisions thereto, that eannot be tesolved at the operational level of each agency. thev will

be resolved in accordance with the requirements of the Treasury Financial Manual (TFM).
Volume I. Part 1 Chapter 4700. Appendix 10, available at
http://www.fms.treas gov/tfm/index.html

Complete Aereement

This writing constitutes the final and complete expression of the Agreement of the parties and
becomes effective when signed by both of the approving officials of the respective agencies to
this Agreement.

APPROVED:

Signed for the Department of Housing and Urban Development by
:h)(6) (b)(6)

J. Jerdíniah Mahoney *BrerMrNem RAMtTSH J. GH/1Rn
Chief Administrative Eaw Judge (Acting) Contracting Officer

Signed for the United States Patent and Trademark Office by

:Þ)(0) (b)(6)

William R. Covey Anthony P. Seardino
Deputy General Counsel for the Chief Financial Ofticer
Onice of Enronment and Discipline
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR 

COMPLAINANT    Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

v 
 
JOHN H. FARO     The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 
 

RESPONDENT’S AMENDED* MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  
UNDER RULE 1.510 FLORIDA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE  

(* AMENDED ONLY TO PROVIDE MISSING CITATION FOR PARAGRAPH 39) 
 

I. INTRODUCTION 

The Florida Bar (hereinafter “TFB”) has filed a Formal Complaint for 

Reciprocal Discipline, and, in support thereof, annexed the Final Order1 of the 

Director of United States Patent & Trademark Office entered on August 2, 2017; 

and the Final Order of the Director of United States Patent & Trademark Office 

entered on February 9, 2018.   Each of the Final Orders are predicated upon an Initial 

Opinion by an Administrative Law Judge (hereinafter “ALJ”) that is void. 

The Respondent has filed an Answer and asserted Affirmative Defenses to the 

Formal Complaint For Reciprocal Discipline, wherein he contends that the Patent 

Office suspension was void, or alternatively, unwarranted because of an infirmity in 

 
1   The Director of the United State Patent & Trademark Office, (also “USPTO”), delegated his 
authority to review disciplinary matters to the General Counsel of USPTO. 
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proof, and, thus, should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt/misconduct in 

Florida.   As set forth below in detail, the Patent Office Final Orders, annexed to 

TFB Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, are predicated upon the putative 

finding of misconduct in the Initial Opinion entered by ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney, who 

presided over the trial of the Patent’s Office of Enrollment & Discipline (hereinafter 

“OED”) Complaint against Respondent.  ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney (an Administrative 

Law Judge employed by the United States Department of Housing and Urban 

Development (HUD)), was not appointed by the Director of the U.S. Patent & 

Trademark Office, and his presiding over the trial of the OED Complaint against 

Respondent was in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a); and the Accardi Doctrine2, 

which requires administrative strict compliance with its regulation. 

Under Rule 11.02(6) we accept the foreign judgment only as proof of guilt. 
Nevertheless, right and justice require that when the accused attorney shows 
that the proceeding in the foreign state was so deficient or lacking in notice or 
opportunity to be heard, that there was such a paucity of proof, or that there 
was some other grave reason which would make it unjust to accept the foreign 
judgment as conclusive proof of guilt of the misconduct involved Florida can 
elect not to be bound thereby. We should note here that the burden of showing 
why a foreign judgment should not operate as conclusive proof of guilt in a 
Florida disciplinary proceeding is on the accused attorney….  This going 
behind the judgment of the sister state does not constitute a collateral attack 
on that judgment, for it cannot affect its result in the sister state. It is only a 

 
2   United States ex rel. Accardi v. Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 268 (1954) (reversing an agency 
decision for failure to follow own regulations). 
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determination of the effect which we will give that judgment in this state. 
Florida Bar v. Wilkes, 179 So.2d 193, 198 (1965) 
 

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

A. The trial of the OED Complaint against Respondent JOHN FARO 
(hereinafter “FARO”), was contrary to the law because it was presided 
over by ALJ Jeremiah Mahoney (an administrative law judge, 
employed and appointed by the United States Department of Housing 
and Urban Development (HUD), and therefore in violation of the 
”appointment” clause  (37 CFR 11.39(a).  McCabe Affidavit @ 
Paragraphs 122 to 149 
 

B. The probable cause finding of misconduct was based upon an 
incomplete OED Director investigation, and therefor obtained contrary 
to the law, 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3); 5 USC 706(2)(A); Accrediting Council 
for Independent Colleges and Schools, 303 F.Supp.3d 77 (2018). 

 
C. The ALJ denial of Respondent’s request to “abate” the OED 

investigation, and allow for the development of information and 
evidence from a prior filed malpractice lawsuit by OED grievant 
against the Respondent, based upon the same nucleus of operative facts 
as the OED Complaint against Respondent, excluded information that 
would have mitigated the consequence of a violation of the OED 
regulations, and therefore violated 37 CFR 11.54(b)(3), McCabe 
Affidavit @ Paragraphs 75 to 83. 
 

D. The ALJ ad hoc interpretation and application of the unambiguous 
OED regulations against Respondent do not reflect the Patent Office 
“authoritative” or “official position” relative to the interpretation of was 
contrary to law, Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019); 204 L.Ed.2d 
841. 

 
E.  The trial of the OED Complaint was contrary to law as having been 

based upon the incomplete administrative record, 5 USC 706(2)(A); 
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Accrediting Council for Independent Colleges and Schools, 303 
F.Supp.3d 77 (2018). 

 
F. The ALJ findings of misconduct based upon an illegal interpretation 

and application of the OED regulation, and an improper conflation of 
facts (“stacking of inferences”), are deficient proof of misconduct 
because of an Infirmity in Proof.  McCabe Affidavit @ Paragraphs 150 
– 159  
 

As is evident from the above, Respondent has retained Michael McCabe, Esq., 

to testify in this matter.  Michael McCabe, Esq. is a recognized expert in intellectual 

property matters, including the counseling and representation of attorneys charged 

with violation of the U.S. Patent Office Code of Professional Responsibility.   

Attorney McCabe has provided an affidavit, (referenced herein and filed concurrent 

with this Motion.  Attorney McCabe has opined as to impotence of the ALJ tribunal 

(lack of jurisdiction) to preside over the trial of the OED Complaint against 

Respondent, the improprieties of the OED Director investigation, the failure to allow 

for consideration of material information relative to proof of a violation and/or 

mitigation of a putative violation and the disproportionate sanction, in the absence 

of any nexus between a violation of the OED rules and any harm or prejudice to 

Respondent’s former client. 
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III. STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED FACTS  

1. FARO’s background is as stated in his attached Verified Statement. 

2. In about September 2002, FARO was contacted by David Estes, the 

Director of Engineering for EPRT Technologies, Inc., (EPRT) located in Simi 

Valley, CA. Faro Declaration @ 20. 

3. Mr. Estes was obviously aware of FARO’S background, and requested 

that he review one of his patent applications that had been finally rejected by the 

United States Patent & Trademark Office. FARO was to later learn that this Patent 

Application was assigned to EPRT, his employer. Faro Declaration @ 21. 

4. FARO offered to review the patent application (hereinafter ‘519 Patent 

Application), at no cost to either Mr. Estes or to EPRT.   Estes thereafter requested 

that EPRT management provide FARO with a copy of the Patent Office files and the 

correspondence between Estes and his then current patent attorneys, Howry Simon 

Arnold White LLP (Washington, DC). Faro Declaration @ 22. 

5. FARO’s reviewed the requested materials provided by EPRT 

management and discussions with Estes relative to the invention sought to be 

protected. Faro Declaration @ 23. 
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6. On November 19, 2002, FARO emailed EPRT management (including 

Estes) a written Review & Recommendation, wherein FARO pointed out 

deficiencies in description of the key components of the ‘519 Patent Application, 

and that Patent Office final rejection would likely be sustained. Respondent Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exh “B”; Faro Declaration @ 24. 

7. Notwithstanding that patent protection for the EPRT product was likely 

unattainable because of the previously noted deficiencies in the ‘519 Patent 

Application, FARO was hired by Estes to assume responsibility for handling the 

continued prosecution ‘519 Patent Application, and to keep it pending for as long as 

possible. Faro Declaration @ 25. 

8. FARO thereafter prepared and filed a Power of Attorney for execution 

by EPRT management, revoking the prior Power of Attorney to Howry Simon 

Arnold White LLP, and appointing FARO as its registered patent attorney.   The 

Power of Attorney was filed and accepted by Patent Office in January 2003. Public 

Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1, Bates No 450; 

Faro Declaration @ 26. 

9. Thereafter, FARO proceeded to pursue the allowance of the ‘519 Patent 

Application to the fullest extent permitted by the Rules of Practice, with the primary 
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objective being to maintain the application pending. OED Trial Exh OED Bates No 

433 to 447, Faro Declaration @ 27. 

10. Thereafter, FARO assumed the solicitation of allowance of the ‘519 

Patent Application, and the Patent Office persisted in its final rejection. Public 

Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1 Bates No 420 - 

432; Faro Declaration @ 28. 

11. In April 2005, the ‘519 Patent Application the Patent Examiner once 

again finally rejected all of the claimed invention (2nd Final Rejection), including the 

claimed medical device invention, asserting essentially the same basis as its prior 

final rejection of July 2002. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED 

Trial Exh OED 1 Bates Nos 284-495; Faro Declaration @ 29. 

12.  Insofar as the Patent Examiner was “dug in”, FARO filed a Notice of 

Appeal in July 2005 (OED Trial Exh OED Bates 274); and thereafter conducted a 

telephone interview (OED Trial Exh OED Bates 238) with the Patent Examiner in 

an attempt to reverse her rejection, to no avail. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent 

Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1 Bates Nos 274-275; Faro Declaration @ 30. 
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13. After the interview with the Patent Examiner, FARO proceeded 

submitted an Appeal Brief. Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED 

Trial Exh OED 1, Bates Nos 193; Faro Declaration @ 31.     

14. In lieu of filing its Answer Brief to the prior appeal filed in July 2005, 

the Supervisor of Patent Examiner issued yet another final rejection (3rd Final 

Rejection) on November 14, 2005, wherein she suggested amendments to patent 

claims direct to the use of the EPRT product, while persisting in the final rejection 

to patent claims directed to the EPRT medical device, Public Record of EPRT ‘519 

Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 32. 

15. On November 19, 2005, FARO emailed the EPRT management, 

including David Estes, apprising them of FARO’S receipt of the 3rd Final Rejection, 

including providing a copy of the pending method and medical device claims. FARO 

further summarized the 3rd Final Rejection in layman’s terms. Faro Declaration @ 

33. 

16. In this 3rd Final Rejection, the Examiner (a) indicated that she regarded 

the method claims (directed to use of the EPRT product) as a potential allowable 

claim, if further amended, as per her suggestion (which suggestions were 
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unacceptable).  Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent Application; OED Trial Exh 

OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 34. 

17. The 3rd Final Rejection persisted in the Final Rejection of the claimed 

medical device invention, which was the “key to the effectiveness of our (EPRT 

medical) device”. Faro Declaration @ 35. 

18. It was FARO’s understanding of the Patent Law, (35 USC 287(c)), that 

protection of the medical device is essential to ensuring exclusivity to the inventor 

of his inventions, intended for use by medical professional and clinics in the 

treatment of its patients. Faro Declaration @ 36. 

19. The Patent Statute, 35 USC 287(c), pertaining to patents for medical 

(pharmaceutical, diagnostic equipment) provides, in pertinent part, an exemption of 

clinics and medical professionals, from infringement of patents for the use of 

medical devices in the treatment of its patients: 

35 USC 287(c) 
 

(1)  With respect to a medical practitioner’s performance of a 
medical activity that constitutes an infringement 
under section 271(a) or (b), the provisions of sections 281, 
283, 284, and 285 shall not apply against the medical 
practitioner or against a related health care entity with respect 
to such medical activity. 
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(2)  For the purposes of this subsection: 
 

(A) the term “medical activity” means the performance of 
a medical or surgical procedure on a body, but shall not 
include (i) the use of a patented machine, manufacture, or 
composition of matter in violation of such patent, (ii) the 
practice of a patented use of a composition of matter in 
violation of such patent, or (iii) the practice of a process in 
violation of a biotechnology patent. 
 
(B) the term “medical practitioner” means any natural 
person who is licensed by a State to provide the medical 
activity described in subsection (c)(1) or who is acting 
under the direction of such person in the performance of 
the medical activity. 
 
(C) the term “related health care entity” shall mean an 
entity with which a medical practitioner has a professional 
affiliation under which the medical practitioner performs 
the medical activity, including but not limited to a nursing 
home, hospital, university, medical school, health 
maintenance organization, group medical practice, or a 
medical clinic. 
 
(D) the term “professional affiliation” shall mean staff 
privileges, medical staff membership, employment or 
contractual relationship, partnership or ownership interest, 
academic appointment, or other affiliation under which 
a medical practitioner provides the medical activity on 
behalf of, or in association with, the health care entity. 
 
(E) the term “body” shall mean a human body, organ or 
cadaver, or a nonhuman animal used in medical research 
or instruction directly relating to the treatment of humans. 
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(F) the term “patented use of a composition of matter” 
does not include a claim for a method of performing a 
medical or surgical procedure on a body that recites the 
use of a composition of matter where the use of that 
composition of matter does not directly contribute to 
achievement of the objective of the claimed method. 
 
(G) the term “State” shall mean any State or territory of 
the United States, the District of Columbia, and the 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico. 
 
Faro Declaration @37. 

 
20. In FARO’s November 19, 2005, email to EPRT, FARI advised EPRT 

management that, in his opinion, “we” (EPRT) were entitled to broader coverage, 

and that FARO intended to pursue yet another appeal, unless they had any questions 

as to what was recommended.  Insofar as no further communication from EPRT 

management was forthcoming, a Notice of Appeal for the 3rd Final Rejection was 

timely filed ( Bates   This second Appeal was subsequently fully briefed, and EPRT 

provided with a copy of the Appeal Brief in December 2006. Respondents Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exh “E”; Faro Declaration @ 38.  

21. In December 2006, EPRT made an absolute assignment (assigned all 

right title and interest) in the ‘519 Patent Application, to a holding company, 
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Thrisoint Pty (Belize shell company). Public Record of EPRT ‘519 Patent 

Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 39. 

22. FARO had no formal relationship with the holding company, Thrisoint 

Pty, and when EPRT sued FARO for malpractice in Federal Court in Miami, in 

October 2013, Judge Huck dismissed the EPRT claims for lack of standing.  In 

subsequent hearings involving Judge Huck’s review of certain of the dispositive 

motions, Judge Huck noted that FARO did not have an attorney client relationship 

with holding company, Thrisoint Pty. Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exh “K”, 

Daubert Hearing Tx at page 3, lines 5-13; Faro Declaration @ 40. 

23. The Patent Office Board of Patent Appeals & Interference docketed the 

appeal, and sent a Docket Notice to FARO in 2008, indicating an estimated decision 

date sometime thereafter.  The Docket Notice advised the appellant as how to check 

on the status of the appeal, (which was limited, at that time to telephonic and 

facsimile communication, because of the Ricin scare). Public Record of EPRT ‘519 

Patent Application; OED Trial Exh OED 1; Faro Declaration @ 41. 

24. During the period from about 2005 up to and including about 2008, 

FARO was handling a number of intellectual property matters for EPRT. This 

included the filing of a new patent application for a new improved medical device, 
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(“Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap”), which was to replace the medical device 

covered by the ‘519 Patent Application. Faro Declaration @ 42. 

25. FARO was advised that EPRT was required, because of the unique 

construction of its new improved medical device, to submit and obtain a new FDA 

application (510K Registration) for its new improved product. Faro Declaration @ 

43. 

26. At the time of FARO’S filing of the new patent application for EPRT’s  

improved medical device in 2008, Estes instructed FARO to refrain from incurring 

any additional fees or costs in pursuit of allowance of the original ‘519 Patent 

Application. Faro Declaration @ 44. 

27. In 2008, shortly after FARO’S filing of the Estes’ patent application for 

the Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap, EPRT ceased operations in the USA. Faro 

Declaration @ 45.  

28. In 2011, FARO received a phone call from EPRT (Katherine Blake) 

inquiring about the ‘519 Patent Application because she needed to confirm about its 

status for a solicitation of an investment in EPRT.   FARO advised her that he had 

nothing new to report. Faro Declaration @ 48. 
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29. At about the same time, Katherine Blake inquired, also in 2011, why 

FARO had not deposited a check sent by her to his office for past due EPRT fees 

and expenses. Faro Declaration @ 49.     

30. FARO became concerned that the mail addressed to him at his address 

(28 W. Flagler Street) was not being delivered or was being mishandled by his office 

personnel. Faro Declaration @ 51.    

31. Accordingly, after Katherine Blake’s inquiry regarding the EPRT 

check which had not been received by his office, FARO requested his associate in 

Alexandria, Virginia, to personally inspect the ‘519 Patent Application files in the 

Patent Office, and to confirm the status of the appeal of ‘519 Patent Application. 

Faro Declaration @ 52.   

32. FARO’S concern was with the continued EPRT listing of a “patent 

pending” notice on the EPRT website which identified FARO as its patent counsel, 

notwithstanding EPRT had discontinued the product associated with ‘519 Patent 

Application.   This website claim of a “patent pending” for its new improved medical 

device was a violation of the patent mismarking statute, 35 USC 292.  Faro 

Declaration @ 47. 
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33. FARO first learned of the Decision of the Patent Office Board of 

Appeals in October 2011 from his Alexandria associate, and immediately forwarded 

a copy of the Decision, as soon as received from his associate, to EPRT. Faro 

Declaration @ 53. 

34. In October of 2011, EPRT continued to indicate that it had a “pending 

patent application” for the EPRT products.  In spite of the fact that the EPRT 

improved products were no longer encompassed by the ‘519 Patent Application and 

the EPRT new (Estes) patent application, filed in 2008, for the improved EPRT 

product (Conductive Silver Electrode Wrap) had been allowed to lapse. Faro 

Declaration @ 46. 

35. Shortly after FARO forwarded the Decision to the EPRT immigration 

attorney, said attorney he requested that FARO participate in a conference call with 

Katherine Blake to discuss the Decision (Estes, the inventor and Director of 

Engineering of EPRT, had left EPRT).   FARO declined to conference with Blake 

without EPRT technical personnel being involved, and the conference was never 

scheduled. Faro Declaration @54. 
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36. FARO was subsequently threatened with a legal malpractice lawsuit by 

the EPRT immigration attorney and refrained from any further contact with EPRT 

thereafter. Faro Declaration @ 54. 

37. EPRT continued to use the “patent pending” notice after (a) the Estes 

patent application the new improved medical device (Conductive Silver Electrode 

Wrap) had lapsed, because of EPRT failure to continue its prospection, and (b) it 

received the Decision indicating its ‘519 Patent Application, which had sustained 

the 3rd Final rejection the Board of Patent Appeals & Interference, and no longer 

pending, in violation of the patent mismarking statute, 35 USC 292. Faro Declaration 

@ 46, 47. 

38. On October 23, 2013, the immigration attorney for EPRT filed a 

malpractice lawsuit against FARO in the Federal District Court for the Southern 

District of Florida, Thrisoint Pty , Ltd. & EPRT Technologies, Inc. v. John H. Faro 

Et Al, Case No. 13-CV-23893- HUCK/SULLIVAN (DC SD Fla). Faro 

Declaration @ 57. 

39. The issues in the OED malpractice lawsuit and the OED Complaint 

against Respondent overlap. TFB 2014-70,913(11J), Referee Cohen Order, dated 
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June 30, 2017, granting TFB Motion for Summary Judgment @ page 3, paragraph 

6. 

40. The OED malpractice lawsuit determined that EPRT had not suffered 

any damages from the failure to attain patent protection. Respondent’s Answer & 

Affirmative Defenses, Exh. “K”; Daubert Tx @ page 13, lines 8-14. 

41. The OED malpractice lawsuit was dismissed with prejudice by the 

parties on September 1, 2015. Faro Declaration @ 70. 

42. The ALJ explicitly found (ALJ Initial Decision @ page 22) that 

Respondent competently represented EPRT and is, therefore, inconsistent with his 

finding of neglect. 

Respondent ( F A R O )  worked competently to achieve EPRT's 
goals from 2002 until 2006, when he filed the Second Appeal.   After 
doing so, he resigned himself to waiting for a PTO response. According 
to the OED Director's theory, Respondent received that response in 2009.  
Rather than file an appeal, as he had done twice already, Respondent chose 
to ignore the Board Decision.  He then proceeded to stonewall and avoid 
Ms. Blake for more than a year.  Missing from the OED Director's theory 
is any hint of Respondent's purported motive for this sharp shift in attitude.  
As of 2009, his relationship with EPRT and its personnel remained 
congenial.  In fact, he was handling a number of other patent and trademark 
matters for the company at the time.  The OED Director has provided no 
reason why Respondent would act in the manner alleged in the Complaint. 
The Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not receive the 
copies of the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009.   
Having failed to receive the documents when they were initially sent, 
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Respondent did not become aware of the actual status of the '519 
Application until October 2011, when he asked his associate to personally 
check the physical file. His e-mail to Ms. Blake on July 30, 2010, was 
therefore not deceptive or dishonest.  Accordingly, the Court finds that the 
OED Director failed to prove, by clear and convincing evidence, that 
Respondent violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4). (emphasis added) 

 
Final Order (August 2017), annexed to TFB Formal Complaint for 
Reciprocal Discipline. 
 

 
IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

43. The instant lawsuit involves a Florida Bar Complaint, under TFB Rule 

3-4.6, for the imposition of reciprocal discipline, based upon the two (2) Final Orders 

of United States Patent & Trademark Office.     

44. The Respondent has filed an Answer and Affirmative Defenses to TFE 

Formal Complaint for Reciprocal Discipline, wherein Respondent has asserted that 

the TFB imposition of reciprocal discipline of the Patent Office Final Orders, (which 

are based upon the Initial Opinion by the ALJ), are not entitled to be accepted as 

conclusive proof of misconduct in Florida. 

45. As the Florida Supreme Court has made clear, “a motion for summary 

judgment is calculated to save valuable trial time and thus to assist in securing 

speedy and inexpensive justice.” Cook v. Navy Point, Inc., 88 So. 2d 532, 534 (Fla. 
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1956); see also Anderson v. Maddox, 65 So. 2d 299, 300 (Fla. 1953) (“[P]lain 

purpose of [the summary judgment] rule is to obviate the expense and delay of 

summoning a jury in a case to try facts that are not in conflict”). This Motion is filed 

pursuant to Rule 1.510, which permits this Court to grant Summary Judgment when 

material facts are not in dispute and as party is entitled to judgment as a matter of 

law. Scripps Research Inst., Inc. v. Scripps Research Inst., 916 So. 2d 988, 989 (Fla. 

4th DCA 2005), Castellano v. Raynor, 725 So. 2d 1197, 1199 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); 

See Graham v. First Marion Bank, 237 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970).    

46. Summary judgment is applicable when all parties agree concerning the 

material and critical issues of fact. See Keller v. Penovich, 262 So. 2d 243, 244 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1972). The “function of summary judgment procedure is to determine if 

there is sufficient evidence to justify trial upon issues made by pleadings, to expedite 

litigation and to obviate expense.” Page v. Staley, 226 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1969); 

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (Fla. 1986) (a genuine issue of 

material fact exists only when “the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could 

return a verdict for the nonmoving party”). If the record shows there is no genuine 

issues as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as 
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a matter of law, then the motion for summary judgment must be granted.  See 

Connell v. Sledge, 306 So. 2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1st DCA 1975). 

47. The facts must be so crystallized that nothing remains but questions of 

law. See City of Orlando v. Ashlock, 342 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); Central 

Inv., Inc. v. Old Southern Golf Utility Corp., 197 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). 

A material fact for purposes of final summary judgment is a fact that is essential to 

resolution of the legal questions raised in a case. See Cont’l Concrete, Inc. v. Lakes 

at La Paz III Ltd. P’ship, 758 So. 2d 1214, 1217 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Issues of 

nonmaterial facts are irrelevant in considering a motion for final summary judgment. 

Id. Also, “issues of fact do not arise merely because party disagrees with facts 

established by competent evidence submitted by moving party in summary judgment 

proceeding, nor merely because non-movant would like opportunity of having jury 

pass upon such facts and make independent determination as to correctness thereof.”  

F&R Builders v. Lowell Dunn Co., 364 So. 2d 826, 828 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). An 

opposing party cannot merely assert an issue of material fact exists without coming 

forward with challenging evidence. See Turner Produce Co. v. Lake Shore Growers 

Co-Op. Ass’n, 217 So. 2d 856, 861 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969).  Final summary judgment 

may not be precluded by the existence of a dispute as to matters not material to 
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disposition of case. See Armstrong v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 366 So. 2d 88, 

90 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979).  

48. In addition, a party opposing a motion for summary judgment will not be 

permitted to alter the position of their prior affidavits, admissions, and responses to 

discovery, depositions, or other testimony in order to defeat a summary judgment 

motion. Maryland Cas. Co. v. Murphy, 342 So. 2d 1051, 1053 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) 

(citing Home Loan Co. Inc. v. Sloan Co., 240 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970)).  

Accordingly, it is well established law that a party may not change its testimony in 

order to create an issue of fact on his opponent’s motion for summary judgment.  

Willage v. Law Offices of Wallace and Breslow, PA, 415 So. 2d 767, 768 (Fla. 3d 

DCA 1982) (Party cannot alter its position in order to evade the consequences of 

their prior admissions, affidavits, depositions or testimony); Ellison v. Andersen, 74 

So. 2d 680 (Fla. 1954); Inman v. Club on Sailboat Key, Inc., 342 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 

3d DCA 1977). Moreover, any factual assertions made at oral argument on motions 

for summary judgment, which are unsupported by the record, are inadmissible as 

such testimony is merely argument of counsel, not the taking of evidence. Seal Prod. 

v. Mansfield, 705 So. 2d 973, 975 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998).  
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49. The Respondent’s Motion is based upon legal issues which are 

supported by legal precedent, and an expert Affidavit by Michael McCabe who has 

provided his professional insights and experience in the analysis of the Respondent’s 

putative violation of the OED regulations. As Mr. McCabe states unequivocally in 

his Affidavit, there was no nexus between the ALJ findings of misconduct and any 

harm or prejudice to the OED grievant, EPRT. Michael McCabe Affidavit @ 186-

192. 

 
V. SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE GRANTED ON 

RESPONDENT’S MOTION BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT IMPOSING 
DISCIPLINE BY THE PATENT OFFICE IS NOT ENTILTED TO  

CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF MISCONDUCT IN FLORIDA AS HAVING 
BEEN BASED ON A TRIAL BEFORE A TRIBUNAL LACKING THE 

POWER (JURISDICTION) TO ADJUDICATE THE OED COMPLAINT 
AGAINST RESPONDENT.  

 
(RESPONDENT’S FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE) 

 
A. This Action Must Be Dismissed Because The Hearing Officer Was Not 

Appointed By The USPTO Director, In Violation Of 37 C.F.R. § 
11.39(a) And The Accardi Doctrine 

 

50. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) states, in relevant part, that a hearing officer 

in a USPTO disciplinary proceeding “shall” be “appointed by the USPTO Director 
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under 5 U.S.C. §31053 or 35 U.S.C. §32.4”  In the case sub judice, it is undisputed 

that the hearing officer was not “appointed” “by the USPTO Director” under either 

5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.  Rather, Chief ALJ Mahoney was appointed by 

the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development.  Accordingly, this proceeding is 

defective because the hearing officer was not appointed in the manner required by 

federal law.  See 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a).   

51. The failure to appoint a hearing officer in the manner required by 

federal law violates the USPTO’s duty to be “rigorously held to the standards by 

which it professes its actions to be judged.”  See Vitarelli v. Seaton, 359 U.S. 535, 

546 (1959) (citing SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 87-88 (1943)); Teleprompter 

Cable Sys., Inc. v. FCC, 543 F.2d 1379, 1387 (D.C. Cir. 1976) (“an agency must 

adhere to its own rules and regulations. Ad hoc departures from those rules [] cannot 

be sanctioned.”).  Title 37, Section 11.39(a) is a mandatory regulation that provides 

 
3 5 U.S.C. § 3105 states “Each agency shall appoint as many administrative law judges as are 
necessary for proceedings required to be conducted in accordance with sections 556 and 557 of 
this title.”  That provision is not relevant here because Chief ALJ Mahoney was appointed by the 
Secretary of HUD, not the Director of the USPTO.   
 
4 35 U.S.C. § 32 states the “Director [of the USPTO] shall have the discretion to designate any 
attorney who is an officer or employee of the United States Patent and Trademark Office to 
conduct the hearing required by this section.”  That provision is inapplicable here because Chief 
ALJ Mahoney is not “an officer or employee of” the USPTO.  
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Respondent with the right to a hearing officer “appointed” by a specific individual - 

the USPTO Director. The USPTO is bound by its regulations and its failure to abide 

by those regulations warrants dismissal.  See United States ex rel. Accardi v. 

Shaughnessy, 347 U.S. 260, 268 (1954) (reversing agency decision for failure to 

follow own regulations).  

52. Moreover, it matters not whether the regulations provide Respondent 

with more protections than he may otherwise be entitled to under the Constitution or 

other relevant laws.  See generally Doe v. United States Dep’t of Justice, 753 F.2d 

1092, 1098 (D.C. Cir. 1985) (“Courts, of course, have long required agencies to 

abide by internal, procedural regulations…even where those regulations provide 

more protection than the Constitution or relevant civil service laws.”) (citing 

Vitarelli, 395 U.S. at 540, Service v. Dulles, 354 U.S. 363 (1957)).  Having failed to 

abide by Title 37, Section 11.39(a), the putative filing of the complaint with a hearing 

officer who was not “appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 

35 U.S.C. § 32” violates the agency’s mandatory regulation, which explicitly limits 

the power to hear USPTO disciplinary cases only to those ALJs who were duly 

“appointed by the USPTO Director.”  Since the hearing officer in this proceeding 

was not “appointed by the USPTO Director,” dismissal is warranted. 
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B. This Action Must Be Dismissed Because The Hearing Officer Lacks 

Subject Matter Jurisdiction  
 

53. Subject-matter jurisdiction refers to a tribunal’s “power to hear a case.”  

Arbaugh v. Y & H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 514 (2006).  Subject matter jurisdiction 

presents an issue separate from whether the allegations in the complaint create any 

entitlement to relief.  See Bell v. Hood, 327 U.S. 678, 682 (1946).  A challenge to 

subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, either by the tribunal or the 

parties, and is never waived.  See, e.g., Gonzalez v. Thaler, 132 S. Ct. 641, 648 

(2012) (“Subject-matter jurisdiction can never be waived or forfeited. The objections 

may be raised at any point in the litigation, and a valid objection may lead a court 

midway through briefing to dismiss a complaint in its entirety.”); Henderson v. 

Shineski, 131 S. Ct. 1197, 1202 (2012) (explaining courts “have an independent 

obligation to ensure that they do not exceed the scope of their jurisdiction, and 

therefore they must raise and decide jurisdictional questions” even if not raised by 

the parties).  Whether subject matter jurisdiction exists is determined as of the date 

of the filing of the complaint.  See Smith v. Sperling, 354 U.S. 91, 93 n.1 (1957). 

54. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) mandates a specific process to be held before 

an individual who was appointed “by the USPTO Director.”  In the present 
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proceeding, the entire process mandated by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) was ignored and 

disregarded by the OED Director, who chose to file his complaint with a Tribunal 

that was not appointed as required by 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a).  See Ft. Stewart Sch. v. 

Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 495 U.S. 641, 654 (1990) (“It is a familiar rule of 

administrative law that an agency must abide by its own regulations.”) (citations 

omitted); Reuters, Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 (D.C. Cir. 1986) (“Simply 

stated, rules are rules, and fidelity to the rules which have been properly 

promulgated, consistent with applicable statutory requirements, is required of those 

to whom Congress has entrusted the regulatory missions of modern life.”).5  

55. The defective appointment of a judicial officer goes to the very power 

of a tribunal.  See Bendiburg v. Dempsey, 692 F. Supp. 1354, 1358 (N.D. Ga. 1988) 

(citing cases in which “the judicial acts taken by… improperly appointed judges… . 

were ruled nullities for want of jurisdiction”). This is a logical extension of those 

cases that uniformly hold that the decisions and rulings of tribunals lacking power 

are nullities.  See, e.g., Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 101-03 

(1998) (“For a court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitutionality of a 

 
5 Plaintiff—or in this case, the Petitioner OED Director—bears the burden of proving the existence 
of subject matter jurisdiction.  See, e.g., Evans v. B.F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 642, 647 (4th Cir. 
1999).  
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state or federal law when it has no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a 

court to act ultra vires.”).  Because this tribunal lacks jurisdiction, said proceeding 

is void.  Gojack v. United States, 384 U.S. 702, 707 n.6 (1966) (“It is a rule of law 

very well settled, that if there is no jurisdiction over the subject-matter, the 

proceeding is void.”); Stutsman Cnty. v. Wallace, 142 U.S. 293, 305 (1892) (“[w]hen 

a court or other officer acts without jurisdiction of the subject matter, all is void and 

such acts are regarded in law as nullities[.]”). Any actions or orders issued in a 

proceeding lacking subject matter jurisdiction are void and a legal nullity.  See, e.g., 

Temp. Empl.. Servs. v. Trinity Marine Group, Inc., 261 F.3d 456, 463-466 (5th Cir. 

2001) (vacating ALJ decision based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction); Tiger 

Natural Gas, Inc. v. United States, 61 Fed. Cl. 287, 290 n.4 (2004) (“[A]n appeal to 

an agency board of contract appeals is considered an ‘absolute nullity’ when such 

board lacks jurisdiction over the matter.”).  

56. Finally, a jurisdictional defect cannot be retroactively “cured.”  To the 

contrary, “It has long been the case that ‘the jurisdiction of the court depends upon 

the state of things at the time of the action brought.”  Grupo Dataflux v. Atlas Global 

Group. L.P., 511 U.S. 567, 570-71 (2004) (citation omitted).  Consequently, where, 

as here, the tribunal lacked jurisdiction at the time the complaint was filed, the only 
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recourse is dismissal.  See, e.g., Jaffree v. Wallace, 837 F.2d 1461, 1466 (11th Cir. 

1988); Stafford v. Mobil Oil Corp., 942 F.2d 803, 806 (5th Cir. 1991).  

C. The PTO-HUD “Interagency Agreement” Is Not An “Appointment” Of 
A Hearing Officer “Under 5 U.S.C. §3105 Or 35 U.S.C. §32” By “The 
USPTO Director” 

 
57. Respondent anticipates that the OED Director will argue in opposition 

that an “Interagency Agreement” entered into between the USPTO and HUD 

constitutes an “appointment” of the judges of the Department of Housing and Urban 

Development.  See Exhibit 1.6  Such an argument is incorrect as a matter of fact and 

as a matter of law.   

58. First: the “interagency agreement” entered into between HUD and the 

USPTO is not an “appointment.”  An “appointment” in the context of a judge (or 

“hearing officer”) is “an executive act, whereby a person is named as the incumbent 

of an office and invested therewith, by one or more individuals who have the sole 

power and right to select and constitute the officer.” See The Law Dictionary 

Featuring Black’s Law Dictionary Free Online Legal Dictionary, available at 

 
6 The USPTO failed to include the most recent version of the USPTO-HUD Interagency 
Agreement in its prehearing exhibits.   Exhibit 1 is the Interagency Agreement that counsel for Mr. 
DOE was able to obtain.  It is believed that the current version of the applicable Interagency 
Agreement is substantively the same as in Exhibit 1.   
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https://thelawdictionary.org/appointment (internal case citations omitted). The term 

“appointment” is distinguished from, among other terms, “election.”  See id.    

59. The interagency agreement fails to name a person as the incumbent of 

an office, nor does it “invest” any named individual with the powers of that office—

the “office” in this context being an ALJ of the USPTO.  The interagency agreement 

is simply a government procurement mechanism whereby HUD agrees to loan 

hearing officers and others (i.e. law clerks, staff attorneys, administrative staff, and 

court reporting services) to the USPTO.  See Exhibit 1 at 1.  Nothing in the USPTO-

HUD interagency agreement states that any individual employed by HUD has 

thereby been “appointed” by the head of the USPTO.   

60. Second: the interagency agreement is not an appointment “by the 

USPTO Director.”  The document itself is not signed by the USPTO Director nor 

does it indicate that Chief ALJ Mahoney has been “appointed” by the USPTO 

Director.  Rather, it is signed by the OED Director and USPTO’s Chief Financial 

Officer.  Exhibit 1 at 5.  

61. Third:  the interagency agreement is not made “under 5 U.S.C. § 3105” 

or “under 35 U.S.C. § 32.”  The interagency agreement states that it is authorized 
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pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5).7   Since the interagency agreement was not made 

“under” either of the applicable statutes, the interagency agreement fails to “appoint” 

any of HUD’s ALJs “under” 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32. 

D. The Interagency Agreement Fails To Confer Subject Matter Jurisdiction 
Upon A Hearing Officer Who Was Not Appointed By The USPTO 
Director Under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 Or 35 U.S.C. § 32 
 

62. Respondent anticipates that the OED Director also will argue that the 

USPTO has “subject matter jurisdiction” pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.19(a). But Title 

37, Section 11.19(s), merely identifies those individuals who are subject to the 

USPTO’s disciplinary jurisdiction. See id. (identifying universe of individuals 

subject to disciplinary jurisdiction of the USPTO).  The OED Director confuses the 

concept of personal jurisdiction, which is a tribunal’s power over an individual, with 

subject matter jurisdiction, which is a tribunal’s “power to hear a case.”  Arbaugh v. 

Y & H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, 514 (2006).   

 
7 Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5), the USPTO “may use, with their consent, services, equipment, 
personnel, and facilities of other departments, agencies, and instrumentalities of the Federal 
Government, on a reimbursable basis, and cooperate with such other departments, agencies, and 
instrumentalities in the establishment and use of services, equipment, and facilities of the Office.”  
As discussed below, the agency’s general borrowing authority does not override the specific 
regulatory mandate regarding the qualifications of a specific individual (hearing officer) for a 
specific type of matter (USPTO disciplinary proceeding).  In order to give effect to both the general 
statutory borrowing authority and the specific regulation, the specific rule of law controls over the 
general.   
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63. Here, the sole basis for the asserted power of the USPTO to exercise 

jurisdiction over this case is the interagency agreement.  However, as explained 

above, the interagency agreement: (i) is not an “appointment”; (ii) was not entered 

into by the USPTO Director; and (iii) was not entered into under either 5 U.S.C. § 

3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.   Accordingly, the “interagency agreement” violates the 

plain mandate of the USPTO’s specific regulation, which specifies that only hearing 

officers who are “appointed by” the USPTO Director pursuant to specified federal 

law. The OED Director’s interference with regulations that seek to safeguard a 

practitioner’s rights disregards the Accardi doctrine and its requirement that agencies 

abide by their own procedures. See Morton v. Ruiz, 415 U.S. 199, 235 (1974) 

(holding that “[w]here the rights of individuals are affected, it is incumbent upon 

agencies to follow their own procedures. This is so even where the internal 

procedures are possibly more rigorous than otherwise would be required.”)  

64. When it is established that the tribunal is not competent, dismissal is 

required. See Christoffel v. United States, 338 U.S. 84, 89–90 (1949). Because the 

hearing officer was not appointed by the USPTO Director under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 

35 U.S.C. § 32, the filing of the complaint with this tribunal was improper.  Because 
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this tribunal was not appointed by the USPTO Director, the filing and continuing 

litigation of this proceeding violates the Accardi Doctrine.  

E. The General Agency Borrowing Authority Fails To Negate The 
Specific Appointment Requirements Mandated By 37 C.F.R. § 
11.39(a), Which Specifically Applies Solely To The Appointment Of 
ALJs For USPTO Disciplinary Proceedings 

 
65. It is anticipated that the OED may argue that the Court was properly 

appointed based on the general authority of the USPTO to “use…personnel…of 

other departments…of the Federal Government, on a reimbursable basis..”  See 35 

U.S.C. § 2(b)(5).  The problem with this argument, however, is that it would render 

37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) nugatory.  Courts are required to construe laws to give effect 

to all of the statutory or regulatory terms. Allowing the USPTO’s general statutory 

borrowing authority to dictate the outcome over the narrow and specific requirement 

set forth in Section 11.39(a) renders the regulatory language mere surplusage.  Sharp 

v. United States, 580 F.3d 1234, 1238 (Fed. Cir. 2009) (courts “must ‘give effect, if 

possible, to every clause and word of a statute’ [or regulation] and should avoid 

rendering any of the statutory [or regulatory] text meaningless or as mere 

surplusage”) (quoting Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001)) (internal 
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parenthetical added); see also Montclair v. Ramsdell, 107 U.S. 147, 152 (1883) 

(same).  

66. Furthermore, any effort to rely on a general agency borrowing authority 

over the specific regulation fails under the well-known canon of construction that 

the “specific governs the general.”  Karczewski v. DCH Mission Valley LLC, 862 

F.3d 1006, 1016 (9th Cir. 2017) (“When confronted with an irreconcilable conflict 

in two legal provisions, we may apply the interpretive principle that the specific 

governs over the general. In essence, the general rule applies unless a more specific 

rule provides otherwise.”)  The general agency borrowing authority does not apply 

to any specific type of person for any specific type of proceeding.  In contrast, the 

regulation imposes a specific competency requirement (i.e. appointment by the 

USPTO Director), for a specific person (i.e. a hearing officer), for a specific purpose 

(i.e. for conducting a disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Title 37, subpart 11).  

Contrary to the general agency borrowing authority, the USPTO has mandated an 

additional requirement for any and every ALJ to be authorized and empowered to 

conduct a disciplinary proceeding pursuant to Part 11 of Title 37.   

67. Legislative history supports the conclusion that the USPTO intended 

for this result.  In 1985, the USPTO promulgated 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a) (the 
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predecessor to current 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a)) concerning the appointment of ALJs in 

disciplinary proceedings.  See 50 Fed. Reg. 5158, 5183 (Feb. 6, 1985).  In its original 

form, 37 C.F.R. § 10.139(a) stated:  

Appointment.  An administrative law judge, appointed under 5 U.S.C. 
3105, shall conduct disciplinary proceedings as provided by this part. 
 
See id.  

68. As originally promulgated, it did not matter who appointed an 

administrative law judge to conduct a USPTO disciplinary proceeding.  All that was 

required was that the ALJ was appointed by somebody under 5 U.S.C. §3105. See 

id.  Under the old regulation, any ALJ appointed under 5 U.S.C. §3105 - including 

one appointed by someone other than the USPTO Director, such as an ALJ detailed 

from another agency - was authorized to conduct such proceedings.   

69. In 2008, the USPTO amended its regulations governing who was 

competent to serve as a hearing officer in a USPTO disciplinary proceeding.  See 73 

Fed. Reg. 47650 (Aug. 14, 2008). As amended, 37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) provided (and 

provides to this day) a new ALJ competency requirement:  

Appointment.  A hearing officer, appointed by the USPTO Director 
under 5 U.S.C. 3105 or 35 U.S.C. 32, shall conduct disciplinary 
proceedings as provided by this Part.  See id. (underline added to show 
new language added to regulation).  
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70. Title 37, Section 11.39(a) was promulgated after the enactment of the 

general borrowing statute.  Thus, the USPTO was well aware of the existing 

statutory scheme when it promulgated Section 11.39(a).  Rather than carve out an 

exception for borrowed ALJs, the USPTO decided to provide respondents in USPTO 

disciplinary proceedings with the right to a hearing before an ALJ who was 

appointed “by the USPTO Director” under 5 U.S.C. § 3105 or 35 U.S.C. § 32.  

Consequently, any attempt now to rely upon 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(5) as overriding the 

regulatory mandate in Title 37, Section 11.39(a), is inconsistent with the regulatory 

history of the USPTO’s rules and leads to the manifestly erroneous result that a 

general law controls over a specific law on the same subject matter.  RadLAX 

Gateway Hotel, LLC v. Amalgamated Bank, 566 U.S. 639, 645 (2012) (“when “a 

general permission or prohibition is contradicted by a specific prohibition or 

permission” . . . “the specific provision is construed as the exception.”).  The 

“specific overrides the general” canon of construction ensures that a “narrow, 

precise, and specific” regulation is not overridden by another provision “covering a 

more generalized spectrum” of issues.  See Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 550 
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(1974) (holding that Indian preference statute “is a specific provision applying to a 

very specific situation” and controls over a law of “general application”).  

71. Finally, it is anticipated that the OED Director may argue that the 

district court’s decision in Bolton v. Pritzker, Case No. C15-1607 MJP, 2016 WL 

4555467 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 1, 2016), is somehow relevant to this proceeding, 

however, it is not. In Bolton, an ALJ of the EPA was detailed to proceed over a 

NOAA administrative proceeding pursuant to an interagency agreement under the 

ALJ loan program.  The district court held that the appointment of ALJ Biro did not 

violate the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution.  Notably, Bolton was not 

decided pursuant to the USPTO disciplinary rules.  In Bolton, the proceeding arose 

under the Alaska-Based fishery regulations codified at 50 C.F.R. Part 679.  Contrary 

to Title 37, Section 11.39(a), the Alaska-Based fishery regulations imposed no 

requirement as to who appointed the hearing officer. See id., passim.  Moreover, the 

instant motion is not based on the Appointments Clause of the U.S. Constitution.  

Consequently, Bolton is irrelevant. 
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VI. THE PROBABLE CAUSE DETERMINATION OBTAINED FROM A 
COMMITTEE ON DISCIPLINE WAS ILLEGALLY OBTAINED BY THE 

OED DIRECTOR, BECAUSE IT WAS BASED UPON AN 
“INCOMPLETE” INVESTIGATION OF THE ALLEGATIONS OF 
MISCONDUCT, AT A TIME WHEN THE OED DIRECTOR KNEW 

THAT ADDITIONAL MATERIAL INFORMATION EXISTED, OR WAS 
FORTHCOMING, THAT WAS LIKELY EXCULPATORY OF 

RESPONDENT OF ANY WRONGDOING. 
 
A. The OED Investigation Protocol 

72. The clear and unambiguous regulations (e.g. 37 CFR 11.22, et seq.) sets forth 

a sequence of steps for conducting a grievance investigation against an attorney:    

§ 11.22 Disciplinary investigations. 
 

 (a) The OED Director is authorized to investigate possible grounds for 
discipline. An investigation may be initiated when the OED Director 
receives a grievance, information or evidence from any source suggesting 
possible grounds for discipline. Neither unwillingness nor neglect by a 
grievant to prosecute a charge, nor settlement, compromise, or restitution 
with the grievant, shall in itself justify abatement of an investigation.   
(b) Any person possessing information or evidence concerning possible 
grounds for discipline of a practitioner may report the information or 
evidence to the OED Director. The OED Director may request that the 
report be presented in the form of an affidavit or declaration.   
(c) 
[Reserved]   
(d) Preliminary screening of information or evidence. The OED Director 
shall examine all information or evidence concerning possible grounds for 
discipline of a practitioner. 
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(e) Notification of investigation.  The OED Director shall notify the 
practitioner in writing of the initiation of an investigation into whether a 
practitioner has engaged in conduct constituting possible grounds for 
discipline.   
(f) Request for information and evidence by OED Director.   

(1) In the course of the investigation, the OED Director may request 
information and evidence regarding possible grounds for discipline 
of a practitioner from:   

(i) The grievant, 
(ii) The practitioner, or 
(iii) Any person who may reasonably be expected to provide 
information and evidence needed in connection with the 
grievance or investigation. 

 
 

(2) The OED Director may request information and evidence regarding 
possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner from a non-grieving 
client either after obtaining the consent of the practitioner or upon a 
finding by a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, 
appointed in accordance with § 11.23(d), that good cause exists to 
believe that the possible ground for discipline alleged has occurred with 
respect to non-grieving clients. Neither a request for, nor disclosure of, 
such information shall constitute a violation of any USPTO Rules of 
Professional Conduct.   

(g) When the OED Director makes a request under paragraph (f)(2) of this 
section to a Contact Member of the Committee on Discipline, such Contact 
Member shall not, with respect to the practitioner connected to the OED 
Director's request, participate in the Committee on Discipline panel that 
renders a probable cause determination under paragraph (b)(1) of this 
section concerning such practitioner, and that forwards the probable cause 
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finding and recommendation to the OED Director under paragraph (b)(2) 
of this section.   
(h) Disposition of investigation. Upon the conclusion of an investigation, 
the OED Director may: 

 
(1)  Close the investigation without issuing a warning, or taking 
disciplinary action; 
(2) Issue a warning to the practitioner; 
(3) Institute formal charges upon the approval of the Committee on 
Discipline; or 
(4) Enter into a settlement agreement with the practitioner and submit 
the same for approval of the USPTO Director.   

(i) Closing investigation.   The   OED   Director   shall   terminate   an 
investigation and decline to refer a matter to the Committee on Discipline 
if the OED Director determines that:   

(1) The information or evidence is unfounded; 
(2) The information or evidence relates to matters not within the 
jurisdiction of the Office; 
(3) As a matter of law, the conduct about which information or evidence 
has been obtained does not constitute grounds for discipline, even if the 
conduct may involve a legal dispute; or 
(4) The available evidence is insufficient to conclude that there is 
probable cause to believe that grounds exist for discipline. (Emphasis 
added)  

 

73. The scope and content of the OED Director investigation is laid out in 37 CFR 

11.22(d).   The OED Director is explicitly charged with collection of all information related 
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to the grievance. McCabe Affidavit @ paragraphs 71 to 73.    The OED has interpreted the 

scope and content of 37 CFR 11.22(d) as requiring to its investigation to include… 

all information that which may justify or exonerate the alleged actions of the 
registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations that may 
have occurred” OED Request for Information OED Request for Information 
(“RFI”) to FARO.  McCabe Affidavit @ paragraph 72.      
 
74. Only after the “conclusion” of the investigation, may the OED Director 

proceed to refer his investigation and recommendation (if any) to a Committee on 

Discipline, 37 CFR 11.22(h)(3). McCabe Affidavit @ 92.   The OED Director’s strict 

compliance with the legal requirements of 37 CFR 11.22(d) and  37 CFR 11.22(h)(3), are 

conditions precedent, to OED Director empaneling a neutral Committee on Discipline, for a 

review of his investigation, and for the Committee on Discipline determination of probable 

cause (in any), 37 CFR 11.32.   The OED Director has failed to conclude his investigation 

prior to complying with such condition precedents, and, thereby ignored his mandatory 

obligations under the OED Rules.  Accordingly, the OED Director neglected to comport his 

investigation with the mandatory requirements of 37 CFT 11.22.   

B. OED Director Awareness of Information of Evidence Relevant To An OED 
Investigation 
 

75. On July 11, 2014, the OED Director served FARO, under 37 CFR 11.22(f), 

with an OED Request for Information (“RFI”), Respondent Ans., Exh. ”G”, Bates Nos. 47-
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52, OED Request for Information (“RFI”) to FARO.  On September 11, 2014, FARO, 

responded to the OED Request for Information (RFI), Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates 

Nos. 53-56, FARO Response to OED RFI.   The FARO July 11, 2014, Response explicitly 

apprised the OED Director of (a) the prior filed, parallel pending malpractice litigation 

between the OED Grievous and FARO Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56; and, 

(b) the overlapping issues in the malpractice litigation and the OED grievance, Respondent 

Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56.   On September 11, 2014, FARO also explicitly requested 

the OED Director abate the OED Director investigation, until the issues common to the 

grievance and to such prior filed parallel pending malpractice litigation between the OED 

grievant and FARO, were resolved, Respondent Ans., Exh. ”H”, Bates Nos. 53-56.   Both 

the OED grievance and the malpractice litigation (Third Amended Complaint, @ 

paragraph 57. explicitly implicated the same professional misconduct8  The OED Director  

  

 
8   Third Amended Complaint @ paragraph 57.  The materiality of the prior filed malpractice 
litigation, to the OED Director is undisputed, (the overlap of the issues in each is undisputed.  
Moreover, the overlap of the issues in each of these proceeding as is also reflected in the OED 
Director Exhibits List, wherein 24 of the 40 OED Exhibits are pleading from the malpractice 
litigation. Respondent Ans. Exh, “J”, Bates Nos. 59-66, OED Witness List & Exhibit List (40 
Exhibits, 24 of 40 Exhibits from the malpractice litigation.  
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chose to ignore the FARO September 11, 20149 request to abate his investigation, and 

illegally concluded his investigation in May 2015, notwithstanding, (a) his mandatory 

obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d) to collect “all information an and evidence” related to 

the EPRT grievance; (b) identical issues were involved in the prior filed malpractice 

litigation were set for trial in July 2015, (Re-Set for September 30, 2015); and (c) the OED 

Director had the option to offer an agreement to FARO to toll the one (1) year period, as 

permitted under 37 CFR 11.34(e)   Accordingly, the OED Director abused his discretion in 

not tolling the investigation, wrongfully informing from his investigation, and ultimately at 

trial.  McCabe Affidavit @ 71 to 84. 

76. Accordingly, the information and evidence, known to the OED Director, 

which was material a determination to probable cause was withheld by the OED Director 

from the Committee on Discipline, thereby illegally causing/exposing Respondent to 

defense of an unwarranted as disciplinary proceeding. 

  

 
9   There was nothing in 37 CFR 11.22, requiring the OED Director concluding the investigation 
within one (1) year.   Moreover, the OED Director investigation of FARO could have been tolled 
by the OED Director, under 37 CFR 11.34(e), to permit him to comply with his mandatory duties 
under 37 CFR 11.22(d).    
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C. The OED Director’s Failure To Comply With His Mandatory Obligations Has 
Not Been Waived And Cannot Be Excused 
 

77.  Where, as in this case, the OED Director knows or has reason to believe that 

material information and evidence, relevant to his investigation is likely forthcoming, he is 

required to obtain and review it, before concluding his investigation.   The duration of an 

investigation of a grievance is neither defined, nor constrained by 37 CFR 11.22.   The OED 

Director had the option of “concluding” the investigation of a grievance against Respondent, 

prior taking any action of the grievance, under 37 CFR 11.22(h), and, simply re-file it a late 

date10, (if warranted), where additional information and evidence was forthcoming, and not 

yet available. McCabe Affidavit @ 76-78.   The OED Director did neither.   In lieu thereof, 

the OED Director ignored his mandatory obligations under 37 CFR 11.22(d), and 

prematurely “concluded” his investigation, while the prior filed malpractice litigation was 

scheduled to go to trial (July 2015), and necessarily excluded “all information and evidence” 

relevant to the grievance against FARO, that was, in fact, favorable to FARO11.    

 
10    A 10 year statute of limitations was potentially applicable to some of the allege acts and/or omissions 
occurring from and after about 2005-2006. 
 
11 The OED Director the investigation could have been abated, without prejudice, and new 
complaint filed within the ten (10) year statute of limitations, 37 CFR 11.34(f).   Thus, the OED 
Director investigation, could have been refiled, and included the rulings and findings by Federal 
District Court made on each of the FARO Motion in Limine on July 20, 2015. 
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78. The OED Director thereafter, in willful blindness to the legal infirmities in 

his investigation, under 37 CFR 11.22(d), obtained a probable cause determination from a 

Committee on Discipline; and, thereafter illegally initiated the prosecution of the disciplinary 

proceeding against FARO,  in violation of Respondent’s 5th amendment rights, Goodwin v. 

Meats, 885 F.2d 157, (4th Cir.  1989); followed Lewis v. Doorman, 820 F.Supp. 1001, 

1004, (DC WD Va 1992).  Accordingly, the OED Director determination of probable 

cause was illegally obtained. McCabe Affidavit @ 92. 

D. Information & Evidence Available To OED Director, Prior To Trial In May 2016, 
Was Withheld By The OED Director From The ALJ 
 

79. The record of the prior filed malpractice litigation was known and available to 

the OED Director no later than September 1, 2015, Respondent Ans., Exhihit “I”. Bates Nos. 

57-58.   Respondent asserts that record in this malpractice litigation between the OED 

Grievant and FARO, was material to a determination of both wrongdoing, and to the 

sanction (if any) to be imposed by the ALJ, McCabe Affidavit @ 83.  More specifically, 

FARO asserts that such “information (in the Daubert Hearing transcript, Respondent’s 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, @ 36,) “,,,may justify or exonerate the alleged 

actions of the registered practitioner or mitigate the seriousness of any violations”, 

and, the exclusion thereof was illegal by the OED Director. McCabe Affidavit @ 83, 
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104 and 109 to 121.  The illegal exclusion of the finding by the Federal District Court,  

relative to the absence of any harm to EPRT, substantially and improperly influenced 

the Committee deliberations relative to the allegations of “neglect”, and the 

invited the ALJ  improper speculation as to the “harm” caused to EPRT by 

Respondent. This information and evidence, reflected in the Daubert hearing transcript on 

July 20, 2015, is as follows: 

A. EPRT lacked standing to bring a malpractice claim against FARO because 

it was not a client of FARO at the time of the alleged malpractice, Answer 

& Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 9, line 1-5. 

B. There was no evidence of any losses or adverse commercial impact upon 

EPRT from its failure to have an issued a patent based upon ‘519 Patent 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 13, 

line 8-14. 

C. The product covered by the ‘519 Patent Application was obsolete and 

replaced by new product, covered by a new patent application, Answer & 

Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 11, line 6-11. 

D. The EPRT abandoned the foreign equivalents of the ‘519 Patent 

Application “throughout the world”, suggests the “technology” covered by 
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such patent was of dubious value, Answer & Affirmative Defenses, 

Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 11, line 21, to page 12, line 4. 

E. There was no competitor use or interest in the EPRT “technology”, 

Answer & Affirmative Defenses, Exhibit “K”, Daubert Tx @ page 13, 

lines 14-25 

F. The Grievant re-directing of FARO attention, to other EPRT matters, OED 

Trial Exh. GOV 28, @ Bates Nos 309, line 10, to Bates Nos 311; FARO 

Deposition (malpractice litigation) @ page 228, line 10, to page 230, line 

12. 

80. Accordingly, had the OED Director investigation been more inclusive of 

information and evidence, (tending to excuse, exonerate or justify FARO’s acts and/or 

omissions), ALJ findings relative to EPRT’s lack of interest in the ‘519 Patent Application, 

from and after 2008, would not have been inconsistent with the Federal District Court 

findings.   Nor would the OED Director withholding of such evidence misled the ALJ at to 

as to EPRT’s “Legal Objectives”, and/or encouraged the ALJ’s speculation as to the 

economic harm to EPRT’s from the failure to attain patent rights from the ‘519 Patent 

Application.   The OED Director knew, as did the District Court, from the Blake deposition 

in the malpractice case (OED Trial Exh No. 26), that the (a) OED Grievant (EPRT) 
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abandoned its original product design, (b) OED Grievant (EPRT) replaced it with a “new 

product”, based upon a new technology (based upon a Silver Conductive Electrode); (c) that 

‘519 Patent Application did not cover the new technology for the “new product”, (d) the new 

technology for the “new product”, required of file for a new FDA registration of the new 

product  and, (e) the new technology for the “new product”, required that FARO file a new 

patent application for the new improvement invention. 

81. Consequently, the ALJ Initial Opinion (the predicate for each of Director Final 

Orders), was based upon an Infirmity in Proof, and, there are not entitled to conclusive proof 

of professional misconduct in Florida by Respondent. 

VII.  SUMMARY JUDGMENT SHOULD BE GRANTED ON 
RESPONDENT’S MOTION BECAUSE THE JUDGMENT IMPOSING 

DISCIPLINE BY THE PATENT OFFICE IS NOT ENTITLED TO 
CONCLUSIVE PROOF OF MISCONDUCT IN FLORIDA AS HAVING 
BEEN BASED UPON AN AD HOC INTERPRETATION OF THE OED 
REGULATION, AND DOES OTHERWISE COMPORT WITH ANY 
“AUTHORITATIVE” OR “OFFICIAL POSITION OF THE UNITED 

STATES PATENT & TRADEMARK OFFICE 

A. United States Patent & Trademark Office (USPTO) Code of Responsibility 
Are Based Upon ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility 
 

82. Generally when a state or administrative agency adopts/borrows laws 

and regulations from anther state or administrative agency, and model rules (e.g. 

UCC, Federal Trade Commission Act, Federal Anti-Trust Laws & Regulation, ABA 
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Model Rules), it is because a state or administrative agency desires to benefit from 

the past experiences of others in its interpretation and application, and from legal 

precedent which has developed or refined the past interpretation and application of 

the laws and regulations.  

83. The USPTO Code of Responsibility is based ABA Model Code of 

Professional Responsibility, which was “adopted to promote uniformity” in the 

handling of disciplinary matters before the Patent Office. McCabe Affidavit @ 33 

& 37. 

84. Accordingly, Respondent has a right to expect that compliance with 

ethics and disciplinary rules with the State Bars where he is admitted (in Florida and 

in Massachusetts), are similar, (if not identical) to each of Florida and in 

Massachusetts.   Clearly, the USPTO can draw upon any jurisdiction in which the 

ADA Model Rules have provide the framework for local professional; and, glean 

guidance from the application thereof from various jurisdictions.   

B. The USPTO Was Established By Congress And Is Governed By Federal 
Law, Both Federal Statutes (Enabling Legislation, Specifically, 35 USC 
2(b)(2), Establish Regulations, Not Inconsistent With Law) & The 
Administrative Procedures Act (5 USC 553, Rule Making)  
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85. The operation of the Patent Office, and the governance thereof, is a 

creature of federal law.  Congress authorized the USPTO to “establish regulations, 

not inconsistent with law, which . . . may govern the recognition and conduct of 

agents, attorneys, or other persons representing applicants or other parties before the 

Office . . . .”  35 U.S.C. §2(b)(2)(D). (McCabe Affidavit @ 32.)  In 1985, the USPTO 

promulgated regulations which were intended to be modeled after the (then current) 

ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility, which had been published several 

years earlier.  See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.120 through 10.112 (“Patent and Trademark 

Office Code of Professional Responsibility”).  (McCabe Affidavit @ 33.)  In 2008, 

the USPTO adopted Final Rules relating to the disciplinary procedures to be 

followed in OED ethics investigations and disciplinary proceedings before the 

USPTO, which were codified at 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.1 – 11.60. (McCabe Affidavit @ 

34.) Accordingly, there are well defined parameters that both define and limit the 

metes and bounds of the USPTO authority to adopt rules and regulation, and, the 

metes and bounds of procedures for such rule making.  These rule making 

procedures are for the most part mandatory, with very limited exception (none of 

which apply here), that permit the agency departure from the explicit wording of its 

APPX 732 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
        The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

50 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

unambiguous regulations; and, to prevent ad hoc interpretation of the unambiguous 

regulations, which departs from the  wording of such regulations. 

C. The Supreme Court Has Recently Reaffirmed The Judiciary’s 
Responsibility To Prevent An Agency Circumvention Of The Rule 
Making Process, By Interpretation Of An Of Unambiguous Regulation To 
Encompass Activities Or Subject Matter, Not Otherwise Embraced By Its 
Explicit Terms. 
 

86. As set forth hereinafter, the Respondent has challenged ALJ 

interpretation of the regulation implicated in this case (Respondent’s Answer, & 

Affirmative Defenses, @ Paragraphs 60-63).  Clearly, the ALJ has been adept at 

intellectual gymnastics, by engaging in the impermissible “stacking of inferences”12, 

and in his speculation as the worth or value of EPRT attaining patent rights, for 

EPRT’s commercial success or failure.   His interpretation of the OED regulations 

has been equally intellectually dishonest.  A critical analysis of the ALJ 

interpretation of the OED unambiguous Rules of Professional Conduct has imported 

 
12   The ALJ has engaged in the impermissible stacking of inferences, in the construct 
of a narrative that is not exclusive of other reasonable alternatives, National Union 
Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh v. Taco Integrated Security LLC, 2015 WL 3905018 *23 
(SD Fla 2015).   The ALJ’s deliberative process is this case was not supported by 
substantial evidence, but rather based upon a substantial speculation.    
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elements into the regulations, and otherwise disregard explicit conditions thereof, to 

hold Respondent in violation hereof.   

 
ERRONEOUS LEGAL DECISIONS PER MICHAEL McCABE 

(NUMBERED AS IN MICHAEL McCABE’S AFFIDAVIT) 
 

   The following analysis by Respondent’s Expert, Michael McCabe, 

exemplifies the ALJ’s liberties with the facts and his disregard of the law. McCabe 

Affidavit @161 to 194. 

161. On September 15, 2016, ALJ Mahoney issued an Initial Decision.  

162.The Initial Decision included several clear errors of law. 

First Error: 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

163.The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

because he did not provide his clients with copies of the Board’s 2009 

decision and abandonment.  This finding was plain error in light of the 

legal standard, which provides in relevant part:  

Conduct which constitutes a violation of [37 CFR 10.23(a) 
and (b)] of this section includes, but is not limited to . . . .  

 
(8) Failing to inform a client or former client or failing to 
timely notify the Office of an inability to notify a client or 
former client of correspondence received from the Office or 
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the client’s or former client’s opponent in an inter parties 
proceeding before the Office when the correspondence 
 
(i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending 

before the Office,  
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or 

former client and 
(iii) is correspondence of which a reasonable practitioner 

would believe under the circumstances the client or 
former client should be notified.  

 
164. 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) expressly requires that correspondence from 

the USPTO “is received by the practitioner.”  The rule does not 

proscribe “should have received” conduct, but rather is predicated 

on the practitioner’s actual receipt of correspondence and 

thereafter failing to inform the client about that correspondence.  

165. The record before the ALJ was undisputed that Mr. Faro did not 

receive either the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of 

Abandonment.  

166. In fact, ALJ Mahoney specifically found that Mr. Faro did not 

receive either the 2009 Board Decision or the 2009 Notice of 

Abandonment.  Initial Decision at 19.  ALJ Mahoney found that 
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the cause of the non-receipt was “Mr. Faro’s own negligence that 

prevented him from receiving” the 2009 communications.  Id.   

167. However, the issue under 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) requires a finding, 

by clear and convincing evidence, that Mr. Faro actually received 

correspondence and failed to inform his client about that 

correspondence.   

168. Such a finding cannot stand because the ALJ also found that Mr. 

Faro did not receive the correspondence.  That he should have 

received it—which is what the ALJ found—is not the test for a 

violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8).  Actual receipt is necessary.   

169. In addition, the ALJ found that Mr. Faro did not inform his clients 

about a Third Final Rejection, however, this finding also fails in 

light of the plain legal standard in Rule 10.23(c)(8).   

170. The ALJ found that Mr. Faro did in fact inform his clients about 

the Third Final Rejection.  Initial Decision at 18-19.  Mr. Faro 

“informed” his client “about” the Third Final Rejection.  There is 

nothing in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) that required Mr. Faro to provide a 

copy of the Third Final Rejection to his lay clients.  All the rule 
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requires is to provide notice.  Mr. Faro plainly provided notice to 

his clients and informed them that certain patent claims were 

allowable if rewritten—as addressed in the Initial Decision at 18-

19.   

171. Without citation to any legal authority whatsoever, ALJ Mahoney 

found that Mr. Faro’s notice to his client was not good enough; 

specifically, Mahoney found that Mr. Faro needed to do more.  But 

nothing in the rule defines what, exactly, must be communicated—

and how much communication is sufficient communication.  

172. The reason for this is that Section 10.23(c)(8) simply requires 

informing the client of Mr. Faro’s receipt of information from the 

USPTO.  The rule literally proscribes “failing to inform a client … 

of correspondence received from the Office.”   

173. Nothing in the USPTO Rules defines or sets any limit for the 

quantum of information, leaving that to the exercise of the 

practitioner’s independent professional judgment in deciding how 

to explain complicated subject matter to lay clients.   
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174. The ALJ’s decision makes a post hoc unreasonable interpretation 

of the plain language of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8).  The ALJ read into 

the plain language of the rules a requirement that does not exist—

a requirement that the quantum of disclosure had to meet a new 

“informed decision” requirement.  See Initial Decision at 19, which 

states that the disclosure needed was so that EPRT could make “an 

informed decision about a preferred course of action.”   

175. If the USPTO wanted to include an informed consent (or 

“informed decision”) requirement in its rule, then it could have 

easily done so—just as it does in many of its other Rules of 

Professional Conduct.  See, e.g., 37 CFR 11.104(a)(1) (duty to 

“promptly inform the client of any decision or circumstance with 

respect to which the client’s informed consent”); 37 CFR 11.104(b) 

(“A practitioner shall explain a matter to the extent reasonably 

necessary to permit the client to make informed decisions 

regarding the representation”).  

176. The ALJ decision simply adopts the language of a different ethics 

rule—one found in the new USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct 
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(37 CFR 11.104(b))—and attempts to read that new language from 

a different rule in a different body of ethics rules into the 37 CFR 

10.23(c)(8).  If the ALJ’s interpretation were true, then the 

quantum of information set forth in 37 CFR 11.104(b) (“to the 

extent reasonably necessary to permit the client to make informed 

decisions”) would be nugatory: According to Mahoney, the word 

“inform” about “receipt” in 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) means the same as 

“explain a matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit the 

client to make informed decisions.”   

177. However, the ALJ reads language into the rule that does not exist 

in the rule.  The court’s job is to interpret the rule as written, not to 

twist and bend the rules to try to meet the facts, or to change the 

rules to apply a new interpretation that is unsupported by the plain 

language of the rule itself.   

178. Because the ALJ plainly erred in his interpretation of the 

unambiguous language in Section 10.23(c)(8), that error of 

interpretation led to the erroneous conclusion that Mr. Faro 

violated 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 
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Second Error: 37 CFR 10.23(a) Violation Based on 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

179. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.23(a) based 

on his purported violation of 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8) 

180. Since Mr. Faro did not violate 37 CFR 10.23(c)(8), and since that was 

the sole basis upon which the ALJ found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 

10.23(a), the ALJ erred in concluding that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 

10.23(a).  

 
Third Error:  37 CFR 10.84(a) - No Evidence of Intent 

181. The Initial Decision found that Mr. Faro violated 37 CFR 10.84(a), 

which provides, “A practitioner shall not intentionally . . . (1) fail to seek 

the lawful objectives of a client . . . .” 

182. The Initial Decision read “intentional” out of 37 CFR 10.84(a) and states 

as follows: “Unlike the American Bar Association’s now-defunct Code 

of Professional Responsibility, the PTO’s Disciplinary Rules do not 

require a practitioner’s conduct to be intentional.”  Initial Decision at 21.  

183. The Initial Decision is plainly incorrect.  Section 10.84(a), just like its 

counterpart in the ABA Model Code of Professional Responsibility DR 
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7-101(A)(1) includes the preface that the practitioner “shall not 

intentionally . . .”   

184. After concluding, erroneously, that Rule 10.84(a) does not require proof 

of intent, the Initial Decision found that “Neglectful conduct that derails 

a client’s objectives is thus sanctionable under Section 10.84(a).”  Initial 

Decision at 21.  

185.The plain error in the Initial Decision interpretation of Section 10.84(a), 

in which the ALJ read the rule as a negligence-based rule when it requires 

proof of specific intent—was plainly wrong.   

 
Fourth Error: Overstated or Unproven “Economic Harm” 

186. As part of its analysis of Sanctions, the Initial District considered “the 

amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner’s 

misconduct.”  37 CFR 11.54(b)(3).  

187.The court ignored the fact that, in Mr. Faro’s professional judgment, the 

patent application claims that the client wanted were not directed to 

patentable subject matter.  The claims that the patent examiner had 

allowed were very narrow “dependent claims” and did not encompass the 
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broader subject matter that was the client’s desired scope of patent 

protection.  Accordingly, there was no nexus between the ethical breaches 

and any proven damages claim.  

188. All elements of a claim in an OED disciplinary proceeding, including 

harm to the grievant, must be proven by evidence which is “clear” and 

“convincing.”  37 CFR 11.49.  Such proof requires “evidence which 

produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to 

the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, 

direct and weighty and convincing as to enable [the fact finder] to come 

to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts in 

issue.”  See In re Kelber, PTO Proc. No. D2006-13 at 5 (Init. Dec. Sept. 

23, 2008)13 (quoting Cruzan v. Missouri Dep’t of Health, 497 U.S. 261, 

285 n.11 (1990)).    

189. The Initial Decision found an “impossible to quantify” amount of 

“economic harm.”  The court stated that attempting to value the patent 

was an “exercise in futility.”  So, instead of finding any actual economic 

 
13 Disciplinary decisions of the USPTO are “published” on the Freedom of Information Act 
“Reading Room” on the USPTO’s website.  The Kelber decision is available at 
https://foiadocuments.uspto.gov/oed/0531_dis_2008-09-23.pdf.  
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harm, the Initial Decision relied on the fees paid to Mr. Faro.  However, 

there was no nexus shown between those costs and any purported harm.  

The $35,000 - $45,000 in fee payments were for prosecution expenses 

that Mr. Faro had undeniably provided, and that the client had undeniable 

received.  Mr. Faro made no guarantee of success, and the fact that the 

client was not able to achieve its ultimate legal objective—because the 

true scope of its invention, the relevant scope, was not patentable—is not 

a measure of any harm caused by Mr. Faro.   

190. Without any evidence cited, the Initial Decision stated that EPRT was 

“left economically weaker” by its attempts to get a patent.  However, that 

is simply resting that EPRT paid fees during patent prosecution.   

191. The court also compounded its “economic harm” error by relying upon 

the fact that Mr. Faro and EPRT were then concurrently involved in a 

civil action.  However, the Initial Decision failed to address the merits of 

that dispute or the end result, in which the action ultimately terminated.  

The fact that the parties were engaged in litigation which was then still 

ongoing should not have been charged as the type of economic harm.  The 

case was a contested litigation, and ultimately it resolved in dismissal 
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with prejudice after the district court determined an absence or de 

minimis damages.   

192. In light of the foregoing, in my opinion, EPRT did not meet its high 

burden of proving economic harm caused by Mr. Faro.   

Fifth Error: The Punishment was Unduly Punitive 

193. The proven misconduct—even accepting the legal correctness of the 

Initial Decision—did not warrant as severe of a sanction as an eight-

month license suspension.  

194. An 8-month license suspension does not mean automatic reinstatement.  

There is no automatic reinstatement at the USPTO.  Mr. Faro must apply 

for reinstatement, a process which could add significant delay that 

effectively is an extension of his license suspension. 

WHEREFORE, for all, or even any one, of the above reasons summary  
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judgment should be granted in favor of the Respondent. 

Respectfully, 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 

 
 

VERIFICATION 
 

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 
herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459. 

 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment  

has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email 

at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 
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hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 8th day of December, 2020. 

        
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR 

COMPLAINANT    Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

v 
 
JOHN H. FARO     The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 
 

RESPONDENT’S NOTICE OF FILING DOCUMENTS IN SUPPORT  
OF RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

AND, ALTERNATIVELY, IN RESPONDENT’S OPPOSITION TO  
THE  FLORIDA BAR’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
COMES NOW, Respondent, John H. Faro, by and through his undersigned 

counsel, and provides notice of filing the attached documents in support of 

Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and, in support of Respondent’s 

Opposition to The Florida Bar Motion for Summary Judgment: 

1. Affidavit of Michael Edward McCabe (Respondent’s Expert in Attorney 
Ethics and Professional Responsibility); 
 

2. Respondent’s, John H. Faro, Verified Statement;  
 

3. July 20, 2015, Transcript of Daubert Hearing, on Respondent’s Motion in 
Limine; 

 
4. July 22, 2015, Order granting Respondent’s Motion in Limine; 
 
5. August 15, 2015, Transcript of Hearing on Respondent’s Motion for 

Summary Judgment; 
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Supreme Court Case No.
SC18-1279

The Florida Bar File:
2019-70,032(11J)

6. August 17, 2015, Order Granting, in part, Respondent's Motion for Summary
Judgment;

7. Deposition transcript of EPRT Corporate Representative, Katherine Blake,
dated January 22, 2015, (OED Trial Exh. No. 26);

8. Deposition transcript of Respondent, John H. Faro, dated May 11, 2015,
(OED Trial Exh. No. 26);

9. Administrative Law Judge Initial Opinion & Order, dated September 15,
2016; and

10. OED certified (as complete), copy of EPRT US Patent Application SN
09/656,519 (herein '519 Patent Application) in the United States Patent &
Trademark Office.

Respectfully,

PODHURST ORSECK, P.A.
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300
Miami, Florida 33131
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com

By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG
Florida Bar No. 040856
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro
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Supreme Court Case No.
SC18-1279

The Florida Bar File:
2019-70,032(11J)

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent's Notice of Filing has been

provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at

11thfc203@jud11.ficourts.org and his Judicial Assistant's email at

hnguyen@jud11.ficourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 10th day of December, 2020.

By: /s/ Robert C. Josefsberg
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 
 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT’S 
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT  

 

Complainant, The Florida Bar, files this Response in Opposition to 

Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment, and in support thereof states as 

follows: 

1.  The Bar’s Complaint and the application of Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules 

Regulating The Florida Bar are fairly simple. The Complaint itself is based on 

findings contained in the Final Orders of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office 

(USPTO) dated August 2, 2017 and February 9, 2018.  The August 2, 2017 Final 

Order affirmed the earlier ruling of the Administrative Law Judge finding 

respondent guilty of misconduct and suspending him for eight months.  The 

February 9, 2018 Final Order denied respondent’s request for reconsideration.   
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Both set forth in vivid detail the evidence and findings against respondent.  

Thereafter, respondent sought further review before the Federal District Court for 

the Eastern District of Virginia which affirmed in detail the USPTO Final Orders.  

Respondent sought yet further review before the U.S. Court of Appeals for the 

Federal Circuit which per curiam affirmed the prior ruling of the U.S. District 

Court.  Thus, respondent has exhausted all avenues of review available to him of 

the guilty findings and disciplinary sanction imposed by the USPTO Final Orders. 

2. R. Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6(a) provides: 

“A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other 
authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, 
that a lawyer licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of 
misconduct justifying disciplinary action will be considered as 

conclusive proof of the misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under 

this rule.” (emphasis added).  
 

3. This Referee has previously denied respondent’s Motion to Dismiss 

the Bar’s Complaint, said motion having been predicated on the failed argument 

that the sanctions rulings which the Bar is proceeding on did not constitute a final 

adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other authorized disciplinary 

agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal.  At hearing on that motion, this 

Referee specifically addressed the fact that even if the USPTO Final Orders did not 

satisfy the requirements of Rule 3-4.6(a), the subsequent review and affirmance by 

the Federal Courts served to defeat any such argument.  Respondent’s motion was 

denied.   Consequently, the Bar’s Complaint survives and Rule 3-4.6(a) applies.  
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Having determined the Rule’s applicability, the decisions of the USPTO constitute 

conclusive proof of respondent’s misconduct.  By sheer application of the Rule, 

respondent cannot prevail on a Motion for Summary Judgment, but The Florida 

Bar must.     

4. Review of respondent’s Summary Judgment Motion makes clear on 

its face that it is nothing more than yet another effort at going behind the USPTO 

findings.  For the umpteenth time, he wants to relitigate issues of USPTO 

jurisdiction, thoroughness of investigation, a related malpractice action, the 

Administrative Law Judge’s interpretation of the governing rules, etc.  However, 

the instant proceedings are not the place for such review and all other efforts at 

review by respondent have been resoundingly unsuccessful.  Moreover, the items 

identified by respondent in his Summary of Argument (see pp. 3-4 of respondent’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment) are exactly the same points he appealed before the 

USPTO and the federal courts.  These issues are over and done with and as 

pertains to the instant Bar prosecution, respondent is conclusively guilty by 

operation of Rule.  The affidavit respondent provides from Michael McCabe does 

not and cannot change that.  Therefore, it is of no consequence whatsoever.   

5. Respondent’s Motion sets forth what he describes as Undisputed 

Facts.  However, by operation of Rule 3-4.6, the only undisputed facts are those 

found by the USPTO and affirmed by the Federal Courts.  Those facts center 
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primarily on lack of communication, lack of diligence, and failure to surrender the 

client’s file or pursue the objective of the representation.   Respondent’s 

“Undisputed Facts” are actually Disputed Facts.  It is not enough to simply deny 

that which is clearly established.  To prevail on summary judgment, respondent 

would have to show that there is no genuine issue of material fact.  He cannot 

accomplish that simply by filing an affidavit, regardless of whose it is, which 

attempts to refute the final adjudication of his guilt.  The facts are established.  

They have been affirmed.  They are conclusive.  They are not in his favor. 1   

6.   In The Florida Bar v. Mogil, 763 So.2d 303 (Fla. 2000 ), The Florida 

Bar initiated disciplinary proceedings based on an order disbarring Mogil in New 

York and then sought summary judgment relying on Rule 3-4.6; that the final 

adjudication of disbarment from another jurisdiction was conclusive proof of 

misconduct in The Florida Bar’s disciplinary proceedings.  The court granted the 

bar’s motion for partial summary judgment and the matter proceeded solely on 

discipline.  An appeal by Mogil ensued based on the differing standards of proof 

applied in the two states, an argument not relevant to the instant case. 2  However, 

the Mogil case does hold that while the court will initially accept a foreign 

1 With respect to paragraph 42 of respondent’s undisputed facts, The Florida Bar notes that the purported 
competency findings which respondent claims the Administrative Law Judge made pertain to a time period 
preceding the conduct of which he was found guilty and clearly reflect the neglect and lack of communication of 
which he was found guilty. It should further be noted that it simply reflects the administrative law judge’s 
conclusion that respondent was not guilty of dishonesty.  The bar has not charged respondent with dishonesty.   
 
2 Clear and convincing evidence was the standard applied by the USPTO and that is the same standard applied in 
Florida disciplinary proceedings.   
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jurisdiction’s adjudication of guilt as conclusive proof of guilt, the burden shifts to 

respondent to demonstrate why that order is not valid and should not be followed.  

Id at 306.  To satisfy this burden, respondent would have to demonstrate that the 

proceedings which are being relied upon were so deficient as to make the foreign 

judgment unreliable as a final adjudication of guilt.  The Florida Bar v. Wilkes, 179 

S0.2d 193, 198 (Fla. 1965).  But, respondent cannot prevail in this regard.  First, 

the proceedings resulting in his USPTO sanctions were not deficient.  He was 

provided due process.  He appeared and participated, presenting evidence and 

testimony.  Second, respondent repeatedly availed himself of appellate remedies, 

every one of which resulted in an affirmance of the USPTO findings and sanction.  

With the exception of the Federal Appellate Court which per curiam affirmed, all 

of the appellate rulings were specific and detailed in nature.   It is not the function 

of this Referee to revisit the repeatedly failed arguments of the respondent.       

7. Respondent has failed to establish undisputed facts which would 

entitle him to judgment as a matter of law and his Motion for Summary Judgment 

should be denied.  The unambiguous language of Rule 3-4.6 is clear and it is now 

time for respondent to accept that the reciprocal discipline rule is patently 

applicable in the instant disciplinary proceedings.    Thus, the only true issue that 

remains is the appropriate discipline to be imposed.    
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WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully 

requests the entry of an Order denying Respondent’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment and granting Summary Judgment in favor of The Florida Bar and 

requests that this matter proceed to hearing only on the issue of discipline. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

    

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar – Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing The Florida Bar’s Response in Opposition to 
Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment has been provided to The Honorable 
Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org 
and his judicial assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. 
Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and 
mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at 
johnf75712@aol.com, and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at 
psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 11th day of December, 2020. 

           

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
     Chief Branch Discipline Counsel 

APPX 755 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279

mailto:asankel@floridabar.org
mailto:11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org
mailto:hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org
mailto:rjosefsberg@podhurst.com
mailto:mvalledor@podhurst.com
mailto:johnf75712@aol.com


Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR 

COMPLAINANT    Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

v 
 
JOHN H. FARO     The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 

 
RESPONDENT’S OPPOSITION TO THE FLORIDA  

BAR MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT 
 

I. Introduction & Summary of Opposition  

The Florida Bar’s Motion for Summary Judgment seeks to impose reciprocal 

discipline against Respondent based upon Final Orders of the United States Patent 

Office, through the enforcement of an equivalent Florida Bar Rules.  The Florida 

Bar’s intent to prosecute Respondent for violation of Florida Bar Rules (presumably 

with evidence obtained by means other than through its own procedures) has not 

been plead with the specificity required by Rule 1.110(b), Fla.R.Civ.Proc.    

The alleged acts and omissions, asserted by the Patent Office in the Final 

Orders of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, of United States Patent & 

Trademark Office, are alleged to have occurred more than nine years ago. The 

Florida Bar dismissed its prior prosecution of FARO based upon these same acts and 

omissions (TFB Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice, dated February 8, 2017, 
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annexed hereto as Exh. No. D to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss).   This 

prosecution cannot now be resumed.   The Florida Bar’s statute of limitations for re-

opening the TFB investigation and the imposition of original discipline, based upon 

TFB’s prior investigation of these same allegations of professional misconduct, has 

long since expired under TFB Rule 3-7.1. 

According to The Florida Bar’s Motion for Summary Judgment, this Court is 

required to review the: 

…detailed findings contained in the Final Orders within the confines of Rule 
3-4.6 and are to be conclusive proof of misconduct in the instant proceeding. 
Bar SJ Motion @ 12. 

 
The interpretation and application of Florida Bar 3-4.6, does not relieve the 

Court to abide by both the Florida and U.S, Constitution.   The Florida Bar, in its 

Motion, apparently believes otherwise, and would request this Court to turn a “blind 

eye” to the manifest abuses of law (including Florida law); and the palpable 

unreliability of the testimony and evidence introduced at the Patent Office (OED) 

discipline trial, which are the foundation of the ALJ findings, including the 

following: 

1. The testimony elicited by the Patent Office in the OED disciplinary 

proceeding was obtained, in part, in violation of Florida law, 
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specifically, LR 26(g) of the Federal District Court of the Southern 

District of Florida. 

(a) Local Rule 26(g) - Federal District Court for the  Southern 
District of Florida  
 
(1) Trial upon Failure to Settle. If the mediation conference fails 

to result in a settlement, the case will be tried as originally 
scheduled. 

 
(2) Restrictions on the Use of Information Derived During the 

Mediation Conference. All proceedings of the mediation shall 
be confidential and are privileged in all respects as provided 
under federal law and Florida Statutes § 44.405. The 
proceedings may not be reported, recorded, placed into 
evidence, made known to the Court or jury, or construed for 
any purpose as an admission against interest. A party is not 
bound by anything said or done at the conference, unless a 
written settlement is reached, in which case only the terms of 
the settlement are binding (emphasis added) 

 
(b) Fla. Stat. 44.405 – Confidentiality of Mediation  

 
Except as provided in this section, all mediation communications 
shall be confidential. A mediation participant shall not disclose a 
mediation communication to a person other than another 
mediation participant or a participant's counsel. 
  
A violation of this section may be remedied as provided by s. 
44.406. If the mediation is court ordered, a violation of this 
section may also subject the mediation participant to sanctions 
by the court, including, but not limited to, costs, attorney's fees, 
and mediator's fees. 
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2. The ALJ Initial Opinion (the predicate of Patent Office Final 

Orders) was based upon an administrative proceeding which did 

not comport with minimum procedural safeguards or reliable 

evidence to support findings of fact that would support an 

equivalent violation of the Florida Bar rule, McCabe Affidavit 

@ 150 to 160.   

3. As indicated in the McCabe Affidavit, the Patent Office has not 

adopted the ABA Model Rules for Lawyer Disciplinary 

Enforcement, which sets forth a consistent governing standard 

with respect to the receipt of evidence as follows:  

Proceedings Governed by Rules of Civil Procedure and 
Evidence.  Except as otherwise provided in these rules, the . . . 
[state rules of civil procedure] and the [state rules of evidence in 
civil nonjury matters] apply in discipline and disability cases.  
Model Enforcement Rule 18.2. 
 

4. The findings in the ALJ Initial Opinion (the predicate of Patent Office 

Final Orders) were based upon an improper/ad hoc interpretation and 

application of “unambiguous” Patent Office rules. This is not permitted 

under the judicial standards of statutory construction, which is the same 
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for interpretation for agencies. McCabe Affidavit @ 161-192; Kisor v. 

Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019); 204 L.Ed.2d 841. 

  
II. Statement of Undisputed Facts 

Respondent herein incorporates by reference paragraphs 1-43, of his 

Statement of Undisputed Facts in Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment and 

adds the following underlying facts: 

44.  On September 1, 2015, Respondent and EPRT filed a Joint Stipulation 

of Dismissal With Prejudice of the malpractice litigation, Thrisoint Pty & 

EPRT v Faro, Case No:  1:13-CV-23893, (DC SD FL 2013) ECF 237. 

45. The Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice of the malpractice 

litigation did not reference a settlement nor any agreement to enforce the any 

settlement, Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 1:13-CV-23893, (DC SD 

FL 2013) ECF 237. 

46. On November 6, 2015, after review of the EPRT Motion to Compel 

Performance Under Settlement Agreement, the Federal District Court entered 

an Order denying the EPRT Motion to Compel, Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, 

Case No: 1:13-CV-23893, (DC SD FL 2013) ECF 247. 
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47. Respondent attended and participated as co-counsel in his defense at 

the trial of the OED Bar Complaint, conducted on May 10-11, 2016, 

Undisputed. 

47. On May 10, 2016, at the trial of the OED Complaint against Respondent 

the OED elicited testimony and introduced evidence from a confidential 

Federal District Court mediation, wherein EPRT counsel, Meredith Chaikin, 

testified about the confidential mediation negotiation in the malpractice 

litigation, OED Trial Tx, May 10, 2016 @ page 155 to page 156, line 22. 

48. The ALJ Initial Opinion relied upon the Chaiken testimony and 

confidential draft of the settlement agreement to conclude that Respondent 

had reneged on the Settlement Agreement; and relied upon and referenced 

such finding in his Initial Opinion, as an aggravating factor in imposing his 

sanction. Respondent’s Notice of Filing, No. 9. ALJ Initial Opinion @30. 

III. The Record Before This Court Is Preclusive 
 Of Summary Judgment In Favor Of The Florida Bar 

 
The Record before this Court includes: 

A. Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative Defense: Annexed to 
Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative Defenses are Exhibits A to N, in 
support of and reference to such Affirmative Defenses; 
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B. Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment: 
 
C. Respondent’s Notice of Filing:  Documents in support of  Respondent’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment;  
 
D. Expert Affidavit of Attorney Michael E. McCabe, Esq.: Attorney 

McCabe’s  practice includes lecturing on the ethical and professional 
obligation of Patent Attorneys;  

 
E. Respondent’s, John H, Faro, Esq., Verified Statement of Facts;  
 
F. Exhibits from the malpractice litigation that were also exhibits in the 

disciplinary proceeding before the Patent Office. The deposition 
transcripts of the EPRT corporate representative, Katherine Blake, 
whose involvement is this matter was limited to “administration”; and 
the deposition transcript of the Respondent who advised EPRT, prior to 
his involvement with the EPRT patent application, that the Final 
Rejection would likely be sustained; 

 
G. Exhibits from malpractice litigation:  Transcripts of hearings before the 

Federal District. The District Court entered an Order which established, 
as a matter of law, that EPRT did not suffer any economic harm or 
prejudice from Respondent’s representation; 

 
H. Exhibits from the EPRT Patent Application file include the OED 

Certification (28 USC ) that OED Trial Exh GOV 1 was a complete 
copy of an official government record that was not public at the time of 
the disciplinary trial. The omitted documents from GOV 1 were 
material to Respondent’s defense and inconsistent with the sanction 
impose by the ALJ; 

 
I. ALJ Initial Decision (Respondent’s Notice of Filing, No. 9 @ page 

22) of the Administrative Law Judge Mahoney explicitly found:  
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Respondent (FARO) worked competently to achieve EPRT's goals 
from 2002 until 2006, when he filed the Second Appeal.   After doing 
so, he resigned himself to waiting for a PTO response. According to 
the OED Director's theory, Respondent received that response in 
2009.  Rather than file an appeal, as he had done twice already, 
Respondent chose to ignore the Board Decision.  He then proceeded 
to stonewall and avoid Ms. Blake for more than a year.  Missing from 
the OED Director's theory is any hint of Respondent's purported 
motive for this sharp shift in attitude.  As of 2009, his relationship 
with EPRT and its personnel remained congenial.  In fact, he was 
handling a number of other patent and trademark matters for the 
company at the time.  The OED Director has provided no reason why 
Respondent would act in the manner alleged in the Complaint. The 
Court is therefore persuaded that Respondent did not receive the 
copies of the Board Decision or the Notice of Abandonment in 2009.   
Having failed to receive the documents when they were initially sent, 
Respondent did not become aware of the actual status of the '519 
Application until October 2011, when he asked his associate to 
personally check the physical file. His e-mail to Ms. Blake on July 
30, 2010, was therefore not deceptive or dishonest.  Accordingly, the 
Court finds that the OED Director failed to prove, by clear and 
convincing evidence, that Respondent violated 37 C.F.R. § 
10.23(b)(4). (emphasis added)  
 

J. Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 1:13-CV-23893 (DC SD FL 
2013), ECF 237 (Joint) Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice; 

  
K. Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 1:13-CV-23893 (DC SD FL 

2013) ,ECF 247 Order Denying Motion to Compel (Performance 
Under the Settlement Agreement); 

 
L. OED Trial Transcript May 10, 2016 @ page 155 to page 156, line 22:   

Excerpt of EPRT counsel Meredith Chaiken disclosure confidential 
Federal District Court ordered mediation. 
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IV. Summary Judgment Standard  

A. Summary Judgment is only permissible when supported by admissible 

evidence, Rule 1.510(c).   

B. The Florida Supreme Court has made clear, “a motion for summary 

judgment is calculated to save valuable trial time and thus to assist in securing 

speedy and inexpensive justice.” Cook v. Navy Point, Inc., 88 So. 2d 532, 534 (Fla. 

1956).  

C. Summary Judgment is applicable when all parties agree concerning the 

material and critical issues of fact.  See Keller v. Penovich, 262 So. 2d 243, 244 (Fla. 

4th DCA 1972).  The “function of summary judgment procedure is to determine if 

there is sufficient evidence to justify trial upon issues made by pleadings, to expedite 

litigation and to obviate expense.”  Page v. Staley, 226 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1969). 

D. The facts must be so crystallized that nothing remains but questions of 

law. See City of Orlando v. Ashlock, 342 So. 2d 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977); Central  

Inv., Inc. v. Old Southern Golf Utility Corp., 197 So. 2d 17, 19 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). 

A material fact for purposes of final summary judgment is a fact that is essential to 

resolution of the legal questions raised in a case. See Cont’l Concrete, Inc. v. Lakes 
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at La Paz III Ltd. P’ship, 758 So. 2d 1214, 1217 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). Issues of 

nonmaterial facts are irrelevant in considering a motion for final summary judgment. 

V. Memorandum In Opposition 

A. Respondent’s Legal Challenges To Imposition Of Reciprocal 
 Discipline  
 

The Respondent has asserted, in his own Motion for Summary Judgment, a 

number of challenges to The Florida Bar’s adoption of the findings of the Patent 

Office, including:  

(a) the validity of the OED trial of the OED Complaint because of the 

impotence of the ALJ to preside over the trial of the OED Complaint against 

Respondent, relying the Patent Office Director’s failure to comply with 37 

CFR11.39(a) (McCabe Affidavit @ 122-140);  

(b) the OED Director’s conduct of its disciplinary proceeding without any 

defined rules of evidence, or rules of procedure, and therefore inconsistent with The 

Florida Bar Rules and with the minimum standards of ABA Model Rules for the 

Lawyer Disciplinary Enforcement (McCabe Affidavit @150-160);  
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(c)  the requirements of the OED Director investigation to include a  review 

of all information and evidence relevant to the grievance, including information that 

would to excuse or justify an attorney’s conduct or mitigate any adverse 

consequence sustained by client, were not followed, Exhs “G” & “H” to Answer & 

Affirmative Defenses; 

(d) notwithstanding that the content of the OED Director investigation of a 

grievance is mandatory, to ensure the review of all information and evidence is 

collected before obtaining a probable cause determination, the OED Director 

concluded his investigation of Respondent prematurely and thereby turned a blind 

eye to information that was forthcoming and favorable to Respondent (McCabe 

Affidavit @53-63); 

(e) the ALJ’s interpretation and application of the disciplinary rules in his 

Initial Opinion & Order was unprincipled and contrary to law (McCabe Affidavit @ 

161-197); 

(f) the testimony and evidence elicited at trial was unreliable (McCabe 

Affidavit @ 153-157); 
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(g)  the ALJ’s putative findings of violations of the OED regulations was 

based upon an illegal and ad hoc interpretation and application of the regulations to 

Respondent (McCabe Affidavit @ 161-192). 

B. Respondent Has Challenged ALJ’s Findings As Having Been Based 
Upon The Impermissible Solicitation Of Testimony And 
Introduction Of Evidence From A Confidential Federal District 
Court Mediation 
 

The OED had relied upon the OED Grievant, EPRT, and its counsel to provide 

evidence to support the charges of professional misconduct in the Patent Office; and 

did little, if any, independent investigation other than monitor the pleadings in the 

prior filed related malpractice suit against Respondent.  In the prior related filed 

malpractice litigation between EPRT and Respondent, the claims of each of the 

malpractice litigation and OED Complaint overlapped, and, thus, the OED was 

heavily invested in assisting EPRT in attaining a favorable outcome.   After the 

EPRT claims against Respondent were dismissed with prejudice, they changed their 

strategy. (Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v. Faro (DC SD Fla 2013), ECF 237) They filed a 

Motion to Compel the enforcement of a draft confidential settlement agreement, 

which was denied on November 6, 2015, Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 

1:13-CV-23893, (DC SD FL 2013) ECF 247. On May 10, 2016, during the trial of 
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the OED Complaint against Respondent, the OED elicited testimony from EPRT 

counsel relative to confidential Federal District Court ordered mediation. OED Trial 

Transcript May 10, 2016 @ page 155, line 3 to page 156, line 11.  Even though a 

complete agreement (with annexures) was never produced, the ALJ’s Initial Opinion 

concluded that there was a settlement. Notice of Filing Exh No. 9, ALJ Initial 

Opinion @ 30.  The OED and Chaiken concealed the Federal District Court Order 

(above referenced) which denied the EPRT Motion to Compel enforcement.   

The OED introduction of the confidential draft settlement, and testimony of 

EPRT counsel, relative to the confidential negotiations of the OED disciplinary 

proceeding was obtained, in part, in violation of Florida law (Fla. Stat. 44.405) 

reproduced below; and the rules of the Federal District Court of the Southern District 

of Florida. 

Local Rule 26(g) - Federal District Court for the Southern District of 
Florida  
 
(1) Trial upon Failure to Settle. If the mediation conference fails to 

result in a settlement, the case will be tried as originally scheduled. 
 
(2) Restrictions on the Use of Information Derived During the 

Mediation Conference. All proceedings of the mediation shall be 
confidential and are privileged in all respects as provided under 
federal law and Florida Statutes § 44.405. The proceedings may not 
be reported, recorded, placed into evidence, made known to the 
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Court or jury, or construed for any purpose as an admission against 
interest. A party is not bound by anything said or done at the 
conference, unless a written settlement is reached, in which case 
only the terms of the settlement are binding (emphasis added) 

 
The Florida law relies upon judicial enforcement by the Court for a violation 

and does not provide an effective civil remedy: 

Fla. Stat. 44.405 – Confidentiality of Mediation  
 

Except as provided in this section, all mediation communications shall 
be confidential. A mediation participant shall not disclose a mediation 
communication to a person other than another mediation participant or 
a participant's counsel. 
  
A violation of this section may be remedied as provided by s. 44.406. 
If the mediation is court ordered, a violation of this section may also 
subject the mediation participant to sanctions by the court, including, 
but not limited to, costs, attorney's fees, and mediator's fees. 
 

 
C. Respondent Challenges The Florida Bar’s Application Of Rule 4-

3.6 Because It Is An Attempt To Extend The Statute Of Limitation  
 

Moreover, the alleged acts and omissions asserted by the Patent Office in the 

Final Orders of August 12, 2017 and February 2, 2018, of the United States Patent 

& Trademark Office, are alleged to have occurred more than nine years ago, and 

The Florida Bar dismissed its prosecution of FARO based upon these same acts and 

omissions. (TFB Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice, dated February 8, 2017, 
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annexed hereto as Exh. No. D to Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss)  The Florida 

Bar’s statute of limitations for re-opening the TFB investigation, and the imposition 

of original discipline, based upon TFB’s prior investigation of these same allegations 

of professional misconduct has long since expired. 

VI. Memorandum In Opposition 

For all of the reasons set forth, the Court should deny The Florida Bar’s 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. 

Respectfully, 
 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Opposition to The Florida Bar’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. 

Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his 

Judicial Assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, 

Esq., Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 14th day of December, 2020. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR 

COMPLAINANT    Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

v 
 
JOHN H. FARO     The Florida Bar File:  

2019-70,032(11J) 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 
 

RESPONDENT’S SUPPLEMENTAL NOTICE OF FILING DOCUMENTS 
IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENT’S MOTION FOR SUMMARY 

JUDGMENT AND, ALTERNATIVELY, IN OPPOSITION TO THE 
FLORIDA BAR MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

 
COMES NOW, Respondent, John H. Faro, by and through his undersigned 

counsel, and provides notice of filing of the attached supplemental documents in 

support of Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment and in support of 

Respondent’s Opposition to The Florida Bar Motion for Summary Judgment: 

11. Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 1:13-CV-23893 (DC SD FL 
2013) ECF 237, (Joint) Stipulation of Dismissal With Prejudice; 

  
12. Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro, Case No: 1:13-CV-23893 (DC SD FL 

2013) ECF 247, Order Denying EPRT Motion to Compel 
Performance Under the Settlement Agreement; 

 
13. OED Trial Tx, May 10, 2016 @ page 155 to page 156, line 22 – 

Excerpt of EPRT counsel Meredith Chaiken disclosure confidential 
Federal District Court ordered mediation 

 
 

APPX 772 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



 

2 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

Respectfully, 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Supplemental Notice of Filing  

has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service 

email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 14th  day of December, 2020. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
 

Case No. 1:13-cv-23893-HUCK/OTAZO-REYES 
 

 
THRISOINT PTY. LTD., 
a Belize International Business  
Company; and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES,  
INC., a California corporation,  
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
v.  
 
JOHN H. FARO,  
an Individual; and Technology 
Business Law Group, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company d/b/a 
Faro & Associates, 
   
   Defendants.        
      / 
 

STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL 

 COMES NOW Plaintiffs THRISOINT PTY. LTD and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

and Defendants JOHN H. FARO and TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW GROUP, LLC 

(“Parties”) pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) and hereby stipulate to 

dismissal of this action with prejudice. 

Faro & Associates     CRGO Law 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800   7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Miami, FL  33131     Boca Raton, FL  33434 
Telephone: (305)761-6921    Telephone: (561)922-3837 
Facsimile: (305)726-0029    Facsimile: 561-244-1062 
Johnf7571@aol.com     mchaiken@crgolaw.com 
 
 
By: /s/ John H. Faro, Esq    By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 

John H. Faro, Esq.     Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 527459    Florida Bar No. 87927 

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 237   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2015   Page 1 of 2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on this 1st day of September 2015, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system. I also certify that the foregoing 

document was serviced by CM/ECF on this day to all counsel on the attached service list either 

via transmission of Notice of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or as otherwise authorized 

for counsel or parties who are not authorized to receive electronic filings.  

 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL 33434  
Telephone: 561-922-3837 
Facsimile: 561-244-1062 
mchaiken@crgolaw.com 

 
By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  

Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  
Florida Bar No. 87927 

 
SERVICE LIST: 

 
John H. Faro, Esquire  
Faro & Associates  
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800  
Miami, FL 33131  
Johnf7571@aol.com 
Counsel for Defendant 
 
 
Roger A. Farahmand  
The Farahmand Law Firm  
801 East Campbell Road  
Suite 345  
Richardson, TX 75081  
972-720-1000  
roger@farahmandlaw.com 
Pro Hac Vice Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 
 
 

 
Steven M. Greenberg 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
sgreenberg@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 
Albert Maggio 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
amaggio@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 237   Entered on FLSD Docket 09/01/2015   Page 2 of 2
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[la:': 1:13.t;v-238!3-FCH l]i:currrrr:t "14/ |:nir:rcrl Lrn [1--5t] D*ck*r 1]/0st?il15 Failr,: 1 *f 2

TINITED STATEIi DISTRICT COT]RT
SOUTHERN DIS:I'RICT OT' FLORIDA

CASE NO.: t3-CV-23893-HUCK

Ir.PRl''fEC HNOI-OGIES, INC.,

Plaintilii,

IISQ. iOIN tt f r\RO, individually,
TLCINOT-OCY UUSINLSS LAW
Cl{OUP. l-1.C. a Florida corporation
fbrnierly knor.vn as l.aro & Associates. LLC

Dcfbndants.

gRDER DENYING NIOTION TO COMI'EL

THISi N{ATTER comes before the court on Plaintiff s Morion to Compel Defendanrs'

Pcrlbrmance Undcr the Settlement Agreement ("Motion") [D.E. 239], entered September 2g,

201-5 'l'he Courl has considered the Motion, Del'enciants' Rcsponse [D.E 211], plaintifls Reply

lD lr' l-121. Delendants' Surreply lD.B. 2461. and the record and is orhenvise duly aclvisecl.

On August 31,2015. l'}laintill'cntcred al'{otice of Settlernent [D.8.236]. pursuanl tLr rhis

Noticc of Settlement, the Clourl entercd an orcler dismissing the case and rctaining jurisdiction

lbr 60 davs. ID.l:. 23f3].1-har ordcr was not entered until Seprenrber 2,201-5, although it was

signed on Scptcmber 1. 2015. Also on September 1,2015, the parties entered a stipulation of

dis,rissal pursuant to lrederal Rule of civil proccdure 4l(axlxAXii). tD H. 2371, In this

strpulation, tl-rc partics disrnissed this acrion rvith prejudice and did nor condition the

cll'ectileness ol'the stipulation on the Court's entn,ol-an order retaining iurisdiction.

Itule 4l(a)(1XA)(ii) allorvs plaintiffs to "'disn,iss an acrion without a courr order by

liling. . . a st;ipularion of'dismissal signed by all parties rvho havc appearecl.,', Anago
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Cas: 1:13-lv-239S3-pCH Dccument 247

l"r'unt'hi.ting, rnc r,..\huz, r.t.c,677 F.3Lr 1272.1277 (n rh cir.2012) (quoring Fed. R. civ. p.

4l(a)(l)(A)(ii))' such a stipulatron oldismisserl "is sell-executing and dismisses thc casc upon its

beconling c:ll'ecti,e 'fhe slipulatjott becomcs eflective upon firing unless it explicitly conclirions

its eft'ective:ness on a subsequent occurrenc e." ,4nago Frctnc.hi.sing, 1nc.,677 f..3d at 127E. 
-l.hus.

"id]rstnct courts need not and nray not take action aftcr the stipulation becomes el'1,;ctive becausc

the stipulation dismisses the case and divests ttre district court ofjurisdiction," Id. I'heEleventh

circuit explained that a districl court may "retain jurisdiction tirrough an order, even if the parties

dismiss the case through use of Rule 4l(a)(lX,1rXii). so lons as thc p,rries agree to thc retentr,n

o1'j urrsdicri on.'' kl. at I 280.

Here, the parties' Rule 4l(a)(1)(A)(ii) stipulation of dismissal was enrercd befbre rhe

Courl entercd its order dismissing the case and retaining jurisdiction. Additionally, the parties

riid not agrec to the retcnlion ofjuriscliction, For borh these reasons. the courl no longer has

jurisdiction over the case.

.'\ccordingly, it is hereby ORDERE,D AI.JD ADJUDGED rhal thc lVlorion is DENIED.

DONE AND oRDIrRf..D in chambers. J\4iami, Florida, rhis 5rh day of November.20l5.

/-'

--'::2

Copies lirrnii;hcd ro:
All counsel c,frecord

Paul C. Huck
United States District Judpe

E*tered an FLSD D*cket 1UG6lZ0l_f pare 2 of 2

)
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In the Matter of:

In re: Jolrn H. Faro

May 10, l0 1 6

Phone: 70li-837-0076
Fax: 703-BB7-8118
Toll Free: I Z7-93 Z -OOZ7

( uurf ltr.llur.tirrg
\ ltlt'ogrirJr Irr
Virl t'ui'olri't'r:t.rr t.irr g

1 01 0 Ca,reron Street
Alexa n d ria , VA ZZ31 O

tran script@casamo. com

I

I

\
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4t \L.Z - 155)
s/:-0/2076In re: ,.Fohn Faro

stated.
'IllE Cl0LlRT: Susraincrd.

UY MS KEPLLR:

Q You can contiuue -- oh, sr.tstained, sorry

She can -- well, rvhat did vou wanr lvlr

Faro to say'?

A What wc willtte(l fionr !ir Falr *,hicli wc
tolcl hinr rcpcateclly, was wc wantecl hrnr ro acinrit

which he dici ir during his rleposition, thar he

intentror-rally abandoned the parent applir;ation.

And wh.ich he had done so on a fcvy other
occasions and was reprimanded by the Florida Bar

MR FARO: Your[lonor, ob.jccrion. Mly

cicposition is the best e viclencc ol'rhat. Shc
is not rei-e n irrg to irny clcptlsitioLt tcrstitnony.
-[hnt 

is ]rcr rccoilectiorr ancl it rs rnaccr:r.are

There was never any adn'rission that it was

i ntentional ly abandonecl.

- jdise iplrnrrrr l)r'oeeedings agaillst.lohn H. I,aro.
.lrcli'r c rlrc Floli.lrr IJ.rr :rn.i t.\pf (,. Ilur.rrrer./. rtuntYgI.

a r l)elentirinls Ieu(,glttre Plaintillis' legal oblrgation
'] to co('petare wirlr rhe Irlorida llar.anci the USpfO
6j pursuant to any subpoena issued by the Floriria
rl Bar. the USPTO or any cour( of'competent
a 

] jurisdiction

'f Hh ClOtJILT: So tbese wer.e discLrssions in
conlidence in mediation'/

MR. FARO: Thal's con'ect. These were

pafi of'the conlidential media{ion.

' \\'l'i,, rctlrre:lcrl th.rt tlti. !r,,r r.r,,rr lrr
- t',rntlrirrr,tl u itlrirr tlre :cttlclrrcrrt irurccinent)
I I A Mr'. Ftlo t.equestecl that. Atrd this
.l 2 pn)\ isron re tuull) stul.red t,trl u ith Mr. I-rro
1l lequestirrg us to c()ntztct the OIrD and the Flot.ida
, o L^,.-^l rrdr --

r!] MR FARO: Yt,Lr Honor, rlris is

lu I corrfidential mediation discussions 'lhesc

1- diseri..i.,n. ueru errrrlltlerrtirl. 5ltc tr trt,t

Pt.,Tti-
THE COURT: Well, to rhe extenr olthe

witncss saw 0r obseryecl your testilnony, the
witncss cllrt recount her. rccollcctron of'that.

ll.il WII'NIISS: I drd -- I rvas presenr ft)r
Mr. Faro's dcposition and I rcacj hrs

transcript numerous tirrcs which I hacl to do to
draft summary judgcrnent motions. I also
drafted the letter that is rcferred to in the
settlement agreelneut. So I can testify that
hc atirnrttcrl that hc rrrtentionally ablrndorretl
patcrrt applrcatron.

I]Y MS KIPI-ER:

a And that wa.s -- those were terms that
were supposed to be contained in this letter that
was agrecd to be written pursuant to thc

settlclrent')

A ('orrcct.
(] Thc sccond provisir-lt of titc scttlcrrrcnr

terrns. Ne ithc:r' Kathe rinc BIake, nor her courrsci
or age nts, or any othel cornllany r.uprcsctrtu.tirrc of

I,age 1521r when dt, r.lc apprisc thr.(..Lr11 thirr rhis ir
:. I scrtled'/ Johrr

l

,I Q Arrd what is the resr ol rhis docirrrrr.nt,
'i 

J 

(r\,\utnllrclrt's Fxlrilrit Nrrrnlr..r. I r',,

I A This ls tlre scrtlcnlellt aBlu(nLutrt. rltc
';1 gcrre ral niurual - it's rirlcd Ucrrur.ui. Mr ruul
'i 

] SuttJcnrent Agreemeut altd Relcase.
t 
i Q I woultl likc to look ar rhc sgt.ecnre r)r

,] Iirst which rs Burus pagc 2 rhnrugh o.

n Yr.s

] Q Spccii'icaliy on thc sceorrcl pugc wlriulr is
:: 

I 
tlatcs page ), r.rncicr A 'lhc Scrrlcnrcnr 'l-i:r.nrs

.,1 A Okay.
', 
, Q Thu lirst scttlcnrunr tcrnt rhat's li:irc(l

' 'is a lctter liortrJohrr [1. Faro,rrr FAR() Ci: ,\ssot.irtcs
,, lctrelhead to Karhcrine RIake with rhe a;,.reecl upon

'i verbiaUc (annexed herero)
, i That verbiage is nor arlttrxcrl hereto bLtl
rican yoLr tcll the (lourr what wa-s suJrprlsr:rJ lo bc

' 
| 
.,,irrainctl wirltiir rltar lctrer'.,

I A Ycs. Ir hud rr., dur u irh N4L. Flro

4

c-r

6

7

8

9

L t)

.rI

-:l
1l

14

15

16

I']
r6 

i

rr1

2A

2-

22

19

2l)

27

:2

EPRT Tcchrxrlogics, Inc, and Tlrrisoint pry., Ltd,
acknowledging rhar hc intentionally abandone<l thc will voluntarily parricipate on behalf of'

-^-.-t'aBc I 5
9 Appiication

MR FARO: Obji:ctiorr Yorrr Ilonor. thc
lcrttcl is the best cvidcncc ol wlurl wlr:r

I Katherine Blake in the presently pending 'l
['age 153

1(l

\:).

1l
14

Ut

1(;

1?

1tl

(,

ll

EI

1-/
V./
I
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In re: John Faro
42 (].s6 - ].59)

5/a0/20L5

I I page 156
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 THE FLORIDA BAR,    Supreme Court Case No: 
       SC18-1279 

COMPLAINANT, 
 

v.       The Florida Bar File: 
       2019-70,032 (11J) 
JOHN H. FARO, 

 
RESPONDENT 

_______________________/ 
 
 

OPPOSITION TO THE FLORIDA BAR’S MOTION TO STRIKE 
RESPONDENT’S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES  

 
1. The adequacy of Respondent’s pleading has been challenged by The 

Florida Bar, under Rule 1.110(d) and Rule 1.140(b), Fla.R.Civ.Proc, because, inter 

alia, TFB has interpreted the Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses, as  

(a) failing, under Rule 1.110(b), to assert sufficient factual basis of “a matter 
constituting an avoidance” to The Florida Bar enforcement of the Final 
Orders of the Patent Office, annexed to its Formal Complaint, and  

 
(b) failing to state a “legally cognizable defense”, under Rule 1.140(b), 

because of the prior adjudication of the issues raised in Respondent’s 
Affirmative Defenses.  

 
The Florida Bar concludes that Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses do not 

comply with this Court’s pleading rules (Rules 1.110(d) & 1.140(b)).  The Florida 

Bar contentions are wrong on both accounts.  
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2. In its determination of sufficiency of the Respondent’s Affirmative 

Defenses, the Court should review the exhibits annexed thereto, and referenced 

therein, for determination of the adequacy of said Affirmative Defenses. Harry 

Pepper & Associates, Inc. v. Lasseter, 247 So.2d 736 (DCA 3rd 1971) 

Any exhibit attached to a pleading shall be considered a part 
thereof for all purposes. Rule 1.130(b), R.C.P., 30 F.S.A. In 
considering the motion to dismiss the trial court was required to 
consider the exhibit (deposition) attached to and incorporated in the 
amended complaint. Dade County v. Harris, Fla.1956, 90 So.2d 316 
(emphasis added) 

 
3. The respondent’s pleadings are to be construed to effect substantial 

justice - The Florida Bar’s citation of Tropical Exterminators v. Murray, (171 So. 

2d 4312 (Fla 2d DCA 1965) in its Motion to Strike, in fact supports the Respondent’s 

position.  The 3rd DCA decision in Tropical relates to an appeal from a summary 

judgment entered by the trial court, in favor of Murray, on Murray’s negligence 

claim against Tropical.  In the Circuit Court, Tropical’s answer failed to allege one 

of the listed affirmative defenses, under Rule 1.8(d), in its pleading. However, 

Tropical did, in fact, effectively defend and oppose the allegations of negligence in 

its opposition to Murray’s Motion for Summary Judgment by reference to (a) a 

general denial of liability in its answers was sufficient to satisfy pleading 
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requirements, and (b) explicitly asserting in its answer, that the accident was caused 

by a Tropical employee blacking out.   

The Appellate Court held that Tropical’s general denial, coupled with the 

allegations relating to his employee “blackouts” in its answer, was sufficient to raise 

the legally cognizable affirmative defense that the accident was “unavoidable” (a 

listed affirmative defense under Rule 1.8(d). The Court further buttressed its reversal 

of the trial court summary by reference to extrinsic evidence (e.g. deposition of the 

Tropical employee), which confirmed that the accident was “unavoidable”, Id @ 

433.   

The record in this proceeding, not unlike the Tropical case, includes evidence 

in support of Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses; specifically, the Respondent’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment with two (2) supporting verified statements by 

Respondent and Michael McCabe, an expert retained by Respondent to opine of 

attorney ethics and disciplinary rules.  Both of these verified statements support the 

Respondent’s contention that ALJ’s interpretation of the “unambiguous” OED 

regulations was contrary to law (as most recently circumscribed by the U.S. Supreme 

Court in Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 (2019).)  
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4. In order to further refute The Florida Bar’s assertions, Respondent has 

attached and incorporated his Corrected Brief of Appellant (CAFC Brief) as Exhibit 

“A”.  As is evident from the CAFC Brief, Statement Of Issues Presented For Review 

(Exhibit “A”), appearing on pages 1-4, it is clear that Respondent:   

(a)  has never previously challenged the legality of the appointment of the 

ALJ to preside over his disciplinary proceeding (1st Affirmative 

Defense);  

(b)  has never previously challenged the jurisdiction of The Florida Bar’s 

lack of subject matter jurisdiction to impose reciprocal discipline 

regarding decisions of an administrative agency (2nd Affirmative 

Defense);  

(c)  has never previously asserted that the denial of his opportunity to plead 

matters in avoidance of the OED allegations of misconduct; 

specifically, the denial of his Amendment of his Answer to assert a 

matter in avoidance of the allegation of misconduct, or in mitigation of 

such misconduct, as a basis of appeal (3rd Affirmative Defense);  

5. Respondent’s CAFC Brief did assert in: 
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(a)  Paragraph A - Respondent challenged the “procedural jurisdiction” of 

the OED Director to convene a formal disciplinary proceeding and 

prosecute a disciplinary action under 37 CFR 11.32 (35 USC 32), 

because of the OED Director’s failure to conduct a complete 

investigation (under 37 CFR 11.22(d), and thereby illegally refer such 

incomplete investigation (under 37 CFR 1122(h)(3)), to the Committee 

on Discipline, in its determination of probable cause. 

(b)  Paragraph B – Respondent challenged the conduct of the OED 

Director’s prosecution of Respondent, because of: 

(i)   OED evidence (spoliation of OED Trial Exhibit GOV1),  

(ii)  use of testimony and evidence from a Confidential Federal 

Court ordered mediation in Florida, in violation of L.R. 26(g)(2) 

of the District Court of S.D. of Florida  

(iii)  abuse of discretion by OED Director of U.S. Patent Office 

for the unreasonable refusal to waive OED rule for enlargement 

of number of pages for Respondent’s Appeal Brief.  

(c)  Paragraph C – Respondent challenged the ALJ impermissible 

expansive interpretation of the OED Rules of Professional Conduct, 
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relying, in part, upon Florida law, (Turbeville v. Department of 

Financial Services, 248 So. 2d 194, 196-97 (1ST DCA 2018), requiring 

strict construction of statutes imposing professional discipline, because 

they are penal in nature;  

(d) Paragraph D – Respondent challenged the ALJ imposition of sanctions, 

against Respondent as unwarranted in law, or justified in fact, because 

there was no nexus between the lack of attainment of patent protection 

and economic harm to Respondent’s former client, EPRT. 

6. On June 26, 2019, the U.S. Supreme Court all but eliminated judicial 

(Auer) deference to an administrative agency’s interpretation of its “unambiguous” 

regulations, Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415 (2019). There are limited 

exceptions to Kisor, but none are applicable to the issues in this case.  To the extent 

that Kisor is applicable in these proceedings, the ALJ interpretation and application 

of the OED regulations asserted in his Initial Opinion violated the law. McCabe 

Affidavit @ 161 to 185. 

7. In the Respondent’s disciplinary proceeding, the ALJ’s ad hoc 

interpretation and application of the unambiguous OED disciplinary rules, as applied 

to Respondent, were accorded Auer deference.  The Supreme Court’s decision in 
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2019 in Kisor, dictates a different result because judicial (Auer) deference is no 

longer to be accorded to the ALJ’s ad hoc interpretation of the unambiguous Patent 

Office regulations and disciplinary rules.  As is clear from the reproduction of the 

OED regulations and disciplinary rules, none of the OED regulations or disciplinary 

rules were ambiguous. McCabe Affidavit (@ 161 to 192).   

8. The standard of proof, the conduct of the disciplinary hearing, and the 

admissibility of evidence at the disciplinary proceeding did not comport with either 

the Federal Rules of Evidence or with the ABA Model Rules for Lawyer 

Disciplinary Enforcement. McCabe Affidavit @ 160.   

9. There was no effective internal oversight or review or redress of the 

OED Director’s deviation from or his abuse of the OED’s regulations and 

disciplinary rules. McCabe Affidavit @ 105 to 121.  Also unavailable was 

interlocutory judicial review of the OED Director’s conduct of the disciplinary 

proceeding, his deviation from, or abuse of, its own regulation and its own 

disciplinary rules.  Upon conclusion of the disciplinary hearing, the Patent Office 

Director’s internal review of the ALJ Initial Opinion was limited, specifically, to 

confirm that the ALJ’s findings were supported by substantial evidence, and the 

Federal Court review similarly confined. 
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10. The Respondent’s Answer and Affirmative Defenses were not intended 

to collaterally attack the Patent Office Final Orders imposing discipline but, rather, 

to rebut the conclusive presumption of guilt under Florida Bar Rule 3-4.6, by placing 

before this Court:  

(a)  the unfairness of the Patent Office proceeding (viz lack of due process), 

including its ad hoc interpretation of the disciplinary rules, relative to 

the Respondent’s putative acts and/or omissions so as to deprive 

Respondent of the basic procedural safeguards essential for a fair and 

unbiased hearing (McCabe Affidavit @161-197 (generally), 174, and 

182-185 (specifically)), and  

(b)  The inadequacy of proof of the elements of the violation of the 

disciplinary rules (viz infirmity in proof) to support the allegations of 

misconduct under the Patent Office disciplinary rules (McCabe 

Affidavit @161-19).   

Accordingly, the Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative Defenses are 

compliant with the requirements of the instant proceeding and intended to plead 

sufficient factual and legal basis, supported by admissible evidence, to make out a 
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prima facie case to rebut the conclusive presumption of guilt under 3-4.6 of The 

Florida Bar.  

Consistent with the plain language of the rule, and our holding in 
Wilkes, we will initially accept a foreign jurisdiction’s adjudication of guilt as 
conclusive proof of guilt of the misconduct charged. The burden then rests 
with the accused attorney to demonstrate why the foreign judgment is not 
valid or why Florida should not accept it and impose sanctions based thereon. 
The Florida Bar v. Friedman, 646 So.2d 188, 190 (1994). 

 
Review & Analysis Of Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses 

11. Applicable to all Affirmative Defenses - The issues in the prior 

malpractice lawsuit in the Federal District Court for the Southern District of Florida 

overlap with the allegation of misconduct in the OED disciplinary proceeding, The 

Florida Bar v. Faro, TFB File 2014-70913, Referee Cohen Omnibus Order Granting 

TFB Motion for Summary Judgment @ page 3, paragraph 6. 

12.   The proceeding in each, or more accurately, a comparison of the 

disparate treatment of such overlapping issues by the OED Director in his charging 

and prosecution of Respondent is evidence of the palpable unfairness in the conduct 

in the OED disciplinary proceeding, and of infirmity in proof of such overlapping 

issues in in the OED disciplinary proceedings. 
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Another example of such unfairness was the OED Director’s successful 

opposition to Respondent’s amendment of his pleadings to assert matters in 

avoidance (excuse and justification) and/or in mitigation of the alleged professional 

misconduct. See Respondent’s Answer, Exh M (Respondent’s First Amended 

Affirmative Defense and Exh N. (Motion for Leave To Amend Affirmative 

Defenses). 

13. Respondent relies upon the cumulative effect discussed above and 

many other instances and occurrences of the OED’s flagrant disregard of the 

regulatory constraints.  The cumulative effect is evidence of the unfairness of the 

OED disciplinary proceeding and of the infirmity in proof of the findings of the ALJ 

Initial Opinion. 

14. In order to refute The Florida Bar’s assertion, Respondent has attached 

and incorporated his Corrected Brief of Appellant (CAFC Brief), as Exhibit “A”.  As 

is evident from the CAFC Brief, Statement Of Issues Presented For Review, 

appearing on pages 1-4, it is clear that Respondent has never challenged the 

appointment of the ALJ to preside over his disciplinary proceeding.   

15. Respondent’s CAFC Brief did in fact assert, in  
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(a)  Paragraph A - Respondent challenged the “procedural 

jurisdiction” of the OED to convene a formal disciplinary proceeding 

and prosecute a disciplinary action under 37 CFR 11.32 (35 USC 32), 

because of its failure to conduct a complete investigation (under 37 

CFR 11.22(d), and thereby illegally refer such incomplete investigation 

(under 37 CFR 1122(h)(3)), to the Committee on Discipline, in its 

determination of probable cause. 

(b)  Paragraph B – Respondent challenged the OED conduct in 

prosecution of Respondent, because of  

(i) OED spoliation evidence (OED Trial Exhibit GOV1),  

(ii) use of testimony and evidence from a Confidential Federal 

Court ordered mediation in violation of L.R. 26(g)(2) of the 

District Court of S.D. of Florida,  

(iii) abuse of discretion by OED Director of U.S. Patent Office 

for the unreasonable refusal to waive OED rule for enlargement 

of number of pages for Respondent’ Appeal Brief.  

(c)  Paragraph C – Respondent challenged the ALJ’s impermissible 

expansive interpretation of the OED Rules of Professional Conduct, 
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relying, in part, upon Florida law, (Turbeville v. Department of 

Financial Services, 248 So. 2d 194, 196-97 (1ST DCA 2018), requiring 

strict construction of statutes imposing professional discipline, because 

they are penal in nature;  

(d) Paragraph D – Respondent challenged the ALJ imposition of 

sanctions against Respondent as unwarranted in law or justified in fact, 

because there was no nexus between the lack of attainment of a patent 

protection and economic harm to Respondent’s former client, EPRT. 

16. Respondent’s affirmative defenses are based on the law as it currently 

exists and applicable to the interpretation and application of the OED regulations 

applicable to registered patent practitioners.  The Florida Bar Complaint was filed 

on August 3, 2018.  As above noted, the prospective application of the U.S. Supreme 

Court decision in Kisor undermines TFB’S position.  

Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses 

 

17. FIRST AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Contrary to TFB assertions in 

its Motion to Strike, Respondent has never previously challenged the Patent Office 

for violation of the appointment clause in its regulations, 37 CFR 11.39(a).  TFB 
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cannot point to any pleading before the Patent Office OED, or the Federal District 

Court for the Eastern District of Virginia that directly or indirectly challenges the 

appointment of the hearing officer (ALJ) under 37 CFR 11.39(a).  Respondent has 

never assented to or waived the OED compliance with the appointment clause in the 

OED regulations.  

18. There are no exceptions to compliance with the law, McCabe Affidavit 

@ 143. Title 37, Section 11.39(a), mandates a specific process to be held for 

appointment of an ALJ.  In the present proceeding, the entire process mandated by 

37 C.F.R. § 11.39(a) was ignored and disregarded by the OED Director, who chose 

to file his complaint with a Tribunal that was not appointed as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.39(a).  See Ft. Stewart Sch. v. Fed. Labor Relations Auth., 495 U.S. 641, 654 

(1990) (“It is a familiar rule of administrative law that an agency must abide by its 

own regulations.”) (citations omitted); (“Simply stated, rules are rules, and fidelity 

to the rules which have been properly promulgated, consistent with applicable 

statutory requirements, is required of those to whom Congress has entrusted the 

regulatory missions of modern life.”).1 Reuters, Ltd. v. FCC, 781 F.2d 946, 950-51 

(D.C. Cir. 1986).   

 
1 Plaintiff—or in this case, the Petitioner OED Director—bears the burden of proving the 
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19. The defective appointment of a judicial officer goes to the very power 

of a tribunal.  See Bendiburg v. Dempsey, 692 F. Supp. 1354, 1358 (N.D. Ga. 1988) 

(citing cases in which “the judicial acts taken by… improperly appointed judges…. 

were ruled nullities for want of jurisdiction”). This is a logical extension of those 

cases that uniformly hold that the decisions and rulings of tribunals lacking power 

are nullities.  See, e.g., Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Env’t, 523 U.S. 83, 101-03 

(1998) (“For a court to pronounce upon the meaning or the constitutionality of a 

state or federal law when it has no jurisdiction to do so is, by very definition, for a 

court to act ultra vires.”).  Because this tribunal lacks jurisdiction, this proceeding 

was void.  Gojack v. United States, 384 U.S. 702, 707 n.6 (1966) (“It is a rule of law 

very well settled, that if there is no jurisdiction over the subject-matter, the 

proceeding is void.”); Stutsman Cnty. v. Wallace, 142 U.S. 293, 305 (1892) (“[w]hen 

a court or other officer acts without jurisdiction of the subject matter, all is void and 

such acts are regarded in law as nullities[.]”). Any actions or orders issued in a 

proceeding lacking subject matter jurisdiction are void and a legal nullity.  See, e.g., 

Temp. Empl. Servs. v. Trinity Marine Group, Inc., 261 F.3d 456, 463-466 (5th Cir. 

 
existence of subject matter jurisdiction.  See, e.g., Evans v. B.F. Perkins Co., 166 F.3d 642, 647 
(4th Cir. 1999).  
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2001) (vacating ALJ decision based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction); (“[A]n 

appeal to an agency board of contract appeals is considered an ‘absolute nullity’ 

when such board lacks jurisdiction over the matter.”). Tiger Natural Gas, Inc. v. 

United States, 61 Fed. Cl. 287, 290 n.4 (2004). 

20. Finally, a jurisdictional defect cannot be “cured” retroactively. On the 

contrary, “It has long been the case that ‘the jurisdiction of the court depends upon 

the state of things at the time of the action brought.’”  Grupo Dataflux v. Atlas Global 

Group. L.P., 511 U.S. 567, 570-71 (2004) (citation omitted).  Consequently, where, 

as here, the tribunal lacked jurisdiction at the time the complaint was filed, the only 

recourse is dismissal.  See, e.g., Jaffree v. Wallace, 837 F.2d 1461, 1466 (11th Cir. 

1988); Stafford v. Mobil Oil Corp., 942 F.2d 803, 806 (5th Cir. 1991). 

21. SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Contrary to TFB assertions 

in its Motion to Strike, Respondent has never previously challenged The Florida Bar 

subject matter jurisdiction to impose reciprocal discipline based upon the Patent 

Office suspension of a Florida attorney. because the Florida Bar is not a 

“jurisdiction”, within the literal meaning. nor in contemplation of TFB Rule 4-3.6. 

The issue of subject matter jurisdiction of The Florida Bar to impose reciprocal 
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discipline based upon the Patent Office suspension of a Florida attorney remains 

unresolved. 

22. The pleading of the SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE is more 

than adequately plead under Rule 1.110 and Rule 1,140. The legal authority for this 

SECOND AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE is identified at Respondent’s Answer, 

paragraphs 44 & 46.    

23. The Florida Bar has claimed precedent based on its prior disciplinary 

proceeding involving the patent attorney, Michael Colitz. The Florida Bar v Colitz, 

S04-17809 (Fla 2005).  The information provided by The Florida Bar was 

insufficient to confirm (a) if Colitz contested the application of the imposition of 

original discipline under the Florida Bar Rules, or (b) if the discipline imposed was 

based upon a Patent Office suspension and, thus, reciprocal.    

24. Respondent has requested The Florida Bar production of the file in The 

Florida Bar v. Colitz, SC04-1709 (2005) Respondent Request to The Florida Bar 

Under Rule 1.350 For Production of Documents. Request No. 13, (dated November 

24, 2020).   

25. THIRD AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE – Contrary to TFB assertions in 

its Motion to Strike, Respondent has never previously asserted that denying 
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Respondent the opportunity to plead matters in avoidance of the OED allegations of 

misconduct; specifically, the denial of his amendment (of his answer) to assert a 

matter in avoidance of the allegation of misconduct, or in mitigation of such 

misconduct, as a basis of appeal. 

26. OED pleadings in the disciplinary proceeding defined the issues 

(claims and defense) to be adjudicated in the OED disciplinary proceeding. 

27. The OED Director knew or had reason to believe that: 

(a) his mandatory duty to conduct an investigation to collect and review 

all information and evidence, under 37 CFR 11.22(d), could not be 

completed within the one (1) year statutory period (McCabe Affidavit 

at 54-55), and 

(b) information and evidence material to his investigation was 

forthcoming and the investigation could be tolled without prejudice 

(McCabe Affidavit @ 54). 

28. In disregard of the mandatory requirements of the law (Answer @50), 

The OED Director devised a litigation strategy to illegally restrict the contours of 

the disciplinary proceedings, through his premature and illegal conclusion of his 
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investigation, and obtaining a probable cause determination of his incomplete 

investigation, Answer @ 52 to 60. 

29. The OED Director’s litigation strategy, as implemented, was exclusive 

of the overlapping issue in the parallel prior malpractice case, and therefore 

wrongfully denied Respondent an opportunity to present affirmative defenses.  

Respondent had the right to do so, in avoidance of the allegation of misconduct, that 

would excuse or exonerate a violation of the OED rules, in his exercise of his 

professional judgement and/or mitigate the harm in his handling/strategy of the 

solicitation of allowance of the OED Grievant (EPRT) ‘519 Patent Application, 

Answer @ 61.   

30. FOURTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE - Contrary to TFB assertions 

in its Motion to Strike, Respondent has never previously challenged the Patent 

Office disciplinary proceeding based upon the illegal interpretation of an 

unambiguous regulation, by intentionally importing limitations into such regulation 

to render them subject to agency interpretation. TFB cannot point to any pleading in 

the disciplinary proceeding before the Patent Office OED, or in Respondent’s Rule 

83.5 Petition for review by the Federal District Court of the Eastern District of 

Virginia, wherein the above attack/challenge was made. 
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31. The “thread” that the ALJ  used to intentionally stitch the patchwork 

analysis of the facts and “inferences upon inferences” (impermissible inference 

stacking), was importation of concept of “delayed awareness” theme/rationale into 

the regulation, which phrase defies definition or objective parameters, thereby 

introducing ambiguity into the interpretation of Patent Office rule of practice and the 

OED regulations so as to artificially create ambiguity and thereby an agency 

justification and judicial (Auer) deference for the ALJ’s impermissible ad hoc 

interpretation of the OED regulation,  Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2415-2417 

(2019), Answer @ 83 to 84.     

32. This ALJ artificial redefinition of the OED regulation, by first 

inoculation thereof with his “delayed awareness” rational, does not reflect any Patent 

Office “authoritative” or “official position”, of any Patent Office regulation; and, 

none has ever been documented in the 8,500 page record of Respondent’s 

disciplinary proceeding. This “delayed awareness” rational” is rather nothing more 

than an ad hoc statement, without reflecting the agency’s views.  Typically, this ALJ 

practice is a ruse, adopted as merely a “convenient litigating position” or “post hoc 

rationalizatio[n] advanced” to “defend past agency action against attack”, Id @ 

2418., Answer @ 84.   
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33. The ALJ thereafter used this ruse to “interpret” the OED rules and 

regulations in order to find Respondent in violation, thereof, notwithstanding the 

absence of literal non-compliance with the OED disciplinary rules, Answer @ 85; 

McCabe Affidavit @ 161 to 197. 

Conclusion 

The Respondent’s Answer & Affirmative Defense, as supplement by the 

Exhibits, fully comply the pleading requirements of this Court’s civil rules, and in 

all other respects. 

Respectfully, 
 

 PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 

 Miami, Florida 33131 
 (305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
 rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
 
 
 By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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VERIFICATION 

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 

herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459. 
 

 
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Respondent’s Opposition to The 

Florida Bar’s Motion to Strike Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses has been provided 

to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org;  to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 16th day of December, 2020. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

_____________________________/ 

ORDE R  

THIS CAUSE having come before the Referee on Friday, December 18, 

2020 at 9:30 am, the parties having appeared by Zoom video conferencing, and the 

Court being fully advised in the premises, it is therefore, ORDERED and 

ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. The Florida Bar’s Motion for Summary Judgment is hereby 

GRANTED and respondent is adjudged guilty of violating the following Rules 

Regulating The Florida Bar: 4-1.2(a), 4-1.16(d), 4-1.3 and 4-1.4. 

2. The Florida Bar’s Motion to Strike Respondent’s Affirmative 

Defenses is GRANTED and Respondent’s affirmative defenses are stricken in their 

entirety. 

3. Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED. 

APPX 805 (By Respondent) 
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 4. This matter shall proceed to final hearing on the issue of discipline 

only, at the previously scheduled date and time of Feb. 1, 2021 at 9:30AM via 

Zoom video conferencing. 

DONE and ORD ERED  in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida, this 

____ day of December, 2020. 

 

___________________________________ 
Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee 
 

Copies provided to: 
Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
John H. Faro, Respondent, johnf75712@aol.com  
John Derek Womack, Bar Counsel, jwomack@floridabar.org 
Arlene Kalish Sankel, Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, asankel@floridabar.org  
Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, psavitz@floridabar.org 

18TH
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR       Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT  

 The Florida Bar File: 
v.          2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
        

 RESPONDENT        
_______________________/ 

 
 

MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF  
THIS COURT’S ORDER OF DECEMBER 18, 2020, 

GRANTING THE FLORIDA BAR MOTIONS   
TO STRIKE RESPONDENT’S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES & 

FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Respondent serves this Motion for Reconsideration of This Court’s (Referee) 

Order of December 18, 2020, Granting The Florida Bar Motions to Strike 

Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses & for Summary Judgment. Copy annexed 

hereto as Exh. 1.   The Referee Order of December 18, 2020 (drafted by The Florida 

Bar) is devoid of any findings of fact or reasoning, making effective review thereof 

unavailable. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 
IN SUPPORT OF RESPONDENT’ MOTION FOR 

RECONSIDERATION 
 

I. THE COURT’S STRIKING OF THE RESPONDENT’S FIRST 
AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSE WAS BASED UPON A MISAPPREHENSION 
OF THE FACTS & CONTRARY TO LAW 
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A. Appointment of Hearing Officer Violated The Patent Office 

Appointment Clause (37 CFR 11.39(a)) - Respondent’s First Affirmative Defense 

challenged the Hearing Officer’s competence to preside over the trial of the Patent 

Office Complaint against Respondent. The Respondent has asserted that the Patent 

Office appointment of the Hearing Officer was contrary to the mandatory provision 

of the Patent Office Appointment Clause, 37 CFR 11.39(a). McCabe Affidavit @ 

122 - 149.    

B. The Legality Of The Hearing Officer Appointment Was Not Previously 

Contested By Respondent - The Florida Bar has represented, in its Motion to Strike 

(TFB Motion to Strike @ 2), that Respondent had previously challenged the Hearing 

Officer’s appointment in Patent Office disciplinary proceedings.  The Florida Bar is 

not correct; this issue has not previously been raised. The Florida Bar has also 

attempted to bootstrap its challenge to Respondent’s First Affirmative Defense by 

asserting at the December 18, 2020, hearing that Respondent’s challenge to the 

Director’s investigation of grievance against Respondent (under 27 CFRE 11.22) 

was a challenge to “jurisdiction in general” and, thus, a waiver of all unspecified 

attacks upon jurisdiction. Hearing Tx @ Page 58, Lines 7-9, annexed hereto as Exh 
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2.  Not only is there no legal support for this legal argument, but both the Federal 

and Florida Courts, as discussed below, have explicitly rejected the Bar’s argument.  

More specifically, the failure to assert the lack of subject matter jurisdiction cannot 

result in a waiver of a later challenge to the power of a tribunal. 

The Florida Bar’s sweeping statement in its Motion (@ Page 2), that 

Respondent has previously asserted the lack of subject jurisdiction of the tribunal 

that presided over his trial, is devoid of any reference to any document in the Record 

of the disciplinary proceeding in the Patent Office, or in the Docket of the Federal 

District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia or in the Docket of the Court of 

Appeals for the Federal Circuit.  The reason for The Florida Bar’s failure to 

document its challenge to Respondent’s First Affirmative Defense is that the 

illegality of the Hearing Officer appointment was not previously asserted by the 

Respondent in any pleading, or previously litigated before any tribunal in its review 

of this matter.   The transcript of the December 18, 2020, hearing on The Florida 

Bar’s Motion to Strike is also equally uninformative as to any other basis of The 

Florida Bar’s challenge to Respondent’s First Affirmative Defense,  

The Respondent’s challenge to the appointment of the Hearing Officer has 

thus placed at issue not only the authority of Hearing Officer, but also the lack of 
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integrity of the entire process for conducting an inquiry into the Respondent’s 

behavior because the Hearing Officer controlled and directed such process.   In 

Respondent’s disciplinary trial, the Hearing Officer limited the discovery, denied 

Respondent’s assertion of affirmative defenses relative to mitigation, and restricted 

the introduction of relevant evidence from the malpractice litigation with 

Respondent’s former client that was favorable to Respondent.  Accordingly, the 

findings in such disciplinary hearing were decidedly weighted in favor of the Patent 

Office and very limited as to evidence relative to mitigation, excuse and justification.    

The Florida Bar’s argument at the December 18, 2020, hearing (Hearing TX 

@ Page 57, Line 5, to Page 58, Line 9) that Respondent’s prior challenge to 

jurisdiction “in general” also waives a challenge to subject matter jurisdiction is 

contrary to federal law, Arbaugh v. Y&H Corp., 546 U.S. 500, (2006) 

The objection that a federal court lacks subject matter jurisdiction see 
Fed. Rule Civ. Proc. 12(b)(1), may be raised at any stage in the litigation, even 
after trial and the entry of judgment, Rule 12(h)(3). See Kontrick v. Ryan, 540 
U.S. 443, 455, 124 S.Ct. 906, 157 L.Ed.2d 867. By contrast, the objection that 
a complaint “fail[s] to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” Rule 
12(b)(6), endures only up to, not beyond, trial on the merits, Rule 12(h)(2), 
Id. @ 501 (emphasis added) 
 
Florida law is also in accord with Federal Law. See Fla.R.Civ.Proc. Rule 

1.140(h); and Burke v. Esposito, 972 So.2d 1024, 1026 (2nd DCA 2008), applying 
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Rule 1.140(h).   

Initially, I note that the trial court’s alternative holding that the Clerk waived 
the issue of subject matter jurisdiction was incorrect. Florida Rule of Civil 
Procedure 1.140(h) states that the defense of subject matter jurisdiction may 
be raised at any time. It is commonly stated that “subject matter jurisdiction 
cannot be waived or conferred upon a court by consent or agreement of the 
parties.” Williams v. Starnes, 522 So.2d 469, 471 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). A 
judgment of a court without subject matter jurisdiction is sometimes described 
as a “void” judgment. N.W.T. v. L.H.D. (In re D.N.H.W.), 955 So.2d 1236, 
1238 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). Id @ 1026 
 
The analysis by the Court in Burke v. Esposito directly refutes the Bar’s 

contention that any challenge to jurisdiction results in a waiver of all jurisdictional 

challenges not presented as the same time. 

…there is language in Fiocchi that implies that the defense of subject matter 
jurisdiction may be waived if not raised in a preliminary motion. 566 So.2d at 
904. However, the motion addressed in Fiocchi involved a challenge to both 
subject matter jurisdiction and personal jurisdiction.. There is no doubt that a 
challenge to personal jurisdiction can be waived if it is not raised at the 
inception of the case. See Babcock v. Whatmore, 707 So.2d 702, 704 
(Fla.1998). More important, Fiocchi was an appeal from a nonfinal order, and 
the district court expressly recognized that it did not have jurisdiction to 
review a nonfinal order refusing to dismiss a complaint.2 
  

Thus, I conclude the Clerk did not waive the issue of subject matter 
jurisdiction when he failed to raise it in small claims court.   
 
For all of the reasons set forth above, and the precedent cited in support 

thereof, Respondent respectfully requests the Court reconsider its Order of 

APPX 811 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

 
The Florida Bar File: 

          2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

6 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

December 18, 2020, and reverse its decision to strike Respondent’s First Affirmative 

Defense. 

II. THE RESPONDENT’S OPPOSITION TO THE FLORIDA BAR 
MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS BASED 
UPON MULTIPLE GROUNDS AND ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE.  

 
A. TFB’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Lacked Legal & Factual 

Support - The Florida Bar Motion’s for Partial Summary was based upon Rule 3-4.6 

of The Florida Bar, and its adoption of the Patent Office record as conclusive proof 

of guilt.   

As set forth hereinafter, the factual findings and conclusions of law, in the 

Initial Opinion rendered on September 15, 2016, are no longer valid.   Accordingly, 

for the reasons set forth hereinafter, The Florida Bar can no longer rely upon such 

findings of the Hearing Officer in his Initial Opinion to support its enforcement of 

an equivalent Florida Bar disciplinary rule.   

The application of federal law, announced on June 26, 2019 (Kisor v. Wilkie, 

139 S.Ct. 2400, 2417-18 (2019)), mandates an interpretation of the Patent Office 

disciplinary rules based upon the plain meaning of such rules.  The interpretation of 

the Patent Office disciplinary rules, as mandated by the plain meaning standard in 

the Kisor decision, establishes as a matter of law that there has been no violation of 
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any Patent Office rule of discipline. See McCabe Affidavit @ 161-192.  

Accordingly, there is no basis for reciprocal discipline. 

B. History Of Judicial Deference To An Agency’s Interpretation Of Its 

Own Rules 

1. Prior to June 26, 2019, the rule of federal law, in the Federal District 

Court applicable to the interpretation and application of federal agency regulations, 

generally required judicial deference to an agency’s interpretation of its own 

regulations. Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452 (1997).  This rule of federal law 

announced by the Supreme Court decision in Auer is referred to as “Auer deference”.  

In the Federal District Court in the Eastern District of Virginia, review and denial of 

the Respondent’s Rule 83.5 Petition (which sought reversal of the Director’s Final 

Orders imposing discipline), the District Court accorded Auer deference to the Patent 

Office’s interpretation of its own disciplinary rules.  As is evident from the analysis 

and discussion by Respondent’s expert consultant, Michael McCabe, Esq. (Affidavit 

@ 161-197), the hearing officer (ALJ) departed from the plain meaning of the Patent 

Office disciplinary rules and regulations. 

 After June 26, 2019, the controlling federal rule of law changed, relative to 

the judicial deference to be accorded to an agency’s interpretation and application 
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of its own regulations, including the Patent Office disciplinary rules and regulations, 

Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400, 2417-18 (2019).   

Finally, an agency’s reading of a rule must reflect “fair and considered 
judgment” to receive Auer deference. Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 
2156 (quoting Auer, 519 U.S. at 462, 117 S.Ct. 905). That means, we have 
stated, that a court should decline to defer to a merely “convenient litigating 
position” or “post hoc rationalizatio[n] advanced” to “defend past agency 
action against attack.” Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 2156 (quoting 
Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hospital, 488 U.S. 204, 213, 109 S.Ct. 468, 102 
L.Ed.2d 493 (1988) and Auer, 519 U.S. at 462, 117 S.Ct. 905).6 And a court 
may *2418 not defer to a new interpretation, whether or not introduced in 
litigation, that creates “unfair surprise” to regulated parties. Long Island Care, 
551 U.S. at 170, 127 S.Ct. 2339). Id @ 2417-2418 (emphasis added) 
 
As applicable to this case, the Kisor decision was rendered on June 26, 2019, 

during the Respondent’s direct appeal of the Federal District Court Order of 

December 28, 2018, to the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.  The direct 

appeal of the Federal District Court Order of December 28, 2018, to the Federal 

Circuit was not finally concluded until April 10, 2020.  Accordingly, the U.S. 

Supreme Court rule of federal law announced in Kisor, is applicable retroactively, 

to the Patent Office disciplinary proceeding, Harper, et al. v. Virginia Dept. Of 

Taxation, 113 S.Ct. 2510 (1993).   

When this Court applies a rule of federal law to the parties before it, 
that rule is the controlling interpretation of federal law and must be given full 
retroactive effect in all cases still open on direct review and as to all events, 
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regardless of whether such events predate or postdate our announcement of 
the rule. Id @2017 (emphasis added)   
 
The rule of federal law mandated by the U.S. Supreme Court requires an 

agency (including the U. S Patent & Trademark Office) to apply the plain meaning 

of its own regulation in performance of its administrative function.  This includes he 

Patent Office Disciplinary proceeding against Respondent. 

As we have explained, a court must apply all traditional methods of 
interpretation to any rule, and must enforce the plain meaning those methods 
uncover. There can be no thought of deference unless, after performing that 
thoroughgoing review, the regulation remains genuinely susceptible to 
multiple reasonable meanings and the agency’s interpretation li4nes up with 
one of them. And even if that is the case, courts must on their own determine 
whether the nature or context of the agency’s construction reverses the usual 
presumption of deference. Most notably, a court must consider whether the 
interpretation is authoritative, expertise-based, considered, and fair to 
regulated parties. Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct @ 2019 (emphasis added) 
 
Insofar as the hearing officer (ALJ) in the disciplinary proceeding against 

Respondent departed from the plain meaning of the Patent Office disciplinary rules, 

his findings and conclusions of law in his Initial Opinion & Order (September 15, 

2016) are, at a minimum, now in dispute.  The Director’s Final Orders, which are 

predicated upon the disputed findings and conclusions of law of the Hearing Officer 

in his Initial Opinion, are thus invalid. See McCabe Affidavit @ 161-197 as to failure 

of such proof of any violation.   
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In summary, the mandated change in the interpretation of the Patent Office 

disciplinary rules, by the rule of federal law announced by the U.S. Supreme Court 

on June 26, 2019, in Kisor v Wilkie and retroactively applied to the Hearing Officer’s 

Initial Opinion, requires a dismissal of The Florida Bar’s Formal Complaint for 

Reciprocal Discipline under Rule 3-4.6 (because of the absence of any violation of 

Patent Office disciplinary rules). 

At a minimum, this Court must conduct a full trial to review the facts and legal 

issues regarding this matter. 

WHEREFORE, Respondent respectfully requests that the Court reconsider its  

Order of December 18, 2020. 

Respectfully, 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  
  
By:/s/ JOHN H. FARO_________ 

  Florida Bar No. 527.459  
  Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 

 
 

VERIFICATION 

 
I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 

herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration of 

December 18, 2020 Order has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, 

Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial 

Assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., 

Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 7th day of January, 2021. 

        By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
    ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

_____________________________/ 

ORDE R  

THIS CAUSE having come before the Referee on Friday, December 18, 

2020 at 9:30 am, the parties having appeared by Zoom video conferencing, and the 

Court being fully advised in the premises, it is therefore, ORDERED and 

ADJUDGED as follows: 

1. The Florida Bar’s Motion for Summary Judgment is hereby 

GRANTED and respondent is adjudged guilty of violating the following Rules 

Regulating The Florida Bar: 4-1.2(a), 4-1.16(d), 4-1.3 and 4-1.4. 

2. The Florida Bar’s Motion to Strike Respondent’s Affirmative 

Defenses is GRANTED and Respondent’s affirmative defenses are stricken in their 

entirety. 

3. Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment is DENIED. 

APPX 820 (By Respondent) 
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 4. This matter shall proceed to final hearing on the issue of discipline 

only, at the previously scheduled date and time of Feb. 1, 2021 at 9:30AM via 

Zoom video conferencing. 

DONE and ORD ERED  in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida, this 

____ day of December, 2020. 

 

___________________________________ 
Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee 
 

Copies provided to: 
Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
John H. Faro, Respondent, johnf75712@aol.com  
John Derek Womack, Bar Counsel, jwomack@floridabar.org 
Arlene Kalish Sankel, Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, asankel@floridabar.org  
Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, psavitz@floridabar.org 
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          IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA
              (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR         Supreme Court Case
                        No. SC18-1279
      Complainant,
v.                      The Florida Bar File
                        No. 2019-70,032 (11J)
JOHN H. FARO,
      Respondent.
----------------------------/

                     BY VIDEOCONFERENCE
                     December 18, 2020
                     9:35 a.m. - 11:16 a.m.

         Hearing in above-styled cause taken
before The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris,
Referee, of the above-styled court, reported
by Claudia Segui-Martinez, Shorthand Reporter
and Notary Public in and for the State of
Florida at Large, pursuant to Notice filed in
the above cause.
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1 APPEARANCES:
2

 ON BEHALF OF THE COMPLAINANT:
3

      The Florida Bar
4       444 Brickell Ave

      Suite M100
5       Miami, Florida 33131

      By:  Arlene Kalish Sankel, Bar Counsel
6            asankel@floridabar.org
7  ON BEHALF OF THE RESPONDENT:
8       Podhurst Orseck, P.A.

      SunTrust International Center
9       1 Southeast 3rd Avenue

      Suite 2300
10       Miami, Florida 33131

      By:  Robert C Josefsberg, Esquire
11            rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and

           Faro & Associates
12            1395 Brickell Avenue

           Suite 800
13            Miami, Florida 33131-3302

           By: John Faro, Esquire/Respondent
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
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1          (The following proceedings were had:)
2          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Good morning, Your
3     Honor.
4          THE COURT:  Good morning, everyone.
5          MS. SANKEL:  Good morning, Judge.
6          THE COURT:  All right.
7          Ms. Segui-Martinez is with us.
8          THE COURT REPORTER:  Yes, I'm the
9     court reporter.

10          THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you and
11     welcome.
12          THE COURT REPORTER:  Thank you.
13          THE COURT:  Just let us know if at
14     any moment there's anything you don't hear
15     or there's a glitch in the system, you can
16     stop us at any point so we can make sure
17     the record is clear, okay?  Don't
18     hesitate.
19          THE COURT REPORTER:  Okay.  Thank
20     you.
21          THE COURT:  Thank you and welcome.
22          All right.  Let me get the case
23     number out here.
24          All right.  This is Judge Dimitris.
25          We're here today for a Zoom hearing.

Page 4

1          I'm calling the case of the Florida
2     Bar versus John Faro, and the Supreme
3     Court Case Number is SC18-1279.
4          The Florida Bar File Number is
5     2019-70,032 (11J).  That's the
6     identification I have for this case.
7          Good morning and welcome.
8          Let me assist you in making your
9     appearances today.

10          First, on behalf of the Florida Bar?
11          MS. SANKEL:  Arlene Sankel on behalf
12     of The Florida Bar.
13          Good morning, Judge.
14          THE COURT:  Good morning.  Thank you.
15     Welcome.
16          Mr. Josefsberg?
17          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Bob Josefsberg for
18     the respondent, who is also co-counsel,
19     John Faro who is here.
20          John, announce your appearance.
21          MR. FARO:  John Faro, appearing as
22     co-counsel to -- supporting
23     Mr. Josefsberg.
24          THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.
25          Welcome Mr. Faro, good morning.
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1          And welcome Mr. Josefsberg.
2          All right.  So today we have a series
3     of filings that we're going to review.
4     Effectively speaking, there is affirmative
5     defenses that have been filed, and the
6     Florida Bar's motion to strike them and
7     that argument, and then there's also
8     cross-motions for summary judgment today.
9          I've had an opportunity to review the

10     filings and I am ready to proceed.
11          My bailiff tells me that there's some
12     discussion among you about what should go
13     first, whether it's the affirmative
14     defenses or the motion for summary
15     judgment, so I have some ideas there, but
16     let me hear from you both about how to
17     effectively utilize our time here today.
18          So I'll start with Ms. Sankel, and
19     hear what she wants to do procedurally,
20     and then I'll hear from Mr. Josefsberg.
21          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you, Judge.
22          Quite honestly, I was prepared to do
23     the motion for summary judgment first.
24          Mr. Josefsberg has suggested that
25     perhaps we should hear the motion to
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1     strike affirmative defenses so we can --
2     if that's granted in my favor, that will
3     eliminate a lot of the argument on the
4     summary judgment motion.
5          Quite frankly, I'm perfectly fine
6     either way, whatever the Court prefers.
7          THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, if that's
8     your position and Mr. Josefsberg prefers
9     the affirmative defenses argument first,

10     then I'm okay with that, too.
11          Mr. Josefsberg?
12          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  I prefer the
13     affirmative defenses first because I think
14     that impacts the motions for summary
15     judgment.
16          THE COURT:  Okay.
17          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  And I think we
18     should do it first, yes.
19          THE COURT:  No problem.  Since
20     Ms. Sankel is not objecting to it, I'll be
21     flexible to proceeding that way, no
22     problem.
23          All right.  So, Ms. Sankel, then,
24     therefore, is it best that you proceed
25     with the reasoning behind striking the
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1     affirmative defenses?
2          MS. SANKEL:  Yes, Judge.  And I
3     actually will be fairly brief because, as
4     you know, as we all know, this is a case
5     about reciprocal discipline.  And Your
6     Honor has previously heard respondent's
7     motion to dismiss the Bar's complaint
8     based on an argument that Rule 3-4.6
9     doesn't apply and you denied that motion.

10          That motion having been denied, the
11     rule does apply, and that same argument
12     actually still form the basis for my
13     motion for summary judgment.
14          Rule 3-4.6 tells us -- and if I can
15     take a moment I'd like to just read the
16     rule into the record:  Final adjudication
17     in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or
18     other authorized disciplinary agency of
19     another jurisdiction, state or federal,
20     that a lawyer licensed to practice in that
21     jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct
22     justifying disciplinary action will be
23     considered as conclusive proof of the
24     misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding
25     under this rule.

Page 8

1          So we've already established that the
2     rulings by the U.S. Patent and Trademark
3     Office, as affirmed by both the Federal
4     District Court and the Federal Appellate
5     Courts filed in the ambit of Rule 3-4.6,
6     consequently, Mr. Faro is conclusively
7     guilty as charged and as found in the
8     underlying proceedings.
9          That being the case, there is no

10     affirmative defense that he can raise to
11     avoid the culpability that's alleged in
12     the Bar's complaint.  He's raised actually
13     four affirmative defenses as well as some
14     general allegations, and for the most part
15     the general allegations are just a
16     re-argument of the underlying findings by
17     the Administrative Law Judge as affirmed
18     by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office
19     and later throughout the federal court
20     system.  He just can't go behind what has
21     already been deemed conclusive guilt,
22     Judge; he's stuck with those findings.
23          As to his first affirmative defense,
24     he says, again, that the U.S. Patent and
25     Trademark Office lacked jurisdiction to
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1     adjudicate him as they did.  That exact
2     point has been taken up by him on appeal
3     all the way up to the federal appellate
4     courts.  He has lost on that issue at
5     every court.  He cannot go behind that
6     now.  He cannot really defend against the
7     findings of the lower tribunals.
8          His second affirmative defense is a
9     regurgitation of the arguments on his

10     motion to dismiss.  Once again, he wants
11     the Referee to be persuaded that he should
12     not be held within the ambit of the
13     reciprocal discipline rule, and Your Honor
14     has already said that rule applies.
15          THE COURT:  Ms. Sankel.
16          MS. SANKEL:  Yes?
17          THE COURT:  Can you say that sentence
18     again?  I didn't hear your words.
19          MS. SANKEL:  Okay.  What I said was,
20     in his second affirmative defense he
21     regurgitates the argument he made on his
22     motion to dismiss, which is that, you
23     know, the Trademark -- Patent and
24     Trademark Office findings and sanction
25     should not be binding on him, and we've
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1     already heard that argument, Judge, and
2     you've already ruled against it.
3          So Rule 3-4.6 applies and he is stuck
4     with those findings and he cannot get
5     behind them, certainly not on his
6     affirmative defenses.
7          His third affirmative defense is
8     essentially a due process argument.
9     That's kind of interesting because the

10     record shows that he had a two-day
11     evidentiary hearing in Miami at which he
12     was both present and testified and
13     presented evidence.  And, in fact, when he
14     took his case up on appeal through the
15     Federal District Court, that court
16     specifically noted the fact that he had
17     been provided that hearing.  They
18     specifically found that the findings of
19     the Administrative Law Judge were neither
20     capricious nor arbitrary and they affirmed
21     those findings.  So, you know, to
22     suggest --
23          THE COURT:  They did what to these
24     findings?
25          MS. SANKEL:  They affirmed.  They
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1     affirmed all of the findings that came
2     before, findings of guilt, yeah.
3          THE COURT:  Okay.
4          MS. SANKEL:  And they upheld the
5     sanction as well as the findings of guilt.
6          So to suggest that he was not
7     afforded due process is simply not so,
8     Judge, it's just simply not true.
9          And then for his fourth affirmative

10     defense he basically just re-argues the
11     findings of the Administrative Law Judge.
12     So we're coming back full circle to 3-4.6.
13     He is bound by the findings, he is
14     conclusively guilty, and he can't get
15     behind them.
16          I am not suggesting that he doesn't
17     have entitlement to a hearing.  He
18     certainly has the right to put on whatever
19     evidence he may have in mitigation of a
20     sentence to be imposed for the misconduct
21     of which he is already conclusively
22     guilty, as well The Bar had the right to
23     put on aggravation.
24          What he can't do, Judge, is raise
25     these affirmative defenses in an effort to
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1     get behind the facts of which he is
2     already conclusively guilty.
3          THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you,
4     Ms. Sankel.
5          And I should have mentioned, I did
6     have the opportunity to review the filings
7     in the case, so I am aware of your filings
8     and arguments.
9          Thank you, Ms. Sankel.

10          Mr. Josefsberg, do you wish to
11     respond?
12          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Yes, Your Honor.
13          I assume that you have read
14     everything because if you have not we'd
15     need a five-hour hearing to go through the
16     thousands of pages that have been before
17     you, but I have confidence that you've
18     read all of them so we'll be brief,
19     because we don't want to be repetitive.
20     We'll just highlight some of those issues.
21          THE COURT:  Well, let me see if I
22     understand.  I mean, most essentially
23     Ms. Sankel's argument is, I really didn't
24     have the need to read much because the
25     case is succinct in that the Bar is
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1     proceeding on discipline from somewhere
2     else, so everything that occurred before
3     that is not of much significance, I just
4     need to proceed that Mr. Faro has already
5     had his due process rights and his
6     hearings, etcetera, and has been already
7     placed in this position and the Florida
8     Bar is ready to proceed based on that and
9     I shouldn't look back behind those types

10     of things, he had his opportunities there
11     and those are over.
12          So at this point they're saying the
13     complexity of the case is going to lie in
14     the future penalty phase to determine what
15     the misconduct was, how egregious it was,
16     if at all, and what the sanctions should
17     be.
18          I think that's the Bar's essential
19     argument on the summary judgment but also
20     on the motion to strike the affirmative
21     defenses.
22          But please proceed as you would like
23     so I can hear your argument.
24          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Yes, Your Honor,
25     you've absolutely nailed it.  That is the
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1     Bar's position.  They are saying that it's
2     conclusive proof, that that's it, there's
3     already been a decision made and all we
4     have to do here is determine the amount of
5     punishment, and that's where we disagree.
6          Let me start by mentioning the
7     pleading we filed rather late yesterday on
8     our supplemental authority, which is the
9     Harper versus Virginia case, and that we

10     -- it's a lengthy case.  We offered it for
11     one simple issue, and that's
12     retroactivity.  And the retroactivity
13     applies to two of the important cases we
14     cited, which are Accrediting Counsel --
15     which I noticed should have been
16     capitalized, the A and the C.  The
17     Accrediting Counsel case and the Kisor
18     case.
19          The Annie E. Harper case makes it
20     very clear -- and I'll just quote to
21     portions of it:  When this court applies a
22     rule of federal law to the parties before
23     it, that rule is the controlling
24     interpretation of federal law and must be
25     given full retroactive effect in all cases
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1     still open on direct review and as to all
2     events, regardless of whether such events
3     predate or postdate the announcement of
4     the rule.
5          They go on to say that the Beam case
6     controls this case and we accordingly
7     adopt the rule that fairly reflects the
8     position of the majority of justices in
9     Beam.  When this court applies a rule of

10     federal law to the parties before it, that
11     rule is the controlling interpretation of
12     federal law and must be given full
13     retroactive effect in all cases still open
14     on direct review and as to all events,
15     regardless of whether such events predate
16     or postdate our announcement of the rule.
17          We will get into later why the
18     retroactivity is very important in both
19     the Accrediting Counsel case and in the
20     Kisor case, Kisor being critical in this
21     matter.
22          Your Honor, I understand, perfectly,
23     as you do, the Bar's position.  They say
24     that you're a rubber stamp of the ruling
25     from the patent office and that all we

Page 16

1     have to do is figure out how you should
2     punish Mr. Faro.
3          Well, we totally disagree.  And I
4     want to point out to you the purpose of
5     summary judgment is to cut through a lot
6     of garbage that is unnecessary and just
7     get to the heart of things, and it's in
8     the administration of justice for
9     efficiency and it should be done.

10          But I want you to know this, even if
11     you were to, in our opinion erroneously,
12     but if you were to strike our affirmative
13     defenses, everything that's in them is
14     going to be argued legally and we're going
15     to present two witnesses to show you that
16     those three affirmative defenses occurred
17     and they will go into the issue of his
18     liability, it'll go to the issue of his
19     punishment, his culpability.
20          But as you hear them, we believe that
21     you will understand that the decision of
22     the patent office should be a nullity, it
23     doesn't matter, because the way they did
24     this and what they did to him in a
25     kangaroo court is such that you cannot
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1     give him reciprocity.
2          And the problem is, is if you were to
3     strike the affirmative defenses, and then
4     you're going to hear all the evidence as
5     it goes to culpability, if all of a
6     sudden, after you hear it, you are
7     persuaded that the underlying finding by
8     the patent office is void, it's of no
9     value, and you make the ruling, Ms. Sankel

10     will say, hold on, Your Honor, I'm just
11     here re-sentencing.  I didn't know that
12     you were going to argue whether -- the
13     validity of the finding and that's not
14     fair, and she'd have a good point.  She
15     would feel like she's been blind-sided.
16          And as long as you're going to hear
17     the evidence, I suggest that you keep an
18     open mind and hear it, because, you see,
19     at the most, I believe, based on the case
20     law, that the finding below or away or
21     whatever you want to call it, the finding,
22     is at the most a rebuttable presumption.
23          The case law says that we can produce
24     evidence -- and we have the burden of
25     proof.  We have the burden of showing you
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1     that that ruling has no validity because
2     it wasn't done correct.  And that's what
3     we want to do and we're going to do it if
4     you rule that the ruling is valid, we're
5     going to do it for punishment.  But after
6     you hear all of it, we believe that you
7     will find that the ruling below is not
8     worth the paper it's written on.  And
9     we're going to do that for different

10     reasons.  To start with, you have to
11     understand what the Bar is alleging.  They
12     had two choices, they could have, and
13     maybe should have, filed a Bar complaint
14     against Mr. Faro for what he did in the
15     patent office and then we'd have a Florida
16     Bar complaint and we go through in the
17     proceeding.
18          The problem at this stage is the
19     statute of limitations has run on that.
20     They cannot bring a Bar --
21          MS. SANKEL:  Judge, I'm sorry, I'm
22     going to have to interject for a minute,
23     because I thought we were talking about
24     affirmative defenses and Mr. Josefsberg is
25     arguing his opposition to summary
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1     judgment.
2          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  No, this is for
3     purposes of the affirmative defenses.
4          THE COURT:  Okay.  Just a moment.
5          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  It goes to both.
6          THE COURT:  Ms. Sankel --
7          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Arleen's argument
8     went to both.
9          THE COURT:  -- I'll overrule your

10     objection.
11          I'm going to give Mr. Josefsberg
12     latitude here and I'll also hear from you.
13          My estimation is that they're so
14     intertwined in arguments that it is okay
15     to blend them a little bit --
16          MS. SANKEL:  Okay.
17          THE COURT:  -- and I will give you an
18     opportunity to respond and you'll have
19     that leeway also.
20          Go ahead, Mr. Josefsberg.  But I have
21     to tell you, Mr. Josefsberg, I recall
22     having reviewed documents in this case and
23     done some research and I don't think that
24     I am convinced that the statute of
25     limitations would have expired based on
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1     Mr. Faro's interest in the appellate
2     process and putting the Bar on hold in a
3     lot of this matter, so I'm not sure that
4     that would actually be true.  But perhaps
5     it is, you may continue in your argument.
6          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  We'll show you proof
7     that the Florida Bar did proceed on these
8     grounds and dismissed that complaint
9     without prejudice and they had one year

10     within which to re-file it, which they did
11     not, so the statute has run on that.  But
12     I'll go into those facts later.
13          They have two ways to proceed on
14     this, one is a Florida Bar complaint based
15     upon the actions, which we believe we can
16     show you is void because of the statute of
17     limitations.  And the second way, that I
18     believe they are proceeding, is on
19     reciprocity.  They're saying the patent
20     office has made this ruling and under the
21     law we ought to give full faith and credit
22     to that ruling.
23          But the problem is that Your Honor
24     would not want to and is not allowed to
25     give full faith and credit to a ruling
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1     that is so improper -- and I'll just cover
2     the first point of it, the very first
3     point.
4          The first point we raised is the ALJ,
5     the Administrative Law Judge.  Under the
6     law and the regulations for the patent
7     office -- and the patent office is bound
8     by their own rules -- the director must
9     select an administrative judge to hear the

10     complaint; that's the law.  Instead what
11     the director of the patent office did was
12     he said, nah, I'm too busy, I don't want
13     to do that, I'm delegating it to HUD.
14          So the folks from Housing and Urban
15     Development selected the hearing examiner,
16     and that right off makes the whole thing
17     invalid.
18          And I can only analogize it as
19     follows, the Supreme Court is required to
20     select a Referee on Bar complaints and
21     they properly selected you and they always
22     select judges because they know evidence,
23     they know law and they're very well
24     qualified to do this, as you are.
25          But what would happen if the Florida

Page 22

1     Bar -- excuse me, if the Supreme Court
2     said, no, we're too busy, we want the
3     secretary of -- let's see what work are
4     they doing -- they could say the Secretary
5     of Agriculture, the Department of
6     Agriculture, you select someone.  Or they
7     could say FDLE, you select a judge.
8          And then we would have a Bar
9     complaint being heard by a farmer or by a

10     law enforcement officer and it wouldn't be
11     valid because it wouldn't be a proper
12     tribunal run by someone who has authority.
13          And I'm making it clear, you have
14     authority to do this.  The Supreme Court
15     lived by their rules and selected a judge.
16     The difference is, the patent office
17     didn't and they let HUD select someone and
18     that's invalid right off the top.
19          Now, the other arguments in the --
20          THE COURT:  Just one moment,
21     Mr. Josefsberg, because I'm not sure that
22     I fully understand.
23          So let's say the Supreme Court in
24     Florida in this situation, let's say it
25     was a farmer who had no legal background
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1     who was selected to be the head of this
2     tribunal, that seems improper right from
3     the start, with no understanding of the
4     law and no background, etcetera.
5          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Correct.
6          THE COURT:  But let's say that the
7     decision that that farmer made was
8     appealed up the chain and affirmed that he
9     indeed was sufficient.

10          At that point doesn't the argument
11     over that disappear?  Even if it was
12     wrongly made it had been affirmed.  Now we
13     have an appellate federal court who heard
14     this argument, who affirmed that that was
15     appropriate, doesn't that, therefore,
16     essentially put a block on me in delving
17     in to whether or not that was appropriate
18     and I have to deal now only with the fact
19     that there's a little checkbox to check
20     off that there was this sanction by this
21     entity?
22          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor, you're
23     totally correct, except for one fact.  No
24     District Court in Virginia and not the
25     Third Circuit Court of Appeals ever heard

Page 24

1     the argument that I just made.  No one
2     raised that then.  No one raised the issue
3     that the ALJ had no authority in this
4     case.
5          Now, they may have approved it, but
6     they never heard this argument.  And
7     you're hearing it now.  For the first time
8     someone is hearing it.  And we believe you
9     have the right to say, well, even though

10     this wasn't raised then, if we're looking
11     into the validity of a ruling and they
12     didn't raise this before but it turns out
13     the very proceedings, to start with, the
14     selection of an ALJ was improper, you have
15     the authority and I believe the duty to
16     say, that ruling is a nullity, because it
17     wasn't done properly.
18          The office of patents must live by
19     their own rules and they didn't.  They
20     selected someone -- they delegated it to
21     HUD and HUD selected someone.  And this
22     has not been argued.  This is a brand new
23     issue.  No one has ruled on this in this
24     case.  But if they had, Your Honor, you'd
25     be correct.  If this had been raised at
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1     the District Court or at the Third
2     District -- or the Third Circuit Court of
3     Appeals, you'd be correct and it would be
4     useless for you to re-look at that, but
5     it's never been raised.
6          You are the first chance we're having
7     to raise this because, for whatever
8     reason, while Mr. Faro was representing
9     himself back then and doing a very poor

10     job of it, he didn't know that, and that
11     makes a big difference because this is the
12     first time; that's just one point.
13          Now, the complications of the other
14     issues are such that I would like Mr. Faro
15     to argue the other issues and have him
16     briefly discuss with you why the other
17     things that happened during these
18     proceedings were so atrocious, were so
19     improper, and they weren't raised -- and,
20     by the way, you know, when they ask, for
21     instance, when they ask for a continuance
22     so they could hear the results of Judge
23     Huck's case about the same thing, same
24     client complaining in a malpractice case,
25     and HUD -- excuse me, yeah, HUD, the ALJ
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1     from HUD said, no, no continuance, no,
2     we're not going to do that.  We don't care
3     what someone else does on the parallel
4     case.
5          They did a bunch of things and the
6     patent office ruled regarding their own
7     impropriety, they said, no, everything we
8     do is fine, that's it.
9          And let me just turn it over now --

10     and, by the way, Your Honor, we would
11     appreciate any questions you have about
12     anything we say so we can respond to them
13     and clarify any issues.
14          And I want to turn it over now to
15     Mr. Faro on the affirmative defenses.
16          MR. FARO:  May it please the --
17          THE COURT:  Let me ask you this
18     question.
19          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Yes.
20          THE COURT:  Are you now -- you
21     definitely have made some summary judgment
22     arguments here.  Do you want to blend
23     these two and go ahead with your summary
24     judgment argument and then I'll consider
25     everything simultaneously?

Page 27

1          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  I think that's very
2     efficient, yes.
3          THE COURT:  Okay.
4          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  And our position, by
5     the way, is that the finding of the patent
6     office is a nullity.  But the worse you
7     can do for us is find that it is valid.
8     In which case, we have the absolute right
9     to prove to you, and we have the burden of

10     proof, we will have the burden of proof
11     and we believe we will prove to you that
12     you should not give full faith and credit
13     to it, but I agree with you.
14          John, you can cover the affirmative
15     defenses and where you may leap over into
16     the motion for summary judgment, please do
17     so.
18          MR. FARO:  Sure.
19          THE COURT:  Okay.  But before you
20     begin, Mr. Faro, I just want to get an
21     idea from you, Mr. Faro, how long do you
22     expect your presentation will last?
23          MR. FARO:  I'm going to give you an
24     outline of what I would want to say and
25     then you can tell me what to focus on and
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1     what to --
2          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  John, John, Judge
3     asked a question.
4          MR. FARO:  How long?
5          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Tell him how long
6     you think it'll be.
7          MR. FARO:  Probably a half an hour.
8          THE COURT:  Okay.  And I'm going to
9     give you that ability.  And then

10     Ms. Sankel, you'll be able to follow up.
11          So the platform -- the stage will be
12     yours, okay.
13          MR. FARO:  Yes, sir.
14          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  And John, thirty
15     minutes is the maximum.
16          MR. FARO:  May it please the Court,
17     Your Honor, I want to reaffirm what
18     Mr. Josefsberg said, there was never any
19     issue relative to the authority of the ALJ
20     to preside over the discipline trial.  The
21     issue before the Court and the Third
22     Circuit was whether or not there was
23     procedural jurisdiction on the probable
24     cause matters, so Mr. Josefsberg was
25     correct that that was never raised in the
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1     lower court or before the patent office.
2          Mr. Josefsberg adequately helped
3     discuss that and I'm not going to add
4     anything to that.
5          What you have in front of you, Your
6     Honor, again, dueling motions for summary
7     judgment, that's not unusual in many
8     cases.  Our motion for summary judgment is
9     very simple.  We're relying upon the plain

10     language of the regulations under Kisor,
11     which retroactively requires the Court to
12     consider whether or not there's a
13     violation of the law based upon the plain
14     language.
15          We've submitted for the Court's
16     consideration supporting -- a supporting
17     affidavit by our expert, Mr. Michael
18     McCabe, I'm going to refer to Paragraphs
19     161 to 194 in the McCabe affidavit.  He
20     basically indicates that virtually all of
21     the rulings by the ALJ were erroneous and
22     detailed why they were erroneous and he
23     references the facts and his analysis is
24     very clear.
25          By contrast, the OED has relied upon

Page 30

1     what's called Auer, A-U-E-R deference, in
2     which case -- I think I'm getting a bad
3     connection.
4          In which case, under the prior rule,
5     the agency was permitted to interpret some
6     regulations.  That rule is no longer
7     enforced.  Under Kisor the Court now says
8     unless -- all unambiguous regulations must
9     be construed based on the plain terms and

10     unless a regulation is generally ambiguous
11     there's no latitude given to the agency
12     the to interpret.
13          THE COURT:  Mr. Faro, we actually do
14     hear you clearly, there hasn't been any
15     internet blips at all.
16          MR. FARO:  I get a flashing light on
17     my side.
18          THE COURT:  Okay.  So far it's been
19     very clear, no problem.
20          MR. FARO:  Thank you, sir, I
21     appreciate your feedback.
22          So we are both operating on parallel
23     tracks but we're not on the same track.
24          The Bar's position is, basically,
25     that the ALJ, under Auer, A-U-E-R,
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1     deference standard was permitted to
2     interpret their own regulations.
3          And our position is, under the Kisor
4     standard, that the agency is not permitted
5     to interpret regulations that are
6     unambiguous.  Only if a regulation is
7     genuinely ambiguous can the agency
8     interpret that regulation.  So that's the
9     controlling standard.

10          And that's dispositive as to which --
11     what is valid and what isn't.  If the
12     agency proceeded on the basis that it was
13     in fact permitted to interpret its own
14     regulations then they'll be correct, but
15     Kisor is applied retroactively to this
16     whole process.
17          It's our position that Kisor, applied
18     to the record in this case, renders the
19     final orders void.  And if the final
20     orders are void, there aren't any findings
21     that are available to the Florida Bar to
22     base Florida Bar violations on.  The
23     Florida Bar can't parse the findings --
24     I'm sorry, can't parse the final orders
25     that are invalid and cherry pick findings

Page 32

1     in support of the Florida Bar's complaint.
2          I believe, and I think you touched on
3     it, I believe that there's a statute of
4     limitations bar.  The Florida Bar
5     initiated a grievance proceeding on a
6     complaint filed in 2014.  The complaint
7     was -- the complaint went to the
8     investigating panel, they recommended
9     probable cause.  The complaint was filed,

10     I believe, in 2015.  And then the
11     complaint was withdrawn in, I believe,
12     April of 2017.
13          At that point in time the Florida Bar
14     had a year to reinstate the complaint.  It
15     didn't do that, it didn't do that.  And my
16     understanding of the law, however
17     imperfect it, is that the -- you can't --
18     the Florida Bar's position is a
19     distinction without a difference.  If you
20     can't assert directly a Florida Bar
21     violation because it's barred by the
22     statute of limitations, you can't rely
23     upon the OED proceeding to assert a
24     Florida Bar violation; that's my position,
25     okay.

APPX 830 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



305-374-8868    service@fernandezcr.com
Fernandez & Associates Court Reporters

9 (Pages 33 to 36)

Page 33

1          In any event, we're going to go
2     sliding back and forth between summary
3     judgment and the motion to strike.
4          I have asserted that there are
5     material issues of fact in regard to the
6     Florida Bar motion for summary judgment --
7     if you bear with me a second.
8          We have filed an opposition, Your
9     Honor, to the Florida Bar motion for

10     summary judgment and we've indicated on
11     pages six and seven the basis for that.  I
12     believe that's correct, yes.
13          We indicate on page six that the
14     record before this Court is preclusive of
15     summary judgment in favor of the Florida
16     Bar.  And on the next page we rely upon
17     the affidavits of Michael McCabe, that's
18     presented factual issues which preclude
19     entry of summary judgment in favor of the
20     Bar.  And then there's Paragraphs 161 to
21     194, again, we're proceeding under the
22     Kisor analysis of the record.
23          And in my affidavit -- I'm going to
24     reference certain paragraphs in the
25     affidavit which reference material issue
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1     of the facts and then if you'd like I can
2     go into each one individually.
3          The affidavit that I filed raises
4     material issue of facts, which are
5     Paragraph 24, Paragraphs 33 and 34, 36 to
6     38, 44, 47 and 51.
7          To conserve time I think I'm going to
8     jump ahead now.
9          It's our position that even if the

10     Florida Bar is proceeding on the proper
11     basis, that the material issues of fact
12     that have been raised by virtue of
13     McCabe's affidavit and my verified
14     statement precludes summary judgment in
15     this case by virtue of the fact that the
16     findings are not consistent with the
17     record.
18          And that's pretty much it, Your
19     Honor.  I can go into the statute of
20     limitations which Your Honor addressed
21     you're not interested in hearing about.
22          Let me go back --
23          THE COURT:  I do have one question
24     for you, Mr. Faro.
25          MR. FARO:  Yes, Judge.

Page 35

1          THE COURT:  Did I hear you say that
2     the Bar acknowledges that the statute of
3     limitations had run on a grievance?
4          MR. FARO:  No, I never said that, I'm
5     sorry, Judge.  You misunderstood me, Your
6     Honor.
7          The Florida Bar filed a grievance and
8     there was a grievance filed with the
9     Florida Bar, I believe, in 2014, it went

10     to committee, they filed a complaint
11     thereafter, I believe the complaint was in
12     2015, and then the complaint was
13     withdrawn, I believe, in 2017.
14          Now, the law -- the Florida Bar rules
15     indicate they can resume that prosecution
16     of that complaint within a year and
17     failing to do that, they'd have to go back
18     and start all over again.
19          In this case, instead of starting all
20     over again, they're cherry picking the
21     findings by the patent office to assert a
22     Florida Bar grievance against me.  And I
23     believe that -- and there's a big
24     difference, Your Honor, if in fact the
25     Florida Bar has to prosecute a complaint.

Page 36

1     They have the burden to prove it by clear
2     and convincing evidence.  In the instant
3     proceeding, by maneuvering the way they
4     did, the burden is on me now to prove my
5     defense by clear and convincing evidence.
6          So the Florida Bar -- I think it's
7     inequitable to permit the Bar to play with
8     the rules in the way they have.
9          If I may, Your Honor, I'm going to

10     back now and I'm going to go into my
11     verified statement and identify the
12     factual issues, if I may, that preclude
13     summary judgment in favor of the Florida
14     Bar.
15          As I indicated to the Court, one of
16     the statements appears in Paragraph 24.
17          THE COURT:  Help me find the document
18     that you're referring to.
19          MR. FARO:  I'm referring now to my
20     verified statement, Your Honor.  I'm
21     sorry, I'm referring to my verified
22     statement, okay.
23          THE COURT:  Do you have a date of
24     filing, because I have a list of things, I
25     want to just open that document.
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1          MR. FARO:  It went in about the same
2     time as the summary judgment, Your Honor.
3     I think it went in the 8th of December.
4          THE COURT:  I got it, yes,
5     December 8th, thank you.
6          MR. FARO:  The issues -- I have to
7     put this in context, if I may.
8          I was engaged by the client to assume
9     responsibility for the patent application

10     that was filed by predecessor counsel.
11          At the time I was hired they were
12     aware of my background.  The patent
13     practice has a number of subspecialties
14     within the specialized practice.  My
15     subspecialty is in the medical
16     device/pharmaceutical area, because the
17     rules there are different in terms of
18     obtaining patent protection and,
19     thereafter, enforcing patent protection.
20          The client was aware of my background
21     when they hired me.  Their invention was
22     for a medical device and the patent
23     application that was filed on their behalf
24     by a predecessor counsel claimed both the
25     medical device and the method of using it.
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1          I was asked to, I volunteered to
2     review the file in November of 2002 and I
3     issued a review and recommendation, which
4     is, I believe -- it's Exhibit 2 to our
5     answer to the Bar complaint.  In that
6     review and recommendation I was highly
7     critical of the predecessor counsel's
8     drafting of the patent application and I
9     concluded that it was likely that the

10     final rejection would be sustained.
11          So from the get-go the client was
12     advised that protection was unattainable.
13     And that's kind of significant in the
14     scheme of things because there's no nexus
15     between now, any loss or consequence to
16     the client, and anything that I could have
17     done or didn't do, there's just no
18     connection there.
19          And in the opinion by the ALJ, he's
20     floundering around trying to figure out
21     some rationale and he never did.
22          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  John, John, hold on
23     one second, and we want to add to that,
24     that before John failed to timely learn of
25     the last rejection, he found it late, they
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1     didn't tell him until late.  But before
2     all of that occurred the client emailed
3     him and told him not to do anything more
4     with this invention, that they had a new
5     invention they want to pursue and don't do
6     anything with this one; is that correct,
7     John?
8          MR. FARO:  I was going to get to
9     that, yes.

10          The way the process works, Your
11     Honor, is you enter an appearance and you
12     file responses to the final rejections and
13     there's a dialogue of colloquy back and
14     forth between the examiner and their
15     office.
16          In this case, the examiner dug in her
17     heels and was not going to allow the
18     application, it was just not going to
19     happen.  And, as a result of that, my
20     client was kind of upset.
21          And in my verified statement -- I
22     communicated that to the client in
23     Paragraphs 33 through 34, basically I
24     advised them that I had received the final
25     rejection, which was all that I was
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1     required to do, and I copy them with the
2     claims that were presently before the
3     examiner and I explained the final
4     rejection in a layman's terms.  Nothing
5     more was required of me at that time.
6          The final rejection is not readily
7     comprehendible by lay people.  And one of
8     the managers at the client had no
9     technical background, so it was imperative

10     that I explain that in layman's terms.
11          And on Paragraphs 33 to 34 of my
12     verified statement I indicate that.
13          I emailed the EPRT management a copy
14     of the -- I'm sorry, I emailed the EPRT
15     management of my notification of receipt.
16     I included a copy of the claims that were
17     then before the patent office.
18          And in Paragraph 34, which I'm
19     relying upon, the examiner had made
20     certain suggestions how to permit
21     allowance of those claims.  And based on
22     my experience in this area I found those
23     suggestions unacceptable; that's
24     Paragraph 34.
25          I believe that raises material issues
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1     of fact as to whether or not I was
2     competent or whether or not I adequately
3     communicated with the client relative to
4     the status of the application and tried to
5     provide information sufficiently to make
6     an informed judgment as to whether or not
7     to proceed.
8          The next paragraphs I'm relying on,
9     sir, are Paragraphs 36.  As I indicated in

10     my remarks, my practice is a subspecialty
11     within the patent practice.  And that
12     involves being aware that in order to
13     attain enforceable patent protection, only
14     certain species of invention should be the
15     focus of my efforts.
16          In this case there are two species of
17     inventions in the patent application.
18     Typically there's an invention directed to
19     the medical device or the product and,
20     alternatively, there is less protection
21     attainable from using the product.
22          Now, under federal law applicable to
23     medical device inventions, 35 U.S.C. 287
24     provides an exemption from an infringement
25     of medical practitioners and clinics under
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1     the method claims.  Specifically, if, for
2     example, prime example, if the hospital
3     down the street would buy an Abbott
4     Laboratory diagnostic equipment for
5     detecting Coronavirus and the patent at
6     issue was for the device itself and the
7     use of that device, then the -- Abbott
8     could enforce the patent.
9          Under these circumstances there was

10     no protection available for the medical
11     device, so the exemption would have
12     applied.  In other words, the clinician
13     and the hospital would be exempt from
14     infringement, so the protection would be
15     relatively worthless.
16          So the focus of the effort in
17     attaining patent protection is always to
18     achieve coverage of the medical device or
19     the product, and that was referenced --
20     that's why my reference in Paragraph 36.
21     And that goes -- that goes to the issue of
22     whether or not I was attempting to
23     accomplish the client's legal objectives
24     in the patent office complaint and in the
25     corresponding Bar complaint that they
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1     intend to file, that legal objectives of
2     the client or failing to attain the legal
3     objectives are at issue.
4          Now, the next paragraph, which I
5     reference is --
6          THE COURT:  And Mr. Faro, I have read
7     this entire document.
8          MR. FARO:  Okay.
9          THE COURT:  So you're welcome to

10     summarize, you don't have to go through --
11          MR. FARO:  Well, I just want to go
12     through in terms of material issues of
13     fact, I just want to make sure that there
14     are some.
15          THE COURT:  Okay.  You're welcome to.
16          MR. FARO:  So you want me -- so you
17     want me to cut this off or not?
18          I do explicitly indicate in here that
19     I am exercising my professional judgment
20     with respect to the pursuit of an appeal
21     as opposed to taking the coverage, and
22     that's Paragraph 38.
23          As far as the communication goes with
24     the client, the client received the --
25          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  John, John, move on.
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1          MR. FARO:  Okay.
2          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  The Judge has what
3     happened back then.  It's in the
4     pleadings.
5          MR. FARO:  Okay.  Very well.
6          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  He's read them.
7          THE COURT:  Well, I'm welcoming you
8     to give your presentation as you would
9     like.  But, quite frankly, the focus of my

10     consideration and my determination today
11     is whether what you're describing here is
12     relevant in any way to the path that the
13     Bar has chosen --
14          MR. FARO:  I understand, sir.  I
15     understand, sir.
16          THE COURT:  I do understand your
17     statute of the limitations argument and I
18     do understand your argument of due process
19     and your interest in the Court hearing
20     these specifics, but, really, I think
21     these specifics follow -- quite frankly,
22     regardless of my ruling today, these
23     specifics will be argued in the future.
24          MR. FARO:  Understood.
25          THE COURT:  I think that's something
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1     that Ms. Sankel has to, also.
2          MR. FARO:  Okay.  I was trying to
3     track Kisor, Your Honor, I'm sorry, I if
4     didn't --
5          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  John?  John?
6          MR. FARO:  Yes, sir.
7          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  We want to limit our
8     argument to the issues that the Judge
9     wants to focus on.  All the rest is there

10     in papers.
11          MR. FARO:  Then I believe I've
12     concluded, sir.  I basically was trying to
13     supplement whatever Mr. Josefsberg said.
14          The only thing I'd add to
15     Mr. Josefsberg's comments which was, I
16     believe I heard incorrectly from Bar
17     counsel, is that Bar counsel, I believe,
18     said that the issues relative to the
19     appointment of the magis -- the ALJ was
20     raised below.  It was never raised below.
21     The issue of procedural jurisdiction was
22     raised below but the authority of the ALJ
23     to preside over the proceeding under
24     37 CFR 39(a) was never broached, never
25     raised in any proceeding anywhere.
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1          I'm done, Your Honor.  If you have
2     any questions I'd be glad to answer them.
3          THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.
4          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor, one
5     other thing we want to add, is we would
6     like you review the affidavit from
7     Mr. McCabe, both as to who he is, he is
8     the national expert on the patent office
9     and he's a regular lecturer on the ethics

10     and procedures.  We'd like you to look
11     that at some time.
12          We're not going to read it again now.
13          Thank you.
14          THE COURT:  Okay.
15          MR. FARO:  Thank you, Your Honor.
16          THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.
17          Mr. Josefsberg and Mr. Faro, so this
18     is your opportunity to make any argument
19     you wish on the summary judgment motions
20     and also on the affirmative defenses.  So
21     if you would like to take a moment and
22     consider that, maybe we'll take a short
23     break and you can talk and then come back,
24     because then I'll have Ms. Sankel make her
25     comprehensive arguments on both and then I
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1     can decide.
2          Do you want to take a moment to talk
3     together before we proceed?
4          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Sure, we'll take
5     five minutes.  We'll be right back in five
6     minutes, okay?
7          MR. FARO:  Okay.
8          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  We will just mute
9     ourselves.  Thank you.

10          THE COURT:  Would you prefer that I
11     put you in a breakout room to have this
12     discussion or would you prefer to just
13     mute your device and video and make a cell
14     phone call to each other?
15          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  We prefer that,
16     we'll just make a cell phone call --
17          THE COURT:  Okay.
18          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  -- and we'll keep
19     our pictures on so Arlene can read our
20     lips as we're talking.  Thank you.
21          THE COURT:  Okay.
22          MR. FARO:  All right.
23          THE COURT:  So let's take a
24     five-minute break.  Why don't we resume at
25     -- let's make it -- I have 10:26 on my
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1     clock, why don't we resume at 10:35.
2          Does that work for everyone?
3          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Perfect.
4          THE COURT:  All right.
5          Mr. Josefsberg, I don't hear you now.
6     It looked like a good joke, though, based
7     on your facial expression.
8          Still don't hear you.
9          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  I said that that's

10     nine minutes which is even four minutes
11     more than I asked for.  Thank you.
12          THE COURT:  I think we all appreciate
13     time these days.
14          All right.  Thank you.  See you back
15     at 10:35.
16          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you, Judge.
17          THE COURT:  Thank you.
18          (A short recess was taken, after
19     which the following proceedings were had:)
20          THE COURT:  Okay.
21          So Mr. Josefsberg, we're back on the
22     record.
23          Correct, Ms. Segui-Martinez?
24          THE COURT REPORTER:  Yes, back on the
25     record.
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1          THE COURT:  All right, thank you.
2          Mr. Josefsberg, do you have anything
3     you'd like to add to your arguments on the
4     motion to strike affirmative defenses as
5     well as the motions for summary judgment?
6          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  (Inaudible.)
7          THE COURT:  Mr. Josefsberg, I think
8     somebody has a cell phone device
9     (inaudible) the computer and that's why

10     we're receiving this echo.
11          Let me hear your voice again,
12     Mr. Josefsberg, you were -- it's hard to
13     hear you.
14          MR. JOSEFSBERG: (Inaudible.)
15          THE COURT:  We can't hear you.
16          MR. JOSEFSBERG: (Inaudible.)
17          THE COURT:  Ms. Sankel, are you also
18     having trouble hearing Mr. Josefsberg or
19     is it just me?
20          Ms. Sankel, you're on mute.
21          MS. SANKEL:  (Inaudible.)
22          THE COURT REPORTER:  I'm having
23     trouble hearing him, as well.
24          THE COURT:  Okay.
25          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  (Inaudible.)
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1          THE COURT:  No.
2          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  (Inaudible.)
3          THE COURT:  Mr. Josefsberg, do you
4     wish to exit the hearing and come back in?
5     Perhaps a new connection will assist.
6          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  (Inaudible.)
7          THE COURT:  Mr. Faro, can I hear your
8     voice?
9          MR. FARO:  Yeah, I think so, Your

10     Honor.  Can you hear me okay?
11          THE COURT:  Okay.  Perfect.
12          Ms. Sankel, let me hear from you.
13          MR. FARO:  I'm sorry, sir?
14          THE COURT:  Let me hear from
15     Ms. Sankel.
16          Ms. Sankel, you're on mute still.  I
17     haven't heard you since we came back.
18          MS. SANKEL:  I'm so sorry, I didn't
19     realize.  I apologize.
20          Can you hear me?
21          THE COURT:  Yes, perfectly clearly.
22          Okay.  So it was just Mr. Josefsberg,
23     so let's let him rejoin our hearing and
24     perhaps that will fix the issue with his
25     voice.
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1          MR. FARO:  Your Honor, I just spoke
2     to Mr. Josefsberg, he's in the process of
3     trying to correct whatever was being the
4     problem.
5          THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.  I
6     appreciate the update.
7          MR. FARO:  You're welcome.
8          MS. SANKEL:  Your Honor, if we need
9     to go a little past 11:00, are you going

10     to have time available?
11          THE COURT:  Yes.
12          MR. FARO:  Is there an alternative to
13     the Zoom, Your Honor?  Can he call in on a
14     speaker phone or something like that?
15          THE COURT:  Yes, he can, he's
16     appearing now by Zoom, but, yes, we have
17     the option of a phone call-in, too.
18          MR. FARO:  Here he is.
19          You're on mute.
20          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor --
21          THE COURT:  Perfect.
22          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  -- I apologize.
23          THE COURT:  Don't worry about that.
24          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  I had to call our IT
25     guy.  I don't know why I couldn't get back
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1     in.
2          But to your question, we've covered
3     everything, really, on both, and we -- we
4     could just reiterate some things that are
5     in our pleadings but I don't think you
6     need that.
7          If there's anything you want to know
8     or question us about, we'd be glad to
9     respond.  But otherwise, between our

10     pleadings and what we've said this morning
11     we find that sufficient.
12          THE COURT:  Well, I do want to ask
13     you one question.  My question relates to
14     the McCabe affidavit.
15          My reading of the McCabe affidavit is
16     the reasons he provides that the appellate
17     process and the federal process was
18     incorrect.  I'm wondering the relevance of
19     that determination at this stage of
20     summary judgment and affirmative defense.
21     I don't see how the underlying process in
22     the federal system is relevant for my
23     determination now.
24          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  I tend to agree with
25     Your Honor, except the only reason for it
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1     is we want to point out that even if the
2     District Court, the District of Virginia,
3     or the Third Circuit Court of Appeals are
4     correct in what they were looking at,
5     nonetheless the things that we're raising,
6     which were not raised there, are some
7     things you should look at.
8          So I don't put any great weight as
9     far as it being persuasive for our

10     argument by his critiques on the District
11     Court and the Court of Appeals, but
12     everything he says about the underlying
13     procedures for the patent office, we're
14     saying that the District Court may have
15     approved of it and the Court of Appeals,
16     but they never heard these arguments and
17     these arguments we're allowed to make at
18     this time, and according to the
19     retroactivity case that we gave you this
20     morning and under the two cases we cited,
21     we can make these arguments now because
22     they are the law.
23          THE COURT:  All right.
24          Mr. Josefsberg, but as far as this
25     being the first time these arguments are
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1     made, doesn't that put your client in the
2     position of waiving, having waived the
3     arguments that he didn't make in the other
4     forum?
5          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  No, no, he can sue
6     himself for malpractice but, no, it's not
7     a waiver.
8          You can raise things later on.
9          MR. FARO:  Your Honor --

10          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor --
11          MR. FARO:  Your Honor, your --
12          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  One second, John.
13          For purposes of the patent office, he
14     may have waived it and if he went now to
15     the Third Circuit Court of Appeals and
16     made these arguments they might say to
17     him, you've waived them for purposes of
18     what we did.  But Your Honor, for purposes
19     of what you're going to be doing, they're
20     not waived, because they were never raised
21     or denied --
22          THE COURT:  Okay.
23          MR. FARO:  May I -- May I add
24     something, Your Honor?
25          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  -- for purposes of
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1     reciprocity.
2          THE COURT:  Yes.
3          MR. FARO:  The determinations below
4     are not based upon the Kisor reading of
5     the regulations.  So to the extent that
6     the Kisor retroactive application of Kisor
7     is correct, then whatever was decided
8     below is not preclusive of the assertion
9     of these arguments.

10          Now, the proceeding below was based
11     upon the prior law, specifically the Auer
12     deference being given to the agency's
13     interpretation of its own regulations,
14     that is not the law that's to be applied
15     in the current environment or to the
16     agency regulations as they're being
17     asserted here.  The Kisor -- the
18     retroactive application of Kisor changes
19     the environment, okay, in this case.
20          So there's no -- the whole
21     decision-making process is turned on its
22     head because of Kisor.
23          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Kisor applies
24     retroactively.
25          MR. FARO:  That's correct, so --
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1          MR. JOSEFSBERG: -- to all things that
2     occurred before.
3          MR. FARO:  Now, as far as being
4     precluded, I was not aware of certain of
5     the defenses, the lack of authorization of
6     the ALJ, that was not apparent for the
7     record and I was not aware of that.
8          THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you,
9     gentlemen.  Thank you.

10          Ms. Sankel, at this point you'll have
11     an opportunity for a full rebuttal
12     argument, comprehensively including the
13     affirmative defenses arguments as well as
14     the summary judgment and cross-summary
15     judgment.
16          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you, Judge.  I
17     actually anticipate being somewhat brief.
18          In response to all the arguments that
19     have just been raised, they are flawed.
20     They are flawed for three reasons.  First
21     of all, as we've gone through ad
22     infinitum, Rule 3-4.6 applies to these
23     proceedings.  It is a rule of the Supreme
24     Court of Florida which has exclusive
25     jurisdiction over disciplinary
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1     proceedings.  It specifically applies to
2     the instant situation as further defined
3     by your order denying their motion to
4     dismiss, so that's Number 1.
5          Number 2, any issue that was not
6     raised in the proceedings below is of
7     course waived.  That ship has sailed.  It
8     is not your function, respectfully, Your
9     Honor, to sit as an appellate body to

10     re-hear these disciplinary proceedings
11     that had, by the way, been appealed four
12     times.  Once directly to the executive
13     director's office at the Patent and
14     Trademark Office.  Then again on his
15     motion for reconsideration.  Then to the
16     district court -- the United States Court
17     District Court for the Eastern District of
18     Virginia.  And finally, all the way to the
19     United States Appellate Court for the
20     federal circuit.
21          So whether or not this specific issue
22     has been raised below is really irrelevant
23     at this point in time.  And I would add
24     that -- and I don't profess to be expert
25     as to which of the these exact issues
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1     Mr. Faro raised in the courts below, he
2     raised a great many issues, but one of
3     them was jurisdiction, both with respect
4     to the Office of the Director to
5     investigate him and for those proceedings
6     to go forward.
7          So the issue of jurisdiction in
8     general has been addressed by the
9     appellate bodies.

10          And finally, Number 3, just to put to
11     rest the statute of the limitations issue
12     which has been raised, I think I'd like to
13     start by addressing that so that Your
14     Honor has clarity on the earlier
15     proceedings.
16          So to begin with, Katherine Blake was
17     a principal of EPRT, which was actually
18     Mr. Faro's client.  And at a point in time
19     in June of 2014 Ms. Blake did file a
20     grievance with the Florida Bar where she
21     alleged conduct -- the same conduct, which
22     comprises the discipline he received from
23     the patent office, the negligence, the
24     lack of communication, failure to secure
25     the client's objectives through
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1     representation, and the failure to
2     surrender the file upon termination.
3          And in August of 2016 the Bar did
4     file a formal complaint on those
5     allegations filing a probable cause
6     finding, not only those allegations but a
7     second component involving the same
8     parties that did not stem from the
9     underlying disciplinary proceedings per

10     se.  It had to do with direct contact with
11     a person represented by counsel, but it
12     was the same individuals involved.
13          In February of 2017 the Bar did file,
14     with respect to the allegations analogous
15     to the instant case, the Bar did file a
16     notice of voluntary dismissal without
17     prejudice.  And the reason that we did
18     that, quite frankly, was a strategic
19     reason, and it was because we were aware
20     of the proceedings with the patent office
21     and we made a decision to defer, let those
22     proceedings go forward and see where they
23     went.  And we know where they went, they
24     ended up in disciplinary sanctions that
25     really, you know, ran the gamut through
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1     the appellate process.
2          So, as a result of that, in
3     February -- to move forward a moment, in
4     February of 2018, the motion for
5     reconsideration, which Mr. Faro filed with
6     the patent director, filing the affirmance
7     of the administrative law judge's guilty
8     findings, was entered.  So at that point,
9     although there was some degree of

10     finality -- I'll refer to that as the
11     second final order, okay.  So that was in
12     February of '18.
13          In July of 2018 the Bar opened the
14     instant file based on the reciprocal
15     discipline.  And one month later, in
16     August of '18, we filed the formal
17     complaint for reciprocal discipline.
18          What Rule 3-7.16 of the Rules
19     Regulating the Florida Bar is the rule
20     which addresses -- it's kind of the
21     Florida Bar's statute of limitations rule,
22     and what it says in pertinent part to
23     these proceedings is that if the Bar
24     defers a prosecution while it awaits the
25     outcome of some other matter in order to
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1     proceed, as long as the Bar does proceed
2     within one year of actual notice of that
3     final disposition the Bar is timely.
4          So to revisit that rule, in light of
5     the dates I just gave you, Your Honor, the
6     motion for reconsideration was denied in
7     February of 2018.  Our file was opened
8     five months later, in July, and our
9     complaint was filed with the Supreme Court

10     six months later, in August.  Six months
11     from the date of the order denying the
12     motion for reconsideration.
13          And what's even kind of interesting
14     about that is that when we went forward on
15     that case Mr. Faro stayed our case because
16     he was seeking an appeal up the federal
17     chain.  And so, in reality, the patent
18     office discipline didn't even really
19     become absolutely final until the Eleventh
20     Circuit ruled, which it just ruled in
21     February --
22          MR. FARO:  April.  April of 2020.
23          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you, in April of
24     this year.
25          So the answer to the question of
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1     time --
2          MR. FARO:  (Inaudible.)
3          MS. SANKEL:  -- excuse me.
4          In answer to the question of
5     timeliness, we are absolutely timely.
6     There is no issue with our timeliness.
7          And again, I would point out that the
8     voluntary dismissal we took with respect
9     to these allegations was without

10     prejudice.
11          Moving forward to the summary
12     judgment, you know, really this is a very
13     simple case, Judge.  It's all about
14     neglect.  About lack of communication.
15     About proceeding to achieve a client's
16     objectives through the representation.
17     And about the failure to protect the
18     client's interest upon termination of the
19     representation.
20          And although the Administrative Law
21     Judge made findings under the court of
22     federal regulation, what I'm asking Your
23     Honor to do now is to give us judgment as
24     a matter of law on the following Rules
25     Regulating the Florida Bar, and they are:
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1     4-1.3, which is Diligence; 4-1.4, which is
2     Communication; 4-1.2(a) which requires a
3     lawyer to abide by the client's decisions
4     regarding the objectives and scope of the
5     representation --
6          THE COURT:  Excuse me, Ms. Sankel --
7          MS. SANKEL:  Yes, Sir.
8          THE COURT:  I didn't hear what you
9     said after 4-1.2(a).

10          MS. SANKEL:  That's the rule that
11     requires a lawyer to abide by the client's
12     objectives for the representation --
13          THE COURT:  Okay.
14          MS. SANKEL:  -- essentially.
15          And 4-1.16(d), like in David, which
16     requires a lawyer to protect the client's
17     interest upon termination.
18          And Your Honor having already --
19     again, to repeat what I said before.  Your
20     Honor having already denied his motion to
21     dismiss, Rule 3-4.6 clearly applies and,
22     based on application of the rule,
23     respondent is conclusively guilty.
24          That having been established, the
25     only undisputed facts in this case are
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1     those which were found by the
2     Administrative Law Judge, affirmed by the
3     executive director's office, and then
4     later by the Federal District Court and
5     ultimately the Federal Appellate Court.
6     And those findings specifically support
7     the rules which the Bar is asking you to
8     find summary judgment on.
9          So I won't go through the many, many,

10     many findings of the Court, but in very
11     brief summary, respondent was hired in
12     2002 to try and salvage a patent
13     application which had been initiated by
14     another lawyer on behalf of his client.
15     His last communication with the patent
16     office was in 2006, four years later, and
17     that occurred when Mr. Faro appealed what
18     was the third final rejection of the
19     patent application.  He did that on
20     February 2nd of 2006.  He appealed that
21     decision to the Board of Patent Appeals,
22     that was the last action that was taken.
23     That is the finding of the Administrative
24     Law Judge that was affirmed up the chain.
25          By June 1st of 2009 a decision was
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Page 65

1     rendered on that appeal and the decision
2     affirmed the rejection of the patent
3     application.
4          That decision further instructed
5     specifically how any other further review
6     was to be undertaken, either civil action
7     had to be initiated or further review had
8     to be filed within 60 days.  It was very
9     clear on the face of the document as set

10     forth in the final order of the
11     Administrative Law Judge and affirmed that
12     there would be no extensions.  So you had
13     60 days or it was done.  Respondent took
14     no further action, I mean, that's
15     undisputed, nothing else was pursued.
16          As a result of that, two months
17     later, in August of 2009, the patent was
18     determined to be abandoned by the U.S.
19     Patent and Trademark Office.
20          Beginning in 2010 -- I'll backtrack
21     for a moment because I would like you to
22     know that respondent's position before the
23     Administrative Law Judge was that he was
24     not aware of that decision.  That actually
25     was a position he took throughout the
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1     proceedings, he claimed to be unaware of
2     multiple notices that were sent.
3          But with respect to this particular
4     issue, essentially what the Administrative
5     Law Judge concluded was that while finding
6     -- while accepting as true, although they
7     were issues of credibility that were
8     addressed, but while ultimately accepting
9     as true Mr. Faro's position that he didn't

10     receive that notice, it was the finding
11     that he didn't receive the notice by
12     virtue of his knowing and willful acts.
13     For example, he never tied his patent
14     practitioner number to the application,
15     which would have kept him in the loop.  He
16     never went and reviewed of the file.  He
17     never had associate counsel who was in
18     that locale go over and review the file.
19     He relocated his office to one of those --
20     I forget what they're called, but he
21     basically (inaudible) but you don't
22     actually have an office space, he
23     relocated his office there, he did not go,
24     he did not retrieve the mail, he relied on
25     the services of the receptionist who was
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1     servicing every lawyer in that locale to
2     go through the mail and determine what was
3     important and give him a heads up,
4     apparently.  His position was no one ever
5     let him know, so he was uninformed.
6          Beginning in 2010 Ms. Blake, EPRT's
7     representative, for lack of a better word,
8     was continuously reaching out to Mr. Faro.
9     She was calling him.  She was emailing

10     him.  There was no response.  She couldn't
11     communicate with him by telephone or by
12     email.
13          On the one occasion she was able to
14     communicate with him by phone he abruptly
15     ended the call and did not answer the
16     phone when she called back.  Consequent --
17     and those are the findings of the
18     Administrative Law Judge.  Those are the
19     factual findings of which he is found
20     guilty.  They are --
21          I'm sorry, did you say something,
22     Judge?
23          THE COURT:  No, go ahead.
24          MS. SANKEL:  They are the undisputed
25     facts.
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1          THE COURT:  Excuse me, I just want to
2     make sure, Mr. Faro, it looks like his
3     screen has frozen.
4          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  He's there.
5          THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.
6          Ms. Sankel, you may proceed.
7          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you.
8          Those are the undisputed facts.
9          So at some point in 2011 Ms. Blake,

10     obviously growing increasingly frustrated,
11     goes out and secures another attorney who
12     reaches out to Mr. Faro and, thereupon,
13     for the first time, they are informed that
14     -- and then now we're talking about 2011,
15     the very end of 2011, October of 2011;
16     that the decision had come back from the
17     patent office; that the appeal had been
18     rejected; that the patent had been deemed
19     abandoned; and at that point he provides a
20     copy of that decision to
21     Mr. Famlin(phonetic) who is the new
22     counsel that EPRT has retained.
23          To add insult to injury, he requests
24     that he be provided with the client's
25     file.  Mr. Faro does not provide the
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1     client's file, he initially takes the
2     position that the file no longer exists
3     and he never does provide it to them.
4     Ultimately they are able to secure the
5     file by virtue of a subpoena served on
6     Mr. Faro's ex-wife who apparently located
7     the file in her home and surrendered it to
8     them.
9          So those are the findings.  Those are

10     the findings which comprise the undisputed
11     facts.  And it's the Bar's position that
12     those undisputed facts, which are
13     conclusive evidence and proof of his
14     guilt, comprise the rule violations I am
15     asking Your Honor to give me summary
16     judgment on.
17          And there is something else I'd like
18     to add to that, which is I think it would
19     be interesting for you to know that the
20     proceedings before the Administrative Law
21     Judge, by the way, the evidentiary
22     standard in those proceedings is clear and
23     convincing evidence, which is exactly the
24     standard that applies in these Bar
25     disciplinary proceedings, there's
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1     absolutely no distinction.
2          We've heard a lot from Mr. Faro about
3     his affidavit and that of his expert, none
4     of it matters, Judge.  Mr. Faro is
5     entitled to his day in court, he's
6     entitled to tell you his mitigation.  What
7     he cannot do, what he cannot have an
8     expert do, what he cannot ask Your Honor
9     to do is to go behind the findings which

10     have been affirmed repeatedly after a full
11     evidentiary hearing at which he was
12     afforded full due process which the
13     district -- the United States District
14     Court found the findings to be not
15     arbitrary and not capricious and for lack
16     of a better phrase, Mr. Faro is stuck with
17     them.
18          THE COURT:  Okay.  Thank you.
19          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor, can I
20     have just have two minutes?
21          THE COURT:  You may.
22          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Your Honor, as
23     Ms. Sankel is discussing the finality of
24     this and it's conclusive, the only issue
25     is what the punishment is and she's saying
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1     how he had raised things below.  I've been
2     reading the last five years about the work
3     of a group called The Innocent Projects
4     and they take people who are on death row
5     or otherwise have long sentences and they
6     have cases where there have been findings,
7     where there's been waiver of various
8     arguments and they have (audio broken up)
9     new and we don't want this miscarriage to

10     continue.  And that's exactly what this is
11     about.  There's a miscarriage of justice
12     here.  There's no waiver.  We believe you
13     have the right and the duty to review it,
14     and if when you review all of it you say
15     he's guilty, that's that.
16          But you have to make that decision
17     and you should not be relying on a totally
18     tainted procedure.
19          And, mind you, all they say it's just
20     conclusive.  We believe at a minimum we
21     have a right and a burden to show you that
22     it's wrong.  And if we fail that burden,
23     then you can rule that he is liable.
24          THE COURT:  Okay.
25          MR. FARO:  May I add one point, Your
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1     Honor?  Your Honor, may I add one point,
2     please?
3          THE COURT:  Okay.
4          MR. FARO:  Ms. Sankel recited certain
5     undisputed facts.  On my opposition to the
6     summary judgment on page seven -- seven
7     and eight I quote the ALJ decision, and
8     the ALJ said, the court therefore is
9     persuaded that respondent did not receive

10     copies of the board of appeals opinion,
11     that's on page eight of my opposition to
12     summary judgment.
13          THE COURT:  Yes.
14          MR. FARO:  Number 2, this proceeding,
15     as you appreciate, occurred over a period
16     of eight -- seven or eight years.  The
17     rules changed.  There was no requirement
18     -- my power of attorney did not require
19     electronic addresses, Number 1.  And the
20     patent office does not provide electronic
21     notice of documents that it enters.
22          The customer numbering is strictly a
23     device used for the patent office to
24     maintain organization of the files.  And
25     that -- so the fact of the matter is, in
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1     2002, when I filed my power of attorney,
2     the customer number was optional.
3          Number 3, Ms. Sankel indicated that
4     she believes that I did not attain the
5     customer's -- the client's legal
6     objectives.  That's clear from Exhibit 1
7     in our answer what the client's objectives
8     were.  The client's objectives were to
9     obtain patent protection over the medical

10     device.  No claims were ever allowed to
11     the medical device.  And then when counsel
12     took it over years later they tried to
13     resume the prosecution and they never got
14     claims for the medical device.  So the
15     client's objectives were unattainable,
16     they were sent -- they were not
17     attainable.  I gave them a review and
18     recommendation and they never attained
19     those objections.
20          There's no nexus between any of the
21     conduct that's allegedly improper and any
22     harm that occurred to the client.
23          Thank you, Your Honor.
24          MS. SANKEL:  Judge, can I just
25     suggest one last thing?
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1          THE COURT:  Yes.
2          MS. SANKEL:  If the client's
3     objectives were unattainable, I have to
4     ask myself why then you accepted enormous
5     fees from them, Mr. Faro?
6          MR. FARO:  Delighted to answer that
7     question.  I'm glad you asked that
8     question.  Because it's very important,
9     and it's in my affidavit --

10          MS. SANKEL:  Okay.  If I could
11     finish --
12          MR. FARO:  Let me -- I'm going to
13     answer the question.  I'm going to answer
14     the question.
15          THE COURT:  Mr. Faro, just one
16     moment.  Mr. Faro, just one moment.
17          Thank you.  Okay.  Quite frankly,
18     this isn't relevant to my determination
19     but I am interested and I'm giving you all
20     flexibility to go back and forth, which is
21     not my normal course, but I'm interested
22     and I'm willing to hear this --
23          MR. FARO:  I'm going to give --
24          THE COURT: -- and I think that what's
25     in front of me is a lot of in-depth facts,
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1     so I'm intrigued.
2          Ms. Sankel is asking to go into it a
3     little bit and Mr. Faro is asking to go
4     into it a little bit.
5          MR. FARO:  I'm delighted that she
6     asked me, Your Honor.
7          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  John, let the Court
8     -- let the Court speak.
9          MR. FARO:  I'm sorry, sir.  I'm a

10     little agitated because I'm upset, I
11     apologize.
12          THE COURT:  I know, just wait a
13     moment.
14          Ms. Sankel you can proceed.
15          MS. SANKEL:  Judge, these issues have
16     all been thoroughly vetted and fleshed out
17     before the Administrative Law Judge.
18     There was a two-day evidentiary hearing,
19     Mr. Faro appeared, all of this was
20     presented.
21          It's interesting to note that the
22     findings of the Administrative Law Judge
23     pertaining to the neglect, the lack of
24     communication and everything else that
25     we've talked about, all really stem from
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1     what happened in 2006 to 2011.  So putting
2     aside for a moment the issue of why he was
3     retained -- and, quite frankly, I just
4     threw that out there in response to what
5     he just said.  But none of that is part of
6     the findings of the Administrative Law
7     Judge.
8          What the findings pertain to was the
9     conduct that occurred from 2006, when he

10     sought review of the third final
11     rejection, until 2011, when the
12     representation was completely and
13     thoroughly terminated.
14          So I would suggest that the conduct
15     that I've described to you and the
16     findings of the Administrative Law Judge,
17     all of which occurred between 2006 and
18     2011, directly pertain to the rule
19     violations which I'm asking you to find.
20          MR. FARO:  If I may answer
21     Ms. Sankel's question, I'd appreciate it.
22          THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Sankel's
23     question was if it was not --
24          MS. SANKEL:  Attainable.
25          THE COURT:  -- attainable outcome
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1     then why did you take a large fee for it?
2          MR. FARO:  Because, Your Honor --
3          THE COURT:  Mr. Faro, if you'd like
4     to answer it I'll allow it.  I don't know
5     why you would at this point, but you're
6     welcome to.
7          MR. FARO:  Well, it's kind of central
8     to the whole case.
9          The client's legal objective was

10     unattainable in 2002.  Now, what the
11     client had pending was a patent
12     application.  So the client could mark its
13     products under the patent marking statute
14     with patent pending, it could put a patent
15     pending notice on its website.  The normal
16     tenure of pendency of a patent application
17     in the patent office is 18 months.  I kept
18     that pending for seven years.  The client
19     knew in 2002 that it did not have patent
20     protection that was attainable.  It
21     allowed them to mark their products with
22     patent pending, develop an alternative to
23     that product by making an improvement in
24     2007/2008, file a new patent application
25     in 2008.  So as far as the client's

Page 78

1     attainable objectives, the client's
2     attainable objectives were accomplished.
3          Now, we're not going to get into the
4     so-called affirmative defenses.  The fact
5     of the matter is that the client abandoned
6     all equivalent applications that were
7     derivative from the U.S. application, it
8     abandoned them all because that
9     application no longer covered the new

10     product.  And that's the legal objectives
11     of the client, keep the application
12     pending while it was developing a new
13     alternative to its original product.  I
14     did that for seven years and then I filed
15     a patent application in 2008 on the new
16     product.
17          The client went out of business in
18     2008 and it allowed the new application to
19     lapse and it subsequently -- I don't know
20     what it did with the original application,
21     but that's central to this complaint.  I
22     couldn't find my -- I apologize, I
23     couldn't find my reference in my
24     affidavit, but it's in there.  It shows
25     that keeping the application pending was
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1     critical to the client's objective.
2          And I did that, I kept it pending
3     four times the normal pendency in the
4     patent office.
5          Thank you, Your Honor.  I appreciate
6     your indulgence.
7          THE COURT:  All right.
8          Thank you everyone.  Thank you for
9     your arguments.

10          I am going to strike --
11          MR. FARO:  Thank you.
12          THE COURT:  -- the respondent's
13     affirmative defenses as the Florida Bar
14     moved.
15          I am going to deny the respondent's
16     motion for summary judgment.
17          I am going to grant the Florida Bar's
18     motion for summary judgment.
19          We are going to move forward into the
20     penalty phase of this case.
21          The date scheduled, as you all are
22     aware, is February 1st and we are
23     scheduled for the entire day at 9:30 to
24     5:00 for this final hearing.
25          Is there anything else that's needed
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1     of the Court at this time?
2          MS. SANKEL:  No, thank you, Judge.
3          Thank you for your time.
4          THE COURT:  Okay.  Ms. Sankel, you'll
5     assist by providing proposed orders for
6     me?
7          MS. SANKEL:  Of course.
8          THE COURT:  And you can provide them
9     to Mr. Josefsberg first, of course, as

10     you've always done and then to me.
11          All right, everyone, thank you very
12     much.
13          MS. SANKEL:  Thank you.
14          MR. JOSEFSBERG:  Thank you.
15          (End of proceeding.)
16
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 
 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT’S 
MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION OF THE REFEREE’S ORDER 

GRANTING THE FLORIDA BAR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND 
STRIKING RESPONDENT’S AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES IN THEIR 

ENTIRETY  

Complainant, The Florida Bar, files this Response in Opposition to 

Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration of the Referee’s Order Granting The 

Florida Bar Summary Judgment and Striking Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses 

in Their Entirety, and in support thereof states as follows: 

1. This Referee has already determined that Rule 3-4.6 applies to the 

instant proceedings, thereby rendering respondent conclusively guilty of the 

misconduct found by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, as subsequently 

affirmed by the Federal Courts, both District and Appellate.  Consequently, 

summary judgment has been entered in favor of The Florida Bar and respondent 
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has been found guilty of violating Rules 4-1.2(a), 4-1.16(d), 4-1.3, and 4-1.4 of the 

Rules Regulating The Florida Bar.  Additionally, respondent’s affirmative defenses 

have been stricken by this Referee as same could not withstand application of Rule 

3-4.6. 

2. Respondent’s request that this Referee reconsider his earlier decisions 

in favor of the Bar is simply an attempt to undo the operation of Rule 3-4.6.  By 

suggesting that the Administrative Law Judge initially trying the USPTO 

proceedings was improperly appointed, a contention respondent concedes was 

never raised in those proceedings, he bootstraps his contention that the resulting 

rulings are of no consequence.  This Referee has already considered and rejected 

that argument.  The Referee has neither overlooked nor misunderstood the 

arguments.  Rather, after hearing argument by both sides, this Referee has 

concluded that Rule 3-4.6 applies and found respondent guilty, as indeed must 

happen by operation of the Rule.   

3. Moreover, respondent’s contention is all the more improper since it is 

predicated upon the affidavit of one Michael McCabe, whose opinion he asks this 

referee to accept over that of the Federal Courts, and then, in turn, to substitute it 

for this Referee’s authority to reach legal conclusions. 

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully 

requests the entry of an Order denying Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration 
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of the Referee’s Order Granting The Florida Bar Summary Judgment and Striking 

Respondent’s Affirmative Defenses in Their Entirety.  

     Respectfully submitted, 

    

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar – Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing document has been provided to The Honorable 
Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org 
and his judicial assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. 
Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and 
mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at 
johnf75712@aol.com, and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at 
psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 11th day of January, 2021. 

           

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
     Chief Branch Discipline Counsel 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR       Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT  

The Florida Bar File: 
v.          2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
         

 RESPONDENT        
_______________________/ 

 
 

RESPONDENT’S VERIFIED MOTION IN LIMINE  
 

(A) TO PRECLUDE THE FLORIDA BAR FROM INTRODUCTION 
OF ANY EVIDENCE, BY WAY OF TESTIMONY OR 
EXHIBITS, DERIVED FROM CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT 
NEGOTIATIONS IN A FEDERAL COURT ORDERED 
MEDIATION  

 
& 
 

(B) TO STRIKE ALL UNREDACTED EXHIBITS & PLEADINGS 
FILED BY THE FLORIDA BAR CONTAINING 
CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION DERIVED FROM 
CONFIDENTIAL SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS IN A 
FEDERAL COURT ORDERED MEDIATION  

 
As set forth in detail, this Motion in Limine is based upon one or more of the 

following grounds: 

a. Florida Rules of Evidence, Section 90.403 (unfair prejudice);  

b. Florida Rules of Evidence, Section 90.408 (offer to compromise);  
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c. Local Rules of the Federal District Court, L.R. 26(g)(2) (confidential 

mediation negotiations); 

d.  Federal District Court Order of November 6, 2015, (Order Denying 

Plaintiff, EPRT’s Motion to Compel Defendant’s Performance under the 

Settlement Agreement. (annexed hereto as Exh 8);  

e. Chapter 44, Section 44.405, Florida Statutes (confidentiality, privilege, 

exceptions); and  

f. the Court's inherent authority to control the presentation of evidence at 

trial. 

Any one of these reasons (a-f) must preclude The Florida Bar from 

introduction of any evidence, by way of testimony or exhibits, derived from 

confidential settlement negotiations in a Federal Court ordered Mediation.  

Respondent’s Motion in Limine includes without limitation, the prelusion of any 

evidence, by way of testimony or exhibits that is from Patent Office proceedings 

based upon confidential settlement negotiations in a Federal Court ordered 

Mediation. Accordingly, The Florida Bar is precluded from use of any information 

derived from the Mediation as proof of professional misconduct and/or in the 

imposition of sanctions (aggravation).  In support of the above, Respondent alleges: 
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1. This Motion seeks to prevent The Florida Bar from any further violation 

of the confidentiality of a Federal Court ordered mediation.  Respondent  requests 

this Court to enter an Order (a) striking The Florida Bar’s unredacted exhibits to its 

pleading that have been filed with this Court and contain and/or reference 

confidential settlement negotiations;  (b) preventing The Florida Bar from further 

filing unredacted exhibits containing and referencing confidential settlement 

negotiations; and (c) preventing The Florida Bar’s future contemplated use of 

testimony and exhibits from confidential negotiations of a Federal Court ordered 

mediation in the instant proceeding. 

 
Origin of Confidential Mediation Information & Documents 

2. On October 23, 2013, a malpractice complaint was filed in the United 

States District Court for the Southern District of Florida based upon the 

Respondent’s Representation of EPRT Technologies in the United States Patent & 

Trademark Office, EPRT Technologies v. Faro (DC SD Fla), Case 1:13-cv-23893.  

3. On May 14, 2014, EPRT Technologies filed an amended malpractice 

complaint (2nd Amended Complaint).  A patent holding company, Thrisoint Pty, was 

added as a party-Plaintiff and allegations of professional misconduct, based upon a 
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putative violation of The Florida Bar Rules, were asserted as a professional 

standard/proof of negligence/breach of fiduciary duty. Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v. 

Faro. Second Amended Complaint @ ECF 33, Paragraph 54. 

4. On July 22, 2015, the Federal District Court conducted an evidentiary 

hearing (also “Daubert Hearing”) on Respondent’s Motion In Limine, which 

challenged the opinion of the EPRT damages expert & his damage report because it 

was incomplete and unreliable.  The District Court conducted the examination of the 

EPRT damage expert and, upon conclusion of his examination, the District Court 

entered an Order finding that EPRT’s damage expert’s “… methodology (in his 

formulation of his computation of EPRT damages) was unreliable and his analysis 

unhelpful to the trier of fact”, and granted Respondent’s Motion In Limine, 

precluding both introduction  at trial of  (a) the EPRT expert report, and (b) the EPRT 

expert testimony as evidence of Plaintiffs’ damages.  Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v. Faro, 

Order Granting Motion in Limine @ ECF 214 @ 3, annexed hereto as Exh “1”.   

5.  On August 14, 2005, the Federal District Court granted, in part, 

Respondent’s Motion for Summary Judgment dismissing EPRT’s malpractice 

claims against Respondent for lack of standing. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Order 
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Granting In Part And Denying In Part Motion for Summary Judgment @ ECF 225, 

annexed hereto as Exh “2”. 

6. On August 19, 2015, the remaining Plaintiff, Thrisoint Pty, and the 

Respondent were ordered by the Federal Court to engage in mediation of the 

remaining claims of Thrisoint Pty against Respondent.  Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, 

Notice of Continuation of Mediation @ ECF 228, annexed hereto as Exh “3”. 

7. The Federal Court ordered Mediation was governed by the Local Rules 

of the Federal District Court that state: 

L.R. 26(g)(2) (g) (Trial upon Failure to Settle): 

(1) Trial upon Failure to Settle.  If the mediation conference fails to result 
in a settlement, the case will be tried as originally scheduled. 

 
(2) Restrictions on the Use of Information Derived During the Mediation 
Conference.  All proceedings of the mediation shall be confidential and 
are privileged in all respects, as provided under federal law and Florida 
Statutes § 44.405.  The proceedings may not be reported, recorded, 
placed into evidence, made known to the Court or jury, or construed for 
any purpose as an admission against interest.  A party is not bound by 
anything said or done at the conference, unless a written settlement is 
reached, in which case only the terms of the settlement are binding. 
(emphasis added) 

 
8. After some preliminary negotiations, the attorney for Thrisoint Pty and 

the Respondent reached an agreement on a number of terms (“TERMS SHEET”). 
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The parties were not, however, able to agree, or compromise, on the wording of the 

EXHIBIT to the proposed agreement.  Counsel for Thrisoint Pty had insisted that 

Respondent provide an EXHIBIT, on Respondent’s firm letterhead, acknowledging 

that Respondent had intentionally abandoned the EPRT patent1.  This demand was 

rejected by Respondent because it was untrue.  Therefore, there was no mediated 

settlement.  

9. On August 23, 2005, Respondent renewed his Motion for Summary 

Judgment against the remaining Plaintiff2, Thrisoint, (for lack of subject matter 

jurisdiction under 28 USC 1332).   The amount in controversy, alleged by Thrisoint 

Pty was less than $75,000.  The amount of damages according to the EPRT damages 

expert was less than $7,000.  Shortly thereafter, Respondent informally advised 

Plaintiff’s Counsel that he intended to pursue Rule 11 sanctions against both 

 
1   On December 7, 2015, EPRT Counsel, Steven Greenberg filed a Petition to Revive 
the EPRT patent application, in the United States Patent & Trademark Office, 
wherein he verified under penalty of perjury, that the EPRT ‘519 Patent Application 
had been unintentionally abandoned. Petition for Revival (Unintentionally 
Abandoned Patent Application) Under 37 CFR 1.137(a), annexed hereto as Exh 4. 
 
2   On August 14, 2005, the Federal District Court granted, in part, Respondent’s 
Motion for Summary Judgment, dismissing EPRT claims against Respondent, for 
lack of standing, Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, @ ECF 225. 
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Plaintiff’s Counsel and the Plaintiffs. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Request for 

Rehearing and/or Reconsideration of Court's Order on August 17, 2015  @ ECF 230, 

annexed hereto as Exh 5. 

10. On September 1, 2005, EPRT Counsel’s drafted, and thereafter filed 

with the Federal Court, a Rule 41(a)(1)(A) Stipulation of Dismissal (of the 

malpractice litigation) with prejudice. This Rule 41(a)(1)(A) Stipulation of 

Dismissal, drafted by EPRT Counsel, was effective upon its filing on September 1, 

2015. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Stipulation of Dismissal by Thrisoint Pty Ltd. 

(Meredith Chaiken-Weiss) @ ECF 237, annexed hereto as Exh 6. 

11. This Stipulation of Dismissal, drafted and filed by EPRT Counsel’s on 

September 1, 2005 (Exh “6”), did not reference any settlement agreement, nor did 

EPRT Counsel request the District Court to reserve jurisdiction to enforce any 

settlement agreement, nor did EPRT Counsel reference any agreement between the 

parties to authorize the District Court to enforce any settlement because was no 

settlement. 

12. On September 23, 2005, EPRT Counsel filed a Motion to Compel (in 

the Federal Court) which sought to enforce the draft of the proposed confidential 

settlement agreement (TERMS SHEET).  The draft of the proposed confidential 
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settlement agreement that was submitted by EPRT Counsel to the District Court in 

the Motion to Compel was devoid of the required EXHIBIT. Thrisoint & EPRT v 

Faro, Plaintiff's Motion to Compel Defendants' Performance Under the Settlement 

Agreement @ ECF 239, annexed hereto as Exh 7. 

13. On November 6, 2015, the Federal District Court denied enforcement 

of the unfinished TERMS SHEET. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Order Denying 

Motion to Compel Defendant’s Performance under the Settlement Agreement, 

annexed hereto as Exh 8. 

14. On May 10, 2016, in a parallel proceeding in the United States Patent 

& Trademark Office, the Director of the Office of Enrollment & Discipline (“OED”) 

of the United States Patent & Trademark Office (“USPTO”) initiated the trial of the 

Complaint against Respondent.  This Complaint against Respondent was based upon 

the same nucleus of operative facts as in the EPRT Second Amended Complaint that 

had been filed in the Federal District by EPRT, and essentially the same EPRT 

allegations of professional misconduct as was alleged in the EPRT grievance filed 

with the Florida Bar. (Florida Bar’s Dismissal of Count I, dated February 8, 2017), 

annexed hereto as Exh “9”. 
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15. During the trial of the Patent Office Complaint, the Patent Office 

Counsel called EPRT Counsel, Meredith Chaiken, as a witness against Respondent.  

Over Respondent’s objections, she testified as to the confidential settlement 

negotiations in the Federal District Court mediation. In the Matter of John H. Faro, 

Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Trial of Complaint, Transcript, May 10, 2016 @ 

Page 155, Lines 15-22; Page 156, Lines 9-11; Page 160, line 3 to page 161, line 1, 

annexed hereto as Exh “10”. 

16. Patent Office Counsel also introduced into evidence, over 

Respondent’s objections, the draft of the unfinished and unsigned confidential 

settlement agreement.  The Respondent objected to the proffer of the draft settlement 

agreement as confidential and as incomplete because of its reference to a non-

existent EXHIBIT.   In the Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-

27, Trial of Complaint, May 10, 2016 @ Page 157, Lines 5-15; Page 160, Line 3 to 

Page 161, Line 1, annexed hereto as Exh “11”.   

17. Patent Office Counsel assured the presiding Hearing Officer that: (a) 

the EXHIBIT did, in fact, exist; (b) Patent Office Counsel had a copy in her 

possession; and (c) Patent Office Counsel had simply left the EXHIBIT in her office.  

The Hearing Officer accepted Patent Office Counsel’s assurance and allowed the 
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TERMS SHEET (proposed confidential settlement agreement) into evidence. In the 

Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Trial Transcript, May 10, 

2016 @ Page 156, Line 17 to Page 159, Line 3, annexed hereto as Exh “12”.    

18. EPRT Counsel, Meredith Chaiken, was thereafter allowed to testify 

under oath, over Respondent’s objections, that the settlement agreement was 

complete, enforceable and breached by Respondent.  At no time did Patent Office 

Counsel ask EPRT Counsel, Meredith Chaiken, why she did not attempt to compel 

enforcement of the draft settlement agreement in the Federal District Court in 

Florida.  Neither Patent Office Counsel, nor EPRT Counsel Chaiken, volunteered to 

inform the Hearing Officer that the Federal District Court had denied their request 

to enforce a settlement. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Order Denying Motion to Compel 

Defendants' Performance under the Settlement Agreement. (See discussion above of 

Exh. “8”.) 

19. The above perjurious testimony of EPRT Counsel Chaiken is 

referenced in the Hearing Officer’s Initial Opinion and was relied upon as an 

aggregating factor in the Hearing Officer’s Initial Opinion.  Initial Opinion of ALJ 

dated September 15, 2016 @ 36, annexed hereto as Exh “13”. 
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20. The perjurious testimony of EPRT Counsel Chaiken is also referenced 

in, and relied upon by the Director, the Director’s Final Orders including, 

specifically, Chaiken’s testimony as to the completeness of the confidential 

settlement discussions, the parties’ agreement as to all material terms (including the 

EXHIBIT), and that Respondent had reneged on compliance with the payment terms 

of the settlement agreement. The Director relied upon EPRT’S counsel as an 

aggregating factor in the Director’s Final Orders. Final Order (August 2, 2017) @ 

36, annexed hereto as Exh “14”; Final Order (February 9, 2018) @ 7 to 8, annexed 

hereto as Exh “15”. 

21. Both the Hearing Officer’s Initial Opinion (referenced in Paragraph 19) 

and the Director’s Final Orders of August 2017 and February 2018 (referenced in 

Paragraph 20) have been filed with the Court, and portions of these Orders were 

quoted by Bar Counsel at hearings before this Court.  

22. The Court is the trier of fact in this proceeding, and its exposure to 

Meredith Chaiken’s testimony (relative to confidential settlement negotiations) 

undermines Respondent’s defenses and causes irreparable and irremediable 

prejudice. 

WHEREFORE, the Respondent requests this Court to enter an Order as follows: 
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A. Striking the Exhibits to The Florida Bar’s Formal Complaint for 

Reciprocal Discipline;  

B. Striking all pleadings of The Florida Bar which incorporate, or make 

reference to, the confidential settlement discussions and to Patent 

Office files derived from settlement negotiations of a Federal Court 

Ordered Mediation; and  

C. Enter such relief as is just and appropriate, including dismissal of The 

Florida Bar’s Complaint with prejudice. 

Respectfully, 
 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By: /s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
  Florida Bar No. 040856  
  Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  
  
By:/s/ JOHN H. FARO_________ 

  Florida Bar No. 527.459  
  Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 
 

 
Verification by Respondent 

 
I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the factual allegations set forth 

herein are truthful and accurate. 

Respectfully, 

 
FBN 527,459. 

 
 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Verified Motion In Limine has 

been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 
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Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 11th day of January, 2021. 

        
By: /s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 

 ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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EXHIBIT “1” 
 

Thrisoint Pty & EPRT v Faro,  
ORDER granting Motion in Limine @ ECF 214 @ 3, 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 13-CV-23893-H UCK

EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,

Plaintiff,

ESQ. JOHN H. FARO, individually,
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW
GROUP, LLC, a Florida corporation

fonnerly known as Faro & Associates, LLC

Defendantts).

ORDER

THIS M ATTER is before the Court on Defendants' motion in limine to preclude the

testimony of Plaintiffs' damages expert, Richard Gray (D.E. 1701, filed Jtme 4, 2015. An

evidentiary hearing on this matter was held on July 20, 201 5. For the reasons stated below and

on the record at the heazing, the Court GRANTS Defendants' motion.

Expert testimony is pennitted when Stscientitic, technical, or other specialized knowledge

will assist the trier of fact.'' FED. R. EVID. 702(a). The proponent of the expert testimony bears

the burden of demonstrating admissibility.Allison v. McGhan A/ètf Corp. , 184 F.3d 1300, 1309

(1 lth Cir. 1 999). This Court has substantial discretion as a gatekeeper to ensure that expert

testimony çiis sufficiently reliable to be admitted and that it is relevant to the issues in the case.''

Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Andrx Pharm., Inc., 343 F. Supp. 2d 1 124, 1 131 (S.D. Fla. 2004);

see also Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharm. Inc. , 509 U.S. 579, 598 (1 993). This Court looks to

whether: 1) the expert is qualified to provide competent testimony; 2) the expert's methodology

is reliable; and 3) whether the expert's testimony will assist the trier of fact. Allison, 184 F.3d at

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 214   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/22/2015   Page 1 of 4
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1 309 (1 1th Cir. 1 999); City ofTuscaloosa v. Harcros Chems. Inc. , 1 58 F.3d 548, 562 (1 1th Cir.

1998).

Having read M r. Gray's report and deposition, as well as the parties' memoranda on the

issue, and having heard testimony from M r. Gray at the hearing, this Court flnds M r. Gray's

testimony insufficient under Daubert. The Court does not doubt that M r. Gray is qualitied to

provide expert testimony on lost profits. However, although his methodology may be

appropriate in providing a lost profits projection in a more straight-forward breach of contract or

patent infringement case, it is not sufficiently reliable or helpful to the trier of fact in a case such

as this, where the issue involves a determination of what profits were lost due to loss of patent

protection.

Mr. Gray's projection boils down to an application of EPRT'S total sales of the

BodiHealth product from Australia and New Zealand, adjusted for differences in population and

apparently other unstated factors. However, as indicated above the crux of Plaintiffs' case is the

loss of patent protection for the product. Therefore, expert testimony on lost profits should not

simply project total sales, but rather should show the sales Plaintiffs failed to realize as a result of

the loss in patent protection. Mr. Gray's report and testimony fails to demonstrate this

significant distinction.

M oreover, his analysis does not take into account a ntlmber of critical factors including,

but not limited to a comparison of the market and patent protections of Australia and New

Zealand with that of the United States. M r. Gray admittedly did no market analysis of either

Australiam ew Zealand or the United States. Additionally, M r. Gray did not consider emerging

technology or new and competitive products entering the market, which would also affect sales

of the BodiHealth product. W hen questioned as to these issues, Mr. Gray simply testified,

Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH   Document 214   Entered on FLSD Docket 07/22/2015   Page 2 of 4
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without explanation or real analysis that these additional factors are essentially built-in to his

analysis by way of his ttconservative'' projection and discount rate. In effect, Mr. Gray's position

seems to be, this is my opinion and you can trust that l know what l am doing. This does not

provide the necessary specificity or reliability for the admission of expert testimony on damages.

M oreover, in his deposition, M r. Gray testitied that he, in fact, did not consider some of

these critical factors.Also undercutting M r. Gray's analysis and opinion regarding the lost sales

of the BodiHea1th product due to lack of patent protection is his testimony acknowledging that

while there could be many reasons for the lost sales, he did not consider any of those other

reasons because they were outside his ç'scope of employment.'' (Gray Dep., D.E. D.E. 168-1, at

49). Also in his deposition, Mr. Gray repeatedly stated that in his analysis of lost sales, he did

not consider other factors that occurred and could have adversely affected the Plaintiffs' sales

after 2009 when the patent application was abandoned, tû . . . because the damages have already

been done,'' (1d. at 55), éçlblecause the dnmages have already accrued . . .'' (1d. at 58; see also id.

at 62), or because t$. . . the damages tixed at the time of the abandonment of the application.'' (1d.

at 60). Mr. Gray even opined that had the patent issued during the period of projected damages,

this factor would not change his damage Etforecast.'' (ld. at 76).

Therefore, the Court finds M r. Gray's methodology tmreliable and his analysis unhelpful

to the trier of fact. Accordingly, this Court GRANTS Defendants' motion in limine precluding

M r. Gray's expert report and testim ony.

DONE AND ORDERED in Cham bers, M iam i, Florida, on July 21, 2015.

Paul . Huck

United States District Judge
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EXHIBIT “2” 
 

Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro,  
ORDER Granting In Part And Denying In Part 151  

(Respondent) Motion for Summary Judgment @ ECF 225 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 13-CV-23893-HUCK

THRISOINT PTY., LTD.,

And EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, lNC.,

Plaintiffs,

ESQ. JOHN H. FARO, individually, '
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW

GROUP, LLC, a Florida corporation

formerly known as Faro & Associates, LLC

Defendantts).

THIS MATTER is before the Court on Defendants John H. Faro's and Teclmology

Business Law Group, LLC'S CCTBLG'') Motion for Summm'y Judgment (D.E. 151, 187, 192) and

Plaintiffs Thrisoint Pty. Ltd.'s (çs-l-luisoinf') and EPRT Teclmologies, lnc.'s (GiEPRT'') Motion

for Summary Judgment (D.E. 157, 1851. For the reasons set forth below and stated on the record

at the hearing held on August 10, 2015, Plaintiffs' M otion is DENIED and Defendants' M otion

is GM NTED IN PART and DEN IED IN PART.

Iz Plaintiffs' Motion for Summaa Judzment

Plaintiffs Thrisoint and EPRT tiled suit against Faro and TBLG for legal malpractice and

breach of tiduciary duty. Plaintiffs' Third Amended Complaint alleges that Faro, in the course

and scope of his employment with TBLG, negligently abandoned a patent application entitled

(dMethod and Apparatus for Performing Microcurrent Electrotherapy (slthe û5l 9 Application'').
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In order to succeed on its claim for

Defendants' malpractice, it would have obtained patent protection for its 1519 Application.

Plaintiffs argue that the record shows Claims 3, 4, and 23 were all allowable and

therefore, but for Defendants' negligence, Thrisoint would have obtained protection for at least

those claims. However, Defendants offered testimony that without the device claim

legal malpractice, Plaintiffs must prove that, but for

encompassed in Claim 25 there would be no enforceable patent. As a result, and for the reasons

stated on the record at the hearing, there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether

Thrisoint could have obtained a viable patent but for Defendants' alleged malpractice.

Accordingly, with regard to its malpractice claim, Plaintiffs' M otion for Summary Judgment is

DENIED.

Plaintiffs' Breach of Fiduciary Duty claim is premised on Defendants' failure to disclose

its purported lack of experience in filing appeals and its lack of a proper docketing system, and

Defendants' failure to communicate with Plaintiffs after Defendants received the notice of

abandonment. Plaintiffs rely on their expert Gregory M ayback in an attempt to demonstrate the

proper standard of care for prosecuting the :519 Application.

Defendants offered sufficient evidence of their experience in order to raise an issue of

fact as to Plaintiffs' claim regarding Defendants' purported inexperience. Further, although

M ayback explains that he is a proponent of the Foundation IP, or FIP docketing system , there is

a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a failure to utilize this system falls below the

standard of care. Finally, Defendants dispute that they received the notice of abandonment.

Although Plaintiffs cite the mailbox rule, Defendants offered evidence to rebut the presumption

of receipt. Accordingly, for the reasons stated on the record at the hearing, there is an issue of
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fact as to whether Defendants breached their fiduciary duty. Therefore as to its breach of

fiduciary duty claim, Plaintiffs' M otion for Sllmmary Judgment is DENIED.

K  Defendants' Motion for Summarv Judzment

Defendants argue that EPRT does not have standing to bring suit against Defendants.

According to Plaintiffs' Third Amendment Complaint (D.E. 151, Thrisoint tllicensed the patent to

EPRT.'' (Third Am. Compl., ! 12). Plaintiffs did not waver from this position until a hearing on

July 20, 2015, at which Plaintiffs' counsel conceded that EPRT did not have a license. At the

August 10, 2015 hearing, Plaintiffs again acknowledged that EPRT did not have a license.

M oreover, EPRT relied upon Plaintiffs' expert, Richard Gray, to prove its lost profits dnmages.

This Court previously granted Defendants' motion in limine precluding M r. Gray's testimony

(D.E. 2 141. Accordingly, because EPRT does not have a licensing agreement and is unable to

prove its dmnages, the Court hereby GRANTS Defendants' M otion for Summ ary Judgment as to

EPRT.

TBLG argues that it is nOt a proper Defendant because any alleged malpractice occurred

prior to its formation. For the reasons stated on the record at the hearing, there is an issue of fact

as to the timeframe of the alleged malpractice. Therefore Defendants' M otion for Summary

Judgment on behalf of TBLG is DENIED.

Defendants also argue this Courtshould grant its motion based on the theories of

judgmental immunity and estoppel. However, for the reasons stated on the record at the hearing,

the Court tinds these arguments unavailing and therefore, Defendants'M otion for Summary

Judgment is DENIED .
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Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that Plaintiffs' Motion for

Summary Judgment is DENIED and Defendants' M otion for Summary Judgment is GM NTED

IN PART and DENIED IN PART.

DONE AND ORDERED, in Cham bers in M iam i, Florida, August 14, 2015.

t . -

Paul C. Huck

United States District Judge

Copies fum ished to:

A11 counsel of record.
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THRISOINT PTY. LTD., 
a Belize International Business 
Company; and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, 
INC., a California corporation, 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA  

         PLAINTIFF(S),  
  
vs. CASE NO.: 1:13-cv-23893-HUCK/OTAZO-REYES 
JOHN H. FARO, 
an Individual; and Technology 
Business Law Group, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company d/b/a 
Faro & Associates, 

 

   

NOTICE OF CONTINUATION OF MEDIATION 
           DEFENDANT(S), CONFERENCE DATE 
 FLORIDA BAR NO. 354929 

 YOU ARE NOTIFIED that the undersigned is the Certified Mediator stipulated to 
in this action pursuant to F.S. 44.1011-201 and the applicable Fla.R.Civ.P. 

The Mediation Conference has been set to be heard on the 20
th

  day of August,  2015, 
commencing at 4:00 P.M.  by telephone (561.922.3867). In cases involving two parties, the agreed 
rate of compensation shall be $180.00 per party / per hour.  In cases involving three or more 
parties, the agreed rate of compensation shall be $135 per party / per hour.  Counsel and their 
respective parties agree that the mediator will be compensated for all mediation services, including 
scheduling, travel, preparation and follow up work, time, attorneys’ fees  and costs incurred in collection 
of fees, responding to subpoenas, discovery requests, filing court papers or attending any court 
proceeding.   There is a two hour minimum which is due seven (7) days prior to the conference. If there is 
a settlement, schedule change or cancellation made less than seven (7) days before the scheduled 
mediation conference, then the minimum fee shall be charged to the party or apportioned equally among 
the parties responsible for the cancellation.  Counsel for each party is responsible for financial 
arrangements with their clients and timely payment of said fees.  Counsel and the parties agree to be 
jointly and severally responsible for their portion of the mediator’s fee at the conclusion of each 
conference.  Interest on any unpaid balances shall be at ten percent per annum. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that a true and correct copy of this notice has been mailed and emailed on 
the 19

th
  day of August, 2015, to: Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. (mchaiken@crgolaw.com) 

and Steven M. Greenberg (sgreenberg@crgolaw.com), and Albert Maggio 

(amaggio@crgolaw.com), CRGO Law, 7900 Glades Road, Suite 520, Boca Raton, FL 33434; 
Roger A. Farahmand (roger@farahmandlaw.com), The Farahmand Law Firm, 801 East 
Campbell Road, Suite 345, Richardson, TX 75081; John H. Faro, Esquire, 

(johnf75712@aol.com), Faro & Associates, 1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800, Miami, FL 33131 
  
     Signed in Her Absence                          _______Laurie L Riemer_______________ 
     To Avoid Delay                             Laurie L. Riemer, Esquire, Mediator/Arbitrator 
      20143 Northeast 19th Place 
      North Miami Beach, Florida  33179 
      (305) 932-2200   Fax: (305) 792-2061 
      Email: Lriemer@riemermediation.com 
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U.S. Patent & Trademark Office  
EPRT Patent Application File Entry December 7. 2015 

Petition for Revival (Unintentionally Abandoned Patent Application,  
By Steven Greenberg), Under 37 CFR 1.137(a), 
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DOc COde: PET.OP
Document Description: Petition for Review by the office of Petitions

PTO/SB/64 (12-13)
Approved for use through07/31/2016. OMB 0651-0031

U1 Patent arid Trademark Office; U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE
Under the Paperwork Reduction Act of 1995, no persons a e required to respond to a collection of information unless it displays a valid OMBcontrol number.

PETITION FOR REViVAL OF AN APrLICATION FOR PATENT Docket Number (Optional)
ABANDONED UNINTENTIONALLY JNDER 37 CFR 1.137(a) 1341-002U

Page l of 2

First named Inventor; Keith F. Wendell

Application No.: 09/656,519 Art Unit:

Filed: September 7, 2000 Examiner: Frarices P. Oropeza

Titie METHOD & APPARATUS FO PERFORMING MICROCURRENT
ELECTROTHERAPY n

Attention: Office of Petitions
Mall Stop Petition
Commissioner for Patents
P.O. Box 1450
Alexandria, VA 22313-1450
FAX (571) 273-8300

NOTE: If information or assistance is needed n completing this form, please contact the Office of Petitions at (571) 272-3282.

The above-identified application became abandoned for ailure to file a timely and proper reply to a notice or action by the United States
Patent and Trademark Office. The date of abandonment s the day after the expiration date of the period set for reply In the Office notice or
action plus any extensions of time actually obtained.

APPLICANT HEREBY PETITIONS FOR REVIVAL OF THIS APPLICATION.

NOTE: A grantable petition requires the following items:
(1) Petition fee;
(2) Reply and/or issue fee;
(3) Terminal disclaimer withdisclaimer fee required for all utility and plant applications filed before june 8, 1995, and for all

design applications; and
(4) Statement that the entire delay was unintentional.

1. Petition fee

Small entity fee $ 850.00 (37 CFR 1.17(m)). Applicant asserts small entity status. See 37 CFR 1.27.

Undiscounted fee $ (37.CFR.1.17(m)).

2. Reply and/or fee

A The reply and/or fee to the above-noted Office n( tice or action in the form of

Amendment and Request for Contin led Examination , ,,,,, f,,3,,,n,ng,,, ,3.

has been filed previously on .

is enclosed herewith.

B The issue fee and publication fee (if applicable) of $

has been paid previously on .

is enclosed herewith.

This collection of information is required by 37 CFR 1.137(a). Th t information is required to obtain or retain a benefit by the public whichis to file (and by the
USPTO to process) an application. ConRdentiality is govemed by 45 Vic. 122 and 37 CFR 1.11, 1.14 and 41.6. This collection is estimated to take 1 hour to
complete, including gathering, preparing, and submitting the cot epteted application form to the USPTO.Time will vary depending upon the IndMdual case. Any
comments on the amount of time you require to complete this f>-rm and/or suggestions for reducing this burden, should be sent to the Chief Information Officer,
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, U.Su Department of Commerc> , P.O. Sox 1450, Alexandria, VA 22313-1450. DO NOT SEND FEES OR COMPLETED FORMS TO THIS
ADDRESS. SENDTO: Mat! Stop Petition, Commissioner for Patev.ts, P.O. Box 1450, Alexandria, VA 22313-1450.

Ifyou need assistance In L smpleting the form, call 1-800-PTO-9199 and select option 2.
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Doc Code: PET.OP
Document Description: Petition for Revie by the office Of Petitions

PTO/5B/64 (12-13)
Approved for use through07/31/2016.OM8 0651-0031

U.S. Patent and Trademark Office; U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCl!
Under the Paperwork ReductionAct of 1995,no persons i re required to respond to a collection of Information unless It displays a valid OMBcontrol number.

PETITION FOR REV VAL OF AN APPLICATION FOR PATENT
ABANDONED UNIfÔTENTIONALLY UNDER 37 CFR 1.137(a)

Page 2 Of 2

3. Terminal disclaimerwith disclaimer fee

Since this utility/plant application was filed on or after June 8, 1995, no terminal disclaimer is required.

A terminal disclaimer (and disclaimer fee (37 CFR 1,20(d)) of $ } disclaiming the required period of time Is enclosed
herewith (see PTO/SB/63).

4. 5TATEMENT: The entire delay in filing the required reply from the due date for the required reply until the filing of a grantable petition
under 37 CFR 1.137(a) was unintentional. [NOTE: The United States Patent and Trademark Office may require additionalinformation if there is
a question as to whether either the abandonment or the delay in filing a petition under 37 CFR 1.137(a) was unintentional (MPEP 711.03(c),
subsections (lll)(C) and (D)).]

WARNING:

Petitioner/applicant is cautioned to avoid submitting personal information in documents filed in a patent application that may contribute to
identity theft. Personal information such as social security numbers, bank account numbers, or credit card numbers (other than a check or
credit card authorization form PTO•2038 submitted for yment purposes) is never required by the USPTO to support a petition or an
application. If this type of personal information is includ d In documents submitted to the USPTO, petitioners/applicants should consider
redacting such personal information from the document before submitting them to the USPTO. Petitioner/applicant is advised that the record
of a patent application is available to the public after puotication of the application (unless a non-publication request In compliance with 37 CFR
1.213(a) is made in the application) or issuance of a pateht.Furthermore, the record from an abandoned application may also be available to
the public if the application is referenced in a published dpplication or an issued patent (see 37 CFR 1.14). Checks and credit card authorization
forms PTO-2038 submitted for payment purposes are not retained in the application fileand therefore are not publicly available.

/Steven M. Greenberg/ December 7, 2015
Signature

Steven M. Greenberg
Typed or Printed Name

CRGO Law, 7900 Glades Road, S ite 520
Address

BOca RatOn, FL 33434
Address

Date

44725
RegistrationNumber, if applicable

561-922-3845
Telephone Number

Enclosures:

Fee Payment

Reply

Terminal Disclaimer Form

Additional sheet(s) containing statements establist ing unintentional delay

Other: RequeSt for continued Examine tion

CERTIFICATE < F MAlUNG OR TRANSMISSION (37 CFR 1.8(a)]

I hereby certify that this correspondence is being:

Deposited with the United States Postat Service or the date shown below with sufficient postage as first class maliln an envelope
addressed to: Mall Stop Petition, Commissioner fs r Patents, P. 0. Box 1450, Alexandria, VA 22313-1450.

Transmitted by EFS-Web or facsimile on the date s town below to the United States Patent and Trademark Office at (571) 273-8300.

2015-12-07 /Steven M Greenbercr/
Date SignatuÏe

r

Steven M. Greenberg
Typed or printed name of person signing certificate
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. Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro,  
Request for Rehearing and/or Reconsideration of 

 Court's Order on August 17, 2015 225 @ ECF 230 
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Case 1:13-cv-23893-PCH Document 230 Entered on FLSD Docket 0812312015 Page 1 of 10

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE SOUTHERN
DISTRICT OF FLORIDA (Miami Division)

Case No. 13-CV-23893-HUCK/ORTAZO-REYES

THRISOINT PTY, LTD. & EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC)
)

Plaintiffs
)

JOHN H. FARO, ET AL )
)

Defendants )

REQUEST FOR REHEARING AND/OR RECONSIDERATION OF COURT ORDER
OFAUGUST 17, 2015 (DE 225) DENYlNG DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR SUMMARY

JUDGMENT (DE 151, 187 & 192)

The Defendants, John H. Faro (FARO) and Technology Business Law Group LLC

(TBLG) herein Request Rehearing And/Or Reconsideration of the Court's Order (DE 225) of

August 17, 2015, with respect to the denial of the Defendants' Motion ofSummary (DE 192 @

page 7-91, because

(a) Thrisoint cannot satisfy its "substantive evidentiary burden" as to damages

...the non-moving party must "make a showing sufficient to establish the
existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will
bear the burden of proof at trial." Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at 322-23, 106 S.Ct.
2548. The failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving
party's case necessarily renders all other facts immaterial and requires the court to
grant the motion for summary judgment. Id. If the non-movant's evidence is
merely colorable, or is not significantly probative, summary judgment may be
granted. Celotex Corp., v. Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co., 475 U.S. at 586-87, 106
S.Ct. 1348. (emphasis added)

and/or

(b) It appears to a "legal certainty" that the Thrisoint claim for recoupment of

attorney fees from Defendants is really for less than the jurisdictional amount, and

1 Paragraph C, which has challenged the existence of damages on jurisdictional grounds

APPX 891 (By Respondent)
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could not have been made in good faith, to, therefore justify dismissal of the Third

Amended Complaint against the Defendants, (Mas v. Perry, 489 F.2d 1396, 1401-

02 (5th Cir 1974), Rehearing Denied April 3, 1974)

Obviously, the parties cannot consent or waive the federal jurisdictional requirements

under Article III (US Constitution), or under Title 28 USC (including specifically section 1332

relating to diversity jurisdiction).

On July 20, 2015, the Court granted the Defendants' Motion in Limine (DE 214), at

which time it indicated that the Defendants were entitled to summary judgment (as to all counts),

because there were no damages (no redresssable harm) (DE 218, July 29, 2015, Daubert Hearing

Transcript, page 20 @ lines7-14 ,).

On August 10, 2015, then Court reversed its prior ruling in favor of dismissal of the Third

Amended Complaint on all counts, (DE 229 @ page 4, lines 10 to page 6, line 25, Summary

Judgment Hearing Transcript). The sole basis for reversal of the summary judgment in favor

Defendants, is the Thrisoint claim for attorney fees for $7,040, (DE 229 @ 8-11, August 10,

2015 Hearing Transcript).

The amount in controversy, to the extent based upon a recoupment/disgorgement of the

attorney fees paid to Defendants, has never exceeded $45,000, DE 1 @ page 2, paragraph 9. At

no time from the inception of this case, and certainly at the time of the filing of the Third

Amended Complaint, could the Plaintiff, Thrisoint, have had a good faith belief that its claim

against the Defendants was sufficient to satisfy this Court's jurisdictional amount.

SUMMARY MEMORANDUM OF ARGUMENT

The Defendants are entitled to Summary Judgment against Thrisoint because there is no

subject matter jurisdiction over the Thrisoint claims for attorney fees of $7,040, because

APPX 892 (By Respondent)
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(a) Thrisoint and EPRT cannot have conflated damages to satisfy this Court's subject

matter jurisdictional amount of $75,000, and

(b) no amount of artful pleading can disguise the undisputed fact that (i) Thrisoint has

not been damaged, to legal certainty, by the alleged acts and/or omissions of the

Defendants in an amount in excess of $75,000, (ii) the allegations of Thrisoint

damages in the Third Amended Complaint were not made in good faith, because

of there was no effort to set forth an independent claim for damages, by Thrisoint,

in an amount in excess of $75,000 and (iii) once it is clear that, as a matter of law,

that the Thrisoint claim is for less than $75,000, the Court is required to dismiss

for the failure to satisfy this Court's subject matter jurisdiction under 28 USC

1332.

As is set forth in detail hereinafter, the "...it is clear that (the Plaintiff's) claim never

could have amounted to the sum necessary to give jurisdiction ", Mas v. Perry, 489 F.2d 1396,

1401-02 (5th Cir 1974). Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction over the Plaintiff, Thrisoint

claim, and summary judgment in favor of Defendants is mandated.

MEMORANDUM

A There Is No Subject Matter Jurisdiction To Entertain The Thrisoint Claim Against

the Defendants - This Federal District Court lacks subject matter jurisdiction over the Thrisoint

claim against the Defendants for attorney fees because it appear(s) to a legal certainty that the

claim is really for less than the jurisdictional amount required under Art. III of the U.S.

Constitution, and 28 USC 1332; and, that Thisoint never had a good faith belief that the damages

potentially recoverable from Defendants for "attorney fees" could satisfy the jurisdictional

requirements of 28 USC 1332.

APPX 893 (By Respondent)
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The law in this Circuit is clear

When jurisdiction is premised on the diversity of the parties, the court is obligated
to assure itself that the case involves the requisite amount in controversy. See, e.g.,
Laughlin v. K- Mart Corp., 50 F.3d 871, 873-74 (10th Cir. 1995) (dismissing case sue
sponge based on an insufficient amount in controversy); see also Merit care, Inc. v. St.
Paul Mercury, Inc., 166 F.3d 214, 218 (3d Cir. 1999) ("[I]f it develops that the requisite
amount in controversy was never present, even if that fact is not established until the case
is on appeal, the judgment of the District Court cannot stand.") (emphasis added)....

....While a federal court must of course give due credit to the good faith claims of the
plaintiff, a court would be remiss in its obligations if it accepted every claim of damages

at face value, no matter how trivial the underlying injury." Diefenthal v. Civil
Aeronautics Bd., 681 F.2d 1039, 1052 (5th Cir. 1982); see also Opelika Nursing Home,
448 F.2d at 664-65.12 Moreover, legal certainty is "a very strict objective standard," Jones
v. Landry, 387 F.2d 102, 104 (5th Cir. 1967), and "once it is clear that as a matter of law
the claim is for less than [$75,000], the [court] is required to dismiss." Burns v.
Anderson, 502 F.2d 970, 972 (5th Cir. 1974). (emphasis added)

Morrison v. Allstate Indemnity Co., 228 F.3d 1255, 1261, 1272 (11th Cir. 2000) (emphasis

added)

Applying the foregoing standard to the facts of this case, Plaintiffs was on notice, and

likely knew, no later than July 9, 2014, (when the Defendants filed their Verified Motion to

Dismiss Second Amended Complaint), that EPRT lacked standing, and that the amount of the

attorney feel claimed to have been subject to disgorgement2, was at most $45,000 DE 1 @ page

2, paragraph 9; DE 22 @ page 2; DE 44, @ 2, Verified Motion to Dismiss Second Amended

Complaint, Paragraph B, entitled Lack ofJurisdiction.

Thereafter, at the time of the filing of the Third Amended Complaint, Thrisoint knew, or

should have known, that it could not satisfy this jurisdictional requirements of the Federal Court,

under 28 USC 1332; because

2 The Plaintiffs Opposition is explicit as to the theory/reasons for recovery of attorney fees from
the Defendants, specifically, "is based upon the payment for services not rendered, not due to
inaccurate or excessive fees" (a disgorgement claim), DE 45, @ page 7
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(a) The total amount of attorney fees alleged to have been paid to the Defendants for

representation, in respect to the '519 patent application, was approximately

$38,000, DE 56 @ page 13, paragraph 66 ;

(b) The Third Amended Complaint does not contain any allegation of an amount of

punitive damages, and, therefore, no additional amount of damages can be added

or implied to the $38,000, DE 56 @ page 14 (Reservation to plead punitive

damages in the future)

(b) Thrisoint knew that it was not an operating company and did not manufacture any

products and, thus, could not have independently suffered any damages from

losses of sales, DE 157, @ 3, Paragraph 4;

(c) Thrisoint knew that both it and EPRT, were distinct juristic entities, and, thus,

could not aggregate its claim for recovery of attorney fees with the EPRT claim

for lost sales, to satisfy this Court's jurisdictional amount of $75,000, Court

preferring to use the term "conflate" to "aggregate"; and

(d) Thrisoint knew that it did not have any license agreement with EPRT, or any

other entity, and, thus, could not suffer any damages from loss of licensing

revenues (royalties) from EPRT, DE 225 @ 3, Paragraph B Order (August 17,

2015) granting (in part) Defendants' Motionfor Summary Judgment.

The law is clear that separate and distinct claims, of two of more plaintiffs, cannot be

aggregated to satisfy the jurisdictional amount under 28 USC 1332, Zahn v. International Paper

Co., 414 US 281, 294-95 (1973). The Court's repeated requests of Plaintiffs to establish that

they were legally entitle to "conflate" their respective damages, under the facts of this case, were

ignored.
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This is not a case where the Plaintiffs' have failed to specifically plead damages, and to

simply rely upon a general allegation of damages commensurate with this Court's jurisdictional

requirements. Quite the contrary, the Plaintiffs explicitly alleged that Defendants' negligent

abandonment resulted in loss of revenue from "loss of sales" (EPRT) and/or "loss of market

share" (Thrisoint), DE 56 @ 12, paragraph 61. It is clear that the Thrisoint pleading of damages

for "loss of market share" could not have been made in good faith because it was not an

operating company, but rather licensed EPRT to manufacture the BodiHealth product, DE 157,

@ 3, Paragraph 4. The only other recitation of damages in the Third Amended Complaint is

based upon the allegation of the Defendants charging "unconscionable attorney fees totaling

$38,000", which is obviously less than required for exercise of federal jurisdictional under 28

USC 1332, DE 56 @ 13, paragraph 66.

There are no other possible damages that Thrisoint can claim to have suffered based upon

the pleadings before this Court, other than possible a loss of licensing revenues from EPRT.

The Court has repeatedly asked the Plaintiffs to produce the license from Thrisoint to EPRT to

support the Thrisoint claim of economic damages, based upon a loss of licensing revenue from

EPRT. As the Court noted, "Plaintiffs did not waiverfrom this position until the hearing on

July 20, 2015, at which Plaintiffs' counsel conceded that EPRT did not have a license", further

manifesting a bad faith effort a inflation of the Thrisiont Damages, DE 225 @ 3, Paragraph B

Order (August 17, 2015) granting (in part) Defendants' Motionfor Summary Judgment.

The Plaintiffs Third Amended Complaint pleading of damages is obviously deficient for

its failure to present a coherent damage theory of recovery for either of the Plaintiffs; and. such

deficiency cannot be rewarded by a construction of the pleadings (after a third amendment) by

verbal clarification on the eve of trial (when further amendment to the pleadings are

APPX 896 (By Respondent)
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impermissible, DE 213, Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Strike Plaintiffs Supplemental

Report of Plaintiffs' Expert Richard Gray)

More specifically, the Third Amended Complaint failure at maintaining a legal distinction

between each of the Plaintiffs' damage claims, suggests that such lack of clarity was not in good

faith, but rather calculated and intentional. In this Circuit, the District Court has a continuing

obligation to confirm the complainant's satisfaction of the jurisdictional amount as the litigation

evolves, and this has been the law in this Circuit for more than 40 years.

It is well settled that the amount in controversy is determined by the amount claimed by
the plaintiff in good faith. KVOS, Inc. v. Associated Press, 299 U.S. 269, 57 S.Ct. 197,
81 L.Ed. 183 (1936); 1 J. Moore, Moore's Federal Practice ¶ 0.92 1 (1972). Federal
jurisdiction is not lost because a judgment of less than the jurisdictional amount is
awarded. Jones v. Landry, 5 Cir. 1967, 387 F.2d 102; C. Wright, Federal Courts 111
(1970)...As the Supreme Court stated in St. Paul Mercury Indemnity Co. v. Red Cab Co.,
303 U.S. 283, 288-290, 58 S.Ct. 586, 590-591, 82 L.Ed. 845:

The sum claimed by the plaintiff controls if the claim is apparently made in good
faith.

It must appear to a legal certainty that the claim is really for less than the
jurisdictional amount to justify dismissal. The inability of the plaintiff to recover
an amount adequate to give the court jurisdiction does not show his bad faith or
oust the jurisdiction....

His good faith in choosing the federal forum is open to challenge not only by
resort to the face of his complaint, but by the facts disclosed at trial, and if from
either source it is clear that his claim never could have amounted to the sum
necessary to give jurisdiction there is no injustice in dismissing the suit.
(emphasis added).

Mas v. Perry, 489 F.2d 1396, 1401-02 (5th Cir 1974), Rehearing Denied April 3, 1974.

Under the facts of this case, the Court cannot disregard the objective facts, as set forth

herein, relative to the legal certainty that the Thrisoint claim for attorney fees is less than the

jurisdictional amount; and, the Thrisoint failure of good faith in its pleadings of the jurisdictional

amount required under Art. III (case & controversy) and 28 USC 1332.
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B. Plaintiffs "Clarification" of the Third Amended Complaint Was An Impermissible

Amendment of It's Damage Claim - The Court has acknowledge the Third Amended Complaint

is incomprehensible with respect to its damage claim for attorney fees, (DE 229 @ page 9, lines ,

Transcript, August 10, 2015, Hearing On Motions for Summary Judgment @ page 5, lines 2-6)

I'm not sure exactly what it is, but it is another form of damage. In one instance its
called book value, another time it's called out-of-pocket losses, another time it's called
required to pay fees to Mr. Faro or his firm for basically no value.

Plaintiffs' counsel thereafter attempted to "clarify" the Third Amended Complaint, by in

effect, a verbal amendment of the pleadings, to define what was intended in Paragraph 67 of the

Third Amended Complaint (DE 229 @ page 9, lines 18-22, Transcript, August 10, 2015, Hearing

On Motions for Summary Judgment),

There is no secret, there is no hiding the ball here as far as the damages that we claim
regarding the fees that we paid for Mr. Faro, which we have narrowed down3 because Mr.
Faro performed other services for the client. So the narrowed-down fees only apply to the
prosecution of the '519 application, (emphasis)

Such manifest lack of clarity is yet another objective manifestation of the lack of good

faith in the Thrisoint pleading of its claim for attorney fees against the Defendants.

3 The attorney fees allegedly paid by EPRT to Defendants for the '519 patent application was
$45,000, DE 1 @ page 2, paragraph 9; and, later revised to $38,000, DE 42 @ page 12,
paragraph 62

APPX 898 (By Respondent)
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SUMMARY & CONCLUSION -

The damages claimed by Thrisoint, sought for recovery against the Defendants for

recoupment/disgorgement of "unconscionable attorney fees", at no time could have exceeded

$45,000. Accordingly, it appears to a legal certainty that the claim is really for less than the

jurisdictional amount of this Court. The objective evidence referenced herein, prior to the

drafting of the Third Amended Complaint, the Plaintiffs' lack of candor relative to the existence

of a license agreement between EPRT and Thrisoint, the failure of the pleadings to alleged a

coherent damage for each of the Plaintiffs, clearly manifests the lack of good faith in the

assertion of the existence of federal jurisdiction. Accordingly, the Court is requested to enter

summary judgment against Thrisoint and in favor of the Defendants.

Respectfully,

/s/ John H. Faro, Esq.
Faro & Associates
1395 Brickell Avenue - Suite 800
Miami, FL 33149-0014
Phone 305, 761-6921

APPX 899 (By Respondent)
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that this document, filed through the ECF system, will be

sent electronically to the registered participants, as identified in the Notice of Electronic

Filing (NEF), and that paper copies will be sent to the individuals indicated as non-

registered participants, (if any), as per the attached Distribution List, on this 23rd day Of

August, 2015.

Respectfully,

/s/ John H. Faro
Florida Bar No. 527,459
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EXHIBIT “6” 

 
Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro,  

STIPULATION of Dismissal by Thrisoint Pty Ltd  
(By EPRT Counsel Chaiken-Weiss, Meredith) @ ECF 237.   

 
 
 

  
APPX 901 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
 

Case No. 1:13-cv-23893-HUCK/OTAZO-REYES 
 

 
THRISOINT PTY. LTD., 
a Belize International Business  
Company; and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES,  
INC., a California corporation,  
 
   Plaintiff, 
 
v.  
 
JOHN H. FARO,  
an Individual; and Technology 
Business Law Group, LLC, a Florida 
limited liability company d/b/a 
Faro & Associates, 
   
   Defendants.        
      / 
 

STIPULATION OF DISMISSAL 

 COMES NOW Plaintiffs THRISOINT PTY. LTD and EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC. 

and Defendants JOHN H. FARO and TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW GROUP, LLC 

(“Parties”) pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) and hereby stipulate to 

dismissal of this action with prejudice. 

Faro & Associates     CRGO Law 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800   7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Miami, FL  33131     Boca Raton, FL  33434 
Telephone: (305)761-6921    Telephone: (561)922-3837 
Facsimile: (305)726-0029    Facsimile: 561-244-1062 
Johnf7571@aol.com     mchaiken@crgolaw.com 
 
 
By: /s/ John H. Faro, Esq    By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 

John H. Faro, Esq.     Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq. 
Florida Bar No. 527459    Florida Bar No. 87927 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on this 1st day of September 2015, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system. I also certify that the foregoing 

document was serviced by CM/ECF on this day to all counsel on the attached service list either 

via transmission of Notice of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or as otherwise authorized 

for counsel or parties who are not authorized to receive electronic filings.  

 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL 33434  
Telephone: 561-922-3837 
Facsimile: 561-244-1062 
mchaiken@crgolaw.com 

 
By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  

Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  
Florida Bar No. 87927 

 
SERVICE LIST: 

 
John H. Faro, Esquire  
Faro & Associates  
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800  
Miami, FL 33131  
Johnf7571@aol.com 
Counsel for Defendant 
 
 
Roger A. Farahmand  
The Farahmand Law Firm  
801 East Campbell Road  
Suite 345  
Richardson, TX 75081  
972-720-1000  
roger@farahmandlaw.com 
Pro Hac Vice Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 
 
 

 
Steven M. Greenberg 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
sgreenberg@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 
 
Albert Maggio 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
amaggio@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
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EXHIBIT “7” 

 
Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro, Plaintiff's MOTION to Compel Defendants' 

Performance Under the Settlement Agreement (by Chaiken-Weiss, Meredith) @ 
ECF 239 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

MIAMI DIVISION 
Case No. 1:13-cv-23893-Huck/Otazo-Reyes 

 
THRISOINT PTY. LTD., 
a Belize International Business Company; and  
EPRT TECHNOLOGIES, INC.,  
a California corporation, 
Plaintiffs, 
 
v. 
 
JOHN H. FARO, 
an Individual; and  
Technology Business Law Group, LLC,  
a Florida limited liability company d/b/a Faro & Associates, 
Defendants. 
       / 

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION TO COMPEL DEFENDANTS’ PERFORMANCE UNDER THE 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
 Plaintiffs respectfully move this Court to compel Defendants’ performance under the 

settlement agreement and in support thereof state as follows: 

Background 

1. Plaintiffs brought this action against Defendants John H. Faro (“Faro”) and 

Technology Business Law Group, LLC (“Law Firm”) (collectively “Defendants”) for legal 

malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty due to Faro’s abandonment of Plaintiffs’ patent 

application (“’519 Application”) when Faro failed to comply with deadlines and communicate 

with Plaintiffs, his clients. 

2. After two years of litigation and two mediations, on August 28, 2015, the parties 

agreed to the terms of a settlement agreement (“Agreement”) and copies of the Agreement were 

circulated to both Plaintiffs and Defendants on that same day. Thereafter, also on that same day, 
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mediator Laurie Riemer filed a Mediation Report indicating that the case was settled in full (D.E.  

234). 

3. As part of the Agreement, Plaintiffs agreed to voluntarily dismiss the case without 

prejudice in exchange for a letter from Defendant Faro to Plaintiffs containing agreed upon 

verbiage (“Letter”) and payment to Plaintiffs of $5,000.00 upon execution of the Agreement with 

the remaining balance ($2,040.00) to be paid over the following two months.  

4. Defendants signed the Agreement on August 28, 2015 and Plaintiffs signed the 

Agreement on August 31, 2015. (See Executed Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “1”).   

5. On August 31, 2015, the parties filed a Joint Notice of Settlement (D.E. 236). 

6. However, on August 31, 2015, Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs the agreed upon 

$5,000.00 and Defendants also did not provide the signed copy of the Letter to the Plaintiffs. 

7. Immediately after entering into the Agreement, Defendant Faro began urging 

Plaintiffs to file a notice of dismissal of the case. (See Dismissal Emails attached hereto as 

Composite Exhibit “2”).  On September 1, 2015, in expectation of Defendants’ performance 

under the Agreement and out of good faith, Plaintiffs performed pursuant to the Agreement and 

filed a Stipulation of Dismissal (D.E. 237). 

8. On September 1, 2015, this Court entered an Order dismissing the case but 

retained jurisdiction for sixty (60) days to enforce the terms of the Agreement. (D.E. 238). 

9. On September 14, 2015, after a delay in obtaining the original signed document 

from Plaintiffs (sent from Australia), the exchange of the executed Agreement was completed 

when Plaintiffs sent a scanned copy of the signed Agreement to Defendants. As such, Plaintiffs 

requested that Defendants perform pursuant to the Agreement by supplying Plaintiffs the Letter 

and the initial $5,000.00 payment. (See Sept. 14th Email attached hereto as Exhibit “3”). 
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10. Defendants ignored the Sept. 14th Email as well as two subsequent emails and a 

voicemail message.  Defendant Faro would not answer the undersigned’s calls.  Finally, on 

September 17, 2015, the undersigned called Defendant Faro from an unidentified phone line to 

inquire of the delay. Defendant Faro answered the phone and acknowledged receipt of the emails 

and voicemail message; however, Defendant Faro did not answer the undersigned as to why Faro 

is not responding or complying with the Agreement terms, and then Faro quickly hung up on the 

undersigned. 

11. To date, Defendants have failed to supply Plaintiffs with the signed Letter and 

Defendants are now almost four weeks beyond the day on which Defendants were to make 

payment of $5,000.00 to Plaintiffs pursuant to the Agreement. 

Memorandum of Law 

12. This Court has jurisdiction to compel Defendants to comply with the terms of the 

Agreement because the Court’s Order specifically retains jurisdiction for such action. [D.E. 238] 

13. Florida courts highly favor settlement agreements “as an efficient way to settle 

disputes and as a means to conserve judicial resources” and will enforce them whenever 

possible.  Sands v. Wagner & Hunt, P.A., 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77169 at 9 (S.D. Fla., Aug. 28, 

2009) (citation omitted). 

14. The moving party “bears the burden of showing that the opposing party assented 

to the terms of the agreement.”  Chinea v. United Drywall Group, LLC, 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

59479 at 3 (S.D. Fla, May 27, 2010) (quoting BP Product North America, Inc. v. Oakridge at 

Winegard, Inc., 469 F.Supp.2d 1128, 1133 (M.D. Fla. 2007).   
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15. Where a party knowingly and voluntarily signs and agrees to the terms of a 

settlement agreement, the agreement is valid and fully enforceable.  Watson v. Bank of Am. 

Corp., 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 113441 at 19 (S.D. Fla, Aug. 21, 2015). 

16. Moreover, where the Mediation Report indicates that the matter has been fully 

resolved and the terms of the settlement agreement are “sufficiently specific” such that the non-

moving party clearly understands his obligations under the agreement, the settlement agreement 

should be enforced.  Rushing v. Darby, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 129739 at 5 (M.D. Fla., Sept. 12, 

2012). 

17. Here, Defendants do not dispute the existence of the Agreement as evidenced by 

Defendants’ execution of the Agreement and Defendant Faro’s subsequent emails regarding the 

filing of a joint notice of settlement and dismissal.  The terms of the Agreement are sufficiently 

specific enough for Defendant Faro to understand his obligation to supply the agreed-upon Letter 

to Plaintiff along with the first payment of $5,000.00 at the time of execution of the Agreement. 

18. Defendant Faro, an attorney practicing for over forty years and a pro se litigant in 

this matter, refuses to respond to the undersigned’s emails or provide any reason for his failure to 

perform under the Agreement and, in fact, hung up the phone on the undersigned. 

Conclusion 

 In light of the aforementioned, Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court enter an 

order compelling Defendants’ performance under the Agreement and any other relief this Court 

deems proper, including an award of attorneys’ fees to Plaintiff for the necessity of this Motion. 
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CERTIFICATE OF GOOD FAITH CONFERENCE 

 Pursuant to Local Rule 7.1(a)(3)(B), I hereby certify that the undersigned counsel for the 

movant conferred with John H. Faro, counsel for Defendants, and was unable to obtain a 

response from Mr. Faro. 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I hereby certify that on this 28th day of September, 2015, I electronically filed the 

foregoing with the Clerk of the Court using the CM/ECF system. I also certify that the foregoing 

document was serviced by CM/ECF on this day to all counsel on the attached service list either 

via transmission of Notice of Electronic Filing generated by CM/ECF or as otherwise authorized 

for counsel or parties who are not authorized to receive electronic filings.  

 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL 33434  
Telephone: 561-922-3837 
Facsimile: 561-244-1062 
mchaiken@crgolaw.com 

 
By: /s/ Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  

Meredith Chaiken-Weiss, Esq.  
Florida Bar No. 87927 

 
 
 
John H. Faro, Esquire  
Faro & Associates  
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800  
Miami, FL 33131  
Johnf7571@aol.com 
Counsel for Defendants 
Roger A. Farahmand  
The Farahmand Law Firm  
801 East Campbell Road  
Suite 345  
Richardson, TX 75081  
972-720-1000  
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roger@farahmandlaw.com 
Pro Hac Vice Counsel for Plaintiff 
 
Steven M. Greenberg 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
sgreenberg@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
 
Albert Maggio 
CRGO Law 
7900 Glades Road, Suite 520 
Boca Raton, FL  33434 
amaggio@crgolaw.com 
Co-counsel for Plaintiff 
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EXHIBIT “8” 
 

Thrisoint & EPRT v Faro,  
ORDER denying 239 Motion to Compel Defendants'  

Performance under the Settlement Agreement. ECF 247 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT CO URT

SOUTHERN DISTRICT O F FLORIDA

CASE NO.: 13-CV-23893-HUCK

EPRT TECHN OLOGIES, m C.,

Plaintiffs,

ESQ. JOHN H. FARO, individually,
TECHNOLOGY BUSINESS LAW

GROUP, LLC, a Florida corporation

fonuerly known as Faro & Associates, LLC

Defendants.

ORDER DENYING M OTION TO CO M PEL

THIS M ATTER com es before the Court on Plaintiff's M otion to Compel Defendants'

Performance Under the Settlement Agreement (tsMotion'') (D.E. 2391, entered September 28,

2015. The Court has considered the Motion, Defendants' Response (D.E. 2411, Plaintiff s Reply

LD.E. 2421, Defendants' Surreply LD.E. 2461, and the record and is otherwise duly advised.

On August 31 , 20l 5, Plaintiff entered a Notice of Settlement (D.E. 2361. Pursuant to this

Notice of Settlement, the Court entered an Order dismissing the case and retainingjurisdiction

for 60 days. (D.E. 2381. That Order was not entered until September 2, 2015, although it was

signed on September 1, 2015. Also on September 1, 2015, the parties entered a stipulation of

dismissal pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4l(a)(l)(A)(ii). (D.E. 2371. ln this

stipulation, the parties dismissed this action with prejudice and did not condition the

effectiveness of the stipulation on the Court's entz.y of an order retaining jurisdiction.

Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) allows plaintiffs to ikçdismiss an action without a court order by

filing . . . a stipulation of dism issal signed by all parties who have appeared.''' Anago
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Franchising, Inc. v. Shaz, L L C, 677 F.3d 1272, 1277 (11th Cir. 2012) (quoting Fed. R. Civ. P.

41(a)(1)(A)(ii)). Such a stipulation of dismissal ûtis self-executing and dismisses the case upon its

becoming effedive. The stipulation beeomes effective upon tiling unless it explicitly conditions

its effediveness on a subsequent oecurrenee.'' Anago Franchising, Inc., 677 F.3d at 1278. Thus,

k'kdlistrict courts need not and may not take action after the stipulation becomes effedive because

the stipulation dismisses the case and divests the district court of jurisdiction.'' 1d. The Eleventh

Circuit explained that a district court may Siretain jurisdiction through an order, even if the parties

dismiss the case thzough use of Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii), so long as the parties agree to the retention

of jurisdiction.'' Id at 1280.

Here, the parties' Rule 41(a)(1)(A)(ii) stipulation of dismissal was entered before the

Court entered its Order dismissing the case and retaining jurisdiction. Additionally, the parties

did not agree to the retention of jurisdiction. For both these reasons, the Court no longer has

jurisdiction over the case.

Accordingly, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that the M otion is DENIED.

th d f November
, 2015.DON E AND ORDERED in Cham bers, M iam i, Florida, this 5 ay o

Paul C. Huck

United States District Judge

Copies furnished to:

Al1 counsel of record
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EXHIBIT “9” 
 

In the Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Office 
Complaint, May 11, 2015 
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In the Matter of 

John H. Faro, 

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 
BEFORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

Proceeding No. D2015-27 

Respondent 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

COMPLAINT AND 
NOTICE OF PROCEEDINGS UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 32 

The Director of the Office of Emollment and Discipline ("OED Director") for the United 

States Patent and Trademark Office ("USPTO" or "Office") hereby gives notice of a disciplinary 

proceeding and statement of charges against John H. Faro ("Respondent") as follows: 

This Complaint and Notice of Proceedings ("Complaint") is filed pursuant to 

37 C.F.R. §§ 11.32 and 11.34. Within thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this 

Complaint, Respondent's written answer shall be filed with the Administrative Law Judge, and a 

copy of the answer shall be served on the OED Director. See 37 C.F.R. §§ l l.36(a) and (b). The 

attached Notice of Correspondence Addresses provides the addresses where the answer is to be 

mailed or delivered. Additionally, a portable document format ("PDF") version of the answer is 

to be transmitted by electronic mail to the Administrative Law Judge at: alj.alj@hud.gov. A 

decision by default may be entered against Respondent if a written answer is not timely filed. 

See 37 C.F.R. §§ l l.34(a)(4) and l l.36(e). The provisions of37 C.F.R. § 11.41 govern the filing 

of papers in this disciplinary proceeding. 

Jurisdiction 

At all times relevant to this Complaint, Respondent of Key Biscayne, Florida, has been a 

patent attorney registered to practice before the USPTO and is subject to the USPTO Code of 

Professional Responsibility, which is set forth at 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq., and the USPTO Rules 
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of Professional Conduct, which are set forth at 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101 through 11.901. 1 This 

Tribunal has jurisdiction over this proceeding pursuant to 35 U.S.C. §§ 2(b)(2)(D) and 32, and 

37 C.F.R. §§ 11.32 and 11.39. 

Background 

I. Respondent was registered as a patent attorney on March 3, 1971. 

2. Respondent's registration number is 25,859. 

3. Respondent was admitted to the Massachusetts Bar on November 28, 1969, and 

his Massachusetts Board of Overseers number is 159260. 

4. Respondent was admitted to the Florida Bar on January 21, 1986, his Florida Bar 

number is 527,459, and he is a member in good standing in that State. 

5. Respondent's acts and omissions leading to the violations of the Rules alleged 

herein were willful. 

COUNT I 
(Neglect - Prosecution of the '519 Application) 

6. At some point prior to December 12, 2002, EPRT Technologies, Inc., and/or 

Thrisoint Pty. Ltd., (hereinafter individually or collectively referred to as "EPRT") requested and 

Respondent agreed to represent EPRT in the continuation of the prosecution of U.S. Patent 

Application Serial No. 09/656,519 entitled "Method and Apparatus for Performing Microcurrent 

Electrotherapy" ("the '519 application"). 

7. On or about December 12, 2002, Respondent filed a Power of Attorney & 

Revocation of Prior Powers naming himself as EPRT' s attorney before the USPTO and directing 

1 Effective May 3, 2013, the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct apply to persons who 
practice before the Office. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101 through 11.901. The allegations of 
misconduct set forth in this Complaint occurred prior to and after May 3, 2013. Therefore, both 
the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility and USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct 
apply. 
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the USPTO to address all correspondence to Respondent with respect to the '519 application. 

The address Respondent listed was 44 West Flagler Street, Suite 1100, Miami, Florida 33130-

1808 (the "44 West Flagler Street address"). 

8. At no time did Respondent associate the '519 application with his Customer 

Number. 

9. Between December 2002 and January 8, 2004, Respondent filed several 

amendments in the '519 application. 

10. On January 8, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment 

to Respondent in the '519 application. 

11. At no time did Respondent submit a compliant response to the January 8, 2004 

Notice. 

12. On August 12, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment in the '519 

application. The Notice of Abandonment advised Respondent that the application was 

abandoned as a result of Respondent's failure to timely and properly reply to the January 8, 2004 

Notice. In addition, the August 12, 2004 Notice stated the following: 

A call was placed to the Applicant's Agent, [Respondent], on 7/9/04, 7/19/04, 
and 7 /20/04. A message was left with each call seeking to learn the status of 
this case and to determine if the case was being abandoned. The message left 
7 /20/04 stated if a response or return call was not received by 7 /23/04, the 
Examiner would understand the case had been abandoned. No call or 
response was received by 7 /23/04, hence this application is understood to be 
abandoned. 

13. The August 12, 2004 Notice of Abandonment was sent to Respondent, and he 

received it shortly thereafter. 

14. On October 28, 2004, Respondent filed a petition for revival of the '519 

application. 
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15. On January 18, 2005, the USPTO granted the petition for revival of the '519 

application. 

16. Following additional prosecution of the '519 application, the USPTO mailed a 

Final Office Action to Respondent on November 14, 2005. In the Final Office Action, the 

examiner indicated that two claims [Claims 3 and 4] were objected to as being "dependent upon 

a rejected base claim," but that those same claims "would be allowable if rewritten in 

independent form including all of the limitations of the base clams and any intervening claims." 

17. The November 14, 2005 Final Office Action was sent to Respondent and he 

received it shortly thereafter. 

18. The November 14, 2005 Final Office Action was correspondence which could 

have a significant effect on the '519 application and a reasonable practitioner would believe, 

under the circumstances, it was correspondence about which the client should be notified. 

19. Respondent did not inform EPRT, or anyone acting on its behalf, of his receipt of 

the November 14, 2005 Final Office Action. 

20. At no time did Respondent rewrite Claims 3 and 4 to comport with the examiner's 

suggestion in the '519 application as referenced in paragraph 16 above. 

Appeal of '519 Application 

21. Respondent appealed the Final Office action in the '519 application to the Board 

of Patent Appeals and Interferences (the "Board") on February 2, 2006. Briefing on the appeal 

was completed by January 10, 2007. 

22. At the time Respondent filed the appeal 111 the '519 application, the '519 

application contained allowable subject matter. 
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23. At no time did Respondent take any steps to preserve his client's interest in the 

patentable subject matter in the allowable claims as indicated by the examiner. See Manual of 

Patent Examining Procedure§§ 1200, 1214. 

24. On or about December 10, 2006, Respondent sent an email to Katherine Blake 

("Ms. Blake"), President of EPRT, stating that he had filed an appeal with the USPTO in the 

'519 application, but that one claim that he believed "covers the commercial embodiment" had 

been allowed. 

25. Throughout 2007, and continuing through late 2008, Ms. Blake attempted to 

contact Respondent via text, email and telephone, but did not receive any response to her 

repeated attempts at communicating with him. 

26. In January 2008, Respondent closed his office at the 44 West Flagler Street 

address in favor of an executive suite at 28 West Flagler Street in Miami, Florida ("the executive 

suite"). 

27. Respondent did not have any daily physical presence or office staff at the 

executive suite, but used its facilities as his mailing address and for conference room access at an 

hourly rate and fee. When mail addressed to Respondent was received at the executive suite, the 

receptionist placed the Respondent's mail in a folder and notified Respondent that mail had been 

received. 

28. On February 11, 2008, Respondent filed a Change of Correspondence Address in 

the '519 application listing the executive suite as the address to which all future correspondence 

should be sent. 
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29. At or about this same time, Respondent also filed a Change of Address Notice 

with the United States Post Office, changing his mailing address from the 44 West Flagler Street 

address to the executive suite. 

30. On September 30, 2008, Respondent contacted the Board to ascertain the status of 

the appeal of the '519 application. At that time, Respondent learned that the appeal on the '519 

application was still pending. 

31. On June 1, 2009, the Board rendered a Decision on Appeal ("Decision" or "Board 

Decision") in the '519 application affirming the examiner's rejections of the claims therein, and 

setting a non-extendable two-month deadline to act in order to avoid abandoning the '519 

application. 

32. The Board mailed its Decision to Respondent's address of record with the 

USPTO, i.e., the executive suite. 

33. As of June 1, 2009, or shortly thereafter, Respondent knew or should have known 

of the Board Decision in the '519 application. 

34. At no time did Respondent advise Ms. Blake, or anyone acting on behalf of 

EPR.T, of the Board Decision. 

35. At no time did Respondent file an appeal of the Board Decision. 

36. At no time between June I, 2009 and August 17, 2009, did Respondent take any 

action to prevent abandonment of the '519 application after the Board Decision. 

37. On August 17, 2009, the USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment in the '519 

application. The USPTO mailed the August 17, 2009 Notice of Abandonment to Respondent at 

his address of record, i.e., the executive suite. 
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38. As of August 17, 2009, or shortly thereafter, Respondent knew or should have 

known that the '519 application had become abandoned. 

39. The Notice of Abandonment referenced in paragraph 37, above, stated, inter alia, 

the following: 

"[a] call was placed to the Applicant's Agent, [Respondent], on 8/6/09 to 
check on the status of this case. A message was left on [Respondent's] 
answering machine. No response has been received. The two month response 
period for filing an appeal or commencing a civil action has passed. This case 
is deemed abandoned." 

40. The August 17, 2009 Notice of Abandonment was correspondence which could 

have a significant effect on the '519 application and a reasonable practitioner would believe, 

under the circumstances, it was correspondence about which the client should be notified. 

41. Respondent did not inform EPRT, or anyone acting on its behalf, of his receipt of 

the August 17, 2009 Notice of Abandonment. 

42. Between August 17, 2009 and October 28, 2011, Respondent took no further 

action on the '519 application. 

43. By reason of the conduct described above, Respondent has engaged m the 

following misconduct: 

a. failure to inform a client of correspondence received from the Office when the 
correspondence could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the 
Office, is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client, and is correspondence 
about which a reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances that 
the client should be notified, by failing to notify EPRT of correspondence 
received by him from the USPTO, specifically, the November 2005 Final Office 
Action, June 2009 Board Decision and the August 2009 Notice of Abandonment, 
in violation of 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) of the USPTO Code 
of Professional Responsibility; 
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b. neglect of a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner, by failing to communicate 
with Ms. Blake from 2007 to late 2008 about the status of the '519 application 
despite Ms. Blake's efforts to contact Respondent during such time period and 
failing to advise Ms. Blake and EPRT about the June 2009 Board Decision, in 
violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility; 

c. neglect of a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner, by allowing the '519 
application to become abandoned in 2009 without the client's knowledge or 
consent, not adequately monitoring the status of the Board appeal of the '519 
application, not filing an appeal to the June 2009 Board Decision, not responding 
to the USPTO examiner's August 2009 telephone message about the '519 
application, not timely responding to the non-extendable two-month deadline, not 
otherwise taking action to prevent the 2009 abandonment of the '519 application, 
and not taking such action that a patent would issue on allowable subject matter, 
in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility; 

d. failing to seek the lawful objectives of a client and failing to carry out a contract 
of employment entered into with a client for professional services, by not 
communicating with Ms. Blake in 2007 through late 2008 about the status of the 
'519 application despite Ms. Blake's efforts to contact Respondent during such 
time period, and not informing the client of the August 2009 Notice of 
Abandonment in a timely manner; by not communicating or pursuing the 
allowable subject matter; allowing the '519 application to become abandoned in 
2009 without the client's knowledge or consent, not adequately monitoring the 
status of the Board appeal of the '519 application, not filing an appeal to the June 
2009 Board Decision, not timely responding to the non-extendable two-month 
deadline, and not otherwise taking action to prevent the 2009 abandonment of the 
'519 application, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(l) and (2) of the USPTO 
Code of Professional Responsibility; 

e. engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct, by engaging in the aforementioned 
conduct in Count I of this Complaint, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the 
US PTO Code of Professional Responsibility; and 

f. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness 
to practice before the Office, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the 
USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility. 

COUNT II 
(Neglect, Misrepresentation and failure to return client file in the '519 Application) 

44. Paragraphs 1 through 42 above are incorporated by reference. 
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45. On July 16, 2010, and also on July 29, 2010, Ms. Blake sent emails to Respondent 

requesting the status of the '519 application. In each of the emails, Ms. Blake asked Respondent 

why she had not received any responses to her previous correspondence that had been sent to 

Respondent. 

46. On July 30, 2010, Respondent sent an email to Ms. Blake stating that he had 

attempted to determine the status of the '519 application, but had not yet heard back from the 

USPTO about his inquiries. 

47. Respondent's statements to Ms. Blake in the July 30, 2010 email were false and 

misleading. Respondent knew that they were false and misleading because on August 17, 2009, 

the '519 application was deemed abandoned, and at no time after August 17, 2009 did 

Respondent take any further action on the '519 application. 

48. Between July 30, 2010, and continuing until March 2011, Ms. Blake tried 

unsuccessfully to communicate with Respondent via text messages, emails, phone calls and 

voicemails. At no time, did Ms. Blake receive a response to her communications to Respondent. 

49. In or about March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Respondent by telephone regarding 

the status of the '519 application. Rather than engage in a dialogue with Ms. Blake, Respondent 

terminated the call without discussion by hanging up on Ms. Blake. 

50. Between March 2011, and continuing until October 21, 2011, Ms. Blake tried 

unsuccessfully to communicate with Respondent via text messages, emails, phone calls and 

voicemails. At no time, did Ms. Blake receive a response to her communications to Respondent. 

51. On October 21, 2011, Mr. Roger Farahmand ("Mr. Farahmand"), counsel for 

EPRT, sent a letter to Respondent requesting the status of the '519 application on behalf of 

EPRT. Respondent received the October 21, 2011 letter shortly thereafter. 
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52. On October 28, 2011, Respondent sent a copy of the Board Decision in the '519 

application to Mr. Farahmand with a facsimile cover page stating "responsive to your [letter] of 

Oct. 21, 2011." 

53. Respondent's October 28, 2011 facsimile was the first time that EPRT learned of 

the Board Decision and of the abandonment of the '519 application. 

54. On October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent a letter to Respondent requesting a 

complete copy of the file related to the '519 application. 

55. At no time did Respondent provide a copy of the file related to the '519 

application to Mr. Farahmand, Ms. Blake, or anyone acting on behalf ofEPRT. 

56. By reason of the conduct described above, Respondent has engaged m the 

following misconduct: 

a. neglect of a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner, by failing to connnunicate 
with Ms. Blake between July 2010 and October 2011 about the status of the '519 
application despite Ms. Blake's efforts to contact Respondent during this time 
period, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) of the USPTO Code of Professional 
Responsibility; 

b. conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation, by providing 
false or misleading statements regarding the status of the '519 application to Ms. 
Blake and/or ERPT, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(4) of the USPTO Code 
of Professional Responsibility; 

c. knowingly giving false or misleading information or knowingly participating in a 
material way in giving false or misleading information to a client in connection 
with any immediate, prospective or pending business before the Office, by 
knowingly providing false or misleading statements regarding the status of the 
'519 application to Ms. Blake and/or ERPT, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) 
and (b) via§ 10.23(c)(2)(i) of the USPTO Code of Professional Conduct; 

d. in representing a client, knowingly making a false statement of law or fact, by 
knowingly providing false or misleading statements regarding the status of the 
'519 application to Ms. Blake and/or ERPT, in violation of 37 C.F.R. 
§ 10.85(a)(5) of the USPTO Code of Professional Conduct; 
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e. failing to seek the lawful objectives of a client and failing to carry out a contract 
of employment entered into with a client for professional services, by not 
communicating with Ms. Blake between July 2010 and October 2011 about the 
status of the '5 19 application despite Ms. Blake's efforts to contact Respondent 
during this time period, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(l) and (2) of the 
US PTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

f. failing to deliver to the client property in the possession of the practitioner which 
the client is entitled to receive, by not providing a complete copy of the file in 
response to the client's October 31, 2011 request to do so, in violation of 3 7 
C.F.R. § 10.l 12(c)(4) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility; 

g. engaging in disreputable or gross misconduct, by engaging in the aforementioned 
conduct in Count II, in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) of the USPTO Code of 
Professional Responsibility; and 

h. engaging in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness 
to practice before the Office, by engaging in the aforementioned conduct in Count 
II to the extent that the aforementioned conduct does not otherwise violate a 
provision of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, in violation of 3 7 
C.F.R. § 10.23(b)(6) of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility. 

Request for Relief 

WHEREFORE, for the facts and reasons stated herein, the OED Director requests entry 

of an Order (1) suspending Respondent from practice before the USPTO in patent, trademark, 

and other non-patent matters, and (2) such additional relief as this Tribunal deems reasonable 

and warranted. 

May 11, 2015 
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NOTICE OF CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESSES 

Respondent must file an answer to the Complaint in writing with the Administrative Law 
Judge within thirty (30) days from the date of the filing of this Complaint, addressed as follows: 

If sent by mail: 

If hand-delivered: 

Docket Clerk 
HUD Office of Hearings and Appeals 
451 7'h Street, S.W. 
RoomB-133 
Washington, D.C. 20410 

Docket Clerk 
(e.g., via Federal Express or 
other delivery service) 

HUD Office of Hearings and Appeals 
409 3rd Street, S.W. 
Suite 201 
Washington, D.C. 20024 

Respondent must also file a PDF version of the answer with the Administrative Law 
Judge via email to: ali.aliCmhud.gov. 

Respondent must also serve a copy of the answer on the Director of the Office of 
Enrollment and Discipline who is represented by Associate Solicitors Tracy L. Kepler and Robin 
.T. Crabb. Written communications, including a copy of the answer, should be addressed as 
follows: 

Tracy L. Kepler 
Robin J. Crabb 
Associate Solicitors 
Mail Stop 8 
Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450 

The general number for the Solicitor's Office is (571) 272-9035. The fax number is (571) 273-
0373. The Associate Solicitors' e-mail address is PTO-HUDcases@uspto.gov. 

Tracy L. Kepler may be contacted by telephone at (571) 272-8486 or by e-mail at 
tracy.kepler@uspto.gov. 

Robin J. Crabb may be contacted by telephone at (571) 272-5048 or by e-mail at 
robin.crabb@uspto.gov. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing COMPLAINT AND NOTICE OF 

PROCEEDING UNDER 35 U.S.C. § 32 and NOTICE OF CORRESPONDENCE ADDRESSES 
were mailed this day via certified mail, to Respondent at the address provided by him to the OED 
Director pursuant to 3 7 C.F.R. § 11.11: 

Mr. John H. Faro 
Faro & Associates 
P.O. Box 490014 
Kay Biscayne, FL 33149 

and to the following address where the OED Director reasonably believes that Respondent 
receives mail: 

Mr. John H. Faro 
Faro & Associates 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, FL 33129 

and via email to: JohnF75712@aol.com. 

Mayll,2015 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 
Mail Stop 8 
Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 
Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1450 
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EXHIBIT “10” 
 

In the Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Trial of 
Complaint, Transcript, May 10, 2016 @ Page 155, Lines 15-22; Page 156, Lines 

9-11; Page 160, line 3 to page 161, line 1, 
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1 (1)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1         UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  2             BEFORE THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

  3

  4   In the Matter of:         Proceeding No. D2015-27

  5        John H. Faro,

  6             Respondent.

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11             The Honorable J. Jeremiah Mahoney

 12                  U.S. Administrative Judge

 13       James Lawrence King Federal Justice Building

 14                       99 NE 4th Street

 15                   Courtroom #4, 10th Floor

 16                     Miami, Florida 33132

 17

 18

 19

 20                  Tuesday, May 10, 2016

 21                    10:05 a.m. - 5:38 p.m.

 22       REPORTED BY ASHLEIGH SIMMONS, Court Reporter
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  1                    A P P E A R A N C E S

  2

  3

  4   UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  5        Associate Solicitors

  6        MAIL STOP 8

  7        Office of the Solicitor

  8        P.O. Box 1450

  9        Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

 10        TRACY KEPLER, ESQ.

 11        ROBIN CRABB, ESQ.

 12        PTO-HUDcases@uspto.gov

 13

 14        EDMAR M. AMAYA, L.L.M., ESQ.

 15        ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT

 16        Latitude One Building

 17        175 SW 7th Street, Suite 2410

 18        Miami, Florida 33130

 19        305.643.0740

 20        Edmar.amaya@edmanlaw.com

 21

 22   ALSO PRESENT:  John H. Faro, Esq.
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  1                           I N D E X

  2   WITNESS           DIRECT   CROSS   REDIRECT RECROSS

  3   KATHERINE BLAKE    30       76       124

  4   MEREDITH CHAIKEN   130      169

  5   JOHN FARO          176      257 (Continued)

  6

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11

 12

 13

 14

 15

 16

 17

 18

 19

 20

 21

 22
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Page 152
 1           When do we apprise the Court that this is
 2 settled?  John.
 3      Q   And what is the rest of this document,
 4 Government's Exhibit Number 33?
 5      A   This is the settlement agreement, the
 6 general mutual -- it’s titled General, Mutual
 7 Settlement Agreement and Release.
 8      Q   I would like to look at the agreement
 9 first which is Bates page 2 through 6.
10      A   Yes.
11      Q   Specifically on the second page which is
12 Bates page 3, under A The Settlement Terms.
13      A   Okay.
14      Q   The first settlement term that’s listed
15 is a letter from John H. Faro on FARO & Associates
16 letterhead to Katherine Blake with the agreed upon
17 verbiage (annexed hereto).
18           That verbiage is not annexed hereto but
19 can you tell the Court what was supposed to be
20 contained within that letter?
21      A   Yes.  It had to do with Mr. Faro
22 acknowledging that he intentionally abandoned the

Page 153
 1 ‘519 Application.
 2           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, the
 3      letter is the best evidence of what was
 4      stated.
 5           THE COURT:  Sustained.
 6 BY MS. KEPLER:
 7      Q   You can continue -- oh, sustained, sorry.
 8           She can -- well, what did you want Mr.
 9 Faro to say?
10      A   What we wanted from Mr. Faro which we
11 told him repeatedly, was we wanted him to admit
12 which he did it during his deposition, that he
13 intentionally abandoned the patent application.
14           And which he had done so on a few other
15 occasions and was reprimanded by the Florida Bar -
16 -
17           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, objection.  My
18      deposition is the best evidence of that.  She
19      is not referring to any deposition testimony.
20      That is her recollection and it is inaccurate.
21      There was never any admission that it was
22      intentionally abandoned.

Page 154
 1           THE COURT:  Well, to the extent of the
 2      witness saw or observed your testimony, the
 3      witness can recount her recollection of that.
 4           THE WITNESS:  I did -- I was present for
 5      Mr. Faro’s deposition and I read his
 6      transcript numerous times which I had to do to
 7      draft summary judgement motions.  I also
 8      drafted the letter that is referred to in the
 9      settlement agreement.  So I can testify that
10      he admitted that he intentionally abandoned
11      patent application.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   And that was -- those were terms that
14 were supposed to be contained in this letter that
15 was agreed to be written pursuant to the
16 settlement?
17      A   Correct.
18      Q   The second provision of the settlement
19 terms.  Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel
20 or agents, or any other company representative of
21 EPRT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty., Ltd,
22 will voluntarily participate on behalf of

41 (152 - 155)
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Page 155
 1 Katherine Blake in the presently pending
 2 disciplinary proceedings against John H. Faro,
 3 before the Florida Bar and USPTO.  However,
 4 Defendants recognize Plaintiffs’ legal obligation
 5 to cooperate with the Florida Bar and the USPTO
 6 pursuant to any subpoena issued by the Florida
 7 Bar, the USPTO or any court of competent
 8 jurisdiction.
 9           Who requested that this provision be
10 contained within the settlement agreement?
11      A   Mr. Faro requested that.  And this
12 provision actually started out with Mr. Faro
13 requesting us to contact the OED and the Florida
14 Bar --
15           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, this is
16      confidential mediation discussions.  These
17      discussions were confidential.  She is not
18      accurately reflecting those --
19           THE COURT:  So these were discussions in
20      confidence in mediation?
21           MR. FARO:  That’s correct.  These were
22      part of the confidential mediation.

APPX 933 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Page 156
 1           THE COURT:  Okay.
 2           MR. FARO:  That was ordered by the Court.
 3           THE COURT:  What is the objection?
 4           MR. FARO:  She is not reporting them
 5      accurately.
 6           THE COURT:  Well, whether it’s accurate
 7      or not doesn’t matter if it was supposed to be
 8      held confidential.
 9           MR. FARO:  It was confidential.  The
10      order -- I forget the mediator’s name but she
11      is --
12           THE COURT:  Okay.
13 BY MS. KEPLER:
14      Q   But the term is still within the
15 settlement agreement, correct?
16      A   Correct.  It is.
17      Q   And was it Mr. Faro or the Respondent who
18 requested that this was a provision to be
19 contained within the settlement agreement?
20      A   Yes.  And the issue --
21           MR. FARO:  Same objection, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Sustained.

Page 157
 1           THE WITNESS:  The issue was --
 2           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please, you’re getting
 3      ahead of me.
 4           THE WITNESS:  Sorry.
 5           THE COURT:  To the extent we are talking
 6      about terms of the settlement, we have got the
 7      settlement agreement in front of us.  We don’t
 8      have the language and the letter that was to
 9      be drafted attached to this exhibit.  I gather
10      that it’s not in existence anymore?
11           MS. KEPLER:  The letter does exist.
12           THE COURT:  It does exist?
13           MS. KEPLER:  Yes.  Well, it was supposed
14      to be written.  It was transmitted to the
15      Respondent --
16           MR. FARO:  The letter -- the letter does
17      not exist and was never accepted, Your Honor.
18      That is a misstatement of the record.
19           THE WITNESS:  That is such a lie.
20           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please.
21           THE WITNESS:  I will show my laptop.
22           THE COURT:  There was supposed to be an

Page 158
 1      annex to the settlement agreement.  There is
 2      no annex to the settlement agreement.  And
 3      there necessarily doesn’t have to even be a
 4      letter that was completed in furtherance of
 5      that annex.  My question is, is there a copy
 6      of that annex available?
 7           MS. KEPLER:  Yes, there is.  And I can --
 8           THE COURT:  So then why are we going
 9      around in circles on something that could be
10      readily established?
11           MS. KEPLER:  I will be happy to produce
12      that letter.
13           MR. FARO:  The letter was never --
14           THE WITNESS:  I have it right here on my
15      laptop.
16           THE COURT:  The point is not whether it
17      was agreed to or not.  It’s referred to in
18      this document.  Now if you want to impeach the
19      document in some way by what was in annex to
20      it, you will have a chance to do that.
21           MR. FARO:  Thank you, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Go.
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 1           MS. KEPLER:  Thank you.
 2 BY MS. KEPLER:
 3      Q   I will produce the letter.
 4      A   I have -- just for the record, I not only
 5 have the letter, I have the email from Mr. Faro
 6 saying attached is the letter I have approved and
 7 my executed agreement.  And so it’s in an email
 8 from Mr. Faro himself.
 9      Q   Suffice it to say that this is the
10 settlement agreement, a letter was to be written,
11 Respondent signed and executed this settlement
12 agreement, correct?
13      A   Correct.
14      Q   We were talking about the second term of
15 this settlement agreement.  The provision that
16 says: Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel are
17 to voluntarily cooperate.  Correct?
18      A   Yes.  I had a very difficult time with
19 that.
20      Q   Did you have any concerns about this
21 provision at the time?
22      A   Oh, very much so.
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 1      Q   What were your concerns?
 2      A   Well, at first --
 3           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, same
 4      objection.  These were part of a confidential
 5      settlement discussions and these provisions
 6      were negotiated back and forth and not
 7      necessarily proposed by me.
 8           MS. KEPLER:  Her concern --
 9           MR. FARO:  Excuse me, ma’am.  There was a
10      negotiation and things were proffered in
11      exchange for money.  That’s what this was all
12      about.  Money.
13           THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, regardless of
14      what may have been discussed in confidence,
15      the witness was asked about the language that
16      appears in the open document.  And what her
17      position was on that.  And she can answer that
18      question.
19           MR. FARO:  She was not the one
20      negotiating it, Judge.  We haven’t gotten to
21      that point.  She never answered the question
22      if she was negotiating.  The negotiations were

Page 161
 1      between myself and Mr. Greenberg, not her.
 2           THE WITNESS:  That is not true.
 3           MS. KEPLER:  The question was, did you
 4      have any concerns about this provision of the
 5      settlement agreement at the time?
 6           THE WITNESS:  I very --
 7           THE COURT:  Wait, wait.  And whether or
 8      not she was involved in the actual
 9      negotiation, if she was present when this was
10      going on she can express what concerns she
11      had.
12           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  And just to give some
13      sort of background with this.  The
14      negotiations with regards to the terms of
15      number 2 and all of these terms plus the
16      verbiage of that annex letter, those
17      negotiations continued for days after the
18      mediation -- the official mediation was over.
19      We worked with each other back and forth to
20      create the verbiage to agree, no I want you to
21      take that out and I want you to put that in.
22                With regards to the second clause on

Page 162
 1      page three, Bates 3, I was very very concerned
 2      to the point where I personally consulted with
 3      the Florida Bar.  I did legal research
 4      personally and this was all for me because I
 5      am now being asked to obstruct justice
 6      essentially unless I have a subpoena.  So I
 7      did find case law in Florida that says you
 8      cannot ask someone to not participate in
 9      investigations or Florida Bar investigations
10      or any kind of that nature as part of a
11      settlement agreement.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   But as part of the settlement process,
14 you did agree to have that provision contained
15 within the settlement?
16      A   I did because the subpoena section was
17 added.
18      Q   Looking at paragraph number 3 of the
19 settlement terms.  It talks about payments that
20 Respondent was to make in settlement of this
21 agreement.  A total of $7,040.00, $5,000.00
22 immediately upon execution of this agreement
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 1 payable to CRGO, for deposited into the company’s
 2 trust account.  And then the remaining $2040.00
 3 over a period of three months in equally monthly
 4 installments of $680.00 commencing one month after
 5 the execution of this agreement.
 6           Why were the payments broken up in this
 7 way?
 8      A   We did that to accommodate Mr. Faro so he
 9 wasn’t hit financially so hard in one month.
10      Q   And the fourth term of the settlement
11 agreement is a stipulation of dismissal without
12 prejudice of the case in the Southern District of
13 Florida, each party bearing its own fees and
14 costs.
15           This was another settlement term that you
16 agreed to or your client agreed to?
17      A   Absolutely, yes.
18      Q   And that the Respondent agreed to?
19      A   Yes.
20      Q   All of these were terms that the
21 Respondent agreed to and that your client agreed
22 to?

APPX 935 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “11” 
 

. In the Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Trial of 
Complaint  , May 10, 2016 @ Page 157, Lines 5-15; Page 160, Line 3 to Page 

161, Line 1,   
 
 
 

  
APPX 936 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



In the Matter of:

In re: John H. Faro

May 10, 2016

( ourt Reporting
Videography
Videoconferencing

Phone: 703-837-0076 1010 Cameron Street
Fax: 703-837-8118 Alexandria, VA 22310
Toll Free: 877-837-0077 transcript@casamo.com

APPX 937 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



1 (1)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1         UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  2             BEFORE THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

  3

  4   In the Matter of:         Proceeding No. D2015-27

  5        John H. Faro,

  6             Respondent.

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11             The Honorable J. Jeremiah Mahoney

 12                  U.S. Administrative Judge

 13       James Lawrence King Federal Justice Building

 14                       99 NE 4th Street

 15                   Courtroom #4, 10th Floor

 16                     Miami, Florida 33132

 17

 18

 19

 20                  Tuesday, May 10, 2016

 21                    10:05 a.m. - 5:38 p.m.

 22       REPORTED BY ASHLEIGH SIMMONS, Court Reporter

APPX 938 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



2 (2)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1                    A P P E A R A N C E S

  2

  3

  4   UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  5        Associate Solicitors

  6        MAIL STOP 8

  7        Office of the Solicitor

  8        P.O. Box 1450

  9        Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

 10        TRACY KEPLER, ESQ.

 11        ROBIN CRABB, ESQ.

 12        PTO-HUDcases@uspto.gov

 13

 14        EDMAR M. AMAYA, L.L.M., ESQ.

 15        ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT

 16        Latitude One Building

 17        175 SW 7th Street, Suite 2410

 18        Miami, Florida 33130

 19        305.643.0740

 20        Edmar.amaya@edmanlaw.com

 21

 22   ALSO PRESENT:  John H. Faro, Esq.

APPX 939 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



3 (3)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1                           I N D E X

  2   WITNESS           DIRECT   CROSS   REDIRECT RECROSS

  3   KATHERINE BLAKE    30       76       124

  4   MEREDITH CHAIKEN   130      169

  5   JOHN FARO          176      257 (Continued)

  6

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11

 12

 13

 14

 15

 16

 17

 18

 19

 20

 21

 22

APPX 940 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Page 152
 1           When do we apprise the Court that this is
 2 settled?  John.
 3      Q   And what is the rest of this document,
 4 Government's Exhibit Number 33?
 5      A   This is the settlement agreement, the
 6 general mutual -- it’s titled General, Mutual
 7 Settlement Agreement and Release.
 8      Q   I would like to look at the agreement
 9 first which is Bates page 2 through 6.
10      A   Yes.
11      Q   Specifically on the second page which is
12 Bates page 3, under A The Settlement Terms.
13      A   Okay.
14      Q   The first settlement term that’s listed
15 is a letter from John H. Faro on FARO & Associates
16 letterhead to Katherine Blake with the agreed upon
17 verbiage (annexed hereto).
18           That verbiage is not annexed hereto but
19 can you tell the Court what was supposed to be
20 contained within that letter?
21      A   Yes.  It had to do with Mr. Faro
22 acknowledging that he intentionally abandoned the

Page 153
 1 ‘519 Application.
 2           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, the
 3      letter is the best evidence of what was
 4      stated.
 5           THE COURT:  Sustained.
 6 BY MS. KEPLER:
 7      Q   You can continue -- oh, sustained, sorry.
 8           She can -- well, what did you want Mr.
 9 Faro to say?
10      A   What we wanted from Mr. Faro which we
11 told him repeatedly, was we wanted him to admit
12 which he did it during his deposition, that he
13 intentionally abandoned the patent application.
14           And which he had done so on a few other
15 occasions and was reprimanded by the Florida Bar -
16 -
17           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, objection.  My
18      deposition is the best evidence of that.  She
19      is not referring to any deposition testimony.
20      That is her recollection and it is inaccurate.
21      There was never any admission that it was
22      intentionally abandoned.

Page 154
 1           THE COURT:  Well, to the extent of the
 2      witness saw or observed your testimony, the
 3      witness can recount her recollection of that.
 4           THE WITNESS:  I did -- I was present for
 5      Mr. Faro’s deposition and I read his
 6      transcript numerous times which I had to do to
 7      draft summary judgement motions.  I also
 8      drafted the letter that is referred to in the
 9      settlement agreement.  So I can testify that
10      he admitted that he intentionally abandoned
11      patent application.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   And that was -- those were terms that
14 were supposed to be contained in this letter that
15 was agreed to be written pursuant to the
16 settlement?
17      A   Correct.
18      Q   The second provision of the settlement
19 terms.  Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel
20 or agents, or any other company representative of
21 EPRT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty., Ltd,
22 will voluntarily participate on behalf of
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 1 Katherine Blake in the presently pending
 2 disciplinary proceedings against John H. Faro,
 3 before the Florida Bar and USPTO.  However,
 4 Defendants recognize Plaintiffs’ legal obligation
 5 to cooperate with the Florida Bar and the USPTO
 6 pursuant to any subpoena issued by the Florida
 7 Bar, the USPTO or any court of competent
 8 jurisdiction.
 9           Who requested that this provision be
10 contained within the settlement agreement?
11      A   Mr. Faro requested that.  And this
12 provision actually started out with Mr. Faro
13 requesting us to contact the OED and the Florida
14 Bar --
15           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, this is
16      confidential mediation discussions.  These
17      discussions were confidential.  She is not
18      accurately reflecting those --
19           THE COURT:  So these were discussions in
20      confidence in mediation?
21           MR. FARO:  That’s correct.  These were
22      part of the confidential mediation.
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 1           THE COURT:  Okay.
 2           MR. FARO:  That was ordered by the Court.
 3           THE COURT:  What is the objection?
 4           MR. FARO:  She is not reporting them
 5      accurately.
 6           THE COURT:  Well, whether it’s accurate
 7      or not doesn’t matter if it was supposed to be
 8      held confidential.
 9           MR. FARO:  It was confidential.  The
10      order -- I forget the mediator’s name but she
11      is --
12           THE COURT:  Okay.
13 BY MS. KEPLER:
14      Q   But the term is still within the
15 settlement agreement, correct?
16      A   Correct.  It is.
17      Q   And was it Mr. Faro or the Respondent who
18 requested that this was a provision to be
19 contained within the settlement agreement?
20      A   Yes.  And the issue --
21           MR. FARO:  Same objection, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Sustained.

Page 157
 1           THE WITNESS:  The issue was --
 2           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please, you’re getting
 3      ahead of me.
 4           THE WITNESS:  Sorry.
 5           THE COURT:  To the extent we are talking
 6      about terms of the settlement, we have got the
 7      settlement agreement in front of us.  We don’t
 8      have the language and the letter that was to
 9      be drafted attached to this exhibit.  I gather
10      that it’s not in existence anymore?
11           MS. KEPLER:  The letter does exist.
12           THE COURT:  It does exist?
13           MS. KEPLER:  Yes.  Well, it was supposed
14      to be written.  It was transmitted to the
15      Respondent --
16           MR. FARO:  The letter -- the letter does
17      not exist and was never accepted, Your Honor.
18      That is a misstatement of the record.
19           THE WITNESS:  That is such a lie.
20           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please.
21           THE WITNESS:  I will show my laptop.
22           THE COURT:  There was supposed to be an

Page 158
 1      annex to the settlement agreement.  There is
 2      no annex to the settlement agreement.  And
 3      there necessarily doesn’t have to even be a
 4      letter that was completed in furtherance of
 5      that annex.  My question is, is there a copy
 6      of that annex available?
 7           MS. KEPLER:  Yes, there is.  And I can --
 8           THE COURT:  So then why are we going
 9      around in circles on something that could be
10      readily established?
11           MS. KEPLER:  I will be happy to produce
12      that letter.
13           MR. FARO:  The letter was never --
14           THE WITNESS:  I have it right here on my
15      laptop.
16           THE COURT:  The point is not whether it
17      was agreed to or not.  It’s referred to in
18      this document.  Now if you want to impeach the
19      document in some way by what was in annex to
20      it, you will have a chance to do that.
21           MR. FARO:  Thank you, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Go.
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 1           MS. KEPLER:  Thank you.
 2 BY MS. KEPLER:
 3      Q   I will produce the letter.
 4      A   I have -- just for the record, I not only
 5 have the letter, I have the email from Mr. Faro
 6 saying attached is the letter I have approved and
 7 my executed agreement.  And so it’s in an email
 8 from Mr. Faro himself.
 9      Q   Suffice it to say that this is the
10 settlement agreement, a letter was to be written,
11 Respondent signed and executed this settlement
12 agreement, correct?
13      A   Correct.
14      Q   We were talking about the second term of
15 this settlement agreement.  The provision that
16 says: Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel are
17 to voluntarily cooperate.  Correct?
18      A   Yes.  I had a very difficult time with
19 that.
20      Q   Did you have any concerns about this
21 provision at the time?
22      A   Oh, very much so.
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 1      Q   What were your concerns?
 2      A   Well, at first --
 3           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, same
 4      objection.  These were part of a confidential
 5      settlement discussions and these provisions
 6      were negotiated back and forth and not
 7      necessarily proposed by me.
 8           MS. KEPLER:  Her concern --
 9           MR. FARO:  Excuse me, ma’am.  There was a
10      negotiation and things were proffered in
11      exchange for money.  That’s what this was all
12      about.  Money.
13           THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, regardless of
14      what may have been discussed in confidence,
15      the witness was asked about the language that
16      appears in the open document.  And what her
17      position was on that.  And she can answer that
18      question.
19           MR. FARO:  She was not the one
20      negotiating it, Judge.  We haven’t gotten to
21      that point.  She never answered the question
22      if she was negotiating.  The negotiations were
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 1      between myself and Mr. Greenberg, not her.
 2           THE WITNESS:  That is not true.
 3           MS. KEPLER:  The question was, did you
 4      have any concerns about this provision of the
 5      settlement agreement at the time?
 6           THE WITNESS:  I very --
 7           THE COURT:  Wait, wait.  And whether or
 8      not she was involved in the actual
 9      negotiation, if she was present when this was
10      going on she can express what concerns she
11      had.
12           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  And just to give some
13      sort of background with this.  The
14      negotiations with regards to the terms of
15      number 2 and all of these terms plus the
16      verbiage of that annex letter, those
17      negotiations continued for days after the
18      mediation -- the official mediation was over.
19      We worked with each other back and forth to
20      create the verbiage to agree, no I want you to
21      take that out and I want you to put that in.
22                With regards to the second clause on
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 1      page three, Bates 3, I was very very concerned
 2      to the point where I personally consulted with
 3      the Florida Bar.  I did legal research
 4      personally and this was all for me because I
 5      am now being asked to obstruct justice
 6      essentially unless I have a subpoena.  So I
 7      did find case law in Florida that says you
 8      cannot ask someone to not participate in
 9      investigations or Florida Bar investigations
10      or any kind of that nature as part of a
11      settlement agreement.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   But as part of the settlement process,
14 you did agree to have that provision contained
15 within the settlement?
16      A   I did because the subpoena section was
17 added.
18      Q   Looking at paragraph number 3 of the
19 settlement terms.  It talks about payments that
20 Respondent was to make in settlement of this
21 agreement.  A total of $7,040.00, $5,000.00
22 immediately upon execution of this agreement
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 1 payable to CRGO, for deposited into the company’s
 2 trust account.  And then the remaining $2040.00
 3 over a period of three months in equally monthly
 4 installments of $680.00 commencing one month after
 5 the execution of this agreement.
 6           Why were the payments broken up in this
 7 way?
 8      A   We did that to accommodate Mr. Faro so he
 9 wasn’t hit financially so hard in one month.
10      Q   And the fourth term of the settlement
11 agreement is a stipulation of dismissal without
12 prejudice of the case in the Southern District of
13 Florida, each party bearing its own fees and
14 costs.
15           This was another settlement term that you
16 agreed to or your client agreed to?
17      A   Absolutely, yes.
18      Q   And that the Respondent agreed to?
19      A   Yes.
20      Q   All of these were terms that the
21 Respondent agreed to and that your client agreed
22 to?

APPX 943 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “12” 
 

In the Matter of John H. Faro, Respondent, Case No D2015-27, Trial 
Transcript, May 10, 2016 @Page 156, Line 17 to Page 159, Line 3 

 
 
 

  

APPX 944 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



In the Matter of:

In re: John H. Faro

May 10, 2016

( ourt Reporting
Videography
Videoconferencing

Phone: 703-837-0076 1010 Cameron Street
Fax: 703-837-8118 Alexandria, VA 22310
Toll Free: 877-837-0077 transcript@casamo.com

APPX 945 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



1 (1)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1         UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  2             BEFORE THE ADMINSTRATIVE LAW JUDGE

  3

  4   In the Matter of:         Proceeding No. D2015-27

  5        John H. Faro,

  6             Respondent.

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11             The Honorable J. Jeremiah Mahoney

 12                  U.S. Administrative Judge

 13       James Lawrence King Federal Justice Building

 14                       99 NE 4th Street

 15                   Courtroom #4, 10th Floor

 16                     Miami, Florida 33132

 17

 18

 19

 20                  Tuesday, May 10, 2016

 21                    10:05 a.m. - 5:38 p.m.

 22       REPORTED BY ASHLEIGH SIMMONS, Court Reporter

APPX 946 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



2 (2)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1                    A P P E A R A N C E S

  2

  3

  4   UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

  5        Associate Solicitors

  6        MAIL STOP 8

  7        Office of the Solicitor

  8        P.O. Box 1450

  9        Alexandria, VA 22313-1450

 10        TRACY KEPLER, ESQ.

 11        ROBIN CRABB, ESQ.

 12        PTO-HUDcases@uspto.gov

 13

 14        EDMAR M. AMAYA, L.L.M., ESQ.

 15        ATTORNEY FOR THE RESPONDENT

 16        Latitude One Building

 17        175 SW 7th Street, Suite 2410

 18        Miami, Florida 33130

 19        305.643.0740

 20        Edmar.amaya@edmanlaw.com

 21

 22   ALSO PRESENT:  John H. Faro, Esq.

APPX 947 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



3 (3)
In re: John Faro 5/10/2016

Casamo & Associates 703 837 0076 www.casamo.com

  1                           I N D E X

  2   WITNESS           DIRECT   CROSS   REDIRECT RECROSS

  3   KATHERINE BLAKE    30       76       124

  4   MEREDITH CHAIKEN   130      169

  5   JOHN FARO          176      257 (Continued)

  6

  7

  8

  9

 10

 11

 12

 13

 14

 15

 16

 17

 18

 19

 20

 21

 22

APPX 948 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Page 152
 1           When do we apprise the Court that this is
 2 settled?  John.
 3      Q   And what is the rest of this document,
 4 Government's Exhibit Number 33?
 5      A   This is the settlement agreement, the
 6 general mutual -- it’s titled General, Mutual
 7 Settlement Agreement and Release.
 8      Q   I would like to look at the agreement
 9 first which is Bates page 2 through 6.
10      A   Yes.
11      Q   Specifically on the second page which is
12 Bates page 3, under A The Settlement Terms.
13      A   Okay.
14      Q   The first settlement term that’s listed
15 is a letter from John H. Faro on FARO & Associates
16 letterhead to Katherine Blake with the agreed upon
17 verbiage (annexed hereto).
18           That verbiage is not annexed hereto but
19 can you tell the Court what was supposed to be
20 contained within that letter?
21      A   Yes.  It had to do with Mr. Faro
22 acknowledging that he intentionally abandoned the

Page 153
 1 ‘519 Application.
 2           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, the
 3      letter is the best evidence of what was
 4      stated.
 5           THE COURT:  Sustained.
 6 BY MS. KEPLER:
 7      Q   You can continue -- oh, sustained, sorry.
 8           She can -- well, what did you want Mr.
 9 Faro to say?
10      A   What we wanted from Mr. Faro which we
11 told him repeatedly, was we wanted him to admit
12 which he did it during his deposition, that he
13 intentionally abandoned the patent application.
14           And which he had done so on a few other
15 occasions and was reprimanded by the Florida Bar -
16 -
17           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, objection.  My
18      deposition is the best evidence of that.  She
19      is not referring to any deposition testimony.
20      That is her recollection and it is inaccurate.
21      There was never any admission that it was
22      intentionally abandoned.

Page 154
 1           THE COURT:  Well, to the extent of the
 2      witness saw or observed your testimony, the
 3      witness can recount her recollection of that.
 4           THE WITNESS:  I did -- I was present for
 5      Mr. Faro’s deposition and I read his
 6      transcript numerous times which I had to do to
 7      draft summary judgement motions.  I also
 8      drafted the letter that is referred to in the
 9      settlement agreement.  So I can testify that
10      he admitted that he intentionally abandoned
11      patent application.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   And that was -- those were terms that
14 were supposed to be contained in this letter that
15 was agreed to be written pursuant to the
16 settlement?
17      A   Correct.
18      Q   The second provision of the settlement
19 terms.  Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel
20 or agents, or any other company representative of
21 EPRT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty., Ltd,
22 will voluntarily participate on behalf of
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 1 Katherine Blake in the presently pending
 2 disciplinary proceedings against John H. Faro,
 3 before the Florida Bar and USPTO.  However,
 4 Defendants recognize Plaintiffs’ legal obligation
 5 to cooperate with the Florida Bar and the USPTO
 6 pursuant to any subpoena issued by the Florida
 7 Bar, the USPTO or any court of competent
 8 jurisdiction.
 9           Who requested that this provision be
10 contained within the settlement agreement?
11      A   Mr. Faro requested that.  And this
12 provision actually started out with Mr. Faro
13 requesting us to contact the OED and the Florida
14 Bar --
15           MR. FARO:  Your Honor, this is
16      confidential mediation discussions.  These
17      discussions were confidential.  She is not
18      accurately reflecting those --
19           THE COURT:  So these were discussions in
20      confidence in mediation?
21           MR. FARO:  That’s correct.  These were
22      part of the confidential mediation.
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 1           THE COURT:  Okay.
 2           MR. FARO:  That was ordered by the Court.
 3           THE COURT:  What is the objection?
 4           MR. FARO:  She is not reporting them
 5      accurately.
 6           THE COURT:  Well, whether it’s accurate
 7      or not doesn’t matter if it was supposed to be
 8      held confidential.
 9           MR. FARO:  It was confidential.  The
10      order -- I forget the mediator’s name but she
11      is --
12           THE COURT:  Okay.
13 BY MS. KEPLER:
14      Q   But the term is still within the
15 settlement agreement, correct?
16      A   Correct.  It is.
17      Q   And was it Mr. Faro or the Respondent who
18 requested that this was a provision to be
19 contained within the settlement agreement?
20      A   Yes.  And the issue --
21           MR. FARO:  Same objection, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Sustained.

Page 157
 1           THE WITNESS:  The issue was --
 2           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please, you’re getting
 3      ahead of me.
 4           THE WITNESS:  Sorry.
 5           THE COURT:  To the extent we are talking
 6      about terms of the settlement, we have got the
 7      settlement agreement in front of us.  We don’t
 8      have the language and the letter that was to
 9      be drafted attached to this exhibit.  I gather
10      that it’s not in existence anymore?
11           MS. KEPLER:  The letter does exist.
12           THE COURT:  It does exist?
13           MS. KEPLER:  Yes.  Well, it was supposed
14      to be written.  It was transmitted to the
15      Respondent --
16           MR. FARO:  The letter -- the letter does
17      not exist and was never accepted, Your Honor.
18      That is a misstatement of the record.
19           THE WITNESS:  That is such a lie.
20           THE COURT:  Wait.  Please.
21           THE WITNESS:  I will show my laptop.
22           THE COURT:  There was supposed to be an
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 1      annex to the settlement agreement.  There is
 2      no annex to the settlement agreement.  And
 3      there necessarily doesn’t have to even be a
 4      letter that was completed in furtherance of
 5      that annex.  My question is, is there a copy
 6      of that annex available?
 7           MS. KEPLER:  Yes, there is.  And I can --
 8           THE COURT:  So then why are we going
 9      around in circles on something that could be
10      readily established?
11           MS. KEPLER:  I will be happy to produce
12      that letter.
13           MR. FARO:  The letter was never --
14           THE WITNESS:  I have it right here on my
15      laptop.
16           THE COURT:  The point is not whether it
17      was agreed to or not.  It’s referred to in
18      this document.  Now if you want to impeach the
19      document in some way by what was in annex to
20      it, you will have a chance to do that.
21           MR. FARO:  Thank you, Your Honor.
22           THE COURT:  Go.
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 1           MS. KEPLER:  Thank you.
 2 BY MS. KEPLER:
 3      Q   I will produce the letter.
 4      A   I have -- just for the record, I not only
 5 have the letter, I have the email from Mr. Faro
 6 saying attached is the letter I have approved and
 7 my executed agreement.  And so it’s in an email
 8 from Mr. Faro himself.
 9      Q   Suffice it to say that this is the
10 settlement agreement, a letter was to be written,
11 Respondent signed and executed this settlement
12 agreement, correct?
13      A   Correct.
14      Q   We were talking about the second term of
15 this settlement agreement.  The provision that
16 says: Neither Katherine Blake, nor her counsel are
17 to voluntarily cooperate.  Correct?
18      A   Yes.  I had a very difficult time with
19 that.
20      Q   Did you have any concerns about this
21 provision at the time?
22      A   Oh, very much so.

APPX 950 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Page 160
 1      Q   What were your concerns?
 2      A   Well, at first --
 3           MR. FARO:  Objection.  Your Honor, same
 4      objection.  These were part of a confidential
 5      settlement discussions and these provisions
 6      were negotiated back and forth and not
 7      necessarily proposed by me.
 8           MS. KEPLER:  Her concern --
 9           MR. FARO:  Excuse me, ma’am.  There was a
10      negotiation and things were proffered in
11      exchange for money.  That’s what this was all
12      about.  Money.
13           THE COURT:  Okay.  Well, regardless of
14      what may have been discussed in confidence,
15      the witness was asked about the language that
16      appears in the open document.  And what her
17      position was on that.  And she can answer that
18      question.
19           MR. FARO:  She was not the one
20      negotiating it, Judge.  We haven’t gotten to
21      that point.  She never answered the question
22      if she was negotiating.  The negotiations were
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 1      between myself and Mr. Greenberg, not her.
 2           THE WITNESS:  That is not true.
 3           MS. KEPLER:  The question was, did you
 4      have any concerns about this provision of the
 5      settlement agreement at the time?
 6           THE WITNESS:  I very --
 7           THE COURT:  Wait, wait.  And whether or
 8      not she was involved in the actual
 9      negotiation, if she was present when this was
10      going on she can express what concerns she
11      had.
12           THE WITNESS:  Yes.  And just to give some
13      sort of background with this.  The
14      negotiations with regards to the terms of
15      number 2 and all of these terms plus the
16      verbiage of that annex letter, those
17      negotiations continued for days after the
18      mediation -- the official mediation was over.
19      We worked with each other back and forth to
20      create the verbiage to agree, no I want you to
21      take that out and I want you to put that in.
22                With regards to the second clause on
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 1      page three, Bates 3, I was very very concerned
 2      to the point where I personally consulted with
 3      the Florida Bar.  I did legal research
 4      personally and this was all for me because I
 5      am now being asked to obstruct justice
 6      essentially unless I have a subpoena.  So I
 7      did find case law in Florida that says you
 8      cannot ask someone to not participate in
 9      investigations or Florida Bar investigations
10      or any kind of that nature as part of a
11      settlement agreement.
12 BY MS. KEPLER:
13      Q   But as part of the settlement process,
14 you did agree to have that provision contained
15 within the settlement?
16      A   I did because the subpoena section was
17 added.
18      Q   Looking at paragraph number 3 of the
19 settlement terms.  It talks about payments that
20 Respondent was to make in settlement of this
21 agreement.  A total of $7,040.00, $5,000.00
22 immediately upon execution of this agreement
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 1 payable to CRGO, for deposited into the company’s
 2 trust account.  And then the remaining $2040.00
 3 over a period of three months in equally monthly
 4 installments of $680.00 commencing one month after
 5 the execution of this agreement.
 6           Why were the payments broken up in this
 7 way?
 8      A   We did that to accommodate Mr. Faro so he
 9 wasn’t hit financially so hard in one month.
10      Q   And the fourth term of the settlement
11 agreement is a stipulation of dismissal without
12 prejudice of the case in the Southern District of
13 Florida, each party bearing its own fees and
14 costs.
15           This was another settlement term that you
16 agreed to or your client agreed to?
17      A   Absolutely, yes.
18      Q   And that the Respondent agreed to?
19      A   Yes.
20      Q   All of these were terms that the
21 Respondent agreed to and that your client agreed
22 to?
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UNITED STATES PATBNT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE
BETORE THE ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDCE

Proceeding No. D20l 5-27

September I5, 2016

Appearances:

Tracy L. Kcpler, Esq.
Robin Crabbe, Esq.
Associale Solicitors
United States Patent and Trademark Office

John H. Faro, Esq.

Edmar Amaya, Esq.
A t t o r n eys fo r Resp onde n t

Before: J. Jeremiah MAHONEY, United States Administrative Law Judge

INITIAL DECISION A}{D ORDER

On May I l, 2015, the Court received a Complaint and Notice of Proceedings under 35
U.S.C. f 32 ("Complairzt") related to this matter. lnthe Complaint,the Director of the Office of
Enrollment and Discipline ("OED Director") for the United States Patent and Trademark Office
("USPTO" or "PTO") requested the suspension of John H. Faro ("Respondent") from practice
before the USPTO in patent, trademark, and other non-patent matters.r :{s the basis for his
request, the OED Director claimed Respondent committed multiple violrrtions of the USPTO
Code of Professional Responsibility during his representation of EPRT ilechnologies, Inc,
(*EPRT'or "the Client"),2 Specifically, the OED Director alteged various acts and omissions
cornmined by Respondent during his prosecution of EPRT's U.S. Patent Application No,
09/656,5l9 ("the '5I9 Application" or "Application"),

lPursuanttoanlnteragencyAgrecmentineffectbeginningMarch2T,20l3,AdminislrativeLawJudgesofthcU,S.
Department of Housing and Urban Devclopment are auahorized to hear cases brought try the U.S. Patent and
Tradernark OfIice.

2 The USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct apply to persons who practice before lhe USPTO and became
effective May 3,2013. The Complaint alleges Respondent commincd various violalions of the USPTO disciplinary
rules before the effective date of the Rules o[ Professional Conduct, The USPTO Code of Professional
Responsibility, rather than the Rules of Professional Conduct, lherclorc applies to this proceeding.

In the Maner of:
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rather than the state's own rules. He also contended that the Florida prc,ceeding had been
constitutionally inadequate and constituted a grave injustice. Respondent's argiments were
unpersuasive, Bnd the OED Director thus imposed a iublic reprimand orr November 18,2013.

As the 201 I disciplinary action was resolving itself, Respondent was also embroiled in
the rnalpractice lawsuits brought against him by EPR.T and Thriioint in Texas and, later, in
Florida, Those proceedings were predicated on the same conduct at issue in the piesent case.
Respondent agreed in principle to settte the Florida malpractice suit, including paying EPRT
$7,000. But to dale he has not complied with any of the terms of that senlemint, *d-no*
disputes that he is required to do so. Respondent eflectively leaves EPR.T in a lurch because the
Florida case has already been dismissed with prejudice based on the settlement agreemcnt, 30

The case at bar constitutes Respondent's fourth disciplinary proceeding. His previous
sanctions have not inspired him to better appreciate his duties toward hir; clienis. I,le has refused
to respond to his client, refused to return client prope(y, and allowed a c;lient matter to go
abandoned, just as he did in I995 and 201l. A more severe sancion is therefore warranted.3l

A second aggravating factor is Respondent's aftempt to silence lr4s. Blake and other
EPRT employees. While negotiating the settlement agreement in the Florida malpractice
lawsuit, Respondent inserted into the settlement agreement a section prohibiting any EPRT
personnel from testiling or participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary investigations
against him. Both investigations were prompted by grievances filed by Ms. Blake on behalf of
EPRT, The final senlement agreement included Respondent's prohibition, albeit with additional
language noting that EPRT personnel could participate if subpoenaed.

The only putpose of this prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations
against him. The Court thus agrees with the OED Direstor that this cons,titutes bad faith
obstruction of the PTO disciplinary investigation. See Kentucky Bar Asrs'n v, Unnafned
Aftornev,4l4 S.W.3d 412,418 (Ky.2013) (court applying similar rule found violation where a
setllement agreement required grievant to either withdraw disciplinary complaint or refuse to
voluntarily cooperate with investigation).

A third aggravating factor is Respondent's obstinate refusal to recognize his wrongdoing
or the harm he has caused his client. This case could have been resolved in 201 I with an
apology and the retum of EPRT's payments. Instead, Respondent has Nrned it into a war 0f
attrition. To date, Respondent has never offered EFRT a refund. He has never apologized to
Ms' Blake for deliberately ignoring her urgenl pleas for information. He has not acknowledged
the consequcnces of neglecting the '519 Application for almost two yeart. He has shown no hint
of remorse for his actions. To the contrary, Respondent has anempted to deflect blame onto any

r0 The,Court will consider the facB sunounding Respondent's unfulfilled conditions of'his settlement agreement
with Ttrisoint in the Southern District of Ftoridi lawiuit as aggravatlon in derermining an appropriari sincrion in
[o-tq*, -ltguably Respondent's conduct in that mattcr coui-diave bedn alleged as a"vlolati6n tif :Z C.f .n, E
10.23(bX6), bur it was nor.

" In hisfosr-ffearing Reply Briel Respondent argues that the discipline in 1995 was tr)o remore ro be treated as an
aggravatingfactorhere. Generally,thcCourtwoul-dbeinclincdtoagrce.However,themisconductinvolvedinthat
case is identical to misconduct found here, Respondent eithcr did no'[ adjust his conduct after the 1995 discipline, or
he has slipped back inro his old habirs.

30APPX 954 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



EXHIBIT "14"

Director Final Order, (Aug, 2, 2017), @36

APPX 955 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



A secotrd aggravatir"rg iirclor rvas idcntiljed as Appeilant's attempt lo silcncc lvfs. tllakc ancl

other EPR't'ertployces via ii clause in the Floricia malpriicl.icc settlcmc:nt agreefrent prol-ribiting

any EPI{'l'pcrsonne I liom testilying or participating irr Florida's or thc l]SP'fO's disciplinary

irrvestigations agairrst him. (A.5490-\)3, A.7614-11). Both irn,estigatiolrs were proulpred tr-v

grievanccs liled by I\4s. Blake onbehall'of I1l)i('t. (A.30). \t4rilc thc ilnal settlsrnent agrcelrrent

inclutiecl languagc noting that EPI{I'personne) couid participatu if subpoenucd. the z\1..1 noterJ

that the ttnly purpose of this prohibition u,as to hinder or derail lhc disciplinary investigations

against hirn. (A.3t)). Thc AI.J conclutlcd that lhis constitlLtcs bad lirith obstnrclion ot'tlrc USI'}'lo

disciplinary'invcsligtrtion. (irl.); see also Kenlucky Bur A.ts'ny. (innutncd,4tturne.y-.414 S.W.3d

412, 418 (Ky. 201:\) (cour1 ;rpplying sirnilar rule fbund vioiation where a scttlement agreement

requircd grievant trr either rvithdraw disciplirrary cornplaint or rcluse to voluntzu'ily ooopcrate

with irivestigatiorr).

A third aggravating lactor was noted as Appellant's "obstinatc retusal to recognize his

wrorrgdoing or the harm he has caused his clicnt." (A.30). Appcllant ne,ver of'fered EPRT a

reflnd and has ncver apolugized ur Ms. Fllal<e lol deiibcrately ignoring hcr urgerrt pleas tbr

inlirnntrtion. (f .30). Inslcad. it u,as noter-lthal Appcllarit has attc.nrpted to dcllect blan're thc

receptionist in his 'W. Irlagler officc tbr misplaciirg his miril, his cx-rviii: tirr rnai.ntaining

possession of [iPRI's iile, Mr, Farahmancl ftrr ailcgedly threatcning a nralpracticc iawsuil. arrrl

incredibly hc cven bluned lr4s. Iliake autl IV{r. [stcs lbr lot asking !.robing clucstions ahotrt his

handling of their patent application, and lor not hiring an expcricncecl patent alirtnre-v as his

rcpJacement. (A 3t)-31). .lloweve L, the A1,J was unmoved by those de1lections. noting that "norie

of tliese ovcnts wonkl have occrrred if not fbr Appellant's own misconduct." (A.31). Thc AI-J

notec'l that this attrttrdc clcmanded a harslrer penult1,. (/ci.;.

39
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C}iIITIFICAI'}; OF SERVICE

I IIEr(EB\' (lIjRTII?Y that the foregoing Final order rvas sent to the
parties below, in thc nranner inclicatcrl:

VIA F'IRS'I CLASS IVIATL AND II-N,IAIt,:

John H. Faro
1.195 Brickell Avenue

Slrite 80{)
N{iarni, }'1. :131 3l

.lohn t75 7 I 2idaol.com
JohnfT5 7 I 2iDgnrai l.com

Aplrcllorn

VIA IIANI)-DIII.I V}.],IIY AND E.MAIL:
Robin Clrabt>

fracy KcpJcr
Associate Solicitors

Ir4ai1 Stop ll
Otlicc of' thc Soligitor

P.O. Br:x 1450

Alerandria, V h 2231 3- 1450
Robin. Crabb(@uspto. gov

OED Director

glt lP,,' r
Datc Ilnited
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There is no basis to ovcrtum these lindings or to seconcl-guess the A[-,J's decisiop to

admit Ms. Chaiken's testintony. First. r\ppellant only raiscd two, discrcct otrjcctir:ns to Ms.

chaiken's testimony, ol which one u,as over-ruled. (A.7647-a\;l\.265-53).'l'he bulk of Ms.

Chaiken's testimony was heard rvithout objection. Appellant also did nol objcct to introduuion

of the settlement agreement itself. (A.8002-05). As the OED Direclor norcs in his bricf, wherr a

parfy fails to object to tlie admission of evidence at the tirne it is introduqed, such oFrjccrions arc

waived. See Mi*oSlrategy Inc. v, Bus. obiects, S'.1.,331 F. Supp, 2d.3tt(t,420 (ll.I). Va.2004).

Consequcntly, Appcllant's objectiorts to adnrissiorr of Ms. Chaiken's testimorry are waived.

liurther, eveu without the srnall portion of Ms. Clhaikcn's tcstimoiry lirr wl:ich arr

objection was sustained, there is sr-rbstantial evidence in the record to support thc conclusion that

Appellant advocated frrr thc provision that airned to interfere with the USin'O disciplinary

investigation, l'his includes Ms. Chaiken's testimony, which thc ALJ allowcd, about her

concerns with the provision, hcr consultation with the Irlorida llar, and the revised language, as

stated above . (A.5491; A.7651-54). Finding no error of law or fact witJr thc AL.J's decision to

allow Ms. Chaiken's testintony, reconsideration on this basis is denied.

3. -Lbele- rhqutre_Au_'s trndiqs,of
l{egtgsr \Ydg_I_egaly1iAr&ctually Uns..upportcd.

AppcJlant lurlhcr claims that the [rinal Order was incorrect in fincling that Appellant

neglccted thc'519 Application. (Appeai at l3-i6). In support of this argumcnt, Appcllant clairls

that the l)lding was based on a "hindsigbt test relative to the sulliciency ,:f Appellant's

'monitoring practice,"'which includecl criticisms t'or relying ()Jl an exce ulivr: sr:itr: wlrr:rc hr: harl

no physical presence as a corTcspondence address and failing to atsociate lris Custorner Numbcr

with the '519 application, (1d ). I'lc argue s, as he did during the disciplinary hcaring, rhat no

USPTO rule or authority rcquircs such actions,(Id.). Further, he identified several "context

f AqA 1 '1 R-cr O0374- LT;Lf R nor-r rmp|rt 1 -1 ''l 
-.5ilpd O?/1 ?/1 t p^gp t n nf t,- prgoln/+ Cng., ..,_
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CEIITTT'ICATE O F SI'RVICB

I HllRtillY CERTIFY that rhe foregoing Finar orrier was s,rt ro rhc
partics bclow, in thc manner indicated:

VIA I']RST CI,/TSS MAIL ANI) I]-MAII,:

John H. Faro

1395 ]lrickcllAvenue
Suite 800

Miarni, FL 3313 i
Johnf/S7I2@a-qlegrnL

JslnjLr_Uf@fu
lppellant

VIA I{AND-DtrLIVERY AND [-MAIL:
Robin Crabb

Associate Solicitors
Mail Stop Il

Ofl'ice oI the Solicitor
P.O. Box 1450

Alexandria, Y A 223 13- I 450

.89 b_i n, C_rgb b@u$l o. say
SO-O tsDc ases @u sp.tg,gqy

OED Director

a /t lt<
Date
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 
 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO RESPONDENT’S 
MOTION IN LIMINE  

Complainant, The Florida Bar, files this Response in Opposition to 

Respondent’s Motion in Limine, and in support thereof states as follows: 

1. Respondent seeks to exclude from evidence any testimony or 

document referencing mediation negotiations in the federal malpractice action 

which arose out of the same facts underlying respondent’s discipline by the U.S. 

Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO).    Respondent does so in an effort to keep 

this Referee from considering such evidence as aggravation at the sanctions 

hearing in the Bar disciplinary proceedings.  Respondent’s motion must fail for 

two reasons. 
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2. First, it was respondent himself who placed these documents before 

the Referee.  The Administrative Law Judge Initial Opinion & Order dated 

September 15, 2016 is Exhibit 9 to respondent’s summary judgment motion.  It is 

also an exhibit to respondent’s earlier September 13, 2018 Motion to Stay the 

instant proceedings which he filed with the Florida Supreme Court, as well as with 

Judge Cohen when she served as referee in these proceedings.  Excerpts of 

testimony by Meredith Chaiken, counsel for respondent’s former client, who 

testified before the administrative law judge in the USPTO discipline proceedings, 

is Exhibit 13 to respondent’s supplemental filing of summary judgment exhibits.  

Respondent cannot use those documents when he believes they are useful to him 

and then object to their use when it is not.  He cannot have it both ways.   

3. Second, the rulings in the underlying USPTO proceedings are both 

public record and part of the record before this Referee.  As conceded by 

respondent, Ms. Chaiken’s testimony before the USPTO was allowed over 

respondent’s objection; at least in part because it addressed documentary evidence 

before the administrative law judge.  Consequently, the testimony became part of 

the record of those proceedings and was relied upon by the Administrative Law 

Judge as is reflected in his Initial Opinion and Order.  The substance of that 

testimony was found to be an aggravating factor.  Similarly, it was relied upon and 

deemed to be aggravation in the Final Orders subsequently issued by the Director 
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of the USPTO when respondent sought review of the Initial Opinion.  In fact, the 

testimony which respondent outrageously refers to as “the perjurious testimony of 

EPRT Counsel Chaiken” has never been deemed to be anything but credible.  The 

opinion and ruling of the Administrative Law Judge has been affirmed by the 

Director of the USPTO and the U.S. Federal District and Appellate Courts.  The 

bell cannot be un-rung.   

4. Bar disciplinary proceedings are quasi-judicial and the technical rules 

of evidence do not apply.  A referee can consider any evidence, such as a trial 

transcript or judgment, which is deemed relevant to resolving factual issues.  The 

Florida Bar v. Rood, 620 S0.2d 1252 (Fla. 1993).  The findings, orders, and 

testimony which respondent seeks to keep from this Referee’s view are both 

admissible and proper for consideration by the Referee. 

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully 

requests the entry of an Order denying Respondent’s Motion in Limine.  

     Respectfully submitted,     

          
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar – Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing document has been provided to The Honorable 
Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org 
and his judicial assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. 
Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and 
mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at 
johnf75712@aol.com, and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at 
psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 12th day of January, 2021. 

           

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
     Chief Branch Discipline Counsel 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 
 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S MOTION IN LIMINE TO EXCLUDE THE 
AFFIDAVIT OF MICHAEL EDWARD McCABE  

Complainant, The Florida Bar, files this Motion in Limine to Exclude the 

Affidavit of Michael Edward McCabe, and in support thereof states as follows: 

1. The Florida Bar seeks to exclude the testimony of Michael Edward 

McCabe, by affidavit and/or appearance, as evidence at respondent’s sanctions 

hearing.  

2. Respondent has previously had all his affirmative defenses struck and 

summary judgment has been granted in favor of The Florida Bar.  The sole issue 

remaining before the Referee is that of discipline. 

3. A reading of Mr. McCabe’s affidavit makes apparent that it is wholly 

irrelevant given the current posture of these proceedings.  Its primary purpose is to 
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attack the investigation and prosecution of the respondent by the USPTO, thereby 

seeking to negate the guilty findings imposed by that office and later affirmed by 

the federal courts.  That ship has long ago sailed.  Respondent is guilty.  The 

referee has already deemed him so.  The sole issue remaining is that of discipline.  

Mr. McCabe’s affidavit has not relevancy to that at all. 

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing, The Florida Bar respectfully 

requests the entry of an Order granting The Florida Bar’s Motion in Limine to 

Exclude the Affidavit of Michael Edward McCabe.  

     Respectfully submitted, 

    

Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar – Miami Branch Office 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing document has been provided to The Honorable 
Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org 
and his judicial assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. 
Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and 
mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at 
johnf75712@aol.com, and via email to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at 
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_______________________/ 

 
 
RESPONDENT’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO USE AUTHORITY 

 
COMES NOW, Respondent, John H. Faro, by and through his undersigned 

counsel, and files this Notice of Intent to Use Authority, James L. Kisor v. Robert 

Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019), during the January 15, 2021, hearing scheduled in the 

instant action.  A copy of Kisor is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

Respectfully, 
 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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By:  /s/ JOHN H. FARO_________ 

 Florida Bar No. 527.459  
  Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 
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 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Notice of Filing has been 

provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 12th  day of January, 2021. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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KeyCite Yellow Flag - Negative Treatment 
  Declined to Extend by United States v. Cruz-Flores, 5th Cir.(Tex.), 

March 24, 2020 
   
   
   
   
   

  139 S.Ct. 2400 
Supreme Court of the United States. 

James L. KISOR, Petitioner 
v. 

Robert WILKIE, Secretary of Veterans 
Affairs 

No. 18-15 
| 

Argued March 27, 2019 
| 

Decided June 26, 2019 

Synopsis 
Background: Veteran appealed decision of the Board of 
Veterans’ Appeals denying him an earlier effective date for 
a grant of service connection for post-traumatic stress 
disorder (PTSD). The United States Court of Appeals for 
Veterans Claims, No. 14-2811, Alan G. Lance, Sr., J., 2016 
WL 337517, affirmed, and veteran appealed. The United 
States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, Schall, 
Circuit Judge, 869 F.3d 1360, affirmed, applying Auer 
deference to the Board’s interpretation of a Department of 
Veterans Affairs (VA) regulation permitting disability 
claims to be reopened on the submission of relevant official 
service department records. Following the denial of 
rehearing and rehearing en banc, 880 F.3d 1378, certiorari 
was granted. 
  

Holdings: The Supreme Court, Justice Kagan, held that: 
  
[1] Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings of 
genuinely ambiguous regulations, while cabined in its 

scope, retains an important role in construing agency 
regulations; 
  
[2] agency constructions of genuinely ambiguous 
regulations do not receive greater deference under Auer 
than agency constructions of statutes, abrogating Ohio 
Department of Medicaid v. Price, 864 F. 3d 469; 
  
[3] stare decisis cut strongly against overruling Auer 
deference to agencies’ reasonable readings of genuinely 
ambiguous regulations; and 
  
[4] Court of Appeals improperly applied Auer deference to 
the Board’s interpretation of the VA regulation. 
  

Vacated and remanded. 
  
Chief Justice Roberts filed an opinion concurring in part. 
  
Justice Gorsuch filed an opinion concurring in the 
judgment, in which Justice Thomas joined, and in which 
Justice Kavanaugh and Justice Alito joined in part. 
  
Justice Kavanaugh filed an opinion concurring in the 
judgment, in which Justice Alito joined. 
  
 
 

West Headnotes (43) 
 
 
[1] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 
of genuinely ambiguous regulations, while 
cabined in its scope, retains an important role in 
construing agency regulations. 

3 Cases that cite this headnote 
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[2] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 
of genuinely ambiguous regulations is sometimes 
appropriate and sometimes not; whether to apply 
it depends on a range of considerations. 

2 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[3] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 
of genuinely ambiguous regulations is not the 
answer to every question of interpreting an 
agency’s rules. 

7 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[4] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Relationship of agency with rule or statute in 
general 
Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 The possibility of Auer deference to an agency’s 
interpretation of its own regulations can arise 
only if a regulation is genuinely ambiguous, even 
after a court has resorted to all the standard tools 
of interpretation. 

29 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 

 
[5] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Not all reasonable agency constructions of truly 
ambiguous rules are entitled to Auer deference. 

1 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[6] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Rules, 
regulations, and other policymaking 
 

 The court presumes that Congress intended for 
courts to defer to agencies when they interpret 
their own ambiguous rules. 

7 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[7] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Rules, 
regulations, and other policymaking 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 When the reasons for the presumption that 
Congress intended for courts to defer to agencies 
when they interpret their own ambiguous rules do 
not apply, or countervailing reasons outweigh 
them, courts should not give deference to an 
agency’s reading, except to the extent it has the 
power to persuade. 

6 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[8] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
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Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 
of genuinely ambiguous regulations is just a 
general rule; it does not apply in all cases. 

4 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[9] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 The limits of Auer deference to agencies’ 
reasonable readings of genuinely ambiguous 
regulations are not susceptible to any rigid test. 

5 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[10] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 
of genuinely ambiguous regulations is 
unwarranted when a court concludes that an 
interpretation does not reflect an agency’s 
authoritative, expertise-based, fair, or considered 
judgment. 

18 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[11] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Relationship of agency with rule or statute in 
general 
Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 A court should not afford Auer deference to an 

agency’s interpretation of its own regulation 
unless the regulation is genuinely ambiguous. 

98 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[12] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 If uncertainty as to the meaning of an agency’s 
regulation does not exist, there is no plausible 
reason to apply Auer deference to the agency’s 
interpretation of the regulation; the regulation 
then just means what it means, and the court must 
give it effect, as the court would any law. 

21 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[13] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 The core theory of Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of a genuinely ambiguous 
regulation is that sometimes the law runs out, and 
policy-laden choice is what is left over, but if the 
law gives an answer, that is, if there is only one 
reasonable construction of a regulation, then a 
court has no business deferring to any other 
reading, no matter how much the agency insists it 
would make more sense. 

5 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[14] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
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 Auer deference to agencies’ reasonable readings 

of genuinely ambiguous regulations does not 
permit the agency, under the guise of interpreting 
a regulation, to create de facto a new regulation. 

8 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[15] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Relationship of agency with rule or statute in 
general 
Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 Before concluding that a rule is genuinely 
ambiguous, as required to apply Auer deference 
to an agency’s interpretation of its own 
regulation, a court must exhaust all the traditional 
tools of construction, for only when that legal 
toolkit is empty and the interpretive question still 
has no single right answer can a judge conclude 
that it is more one of policy than of law. 

23 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[16] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Relationship of agency with rule or statute in 
general 
Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 A court must carefully consider the text, 
structure, history, and purpose of a regulation, in 
all the ways it would if it had no agency to fall 
back on, before concluding that the regulation is 
genuinely ambiguous, as required to apply Auer 
deference to an agency’s interpretation of its own 
regulation. 

30 Cases that cite this headnote 

 

 
 
[17] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 If genuine ambiguity remains in a regulation after 
the court has exhausted all the traditional tools of 
construction, the agency’s reading must still be 
“reasonable” for in order to apply Auer deference 
to an agency’s interpretation of its own 
regulation; in other words, it must come within 
the zone of ambiguity the court has identified 
after employing all its interpretive tools. 

21 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[18] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
 

 Agency constructions of genuinely ambiguous 
regulations do not receive greater deference 
under Auer than agency constructions of statutes; 
abrogating Ohio Department of Medicaid v. 
Price, 864 F. 3d 469. 

 
 

 
 
[19] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 Under Auer, as under Chevron, the agency’s 
reading must fall within the bounds of reasonable 
interpretation for a court to defer to an agency’s 
reasonable interpretation of its own genuinely 
ambiguous regulation, and that is a requirement 
an agency can fail. 

21 Cases that cite this headnote 
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[20] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Not every reasonable agency reading of a 
genuinely ambiguous rule should receive Auer 
deference. 

7 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[21] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 A court must make an independent inquiry into 
whether the character and context of the agency 
interpretation entitles it to controlling weight, for 
purposes of applying Auer deference to an 
agency’s reasonable reading of a genuinely 
ambiguous regulation. 

12 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[22] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 To apply Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of a genuinely ambiguous 
regulation, the regulatory interpretation must 
be one actually made by the agency; in other 
words, it must be the agency’s authoritative or 
official position, rather than any more ad hoc 
statement not reflecting the agency’s views. 

14 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[23] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 There are limits to applying Auer deference to an 
agency’s reasonable reading of a genuinely 
ambiguous regulation that does not come from, or 
is not even in the name of, the Secretary or his 
chief advisers, as the agency’s interpretation must 
at the least emanate from those actors, using those 
vehicles, understood to make authoritative policy 
in the relevant context; if the interpretation does 
not do so, a court may not defer. 

5 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[24] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 To apply Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of a genuinely ambiguous 
regulation, the agency’s interpretation must in 
some way implicate its substantive expertise. 

22 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[25] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 The basis for Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of a genuinely ambiguous 
regulation ebbs when the subject matter of the 
dispute is distant from the agency’s ordinary 
duties or falls within the scope of another 
agency’s authority. 

2 Cases that cite this headnote 
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[26] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 For purposes of Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of a genuinely ambiguous 
regulation, an agency gets no special authority to 
interpret its own words when, instead of using its 
expertise and experience to formulate a 
regulation, it has elected merely to paraphrase the 
statutory language. 

2 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[27] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 An agency’s reading of a rule must reflect fair 
and considered judgment to receive Auer 
deference. 

5 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[28] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 Under the Auer doctrine of deference to an 
agency’s reasonable reading of a genuinely 
ambiguous regulation, a court should decline to 
defer to a merely convenient litigating position or 
post hoc rationalization advanced to defend past 
agency action against attack. 

12 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[29] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 Under the Auer doctrine of deference to an 
agency’s reasonable reading of a genuinely 
ambiguous regulation, a court may not defer to a 
new interpretation, whether or not introduced in 
litigation, that creates unfair surprise to regulated 
parties, and that disruption of expectations may 
occur when an agency substitutes one view of a 
rule for another. 

9 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[30] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 The general rule, under the Auer doctrine of 
deference to an agency’s reasonable reading of a 
genuinely ambiguous regulation, is not to give 
deference to agency interpretations advanced for 
the first time in legal briefs. 

22 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[31] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 When it applies, Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of genuinely ambiguous 
regulations gives an agency significant leeway to 
say what its own rules mean, and in so doing, the 
Auer doctrine enables the agency to fill out the 
regulatory scheme Congress has placed under its 
supervision. 

6 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[32] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
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 Stare decisis cut strongly against overruling Auer 
deference to agencies’ reasonable readings of 
genuinely ambiguous regulations; Auer 
deference was not a single case, but a long line of 
precedents, each one reaffirming the rest and 
going back 75 years or more, abandoning Auer 
deference would cast doubt on many settled 
constructions of rules, Congress remained free to 
alter Auer, but it had, for approaching a century, 
let the deference regime work side-by-side with 
both the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) 
and the many statutes delegating rulemaking 
power to agencies, and it had done so even after 
Supreme Court made clear that its deference 
decisions reflected a presumption about 
congressional intent. 5 U.S.C.A. § 551 et seq. 
 
 

 
 
[33] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
 

 Overruling precedent is never a small matter. 

2 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[34] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
 

 Adherence to precedent is a foundation stone of 
the rule of law. 

4 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[35] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
 

 Adherence to precedent promotes the 
evenhanded, predictable, and consistent 
development of legal principles, fosters reliance 

on judicial decisions, and contributes to the actual 
and perceived integrity of the judicial process. 

7 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[36] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
 

 Stare decisis is not an inexorable command. 

1 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[37] 
 

Courts Previous Decisions as Controlling or 
as Precedents 
 

 Any departure from the doctrine of stare decisis 
demands special justification, something more 
than an argument that the precedent was wrongly 
decided. 

5 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[38] 
 

Courts Supreme Court decisions 
 

 In a constitutional case, only the Supreme Court 
can correct its error. 

 
 

 
 
[39] 
 

Courts Supreme Court decisions 
 

 Whether Supreme Court opinions are right and 
well-reasoned is not the test for overturning 
precedent. 
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[40] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Administrative Powers and Proceedings 
 

 Administrative law doctrines must take account 
of the far-reaching influence of agencies and the 
opportunities such power carries for abuse. 

 
 

 
 
[41] 
 

Armed Services Further review 
 

 Court of Appeals improperly applied Auer 
deference to interpretation by Board of Veterans’ 
Appeals, through single judge’s opinion, of 
Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) regulation 
permitting disability claims to be reopened on 
submission of relevant official service 
department records, in affirming the Board’s 
decision denying veteran an earlier effective date 
for grant of service connection for post-traumatic 
stress disorder (PTSD); the Court jumped the gun 
in declaring the regulation ambiguous, without 
bringing all its interpretive tools to bear before 
finding that to be so, and the Court assumed too 
fast that Auer deference should apply in the event 
of genuine ambiguity, without assessing whether 
the Board’s interpretation was of the sort 
Congress would have wanted to receive 
deference. 38 C.F.R. § 3.156(c)(1). 

1 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[42] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure Plain, 
literal, or clear meaning; ambiguity or silence 
Administrative Law and Procedure
Permissible or reasonable construction 
 

 Before concluding that a regulation is genuinely 
ambiguous, as required to apply Auer deference 
to an agency’s reasonable interpretation of the 
regulation, the court must make a conscientious 
effort to determine, based on indicia like text, 
structure, history, and purpose, whether the 
regulation really has more than one reasonable 
meaning. 

19 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
[43] 
 

Administrative Law and Procedure
Deference to Agency in General 
 

 Before applying Auer deference to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of its own genuinely 
ambiguous regulation, a court must assess 
whether the interpretation is of the sort that 
Congress would want to receive deference. 

1 Cases that cite this headnote 
 

 
 
 

Syllabus* 

Petitioner James Kisor, a Vietnam War veteran, first sought 
disability benefits from the Department of Veterans Affairs 
(VA) in 1982, alleging that he had developed post-
traumatic stress disorder from his military service. The 
agency denied his initial request, but in 2006, Kisor moved 
to reopen his claim. The VA this time agreed he was 
eligible for benefits, but it granted those benefits only from 
the date of his motion to reopen, not (as Kisor had 
requested) from the date of his first application. The Board 
of Veterans’ Appeals—a part of the VA—affirmed that 
retroactivity decision, based on its interpretation of an 
agency rule governing such claims. The Court of Appeals 
for Veterans Claims affirmed. 
  
The Federal Circuit also affirmed, but it did so by applying 
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a doctrine called Auer (or sometimes, Seminole Rock) 
deference. See Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 117 S.Ct. 
905, 137 L.Ed.2d 79; Bowles v. Seminole Rock & Sand Co., 
325 U.S. 410, 65 S.Ct. 1215, 89 L.Ed. 1700. Under that 
doctrine, this Court has long deferred to an agency’s 
reasonable reading of its own genuinely ambiguous 
regulations. The Court of Appeals concluded that the VA 
regulation at issue was ambiguous, and it therefore 
deferred to the Board’s interpretation of the rule. Kisor now 
asks the Court to overrule Auer, as well as its predecessor 
Seminole Rock, discarding the deference those decisions 
give to agencies. 
  
Held: The judgment is vacated and remanded. 
  
869 F.3d 1360, vacated and remanded. 
  
Justice KAGAN delivered the opinion of the Court with 
respect to Parts I, II–B, III–B, and IV, holding that Auer 
and Seminole Rock are not overruled. Pp. 2413 - 2418, 
2421 - 2424. 
  
(a) This Court’s deference doctrine is rooted in a 
presumption that Congress intended for courts to defer to 
agencies when they interpret their own ambiguous rules. 
The Court adopts that presumption for a set of reasons 
related to the comparative attributes of courts and agencies 
in answering interpretive questions. But when the reasons 
for the presumption do not hold up, or when countervailing 
reasons outweigh them, courts should not give deference to 
an agency’s reading. The Court has thus cabined Auer’s 
scope in varied and critical ways. 
  
First and foremost, a court should not afford Auer 
deference unless, after exhausting all the “traditional tools” 
of construction, Chevron U. S. A. Inc. v. Natural Resources 
Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843, n. 9, 104 S.Ct. 
2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694, the regulation is genuinely 
ambiguous. A court must carefully consider the text, 
structure, history, and purpose of a regulation before 
resorting to deference. If genuine ambiguity remains, the 
agency’s reading must still fall “within the bounds of 
reasonable interpretation.” Arlington v. FCC, 569 U.S. 
290, 296, 133 S.Ct. 1863, 185 L.Ed.2d 941. 
  
And even then, not every reasonable agency reading of a 
genuinely ambiguous rule should receive Auer deference. 
Rather, a court must also make an independent inquiry into 
whether the character and context of the agency 

interpretation entitles it to controlling weight. See, e.g., 
Christopher v. SmithKline Beecham Corp., 567 U.S. 142, 
155, 132 S.Ct. 2156, 183 L.Ed.2d 153. The inquiry along 
this dimension does not reduce to an exhaustive test, but 
the Court has laid out some especially important markers 
for identifying when Auer deference is and is not 
appropriate. To begin with, the regulatory interpretation 
must be the agency’s authoritative or official position, 
rather than any more ad hoc statement not reflecting the 
agency’s views. Next, the agency’s interpretation must in 
some way implicate its substantive expertise, as the basis 
for deference ebbs when the subject matter of a dispute is 
distant from the agency’s ordinary duties. Finally, an 
agency’s reading of a rule must reflect its “fair and 
considered judgment.” Auer, 519 U.S. at 462, 117 S.Ct. 
905. A court should decline to defer, for example, to a 
merely “ ‘convenient litigating position,’ ” Christopher, 
567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 2156., or to a new interpretation 
that creates “unfair surprise” to regulated parties, Long 
Island Care at Home, Ltd. v. Coke, 551 U.S. 158, 170, 127 
S.Ct. 2339, 168 L.Ed.2d 54. Pp. 2413 - 2418. 
  
(b) Stare decisis cuts strongly against overruling Auer. 
Adherence to precedent is “a foundation stone of the rule 
of law,” Michigan v. Bay Mills Indian Community, 572 
U.S. 782, 798, 134 S.Ct. 2024, 188 L.Ed.2d 1071, and any 
departure from the doctrine demands “special 
justification,” Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 
573 U.S. 258, 266, 134 S.Ct. 2398, 189 L.Ed.2d 339. That 
is even more than usually so in the circumstances here. 
First, Kisor asks the Court to overrule a “long line of 
precedents”—each one reaffirming the rest and going back 
75 years or more. Bay Mills, 572 U.S. at 798, 134 S.Ct. 
2024. Second, because Auer deference pervades the whole 
corpus of administrative law, abandoning it would cast 
doubt on many settled constructions of rules. And third, 
even if the Court is wrong about Auer, “Congress remains 
free to alter what [the Court has] done.” Patterson v. 
McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 172–173, 109 S.Ct. 
2363, 105 L.Ed.2d 132. For approaching a century, 
Congress has let this deference regime work side-by-side 
with both the Administrative Procedure Act (APA) and the 
many statutes delegating rulemaking power to agencies. 
This Court would thus need a particularly “special 
justification” to now reverse Auer. 
  
Kisor offers nothing of that ilk. Nearly all of his arguments 
relate to whether the doctrine is wrong or poorly reasoned. 
He does not claim that Auer deference is “unworkable,” a 
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traditional basis for overruling a case, Patterson, 491 U.S. 
at 173, 109 S.Ct. 2363, or point to changes in legal rules 
that make Auer a “doctrinal dinosaur,” Kimble v. Marvel 
Entertainment, LLC, 576 U. S. ––––, ––––, 135 S.Ct. 2401, 
2411, 192 L.Ed.2d 463. Instead, his lone special 
justification is that the administrative state has evolved 
substantially since this Court decided Seminole Rock in 
1945. It is true that agencies have far-reaching influence 
today; that is one reason the Court has taken care to 
reinforce the limits of Auer deference. But it is no answer 
to the growth of agencies for courts to take over their 
expertise-based, policymaking functions. Pp. 2421 - 2423. 
  
(c) Turning to Kisor’s own case, a remand is necessary for 
two reasons. First, the Federal Circuit jumped the gun in 
declaring the VA’s regulation ambiguous before bringing 
all its interpretive tools to bear on the question. Second, the 
Federal Circuit assumed too fast that Auer deference 
should apply in the event of genuine ambiguity, rather than 
assessing whether the interpretation is of the sort that 
Congress would want to receive deference. On remand, the 
Court of Appeals must reconsider whether Auer deference 
is warranted, bearing in mind the principles outlined in this 
opinion. Pp. 2423 - 2424. 
  
Justice KAGAN, joined by Justice GINSBURG, Justice 
BREYER, and Justice SOTOMAYOR, concluded in Parts 
II–A and III–A:  
  
(a) Auer deference is rooted in a presumption that Congress 
would generally want the agency to play the primary role 
in resolving regulatory ambiguities. See Martin v. 
Occupational Safety and Health Review Comm’n, 499 U.S. 
144, 151–153, 111 S.Ct. 1171, 113 L.Ed.2d 117. In part, 
the presumption arises because the agency that 
promulgated a rule is in the “better position [to] 
reconstruct” its original meaning. Id., at 152, 111 S.Ct. 
1171. In still greater measure, the presumption stems from 
an awareness that resolving genuine regulatory ambiguities 
often “ ‘entail[s] the exercise of judgment grounded in 
policy concerns,’ ” an area where agencies have a 
comparative advantage over courts. Thomas Jefferson 
Univ. v. Shalala, 512 U.S. 504, 512, 114 S.Ct. 2381, 129 
L.Ed.2d 405. Finally, the presumption reflects the well-
known benefits of uniformity in interpreting ambiguous 
rules. Auer deference promotes “resolving interpretive 
issues by uniform administrative decision, rather than 
piecemeal by litigation,” Ford Motor Credit Co. v. 
Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 568, 100 S.Ct. 790, 63 L.Ed.2d 

22. p. 2413. 
  
(b) None of Kisor’s arguments provide good reason to 
reconsider Auer deference. First, he claims that Auer is 
inconsistent with the APA’s judicial review provision, 
which instructs reviewing courts to “determine the 
meaning” of an agency action. 5 U.S.C. § 706. Even when 
a court defers to a regulatory reading, however, it acts 
consistently with Section 706. That provision does not 
specify the standard of review a court should use in 
“determin[ing] the meaning” of an ambiguous rule. This 
Court thus presumes that Congress would want courts to 
do so by reviewing agency interpretations for 
reasonableness. That is especially so because Section 706, 
when enacted, was understood to restate the present law of 
judicial review—which would have included deference 
under Seminole Rock. Nor does Auer circumvent the 
APA’s rulemaking requirements, which require 
regulations to go through notice and comment before they 
can bind third parties. Even though a court might defer to 
an agency’s interpretation of a regulation, the agency’s 
interpretation itself never forms the basis for an 
enforcement action. Rather, an agency bringing an 
enforcement action must always rely on a rule that went 
through notice and comment. And courts, in turn, always 
retain the final authority to approve—or not—an agency’s 
reading of that notice-and-comment rule. See Perez v. 
Mortgage Bankers Assn., 575 U. S. 92, ––––, 135 S.Ct. 
1199, 1204, 191 L.Ed.2d 186. 
  
Kisor’s policy and constitutional arguments fail just as 
roundly. As a policy matter, he contends that Auer 
encourages agencies to issue vague and open-ended 
regulations, confident that they can later impose whatever 
interpretation of those rules they prefer. But no real 
evidence backs up that assertion and strong incentives cut 
in the opposite direction. Finally, Kisor asserts that Auer 
deference violates “separation-of-powers principles” by 
vesting both legislative and judicial functions in one 
branch. If that objection is to agencies’ usurping the 
interpretive role of courts, Auer—when properly 
understood and applied—does no such thing. And if the 
objection is instead to the supposed commingling of 
functions within an agency, this Court has explained that 
even when agency “activities take ‘legislative’ and 
‘judicial’ forms,” they continue to be “exercises of the 
‘executive Power,’ ” and thus raise no constitutional 
concerns. Arlington, 569 U.S. at 304–305, n. 4, 133 S.Ct. 
1863. Pp. 2418 - 2422. 
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KAGAN, J., announced the judgment of the Court and 
delivered the opinion of the Court with respect to Parts I, 
II–B, III–B, and IV, in which ROBERTS, C. J., and 
GINSBURG, BREYER, and SOTOMAYOR, JJ., joined, 
and an opinion with respect to Parts II–A and III–A, in 
which GINSBURG, BREYER, and SOTOMAYOR, JJ., 
joined. ROBERTS, C. J., filed an opinion concurring in 
part. GORSUCH, J., filed an opinion concurring in the 
judgment, in which THOMAS, J., joined, in which 
KAVANAUGH, J., joined as to Parts I, II, III, IV, and V, 
and in which ALITO, J., joined as to Parts I, II, and III. 
KAVANAUGH, J., filed an opinion concurring in the 
judgment, in which ALITO, J., joined. 
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Opinion 
 

Justice KAGAN announced the judgment of the Court and 
delivered the opinion of the Court with respect to Parts I, 
II–B, III–B, and IV, and an opinion with respect to Parts 
II–A and III–A, in which Justice GINSBURG, Justice 
BREYER, and Justice SOTOMAYOR join. 

 
*2408 [1] [2]This Court has often deferred to agencies’ 
reasonable readings of genuinely ambiguous regulations. 
We call that practice Auer deference, or sometimes 
Seminole Rock deference, after two cases in which we 
employed it. See Auer v. Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 117 S.Ct. 
905, 137 L.Ed.2d 79 (1997); Bowles v. Seminole Rock & 
Sand Co., 325 U.S. 410, 65 S.Ct. 1215, 89 L.Ed. 1700 
(1945). The only question presented here is whether we 
should overrule those decisions, discarding the deference 
they give to agencies. We answer that question no. Auer 
deference retains an important role in construing agency 
regulations. But even as we uphold it, we reinforce its 
limits. Auer deference is sometimes appropriate and 
sometimes not. Whether to apply it depends on a range of 
considerations that we have noted now and again, but 
compile and further develop today. The deference doctrine 
we describe is potent in its place, but cabined in its scope. 
On remand, the Court of Appeals should decide whether it 
applies to the agency interpretation at issue. 
  
 
 

I 

We begin by summarizing how petitioner James Kisor’s 
case made its way to this Court. Truth be told, nothing 
recounted in this Part has much bearing on the rest of *2409 
our decision. The question whether to overrule Auer does 
not turn on any single application, whether right or wrong, 
of that decision’s deference doctrine. But a recitation of the 
facts and proceedings below at least shows how the 
question presented arose. 
  
Kisor is a Vietnam War veteran seeking disability benefits 
from the Department of Veterans Affairs (VA). He first 
applied in 1982, alleging that he had developed post-
traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) as a result of his 
participation in a military action called Operation Harvest 
Moon. The report of the agency’s evaluating psychiatrist 
noted Kisor’s involvement in that battle, but found that he 
“d[id] not suffer from PTSD.” App. 12, 14. The VA thus 
denied Kisor benefits. There matters stood until 2006, 
when Kisor moved to reopen his claim. Based on a new 
psychiatric report, the VA this time agreed that Kisor 
suffered from PTSD. But it granted him benefits only from 
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the date of his motion to reopen, rather than (as he 
requested) from the date of his first application. 
  
The Board of Veterans’ Appeals—a part of the VA, 
represented in Kisor’s case by a single administrative 
judge—affirmed that timing decision, based on its 
interpretation of an agency rule. Under the VA’s 
regulation, the agency could grant Kisor retroactive 
benefits if it found there were “relevant official service 
department records” that it had not considered in its initial 
denial. See 38 C.F.R. § 3.156(c)(1) (2013). The Board 
acknowledged that Kisor had come up with two new 
service records, both confirming his participation in 
Operation Harvest Moon. But according to the Board, 
those records were not “relevant” because they did not go 
to the reason for the denial—that Kisor did not have PTSD. 
See App. to Pet. for Cert. 43a (“[The] documents were not 
relevant to the decision in May 1983 because the basis of 
the denial was that a diagnosis of PTSD was not warranted, 
not a dispute as to whether or not the Veteran engaged in 
combat”). The Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims, an 
independent Article I court that initially reviews the 
Board’s decisions, affirmed for the same reason. 
  
The Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit also affirmed, 
but it did so based on deference to the Board’s 
interpretation of the VA rule. See Kisor v. Shulkin, 869 
F.3d 1360, 1368 (2017). Kisor had argued to the Federal 
Circuit that to count as “relevant,” a service record need 
not (as the Board thought) “counter[ ] the basis of the prior 
denial”; instead, it could relate to some other criterion for 
obtaining disability benefits. Id., at 1366 (internal 
quotation marks omitted). The Federal Circuit found the 
regulation “ambiguous” as between the two readings. Id., 
at 1367. The rule, said the court, does not specifically 
address “whether ‘relevant’ records are those casting doubt 
on the agency’s prior [rationale or] those relating to the 
veteran’s claim more broadly.” Ibid. So how to choose 
between the two views? The court continued: “Both parties 
insist that the plain regulatory language supports their case, 
and neither party’s position strikes us as unreasonable.” Id., 
at 1368. Because that was so, the court believed Auer 
deference appropriate: The agency’s construction of its 
own regulation would govern unless “plainly erroneous or 
inconsistent with the VA’s regulatory framework.” Ibid. 
(internal quotation marks omitted). Applying that standard, 
the court upheld the Board’s reading—and so approved the 
denial of retroactive benefits. 
  

We then granted certiorari to decide whether to overrule 
Auer and (its predecessor) Seminole Rock. 586 U. S. ––––, 
139 S.Ct. 657, 202 L.Ed.2d 491 (2018). 
  
 
 

*2410 II 

Before addressing that question directly, we spend some 
time describing what Auerdeference is, and is not, for. You 
might view this Part as “just background” because we have 
made many of its points in prior decisions. But even if so, 
it is background that matters. For our account of why the 
doctrine emerged—and also how we have limited it—goes 
a long way toward explaining our view that it is worth 
preserving. 
  
 
 

A 

Begin with a familiar problem in administrative law: For 
various reasons, regulations may be genuinely ambiguous. 
They may not directly or clearly address every issue; when 
applied to some fact patterns, they may prove susceptible 
to more than one reasonable reading. Sometimes, this sort 
of ambiguity arises from careless drafting—the use of a 
dangling modifier, an awkward word, an opaque 
construction. But often, ambiguity reflects the well-known 
limits of expression or knowledge. The subject matter of a 
rule “may be so specialized and varying in nature as to be 
impossible”—or at any rate, impracticable—to capture in 
its every detail. SEC v. Chenery Corp., 332 U.S. 194, 203, 
67 S.Ct. 1760, 91 L.Ed. 1995 (1947). Or a “problem[ ] may 
arise” that the agency, when drafting the rule, “could not 
[have] reasonably foresee[n].” Id., at 202, 67 S.Ct. 1760. 
Whichever the case, the result is to create real uncertainties 
about a regulation’s meaning. 
  
Consider these examples: 

• In a rule issued to implement the Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA), the Department of Justice 
requires theaters and stadiums to provide people with 
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disabilities “lines of sight comparable to those for 
members of the general public.” 28 C.F.R. pt. 36, 
App. A, p. 563 (1996). Must the Washington Wizards 
construct wheelchair seating to offer lines of sight 
over spectators when they rise to their feet? Or is it 
enough that the facility offers comparable views so 
long as everyone remains seated? See Paralyzed 
Veterans of Am. v. D. C. Arena L. P., 117 F.3d 579, 
581–582 (CADC 1997). 

• The Transportation Security Administration (TSA) 
requires that liquids, gels, and aerosols in carry-on 
baggage be packed in containers smaller than 3.4 
ounces and carried in a clear plastic bag. Does a 
traveler have to pack his jar of truffle pâté in that way? 
See Laba v. Copeland, 2016 WL 5958241, *1 
(WDNC, Oct. 13, 2016). 

• The Mine Safety and Health Administration issues a 
rule requiring employers to report occupational 
diseases within two weeks after they are “diagnosed.” 
30 C.F.R. § 50.20(a) (1993). Do chest X-ray results 
that “scor[e]” above some level of opacity count as a 
“diagnosis”? What level, exactly? See American Min. 
Congress v. Mine Safety and Health Admin., 995 F.2d 
1106, 1107–1108 (CADC 1993). 
• An FDA regulation gives pharmaceutical companies 
exclusive rights to drug products if they contain “no 
active moiety that has been approved by FDA in any 
other” new drug application. 21 C.F.R. § 314.108(a) 
(2010). Has a company created a new “active moiety” 
by joining a previously approved moiety to lysine 
through a non-ester covalent bond? See Actavis 
Elizabeth LLC v. FDA, 625 F.3d 760, 762–763 
(CADC 2010); Tr. of Oral Arg. 12, 35.1 

*2411 • Or take the facts of Auer itself. An agency 
must decide whether police captains are eligible for 
overtime under the Fair Labor Standards Act. 
According to the agency’s regulations, employees 
cannot receive overtime if they are paid on a “salary 
basis.” 29 C.F.R. § 541.118(a) (1996). And in 
deciding whether an employee is salaried, one 
question is whether his pay is “subject to reduction” 
based on performance. Ibid. A police department’s 
manual informs its officers that their pay might be 
docked if they commit a disciplinary infraction. Does 
that fact alone make them “subject to” pay 
deductions? Or must the department have a practice 

of docking officer pay, so that the possibility of that 
happening is more than theoretical? 519 U.S. at 459–
462, 117 S.Ct. 905. 

In each case, interpreting the regulation involves a choice 
between (or among) more than one reasonable reading. To 
apply the rule to some unanticipated or unresolved 
situation, the court must make a judgment call. How should 
it do so? 
  
In answering that question, we have often thought that a 
court should defer to the agency’s construction of its own 
regulation. For the last 20 or so years, we have referred to 
that doctrine as Auer deference, and applied it often.2 But 
the name is something of a misnomer. Before the doctrine 
was called Auer deference, it was called Seminole Rock 
deference—for the 1945 decision in which we declared that 
when “the meaning of [a regulation] is in doubt,” the 
agency’s interpretation “becomes of controlling weight 
unless it is plainly erroneous or inconsistent with the 
regulation.” 325 U.S. at 414, 65 S.Ct. 1215.3 *2412 And 
Seminole Rock itself was not built on sand. Deference to 
administrative agencies traces back to the late nineteenth 
century, and perhaps beyond. See United States v. Eaton, 
169 U.S. 331, 343, 18 S.Ct. 374, 42 L.Ed. 767 (1898) (“The 
interpretation given to the regulations by the department 
charged with their execution ... is entitled to the greatest 
weight”); see Brief for Administrative Law Scholars as 
Amici Curiae 5, n. 3 (collecting early cases); Brief for 
AFL–CIO as Amicus Curiae 8 (same). 
  
We have explained Auer deference (as we now call it) as 
rooted in a presumption about congressional intent—a 
presumption that Congress would generally want the 
agency to play the primary role in resolving regulatory 
ambiguities. See Martin v. Occupational Safety and Health 
Review Comm’n, 499 U.S. 144, 151–153, 111 S.Ct. 1171, 
113 L.Ed.2d 117 (1991). Congress, we have pointed out, 
routinely delegates to agencies the power to implement 
statutes by issuing rules. See id., at 151, 111 S.Ct. 1171. In 
doing so, Congress knows (how could it not?) that 
regulations will sometimes contain ambiguities. See supra, 
at 2410. But Congress almost never explicitly assigns 
responsibility to deal with that problem, either to agencies 
or to courts. Hence the need to presume, one way or the 
other, what Congress would want. And as between those 
two choices, agencies have gotten the nod. We have 
adopted the presumption—though it is always rebuttable—
that “the power authoritatively to interpret its own 
regulations is a component of the agency’s delegated 
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lawmaking powers.” Martin, 499 U.S. at 151, 111 S.Ct. 
1171. Or otherwise said, we have thought that when 
granting rulemaking power to agencies, Congress usually 
intends to give them, too, considerable latitude to interpret 
the ambiguous rules they issue. 
  
In part, that is because the agency that promulgated a rule 
is in the “better position [to] reconstruct” its original 
meaning. Id., at 152, 111 S.Ct. 1171. Consider that if you 
don’t know what some text (say, a memo or an e-mail) 
means, you would probably want to ask the person who 
wrote it. And for the same reasons, we have thought, 
Congress would too (though the person is here a collective 
actor). The agency that “wrote the regulation” will often 
have direct insight into what that rule was intended to 
mean. Mullins Coal Co. of Va. v. Director, Office of 
Workers’ Compensation Programs, 484 U.S. 135, 159, 108 
S.Ct. 427, 98 L.Ed.2d 450 (1987). The drafters will know 
what it was supposed to include or exclude or how it was 
supposed to apply to some problem. To be sure, this 
justification has its limits. It does not work so well, for 
example, when the agency failed to anticipate an issue 
in crafting a rule (e.g., if the agency never thought about 
whether and when chest X-rays would count as a 
“diagnosis”). See supra, at 2410. Then, the agency will not 
be uncovering a specific intention; at most (though this is 
not nothing), it will be offering insight into the analogous 
issues the drafters considered and the purposes they 
designed the regulation to serve. And the defense works yet 
less well when lots of time has passed between the rule’s 
issuance and its interpretation—especially if the 
interpretation differs from one that has come before. All 
that said, the point holds good for a significant category 
of “contemporaneous” readings. Lyng v. Payne, 476 
U.S. 926, 939, 106 S.Ct. 2333, 90 L.Ed.2d 921 (1986). 
Want to know what a rule means? Ask its author. 
  
*2413 In still greater measure, the presumption that 
Congress intended Auer deference stems from the 
awareness that resolving genuine regulatory ambiguities 
often “entail[s] the exercise of judgment grounded in 
policy concerns.” Thomas Jefferson Univ. v. Shalala, 512 
U.S. 504, 512, 114 S.Ct. 2381, 129 L.Ed.2d 405 (1994) 
(internal quotation marks omitted). Return to our TSA 
example. See supra, at 2410. In most of their applications, 
terms like “liquids” and “gels” are clear enough. (Traveler 
checklist: Pretzels OK; water not.) But resolving the 
uncertain issues—the truffle pâtés or olive tapenades of the 
world—requires getting in the weeds of the rule’s policy: 

Why does TSA ban liquids and gels in the first instance? 
What makes them dangerous? Can a potential hijacker use 
pâté jars in the same way as soda cans? Or take the less 
specialized-seeming ADA example. See supra, at 2410. It 
is easy enough to know what “comparable lines of sight” 
means in a movie theater—but more complicated when, as 
in sports arenas, spectators sometimes stand up. How 
costly is it to insist that the stadium owner take that 
sporadic behavior into account, and is the viewing value 
received worth the added expense? That cost-benefit 
calculation, too, sounds more in policy than in law. Or 
finally, take the more technical “moiety” example. See 
supra, at 2410 - 2411. Or maybe, don’t. If you are a judge, 
you probably have no idea of what the FDA’s rule means, 
or whether its policy is implicated when a previously 
approved moiety is connected to lysine through a non-ester 
covalent bond. 
  
And Congress, we have thought, knows just that: It is 
attuned to the comparative advantages of agencies over 
courts in making such policy judgments. Agencies (unlike 
courts) have “unique expertise,” often of a scientific or 
technical nature, relevant to applying a regulation “to 
complex or changing circumstances.” Martin, 499 U.S. at 
151, 111 S.Ct. 1171; see Thomas Jefferson, 512 U.S. at 
512, 114 S.Ct. 2381. Agencies (unlike courts) can conduct 
factual investigations, can consult with affected parties, 
can consider how their experts have handled similar issues 
over the long course of administering a regulatory 
program. See Long Island Care at Home, Ltd. v. Coke, 551 
U.S. 158, 167–168, 127 S.Ct. 2339, 168 L.Ed.2d 54 (2007). 
And agencies (again unlike courts) have political 
accountability, because they are subject to the supervision 
of the President, who in turn answers to the public. See 
Free Enterprise Fund v. Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Bd., 561 U.S. 477, 499, 130 S.Ct. 3138, 177 
L.Ed.2d 706 (2010); Pauley v. BethEnergy Mines, Inc., 501 
U.S. 680, 696, 111 S.Ct. 2524, 115 L.Ed.2d 604 (1991) 
(discussing as a matter of democratic accountability the 
“proper roles of the political and judicial branches” in 
filling regulatory gaps). It is because of those features that 
Congress, when first enacting a statute, assigns rulemaking 
power to an agency and thus authorizes it to fill out the 
statutory scheme. And so too, when new issues demanding 
new policy calls come up within that scheme, Congress 
presumably wants the same agency, rather than any court, 
to take the laboring oar. 
  
Finally, the presumption we use reflects the well-known 
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benefits of uniformity in interpreting genuinely ambiguous 
rules. We have noted Congress’s frequent “preference 
for resolving interpretive issues by uniform 
administrative decision, rather than piecemeal by 
litigation.” Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 
555, 568, 100 S.Ct. 790, 63 L.Ed.2d 22 (1980). That 
preference may be strongest when the interpretive issue 
arises in the context of a “complex and highly technical 
regulatory *2414 program.” Thomas Jefferson, 512 U.S. at 
512, 114 S.Ct. 2381. After all, judges are most likely to 
come to divergent conclusions when they are least likely to 
know what they are doing. (Is there anything to be said for 
courts all over the country trying to figure out what makes 
for a new active moiety?) But the uniformity justification 
retains some weight even for more accessible rules, 
because their language too may give rise to more than one 
eminently reasonable reading. Consider Auer itself. See 
supra, at 2411 - 2412. There, four Circuits held that police 
captains were “subject to” pay deductions for disciplinary 
infractions if a police manual said they were, even if the 
department had never docked anyone. Two other Circuits 
held that captains were “subject to” pay deductions only if 
the department’s actual practice made that punishment a 
realistic possibility. See Auer, 519 U.S. at 460, 117 S.Ct. 
905. Had the agency issued an interpretation before all 
those rulings (rather than, as actually happened, in a brief 
in this Court), a deference rule would have averted most of 
that conflict and uncertainty. See Christopher v. 
SmithKline Beecham Corp., 567 U.S. 142, 158, n. 17, 132 
S.Ct. 2156, 183 L.Ed.2d 153 (2012) (noting for this reason 
that Auer deference imparts “predictability to the 
administrative process” (internal quotation marks 
omitted)). Auer deference thus serves to ensure 
consistency in federal regulatory law, for everyone who 
needs to know what it requires. 
  
 
 

B 

[3] [4] [5] [6] [7] [8] [9] [10]But all that said, Auer deference is not 
the answer to every question of interpreting an agency’s 
rules. Far from it. As we explain in this section, the 
possibility of deference can arise only if a regulation is 
genuinely ambiguous. And when we use that term, we 
mean it—genuinely ambiguous, even after a court has 

resorted to all the standard tools of interpretation. Still 
more, not all reasonable agency constructions of those 
truly ambiguous rules are entitled to deference. As just 
explained, we presume that Congress intended for 
courts to defer to agencies when they interpret their 
own ambiguous rules. See supra, at 2411 - 2414. But 
when the reasons for that presumption do not apply, or 
countervailing reasons outweigh them, courts should 
not give deference to an agency’s reading, except to the 
extent it has the “power to persuade.” Christopher, 567 
U.S. at 159, 132 S.Ct. 2156 (quoting Skidmore v. Swift & 
Co., 323 U.S. 134, 140, 65 S.Ct. 161, 89 L.Ed. 124 
(1944)). We have thus cautioned that Auer deference is 
just a “general rule”; it “does not apply in all cases.” 
Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 2156. And 
although the limits of Auer deference are not 
susceptible to any rigid test, we have noted various 
circumstances in which such deference is 
“unwarranted.” Ibid. In particular, that will be so when 
a court concludes that an interpretation does not reflect 
an agency’s authoritative, expertise-based, “fair[, or] 
considered judgment.” Ibid. (quoting Auer, 519 U.S. at 
462, 117 S.Ct. 905); cf. United States v. Mead Corp., 533 
U.S. 218, 229–231, 121 S.Ct. 2164, 150 L.Ed.2d 292 
(2001) (adopting a similar approach to Chevron 
deference). 
  
We take the opportunity to restate, and somewhat 
expand on, those principles here to clear up some mixed 
messages we have sent. At times, this Court has applied 
Auer deference without significant analysis of the 
underlying regulation. See, e.g., United States v. 
Larionoff, 431 U.S. 864, 872, 97 S.Ct. 2150, 53 L.Ed.2d 
48 (1977) (stating that the Court “need not tarry” over 
the regulation’s language given Seminole Rock). At 
other times, the Court has given Auer deference without 
careful attention to the nature and context of the 
interpretation. *2415 See, e.g., Thorpe v. Housing 
Authority of Durham, 393 U.S. 268, 276, and nn. 22–23, 
89 S.Ct. 518, 21 L.Ed.2d 474 (1969) (deferring to an 
agency’s view as expressed in letters to third parties). 
And in a vacuum, our most classic formulation of the 
test—whether an agency’s construction is “plainly 
erroneous or inconsistent with the regulation,” 
Seminole Rock, 325 U.S. at 414, 65 S.Ct. 1215—may 
suggest a caricature of the doctrine, in which deference 
is “reflexive.” Pereira v. Sessions, 585 U. S. ––––, ––––, 
138 S.Ct. 2105, 2120, 201 L.Ed.2d 433 (2018) 
(KENNEDY, J., concurring). So we cannot deny that 
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Kisor has a bit of grist for his claim that Auer “bestows 
on agencies expansive, unreviewable” authority. Brief 
for Petitioner 25. But in fact Auer does no such thing: It 
gives agencies their due, while also allowing—indeed, 
obligating—courts to perform their reviewing and 
restraining functions. So before we turn to Kisor’s 
specific grievances, we think it worth reinforcing some 
of the limits inherent in the Auer doctrine.4 
  
[11] [12] [13] [14]First and foremost, a court should not 
afford Auer deference unless the regulation is genuinely 
ambiguous. See Christensen v. Harris County, 529 U.S. 
576, 588, 120 S.Ct. 1655, 146 L.Ed.2d 621 (2000); 
Seminole Rock, 325 U.S. at 414, 65 S.Ct. 1215 (deferring 
only “if the meaning of the words used is in doubt”). If 
uncertainty does not exist, there is no plausible reason 
for deference. The regulation then just means what it 
means—and the court must give it effect, as the court 
would any law. Otherwise said, the core theory of Auer 
deference is that sometimes the law runs out, and 
policy-laden choice is what is left over. See supra, at 
2412 - 2413. But if the law gives an answer—if there is 
only one reasonable construction of a regulation—then 
a court has no business deferring to any other reading, 
no matter how much the agency insists it would make 
more sense. Deference in that circumstance would 
“permit the agency, under the guise of interpreting a 
regulation, to create de facto a new regulation.” See 
Christensen, 529 U.S. at 588, 120 S.Ct. 1655. Auer does 
not, and indeed could not, go that far. 
  
[15] [16]And before concluding that a rule is genuinely 
ambiguous, a court must exhaust all the “traditional 
tools” of construction. Chevron U. S. A. Inc. v. Natural 
Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 843, n. 9, 
104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984) (adopting the 
same approach for ambiguous statutes). For again, only 
when that legal toolkit is empty and the interpretive 
question still has no single right answer can a judge 
conclude that it is “more [one] of policy than of law.” 
Pauley, 501 U.S. at 696, 111 S.Ct. 2524. That means a 
court cannot wave the ambiguity flag just because it 
found the regulation impenetrable on first read. Agency 
regulations can sometimes make the eyes glaze over. 
But hard interpretive conundrums, even relating to 
complex rules, can often be solved. See id., at 707, 111 
S.Ct. 2524 (SCALIA, J., dissenting) (A regulation is not 
ambiguous merely because “discerning the only 

possible interpretation requires a taxing inquiry”). To 
make that effort, a court must “carefully consider[ ]” 
the text, structure, history, and purpose of a regulation, 
in all the ways it would if it had no agency to fall back 
on. Ibid. Doing so will resolve many seeming 
ambiguities out of the box, without resort to Auer 
deference. 
  
[17] [18] [19]If genuine ambiguity remains, moreover, the 
agency’s reading must still be “reasonable.” Thomas 
Jefferson, 512 U.S. at 515, 114 S.Ct. 2381. In other words, 
*2416 it must come within the zone of ambiguity the 
court has identified after employing all its interpretive 
tools. (Note that serious application of those tools 
therefore has use even when a regulation turns out to 
be truly ambiguous. The text, structure, history, and so 
forth at least establish the outer bounds of permissible 
interpretation.) Some courts have thought (perhaps 
because of Seminole Rock’s “plainly erroneous” 
formulation) that at this stage of the analysis, agency 
constructions of rules receive greater deference than 
agency constructions of statutes. See, e.g., Ohio Dept. of 
Medicaid v. Price, 864 F.3d 469, 477 (CA6 2017). But 
that is not so. Under Auer, as under Chevron, the 
agency’s reading must fall “within the bounds of 
reasonable interpretation.” Arlington v. FCC, 569 U.S. 
290, 296, 133 S.Ct. 1863, 185 L.Ed.2d 941 (2013). And 
let there be no mistake: That is a requirement an 
agency can fail. 
  
[20] [21]Still, we are not done—for not every reasonable 
agency reading of a genuinely ambiguous rule should 
receive Auer deference. We have recognized in applying 
Auer that a court must make an independent inquiry 
into whether the character and context of the agency 
interpretation entitles it to controlling weight. See 
Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 2156; see also 
Mead, 533 U.S. at 229–231, 236–237, 121 S.Ct. 2164 
(requiring an analogous though not identical inquiry for 
Chevron deference). As explained above, we give Auer 
deference because we presume, for a set of reasons 
relating to the comparative attributes of courts and 
agencies, that Congress would have wanted us to. See 
supra, at 2411 - 2414. But the administrative realm is vast 
and varied, and we have understood that such a 
presumption cannot always hold. Cf. Mead, 533 U.S. at 
236, 121 S.Ct. 2164 (“tailor[ing] deference to [the] variety” 
of administrative action); Arlington, 569 U.S. at 309–310, 
133 S.Ct. 1863 (BREYER, J., concurring in part and 
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concurring in judgment) (noting that “context-specific[ ] 
factors” may show that “Congress would [not] have 
intended the agency to resolve [some] ambiguity”). The 
inquiry on this dimension does not reduce to any 
exhaustive test. But we have laid out some especially 
important markers for identifying when Auer deference 
is and is not appropriate. 
  
[22] [23]To begin with, the regulatory interpretation must be 
one actually made by the agency. In other words, it must 
be the agency’s “authoritative” or “official position,” 
rather than any more ad hoc statement not reflecting 
the agency’s views. Mead, 533 U.S. at 257–259, and n. 6, 
121 S.Ct. 2164 (SCALIA, J., dissenting). That constraint 
follows from the logic of Auer deference—because 
Congress has delegated rulemaking power, and all that 
typically goes with it, to the agency alone. Of course, the 
requirement of “authoritative” action must recognize a 
reality of bureaucratic life: Not everything the agency does 
comes from, or is even in the name of, the Secretary or his 
chief advisers. So, for example, we have deferred to 
“official staff memoranda” that were “published in the 
Federal Register,” even though never approved by the 
agency head. Ford Motor Credit, 444 U.S. at 566, n. 9, 567, 
n. 10, 100 S.Ct. 790 (declining to “draw a radical 
distinction between” agency heads and staff for Auer 
deference). But there are limits. The interpretation must 
at the least emanate from those actors, using those 
vehicles, understood to make authoritative policy in the 
relevant context. See, e.g., Paralyzed Veterans, 117 F.3d 
at 587 (refusing to consider a “speech of a mid-level 
official” as an “authoritative departmental position”); N. Y. 
State Dept. of Social Servs. v. Bowen, 835 F.2d 360, 365–
366 (CADC 1987) (rejecting the idea that an *2417 
“informal memorandum” recounting a telephone 
conversation between employees could count as an 
“authoritative pronouncement”); Exelon Generation Co. v. 
Local 15, Int’l Brotherhood of Elec. Workers, AFL–CIO, 
676 F.3d 566, 576–578 (CA7 2012) (declining deference 
when the agency had itself “disclaimed the use of 
regulatory guides as authoritative”). If the interpretation 
does not do so, a court may not defer. 
  
[24] [25] [26]Next, the agency’s interpretation must in some 
way implicate its substantive expertise. Administrative 
knowledge and experience largely “account [for] the 
presumption that Congress delegates interpretive 
lawmaking power to the agency.” Martin, 499 U.S. at 153, 

111 S.Ct. 1171. So the basis for deference ebbs when “[t]he 
subject matter of the [dispute is] distan[t] from the 
agency’s ordinary” duties or “fall[s] within the scope of 
another agency’s authority.” Arlington, 569 U.S. at 309, 
133 S.Ct. 1863 (opinion of BREYER, J.). This Court 
indicated as much when it analyzed a “split enforcement” 
scheme, in which Congress divided regulatory power 
between two entities. Martin, 499 U.S. at 151, 111 S.Ct. 
1171. To decide “whose reasonable interpretation” of a 
rule controlled, we “presum[ed] Congress intended to 
invest interpretive power” in whichever actor was “best 
position[ed] to develop” expertise about the given 
problem. Id., at 149, 153, 111 S.Ct. 1171. The same idea 
holds good as between agencies and courts. “Generally, 
agencies have a nuanced understanding of the regulations 
they administer.” Brief for Respondent 33. That point is 
most obvious when a rule is technical; think back to our 
“moiety” or “diagnosis” examples. See supra, at 2410 - 
2411. But more prosaic-seeming questions also commonly 
implicate policy expertise; consider the TSA assessing the 
security risks of pâté or a disabilities office weighing the 
costs and benefits of an accommodation. See ibid. Once 
again, though, there are limits. Some interpretive issues 
may fall more naturally into a judge’s bailiwick. Take one 
requiring the elucidation of a simple common-law property 
term, see Jicarilla Apache Tribe v. FERC, 578 F.2d 289, 
292–293 (CA10 1978), or one concerning the award of an 
attorney’s fee, see West Va. Highlands Conservancy, Inc. 
v. Norton, 343 F.3d 239 (CA4 2003). Cf. Adams Fruit Co. 
v. Barrett, 494 U.S. 638, 649–650, 110 S.Ct. 1384, 108 
L.Ed.2d 585 (1990) (declining to award Chevron deference 
when an agency interprets a judicial-review provision). 
When the agency has no comparative expertise in 
resolving a regulatory ambiguity, Congress 
presumably would not grant it that authority.5 
  
[27] [28] [29] [30]Finally, an agency’s reading of a rule 
must reflect “fair and considered judgment” to receive 
Auer deference. Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 
2156 (quoting Auer, 519 U.S. at 462, 117 S.Ct. 905). That 
means, we have stated, that a court should decline to defer 
to a merely “convenient litigating position” or “post hoc 
rationalizatio[n] advanced” to “defend past agency action 
against attack.” Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155, 132 S.Ct. 
2156 (quoting Bowen v. Georgetown Univ. Hospital, 488 
U.S. 204, 213, 109 S.Ct. 468, 102 L.Ed.2d 493 (1988) and 
Auer, 519 U.S. at 462, 117 S.Ct. 905).6 And a court may 
*2418 not defer to a new interpretation, whether or not 
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introduced in litigation, that creates “unfair surprise” to 
regulated parties. Long Island Care, 551 U.S. at 170, 127 
S.Ct. 2339. That disruption of expectations may occur 
when an agency substitutes one view of a rule for another. 
We have therefore only rarely given Auer deference to an 
agency construction “conflict[ing] with a prior” one. 
Thomas Jefferson, 512 U.S. at 515, 114 S.Ct. 2381. Or the 
upending of reliance may happen without such an explicit 
interpretive change. This Court, for example, recently 
refused to defer to an interpretation that would have 
imposed retroactive liability on parties for 
longstanding conduct that the agency had never before 
addressed. See Christopher, 567 U.S. at 155–156, 132 
S.Ct. 2156. Here too the lack of “fair warning” 
outweighed the reasons to apply Auer. Id., at 156, 132 S.Ct. 
2156 (internal quotation marks omitted). 
  
 
* * * 
  
[31]The upshot of all this goes something as follows. When 
it applies, Auer deference gives an agency significant 
leeway to say what its own rules mean. In so doing, the 
doctrine enables the agency to fill out the regulatory 
scheme Congress has placed under its supervision. But that 
phrase “when it applies” is important—because it often 
doesn’t. As described above, this Court has cabined Auer’s 
scope in varied and critical ways—and in exactly that 
measure, has maintained a strong judicial role in 
interpreting rules. What emerges is a deference doctrine 
not quite so tame as some might hope, but not nearly so 
menacing as they might fear. 
  
 
 

III 

That brings us to the lone question presented here—
whether we should abandon the longstanding doctrine just 
described. In contending that we should, Kisor raises 
statutory, policy, and constitutional claims (in that order). 
But he faces an uphill climb. He must first convince us that 
Auer deference is wrong. And even then, he must 
overcome stare decisis—the special care we take to 
preserve our precedents. In the event, Kisor fails at the first 
step: None of his arguments provide good reason to doubt 

Auer deference. And even if that were not so, Kisor does 
not offer the kind of special justification needed to overrule 
Auer, and Seminole Rock, and all our many other decisions 
deferring to reasonable agency constructions of ambiguous 
rules. 
  
 
 

A 

Kisor first attacks Auer as inconsistent with the judicial 
review provision of the Administrative Procedure Act 
(APA). See 5 U.S.C. § 706. As Kisor notes, Congress 
enacted the APA in 1946—the year after Seminole Rock—
to serve as “the fundamental charter of the administrative 
state.” Brief for Petitioner 26 (internal quotation marks 
omitted). Section 706 of the Act, governing judicial review 
of agency action, states (among other things) that 
reviewing courts shall “determine the meaning or 
applicability of the terms of an agency action” (including a 
regulation). According to Kisor, Auer violates that edict by 
thwarting “meaningful judicial review” *2419 of agency 
rules. Brief for Petitioner 29. Courts under Auer, he asserts 
(now in the language of Section 706), “abdicate their office 
of determining the meaning” of a regulation. Id., at 27 
(internal quotation marks omitted). 
  
To begin with, that argument ignores the many ways, 
discussed above, that courts exercise independent review 
over the meaning of agency rules. See supra, at 2415 - 
2418. As we have explained, a court must apply all 
traditional methods of interpretation to any rule, and must 
enforce the plain meaning those methods uncover. There 
can be no thought of deference unless, after performing that 
thoroughgoing review, the regulation remains genuinely 
susceptible to multiple reasonable meanings and the 
agency’s interpretation lines up with one of them. And 
even if that is the case, courts must on their own determine 
whether the nature or context of the agency’s construction 
reverses the usual presumption of deference. Most notably, 
a court must consider whether the interpretation is 
authoritative, expertise-based, considered, and fair to 
regulated parties. All of that figures as “meaningful judicial 
review.” Brief for Petitioner 29. 
  
And even when a court defers to a regulatory reading, it 
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acts consistently with Section 706. That provision does not 
specify the standard of review a court should use in 
“determin[ing] the meaning” of an ambiguous rule. 5 
U.S.C. § 706. One possibility, as Kisor says, is to review 
the issue de novo. But another is to review the agency’s 
reading for reasonableness. To see the point, assume that a 
regulatory (say, an employment) statute expressly 
instructed courts to apply Auer deference when reviewing 
an agency’s interpretations of its ambiguous rules. Nothing 
in that statute would conflict with Section 706. Instead, the 
employment law would simply make clear how a court is 
to “determine the meaning” of such a rule—by deferring to 
an agency’s reasonable reading. Ibid. Of course, that is not 
the world we know: Most substantive statutes do not say 
anything about Auer deference, one way or the other. But 
for all the reasons spelled out above, we have long 
presumed (subject always to rebuttal) that the Congress 
delegating regulatory authority to an agency intends as well 
to give that agency considerable latitude to construe its 
ambiguous rules. See supra, at 2411 - 2414. And that 
presumption operates just like the hypothesized statute 
above. Because of it, once again, courts do not violate 
Section 706 by applying Auer. To the contrary, they fulfill 
their duty to “determine the meaning” of a rule precisely 
by deferring to the agency’s reasonable reading. See 
Sunstein & Vermeule, The Unbearable Rightness of Auer, 
84 U. Chi. L. Rev. 297, 306 (2017) (If Congress intends 
“that the meaning of a regulation turns on the agency’s 
interpretation of its meaning,” then courts comply with 
Section 706’s command to “ ‘determine the meaning’ [of 
the regulation] by deferring to that view”); cf. Arlington, 
569 U.S. at 317, 133 S.Ct. 1863 (ROBERTS, C. J., 
dissenting) (similarly addressing why Chevron deference 
comports with Section 706). Section 706 and Auer thus go 
hand in hand. 
  
That is especially so given the practice of judicial review 
at the time of the APA’s enactment. Section 706 was 
understood when enacted to “restate[ ] the present law as 
to the scope of judicial review.” See Dept. of Justice, 
Attorney General’s Manual on the Administrative 
Procedure Act 108 (1947); see also Vermont Yankee 
Nuclear Power Corp. v. Natural Resources Defense 
Council, Inc., 435 U.S. 519, 546, 98 S.Ct. 1197, 55 L.Ed.2d 
460 (1978) (noting that this Court gives some deference to 
the Manual “because of the role played by the Department 
of Justice in drafting the legislation”). We have thus 
interpreted the *2420 APA not to “significantly alter the 
common law of judicial review of agency action.” Heckler 

v. Chaney, 470 U.S. 821, 832, 105 S.Ct. 1649, 84 L.Ed.2d 
714 (1985) (internal quotation marks omitted). That pre-
APA common law included Seminole Rock itself (decided 
the year before) along with prior decisions foretelling that 
ruling. See supra, at 2411. Even assume that the deference 
regime laid out in those cases had not yet fully taken hold. 
At a minimum, nothing in the law of that era required all 
judicial review of agency interpretations to be de novo. Cf. 
Manning, Constitutional Structure and Judicial Deference 
to Agency Interpretations of Agency Rules, 96 Colum. L. 
Rev. 612, 635–636 (1996) (arguing that courts before the 
APA used “flexible, common law methods to review 
administrative action”). And so nothing suggests that 
Section 706 imposes that requirement. Or otherwise said: 
If Section 706 did not change the law of judicial review (as 
we have long recognized), then it did not proscribe a 
deferential standard then known and in use. 
  
Kisor next claims that Auer circumvents the APA’s 
rulemaking requirements. Section 553, as Kisor notes, 
mandates that an agency use notice-and-comment 
procedures before issuing legislative rules. See 5 U.S.C. §§ 
553(b), (c). But the section allows agencies to issue 
“interpret[ive]” rules without notice and comment. See § 
553(b)(A). A key feature of those rules is that (unlike 
legislative rules) they are not supposed to “have the force 
and effect of law”—or, otherwise said, to bind private 
parties. Perez v. Mortgage Bankers Assn., 575 U. S. 92, ––
––, 135 S.Ct. 1199, 1204, 191 L.Ed.2d 186 (2015) (internal 
quotation marks omitted). Instead, interpretive rules are 
meant only to “advise the public” of how the agency 
understands, and is likely to apply, its binding statutes and 
legislative rules. Ibid. But consider, Kisor argues, what 
happens when a court gives Auer deference to an 
interpretive rule. The result, he asserts, is to make a rule 
that has never gone through notice and comment binding 
on the public. See Brief for Petitioner 21, 29. Or put 
another way, the interpretive rule ends up having the “force 
and effect of law” without ever paying the procedural cost. 
Mortgage Bankers, 575 U. S., at ––––, 135 S.Ct., at 1204. 
  
But this Court rejected the identical argument just a few 
years ago, and for good reason. In Mortgage Bankers, we 
held that interpretive rules, even when given Auer 
deference, do not have the force of law. See 575 U. S., at –
–––, and n. 4, 135 S.Ct., at 1208, and n. 4. An interpretive 
rule itself never forms “the basis for an enforcement 
action”—because, as just noted, such a rule does not 
impose any “legally binding requirements” on private 
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parties. National Min. Assn. v. McCarthy, 758 F.3d 243, 
251 (CADC 2014). An enforcement action must instead 
rely on a legislative rule, which (to be valid) must go 
through notice and comment. And in all the ways discussed 
above, the meaning of a legislative rule remains in the 
hands of courts, even if they sometimes divine that 
meaning by looking to the agency’s interpretation. See 
supra, at 2415 – 2418. Courts first decide whether the rule 
is clear; if it is not, whether the agency’s reading falls 
within its zone of ambiguity; and even if the reading does 
so, whether it should receive deference. In short, courts 
retain the final authority to approve—or not—the agency’s 
reading of a notice-and-comment rule. See Mortgage 
Bankers, 575 U. S., at ––––, n. 4, 135 S.Ct., at 1208, n. 4 
(“[I]t is the court that ultimately decides whether a given 
regulation means what the agency says”). No binding of 
anyone occurs merely by the agency’s say-so. 
  
And indeed, a court deciding whether to give Auer 
deference must heed the same procedural values as Section 
553 reflects. *2421 Remember that a court may defer to 
only an agency’s authoritative and considered judgments. 
See supra, at 2416 - 2418. No ad hoc statements or post 
hoc rationalizations need apply. And recall too that 
deference turns on whether an agency’s interpretation 
creates unfair surprise or upsets reliance interests. See 
supra, at 2417 - 2418. So an agency has a strong incentive 
to circulate its interpretations early and widely. In such 
ways, the doctrine of Auer deference reinforces, rather than 
undermines, the ideas of fairness and informed 
decisionmaking at the core of the APA. 
  
To supplement his two APA arguments, Kisor turns to 
policy, leaning on a familiar claim about the incentives 
Auer creates. According to Kisor, Auer encourages 
agencies to issue vague and open-ended regulations, 
confident that they can later impose whatever 
interpretation of those rules they prefer. See Brief for 
Petitioner 37–41. That argument received its fullest 
elaboration in a widely respected law review article pre-
dating Auer. See Manning, 96 Colum. L. Rev., at 654–669. 
More recently, the concern about such self-delegation has 
appeared in opinions from this Court, starting with several 
from Justice SCALIA calling for Auer’s reconsideration. 
See, e.g., Christopher, 567 U.S. at 158, 132 S.Ct. 2156 
(citing Manning, supra, at 655–668); Decker v. Northwest 
Environmental Defense Center, 568 U.S. 597, 620–621, 
133 S.Ct. 1326, 185 L.Ed.2d 447 (2013) (SCALIA, J., 
concurring in part and dissenting in part) (citing Manning, 

supra); Talk America, Inc. v. Michigan Bell Telephone Co., 
564 U.S. 50, 69, 131 S.Ct. 2254, 180 L.Ed.2d 96 (2011) 
(SCALIA, J., concurring) (principally relying on Manning, 
supra). 
  
But the claim has notable weaknesses, empirical and 
theoretical alike. First, it does not survive an encounter 
with experience. No real evidence—indeed, scarcely an 
anecdote—backs up the assertion. As two noted scholars 
(one of whom reviewed thousands of rules during four 
years of government service) have written: “[W]e are 
unaware of, and no one has pointed to, any regulation in 
American history that, because of Auer, was designed 
vaguely.” Sunstein & Vermeule, 84 U. Chi. L. Rev., at 308. 
And even the argument’s theoretical allure dissipates upon 
reflection. For strong (almost surely stronger) incentives 
and pressures cut in the opposite direction. “[R]egulators 
want their regulations to be effective, and clarity promotes 
compliance.” Brief for Administrative Law Scholars as 
Amici Curiae 18–19. Too, regulated parties often push for 
precision from an agency, so that they know what they can 
and cannot do. And ambiguities in rules pose risks to the 
long-run survival of agency policy. Vagueness increases 
the chance of adverse judicial rulings. And it enables future 
administrations, with different views, to reinterpret the 
rules to their own liking. Add all of that up and Kisor’s 
ungrounded theory of incentives contributes nothing to the 
case against Auer. 
  
Finally, Kisor goes big, asserting (though fleetingly) that 
Auer deference violates “separation-of-powers principles.” 
See Brief for Petitioner 43. In his view, those principles 
prohibit “vest[ing] in a single branch the law-making and 
law-interpreting functions.” Id., at 45. If that objection is to 
agencies’ usurping the interpretive role of courts, this 
opinion has already met it head-on. Properly understood 
and applied, Auer does no such thing. In all the ways we 
have described, courts retain a firm grip on the interpretive 
function. See supra, at 2415 - 2418; Mortgage Bankers, 
575 U. S., at ––––, n. 4, 135 S.Ct., at 1208, n. 4. If Kisor’s 
objection is instead to the supposed commingling of 
functions (that is, the legislative and judicial) within an 
agency, this Court has answered it often before. See, *2422 
e.g., Withrow v. Larkin, 421 U.S. 35, 54, 95 S.Ct. 1456, 43 
L.Ed.2d 712 (1975) (permitting such a combination of 
functions); FTC v. Cement Institute, 333 U.S. 683, 702, 68 
S.Ct. 793, 92 L.Ed. 1010 (1948) (same). That sort of 
mixing is endemic in agencies, and has been “since the 
beginning of the Republic.” Arlington, 569 U.S. at 304–
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305, n. 4, 133 S.Ct. 1863. It does not violate the separation 
of powers, we have explained, because even when agency 
“activities take ‘legislative’ and ‘judicial’ forms,” they 
continue to be “exercises of[ ] the ‘executive Power’ ”—or 
otherwise said, ways of executing a statutory plan. Ibid. 
(quoting U. S. Const., Art. II, § 1, cl. 1). So Kisor’s last 
argument to dispatch Auer deference fails as roundly as the 
rest. 
  
 
 

B 

[32] [33] [34] [35] [36] [37]If all that were not enough, stare decisis 
cuts strongly against Kisor’s position. “Overruling 
precedent is never a small matter.” Kimble v. Marvel 
Entertainment, LLC, 576 U. S. ––––, ––––, 135 S.Ct. 2401, 
2409, 192 L.Ed.2d 463 (2015). Adherence to precedent is 
“a foundation stone of the rule of law.” Michigan v. Bay 
Mills Indian Community, 572 U.S. 782, 798, 134 S.Ct. 
2024, 188 L.Ed.2d 1071 (2014). “[I]t promotes the 
evenhanded, predictable, and consistent development of 
legal principles, fosters reliance on judicial decisions, and 
contributes to the actual and perceived integrity of the 
judicial process.” Payne v. Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808, 827, 
111 S.Ct. 2597, 115 L.Ed.2d 720 (1991). To be sure, stare 
decisis is “not an inexorable command.” Id., at 828, 111 
S.Ct. 2597. But any departure from the doctrine demands 
“special justification”—something more than “an 
argument that the precedent was wrongly decided.” 
Halliburton Co. v. Erica P. John Fund, Inc., 573 U.S. 258, 
266, 134 S.Ct. 2398, 189 L.Ed.2d 339 (2014). 
  
And that is even more than usually so in the circumstances 
here. First, Kisor asks us to overrule not a single case, but 
a “long line of precedents”—each one reaffirming the rest 
and going back 75 years or more. Bay Mills, 572 U.S. at 
798, 134 S.Ct. 2024; see nn. 2, 3, supra. This Court alone 
has applied Auer or Seminole Rock in dozens of cases, and 
lower courts have done so thousands of times. Deference 
to reasonable agency interpretations of ambiguous rules 
pervades the whole corpus of administrative law. Second, 
because that is so, abandoning Auer deference would cast 
doubt on many settled constructions of rules. As Kisor 
acknowledged at oral argument, a decision in his favor 
would allow relitigation of any decision based on Auer, 

forcing courts to “wrestle [with] whether or not Auer” had 
actually made a difference. Tr. of Oral Arg. 30; see id., at 
47 (Solicitor General agreeing that “every single regulation 
that’s currently on the books whose interpretation has been 
established under Seminole Rock now [would have] to be 
relitigated anew”). It is the rare overruling that introduces 
so much instability into so many areas of law, all in one 
blow. 
  
[38]And third, even if we are wrong about Auer, “Congress 
remains free to alter what we have done.” Patterson v. 
McLean Credit Union, 491 U.S. 164, 172–173, 109 S.Ct. 
2363, 105 L.Ed.2d 132 (1989) (stating that when that is so, 
“[c]onsiderations of stare decisis have special force”). In a 
constitutional case, only we can correct our error. But that 
is not so here. Our deference decisions are “balls tossed 
into Congress’s court, for acceptance or not as that branch 
elects.” Kimble, 576 U. S., at ––––, 135 S.Ct., at 2409. And 
so far, at least, Congress has chosen acceptance. It could 
amend the APA or any specific statute to require the sort 
of de novo review of regulatory interpretations *2423 that 
Kisor favors. Instead, for approaching a century, it has let 
our deference regime work side-by-side with both the APA 
and the many statutes delegating rulemaking power to 
agencies. It has done so even after we made clear that our 
deference decisions reflect a presumption about 
congressional intent. See Martin, 499 U.S. at 151, 111 
S.Ct. 1171; supra, at 2411 - 2412. And it has done so even 
after Members of this Court began to raise questions about 
the doctrine. See, e.g., Talk America, 564 U.S. at 67–69, 
131 S.Ct. 2254 (SCALIA, J., concurring). Given that 
history—and Congress’s continuing ability to take up 
Kisor’s arguments—we would need a particularly “special 
justification” to now reverse Auer. 
  
[39] [40]Kisor offers nothing of that ilk. Nearly all his 
arguments about abandoning precedent are variants of his 
merits claims. We hear again, if in different parts of his 
briefs, that Auer deference frustrates “the policies 
embodied in the APA” and violates the separation of 
powers. Reply Brief 13, and n. 5; Brief for Petitioner 47–
48. More generally, we learn that Seminole Rock was 
“wrong on its own terms” and “badly reasoned.” Id., at 47 
(internal quotation marks omitted). Of course, it is good—
and important—for our opinions to be right and well-
reasoned. But that is not the test for overturning precedent. 
Kisor does not claim that Auer deference is “unworkable,” 
a traditional basis for overruling a case. Patterson, 491 
U.S. at 173, 109 S.Ct. 2363. Nor does he point to changes 
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in legal rules that make Auer a “doctrinal dinosaur.” 
Kimble, 576 U. S., at ––––, 135 S.Ct., at 2411. All he can 
muster is that “[t]he administrative state has evolved 
substantially since 1945.” Brief for Petitioner 53. We do 
not doubt the point (although we note that Auer and other 
key deference decisions came along after most of that 
evolution took place). Still more, we agree with Kisor that 
administrative law doctrines must take account of the far-
reaching influence of agencies and the opportunities such 
power carries for abuse. That is one reason we have taken 
care today to reinforce the limits of Auer deference, and to 
emphasize the critical role courts retain in interpreting 
rules. But it is no answer to the growth of agencies for 
courts to take over their expertise-based, policymaking 
functions. Who knows? Maybe in 1945, the FDA was not 
thinking about “active moieties.” See supra, at 2410 - 
2411. But still, today—just as Seminole Rock and Auer 
held—it should have leeway to say what that term means. 
  
 
 

IV 

[41]With that, we can finally return to Kisor’s own case. You 
may remember that his retroactive benefits depend on the 
meaning of the term “relevant” records in a VA regulation. 
See supra, at 2408 - 2409. The Board of Veterans’ Appeals, 
through a single judge’s opinion, understood records to be 
relevant only if they relate to the basis of the VA’s initial 
denial of benefits. By contrast, Kisor argued that records 
are relevant if they go to any benefits criterion, even one 
that was uncontested. The Federal Circuit upheld the 
Board’s interpretation based on Auer deference. 
  
[42]Applying the principles outlined in this opinion, we hold 
that a redo is necessary for two reasons. First, the Federal 
Circuit jumped the gun in declaring the regulation 
ambiguous. We have insisted that a court bring all its 
interpretive tools to bear before finding that to be so. See 
supra, at 2415 - 2416. It is not enough to casually remark, 
as the court did here, that “[b]oth parties insist that the plain 
regulatory language supports their case, and neither party’s 
position strikes us as unreasonable.” 869 F.3d at 1368; see 
supra, at 2415 - 2416. Rather, the court must *2424 make 
a conscientious effort to determine, based on indicia like 
text, structure, history, and purpose, whether the regulation 

really has more than one reasonable meaning. The Solicitor 
General argued in this Court that the Board’s reading is the 
only reasonable one. See Brief for Respondent 49–50. 
Perhaps Kisor will make the converse claim below. Before 
even considering deference, the court must seriously think 
through those positions. 
  
[43]And second, the Federal Circuit assumed too fast that 
Auer deference should apply in the event of genuine 
ambiguity. As we have explained, that is not always true. 
A court must assess whether the interpretation is of the sort 
that Congress would want to receive deference. See supra, 
at 2416 - 2418. The Solicitor General suggested at oral 
argument that the answer in this case might be no. He 
explained that all 100 or so members of the VA Board act 
individually (rather than in panels) and that their roughly 
80,000 annual decisions have no “precedential value.” Tr. 
of Oral Arg. 64. He thus questioned whether a Board 
member’s ruling “reflects the considered judgment of the 
agency as a whole.” Ibid.; cf. Mead, 533 U.S. at 233, 121 
S.Ct. 2164 (declining to give Chevron deference to rulings 
“being churned out at a rate of 10,000 a year at an agency’s 
46 scattered offices”). We do not know what position the 
Government will take on that issue below. But the 
questions the Solicitor General raised are exactly the kind 
the court must consider in deciding whether to award Auer 
deference to the Board’s interpretation. 
  
We accordingly vacate the judgment below and remand the 
case for further proceedings. 
  
It is so ordered. 
  
 
 

Chief Justice ROBERTS, concurring in part. 
 
I join Parts I, II–B, III–B, and IV of the Court’s opinion. 
We took this case to consider whether to overrule Auer v. 
Robbins, 519 U.S. 452, 117 S.Ct. 905, 137 L.Ed.2d 79 
(1997), and Bowles v. Seminole Rock & Sand Co., 325 U.S. 
410, 65 S.Ct. 1215, 89 L.Ed. 1700 (1945). For the reasons 
the Court discusses in Part III–B, I agree that overruling 
those precedents is not warranted. I also agree with the 
Court’s treatment in Part II–B of the bounds of Auer 
deference. 
  
I write separately to suggest that the distance between the 
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majority and Justice GORSUCH is not as great as it may 
initially appear. The majority catalogs the prerequisites for, 
and limitations on, Auer deference: The underlying 
regulation must be genuinely ambiguous; the agency’s 
interpretation must be reasonable and must reflect its 
authoritative, expertise-based, and fair and considered 
judgment; and the agency must take account of reliance 
interests and avoid unfair surprise. Justice GORSUCH, 
meanwhile, lists the reasons that a court might be 
persuaded to adopt an agency’s interpretation of its own 
regulation: The agency thoroughly considered the problem, 
offered a valid rationale, brought its expertise to bear, and 
interpreted the regulation in a manner consistent with 
earlier and later pronouncements. Accounting for 
variations in verbal formulation, those lists have much in 
common. 
  
That is not to say that Auer deference is just the same as the 
power of persuasion discussed in Skidmore v. Swift & Co., 
323 U.S. 134, 65 S.Ct. 161, 89 L.Ed. 124 (1944); there is a 
difference between holding that a court ought to be 
persuaded by an agency’s interpretation and holding that it 
should defer to that interpretation under certain conditions. 
But it is to say that the *2425 cases in which Auer 
deference is warranted largely overlap with the cases in 
which it would be unreasonable for a court not to be 
persuaded by an agency’s interpretation of its own 
regulation. 
  
One further point: Issues surrounding judicial deference to 
agency interpretations of their own regulations are distinct 
from those raised in connection with judicial deference to 
agency interpretations of statutes enacted by Congress. See 
Chevron U. S. A. Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense 
Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 
694 (1984). I do not regard the Court’s decision today to 
touch upon the latter question. 
  
 
 

Justice GORSUCH, with whom Justice THOMAS joins, 
with whom Justice KAVANAUGH joins as to Parts I, II, 
III, IV, and V, and with whom Justice ALITO joins as to 
Parts I, II, and III, concurring in the judgment. 
 
It should have been easy for the Court to say goodbye to 
Auer v. Robbins.1 In disputes involving the relationship 
between the government and the people, Auer requires 

judges to accept an executive agency’s interpretation of its 
own regulations even when that interpretation doesn’t 
represent the best and fairest reading. This rule creates a 
“systematic judicial bias in favor of the federal 
government, the most powerful of parties, and against 
everyone else.”2 Nor is Auer’s biased rule the product of 
some congressional mandate we are powerless to correct: 
This Court invented it, almost by accident and without any 
meaningful effort to reconcile it with the Administrative 
Procedure Act or the Constitution. A legion of academics, 
lower court judges, and Members of this Court—even 
Auer’s author—has called on us to abandon Auer. Yet 
today a bare majority flinches, and Auer lives on. 
  
Still, today’s decision is more a stay of execution than a 
pardon. The Court cannot muster even five votes to say that 
Auer is lawful or wise. Instead, a majority retains Auer only 
because of stare decisis. And yet, far from standing by that 
precedent, the majority proceeds to impose so many new 
and nebulous qualifications and limitations on Auer that 
THE CHIEF JUSTICE claims to see little practical 
difference between keeping it on life support in this way 
and overruling it entirely. So the doctrine emerges maimed 
and enfeebled—in truth, zombified. 
  
Respectfully, we owe our colleagues on the lower courts 
more candid and useful guidance than this. And judges owe 
the people who come before them nothing less than a fair 
contest, where every party has an equal chance to persuade 
the court of its interpretation of the law’s demands. One 
can hope that THE CHIEF JUSTICE is right, and that 
whether we formally overrule Auer or merely neuter it, the 
results in most cases will prove the same. But means, not 
just ends, matter, and retaining even this debilitated version 
of Auer threatens to force litigants and lower courts to jump 
through needless and perplexing new hoops and in the 
process deny the people the independent judicial decisions 
they deserve. All to what end? So that we may pretend to 
abide stare decisis? 
  
Consider this case. Mr. Kisor is a Marine who lost out on 
benefits for post-traumatic stress disorder when the court 
of appeals deferred to a regulatory interpretation *2426 
advanced by the Department of Veterans Affairs. The court 
of appeals was guilty of nothing more than faithfully 
following Auer. But the majority today invokes stare 
decisis, of all things, to vacate that judgment and tell the 
court of appeals to try again using its newly retooled, multi-
factored, and far less determinate version of Auer. 
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Respectfully, I would stop this business of making up 
excuses for judges to abdicate their job of interpreting the 
law, and simply allow the court of appeals to afford Mr. 
Kisor its best independent judgment of the law’s meaning. 
  
The Court’s failure to be done with Auer, and its decision 
to adorn Auer with so many new and ambiguous 
limitations, all but guarantees we will have to pass this way 
again. When that day comes, I hope this Court will find the 
nerve it lacks today and inter Auer at last. Until then, I hope 
that our judicial colleagues on other courts will take 
courage from today’s ruling and realize that it has 
transformed Auer into a paper tiger. 
  
 
 

I. How We Got Here 

Where did Auer come from? Not from the Constitution, 
some ancient common law tradition, or even a modern 
statute. Instead, it began as an unexplained aside in a 
decision about emergency price controls at the height of the 
Second World War. Even then, the dictum sat on the shelf, 
little noticed, for years. Only in the last few decades of the 
20th century did lawyers and courts really begin to dust it 
off and shape it into the reflexive rule of deference to 
regulatory agencies we know today. And they did so 
without ever pausing to consider whether a rule like that 
could be legally justified or even made sense. Auer is really 
little more than an accident. 
  
 
 

A 

Before the mid-20th century, few federal agencies engaged 
in extensive rulemaking, and those that did rarely sought 
deference for their regulatory interpretations.3 But when 
the question arose, this Court did not hesitate to say that 
judges reviewing administrative action should decide all 
questions of law, including questions concerning the 
meaning of regulations. As Justice BRANDEIS put it, 

“[t]he inexorable safeguard which the due process clause 
assures is ... that there will be opportunity for a court to 
determine whether the applicable rules of law ... were 
observed.”4 Unsurprisingly, the government’s early, 
longstanding, and consistent interpretation of a statute, 
regulation, or other legal instrument could count as 
powerful evidence of its original public meaning.5 But 
courts respected executive interpretations only because and 
to the extent “they embodied understandings made roughly 
contemporaneously with ... enactment and stably 
maintained and practiced since that time,” not “because 
they were executive as such.”6 
  
*2427 Writing for four Members of the Court, Justice 
KAGAN suggests that Auer’s very different approach to 
the interpretation of agency regulations was foreshadowed 
as early as this Court’s 1898 decision in United States v. 
Eaton.7 Ante, at ––––. But this is mistaken. The question in 
that case was whether Mr. Eaton’s appointment as 
temporary vice-consul to Siam was consistent with State 
Department regulations. After several pages of careful and 
independent legal analysis, the Court held that the 
regulations did authorize the appointment. That 
conclusion, the Court explained, was “rendered necessary 
by a consideration of the text.”8 Only after reaching this 
conclusion did the Court observe that the State Department 
had previously adopted the same construction, noting along 
the way that the Department’s views were “entitled to the 
greatest weight” and that the Court saw “no reason in this 
case to doubt [their] correctness.”9Eaton thus simply 
followed the well-worn path of acknowledging that an 
agency’s interpretation of a regulation can supply evidence 
of its meaning.10 Nowhere did the Court even hint that it 
would have deferred to the State Department’s views about 
the meaning of the law if its own independent textual 
analysis had not led it to the same conclusion. 
  
All this is borne out by the Court’s later teachings in 
Skidmore v. Swift & Co. in 1944.11 The question there was 
whether the time overnight employees spent waiting to 
respond to fire alarms could amount to compensable 
overtime under the Fair Labor Standards Act. The lower 
courts had held as a matter of law that it could not. In an 
opinion by Justice JACKSON, this Court reversed. The 
Court first held, based on its own independent analysis, that 
“no principle of law found either in the statute or in Court 
decisions precludes waiting time from also being working 
time.”12 Only then did the Court consider “what, if any, 
deference courts should pay” to the views of the 
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Administrator of the Labor Department’s Wage and Hour 
Division.13 And on that question the Court reaffirmed the 
traditional rule that an agency’s interpretation of the law is 
“not controlling upon the courts” and is entitled only to a 
weight proportional to “the thoroughness evident in its 
consideration, the validity of its reasoning, its consistency 
with earlier and later pronouncements, and all those factors 
which give it power to persuade.”14 At the time, the 
influential *2428 administrative law scholar Kenneth Culp 
Davis considered this “[a]n entirely reliable statement” of 
the law.15 
  
 
 

B 

In truth, the seeds of the Auer doctrine were first planted 
only in 1945, in Bowles v. Seminole Rock & Sand Co.16 
That case involved regulations issued by the Office of Price 
Administration (OPA), which Congress had tasked with 
stabilizing the national economy during the Second World 
War through the use of emergency price controls. It was in 
that context that the Court declared—for the first time and 
without citing any authority—that “if the meaning of [the 
regulation were] in doubt,” the agency’s interpretation 
would merit “controlling weight unless it is plainly 
erroneous or inconsistent with the regulation.”17 
  
Yet even then it was far from clear how much weight the 
Court really placed on the agency’s interpretation. As it had 
in Eaton, the Court in Seminole Rock began with an 
extended discussion of “the plain words of the regulation,” 
which led it to conclude that the text “clearly” supported 
the government’s position.18 Only after reaching that 
conclusion based on its own independent analysis did the 
Court proceed to add that “[a]ny doubts ... are removed by 
reference to the administrative construction.”19 
  
So confused was all this that readers at the time didn’t 
perceive Seminole Rock’s dictum as changing anything. 
Professor Davis observed that the Court’s discussion about 
giving “controlling weight” to the agency’s interpretation 
was an unexplained aside that made no difference to the 
case’s outcome.20 The dictum, too, was readily explained 
as reflecting the unusual factual context in which the case 

arose, involving an emergency government program 
created to deal with “unique circumstances of war and 
economic depression.”21 And the Court decided Seminole 
Rock the same Term it issued Skidmore, where it 
reaffirmed the traditional rule that an agency’s views about 
the law may persuade a court but can never control its 
judgment. In fact, the Court in Seminole Rock was careful 
to note that the OPA interpretation before it bore many of 
the characteristics Skidmore would have recognized as 
increasing its persuasive force: It had been announced 
concurrently with the regulation, disseminated widely to 
the regulated community, and adhered to consistently by 
the agency.22 
  
*2429 No wonder, then, that for many years after the 
decision, courts “connected Seminole Rock more closely 
with the deference framework ... under Skidmore” and 
generally engaged in a Skidmore-type analysis, accepting 
the agency’s interpretation “only after independently 
examining the regulation and concluding that the agency 
interpretation was sound.”23 If Seminole Rock’s 
“controlling weight” dictum was afforded any force, it was 
usually only in the price control context; even then it was 
ordinarily extended only to “official” agency 
interpretations that were published contemporaneously 
with the regulation and widely distributed.24 The Fourth 
Circuit exemplified the early understanding of Seminole 
Rock when it observed—citing both Seminole Rock and 
Skidmore—that “under settled principles” an official 
agency interpretation in an opinion letter was entitled only 
to “respectful consideration.”25 The letter, the court 
stressed, did not “have the effect of law,” and “[i]t would 
be absurd to hold that the courts must subordinate their 
judgment as to the meaning of a ... regulation to the mere 
unsupported opinion of an associate counsel in an 
administrative department.”26 
  
 
 

C 

This Court did not cite Seminole Rock’s “controlling 
weight” dictum again until 1965, in Udall v. Tallman.27 
And though Tallman “did very little to advance the 
jurisprudential understanding of Seminole Rock,” it 

APPX 994 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019) 

 

 

204 L.Ed.2d 841, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 100,511, Med & Med GD (CCH) P 306,540... 
 

 © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 26
 

certainly helped fuel the expansion of so-called “Seminole 
Rock deference.”28 From the 1960s on, this Court and lower 
courts began to cite the Seminole Rock dictum with 
increasing frequency and in a wider variety of 
circumstances, but still without much explanation. They 
also increasingly divorced Seminole Rock from Skidmore.29 
  
Auer represents the apotheosis of this line of cases. In the 
name of what some now call the Auer doctrine, courts have 
in recent years “mechanically applied and reflexively 
treated” Seminole Rock’s dictum “as a constraint upon the 
careful inquiry that one might ordinarily expect of courts 
engaged in textual analysis.”30 Under Auer, judges are 
forced to subordinate their own views about what the law 
means to those of a political actor, one who may even be a 
party to the litigation before the court. After all, if the court 
agrees that the agency’s reading is the best one, Auer does 
no real work; the doctrine matters only when a court would 
conclude that the agency’s interpretation is not the best or 
fairest reading of the regulation. 
  
To be sure, Justice KAGAN paints a very different picture 
of Auer, asking us to imagine it riding to the rescue only in 
cases where the scales of justice are evenly balanced 
between two equally persuasive readings. But that’s a 
fantasy: “If nature knows of such equipoise in legal 
arguments, *2430 the courts at least do not.”31 In the real 
world the judge uses his traditional interpretive toolkit, full 
of canons and tiebreaking rules, to reach a decision about 
the best and fairest reading of the law. Of course, there are 
close cases and reasonable judges will sometimes disagree. 
But every day, in courts throughout this country, judges 
manage with these traditional tools to reach conclusions 
about the meaning of statutes, rules of procedure, contracts, 
and the Constitution. Yet when it comes to interpreting 
federal regulations, Auer displaces this process and 
requires judges instead to treat the agency’s interpretation 
as controlling even when it is “not ... the best one.”32 
  
If that were not troubling enough, Auer has also become “a 
doctrine of uncertain scope and application.”33 This Court 
has never offered meaningful guidance on how to decide 
whether the agency’s reading is “reasonable” enough to 
demand judicial deference—and lower courts have drawn 
that line in wildly different places.34 Deepening the 
confusion, this Court and lower courts have, over time, 
tried to soften Auer’s rigidity by declaring that it “might” 
not apply in some ill-defined circumstances, such as when 
the agency’s interpretation “conflicts with a prior 

interpretation” or reflects a “convenient litigating position” 
or a “post hoc rationalization” for past agency action.35 All 
this has resulted in “widespread confusion” about when 
and how to apply Auer deference.36 
  
In light of Auer’s many problems, it should come as no 
surprise that several Members of this Court,37 along with a 
great many lower court judges38 and *2431 members of the 
legal academy,39 have questioned Auer’s validity and 
pleaded with this Court to reconsider it. 
  
 
 

D 

That’s where things stood when James Kisor asked the 
Department of Veterans Affairs to reopen his disability 
benefits claim. Mr. Kisor served as a United States Marine 
from 1962 through 1966 and saw combat in Vietnam. In 
the early 1980s, a VA counselor observed that Mr. Kisor 
was battling depression and suicidal thoughts and 
suggested he might be suffering from post-traumatic stress 
disorder. In light of this, Mr. Kisor filed a claim for 
disability benefits in 1982. But, in the end, the VA denied 
the claim. 
  
In 2006, Mr. Kisor sought to reopen the matter. In 
connection with that request, he presented new evidence, 
including a psychiatrist’s report diagnosing him with 
PTSD and additional records documenting his service in 
Vietnam. The VA reopened Mr. Kisor’s claim and granted 
him disability benefits effective June 5, 2006, the date he 
had submitted his new request. Mr. Kisor argued that a VA 
regulation entitled him to an earlier effective date for 
disability benefits, one tracing back to his original 
submission in 1982. But the Board of Veterans Appeals 
concluded that the applicable regulation didn’t authorize 
that relief. 
  
Mr. Kisor appealed the Board’s ruling all the way to the 
Federal Circuit, arguing that the Board had misinterpreted 
the relevant regulation. The Federal Circuit affirmed. 
Relying on the Auer doctrine, the court held that it had no 
choice but to treat the Board’s interpretation as “ 
‘controlling’ ” unless that interpretation was “ ‘plainly 
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erroneous or inconsistent with the regulatio[n].’ ”40 Without 
even trying to determine who had the better reading of the 
regulation, the Board or Mr. Kisor, the court declared that 
“[t]he Board’s interpretation does not strike us as either 
plainly erroneous or inconsistent with the VA’s regulatory 
framework.”41 Case closed. 
  
Mr. Kisor sought and was denied rehearing en banc. Three 
judges dissented and joined those who have questioned 
“the logic behind continued adherence to the [Auer] 
doctrine”; they argued that, without Auer deference, Mr. 
Kisor’s reading of the regulation would likely prevail.42 Mr. 
Kisor then asked us to grant certiorari to reconsider Auer. 
Thinking it past time to do so, we granted the petition.43 
  
 
 

*2432 II. The Administrative Procedure Act 

When this Court speaks about the rules governing judicial 
review of federal agency action, we are not (or shouldn’t 
be) writing on a blank slate or exercising some common-
law-making power. We are supposed to be applying the 
Administrative Procedure Act. The APA is a “seminal” 
statute that Congress wrote to define the relationship 
between courts and agencies.44 Some have even described 
it as a kind of constitution for our “administrative state.” 
Yet, remarkably, until today this Court has never made any 
serious effort to square the Auer doctrine with the APA. 
Even now, only four Justices make the attempt. And for at 
least two reasons, their arguments are wholly unpersuasive. 
  
 
 

A 

The first problem lies in § 706. That provision instructs 
reviewing courts to “decide all relevant questions of law” 
and “set aside agency action ... found to be ... not in 
accordance with law.”45 Determining the meaning of a 
statute or regulation, of course, presents a classic legal 
question. But in case these directives were not clear 

enough, the APA further directs courts to “determine the 
meaning” of any relevant “agency action,” including any 
rule issued by the agency.46 The APA thus requires a 
reviewing court to resolve for itself any dispute over the 
proper interpretation of an agency regulation. A court that, 
in deference to an agency, adopts something other than the 
best reading of a regulation isn’t “decid[ing]” the relevant 
“questio[n] of law” or “determin[ing] the meaning” of the 
regulation. Instead, it’s allowing the agency to dictate the 
answer to that question. In doing so, the court is abdicating 
the duty Congress assigned to it in the APA.47 
  
Justice KAGAN seeks to address the glaring inconsistency 
between our judge-made rule and the controlling statute 
this way. On her account, the APA tells a reviewing court 
to “determine the meaning” of regulations, but it does not 
tell the court “how” to do that. Thus, we are told, reading 
the regulation for itself and deferring to the agency’s 
reading are just two equally valid ways for a court to fulfill 
its statutory duty to “determine the meaning” of the 
regulation. Ante, at 2419 – 2420. 
  
But the APA isn’t as anemic as that. Its unqualified 
command requires the court to determine legal questions—
including questions about a regulation’s meaning—by its 
own lights, not by those of political appointees or 
bureaucrats who may even be self-interested litigants in the 
case at hand. Nor can there be any doubt that, when 
Congress wrote the APA, it knew perfectly well how to 
require judicial deference to an agency when it wished—in 
fact, Congress repeatedly specified deferential standards 
for judicial review elsewhere in the statute.48 But when it 
comes to the business of *2433 interpreting regulations, no 
such command exists; instead, Congress told courts to 
“determine” those matters for themselves. Though one 
hardly needs to be an academic to recognize the point, 
“commentators in administrative law have ‘generally 
acknowledged’ that Section 706 seems to require de novo 
review on questions of law.”49 
  
What the statutory language suggests, experience confirms. 
If Auer deference were really just another way for courts to 
“determine the meaning” of regulations under § 706, you 
might expect that a final judicial “determination” would at 
least settle, as a matter of precedent, the question of what 
the regulation “means.” Of course, even after one court has 
spoken on a regulation’s meaning, that court or another 
might properly give weight to a new agency interpretation 
as part of the court’s own decision-making process. See 
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supra, at 6. But in light of National Cable & 
Telecommunications Assn. v. Brand X Internet Services,50 
courts have interpreted Auer as forbidding a court from 
ever “determin[ing] the meaning” of a regulation with the 
force that normally attaches to precedent, because an 
agency is always free to adopt a different view and insist 
on judicial deference to its new judgment.51 And if an 
agency can not only control the court’s initial decision but 
also revoke that decision at any time, how can anyone 
honestly say the court, rather than the agency, ever really 
“determine[s]” what the regulation means? 
  
To test the point further, consider a statute that tells a court 
to “determin[e]” an appropriate sentence in a criminal 
case.52 If the judge said he was sending a defendant to 
prison for longer than he believed appropriate only in 
deference to the government’s “reasonable” sentencing 
recommendation, would anyone really think that complied 
with the law? Or take a statute that instructs a court to 
“determine” whether a consent judgment proposed by the 
government in a civil antitrust *2434 case “is in the public 
interest.”53 If a court thought the proposed judgment 
harmful to the public but decided to defer to the 
government’s “reasonable” contrary view anyway, would 
anyone suggest the court had complied with Congress’s 
instruction? 
  
Nor does Justice KAGAN’s reading of § 706 offer any 
logical stopping point. If courts can “determine the 
meaning” of a regulation by deferring to any “reasonable” 
agency reading, then why not by deferring to any agency 
reading? If it were really true that the APA has nothing to 
say about how courts decide what regulations mean, then it 
would follow that the APA tolerates a rule that “the agency 
is always right.” And if you find yourself in a place as 
absurd as that, you might want to consider whether you’ve 
taken a wrong turn along the way. 
  
 
 

B 

The problems don’t end there. Auer is also incompatible 
with the APA’s instructions in § 553. That provision 
requires agencies to follow notice-and-comment 

procedures when issuing or amending legally binding 
regulations (what the APA calls “substantive rules”), but 
not when offering mere interpretations of those 
regulations.54 An agency wishing to adopt or amend a 
binding regulation thus must publish a proposal in the 
Federal Register, give interested members of the public an 
opportunity to submit written comments on the proposal, 
and consider those comments before issuing the final 
regulation. Under the APA, that regulation then carries the 
force of law unless and until it is amended or repealed.55 By 
contrast, an agency can announce an interpretation of an 
existing substantive regulation without advance warning 
and in pretty much whatever form it chooses. 
  
Auer effectively nullifies the distinction Congress drew 
here. Under Auer, courts must treat as “controlling” not 
only an agency’s duly promulgated rules but also its mere 
interpretations—even ones that appear only in a legal brief, 
press release, or guidance document issued without 
affording the public advance notice or a chance to 
comment. For all practical purposes, “the new 
interpretation might as well be a new regulation.”56Auer 
thus obliterates a distinction Congress thought vital and 
supplies agencies with a shortcut around the APA’s 
required procedures for issuing and amending substantive 
rules that bind the public with the full force and effect of 
law.57 
  
Think of it this way. We’ve held that the Constitution’s 
specification of a “single, finely wrought” procedure for 
the enactment of statutes (bicameralism and presentment) 
necessarily implies that Congress cannot amend an enacted 
statute without following that procedure—say, by allowing 
a single House to change what the law requires.58 By the 
same logic, Congress’s specification in the APA of 
procedures for the creation of new substantive rules (like 
notice and comment) necessarily implies that an agency 
cannot amend a substantive *2435 rule without following 
those procedures. To hold otherwise, as Auer demands, 
subverts the APA’s design. 
  
Certain amici contend this argument is “out of place” in 
this particular case because the VA happened to issue the 
interpretation challenged here in an adjudicative 
proceeding.59 But the premise on which they proceed—that 
the APA permits agencies to issue “controlling” 
amendments to their regulations in adjudicative 
proceedings—is not correct. Once an agency issues a 
substantive rule through notice and comment, it can amend 
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that rule only by following the same notice-and-comment 
procedures.60 Whether an agency issues its interpretation in 
a press release or something it chooses to call an 
“adjudication,” all we have is the agency’s opinion about 
what an existing rule means, something that the APA tells 
us is not binding in a court of law or on the American 
people. 
  
If that won’t work, Justice KAGAN tries an alternative 
argument from nearly the opposite direction. She replies 
that affording Auer deference to an agency’s interpretation 
of its own rules never offends the APA because the 
agency’s interpretation lacks “the force of law” associated 
with substantive rules. Agency interpretations lack this 
force, we are told, because a court always retains the power 
to decide at least whether the interpretation is entitled to 
deference. Ante, at 2420 - 2421. But this argument rests on 
an implausibly narrow understanding of what it means for 
an agency action to bear the force of law. Under Justice 
KAGAN’s logic, even a binding substantive rule would 
lack the force of law because a court retains the power to 
decide whether the rule is arbitrary and capricious and thus 
invalid under the APA. But no one believes that. While an 
agency interpretation, just like a substantive rule, “must 
meet certain conditions before it gets deference,” “once it 
does so [Auer makes it] every bit as binding as a 
substantive rule.”61 To suggest that Auer does not make an 
agency’s interpretive guidance “binding o[n] anyone,” 
ante, at 2420 - 2421, is linguistic hocus-pocus. 
  
 
 

C 

If Auer cannot be squared with the text of the APA, Justice 
KAGAN suggests it at least conforms to a reasonable 
“presumption about congressional intent.” Ante, at 2412. 
The theory seems to be that whenever Congress grants an 
agency “rulemaking power,” it also implicitly gives the 
agency “ ‘the power authoritatively to interpret’ ” whatever 
rules the agency chooses to adopt. Ante, at 2412. But 
against the clear statutory commands Congress gave us in 
the APA, what sense does it make to “presume” that 
Congress really, secretly, wanted courts to treat agency 
interpretations as binding? Normally, this Court does not 

allow hidden legislative intentions to “muddy” such plainly 
expressed statutory directives.62 
  
Even on its own terms, too, this argument proves pretty 
muddy. It goes something like this: The drafters of the APA 
did not intend to “ ‘significantly alter’ ” established law 
governing judicial review of agency action as of 1946; the 
Auer doctrine was part of that established law; therefore, 
the APA implicitly requires *2436 courts to afford 
agencies Auer deference. Ante, at 2419 - 2420. But neither 
of this syllogism’s essential premises stands on solid 
ground. 
  
Take the major premise—that those who adopted the APA 
intended to work no change in the established law of 
judicial review of agency action. Justice KAGAN is right, 
of course, that Attorney General Clark claimed as much 
shortly after the APA’s passage. Ante, at 2419 - 2420. But 
his view, which reflected the interests of the executive 
branch, was far from universally shared. Others, including 
many members of Congress, thought the APA would 
clarify, if not expand, the scope of judicial review. For 
example, Senator McCarran, the Chairman of the Judiciary 
Committee, wrote that it would be “hard ... for anyone to 
argue that this Act did anything other than cut down the 
‘cult of discretion’ so far as federal law is concerned.”63 
And both the House and Senate reports on the APA said it 
was intended to “provid[e] that questions of law are for 
courts rather than agencies to decide in the last analysis.”64 
  
Just five years after the APA’s passage, this Court seemed 
to side with those who thought the APA was intended to do 
more than just summarize existing law. In an opinion by 
Justice FRANKFURTER, the Court opined that the APA 
required courts to assume “more responsibility” for 
reviewing agency decisions “than some courts ha[d] shown 
in the past.”65 One early commentator likewise observed 
that the APA seemed designed to eliminate all doubt that 
questions of law “shall be decided by the reviewing Court 
for itself, and in the exercise of its own independent 
judgment”; “[m]ore explicit words to impose this 
mandate,” he thought, “could hardly be found.”66 
  
Justice KAGAN’s syllogism runs into even more trouble 
with its minor premise—that the Auer doctrine was a well-
established part of the common law background when 
Congress enacted the APA in 1946. As we’ve seen, this 
Court planted the seeds of Auer deference for the first time 
in dictum in Seminole Rock, just a year before Congress 
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passed the APA. See Part I–B, supra. And that dictum did 
not somehow immediately become an entrenched part of 
the common law: For years following Seminole Rock, 
courts and “commentators largely ignored” it,67 and those 
who took notice weren’t sure what to make of it. Professor 
Davis, for example, doubted that the dictum could be 
“taken at face value” given that it seemed “irreconcilable” 
with the Court’s approach in other cases.68 In truth, when 
Congress passed the APA the law of judicial review of 
agency action was in a confused state. During *2437 the 
congressional hearings on the bill, one witness’s 
suggestion that Congress should leave the scope of judicial 
review “as it now is” drew this fair reply from 
Representative Walter, chairman of the House 
Subcommittee on Administrative Law and author of the 
House Report on the APA: “You say ‘as it now is.’ Frankly, 
I do not know what it now is .... [T]he Supreme Court 
apparently changes its mind daily.”69 
  
 
 

III. The Constitution 

Not only is Auer incompatible with the APA; it also sits 
uneasily with the Constitution. Article III, § 1 provides that 
the “judicial Power of the United States” is vested 
exclusively in this Court and the lower federal courts. A 
core component of that judicial power is “ ‘the duty of 
interpreting [the laws] and applying them in cases properly 
brought before the courts.’ ”70 As Chief Justice 
MARSHALL put it, “[i]t is emphatically the province and 
duty of the judicial department to say what the law is.”71 
And never, this Court has warned, should the “judicial 
power ... be shared with [the] Executive Branch.”72 Yet that 
seems to be exactly what Auer requires. 
  
 
 

A 

Our Nation’s founders were painfully aware of the dangers 
of executive and legislative intrusion on judicial decision-

making. One of the abuses of royal power that led to the 
American Revolution was King George’s attempt to gain 
influence over colonial judges.73 Colonial legislatures, too, 
had interfered with the courts’ independence “at the behest 
of private interests and factions.”74 These experiences had 
taught the founders that “ ‘there is no liberty if the power 
of judgment be not separated from the legislative and 
executive powers.’ ”75 They knew that when political actors 
are left free not only to adopt and enforce written laws, but 
also to control the interpretation of those laws, the legal 
rights of “litigants with unpopular or minority causes or ... 
who belong to despised or suspect classes” count for little.76 
*2438 Maybe the powerful, well-heeled, popular, and 
connected can wheedle favorable outcomes from a system 
like that—but what about everyone else? They are left 
always a little unsure what the law is, at the mercy of 
political actors and the shifting winds of popular opinion, 
and without the chance for a fair hearing before a neutral 
judge. The rule of law begins to bleed into the rule of men. 
  
Experiencing all this in their own time, the founders sought 
to ensure that those who came after them would not. 
Believing that “[n]o maxim was better established” than 
“that the power of making ought to be kept distinct from 
that of expounding, the laws,”77 they designed a judiciary 
that would be able to interpret the laws “free from potential 
domination by other branches of government.”78 To that 
end, they resisted proposals that would have subjected 
judicial decisions to review by political actors.79 And they 
rejected the British tradition of using the upper house of the 
legislature as a court of last resort, out of fear that a body 
with “even a partial agency in passing bad laws” would 
operate under the “same spirit” in “interpreting them.”80 
Instead, they gave federal judges life tenure, subject only 
to removal by impeachment; and they guaranteed that the 
other branches could not reduce judges’ compensation so 
long as they remained in office. 
  
The founders afforded these extraordinary powers and 
protections not for the comfort of judges, but so that an 
independent judiciary could better guard the people from 
the arbitrary use of governmental power. And sitting atop 
the judicial branch, this Court has always carried a special 
duty to “jealously guar[d]” the Constitution’s promise of 
judicial independence.81 So we have long resisted any effort 
by the other branches to “ ‘usurp a court’s power to 
interpret and apply the law to the circumstances before it.’ 
”82 The judicial power to interpret the law, this Court has 
held, “can no more be shared with another branch than the 
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Chief Executive, for example, can share with the Judiciary 
the veto power, or the Congress share with the Judiciary 
the power to override a Presidential veto.”83 
  
Auer represents no trivial threat to these foundational 
principles. Under the APA, substantive rules issued by 
federal agencies through notice-and-comment procedures 
bear “the ‘force and effect of law’ ”84 and are part of the 
body of federal *2439 law, binding on private individuals, 
that the Constitution charges federal judges with 
interpreting. Yet Auer tells the judge that he must interpret 
these binding laws to mean not what he thinks they mean, 
but what an executive agency says they mean. Unlike 
Article III judges, executive officials are not, nor are they 
supposed to be, “wholly impartial.”85 They have their own 
interests, their own constituencies, and their own policy 
goals—and when interpreting a regulation, they may 
choose to “press the case for the side [they] represen[t]” 
instead of adopting the fairest and best reading.86 Auer thus 
means that, far from being “kept distinct,” the powers of 
making, enforcing, and interpreting laws are united in the 
same hands—and in the process a cornerstone of the rule 
of law is compromised. 
  
Consider an analogy. The Court has long held that 
Congress cannot “ ‘indirectly control the action of the 
courts, by requiring of them a construction of the law 
according to its own views.’ ”87 If Congress disagrees with 
how courts are interpreting an existing statute, it is free to 
amend the statute to establish a different rule going 
forward. What it cannot do is issue “a mandate ... to compel 
the courts to construe and apply [existing law], not 
according to the judicial, but according to the legislative 
judgment.”88 As early as 1804, when a lawyer argued 
before this Court that an Act of the North Carolina 
legislature could not control the Court’s construction of an 
earlier North Carolina statute because “[t]o declare what 
the law is, or has been, is a judicial power,” not a legislative 
power, the Court stopped him, deeming the point too plain 
for argument.89 
  
But if the legislature can’t control a judge’s interpretation 
of an existing statute, how can an executive agency control 
a judge’s interpretation of an existing and equally binding 
regulation? Auer allows an agency to do exactly what this 
Court has always said a legislature cannot do: “compel the 
courts to construe and apply” a law on the books, “not 
according to the judicial ... judgment,” but according to the 
judgment of another branch.90 When we defer to an agency 

interpretation that differs from what we believe to be the 
best interpretation of the law, we compromise our judicial 
independence and deny the people who come before us the 
impartial judgment that the Constitution guarantees them. 
And we mislead those whom we serve by placing a judicial 
imprimatur on what is, in fact, no more than an exercise of 
raw political executive power.91 
  
 
 

B 

What do our colleagues have to say about these concerns? 
A majority has *2440 nothing to offer, and Justice 
KAGAN dismisses them out of hand. In fact, she barely 
mentions the Constitution, other than to assure us that Auer 
does not allow agencies to “usur[p] the interpretive role of 
courts” because “courts retain a firm grip on the 
interpretive function” through their ability to decide 
whether Auer deference applies. Ante, at 2421. But that is 
no assurance at all. The judicial power has always been 
understood to provide the people with a neutral arbiter who 
bears the responsibility and duty to “expound and 
interpret” the governing law, not just the power to say 
whether someone else’s interpretation, let alone the 
interpretation of a self-interested political actor, is 
“reasonable.”92 
  
To be sure, it’s conceivable that Congress might seek to 
limit the ability of judges to remedy an adverse agency 
action. It might, for example, provide that a court shall have 
power to set aside agency action pursuant to a regulation 
only if the action was based on an unreasonable 
interpretation of the regulation. But even assuming the 
constitutionality of a hypothetical statute like that, Auer is 
different. It does not limit the scope of the judicial power; 
instead, it seeks to coopt the judicial power by requiring an 
Article III judge to decide a case before him according to 
principles that he believes do not accurately reflect the law. 
Under Auer, a judge is required to lay aside his independent 
judgment and declare affirmatively that a regulation means 
what the agency says it means—and, thus, that the law is 
what the agency says it is. Then the judge is compelled to 
exercise his judicial authority to adjust private rights and 
obligations based on the agency’s (mis)understanding of 
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the law. If Auer were a statute, it would not be an exercise 
of Congress’s “power (within limits) to tell the courts what 
classes of cases they may decide,” or what relief they may 
supply, but a forbidden attempt “to prescribe or 
superintend how they decide those cases.”93 And in the 
absence of any statute like that, this Court surely should not 
so freely give away to the executive branch its assigned 
responsibility to interpret the laws. “Abdication of 
responsibility is not part of the constitutional design.”94 
  
In the end, Justice KAGAN’s only real reply is this: 
However misguided it may be to hand over our interpretive 
powers to executive agencies, at least there isn’t a 
mountain of empirical evidence showing that agencies 
have used this power to deliberately write “vague and 
open-ended” regulations to maximize their interpretive 
leeway. Ante, at 2421. But even this misses the point. 
Whether or not regulations are “ ‘designed’ ” to be vague, 
ibid., many can be read in different ways, especially when 
new and unanticipated applications arise; cases like that 
come before the courts all the time. Without Auer’s shadow 
hanging over them, parties would receive a fair hearing 
before an impartial judge. The agency’s interpretation 
would sometimes be rejected; and that, in turn, might lead 
it to solicit public comment on possible amendments to the 
regulation, which would provide an opportunity for public 
input that might produce better policy. But with Auer, there 
is no fair hearing and no need for the agency to amend the 
regulation through notice and comment. Whether 
purposeful or not, the agency’s failure to write a clear 
regulation winds up increasing *2441 its power, allowing 
it to both write and interpret rules that bear the force of 
law—in the process uniting powers the Constitution 
deliberately separated and denying the people their right to 
an independent judicial determination of the law’s 
meaning. 
  
 
 

IV. Policy Arguments 

Lacking support elsewhere, Justice KAGAN is forced to 
resort to policy arguments to defend Auer. But even the 
most sensible policy argument would not empower us to 
ignore the plain language of the APA or the demands of the 

Constitution. And as we’ve seen, those documents reflect 
a very different “policy” judgment by the people and their 
representatives. Besides, the policy arguments offered 
today are not just unpersuasive, they are troubling. 
  
Take the first and boldest offering. Justice KAGAN 
suggests that determining the meaning of a regulation is 
largely a matter of figuring out what the “person who wrote 
it ... intended.” Ante, at 2412. In this way, we’re told, a 
legally binding regulation isn’t all that different from “a 
memo or an e-mail”—if you “[w]ant to know what [it] 
means,” you’d better “[a]sk its author.” Ante, at 2412 - 
2413. But the federal government’s substantive rules are 
not like memos or e-mails; they are binding edicts that 
carry the force of law for all citizens. And if the rule of law 
means anything, it means that we are governed by the 
public meaning of the words found in statutes and 
regulations, not by their authors’ private intentions. This is 
a vital part of what it means to have “a government of laws, 
and not of men.”95 When judges interpret a regulation, what 
we are trying to get at, as Justice HOLMES explained long 
ago, is not the “particular intent” of those who wrote it, but 
“what [its] words would mean [to] a normal speaker of 
English ... in the circumstances in which they were used.”96 
If the best reading of the regulation turns out to be 
something other than what the agency claims to have 
intended, the agency is free to rewrite the regulation; but 
its secret intentions are not the law. 
  
Nor does Justice KAGAN’s account of the interpretive 
process even wind up supporting Auer. If a court’s goal in 
interpreting a regulation really were to determine what its 
author “intended,” Auer would be an almost complete 
mismatch with the goal. Agency personnel change over 
time, and an agency’s policy priorities may shift 
dramatically from one presidential administration to 
another. Yet Auer tells courts that they must defer to the 
agency’s current view of what the regulation ought to 
mean, which may or may not correspond to the views of 
those who actually wrote it. If interpreting a regulation 
really were just like reading an e-mail, Auer would be like 
seeking guidance about the e-mail’s meaning, years or 
decades later, from the latest user of the computer from 
which the e-mail was sent. We’ve repeatedly rejected that 
approach in the context of statutory interpretation. While 
Members of this Court sometimes disagree about the 
usefulness of pre-enactment legislative history, we all 
agree that legislators’ statements about the meaning of an 
already-enacted statute are not “a legitimate tool of 
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statutory interpretation,’ ” much less a *2442 controlling 
one.97 So why on earth would we give “controlling weight” 
to an agency’s statements about the meaning of an already-
promulgated regulation? 
  
Proceeding farther down this doubtful path, Justice 
KAGAN asserts that resolving ambiguities in a regulation 
“sounds more in policy than in law” and is thus a task more 
suited to executive officials than judges. Ante, at 2413. But 
this claim, too, contradicts a basic premise of our legal 
order: that we are governed not by the shifting whims of 
politicians and bureaucrats, but by written laws whose 
meaning is fixed and ascertainable—if not by all members 
of the public, then at least by lawyers who can advise them 
and judges who must apply the law to individual cases 
guided by the neutral principles found in our traditional 
tools of interpretation. The text of the regulation is treated 
as the law, and the agency’s policy judgment has the force 
of law only insofar as it is embodied in the regulatory text. 
If “new issues demanding new policy calls” arise that 
aren’t addressed in existing regulations, ante, at 2413, the 
solution is for the agency to promulgate new regulations 
using the notice-and-comment procedures set forth in the 
APA. But an agency has no warrant to compel judges to 
change the law to conform with the agency’s current policy 
preferences. 
  
To be sure, during the period of Auer’s ascendancy some 
suggested that the meaning of written law is always 
“radically indeterminate” and that judges expounding it are 
“for the most part, guided by policy—not text.”98 And in an 
environment like that it was perhaps thought a small step 
to conclude that, if legal disputes are going to be resolved 
on political grounds, then they ought to be resolved by real 
politicians in the executive branch rather than ersatz 
politicians on the bench. But the proposed cure proved 
worse than the disease. Arguments like these surrendered 
the judgment embodied in our Constitution and the APA 
that courts owe the people they serve their independent 
legal judgment about the law’s meaning. Besides, we’ve 
long since come to realize that the real cure doesn’t lie in 
turning judges into rubber stamps for politicians, but in 
redirecting the judge’s interpretive task back to its roots, 
away from open-ended policy appeals and speculation 
about legislative intentions and toward the traditional tools 
of interpretation judges have employed for centuries to 
elucidate the law’s original public meaning. Today it is 
even said that we judges are, to one degree or another, “all 
textualists now.”99 

  
Pursuing a more modest tack, Justice KAGAN next 
suggests that Auer is justified by the respect due agencies’ 
“technical” expertise. Ante, at 2413 - 2414. But no one 
doubts that courts should pay close attention to an expert 
agency’s views on technical questions in its field. Just as a 
court “would want to know what John Henry Wigmore said 
about an issue of evidence law [or] what Arthur Corbin 
thought about a matter of contract law,” so too should 
courts carefully consider what the Food and Drug 
Administration thinks about how its prescription drug 
safety regulations operate.100 The fact remains, however, 
*2443 that even agency experts “can be wrong; even 
Homer nodded.”101 Skidmore and the traditional approach it 
embodied recognized both of these facts of life long ago, 
explaining that, while courts should of course afford 
respectful consideration to the expert agency’s views, they 
must remain open to competing expert and other evidence 
supplied in an adversarial setting. Respect for an agency’s 
technical expertise demands no more. 
  
Justice KAGAN’s final policy argument is that Auer 
promotes “consistency” and “uniformity” in the 
interpretation of regulations. Ante, at 2413 - 2414. If we let 
courts decide what regulations mean, she warns, they might 
disagree, and it might take some time for higher courts to 
resolve those disagreements. But consistency and 
uniformity are hardly grounds on which Auer’s advocates 
should wish to fight. The judicial process is how we settle 
disputes about the meaning of written law, and our judicial 
system is more than capable of producing a single, 
uniform, and stable interpretation that will last until the 
regulation is amended or repealed. Meanwhile, under Auer 
courts often disagree about whether deference is warranted, 
see supra, at 2430 – 2431, and a regulation’s “meaning” 
can be transformed with the stroke of a pen any time there 
is a new presidential administration. “Consistency,” 
“uniformity,” and stability in the law are hardly among 
Auer’s crowning achievements. 
  
 
 

V. Stare Decisis 

In the end, a majority declines to endorse Justice 
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KAGAN’s arguments and insists only that, even if Auer is 
not “right and well-reasoned,” we’re stuck with it because 
of the respect due precedent. Ante, at 2423. 
  
But notice: While pretending to bow to stare decisis, the 
majority goes about reshaping our precedent in new and 
experimental ways. True, the majority admits, this Court 
has in the past accorded Auer deference “ ‘reflexive[ly],’ ” 
“without significant analysis of the underlying regulation” 
or “careful attention to [its] nature and context,” and 
encouraged lower courts to do the same. Ante, at 2414. But 
no more. From now on, the majority says, not only must 
judges “exhaust all the ‘traditional tools’ of construction” 
to decide whether the agency’s interpretation is 
“reasonable,” they must also make “an independent inquiry 
into whether the character and context of the agency 
interpretation” justifies deference. Ante, at 2416. The 
majority candidly admits that it finds it impossible to 
“reduce” this new inquiry “to any exhaustive test,” so it 
settles for laying out some “markers.” Ante, at 2416 - 2417. 
What are the markers? We are told that courts should 
often—but not always—withhold deference from an 
interpretation offered by mid-level agency staff; often—
but not always—withhold deference from a nontechnical, 
“prosaic-seeming” interpretation; often—but not always—
withhold deference from an interpretation advanced for the 
first time in an amicus brief; and often—but not always—
withhold deference from an interpretation that conflicts 
with an earlier one. See ante, at 2416 - 2418. The only 
certainty in all this is that the majority isn’t really much 
moved by stare decisis; everyone recognizes, to one degree 
or another, that Auer cannot stand. And between our 
remaining choices—continuing to make up new deference 
rules, or returning to the text of the APA and the approach 
to judicial review that prevailed for most of our history—
the answer should have been easy. 
  
 
 

A 

There are serious questions about whether stare decisis 
should apply here at *2444 all. To be sure, Auer’s narrow 
holding about the meaning of the regulation at issue in that 
case may be entitled to stare decisis effect. The same may 

be true for the specific holdings in other cases where this 
Court has applied Auer deference. But does stare decisis 
extend beyond those discrete holdings and bind future 
Members of this Court to apply Auer’s broader deference 
framework? 
  
It seems doubtful that stare decisis demands that much. We 
are not dealing with a precedent that purported to settle the 
meaning of a single statute or regulation or resolve a 
particular case. The Auer doctrine claims to do much more 
than that—to prescribe an interpretive methodology 
governing every future dispute over the meaning of every 
regulation. In other contexts, we do not regard statements 
in our opinions about such generally applicable interpretive 
methods, like the proper weight to afford historical practice 
in constitutional cases or legislative history in statutory 
cases, as binding future Justices with the full force of 
horizontal stare decisis.102 Why, then, should we regard as 
binding Auer’s statements about the weight to afford 
agencies’ interpretations in regulatory cases? To the extent 
Auer purports to dictate “the interpretive inferences that 
future Justices must draw in construing statutes and 
regulations that the Court has never engaged,” it may well 
“exceed the limits of stare decisis.”103 
  
Even if our past expressions of support for Auer deference 
bear some precedential force, they certainly are not entitled 
(as the majority suggests, ante, at 2422 - 2423) to the 
special, heightened form of stare decisis we reserve for 
narrow statutory decisions. In contrast to precedents that 
fix the meaning of particular statutes and generate reliance 
interests in the process, the Auer doctrine is an abstract 
default rule of interpretive methodology that settles 
nothing of its own force. And this Court has recognized that 
it is “inconsistent with the Court’s proper role” to insist that 
Congress exercise its legislative power to overturn such 
erroneous and judicially invented “default rule[s].”104 That 
should be especially so here because Auer’s default rule 
undermines judicial independence, which this Court has a 
special responsibility to defend. 
  
Nor is it entirely clear that Congress could overturn the 
Auer doctrine legislatively. The majority describes Auer as 
a “presumption” about how courts should interpret statutes 
granting rulemaking power to agencies. Ante, at 2414 -
1215. Congress can, of course, rebut the presumption on a 
statute-by-statute basis, or even for all past statutes. But 
can Congress eliminate the Auer presumption for future 
statutes? Perhaps—but legislation like that would raise 

APPX 1003 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Kisor v. Wilkie, 139 S.Ct. 2400 (2019) 

 

 

204 L.Ed.2d 841, Fed. Sec. L. Rep. P 100,511, Med & Med GD (CCH) P 306,540... 
 

 © 2020 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 35
 

questions, which the majority does not address, about the 
ability of one Congress to entrench its preferences by 
attempting to control the interpretation of legislation 
enacted by future Congresses. *2445 105 We should not be 
in the business of tossing “ ‘balls ... into Congress’s court,’ 
” ante, at 2422, that would explode with constitutional 
questions if Congress tried to pick them up. 
  
 
 

B 

Even assuming for argument’s sake that standard stare 
decisis considerations apply, they still do not require us to 
retain Auer. Even the majority implicitly recognizes this 
much, as it proceeds to vacate a lower court judgment that 
faithfully applied Auer and instruct that court to try again 
using the majority’s new directions. If stare decisis allows 
us so freely to remodel Auer, it’s hard to see on what 
account it might require us to retain it. 
  
We do not lightly overturn precedents, and we seek always 
to honor the thoughtful guidance of those who have 
preceded us. At the same time, everyone agrees that stare 
decisis is not an “ ‘inexorable command,’ ”106 and this Court 
should not always remain bound to decisions whose 
“rationale no longer withstands ‘careful analysis.’ ”107 
Recognizing the need for balance in this area, the Court 
has, over time, fashioned principles to guide our treatment 
of precedent. Those principles call on us to consider factors 
such as “the quality of [the precedent’s] reasoning, the 
workability of the rule it established, its consistency with 
other related decisions, developments since the decision 
was handed down, and reliance on the decision.”108 As 
applied to Auer, all of these considerations weigh strongly 
in favor of bidding farewell to the doctrine rather than 
keeping it on life support. 
  
First, we’ve already seen that no persuasive rationale 
supports Auer. From its humble origins as an unexplained 
bit of dictum in a wartime case about emergency price 
controls, the Auer doctrine evolved into a rigid rule of 
deference—all without any serious attempt by this Court to 
rationalize it or reconcile it with the APA, the Constitution, 
or traditional modes of judicial review. See Part I, supra. 

Even its fiercest defenders acknowledge that “Auer 
deference has not remained static over time” and urge the 
Court to continue to “shape” and “refin[e]” the doctrine.109 
Today’s decision attempts just such a “refinement” by 
hedging Auer with new qualifications and limitations. See 
ante, at 2414 - 2418. This shifting ground “undermin[es] 
the force of stare decisis.”110 
  
Second, today’s ruling all but admits that Auer has not 
proved to be a workable standard. Even before this latest 
overhaul, uncertainty surrounding Auer’s scope and 
application had caused many to question whether there was 
any “practical benefit” in continuing to apply Auer “rather 
than a less deferential but more flexible and *2446 open-
ended standard like Skidmore.”111 See supra, at 2430 - 
2431. Nor does the majority’s kinder, gentler version of 
Auer promise to solve the problem. On the contrary, its 
newly mandated inquiry into the “character and context of 
the agency interpretation,” which it admits cannot be 
reduced “to any exhaustive test,” ante, at 2416, seems 
destined only to compound the confusion. See supra, at 
2444 - 2445. Many words come to mind to describe the 
tasks we assign lower court judges today, but “workable” 
is not among them. 
  
Third, the Auer doctrine is, as we have also already seen, 
out of step with how courts normally interpret written laws. 
When we interpret a regulation, we typically (at least when 
there is no agency say-so) proceed in the same way we 
would when interpreting any other written law: We “begin 
our interpretation of the regulation with its text” and, if the 
text is unclear, we “turn to other canons of interpretation” 
and tie-breaking rules to resolve the ambiguity.112 And 
when we interpret an ambiguous statute, we never ask what 
current members of Congress think it means; in fact, we’ve 
held unanimously that legislators’ post-enactment views 
about a statute’s meaning are not even a “ ‘legitimate tool 
of statutory interpretation.’ ”113 Affording “controlling 
weight” to regulators’ post-promulgation views about the 
meaning of an ambiguous regulation is hard to square with 
these usual judicial practices.114 
  
Fourth, the explosive growth of the administrative state 
over the last half-century has exacerbated Auer’s potential 
for mischief. When the Court first uttered its dictum in 
Seminole Rock, the administrative state was new and the 
APA was only a gleam in Congress’s eye. Even 20 years 
later, when the Court began reviving the Seminole Rock 
dictum and turning it into a new deference doctrine, it was 
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not yet apparent how pervasive the administrative state 
would become in the lives of ordinary Americans. Now, in 
the 21st century, “[t]he administrative state wields vast 
power and touches almost every aspect of daily life.”115 
Among other things, it produces “ ‘reams of regulations’ 
”116—so *2447 many that they dwarf the statutes enacted 
by Congress. As of 2018, the Code of Federal Regulations 
filled 242 volumes and was about 185,000 pages long, 
almost quadruple the length of the most recent edition of 
the U. S. Code.117 And agencies add thousands more pages 
of regulations every year. Whether you think this 
administrative fecundity is a good or a bad thing, it surely 
means that the cost of continuing to deny citizens an 
impartial judicial hearing on the meaning of disputed 
regulations has increased dramatically since this Court 
started down this road. 
  
Fifth, Auer has generated no serious reliance interests. The 
only parties that might have relied on Auer’s promise of 
deference are agencies that use post hoc interpretations to 
bypass the APA’s notice-and-comment procedures. But 
this Court has never suggested that the convenience of 
government officials should count in the balance of stare 
decisis, especially when weighed against the interests of 
citizens in a fair hearing before an independent judge and 
a stable and knowable set of laws. In short, “ ‘[t]he fact that 
[agencies] may view [Auer deference] as an entitlement 
does not establish the sort of reliance interest that could 
outweigh the countervailing interest’ ” of all citizens “ ‘in 
having their constitutional rights fully protected.’ ”118 
  
Coming closer to the mark, the majority worries that 
“abandoning Auer deference would cast doubt on many 
settled constructions” of regulations on which regulated 
parties might have relied. Ante, at 2406. But, again, 
decisions construing particular regulations might retain 
stare decisis effect even if the Court announced that it 
would no longer adhere to Auer’s interpretive 
methodology. After all, decisions construing particular 
statutes continue to command respect even when the 
interpretive methods that led to those constructions fall out 
of favor. Besides, if the majority is correct that abandoning 
Auer would require revisiting regulatory constructions that 
were upheld based on Auer deference, the majority’s 
revision of Auer will yield exactly the same result. There 
are innumerable lower court decisions that have followed 
this Court’s lead and afforded Auer deference 
mechanically, without conducting the inquiry the Court 
now holds is required. Today’s ruling casts no less doubt 

on the continuing validity of those decisions than we would 
if we simply moved on from Auer. 
  
 
 

* 

Overruling Auer would have taken us directly back to 
Skidmore, liberating courts to decide cases based on their 
independent judgment and “follow [the] agency’s [view] 
only to the extent it is persuasive.”119 By contrast, the 
majority’s attempt to remodel Auer’s rule into a multi-step, 
multi-factor inquiry guarantees more uncertainty and much 
litigation. Proceeding in this convoluted way burdens our 
colleagues on the lower courts, who will have to spend time 
debating *2448 deference that they could have spent 
interpreting disputed regulations. It also continues to deny 
the people who come before us the neutral forum for their 
disputes that they rightly expect and deserve. 
  
But this cloud may have a silver lining: The majority leaves 
Auer so riddled with holes that, when all is said and done, 
courts may find that it does not constrain their independent 
judgment any more than Skidmore. As reengineered, Auer 
requires courts to “exhaust all the ‘traditional tools’ of 
construction” before they even consider deferring to an 
agency. Ante, at 2415 - 2416. And those tools include all 
sorts of tie-breaking rules for resolving ambiguity even in 
the closest cases. Courts manage to make do with these 
tools in many other areas of the law, so one might hope 
they will hardly ever find them inadequate here. And if they 
do, they will now have to conduct a further inquiry that 
includes so few firm guides and so many cryptic “markers” 
that they will rarely, if ever, have to defer to an agency 
regulatory interpretation that differs from what they 
believe is the best and fairest reading. 
  
But whatever happens, this case hardly promises to be this 
Court’s last word on Auer. If today’s opinion ends up 
reducing Auer to the role of a tin god—officious, but 
ultimately powerless—then a future Court should candidly 
admit as much and stop requiring litigants and lower courts 
to pay token homage to it. Alternatively, if Auer proves 
more resilient, this Court should reassert its responsibility 
to say what the law is and afford the people the neutral 
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forum for their disputes that they expect and deserve. 
  
 
 

Justice KAVANAUGH, with whom Justice ALITO joins, 
concurring in the judgment. 
 
I agree with Justice GORSUCH’s conclusion that the Auer 
deference doctrine should be formally retired. I write 
separately to emphasize two points. 
  
First, I agree with THE CHIEF JUSTICE that “the distance 
between the majority and Justice GORSUCH is not as great 
as it may initially appear.” Ante, at 2424 (opinion 
concurring in part). The majority’s approach in Part II−B 
of its opinion closely resembles the argument advanced by 
the Solicitor General to “clarif[y] and narro[w]” Auer. 
Brief for Respondent 15. Importantly, the majority borrows 
from footnote 9 of this Court’s opinion in Chevron to say 
that a reviewing court must “exhaust all the ‘traditional 
tools’ of construction” before concluding that an agency 
rule is ambiguous and deferring to an agency’s reasonable 
interpretation. Ante, at 2443 (quoting Chevron U. S. A. Inc. 
v. Natural Resources Defense Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 
843, n. 9, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694 (1984)). If a 
reviewing court employs all of the traditional tools of 
construction, the court will almost always reach a 
conclusion about the best interpretation of the regulation at 
issue. After doing so, the court then will have no need to 
adopt or defer to an agency’s contrary interpretation. In 
other words, the footnote 9 principle, taken seriously, 
means that courts will have no reason or basis to put a 
thumb on the scale in favor of an agency when courts 
interpret agency regulations. 
  
Formally rejecting Auer would have been a more direct 
approach, but rigorously applying footnote 9 should lead in 
most cases to the same general destination. Umpires in 

games at Wrigley Field do not defer to the Cubs manager’s 
in-game interpretation of Wrigley’s ground rules. So too 
here. 
  
To be sure, some cases involve regulations that employ 
broad and open-ended terms like “reasonable,” 
“appropriate,” “feasible,” or “practicable.” Those kinds of 
terms afford agencies broad policy discretion, *2449 and 
courts allow an agency to reasonably exercise its discretion 
to choose among the options allowed by the text of the rule. 
But that is more State Farmthan Auer. See Motor Vehicle 
Mfrs. Assn. of United States, Inc. v. State Farm Mut. 
Automobile Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 103 S.Ct. 2856, 77 
L.Ed.2d 443 (1983). 
  
In short, after today’s decision, a judge should engage in 
appropriately rigorous scrutiny of an agency’s 
interpretation of a regulation, and can simultaneously be 
appropriately deferential to an agency’s reasonable policy 
choices within the discretion allowed by a regulation. 
  
Second, I also agree with THE CHIEF JUSTICE that 
“[i]ssues surrounding judicial deference to agency 
interpretations of their own regulations are distinct from 
those raised in connection with judicial deference to 
agency interpretations of statutes enacted by Congress.” 
Ante, at 2425. Like THE CHIEF JUSTICE, “I do not regard 
the Court’s decision” not to formally overrule Auer “to 
touch upon the latter question.” Ibid. 
  

All Citations 
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Footnotes 
 
* 
 

The syllabus constitutes no part of the opinion of the Court but has been prepared by the Reporter of Decisions for the convenience 
of the reader. See United States v. Detroit Timber & Lumber Co., 200 U.S. 321, 337, 26 S.Ct. 282, 50 L.Ed. 499. 
 

1 
 

In case you’re wondering, the regulatory definition of active moiety is “[t]he molecule or ion, excluding those appended portions 
of the molecule that cause the drug to be an ester, salt (including a salt with hydrogen or coordination bonds), or the noncovalent 
derivative (such as a complex, chelate, or clathrate) of the molecule, responsible for the physiological or pharmacological action of 
the drug substance.” 21 C.F.R. § 314.3(b) (2018). 
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2 
 

See, e.g., PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing, 564 U.S. 604, 613, 131 S.Ct. 2567, 180 L.Ed.2d 580 (2011); Chase Bank USA, N. A. v. McCoy, 562 
U.S. 195, 208–210, 131 S.Ct. 871, 178 L.Ed.2d 716 (2011); Coeur Alaska, Inc. v. Southeast Alaska Conservation Council, 557 U.S. 261, 
274–275, 129 S.Ct. 2458, 174 L.Ed.2d 193 (2009); Riegel v. Medtronic, Inc., 552 U.S. 312, 328, 128 S.Ct. 999, 169 L.Ed.2d 892 (2008); 
Long Island Care at Home, Ltd. v. Coke, 551 U.S. 158, 171, 127 S.Ct. 2339, 168 L.Ed.2d 54 (2007); Washington State Dept. of Social 
and Health Servs. v. Guardianship Estate of Keffeler, 537 U.S. 371, 387–388, 123 S.Ct. 1017, 154 L.Ed.2d 972 (2003). 
 

3 
 

Our (pre‐Auer) decisions applying Seminole Rock deference are legion. See, e.g., Shalala v. Guernsey Memorial Hospital, 514 U.S. 
87, 94–95, 115 S.Ct. 1232, 131 L.Ed.2d 106 (1995); Thomas Jefferson Univ. v. Shalala, 512 U.S. 504, 512, 114 S.Ct. 2381, 129 L.Ed.2d 
405  (1994);  Stinson  v. United  States,  508 U.S.  36,  44–45,  113  S.Ct.  1913,  123  L.Ed.2d  598  (1993);  INS  v. National  Center  for 
Immigrants’ Rights, Inc., 502 U.S. 183, 189–190, 112 S.Ct. 551, 116 L.Ed.2d 546 (1991); Robertson v. Methow Valley Citizens Council, 
490 U.S. 332, 358–359, 109 S.Ct. 1835, 104 L.Ed.2d 351 (1989); Mullins Coal Co. of Va. v. Director, Office of Workers’ Compensation
Programs, 484 U.S. 135, 159, 108 S.Ct. 427, 98 L.Ed.2d 450 (1987); Lyng v. Payne, 476 U.S. 926, 939, 106 S.Ct. 2333, 90 L.Ed.2d 921 
(1986); Fidelity Fed. Sav. & Loan Assn. v. de la Cuesta, 458 U.S. 141, 158, n. 13, 102 S.Ct. 3014, 73 L.Ed.2d 664 (1982); Blanding v.
DuBose, 454 U.S. 393, 401, 102 S.Ct. 715, 70 L.Ed.2d 576 (1982) (per curiam); Ford Motor Credit Co. v. Milhollin, 444 U.S. 555, 566, 
100 S.Ct. 790, 63 L.Ed.2d 22 (1980); United States v. Larionoff, 431 U.S. 864, 872, 97 S.Ct. 2150, 53 L.Ed.2d 48 (1977); Northern 
Indiana Public Service Co. v. Porter County Chapter of Izaak Walton League of America, Inc., 423 U.S. 12, 15, 96 S.Ct. 172, 46 L.Ed.2d
156 (1975) (per curiam); Ehlert v. United States, 402 U.S. 99, 105, 91 S.Ct. 1319, 28 L.Ed.2d 625 (1971); INS v. Stanisic, 395 U.S. 62, 
72, 89 S.Ct. 1519, 23 L.Ed.2d 101 (1969); Thorpe v. Housing Authority of Durham, 393 U.S. 268, 276, 89 S.Ct. 518, 21 L.Ed.2d 474
(1969); Udall v. Tallman, 380 U.S. 1, 16–17, 85 S.Ct. 792, 13 L.Ed.2d 616 (1965). 
 

4 
 

The proper understanding of the scope and limits of the Auer doctrine is, of course, not set out in any of the opinions that concur
only in the judgment. 
 

5 
 

For a similar reason, this Court has denied Auer deference when an agency interprets a rule that parrots the statutory text. See
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20  See Davis, Scope of Review of Federal Administrative Action, 50 Colum. L. Rev. 559, 597 (1950). 
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BethEnergy Mines, Inc., 501 U.S. 680, 702, 111 S.Ct. 2524, 115 L.Ed.2d 604 (1991) (the agency’s interpretation “need not be the
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regulation or any interpretation thereof ” that is “not in accordance with law.” 38 U.S.C. § 7292(d)(1). 
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1175, 1182 (1981); 4 K. Davis, Administrative Law § 30.01, pp. 190–191 (1958). 
 

50 
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(A. Hamilton). 
 

72 
 

Miller v. Johnson, 515 U.S. 900, 922, 115 S.Ct. 2475, 132 L.Ed.2d 762 (1995). 
 

73 
 

See Declaration of Independence ¶11. 
 

74 
 

Plaut v. Spendthrift Farm, Inc., 514 U.S. 211, 220–221, 115 S.Ct. 1447, 131 L.Ed.2d 328 (1995). 
 

75 
 

The Federalist No. 78, at 466. 
 

76 
 

Palmore v. United States, 411 U.S. 389, 412, 93 S.Ct. 1670, 36 L.Ed.2d 342 (1973) (DOUGLAS, J., dissenting); see Oil States Energy 
Services, LLC v. Greene’s Energy Group, LLC, 584 U. S. ––––, ––––, 138 S.Ct. 1365, 1381, 200 L.Ed.2d 671  (2018)  (GORSUCH, J.,
dissenting) (“[W]hen an independent judiciary gives ground to bureaucrats in the adjudication of cases, the losers will often prove
the unpopular and vulnerable”); United States v. Hatter, 532 U.S. 557, 568–569, 121 S.Ct. 1782, 149 L.Ed.2d 820 (2001) (quoting 
John Marshall’s admonition that a judge who may be called on to decide a dispute “ ‘between the most powerful individual in the
community, and the poorest and most unpopular’ ” must be “ ‘perfectly and completely independent, with nothing to influence or 
control him but God and his conscience’ ” (alterations omitted)); Jackson, The Meaning of Statutes: What Congress Says or What
the Court Says, 34 A. B. A. J. 535, 536 (1948) (“[T]he  interpretation of [the  laws’] fair meaning  ... should be made by  judges as 
independent of politics as humanly possible and not serving the interests of the class for whom, or a majority by whom, legislation
is enacted”). 
 

77 
 

2 Records of the Federal Convention of 1787, p. 75 (M. Farrand ed. 1911); see also Manning, 96 Colum. L. Rev., at 640–648. 
 

78 
 

United States v. Will, 449 U.S. 200, 218, 101 S.Ct. 471, 66 L.Ed.2d 392 (1980). 
 

79 
 

See The Federalist No. 81, at 482 (A. Hamilton). 
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80 
 

Id., at 483. 
 

81 
 

Northern Pipeline Constr. Co. v. Marathon Pipe Line Co., 458 U.S. 50, 60, 102 S.Ct. 2858, 73 L.Ed.2d 598 (1982) (plurality opinion). 
 

82 
 

Bank Markazi v. Peterson, 578 U. S. ––––, ––––, 136 S.Ct. 1310, 1323, 194 L.Ed.2d 463 (2016) (alterations omitted). 
 

83 
 

Stern v. Marshall, 564 U.S. 462, 483, 131 S.Ct. 2594, 180 L.Ed.2d 475 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
 

84 
 

Perez, 575 U. S., at ––––, 135 S.Ct., at 1203–1204; see Chrysler Corp. v. Brown, 441 U.S. 281, 295–296, 99 S.Ct. 1705, 60 L.Ed.2d 208 
(1979). To be sure, our precedent allowing executive agencies to issue legally binding regulations to govern private conduct may
raise constitutional questions of its own. See, e.g., Department of Transportation v. Association of American Railroads, 575 U. S. 
43, –––– – ––––, 135 S.Ct. 1225, 1240, 191 L.Ed.2d 153 (2015) (THOMAS, J., concurring in judgment). 
 

85 
 

Cox, Judge Learned Hand and the Interpretation of Statutes, 60 Harv. L. Rev. 370, 390 (1947). 
 

86 
 

Id., at 390–391, and n. 58; see also Kavanaugh, 129 Harv. L. Rev., at 2151 (in pursuing their policy goals, “[e]xecutive branch agencies
often think they can take a particular action unless it is clearly forbidden”). 
 

87 
 

Plaut, 514 U.S. at 225, 115 S.Ct. 1447 (quoting T. Cooley, Constitutional Limitations 95 (1868)). 
 

88 
 

Id., at 95; see also Bank Markazi, 578 U. S., at ––––, n. 17, 136 S.Ct., at 1323, n. 17. 
 

89 
 

Ogden v. Blackledge, 2 Cranch 272, 277, 2 L.Ed. 276. 
 

90 
 

Cooley, supra, at 95. 
 

91 
 

Cf. Cary v. Curtis, 3 How. 236, 253, 257, 11 L.Ed. 576 (1845) (STORY, J., dissenting) (if the “right to interpret the laws” is taken away
from courts and “confided to an executive functionary,” then “the judicial power, designed by the Constitution to be the final and
appellate jurisdiction to interpret our laws, is superseded in its most vital and important functions”). 
 

92 
 

Marbury, 1 Cranch at 177. 
 

93 
 

Arlington v. FCC, 569 U.S. 290, 297, 133 S.Ct. 1863, 185 L.Ed.2d 941 (2013) (emphasis added). 
 

94 
 

Clinton v. City of New York, 524 U.S. 417, 452, 118 S.Ct. 2091, 141 L.Ed.2d 393 (1998) (KENNEDY, J., concurring). 
 

95 
 

Marbury, 1 Cranch at 163. 
 

96 
 

Holmes, The Theory of Legal Interpretation, 12 Harv. L. Rev. 417, 417–418 (1899); see INS v. Cardoza‐Fonseca, 480 U.S. 421, 452–
453, 107 S.Ct. 1207, 94 L.Ed.2d 434 (1987) (SCALIA, J., concurring  in  judgment) (“Judges  interpret  laws rather than reconstruct
legislators’ intentions”); H. Hart & A. Sacks, The Legal Process 1375 (1994) (“Unenacted intentions or wishes cannot be given effect
as law”). 
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97 
 

United States v. Woods, 571 U.S. 31, 48, 134 S.Ct. 557, 187 L.Ed.2d 472 (2013). 
 

98 
 

O’Scannlain,  “We  Are  All  Textualists Now”:  The  Legacy  of  Justice  Antonin  Scalia,  91  St.  John’s  L.  Rev.  303,  304–305  (2017)
(contesting the radical indeterminacy of legal texts). 
 

99 
 

Id., at 313; see Siegel, Textualism and Contextualism in Administrative Law, 78 B. U. L. Rev. 1023, 1057 (1998). 
 

100 
 

Larkin & Slattery, 42 Harv. J. L. & Pub. Pol’y, at 647. 
 

101 
 

Ibid. 
 

102 
 

See  Criddle &  Staszewski,  Against Methodological  Stare  Decisis,  102  Geo.  L.  J.  1573,  1577,  and  n.  12  (2014);  C.  Oldfather, 
Methodological Stare Decisis and Constitutional Interpretation, in Precedent in the United States Supreme Court 135, 135–136 (C. 
Peters ed. 2013). 
 

103 
 

Kozel, Statutory Interpretation, Administrative Deference, and the Law of Stare Decisis, 97 Texas L. Rev. 1125, 1159 (2019); see 
Raso & Eskridge, Chevron as a Canon, Not a Precedent: An Empirical Study of What Motivates Justices in Agency Deference Cases,
110 Colum.  L. Rev. 1727, 1765–1766  (2010)  (concluding  that  in practice,  this Court has not  treated  administrative‐deference 
regimes such as Chevron and Auer as binding precedents). 
 

104 
 

South Dakota v. Wayfair, Inc., 585 U. S. ––––, ––––, 138 S.Ct. 2080, 2096, 201 L.Ed.2d 403 (2018). 
 

105 
 

See,  e.g., Alexander & Prakash, Mother May  I?  Imposing Mandatory Prospective Rules of  Statutory  Interpretation, 20 Const.
Comment. 97 (2003); Elhauge, Preference‐Estimating Statutory Default Rules, 102 Colum. L. Rev. 2027, 2109–2110, and nn. 231–
233 (2002). 
 

106 
 

Pearson v. Callahan, 555 U.S. 223, 233, 129 S.Ct. 808, 172 L.Ed.2d 565 (2009). 
 

107 
 

Arizona v. Gant, 556 U.S. 332, 348, 129 S.Ct. 1710, 173 L.Ed.2d 485 (2009) (quoting Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 577, 123 S.Ct. 
2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003)). 
 

108 
 

Janus v. State, County, and Municipal Employees, 585 U. S. ––––, –––– – ––––, 138 S.Ct. 2448, 2478–2479, 201 L.Ed.2d 924 (2018).
 

109 
 

Brief for Administrative Law Scholars as Amici Curiae 13. 
 

110 
 

Knick v. Township of Scott, ––– U.S. ––––, ––––, 139 S.Ct. 2162, ––––, ––– L.Ed.2d ––––, 2019 WL 2552486 (2019) ante, at 2178 ‐
2179; see Janus, 585 U. S., at ––––, 138 S.Ct., at 2472–2473. See also Lost History 54–92; Knudsen & Wildermuth, 22 Geo. Mason
L. Rev., at 658–664. 
 

111 
 

Hickman & Thomson, 103 Minn. L. Rev. Headnotes, at 110. 
 

112 
 

Green v. Brennan, 578 U. S. ––––, ––––, 136 S.Ct. 1769, 1776, 195 L.Ed.2d 44 (2016); see, e.g., National Assn. of Home Builders v.
Defenders of Wildlife, 551 U.S. 644, 668–669, 127 S.Ct. 2518, 168 L.Ed.2d 467 (2007) (construing regulation in light of text, history,
and canon against surplusage). 
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113 
 

Woods, 571 U.S. at 48, 134 S.Ct. 557; see also Bruesewitz v. Wyeth LLC, 562 U.S. 223, 242, 131 S.Ct. 1068, 179 L.Ed.2d 1 (2011); 
Jones v. United States, 526 U.S. 227, 238, 119 S.Ct. 1215, 143 L.Ed.2d 311 (1999); United States v. Mine Workers, 330 U.S. 258, 281–
282, 67 S.Ct. 677, 91 L.Ed. 884 (1947). 
 

114 
 

To be sure, under Chevron U. S. A.  Inc. v. Natural Resources Defense Council,  Inc., 467 U.S. 837, 104 S.Ct. 2778, 81 L.Ed.2d 694
(1984), we sometimes defer to an agency’s construction of a statute. But there are serious questions, too, about whether that
doctrine comports with the APA and the Constitution. See, e.g., Pereira v. Sessions, 585 U. S. ––––, –––– – ––––, 138 S.Ct. 2105, 
2120–2121, 201 L.Ed.2d 433 (2018) (KENNEDY, J., concurring); Michigan v. EPA, 576 U. S. ––––, –––– – ––––, 135 S.Ct. 2699, 2713–
2714, 192 L.Ed.2d 674  (2015)  (THOMAS,  J., concurring); Perez, 575 U. S., at –––– – ––––, 135 S.Ct., at 1211–1213  (SCALIA,  J., 
concurring  in  judgment). Regardless,  it would be a mistake to suppose that Auer  is  in any way a “logical corollary to Chevron.” 
Decker, 568 U.S. at 620, 133 S.Ct. 1326 (SCALIA, J., concurring in part and dissenting in part). 
 

115 
 

Arlington, 569 U.S. at 313, 133 S.Ct. 1863 (ROBERTS, C. J., dissenting) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
 

116 
 

Federal Maritime Comm’n v. South Carolina Ports Authority, 535 U.S. 743, 755, 122 S.Ct. 1864, 152 L.Ed.2d 962 (2002). 
 

117 
 

See Office of the Federal Register, Code of Federal Regulations: Total Pages 1938–1949, and Total Volumes and Pages 1950–2018, 
http://www.federalregister.gov/uploads/2019/04/C.F.R.TotalPages2018.pdf; United States v. Secretary, Fla. Dept. of Corrections, 
778 F.3d 1223, 1225 (CA11 2015). 
 

118 
 

Janus, 585 U. S., at ––––, 138 S.Ct. at 2484 (quoting Gant, 556 U.S. at 349, 129 S.Ct. 1710). 
 

119 
 

Gonzales v. Oregon, 546 U.S. 243, 269, 126 S.Ct. 904, 163 L.Ed.2d 748 (2006); see Christopher, 567 U.S. at 159, 132 S.Ct. 2156
(applying Skidmore after concluding that agency’s interpretation did not merit Auer deference). 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR     Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT     

       The Florida Bar File: 
v.       2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
       

 RESPONDENT 
_______________________/ 

 
 

RESPONDENT’S NOTICE OF FILING  
SUPPLEMENTAL CITATION OF AUTHORITY 

 
COMES NOW, Respondent, John H. Faro, by and through his undersigned 

counsel, and files this Notice of Filing Supplemental Citation of Authority, In re 

Amendments to Rules Regulation the Florida Bar, 907 So 2d 1138, (2005), 

annexed hereto as Exh. “A”. 

In 2005, Rule 3-4.6 was amended as follows: 

RULE 3-4.6. DISCIPLINE BY FOREIGN OR FEDERAL 
JURISDICTION; CHOICE OF LAW 
 
(a) Disciplinary Authority. An attorney admitted to practice in this 
jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary authority of this jurisdiction, 
regardless of where the attorney’s conduct occurs. An attorney may be subject 
to the disciplinary authority of both this jurisdiction and another jurisdiction 
for the same conduct. A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a 
court or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or 
federal, that an attorney licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of 
misconduct justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as conclusive 
proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule. 
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(b) Choice of Law. In any exercise of the disciplinary authority of this 
jurisdiction, the rules of professional conduct to be applied shall be as follows: 
  
(1) for conduct in connection with a matter pending before a tribunal, the rules 
of *1154 the jurisdiction in which the tribunal sits, unless the rules of the 
tribunal provide otherwise; and 
  
(2) for any other conduct, the rules of the jurisdiction in which the attorney’s 
conduct occurred, or, if the predominant effect of the conduct is in a different 
jurisdiction, the rules of that jurisdiction shall be applied to the conduct. 
 

 In re Amendments to Rules Regulation the Florida Bar, 907 So 2d @ 1153-1154 

The “Choice of Law” provisions added in the 2005 Amendment to Rule 3-4.6 

dictates a choice of Federal law where the alleged misconduct, as in this case, 

occurred in federal jurisdiction (e.g. the United States Patent & Trademark Office in 

Alexandria, Virginia).    

Thus, the “Choice of Law” provision of 3-4.6(b)(2) dictates the application of 

the rule of federal law with respect to the following:  

1. The availability of Patent Office discipline as “conclusive proof” of 

misconduct.  The Patent Office discipline was based upon Federal law prior to June 

26, 2019, that has since changed.  The change in Federal rule of law on June 26, 

2019, as applicable to the instant case under Rule 3-4.6(b)(2), is retroactive.  The 

change in the controlling federal rule of law, as applicable to the instant reciprocal 
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discipline, has materially altered/restricted The Florida Bar both with respect to its 

(a) ability to rely upon the prior Patent Office findings and conclusions as conclusive 

proof of professional misconduct, and (b) the interpretation of the Patent Office 

disciplinary rules, as applicable and relied upon by The Florida Bar, as equivalent to 

misconduct of any Florida Bar disciplinary rule. The Florida Bar’s Partial Motion 

for Summary Judgment @ page 9, footnotes (5) to (10), annexed hereto as Exh. “B”.   

The Respondent’s pending Motion for Reconsideration & Rehearing identifies the 

changes in the rule of Federal law, the source of the changes, and the basis for such 

change for the retroactive application to issues in this case.  

Not only does the change in the Federal rule of law materially affect the 

conclusive proof of equivalent misconduct of any Florida Bar Rule, but also 

consequently (a) the scope of discovery as specifically asserted in the Respondent’s 

pending Motions to Compel, and (b) the admissibility of evidence in the instant 

proceedings; specifically, The Florida Bar’s Motion in Limine to exclude the 

McCabe Affidavit (based upon his interpretation of Federal law).   Respondent shall  
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oppose The Florida Bar’s Motion in Limine based upon the “Choice of Law” to be 

applied under 3-4.6(b)(2). 

Respectfully, 
 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 

ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 

 
 

FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  

  
By:  /s/ JOHN H. FARO_________ 

 Florida Bar No. 527.459  
  Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Notice of Filing has been 

provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 12th  day of January, 2021. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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In re Amendments to Rules Regulation the Florida Bar, 907 So 2d (2005 
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907 So.2d 1138 (Mem) 

Editor’s Note: Additions are indicated by Text and 
deletions by Text. 

Supreme Court of Florida. 

In re AMENDMENTS TO THE RULES 
REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR AND 

THE FLORIDA RULES OF JUDICIAL 
ADMINISTRATION. 

No. SC04-135. 
| 

May 12, 2005. 

Attorneys and Law Firms 

Honorable Claudia R. Isom, Chair, Rules of Judicial 
Administration Committee, Plant City, FL, John F. 
Harkness, Jr., Executive Director, Miles A. McGrane, III, 
President, Kelly Overstreet Johnson, President-elect, 
*1139 Alan Bookman, President-elect Designate, Paul F. 
Hill, General Counsel, Mary Ellen Bateman, Director, 
Legal Division, Ethics, UPL, Professionalism, and Lori 
Holcomb, Director, Unlicensed Practice of Law, The 
Florida Bar, Tallahassee, FL, and John A. Yanchunis, 
Chair, Special Commission on the Multijurisdictional 
Practice of Law 2002, Tampa, FL, for Petitioners. 

Jose I. Astigarraga, Edward M. Mullins, Edward H. 
Davis, Jr., and Elena M. Marlow, The International Law 
Section of The Florida Bar, Miami, Florida, Stephen T. 
Maher of Shutts and Bowen, LLP, The Florida Bar 
Business Law Section, Miami, Florida; Joseph R. 
Giannini, Director, The National Association for the 
Advancement of Multijurisdictional Practice, Los 
Angeles, CA; Kathy M. Klock, R. Michael Underwood 
and Jonathan Brennan Butler of Steel Hector and Davis, 
The Securities Industry Association Arbitration 
Committee, West Palm Beach, FL; Stanford R. Solomon 
of Solomon Tropp Law Group, P.A., Chair, The Judicial 
Administration Committee, Tampa, FL; Frederick J. 
Krebs, President and Susan Hackett, Senior Vice 
President and General Counsel, Association of Corporate 
Counsel, Washington, DC; Charles W. Austin, Jr., 
President, Public Investors Arbitration Bar Association; 
and Stephen Krosschell of Goodman and Nekvasil, P.A., 
Clearwater, FL, for Proponents. 

Opinion 
 

PER CURIAM. 

 
The Florida Bar has filed a petition to amend the Rules 
Regulating the Florida Bar and the Florida Rules of 
Judicial Administration to address the multijurisdictional 
practice of law.1 We have jurisdiction. See art. V, §§ 2(a), 
15, Fla. Const. We adopt the amendments. 
  
 
 

BACKGROUND 

The proposed amendments are the result of an extensive, 
well-deliberated process. In July 2000, the American Bar 
Association (ABA) appointed a commission to study the 
multijurisdictional practice of law, which is described as a 
lawyer providing legal services in a jurisdiction where 
that lawyer is not licensed to practice law. Currently, the 
practice is prohibited in Florida pursuant to case law and 
the rules. See Fla. Bar v. Rapoport, 845 So.2d 874 
(Fla.2003) (respondent, who was licensed to practice law 
outside Florida and was not a member of The Florida Bar, 
engaged in the unlicensed practice of law because he 
represented parties in Florida). See generally R. 
Regulating Fla. Bar 4-5.5. 
  
The ABA commission sought input from state bars and 
interested parties. In response, in 2001, The Florida Bar 
established a Special Commission on the 
Multijurisdictional Practice of Law (Commission I) to 
study the ABA report. In March 2002, Commission I 
made several recommendations to The Florida Bar Board 
of Governors. The Board adopted all of the 
recommendations. 
  
In August 2002, the ABA adopted a final report and 
recommendations regarding the multijurisdictional 
practice of law. Therefore, a second Florida Bar 
Multijurisdictional Practice of Law Commission 
(Commission II) was appointed to study the ABA’s final 
report and make any appropriate recommendations for 
changes in the *1140 Florida rules. Commission II 
prepared a report and made recommendations, which 
were circulated to The Florida Board of Bar Examiners, 
the Young Lawyers Division of The Florida Bar, the 
Special Committee to Review the ABA Model Rules 
2002, the Professional Ethics Committee, and the chair 
and vice-chairs of the Rules of Judicial Administration 
Committee. 
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The recommendations of Commission II were published 
in the April 15, 2003, issue of The Florida Bar News. 
Subsequently, representatives of the International Law 
Section and the Business Law Section of the Bar 
contributed to the development of the amendments. As a 
result of concerns that were raised during this process, the 
Bar reconvened Commission II to further consider the 
multijurisdictional practice of law. Thereafter, 
Commission II issued a final report and recommended 
changes in the Florida rules. The Board adopted the final 
report of Commission II on December 5, 2003. 
  
Pursuant to Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 1-12.1, the 
Bar published the proposed amendments for comment in 
the January 1, 2004, issue of The Florida Bar News. On 
February 9, 2004, the Bar filed the instant petition. After 
receiving eight comments, the Court held oral argument. 
  
 
 

ANALYSIS 

Numerous interested individuals and entities, at both state 
and national levels, have collaborated for several years in 
the study and development of the proposed amendments. 
Further, The Florida Bar and its members engaged in an 
extensive, concerted effort to modify the ABA’s original 
proposals to address issues specific to Florida and to 
provide appropriate disciplinary procedures. Thus, the 
amendments are based on a thorough study of the Rules 
Regulating the Florida Bar. 
  
As needs and the practice of law have changed, this Court 
has responded by improving the methods for providing 
legal services. See, e.g., Amendments to Rules Regulating 
Fla. Bar & Fla. Family Law Rules of Procedure 
(Unbundled Legal Services), 860 So.2d 394 (Fla.2003). 
Similarly, due to changes in needs and in the practice of 
law, we adopt the proposed amendments. The Court’s 
goal in adopting the amendments is to implement changes 
that improve legal services for the public by permitting 
the limited, temporary multijurisdictional practice of law 
but at the same time protecting the public, the legal 
profession, and the judiciary. Although the concept of the 
multijurisdictional practice of law is not new, the Court 
has concerns that difficulties may arise once these 
amendments are enacted. Thus, the Court and The Florida 
Bar must remain vigilant to make sure that the 
amendments operate as envisioned so that legal services 
are enhanced and not frustrated. 
  

According to the Bar, the multijurisdictional practice of 
law includes legal services in any area of the law, which 
could occur at any stage of representation. The client can 
be either from the state where the lawyer is licensed 
(“home state”) or where the lawyer wishes to practice or 
provide the services (“host state”). The activity usually 
takes place on a temporary or occasional basis. Currently, 
the multijurisdictional practice of law is prohibited in 
Florida. See Rapoport. To implement this practice in 
Florida, several amendments to the Rules Regulating the 
Florida Bar and one amendment to the Florida Rules of 
Judicial Administration are necessary. Because the other 
amendments flow from the amendment to Rule 
Regulating the Florida Bar 4-5.5, “Unlicensed Practice of 
Law; Multijurisdictional Practice of Law,” the 
amendments are categorized below *1141 into three 
areas: (1) Multijurisdictional Practice of Law, Rule 4-5.5; 
(2) Reciprocal Discipline; and (3) Pro Hac Vice 
Admission.2 
  
 
 
Multijurisdictional Practice of Law, Rule 4-5.5 
Currently, the rules and case law provide that a lawyer 
licensed to practice law in another state or country, but 
not in Florida, cannot, except in very limited 
circumstances, provide legal advice or services in Florida 
or involving Florida law. Such a structure does not 
recognize the reality of modern legal practices. Thus, the 
amendment to Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 4-5.5 
relaxes the restrictions and permits temporary practice in 
Florida by non-Florida lawyers. 
  
The amendment recognizes that there may be times when 
other law, such as a federal rule or regulation, allows a 
lawyer to have a regular presence in Florida. Also, the 
amendment provides safeguards because it permits only 
lawyers who have not been disbarred or suspended from 
the practice of law in any jurisdiction, or who have not 
been held in contempt in Florida due to misconduct, to 
provide temporary legal services in Florida. 
  
The amendment also sets forth categories and limitations 
of temporary practice governing lawyers who are 
admitted to practice law in non-Florida jurisdictions. In 
brief, the categories include non-Florida and non-U.S. 
lawyers who practice temporarily in Florida by (1) 
associating with a Florida Bar member who actively 
participates in the matter; (2) engaging in pre-pro hac vice 
admission activity; (3) rendering legal services in a 
pending or potential arbitration, mediation, or other 
alternative dispute resolution context; (4) providing 
services not covered by the other provisions, based on 
specific nexus conditions; and (5) providing services that 
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are governed primarily by international law or the law of 
a non-U.S. jurisdiction in which the lawyer is a member. 
  
 
 

Reciprocal Discipline 
The amendments to Rules Regulating the Florida Bar 
3-2.1, “Generally” (definitions); 3-4.1, “Notice and 
Knowledge of Rules; Jurisdiction over Attorneys of Other 
States and Foreign Countries”; 3-4.6, “Discipline by 
Foreign or Federal Jurisdiction; Choice of Law”; and 
3-7.2, “Procedures upon Criminal or Professional 
Misconduct; Discipline upon Determination or Judgment 
of Guilt of Criminal Misconduct,” create a process for 
meaningful discipline of a lawyer both in the host state 
and, more importantly, in the home state. Without such a 
process, the amendment to rule 4-5.5 would not provide 
sufficient protection from attorney misconduct for the 
courts, lawyers, and people of the host state. 
  
The amendment to rule 3-2.1 establishes a definition for 
the term “final adjudication.” This is necessary because 
rule 3-7.2 sets forth procedures that apply when a lawyer 
has engaged in criminal or professional misconduct, 
including when there has been a “final adjudication” in a 
foreign jurisdiction. Thus, to clarify matters, this 
amendment defines the term. 
  
The amendment to rule 3-4.1, “Notice and Knowledge of 
Rules; Jurisdiction over Attorneys of Other States and 
Foreign Countries,” states that this Court and its agencies 
have disciplinary jurisdiction over attorneys of other 
states and foreign countries who provide or offer to 
provide any legal services in Florida. The disciplinary 
*1142 authority is limited to conduct as an attorney, in 
relation to the business for which the attorney was 
permitted to practice in this state. 
  
The amendment to rule 3-4.6, “Discipline by Foreign or 
Federal Jurisdiction; Choice of Law,” expands the current 
rule by specifying that an attorney may be subject to 
discipline in Florida regardless of where the attorneys 
questionable conduct may have occurred. Also, the 
amendment clarifies that the attorney may be subject to 
discipline in more than one jurisdiction. Further, the 
amendment adds choice of law provisions to determine 
which jurisdiction’s rules of professional conduct may be 
applied in a disciplinary action. 
  
The amendment to rule 3-7.2, “Procedures upon Criminal 
or Professional Misconduct; Discipline upon 
Determination or Judgment of Guilt of Criminal 
Misconduct,” adds, in subdivision (j)(1), the requirement 

that an attorney must provide the executive director of 
The Florida Bar with a copy of a notice of a disciplinary 
sanction from another jurisdiction. The attorney must 
provide the notice to the Bar within thirty days after the 
effective date of the sanction. 
  
 
 

Pro Hac Vice Admission 
The amendments to Florida Rule of Judicial 
Administration 2.061, “Foreign Attorneys,” and Rule 
Regulating the Florida Bar 1-3.10, “Appearance by 
Non-Florida Lawyer in a Florida Court,” and new Rule 
Regulating the Florida Bar 1-3.11, “Appearance by 
Non-Florida Lawyer in an Arbitration Proceeding in 
Florida,” change the rules to provide better protection to 
the public, the bar, and the judicial system when an 
attorney is seeking pro hac vice admission. 
  
Pro hac vice admission permits a lawyer from another 
state to practice before the Florida courts in a specific 
matter. Because it involves lawyers from a home state 
practicing in a host state, pro hac vice admission is an 
aspect of the multijurisdictional practice of law. 
Generally, the pro hac vice admission process is governed 
by Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.061, 
“Foreign Attorneys.” The counterpart to rule 2.061 is 
Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 1-3.10, “Appearance by 
Non-Florida Lawyer in a Florida Court.” 
  
Current Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.061 
provides that a non-Florida lawyer is presumed to be 
engaged in a “general practice” if the lawyer makes more 
than three appearances within a 365-day period in 
separate “and unrelated” representations. That rule 
provides a court with discretion to allow more than three 
appearances upon a showing that the appearances are not 
a general practice, or that denial would result in a 
substantial hardship on the client. Due to reports that 
non-Florida attorneys were abusing the current rule, the 
amendment deletes the language that authorized judicial 
discretion to permit more than three pro hac vice 
appearances in a 365-day period and to allow additional 
pro hac vice appearances in related litigation.3 More than 
*1143 three appearances within a 365-day period suggests 
that the non-Florida attorney is engaging in a regular 
practice in Florida. Non-Florida attorneys who tend to 
regularly practice in Florida may always seek to gain 
admission to The Florida Bar. 
  
The amendment for rule 2.061 also requires the use of a 
form motion (included in the amendment), which 
standardizes requests for pro hac vice appearances 
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throughout Florida’s court system. 
  
The amendments to Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 
1-3.10 provide consistency by revising rule 1-3.10 to 
conform with the concepts in the amendment to rule 
2.061. 
  
Next, new Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 1-3.11, 
“Appearance by Non-Florida Lawyer in an Arbitration 
Proceeding in Florida,” is patterned after the amendments 
to Rule Regulating the Florida Bar 1-3.10 and sets forth 
procedures for an attorney licensed in another state or 
foreign country to represent a client in an arbitration 
proceeding in Florida on a temporary basis. The 
appearance must be for a client who resides or has an 
office in the lawyers home state, or is an appearance that 
arises out of, or is reasonably related to, the lawyers 
practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted. 
  
New rule 1-3.11 establishes different procedures for 
standard arbitration and international arbitration. Lawyers 
who appear in international arbitrations are exempt from 
certain requirements of this rule (i.e., notice to the Bar; 
payment of a fee; and the three-appearance limitation), 
due to the realities of this type of practice. Comments 
were filed criticizing the new rule for distinguishing 
between standard arbitration and international arbitration. 
However, the Court recognizes that the new rule is an 
attempt to balance the regulation of out-of-state 
practitioners, protection of the public, expansion of the 
multijurisdictional practice of law, and recognition of 
international business practices. 
  
 
 

CONCLUSION 

Accordingly, we adopt the amendments to the Rules 
Regulating the Florida Bar and the Florida Rules of 
Judicial Administration as set forth in the appendix to this 
opinion. Deletions are indicated by struck-through type 
and new language is indicated by underscoring. 
Comments are included for explanation and guidance 
only and are not adopted as an official part of the rules. 
The amendments shall become effective immediately. 
  
Further, the Court directs the Bar to monitor the 
implementation of these amendments and any challenges 
that arise and report back to the Court within two years 
from the effective date of these amendments with 
recommendations for improvements or changes, if any. 
  

It is so ordered. 
  

PARIENTE, C.J., and WELLS, ANSTEAD, LEWIS, 
QUINCE, CANTERO, and BELL, JJ., concur. 
 
 

APPENDIX 

 

FLORIDA RULES OF JUDICIAL 
ADMINISTRATION 

RULE 2.061. FOREIGN ATTORNEYS 
(a) Eligibility. Upon filing a verified motion with the 
court showing that the *1144 attorney is an active 
member in good standing of the bar of another state, such 
an attorney who is an active member in good standing of 
the bar of another state and currently eligible to practice 
law in a state other than Florida may be permitted to 
appear in particular cases in a Florida court upon such 
conditions as the court may deem appropriate, provided 
that a member of The Florida Bar in good standing is 
associated as an attorney of record. In determining 
whether to permit a foreign attorney to appear pursuant to 
this rule, the court may consider, among other things, 
information provided under subdivision (b)(3) concerning 
discipline in other jurisdictions. No attorney is authorized 
to appear pursuant to this rule if the attorney (1) is a 
Florida resident; (2) is  an inactive or suspended member 
of The Florida Bar, or has been disbarred or has received 
a disciplinary resignation from The Florida Bar a member 
of The Florida Bar but is ineligible to practice law; (3) has 
previously been disciplined or held in contempt by reason 
of misconduct committed while engaged in representation 
permitted pursuant to this rule provided, however, the 
contempt is final and has not been reversed or abated;  or 
(4) has failed to provide notice to The Florida Bar or pay 
the filing fee as required in subdivision (b)(7); or (45) is 
engaged in a “general practice” before Florida courts. For 
purposes of this rule, more than 3 appearances within a 
365-day period in separate and unrelated representations 
shall be presumed to be a “general practice.”; provided, 
however, that the court shall have discretion to allow 
other appearances upon a showing that the appearances 
are not a “general practice,” or that denial will work a 
substantial hardship on the client.  In cases involving 
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indigent clients, the court may waive the filing fee for 
good cause shown. 
  
(b) Contents of Verified Motion. A form verified motion 
accompanies this rule and shall be utilized by the foreign 
attorney. The verified motion required by subdivision (a) 
shall include: 
  
(1) a statement identifying all jurisdictions in which the 
attorney is an active member in good standing and 
currently eligible to practice law; 
  
(2) a statement identifying by date, case name, and case 
number all other matters in Florida state courts in which 
pro hac vice admission has been sought in the preceding 5 
years, and whether such admission was granted or denied; 
  
(3) a statement identifying all jurisdictions in which the 
attorney has been disciplined in any manner in the 
preceding 5 years and the sanction imposed, or in which 
the attorney has pending any disciplinary proceeding, 
including the date of the disciplinary action and the nature 
of the violation, and the penalty imposed; 
  
(4) a statement identifying the date on which the legal 
representation at issue commenced, and the party or 

parties represented; 
  
(5) a statement that all applicable provisions of these rules 
and the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar have been read, 
and that the verified motion complies with those rules; 
  
(6) the name, record bar address, and membership status 
of the Florida Bar member or members associated for 
purposes of the representation; 
  
(7) a certificate indicating service of the verified motion 
upon all counsel of record in the matter in which leave to 
appear pro hac vice is sought and upon The Florida Bar at 
its Tallahassee office accompanied by a nonrefundable 
$250.00 *1145 filing fee made payable to The Florida Bar 
or notice of the waiver of the fee; and 
  
(8) a verification by the attorney seeking to appear 
pursuant to this rule and the signature of the Florida Bar 
member or members associated for purposes of the 
representation. 
  
 
 

IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE __________ JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR __________, COUNTY, 
FLORIDA 
  
 

 
 
  
__________________________________
_ 
  
 

  
 

Case No. ____________________ 
  
 

 
 
 
Plaintiff 
  
 

  
 

 

 
 
 
    

 
Division ____________________ 
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VS. 
  
 

  
 

 

__________________________________
_ 
  
 

  
 

 

 
 
 
Defendant 
  
 

  
 

 

 
 
  
VERIFIED MOTION FOR ADMISSION TO APPEAR PRO HAC VICE PURSUANT TO FLORIDA RULE OF 
JUDICIAL ADMINISTRATION 2.061 
  
 

 
 
  
Comes now ____________________, Movant herein, and respectfully represents the following: 
  
 

 
 
 
1. Movant resides at ............................................................................................................................................................ 
  
 
 
 
 
  (Street Address) 

  
 

 
 
 
, ............................................................... 
  

, ............................................................... 
  

 ................................................................ 
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(City) 
  
 

(County) 
  
 

(State) 
  
 

 
 
 
, ............................................... 
  
 

, ............................................................................. 
  
 

 .................................................................. 
  
 

 
 
 
(Zip Code), 
  
 

(Telephone with area code), 
  
 

(Social Security Number) 
  
 

 
 
 
and is not a resident of the State of Florida. 
  
 

 
 
  
2. Movant is an attorney and a member of the law firm of (or practices law 
  
 

 
 
 
under the name of) , ................................................................................................................................... 
  
 

with offices 
  
 

 
 
 
at    , ................................................................................................................................................ 
  
 

 ........................................ 
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(Street Address) 
  
 

(City) 
  
 

 
 
 
, ............................................. 
  
 

, .............................................. 
  
 

, ............................................. 
  
 

, .................................................. 
  
 

 
 
 
(County) 
  
 

(State) 
  
 

(Zip Code) 
  
 

(Telephone) 
  
 

 
 
  
3. Movant has been retained personally or as a member of the above‐named law 
  
 

 
 
 
firm on ............................................................... 
  
 

by   .............................................................................................................. 
  
 

(Date Representation Commenced) 
  
 

(Name of Party or Parties) 
  
 

 
 
 
 ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 
  
 
to provide legal representation in connection with the above‐styled matter now pending before the 
above‐named court of the State of Florida. 
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4. Movant is an active member in good standing and currently eligible to practice law in the 
following jurisdiction(s): (attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 

 
 
  

5. There are no disciplinary proceedings pending against Movant, except as provided below 
(give jurisdiction of disciplinary action, date of disciplinary action, nature of the violation and 
the sanction, if any, imposed): 
  
 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 

 
 
  

6. Within the past five (5) years, Movant has not been subject to any disciplinary 
proceedings, except as provided below (give jurisdiction of disciplinary action, date of 
disciplinary action, nature of the violation and the sanction, if any, imposed): 
  
 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 

 
 
  

7. Movant has never been subject to any suspension proceedings, except as provided below 
(give jurisdiction of disciplinary action, date of disciplinary action, nature of the violation and 
the sanction, if any, imposed): 
  
 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 

 
 
  

8. Movant has never been subject to any disbarment proceedings, except as provided below 
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(give jurisdiction of disciplinary action, date of disciplinary action, nature of the violation and 
the sanction, if any, imposed): 
  
 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 

 
 
  
9. Movant, either by resignation, withdrawal, or otherwise, never has terminated or attempted to 
terminate Movant’s office as an attorney in order to avoid administrative, disciplinary, disbarment, or 
suspension proceedings. 
  
 
10. Movant is not an inactive member of The Florida Bar. 
  
 
11. Movant is not now and has never been a member of The Florida Bar. 
  
 
12. Movant is not a suspended member of The Florida Bar. 
  
 
13. Movant is not a disbarred member of The Florida Bar nor has Movant received a disciplinary 
resignation from The Florida Bar. 
  
 

 
 
  

14. Movant has not previously been disciplined or held in contempt by reason of misconduct 
committed while engaged in representation pursuant to Florida Rule of Judicial 
Administration 2.061, except as provided below (give date of disciplinary action or contempt, 
reasons therefor, and court imposing contempt): 
  
 
(attach additional sheet if necessary) 
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15. Movant has filed motion(s) to appear as counsel in Florida state courts during the past 
five (5) years in the following matters: (attach additional sheet if necessary) 
  
 
Date of Motion Case Name Case Number Court Motion Granted/Denied 
  
 

 
 
  
16. Local counsel of record associated with Movant in this matter is   ................................................................. 
  
 
 
 
 
 ................................................................................ 
  
 

who is an active member in good standing of 
  
 

(Name and Florida Bar Number) 
  
 

 

 
 
 
The Florida Bar and has offices at   .................................................................................................................................. 
  
 
 
 
 
  (Street Address) 

  
 

 
 
 
, ............................................ 
  
 

, ....................................................... 
  
 

Florida,   .......................................................................... 
  
 

(City) 
  
 

(County) 
  
 

(Zip Code) 
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 .............................................................................................. 
  
 

 

(Telephone with area code). 
  
 

 

 
 
  
(If local counsel is not an active member of The Florida Bar in good standing, please provide 
information as to local counsel’s membership status. ____________________) 
  
 
17. Movant has read the applicable provisions of Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.061 and 
Rule 1‐3.10 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar and certifies that this verified motion complies 
with those rules. 
  
 
18. Movant agrees to comply with the provisions of the Florida Rules of Professional Conduct and 
consents to the jurisdiction of the courts and the Bar of the State of Florida. 
  
 
WHEREFORE, Movant respectfully requests permission to appear in this court for this cause only. 
  
 

 
 
  
DATED this ___ day of ____________________, 20 ___. 
  
 

 
 
  
  
 

______________________________ 
  
 

  
 

Movant 
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STATE OF _______________ 
  
 

 

  
 

  
 

COUNTY OF _______________ 
  
 

 

 
 
  
I, ____________________, do hereby swear or affirm under penalty of perjury that I am the Movant 
in the above‐styled matter; that I have read the foregoing Motion and know the contents thereof, 
and the contents are true of my own knowledge and belief. 
  
 

 
 
  
  
 

______________________________ 
  
 

  
 

Movant/Affiant 
  
 

 
 
  
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ___ day of __________, 20___, by 
__________ who is personally known to me or who has produced __________ as identification and 
who did take an oath. 
  
 
___ day of __________, 20 ___. 
  
 
____________________ Notary Public 
  
 
Notary Public (Signature) 
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____________________ 
  
 
(Printed or Typed Name) 
  
 
Commission Number: __________ 
  
 
My commission expires: 
  
 

 
 
  
I hereby consent to be associated as local counsel of record in this cause pursuant to Florida Rule of 
Judicial Administration 2.061. 
  
 
DATED this _____ day of _______________, 20___. 
  
 

 
 
  
  _______________________________________ 

  
 

  Local Counsel of Record 
  
 

    
 

  _______________________________________ 
  
 

  Florida Bar Number 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
  
 

 
 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing motion was furnished by U.S. mail to 
PHV Admissions, The Florida Bar, 651 East Jefferson Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399‐2300 
accompanied by payment of the $250.00 filing fee made payable to The Florida Bar and to   ...................... 
  
 

Name and Address of All Counsel of Record and of Parties Not Represented by Counsel this 
_____ day of _______________, 20 ___. 
  
 

 
 
  
  _______________________________________ 

  
 

  Movant 
  
 

 
 
 
 

*1148 RULES REGULATING THE FLORIDA BAR 

 

RULE 1-3.10. APPEARANCE BY NON-FLORIDA 
LAWYER IN A FLORIDA COURT 

(a) Non-Florida Lawyer With Professional Business in 
Florida Appearing in a Florida Court. A practicing 
lawyer of another state, in good standing and currently 
eligible to practice, may, upon association of a member of 
The Florida Bar, in good standing, and verified motion, be 
permitted to practice upon such conditions as the court 
deems appropriate under the circumstances of the case. 
Such lawyer shall comply with the applicable portions of 

this rule and the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration. 
  
(1) Application of Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. 
Lawyers permitted to appear by this rule shall be subject 
to these Rules Regulating The Florida Bar while engaged 
in the permitted representation. 
  
(2) General Practice Prohibited. Non-Florida lawyers 
shall not be permitted to engage in a general practice 
before Florida courts. For purposes of this rule more than 
3 appearances within a 365-day period in separate and 
unrelated representations shall be presumed to be a 
“general practice,.” provided, however, that the court 
shall have discretion to allow other appearances upon a 
showing that the appearances are not a “general practice” 
or that denial will work a substantial hardship on the 
client. 
  
(3) Effect of Professional Discipline or Contempt. 
Non-Florida lawyers who have been disciplined or held in 
contempt by reason of misconduct committed while 
engaged in representation that is permitted by this rule 

APPX 1036 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



In re Amendments to the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar..., 907 So.2d 1138 (2005) 
30 Fla. L. Weekly S351 
 

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 16
 

shall thereafter be denied admission under this rule and 
the applicable provisions of the Florida Rules of Judicial 
Administration. 
  
(4) Inactive, Suspended, and Former Members of The 
Florida Bar Prohibited. This rule and the applicable 
portions of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration 
shall not be construed to permit the admission *1149 of 
inactive, suspended, and former members of The Florida 
Bar to courts of record in this state. Inactive, suspended, 
and former members of The Florida Bar who seek 
admission under this rule and the applicable provisions of 
the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration shall disclose 
current Florida Bar membership status to the courts. 
Failure to make such disclosure shall serve as a basis for 
denial of leave to appear and a bar to future appearances 
in Florida courts of record under this rule and the 
applicable portions of the Florida Rules of Judicial 
Administration. 
  
(b) Lawyer Prohibited From Appearing. No lawyer is 
authorized to appear pursuant to this rule or the applicable 
portions of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration if 
the lawyer: 
  
(1) is disbarred or suspended from practice in any 
jurisdiction; 
  
(2) is a Florida resident; 
  
(3) is a member of The Florida Bar but ineligible to 
practice law; 
  
(4) has previously been disciplined or held in contempt by 
reason of misconduct committed while engaged in 
representation permitted pursuant to this rule; 
  
(5) has failed to provide notice to The Florida Bar or pay 
the filing fee as required by this rule; or 
  
(6) is engaged in a “general practice” as defined 
elsewhere in this rule. 
  
(bc) Content of Verified Motion for Leave to Appear. 
Any verified motion filed under this rule or the applicable 
provisions of the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration 
shall include: 
  
(1) a statement of the current Florida Bar membership 
status of the lawyer, if anyidentifying all jurisdictions in 
which the lawyer is currently eligible to practice law; 
  
(2) a statement indicating the lawyer is currently a 
member in good standing of a jurisdiction other than 

Floridaidentifying by date, case name, and case number 
all other matters in Florida state courts in which pro hac 
vice admission has been sought in the preceding 5 years, 
and whether such admission was granted or denied; 
  
(3) a statement indicating the date the legal representation 
at issue commenced and the party(ies) 
representedidentifying all jurisdictions in which the 
lawyer has been disciplined in any manner in the 
preceding 5 years and the sanction imposed, or all 
jurisdictions in which the lawyer has pending any 
disciplinary proceeding, including the date of the 
disciplinary action and the nature of the violation, as 
appropriate; 
  
(4) a statement identifying, by the date, case name, and 
case number, all other matters in which temporary 
admission has been sought in the state of Florida in the 
prior 5 years and whether such admission has been 
granted or denied on which the legal representation at 
issue commenced and the party or parties represented; 
  
(5) a statement that all applicable provisions of this rule 
and the applicable provisions of the Florida Rules of 
Judicial Administration have been read and that the 
verified motion for leave to appear is filed in compliance 
therewithcomplies with those rules; 
  
(6) the name, record bar address, and membership status 
of the member(s) of The Florida Bar member or members 
associated for purposes of the representation; and 
  
(7) a certificate indicating service of the verified motion 
upon all counsel of record *1150 in the matter in which 
leave to appear pro hac vice is sought. and upon The 
Florida Bar at its Tallahassee office accompanied by a 
nonrefundable $250.00 filing fee made payable to The 
Florida Bar or notice of the waiver of the fee; and 
  
(8) a verification by the lawyer seeking to appear pursuant 
to this rule or the applicable provisions of the Florida 
Rules of Judicial Administration and the signature of the 
Florida Bar member or members associated for purposes 
of the representation. 
  
 
 

RULE 1-3.11. APPEARANCE BY NON-FLORIDA 
LAWYER IN AN ARBITRATION PROCEEDING IN 
FLORIDA 

(a) Non-Florida Lawyer Appearing in an Arbitration 
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Proceeding in Florida. A lawyer currently eligible to 
practice law in another United States jurisdiction or a 
non-United States jurisdiction may appear in an 
arbitration proceeding in this jurisdiction if the 
appearance is: 
  
(1) for a client who resides in or has an office in the 
lawyer’s home state; or 
  
(2) where the appearance arises out of or is reasonably 
related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which 
the lawyer is admitted to practice; and 
  
(3) the appearance is not one that requires pro hac vice 
admission. Such lawyer shall comply with the applicable 
portions of this rule and of rule 4-5.5. 
  
(b) Lawyer Prohibited from Appearing. No lawyer is 
authorized to appear pursuant to this rule if the lawyer: 
  
(1) is disbarred or suspended from practice in any 
jurisdiction; 
  
(2) is a Florida resident; 
  
(3) is a member of The Florida Bar but ineligible to 
practice law; 
  
(4) has previously been disciplined or held in contempt by 
reason of misconduct committed while engaged in 
representation permitted pursuant to this rule; 
  
(5) has failed to provide notice to The Florida Bar or pay 
the filing fee as required by this rule, except that neither 
notice to The Florida Bar nor a fee shall be required for 
lawyers appearing in international arbitrations; or 
  
(6) is engaged in a “general practice” as defined 
elsewhere in these rules. 
  
(c) Application of Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. 
Lawyers permitted to appear by this rule shall be subject 
to these Rules Regulating the Florida Bar while engaged 
in the permitted representation, including, without 
limitation, rule 4-5.5. 
  
(d) General Practice Prohibited. Non-Florida lawyers 
shall not be permitted to engage in a general practice 
pursuant to this rule. In all arbitration matters except 
international arbitration, a lawyer who is not admitted to 
practice law in this jurisdiction who files more than 3 
demands for arbitration or responses to arbitration in 
separate arbitration proceedings in a 365-day period shall 
be presumed to be engaged in a “general practice.” 

  
(e) Content of Verified Statement for Leave to Appear. 
In all arbitration proceedings except international 
arbitrations, prior to practicing pursuant to this rule, the 
non-Florida lawyer shall file a verified statement with The 
Florida Bar and serve a copy of the verified statement on 
opposing counsel, if known. If opposing counsel is not 
known at the time the verified statement is filed with The 
Florida Bar, the non-Florida lawyer shall serve a copy of 
the verified statement on opposing counsel within 10 days 
of learning the identity of *1151 opposing counsel. The 
verified statement shall include: 
  
(1) a statement identifying all jurisdictions in which the 
lawyer is currently eligible to practice law; 
  
(2) a statement identifying by date, case name, and case 
number all other arbitration proceedings in which the 
non-Florida lawyer has appeared in Florida in the 
preceding 5 years; however, if the case name and case 
number are confidential pursuant to an order, rule, or 
agreement of the parties, this information does not need to 
be provided and only the dates of prior proceedings must 
be disclosed; 
  
(3) a statement identifying all jurisdictions in which the 
lawyer has been disciplined in any manner in the 
preceding 5 years and the sanction imposed, or in which 
the lawyer has pending any disciplinary proceeding, 
including the date of the disciplinary action and the nature 
of the violation, as appropriate; 
  
(4) a statement identifying the date on which the legal 
representation at issue commenced and the party or 
parties represented; however, if the name of the party or 
parties is confidential pursuant to an order, rule, or 
agreement of the parties, this information does not need to 
be provided and only the date on which the representation 
commenced must be disclosed; 
  
(5) a statement that all applicable provisions of this rule 
have been read and that the verified statement complies 
with this rule; 
  
(6) a certificate indicating service of the verified 
statement upon all counsel of record in the matter and 
upon The Florida Bar at its Tallahassee office 
accompanied by a nonrefundable $250.00 filing fee made 
payable to The Florida Bar; however, such fee may be 
waived in cases involving indigent clients; and 
  
(7) a verification by the lawyer seeking to appear pursuant 
to this rule. 
In addition, the copy of the verified statement filed with 
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The Florida Bar must contain the social security number 
of the non-Florida attorney. This information need not be 
supplied to opposing counsel. 
  
 
 

Comment 

This rule applies to arbitration proceedings held in Florida 
where 1 or both parties are being represented by a lawyer 
admitted in another United States jurisdiction or a 
non-United States jurisdiction. For the most part, the rule 
applies to any type of arbitration proceeding and any 
matter being arbitrated. However, entire portions of 
subdivision (d) and subdivision (e) do not apply to 
international arbitrations. For the purposes of this rule, an 
international arbitration is defined as the arbitration of 
disputes between 2 or more persons at least 1 of whom is 
a nonresident of the United States or between 2 or more 
persons all of whom are residents of the United States if 
the dispute (1) involves property located outside the 
United States, (2) relates to a contract or other agreement 
which envisages performance or enforcement in whole or 
in part outside the United States, (3) involves an 
investment outside the United States or the ownership, 
management, or operation of a business entity through 
which such an investment is effected or any agreement 
pertaining to any interest in such an entity, (4) bears some 
other relation to 1 or more foreign countries, or (5) 
involves 2 or more persons at least 1 of whom is a foreign 
state as defined in 28 U.S.C. § 1603. International 
arbitration does not include the arbitration of any dispute 
pertaining *1152 to the ownership, use, development, or 
possession of, or a lien of record upon, real property 
located in Florida or any dispute involving domestic 
relations. 
  
The exceptions provided in this rule for international 
arbitrations in no way exempt lawyers not admitted to 
The Florida Bar and appearing in Florida courts from 
compliance with the provisions of rule 1-3.10 and any 
applicable rules of judicial administration, regardless of 
whether the court proceeding arises out of or is related to 
the subject of a dispute in an international arbitration. For 
example, a lawyer not a member of The Florida Bar could 
not appear in a Florida court or confirm or vacate an 
award resulting from an international arbitration without 
being authorized to appear pro hac vice and without 
complying with all requirements contained in rule 1-3.10 
and the applicable rules of judicial administration. 
  
 

 

3-2. DEFINITIONS 

 

RULE 3-2.1. GENERALLY 

Wherever used in these rules the following words or 
terms shall have the meaning herein set forth unless the 
use thereof shall clearly indicate a different meaning: 
  
(a) Bar Counsel. A member of The Florida Bar 
representing The Florida Bar in any proceeding under 
these rules. 
  
(b) The Board or the Board of Governors. The board of 
governors of The Florida Bar. 
  
(c) Complainant or Complaining Witness. Any person 
who has complained of the conduct of any member of The 
Florida Bar to any officer or agency of The Florida Bar. 
  
(d) This Court or the Court. The Supreme Court of 
Florida. 
  
(e) Court of this State. A state court authorized and 
established by the constitution or laws of the state of 
Florida. 
  
(f) Diversion to Practice and Professionalism 
Enhancement Programs. The removal of a disciplinary 
matter from the disciplinary system and placement of the 
matter in a skills enhancement program in lieu of a 
disciplinary sanction. 
  
(g) Executive Committee. The executive committee of 
the board of governors of The Florida Bar. 
  
(h) Executive Director. The executive director of The 
Florida Bar. 
  
(i) Practice and Professionalism Enhancement 
Programs. Programs operated either as a diversion from 
disciplinary action or as a part of a disciplinary sanction 
that are intended to provide educational opportunities to 
members of the bar for enhancing skills and avoiding 
misconduct allegations. 
  
(j) Probable Cause. A finding by an authorized agency 
that there is cause to believe that a member of The Florida 
Bar is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action. 
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(k) Referral to Practice and Professionalism 
Enhancement Programs. Placement of a lawyer in skills 
enhancement programs as a disciplinary sanction. 
  
(l) Referee. A judge or retired judge appointed to conduct 
proceedings as provided under these rules. 
  
(m) Respondent. A member of The Florida Bar or an 
attorney subject to these rules who is accused of 
misconduct or whose conduct is under investigation. 
  
(n) Staff Counsel. The director of the legal division and 
an employee of The Florida Bar. 
  
*1153 (o) Chief Branch Discipline Counsel. Chief 
branch discipline counsel is the counsel in charge of a 
branch office of The Florida Bar. Any counsel employed 
by The Florida Bar may serve as chief branch discipline 
counsel at the direction of the regularly assigned chief 
branch discipline counsel or staff counsel. 
  
(p) Designated Reviewer. The designated reviewer is a 
member of the board of governors responsible for review 
and other specific duties as assigned by the board of 
governors with respect to a particular grievance 
committee or matter. If a designated reviewer recuses or 
is unavailable, any other board member may serve as 
designated reviewer in that matter. The designated 
reviewer will be selected, from time to time, by the board 
members from the circuit of such grievance committee. In 
circuits having an unequal number of grievance 
committees and board members, review responsibility 
will be reassigned, from time to time, to equalize 
workloads. On such reassignments responsibility for all 
pending cases from a particular committee passes to the 
new designated reviewer. The chief branch discipline 
counsel will be given written notice of changes in the 
designated reviewing members for a particular committee. 
  
(q) Final Adjudication. A decision by the authorized 
disciplinary authority or court issuing a sanction for 
professional misconduct that is not subject to judicial 
review except on direct appeal to the Supreme Court of 
the United States. 
  
 
 

3-4. STANDARDS OF CONDUCT 

 

RULE 3-4.1. NOTICE AND KNOWLEDGE OF 
RULES; JURISDICTION OVER ATTORNEYS OF 
OTHER STATES AND FOREIGN COUNTRIES 

Every member of The Florida Bar and every attorney of 
another state or foreign country who is admitted to 
practice for the purpose of a specific case before a court 
of record of this state provides or offers to provide any 
legal services in this state is within the jurisdiction and 
subject to the disciplinary authority of this court and its 
agencies under this rule and is charged with notice and 
held to know the provisions of this rule and the standards 
of ethical and professional conduct prescribed by this 
court. Jurisdiction over an attorney of another state who is 
not a member of The Florida Bar shall be limited to 
conduct as an attorney in relation to the business for 
which the attorney was permitted to practice in this state 
and the privilege in the future to practice law in the state 
of Florida. 
  
 
 

RULE 3-4.6. DISCIPLINE BY FOREIGN OR 
FEDERAL JURISDICTION; CHOICE OF LAW 

(a) Disciplinary Authority. An attorney admitted to 
practice in this jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary 
authority of this jurisdiction, regardless of where the 
attorney’s conduct occurs. An attorney may be subject to 
the disciplinary authority of both this jurisdiction and 
another jurisdiction for the same conduct. A final 
adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or 
other authorized disciplinary agency of another 
jurisdiction, state or federal, that an attorney licensed to 
practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct 
justifying disciplinary action shall be considered as 
conclusive proof of such misconduct in a disciplinary 
proceeding under this rule. 
  
(b) Choice of Law. In any exercise of the disciplinary 
authority of this jurisdiction, the rules of professional 
conduct to be applied shall be as follows: 
  
(1) for conduct in connection with a matter pending 
before a tribunal, the rules of *1154 the jurisdiction in 
which the tribunal sits, unless the rules of the tribunal 
provide otherwise; and 
  
(2) for any other conduct, the rules of the jurisdiction in 
which the attorney’s conduct occurred, or, if the 
predominant effect of the conduct is in a different 
jurisdiction, the rules of that jurisdiction shall be applied 
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to the conduct. 
  
 
 

RULE 3-7.2. PROCEDURES UPON CRIMINAL OR 
PROFESSIONAL MISCONDUCT; DISCIPLINE 
UPON DETERMINATION OR JUDGMENT OF 
GUILT OF CRIMINAL MISCONDUCT 

(a) Definitions. 
  
(1) Judgment of Guilt. For the purposes of these rules, 
“judgment of guilt” shall include only those cases in 
which the trial court in the criminal proceeding enters an 
order adjudicating the respondent guilty of the offense(s) 
charged. 
  
(2) Determination of Guilt. For the purposes of these 
rules, “determination of guilt” shall include only those 
cases in which the trial court in the criminal proceeding 
enters an order withholding adjudication of the 
respondent’s guilt of the offense(s) charged. 
  
(3) Convicted Attorney. For the purposes of these rules, 
“convicted attorney” shall mean an attorney who has had 
either a determination or judgment of guilt entered by the 
trial court in the criminal proceeding. 
  
(b) Determination or Judgment of Guilt. Determination 
or judgment of guilt of a member of The Florida Bar by a 
court of competent jurisdiction upon trial of or plea to any 
crime or offense that is a felony under the laws of this 
state, or under the laws under which any other court 
making such determination or entering such judgment 
exercises its jurisdiction, shall be conclusive proof of guilt 
of the criminal offense(s) charged for the purposes of 
these rules. 
  
(c) Notice of Determination or Judgment of Guilt. 
Upon the entry of a determination or judgment of guilt 
against a member of The Florida Bar by a court of 
competent jurisdiction upon trial of or plea to any offense 
that is a felony under the laws applicable to such court, 
such convicted attorney shall within 30 days of such 
determination or judgment notify the executive director of 
The Florida Bar of such determination or judgment. 
Notice shall include a copy of the order(s) whereby such 
determination or judgment was entered. 
  
(d) Notice of Determination or Judgment of Guilt by 
Courts of the State of Florida. If any such determination 
or judgment is entered by a court of the State of Florida, 

the judge or clerk thereof shall transmit to the Supreme 
Court of Florida and the executive director of The Florida 
Bar a certified copy of the order(s) whereby the 
determination or judgment was entered. 
  
(e) Suspension by Judgment of Guilt (Felonies). Upon 
receiving notice that a member of the bar has been 
determined or adjudicated guilty of a felony, bar counsel 
will file a “Notice of Determination or Judgment of Guilt” 
in the Supreme Court of Florida. A copy of the judgment 
shall be attached to the notice. Upon the filing with the 
Supreme Court of Florida by The Florida Bar and service 
upon the respondent of a notice of determination or 
judgment of guilt for offenses that are felonies under 
applicable law, the respondent shall stand suspended as a 
member of The Florida Bar on the eleventh day after 
filing of *1155 the notice of determination or judgment of 
guilt unless the respondent shall, on or before the tenth 
day after filing of such notice, file a petition to terminate 
or modify such suspension. 
  
(f) Petition to Modify or Terminate Suspension. 
  
(1) At any time after the filing of a notice of 
determination or judgment of guilt, the respondent may 
file a petition with the Supreme Court of Florida to 
modify or terminate such suspension and shall serve a 
copy thereof upon the executive director. 
  
(2) If such petition is filed on or before the tenth day 
following the filing of the notice, the suspension will be 
deferred until entry of an order on the petition. 
  
(3) If such petition is filed after the tenth day following 
the filing of the notice of judgment of guilt, the 
suspension shall remain in effect pending disposition of 
the petition. Modification or termination of the suspension 
shall be granted only upon a showing of good case. 
  
(g) Response to Petition to Modify or Terminate 
Automatic Suspension. The Florida Bar shall be allowed 
20 days from the filing of a petition to modify or 
terminate automatic suspension to respond to the same. 
Bar counsel will oppose all petitions to modify or 
withhold an automatic suspension on a notice of 
determination or judgment of guilt unless the designated 
reviewer recommends and the executive committee 
concurs in not opposing such a petition. 
  
(h) Term of Suspension. 
  
(1) Maximum Term of Suspension. Unless the Supreme 
Court of Florida permits an earlier application for 
reinstatement, the suspension imposed on the 
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determination or judgment of guilt shall remain in effect 
for 3 years and thereafter until civil rights have been 
restored and until the respondent is reinstated under rule 
3-7.10 hereof. 
  
(2) Continuation During Appeal. A final termination of 
the criminal cause resulting in the affirmance of a 
determination or judgment of guilt shall continue the 
suspension until expiration of all periods for appeal and 
rehearing. 
  
(3) Continuation of Suspension Until Final Disposition. 
If an appeal is taken by the respondent from the 
determination or judgment of the trial court in the 
criminal proceeding, and on review the cause is remanded 
for further proceedings, the suspension shall remain in 
effect until the final disposition of the criminal cause 
unless modified or terminated by the Supreme Court of 
Florida as elsewhere provided. 
  
(4) Termination and Expunction of Suspension. A final 
disposition of the criminal cause resulting in acquittal will 
terminate the suspension. Upon motion of the respondent, 
the Supreme Court of Florida may expunge a suspension 
entered under this rule when a final disposition of the 
criminal cause has resulted in acquittal. 
  
(5) Effect of Expunction. A respondent who is the 
subject of a disciplinary history record that is expunged 
under this rule lawfully may deny or fail to acknowledge 
the sanctions covered by the expunged record, except 
when the respondent is a candidate for election or 
appointment to judicial office. 
  
(i) Separate Disciplinary Action. 
  
(1) Initiation of Action. The Florida Bar may, at any 
time, initiate separate disciplinary action against the 
respondent. 
  
*1156 (2) Conclusive Proof of Probable Cause. A 
determination or judgment of guilt, where the offense is a 
felony under applicable law, shall constitute conclusive 
proof of probable cause and The Florida Bar may file a 
complaint with the Supreme Court of Florida, or proceed 
under rule 3-7.9, without there first having been a 
separate finding of probable cause. 
  
(3) Determination or Judgment of Guilt as Evidence. 
A determination or judgment of guilt, whether for charges 
that are felony or misdemeanor in nature, shall be 
admissible in disciplinary proceedings under these rules, 
and in those cases where the underlying criminal charges 
constitute felony charges, determinations or judgments of 

guilt shall, for purposes of these rules, constitute 
conclusive proof of the criminal offense(s) charged. The 
failure of a trial court to adjudicate the convicted attorney 
guilty of the offense(s) charged shall be considered as a 
matter of mitigation only. 
  
(j) Professional Misconduct in Foreign Jurisdiction. 
  
(1) Notice of Discipline by a Foreign Jurisdiction. A 
member of The Florida Bar who has submitted a 
disciplinary resignation or otherwise surrendered a license 
to practice law in lieu of disciplinary sanction, or has been 
disbarred or suspended from the practice of law by a court 
or other authorized disciplinary agency of another state or 
by a federal court shall within 30 days after the effective 
date of disbarment or suspension file with the Supreme 
Court of Florida and the executive director of The Florida 
Bar a copy of the order or judgment effecting such 
disbarment or suspension. 
  
(2) Adjudication or Discipline by a Foreign 
Jurisdiction. In cases of a final adjudication by a court or 
other authorized disciplinary agency of another 
jurisdiction, such adjudication of misconduct shall be 
sufficient basis for the filing of a complaint by The 
Florida Bar and assignment for hearing before a referee 
without a finding of probable cause under these rules. 
  
 
 

RULE 4-5.5. UNLICENSED PRACTICE OF LAW; 
MULTIJURISDICTIONAL PRACTICE OF LAW 

(a) Practice of Law. A lawyer shall not: (a) practice law 
in a jurisdiction where doing so violates other than the 
lawyer’s home state, in violation of the regulation of the 
legal profession in that jurisdiction, or in violation of the 
regulation of the legal profession in the lawyer’s home 
state ; or assist another in doing so. 
  
(b) assist a person who is not a member of the bar in the 
performance of activity that constitutes the unlicensed 
practice of law.Establishing an Office and Holding Out 
as Lawyer Prohibited. A lawyer who is not admitted to 
practice in Florida shall not: 
  
(1) except as authorized by other law, establish an office 
or other regular presence in Florida for the practice of 
law; or 
  
(2) hold out to the public or otherwise represent that the 
lawyer is admitted to practice law in Florida. 
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(c) Authorized Temporary Practice by Lawyer 
Admitted in Another United States Jurisdiction. A 
lawyer admitted and authorized to practice law in another 
United States jurisdiction who has been neither disbarred 
or suspended from practice in any jurisdiction, nor 
disciplined or held in contempt in Florida by reason of 
misconduct committed while engaged in the practice of 
law permitted pursuant to this rule, may provide legal 
services on a temporary basis in Florida that: 
  
*1157 (1) are undertaken in association with a lawyer 
who is admitted to practice in Florida and who actively 
participates in the matter; 
  
(2) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential 
proceeding before a tribunal in this or another 
jurisdiction, if the lawyer or a person the lawyer is 
assisting is authorized by law or order to appear in such 
proceeding or reasonably expects to be so authorized; 
  
(3) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential 
arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute 
resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction and 
the services are not services for which the forum requires 
pro hac vice admission: 
  
(A) if the services are performed for a client who resides 
in or has an office in the lawyer’s home state, or 
  
(B) where the services arise out of or are reasonably 
related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which 
the lawyer is admitted to practice; or 
  
(4) are not within subdivisions (c)(2) or (c)(3), and 
  
(A) are performed for a client who resides in or has an 
office in the jurisdiction in which the lawyer is authorized 
to practice, or 
  
(B) arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s 
practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted 
to practice. 
  
(d) Authorized Temporary Practice by Lawyer 
Admitted in a Non-United States Jurisdiction. A 
lawyer who is admitted only in a non-United States 
jurisdiction, who is a member in good standing of a 
recognized legal profession in a foreign jurisdiction 
whose members are admitted to practice as lawyers or 
counselors at law or the equivalent and are subject to 
effective regulation and discipline by a duly constituted 
professional body or a public authority, and who has been 
neither disbarred or suspended from practice in any 

jurisdiction nor disciplined or held in contempt in Florida 
by reason of misconduct committed while engaged in the 
practice of law permitted pursuant to this rule does not 
engage in the unlicensed practice of law in Florida when 
on a temporary basis the lawyer performs services in 
Florida that: 
  
(1) are undertaken in association with a lawyer who is 
admitted to practice in Florida and who actively 
participates in the matter; 
  
(2) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential 
proceeding before a tribunal held or to be held in a 
jurisdiction outside the United States if the lawyer, or a 
person the lawyer is assisting, is authorized by law or by 
order of the tribunal to appear in such proceeding or 
reasonably expects to be so authorized; 
  
(3) are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential 
arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute 
resolution proceeding held or to be held in Florida or 
another jurisdiction and the services are not services for 
which the forum requires pro hac vice admission 
  
(A) if the services are performed for a client who resides 
in or has an office in the jurisdiction in which the lawyer 
is admitted to practice, or 
  
(B) where the services arise out of or are reasonably 
related to the lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which 
the lawyer is admitted to practice; or 
  
(4) are not within subdivisions (d)(2) or (d)(3), and 
  
*1158 (A) are performed for a client who resides or has 
an office in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 
authorized to practice to the extent of that authorization, 
or 
  
(B) arise out of or are reasonably related to a matter that 
has a substantial connection to a jurisdiction in which the 
lawyer is authorized to practice to the extent of that 
authorization; or 
  
(5) are governed primarily by international law or the law 
of a non-United States jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 
a member. 
  
 
 

Comment 
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Subdivision (a) applies to unlicensed practice of law by a 
lawyer, whether through the lawyer’s direct action or by 
the lawyer assisting another person. A lawyer may 
practice law only in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 
authorized to practice. A lawyer may be admitted to 
practice law in a jurisdiction on a regular basis or may be 
authorized by court rule or order or by law to practice for 
a limited purpose or on a restricted basis. Regardless of 
whether the lawyer is admitted to practice law on a 
regular basis or is practicing as the result of an 
authorization granted by court rule or order or by the law, 
the lawyer must comply with the standards of ethical and 
professional conduct set forth in these Rules Regulating 
the Florida Bar. 
  
The definition of the practice of law is established by law 
and varies from one jurisdiction to another. Whatever the 
definition, limiting the practice of law to members of the 
bar protects the public against rendition of legal services 
by unqualified persons. Subdivision (b) This rule does not 
prohibit a lawyer from employing the services of 
paraprofessionals and delegating functions to them, so 
long as the lawyer supervises the delegated work and 
retains responsibility for their work. See rule 4-5.3. 
Likewise, it does not prohibit lawyers from providing 
professional advice and instruction to nonlawyers whose 
employment requires knowledge of law; for example, 
claims adjusters, employees of financial or commercial 
institutions, social workers, accountants, and persons 
employed in government agencies. In addition, a lawyer 
may counsel nonlawyers who wish to proceed pro se. 
  
Other than as authorized by law, a lawyer who is not 
admitted to practice in Florida violates subdivision (b) if 
the lawyer establishes an office or other regular presence 
in Florida for the practice of law. Presence may be regular 
even if the lawyer is not physically present here. Such a 
lawyer must not hold out to the public or otherwise 
represent that the lawyer is admitted to practice law in 
Florida. 
  
There are occasions in which a lawyer admitted and 
authorized to practice in another United States jurisdiction 
or in a non-United States jurisdiction may provide legal 
services on a temporary basis in Florida under 
circumstances that do not create an unreasonable risk to 
the interests of his or her clients, the public, or the courts. 
Subdivisions (c) and (d) identify such circumstances. This 
rule does not authorize a lawyer to establish an office or 
other regular presence in Florida without being admitted 
to practice generally here. Furthermore, no lawyer is 
authorized to provide legal services pursuant to this rule if 
the lawyer is disbarred or suspended from practice in any 
jurisdiction or has been disciplined or held in contempt in 

Florida by reason of misconduct committed while 
engaged in the practice of law permitted pursuant to this 
rule. The contempt must be final and not reversed or 
abated. 
  
*1159 There is no single test to determine whether a 
lawyer’s services are provided on a “temporary basis” in 
Florida and may therefore be permissible under 
subdivision (c). Services may be “temporary” even 
though the lawyer provides services in Florida on a 
recurring basis or for an extended period of time, as when 
the lawyer is representing a client in a single lengthy 
negotiation or litigation. 
  
Subdivision (c) applies to lawyers who are admitted to 
practice law in any United States jurisdiction, which 
includes the District of Columbia and any state, territory, 
or commonwealth of the United States. The word 
“admitted” in subdivision (c) contemplates that the lawyer 
is authorized to practice in the jurisdiction in which the 
lawyer is admitted and excludes a lawyer who while 
technically admitted is not authorized to practice because, 
for example, the lawyer is on inactive status. Subdivision 
(d) applies to lawyers who are admitted to practice law in 
a non-United States jurisdiction if the lawyer is a member 
in good standing of a recognized legal profession in a 
foreign jurisdiction, the members of which are admitted to 
practice as lawyers or counselors at law or the equivalent 
and subject to effective regulation and discipline by a 
duly constituted professional body or a public authority. 
Due to the similarities between the subsections, they will 
be discussed together. Differences will be noted. 
  
Subdivisions (c)(1) and (d)(1) recognize that the interests 
of clients and the public are protected if a lawyer admitted 
only in another jurisdiction associates with a lawyer 
licensed to practice in Florida. For these subdivisions to 
apply, the lawyer admitted to practice in Florida could not 
serve merely as a conduit for the out-of-state lawyer, but 
would have to share actual responsibility for the 
representation and actively participate in the 
representation. 
  
Lawyers not admitted to practice generally in Florida may 
be authorized by law or order of a tribunal or an 
administrative agency to appear before the tribunal or 
agency. This authority may be granted pursuant to formal 
rules governing admission pro hac vice or pursuant to 
formal rules of the agency. Under subdivision (c)(2), a 
lawyer does not violate this rule when the lawyer appears 
before a tribunal or agency pursuant to such authority. To 
the extent that a court rule or other law of Florida requires 
a lawyer who is not admitted to practice in Florida to 
obtain admission pro hac vice prior to appearing before a 
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tribunal or to obtain admission pursuant to applicable 
rule(s) prior to appearing before an administrative agency, 
this rule requires the lawyer to obtain that authority. 
  
Subdivision (c)(2) also provides that a lawyer rendering 
services in Florida on a temporary basis does not violate 
this rule when the lawyer engages in conduct in 
anticipation of a proceeding or hearing in a jurisdiction in 
which the lawyer is authorized to practice law or in which 
the lawyer reasonably expects to be admitted pro hac vice. 
Examples of such conduct include meetings with the 
client, interviews of potential witnesses, and the review of 
documents. Similarly, a lawyer admitted only in another 
jurisdiction may engage in conduct temporarily in Florida 
in connection with pending litigation in another 
jurisdiction in which the lawyer is or reasonably expects 
to be authorized to appear, including taking depositions in 
Florida. 
  
Subdivision (d)(2) is similar to subdivision (c)(2), 
however, the authorization in (d)(2) only applies to 
pending or potential proceedings before a tribunal to be 
held outside of the United States. 
  
*1160 Subdivisions (c)(3) and (d)(3) permit a lawyer 
admitted to practice law in another jurisdiction to perform 
services on a temporary basis in Florida if those services 
are in or reasonably related to a pending or potential 
arbitration, mediation, or other alternative dispute 
resolution proceeding in this or another jurisdiction, if the 
services are performed for a client who resides in or has 
an office in the lawyer’s home state, or if the services 
arise out of or are reasonably related to the lawyer’s 
practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted 
to practice. The lawyer, however, must obtain admission 
pro hac vice in the case of a court-annexed arbitration or 
mediation or otherwise if court rules or law so require. 
For the purposes of this rule, a lawyer who is not admitted 
to practice law in Florida who files more than 3 demands 
for arbitration or responses to arbitration in separate 
arbitration proceedings in a 365-day period shall be 
presumed to be providing legal services on a regular, not 
temporary, basis; however, this presumption shall not 
apply to a lawyer appearing in international arbitrations as 
defined in the comment to rule 1-3.11(or elsewhere in 
these rules). 
  
Subdivision (c)(4) permits a lawyer admitted in another 
jurisdiction to provide certain legal services on a 
temporary basis in Florida that are performed for a client 
who resides or has an office in the jurisdiction in which 
the lawyer is authorized to practice or arise out of or are 
reasonably related to the lawyer’s practice in a 
jurisdiction in which the lawyer is admitted but are not 

within subdivisions (c)(2) or (c)(3). These services 
include both legal services and services that nonlawyers 
may perform but that are considered the practice of law 
when performed by lawyers. When performing services 
which may be performed by nonlawyers, the lawyer 
remains subject to the Rules of Professional Conduct. 
  
Subdivisions (c)(3), (d)(3), and (c)(4) require that the 
services arise out of or be reasonably related to the 
lawyer’s practice in a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 
admitted. A variety of factors evidence such a 
relationship. The lawyer’s client may have been 
previously represented by the lawyer, or may be resident 
in or have substantial contacts with the jurisdiction in 
which the lawyer is admitted. The matter, although 
involving other jurisdictions, may have a significant 
connection with that jurisdiction. In other cases, 
significant aspects of the lawyer’s work might be 
conducted in that jurisdiction or a significant aspect of the 
matter may involve the law of that jurisdiction. The 
necessary relationship might arise when the client’s 
activities or the legal issues involve multiple jurisdictions, 
such as when the officers of a multinational corporation 
survey potential business sites and seek the services of 
their lawyer in assessing the relative merits of each. In 
addition, the services may draw on the lawyer’s 
recognized expertise developed through regular practice 
of law in a body of law that is applicable to the client’s 
particular matter. 
  
Subdivision (d)(4) permits a lawyer admitted in a 
non-United States jurisdiction to provide certain services 
on a temporary basis in Florida that are performed for a 
client who resides in or has an office in the jurisdiction 
where the lawyer is authorized to practice or arise out of 
or are reasonably related to a matter that has a substantial 
connection to a jurisdiction in which the lawyer is 
authorized to practice to the extent of that authorization 
but are not within subdivisions (d)(2) and (d)(3). The 
scope of the work the lawyer could perform under this 
provision would be limited to the services the lawyer may 
perform in the authorizing jurisdiction. For example, if a 
German lawyer came to the *1161 United States to 
negotiate on behalf of a client in Germany, the lawyer 
would be authorized to provide only those services that 
the lawyer is authorized to provide for that client in 
Germany. Subdivision (d)(5) permits a lawyer admitted in 
a non-United States jurisdiction to provide services in 
Florida that are governed primarily by international law or 
the law of a non-United States jurisdiction in which the 
lawyer is a member. 
  
A lawyer who practices law in Florida pursuant to 
subdivisions (c), (d), or otherwise is subject to the 
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disciplinary authority of Florida. A lawyer who practices 
law in Florida pursuant to subdivision (c) must inform the 
client that the lawyer is not licensed to practice law in 
Florida. 
  
The Supreme Court of Florida has determined that it 
constitutes the unlicensed practice of law for a lawyer 
admitted to practice law in a jurisdiction other than 
Florida to advertise to provide legal services in Florida 
which the lawyer is not authorized to provide. The rule 
was adopted in 820 So.2d 210 (Fla.2002). The court first 
stated the proposition in 762 So.2d 392, 394 (Fla.1999). 
Subdivisions (c) and (d) do not authorize advertising legal 
services to prospective clients in Florida by lawyers who 

are admitted to practice in jurisdictions other than Florida. 
Whether and how lawyers may communicate the 
availability of their services to prospective clients in 
Florida is governed by rules 4-7.1 through 4-7.11. 
  
A lawyer who practices law in Florida is subject to the 
disciplinary authority of Florida. 
  

All Citations 
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Footnotes 
 
1 
 

Because the proposed amendments deal with a unique issue, the Bar filed them separately from its annual rules submission. 
 

2 
 

This opinion does not discuss purely editorial changes. 
 

3 
 

In Kemp v. Florida East Coast Railway Co., 1 Fla. L. Weekly Supp. 385  (Fla. 4th Cir.Ct. May 13, 1993),  the  trial court denied a
non‐Florida attorney permission  to appear pro hac  vice after determining  that members of  the  firm had  “either appeared or
moved to appear in approximately 25 cases in Florida” within three years. Id. at 385. The attorney in Kemp who was seeking pro 
hac vice admission had “appeared or moved to appear” in nine cases with nine different clients within two years. Considering the
frequency of the appearances, this Court has a substantial interest in regulating the lawyers’ practices. 
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The Florida Bar Partial Motion for Summary Judgment 
 Page 9, footnotes (5) to (10) 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

V. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

___________________________/ 

THE FLORIDA BAR’S PARTIAL MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT 

Complainant, The Florida Bar, moves for Partial Summary Judgment1 

pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Procedure 1.510 and states as follows:   

1. Summary judgment is designed to test the sufficiency of the evidence 

and to determine if there is sufficient evidence at issue to justify a trial or formal 

hearing on the issues raised in the pleadings.  Summary judgment is appropriate 

where, as a matter of law, it is apparent from the pleadings, depositions, affidavits, 

or other evidence that there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving 

party is entitled to relief as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. Greene, 926 So.2d 

1195 (Fla. 2006) 

1 This Motion is styled as partial because it relates only to the issue of guilt regarding the rule violations and does not 
address the proper sanction to be imposed.  
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2. “[A] referee…has the authority to enter summary judgment on the 

same basis as in a civil case---when, as a matter of law, it is apparent from the 

pleadings and other evidence that there are no genuine issues of material fact and 

the moving party is entitled to relief as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. 

Rosenberg, 169 So.3d 1155 (Fla. 2015).   See also, The Florida Bar v. Rapoport, 

845 So.2d 874 (Fla. 2003). 

3.  Rule 3-4.6 of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar provides, in 

pertinent part, as follows: 

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other 
authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or federal, that a 
lawyer licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct 
justifying disciplinary action will be considered as conclusive proof of the 
misconduct in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.  
  

4.  In the instant case, there are no genuine issues of material fact in 

question and The Florida Bar is entitled to an order of summary judgment as a 

matter of law. As such, this matter should proceed to final hearing on the issue of 

discipline only.   

THE UNDISPUTED FACTS 

5.  The undisputed facts in this matter are as follows:     

A. This is a reciprocal discipline action based on disciplinary action taken 

against respondent by the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO).  
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 B. Respondent became a patent attorney registered to practice before the 

USPTO on March 3, 1971.  On August 2, 2017, respondent was the subject of a 

Final Order issued by the USPTO suspending him for a period of eight (8) months 

and thereafter until passage of the MPRE and reinstatement by the Office of 

Enrollment and Discipline Director.  This Final Order issued following 

respondent’s appeal of the earlier Initial Decision issued by Administrative Law 

Judge J. Jeremiah Mahoney who concluded that, on the basis of clear and 

convincing evidence2, respondent had violated numerous rules of the USPTO Code 

of Professional Responsibility.3  The August 2, 2017 Final Order affirmed the 

earlier September 15, 2016 decision by the Administrative Law Judge.  The factual 

findings set forth in the following paragraphs form the basis for respondent’s 

suspension and are contained in the August 2, 2017 Final Order.4  (See August 2, 

2017 Final Order attached as Ex. “A”.)   

 

 

2 Clear and convincing is the same evidentiary standard to be applied in Florida Bar disciplinary proceedings.  See 
The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970). 

3  The hearing before the Administrative Law Judge was conducted on May 10-11, 2016 in Miami and included 
testimony from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake, attorney Meredith Chaiken (EPRT’s counsel in the 
related malpractice case) and respondent, John Faro. 

4  In the interest of brevity, the factual findings have been consolidated to some extent from the August 2, 2017 
Order.     
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The USPTO Final Order Dated August 2, 2017 

C. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“First Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 2 through 22 of a patent application which 

had been filed by EPRT Technologies, Inc. (“EPRT”) on September 7, 2000.   

 D. Subsequent to the rejection, and at EPRT’s request, respondent 

emailed EPRT co-inventor and executive David Estes on November 19, 2002 to 

discuss the application as drafted by prior counsel.  Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed 

respondent on November 22, 2002, authorizing him to begin work on the 

application.   

E. Respondent submitted to the USPTO a Power of Attorney and 

Revocation of Prior Powers on December 12, 2002, signed by Katherine Blake, 

EPRT co-founder and president.  

F. On January 30, 2003, the USPTO issued a non-final Office Action in 

response to a Request for Continued Examination filed by respondent on January 

16, 2003.  Respondent filed a response to that Office Action on March 14, 2003, 

which was rejected in another non-final Office Action issued on June 4, 2003.                   

 G. On November 12, 2003, respondent filed an amendment to the 

application; however, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, the 
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USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment to Respondent on January 

8, 2004.   

H. After receiving calls from the USPTO patent examiner assigned to the 

application, Respondent filed a response on February 9, 2004, but it was deemed 

non-compliant. 

I. On August 12, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

(“First Abandonment”) for the patent application, citing Respondent’s failure to 

file a compliant response to the January 2004 notice. The First Abandonment 

stated that the patent examiner had left voice messages for Respondent on July 9, 

July 19, and July 20, 2004, the last call informing Respondent that the application 

would be deemed abandoned if he did not contact the examiner by July 23, 2004. 

Respondent did not return any messages and the application was deemed 

abandoned. 

J. Respondent filed a Petition to Revive the patent application on 

October 28, 2004. It stated that the application was unintentionally abandoned 

because respondent had not received the January 2004 Notice.  The Petition was 

granted on January 18, 2005. 

K. On April 19, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action (“Second  

Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the application. 
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L. On June 20, 2005, respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail  

with the subject “Re: Statis [sic] of Patents.”  The email stated that “the US 

examiner has issued an office action (non-final rejection) and I shall set up an 

interview with her shortly” (emphasis in original). 

M. Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal (“First Appeal”) on June 30, 

2005. On July 27, 2005, he informed Ms. Blake and Keith Wendell, CEO of 

EPRT, of the appeal.   

N. On November 14, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Third Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 23-25 and objecting to claims 3 and 4.  

O. The first substantive page of the USPTO Office Action defines the 

“Period for Reply” and informed respondent that, in all capital letters, “a shortened 

statutory period for reply is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) days, whichever 

is longer, from the mailing date of this communication.”  The same section also 

stated that the application would become abandoned if a reply was not received 

within the reply period. 

P. On November 29, 2005, respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an 

e-mail with the subject “Allowed subject matter,” and related the contents (albeit, 

inaccurately) of the Third Final Rejection.  Respondent’s e-mail did not mention 

APPX 1053 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



EPRT had three months to file a reply.  There is no indication that anyone at EPRT 

received a copy of the Third Final Review.  

Q. Respondent appealed the Third Final Rejection (“Second Appeal”) to 

the Board of Patent Appeal and Interferences (Board) on February 2, 2006.  The 

USPTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal on August 31, 2006. 

R. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal (“Board 

Decision”), affirming the Third Final Rejection’s conclusions as to claims 3,4, and 

22-25.  The first page of the Board Decision included a foot note announcing the 

two-month period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case; the final page stated, “no 

period for taking any subsequent action in connection with this appeal may be 

extended.”  The Board Decision was sent to respondent’s record bar address. 

S. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

regarding the patent application because all claims had been rejected, the 

application had not been amended, and because no appeal was filed within the two-

month window.  The Notice of Abandonment was sent to respondent’s record bar 

address and stated that a message had been left on his answering machine on 

August 6, 2009. 

T. Respondent claims he did not receive the Notice of Abandonment. 
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U. Beginning in 2010, Ms. Blake contacted respondent several times to 

determine the status of the application.  Respondent eventually e-mailed Ms. 

Blake, stating that he had “attempted to determine the status of the patent 

[applications] and have yet to hear back from my inquiries.” 

V. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted respondent by phone to discuss 

the application; however, he abruptly ended the call and did not answer when she 

immediately called him back. 

W. Throughout 2011, Ms. Blake sent seven increasingly urgent e-mails to  

respondent attempting to learn about the status of the patent application.  Each e-

mail indicated that she had also tried to reach him by phone.  Respondent never 

responded. 

X. Eventually, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to pursue possible 

legal action against respondent.  On October 21, 2011, attorney Roger Farahmand 

sent respondent a letter requesting the status of the patent application.  On October 

28, 2011, respondent responded by faxing a copy of the Board Decision denying 

the appeal.  Respondent did not include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment.  

EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 Board Decision or abandonment at any 

time prior to October 28, 2011. 
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Y. On October 31, 2011, attorney Farahmand wrote respondent 

requesting a complete copy of the client’s file, but respondent did not provide the 

file to Mr. Farahmand nor to anyone at EPRT.   Finally, EPRT obtained the file by 

subpoena to respondent’s ex-wife.   

Z. Based on the findings set forth above, respondent was found to have 

committed multiple violations of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility, 

including 37 C.F.R 10.23(a)5 and (b)6 via 10.23(c)(8)7; 37 C.F.R 10.77(c)8; 37 

C.F.R 10.84(a)(1) and (2)9; and 37 C.F.R 10.112(c)(4)10.  (See p. 12-13 of Ex. 

“A”.)  In sum and substance, these specific rules prohibit a USPTO practitioner 

from engaging in an array of conduct including, but not limited to lack of 

5  37 C.F.R. 10.23(a):  A practitioner shall not engage in disreputable or gross misconduct. 

6  37 C.F.R. 10.23(b):  A practitioner shall not (1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule.  (2) Circumvent a Disciplinary Rule 
through actions of another.  (3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude.  (4)  Engage in conduct 
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.  (5)  Engage in conduct prejudicial to the administration of 
justice.  (6)  Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner’s fitness to practice before the 
Office).   

7  37 C.F.R. 1023(c)(8):   Conduct which constitutes a violation . . . includes, but is not limited to: . . . Failing to 
inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify the Office of an inability to notify a client or former client 
of correspondence received from the Office or the client or former client’s opponent in an inter partes proceeding 
before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the Office, 
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or former client and (iii) is correspondence of which a 
reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances the client or former client should be notified. 

8  37 C.F.R. 10.77(c):  A practitioner shall not: (c) Neglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner.  

9  37 C.F.R. 10.84(a):  A practitioner shall not intentionally: (1) Fail to seek the lawful objectives of a client through 
reasonably available means permitted by law and the Disciplinary Rules…. (2) Fail to carry out a contract of 
employment entered into with a client for professional services…. (3) Prejudice or damage a client during the course 
of a professional relationship…. 

10  37 C.F.R. 10.112(c)(4):  A practitioner shall:….Promptly pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client the 
funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive.   
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communication, lack of diligence, and conduct prejudicial or damaging to the 

client.  (see pp. 4-5 of Ex. “C”.)  

The USPTO Final Order Dated February 9, 2018 

AA. Respondent sought reconsideration as to the August 2, 2017 Final 

Order, resulting in entry of a USPTO Final Order dated February 9, 2018.  (See 

February 9, 2018 Final Order attached as Exhibit “B”.) This “second” Final 

Order affirmed in its totality the earlier decision of August 2, 2017. 

The Federal Court’s Review of Respondent’s USPTO Sanctions Orders 

BB. Following entry of the USPTO Final Orders detailed above, 

respondent sought review through the federal courts.   

CC. To begin, review was sought in the Federal District Court for the 

Eastern District of Virginia whereupon the earlier decisions of USPTO were 

affirmed.  (See December 28, 2018 Order attached as Exhibit “C”.)  In rendering its 

decision to affirm, the Court set forth as its reasons the specific findings entered 

earlier (and summarized above) by the USPTO. The Court specifically noted that 

respondent was provided a hearing before the administrative law judge in Miami, 

and that he appeared and presented both testimony and other evidence.  (See p. 4, 

Ex. “C”.)  The Court also addressed the authority under which the USPTO could 

regulate the conduct of attorneys and other persons appearing before it, as well as 
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their authority to suspend or exclude from practice before them any attorney or 

person.  (See pp. 5 and 7-8, Ex. “C”.)  The Court further concluded that ample 

substantial evidence existed in support of the USPTO suspension order.  (See pp. 8-

12, Ex. “C”.)  Finally, concluding that the decision of the USPTO to suspend 

respondent’s license to practice before them was neither arbitrary, capricious, nor 

an abuse of discretion, the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia 

affirmed the earlier Final Order of Suspension of the USPTO.  (See p. 14, Exhibit 

“C”.) 

DD. Following entry of the Federal District Court’s Order, respondent 

sought review in the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit.  By 

Judgment dated February 11, 2020, the Federal Appellate Court per curiam 

affirmed the lower court’s decision.  (A copy of the Judgment dated February 11, 

2020 is attached as Exhibit “D”.) 

EE. Thereafter, on April 10, 2020, the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Federal Circuit issued its Mandate.  (A copy of the April 10, 2020 Mandate is 

attached as Exhibit “E”.)  Respondent sought no further review. 

 

 

 

APPX 1058 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



MEMORANDUM OF LAW 

 The Florida Bar seeks entry of an Order granting its Motion for Summary 

Judgment as to the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar:  Rule 4-1.3 

(Diligence), Rule 4-1.4 (Communication), Rule 4-1.2(a) (Objective and Scope of 

Representation – Lawyer to Abide by Client’s Decision); and Rule 4-1.16(d) 

(Declining or Terminating Representation - Protection of Client’s Interest).   

R. Reg. Fla. Bar 3-4.6(a) provides that:  

           A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court 
           or other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, 
           state or federal, that a lawyer licensed to practice in that  

             jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary  
           action will be considered as conclusive proof of the misconduct 

            in a disciplinary proceeding under this rule.”  
          (emphasis added)).  
 
In denying respondent’s previously filed Motion to Dismiss, this Referee has 

already determined that the Final Orders entered by the USPTO, subsequently 

affirmed by the U.S. Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia and 

later by the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit, are final adjudications 

by a court or other authorized disciplinary agency.  As such, the detailed findings 

contained in the Final Orders are within the confines of Rule 3-4.6 and are to be 

considered conclusive proof of the misconduct in the instant disciplinary 

proceedings.  Having established the absence of disputed facts, The Florida Bar is 
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entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  The Florida Bar v. Greene, 926 So.2d 

1195 (Fla. 2006).   

The undisputed facts in this case chronicle a litany of misdeeds by 

respondent in connection with his representation of EPRT before the Patent Office.  

For the most part, that misconduct is centered around multiple instances of lack of 

diligence and communication, ultimately resulting in a failure to pursue the 

objectives of the representation, and compounded by a failure to provide the 

client’s file upon termination of the relationship.  The C.F.R. rules which 

respondent violated are detailed in footnotes on p. 9 of this Motion and they 

comport with the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar on which the Bar now seeks 

summary judgment. 

To begin, the USPTO Final Order of August 2, 2017 finds that respondent 

repeatedly failed to monitor the progress of EPRT’s patent application.  

Specifically, the neglect was determined not to have been an isolated instance 

which might have been excusable, but rather, it continued over months and years.  

(See p. 25, Ex. “A”.)  Respondent did nothing in support of the client’s patent 

application for two years.  (See p. 26, Ex. “A”.)  Respondent’s efforts to distance 

himself from the neglect by claiming to have not received critical mailings from 

the USPTO were specifically determined not to negate his neglect.  Instead, the 
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findings note that mailings were sent to his address of record, that he chose not to 

associate the patent application with his customer number, and he did not monitor 

the docket.  (See p. 27, Ex. “A”.)  These findings resulted in respondent’s guilt as 

to C.F.R. 10.77(c) which prohibits neglect of a legal matter entrusted to a 

practitioner.  (See p. 27, Ex. “A”.)  This rule is directly analogous to R. Regulating 

Fla. Bar 4-1.3 (A lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in 

representing a client.)  The facts and resulting rule violation are conclusive proof 

that respondent violated Rule 4-1.3 of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar. 

Similarly, respondent’s violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.4 

(Communication) is conclusively proven by the facts contained in the Final Order.  

Rule 4-1.4(a), in relevant part, requires a lawyer to: (1) promptly inform the client 

of any decision or circumstance which requires the client’s informed consent; (2) 

reasonably consult with the client about the means by which the client’s objectives 

are to be achieved; (3) keep the client reasonably informed; and (4) promptly 

comply with reasonable requests for information.  Rule 4-1.4(b) requires a lawyer 

to explain a matter to the client as is reasonably necessary to enable the client to 

make informed decisions regarding the representation.  The USPTO Final Orders 

found respondent violated 37 C.F.R. 10.23(c)(8) which makes it a violation to fail 

to inform a client of correspondence received from the USPTO when such 
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information could have a significant impact on a pending matter, was received by 

the practitioner, and would reasonably be believed to be something the client 

should be informed of.  Clearly, Rule 4-1.4 and 37 C.F.R.10.23(c)(8) are 

analogous.   

The factual predicate for the foregoing rule violations can be found in the 

USPTO Final Order findings documenting respondent’s failure to sufficiently 

communicate with his client in an ethical manner. Respondent repeatedly failed to 

respond to the client’s efforts at communication regarding the status of the 

representation.  Phone calls and emails from both the client and USPTO went 

unanswered. (See p. 34, Ex. “A”.)  Although notifying the client of his receipt of 

the Third Final Rejection, respondent failed to provide the client a copy of the 

rejection, did not inform them which specific claims were rejected, and 

erroneously informed them that some claims had been “allowed” when they were 

not. He never described the USPTO decision as a “final action” and didn’t inform 

them of the deadline to file a response.  To the contrary, his email to the client was 

found to have implied that no additional steps were necessary because the appeal 

“is still going forward.”  As indicated in the Final Order, it was not sufficient to 

just notify the client, respondent had to inform the client.  (See pp. 27-28, Ex. “A”.)  
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These findings, which are conclusive, clearly evidence a violation of R. Regulating 

Fla. Bar 4-1.4. 

With respect to both diligence and communication rule violations, the Final 

Order also found that it was uncontroverted that respondent didn’t provide his 

client the June 1, 2009 Board Decision until two years after it had been issued, 

noting that this was a particularly vital communication due to the deadline to 

appeal not being subject to extension.  Consequently, EPRT was denied that 

opportunity and suffered harm in the form of lost opportunity.  Similarly, EPRT 

was never provided the Notice of Abandonment.  (See pp. 29-30, Ex. “A”.)    

The Final Order continues on to explain that violation of any subsection of 

37 C.F.R. 10.23 automatically violates 37 C.F.R.1023 (a) and (b) which prohibits 

disreputable and gross misconduct, along with any other conduct which adversely 

reflects on the practitioner’s fitness to practice before the Office.   

In finding respondent guilty of violating 37 C.F.R. 10.84(a)(1) and (2), it 

was determined that respondent also failed to seek the client’s lawful objectives 

and to carry out the contract for professional services for which he was retained.   

The violation was predicated upon the same factual findings set out in the 

preceding paragraphs; that is, respondent’s failure to monitor the client’s patent 

application which he was retained to attempt to salvage.  As found in the Final 
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Order, there were multiple points at which respondent could have rectified the 

consequences of his actions and endeavored to accomplish the client’s objectives, 

but he did not do so. (See pp. 30-31, Ex. “A”.)  Ultimately, it was determined that 

it was respondent’s own negligence which made it impossible for him to satisfy the 

client’s goals for the representation.  (See p. 31, Ex. “A”.)  These same findings 

necessarily support a violation of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.2(a) which requires a 

lawyer to abide by the client’s decisions regarding the representation’s objectives.  

Of course, if a client is not informed, they are ill equipped to make decisions 

regarding their legal matter. 

Finally, respondent was found guilty of violating 37 C.F.R. 10.112(c)(4) 

which requires a practitioner to promptly deliver to the client, upon request, any 

client property which the client is entitled to receive.  The client file was 

determined to be such property and yet respondent failed to provide the file to 

either new counsel or the client despite their demand for same.  (See p. 32, Ex. 

“A”.)  Ultimately, the client was able to obtain the file when his new counsel 

subpoenaed respondent’s ex-wife who had the file despite respondent’s initial 

position that the file had been destroyed.11 Based on these conclusive facts, 

respondent is also guilty of R. Regulating Fla. Bar 4-1.16(d) which, upon 

11  The Final Report reflects that the Administrative Law Judge specifically questioned respondent’s credibility with 
regard to this issue.  (See p. 33, Ex. “A”.) 
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termination, requires a lawyer to reasonably protect the client’s interests by 

surrendering papers and property to which the client is entitled.   

In his Answer to The Florida Bar’s Complaint, Respondent denies the 

complaint’s allegations “as an inaccurate recitation of basis for discipline” 

contending that the conduct occurred more than ten years ago.  Respondent 

neglects to address the compelling fact that the instant Complaint is predicated 

upon reciprocal discipline which was entered by the USPTO in 2017, affirmed by 

the USPTO in 2018, affirmed again in 2018 by the Federal District Court, and 

again in 2020 by the Federal Appellate Court.  The matter is clearly timely.  

Moreover, in order to refute the instant Motion, respondent would have to 

demonstrate material facts in dispute, a burden he cannot satisfy in light of R. 

Regulating Fla. Bar 3-4.6 which directs that the USPTO findings are conclusive 

proof of his misconduct and guilt.   

The undisputed facts established by the USPTO Final Reports and later 

affirmed by the Federal Courts, establish that there is no genuine issue of material 

fact and summary judgment is appropriate as a matter of law.  By operation of 

Rule 3-4.6(a), it is conclusively proven that Respondent is guilty of the misconduct 

described in the Bar’s Complaint and the Bar is entitled to judgment on the 

identified Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. 
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WHEREFORE, The Florida Bar respectfully requests this Honorable 

Referee enter judgment for the Florida Bar and find Respondent guilty of each of 

the charged rule violations, and set the matter over for a Final Hearing on 

Discipline Only, in order to determine the appropriate sanction to recommend in 

this matter. 

     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing The Florida Bar’s Partial Motion for Summary 
Judgment has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his 
service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his judicial assistant’s email at 
hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for 
Respondent, via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and mvalledor@podhurst.com 
and to John H. Faro, Respondent, via email at johnf75712@aol.com, and via email 
to Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 4th 
day of December, 2020. 

           
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE 
FOR INTELLECTUAL.PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE 

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE 

In the Matter of 

John H. Faro, 

Appellant. 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

__________ ) 

Proceeding No. D2015-27 

Final Order 

Pmsuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.55, John H. Faro ("Appellant") has appealed the September 15, 

2016 Initial Decision and Order ("Initial Decision") of Administrative Law Judge ("AL.T") J. 

Jeremiah Mahoney in this matter to the Director of the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office ("US PTO" or "Agency"). In that Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that Appellant 

violated multiple disciplinary rules of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility including 

37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b), 10.23(c)(8), l0.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), and 10.112(c)(4). 

(A.25-26). After considering these violations and the relevant factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § 

l 1.54(b), including Appellant's significant prior disciplinary history, the ALJ ordered 

Appellant's suspension from practice before the USPTO for a period of 8-months and until 

Appellant has passed the MPRE and been reinstated by the OED Director. (A.26-33). 

In this appeal, briefs have been submitted by Appellant and the Director of the USPTO 

Office of Enrollment and Discipline ("OED Director"). 

For the reasons set forth below, the USPTO Director affirms the ALJ's initial decision. 

I. FINDINGS OF FACT 

1. Appellant has been a patent attorney registered with the U SPTO since March 3, 

1971. (A.43; A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). 

Exhibit A
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2. Appellant was admitted to the Florida State Bar on January 21, 1986. (Id.). He is currently 

an active member of that Bar. His Florida Bar number is 527,459. (Id.). 

3. Appellant was disciplined by the Florida Bar in 1995 and 2011. (A.7390-98). The former 

discipline was a 10-day suspension; the latter was a public reprimand. (Id.). In 2013, he received 

reciprocal discipline by the USPTO in connection with the 2011 Florida discipline. (A.1272-83; 

A.7671; A.7675, A.7678-81). 

4. Appellant has operated a private legal practice since 1986. (A.5907; A.7681). 

U.S. Patent Application No. 09/656,519 ("the '519 Application") 

5. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office Action ("First Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 2 through 22 of the '519 Application, which had been filed by EPRT 

Technologies, Inc. ("EPRT") on September 7, 2000. (A.2924-30; A.595-621). 

6. At EPRT's request, and after the '519 application had been rejected, Appellant e-mailed 

EPRT co-inventor and executive Mr. David Estes1 on November 19, 2002, to provide 

"constructive criticism" of the '519 Application as drafted by prior counsel. (A.6557-58). Thee-

mail proposed a path forward for '519 Application and included Appellant's estimate of"20 to 

25 hours of professional time" to perform the necessary services on the '519 application. (Id.). 

7. Ms. Katherine Blake2 replied to Appellant's November 19 e-mail on November 20, 2002, 

thanking him for his time and careful review of documents, indicating she would "be in touch 

with" Mr. Estes on how to proceed. (A.6559). Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed Appellant on 

November 22, 2002, authorizing Appellant to begin work on the '519 Application. (A.6560). 

1 Mr. Estes was the former chief electrical engineer for EPRT. (A. 7528). He remains a contract employee with 
EPRT and manages repairs and diagnostics for equipment. (Id.) 
2 Ms. Blake is a co-founder and the president ofEPRT. (A.7524-25). 

2 
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8. Appellant submitted a Power of Attorney and Revocation of Prior Powers on December 

12, 2002. (A.2902). That Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT. (Id.). 

Ms. Blake was the primary contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct 

Appellant to take action on the '519 Application. (A.7532). 

9. Appellant did not associate his USPTO Customer Number with the '519 Application. 

(A.6021). 

10. On January 30, 2003, USPTO issued a non-final Office Action that was responsive to a 

Request for Continued Examination ("RCE"), filed on January 16, 2003. (A.2897-99; A.2872-

82). Appellant filed a response to that Office Action on March 14, 2003, which was rejected in 

another non-final Office Action, issued on June 4, 2003. (A.2848-69; A.2834-46). Both Office 

Actions rejected Claims 2-4 and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2835; A.2873). 

11. On November 12, 2003, Appellant filed an amendment to the '519 Application, which 

included an affidavit from Dr. Steven Kaye, whom Appellant identified as EPRT's clinical 

consultant. (A.2803-32). However, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, on 

January 8, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment ("January 2004 

Notice") to Appellant. (A.2786-89). 

12. The USPTO patent examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Frances Oropeza, left 

a voice message with Appellant on February 6, 2004, informing him that a compliant response to 

the January 2004 Notice was due no later than February 9, 2004. (A.2768). Ms. Oropeza then 

called Appellant on February 9, 2004, because she had not received a response to the January 

2004 Notice. (Id.) After discussing the situation with Ms. Oropeza, Appellant informed her that 

he could not file a response until the next day and then he hung up the phone. (Id.). Appellant did 

3 
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in fact file a response on February 9, 2004. (A.2768; A.2769-77; A.7708). However, the 

response was deemed non-compliant. (A.2767-68). 

13. On August 12, 2004, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment ("First Abandonment") 

for the '519 Application, citing Appellant's failure to file a compliant response to the January 

2004 Notice. (A.2763-65). The First Abandonment stated that Ms. Oropeza had called and left 

voice messages with Appellant on July 9, July 19, and July 20, 2004. (Id.) The third call 

informed Appellant that the '519 Application would be deemed abandoned if Appellant did not 

contact Ms. Oropeza by July 23, 2004. (Id.) Appellant did not return any of the messages. (Id.) 

Thus, the '519 Application was deemed abandoned. (A.2763-65). 

14. Appellant filed a Petition to Revive the '519 Application on October 28, 2004. (A.2760-

62). The Petition stated that the Application was unintentionally abandoned because Appellant 

had not received the Jannary 2004 Notice. (Id.) The Petition was granted on January 18, 2005. 

(A.2748). 

15. On April 19, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Second Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the '519 Application. (A.2736-46). 

16. On June 20, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the subject 

"Re: Statis [sic] of Patents". The e-mail stated that "the US examiner has issued an office action 

(non-final rejection) and I shall set up an interview with her shortly" (emphasis in original). 

(A.6956). 

17. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal ("First Appeal") on June 30, 2005. (A.2726-27; 

A.2690-719). Appellant informed Ms. Blake and Mr. Keith Wendell3 that he had appealed the 

rejection of the '519 Application on July 27, 2005. (A.6957). 

3 Mr. Wendell was the CEO ofEPRT and an inventor on the '519 Application. (A.3074; A.5561-62). 
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18. On November 14, 2005, USPTO issued a final Office Action ("Third Final Rejection") 

rejecting Claims 23-35 and objecting to Claims 3 and 4.4 (A.2678-88; A.6565). Under 

"Allowable Subject Matter," the Third Final Rejection stated that "Claims 3 and 4 are objected to 

as being dependent upon a rejected base claim, but would be allowable if rewritten in 

independent form including all of the limitations of the base claim and any intervening claims." 

(A.2688; A.6574). The first substantive page of a USPTO Office Action defines the "Period for 

Reply" and informed Appellant that, in all capital letters, "a shortened statutory period for reply 

is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty (30) days, whichever is longer, from the mailing date of this 

communication." (A.2679; A.6565). The same section also stated that the application would 

become abandoned if a reply was not received within the reply period. (Id.). 

19. On November 29, 2005, Appellant sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes an e-mail with the 

subject "Allowed subject matter." (A.6958). The e-mail stated that the Third Final Rejection had 

allowed Claims 3 and 4, and that Appellant had "included Claim 23 to which each of these 

allowed claims make reference." (Id.). The e-mail also stated that the appeal was going forward 

because EPRT was "entitled to broader coverage- specifically coverage as to the configuration 

of the wrap itself." (Id.). The November 29, 2005 e-mail did not say that Claims 3 and 4 would 

only be allowable ifrewritten, nor did it say that Claims 23-35 had been rejected. (Id.; A.7537). 

The e-mail did not mention that EPRT had three months to file a reply. (A.6055; A.6958; 

A.7711). 

20. There is no indication that anyone at EPRT received a copy of the Third Final Rejection. 

Appellant never re-wrote claims 3 and 4. (A. 7711; A. 7809). 

4 The November 14, 2005 Office Action was noted as responsive to Respondent's August 25, 2005 Appeal Brief and 
accompanying Declaration. (A.2679; A.2690-719). 
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21. On January 14, 2006, Appellant e-mailed Ms. Blake and infonned her that USPTO had 

withdrawn two of the system/method claims but "persisted in rejection of electrode claim." 

(A.6961). 

22. Appellant appealed the Third Final Rejection ("Second Appeal") to the Board of Patent 

Appeals and Interferences ("Board") on February 2, 2006. (A.2643-44). 

23. On May 31, 2006, Appellant sent an e-mail to Ms. Blake, Mr. Estes, and Dr. Cleve Laird, 

EPRT's FDA compliance coordinator. (A.4552; A.6962). The e-mail stated that "only Claim 25, 

directed to the structure of the electrode wrap, remains rejected as unpatentable over the prior 

art." (A. 4552; A.6962). He was also "cautiously optimistic" and expressed his view that EPRT 

had a "better than even chance of prevailing" on Claim 25. (Id.). 

24. The US PTO patent examiner answered the Second Appeal on August 31, 2006. (A.2575-

602). Ms. Oropeza stated that Claims 3 and 4 were rejected because they had not been rewritten 

in independent form, as USPTO had suggested in the Third Final Rejection. (Id.). She also 

reiterated that Claim 25 had been rejected. (Id.). 

25. Between 2006 and 2009, Appellant and various EPRT personnel, including Ms. Blake 

and Mr. Estes, exchanged several e-mails discussing various patent and trademark matters, 

including the '519 Application. (A.6961-76). 

26. In January 2008, Appellant moved from his office on 44 West Flagler Street ("44 W. 

Flagler") to an office at 28 West Flagler Street ("28 W. Flagler"). (A.3382; A.7698). He properly 

informed USPTO of his new address. (A.2480; A.7699). However, Appellant had no physical 

presence at the 28 W. Flagler office. (A.3382; A.6062; A.7698). Rather, that office served 

primarily as a mailing address, and provided conference room access when needed. (A.3382; 
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A.7698). Any documents addressed to Appellant at 28 W. Flagler were set aside for him by an 

on-site receptionist, who would inform him when mail was received. (A.7699). 

27. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal ("Board Decision"), in which it 

affirmed the Third Final Rejection's conclusions as to Claims 3, 4, and 23- 25. (A.2458-77). The 

Board Decision was mailed to Appellant at the 28 W. Flagler address on June 1, 2009. (A.2477; 

A.7716). The first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). The Board Decision's final page stated 

"no time period for taking any subsequent action in connection with this appeal may be 

extended." (A.2476). 

28. Appellant did not file any further appeal within the two-month window. (A.3104; 

A.7717). He also did not inform EPRT of Board Decision within the two-month window. (Id.). 

Appellant claims he never received the decision. (A.6079-80). 

29. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment regarding the '519 

Application because all claims had been rejected, the application had not been amended and 

because no appeal was filed within the two-month window. (A.2456-57; A.3350). The Notice of 

Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's 28 W. Flagler address on August 17, 2009. (A.2456; 

A.3349; A.7725). The Notice of Abandonment stated that a message had been left on 

Appellant's answering machine on August 6, 2009 and there is no credible fact establishing that 

Appellant returned the call. (A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). 

30. Appellant claims he did not receive the Notice of Abandonment. (A.6080; A.7729). As a 

result, he did not attempt to revive the '519 Application and did not inform EPRT that it had 

been abandoned. 
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31. In 2010 and 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant several times to determine the status of 

the '519 Application. (A.4661-62; A.6594; A.6981- 95; A.7543-53). 

32. In July 30, 2010, in response to several attempts to contact him, Appellant e-mailed Ms. 

Blake and stated that he had "attempted to determine the status of the patent [applications] and 

have yet to hear back from my inquiries." (A.3786; A.3847; A.6982). 

33. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Appellant by phone to discuss the '519 Application. 

(A.6840-41 ). However, Appellant unilaterally ended the call and did not answer the phone when 

Ms. Blake immediately attempted to call him back. (Id.) 

34. In 2011, Ms. Blake sent Appellant seven "increasingly urgent e-mails" about the '519 

Application. (A.8). The e-mails were sent on April 1, April 4, April 6, April 22, July 15, July 20, 

and October 5. (A.8; A.6265-67; A.6991; A.6993-95). The subject line of the e-mails were, in 

order: "phone calls," "Trying to reach you," "Need to reach you," "Have you received my 

messages," "US Patent status?" "Status of US patents?" and "check has not been cleared." (Id.). 

Each e-mail stated that Ms. Blake had made repeated attempts to reach Appellant by phone or to 

otherwise get in contact with him. (Id.). The October 5, 2011 e-mail asked Appellant if he had 

moved. (A.8; A.6263). Three of the e-mails noted that Ms. Blake needed to speak with Appellant 

"asap." (A.8; A.6263; A.6991; A.6995). 

35. In Ms. Blake's April 22 e-mail, she stated that she "did not ever receive correspondence 

stating the patent had been denied as final. It was still under review per our last discussion." 

(A.8; A.6991). 

36. Appellant never replied to Ms. Blake's e-mails, text messages, or phone calls. (A.8; 

A.7547-50; A.7958). 

8 

APPX 1074 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



3 7. After continued attempts to reach Appellant, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to 

pursue possible legal action against Appellant. (A.4664; A. 7551-52). 

38. On October 21, 2011, attorney Roger Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.4664; A.7162, A.3151). In response, Appellant faxed a copy of 

the Board Decision to Mr. Farahmand on October 28, 2011. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). He 

did not include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment. EPRT was not aware of the June 1, 2009 

Board Decision or abandonment at any time prior to October 28, 2011. (A.4666-67; A.7553). 

39. Appellant had never been instructed by Ms. Blake to abandon, or to take no further action 

regarding, the '519 Application. (A.7553-54). The first time Ms. Blake learned about the 

abandonment was after receiving Appellant's fax in response to Mr. Farahmand's letter. 

(A.7553). 

40. On October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete copy 

of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7553). However, Appellant did not send the file to Mr. 

Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A.7631-33). 

41. Appellant did not file a notice of withdrawal as attorney of record in the '519 Application 

and did not revoke the Power of Attorney filed in 2003. (A.5980; A.7735). However, 

notwithstanding that, Appellant viewed his power of attorney with EPRT as nullified by 

operation of law as a result of the "adverse relationship" he believed existed at the time Mr. 

Farahmand was retained. (A.5973-74; A.5977-78; A.5990; A.7736; A.7738; A.7745). Finally, on 

February 14, 2013, EPRT revoked Appellant's Power of Attorney in favor of Mr. Robert Babayi, 

a newly retained patent attorney. (A.1948; A.2454). The Power of Attorney was signed by Ms. 

Blake. (A.2454). 
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42. Between November 22, 2002 and February 13, 2013, EPRT paid Appellant a sum of 

between $35,000 and $45,000 to prosecute the '519 Application. (A.9; A.7567). 

Appellant's Docketing System 

43. Prior to 2011, Appellant used a "manual docketing system" that consisted of a tickler file, 

a desk calendar, and a day book. (A.9; A.5935-36; A.7687; A.7690). Appellant placed any 

document with an outstanding due date in the tickler file, and noted the date and the necessary 

action in the calendar and day book. (A.9; A.5935; A.7688). Appellant's then-wife was primarily 

in charge of maintaining the tickler file. (A.5938; A.7689). 

44. Appellant assessed the status of the cases in his docket twice a year; during the winter 

holiday season and before going on summer vacation. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692). Additionally, if 

Appellant was going to meet with a client, he would check their file beforehand to ensure all 

deadlines were up to date. (A.9; A.7692). He followed the same procedure if a client contacted 

him requesting an update, even if a meeting was not upcoming. (A.9; A.5948; A.7692-93). 

EPRT's Malpractice Lawsuit Against Appellant 

45. On December 5, 2012, EPRT and Thrisoint PTY, Ltd., ("Thrisoint"), EPRT's assignee of 

the '519 Application, sued Appellant in U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas for 

legal malpractice, breach of fiduciary duty, fraud, and breach of contract. (A. l O; A.2453; 

A.3506; A.7188-89). The Texas case was ultimately dismissed on jurisdictional grounds. (A. l O; 

A.7627). 

46. Subsequently, on October 25, 2013, EPRT and Thrisoint filed a substantially identical 

lawsuit against Appellant in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida. (A. l O; 

A.3630; A.7178-79). Though EPRT was dismissed from the Florida case due to lack of standing, 

the case was permitted to continue with Thrisoint as the sole plaintiff. (A. l 0). 
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47. On September l, 2015, the case was settled and dismissed with prejudice. (A.10; A.1368-

69; A.13 79-83). The court retained jurisdiction for 60 days to enforce the terms of the settlement 

agreement. (A.10; A.1379-83). In the settlement agreement, Appellant agreed to pay EPRT 

$7,040 and to submit a letter stating that he had intentionally abandoned the '519 Application. 

(A.5490-93, A. 7644-4 7). An admission of intentional abandonment by Appellant would allow 

EPRT to revive the Application. (A.10; A.7560). 

48. The settlement agreement also prohibited any EPRT representative, including Ms. Blake, 

from voluntarily participating in the then-pending disciplinary proceedings against 

Appellant by the Florida Bar and the USPTO. (A.10; A.5490-93, A.7644-47). The agreement did 

note that participation could be compelled via subpoena. (A.10) 

49. As of the time the hearing was conducted, Appellant had not complied with the terms of 

the agreement, and the agreement was the subject of ongoing state court proceedings. (A.7659-

60). To date, EPRT has spent approximately $170,000 litigating Appellant's handling of the '519 

Application. (A.10; A.7567-68). 

II. OED DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING 

The OED Director filed a Complaint and Notice of Proceedings under 35 US.C. § 32 

("Complaint") with the ALJ on May 11, 2015, alleging that Appellant committed multiple 

violations of the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility during his representation ofEPRT. 

(A.42-54). Specifically, the OED Director alleged various acts and omissions committed by 

Appellant during his prosecution of the '519 Application including, but not limited to, failing to 

notify his client of the receipt of office correspondence, failing to adequately monitor the status 

of the matter, neglecting the file, and failing to return client property following the termination of 

the representation. (Id.). Based on those alleged violations, the OED Director requested that 
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Appellant be suspended from practice before the US PTO in patent, trademark, and other non

patent matters. (A.52). 

A hearing in this matter was held May 10-11, 2016, in Miami, Florida. Testimony was taken 

from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake (A.7522-622), attorney Meredith Chaiken 

(A.7622-A.68), and Appellant (A.7668-8002). The parties filed their respective Post-Hearing 

Briefs and an Initial Decision and Order was issued by the ALJ. 

Ill. INITIAL DECISION BY ADMINISTRATIVE LAW JUDGE 

On September 15, 2016, the ALJ issued the Initial Decision in this matter. (A. l-A.34). In that 

Initial Decision, the ALJ determined that the OED Director clearly and convincingly established 

that Appellant violated 6 ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. (A.25-26). Specifically, the ALJ 

concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) by failing to 

timely inform Ms. Blake or anyone at EPRT of the Third Rejection Letter in 2005, the June 2009 

Board Decision, and the August 2009 Notice of Abandonment. (A.25). The ALJ rejected 

Appellant's excuse of not having received the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment on 

the basis that his non-receipt of the documents was an error of his own making and does not 

absolve him of his responsibilities to his client. (Id.). 

Next, the ALJ concluded that, with regard to Count 1 of the disciplinary complaint, 

Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.77(c), 10.84(a)(l) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application 

from May 2006 until October 2011. (A.25). The ALJ cited Appellant's failure to properly 

monitor the progress of the Second Appeal, and so he was unaware of the Board Decision or the 

Notice of Abandonment until it was too late to prevent the abandonment; his failure to contact 

the examiner in 2009 despite knowing she had attempted to communicate with him by phone 

prior to the abandonment; his failure to take steps to confirm the status of the '519 Application in 
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20 I 0 and 2011 despite Ms. Blake's frequent requests for update; his failure to properly monitor 

the appeal rendered it impossible for him to accomplish the task for which he had been hired; 

and his deliberate abandonment of his EPRT representation after his exchange with Mr. 

Farahmand. (Id.). 

With regard to Count 2 of the complaint, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 

10.77(c) by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 

2010 and 2011; and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.l 12(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file 

when requested. (A.23-26). EPRT was entitled to receive the file because no retaining lien 

existed at the time the request was made. (A.26). The ALJ noted that Appellant's failure to 

maintain possession of the file was an error of his own making and does not absolve him of his 

responsibility to return the file. (Id.). 

After making these findings, and considering the factors under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b), including 

his prior disciplinary history, the ALJ concluded that an eight (8) month suspension, with 

reinstatement conditioned upon successful passage of the MPRE, was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.26-33). 

IV. DECISION 

Appellant has been a registered patent attorney since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). His 

USPTO registration number is 25,859. (Id.). As such, he is subject to the disciplinary authority of 

the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). For the conduct involved in this disciplinary case, Appellant 

was subject to the ethical requirements set forth in the USPTO Code of Professional 

Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. § 10.20 et seq.5 

5 Effective May 3, 2013, the USPTO Rules of Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.101through11.901, apply to 
persons who practice before tbe Office. Prior to May 3, 2013, the USPTO Code of Professional Responsibility 
applied to persons practicing before the Office. See 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20-10.112. Here, since Appellant's alleged 
misconduct occurred prior to May 3, 2013, the Code of Professional Responsibility applies. 

13 

APPX 1079 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



USPTO regulations permit a party to appeal an ALJ's initial decision to the USPTO Director 

within thirty (30) days of issuance of the initial decision. See 37 C.F.R. § ll.55(a). See also 35 

U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). On appeal, the USPTO Director has authority to conduct a de nova review 

of the factual record and may affirm, reverse, or modify the initial decision, or remand the matter 

to the hearing officer for such further proceedings as the USPTO Director may deem appropriate. 

See 37 C.F.R. §§ l l.55(f), l l.56(a). 

Herc, Appellant appeals from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALI entering 

judgment in favor of the Agency and suspending Appellant from the practice of patent, 

trademark, and other non-patent matters before the Office for eight (8) months. In his appeal, 

Appellant challenges several of the ALJ's Findings of Fact. (Appeal at 1-5). He also makes a 

variety of initial challenges to the ALJ's Decision, including disputing OED's subject-matter 

jurisdiction to initiate and prosecute the disciplinary action, raising a statute oflimitations 

defense, and challenging the ALJ's rulings on various motions such as the exclusion of"swom, 

non-opinion deposition testimony." (Appeal, at 5-6, 7, 19, 23). Finally, he challenges the 

substantive findings of misconduct based on neglect, failing to inform EPRT about USPTO 

correspondence, failing to seek EPRT's lawful objectives, and failing to return EPRT's client 

file. (Appeal at 22-27). Lastly, Appellant challenges the sanction on the basis of lack of intent, 

his argument that EPRT suffered no harm as a direct result of his representation, and due to 

remoteness of prior discipline. (Appeal at 7-8, 27-30). 

The Director, having considered Appellant's appeal brief, the OED Director's response brief, 

Appellant's reply brief, as well as the record of the proceedings before the ALI, finds that there 
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is ample factual and legal support for the ALJ's Initial Decision. Consequently, the Initial 

Decision of the AL.Tis AFFIRMED. 

A. Initial Appeal Issues 

1. Appellant's Appeal Amended Brief and Reply Fail to Comply with the 
USPTO Filing Rules. 

The regulations at 37 C.F.R. § 11.55 set forth the mandatory filing requirements for appeal 

filings submitted to the Director. These requirements include directing all appeal briefs to 

comply with the substantive requirements found in FRAP Rules 28(a)(2), (3), and (5) through 

(10) and 32(a)(4) through (6). See 37 C.F.R. §l l.55(c) and (d). These rules require that appeal 

briefs, among other things, contain "appellant's contentions and the reasons for them, with 

citations to the authorities and parts ofthe record on which the appellant relies," and for each 

issue, "a concise statement of the applicable standard of review." FRAP 28(a)(8)(A)-(B). 

Appellant's Appeal Brief filed on January 3, 2017 was his second attempt to file an appeal brief 

that complied with the USPTO's requirements under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55. 

Appellant filed his initial brief in support of the appeal on November 7, 2016. Thereafter, on 

November 14, 2016, the OED Director filed an "OED Director's Emergency Motion For The 

USPTO Director To Refuse The Entry Of Appellant's Non-Conforming Brief." ("Motion to 

Strike). In the Motion To Strike, the OED Director argued that Appellant's brief"failed to 

comply with the formal and substantive requirements for pleadings submitted to the USPTO 

Director" and went on to allege several substantive failings in Appellant's appeal brief. (Motion 

to Strike at 3-5). These failings included having no statement oflaw, no statement of the case, 

no summary of the argument, no statement of facts, and circumvention of the page limit via the 

"incorporation" of facts into the brief without further specification. (Id. at 6). Although 

Appellant opposed the Motion to Strike, the OED Director's Motion was granted on December 
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2, 2016. In granting the Motion To Strike, the USPTO Director found that the Appellant's 

appeal brief did not comply with the Agency's substantive filing requirements, which require 

separate sections containing a concise statement of the disputed facts and points of law, a 

statement of the issues presented for review, a concise statement of the case, and a summary of 

the argument. See Order, dated Dec. 2, 2016. All of these items were deemed missing from the 

appeal brief. (Id.). Further, Appellant's incorporation of facts into the argument section, rather 

than specifically identifying them in the appeal brief, as deemed "unreasonably burdensome" 

and "hindering a considered review of Appellant's appeal." (Id.). Appellant was permitted to 

resubmit an appeal briefthat conformed to USPTO's filing requirements. (Id.). 

Appellant then filed a timely "Revised Substitute" appeal brief ("Amended Appeal Brief'') on 

January 3, 2017. Despite being on notice of the filing requirements, however, Appellant's 

Amended Appeal Brief contains the same substantive flaws that were present in his initial appeal 

filing. The Amended Appeal Brief consists of various arguments, some masked as facts or 

statements of the case, all of which contain very little substantive discussion or legal analysis. 

Some of the arguments consist of only a few sentences or a short paragraphs as support for the 

point being argued. Lastly, there are few proper citations to the record, with some sections 

having no citations to the record at all, as well as no discussion of applicable authorities. 

The b~lk of Appellant's arguments are fairly characterized as conclusory statements of his 

belief and general denials. These flaws are significant, substantive, and make any meaningful 

review of his appeal difficult. These flaws are especially problematic given his prior notice of the 

filing requirements, the fact that these types of flaws were identified as bases on which to strike 

his prior filing, and the fact that he was advised of the need to comply with the filing 

requirements in this Amended Appeal Brief. See Order, dated December 2, 2016. Thus, it is 
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concluded that Appellant's failure to file an Amended Appeal Brief that complies with the 

USPTO's substantive filing requirements provides an independent basis for rejecting all of 

Appellant's arguments and, thus, his appeal. 6 

2. The USPTO Has Disciplinary Jurisdiction Over the Appellant. 

Appellant first argues that the OED lacked subject-matter jurisdiction to both initiate and 

prosecute a disciplinary proceeding against Appellant. (Amended Appeal Brief, at 5-6; Reply, at 

3, 6-7). This position is without merit and contrary to law, USPTO's regulations, and long-

standing USPTO precedent.7 

Congress vested the USPTO with plenary, statutory authority to promulgate regulations 

"govern[ing] the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons representing 

applicants or other parties before the Office." 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D). See Kroll v. Finnerty, 242 

F.3d 1359, 1364 (Fed. Cir. 2001) (stating that the USPTO has the "exclusive authority to 

establish qualifications for admitting persons to practice before it, and to suspend or exclude 

them from practicing before it."); Haley v. Lee, No. 1: 15-cv-102, 2015 WL 5277880 at *8 

(E.D.Va., Sept. 8, 2015) (noting that "Congress gave the USPTO wide latitude to govern the 

conduct of the members of its bar.") The Director of the USPTO may suspend or exclude a 

person from practice before the USPTO if the person is "shown to be incompetent or 

disreputable, or guilty of gross misconduct," or if the person violates regulations established by 

the Office. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Accordingly, the USPTO Director has authority to regulate practice 

before the Office in both patent and trademark matters, including the unauthorized practice of 

6 Appellant's Reply Brief also suffers from the same flaws noted in this Order. 
7 Although the OED Director argues that Appellant's jurisdictional arguments were not timely made, that 
question is not addressed here due to the fact that the substantive challenge is without any support 

whatsoever. 
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law before the Office. (Id.). See also Haley, 2015 WL 5277880 at* 9 ("Congress also explicitly 

gives the USPTO the power to promulgate regulations related to the conduct of its members.") 

Pursuant to its authority to regulate the conduct of practitioners, the US PTO enacted its 

former Code of Professional Responsibility, 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.20 et seq., and the current Rules of 

Professional Conduct, 37 C.F.R. § 11.101 through 11.901, both of which include a number of 

mandatory "Disciplinary Rules" setting forth the minimum level of conduct below which no 

registered patent practitioner can fall without being subjected to disciplinary action. If a 

registered patent practitioner fails to comply with his or her professional obligations, the USPTO 

has the authority to suspend or exclude the practitioner from further practice before the Office. 

See 35 U.S.C. § 32; 37 C.F.R. § 11.19. Appellant has been registered as a patent attorney before 

the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43, A.1355). His USPTO registration number is 25,859. 

(Jd.). Consequently, he is bound Appellant to comply with USPTO's disciplinary rules and is 

subject to the disciplinary jurisdiction of the office. 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.19(a). 

As the OED possessed jurisdiction over Appellant, the proceedings before the Committee on 

Discipline were also proper. Appellant attempts to attack the proceeding at that stage, arguing 

that the OED Director improperly submitted his disciplinary matter to the Committee on 

Discipline when he did not consider the settlement of the underlying EPRT malpractice matter. 

(Amended Appeal Brief at 17). However, he cites no authority whatsoever in support of this 

argument. That is for good reason as the regulations concerning the Committee on Discipline, 37 

C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23 include no requirements for what the OED Director submits to the 

Committee. Further, as the OED Director points out, the malpractice agreement involving 
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Appellant was dismissed after the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015.
8 

(Appellee Brief at 13-

14). 

As the USPTO unequivocally possesses disciplinary jurisdiction over the Appellant, and 

there were no deficiencies associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary 

matter to the Committee on Discipline, Appellant's arguments here are without merit and 

provide no basis for nullifying or overturning the ALJ' s Initial Decision. 

3. The Disciplinary Complaint Was Timely. 

Appellant's next preliminary argument is that the allegations of misconduct in the 

disciplinary complaint are time barred. (Amended Appeal Briefat 6, 19). He argues that "[a]s of 

November 29, 2005, EPRT was 'reasonably informed', in simple and readily comprehensible 

layman's terms, as to the status of the claims under examination and how the Examiner had 

proposed to amend them." (Id. at 19). In response, the OED Director claims that all of the 

misconduct alleged in the complaint occurred within the new statute of limitations period 

established on September 16, 2011, except for one instance of misconduct that was governed by 

a prior 5-year statute of limitations period, and were timely filed. But, even for that one instance 

governed by the prior limitation period, the OED Director argues that the continuing violations 

theory renders the complaint on that issue timely. These arguments, and the AL.T's findings, are 

discussed further below. 

Prior to September 16, 2011, the statute of limitations for attorney discipline matters was 

governed by 28 U.S.C. § 2462, which provided a 5-year statute oflimitations that ran from the 

date when the claim first accrued. However, on September 16, 2011, the Leahy-Smith America 

Invents Act ("AJA") replaced 28 U.S.C. § 2462 with an amended version of 35 U.S.C. § 32. The 

8 Submission to the Connnittee is a prerequisite to filing the complaint. The malpractice dismissal occurred afier 

the matter had been submitted to the Committee. 
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new statute of limitations period applies to any case that had not already lapsed by the time the 

AIA was enacted. Section 32, as amended, provided for a new two-stage limitation period, as 

follows: 

A proceeding under this section shall be commenced not later than 
the earlier of either the date that is 10 years after the date on which 
the misconduct forming the basis for the proceeding occurred, or 1 
year after the date on which the misconduct forming the basis for 
the proceeding is made known to an officer or employee of the 

Office. 

The only misconduct the Appellant claims is time barred9 concerns the allegation that he 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) due, in part, to his alleged failure to notify EPRT about the 

Third Final Rejection that he received in November, 2005. (Amended Appeal Brief at 19). In his 

Initial Decision, the ALJ concluded that the "continuing violations" theory applied as the nature 

of the rule violation was not a "point in time" violation. (A.13). Rather, "[t]he duty to inform 

one's client of potentially adverse information remains active until the practitioner informs the 

client of the correspondence or ceases representation of that client." (Id.) The ALJ then 

concluded that, despite his continuing duty to keep his client informed of that correspondence, 

Appellant did not inform EPRT of the Third Final Rejection until January 14, 2006, at which 

point the statutory clock began to run under the statute of limitations. (Id.) Appellant does not 

challenge the ALJ' s application of the continuing violations theory10 and this order finds that the 

ALJ was correct in applying that doctrine here. 

9 The ALJ correctly noted that the new statute oflimitation period applies to any case under 35 U.S.C. § 32 that had 
not already lapsed by the time of the AI A's enactment. (A. 12). Thus, any misconduct that occurred prior to 
September 16, 2006 -- five years before the AJA took effect -falls under 28 U.S.C. § 2462 and is thus no longer 
actionable. (Id.). Jt is uncontested that all of the misconduct alleged in the disciplinary complaint, save one, 

occurred between 2007 and 2011. 
10 Appellant merely notes that the continuing violations doctrine was applied. (Amended Appeal Brief at 6). Instead 
of futile challenge to that doctrine, Appellant doubles down on his view that "[i]t is of no consequence as to bow, 
and which statute oflimitations applies to the facts of this case." (Id. at 19). In his mistaken view, be "reasonably 
informed" EPRT of the Third Rejection and that is the end of the matter. (Id). 
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With regard to whether and how sufficiently the Appellant informed EPRT of the Third Final 

Rejection, however, the statute of limitations did not begin to run on January 14, 2006, as the 

ALJ found. Rather, the violation continued to exist up to the point where Appellant unilaterally 

severed his representation with EPRT in October, 2016. Supra. p. 9. At that point, having 

severed his relationship, his obligations arguably ended and the statute oflimitations began to 

run on October 28, 2016. Prior to that point, and indeed as the ALJ's decision notes, Appellant 

had only "partially revealed" the substance of the Third Rejection. (A.14). Appellant continued 

to fail, in significant ways, to fulfill his duty under§ 10.23(c)(8) after January 14, 2006. (A.13). 

These failings are discussed in detail by the ALI in the Initial Decision: 

"[Appellant] failed to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to EPRT 
and did not fully or accurately explain the document and its ramifications. 
As a result, EPRT was left with the erroneous impression that the '519 
Application rested on firmer ground than it actually did. EPRT was never 
aware that Claims 3 and 4 needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never 
had the opportunity to instruct Respondent to do so. Respondent therefore 
prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 
course of action. Section 10.23( c )(8) does not require a practitioner to 
simply 'notify' a client about important correspondence, it requires him or 
her to 'inform' the client about that correspondence." 

(A.19; footnote omitted.) 

Appellant's continued failure to properly inform his client about the Third Final Rejection 

remained up until October 28, 2011, when Appellant claims his representation ofEPRT ended. 

Supra p. 9. At that point, the AJA had been enacted and the new, 2-stage statute oflimitations 

applied to Appellant's misconduct. 35 U.S.C. § 32. Under that standard, the applicable 

limitations period is 10-years from October, 2016 or 1-year from when the OED Director was 

informed of the alleged misconduct, which in this case was on May 12, 2014 when Ms. Blake 

filed a grievance against Appellant with OED, (A.3102-06), whichever is earlier. Here, the 
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Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015, (A.42-54), in clear compliance with the new, 2-stage 

statute oflimitations under § 32 and thus was timely filed. 

4. The ALJ's Findings of Fact Are Supported by the Record. 

Appellant challenges several of the specific findings of fact ("FOF") in the ALJ's Initial 

Decision and Order. These are discussed further below. 

a. Findings of Fact 1-3, 9. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 1-3 and 9, 

which Appellant does not challenge as incorrect, are not warranted. 

b. Findings of Fact 13 and 21. 

FOF 13 accurately characterizes the November 19, 2002, e-mail to EPRT. Appellant does not 

challenge that characterization but seeks to provide additional information, which is not 

necessary or relevant. Thus, FOF 13 is adopted as stated in the ALJ's Initial Decision. 

Though Appellant refers to FOF 21 in his brief, he proposes no changes to this FOF in the 

substantive discussion of his Amended Appeal Brief. As such, FOF 21 is adopted as stated in the 

ALJ's Initial Order and Decision. 

c. Finding of Fact 15. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 15 are not 

warranted. 
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d. Findings of Fact 41, 45, 4 7 and 52. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F .R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 41, 45, 47, 

and 52 are not warranted. 

e. Finding of Fact 53. 

FOF 53 is supported by the administrative record. Appellant's Power of Attorney was signed 

by Ms. Blake, on behalf ofEPRT Technologies, Inc. (A.2902). Ms. Blake was the primary 

contact person for Appellant and possessed authority to direct Appellant to take action on the 

'519 Application. (A.7532). Appellant's attempts to cast doubt on the nature of his interaction 

with, or the authority of, Ms. Blake regarding his representation ofEPRT is without any support. 

Consequently, changes to this FOF are not warranted. 

f. Finding of Fact 56. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. As such, changes to the ALJ's FOF 56 are not 

warranted. 

g. Findings of Fact 59-65. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ specifically considered 

Appellant's testimony that he didn't receive the June 1, 2009 Board decision or a call from 

examiner Oropeza and rejected Appellant's position. His reasons for the proposed changes are 

nothing more than unsupported, conclusory statements. Consequently, the proposed changes to 

the AL.T's FOFs 59-65 are not warranted. 
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h. Findings of Fact 66-68. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to this FOF. And, further, he doesn't dispute the FOF as 

written. Thus, the proposed change to FOFs 68-69 are not warranted. 

i. Finding of Fact 69. 

The ALJ plainly rejected Appellant's arguments that he adequately monitored his docket 

including, but not limited to, the fact that he did not associate his Customer Number with the 

'519 Application, preventing him from using USPTO's Patent Application Information Retrieval 

("PAIR") system to check the status of the Application online. And, Appellant does not dispute 

that he did not use PAIR. Thus, no change to this FOF is warranted. 

j. Findings of Fact 70-76. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 37 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed changes to these FOFs. Further, the ALJ's findings are amply 

supported by the record. See Supra, Facts 33-36. No changes to these FOFs are warranted. 

k. Finding of Fact 79. 

Appellant has not cited to any support in the administrative record, as required by 3 7 C.F.R. 

§ 11.55, for the proposed change to this FOF. No change to this FOF is warranted. 

B. Appellant's Actions Constitute Misconduct in Violation of the USPTO's 
Disciplinary Rules. 

Turning to the substance of the discipline, the ALJ concluded that the Appellant engaged in 

misconduct in connection with his handling of the '519 Application and his representation of 

EPRT and that misconduct violated six ofUSPTO's disciplinary rules. Each of these findings, as 

discussed further below, are amply supported by the record. 
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1. Appellant Neglected the '519 Application. 

First, the ALJ provided a thoughtful and supported analysis for his findings that Appellant 

violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c), which prohibits a practitioner from neglecting a legal matter 

entrusted to the practitioner. The ALJ noted that "neglect" is defined as "the omission of proper 

attention to a person or thing, whether inadvertent, negligent, or willful." (A.14) (quoting Black's 

Law Dictionary 1061 (8th ed. 2004). Neglect occurs when a practitioner ignores or otherwise 

disregards his obligations to his client. (Id.) Neglect does not occur instantaneously and generally 

requires a pattern or course of conduct clearly illustrating the practitioner's disinterest in 

performing his duties. (Id.) (citing In re Levin, 395 N.E.2d 1374, 1375 (Ill. 1979) (inaction, 

delay, and lack of effort expended on behalf of a client constitutes neglect). A time element is 

therefore a central aspect of the violation and, as a result, a single forgetful moment or honest 

mistake normally will not violate 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c). (A.14). The ALJ correctly concluded that 

OED Director has provided clear and convincing evidence that Appellant failed to monitor the 

progress of the '519 Application in 2009, ignored the patent examiner's phone call in 2009, 

ignored his client Ms. Blake's e-mails and phone calls in 2010 and 2011, and failed to safeguard 

his lines of communication with USPTO at any time. (A.18). While any one of the alleged 

missteps here, on their own, perhaps would not constitute neglect, Appellant's actions and 

omissions over the course of months and years here rises to the level of neglect ofEPRT and the 

'519 Application. (Id.). 

Appellant's neglect began when the examiner assigned to the '519 Application, Ms. Oropeza, 

left a voice message for Appellant on August 6, 2009, before the application was abandoned. 

(A.2457; A.3350; A.7727-28; A.7940). There is no fact in the record or identified by Appellant 

that shows Appellant ever attempted to find out the reason for Ms. Oropeza's call. This is so 
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despite the fact that the call "should have alerted him that there was movement on the 

application." (A.15). However, despite the call and many attempted communications by Ms. 

Blake, the record reflects that Appellant did nothing in support of the '519 Application for 2 

years. Had Appellant been monitoring his docket in accordance with the procedures he testified 

to during the hearing, he would have found out about the abandonment. However, it was only 

once Appellant was contacted by Mr. Farahrnand that Appellant took any steps to verify the 

status of the '519 Application. (A.3150; A.4666-67; A.7552). 

In addition, Appellant ignored Ms. Blake's attempts to contact him for over a year. (A.16; 

A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6991; A.6981-95; A.7543). He has no 

explanation as to why he didn't return her numerous calls and e-mails. Appellant's attempts to 

make an after-the-fact explanation that he was not authorized to speak with Ms. Blake, however 

this argument is without merit. Ms. Blake is a corporate representative, she signed the power of 

attorney, and, importantly, Appellant had been communicating with her throughout the 

processing of the '519 Application. (A.15-17; A.2902; A.6559; A.7524-25; A.7532). 

The bulk of Appellant's appeal of the ALJ's findings and conclusions is fairly characterized 

as mere disagreement. His Amended Appeal Brief includes few citations to the record and puts 

forth no discussion of applicable authority or analysis of the ALJ's conclusions. (Appeal at 22-

23). The few specific defenses raised in the Amended Appeal Brief are all without merit. First, 

he claims a "deliberate abandonment theory." (Appeal, at 11 ). Specifically, he argues that Mr. 

Estes told him not to incur additional costs for the '519 Application and he claims that EPRT 

made status inquiries directly to the Board. (Id.). However, this is contrary to the evidence of 

record, which shows that EPRT repeatedly looked to Appellant for updates about the '519 

Application and that it was Appellant's information on file with the USPTO. (A.2902-05). His 
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claim that he was told not to incur additional costs with regard to the '519 Application finds 

absolutely no support in the record. 

Appellant's claim that he did not receive the Board Decision and Notice of Abandonment, 

even if true, does not negate his misconduct. Those documents were mailed to his address of 

record. Any issues of receipt, including non-receipt of correspondence, were the result of his 

own choice to utilize an executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his 

customer number, and not monitor his docket. (A.17-18; A.2456; A.2472; A.3349; A.6021; 

A.7716; A.7725). 

In sum, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated § I 0. 77( c) 

is well-supported and will not be disturbed. 

2. Appellant Failed to Inform EPRT of USPTO Correspondence 

A practitioner is required to inform a client when the practitioner receives correspondence 

from USPTO if the correspondence could have a significant impact on a pending matter and a 

reasonable practitioner would believe the client should be notified. 37 C.F.R. §10.23(c)(8). The 

ALJ found that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated this provision in three instances: 

when he failed to notify EPRT of the Third Final Rejection, when he failed to informed EPRT of 

the Board Decision, and when he failed to inform EPRT of the Notice of Abandonment. (A.20). 

Each of these instances is discussed further below. 

a. Third Final Rejection. 

After a review of the record and the arguments proffered by the parties, it is concluded that 

Appellant failed to sufficiently inform EPRT about the Third Final Rejection. Although he did 

inform them that he had received the Third Final Rejection, he did not attach a copy of that 

document. (A.7711; A.7809). Further, in his communication to EPRT about the Third Final 
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Rejection, Appellant also did not explicitly inform EPRT that claims 23-25 were rejected. 

(A.6955; A.7537). He also erroneously informed EPRT that Claims 3 and 4 had been "allowed" 

when in fact they had been objected to but "would be allowable if rewritten in independent 

form." (A.6574; A.6958). Having declined to inform EPRT that these claims could be rewritten, 

Appellant also did not mention that he did not intend to rewrite them. (Id.). Appellant's e-mail to 

EPRT also never described the USPTO decision as a "final action" and did not mention the 

three-month deadline to file a response. (A.6055; A.6958; A.7711). To the contrary, the e-mail 

implied that no additional steps were necessary because the appeal "is still going forward." 

(A.6958) 

The ALJ noted that the narrow wording of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) prohibits a practitioner 

from failing to inform a client of important correspondence. (A.19). Further, § 10.23( c )(8) does 

not require a practitioner to simply "notify" a client about important correspondence, it requires 

him or her to "inform" the client about that correspondence. (A.19). While the November 29, 

2009, e-mail did notify EPRT personnel of the existence of the Third Final Rejection shortly 

after its issuance, Appellant failed in that e-mail to actually provide the Third Final Rejection to 

EPRT and fully explain the action to EPRT. It was not enough for Appellant to simply convey 

that the Third Final Rejection was received. EPRT was never made aware that Claims 3 and 4 

needed to be rewritten to survive and thus never had the opportunity to instruct Appellant to do 

so. Appellant therefore prevented EPRT from making an informed decision about a preferred 

course of action. 

Appellant does not dispute what was conveyed in his e-mail. However, he maintains that the 

information he conveyed to EPRT "reasonably informed" them as to status of claims under final 

rejection and how Examiner proposed to amend them. (Appeal at 25). Further, he attempts to 
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shift the blame to the client by stating that EPRT never asked questions. (Appeal at 26). These 

arguments are unpersuasive and do not find any support in the facts of the record or in any legal 

authority. His arguments here, once again, are fairly characterized as mere disagreement with the 

ALJ's findings. As stated, Appellant had a duty to informed EPRT about all aspects of the Third 

Final Rejection and not just selectively provide them with only portions of that correspondence. 

Having failed to do so, he engaged in misconduct that violated § 10.23( c )(8). 

b. The Board Decision. 

It is uncontroverted that Appellant did not provide the June 1, 2009 Board Decision until 2 

years after it had been issued. The ALJ correctly noted that this decision was a particularly vital 

communication due to the deadline to appeal not being extendable, thus denying EPRT of that 

opportunity. (A.19-20; A.2467) 

Appellant relies on two arguments to negate his misconduct with regard to communicating 

the Board Decision to EPRT. First, he claims that he did not receive the Board Decision at his 

address of record, which was an executive suite. (Appeal, at 12). As the ALJ properly noted, this 

is an insufficient defense. The Board Decision was mailed to his address of record. (A.2477; 

A.7716). Any issues associated with ability to receive mail at the address he provided to the 

USPTO were his own and were as a result of his decisions, including the decision to utilize an 

executive suite of offices, to not associate the '519 Application with his customer number, and to 

not more closely monitor his docket. (A.17-18). 

Appellant also claims the Board Decision was "not reversible" and "no amount of monitoring 

can alter that fact." (Appeal at 24). It is unclear what Appellant means by this statement, though 

it is presumed that he is arguing EPRT was not harmed in receiving the Board Decision, but no 

citations are provided to support this argument. However, Appellant's argument is belied by the 
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fact that the first page of the Board Decision included a footnote announcing the two-month 

period to file an appeal or initiate a civil case. (A.2459). Thus, EPRT was harmed by their lost 

opportunity to file an appeal of the Board Decision. 

To conclude, the ALJ's conclusions that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) by failing to inform EPRT of the Board Decision is supported by the record 

and warranted. 

c. Notice of Abandonment. 

As with the Board Decision, there is no dispute that the Notice of Abandomnent was never 

provided to Appellant. Rather, Appellant again relies on the claim that he never received the 

document. (Appeal at 12; A.6080; A.7729). However, for the reasons stated above, this position 

is rejected. The Notice of Abandonment was mailed to Appellant's address ofrecord. (A.2456: 

A.3349; A. 7725). 

3. Appellant Failed to Seek EPRT's Lawful Objectives. 

Pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a)(l) and (2), practitioners are prohibited from failing to seek 

the lawful objectives of a client and from failing to carry out a contract of employment entered 

into with a client for professional services. These provisions do not require a practitioner's 

conduct to be intentional. Rather, §10.84(a) emphasizes the consequences of the conduct, not the 

intent behind it. (A.21). Neglectful conduct that derails a client's objectives is thus sanctionable 

under §10.84(a). (Id.) Under this standard, the ALI concluded Appellant negligently failed to 

monitor the '519 Application and failed to ensure he received communications from USPTO, 

making it impossible for him to meet EPRT's legal objectives. (Id.). There is no basis argued by 

Appellant, or supported by the record, to disturb these conclusions. 
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Appellant's initial e-mail exchange with EPRT makes clear that Appellant was hired to 

attempt to salvage the '519 Application, if possible. (A.6557-60). The OED Director agrees 

Appellant took actions to secure a patent for EPRT up until the Third Final Rejection in 2005._At 

that point, and as stated in the Third Final Rejection, Claims 3 and 4 were potentially allowable 

ifrewritten in independent form. (A.2688; A.6574). But, Appellant did not rewrite the claims. 

However, this was a unilateral decision on his part and he failed to inform or discuss the Third 

Final Rejection and the consequences of not rewriting claims 3 and 4 with EPRT. (A.6958). 

Instead, he filed the second appeal, with the consequence being that these claims were not 

allowed. As the ALJ noted, even after this failure, Appellant could have taken steps to 

accomplish EPRT's objectives. He could have Petitioned to Revive the application as he had 

done previously. But, due to his decisions as to how he monitored his docket and received 

notices from the Office, he never received the Board Decision or Notice of Abandonment. 

(A.21). 

Appellant's constructive discharge theory is rejected. (Appeal, at 21-22). He cites no 

evidence of any threat that would have necessitated or required his withdrawal, he did not 

communicate his withdrawal to EPRT, and he did not carry out the withdrawal duties required 

under 37 C.F.R. § 10.40. (A.7735). 

In snm, the ALJ's conclusion that Appellant negligently failed to monitor the '519 

Application and failed to ensure that he received correspondence from USPTO, with the result 

being that it was impossible for Appellant to meet EPRT's lawful objectives, is fully supported. 

(A.21-22). 
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4. Appellant Engaged in Gross or Disreputable Conduct. 

According to 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c), any violation of its subsections automatically violates 37 

C.F.R. § 10.23(a) and (b). As already discussed, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's failure to 

inform his client of important correspondence violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8). As a result, as a 

matter oflaw, Appellant has also violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a). 

5. Appellant Failed to Return EPRT's Client File. 

The provisions of 37 C.F .R. § 10.112( c )( 4) state that a practitioner must promptly deliver to a 

client, upon request, any client property in the practitioner's possession that the client is entitled 

to receive. And, there is "no dispute that a client's file is the property of the client and should be 

returned to that client upon request." (A.23) (citing Restatement (Third) of the Law Governing 

Lawyers 'il 43 (2000), para. 43). 

Here, on October 31, 2011, Mr. Farahmand sent Appellant a letter requesting a complete 

copy of the '519 Application file. (A.6273; A.7552-3). However, Appellant did not send the file 

to Mr. Farahmand or anyone at EPRT. (A.7556). EPRT finally obtained the file via submitting a 

subpoena duces tecum to Appellant's ex-wife. (A.7631-33). 

Appellant contends that the EPRT file was not in his possession on October 31, 2011, 

because it remained in in the possession of his ex-wife at the marital home and that he had been 

denied access to that home. (Appeal at 27). But, this argument provides no help to Appellant, 

whose duty to maintain his client's property exists regardless of his personal situation. 

Several other facts in the record also undermine Appellant's position here. Throughout the 

hearing, as reflected in the administrative record, Appellant cited no evidence that he reasonably 

sought to obtain the file from the marital home when he had the chance to do so. EPRT's new 
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counsel requested the file in October, 201 l and he had access to the marital home up to 

November 2011. (A.7748-49). Further, as the ALJ noted, Appellant could have subpoenaed the 

file from his wife, but did not, instead letting that obligation fall to EPRT's new counsel. (A.24). 

Lastly, it is noted that the ALJ specifically questioned Appellant's credibility with regard to this 

issue. (A.23). The ALI noted that, at the hearing, Appellant first stated the file had been 

destroyed but in fact opposing counsel in the malpractice case against Appellant was able to find 

it. (Id.). The ALJ's observations here are persuasive and provide further support for finding that 

Appellant violated § 10.112( c )( 4). 

C. The ALJ's Sanction Was Appropriate. 

The ALJ's Initial Decision concluded that Appellant engaged in misconduct that violated 6 

ofUSPTO's Disciplinary Rules, and that an 8-month suspension was the appropriate sanction. 

(A.33). An ALJ initial decision that imposes exclusion or suspension must explain the reason for 

imposing such a sanction after consideration of the following four factors: 

(1) Whether the practitioner has violated a duty owed to a client, to the 

public, to the legal system, or to the profession; 

(2) Whether the practitioner acted intentionally, knowingly, or 

negligently; 

(3) The amount of the actual or potential injury caused by the practitioner's 

misconduct; and 

(4) The existence of any aggravating or mitigating factors. 

37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b)(l)-(4). 

The Director of the US PTO reviews an appeal from an ALJ Initial Decision on the record 

before the ALJ. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(£); see also Marinangeli v. Lehman, 32 F. Supp. 2d 1, 5 
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(D.D.C. 1998). After such review, and as discussed below, the ALJ's initial decision to suspend 

Appellant from practicing before the USPTO for 8 months included a careful and proper analysis 

of the four factors set forth in 37 C.F.R. § ll.54(b). The ALJ's sanction of suspension is 

warranted and thus upheld. Here, the ALJ properly considered and applied .the four factors 

relevant to an exclusion or suspension under 37 C.F.R. § 1 l.54(b). This analysis is discussed 

further, below. 

1. Whether the Practitioner Has Violated a Duty Owed to a Client, to the Public, to the 
Legal System, or to the Profession. 

The ALJ concluded that Appellant repeatedly failed in his responsibilities to his client and 

this final order upholds that finding. (A.27). Though Appellant was hired to attempt to salvage 

the '519 Application in December 2002, his last communication with USPTO regarding the 

application occurred in 2006. (A.2643). The ALJ rejected Appellant's argument that he no longer 

had a duty to EPRT after December 2006, when EPRT assigned the rights to the '519 

Application to Thrisoint, noting that Appellant never withdrew from his representation of EPRT 

and several e-mails in 2008 that demonstrated Appellant's continued to actively represent its 

interests after EPRT's acquisition by Thrisoint. (A.27). Consequently, Appellant remained 

obligated to fulfill his duties to EPRT but failed to do so by refusing to return phone calls and e-

mails from Ms. Blake and disregarding important phone calls from the USPTO examiner. (A.27; 

A.3786; A.3847; A.4661-62; A.6265-67; A.6594; A.6840-41; A.6981-95; A.7543-53; A.7958). 

Because Appellant neglected the '519 Application for almost two years, he failed to keep EPRT 

apprised of the '519 Application's progress, leading to the Application's abandonment. (A.27). 

Lastly, Appellant refused to return EPRT's client file despite an explicit request to do so. (Id.). 

Although improper behavior by any member of the legal community undermines public faith in 

the sanctity of the legal system, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant's primary failure was in 
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his duty to his client, not the population at large. (Id.). Finding that Appellant repeatedly failed in 

his responsibilities to EPRT, the ALJ determined this finding supported a moderate sanction. 

(Id.). The ALJ's findings here were appropriate and supported by the record. 

2. Whether the Practitioner Acted Intentionally, Knowingly, or Negligently. 

As to the second factor, ALJ found that Appellant acted both negligently and intentionally, 

and those findings warranted a moderate sanction. (A.27-28). First, it was properly found that 

Appellant acted negligently when, after his move to the 28 W. Flagler address, he maintained 

·office procedures with a risk to receiving timely client information. (A.27-28). Appellant 

entrusted a receptionist at the W. Flagler address to sort his mail without his input. (A.27; 

A.7699). By doing so, the ALJ properly noted that Appellant put the burden on the receptionist 

to recognize critical correspondence and notify him in a timely manner. (A.27). Thus, the ALJ 

properly concluded that, had Appellant changed his correspondence address to his home office or 

associated his Customer ID number with the '519 Application, he would have timely received 

the Board Decision and the Notice of Abandonment and could have informed EPRT of those 

documents and plauned a strategy for addressing those actions. (A.27-28). 

The ALJ also noted that Appellant's docket management system was insufficient. (A.27). 

Appellant's own testimony was cited here, stating that he maintained a manual system and relied 

on his (now former) wife to keep him informed of upcoming deadlines. (A.27; A.5935-36; 

A.5938; A.7687-90). He had no "tickler" system in place to remind him to check on pending 

cases and had no way to monitor them, other than contacting US PTO directly. (A.27). The ALJ 

was correct in noting that Appellant's claim that he properly monitored the '519 application was 

belied by the fact that he never contacted Ms. Oropeza in 2009 and never received any updates 
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about the Application in 2010. (A.27-28). These actions were all properly identified as negligent 

bytheALJ. 

In addition to negligent behavior, the AL.T noted that Appellant's refusal to communicate 

with Ms. Blake was intentional. (A.28). In support of this, the ALJ relied on the fact that 

Appellant failed to respond to at least nine e-mails and an untold number of telephone calls from 

her in 2010 and 2011, save for a single, abbreviated, non-substantive call in 2010. (Id.). This 

finds support in the administrative record. See supra. p. 8. In addition, the ALJ identified as 

intentional Appellant's failure to return the EPRT client file upon request, despite knowing 

precisely where the file was located and !mowing he had an obligation to return it. (A.28). The 

ALJ acknowledged Appellant's sensitive personal situation that motivated his decision, but 

properly noted that reason was insufficient to shield him from his responsibility to his clients. 

(Id.). Any risk of maintaining private files in a home office during a period of personal, marital 

discord was properly found to be his own making. 

Because this factor was properly discussed and is amply supported by the record, there is no 

basis on which to disturb the ALJ' s findings. 

3. The Amount of the Actual or Potential Injury Caused by the Practitioner's 

Misconduct. 

ln discussing this factor, the ALJ addressed head on Appellant's argument that the 

abandomnent of the '519 Application caused EPRT no economic harm because the invention 

could never have obtained patent protection. (A.28). The ALJ noted that it would be "an exercise 

in futility to speculate whether the invention was actually patentable, or what kind of profit it 

could have generated if it had been patented." (A.28). However, EPRT was still harmed. EPRT 

paid Appellant between $35,000 and $45,000 to guide the '519 Application through the patent 

process and received nothing for that. (A.28; A.7567). Consequently, the ALJ properly 
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concluded that EPRT experienced substantial monetary harm because of its dealings with 

Appellant. (A.28). 

The AL.T also recognized that Appellant represented EPRT's interests competently, at least 

for a time. (A.28). But, with no way to determine what percentage ofEPRT's payments were in 

vain, the AL.T noted that "it is simply impossible to arrive at a non-arbitrary dollar figure 

representing EPRT's loss." (Id.). Despite this, the AL.T found it undisputed that EPRT's attempts 

to obtain a patent for the '519 Application left it economically weaker and Appellant's 

misconduct exacerbated EPRT's harm. (Id.). This is a reasonable conclusion based on the record. 

Finally, EPRT has expended more than $170,000 in litigation costs against Appellant, with at 

least one lawsuit still ongoing. (A.28; A.7567-68). 

Based on these factors, the ALJ found this factor merited an increased sanction against 

Appellant. (A.28). This analysis is soundly rooted in the record and is reasonable. 

4. The Existence of Any Aggravating or Mitigating Factors. 

Finally, the ALJ identified and considered both aggravating and mitigating factors in the 

case, relying on guidance by the ABA Standards when determining whether aggravating or 

mitigating factors exist. (A.28). See also In re Lane, D2013-07, at 19 (USPTO Mar. 11, 2017; 

Standards For Imposing Lawyer Sanctions§ 9.2 (Am. Bar Ass'n 2015). 

The ALJ identified six aggravating factors and two mitigating factors. The most serious of 

the aggravating factors was Appellant's disciplinary history, which included being twice 

disciplined by the state of Florida and once disciplined by the USPTO. (A.29; A.1272-83; 

A.7390-98). Importantly, the AL.T noted that both Florida cases bore some similarities to 

Appellant's current disciplinary case. First, in 1995, Appellant agreed to a consent judgment in 

Florida, resulting in a 10-day suspension for misconduct that involved a client's attempts to 
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resolve apparent duplicate charges for legal fees, and repayment of unexpended payments. (A. 

29). There, Appellant refused to provide the requested information and did not return the 

unearned fees until after the client filed a disciplinary grievance. (Id.). The ALI went on to 

explain that the Florida Bar Rule that Appellant was found to have violated concerns responding 

to a client's reasonable requests for infonnation, explaining matters to the extent reasonably 

necessary to allow the client to make an informed decision about the course of action; and 

prompt delivery to a client any funds that he/she is entitled to and render a full accounting of 

charges. (Id.). The Florida rules served substantially the same function as USPTO's Disciplinary 

Rules§§ 10.23(c)(8) and 10.l 12(c)(4). (Id.). As a result, the ALJ concluded that Appellant was 

aware, in 1995, that ignoring client requests for information was sanctionablc misconduct. (Id.). 

Subsequently, in 2011, Appellant again accepted a consent judgment in Florida, resulting in a 

public reprimand. (A.29; A.7390-98). That case revolved around Appellant's failure to inform a 

client that he would no longer pursue the client's interests and his failure to tell the client that the 

client's trademark applications had been abandoned. (A.29; A.7390-98). The OED Director 

sought to impose reciprocal discipline against Appellant in connection with the 2011 state 

discipline, which Appellant strenuously, though unsuccessfully, opposed despite the fact that the 

Florida reprimand was consented to by Appellant. (A.29-30). The OED Director thus imposed a 

public reprimand on November 18, 2013. (A.30; A.1272-1283). Thus, this case is Appellant's 

fourth disciplinary proceeding. The ALI noted that the prior actions have "not inspired him to 

better appreciate his duties toward his clients" as demonstrated by the fact that, here, he has 

refused to respond to his client, refused to return client property, and allowed a client matter to 

go abandoned, just as he did in 1995 and 2011. (A.30). Thus, Appellant's disciplinary history 

warrants a severe sanction. 
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A second aggravating factor was identified as Appellant's attempt to silence Ms. Blake and 

other EPRT employees via a clause in the Florida malpractice settlement agreement prohibiting 

any EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary 

investigations against him. (A.5490-93; A.7644-47). Both investigations were prompted by 

grievances filed by Ms. Blake on behalf ofEPRT. (A.30). While the final settlement agreement 

included language noting that EPRT personnel could participate if subpoenaed, the ALJ noted 

that the only purpose of this prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations 

against him. (A.30). The ALJ concluded that this constitutes bad faith obstruction of the USPTO 

disciplinary investigation. (Id.); see also Kentucky Bar Ass 'n v. Unnamed Attorney, 414 S.W.3d 

412, 418 (Ky. 2013) (court applying similar rule found violation where a settlement agreement 

required grievant to either withdraw disciplinary complaint or refuse to voluntarily cooperate 

with investigation). 

A third aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's "obstinate refusal to recognize his 

wrongdoing or the harm he has caused his client." (A.30). Appellant never offered EPRT a 

refund and has never apologized to Ms. Blake for deliberately ignoring her urgent pleas for 

information. (A.30). Instead, it was noted that Appellant has attempted to deflect blame the 

receptionist in his W. Flagler office for misplacing his mail, his ex-wife for maintaining 

possession ofEPRT's file, Mr. Farahmand for allegedly threatening a malpractice lawsuit, and 

incredibly he even blamed Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes for not asking probing questions about his 

handling of their patent application, and for not hiring an experienced patent attorney as his 

replacement. (A.30-31). However, the ALJ was unmoved by these deflections, noting that "none 

of these events would have occurred if not for Appellant's own misconduct." (A.31). The ALJ 

noted that this attitude demanded a harsher penalty. (Id.). 
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A fourth aggravating factor was noted as Appellant's legal experience. Though experience is 

often considered as a mitigating factor, the issue of legal experience did not mitigate Appellant's 

conduct here. (A.31 ). Appellant's extensive experience as a practicing attorney for almost half a 

century made it such that the ALJ could not dismiss his actions as by someone who did not know 

any better. (Id.). Nor was the ALJ willing to rely on Appellant's personal situation or excuse his 

behavior as fleeting lapse of judgment since, his conduct during the Florida malpractice suit and 

during the instant disciplinary proceeding have only resulted in more disciplinary complaints. 

(Id.). Among the examples given is that he deliberately attempted to frustrate the OED Director's 

investigation in this proceeding by negotiating the silence of EPRT personnel, in violation of 3 7 

C.F.R. § l l .304(f). (A.31-32). Moreover, the ALJ noted his "abusive" behavior throughout these 

proceedings, with specific examples such as labeling Ms. Chaiken as a serial perjurer in 

pleadings and other ad hominem attacks. (A.32). This behavior was noted by the ALI as "a 

strong indication that his commitment to ethical conduct has grown weaker over the years." 

(A.32). 

Finally, the ALJ took note of the fact that Appellant is uninterested and noncompliant in 

making restitution to EPRT, despite signing a settlement agreement in which he promised to pay 

EPRT $7,000. (A.32). "This suggests the settlement agreement was made in bad faith and was 

merely an attempt to escape the Florida malpractice proceeding" and has forced EPRT to spend 

even more resources to file another lawsuit and enforce the terms of the settlement (Id.). In the 

ALJ's view, this factor supports a moderate sanction. (Id.). 

In mitigation, the ALI recognized the negative effect of Appellant's personal situation, which 

could have impacted his decision making. (A.32). However, the ALJ properly noted that the 

personal circumstances don't explain Appellant's earlier neglect in 2009 or his refusal to 
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communicate with Ms. Blake in 2010 and 2011. (Id.). Additionally, the ALJ rejected Appellant's 

reference to his marital discord as it related to his inability to reclaim possession of EPR T's 

client file since no evidence was presented any that his marital problems negatively affected his 

mental state during that time period. (Id.). Finally, the lack of dishonest motive was found to be 

mitigating here. (Id.). The ALJ noted that his conduct was not the result of greed or any other 

nefarious consideration. (Id.). 

It is noted here that neither the ALJ's order, nor the Amended Appeal Brief, discuss the 

consistency of the 8-month suspension here with other comparable disciplinary cases. However, 

the OED Director provided evidence that an 8-month sanction is consistent with other 

disciplinary matters previously decided before the US PTO Director. (Appellee Brief at 26-27). 

For example, it was noted that a 6-month suspension was imposed for a practitioner who, inter 

alia, failed to monitor the status of a patent application, failed to respond to a client's inquiries, 

and keep the client reasonably informed, and failed to comply with a client's request to return 

her file. (Id. at 26 (citing In re Stretch, No. D2013-03 (USPTO July 29, 2013)). ln another 

matter, a practitioner was suspended for 36-months, stayed after 6-months, for neglecting client 

matters, not notifying clients about Office correspondence, allowing applications to go 

abandoned and then misrepresenting the status of those applications to the client. (Id. at 26-27) 

(citing In re Edelson, No. D201 l-13 (USPTO Dec. 15, 2011 ). Finally, a practitioner was 

suspended by consent for 24 months with the right to seek reinstatement after 12 months and 

placed on a 24-month probation for neglecting two patent applications even though the 

practitioner represented that his firm had significant staffing problems during the time of the 

events at issue and that a new office manager made several clerical and administrative errors that 

contributed to the neglect of the patent applications. (Id. at 27) (citing In re Matlock, No. D201 l-
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52 (USPTO Feb. 7, 2012). These comparables, which are not discussed or refuted by Appellant, 

demonstrate that Appellant's 8-month suspension is within the range of discipline for other 

similar disciplinary matters. 

In sum, after reviewing the ALJ's sanction determination, it is concluded that the 

determination was reached after proper consideration of all the required factors, was reasonable, 

and is supported by the record. 

ORDER 

Having considered Appellant's appeal under 37 C.F.R. § 11.55 from the September 15, 2016 

Initial Decision of the ALJ suspending Appellant from the practice of all patent, trademark, and 

other non-patent matters before the Office for eight months, it is ORDERED that the Initial 

Decision of the ALJ is AFFIRMED. 

It is further: 

ORDERED that the OED Director give notice pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § l l.59 of the 

public discipline and the reasons for the discipline to disciplinary enforcement agencies in 

the state(s) where Appellant is admitted to practice, to courts where Appellant is known to be 

admitted, and to the public; 

ORDERED that the USPTO dissociate Appellant's name from any Customer Numbers 

and the public key infrastructure ("PKI") certificate associated with those Customer 

Numbers; 

ORDERED that Appellant shall not apply for a USPTO Customer Number, shall not 

obtain a USPTO Customer Number, nor shall he have his name added to a USPTO 

Customer Number, unless and until he is reinstated to practice before the USPTO; and 
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ORDERED that Appellant shall comply with the provisions of37 C.F.R. § 11.58 

governing the duties of disciplined practitioner. 

RECONSIDERATION AND APPEAL RIGHTS 

Any request for reconsideration of this decision must be filed within twenty (20) days from 

the date of entry of this decision pursuant to 37 C.F.R. § 11.56( c ). Any request for 

reconsideration mailed to the USPTO must be addressed to: 

Sarah T. Harris 
General Counsel 

United States Patent and Trademark Office 
600 Dulany St. 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

A copy of the request must also be served on the attorney for the Director ofEmollment and 

Discipline: 
Robin Crabb 

Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
600 Dulany St. 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22314 

Any request hand-delivered to the USPTO must be hand-delivered to the Office of the 

General. Counsel, in which case the service copy for the attorney for the Director shall be hand-

delivered to the Office of Emollment and Discipline. 

If a request for reconsideration is not filed, and Appellant desires further review, Appellant is 

notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S. District Court for the 
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Eastern District of Virginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days after the date of the 

order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5. 

~ I~ /?01'1 
Date 

cc: 
JohnH. Faro 
Appellant 

Robin Crabb 
Associate Solicitor 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

z~~ 
Sarah T. Harris 
General Counsel 
United States Patent and Trademark Office 

on delegated authority by 
Joseph Mata! 
Performing the Functions and Duties of 
the Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual 
Property and Director of the United States Patent 
and Trademark Office 

Counsel for the Director of Office of Enrollment and Discipline 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the 
parties below, in the manner indicated: 

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL: 

John H. Faro 
1395 Brickell Avenue 

Suite 800 
Miami, FL 33131 

Johnf75712@aol.com 
Johnf75712@gmail.com 

Appellant 

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL: 
Robin Crabb 
Tracy Kepler 

Associate Solicitors 
Mail Stop 8 

Office of the Solicitor 
P.O. Box 1450 

Alexandria, VA 22313-1450 
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov 

OED Director 
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BEFORE THE UNDER SECRETARY OF COMMERCE
FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY AND DIRECTOR OF THE

UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

In the Matter of )
)

John H. Faro, ) Proceeding No. D2015-27
)

Appellant. )

Final Order

The OED Director filed a disciplinary Complaint alleging that John H. Faro

("Appellant") violated the USPTO Code ofProfessional Responsibility during his representation

ofhis client, EPRT. After a hearing, the Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") issued an Initial

Decision and Order on September 15, 2016, concluding that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §

10.23(a) and (b) via 10.23(c)(8) when he failed to timely inform Ms. Blake, or anyone at EPRT,

ofa Third Rejection Letter in 2005, a June 2009 Board Decision, and an August 2009 Notice of

Abandonment. (A.18-20). The ALJ also concluded that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. §§

10.77(c), 10.84(a)(1) and (2), by neglecting the '519 Application from May 2006 until October

2011. (A.14-18; A.20-21). Finally, the ALJ found that Appellant violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c)

by refusing to communicate with Ms. Blake about the status of the '519 Application in 2010 and

2011 and violated 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) by refusing to return EPRT's client file when

requested. (A.14-18; A.23-24). The ALI ordered that Appellant serve an eight (8) month

suspension, with reinstatement conditioned upon successful passed of the MPRE. (A.33).

Appellant appealed the ALJ's Initial Decision to the Director of the United States Patent

and Trademark Office ("USPTO"), After briefing by the parties, on August 2, 2017, the USPTO

Director issued a Final Order denying the appeal and upholding the ALJ's Initial Decision.
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On August 17, 2017, Appellant filed a Request for Reconsideration ofDirector's Final

Order. The OED Director responded on September 15, 2017, and Appellant replied. For the

reasons set forth below, Appellant's Request for Reconsideration is denied.

L LEGAL STANDARD

Following a final decision of the USPTO Director, either party may make a single request

for reconsideration or inodification of the decision by the USPTO Director if such request is filed

within twenty days from the date of entry of the decision. See 37 C.F.R. § 11.56(c). No request

for reconsideration or modification shall be granted unless the request is based on newly

discovered evidence, or an error of law or fact, and the requestor must demonstrate that any

newly discovered evidence could not have been discovered any earlier by due diligence. See Id.

The standard of review governing requests under § 11.56(c) has not been defined beyond

what appears in the regulations. However, although the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are not

applicable in administrative proceedings,1 the courts have at times looked to them for useful

guidance in judging actions taken by the USPTO.2 Because the standard of review used by

federal courts for motions to alter or amend a judgment under Rules 59(e) and 60 of the Federal

Rules of Civil Procedure are most similar to requests for reconsideration filed pursuant to §

11.56(c), that standard is"applied here to Appellant's request.

Federal courts have clarified that the standard of review for Rules 59(c) and 60 are

narrow and limited to only circumstances involving new evidence, or to correct errors of law or

fact. See Hutchinson v. Staton, 994 F.2d 1076, 1081 (4th Cir. 1993). Any new evidence

submitted must not have been available before the issuance of the final decision. See Boryan v.

1 See Bender v. Dudas, No. 04-1301, 2006 WL 89831, at *23 (D.D.C. Jan. 13, 2006), aff'd, 490 F.3d 1361 (Fed. Cir.
2007).
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United States, 884 F.2d 767, 771 (4th Cir. 1989) ("Evidence that is available to a party prior to

entry ofjudgment, therefore, is not a basis for granting a motion for reconsideration as a matter

of law.") (citing Frederick S. Wyle P.C. v. Texaco, Inc., 764 F.2d 604, 609 (9th Cir. 1985)).

It is long-settled that requests for reconsideration3 are not a vehicle to state a party's

disagreement with a final judgment. See Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at 1082 ("mere disagreement does

not support a Rule 59(e) motion"); Arthur v. King, 500 F.3d 1335, 1343 (11th Cir. 2007), cert.

denied, 552 U.S. 1040 (2007) (stating that a Rule 59(e) motion cannot be used to relitigate old

matters, raise argument or present evidence that could have been raised prior to the entry of

judgment). A request for reconsideration should not be used to rehash "arguments previously

presented" or to submit evidence that should have been previously submitted. Wadley v. Park at

Landmark, LP, No. 1:06CV777, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (E.D. Va. 2007) (citing Hutchinson,

994 F.2d at 1081-82); Above the Belt, Inc. v. Mel Bohannan Roofing, Inc., , 99 F.R.D. 99, 101

(E.D. Va. 1983) (holding improper a motion for reconsideration "to ask the Court to rethink what

the Court had already thought through-rightly or wrongly"); Durkin v. Taylor, 444 F. Supp.

879, 889 (E.D. Va. 1977) (stating that Rule 59(e) is not intended to give "an unhappy litigant one

additional chance to sway the judge"). Reconsideration "would be appropriate where, for

example, the Court has patently misunderstood a party, or has made a decision outside the

adversarial issues presented to the Court by the parties, or has made an error not of reasoning but

of apprehension."Above the Belt, Inc., 99 F.R.D. at 101; United States v. Ali, No. 13-3398, 2014

WL 5790996, at *3 (D. Md. Nov. 5, 2014).

While requests for reconsideration are permitted they are seldom granted. These types of

motions are extraordinary remedies reserved only for extraordinary circumstances. See Dowell v.

3 Such requests refer to both motions to alter or amend a judgment (Fed. R. Civ. P. 59(e)), or motions for relief from
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State Farm Fire & Cas. Auto. Ins. Co., 993 F.2d 46, 48 (4th Cir. 1993) (limiting relief under

Rule 60(b)(6) to "extraordinary circumstances"); Projects Mgmt. Co. v. DynCorp Int'l, LLC, 17

F. Supp. 3d 539, 541 (E.D. Va. 2014), aff'd, 584 F. App'x 121 (4th Cir. 2014) (reconsideration

ofa judgment after its entry is an "extraordinary remedy which should be used sparingly")

(quoting Pac. Ins. Co. v. Am. Nat'l Fire Ins. Co., 148 F.3d 396, 403 (4th Cir. 1998)); see also

Netscape Commc'ns Corp. v. ValueClick, Inc., 704 F. Supp. 2d 544, 546 (E.D. Va. 2010)). Thus,

the standard of review for a Request for Reconsideration under § 11.56(c) is very high and such

requests should be granted sparingly and only in extraordinary circumstances. For the reasons

discussed below, Appellant has not made any arguments or submitted any evidence that satisfies

the standard of review.

II. DECISION

A. Appellant Has Not Identified Any Errors in Law or Fact That Would Warrant
Reversal of the Final Order.

Appellant raises a number of challenges in his Request. These include challenges to the

USPTO's subject-matter jurisdiction, allegations of a biased investigation, charges that the

finding of neglect was improper, and complaints that the appeal filing requirements unfairly

constrained him during his appeal. However, those arguments fall far short of the requirements

for granting reconsideration under § 11.56(c). These arguments are discussed more fully below.

1. Appellant's Challenge to OED Subject-Matter Jurisdiction to Bring a
Disciplinary Complaint Is Without Merit.

Appellant first challenges "the subject-matter jurisdiction of the OED Director to initiate

a disciplinary proceeding against the Appellant". (Appeal at 1-3). He argues that the OED

Director failed to comply with 3'f C.F.R. § 11.22(d) (preliminary screening) and failed to afford

him with due process before initiating discipline. (Id.) Specifically, he argues that the OED
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Director failed to provide evidence of the September 2015 resolution of his state legal

malpractice to the Committee on Discipline. (Appeal at 4-6). As a result, as Appellant views it,

the OED Director prematurely concluded his investigation, under 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(d), and

submitted an incomplete and biased report and recommendation to the Committee on Discipline.

(Id.). Appellant claims the Committee's decision was thus unfairly influenced to find probable

cause. (Id.).

Before discussing the merits of these arguments, it is noted that OED unequivocally

possessed and properly exercised disciplinary jurisdiction in this case. Appellant has been a

patent attorney registered with the USPTO since March 3, 1971. (A.43; A.1355). As such, he is

unquestionably subject to the disciplinary authority of the Office. 37 C.F.R. § 11.19(a). To the

extent that Appellant's appeal attempts to claim otherwise, such argument finds no support in

law or the Agency's regulations. Further, Appellant unsuccessfully argued against subject-matter

jurisdiction on appeal, rendering this argument nothing more than an attempt to reargue his

appeal under the guise of reconsideration. This is an insufficient basis,to grant reconsideration
t

under § 11.56(c). See Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2 (citing Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at 1081-

82).

As an additional basis for denying reconsideration, Appellant's claim that the Committee was

unfairly influenced by an incomplete or prematurely concluded investigation by the OED

Director is also without merit. First, Appellant already vigorously argued this point during the

appeal process and the Director's Final Order concluded that there were no deficiencies

associated with the OED Director's submission of the disciplinary matter to the Committee on

Discipline. (Final Order, at 18-19). As stated in that Final Order, the regulations concerning the

Conimittee on Discipline, 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.22 and 11.23, include no requirements for what the
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OED Director submits to the Committee and, even if it did, the malpractice case involving

Appellant was dismissedafter the Complaint was filed on May 11, 2015 and thus after the

Committee had found probable cause to issue a Complaint. (Id.) Appellant offers no new

authorities that would dictate a different outcome or require the OED Director to engage in a

different course. Consequently, this argument is nothing more than an attempt to reargue his

unsuccessful appeal. Thus, reconsideration on this basis is not warranted.

2. Appellant Is Incorrect That the ALJ Improperly Admitted Ms. Chaiken's

Testimony About the State Settlement Agreement.

Appellant next challenges the ALJ's decision to admit the testimony of Meredith

Chaiken, counsel for EPRT in the state malpractice cases against Appellant. (Appeal at 7-8).

Appellant claims that "the ALJ permitted OED counsel to elicit parole evidence of a confidential

Federal Court ordered mediation, over Appellant's objection, and in violation of [Florida law], in

the OED effort prove to (sic) the existence an enforceable Settlement Agreement." (Appeal at 8).

He disputes the ALJ's reliance on that testimony as an aggravating circumstance in detennining

the appropriate disciplinary sanction. (Appeal at 9). As part of his argument, he claims that the

testimony was inappropriately admitted because the agreement was "never consummated."

(Appeal at 8).

The ALJ allowed Ms. Chaiken's testimony, as well as the settlement agreement itself,

and concluded that the evidence supported a finding that Appellant attempted to silence Ms.

Blake and other EPRT employees and that this finding was an aggravating factor in support of

the discipline ordered. (A.30-32). "While negotiating the settlement agreement in the Florida

malpractice lawsuit, [Appellant] inserted into the settlement agreement a section prohibiting any

EPRT personnel from testifying or participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary

investigations against him." (A.30; A.5491). The ALJ concluded that "[t]he only purpose of this
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prohibition was to hinder or derail the disciplinary investigations against him", which the ALJ

concluded constituted "bad faith obstruction of the PTO disciplinary investigation" and an

aggravating factor in determining the disciplinary sanction. (A.30).

During the hearing, Appellant only made two (2) objections to Ms. Chaiken's testimony

about the offending settlement provision. The first objection concerned Ms. Chaiken's testimony

as to who requested the inclusion of the clause regarding EPRT cooperation with the disciplinary

investigations, and that objection was sustained. (A.7647-48). Appellant also objected when Ms.

Chaiken testified about her concerns with that provision, but that objection was overruled.

(A.7652-53). Appellant made no further objections during Ms. Chaiken's testimony concerning

the settlement agreement or its terms. (A.7643-67). Further, the document containing the draft

settlement agreement was introduced as evidence without any objection by Appellant. (A.5489,

A.8002-05).

The ALJ concluded that there was sufficient evidence, which included the admissible

portions Ms. Chaiken's testimony and the settlement agreement, to conclude that Appellant

sought and advocated for the settlement agreement term prohibiting any EPRT personnel from

testifying or participating in Florida's or the USPTO's disciplinary investigations against him.

(A.30). Further, the evidence supported that it was only when Ms. Chaiken expressed concems

about that provision that modification was ultimately included that permitted testimony upon

subpoena. (A.30; A.7653-54). This modification was accomplished after Ms. Chaiken, because

ofher concerns over the proposed settlement term, consulted with the Florida Bar and engaged in

legal research to determine whether such a clause was permissible under the law. (A.7654).

Consequently, the ALJ concluded that Appellant's attempt to hinder or deter pending

disciplinary matters was "bad faith obstruction" of the USPTO disciplinary investigation. (A.30).
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There is no basis to overturn these findings or to second-guess the ALJ's decision to

admit Ms. Chaiken's testimony. First, Appellant only raised two, discreet objections to Ms.

Chaiken's testimony, of which one was over-ruled. (A.7647-48; A.765-53). The bulk ofMs.

Chaiken's testimony was heard without objection. Appellant also did not object to introduction

of the settlement agreement itself. (A.8002-05). As the OED Director notes in his brief, when a

party fails to object to the admission of evidence at the time it is introduced, such objections are

waived. See MicroStrategy Inc. v. Bus. Objects, S.A., 331 F. Supp. 2d. 396, 420 (E.D. Va. 2004).

Consequently, Appellant's objections to admission ofMs. Chaiken's testimony are waived.

Further, even without the small portion of Ms. Chaiken's testimony for which an

objection was sustained, there is substantial evidence in the record to support the conclusion that

Appellant advocated for the provision that aimed to interfere with the USPTO disciplinary

investigation. This includes Ms. Chaiken's testimony, which the ALJ allowed, about her

concerns with the provision, her consultation with the Florida Bar, and the revised language, as

stated above. (A.5491; A.7651-54). Finding no error of law or fact with the ALJ's decision to

allow Ms. Chaiken's testimony, reconsideration on this basis is denied.

3. There Is No Support for Appellant's Argument That the ALJ's Finding of
Neglect Was Legally nor Factually Unsupported.

Appellant further claims that the Final Order was incorrect in finding that Appellant

neglected the '519 Application. (Appeal at 13-16). In support of this argument, Appellant claims

that the finding was based on a "hindsight test relative to the sufficiency ofAppellant's

'monitoring practice,'" which included criticisms for relying on an executive suite where he had

no physical presence as a correspondence address and failing to associate his Customer Number

with the '519 application. (Id.). He argues, as he did during the disciplinary hearing, that no

USPTO rule or authority requires such actions. (Id.). Further, he identified several "context
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factors" that he believes "in practice" determine the frequency and attorney attention to be

accorded a given client matter, and he asserts that the ALJ failed to consider these context

factors. (Appeal at 15). Finally, he restates arguments made during the disciplinary hearing

including that there was adversity created by EPRT when opposing counsel threatened a

malpractice suit, that he never actually received the documents related to the '519 Application,

and he generally disputes that his practices rose to the level of neglect. (Reply at 5-6). As

discussed below, these arguments do not provide a basis for granting Appellant's request for

reconsideration.

As already stated, the standard for granting reconsideration is a high one. Reconsideration

is not proper where the arguments are nothing more than a statement of a party's disagreement

with a final judgment or amount to only relitigation of old matters. See Hutchinson, 994 F.2d at

1082; Arthur, 500 F.3d at 1343; Wadley, 2007 WL 1071960, at *2; Above the Belt, Inc., 99

F.R.D. at 101; Durkin, 444 F. Supp. at 889. Appellant's arguments do not satisfy this standard.

Rather, his arguments are an attempt to relitigate the issues and objections made during the

disciplinary hearing and on appeal. In fact, every single one of his arguments was addressed by

the USPTO Director in the Final Order, including his "deliberate abandonment" theory (Final

Order at 26-27, 31); his arguments that negligence did not result from his use of an "executive

suite" (Id. at 29); his claims that he never received documents so he could not have neglected

them (Id. at 27, 30); his arguments about the adequacy ofhis case monitoring system,. including

his lack of ticider system (Id. at 27, 35-36); his dispute over whether he called examiner back (Id.

at 35); his failure to use a customer number (Id. at 24, 27, 29, 35); and his argument that EPRT

suffered no economic harm (Id. at 36-37).4

4 His arguments that the ALPs reliance on prior disciplinary history was inappropriate (Reply at 8)
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Lastly, Appellant's reliance on "context factors" to negate the neglect finding does not

support a grant of reconsideration here. Appellant cites no authority to support his implication

that the Director or the ALJ was required to consider these factors.

In sum, Appellant cites no error of law or fact that warrants reconsideration here. On the

issue ofneglect, both the ALJ's decision and the USPTO Director's Final Order specifically

addressed all of the arguments raised in his request. Appellant cannot relitigate those matters

under a veil of reconsideration.

4. Appellant's Argument that His Failure to Comply with the Appellate Filing
Requirements Was Improper Is Without Merit.

Lastly, Appellant claims that he was "unfairly constrained" by the filing requirements set

forth in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(b)-(d). (Reply at 8-9). However, this claim was not malle in his

origina1Request for Reconsideration but, rather, responds to the OED Director's arguments that

he failed to challenge this basis for the Director's Final Order in his Reply brief. Thus, not

having affinnatively raised this claim, it is waived. See Sapuppo v. Allstate Floridian Ins. Co.,

739 F.3d 678, 680 (11th Cir. 2014 (when an appellant fails to challenge properly on of the

grounds on which a decision is based, any challenge is deemed abandoned.)

Additionally, however, Appellant offers no support for his claim that the filing

requirements unfairly constrained his ability to pursue his appeal. The filing requirements

applied equally to Appellant and the OED Director and, as discussed in the November 2016

Order ofthe USPTO Director denying Appellant's request for a waiver ofthe page limit

requirements for appeal briefs, there is nothing unique or exceptional about a party finding it

cumbersome or difficult to comply with known filing requirements. See Order dated November

2, 2016 (citing Fetrow-Fix v. Harrah Entm't, Inc., No. 2:10-cv-0560, 2011 WL 2313650, at *3

APPX 1121 (By Respondent)
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(D. Nev. June 9, 2011)). Thus, the parties were expected to comply with the filing requirements

set forth in the USPTO regulations.

Despite having been provided multiple opportunities to file a compliant brief, Appellant

failed to do so and that failure was an independent basis for rejecting his appeal. (Final Order at

15-17). Appellant's arguments on reconsideration are nothing more than an attempt to excuse

those failures and rehash his attempts to circumvent the filing rules. That is an insufficient basis

to grant reconsideration.

B. Appellant Has Not Offered Any "New Evidence."

1. Petition to Revive.

Appellant also raises several arguments wherein he alleges the existence of new evidence

as support for granting Reconsideration here. First, he claims that information about EPRT's

successful Petition to Revive the '519 Application that had gone abandoned due to his own

neglect was omitted from the disciplinary record. (Appeal at 10-12). He claims that this evidence

mitigates the sanction imposed on him by the ALJ. (Id.). With this argument, Appellant alleges

that the OED Director had a duty to discover and disclose the "new" evidence to Appellant as

"exculpatory" evidence. (Appeal at 12).

Appellant's claim here has no merit. First, as stated above, any evidence submitted now

to be properly considered "new" the evidence must not have been available before the issuance

of the Final Order. See Boryan, 884 F.2d at 771. The Petition to Revive was filed on December

7, 2015 (Request, Ex. 5) and was granted on May 2, 2016 (Request, Ex. 6), before the

disciplinary hearing held on May 10-11, 2016 (A.7493; A.7869) and before Appellant's January

2017 appeal brief was submitted. He could have used this information at the hearing or in his

appeal briefs in this disciplinary matter but he did not. Rather, he raised it only in a separate

APPX 1122 (By Respondent)
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Motion filed on Jänuary 13, 2017 wherein he sought to reopen the record and admit evidence of

the Petition to Revive. He argued this issue extensively but unsuccessfully. Further, he was

informed at that time that he should have raised these arguments earlier in the disciplinary

process..As a result, these documents and Appellant's arguments have been raised and

considered. Consequently, the Petition to Revive is not new evidence under § 11.56(c).5

Finally, it is noted as a matter of law that Appellant offers no legal support for his

argument that the OED Director possessed some obligation to disclose either infonnation about

the Petition to Revive or any purported exculpatory evidence. He has cited no authority that the

Model Rules referenced in his briefing materials have any binding authority here - they do not.

Further, as he recognizes at page 2 ofhis Reply, in Polidi v. Lee, No. 15-cv-1030, slip op. at 4-5

(E.D. Va. Nov. 24, 2015), the Eastern District ofVirginia has specifically disavowed such a

duty.

2. Malpractice Court Documents.

Next, Appellant argues that court documents associated with the state malpractice

proceedings constitute newly discovered evidence and mitigate the economic hanns suffered by

his former client, EPRT. (Appeal at 16-17). These "new" documents appear to include the order

of dismissal, evidence that the state court judge struck EPRT's damages expert report, and

Appellant's own testimony in the disciplinary hearing that the EPRT product that was the subject

of the '519 Application had "evolved." (Appeal at 17-18).

5 It is also noted that the USPTO Director, in a January 27, 2017 Order, addressed the substantive effect ofEPRT's
successful Petition to Revive on the disciplinary matter. (See Order, dated Jan. 27, 2017, p. 3). The Director, in that
Order, concluded that EPRT's ability to obtain a patent was not new evidence and does not in and of itselfnegate
or nullify the ALPs disciplinary findings and conclusions. (Id.) "Rather, the proffered new evidence concerns a
different period oftime when the client was represented by someone else, who managed to then successfully

t ned application." (Id.)
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Appellant is again incorrect that these documents are new evidence for purposes of 37

C.F.R. § 11.56(c). The hearing in this disciplinary matter was held on May 10-11, 2016.

(A.7493; A.7869). The documents cited by Appellant were court document in the state

malpractice matter and were served upon him, as a party to the matter, in July, 2015 (A.6766-69)

and September, 2015 (A.6530), or were known to him before the May, 2016 hearing. Thus, as he

cannot show and has not shown that this evidence "could not have been discovered any earlier by

due diligence", he is unable to make the requisite showing necessary for granting reconsideration

here.

C. CONCLUSION

Having considered Appellant's Request for Reconsideration of Director's Final Order Dated

August 2, 2017 from the September 15, 2016 Initial Decision of the ALJ., the OED Director's

Response and Appellant's Reply brief, it is ORDERED Appellant's Request is DENIED.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

APPEAL RIGHTS

Appellant is notified that he is entitled to seek judicial review on the record in the U.S.

District Court for the Eastern District ofVirginia under 35 U.S.C. § 32 "within thirty (30) days

after the date of the order recording the Director's action." See E.D.Va. Local Civil Rule 83.5.

Date Sarah T. Harris
General Counsel
United States Patent and Trademark Office

APPX 1124 (By Respondent)
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on delegated authority by

Andrei Iancu
Under Secretary of Commerce for Intellectual
Property and Director of the Unitéd States Patent
and Trademark Office

cc:
John H. Faro
Appellant

Robin Crabb
Associate Solicitor
Counsel for the Director of Office ofEnrollment and Discipline
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing Final Order was sent to the
parties below, in the manner indicated:

VIA FIRST CLASS MAIL AND E-MAIL:

John H. Faro
1395 Brickell Avenue

Suite 800
Miami, FL 33131

Johnf75712@aol.com
Johnf75712@,gmail.com

Appellant

VIA HAND-DELIVERY AND E-MAIL:
Robin Crabb

Associate Solicitors
Mail Stop 8

Office of the Solicitor
P.O. Box 1450

Alexandria, VA 22313-1450
Robin.Crabb@uspto.gov

SO-OEDeases@uspto.gov
OED Director

Date United St es Pate t and TrademarEÓffic
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On January 8, 2004, the PTO issued a notice to a non-responsive amendment regarding

the Application. Id at 4. EPRT's response to the notice was due by February 6, 2004. Id On

February 6, 2004, the assigned Patent Examiner contacted Petitioner because she had not

received a response and gave Petitioner until February 9 to file a response. Id at 5. On February

9, 2004, the Patent Examiner again called Petitioner because she had not received a response. Id

Petitioner told the Examiner that he would not be able to file a response until the next day and

hung up the phone, but he later filed a response that same day. Id However, the response was

found non-compliant. Id. As a result, and after the Patent Examiner attempted to contact

Petitioner on multiple occasions, the PTO issued on August 12, 2004 a Notice of Abandonment

of the Application for failure to validly respond to the notice. See id In October 2004,

Petitioner filed a petition to revive the Application, and the PTO granted the petition in January

2005. Id

On April 19, 2005, the PTO issued a final office action rejecting Claims 3, 4, 23, 24, and

25 of the 519 Application. Id Petitioner subsequently appealed the rejection in June 2005. Id

On appeal, the PTO affirmed its rejection of Claims 23-25 but changed its rejection of Claims 3

and 4 to an "objection" to those claims. Id The rejection stated that Claims 3 and 4 "would be

allowable if rewritten in independent form." Id at 6.

After receiving this decision, Petitioner sent his clients an email stating that Claims 3 and

4 had been "allowed." [Doc. 27-1 at 357]. The email did not indicate that the rejection of

Claims 23-25 was affirmed. Seeid. Petitioner never rewrote Claims 3 and 4, but he did appeal

the prior decision. [Doc. 13-3 at 6]. On June 1, 2009, the Board of Patent Appeals and

Interferences affirmed the PTO's prior decision in Petitioner's first appeal. Id at 7. To appeal

this decision, EPRT had the option of filing within two months of its issuance either an appeal in

APPX 1128 (By Respondent) 2
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the Federal Circuit or a civil case in federal district court. Id Petitioner did not inform EPRT of

the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences' decision, rewrite the claims, or file any further

appeals.3 Id. Accordingly, the PTO issued a second Notice ofAbandonment on August 14,

2009 and again closed the Application. [Doc. 22-3 at 76]. The Notice ofAbandonment stated

that the 519 Application was being marked abandoned because the two-month window in which

to appeal the Board of Patent Appeals and Interferences' Decision had passed with no action, the

claims had not been rewritten, and the Patent Examiner had left a voicemail on Petitioner's

answering machine on August 6, 2009 to try to check on the status of the Application, to which

Petitioner did not respond. Id.

In 2010 and thereafter, Katherine Blake, EPRT's president and co-founder, attempted to

reach Petitioner on multiple occasions to learn if there were any updates to the status of the 519

Application but was unsuccessful. See [Does. 24-1 at 170, 171; 26-3 at 354; 27-2 at 18-22; 28-2

at 58-69]. In a July 30, 2010 email, Petitioner reported to Ms. Blake that he had "attempted to

determine the status of the patent and have yet to hear back from my inquiries." [Doc. 22-3 at

78]. After that email, EPRT was unable to reach Petitioner despite multiple attempts by

telephone call, text message, and email. See [Does. 26-3 at 25-27; 27-2 at 28-32]. Ms. Blake

testified that on one occasion, she and EPRT's general counsel called Petitioner to discuss the

519 Application but Petitioner hung up and did not answer their subsequent call placed

immediately thereafter. [Doc. 27-1 at 239-40]. After these attempts to reach Petitioner, EPRT

asked an attorney, Roger Farahmand, to send a letter on his firm's letterhead requesting an

update on the status of the 519 Application, which Mr. Farahmand did on October 21, 2011.

[Does. 28-2 at 66-67, 24-1 at 173]. On October 28, in response to the new counsel's request for

a status update on the Application, Petitioner faxed a copy of the Board of Patent Appeals and

3 Petitioner stated that he never received the decision in the mail. [Doc. 13-3 at 7].
APPX 1129 (By Respondent)
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Interferences' 2009 decision affirming Petitioner's appeal of the PTO's 2005 decision. [Doc. 24-

1 at 175-76]. At this point, EPRT directed Mr. Farahmand to obtain the 519 Application file

from Petitioner, [Doc. 26-3 at 33], but Petitioner did not provide the file. EPRT did not obtain

the file until after Petitioner's wife provided it pursuant to a subpoena issued in EPRT's

malpractice action against Petitioner, which was filed in October 2013 in the United States

District Court for the Southern District of Florida. [Does. 28-2 at 146-48; 31 at 10].4

In May 2015, after receiving a complaint by Ms. Blake as to Petitioner's handling of the

519 Application and investigating the matter, the PTO's Committee on Discipline concluded that

it had probable cause to file a formal disciplinary complaint against Petitioner and did so. Id. at

10-11. The complaint stated that Petitioner did not satisfy his ethical duties to notify and keep

his client apprised of correspondence and the Application's status, to maintain proper files, and

to return timely his client's property after he was removed from representing EPRT in the

Application. See [Doc. 13-3 at 42-54].

In May 2016, a hearing was held on this complaint before an administrative law judge

("ALJ") in Miami, Florida. Petitioner appeared and presented testimony and other evidence.

See [Does. 28-2 at 7-492, 28-3 at 1-41]. After considering the evidence presented at the hearing

and additional briefing by the parties, the ALJ on September 15, 2016 issued a decision

concluding that Petitioner violated six provisions of the PTO's disciplinary code.5 [Doc. 13-3 at

4 In August 2015, the parties settled the malpractice action. [Doc. 17-2 at 62]. As part of the settlement, EPRT
agreed not to participate voluntarily in PTO disciplinary proceedings concerning Petitioner; however, the settlement
allowed EPRT to participate if subpoenaed by "any court of competent jurisdiction." Id. at 63.
5 Specifically, those provisions were:
(1) 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(a) ("A practitioner shall not engage in disreputable or gross misconduct.");
(2) 37 C.F.R. § 10.23 (b) ("A practitioner shall not: (1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule. (2) Circumvent a Disciplinary
Rule through actions ofanother. (3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude. (4) Engage in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. (5) Engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the
administration ofjustice. (6) Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the practitioner's fitness to
practice before the Office.");
APPX 1130 (By Respondent)
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1-33]. The ALJ suspended Petitioner from practicing before the PTO for at least eight months,

with his reinstatement conditioned upon his passing the Multistate Professional Responsibility

Examination. Id. at 33.

In November 2016, Petitioner appealed his suspension to the Director of the PTO. [Doc.

29-1 at 25]. The Director affirmed the ALJ's decision on August 2, 2017, [Doc. 30-1 at 166],

and subsequently denied Petitioner's motion for reconsideration on February 9, 2018, [Doc. 30-2

at 147-48]. Petitioner filed this action on March 13, 2018. [Doc. l].

II. Standard of Review

Pursuant to its statutory authority granted in 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D), the PTO has enacted

regulations governing the "conduct ofagents, attorneys, or other persons representing applicants

or other parties before" it. See 37 C.F.R. § 11; see also 35 U.S.C. § 32 ("The [PTO] Director

may, after notice and opportunity for a hearing, suspend or exclude, either generally or in any

particular case, from further practice before the Patent and Trademark Office, any person, agent,

or attorney shown to be incompetent or disreputable, or guilty of gross misconduct, or who does

not comply with the regulations established under section 2(b)(2)(D)...."). These regulations

also provide the investigative and adjudicative procedure for determining whether a person or

practitioner has violated the promulgated disciplinary rules and, if so, the appropriate sanction.

See 37 C.F.R. §§ 11.2; I1.19-60.

(3) 37 C.F.R. § (c)(8) ("Conduct which constitutes a violation . . . includes, but is not limited to: . . . Failing to
inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify the Office ofan inability to notify a client or former client
of correspondence received from the Office or the client's or former client's opponent in an inter partes proceeding
before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a significant effect on a matter pending before the Office,
(ii) is received by the practitioner on behalfofa client or former client and (iii) is correspondence ofwhich a
reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances the client or former client should be notified.");
(4) 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) ("A practitioner shall not: . . (c) Neglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner.");
(5) 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a) ("A practitioner shall not intentionally: (1) Fail to seek the lawful objectives of a client
through reasonably available means permitted by law and the Disciplinary Rules . . . . (2) Fail to carry out a contract
ofemployment entered into with a client for professional services . . . . (3) Prejudice or damage a client during the
course of a professional relationship . . . ."); and
(6) 37 C.F.R. § 10.1 12(c)(4) ("A practitioner shall: . . . . Promptly pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client
the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive.").
APPX 1131 (By Respondent)
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The Eastern District ofVirginia is the sole forum for reviewing orders suspending or

excluding individuals from practice before the PTO. 35 U.S.C. § 32. The Court will overturn a

decision by the PTO only if a plaintiff establishes that the decision was "arbitrary, capricious, an

abuse ofdiscretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law." Shia v. USPTO, 2017 WL

5639912, at *3 (E.D. Va. Feb. 27, 2017); see also President & Fellows ofHarvard Coll. v. Lee,

589 Fed. Appx. 982, 984 (Fed. Cir. 2014) (citing Ohio Valley Envtl. Coal. v. Aracoma Coal Co.,

556 F.3d 177, 192 (4th Cir. 2009)). A decision is arbitrary and capricious if predicated on a clear

error ofjudgment or a mistake. President & Fellows ofHarvard Coll. v. Lee, 589 Fed. Apppx. at

986 (citing PGBA, LLC v. United States, 389 F.3d 1219, 1231 (Fed. Cir. 2004)).

In reviewing a motion for summary judgment, courts must view the facts in the light most

favorable to the party opposing the motion. Porter v. U.S. Alumoweld Co., 125 F.3d 243, 245

(4th Cir. 1997). Summary judgment is appropriate where "there is no genuine dispute as to any

material fact the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Fed. R. Civ. P.

56(a); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 322 (1986). A "genuine" dispute as to a material

fact is present "if the evidence is such that a reasonable jury could . . . return a verdict for the

non-moving party." Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). When a motion

for summary judgment is made and supported by affidavits, an adverse party may not rest upon

the mere allegations or denials of the adverse party's pleading, but the adverse party's response

must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).

Unsubstantiated, conclusory claims without evidentiary support are insufficient to satisfy a non-

moving party's burden on summary judgment. Carter v. Ball, 33 F.3d 450, 461-62 (4th Cir.

1994); Goldberg v. B. Green & Co., 836 F.2d 845, 848 (4th Cir. 1988).

APPX 1132 (By Respondent)
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HI. Discussion

A. The OED Director's Jurisdiction to Investigate Petitioner

Petitioner first argues that the OED "lacked subject matter jurisdiction" to commence and

conduct its disciplinary proceeding while the malpractice action against him in federal district

court was still pending, because "had the OED waited until the conclusion of the malpractice

action, it would have uncovered information not otherwise available that reflected favorably

upon Plaintiff." In support of this argument, Petitioner cites 37 CFR §§ 11.22(d) and

11.22(h)(3), which state, in relevant part, "The OED Director shall examine all information or

evidence concerning possible grounds for discipline of a practitioner" and set forth the steps to

be taken upon completion of an investigation. See id. § 11.22(d), (h)(3).

The OED Director was clearly within his jurisdictional grant when he investigated

Petitioner's conduct. "Congress gave the USPTO wide latitude to govern the conduct of the

members of its bar." Haley v. Under Sec'y ofCommercefor Intellectual Prop., 129 F. Supp. 3d

377, 386 (E.D. Va. 2015); see also Lacavera v. Dudas, 441 F.3d 1380, 1383 (Fed. Cir. 2006)

("Under 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2), the PTO has broad authority to govern the conduct of proceedings

before it and to govern the recognition and conduct of attorneys."). 35 U.S.C. § 2(b)(2)(D) states

that the PTO "may govern the recognition and conduct of agents, attorneys, or other persons

representing applicants or other parties before the Office, and may require them .. . to show that

they are of good moral character and reputation and are possessed of the necessary

qualifications." Pursuant to that discretionary authority, the PTO has conferred without

qualification authority on the OED Director "to investigate possible grounds for discipline" and

to initiate an investigation "when the OED Director receives a grievance, information or

APPX 1133 (By Respondent)
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evidence from any source suggesting possible grounds for discipline." 37 C.F.R. § 11.22(a)

(emphasis added).

Pursuant to the above statutes and regulations, the OED Director acted within the scope

of his investigatory authority. He initiated an investigation into Petitioner's conduct upon receipt

of EPRT's grievance, gathered extensive evidence over a ten-month period, and, based upon his

review of all of the evidence gathered, filed a formal misconduct complaint against Petitioner in

accordance with 37 C.F.R. § 1 1.22(h)(3). 6 Accordingly, the Court finds and concludes that the

OED had jurisdiction to investigate and bring a formal misconduct charge against Petitioner,

notwithstanding the pendency of the Florida malpractice action against Petitioner in another

forum.

B. Evidence Supporting the Final Order of Suspension

Petitioner also argues that the ALJ's finding that he violated six provisions of the PTO's

practitioner-conduct rules was not supported by substantial evidence. The Court has reviewed

the administrative record and concludes that the suspension order was supported by ample

evidence of Petitioner's misconduct.

1. 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c) (Disregarding a Client Matter)

Substantial evidence supports the OED Director's finding that Petitioner violated 37

C.F.R. § 10.77(c), which prohibits a practitioner from "neglect[ing] a legal matter entrusted to

6 petitioner COntends that 37 CFR §§ 1 1.22(d) and 1 1.22(h)(3) impose jurisdictional restrictions on the Director's
otherwise broad authority to investigate potential practitioner misconduct. However, §§ 1 1.22(d) and 1 1.22(h)(3)
are not jurisdictional regulations; they set forth the steps the OED Director must take in investigating possible
grounds for disciplining a practitioner. Contrary to Petitioner's position, unsupported by any authority, the Director
was not obligated to stay an investigation pending the outcome of a federal malpractice action against Petitioner
because of the possibility that additional evidence concerning the practitioner's conduct might be uncovered in the
malpractice action, particularly since the Director's decision to proceed with an investigation does not prejudice an
accused practitioner's right or ability to gather additional evidence with which to defend himself at a later stage of
the disciplinary process. Moreover, the discovery provisions applicable to formal disciplinary proceedings do not
limit the record to the evidence reviewed by the OED Director in determining whether to initiate formal disciplinary
proceedings. To the contrary, a practitioner charged with violating the rules of conduct is entitled to conduct
additional discovery in defending the allegations against him as part ofhis formal disciplinary proceedings. See 37
C.F.R. § I 1.52.
APPX 1134 (By Respondent)
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the practitioner." The 519 Application's procedural history reflects Petitioner's repeated failure

to give the Application proper attention. For example, the Petitioner failed to respond adequately

to the Patent Examiner in August 2009 aAer she len him a voicemail before marking the 519

Application abandoned and failed to make any further inquiries as to the Application's status

until October 11, and then, only after receiving a letter from counsel hired by EPRT to assist in

eliciting a response from Petitioner as to the Application's status. See [Doc. 13-3 at 5-9, 15].

The record also demonstrates that he failed for more than a year to respond to Ms. Blake's emails

and phone calls, in which she sought an update on the Applications' status. [Doc. 13-3 at 16].

Petitioner also chose not to use the PTO's PAIR docketing system to electronically track the

status of the 519 Application, which is not required but highly encouraged by the PTO, to allow

for efficient access to pending applications. [Doc. 13-3 at 15]. As the ALJ correctly observed,

taken in isolation, these individual "missteps" perhaps would not justify a finding that Petitioner

neglected the 519 Application, but when the record is viewed in its entirety, Petitioner's failings

are clear and substantial. [Doc. 13-3 at 18]. Accordingly, the Court finds and concludes that

substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding as to 37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c).

2. 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) (Failure to Inform Client of the Receipt ofSignificant
Correspondencefrom the PTO)

Similarly, the administrative record contains ample evidence that supports the ALJ's

finding that Petitioner failed "to properly inform EPRT of the Third Final Rejection, the Board

Decision, and the Notice of Abandonment" in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8). For example,

with regard to the third rejection of the 519 Application, Ms. Blake testified that she never

received from Petitioner copies of any correspondence from the PTO, only "email

correspondence" from Petitioner himself. [Doc. 28-2 at 50]. This email correspondence did not

accurately communicate the Application's status to EPRT, but rather, as the ALJ observed, stated

APPX 1135 (By Respondent)
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that the PTO "allowed" Claims 3 and 4 of the Application when in fact the PTO objected to them

and counseled that they would be allowed only if "rewritten in independent form." [Does. 27-1

at 357, 28-2 at 226]. The email also stated that the "appeal [was] still going forward," when in

fact the rejection constituted a final action. [Does. 27-1 at 357; 20-1 at 180 ("This action is

FINAL." (emphasis in original))]. Similarly, Petitioner did not provide EPRT a copy of the

Notice of Abandonment he received in 2009 until 2011, when he received a letter by counsel

hired by EPRT to ascertain the 519 Application's status. [Doc. 28-2 at 68]. Petitioner failed to

rebut this evidence with any evidence that he forwarded any of the relevant correspondence to

EPRT or otherwise accurately informed EPRT of the significant correspondence he received

from the PTO, particularly with regard to the third rejection of the 519 Application. Accordingly,

substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding that Petitioner failed to forward significant

PTO correspondence regarding the 519 Application to Petitioner.

3. 37 C.F.R. § 10.84(a) (Failure to Seek Client's Lawful Objectives and Carry Out an
Employment Contract)

As with the ALJ's finding that Petitioner disregarded the 519 Application in violation of

37 C.F.R. § 10.77(c), substantial evidence supports the ALJ's finding that Petitioner also failed

to reasonably seek EPRT's objective of obtaining approval of the 519 Application in violation of

37 C.F.R. § 10.847(c). For example, Petitioner's failure to rewrite Claims 3 and 4 of the 519

Application in accordance with the Patent Examiner's Guidance led to their ultimate rejection,

which effectively frustrated EPRT's lawful objective of obtaining a patent. As the ALJ noted,

The consequences of [Petitioner]'s decisions were substantial. Claims 3 and 4
were ultimately deemed rejected because [Petitioner] did not rewrite them as
suggested. The Board Decision therefore affirmed the Third Final Rejection
because there were no allowable claims.

Had [Petitioner] been timely aware of the Board Decision on June 1, 2009, he
could have filed an appeal. Had he been timely aware of the Notice of
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Abandonment, he could have attempted to revive the Application. Either course
of action would have served EPRT's objectives. The Court cannot speculate
whether he would have taken either action, because he abandoned EPRT as a
client within days of discovering the existence of the Board Decision.

[Doc. 13-3 at 21].

The record does not contain any evidence from which it could be reasonably inferred that

Petitioner did not fail to honestly and promptly apprise EPRT of the Application's status, rewrite

Claims 3 and 4 per the Patent Examiner's guidance, appeal the third rejection of the 519

Application, or otherwise take steps to accomplish EPRT's lawful objectives.

4. 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) (Failure to Return Client Property)

37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4) requires an attorney practicing before the PTO to "[p]romptly

pay or deliver to the client as requested by a client the funds, securities, or other properties in the

possession of the practitioner which the client is entitled to receive." Petitioner argues that he

was unable to return EPRT's client file after having been asked to do so on multiple occasions

because he was unable to access his home office in which the file was located due to marital

issues. [Doc. 1 at 69]. However, as the ALJ observed, Petitioner confirmed that "he did not

convey the marital home to his ex-wife until November 16, 2011," such that he had legal

authority to access the property until that time. [Doc. 13-3 at 23]. Moreover, EPRT's counsel in

the malpractice action "issued a subpoena duces tecum to successfully obtain the file" from

Petitioner's wife, and Petitioner "could have followed a similar approach." Id. at 24.

Accordingly, the Court finds that substantial evidence supported the ALJ's finding that Petitioner

failed to return EPRT's property in violation of 37 C.F.R. § 10.112(c)(4).
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5. 37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b) (Engaging in Disreputable or Gross Misconduct and
Violating a Disciplinary Rule)

37 C.F.R. § 10.23(c)(8) states, in relevant part, that a practitioner automatically violates

37 C.F.R. §§ 10.23(a) and (b)'s general misconduct provisions upon failing to inform a client of

correspondence received from the PTO that "could have a significant effect on a matter pending

before the [PTO)" and "which a reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances

the client or former client should be notified." Because substantial evidence supported the

ALJ's finding that Petitioner violated § 10.23(c)(8), see supra Part III.B.2, so too was the ALJ's

finding that he violated §§ 10.23(a) and (b) supported by substantial evidence.

C. The OED Director's Conduct During Petitioner's Disciplinary Proceeding

Petitioner argues that his formal disciplinary proceeding denied him a fair and impartial

hearing because the OED Director concealed material information relevant to Petitioner's

alleged misconduct and the discipline to be imposed on Petitioner. [Doc. 1 at 38]. Specifically,

Petitioner argues that the Director certified that Hearing Exhibit 1 contained the PTO's complete

file wrapper on the 519 Application when, in fact, it did not contain the Petition to Revive the

519 Application filed on December 7, 2015 and the May 2, 2016 Revival Decision that allowed

EPRT to restore the 519 Application after EPRT retained new counsel to handle the matter. Id.

at 85, 88. However, as Petitioner acknowledges, both of these files were added after the OED

Director's certification on April 8, 2015. Id. at 85. They also evidence developments with

respect to the 519 Application that occurred after the conduct giving rise to Petitioner's

disciplinary charges; and although perhaps relevant to EPRT's claim that it was injured by

Petitioner's misconduct, the Petition to Revive and the Revival Decision were not "exculpatory"

as to Petitioner's violations of the PTO's conduct code, as Petitioner argues. Petitioner was

therefore not deprived ofa fair hearing because of any omitted evidence.
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D. The PTO Director's Denial of Petitioner's Motion to Waive the 40-Page Limit as to
Petitioner's Brief

Petitioner further argues that the PTO Director's denial of his motion to file an opposition

brief longer than the 40-page maximum specified in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(c) was "arbitrary" and

"forced [Petitioner] to resort to a less than complete and detailed response to the issues raised in

the Initial Opinion & Order, including specifically effectively challenging the ALJ's incomplete

recitation and misinterpretation of facts." [Doc. 1 at 47-50]. However, Petitioner does not

explain how this discretionary decision, which was grounded in 37 C.F.R. § 11.55(c)'s

requirements, was arbitrary or specifically how he was prejudiced by the decision. Indeed, while

the PTO Director stated that Petitioner's repeated failure to abide by these format requirements

justified affirming the ALJ's decision on that ground alone, the PTO Director nevertheless

proceeded to consider the merits of Petitioner's challenge in full-including the arguments raised

in Petitioner's brief beyond the 40-page limit. Accordingly, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the

PTO Director's decision to formally deny his request.

E. The ALJ's Consideration of Meredith Chaiken's Testimony

During the course of ERRT's malpractice action against Petitioner in the Southern

District of Florida, the parties engaged in mediation negotiations but never reached a final

settlement. [Doc. 1 at 44]. During Petitioner's disciplinary proceedings at the PTO, the ALJ

allowed Meredith Chaiken, EPRT's corporate counsel, to testify concerning the substance of

those mediation negotiations and in determining an appropriate sanction for Petitioner's violation

ofhis ethical duties, referenced that testimony when he found that Petitioner "inserted into the

[proposed] settlement agreement a section prohibiting any EPRT personnel from testifying or

participating in Florida's or the PTO's disciplinary investigations against him" for the sole

purpose of "hinder[ing] or derail[ing] the disciplinary investigations against him." Petitioner
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argues that allowing Ms. Chaiken's testimony violated the "Local Rules of the Federal District

Court, and the law of the State of Florida, for the protection of the 'confidentiality' of a Federal

Court ordered mediation" and thus denied him a fair and impartial hearing." [Doc. 1 at 43].

The rules of the federal district court and the State of Florida did not apply to Petitioner's

disciplinary proceedings before the PTO. In fact, the rules of evidence governing PTO

disciplinary proceedings explicitly allow evidence that would be precluded in court proceedings,

so long as it is relevant, material, and non-duplicative. 37 C.F.R. § 11.50 ("The rules of evidence

prevailing in courts of law and equity are not controlling in hearings in disciplinary proceedings.

However, the hearing officer shall exclude evidence that is irrelevant, immaterial, or unduly

repetitious."). The allowed testimony was not precluded by the applicable evidentiary rules and

within the discretion of the ALJ to consider. The Petitioner's conduct during mediation in the

malpractice action related to his overall course of conduct; and it was not an abuse ofdiscretion

for the ALJ to consider that conduct in connection with an appropriate sanction.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, the Court fmds and concludes that the Petitioner has failed to

establish that the PTO's Final Order of Suspension dated February 9, 2018 suspending his

license to practice before the PTO for a minimum ofeight months was arbitrary, capricious, an

abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law.

Accordingly, it is hereby

ORDERED that Petitioner John Faro's Verified Petition Under L.R. 83.5 for Review of

Director Final Order of Suspension Dated February 9, 2018 [Doc. 1] be, and the same hereby is,

DENIED, and the PTO's decision is AFFIRMED.
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The Clerk is directed to forward copies of this Order to all counsel of record and to pro se

Petitioner at the address provided. 7

Anthony J. Tref q! i
United States 3 s Judge

1)ecember 28. 2018
Alexandria, Virginia
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NOTE: This disposition is nonprecedential.

Eniteb £ptates Court of 2Ippeals
for the feberal Circuit

JOHN H. FARO,
Petitioner-Appellant

v.

ANDREI IANCU, UNDER SECRETARY OF
COMMERCE FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

AND DIRECTOR OF THE UNITED STATES
PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE,

Respondent-Appellee

2019-1476

Appeal from the United States District Court for the
Eastern District of Virginia in No. 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-
TCB, Judge Anthony J. Trenga.

JUDGMENT

JOHN H. FARO, Faro & Associates, Miami, FL, argued
pro se.

CATHERINE YANG, Office of the United States Attorney
for the Eastern District of Virginia, United States Depart-
ment of Justice, Alexandria, VA, argued for respondent-ap-
pellee. Also represented by G. ZACHARY TERWILLIGER;
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THOMAS W. KRAUSE, Office of the Solicitor, United States
Patent and Trademark Office, Alexandria, VA.

THIS CAUSE having been heard and considered, it is

ORDERED and ADJUDGED:

PER CURIAM (NEWMAN, BRYSON, and REYNA, Circuit
Judges).

AFFIRMED. See Fed. Cir. R. 36.

ENTERED BY ORDER OF THE COURT

February 11, 2020 /s/ Peter R. Marksteiner
Date Peter R. Marksteiner

Clerk of Court
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United States Court of Appeals  
for the Federal Circuit 

__________________________ 

JOHN H. FARO,  
Petitioner-Appellant 

  
v. 

  
ANDREI IANCU, UNDER SECRETARY OF 

COMMERCE FOR INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
AND DIRECTOR OF THE UNITED STATES 

PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE,  
Respondent-Appellee 

__________________________ 

2019-1476 
__________________________ 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
Eastern District of Virginia in No. 1:18-cv-00274-AJT-
TCB, United States District Judge Anthony J. Trenga. 

__________________________ 

MANDATE 
__________________________ 

In accordance with the judgment of this Court, entered 
February 11, 2020, and pursuant to Rule 41 of the Federal 
Rules of Appellate Procedure, the formal mandate is 
hereby issued. 

    FOR THE COURT 
     

April 10, 2020   /s/ Peter R. Marksteiner 

    Peter R. Marksteiner  
Clerk of Court 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J)  

_____________________________/ 

ORDE R  

THIS CAUSE having come before the Referee on Friday, January 15, 2021, 

the parties having appeared by Zoom video conferencing, and the Court being fully 

advised in the premises, it is therefore, ORDERED and ADJUDGED as follows: 

 1. Respondent’s Motion for Reconsideration of Court Order of 

December 18, 2020, Granting The Florida Bar Motions to Strike Respondent’s 

Affirmative Defenses and for Summary Judgment is DENIED. 

 2. Respondent’s Motion to Compel The Florida Bar to Produce 

Documents is DENIED. 

 3. Respondent’s Motion to Compel The Florida Bar to Provide Complete 

and Responsive Answers to Respondent’s First Set of Interrogatories is DENIED. 

 4. Respondent’s Verified Motion in Limine is DENIED. 
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 5. The Florida Bar’s Motion in Limine to Exclude Affidavit and/or 

Testimony of Michael Edward McCabe is GRANTED.  Respondent will be 

allowed to file a proffer of the areas of testimony of Michael McCabe if he had 

been allowed to testify. 

 6. The final hearing scheduled for Monday, February 1, 2021 shall 

commence at 8:30 AM and conclude approximately 2:00 PM.  If necessary, the 

hearing shall continue to a date to be determined. 

 7. The Florida Bar has indicated that it does not intend to present any 

live testimony at final hearing.  Respondent has indicated that he intends to call 

himself and Edmar Amaya, Esquire to testify at final hearing. 

 8. On or before Monday, January 25, 2021, The Florida Bar shall file 

with the Referee, with a copy to respondent, a list of all exhibits, identified by 

number, which it intends to offer into evidence at final hearing. 

 9. On or before Wednesday, January 27, 2021, respondent shall file with 

the Referee, with a copy to The Florida Bar, a list of all exhibits, identified by 

letter, which it intends to offer into evidence at final hearing.   

 10. At the same time, the parties shall also provide the Referee and each 

other with the case law on which they will be relying at final hearing.  The Florida 

Bar shall also identify the specific Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer 

Sanctions which they will be presenting. 
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DONE and ORDERED in Chambers at Miami-Dade County, Florida, this 

20th day of January, 2021. 

___________________________________ 
Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee 

 

Copies provided to: 
Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
John H. Faro, Respondent, johnf75712@aol.com  
John Derek Womack, Bar Counsel, jwomack@floridabar.org 
Arlene Kalish Sankel, Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, asankel@floridabar.org  
Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, psavitz@floridabar.org 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J) 

___________________________/ 

NOTICE OF FILING 

COMES NOW, Complainant, The Florida Bar, by and through its 

undersigned attorney, and provides notice of the filing of the attached documents: 

 1.  USPTO Administrative Law Judge Initial Decision & Order dated 

September 15, 2016, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 2. USPTO Final Order dated August 2, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit 

2. 

 3. USPTO Final Order dated February 9, 2018, attached hereto as 

Exhibit 3. 

 4. Order dated December 28, 2018 – U.S. District Court, Eastern District 

of Virginia, attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 

 5. Judgment – US Court of Appeals, Federal Circuit, dated February 11, 

2020, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
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 6. General Mutual Settlement Agreement and Release dated August 28, 

2015, (Federal Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

 7. Joint Notice of Settlement dated August 31, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 

 8. Stipulation of Dismissal dated September 1, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 8. 

 9. Order of Dismissal dated September 1, 2015, (Federal Malpractice 

Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

 10. Motion to Compel Settlement Agreement Performance dated 

September 28, 2015, (Federal Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 10. 

 11. Order Denying Motion to Compel dated November 5, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 11. 

 12. Excerpt of Testimony by Meredith Chaiken, attorney at law, in 

USPTO hearing before Administrative Law Judge, attached hereto as Exhibit 12. 

 13. Florida Supreme Court Order dated September 28, 2018 and Report of 

Referee dated July 24, 2017 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case No. SC16-1408, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 13. 
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 14. Florida Supreme Court Order dated July 13, 2011 and Report of 

Referee dated May 4, 2011 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case Nos. SC10-872 & SC11-431, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 14. 

 15. Florida Supreme Court Order dated April 27, 1995 and Report of 

Referee dated April 10, 1995 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case No. 84,351, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 15. 

 

 DISCIPLINE AUTHORITY 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Morrison, 669 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1996) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1998) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Shoureas, 892 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 2004) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Varner, 992 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2008) 
 
 TFB v. Suarez-Silverio, Supreme Court Case No. SC17-592 
 Supreme Court Order dated April 20, 2017 
 Consent Judgment dated February 24, 2017 
 
 
 
 STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS 
 

The Florida Bar intends to present argument as to the following aggravating 
factors: 
 
3.2 AGGRAVATION 
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 (a) Definition. Aggravation is any factor that justifies an increase in the 
degree of discipline to be imposed.  
 
 (b) Aggravating factors. Factors which may be considered in aggravation 
include:  
 

(1) prior disciplinary offenses, provided that after 7 or more years in which no 
disciplinary sanction has been imposed, a finding of minor misconduct will 
not be considered as an aggravating factor; 

(2) pattern of misconduct; 
(3) multiple offenses; 
(4) refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of the misconduct; 
(5) vulnerability of the victim; 
(6) substantial experience in the practice of law 
(7) indifference to making restitution. 

   
     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing Notice of Filing has been provided to The 
Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 
11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his judicial assistant’s email at 
hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, 
via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John 
H. Faro, Respondent, via email at johnf75712@aol.com and via email to Patricia 
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Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 25 day of 
January, 2021. 

          
  
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032 (11J) 

___________________________/ 

NOTICE OF FILING 

COMES NOW, Complainant, The Florida Bar, by and through its 

undersigned attorney, and provides notice of the filing of the attached documents: 

 1.  USPTO Administrative Law Judge Initial Decision & Order dated 

September 15, 2016, attached hereto as Exhibit 1. 

 2. USPTO Final Order dated August 2, 2017, attached hereto as Exhibit 

2. 

 3. USPTO Final Order dated February 9, 2018, attached hereto as 

Exhibit 3. 

 4. Order dated December 28, 2018 – U.S. District Court, Eastern District 

of Virginia, attached hereto as Exhibit 4. 

 5. Judgment – US Court of Appeals, Federal Circuit, dated February 11, 

2020, attached hereto as Exhibit 5. 
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 6. General Mutual Settlement Agreement and Release dated August 28, 

2015, (Federal Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 6. 

 7. Joint Notice of Settlement dated August 31, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 7. 

 8. Stipulation of Dismissal dated September 1, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 8. 

 9. Order of Dismissal dated September 1, 2015, (Federal Malpractice 

Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 9. 

 10. Motion to Compel Settlement Agreement Performance dated 

September 28, 2015, (Federal Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 10. 

 11. Order Denying Motion to Compel dated November 5, 2015, (Federal 

Malpractice Action), attached hereto as Exhibit 11. 

 12. Excerpt of Testimony by Meredith Chaiken, attorney at law, in 

USPTO hearing before Administrative Law Judge, attached hereto as Exhibit 12. 

 13. Florida Supreme Court Order dated September 28, 2018 and Report of 

Referee dated July 24, 2017 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case No. SC16-1408, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 13. 
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 14. Florida Supreme Court Order dated July 13, 2011 and Report of 

Referee dated May 4, 2011 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case Nos. SC10-872 & SC11-431, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 14. 

 15. Florida Supreme Court Order dated April 27, 1995 and Report of 

Referee dated April 10, 1995 in The Florida Bar v. John H. Faro, Supreme Court 

Case No. 84,351, attached hereto as Composite Exhibit 15. 

 

 DISCIPLINE AUTHORITY 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Morrison, 669 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1996) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1998) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Shoureas, 892 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 2004) 
 
 The Florida Bar v. Varner, 992 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2008) 
 
 TFB v. Suarez-Silverio, Supreme Court Case No. SC17-592 
 Supreme Court Order dated April 20, 2017 
 Consent Judgment dated February 24, 2017 
 
 
 
 STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS 
 

The Florida Bar intends to present argument as to the following aggravating 
factors: 
 
3.2 AGGRAVATION 
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 (a) Definition. Aggravation is any factor that justifies an increase in the 
degree of discipline to be imposed.  
 
 (b) Aggravating factors. Factors which may be considered in aggravation 
include:  
 

(1) prior disciplinary offenses, provided that after 7 or more years in which no 
disciplinary sanction has been imposed, a finding of minor misconduct will 
not be considered as an aggravating factor; 

(2) pattern of misconduct; 
(3) multiple offenses; 
(4) refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of the misconduct; 
(5) vulnerability of the victim; 
(6) substantial experience in the practice of law 
(7) indifference to making restitution. 

   
     Respectfully submitted, 

    
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
The Florida Bar 
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 
Miami, Florida 33131-2404 
(305) 377-4445 
Florida Bar No. 272981 
asankel@floridabar.org 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I certify that the foregoing Notice of Filing has been provided to The 
Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 
11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his judicial assistant’s email at 
hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org, and to Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, 
via email at rjosefsberg@podhurst.com and mvalledor@podhurst.com and to John 
H. Faro, Respondent, via email at johnf75712@aol.com and via email to Patricia 
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Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, at psavitz@floridabar.org, on this 25 day of 
January, 2021. 

          
  
Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
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Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR     Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT     

       The Florida Bar File: 
v.       2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
       

 RESPONDENT 
_______________________/ 

 
 

RESPONDENT’S NOTICE OF FILING  
FINAL HEARING EXHIBITS 

 
 Respondent, by and through his undersigned counsel, herein serves this 

Notice of Filing the exhibits which Respondent intends to rely upon at the Final 

Hearing scheduled for February 1, 2021. 

Respectfully, 
 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  
  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro 
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Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  

  
By:  /s/ JOHN H. FARO_________ 

 Florida Bar No. 527.459  
  Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 
 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Notice of Filing Final Hearing 

Exhibits has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his 

service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email 

at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 27th day of January, 2021. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
  ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

INDEX TO EXHIBITS 

EXHIBIT NO. DESCRIPTION 
 

U.S. DISTRICT COURT CASE NO:  13-CV-23893-PCH 
 

A. Docket for U.S. District Court Case No: 13-CV-23893-PCH, 
ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro 
and Technology Business Law Group, LLC 
 

B. Mediation Report, dated May 29, 2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. 
and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and Technology Business 
Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-
PCH [DE 163] 
 

C. Defendants’ Motion in Limine for Exclusion of the Damage 
Report of Richard Gray and Testimony of Any of Plaintiffs’ 
Witnesses, Including Richard Gray, Based Upon the Analysis 
and Conclusions Contained in the Gray Report, dated June 4, 
2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. 
Faro and Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District 
Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 170] 
 

D. Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine to Exclude Testimony and Reports 
of Defendants’ Experts, dated June 23, 2015, ERPT 
Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and 
Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case 
No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 191] 
 

E. Order Granting Defendants’ Motion in Limine, dated July 22, 
2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. 
Faro and Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District 
Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 214] 
 

F. Transcript of Excerpts from Daubert Hearing Held on July 20, 
2015, dated July 27, 2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and 
Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and Technology Business Law 
Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH  
DE 215] 
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G. Minute Entry for August 10, 2015 Proceedings Before Senior 

Judge Paul Huck, dated August 13, 2015, ERPT Technologies, 
Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and Technology 
Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case No: 13-cv-
23893-PCH [DE 219] 
 

H. Transcript of August 10, 2015 Hearing on all outstanding 
Motions for Summary Judgment before Senior Judge Paul Huck, 
dated August 14, 2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint 
Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and Technology Business Law Group, 
LLC, U.S. District Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 223] 
 

I. Stipulation of Dismissal, dated September 1, 2015, ERPT 
Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and 
Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case 
No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 237] 
 

J. Plaintiff’s Motion to Compel Performance Under Settlement 
Agreement, dated September 28, 2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. 
and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro and Technology Business 
Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-
PCH [DE 239] 
 

K. Defendants’ Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel, dated 
October 8, 2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. 
v. John H. Faro and Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. 
District Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 241] 
 

L. Defendants’ Sur-reply to Plaintiffs’ Reply to Defendants’ 
Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion to Compel, dated November 4, 
2015, ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. 
Faro and Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District 
Court Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 246] 
 

M. Order Denying Motion to Compel, dated November 6, 2015, 
ERPT Technologies, Inc. and Thrisoint Pty Ltd. v. John H. Faro 
and Technology Business Law Group, LLC, U.S. District Court 
Case No: 13-cv-23893-PCH [DE 247] 
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PATENT APPLICATION 09/656,519 
 

N. Docket for Patent Application 09/656, 519 
 

O. Transmittal of New Application, dated September 7, 2000 
 

P. Change of Address, dated January 31, 2001 
 

Q. Non-Final Rejection, dated March 17, 2002 
 

R. Inventor (Estes) Comments re: March 17, 2002 Non-Final 
Rejection, dated June 19, 2002 
 

S. Final Rejection, September 20, 2002 
 

T. Review & Recommendation of Final Rejection, dated November 
19, 2002 
 

U. Power of Attorney, dated January 7, 2003 
 

V. Request for Continued Examination, dated January 10, 2003 
 

W. Non-Final Rejection, dated January 30, 2003 
 

X. Non-Final Rejection, dated June 4, 2003 
 

Y. Non-Final Rejection, dated July 16, 2003 
 

Z. Response to Patent Office Action, dated November 12, 2003 
 

AA. Expert Declaration of Dr. Steven Kaye, dated November 12, 
2003  
 

BB. Amendment/Request for Reconsideration After Non-Final 
Rejection, dated October 28, 2004 
 

CC. Final Rejection, dated April 19, 2005 
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DD. Notice of Appeal Filed, dated July 1, 2005 

 
EE. Examiner Interview Summary Records (PTOL – 413), dated July 

11, 2005 
 

FF. Appeal Brief Filed, dated August 24, 2005 
 

GG. Final Rejection, dated November 14, 2005 
 

HH. Appeal Brief Filed, dated October 19, 2006 
 

II. Mail Returned to USPTO as Undeliverable, dated January 17, 
2008 
 

JJ. Mail Returned to USPTO as Undeliverable, dated January 23, 
2008 
 

KK. Change of Address, dated February 11, 2008 
 

LL. Patent Board Decision – Examiner Affirmed, dated June 1, 2009 
 

MM. Power of Attorney, dated February 14, 2013 
 

NN. Petition for Review by Office of Petitions, dated December 7, 
2015 
 

OO. Assignee Showing of Ownership Per 37 CFR 3.73, dated 
December 30, 2015 
 

PP. Petition Decision Routed to Technology Center to Act on 
Decision or Continue Prosecution, dated May 2, 2016 
 

QQ. Amendment/Request for Reconsideration - After June 2, 2016 
Non-Final Rejection 
 

RR. Non-Final Rejection, dated June 2, 2016 
 

SS. Notice of Allowance and Fees Due, dated June 30, 2016 
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TT. Patent Office’s Notice to Issue Patent, dated August 23, 2016 

 
 

DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING D2015-27 / OED CASE NO:  G2389 
 

UU. Respondent’s Motion for Order Reopening Subject Disciplinary 
Proceeding for Consideration of Newly Discovered Evidence, 
dated January 13, 2017 
 

VV. Supplemental Citation of Authority for Respondent’s Motion for 
Order Reopening Subject Disciplinary Proceeding, dated 
January 13, 2017 
 
 

WW. Respondent reserves the right to use any exhibits listed by The 
Florida Bar 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 

 
THE FLORIDA BAR     Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT     

       The Florida Bar File: 
v.       2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
       

 RESPONDENT 
_______________________/ 
 
 

NOTICE OF PROFFER OF PROPOSED TESTIMONY OF  
MICHAEL McCABE, ESQ. 

 

COMES NOW, the Respondent, JOHN H. FARO, by and through his 

undersigned counsel, and states as follows: 

1. Attached as Exhibit “A” is The Florida Bar’s “Florida Standards for 

Imposing Lawyer Sanctions”, dated June 19, 2020. 

2. Attached as Exhibit “B” is the resume of Michael McCabe, Esq. 

3. Michael McCabe, Esq is a nationally recognized expert regarding 

patent law and disciplinary procedures regarding patent law. 

4. If allowed to testify, Michael McCabe will testify as both a fact witness 

and an expert witness regarding John Faro, patent law, and patent law disciplinary 

procedures. 
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5. If allowed to testify, Michael McCabe will testify regarding issues 

relating to punishment, aggravation, mitigation, excuse, and justification. 

6. Attached as Exhibit “C” is the proffer of Michael McCabe’s testimony. 

Respectfully, 
 

PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  

  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro   

  
 

FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  
 

     By:  /s/ John H. Faro_________ 
 John H. Faro 

      Florida Bar No. 527.459  
      Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Notice of Proffer of Proposed 

Testimony of Michael McCabe, Esq. has been provided to The Honorable Jason E. 

Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his 

Judicial Assistant’s email at hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, 

Esq., Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, via 

email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 29th day of January, 2021. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
        ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 

APPX 1167 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



EXHIBIT "A"

APPX 1168 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



THE FLORIDA BAR

Florida's Standards for
Imposing Lawyer

Sanctions

APPX 1169 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279

June 17, 2020



����������	���
���������������������������������	�������������������� ��!��"��������#$��%�������&'���(����)����*'����!��+�!���� ��"%�!����'���,�,�-'�!����"�����.+*�"%!/�0�12���-�!3'%�!"4�*�� %�%!/������+�'�����(���3�5!"�$4��������"4��!��'���-5*��+��6�5�'����#$��%���&'���3�5�')�'��3�!"%������3�����'��"��75�"'%�!"�(��������3�++�!�%!/����%+*�"%!/��**��*�%�'���%"3%*$%!�8��9:;�5'%�"� %�$�'��<9=;'���$�12��>"�+�!'�$�"'�'�<9?;'���*�'�!'%�$�����3'5�$�%!@5�2�3�5"���(2�'���$�12��>"�+%"3�!�53'<9A;'����B%"'�!3������//�� �'%!/����+%'%/�'%!/�3%�35+"'�!3�"C����#$��%�������&'���(��)�1%$$�5"��'��"��"'�!����"�'����'��+%!���%"3%*$%!����3�++�!����'���������"��!��'���3�5�'��!��'����'��+%!���33�*'�($��*$��"�5!����'���D5$�"�D�/5$�'%!/�����#$��%������C� 	EFFGHI�.'�"��5$���$"��(��!�'���'��'�'���3�5�'���"�"�'����'��%'"�J��(@�3'% �"�����$�12����%"3%*$%!��%!�KLM�NOPQRST�UTQ�VW�XPQS4�YJJ�-�C�Z��[\J4�[\]�&#$�C�̂[\J)C�#%�"'4�'���@5�/+�!'�+5"'�(����%��'��"�3%�'24�(�'��%!�'��+"����*��'�3'%!/�'���*5($%3����+�5!�'�%3�$�3�!�53'��!���'�'���"�+��'%+��!�'���!2%!/�'���*5($%3�'���"�� %3�"������75�$%�%���$�12����"�����"5$'����5!�5�����"�!�""�%!�%+*�"%!/���*�!�$'2C�-�3�!�4�'���@5�/+�!'�+5"'�(����%��'��'�����"*�!��!'4�(�%!/�"5��%3%�!'�'��*5!%"����(���3������'�%3"��!���'�'���"�+��'%+���!3�5��/�������+�'%�!��!������(%$%'�'%�!C���%��4�'���@5�/+�!'�+5"'�(��"� �����!�5/��'����'����'���"�1���+%/�'�(��*��!�����'�+*'���'��(�3�+��%! �$ ���%!�"%+%$���3�!�53'C���
_������������9:;̀ .!@5�2a�%"����+�'����3$%�!'4�'���*5($%34�'���$�/�$�"2"'�+4����'���*����""%�!�1�%3���"5$'"����+���$�12��>"�+%"3�!�53'C�����$� �$����%!@5�2�3�!���!/�����+�̀"��%�5"a�%!@5�2�'��$̀%''$�����!�a�%!@5�2<���������!3��'��̀%!@5�2a��$�!��%!�%3�'�"��!2�$� �$����%!@5�2�/���'���'��!�$̀%''$�����!�a�%!@5�2C��9=;̀ .!'�!'a�%"�'���3�!"3%�5"��(@�3'% �����*5�*�"��'���33�+*$%"����*��'%35$�����"5$'C9?;̀ b!�1$��/�a�%"�'���3�!"3%�5"��1���!�""����'���!�'5�������''�!��!'�3%�35+"'�!3�"���'���3�!�53'�(5'�1%'��5'�'���3�!"3%�5"��(@�3'% �����*5�*�"��'���33�+*$%"����*��'%35$�����"5$'C��9A;̀ c�/$%/�!3�a�%"�'�����%$5��������$�12���'���������"5("'�!'%�$��%"d�'��'�3%�35+"'�!3�"�B%"'����'��'�����"5$'�1%$$���$$�14�1�%3����%$5���%"����� %�'%�!����+�'���"'�!�����3����'��'������"�!�($��$�12���1�5$���B��3%"��%!�'���"%'5�'%�!C��efghijk�lmknjkhjo�pgh��qrsgoint�ukvwxh�lknymigno z {|nx�z}~�����APPX 1170 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



���������	
�����
�����������	�������������	
�����	����������	�	�������	�������	�����	����
����������	���
�������	�		��	������	����	������	����	���������
�������
��������������������	��
�	��	
�
������������	�	
�������������������	��	���	���������	����	���������
���� �!"#��$%&$'()�*+,�+*-%&)�'.�(*+/-0'+(��1���$23456��57�819:�3�,;6<;4=;>13:�$35<��?;>@6 ��A�	�������	�������	���������
��������		��
�������������	�����	��������
����	�����
��������
����������	���������	����������	�
�����������	������
�����������	�������	��
�B	���������	�����������	���	�������	����
������	�������	
������	����������	�	�������	����
����	�	�������	����
 ��C���$2C=;<�+1D23��57�819:�3�,;6<;4=;>13:�$35<��?;>@6"��E�����	�����������
�������	���������
	��������� ��<���$23456��57�-F�6��(D1>?13?6"��A�	�	����
��������	��	���
	��������	��
�������
������
����
������
����
�������
�����	�	���
����
�����	����
����
��
��
��	���	
�	���������	��	�������	�	�������	����
����������	������������
������	�G�	��G	�����
��A�	�H������I�� �J	��������
���
���	�	����
���������������
���	��������
�������	
�	����	�
����
�	
�	�������	��	�����
��������	�	���
�
�������������
�	�	
�	
���������	���	� �A�	����
��������
������	������	���	���
���������������	�	
���	�����	�������	�	���
�
����
����
����	������
���	K��������
����	���������
������
�
����
����
���
��������������	��������	�������
���� �A�	����	��	���
	�����������	L�MNO����
���	�����
���������������		��
�����������
����	�����������	�	�	������
����
���
��
��
�����������	P�MQO����
���	�����
������	�����������	��	����������	�	����������
�����������	�����	�������������	���������
	P��
���MRO����
����	
����
���	����������
�����������
������
����
��������	����	��������������	
�	� � /5SS�>D�$23456��57�819:�3�,;6<;4=;>13:�$35<��?;>@6�A�	���������������	�������	���������
	�����������	�����	������ ��T	��
�������	�
		���������	�����	��
�	�����������	�	�������	���
�����	
���	���	�����
��������
����������	 ��U
���	��������	��������	�	�������	���
	��������
������
�����	�	�����������	������	��������	���	����	� ��U���
��������	����������
����
����
��������	�����	����	�����	����
����	���������	�	���
���
	�������	����������
�����	��	��������	�����	����
 �A������	�	���	�	�������	�����
����
�����������
����������������������	
�	�����	�� ��V���	���������	�
��������	����������
����������������	��	���
���
��������	�������������	������	�����������������������������	�������������	����������
�����	���	�������������
��������	�	�������	����
��	����	������	��������������������
 ��A�	�������	K�	����������
��
	��������������	�������	��������	���������	����	��������������������
����������	��������
����������	�	���������
�����������	�	�������	����
 ��W����	����	�����������		����	�	����
�����������������	���
����
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Michael E. McCabe, Jr.
McCabe Ali LLP

9233 Fall River Lane, Potomac, MD 20854
mike@mccabeali.com; (301) 798-11 10

Blog: www.lPethicsLaw.com
Website: www.mecabeali.com

LEGAL EXPERIENCE:

Experienced expert in field of Intellectual Property Law including representation of patent and
trademark attomeys, law tirms, corporate counsel, and federal government employees involving

legal ethics matters. Decades of Intellectual Property and commercial litigation experience for
multi-national corporate clients in patent and trademark related cases before federal courts in
many jurisdictions. Nationally-recognized speaker on legal ethics and regulatory compliance,
particularly relating to Intellectual Property law. Credited as a leading attorney in matters

involving application of rules of ethics in the practice of patent and trademark law.

INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY, ETHICS & LITIGATION:

McCabe Ali LLP, Intellectual Property (IP) Ethics Law, Potomac, MD 2020 to Present
McCabe Law LLC, Intellectual Property (IP) Ethics Law, Potomac, MD 2017-2020

• Founded practice as registered Patent Attorney to better serve IP clients with proactive risk
management counsel by ensuring that business and legal affairs are compliant with
applicable federal and state Rules of Professional Conduct

• Utilize knowledge as prior Officer and Director of multinational IP Law Firm to assist
clients, including in-house corporate counsel and law finns, in formulating best practices
within their organizations regarding risk management, avoidance of conflicts of interest,
proper identification of clients, and management oversight responsibilities

• Expert in representing clients involved in USPTO Ethics Investigations and commended for
detailed knowledge in unique and complex niche of ethics within IP law, including
transactional and litigation matters

• Defend lawyers and patent agents charged with ethics violations in disciplinary enforcement
actions brought by the federal government and courts, including matters involving
allegations of breach of tiduciary duty, lack of competency, UPL, conflicts of interest,
duties to clients, inequitable conduct, Rule 11 violations, sanctions, litigation misconduct,
patent and trademark prosecution misconduct, lawyer mobility issues, personal misconduct
and criminal convictions

• Recognized as dynamic speaker, authoritative commentator, and published author on ethical
issues in practice of intellectual property law

Funk & Bolton, PA, General Practice Law Firm 201 I-2017
Partner & Attorney Ethics Practice Group Founder

Affidavit Exhibit A

APPX 1209 (By Respondent)
Case NO. SC18-1279



• Created and initiated practice group in general practice law finn focused on representation
of patent and trademark lawyers in ethics counseling, government investigations, and formal
disciplinary proceedings against IP practitioners

• Hired by U.S. Departrnent of Justice as Special Ethics Counsel to represent a federal
government patent attorney accused by the USPTO of unethical conduct

• Publicly commended by prominent legal commentators for launching first-ever niche-
focused law blog concentrating on intellectual property and legal ethics, which addresses
new developments, interpretations, resources, and best practices in informative and user-
friendly format

• Published chapter by American Bar Association in multiple editions of reference book
regarding confidentiality and the attorney-client privilege in the practice of IP law

• Represented institutional clients in patent and other commercial claims before federal courts
and administrative agencies

Oblon, Spivak, LLP, Intellectual Property Law, Alexandria, VA 1999-2011
Partner, Director & Risk Management Chair

• Represented domestic and foreign clients in patent litigation involving diverse areas of
technology, drafted opinions relating to patent validity and infringement, and prepared and

prosecuted patent applications before the USPTO
• Promoted by senior management to Chief Legal Compliance Officer to manage finn's

functions in legal ethics, professional responsibility, risk management, and malpractice
avoidance to ensure PTO and state ethics compliance

• Served as Arbitrator in binding proeceding to resolve ownership dispute of IP rights
between competing clients through review of legal briefs, documentary evidence and
witness testimony to reach appropriate decision

• Elected to Shareholder and Board of Directors due to trusting reputation for liaison and
discretion with strong analytical and communication skills to serve interests of attorneys and

• Recognized as Intellectual Property expert through IP published works and speaking
engagements in legal and academia communities (see below list)

McDermott, Will & Emery, Partner, IP Litigation, Washington, DC 1995-1999
(Merged with Lowe, Price, LeBlanc & Becker)

Shapiro & Olander, Associate, General Practice, Baltimore, MD 1992-1995
• Represented corporate and individual clients in litigating patent, trademark, and copyright

disputes before federal district courts and the International Trade Commission
• Initiated IP Department (at Shapiro) to represent inventors and companies in patent and

trademark clearances, opinions, applications, IP licensing rights, and employer contract
protocols for ownership of intellectual property
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GOVERNMENT PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE:

NASA / Goddard Space Flight Center, Greenbelt, MD 1985-1989
Engineer
• Conducted microgravity testing of new types of heat transfer systems for integration in the

NASA Space Station, analyzed performance data, and delivered recommendations to senior
management

• Served as Goddard representative in collaboration with U.S. Air Force to develop high-
power spacecraft thermal management systems. and authored and presented technical paper
on project results at international engineering conference

IIONORS/AWARDS:

• Included multiple times in Washington DC Best Lawyer's List lor patent and intellectual
property law, and Super Lawyers for professional liability, 2018-2020

• Elected as Baltimore "Patent Lawyer of the Year" in 2015 by Best Lawyers
• Awarded "Best Legal Blog of 2016" for niche and specialty area
• Chair, ABA-IP Law Section Ethics and Professional Resp. Committee, 2018 Present
• Co-Chair, ABA-IP Law Section Ethics and Prof. Resp. Committee - 2016-2018
• Liaison, ABA Pro Bono Committee, ABA-lP Law Section 2019-Present
• Liaison, SOC Committee on Ethics and Professionalism, ABA-lP Law Section 2018-19
• Member, ABA Working Group on Resolution 10A - 2019
• Named as one of World's Leading IP Strategists by Intellectual Asset Management, 2018
• Rated "AV Preeminent Peer Review" for highest level of professional excellence, 2018-20

EDUCATION / LICENSING:

University of Baltimore School of Law, Baltimore, MD, Juris Doctor, 1992
Magna cum laude

• Law Review and National Moot Court Competition (Team Captain)
• American Jurisprudence book award for highest grade in Civil Procedure, Torts, Criminal

Law and Constitutional Law

University of Maryland, College Park, MD.
Bachelor of Science in Mechanical Engineering - 1985

Professional Licenses:
• Maryland (1992), District of Columbia (1993) and Virginia (2009)
• U.S. District Courts - Maryland, District of Columbia, E.D. and W.D. Virginia
• U.S. Court of Appeals - First, Fourth, D.C. and Federal Circuits
• U.S. Supreme Court
• USPTO Registered Patent Attorney (No. 37,182, since 1993)
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TEACHING / LECTURING EXPERIENCE:

Johns Hopkins University, Baltimore, MD 2014-2019
• Guest Lecturer - Patent Law

Antonin Scalia Law School - George Mason University, Arlington, VA 2008-201 I
• Guest Lecturer - Advanced Patent Law
• Adjunct Professor - Design Patent Law

Virginia State Bar Professionalism Course, Arlington, VA 201 1-2014,
• Faculty Annual all-day ethics course for new Virginia Bar members. 2019-2022

General ethics issues and specially lectures for new IP lawyers

SPEECHES / PRESENTATIONS:

• Navigating Conunon Pitfalls in IP Practice. webinar presented for Oregon State Bar IP
Section (Nov. 6, 2020) (speaker)

• Ethics Issues Relating to Working Remotch webinar presented for the American
Intellectual Property Law Association (Nov. 5, 2020) (panelist)

• Patent Prosecution Malpractice: Minimizing the Risk of Claims, webinar presented for
Strafford CLE (July 14, 2020) (speaker)

• Reducing Stress and Avoiding Mistakes in the Post-COVIDd9 Era, webinar presented for
the ABA-Intellectual Property Law Section Spring CLE (June 18, 2020) (moderator)

• T he USPTO's Focus on Declarations, webinar presented for the 2020 ABA-Intellectual
Property Law Section Annual Meeting (June 1, 2020) (moderator)

• Ethics for IP Lanyers, presented at State Bar for Arizona Sixth Annual CLE in the
Garden, Phoenix, AZ (Feb. 25, 2020) (speaker)

• Harry L Currico Virginia State Bar Professionalism Course, presented on General Ethics
and Intellectual Property Ethics, McLean, VA (Jan. 8, 2020) (speaker)

• Recent Developments in Patent and Trademark Ethics, presented at 2019 Intellectual
Property Law and E-Commerce Seminar, Iowa State Bar Association, Des Moines, IA
(Dec. 17, 2019) (speaker)

• Avoiding Conflicts of Interest and Other Ethical Dilenunas on the IP Bridge, presented at
Sixth Annual Meeting of the Center for the Protection of Intc1lectual Property, Antonin
Scalia Law School, George Mason University, Arlington, VA (Oct. 4, 2019) (speaker)
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• Inadvertent Disclosure aml Waiver of Privilege: Legal aml Ethical Dilemmas for the IP
Practitioner, presented at the American Bar Association IP Law Section Fall Meeting,
San Antonio, TX (Oct. 3, 2019) (speaker)

• 2019 IP Ethics ami Risk Management Update, Avoiding Common Conflicts of Interest in
IP Law Practice, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual Property / Lawyers
Professional Liability Webinar Series (June 26, 2019 and Sept. 27, 2019) (speaker)

• Navigating Conflicts and Other Ethical Dilemmas in IP Law Practice, in-house CLE
presented to McDonnell Bochnen Hulbert & Berghoff LLP, Chicago, IL (June 21, 2019)
(speaker)

• Ethics Issues for IP Counsel Working Ibrough Foreign Associates and Intermediaries, in-
bouse CLE presented to Loeb & Loeb LLP, Chicago, 1L (June 20, 2019) (speaker)

• Navigating Conflicts of Interest in Patent and l'radenwrk Law. webinar presented to the
Virginia State Bar Intellectual Property Law Section (May 9, 2019) (speaker)

• Trademark Representation Risks: Best Practices for Reducing Malpractice ami Ethics
Complaints, webinar sponsored by Strafford CLE (May 8, 2019) (speaker)

• Intellectual Property Malpractice the Parade ofHorribles, presented via phone to the
Tennessee Intellectual Property Law Association 2019 Spring Symposium, Nashville,
TN (May 3, 2019) (speaker)

• Ethics for the IP Practitioner, presented at the Washington State Bar Association 24d'
Annual Intellectual Property Institute, Seattle, WA (Apr. 17, 2019) (speaker)

• The Rocks and Hard Places for IP Practitioners, presented at 2019 ABA-IP Law Annual
Meeting and 34d" Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 12,
2019) (moderator)

• Disqualification: Lessons from Recent Cases, webinar sponsored by IPO Chat Channel
(Apr. 10, 2019) (speaker)

• Introduction to Patent Law, guest lecture at Johns Hopkins University - Carey Business
School, Baltimore, MD (Apr. 3, 2019) (speaker)

• 2019 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, Avoiding Common Conflicts of Interest in
IP Law Practice, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual Property / Lawyers
Professional Liability Webinar Series (Mar. 27, 2019) (speaker)

• Patent Prosecution Malpractice: Minimizing the Risk of Claims, webinar sponsored by
Strafford CLE Webinars (Feb. 21, 2019) (speaker)
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• Attorney Wellness and Contpetency, moderator of panel discussion, presented to the Giles S.
Rich American Inns of Court and the George Washington University School of Law,
Washington, D.C. (Feb. 19, 2019) (moderator)

• Getting Physical: 17te Ethics of Attorney-Client Sexual Relations, presented at 2019 AIPLA
Mid-Winter Institute, Tampa, FL (Feb. 2, 2019) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Dec. 12, 2018) (speaker)

• J he Ethics of Legal Process Outsourcingfor the IP Attorney. presented to Cincinnati
Intellectual Property Law Association, Cincinnati, 011 (Dec. I 1, 2018) (speaker)

• No Candv for You: Trichy Ethics Issues for IP Lavyers, presented at UT Law 23"I Annual
Advanced Patent Law Institute, Austin, TX (Nov. 1, 2018) (speaker)

• Conflicts ofInterest in Intellectual Property Law, presented at Intellectual Property
Owners Association Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL (Sept. 25, 2018) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Sept. 6, 2018) (speaker)

• 77te 7 Ilabits of Highly Ethical IP Lanyers, presented at 13* Annual Door County
(Wisconsin) Intellectual Property Academy, Sturgeon Bay, WI (July 19, 2018) (speaker)

• Exploring Ethical Requirements When Working Through the Patent and Trademark Practice,
presented at ACI's 45 Annual Post Grant PTO Proceedings, Washington, D.C. (July 18,
2018) (speaker)

• Evaluating Ethical Concerns for the Biosimilars Industry, presented at ACI's 9* Annual
Summit on Biosimilars, New York, NY (June 26, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethical Issues for IP Lauyers, in-house ethics seminar presented for Hauptman Ham, LLP,
Alexandria, VA (May 30, 2018) (speaker)

• 2018 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (May 21, 2018) (speaker)

• Social Media Policies for Law Firms, presented at the ABA Section of Taxation 2018
Annual Meeting, Washington, D.C. (May 12, 2018) (speaker)
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• Multijurisdictional Practice and the Modent IP Attorney, presented at the ABA-1P Law
Section 33"1 Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 19,
2018) (speaker)

• Ethical Considerations for Teleworking and A4ultijurisdictional Practice fi>r the IP Lanyer,
presented at Oregon Patent Law Association (OPLA) - Salishan Patent Law Conference,
Gleneden Beach, OR (Apr. 14, 2018) (speaker)

• 20 ]8 IP Ethics and Risk Management Update, webinar sponsored by CNA Intellectual
Property / Lawyers Professional Liability Webinar Series (Mar. 26, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethics Before the PT4B. presented at 2018 PTAB Bar Association Annual Conference.
Washington, DC (Mar. 23, 2018) (speaker)

• Risky Business Ethical Issues & Professional Considerations for Young Lawyers, webinar
sponsored by ABA-Young Lawyers Action Group (YLAG) and ABA-IP Section Ethics
and Professional Responsibility Committcc (Mar. 9, 2018) (speaker)

• Brave New World: I'echnology Advances Create Ethical Risks li>r IP Attorneys, presented at
13th Annual Advanced Patent Law Institute - The University of Texas School of Law,
Alexandria, VA (Mar. 1, 2018) (speaker)

• IP and Technology: Ethical Risics, presented at 2018 Utah IP Summit - intellectual
Property Section of the Utah State Bar, Salt Lake City, UT (Feb. 23, 2018) (speaker)

• Conflicts of Interest in IP Law: Ethical Prohicms & Their Solutions, in-house ethics seminar
presented for Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman, McLean VA (Feb. 6, 2018) (speaker)

• What Every IP Lawyer 5'hould Know About Conflicts of Interest, in-house ethics seminar
presented for Birch Stewart Kolasch Birch, Fairfax, VA (Jan. 31, 2018) (speaker)

• Ethics Issues in PTAB Proceedings, a 90-minute ethics webinar sponsored by the American
Intellectual Property Law Association (Dec. 13, 2017) (speaker)

• Keeping the Lights on and the OED off Your Back: Ethical Conduct in the Practice ofIP
Law, a two-hour ethics presented at 2017 Iowa State Bar Association cCommerce &
Intellectual Property Seminar, Des Moines, IA (Dec. 1, 2017) (speaker)

• Outsourcing Patent Work: Avoiding Pitfalls, a webinar sponsored by Intellectual Property
Owners Association (IPO) (Nov. 16, 2017) (speaker)

• Tales f·om the OED Crypt: Scaiy (and True) Stories About Ethics & Discipline at the PTO
and Ethics Issues in Dealing with Foreign Associates and Foreign Clients, two speeches

presented at IPRP 2017 Fall Seminar, Washington, D.C. (Nov. 1, 2017) (speaker)
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• Advanced Intellectual Property Ethics for the IP Practitioner, broadcast live by Lawline.
New York, NY (Oct. 26, 2017) (speaker)

• Ethics in the Practice ofPatent and Trademark Law, presented at 2017 American Bar
Association IP Law Section IP West Program, Long Beach, CA (Oct. 12, 2017) (speaker)

• An Intellectual Property Ethics Roundtable Discussion, presented to Boston Patent Law
Association Ethics Committee, Boston, MA (Oct. 2, 2017) (speaker)

• Conflicts of Interest for the IP Practitioner, presented at 27th All Ohio Annual Institute on
Intellectual Property, Cincinnati, OH (Sept. 13, 2017) and Cleveland, OH (Sept. 14, 2017)
(speaker)

• Patent Counsel Ethical Engagement and Disengagement Letters, sponsored by Strafford
Webinars (July 27, 2017) (speaker)

• The Ethics of Working Remotelv: Preventing Problems Before They Happen, a 90-minute
webinar sponsored by the American Intellectual Property Law Association (June 2 1,
2017) (speaker)

• When Good Lanyers Go Had: Conunon Ethics Mistakes by IP Practitioners, a webinar
sponsored by the Association of Intellectual Property Firms (June 20, 2017) (speaker)

• Identifi>ing and Resolving Ethical Conflicts of Interest in Patent Prosecution, a webinar
sponsored by the American Bar Association Landslide Webinar Series (Apr. 18, 2017)
(speaker)

• IP Ethics Panel Discussion, presented at the ABA Section of Intellectual Property Law,
32nd Annual Intellectual Property Law Conference, Arlington, VA (Apr. 6, 2017)
(speaker)

• Advice of'Counsel Defense in Patent Litigation: Protecting Attorney-Client Privilege.
sponsored by Strafford Webinars (Mar. 16, 2017) (speaker)

• Surviving the Perfect Protostorm: An Anthology ofRecent IP Malpractice Decisions,
presented at Washington State Bar Association 22nd Annual IP Institute, Seattle, WA
(Mar. 10, 2017) (speaker)

• Bringing Home the Bacon: It's All About the Clients, presented at Maryland State Bar
Association's Law Office Management Assistance program, Baltimore, MD (Mar. 4, 2017)
(speaker)

• Mind Your Manners! Or, Ethics and Inequitable Conduct Before the Pl'AB, presented at the
PTAB Bar Association Inaugural Conference, Washington, DC (Mar. 3, 2017) (speaker)
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• Recent Developments in IP Malpractice Litigation, presented at the 2017 Utah IP Summit
CLE Symposium, Salt Lake City, UT (Feb. 24, 2017) (speaker)

• So You Want to Live in Tiinhuktu? Ethical Considerations for the IP Practitioner Working in
a Virtual Law Ofice, presented at the 2017 American Intellectual Property Law
Association - Mid-Winter Institute, Ft. Lauderdale, FL (Feb. 4, 2017) (speaker)

• The Dangers ofDabbling: IP Ethics Issues at the USPTO, presented at the 2016 Iowa State
Bar Annual Intellectual Property Law Seminar, Des Moines, IA (Dec. 2, 2016) (speaker)

• Ain't Mishchavin: Avoiding Ethical Prob|cms at the USPTO, live broadcast presented by
Lawline, New York, NY (Oct. 28, 2016) (speaker)

• Legal Ethics fi>r the Paraprofessional What You Don 't Know Can IIurt You, presented at
The National Association for Legal Professionals 2016 Education Conference and
National Forum, Nashville, TN (Oct. 7, 2016) (speaker)

• Why Me? Ethical Issues in IP Law and Avoiding USPTO Discipline, presented at The
Carolina Patent, Trademark & Copyright Law Association Fall Meeting, Kiawah Island,
SC (Sept. 23, 2016) (speaker)

• IP Ethics Panel, presented at the American Conference Institute Paragraph IV Master
Disputes Symposium, Chicago, IL (Sept. 20. 2016) (speaker)

• Hack This: Cyber Security Practices and Ethical Duties fi>r IP Law Firms and Risky
Business: Ethical Challenges Facing IP Law Firm Management, two speeches presented at
the Association of Legal Administrators 2016 Intellectual Property Conference for
Legal Professionals, Washington, DC (Sept. 15, 2016) (speaker)

• Hot Ethics Topics for the Patent Practitioner, ethics webinar sponsored by lowa State Bar
Association (September 13, 2016) (speaker)

• Recent Developments at the USPTO Office ofEnrolhnent and Discipline, presented at the
Attorneys' Liability Assurance Society Patent Consultation Group Roundtable,
Chicago, IL (August 4, 2016) (speaker)

• Legal Ethics and Professional Responsibility: Avoiding Conflicts of Interest, Maintaining
Confidentiality, and other Special Concerns for the Biosimilars Space, presented at the ACI
Biosimilars Summit, New York, NY (June 15, 2016) (speaker)

• The Ethics of Outsourcing Legal Services and Functions, presented at the Practicing Law
Institute 10th Annual Patent Law Institute, San Francisco, CA (May 5, 2016) and New
York, NY (Apr. 14, 2016) (speaker)
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• Conflicts and Ethical Issues in IP Practice, a two-hour ethics program presented at the
Arizona Bar IP Section Meeting, Second Annual CLE in the Gardens, Phoenix, AZ
(Apr. 8, 2016) (speaker)

• Roger Bois/oly and the Ethical Lessons Learnedfrom the Space Slmttle Challenger
Disaster, keynote speech presented at the 2016 University of Maryland Order of the
Engineer induction ceremony, College Park, MD (Mar. 29, 2016) (keynote speaker)

• Deja Vu All Over Again Recurring Ethics Issues in IP l aw, a two-hour ethics CLE
presented at the Washington State Bar Association Spring 2016 IP lustitute, Seattle. WA
(Mar. 11, 2016) (speaker)

• The Duty ofCandor to the Tribunal, a panel discussion moderated by Michael E. McCabe.
Jr. at the George Washington University School of Law for the Giles S. Rich American
Inns of Court, Washington, DC (Feb. 23, 2016) (moderator)

• Conflicts ofInterest in Patent Prosecution afïer Maling v. Finnegan, a webinar sponsored by
the Intellectual Property Owners Association (Feb. 10, 2016) (speaker)

• Gotcha! Fee-Shifting in IP Litigation Can Trigger OED Ethics Investigation and USPTO
Discipline, presented at the American Intellectual Property Law Association Mid-Winter
Institute, La Quinta, CA (Jan. 30, 2016) (speaker)

• Issues in IP Ethics, presented at a meeting of the Houston Intellectual Property Lawyer's
Association, Houston, TX (Nov. 17, 2015) (speaker)

• IP Ethics and Risk Management, presented at IPRP Fall 2015 Seminar, New York, NY
(Nov. 9, 2015) (speaker)

• IP Ethics -- Recent Developments, an in-house firm-wide ethics seminar presented to
McCarter & English, LLP, Boston, MA (Oct. 16, 2015) (speaker)

• Breaking Good-Essentials for the Ethical IP Attorney, presented at the American Bar
Association IP Law Section Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL (July 31, 2015) (speaker)

• Sul ject Matter Conflicts in IP Practice. presented at the Association of Professional
Responsibility Lawyers Annual Meeting, Chicago, IL (July 31, 2015) (speaker)

• Ethics in IP, presented at a meeting of the New Jersey IntcIlectual Property Law
Association (NJIPLA), Isclin, NJ (Dec. 10, 2014) (speaker)

• Ethical Issues in Patent and Trademark Practice: A Practitioner's Guide to the USPTO's
New Ethics Rules and Responding to OED Disciplinmy Investigations, presented live and by
video at Virginia CLE, Charlottesville, VA (Apr. 4, 2013) (speaker
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• Recent Developments in Intellectual Property Prosecution and Litigation Ethics, webinar
sponsored by the Virginia State Bar Intellectual Property Section (May 10, 2011)
(speaker)

• Recent Trends in Inducing Infringement and Divided infringement, webinar sponsored by
Managing Intellectual Property (Dec. 2010) (speaker)

• The Growing Popularity of the International Trade Conunission as a Preferred Forum for
Enforcing U.S. Patent Rights, presented at Domestic Impact of Intellectual Property in a
Global Economy Symposium sponsored by University of Baltimore School of Law (Mar.
26, 2010) (speaker)

• Attorney-Client Privilege in Patent Proceedings - Strategies for Preserving Confidential
Conununications, webinar sponsored by Insurance Law and Litigation Reporter of
Strafford Publications (June 2008) (speaker)

• Navigating the Risks ofinequitable Conduct, keynote speech presented at CNA's Fourth
Forum on Addressing the Risks of Intellectual Property Practice (May 2007) (keynote
speaker)

• Understanding the Discovery Process in U.S. Patent Litigation, presented at EuroLegal
Conference, London, England (Oct. 1, 2002) (speaker)

PUBLICATIONS REGARDING INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY / ETHICS:

• Are Your Firm's Foreign Associate Practice's Ethical?. Vol. 29, Issue 1, Michigan IPLS
Proceedings, a quarterly joumal published by the Intellectual Property Law Section of the
Michigan State Bar (Feb. 2018)

• Maryland Conflict of Interest Law, Vol. 27, Issue 2, DRI Happenings - The Newsletter of
the Life, Health and Disability Committee (June 7, 2016)

• Representing Clients with Diminished Capacity, published in Wealth Management.com
(Oct. 19, 2015)

• The Rat Rule in IP Litigation A Threat to Report Another s Uncthical Conduct for Strategic
Advantage is Unethical and May he Illegal, Vol. 21, No. 5, IP Litigator (Sept./Oct. 2015)

• USPTO No Safe Haven fè>r Suspended or Disharred Attorneys, Vol. 21, No. 4, IP Litigator
(July/Aug. 2015)

• Ethics are Not Just fè>r Lawyers The Legal Duties ofLaw Firm Paraprofessionals,
published in @Law, the NAI S Magazine for Legal Professionals (Summer 2015)
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• USPTO is on the Lookout for Ethical Misconduct, published in Law360 (May 26, 2015)

• IP Counsel Who Blindly Follow Client Instructions" Risk Losing Law License, published in
Vol. 21, No. 3, IP Litigator (May/June 2015)

• USPTO's New Ethics Rocket Docket for Attorney Discipline, published in Law360 (Oct. 30,
2013)

• Attorney-Client Privilege and Work-Product Innnunity in Patent Litigation, chapter 17 in
The Attorney-Client Privilege in Civil Litigation - Protecting and Defending
Confidentiality (5th ed., 2012; 4u' ed. 2008) (American Bar Association)

• Recent Developments in Patent Law and their Impact on the Pharmaceutical and
Biotechnology Industries, Vol. 19, No. 2 University of Baltimore Intellectual Property
Law Journal (Spring 2011) and speech (March 2011)

• Richardson v. Stanley Works, Inc., Maryland State Bar Association, Intellectual Property
Section (June 2010 Annual Meeting)

• Egyptian Goddess Puts Teeth Back in US Industrial Design Rights, Intellectual Property
Watch (Nov. 12, 2008)

• A Renewed Interest by the Supreme Court in the Field of Patent Law: eBay v. MercExchange
and KSR v. Teleflex, Vol. 44, No. 1 Computer Law Reporter (Sept. 2006) and Vol. 7
Internet Law & Business (Sept. 2006)

• Look Again! Capitalizing on IP Assets, Trademark World: The Price of IP (May 2006)
(published in Europe)

• May a Practitioner Both Act as a Counsel in an Interference and Testify as to His or Her
Diligence In Preparing an Application?, Vol. 13, No. 3 Intellectual Property Today (Mar.
2006)

• Back in the Box - Retiring the Adverse Inference Rule. lssue 168 Patent World (Dec.
2004/Jan. 2005) (published in Europe)

• knpact of'the CAFC's Knorr-Bremse Decision and Answers to Japanese Companies' Most
Important Questions About Opinions of Counsel in U.S. Patent Litigation, Vol. 54, No. 13
Intellectual Property Management (Dec. 2004) (translated into Japancsc/published in
Japan)

• Understanding Discovery in U.S. Patent Litigation,Vatent World, a three-part series No.
I47 (Nov. 2002); No. 148 (Dec. 2002/Jan. 2003); No. 149 (Feb. 2003/Mar. 2003)

• Attornev-Client Privilege and Work Product Inununity in Patent Litigation, book chapter
published in Anthony B. Askew and Elizabeth C. Jacobs 2001 Intellectual Property Law
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Update (Aspen Law & Business) (Jun. 2001)

• Ethical and Local Rule Restrictions on Investigations ofPotential Jurors and Post-Trial
Contact with Jurors, ABA-IP Law Section (Dec. 1995)

QUOTED AS LEGAL AUTHORITY IN MEDIA:

• Full Fed. Circ. Asked to Rethink Voiding IP in Ethanol MDL, Law360 (Apr. 15, 2020)

• Fed. Cir. Inequitable Conduct Case Alarms IP Ethics Attys, Law360 (Mar. 1 1, 2020)

• $32M Dentons Verdict Could Put Vereins in the Crosshairs, Law360 (Feb. 25, 2020)

• Patent Lawyer Fights Identity Thefï Over Fraudulent USPTO Filings fi·om China, Corporate
Counsel (Mar. 4, 2019)

• Ilow Law Firms Can Avoid Conflicts Involving Corporate Affiliates, Law360 (Mar. 1, 2019)

• Lawyers Warn Employees About Social Media Use, Bloomberg I aw (Sept I I, 2018)

• Drafting and Implementing Social Media Policies for Law Firms, Bloomberg Law (May 30,
2018)

• California Adopts Modified ABA Model Rules, Bloomberg Law (May 11, 2018)

• Lawyers Have an Ethical Duty to Safeguard Confidential Information in the Cloud, ABA
Journal (April 2018)

• Legal Combat - When Companies Sue Their Outside Counsel, It Can Be One Brouhaha,
Corporate Counsel (Mar. 2018)

• USPTO Trying Out Diversion for Struggling Practitioners, Bloomberg BNA (Nov. 15,
2017)

• Patent Office Unveils Program for Attorneys with Addiction Issues, Reuters Legal (Nov. 5,
2017)

• Did McKool Smith Violate Prosecution Bar in High-Profile Patent Case?, The Recorder
(Sept. 15, 2017)

• Ex L'Oreal Atty Faces Tough Road in Wrongful Firing Case, IP Law360 and Legal Ethics
360 (July 31, 2017)

• Greenberg Traurig Agrees to Withdraw fi·om Case in Which it was Faced with Conflict of
Interest, The American Lawyer Daily Business Review (May 24, 2017)
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• USPTO Suspends Fonner Niro Junior IP Attorneyfor 18 Months, The American Lawyer
(Mar. 6, 2017)

• Dispute Between USPTO and Controversial Tradentark Filer Ends, World Trademark
Review (Feb. 21, 2017)

• IP Atty-Client Privilege Faces Challenges After Halo, Law360 (Jan. 20, 2017)

• A New Front in the IP Wars, The American Lawyer (Dec. 2016)

• Is It Disrespectful to Send an Associate to Court? Maybe Not, Law.Com (Sept. 27, 2016)

• Order Disqualifiring Dentons is Vacated, Leaving Verein Conflicts Issue Unresolved, Vol.
21, No. 8 ABA/BNA Lawyers' Manual on Professional Conduct (Apr. 20, 2016)

• 7'exas Ruling Sets fligh Barfor Patent Malpractice Claints, Law360 (Mar. 30, 2016)

• 5 Tips to Avoid IP Malpractice Suits, Law360 (Nov. 20, 2015)

PRIOR TESTIMONY

Trial testimony in Attorney Grievance Conun n ofMaryland v. Sanmel Sperling et al., Misc.
Docket AG Nos. 40 & 76, before Judge H. Patrick Stringer, Circuit Court of Baltimore County,
Maryland (Aug. 22, 2017), appointed by Maryland Court of Appeals. decision of the Maryland
Court of Appeals published at 459 Md. 194, 185 A.3d 76 (May 21, 2018) (conBrming client's
reliance on advice of Michael McCabe as admissible evidence of mitigation)

Deposition testimony in Attorney Grievance Conun'n of Mmyland v. Saniuel Sperling, et a/.
Misc. Docket AG Nos. 40 & 76, Circuit Court of Baltimore County, Maryland (April 10, 2017)
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Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
 
THE FLORIDA BAR     Supreme Court Case No. 

SC18-1279 
COMPLAINANT     

       The Florida Bar File: 
v.       2019-70,032(11J) 
 
JOHN H. FARO 
       

 RESPONDENT 
_______________________/ 
 
 

PROFFER OF PROPOSED TESTIMONY OF  
MICHAEL McCABE, ESQ. 

 
COMES NOW, the Respondent, JOHN H. FARO, by and through his 

undersigned counsel, and states as follows: 

If allowed to testify, Michael McCabe will testify regarding issues relating to 

punishment, aggravation, mitigation, excuse, and justification as follows: 

1. No dishonest, selfish, or financial motivation; 
 
2. No intentional bad conduct; 

 
3. No bad faith obstruction of the disciplinary proceeding; 

 
4. No submission of false evidence, false statements, or other  

deceptive practices during the disciplinary process; 
 

5. No refusal to acknowledge the nature of the conduct;  
 
6. The “victim” was not vulnerable; 

 
7. The “victim” suffered no damages;  

 

APPX 1224 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



Supreme Court Case No. 
SC18-1279 

    
        The Florida Bar File: 

        2019-70,032(11J) 
 
 

2 
Podhurst Orseck, P.A.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300, Miami, FL 33131 • Miami 305.358.2800 Fax 305.358.2382 • Fort Lauderdale 954.463.4346 www.podhurst.com

 
 

8. Timely good faith effort to rectify the consequences of the  
alleged misconduct; 

 
9. Full and free disclosure to The Bar and cooperative attitude 

regarding the proceedings; 
 
10. Character and reputation; 
 
11. Unreasonable delay in the disciplinary proceedings; 

 
12. Imposition of other penalties and sanctions; 

 
13. Remorse; and 

 
14. Remoteness of prior offenses 

 
 
Respectfully, 

 
PODHURST ORSECK, P.A. 
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382 
rjosefsberg@podhurst.com  

  
By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg_________ 
ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
Florida Bar No. 040856  
Attorneys for Respondent, John Faro   
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FARO & ASSOCIATES 
1395 Brickell Avenue, Suite 800 
Miami, Florida 33131 
(305) 761-6921 / Fax (305) 726-0029 
JohnF75712@aol.com  
 

     By:  /s/ John H. Faro_________ 
 John H. Faro 

      Florida Bar No. 527.459  
      Co-Counsel for Respondent John Faro 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I HEREBY CERTIFY that the Respondent’s Proffer of Proposed 

Testimony of Michael McCabe, Esq. has been provided to The Honorable 

Jason E. Dimitris, Referee, via his service email at 

11thfc203@jud11.flcourts.org and his Judicial Assistant’s email at 

hnguyen@jud11.flcourts.org; to Arlene Kalish Sankel, Esq., Chief Branch 

Discipline Counsel, via email at asankel@floridabar.org and 

nbeaird@floridabar.org; and to Patricia A. Toro Savitz, Esq., Staff Counsel, 

via email at psavitz@floridabar.org on this 29th day of January, 2021. 

       By:__/s/ Robert C. Josefsberg 
        ROBERT C. JOSEFSBERG 
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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 
(Before a Referee) 

THE FLORIDA BAR, 

Complainant, 

v. 

JOHN H. FARO, 

Respondent. 

Supreme Court Case 
No. SC18-1279 

The Florida Bar File 
No. 2019-70,032(11J)  

____________________/ 

REPORT OF REFEREE 

I. SUMMARY OF PROCEEDINGS 

Pursuant to the undersigned being duly appointed as Referee to 

conduct disciplinary proceedings herein according to Rule 3-7.6, Rules of 

Discipline, the following proceedings occurred: 

On August 3, 2018, The Florida Bar filed its Complaint against 

Respondent in these proceedings.  The instant matter is predicated upon 

disciplinary proceedings brought against Respondent by the Office of 

Enrollment and Discipline (OED) of the United States Patent and 

Trademark Office (USTPO) in proceeding no. D2015-27. 

On August 13, 2018, the Honorable Jeri B. Cohen was assigned by 

the Chief Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit to serve as the Referee in 

this cause.  On September 13, 2018, Respondent filed his Motion to Stay 
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the proceeding based on his appeal of the findings of fact and law in the 

underlying case.  On October 1, 2018, Judge Cohen entered an agreed 

order granting Respondent’s Motion to Stay.  On November 2, 2018, the 

Supreme Court of Florida entered an order staying the proceedings before 

the Referee until such time as the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District 

of Virginia had concluded its review of Respondent’s appeal, and further 

directing Respondent to advise the court every ninety days of the status of 

the federal proceedings, as well as notify the court when the federal court 

had concluded its review.  

  On February 5, 2019, Respondent filed a Notice of Status of Judicial 

Review of Patent Office Director Final Order of Suspension dated February 

9, 2018, and Motion of Stay.  On February 25, 2019, the Supreme Court of 

Florida entered an order directing the Bar to file a written response as to 

why Respondent should not be under current suspension in Florida 

pending the appeal from the Patent Office Director Final Order of 

Suspension.   On March 12, 2019, the Bar filed its response as ordered by 

the Court.  

  On April 2, 2019, the Supreme Court of Florida entered an order 

granting Respondent’s February 5, 2019 Motion to Stay, and further 

directing Respondent to comply with the same requirements as set forth in 
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the court’s previous order entered on November 2, 2018.  Subsequent 

status reports were filed with the Supreme Court of Florida on July 22, 

2019, October 30, 2019, February 28, 2020, and June 17, 2020.   

On August 31, 2020, the undersigned was appointed to serve as the 

new Referee due to the previous Referee’s impending retirement.  On 

September 30, 2020, a case management conference was held and it was 

determined that the appellate review of the U.S. Patent Office discipline 

order in the underlying proceedings had been concluded, and the instant 

matter was ready to proceed before the undersigned Referee. 

On October 20, 2020, Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss and 

Alternatively, For Judgment on the Pleadings.  On November 12, 2020, a 

hearing was held on Respondent’s Motion to Dismiss, and Respondent’s 

motion was denied. 

On December 4, 2020, The Florida Bar filed its Partial Motion for 

Summary Judgment, with corresponding exhibits.  On December 8, 2020, 

Respondent filed his Motion for Summary Judgment, with corresponding 

exhibits. On December 18, 2020, a hearing on The Florida Bar’s and 

Respondent’s Motions for Summary Judgment was held.  On January 20, 

2021, an order was entered granting the Bar’s motion and denying 

Respondent’s motion. 
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On February 1, 2021, the final hearing commenced solely on the 

issue of discipline.  Not having concluded on that date, the final hearing 

was  continued to February 8, 2021; however, due to Respondent having 

sustained an injury, the continuation of the final hearing was rescheduled to 

and held on March 12, 2021. 

All items properly filed including pleadings, recorded testimony (if 

transcribed), exhibits in evidence, and the report of Referee constitute the 

record in this case and are forwarded to the Supreme Court of Florida. 

The following persons appeared at the final hearing:   

On behalf of The Florida Bar:  Arlene Kalish Sankel 
Chief Branch Discipline Counsel  
444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100                               
Miami, Florida 33131  

 

On behalf of the Respondent: Robert C. Josefsberg, Esq.  
One SE Third Avenue, Suite 2300 
Miami, Florida 33131 

 
 

Respondent initially appeared pro se and then as co-counsel subsequent to 

Mr. Josefsberg’s filing of his notice of appearance in this proceeding.   

II. FINDINGS OF FACT 

Jurisdictional Statement.  Respondent is, and at all times mentioned 

during this investigation was, a member of The Florida Bar, subject to the 

jurisdiction and Disciplinary Rules of the Supreme Court of Florida. 
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Narrative Summary of Case.  In granting the Bar’s Motion for Partial 

Summary Judgment as to four rule violations, the undersigned Referee 

relied on Rules Regulating the Florida Bar 3-4.6, which states in relevant 

part: 

A final adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or 
other authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, 
state or federal, that a lawyer licensed to practice in that 
jurisdiction is guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action 
will be considered as conclusive proof of the misconduct in a 
disciplinary proceeding under this rule.   
 
Consequently, the proof of undisputed material facts resulted in the 

undersigned Referee finding Respondent guilty as charged on all rule 

violations.  Those undisputed facts constitute the Referee’s findings of fact 

as follows: 

A. This is a reciprocal discipline action based on disciplinary action 

taken against Respondent by the United States Patent and Trademark 

Office (USPTO). 

B. Respondent became a patent attorney registered to practice 

before the USPTO on March 3, 1971. On August 2, 2017, Respondent was 

the subject of a Final Order issued by the USPTO suspending him for a 

period of eight months and thereafter until passage of the MPRE and 

reinstatement by the Office of Enrollment and Discipline Director. This Final 

Order issued following Respondent’s appeal of the earlier Initial Decision 
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issued by Administrative Law Judge J. Jeremiah Mahoney, who concluded 

that, on the basis of clear and convincing evidence1, Respondent had 

violated numerous rules of the USPTO Code of Professional 

Responsibility.2 The August 2, 2017 Final Order affirmed the earlier 

September 15, 2016 decision by the Administrative Law Judge. The factual 

findings set forth in the following paragraphs formed the basis for 

Respondent’s suspension from the USPTO and are contained in the 

August 2, 2017 Final Order.3  They are the findings of the undersigned 

Referee. 

The USPTO Final Order Dated August 2, 2017 

C. On September 20, 2002, the USPTO issued a final Office 

Action (“First Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 2 through 22 of a patent 

application, which had been filed by EPRT Technologies, Inc. (“EPRT”) on 

September 7, 2000. 

D. Subsequent to the rejection, and at EPRT’s request, 

Respondent emailed EPRT co-inventor and executive David Estes on 

1   Clear and convincing is the same evidentiary standard to be applied in Florida Bar disciplinary 
proceedings. See The Florida Bar v. Rayman, 238 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1970). 
 
2   The hearing before the Administrative Law Judge was conducted on May 10-11, 2016 in Miami and 
included testimony from EPRT President and CEO Katherine Blake, attorney Meredith Chaiken (EPRT’s 
counsel in the related malpractice case) and respondent, John Faro.   
 
3   In the interest of brevity, the factual findings have been consolidated to some extent from the August 
2, 2017 Order.   
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November 19, 2002 to discuss the application as drafted by prior counsel. 

Ultimately, Mr. Estes e-mailed Respondent on November 22, 2002, 

authorizing him to begin work on the application. 

E. Respondent submitted to the USPTO a Power of Attorney and 

Revocation of Prior Powers on December 12, 2002, signed by Katherine 

Blake, EPRT co-founder and president. 

F. On January 30, 2003, the USPTO issued a non-final Office 

Action in response to a Request for Continued Examination filed by 

Respondent on January 16, 2003. Respondent filed a response to that 

Office Action on March 14, 2003, which was rejected in another non-final 

Office Action issued on June 4, 2003. 

G. On November 12, 2003, Respondent filed an amendment to the 

application; however, after additional pleadings related to the amendment, 

the USPTO issued a Notice of Non-Responsive Amendment to 

Respondent on January 8, 2004. 

H. After receiving calls from the USPTO patent examiner assigned 

to the application, Respondent filed a response on February 9, 2004, but it 

was deemed non-compliant. 

I. On August 12, 2004, the USPTO issued a Notice of 

Abandonment (“First Abandonment”) for the patent application, citing 
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Respondent’s failure to file a compliant response to the January 2004 

notice. The First Abandonment stated that the patent examiner had left 

voice messages for Respondent on July 9, July 19, and July 20, 2004, the 

last call informing Respondent that the application would be deemed 

abandoned if he did not contact the examiner by July 23, 2004. 

Respondent did not return any messages and the application was deemed 

abandoned. 

J. Respondent filed a Petition to Revive the patent application on 

October 28, 2004. It stated that the application was unintentionally 

abandoned because Respondent had not received the January 2004 

Notice. The Petition was granted on January 18, 2005. 

K. On April 19, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Second Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 3, 4, and 23-25 of the 

application. 

L. On June 20, 2005, Respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. Estes 

an e-mail with the subject “Re: Statis [sic] of Patents.” The email stated that 

“the US examiner has issued an office action (non-final rejection) and I 

shall set up an interview with her shortly” (emphasis in original). 
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M. Respondent filed a Notice of Appeal (“First Appeal”) on June 

30, 2005. On July 27, 2005, he informed Ms. Blake and Keith Wendell, 

CEO of EPRT, of the appeal. 

N. On November 14, 2005, the USPTO issued a final Office Action 

(“Third Final Rejection”) rejecting claims 23-25 and objecting to claims 3 

and 4. 

O. The first substantive page of the USPTO Office Action defines 

the “Period for Reply” and informed Respondent that, in all capital letters, 

“a shortened statutory period for reply is set to expire 3 month(s) or thirty 

(30) days, whichever is longer, from the mailing date of this 

communication.” The same section also stated that the application would 

become abandoned if a reply was not received within the reply period. 

P. On November 29, 2005, Respondent sent Ms. Blake and Mr. 

Estes an e-mail with the subject “Allowed subject matter,” and related the 

contents (albeit, inaccurately) of the Third Final Rejection. Respondent’s e-

mail did not mention EPRT had three months to file a reply. There is no 

indication that anyone at EPRT received a copy of the Third Final Review. 

Q. Respondent appealed the Third Final Rejection (“Second 

Appeal”) to the Board of Patent Appeal and Interferences (Board) on 
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February 2, 2006. The USPTO patent examiner answered the Second 

Appeal on August 31, 2006. 

R. On June 1, 2009, the Board issued its Decision on Appeal 

(“Board Decision”), affirming the Third Final Rejection’s conclusions as to 

claims 3,4, and 22-25. The first page of the Board Decision included a foot 

note announcing the two-month period to file an appeal or initiate a civil 

case; the final page stated, “no period for taking any subsequent action in 

connection with this appeal may be extended.” The Board Decision was 

sent to Respondent’s record bar address. 

S. On August 14, 2009, USPTO issued a Notice of Abandonment 

regarding the patent application because all claims had been rejected, the 

application had not been amended, and because no appeal was filed within 

the two-month window. The Notice of Abandonment was sent to 

Respondent’s record bar address and stated that a message had been left 

on his answering machine on August 6, 2009. 

T. Respondent claims he did not receive the Notice of 

Abandonment. 

U. Beginning in 2010, Ms. Blake contacted Respondent several 

times to determine the status of the application. Respondent eventually e-
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mailed Ms. Blake, stating that he had “attempted to determine the status of 

the patent [applications] and have yet to hear back from my inquiries.” 

V. In March 2011, Ms. Blake contacted Respondent by phone to 

discuss the application; however, he abruptly ended the call and did not 

answer when she immediately called him back. 

W. Throughout 2011, Ms. Blake sent seven increasingly urgent e-

mails to Respondent attempting to learn about the status of the patent 

application. Each e-mail indicated that she had also tried to reach him by 

phone. Respondent never responded. 

X. Eventually, EPRT hired the Farahmand Law Firm to pursue 

possible legal action against Respondent. On October 21, 2011, attorney 

Roger Farahmand sent Respondent a letter requesting the status of the 

patent application. On October 28, 2011, Respondent responded by faxing 

a copy of the Board Decision denying the appeal. Respondent did not 

include a copy of the Notice of Abandonment. EPRT was not aware of the 

June 1, 2009 Board Decision or abandonment at any time prior to October 

28, 2011. 

Y. On October 31, 2011, attorney Farahmand wrote Respondent 

requesting a complete copy of the client’s file, but Respondent did not 
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provide the file to Mr. Farahmand nor to anyone at EPRT. Finally, EPRT 

obtained the file by subpoena to Respondent’s ex-wife. 

Z. Based on the findings set forth above, Respondent was found 

to have committed multiple violations of the USPTO Code of Professional 

Responsibility, including 37 C.F.R 10.23(a)4 and (b)5 via 10.23(c)(8)6; 37 

C.F.R 10.77(c)7; 37 C.F.R 10.84(a)(1) and (2)8; and 37 C.F.R 

10.112(c)(4)9. (See p. 12-13 of Ex. “A”.) In sum and substance, these 

specific rules prohibit a USPTO practitioner from engaging in an array of 

conduct including, but not limited to lack of communication, lack of 

diligence, and conduct prejudicial or damaging to the client.  

 

4   37 C.F.R. 10.23(a): A practitioner shall not engage in disreputable or gross misconduct 
5   37 C.F.R. 10.23(b): A practitioner shall not (1) Violate a Disciplinary Rule. (2) Circumvent a 
Disciplinary Rule through actions of another. (3) Engage in illegal conduct involving moral turpitude. (4) 
Engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation. (5) Engage in conduct 
prejudicial to the administration of justice. (6) Engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on the 
practitioner’s fitness to practice before the Office). 
 
6   37 C.F.R. 1023(c)(8): Conduct which constitutes a violation . . . includes, but is not limited to: . . . 
Failing to inform a client or former client or failing to timely notify the Office of an inability to notify a client 
or former client of correspondence received from the Office or the client or former client’s opponent in an 
inter partes proceeding before the Office when the correspondence (i) could have a significant effect on a 
matter pending before the Office, (ii) is received by the practitioner on behalf of a client or former client 
and (iii) is correspondence of which a reasonable practitioner would believe under the circumstances the 
client or former client should be notified. 
 
7   37 C.F.R. 10.77(c): A practitioner shall not: (c) Neglect a legal matter entrusted to the practitioner. 
 
8   37 C.F.R. 10.84(a): A practitioner shall not intentionally: (1) Fail to seek the lawful objectives of a client 
through reasonably available means permitted by law and the Disciplinary Rules…. (2) Fail to carry out a 
contract of employment entered into with a client for professional services…. (3) Prejudice or damage a 
client during the course of a professional relationship…. 
 
9   37 C.F.R. 10.112(c)(4): A practitioner shall:….Promptly pay or deliver to the client as requested by a 
client the funds, securities, or other properties in the possession of the practitioner which the client is 
entitled to receive. 
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The USPTO Final Order Dated February 9, 2018 

AA. Respondent sought reconsideration as to the August 2, 2017 

Final Order, resulting in entry of a USPTO Final Order dated February 9, 

2018. (See February 9, 2018 Final Order attached as Exhibit “B”.) This 

“second” Final Order affirmed in its totality the earlier decision of August 2, 

2017. 

The Federal Court’s Review of Respondent’s USPTO Sanctions Orders 

BB. Following entry of the USPTO Final Orders detailed above, 

Respondent sought review through the federal courts. 

CC. To begin, review was sought in the Federal District Court for the 

Eastern District of Virginia whereupon the earlier decisions of USPTO were 

affirmed. In rendering its decision to affirm, the Court set forth as its 

reasons the specific findings entered earlier (and summarized above) by 

the USPTO. The Court specifically noted that Respondent was provided a 

hearing before the administrative law judge in Miami, and that he appeared 

and presented both testimony and other evidence. The Court also 

addressed the authority under which the USPTO could regulate the 

conduct of attorneys and other persons appearing before it, as well as their 

authority to suspend or exclude from practice before them any attorney or 

person. The Court further concluded that ample substantial evidence 
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existed in support of the USPTO suspension order. Finally, concluding that 

the decision of the USPTO to suspend Respondent’s license to practice 

before them was neither arbitrary, capricious, nor an abuse of discretion, 

the Federal District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia affirmed the 

earlier Final Order of Suspension of the USPTO. 

DD. Following entry of the Federal District Court’s Order, 

Respondent sought review in the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Federal Circuit. By Judgment dated February 11, 2020, the Federal 

Appellate Court per curiam affirmed the lower court’s decision. 

EE. Thereafter, on April 10, 2020, the United States Court of 

Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued its Mandate. Respondent sought no 

further review. 

 
III. RECOMMENDATIONS AS TO GUILT. 

As indicated in my order granting summary judgment in favor of The 

Florida Bar, I recommend that Respondent be found guilty of violating the 

following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar:  Rule 4-1.3 (Diligence), Rule 4-

1.4 (Communication), Rule 4-1.2(a) (Objective and Scope of 

Representation – Lawyer to Abide by Client’s Decision); and Rule 4-1.16(d) 

(Declining or Terminating Representation - Protection of Client’s Interest). 

 
APPX 1240 (By Respondent) 
Case NO. SC18-1279



IV. STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS 

I considered the following Standards prior to recommending 

discipline: 

LACK OF DILIGENCE  

4.4(b)  Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer causes injury or 

potential injury to a client and:  (1) knowingly fails to perform services for a 

client or (2) engages in a pattern of neglect with respect to client matters.  

PRIOR DISCIPLINE ORDERS 

8.1(b)  Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer has been publicly 

reprimanded for the same or similar conduct and engages in a further 

similar act of misconduct that causes injury or potential injury to a client, the 

public, the legal system, or the profession. 

 
V. CASE LAW 

I considered the following case law prior to recommending discipline: 

• The Florida Bar v. Morrison, 669 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 1996); 
 

• The Florida Bar v. Jordan, 705 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 1998); 
 

• The Florida Bar v. Shoureas, 892 So.2d 1002 (Fla. 2004); 
 

• The Florida Bar v. Varner, 992 So.2d 224 (Fla. 2008); and 
 

• TFB v. Suarez-Silverio, Supreme Court Case No. SC17-592 
Supreme Court Order dated April 20, 2017 
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Consent Judgment dated February 24, 2017 
 

VI. AGGRAVATION AND MITIGATION 

Aggravating Factors- I find the following aggravating factors apply in 

aggravation and specifically accept The Florida Bar’s presentation and 

argument on aggravation.   

• 3.2(b)(1) prior disciplinary offenses;  
 
Respondent has previously been disciplined three times: 2018, 
2011, and 1995.  Further discussion of these priors is set forth 
below. 
 

• 3.2(b)(3) a pattern of misconduct; 
 
The similarities between Respondent’s 2011 and 1995 prior 
discipline cases with the instant case evidences a pattern of a 
lack of appropriate and sufficient communication with clients. 
 
Additionally, within the findings in the instant case there is a 
pattern of lack of communication with both the client and the 
USPTO, as well as a pattern of neglect. 
 

• 3.2(b)(4) multiple offenses; 
 
Multiple offenses are evidenced by the four distinct rule 
violations of which Respondent has been found guilty, including 
lack of diligence and communication (rules 4-1.3 and 4-1.4), 
failure to protect the client’s interest by not returning the client 
file upon termination (rule 4-1.16(d)), and failing to pursue the 
client’s objectives (rule 401.2(a)). 
 

• 3.2(b)(7) refusal to acknowledge the wrongful nature of the 
conduct;  
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Respondent affixes blame on a myriad of persons for his own 
misconduct, including his ex-wife for not providing him with the 
client’s file, the receptionist at his virtual office for not ferreting 
his mail, the client for not asking the right questions, and so on.  
In a Motion for Rehearing to the USPTO, he even accuses the 
Office of the Executive Director of the USPTO of “palpable 
misconduct and fraud.”  He attributes these proceedings to 
misunderstanding not by himself, but by his former client, the 
USPTO, the U.S. District Court, and so on.  Respondent 
consistently refuses to accept responsibility for his own 
misconduct and has exhibited an absolute lack of recognition of 
his own fault and has shown no remorse.  Moreover, this 
Referee finds that there is also no acceptance of fault nor 
sorrow by Respondent for his prior misconduct. He is simply 
unwilling to be held accountable and sees absolutely no wrong 
in his prior actions that have resulted in disciplinary rulings 
against him. 
 

• 3.2(b)(8)  vulnerability of the victim;  
 
In that the client was necessarily reliant on Respondent for all 
communications from the USPTO regarding their patent 
application, I find the client to have been a vulnerable victim. 
 

• 3.2(b)(9)  substantial experience in the practice of law; 
 

Respondent was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1976.  Prior to 
that he was admitted to the Massachusetts Bar in 1969, the 
Delaware Bar in 1970, the Ohio Bar in 1971, and to practice 
before the USPTO in 1971. 
 

• 3.2(b)(10) indifference to making restitution; 
 

Despite having entered into a settlement agreement in a 
malpractice case emanating from the same facts underlying the 
instant disciplinary matter, Respondent failed to abide by the 
terms of his agreement, the enforcement of which was denied 
by the court based on the interim loss of jurisdiction.  I also find 
this further evidence of Respondent’s lack of remorse.   
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Finally, I make the following additional findings in support of 
aggravation: 
 
a. In the course of settlement discussions in the malpractice 

case, it is apparent that Respondent endeavored to preclude 
both the client’s corporate representative and her attorney 
from voluntarily testifying in any disciplinary proceedings 
against him.  I find this to have been a bad faith effort at 
obstruction of the disciplinary process. 
 

b. Although unable to quantify the financial loss to the client, I 
find that Respondent’s client was left economically weaker 
as a result of the Respondent’s misconduct. 

 
c. I find that Respondent’s debt to the IRS, as evidenced by tax 

liens for the years 2004-2015, is further evidence of his 
pattern of conduct with respect to his failure to honor his 
financial obligations. 

 
Mitigating Factors:  I find the following mitigating factors apply.  

• 3.3(b)(2) absence of a dishonest or selfish motive; 

• 3.3(b)(11) imposition of other penalties or sanctions. 

VII. RECOMMENDATION AS TO DISCIPLINARY MEASURES TO 
BEAPPLIED 

I recommend that Respondent be found guilty of misconduct justifying 

disciplinary measures, and that he be disciplined by: 

A. Suspension for a period of three years.  In making this 

recommendation, I specifically note my lack of confidence that 
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Respondent would not repeat these same rule violations going 

forward.   

B. Payment of The Florida Bar's costs in these proceedings. 

 Respondent should eliminate all indicia of Respondent’s status as an 

attorney on social media, telephone listings, stationery, checks, business 

cards office signs or any other indicia of Respondent’s status as an 

attorney, whatsoever.  Respondent will no longer hold himself out as a 

licensed attorney during the suspension period. 

VIII. PERSONAL HISTORY, PAST DISCIPLINARY RECORD 

Prior to recommending discipline pursuant to Rule 3-7.6(m)(1)(D), I 

considered the following: 

Personal History of Respondent: 

Age:   77 

Date admitted to the Bar:  January 21, 1986 

Prior Discipline:   

• Respondent was suspended for ten days by order of the 
Supreme Court of Florida dated April 27, 1995, in Supreme 
Court Case No. 84,351, for failing to respond to his client’s 
requests for information regarding invoice charges, failing to 
furnish a final bill with an accounting for unexpended retainers, 
and failing to remit the balance of such unexpended retainers 
prior to the filing of a bar grievance.  
 
• Respondent received a public reprimand by order of the 
Supreme Court of Florida dated July 13, 2011 in Supreme 
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Court Case Nos. SC10-872 and SC11-431, for failing to 
communicate to the client that certain decisions would result in 
the abandonment of the client’s trademark application.   

 
• Respondent was suspended for a period of 90 days by 
order of the Supreme Court of Florida dated September 28, 
2018, in Supreme Court Case No. SC16-1408, for 
communicating with a person who was represented by counsel.   
 

IX. STATEMENT OF COSTS AND MANNER IN WHICH COSTS 
SHOULD BE TAXED 

The Florida Bar, having been successful in this matter, shall be 

awarded their necessary taxable costs of this proceeding and shall submit 

their statement of costs, as well as a motion to assess costs against 

Respondent. 

Dated this 16th day of April, 2021. 

           _/s/ Jason Emilios Dimitris ____ 
The Honorable Jason Emilios Dimitris 
Circuit Court Judge and Referee 
Miami Dade Children’s Courthouse 
155 NW 3rd Street, Room #14-321 
Miami, Florida 33128 
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Original To: 
Clerk of the Supreme Court of Florida; Supreme Court Building; 500 South 
Duval Street, Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1927 

Conformed Copies to: 
Robert C. Josefsberg, Attorney for Respondent, rjosefsberg@podhurst.com   
John H. Faro, Respondent, johnf75712@aol.com   
John Derek Womack, Bar Counsel, jwomack@floridabar.org  
Arlene K. Sankel, Chief Branch Discipline Counsel, asankel@floridabar.org   
Patricia Ann Toro Savitz, Staff Counsel, psavitz@floridabar.org  
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